





. .





OFFICIAL

ARMY REGISTER

FOR

JANUARY, 1881.

A. M. D. MASS. MAY 18 188

PUBLISHED BY ORDER OF THE SECRETARY OF WAR, IN COMPLIANCE WITH LAW.

ADJUTANT GENERAL'S OFFICE Washington, January 1, 1881.

LAWS AND RESOLUTIONS IN REGARD TO THE PUBLICATION OF THE ABMY REGISTER

Resolved. That the Secretary of War and the Secretary of the Navy be requested to furnish annually, on the first of January, each member of the Senate with a copy of the Register of the officers of the Army and Navy of the United States. [Agreed to by the Senate December 13, 1815.]

Resolved. That the Secretary of War cause to be annually laid before this House a number of copies of the printed Army list, equal to the number of members of the llonse. [Agreed to by the House of Representatives February 1, 1830.]

[Extract.]

* * That there be annexed annually hereafter to the Army Register an acen-Resolved rate schedule of the pay and emoluments, with the commutation value thereof, to which the various officers of the Army of each grade are entitled.

[Adopted by the House of Representatives August 30, 1842.]

SEC. 1226. * * * The highest volunteer rank which has been held by officers of the Regular Army shall be entered, with their names respectively, upon the Army Register. [Revised Statutes of the United States.]

AN ACT making appropriations for the support of the Λ rmy for the fiscal year ending June thirtieth, eighteen hundred and seventy-nine, and for other purposes.

Be it enacted by the Senute and House of Representatives of the United States of America in Congress assembled, *

SEC. 2. That in every Official Army Register hereafter issued, the lineal rank of all officers of the line of the Army shall be given separately for the different arms of the service; and if the officer be promoted from the ranks, or shall have served in the volunteer army, either as an enlisted man or officer, his service as a private and non-commissioned officer shall be given, and in addition thereto the record of his service as volunteer.

[Approved June 18, 1878.]

ABBREVIATIONS USED AND EXPLANATIONS.

STATES AND TERRITORIES.

Ala	Alabama.
Alaska	Alaska Ter.
	Arizona Ter.
	Arkansas.
	California.
Ch N	Cherokee Nation.
Colo	Colorado.
	Connecticut.
	Dakota Ter.
	Delaware.
D C	District of Columbia.
Га	Florida.
Ga	Georgia
	Idaho Ter.
	Illinois.
Ind	Indiana.
	Indian Ter.
Iowa	
	Kansas.
Ky	Kentucky.
La	Louisiana.
Me	Maine.
Md	Maryland.
Mass	Massachusetts.
Mich	Michigan.
	Minnesota.

Miss	Mississippi.
Mo	Missouri.
Mont	Montana Ter.
Neb	
Nev	Nevada.
N. 11	New Hampshire.
N. J	. New Jersey.
М. М	. New Mexico Ter.
Ν.Υ	New York.
N.C	. North Carolina.
Ohio	
0reg	
Pa	Pennsylvania.
E I	Rhode Island.
	. South Carolina.
Tenn	
Tex	The L (D)
Utah	Utan Ter.
<u>Vt</u>	Vermont.
Va	Virginia.
Wash. T	Washington Ter.
W. T	Washington Ter.
W. Va	. West Virginia.
Wis	. Wisconsin.
	Wyoming Ter.
	in grande i chi

FOREIGN COUNTRIES.

Anst'aAustr	ia.
Belg'm Belgii	
Engl'dEngla	
Geim'yGerma	
E. Ind East I	
Hung'y Hunga	
Mad'a Mader	
MexMexic	
N. BNew 1	

۱.

MISCELLANEOUS.

a. d. c Aide-de-Camp.	BurBureau.
a. a. d. c Additional Aide-de-Camp.	captCaptain.
a. a. gAssistant Adjutant General.	cavCavalry.
accaccepted.	chf Chief.
addadditional.	chf. med. pur . Chief Medical Purveyor.
adj't Adjutant.	colColonel.
a. i. gAssistant Inspector General.	Col Columbia.
apptappointment.	comdrCommander.
apptdappointed.	com. subCommissary Subsistence.
a. qm	com commission.
aprApril.	condconduct.
ardarduous.	confdconfirmed.
artf Artificer.	consconspicuous.
artArtillery.	con constitutional.
assdassigned.	corplcorporal.
asstAssistant.	C. HCourt House.
asst. med. pur Assistant Medical Purveyor.	decDecember.
asst. surg Assistant Surgeon.	deptDepartment.
At l'geAt large.	d. pm. gen Deputy Paymaster General.
angAugust.	d. qmDeputy Quartermaster.
battBattalion.	det Detachment.
battyBattery.	dildiligent.
bvtBrevet.	dischgddischarged.
brig. gen Brigadier General.	disdistinguished.
bugBugler.	DistDistrict.
0	

	11 North and Ground
div Division.	n. g National Guard.
dragDragoon.	N.Y.H New York Harbor.
durduring.	nomnominated.
E.SEastern Shore.	novNovember.
effetlicient.	oetOctober.
enlenlisted.	ord Ordnance.
expexpired.	o. sk Ordnance Storekeeper.
febFebruary.	p. oNearest post-office.
Ft	pm Paymaster.
galgallant.	prin. mns Principal Musician.
gen. mtd. scr General Mounted Service.	pvt Private.
gen. ser General Service.	profProfessor.
h. art Heavy Artillery,	pro Provisional.
Hd. Qrs Headquarters.	pro. cav Provisional Cavalry.
hon Honorably.	pro. mar Provost Marshal.
hosp, chap Hospital Chaplain.	qm
hosp. stwd Hospital Steward.	re-apptd re-appointed.
i. g Inspector General.	re-en re-enlisted.
imp important.	regt
ind Independent.	regtl regimental.
intIntantry.	regtl. comregimental commissary.
ms	res
instrInstructor.	resgd resigned.
janJanuary.	Rey Reverend.
j.a Judge Advocate.	rev. stats Revised Statutes.
1. art Light Artillery.	R. RRailroad.
lt Lieutenant.	sad, sergt, Saddler-Sergeant,
' lt col Lieutenant Colonel.	see section.
lt gen Lientenant General.	sees sections.
limlimitation.	sept
maj Major.	sergt Sergeant.
maj. gen Major General.	ser services.
mar	sh.sh Sharpshooters.
m. b Marine Brigade.	sig Signal.
med, dir	s.m
med. ins Medical Inspector.	subs
	supt
med. pur Medical Purveyor, med. sk Medical Storekeeper.	surg. gen Surgeon General.
med. sk	tel. stnnearest telegraph station.
mermeritorious.	top, eng Topographical Engineers.
mil	trs
M. A Military Academy.	unassd unassigned.
mil. see	
m. sk	U.S.A United States Army.
Mt Mount.	U.S.e.e
mtd	U. S. c. t United States Colored Troops.
m. inf	<i>vac</i> vacated.
m. rif Monuted Rifles.	val valued ; valuable.
m.vol Mounted Volunteers.	vetVeteran.
mus Musician.	vet, res
must mustered.	vol

This mark (*) prefixed to the letter of battery in the Artillery regiments denotes the light battery.

This mark (f) denotes a voluntary transfer, which is the cause of the anomalous position of the other in his regiment or corps.

This mark (:) denotes an anomalous position by sentence of general court-martial. Under the heading "Appointed from," the initials "M. A." denote that the officer is a graduate of the Military Academy.

EXPLANATIONS.

To show service under a commission received out of the order of regular promotion, the date of acceptance (commencement of service) is given; also where service under such a commission is terminated, or where an officer leaves the service, date to which he was paid is given—if later than date of easualty—as showing termination of service. Officers of volunteers mustered into service of United States reckon service from date of such

muster-in; if paid for service beyond date of muster-out, resignation, &c., that date is given as showing termination of such service.

Where a commission or appointment recites the services for which given, that is entered in this Register.

Errors or omissions should be immediately reported to the Adjutant General by the officers concerned.

TABLE OF CONTENTS.

	Page.
LAWS UNDER WHICH THE ARMY REGISTER IS PUBLISHED	2
ABBREVIATIONS AND EXPLANATIONS.	3
GENERAL OFFICERS	7
ADJUTANT GENERAL'S DEPARTMENT	7
INSPECTOR GENERAL'S DEPARTMENT	8
BUREAU OF MILITARY JUSTICE	8
QUARTERMASTER'S DEPARTMENT	8
SUBSISTENCE DEPARTMENT	10
MEDICAL DEPARTMENT.	11
PAY DEPARTMENT	14
CORPS OF ENGINEERS	16
Ordnance Department	18
SIGNAL CORPS	19
POST CHAPLAINS	19
BATTALION OF ENGINEERS	20
CAVALRY	21
ARTILLERY.	31
INFANTRY	41
Service of General Officers.	66
OFFICERS OF ADJUTANT GENERAL'S DEPARTMENT	69
INSPECTOR GENERAL'S DEPARTMENT	71
BUREAU OF MILITARY JUSTICE	72
QUARTERMASTER'S DEPARTMENT	73
SUBSISTENCE DEPARTMENT.	79
MEDICAL DEPARTMENT.	82
PAY DEPARTMENT	92
Corps of Engineers.	96
Ordnance Department	104
SIGNAL CORPS	108
Post Chaplains	108
SBRVICE AND LINEAL RANK OF OFFICERS OF CAVALRY	110
ARTILLERY.	. 138
INFANTRY	157
SERVICE AND LINEAL RANK OF RETIRED OFFICERS	217
MILITARY ACADEMY	259
SERVICE OF PROFESSORS AT U. S. MILITARY ACADEMY	261
Colleges and Universities	263
CASUALTIES DURING THE YEAR	266
MILITARY GEOGRAPHICAL DIVISIONS, DEPARTMENTS, AND POSTS	268, 271
Armories, Arsenals, Recruiting and Engineer Depots	277
ORGANIZATION OF THE ARMY	278
PAY OF THE ARMY	286
INDEX	290
MILITIA FORCE OF THE UNITED STATES	305
APPOINTMENTS, PROMOTIONS, AND CASUALTIES FROM JANUARY 1, 1881, TO DATE THIS	
REGISTER GOES TO PRESS	
(5)



R E G I S T E R

OF THE

.

ARMY OF THE UNITED STATES,

FOR

JANUARY, 1881.

Name, rank, and date of commission.	Brevet rank in the Regular Army.	Born in.	Appointed from.
GENERAL OFFICERS. General.			
Sherman, William T 4 mar. 6		Ohio	М. А.
Lieutenant General.			
Sheridan, Philip II 4 mar. 6	9	Ohio	М. А.
Major Generals.			
Hancock, Winfield S	9 maj. gen 13 mar.	Pa N. Y Ohio	M. A.
Brigadier Generals.			1
Pope, John 14 july, 6 Howard, Oliver O 21 dec. 6 Terry, Alfred H 15 jan. 6 Augur, Christopher C 4 mar. 6 Crook, George. 29 oct. 7 Miles, Nelson A 15 dec. 8	54 maj. gen13 mar. 55 maj. gen13 mar. 59 maj. gen13 mar. 73 maj. gen13 mar.	Me Conn N. Y Ohio	M. A. Conn. M. A. M. A.
ADJUTANT GENERAL'S DEPARTMENT.		1	
ADJUTANT GENERAL.		1	1
With rank of Brigadier General.	10	1	Da
Drum, Richard C15 june, 8	so brig. gen13 mar. 6) ra	. ra.
ASSISTANT ADJUTANT GENERALS.			
With rank of Colonel. Fry, James B		5 III Pa	М. А. М. А.
With rank of Lieutenant Colonel.			
Williams, Robert	75 maj. gen 13 mar. brig. gen 13 mar.	5 Va N. Y Md N. Y (7	. М. А. . М. А. . М. А.

Name, rank, and date of commission.	Brevet rank in the Regular Army.	Born in.	Appointed from.

ASSISTANT ADJUTANT GENERALS. With rank of Major.

Vincent, Thomas M	.17 july, 62 brig. gen13 mar. 65 Ohio M. A.
	.17 july, brig. gen 13 mar. N. Y M. A.
	. 17 july, brig. gen 13 mar. Mass M. A.
	.24 june, 64 col Me
	. 30 mar. 66 col 13 ang, 66 Ky M. A.
Martin, James P	.10 apr. 69 lt. col 22 july, 65 Ky M. A.
	- 6 mar. 73 lt. col 13 dec. 62 Vt M. A.
Benjamin, Samuel N	. 3 mar. 75 lt. col
Nickerson, Azor H	.15 june, 78 Ohio Ohio
	.16 june, 80 lt. col

INSPECTOR GENERAL'S DEPARTMENT.

SENIOR INSPECTOR GENERAL.

With rank of Brigadier General.

Marey, Randolph B 12 dec. 78 maj. geu 13 mar. 65 Mass ... M. A.

INSPECTOR GENERALS.

With rank of Colonel.

Sacket, Delos B	1 oct.	-61 maj. gen	13 mar. 6	55 N. Y M. A.
Schriver, Edmund	13 mar.	63 maj. gen	13 mar.	Pa M. A.
Davis, Nelson II	23 mar.	64 brig. gen	13 mar.	Mass M. A.

ASSISTANT INSPECTOR GENERALS.

With rank of Lieutenant Colonel.

Jones, Roger	 	Þ. C	M. A.
Baird, Absalom	 maj. gen	13 mar. 65 Pa	M. A.

BUREAU OF MILITARY JUSTICE.

JUDGE ADVOCATE GENERAL.

With rank of Brigadier General.

Dunn, William McK 1 dec. 75 brig, gen ... 13 mar. 65 Ind ... Ind.

JUDGE ADVOCATES.

With rank of Major.

Lieber, Guido N
Winthrop, William
Burnhani, Horace B
Barr, Thomas F
Curtis, Herbert P
Goodfellow, Henry
Swaim, David G
Gardner, Asa B

QUARTERMASTER'S DEPARTMENT.

QUARTERMASTER GENERAL.

With rank of Brigadier General.

Meigs, Montgomery C..... 15 may, 61 maj. gen 5 july, 64 Ga M. A.

Name, rank, and date of commission.	Brevet rank in the Regular Army.	Born in.	Appointed from.
ASSISTANT QUARTERMASTER GENERALS.			
With rank of Colonel.			
Rucker, Daniel II		5 N. J Me	Mich.
Ingalis, Rufus	e, 72 maj. gen13 mar.	Mo	. M. A.
Van Vliet, Stewart 6 jur	ie, maj. gen 13 mar.	N. Y	. М. А.
DEPUTY QUARTERMASTER GENERALS.			
With rank of Lieutenant Colonel.			
Holabird, Samuel B	y, 66 brig. gen13 mar. 0	5 Conn .	. м. А.
The second secon	a later and 19 man	Va	. N. Y.
Saxton, Rufus	y, brig. gen	Pa Mass .	
Bingham, Judson D 3 ma	r. 75 brig. gen 9 apr.	N. Y	. M. A.
Perry, Alexander J	r. brig. gen 13 mar.	Conn - Vt	M.A.
For points (* rarres 11	r. 79 col	Mass .	
	4		1
QUARTERMASTERS.			
With rank of Major. Myers, William	n. 67 brig, gen13 mar. 6	5 Pa	. м. л.
Sarrfollo Charles (1 18 jar	Inter own 12 mar	Me	. М. А.
Dana, James J	n. brig.gen13 mar. 13 mar	Mass . N. H .	N H
Ludington, Marshall I	h. lt. col	7 Pa	. Pa.
Dana, James J	1e, lt. col	⁵ Pa	. Pa.
Revnolds, Unaries A	r. 75 ff. col 13 mar.	R. I Md	
Dandy, George B	r. brig. gen13 mar.	- Ga	. Army.
Weeks, George II	y, 76 fr. col 13 mar.	N.H Tenn	. <u>м</u> . А. М. А.
Hughes, William B	r. 79 maj13 mar. 6	5 Me	. M. A.
Baker, Edward D	r	- III 5 Canada	Oreg. Ohio
	, a.com	,, canada	ono.
ASSISTANT QUARTERMASTERS.			
With rank of Captain. Gilliss James 10 and	g 64 cant 12 may f	anc	DC
Gilliss, James	u. 65 maj	5 X. Y	W. T.
McGonnigle, Andrew J	y, col11 feb. (9 N. Y	. N. Y.
Scully, James W	ot. col	Ireland	Tenn.
Howell, William T	5. mai 2 mar. 6	7 Pa	, Pa
Foster, Charles W	v. col 4 nov. 6 v	$\sim Mass$.	х.н. Х.Ү.
Belcher, John H16 jur	1e, 66 maj 2 mar. (7 Mass .	. Cal.
Kirk, Ezra B	х, ,	· Ohio · ·	. Ohio. N N
Rockwell, Almon F	a. 67 lt. col 2 mar. 6	7 X. Y .	N. Y.
Smith, Gilbert C	1	- N. Y .	. Cal.
Strang, Edward J	n. – 1t. col 2 mar. 6	57 N. Y	. N. Y.
Furey, John V	1	. N. Y	N.Y.
Forsyth, Lewis C 11 ma Hoyt, Charles H 22 ma	n	. Conn .	N. Y.
Blunt, Asa P	ur. col	57 Vt	. Vt.
Lord, James H	r. 75 maj 9 apr. 6 r	55 Pa 111	. M. A. M. A
Atwood, Edwin B	r. maj 2 mar. 6	57 Ohio .	. Ohio.
Simpson John 17 jul	<i>y</i> ,	. Ohio	. Ohio.
Simpson, John	iy, 76	Obio	Ohio

Name, rank, and date of commission.

Assistant Quartermasters-Continued.

Miltimore. Alonzo E		111 Wis.
Humphrey, Charles F		N. Y Army.
Williams, Charles W	30 june,	Ky M. A.
Wheeler, Daniel D		Vi Vt.
Gibbs, Eugene B	. 23 mar. 80	R. I R. I.

MILITARY STOREKEEPERS.

With runk of Captain.

Potter, Reuhen M	.28 july, 66	. N. J. Texas.
Alligood, Charles A	28 july,	Pa Pa.
Rodgers, John F	.28 july,	. Conn N. Y.
Hull, Gustavus A	.28 juIy,	. N. Y Ky.
Livers, John	28 july,	. Md Pa
Barrett, Addison	.28 july,	Mass Mass.
Martin, William P	. 5 mar. 67	. Deland Conn.

SUBSISTENCE DEPARTMENT.

COMMISSARY GENERAL OF SUBSISTENCE.

With rank of Brigadier General.

ASSISTANT COMMISSARY GENERALS OF SUBSISTENCE,

With rank of Colonel.

Kilburn, Charles L	.29 june, 64 brig, gen	13 mar. 67	5 Pa M. A.
Simpson, Marcus D. L	.23 jnne, 74 maj. gen	13 mar.	N. Y M. A.

With rank of Lieutenant Colonel.

Clarke, Henry F		
Burns, William W	23 june, 74 brig. 2cn13 mar.	Ohio M. A.
Beckwith, Amos	23 june, maj. gen13 mar.	Vt Μ. Δ.

COMMISSARIES OF SUBSISTENCE.

With rank of Major.

Du Barry, Beekman	5 N. J M. A.
Haines, Thomas J	
Bell, George	Md M. A.
	N. S M. A.
Hawkins, John P	Ind M. A.
Small, Michael P	Pa M. A.
Sullivan, Thomas C	Ohio M. A.
Barriger, John W	Ky M. A.

With rank of Captain.

Wilson, Thomas	
Bell, William II	
Gilman, Jeremiah II	9 feb. 63 lt. col 31 dec. 62 Me M. A.
Cushing, Samuel T	9 feb. — maj
	4 july, 64 maj
	. 13 may, 65 lt. col 11 nov. 67 Pa Pa.
	17 nov. — maj
	. 23 june, 74 It cland W. T.
	. 14 apr. 75 maj 2 mar. 67 N. Y Mo.
	24 nov Ky Ky Ky
	28 mar. 78 M. A
Clague, John J	.30 aug. 80 Engl'd Minn.

1881.

Appointed from.

Name, rank, and date of commission.	Brevet rank in the Regular Army.	Born in.	Appointed from.
MEDICAL DEPARTMENT. SURGEON GENERAL. With rank af Brigadier General. Barnes, Joseph K	4 maj. gen 13 mar. (5 Pa	Pa.
ASSISTANT SURGEON GENERAL. With rank of Colonel.			
Crane, Charles H	6 brig. gen 13 mar. (55 R. I	Mass.
With rank of Colonel. Baxter, Jedediah 1123 june, 7	4 col	57 Vt	Vt.
SURGEONS. With rank of Colonel.		1.14.2	11.1
Murray, Robert 26 june, 7 Sutherland, Charles 26 june, 10 Cuyler, John M 26 june, 10 King, William S 17 mar. 8	o col	Pa Ga Pa	Pa. Ga. Pa.
With rank of Lieutenant Colonel.			
Simons, James	6 col	55 S. C N. Y Mass S. C Pa	Mass. S. C.
ASSISTANT MEDICAL PURVEYORS.			1
With rank of Lieutenant Colonel.			
Cooper, George E	6 col 13 mar. 6 brig. gen 20 july, 6	35 Pa 57 Mass	Pa. Ohio.
SURGEONS.			
With rank of Lieutenant Colonel. Perin, Glover. 28 apr. 7 Campbell, John 8 nov. Summers, John E 17 mar. 8	7 lt. col 13 mar. 6 col	35 Ohio N. Y . Va	Ohio. N. Y. Va.
With rank of Major.			1
McParlin, Thomas A. 21 may, 6 Brown, Joseph B. 4 july, Magrader, David L. 16 apr. Page, Charles. 16 apr. Norris, Basil 16 apr. Vollum, Edward P. 12 may, Moore, John 11 june, Smith, Andrew K. 11 june, Smith, Andrew K. 11 june, Alexander, Richard H. 11 june, Irwin, Bernard J. D. 16 sept. I leger, Anthony 17 sept. Alexander, Charles T. 9 feb. Clements, Bennett A. 27 feb. Baily, Joseph R. 1 dec. Baily, Joseph C. 1 dec. Baily, Joseph C. 2 dec. Bill, Joseph R. 22 dec.	brig: gen	N. Y 55 Md Va Md N. Y Ind Conn Ill 56 N. Y	Mich. Va. Va. Md. N. Y. Ind. Conn. Ky. N. Y. Pa. Ark. N. Y. Pa. Pa. Pa.

Name, rank, and date of commission.

SURGEONS-Continued.

Alden, Charles H	28 july, 66 lt. col13 mar 65 Pa Pa.
Webster, Warren	28 july, It. col
Byrne, Charles C	
Wright, Joseph P	
Spencer, William C	
Town, Francis L.	
Bache, Dallas	
Fryer, Blencowe E	
Frantz John H	
Frantz, John H Goddard, Charles E	6 jan. 68 maj
White, Charles B.	1 oct. 75 maj
Sternberg, George M	
Greenleaf, Charles R.	
Woodward, Joseph J	
Forwood, William II	
McC'lellan, Elv	
Wolverton, William D	
Hartsuff, Albert	
Middleton, Johnson V. D	26 june, maj
Janeway, John II.	
Tilton, Henry R	
Horton, Samuel M	
Happersett, John C. G	
Woodhull, Alfred A	1 oct. 1 oct. 1t. col
Billings, John S	
Notson, William M	
Course Lough D	
Huntington, David L	
Williams, John W.	
Waters, William E	
Bentley, Edwin	
Uns, George A	
Jaquett, George P	14 may, maj

ASSISTANT SURGEONS.

With rank of Captain.

Brown, Harvey E	
Brown, Justus M	.28 july maj 13 mar. Ohio Ohio.
Hubbard, Van Buren	.28 july, maj
Smart, Charles	.28 july — eapt
Brooke, John	.28 july, maj13 mar. 65 Pa Pa.
Gardner, William II	
Whitehead, William E	.28 july, capt
Tremaine, William S	. 16 sept P. E. I. N. Y.
Coues, Elliott	.30 mar. 67 capt
Taylor, Morse K	.14 may,
Azpell, Thomas F	.14 may, Pa N. J.
Meacham, Frank	.21 june, Mass. Mass.
Caldwell, Daniel G	.11 dec. Pa Pa Pa
Cleary, Peter J. A	26 dec.
Vickery, Richard S	
Middleton, Passmore	. 15 feb. 68 capt 13 mar. 65 Pa Pa.
Koerper, Egon A	6 apr. Prussia Pa.
De Hanne, J. Victor	.12 may, N.Y N.Y.
Lippincott, Henry	
McElderry, Henry	.28 feb. 69
Patzki, Julius H	.30 mar. Prussia Pa.
Pope, Benjamin F	.13 may, N. Y N. Y.
Bartholf, John H	

Name, rank, and date of commission.	Brevet rank in the Regular Army.	Born in.	Appointed from.
Assistant Surgeons-Continued.			
Corson, Joseph K			'a.
Dickson, John M			'a. 'a.
Kimball, James P		N. Y 3	<u>Х. Т.</u>
Munn, Curtis E			
Ewen, Clarence			
Cronkhite, Henry M		. N. Y (Dal.
O'Reilly, Robert M14 may,			
Heizmann, Charles L			
Convelle Conten 11 may			D. C.
Girard, Alfred C14 may,			
Girard, Alfred C 14 inay, Girard, Joseph B 14 may, Landerdale, John V 14 may, Loring, Leonard V 14 may,			Mien. N. Y.
Loring, Leonard Y		Mo	Mo.
W HSOH, W HHAIH ∂_{1} , \dots , \dots , \dots , \dots , \dots , \dots , ∂_{1} (0) ,			
Motlatt, Peter			
Weisel Daniel 9 oct		. Md 🖸	Md.
Woodruft, Ezra		. Ky 1	Ky.
Elbrey, Frederick W			N.Y.
Steinmetz, William R			
Hall, John D16 nov.		. N. H	N. Y.
Harvey, Philip F		Dhio l	owa. N. Y.
Byrne, Charles B		Md	Md.
Winne, Charles K 10 nov. 79)	. N. Y]	<u>N.</u> Y.
Ainsworth, Fred. C			Vt.
Hoff, John Van R			
Paulding, Holmes O 10 nov.		. D.C	D. C.
Adair, George W			Mich N. Y.
Moseley, Edward B 10 nov.			
Semig, Bernard G10 nov.		. Hung'y [Cal.
Skinner, John O			Md. Pa,
De Lotfre, Augustus A			La.
Wilcox, Timothy E10 nov.		. N. Y !	N. Y.
Maus, Louis M		. Md	ма. Va.
Price, Curtis E	/	. Ohio	hi.
Taylor, Blair D		. Md	Md.
Turrill, Henry S		. Com	N. Y. Ohio.
Reed, Walter		. Va	
Kilbourne, Henry S			Wis.
Merrill, James C			Mass Mo.
Barnett, Richards			
Torney, George H		. Md	Md.
Crampton, Louis W			
Wood, Marshall W			га. ^N . Y.
Wood, Marshall W		. Miss	Miss.
Gardiner, John de B. W			Md. Me.
Tesson, Louis S			
Spencer, William G			

Brevet rank in the Regular Army.

ASSISTANT SURGEONS.

With rank of First Lieutenant.

Gardner, Edwin F	5 aug. 76	Me Me.
Corbusier, William II		
Buell, James W		N. Y N. Y.
Shufeldt, Robert W	5 aug	N. Y D. C.
Appel, Daniel M	5 aug.	Pa Pa.
Cuningham, Thomas A	5 aug	Va Va.
Perley, Harry O		Me Mich.
Burton, Henry G		Vt
Robinson, Samuel Q	9 jan. 77	
Davis, William B		Va Va.
Biart, Victor	- 6 june, 78	Belg'm Kans.
Grav, William W		
Brechemin, Louis		
La Garde, Louis A		
Powell, Junius L	-6 june,	
Kane, John J	3 june, 79	
Banister, John M		
Brewster, William B	3 june,	
Appel, Aaron II		
Richard, Chatles		
Carter, W. Fitzhugh	-3 june,	Va Va.
McCreery, George		N. Y N. Y.
Schué, Eugene Dudley		
Newton, Richard Cole		
Cochran, John Joseph		
Ebert, Rudolph Gustav		
Gibson, Robert Jackson		
Benham, Robert Bruce		
Gorgas, William Crawford		
Strong, Notton		
Taylor, Arthur Wilson	16 jane,	N. I N. I.

MEDICAL STOREKEEPERS.

With rank of Captain.

Johnson, Henry	S.A	Pa.
Beall, George T	D.C	N. M.
Cherbonnier, Andrew V	La	Md.
O'Donnoghue, Florence	D. C	D. C.

PAY DEPARTMENT.

PAYMASTER GENERAL.

With rank of Brigadier General.	
Brown, Nathan W	8 june, 80 brig, gen 15 oet. 67 N, \mathbf{Y} N, \mathbf{Y}_*
ASSISTANT PAYMASTER GENERALS.	
With rank of Colonel.	
McChure, Daniel Woods, Samuel	28 july, 66 col
DEPUTY PAYMASTER GENERALS.	
With rank of Lieutenant Colonel.	
Febiger, George L Larned, Charles T	31 dee. 79 lt. col 13 mar. 65 Pa Del. 8 june, 80 lt. col 13 mar. Mich Mo.

Appointed from.

Born in.

Brevet rank in the Regular Army.

Born in.

Name, rank, and date of commission.

PAYMASTERS.

With rank of Major.

	00.01.0		174 17-
Smith, Rodney	23 feb 6		
Eaton, Joseph II	21 apr. –		mar. 65 Mass M. A.
Potter, James B. M.	15 july,	lt. col	mar. R.I., R.I.
Rucker, William A.	. 16 apr. 6	6'	Mich Mich.
Johnston, William II.		lt.eol 2	mar. 67 Ohio Ohio.
Gibson, William R.	17 inn 6		
Sprague, Charles J	17 101. 0		Me Cal.
oprague, Charles 9	- 17 Jan.		X, Y = X, Y
Rochester, William B			
Reese, Henry B	17 jan. –		Ohio Ohio.
Vedder, Nicholas			N. Y Ill.
Smith, William	17 jan.		Vt Miun.
Terrell, Charles M.			Ind Ky.
Stanton, Thaddens II	17 jan		Ind Iowa.
Glenn, George E			Ohio. Ohio.
Clarke, Robert D.			
Nelson, James II			Mich Mich.
Wingard, Charles W	1 <i>i</i> jan.		Pa Pa.
Canby, James P			Del Del.
Hall, Peter P. G			Pa Pa.
Candee, George W .	- 17 jan.		N.J III.
Brooke, Edmund II.	. 17 jun.		Md Md.
Dewey, Israel O			
Carey, Asa B			mar. 65 Conn M. A.
Gould, William P			
Bridgman, Frank		9	
Coxe, Frank M	3 mar. 7	5	
Bates, Alfred E	3 mar.		Mich M. A.
Willard, John P	3 mar.	lt. col 2	mar. 67 N. Y Wis.
Wilson, Charles 1	3 mar.		D. C N. Y.
Eckels, William H.			
Blaine, John E			Pa Mont.
Roche, James R			Md D.C.
Towar, Albert S.			Canada Mich.
Maynadier, William M	26 apr.		
Brodhead, Josiali A		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	N. H Mass.
Arthur, William	26 july,	maj 2	mar. 67 Vt N. Y.
Wasson, James R		6	Ohio M. A.
Thomas, llenry G		brig. gen13	
Sharp, Alexander			Pa Mo.
Keefer, John B	12 fab		Pa Pa.
Wham, Joseph W			
Colden Colore ()			
Sniffen, Culver C	••• 3 mar.		N. Y N. Y.
Smith, Thomas C. H		8	Mass . Ohio.
Baird, George W	23 june, 79		
Larned, Daniel R	23 june.		Conn . Conn.
Robinson, George F.			Ме Ме.
Creary, William E			
Dodge, Francis S.	13 jan 8	0	Mass . Mass.
McClure, Charles		mai	aug. 66 Pa Pa.
Witcher, John Seashoales	20 ang.		
o rener, sonn seasnoares	au aug.		····· va w. va.
		1	

Name, rank, and date of commission.

CORPS OF ENGINEERS.

CHIEF OF ENGINEERS.

With rank of Brigadier General.

Wright, Horatio G 30 june, 79 maj. gen 13 mar. 65 Conn ... M. A.

Colonels.

Barnard, John G		Mass . M.A.
Benham, Henry W	7 mar. 67 mai. gen 13 mar.	Conn M. A.
Macomb. John N		
Tower, Zealous B		Mass M.A.
Newton, John	30 june, 79 mai, gen 13 mar.	Va M. A.
Thom, George		N. H M. A.

Lieutenant Colonels.

Raynolds, William F	7 mar. 67 brig. gen 13 mar. 65 Ohio M. A.
Stewart, Charles S	[7] mar. It. col
Blunt, Charles E	7 mar. – col
Duane, James C.	7 mar. brig, gen, 13 mar. 65 N.Y M.A.
	22 feb. 69 lt. col
Gillmore, Quincy A	13 jan. 74 maj. gen 13 mar. 65 Ohio M. A.
Casey, Thomas L	[2] sept. col
Michler, Nathaniel	16 oct. 77 brig, gen 2 apr. Pa M. A.
Parke, John G	4 mar. 79 maj. gen 13 mar. Pa M. A.
Warren, Gouverneur K	4 mar. maj. gen 13 mar. N. Y M. A.
Mendell, George II	30 june, col
Abbot, Henry L	31 mar. 80 brig, gen13 mar. Mass Μ. Δ.

Majors.

Craighill William P	23 nov. 65 lt. eol13 mar. 65 Va M. A.
Comstock, Cyrus B	28 dec. brig. gen13 mar. Mass M. A.
Weitzel, Godfrey	
Poe, Orlando M	
Honston, David C	
Elliot, George II	
Robert, Henry M	
Merrill, William E	
McFarland, Walter	
Babcock, Orville E	
Wilson, John M	
Harwood, Franklin	
Barlow, John W.	
Hains, Peter C	
Farquhar, Francis U	
Gillespie, George L.	5 sept. lt. col 9 apr. Tenn M. A.
Suter, Charles R	10 oct. maj
Smith, Jared A	
Manstield, Samuel M	2 sept It. col
Twining, William J	16 oct. 77 maj
King, William R	4 mar. 79 maj
Benyaurd, William H. H	
Howell, Charles W	
Lydecker, Garrett J	
Captains.	
Children Anno 1	7 man 67 mai 12 man 65 Ma M A

Stickney, Amos	7 mar. 67 maj 13 mar. 65 Mo M. A
	mar. capt
Mackenzie, Alexander	mar. capt
Ernst, Oswald II	mar. capt
Heap, David P	mar. capt 2 apr. Asia M. A.
Ludlow, William	mar. lt. col 13 mar. N. Y M. A.
Phillips, Charles B	mar, capt 9 apr. Mass M. A.
Jones, William A	mar Mo M. A.

.

1881.

Name, rank, and date of co	mmission.	Brevet rank in the Regular Army.	Born in
Captains-Continue			
mrell, Andrew N	7 mar. (57 maj 13 mar. 65	Mass
Jen, Charles J		maj 26 mar.	N. Y
tymond, Charles W			Conn
illon Alexander M		30	D C
Ioms Milton R	6 ian	70	Pa 7
vermore, William R			Mass
ymond, Charles W erinan, Lewis C Iller, Alexander M lams, Milton B vermore, William R uer, William H		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	Mo 3
anton, William S.		1	N.Y 1
anton, William H anton, William S mdbury, Thomas H st, James C		·····	Pa
st, James C.	10 oct. 12 jun - 7	74	NY
egory, James F lams, Henry M ercur, James			Mass
ercur, James		5	Pa
ivis Charles E. L. R	12 sent '	7	Conn 1
eene, Benjamin D heeler, George M	16 oct.		Mass 1
heeler, George M	4 mar. 1	79	Mass
inn, James B ckwood, Daniel W			NV
ulner. Ernest H			Kv
iffner, Ernest H illery, John C		80	Pa 1
ars, Clinton B	9 apr.		N. Y 2
First Lieutenants.			
rtle, Thomas	13 au c. 6	37	Ireland
umira Edward	15 feb 6	30	Toun 1
ahan, Frederick A			N.Y 2
han, Frederick A well, Charles F nman, Frederick A	23 apr.		un
mman, Frederick A yson, Albert H ight, John G. D xie, Richard L trshall, William L illard, Joseph H rgland, Eric ice, Philip M. eene, Francis V lfrey, Carl F ssell, William H ber, Henry S ssell, William T iley, Thomas N mons, Thomas W ach, Smith S. ngman, Dan, C	1 oct.	~	Mich M
y_{sou} , $A_{lobn} (= D)$	0 jan. 1	0	Engl'd
xie. Richard L			N. Y
urshall, William L		1	Ky!
illard, Joseph II	11 july,	·····	<u>m</u>
rgland, Erie	10 june, 7	2	Sweden 1
aeno Francis V		ð	Pa
lfrey Carl F		4	Mass
xby, William H		5	Mass 2
ber, Henry S		7	N. Y 1
ssell, William T	12 sept.		Ala 1
nley, Thomas N	16 oct.	·····	Tenn
nons, Thomas W		8	IN.Y.
noman Dan C		9	N. H
ittin Eugene	20 iuno		10
ung, Willard			. Utah 2
ick, William M		30,	Pa)
uung, Willard uck, William M sk, Walter L essler, Solomon W.			111
essier, solomon w			111
Second Lieutenants	3.		1
rby, George McC	14 june. 7	8	At sea. M
sk, James L bot, Frederic V sey, Thomas L, jr ngham, Theodore A wusend. Curtis McD beger, Gustav J deg Qloudin, Methica			Pa 1
bot, Frederic V		9	Mass
sey, inomas L., jr	13 june,		N. Y N
wnsend Cartis McD			N. Y M
abeger, Gustav J			Ohio 1
stan Oberlin Matthiag			Ohio M
rter, Oberlin Matthies ethals, George Washington			OHIO 12

-

Name, rank, and date of commission.	Brevet rank in the Regular Army.	Born in.	Appointed from.
ORDNANCE DEPARTMENT.			
CHIEF OF ORDNANCE.			
With rank of Brigadier General.			
Benét, Stephen V	74	Fla	M. A.
Calonele			
Hagner, Peter V	67 brig. gen13 mar. 6. 75 col	5 D, C Va N, H	М. А. М. А. М. А.
Lieutenant Colonels.	51 ml 12 man 6	·	
McAllister, Julian 23 june, Crispin, Silas 14 apr. Baylor, Thomas G 29 may, Whittemore, James M 2 aug.	75 col	Pa Va Mass .	Μ. Α. Μ. Α. Μ. Α. Μ. Α.
Majors.			
Builington, Adelbert R 23 june, Flagler, Daniel W 23 june, Mordecai, Alfred 23 june, Lyford, Stephen C 23 june, Parker, Francis II 14 apr. Balbitt, Lawrence S 10 may, Marye, William A 27 may, Arnold, Isaac 29 may, Couly, Clifton 2 ang.	It. col	N. Y Pa N. H N. Y D. C Mass	M. A. M. A. M. A. M. A. M. A. M. A. M. A.
Marye, William A	79	Md Conn Ohio	M. A. M. A. M. A.
Cantains.			
$ \begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	74 maj	Ky Mass Pa Germ'y Conn Pa Me Mass Pa Pa Pa N. Y Vt Vt Mass	M. A. M. A. M. A. N. Y. Conn. M. A. M. A.
First Lieutenants.	_	-	
Taylor, Daniel M. 1 nov. Lyle, David A. 1 nov. Rockwell, James, jr. 1 nov. Ayres, James C. 1 nov. Lyon, Marcus W. 1 nov. Whipple, Charles W. 19 july. Russell, Andrew H. 21 apr. Birnie, Rogers, jr. 13 june. MacNutt, Ira 13 june. Morrison, Charles C. 14 apr.	7.5 7.6 	Ohio N. Y Wis N. J Mass Md	M. A. M. A. M. A. M. A. M. A. M. A. M. A.

Name, rank, and date of commission.	Brevet rank in the Regular Army.	Born in.	Appointed from.
First Lieutenants-Continued.			
Baker, Frauk	9	Mass Va Minn Md Mass	M. A. M. A. M. A. M. A. M. A.
ORDNANCE STOREKEEPERS.			1
With rank of Captain.			
Ingersoll, Edward 28 july, 6 Shoemaker, William R 28 july, Gilbreth, Benjamin H 28 july, Gilbreth, Benjamin H 28 july, Ellsworth, Ephraim D 28 july, Adams, William 28 july, Morgan, Algernon S. M 28 july, Rexford, William H 28 july, Young, Daniel J 28 july, Grealish, Michael J 28 july,	6	Me N. Y Ireland Pa Mich Engl'd Pa	Me. N. Y. Pa. Pa. Mich, D. C. W. Va
SIGNAL CORPS.			
CHIEF SIGNAL OFFICER.			
With rank of Brigadier General.			
Hazen, William B15 dec. 8	₀ maj. gen13 mar. 6	5 Vt	M. A.
Second Lieutenants. 1 nov. 7 Swift, James A 1 nov. 7 Sebree, Leroy E	8 9 	Md - III - D. C - Ind	Army Army Army Army Army
POST CHAPLAINS.			
With rank of Captain.			
Kendig, Daniel 3 apr. 6 Rayner, James O. 3 apr. Herrick, Osgood E. 3 apr. Chase, Dudley. 3 apr. Chase, Dudley. 3 apr. Reynolds, Charles M. 3 apr. Blake, Charles M. 3 apr. La Tourrette, James A. M. 3 apr. Woart, John 3 apr. Tuttle, Edmund B. 20 sept. Crocker, George D. 3 oct. Yan Horne, Thomas B. 2 july. Mesplie, Tomssaint. 17 aug. 7 Simpson, George W. 1 feb. 7 Simpson, George W. 1 feb. Baddridge, Benjamin L. 8 june.		- Engl'd - Vt - Conn - Tenn - Engl'd - Me - N. Y - Mass - N. Y - Conn - Ohio - Mass - France - Vt - Ohio - Ohio - Ohio	 Fla. Cal. H1. Kans. Pa. N. Y. Pa. H1. Mass. Wis. Texas Idaho Colo. Md. Minn.

Name, rank and date of commission.	Brevet rank in the Regular Army.	Born in.	A ppointed from.
Post charlains-Continued.			
Mitchell, Andrew D	3 	. Pa	Pa.
Dunbar, George W		. N. Y	Wis.
Robinson, George 1 mar. 77		. N. Y	N. Y.
Jackson, John W 3 mar.		. Pa	Pa.
Wills, David 3 june, 79	9	. Pa	D. C.
Collier, George W		. Ohio 💷)hio.
Dodd, Stephen G		. N. J	N.J.
McAdam, William Taggart			
Macomber, John Harrison 16 june,		. N. Y	Minn.
Blaine, Malnor Coons		. Kv	Pa.
Wilson, David		. Pá	Ð. C.
Lindesmith, Eli Washington John 19 june,			
			I

BATTALION OF ENGINEERS.

ORGANIZED BY ACT OF CONGRESS APPROVED JULY 28, 1866, FROM THE COMPANIES AUTHORIZED BY THE ACTS OF MAY 16, 1846, AND AUGUST 6, 1861.

Name, rank, and date of commission.	Letter company	Number of lineal list	Brevet rank in the Regular Army.	Barn in.	Appointed trom.
Lieutenant ('olonel.					
Abbot, Henry L		12	brig, gen13 mar. 65	5 Mass	М. А.
Captains.					
Raymond, Charles W	E B A C	13		D.C Ohio	M. A. M. A.
First Lieutenants. Taber, Henry S	Е	$\frac{16}{22}$	·		
(batt. qm. 29 feb. 80.)					
Second Lieutenants. Derby, George McC	B B C A B C A B C A	$1 \\ 3 \\ 4 \\ 5 \\ 6 \\ 7 \\ 8 \\ 9 \\ 9 \\ 1 \\ 1 \\ 1 \\ 1 \\ 2 \\ 1 \\ 1 \\ 2 \\ 1 \\ 1$		Mass N. Y N. Y N. Y Ohio Ohio	M. A. M. A. M. A. M. A. M. A. M. A.

Name, rank, and date of commission.	Letter of company.	Number on lineal list.	Brevet rank in the Regular Army.	Born in.	Appointed from.
Colonel.					
Grover, Cuvier		5	maj. gen13 mar. 65	ме	М. А.
Lieutenant Colonel.					
Forsyth, James W 4 apr. 78		6	brig. gen 9 apr. 65	Ohio	М. Д.
Majors.					
Green, John		8	lt. col 15 apr. 65	Germ'y	Army
Huntt, George G10 feb. 70 Sanford, George B25 june, 76		13	lt. col	D. C Conn	D. C. Conn.
Captains.					
Bernard, Reuben F28 july, 66	G	6	col13 mar. 65	Tenn	Army
McGregor, Thomas	${}^{\rm A}_{\rm L}$	$ \frac{17}{21} $	capt 15 mai, 66 maj 18 aug, 64 maj 2 apr, 65 capt 19 sept, 64 expt 19 sept, 64	Scotl'd V†	Atmy
Jackson, James	B	- 36	maj18 aug. 64	N.J	Aimy
Wagner, Henry	CI	43	capt	Germ'y Ya	Army
Harris, Moses	м.	58	capt	N.H.	Army
Bendire, Charles	K D	63	capt 19 sept. lt. col26 sept. 67	Germ'y	Army
Forse, Albert G	F	105	lt. col	Ireland	\mathbf{N}, \mathbf{Y}
Hunter, Edward	H E	112 119		ме	. M. A.
First Lieutenants.	11	115		1 1 48818	D. C.
Upham, Frank K		14		Ме	Cal.
(adj't, 7 sept. 79.)	в				{
Adams, John Q14 sept. Garvey, Thomas	C	31	capt17 aug. 67	n, i Ireland	Army
Boutelle, Frazier A	D	43		N. Y	Anuv
Bomns, Peter S	G F	57 65			
Hein, Otto L	M	83		D.C	M. A.
Knox, Thomas T	Е	98		Teun . Ala	. M. A. M. A
(r. qm. 15 aug. 78.)					
Tutherly, Herbert E	I H	107 112			
Hoyle, George S	ĸ	125			
Backus, George B	A	$130 \\ 126$			
Second Lieutenants.		150		1	A.
Pitcher, John	G	99		Техая	M A
Galbraith, Jacob G15 june, 77	F	36		Minn .	M. A.
Brown, William C	LI	48 50			
Landis, J. F. Reynolds15 june, 78	D	61		Pa	. M. A.
Foltz, Frederick S 13 june, 79	H	75		Pa	M. A.
Robertson, Samnel C13 june. Mills, Albert L13 june,	E B	89 90		\mathbf{N}, \mathbf{V}	. м. д. . М. А
Aleshire, James Buchanan 12 june, 80	C	102		Ohio	M. A.
Scott, William Sherley 12 june, Tate, Daniel Lisle	A M	105 109		Texas Kv	M. A. M. A.
Goode, George William12 june,	K	114			

ORGANIZED BY ACT OF CONGRESS MARCH 2, 1823, AS THE FIRST REGIMENT OF DRAGOONS; DESIGNATION CHANGED BY ACT OF AUGUST 3, 1861.

ORGANIZED BY ACT OF CONGRESS MAY 23, 1836, AS THE SECOND REGIMENT ●F DRAGOONS; CONVERTED TO REGIMENT OF RIPLEMEN BY ACT OF AUGUST 23, 1842; RECONVERTED INTO SECOND REGIMENT OF DRAGOONS BY ACT OF APRIL 4, 1844; DESIGNATION CHANGED BY ACT OF AUGUST 3, 1861.

Name, rank, and date of commission.	Letter of company.	Number on lineal list.	Brevet rank in the Regular Army.	liorn in.	Appointed from.
Colonel.					
Davidson, John W	• • • • • •	7	maj. gen13 mar. 65 V	(a	М. А.
Lieutenant Colonel.					
Alexander, Andrew J		8	brig. gen16 apr. 65 H	ζy	. Мо.
Majors.					
Brisbin, James S 1 jan. 68		7	col	?a	. Pa.
Baker, Eugene M			col		
Captains.					
Mix, John	M A		capt 9 june, 63 I		
Tyler, George L	F			1d	. Md.
Spanding, Edward J12 feb. 67	- Ç	22	capt	S. Y	. Army.
Wheelan, James N	$-G_{-L}$		1	1.1	Mal
Gregg, Thomas J 25 june, 77	D	88	maj 2 mar. 67 l	'a	. Pa.
Huggins, Eli L	E K	$\frac{104}{107}$	1		
Hamilton, Samuel T			1	anada 'a	. Pa.
O'Brien, Martin E 1 apr. 80	11	116		. Y	. Iowa.
Rawolle, William C 20 dec.	в	120		russia	N. 1.
First Lieutenants.					
Clark, William P 10 july, 69 Swigert, Samuel M	E D	13 17		Υ.Υ 	. M. A. M. A
Fowler, Joshua L 4 nov.	C C	15		Y I	. M. A.
Doane, Gustavus C 1 dec. 71	L	26	·	n	. D. C. –
Augur, Colon	$\frac{A}{1}$	46 52	Ì	N. Y	. D. C. . Iowa.
Coale, John II		82		ad	Md.
(r. qm. 1 june, 80.)				- 1-	N T
Robinson, Frank U	K F	$\frac{86}{110}$		fass .	M. A.
McClernand, Edward J 9 may,	Ĥ	116	I	11	M. A.
Schofield, Charles B14 june, Kingsbury, Frederick W 1 apr. 80	(† 	$\frac{117}{133}$	1		
Allison, James N	- <u>M</u> - 1	137	1	XY	M. A.
Roe, Charles F 20 dec. (adj't 20 dec., 80.)		138		S. Y	. М. А.
Second Lieutenants.					
La Point, Henry C	M	3			
Sibley, Frederick W	\mathbf{E} D	6 9	ן יייייייייייייייייייייייייייייייייייי		
Fuller, Alfred M 15 june, 76	F	18	1	a	. M. A.
Roppin, Curtis B	C .	47		<u>(</u> . Y	M. A.
O'Brien, Alonzo L	H A	85 88	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		
Lewis, Thomas J	G	92	I	a	M. A.
Fuller, Alvarado M	L	95			
Holton, Frederick Duane12 june, 80	I	108		t	ua.,

ORGANIZED BY ACT OF CONGRESS MAY DESIGNATION CHAN	19, 184 GED BY	6, АS ГАСТ	OF AEGUST 3, 1861.	NIED R	IFLUMEN
Name, rank, and date of commission.	Letter of company.	Number on lineal list.	Brevet rank in the Regular Army.	Born in.	Appointed from.
Colonel.					
Brackett, Albert G		8	col13 mar. 65	N. Y	Ind.
Lieutenant Colonel.					
Royall, William B 2 dec. 75		2	col13 mar. 65	¥a	Mo.
Majors.					
Evans, Andrew W10 may, 67 Carlton, Caleb H17 may, 76 Mason, Julius W1 july,		17	col	Md Ohio Pa	M. A. M. A. Pa.
Captains.					l
Henry, Guy V	C K			N. Y Ireland	M. A. N. Y. Army.
Monahan, Deane	H	$\frac{42}{61}$		N. Y	Army. Army.
Vroom, Peter D 17 may, 76 Lawson, Joseph	L · E	$\frac{74}{84}$		Ireland	N.J. Ky.
Johnson, John B	\mathbf{B}	90 98	capt 2 mar. 67	Mass Mich	Mass. Mich
Crawford, Emmet	G F			Ра	Pa. M. A.
Walker, John P	Ĩ	113		Ohio	M. A.
First Lieutenants.					
Elting, Oscar	K	19 23		N. Y Ohio	N. Y. Cal
Paul, Augustus C	ML	$\frac{35}{61}$		N. Y	Mo.
Morton, Charles	Ă	76		Ohio	M. A.
(r . qu. 24 july, 79,)		85	capt17 aug. 67		
Steever, Edgar Z., jr	\mathbf{F} G	$\frac{87}{101}$			M. A. M. A.
Chase, George F	H E	$\frac{102}{115}$		111	M. A.
Allen, James	С	122		Ind	M. A.
(adj't, 21 aug. 79.)	'	123			
Foster, James E. H	B D	$\frac{128}{131}$			Ра. М. А.
Second Lieutenants.					
Cummings, Joseph F15 june, 76 Hardie, Francis H28 july,	A	17	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	Texas	
Baxter, George W16 sept. 77	${f D}$	$\frac{24}{49}$		N. C]	N. J. M. A.
Hunter, George K	B G	$\frac{54}{58}$		Ohio Va	M. A. M. A.
Porter, John M	М	74		Ala	М. А.
Beach, William D	C E	78 81		N. Y	M. A. M. A.
Jordan, Allen R	H F	84 99		S. C	M. A.
Converse, George Leroy, jr12 june, 80 Morgan, George Horace12 june,	1	107		Dhio	M. A.
and gan, treorge morace 12 june,	к	110		Janada	ы. А.

ORGANIZED BY ACT OF CONGRESS MAY 19, 1846, AS THE REGIMENT OF MOUNTED RIFLEMENT DESIGNATION CHANGED BY ACT OF ADGUST 3, 1861

ORGANIZED BY ACT OF CONGRESS MARC DESIGNATION CHANG			AS THE FIRST REGIMENT OF CAVALRY OF AUGUST 3, 1861.	:
Name, rank, and date of commission.	Letter of company.	Number on lineal list.	Brevet rank in the H Brevet ra	
Colonel.				
Mackenzie, Ranald S 6 mar. 67		3	brig, gen13 mar. 65 N. Υ Μ. Α.	
Lieutenant Colonel.				
Hatch, John P15 jan. 73		1	brig, gen13 mar. 65 N. Y M. A.	
Majors.				
Mizner, John K		28	lt, col	
Captains.				
$ \begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	E G A F I B G E	31 41 49 57 75 94 97 100 101 110 117 40 47	capt2 apr. Germ'y Army, Pa Army, Va Army, Ohio Ind. capt2 mar. Ireland Mo. meland Ark, Md Md. PaRa. PaRa. PaRA. PaRA. PaRA. Dowa M. A. N. Y. N. Y.	
 (adj) (, 17 (may, 78.) Bellas, Henry H	р 11 А К L М	$ \begin{array}{c} 105 \\ 106 \\ 120 \end{array} $	Pa Va. X. Y M. A. N. J M. A. X. J M. A. S. C M. A. Mich M. A.	
Second Lieutenants. McDonald, David N	C M B I K E	$57 \\ 64 \\ 65 \\ 68 \\ 72 \\ 79 \\ 91 \\ 101 \\ 103 \\ 104 \\ 106$	Wis M. A. Va M. A. Mo M. A. Me M. A. S. V. M. A. S. C. M. A. Ga M. A. Ga M. A. Wiss M. A.	

1881.

Name, rank, and date of commission.	Letter of company.	Number on lineal list.	Brevet rank in the Regular Army.	Born in.	Appointed from.
Colonel.					
ferritt, Wesley I july, 76		6	' maj. gen 13 mar. 65	N. Y	М. А.
Lieutenant Colonel.)		
Compton, Charles E		10	lt. col 2 mar. 67	N. J	Iowa.
Majors.					
pham, John J 1 aug. 74		15	maj 2 july, 63	Del	М. А.
lart, Verling K			lt. col 13 mar. 65 lt. col 13 mar.	'Ind 'Pa	Ind. At l'g
		-0			
Captains.	С	25		Germ'y	ш.
dam, Emil	н	27		Canada	N. Y.
Iontgomery, Robert II 3 jan. 70 Iellogg, Sanford C	B	47	lt. col 2 mar. 67	Pa	Army
rice, George F 29 aug. 72	E E	- 53 60	R. col	N.Y.	Cal.
loves Edword M 15 oue 74	43	69		N. Ŷ	N. J.
Yoodson, Albert E 1 july, 75	\mathbf{F}	72		Va	M. A.
Voodson, Albert E 1 july, 76 Sabeock, John B 9 may, 77	K M	82 87	maj 2 mar. 65	Ту Цэ	ldahe Conn
olkmar William I 2 any 79	$\hat{\mathbf{D}}$	102	mag	Pa	M. A.
Volkmar, William J	L	106		Mass	M. A.
Augur, Jacob A14 june,	Δ	109		N. Y	M. A.
First Lieutenants.					
Chomas, Earl D 1 mar. 72	G	29		<u>HI</u>	M. A. M. A.
Rockwell, Charles H	$-\mathbf{L}$			Mass	La.
reely, Adolphus W	Ĕ	55	capt	N. Y	Mich
Iall, William P 1 july, 76		73		Mo	M.A
(r. qm. 5 oct. 76.) chuyler, Walter S	С	7.1		N V	AT A
Aichler, Frank	F	78		X Y	M. A
Davis, George B	- D	81		Mass	M. A
Parkhurst, Charles D 23 aug. 78 Vatts, Charles II 2 apr. 79	H	95	·····		
ondon, Robert 1 may,	M K	$ 104 \\ 112$		$\mathbf{X} \mathbf{C}$	M. A
Laton, George O 1 may,	Ĩ	114		Me	M. A
Bishop, Hoel S14 june,	А	118		Wis	М. А
Second Lieutenants.					
Andrus, Edwin P16 june, 75 Wheeler, Homer W15 oct.	Н	8		$\sum_{\mathbf{Y}_{1}} \mathbf{Y} \dots$	M. A
berry, Samuel A, †	$^{\rm L}$	13		NU	Kans M. A
wift. Ebenezer. ir		20			
(adj't. 4 june, 78.) Foster, Fred. W	к	29		Pa	MA
foldman, Henry J 15 june	M	38		-Germ'y	M. A
Paddock, James V. S 15 june, Barnett, John T 14 june, 78	D	39		- III	M. A
Barnett, John T 14 june, 78	E	59		Ind	M A
facomb, Augustus C.† 23 jan. Velborn, Luther S		69 76			
Brooks, Lorenzo L. C 13 june, 79	A	1 77		lowa	M.A
Waite, Henry De H 13 june,	17	97		N. Y	M.A
Ahny, William E 13 june,	c	98		D. C	M. A

ORGANIZED BY DIRECTION OF THE PRESI	DENT ULY 29	MAY 4 9, 1861	, 1861; CONFIRMED BY 1.	ACT OF (ONGRES
Name, rank, and date of commission.	Letter of company.	Number on lineal list.	Brevet rank in the Regular Army.	Born in.	Appointed from.
Colonel.					
Carr, Eugene A		10	maj. gen13 mar. 6	5 N. Y	М. А.
Lieutenant Colonel.					
Price, William R 2 apr. 79		9	col	s Ohio	Ohio.
Majors.					
Arnold, Abraham K		14	maj	Pa	N. Y.
Captains.					
MeLellan, Curwen B 28 july, 66 Whitside, Samuel M 20 oct. Madden, Daniel 10 may, 67 Tupper, Tullius C 17 sept. Chaffee, Adna R 12 oct. Rafferty, William A 14 may, 68 Foulk, William L 3 mar. 73 Kramer, Adam 1 aug, 74 Campbell, Charles H 20 sept. Wallace, William A 1 aug, 74 Campbell, Charles H 20 sept. Wallace, William A 15 nov. Abbott, Lemmel A 3 june, 80 First Lieutenants. Kendall, Henry M Kendall, Henry M 1 sept. 69 Gordon, Charles G 21 feb. 70 Winchester, Hiram F 1 jau. 71 Overton, Gilbert E 22 may, 72 Perrine, Henry P 20 june, 74 (adji't, 30 sept. 76.) Anderson George S Anderson George S 20 sept. Stanton, William 16 nov. Kingsbury, Henry P 27 jan. 75 West, Frank 17 may, 76 Hama, Robert 11 july, 78	L B C G I M F E A II D K I D B F M L E K H A	$\begin{array}{rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr$	maj	Canada Englid Ohio 8 Ohio 8 Ohio 8 Ohio 9 a 9 a 9 a 9 a 9 a 9 derniy 7 D.C 9 derniy 7 derniy 7 derniy 8 derniy 8 derniy 8 derniy 9 derniy 8 derniy 8 derniy 8 derniy 9 derniy 9 derniy 8 derniy 9	Army, Army, Army, Army, M. A. Pa, Pa, Pa, D. C. N. Y. Mich, Vt. Ind, Cal, Md, N. Y. M. A, M. A, M. A, Mich, M. A, M. A, M. A, M. A,
(r. qm. 14 apr. 79.) Craig, Lonis A	${f C} {f G}$	$\frac{129}{135}$		Мо N. Y	М. А. М. А.
Second Lieutenants.					
Baird, William 16 june, 75 Scott, George L 16 june, 76 Dravo, Edward E 15 june, 76 Cheever, Benjamin H., jr. 15 ang. Blocksom, Augustus P 15 june, 77 Gatewood, Charles B 15 june, 76 Clark, Wallis O 31 dec. Bailey, Albert S 14 june, 78 Glass, John N 25 june, 79 Blake, John N 25 june, 79 Blake, John Y, Fillmore 12 june, 79 Sands, George Henry 12 june, 12 june,	KH1GFDLBAEMU	$ \begin{array}{r} 11 \\ 15 \\ 29 \\ 34 \\ 35 \\ 55 \\ 60 \\ \end{array} $		Oreg. Pa D. C Ohio Va Mass Texas Tenn Ky Mo	M. A. M. A. D. C. M. A. M. A. M. A. M. A. M. A.

ORGANIZED BY AC			ESS JULY 28, 1866.		
Name, rank, and date of commission.	Letter of company.	Number on lineal list.	Brevet rank in the Regular Army,	Born in.	Appointed from.
Colonel.					
Sturgis, Samuel D 6 may, 69		4	maj. gen13 mar. 65	5 Pa	М. А.
Lieutenant Colonel.				ļ	l
Otis, Elmer25 june, 76		3	col15 apr. 6	5 Mass	м. А.
Majors.					
Tilford, Joseph G		9	lt. col 13 mar. 67 eol 5 mar.	-Pá	M. A.
Captains.			;		
Benteen, Frederick W. 28 july, 66 Tourfellotte, John E 28 july, Sheridan, Michael V. 28 july, Ilsley, Charles S. 11 july, 71 Moylan, Myles 1 mar, 72 McDougall, Thomas M 15 dec. 75 Nowlan, Henry J. 25 june, 76 Bell, James M 25 june, 40 Godfrey, Edward G 30 sept. 77 Gibson, Frank M 5 feb. 80	H G L E A B I F C D K M	54 56 73 79 80 81 86 89	capt 2 mar. 67	Conn Ohio Me Mass Wis Corfu Pa Engl'd Ohio France	Minn Ohio, Me, Army Kans N, Y, Pa, III, M, A, Ind,
First Lieutenants.					
De Rudio. Charles C	E D M G H I	$-66 \\ -67$		N. H Tenn S. C N. Y Ind	M. A. M. A. M. A. M. A. M. A.
(adj't, 6 june, 77.) Robinson, William W., jr	F A B K C	80 84 91 92		Mo Ill Va Ky	M. A. M. A. M. A. M. A.
Russell, Albert J	H C F G D E	$16 \\ 21 \\ 23 \\ 28 \\ 30 \\ 40 \\ 51$		Pa Ohio D. C Ohio Ind	M. A. Ill. D. C. Ohio. M. A.
(r. qu. 9 apr 80.) Creel, Heber M	K B M L I A	52 53 63 67 82 112		Canada Va Ky Mo	Minn M. A. M. A. M. A.

ORGANIZED BY ACT OF CONGRESS JULY 28, 1866.							
Name, rank, and date of commission.	Letter of company.	Numberon lineal list.	Brevet rank in the Regular Army.	Born in.	Appointed from.		
Colonel.							
Neill, Thomas II 2 apr. 79		9	brig. gen 13 mar. 65	Pa	м. А.		
Lieutenant Colonel.							
Sweitzer, Nelson B		5	brig. gen13 mar. 65	Da	M A		
		.,	origi gentiti 15 mar. 65	I a			
Majors. Clendenin, David R		3 25 26		D. C	D. C.		
		2.0	haj to mar. oo	1.4	Act ge		
Captains. Young, Samuel B, M. .28 july, 66 Randlett, James F. .6 june, 67 Morris, Louis T, † .15 feb, 65 Kauffman, Albert B .13 may, 69 Wells, Almond B .23 may, 70 Feehét, Edmond G .26 may, Chilson, George W .28 dec, 71 Caraher, Andrew P .15 jun, 73 Coster, John H .29 mar, Farnsworth, Henry J .17 may, 76 Malniken, John H .28 june, 78 Stevenson, Jonathan D .20 mar, 79	MDLEAGCFKH1B	$ \begin{array}{r} 10 \\ 26 \\ 37 \\ 46 \\ 50 \\ 51 \\ 55 \\ 62 \\ 65 \\ 77 \\ 91 \\ 96 \\ \end{array} $	col	N. H Ind Pa N. Y Mich Mich	N. H. Ind. Mo. Nev. Mich. Mich. Mass. N. Y. N. Y. N. Y.		
First Lieutenants.							
Foote, George F	в	8 9 10	capt 2 mar. 67	Md	Tenn. Md. M. A.		
(r. qm. 1 sept. 80.) Ropes, James M 28 dec. Laff, Edmund 23 may, 70 Weeks, Harrison S 28 dec. JPullman, John W 15 jan. Sprole, Henry W 29 mar. Wood, Edward E 31 july. Williams, Richard A 17 may, 76 Godwin, Edward A 3 oct. Fountain, Samuel W 22 oct. Phelps, Frederick E 20 mar. Phelys, Frederick E 20 mar. Wickey, James B 23 apr.	L D	$12 \\ 22 \\ 28 \\ 39 \\ 44 \\ 62 \\ 77 \\ 96 \\ 100 \\ 111$		N. Y Mich N. Y Pa Va Va Ohio	М. А. М. А.		
Second Lieutenants.							
Pond, George E 14 june; 72 O'Connor, Charles M 13 june; 73 Gillmore, Quincy O'M 19 mar, 73 Filis, Eugene A 15 june; 76 Guest, Joseph H 15 aug. Offer, John 15 aug. Pinder, Joseph W 15 aug. Elliot, Lobin 15 aug. Pinder, Joseph W 15 aug. Elliott, William J 28 june; 78 Kendall, Henry F 28 june; 78 Shunk, William A 13 june; 79 Johnston, John A 13 june;	G B D	$ \begin{array}{r} 1 \\ 4 \\ 7 \\ 14 \\ 25 \\ 26 \\ 27 \\ 31 \\ 66 \\ 70 \\ 73 \\ 80 \\ 80 \\ 1 \\ 1 \\ 1 \\ 4 \\ 7 \\ 1 \\ 5 \\ 1 \\ 6 \\ 70 \\ 73 \\ 80 \\ 1 \\ 1 \\ 1 \\ 1 \\ 6 \\ 70 \\ 73 \\ 80 \\ 1 $		Iowa	M. A. M. A. Pa. Md. Ga. M. A. M. A. M. A. M. A.		

ORGANIZED BY AC	T OF C	CONGRE	ESS JULY 28, 1866.		
Name, rank, and date of commission.	Letter of company.	Number on lineal list.	Brevet rank in the Regular Army.	Born in.	Appointed from.
Colonel.					
Hatch, Edward 28 july, 66		1	maj. gen 2 mar. 67	Ме	lowa.
Lieutenant Colonel.					
Dudley, Nathan A. M 1 july, 76		4	col13 mar. 65	Mass	Mass.
Majors.	1				
Forsyth, George A		1	brig. gen 17 sept. 68	Pa	III. Pa
Morrow, Albert P		$2\hat{4}$	maj11 oct. 64	1nd	Pa.
Chaplain.					n a
Gonzales, Manuel J		1		Mad a	D. C.
Purington, George A	н	12	col 2 mar. 67	Ohio	Dhie.
Bacon, John M	- G	15	maj	Kv	Kv
Carroll, Henry	\mathbf{F}			N V	1 3 3 3 3 3 3 4 7
Hooker, Ambrose E 6 mar. Bever, Charles D 6 inne.	E C	23		N. Y	Cal. La.
Beyer, Charles D	Λ	35	capt 2 mar. 65	Ireland	N.Y.
Parker, Charles	\mathbf{L}	- 59		. Scotf'd.	La.
Rucker, Lonis II	M B	$\frac{95}{103}$		III	111. Ind
Loud, John S 13 jan. 80		114	eapt 2 mar. 67	N. Y	N. Y.
First Lieutenants.					
Cusack, Patrick	$-\frac{G}{B}$	11	capt	N.Y.	Mich
Dimmick, Eugene D 16 jan. 70 Tyler, William W 9 dec. 71 Valois, Gustavus	L I	$\frac{20}{27}$		N. Y	X Y
Valois, Gustavus	М	. 33		Prussia	Army.
Hughes, Martin B	D	41 53		Mass	M. A. M. A.
(adj't, 18 mar. 80.) Couline John 15 nov	4	58	1	vt	M. A
Taylor, F. Beers	Ê	60		N.Y	N. Y.
Taylor, F. Beers 25 feb. 76 Gibbon, David J 28 june, 78 Davenport, Thomas C 28 june, 79 Goodwin, Millard F. 4 apr, 79	F H	90		D_{1}	Army. M. A.
(r. qm. 1 Jan. 81.)		-		1	
Humphrey, Ballard S24 june, Wright, Henry H18 mar. 80	C K	119		Va	Va.
Second Lieutenants.		105			D. U.
Smith, George W	п	5		Va	Kans.
Smith, George W	D E	44		N. Y	M. A.
Day, Matthias W 1 mar. 78 Schaeffer, Charles M	$\frac{\widetilde{A}}{L}$	56		Ohio	M. A.
Finley. Walter L	Ğ	- 93		Pa	M.A.
Daty, Matthiks W	\mathbf{F} K	94		N. Y	M. A.
Burnett, George Rifter12 june, 80 Howard, Charles Alton 24 june,	I B	115 118	·	Pa	M. A.
McBlain, John Feral	М	119	¹	Pa	Army.
Powell, Philip Pendleton24 june,	С	120		Va	Army.

ORGANIZED BY ACT OF CONGRESS JULY 28, 1866.							
Name, rank, and date of commission.	Letter of company.	Numberon lineal list.	Brevet rank in the Regular Army.	Born in.	Appointed from.		
Colonel.							
Grierson, Benjamin H	• • • • • •	2	maj. gen 2 mar. 67	Pa	. 111.		
Lieutenant Colonel.							
Wade, James F20 mar. 79	•••••	7	col13 mar. 65	Ohio	Ohio.		
Majors.							
Schofield, George W		18	col	Nt	N. Y.		
Chaplain. Warner Francis Bouw 16 ione 50		.,		D.a	Da		
Weaver, Francis Heyer 16 june, 80 Captains.	• •	-	•••••••••••	ra	ra.		
Nolan, Nicholas	А 11 12	9 12	capt	N.J Va	Army.		
Baldwin, Theodore A	I	29 38	capt 4 july, 63	N.J N.Y	Army. N N		
Norvell, Stevens T	M	40		Mich	Army.		
Kennedy, William B 7 june, 70	G F	45 52	capt 2 mar. 67	Ireland	Va. Cal.		
Keyes, Alexander S. B. 6 dec. 73 Kelley, Joseph M. 15 apr. 75	D E	$\frac{66}{71}$	capt 2 mar. 67	Mass	Mass. Pa		
Lebo, Thomas C 17 may, 76	K	76		Pa	Pa.		
Spencer, Thomas J20 mar. 79 First Lieutenants.	в	93	capt 2 mar. 67	MICH	Mich.		
Smither, Robert G		1		Ind	Ind.		
(adj t, 25 jan. 77.) Morrison, John T	F						
Pratt, Richard II 31 july,	I	4	capt	N. Y	Minn. Ind.		
Cooper, Charles L 5 oct. Woodward, Samuel L11 dec.	M K	5	maj	N. Y N. J	Pa. Ky.		
Beck, William H 11 dec. Colladay, Samuel R 1 jan. 71	G	7		Pa	111.		
Davis, William, jr		24 37					
(r. qm, 1 sept, 78.) Nordstrom, Charles E. ; 1 sept, 69	А	38	I	Ме	Me.		
Harmon, William R 6 dec. 73	11	45		Ohio	Ohio.		
Maxon, Mason M	L E	$\frac{54}{56}$					
Ward, Charles R	D B	$\frac{63}{127}$		Pa N.C	M. A. M. A.		
Second Lieutenants.		1					
Evans, George II	Е	$\frac{2}{2}$		Pa	M. A.		
Ayres, Charles G	II I	12 32		N. Y K v	N.Y. Md.		
Estarly Calvin 15 inno 77	L.	37		Ohio	M. A.		
Flipper, Henry O	B A	42 43	·	Ga	M. A.		
Read, Robert D., jr	K M	45 46		Tenn - Ind	М. <u>А</u> . М. <u>А</u> .		
Bigelow, John, jr	1)	87	·	111	M. A.		
Watson, James Waterman 12 june, 80	\mathbf{F}^{C}						
Trippe, Percy Edwards 12 june,	G	117		Ga			

ORGANIZED BY ACT OF CONGRESS MARCH 2, 1821, PROM THE CORPS OF ARTILLERY, FORMED BY ACT OF MARCH 30, 1814, BY THE CONSOLIDATION OF THE FIRST REGIMENT OF ARTILLERY, ORGAN-IZED BY ACT OF MARCH 16, 1802, FROM THE TWO REGIMENTS OF ARTILLERY, ORGANIZED BY ACT OF MARCH 3, 1799; THE SECOND AND THIRD REGIMENTS OF ARTILLERY, ORGANIZED BY ACT OF JANUARY 11, 1812; THE REGIMENT OF LIGHT ARTILLERY, ORGANIZED BY ACT OF APRIL 12, 1808, AND THE ORDNANCE DEPARTMENT, ORGANIZED BY ACT OF FEBRUARY 8, 1815, AND MERGED IN THE ARTILLERY BY ACT OF MARCH 2, 1821.

ORDNANCE SEPARATED FROM ARTHLERY BY ACTS OF APRIL 5, 1832, and JPLY 5, 1838.

Name, rank, and date of commission.	Letter of battery.	Numberon lineal list.	Brevet rank in the Regular Army,	Born in.	Appointed from.
Colonel.				1	
Vogdes, Israel 1 aug. 63		1	brig. gen 9 apr. 65	Pa	М. А.
Lieutenant Colonel.					
Brannan, John M10 jan. 77		2	maj. gen13 mar. 65	D. C	М. А.
Majors.					
Hamilton, John 13 aug. 66 Best, Clermont L		$\frac{1}{2}{8}$	col20 feb. 64 col13 mar. 65 col13 mar.	N. Y	M. A.
Captains.					
$\begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	B L G E H U M F K D I A	$5 \\ 7 \\ 15 \\ 19 \\ 21 \\ 28 \\ 43 \\ 46 \\ 52 $	lt. col	N. Y Pa D. C Mc Miss Pa Nich N. Y N Y	M. A. 'Pa. D. C. At l'ge. M. A. Me. Pa. Mich. M. A. Army.
First Lieutenants.					
Andruss, E. Van Arsdale 10 may, 65, MacMurray, Junius W	$\begin{array}{c} \Lambda \\ \mathbf{F} \\ \\ \mathbf{I} \\ \mathbf{H} \\ \mathbf{G} \\ \mathbf{L} \\ \mathbf{I} \\ \mathbf{C} \\ \\ \\ \end{array}$	$ \begin{array}{r} 12 \\ 14 \\ 22 \\ 29 \\ 35 \\ 47 \\ 61 \\ 63 \\ 69 \\ \end{array} $	capt 9 apr. 65 maj 2 mar. 67 capt 2 mar. 67	Mo N. Y N. Y Mass Canada N. Y D. C	Mo. N. Y. R. I. N. Y. Mass. Mo. M. A. M. A. M. A.
Barber, Thomas H	B M A B E H G E C D	$ \begin{array}{r} 84 \\ 85 \\ 90 \\ 91 \\ 97 \\ 110 \\ 115 \\ 117 \\ \end{array} $		Fla Ohio N. Y D. C N. Y Pa Ill Mo	M. A. N. Y. Mich. D. C. N. Y. M. A. M. A. M. A.

Name, rauk, and date of commission.	Letter of hattery.	Number on lineal list.	Brevet rank in the Regular Army.	Born in.	Appointed from.
First Lieutenants-Continued.					
Rice, Frank S 1 july, 79 Honeyentt, John T 18 july, Wisser, John P 13 jan, 80 Oyster, Joseph S 15 may, Bliss, Tasker H 1 july,	D	122 123 126 128 129		Miss Mo D.C.	M. A. M. A. M. A.
Second Lieutenants.					
Patterson, Thomas C 15 june, 77 Told, Athert 15 june, Staker, Adam 13 oct. White, John N 22 nov. Marsh, Frederick 15 mar, 78 Price, David, jr 7 june, Harlow, Frank S 13 june, 79 Runcie, James E 13 june, 79 Runcie, James E 13 june, 90 Rafley, William Carroll 12 june, 90 Rafley, Charles Justin 12 june, 12 june, 12 june,	LGKGFCKMBADE1	$\begin{array}{c} 35\\ 36\\ 42\\ 43\\ 44\\ 45\\ 53\\ 54\\ 55\\ 55\\ 57\\ 59\\ 61\\ \end{array}$		R. 1 Miss N. Y Wales Vt Iowa Pa Ind N. Y Pa	M. A. M. A.

ORGANIZED BY ACT OF CONGRESS MARCH 2, 1821, FROM THE CORPS OF ARTILLERY FORMED BY ACT OF MARCH 30, 1814, BY THE CONSOLUTION OF THE FIRST REGIMENT OF ARTILLER), ORGANIZED BY ACT OF MARCH 16, 1802, FROM THE TWO REGIMENTS OF ARTILLERISTS AND ENGINEERS AUTHORIZED BY ACT OF MARCH 3, 1799; THE SECOND AND THRED REGIMENTS OF ARTILLERY, ORGANIZED BY ACT OF JAMARY 11, 1812; THE REGIMENT OF LIGHT ARTILLERIY, ORGANIZED BY ACT OF JAMARY 11, 1812; THE REGIMENT OF LIGHT ARTILLERIY, ORGANIZED BY ACT OF JAMARY 11, 1812; THE REGIMENT OF LIGHT ARTILLERY, ORGANIZED BY ACT OF ARRIL 12, 1808, AND THE ORDANCE DEPARTMENT, ORGANIZED BY ACT OF FEREVARY 8, 1815, AND MERCED IN THE ARTILLERY BY ACT OF MARCH 2, 1821, ORDNANCE SEPARATED FROM ARTILLERY BY ACTS OF AFRIL 5, 1832, AND JULY 5, 1838.

Name, rank, and date of commission.	Letter of batter.	Number on lineal list.	Brevet rank in the Regular Army.	Born in.	Appointed from.
Colonel.					
Ayres, Romeyn B 18 july, 79		4	maj, gen 13 mar. 65	N. Y	М. А.
Lieutenant Colonel.					
Howe, Albion P10 apr. 79		3	maj. gen 13 mar. 65	Ме	M. A.
Majors.	1				
Tidball, John C 5 feb. 67 McMillan, James 2 july, 77 Langdon, Loomis L 20 mar. 79		9	brig. gen13 mar. 65 maj	N. Y	M. A.
Captains.					
Pennington, Alexander C. M. 30 mar. 64 Rodgers, John I	*A F I E M D G C B II K	$ \begin{array}{c} 11\\ 13\\ 23\\ 24\\ 27\\ 30\\ 32\\ \end{array} $	maj 2 mar. 67 capt	Pa Vt Ohio Ind Pa N. Y D. C Md D. C	M. A. Cal. M. A. Ind. At l'ge. Army. At l'ge. Ky. Ky. M. A.
First Lieutenants.					
$\begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	D F I K I D L E B K G C C I B K G C C I B K G C F M	$egin{array}{c} 3 \\ 4 \\ 19 \\ 37 \\ 40 \\ 41 \\ 42 \\ 43 \\ 46 \\ 49 \\ 50 \\ 52 \\ 59 \\ 70 \\ 75 \\ 76 \\ 77 \end{array}$	eapt	Ky Me N. Y Pa Ircland Ind Engl'd N. Y Ohio Mass Pa Pa Mass Ohio N. Y Ohio N. Y Oreg Ind	M. A. M. A. Mo. Pa. Conn. Ind. N. Y. Wis. Ohio. Mass. M. A. M. A. M. A. M. A. M. A. M. A. M. A. M. A.

Name, rank, and date of commission.	Letter of battery.	Number on lineal list.	Brevet rank in the Regular Army.	Born in.	A ppointed from.
First Lieutenants-Continued.					1
Howard, Clarence O	L H A	$100 \\ 103 \\ 107$		Ку 	. Ку. . М. А. . М. А.
Harrison, George F. E, 13 june, 73 Edgerton, Wright P, 17 june, 74 Niles, Lotas	A C K L B E F D M H			. Ohio . III . N. Y. . Ohio . Vt . Ind . Ga . S. C . Va . Va . Ind . Me	. M. A. M. A.

ORGANIZED BY ACT OF CONGRESS MARCH 2, 1821, FROM THE CORPS OF ARTILLERY FORMED BY ACT OF MARCH 39, 1814, BY THE CONSOLIDATION OF THE FIRST REGIMENT OF ARTILLERY, OR-GANIZED BY ACT OF MARCH 16, 1802, FROM THE TWO REGIMENTS OF ARTILLERISTS AND ENGL-NFERS, AUTHORIZED BY ACT OF MARCH 3, 1799; THE SECOND AND THIRD REGIMENTS OF ARTILLERY, ORGANIZED BY ACT OF JANUARY 11, 1812; THE REGIMENT OF LIGHT ARTILLERY, ORGAN LERT, ONCALED BY AN 100 BELAND THE ONLY MADE BEFARTMENT, ORGANIZED BY ACT OF FEBRUARY 8, 1815, AND MERGED IN THE ARTILLERY BY ACT OF MARCH 2, 1821. ORDANCE SEPARATED FROM ARTILLERY BY ACTS OF AFRIL 5, 1832, AND JULY 5, 1838.

Name, rank, and date of commission.	Letter of battery.	Number on lineal list.	Brevet rank in the Regular Army.	Born in.	Appointed from.
Colonel.					
Getty, George W28 july, 66		2	maj. gen 13 mar. 6	5 D. C	М. А.
Lieutenant Colonel.					
De Russy, Gustavus A25 aug. 79		4	brig. gen 13 mar. 6	5 N.Y .	Va.
Majors.					
Gibson, Horafio G		11	col	5 Md Tenn N. Y	Cal.
Captains.					
$eq:local_$	A E *C M D I H G B F K L	$ \begin{array}{r} 8 \\ 14 \\ 17 \\ 33 \\ 36 \\ $	maj	N. J 2 Ohio 5 Pa D. C 4 N. J 2 Ireland 4 Mass Ind 5 Ky Ireland	M. A. M. A. M. A. At Fge, N. Y. Army, Mass. Mo, M. A. Army,
First Lieutenants.					
$\begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	в	20 25 30 31 38 39	1 lt	5 Conn 7 N. Y N. Y N. Y Hreland N. Y Hreland N. Y Pa 7 N. Y D. C D. C D. C D. C D. C D. C D. C D. C	Army. N. Y. N. Y. M. A. Mass. Mass. D. C. D. C. N. Y. M. A.

.

Name, rank, and date of commission.	Letter of battery.	Number on lineal list.	Brevet rank in the Regular Army.	Born in.	Appointed from.
First Lieutenants-Continued.					
Postley, Clarence A	M K H E D	$\frac{120}{121}$. Ohio . R. I . N. C	M. A. M. A. M. A.
Williams, John R. 15 june, 76 Dowd, Henry H. 15 june, Ludlow, Henry H. 15 june, Satterlee, Charles B. 15 june, Woodward, Charles G. 2 july, 77 Bair, Francis P. 3 june, 78 Seriven, George P. 14 june, Howard, Ohuglas A. 14 june, Gibson, William W. 13 june, 78 Gueze, Wilbur 12 june, 80 Rambough, David Jacob. 12 june,	A FC A L E K	$\begin{array}{c} 21\\ 221\\ 24\\ 27\\ 22\\ 41\\ 46\\ 49\\ 51\\ 62\\ 63\\ 63\end{array}$. N. Y Pa Pa Mich Mo Pa 11 Conn . N. Y	. M. A. . M. A.

ORGANIZED BY ACT OF CONGRESS MARCH 2, 1821, FROM THE CORPS OF ARTILLERY FORMED BY ACT OF MARCH 30, 1814, BY THE CONSOLIDATION OF THE FIRST DECIMENT OF ARTILLERY, ORGAN-IZED BY ACT OF MARCH 16, 1802, FROM THE TWO REGIMENTS OF ARTILLERSY, AND ENGINEERS, AUTHORIZED BY ACT OF MARCH 3, 1799; THE SECOND AND THERD REGIMENTS OF ARTILLERY, ORGANIZED BY ACT OF JANUARY 11, 1812; THE REGIMENT OF LIGHT ARTILLERY, ORGANIZED BY ACT OF ARTHL 12, 1808, AND THE ORDANCE DEPARTMENT, ORGANIZED BY ACT OF FEBRUARY 8, 1815, AND MERGED IN THE ARTILLERY BY ACT OF MARCH 2, 1821.

ORDNANCE SEPARATED FROM ARTILLERY BY ACTS OF APRIL 5, 1832, AND JULY 5, 1838.

Name, rank, and date of commission.	Letter of battery.	Number on lineal list.	Brevet rank in the Regular Army.	Born in.	Appointed from.
Colonel.					
Upton, Emory 1 jnly, 80		5	maj. gen 13 mar. 65	N. Y	M. A.
Lieutenant Colonel.					
Andrews, George P 1 july, 80		5	·	Conn .	. М. А.
Majors.					
Piper, Alexander	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	12	lt. col 15 june, 64 lt. col 28 ang. brig. gen13 mar. 65	N. Y	. M. A.
Captains.					
Miller, Marcus P 11 may, 64 Throekmorton, Charles B 18 july, Hasbronck, Henry C 26 july, 66 Egan, John 28 july, Campbell, Joseph B 5 feb, 67 Smith, Frank G 5 feb, 67 Rodney, George B 4 mar, 69 Cushing, Harry C 22 aug, 71 Bancroft, Engene A 26 apr, 73 Field, Edward 29 apr, 73 Morris, Arthur 10 jan, 77 Roder, John W 25 aug, 79	М *ВК FH D С А L G	$ \begin{array}{r} 12 \\ 16 \\ 22 \\ 25 \end{array} $	capt	Va N. Y Pa Pa Del Md N. J Va	Md. M. A. M. A. M. A. Ohio. Del. R. I. Mass. N. J. At Fge.
First Lieutenants.					
Story, John P 23 june, 65 Greenough, George G 23 june, Fuger, Frederick 21 dec. (r. qn. 1 aug, 75.) Enuis, William Enuis, William 8 may, 66 Strong, Richard P, † 1 nay, Danwoody, Henry H. C 5 feb. 67 Craig, Rohert 5 feb. 67 O'Brien, Michael 15 apr. Stewart, William F 19 nov, 69 Miller, Crosby P 1 dec. Jones, Samuel R 22 aug, 71 Howe, Watter 1 sept, 72 Lower Portor, in 0 bior, 72	I D E D C H F G K	$7 \\ 10 \\ 15 \\ 21 \\ 26 \\ 27 \\ 32 \\ 54 \\ 55 \\ 67 \\ 72 \\$		D. C Germ'y R. I N. Y Ohio Pa Hreland R. I Yt Pa Ind	 M. A. Army, M. A. N. Y. M. A. M. A. Army, At Fge, M. A. M. A. M. A.
Leary, Peter, jr	L M *B M G I H	$94 \\ 104$		D. C Me Ohio Md Conn . Sweder Conn . Mich .	N. Y. M. A. Ohio. M. A. M. A. M. A. M. A. M. A.

Name, rank, and date of commission.	Letter of battery.	Numberon lineal list.	Brevet rank in the Regular Army.	Born in.	Appointed from.
First Lieutenants-Continued.					
Dyer, Alexander B	́В Е	106 113 124 125		111 Mich	М. А. М. А.
Anderson, George L 17 june, 74 Deems, Charence 17 june, 76 Jones, James M 16 june, 75 Crozier, William 15 june, 76 French, John T., jr 15 june, 76 Medcalfe, William M 15 june, 76 Otis, Harrison G. f. 17 june, 74 Gordon, William B 15 june, 77 Springert, Howard A 15 june, 77 Springert, Howard A 15 june, 78 Alexander, Walter S 13 june, 78 Alexander, Henry Albert 12 june, 80 Strong, Frederick Smith Strong, Frederick Smith 12 june, 80	M L ~B I D I	$\begin{array}{c} 7\\ 8\\ 18\\ 23\\ 25\\ 26\\ 34\\ 37\\ 38\\ 50\\ 52\\ 58\\ 61\end{array}$. Va Ohio Mass Md Pa Ohio Fla Wis	M. A. M. A.

Name, rank, and date of commission.	Letter of battery.	Number on lineal list.	Brevet rank in the Regular Army.	Born in.	Appointed from.
Colonel.	-			-	
Iunt, Henry J 4 apr. 69		3	maj. gen 13 mar. 6	5 Mich	М. А.
Lieutenant Colonel.					
0ent, Frederick T31 dec. 67		1	brig. gen13 mar. 6	5 Mo	М. А.
Majors.					
urnold, Richard		7	maj. gen 13 mar. 6 dt. col 23 aug. 6 brig. gen13 mar. 6	4 Vt	M. A.
Captains.					
ainbridge, Edmund C	K I H D C *F E L B G A		lt. col13 mar. lt. col13 mar. col13 mar. maj	Pa N. Y Mich Pa 4 N. Y 5 Ill 2 N. Y 4 Pa	M. A. M. A. Pa. At l'g Kans. Del. At l'g Pa. Pa.
First Lieutenants.					
Stabb, George W	D K C D I G L C		capt 2 apr. 6 capt	Mass Me Pa Ireland Ohio Germ'y Poland Tenn N. Y	M. A. Me. M. A. Army Army Army N. Y. Conn. N. Y.
Hills, Elbridge R.	B H E B M	44 48 51 57		Treland 7 Mass 1 Italy 111	Army Mass. M. A. M. A.
4cCallum, William B	1 E G *F	$ \begin{array}{r} 64 \\ 65 \\ 66 \\ 92 \\ 95 \\ 95 \end{array} $		N. Y Ky Va N. Y D. C	M. A M. A Va. N. Y. N. J.
ohnson, David D 1 mar. 75 Barnett, Charles R 1 may,	A K	98 101			M. A

Name, rank, and date of commission.	Letter of battery.	Number on lineal list.	Brevet rank in the Regular Army.	Born in.	Appointed from.
Second Lieutenants.	4 5				
Sage, George E.	A G H K E	$egin{array}{c} 1\\ 2\\ 3\\ 4\\ 5\\ 13\\ 15\\ 15\\ 20\\ 30\\ 31\\ 39\\ 40 \end{array}$		Mass . N. Y D. C . Me . La . N. Y . Com . Wis . N. Y . Pa .	 M. A.

•

ORGANIZED BY ACT OF CONGRESS APPROVED APRIL 30, 1790; REORGANIZED BY THE CONSOLIDA-TION OF THE SECOND, THIRD, SEVENTH, AND FORTY-FOURTH REGIMENTS OF INFANTRY, APPROVED BY ACT OF CONGRESS MARCH 3, 1815; AND AGAIN BY THE CONSOLIDATION OF FILE FURST AND FORTY-THIRD REGIMENTS OF INFANTRY, BY ACT OF CONGRESS APPROVED MARCH 3, 1869.

Name, rank, and date of commission.	Letter of company.	Number on lineal list.	Brevet rank in the Regular Army.	Born in.	Appointed from.
Colonel.					
Shafter, William R 4 mar. 79		18	col 2 mar. 67	Mich	Mich.
Lieutenant Colonel.					
Brown, William H15 dec. 80		25	lt. col13 mar. 65	Pa	Pa.
Major.					
Lazelle, Henry M15 dec. 74		8	maj19 sept. 64	Mass	М. А
Captains.					
Bates, Kinzie 15 mar, 66 Walker, Fergus 28 july, Tolman, Thomas M 18 nov. 67 Tisdall, William N 13 jan. 69 Dougherty, William E 1 mar, 78 Hamilton, John 6 may, 79 Callinan, Daniel F 1 july, Heiner, Robert G 29 sept. Pierce, Francis E 8 jan. 80 Parker, Leopold O.t 12 nov. 79 First Lieutenants. Humbert, James 10 june, 68 Lynde, Frederick M 25 feb. 69 Armstrong, Robert G 29 may, 74 Booth, Charles A 1 mar, 78 Scott, Douglas M 28 june, O'Connell, John J 28 june, O'Connell, John J 28 june, O'Connell, Frank H 6 may, 79 Reed, Hugh T 1 july, Mans, Marion P 29 sept. Wilbelmit, Louis 16 mar, 80	K I HCBEDAGF DCGEFKAHBI	$\begin{array}{c} 67\\ \cdot 85\\ 130\\ 139\\ 229\\ 234\\ 239\\ 243\\ 243\\ 64\\ 78\\ 135\\ 194\\ 208\\ 2112\\ 254\\ 264\\ 254\\ 264\\ 254\\ 264\\ 251\\ \end{array}$	maj 4 july, 63 maj 2 mar. 67	Ireland Me Pa Ireland Ireland Pa N. Y Mo Pa N. Y Mass Ky Heland Mich Ind Md	N. Y. M. A. Pa. Army. Army. Army. N. Y. Va. Pa. Wis. Pa. N. Y. Pa. Kv. Army. M. A. M. A. M. A.
(adj't, 16 mar. 80.) Second Lieutenants. Barry, Thomas H 15 june, 77 Pettit, James S	I H C F	123 125 135 138		Ohio Ga	M. A. M. A.
Starr, Charles G	F A K B D E G	$ \begin{array}{r} 138 \\ 142 \\ 179 \\ 183 \\ 191 \\ 214 \\ 221 \\ 231 \\ \end{array} $		Ky Ohio Va Cal N, Y Fla	M. A. M. A. Va. Texas. M. A. M. A.

ORGANIZED BY ACT OF CONGRESS APPROVED MARCH 3, 1791; REORGANIZED BY THE CONSOLIDATION OF THE SIXUL, SIXTEENTH, TWENTY-SECOND, TWENTY-THED, AND THRETY-SECOND REGIMENTS OF INFANTRY, APPROVED BY ACT OF CONGRESS MARCH 3, 1815; AND AGAIN BY THE CONSOLIDATION OF THE SECOND AND SINTEENTH REGIMENTS OF INFANTRY, BY ACT OF CONGRESS APPROVED MARCH 3, 1869.

Name, rank, and date of commission.	Letter of company.	Numberon lineallist.	Brevet rank in the Regular Army.	Born in.	Appointed from.
Colonel.					
Wheaton, Frank15 dec. 74		17	maj. gen13 mar. (5 R. I	R. I.
Lieutenant Colonel.					
Merriam, Henry C 10 june, 76		14	col 2 mar. (57 Me	Me.
Major.					
Smith, Leslie 21 may, 80		23	maj 13 mar. (55 Ireland	Mich.
Captains.					
Drum, William F. 1 may, 63 Cook, Henry C. 24 sept. 64 Mills, William 13 feb. 66 Falek, William 13 apr. Daggett, Aaron S. 28 july. Keller, Charles 20 july. 75 Dempsey, Charles A. 9 feb. 78 McKeever, Samuel 4 mar. 79 Drury, Thomas. 27 apr. Miller, James. 7 june,	C E A DH G B K F I	$ 41 \\ 65 \\ 71 $	ht. col 1 apr. capt 1 sept. tt. col 13 mar. ht. col 2 mar. capt 2 mar.	64 Mass Mich 65 Germ'y 67 Me Pa Va 67 Mass Ireland	Mass. Army. Army. Me. M. A. M. A. Mass. Army.
First Lieutenants.					
Harkins, Charles 28 july, 66 Catley, Henry 5 ang Haines, Abner, jr 1 jan, 71 Ulio, James 21 dec Ames, Luther S 18 nar, 72 Egbert, Augustus R 18 dec, 73 Clark, Sidney E 1 ang, 75	И С Р А Т	15 79 92 96	capt 2 mar.	. Ohio . Ohio . Ircland . N.Y	Oreg. Ohio. Army. Ill.
(r. qm. 1 aug. 75.) Sarson, Horace B	F K G E	-253	·····	. Ky . N.Y	Ky. N.Y.
Second Lieutenants.					
Turner, William J 1 oct. 73 Webster, Edwund K 17 june, 74 Rowell, Charles W		26		La	. M. A.
Carle, Richard T 5 nov. 75 Muhlenberg, William C 14 dec. 76 Abererombie, William R 1 mar. 77 Hancock, Benjamin F 23 jan. 78 Pickering, Abner 14 june, Mallory, John S 13 june, 78 Benham, Henry H 1 sept. Moffatt, William 24 jane, 80	K E F I A	92 97 124 133		Pa Minn . Pa Ind Va Mass .	. Pa. . At l'ge. . Pa. . M. A. . M. A. . N. Y.

ORGANIZED BY ACT OF CONGRESS APPROVED MAY 30, 1796; REORGANIZED BY CONSOLIDATION OF THE FIRST, FIFTH, SEVENTEENTH, INVELEENTH, TWEATY-EIGHTH, AND TWEATY-MINTH REGIMENTS OF INFANTRY, APPROVED BY ACT OF CONGRESS MARCH 3, 1815; AND AGAIN BY CONSOLIDATION OF THE THIRD AND ONE-HALF OF THE THIRTY-SEVENTH REGIMENTS OF INFANTRY, BY ACT OF CONGRESS APPROVED MARCH 3, 1869.

Name, rank, and date of commission.	Letter of company.	Number on lineallist.	Brevet rank in the Regular Army.	Born in.	Appointed from.
Colonel.					
Brooke, John R		19	brig. gen 2 mar. 6	Pa	Pa.
Lieutenant Colonel.					
Gibson, George		18	lt. col 9 apr. 6	5 Pa	Pa.
Major.			· .		
Chipman, Henry L		2	lt. col 2 july, 65	N.Y	Mich.
Captains.					
Penrose, William H 11 sept. 63 Parker, Daingerfield 20 oct. Kent, Jacob F	I G F B A E D C II	$ \begin{array}{r} 19 \\ 24 \\ 28 \\ 32 \\ 39 \\ 92 \\ 92 \end{array} $	It. col	3 N. Y 4 Pa 3 Del 4 Mass 5 Md 7 Pa 3 Pa D. C	At l'ge. M. A, Ill. Mass. Md. Pa. Army. Va.
First Lieutenants.					
Mitchell, William 10 nov. 64 Stouch, George W. H 31 dec. Hale, Joseph 21 mar. 65 (adj't, 5 may, 72.) 23 june, Bartlett, William C. † 14 oct. 64 Thompson, John P 24 july, 67	F A K B	2 3 4 26	capt 13 mar. 6	Pa Mass Pa 4 X. Y	Army. Army. M. A. M. A.
Jones, Francis B 21 july, 68 (r. qm. 11 aug. 69.)		68		Pa	Pa.
Griffith, David A	C D G H 1	$\frac{111}{231}$	capt 2 mar. 6	Englid Mass	N. Y. Pa, Mass,
Second Lieutenants.					
Roe, Fayette W 12 june, 71 Cooke, Lorenzo W 13 oct. Ilenry, Addis M 14 june, 72 Thies, Frederick 1 oct. 73 Williams, Arthur 31 oct. 74 Buttler, William C 15 june, 76 Avery, Frank P 28 june, 78 French, William E, P 1 sept. 79 Fremont, Francis P 1 sept. 80 Bell, George, jr. 12 june, 80	G B A F I E D C H K	$\begin{array}{r} 4 \\ 7 \\ 19 \\ 37 \\ 72 \\ 137 \\ 184 \\ 200 \end{array}$		N. Y Ohio Germ'y Pa N. J Mich N. Y D. C	Kans. M. A. Army. Ky. M. A. M. A. N. Y. Ariz.

ORGANIZED BY ACT OF CONGRESS APPROVED MAY 30, 1795; REORGANIZED BY COSSOLIDATION OF THE FOURTEENTH, ENGINEERTH, TWENTIETH, DURTY-SIVIH, AND THRITY-ROUTH REGIMENTS OF INFANCRY, APPROVED BY ACT OF CONGRESS MARCH 3, 1815; AND AGAIN BY THE CONSOLIDATION OF THE FOURTH AND THRITEFH REGIMENTS OF INFANTRY, BY ACT OF CONGRESS AP-PROVED MARCH 3, 1869.

	·	Ξ.			-
Name, rank, and date of commission.	Letter of company.	Number on lineal list.	Brevet rank in the Regular Army.	Born in.	Appointed from.
Coloncl.					
Flint, Franklin F 8 july, 68		10		N. H	М. А.
Lieutenant Colonel			1		
Mason, John S 11 dec. 73	· · · · · · ·	9	brig. gen13 mar. 65	Ohio	М. А.
Major.					
De Russy, Isaac D	• • • •	21	maj	Va	N. Y.
Captains.					
Powell, William II. 2 feb. 65 Coates, Edwin M. 11 apr. Ferris, Samuel P. 28 july, 66 Von Herrmann, Charles J. 28 july, 66 Von Herrmann, Charles J. 28 july, 66 Luhn, Gerhard L. 21 dec. Luhn, Gerhard L. 21 dec. Dubb, John W. 16 mar. 79 Spencer, James II. 20 mat. Neide, Horace 27 apr. 80 First Lieutenants. Keeffe, Joseph 28 july, 66 Seton, Henry 17 may. 72 Price, Batler D. 25 nov. 73	G C I E H F B D X K A D E C	53 78 88 108 178 179 208 212 241 37	maj 2 apr. 63 capt 1 aug. 64 maj 28 oct. maj 2 mar. 67 capt 1 sept. 64 capt 2 apr. 65 maj 2 apr. 67 maj 2 mar. 67 capt 2 mar. 67 capt 2 sept. 64	N. Y Conn Prussia R. I Germ'y Ireland Pa Pa Ireland N. Y Pa	Ill. M. A. Conn. Army. Army. Army. Army. Mass. Pa. Army. N. Y. Pa.
Brown, Rufus P	к 	158 163 164	lt. col 6 nov. 67	III	
Scott, John	H I F G	206 238		Ky Freland Pa	Army. M. A.
Mason, Charles W		38		Cal	Ohio.
Lovering, Leonard A	C B A H E F D G K	$ \begin{array}{r} 65 \\ 70 \\ 118 \\ 144 \end{array} $		Vt R. I Pa Tenn Mich N. J D. C	M. A. M. A. M. A. M. A. M. A. M. A. M. A. M. A. M. A.

ORGANIZED BY ACT OF CONGRESS APPROVED JUNE 26, 1812; REORGANIZED BY CONSOLIDATION OF THE FOURTH, MINTH, THIRTEENTH, TWENTY-FIRST, FORTHEIH, AND FORTY-SIXTH REGIMENTS OF INFANTRY, APPROVED BY ACT OF CONGRESS MARCH 3, 1815; AND AGAIN BY THE CONSOLIDA-TION OF THE FIFTH AND ONE-HALF OF THE THIRTY-SEVENTH REGIMENTS OF INFANTRY, BY ACT OF CONGRESS APPROVED MARCH 3, 1869.

Name, rank, and date of commission.	Letter of company.	Number on lineal list.	Brevet rank in the Regular Army.	Born in.	Appeinted from.
Colonel.					
Lugenbeel, Pinkney15 dec. 80		25		Md	М. А.
Lieutenant Colonel.					
Whistler, Joseph N. G		10	col13 mar. 65	Wis	М. А.
Major.					
Ilges, Guido 10 dec. 73		3	lt. col 1 aug. 64	Prussia	Ind.
Captains.			1		
Snyder, Simon 1 july, 63 Casey, James S. 1 dec. Ovenshine, Samuel 30 mar. 64 Butler, Edmond 14 may, Mitchell, William G. 28 july, 66 Lyman, Wylys. 28 july, 66 Lyman, Wylys. 28 july, 66 Carter, Mason 12 sept. Carter, Mason 4 sept. 78 McDonald, Robert 20 mar. 79 Baldwin, Frank D. 20 mar.	A G C H E B	$\frac{26}{29}$	capt	Pa Pa Ireland Pa Vt N. Y Ga N. Y	Md. N. Y. Pa. Vt. Army. Army. Army.
First Lieutenants.					
Logan, Thomas II	F A G C I	13 19 24 155 204 225 226 226	maj 2 mar. 2 mar. lt. col 2 mar. 2 mar. capt 2 mar. 3 mar. rapt 2 mar. 3 mar. capt 2 mar. 3 mar. capt 7 mar. 6 mar.	Mass Pa S. 1 N. Y Ind Vt	Mass. Pa. Mich. Pa.
Pope, James W	B D K	$\frac{267}{274}$		$\operatorname{Ind}^{N, Y}$	
Second Lieutenants.					
Long, Oscar F	F H G E B C	$94 \\ 134 \\ 158 \\ 172$		Pa N. Y Pa Da Ohio Mo Ind Va	Ра. М. А.

ORGANIZED BY ACT OF CONGRESS APPROVED JUNE 26, 1812; REORGANIZED BY CONSOLIDATION OF THE ELEVENTH, TWENTY-FIFTH, TWENTY-SEVENTH, IWENTY-NINTH, AND THIRTY-SEVENTH REGI-MENTS OF INFANTRY, APPROVED BY ACT OF CONGRESS MARCH 3, 1815; AND AGAIN BY THE CON-SOLDATION OF THE SIXTH AND FORTY-SECOND REGIMENTS OF INFANTRY, BY ACT OF CONGRESS APPROVED MARCH 3, 1869. Appointed from. Number on lineal list. Letter of company. Brevet rank in the sorn in Name, rank, and date of commission. Regular Army. Colonel. McCook, Alexander McD 15 dec. 80 24 maj. gen 13 mar. 65 Ohio ... M. A. Lieutenant Colonel. Major. 6 It. col 13 mar. 65 Pa Mich. Moore, Orlando II..... 8 june, 74 Cantains. G 18 1 C П E 169 Mich . Army. 171 Pa. Iowa в Ð Conn. Conn. К 185 246 N. Y., N. Y. 217 capt 2 mar. 67 N. H. N. H. F Badger, William. 15 dec. . First Lieutenants. F (r. qm. 30 oct 71.) Ohio Е 55 Ohio. Germ'y N. Y. Ireland Mich. 60 D в 75
 142
 N. Y. Mi

 149
 Pa
 Pa

 174
 capt
 24 aug. 67 Pa
 Pa

 276
 Ky
 Ky
 Ky
 C11 К G 282 Me ... M. A. (adj't, 30 mar. 80.) 291 D. C. M. A. 292 lpd.... M. A. Townsend, Thomas G15 dec. I Walker, George B15 dec. ١ Second Licutenants. Gurley, Charles L..... 27 july, 72 ΤI 11 Ind ... D. T. пш.... р. 1. III М. А. Ky D. C. Me ... Me. W. T. . Texas. Texas. M. A. 47 G C 54 в 62 F 93 A 110 Mass .. M. A. Е 223N. Y... Army. к 230

ORGANIZED BY ACT OF CONGRESS JUNE 26, 1812; REORGANIZED BY CONSOLIDATION OF THE EIGHTH, TENTH, TWEATY-FOURTH, THIRTY-SIXTH, THIRTY-EIGHTH, AND THIRTY-NINTH REGIMENTS OF INFANTRY, APPROVED BY ACT OF CONGRESS MARCH 3, 1815; AND AGAIN BY THE CONSOLIDATION OF THE SEVENTH AND THIRTY-SIXTH REGIMENTS OF INFANTRY, BY ACT OF CONGRESS APPROVED MARCH 3, 1869.

Name, rank, and date of commission.	Letter of company.	Number on lineal list.	Brevet rank in the Regular Army.	Born in.	Appointed from.
Colonel.					
Gibbon, John		2	maj. gen 13 mar. 6	5 Pa	M. A.
Lieutenant Colonel.					
Gilbert, Charles C 8 july, 68		2	col 8 oct. 6	2 Ohio	М. А.
Major.					
Brotherton, David II20 mar. 79		14	maj21 eb. 6	2 Pa	М. А.
Captains.					
$\begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	C D H B G E K F	51 75 76	maj	5 Ohio Ireland 3 Ohio - Coun - N. Y - N. Y - N. J - Pa	Ohio. Army, Army, Army, Army, Army, M. A. Army,
First Lieutenants.				1	
Benson, Henry M	E H	7		Mass .	Cal.
Quinton, William 12 june, Jackson, Allan H 1 jan. 71 Robinson, Daniel 1 mar. 72 Wright, George II 12 jan. 73 Burnett, Levi F 10 may, Kendrick, Frederick M. H 9 ang. 77 Van Orsdale, John T 20 aug. Booth, Charles A 25 ang. 78 Worden, Charles A 20 mar. 79	D G A 1 B	80 95 108 114 190 191 200	maj 2 mar. 6 capt	7 N, Y - Ireland Canada 7 N, Y - N, Y - N, Y - N, Y - Vt 	N. Y. Army, Wis. N. Y. Tenn. M. A. M. A.
Second Lieutenants.					
Hardin, Edward E	E I G H K B	$39 \\ 55 \\ 61 \\ 66 \\ 120 \\ 121 \\ 130 \\ 167 $		Va Texas Mich Scotl'd Ky Ga N, Y Jowa	W. Va. Minn. Pa. M. A. M. A. M. A. M. A. M. A.

1881.

ORGANIZED BY ACT OF CONGRESS JULY 5, EIGHTH AND THIRTY-THIRD REGIMENTS 3, 1869.	1838; OF INF.	REOR	GANIZED BY THE CONSO , BY ACT OF CONGRESS .	LIDATION APPROVE	OF THE D MARCH
Name, rank, and date of commission.	Letter of company.	Number on lineal list.	Brevet rank in the Regular Army.	Born in.	Appointed from.
	L .	12		-	
Colonel.					
Cotonet.					
Kautz, August V 8 june, 74		16	maj. gen 13 mar. 65	Germ'y	М. А.
Lieutenant Colonel.					
Wilkins, John D		7	lt. col 3 may, 63	N. Y	М. А.
Major.					
Sanders, William W15 dec. 80		24	col 9 apr. 65	Pa	Pa.
Captains.					
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	1 GK DB C H E F D E H B C	$\begin{array}{c} 17\\ 31\\ 64\\ 759\\ 159\\ 173\\ 188\\ 232\\ 20\\ 34\\ 662\\ 1015\\ 145\\ \end{array}$	maj	Mo Del Del N. Y Ind Ireland Me Vt Vt Pa Ohio N. Y Ohio Ireland N. Y	M. A. N. Y. Ind. Army. Mich. N. Y. Pa. D. C. Ohio. N. Y. Ohio. N. Y. Ohio. N. Y.
Ray, P. Henry	G K	$157 \\ 185 \\ 186$	·····	Wis Pa Ind. T	W18. Pa. At l'ge.
(r. qm. 1 oct. 78.) Hyde, John McE	F			Ireland	N. Y. Атту, M. A.
Second Lieutenants.					
Pitcher, William L. 18 dec. 71 Johnson, Henry, jr. 15 oct. 75 Hutton, James A. 15 june, 76 Haden, John J. 15 june, 77 Wilson, Richard H. 15 june, 77 Parker, Percy. 13 june, 79 Ames, Rohert F. 1 sept. Terrett, Colville P. 1 sept. Hubert, Edgar 12 june, 80 Mercer, William Allen. 23 nov.	H B C A F	50 78 103		Del Cal Mo Mich Mass R I D. C	M. A. M. A. M. A. M. Λ. N. Υ. Md.

ORGANIZED BY ACT OF CONGRESS MAPCH : NINTH AND TWENTY-SEVENTH REGIMEN MARCH 3, 1869.	3, 1855 TS OF	; REO INFA	RGANIZED BY THE CONSC NTRY, BY ACT OF CON	GRESS A	N OF THI PPROVEI
Name, rank, and date of commission.	Letter of company.	Number on lineal list.	Brevet rank in the Regular Army,	Born in.	Appointed from.
Colonel.				1	
King, John II		1	maj. gen 13 mar. 67	Mich .	Mich.
Lieutenant Colonel.					
Anderson, Thomas M		19	lt. col 1 ang. 64	Ohio	Ohio.
Major.					
Gentry, William T20 mar. 79		16	lt. col 1 apr. 65	Ind	М. А.
Captains.					
Jordan, William II	A H E C F K G B D	$2 \\ 11 \\ 14 \\ 27 \\ 57 \\ 90 \\ 194 \\ 214 \\ 225 \\ 228 \\$	capt	Ohio N. Y Pa E. Ind Mass Ind Me Pa 	Ohio. Itl. Pa. Me. Mass. Army. Cal. Pa.
First Lieutenants.					
Bowman, Alpheus H	F D H	$33 \\ 35 \\ 36 \\ 40 \\ 48 \\ 48 \\ 48 \\ 33 \\ 48 \\ 48 \\ 48 \\ 33 \\ 48 \\ 48$		Conn	Conn.
(r. qm. 22 june, 79.) Capron, Thaddeus H	C B I A G E	$\begin{array}{c} 90 \\ 130 \\ 195 \\ 210 \\ 252 \\ 258 \\ 259 \end{array}$	i lt 1 may, 68	Wis N. Y Ohio Ohio Ohio	III. Army. N. Y. Ohio. N. Y. M. A.
Second Lieutenants.					
Baldwin, John A. 27 july, 72' Robertson, Edgar B. 17 june, 74 McCaleb, Thomas S. 16 june, 75 Palmer, George 15 june, 76 Baxter, John, jr. 1 july, 77 Dodds, Frank L. 13 june, 79 Noyes, Charles R. 13 june, Stivers, Charles P. 13 june, Miner, Christopher C. 13 june,	D H A K I E F C G	$25 \\ 48 \\ 79 \\ 119 \\ 150 \\ 153 \\ 157$		Mass Va Wis Pa Mass La	M. A. M. A. M. A. M. A. M. A. M. A. M. A.

ORGANIZED BY ACT OF CONGRESS MARCH 3 TENTH AND TWENTY-SIXTH REGIMENTS (3, 1869.	, 1855)f 18f	; REO ANTR	RGANIZED BY THE CONSOL Y, BY ACT OF CONGRESS A	LIDATIO APPROVE	N OF THE D MARCH
Name, rank, and date of commission.	Letter of company.	Number on lineal list.	Brevet rank in the Regular Army.	Born in.	Appointed from.
Colonel.					
Clitz, Henry B		11	brig, gen13 mar. 65	N. Y	М. А.
Lieutenant Colonel.					
Mizner, Henry R15 dec. 80		24	lt. col 1 sept.6t	Ν. Υ	Mich.
Major.					
Coppinger, John J		15	col 1 dec. 68	Ireland	N. Y.
Captains.					
Bush, Edward G 13 mar, 63 Hall, Robert H 31 ang, Kellogg, William L 1 jan, 64 Sellers, Edwin E 17 feb, Parke, John B 14 july, Hampson, Jesse A, P 3 feb, 65 Craig, John N 28 jnly, 66 Lacey, Francis E 8 ang, Lincoln, Summer H 24 mar, 78 Davis, Charles L 20 mar, 79	BFHD I KGAEU		lt. col	Mich Ohio Pa Pa Mass Ireland Mass	M. A. Ohio, Pa, Pa, lowa, D. C. Army, Vt.
First Lieutenants.					
Kirkman, Joel T	K E	6 9 14		т х. т ма	111. N. Y. Md.
(r. qm. 12 july, 69.) Drum, John	I	46 61		lreland Ind	Cal. M. A.
(adj't, 1 june, 79.) Kelton, Dwight H	С 10 16 15 11 18	$ \begin{array}{r} 143 \\ 175 \\ 182 \\ 197 \\ 207 \end{array} $		Engl'd Mass Engl'd Kans N. Y	Army.
Second Lieutenants.					
Clark, Edwin R	K Ə A D H B U F I E	87 91 100 105		Ala Kans Ky Md	Mass. N.J. Ky. M. A.

ORGANIZED BY DIRECTION OF THE PRESIDENT MAY 4, 1861; CONFIRMED BY ACT OF CONGRESS JULY 29, 1861; REORGANIZED BY ACT OF CONGRESS JULY 28, 1866; AND AGAIN BY THE CONSOLIDATION OF THE AWENTY-FOURTH AND TWENTY-NINTH REGIMENTS OF INFANIRY, BY ACT OF CONGRESS APPROVED MARCH 3, 1869.

Name, rank, and date of commission.	Letter of company.	Number on lineal list.	Brevet rank in the Regular Army.	Born in.	Appointed from.
Colonel.					
Wood, William H		12		Mass .	М. А.
Lieutenant Colonel.					
Townsend, Edwin F		20	lt. col	N. Y	M. A.
Major.					
Bartlett, Charles G10 jan. 76		9	lt. col 13 mar. 65	Χ. Υ	N. Y.
Captains.					
Wikoff, Charles A. .15 aug. 64 Schwan, Theodore .14 mar. 66 Sanderson, George K. .28 mar. Conrad, Joseph .28 july, Jackson, Mason .14 sept. 67 Beach, Warren C. .29 oct. 73 Gilbreath, Erasmus C. .23 dec. Read, Ogden B. .28 june, 78 Sage, William N. .7 june, 79 Quinby, Ira .21 dec. 80	E G C B K D H F I A	$37 \\ 66 \\ 68 \\ 81 \\ 126 \\ 162 \\ 165 \\ 198 \\ 230 \\ 249$	maj	Germ'y Pa Ohio N. Y Ohio Vt 	Army. Army. Mo. Army. M. A. Ind. Vt.
First Lieutenants.					
Kingsbury, William E	${}^{\rm F}_{\substack{\rm A\\ \rm E\\ \rm B}}$	30		Mass Me N. Y	Oltio. Me. N. Y .
(adj't, 11 nov. 74.) Raphall, Alfred M	C D G 1 H	$\begin{array}{c} 93 \\ 121 \\ 128 \\ 213 \\ 214 \\ 255 \end{array}$	1 lt 2 mar. 67	Scotl'd Switz'd N. Y Ohio	Army. M A
Dougherty, John J21 dec. 80	к	296		m	М. А.
Second Lieutenants.					
Brown, George Le R	E H C I B F K	$17 \\ 36 \\ 95 \\ 109 \\ 140 \\ 186 \\ 197$		Engl'd Ohio N.Y Me Ohio Canada Mich	Mich. M. A. Ind. M. A. M. A. Ga. Mich.
Travis, Pierce Mason Butler 12 june, 80	D	211		A la	М. А.

ORGANIZED BY DIRECTION OF THE PRESU JULY 29, 1861; REORGANIZI			
Name, rank, and date of commission.	Letter of company.	Numberton lineal list.	Brevet rank in the Regular Army.
Colonel.			
Willcox, Orlando B28 jnIy, 66		3	maj. gen 2 mar. 67 Mich M. A.
Lieutenant Colonel.			
La Motte, Robert S 7 june, 79		22	
Major.			
Cochran, Melville A 4 mar. 79		11	maj
. Captains.			•
Stacey, May H	HABFDCKGE1	-44 -52 -125 -142 -156	lt. col 9 apr. 65 Pa Pa maj 13 mar. N Y N.J. maj 13 mar. N Y N.J. maj 13 mar. N Y N.J. capt 2 july, 63 Ireland Army. Scotl'd Cal. capt 2 mar. 67 N.Y N.M. output 2 mar. 67 Nich. Mich. maj 2 mar. 67 Mich. Mich. maj 2 mar. 67 Scotl'd Iowa. capt
First Licutenants.			
King, James S 7 feb. 71 Halloran, James 30 ang. Hurst, Joseph II 31 jan. 71 Kingsbury, George W 3 jinly. Wilson, George S 28 dec. 76 Haskell, Harry L 30 june, 77 Tassin, Augustus G 28 june, 78 Smith, Frederick A 28 june, 78 Yon Schmader, Frederick A 17 nov	K E B C H F A G	$\begin{array}{r} 84\\ 131\\ 136\\ 176\\ 189\\ 218\end{array}$	
Von Schrader, Frederick17 nov. Wofherspoon, William W20 mar. 79 (r. qu. 1 july, 79.) Allen, William	•••••	247	
Allen, William	D 1	$\frac{293}{294}$	
Second Lieutenants.			
Smith, George R	E F C K D G A B	$49 \\ 86 \\ 96 \\ 117 \\ 139 \\ 143$	N. Y M. A. Miss M. A. Me M Fge. N. Y Cal. N. Y M. A. Md M. A. Mich M. A. Ohio M. A.

•

ORGANIZED BY DIRECTION OF THE PRESH JULY 29, 1861 ; REORGANIZ	DENT N ED BY	lay 4, act o	1861; CONFIRMED BY A F CONGRESS JULY 28, 186	CT OF 6 6.	CONGRESS
Name, rank, and date of commission.	Letter of company.	Number on lineal list.	Brevet rank in the Regular Army,	Born in.	Appointed from.
Colonel.					
Bradley, Luther P20 mar. 79		20	brig. gen 2 mar. 67	Conn	m.
Lieutenant Colonel.					
Crofton, Robert E. A		21	lt. col	Ireland	Del.
Major.					
Van Horn, James J 7 june, 79		20	maj 4 june, 64	Ohio	М. А.
Captains.					
Clift, Emory W 20 sept. 64 De Courcy, Ferdinand E 21 nov. 65 Torrey, Robert A 19 june, 66 MacArthar, Arthur, jr 28 july, Waterbury, William M 18 oct. 71 Ellis, Philip H 1 npr. 72 Bascom, Gustavns M 11 dec. 73 Rogers, Benjamin II 18 leb. 74 Pratt, Henry C 10 june, 76 Auman, William 26 mar. 79	G H A K F D B C E I	$\frac{97}{145}$	maj	Ireland Ill N. Y Md Ohio R. I N. Y	Army. 111. Wis. N. Y. Md. Ohio. R. I. N. Y.
First Lieutenants.					
Guthrie, John B 1 sept. 71 Cavenaugh, Harry G 4 sept. Chance, Jesse C 18 oct. Bishop, John S 19 jan. (r. qu. 1 sept. 80.)	A E H	86 89		Pa Ohio	Del. Ohio.
Fornance, James		99		Pa	М. А.
(a) F. J. First, 16.7 Ohmsted, Jerauld A. 1 july, Mumford, Thomas S. 8 griffith, Emerson 10 june, 76 Gilman, Benjamin H 11 june, 78 Jamar, Mitchell F 26 nar. 79 Fletcher, Edmund L 30 june, Holmes, Sanuel N 24 july,	K D G I F C B	$ \begin{array}{r} 167 \\ 203 \\ 251 \\ 261 \end{array} $		Texas Pa N. II Md N. Y	M. A. M. A. M. A. M. A.
Second Lieutenants.					
$\begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	B E C D A F H G K I	$27 \\ 31 \\ 44 \\ 73 \\ 132 \\ 174 \\ 182 $		Va N. Y Ohio Ind Ala Ala Ill Tenn	M. A. M. A. M. A. M. A. M. A. M. A.

ORGANIZED BY DIRECTION OF THE PRESIDENT MAY 4, 1861: CONFIRMED BY ACT OF CONGRESS

ORGANIZED BY DIRFCTION OF THE PRESIDENT MAY 4, 1861; CONFIRMED BY ACT OF CONGRESS JULY 29, 1861; REORGANIZED BY ACT OF CONGRESS JULY 28, 1866; AND AGAIN BY THE CONSOLIDATION OF THE FOURFEENTH AND FORTY-FIFTH REGIMENTS OF INFANTRY, BY ACT OF CONGRESS APPROVED MARCH 3, 1869.

Name, rank, and date of commission.	Letter of company.	Number on lineal list.	Brevet rank in the Regular Army.	Born in. Appointed from.
Colonel.				
Smith, John E		6	maj. gen 2 mar. 67	Pa Ill.
Lieutenant Colonel.				
Douglass, Henry		13		N. Y M. A.
Major.				
Bryant, Montgomery 7 oct. 74		7	maj13 dec. 62	Kans Mo.
Captains.				
Kranse, David 31 july, 63 Trotter, Frederick E 28 july, 66 Bainbridge, Augustus H 11 aug. Carpenter, Gilbert S 22 jan. Burke, Daniel W 22 jan. Davis, George W 22 jan. Kennington, James 10 dec. Tobey, Thomas F 23 nov. McConihe, Samuel 25 feb. Western, Charles B 23 apr.	G Е АКС І В Г Н Ю	$\frac{110}{112}$ 115	capt 13 mar. 65	Onio Army, Conn Army, Conn Conn, Freland Army, R. I Army, N. II N. Y.
First Lieutenants.				
Warrens, Charles H	K 11 E G C	32 42 97 125	capt	Germ'y N. Y. Engl'd Mass. Freland Pa. Md Md.
Briggs, Thomas B	Λ]) F B I		·····	Conn Conu. Pa Wis. Ireland Army.
Second Lieutenants.				
Yeatman, Richard T	I			
(r. qm, 23 apr. 79.) Lovell, Robert A.	D B F K H C G A E	$35 \\ 40 \\ 43 \\ 62$		Sweden M. A. Ohio D. T. Ohio M. A. N. Y Army, Ill Ohio, Ind Utah, W. T M. A.

1881.

ORGANIZED BY DIRECTION OF THE PRESIDENT MAY 4, 1861; CONFIRMED BY ACT OF CONGRESS JULY 29, 1861; REORGANIZED BY ACT OF CONGRESS JULY 28, 1866; AND AGAIN BY THE CONSOLA-DATION OF THE FETERATH AND THIRTY-FIFTH REGIMENTS OF INFANIRY, BY ACT OF CONGRESS APPROVED MARCH 3, 1869.

Name, rank, and date of commission.	Letter of company.	Number on lineal list.	Brevet rank in the .ii .ii .ii .ii .ii .ii .ii .ii .ii .i
Colonel.			
Buell, George P		21	brig, gen 2 mar. 67 Ind Ind.
Lieutenant Colonel.			4
Swaine, Peter T24 oct. 74	· · · · · ·	12	col
Major.			
Osborne, Nathan W11 dec. 73		4	maj 4 july, 63 Mass Mass.
Captains.			
Jewett, Horace	Ð F I G B E C K A H	$50 \\ 91 \\ 106 \\ 129 \\ 153 \\ 180 \\ 191 \\ 202$	maj
First Lieutenants.			
Stafford, Stephen R 15 jan. 73 Burnham, David R 1 jan. 75 De Lany, Cyrus M 9 june, Walker, Leverett H 2 nov. Cornish, George A 25 jan. 76 Clark, Dillard H 29 feb. 9	$\begin{array}{c} C \\ D \\ H \\ E \\ I \end{array}$	$\frac{146}{151}$ 156	N. Y., N. Y. Pa, N. Y. Ohio, Ohio, Pa, M. A. Ala, M. A. Ky, M. A.
(r. qm. 1 jan. 81.) Cory, William O	G F	$177 \\ 192 \\ 193 \\ 227$	Ohio Army, Md Md, Germ'y Army, Ml, III.
Davis, Thomas F	${}^{\rm A}_{\rm B}$	$\frac{237}{272}$	
Second Lieutenants.			•
Mitchell, David D. 29 feb. 76 Garst, Charles E 15 june, Pagne, Sannel S 15 june, Paxton, Alexis R 3 mar. 77 Maney, James A 23 ang. May, Will T 13 june, 79 Plummer, Satterlee Clark. 20 june, 80 Blauvelt, William Francis 24 june, Lloyd, Edward 26 nov,	K C H I E F G A D B	$76 \\ 77 \\ 98 \\ 122 \\ 171 \\ 204 \\ 213 \\ 232 \\$	Mo Mo. Ohio M. A. Ohio M. A. Pa At Fge. Tenn M. A. Ind M. A. Wis M. C.

PROVED MARCH 3, 1869.					
Name, rank, and date of commission.	Letter of company.	Number on lineal list.	Brevet rank in the Regular Army.	Born in.	Appointed trom.
Colonel.					
Pennypacker, Galusha28 july, 66		7	maj. gen 2 mar. 67	Pa	Pa.
Lieutenant Colonel.					
Can Voast, James16 aug. 71		5		Ν.Υ	М. А.
Major.					
Webb, Charles A 4 mar. 79		12	maj 4 july, 63	Vt	Vt.
Captains.					
Vance, Dumean M. 6 jan. <	GDFCAH-1KEB	$ \begin{array}{r} 34 \\ 61 \\ 89 \\ 137 \\ 144 \\ 174 \\ 205 \\ 240 \\ \end{array} $	maj 2 july, 63 capt 25 nov. capt 20 sept. lt. col 2 mar. 67 lt. col 2 mar. 67 maj 2 mar. 67 maj 2 mar. 67 capt 2 mar. 67	Ohio Germ'y 'Pa Engl'd 'Pa	Ohio. Army Pa. Army Ill. Ohio. Vt.
First Lieutenants.					
Mahon, Stephen K	I 		capt 2 mar. 67		
Noble, Charles II	1) F	$\frac{28}{47}$	capt2 mar. 67	N. Y	111.
(r. qm. 1 july, 80.) Morrison, Theophilus W	B G E A C K H	$\begin{array}{c} 117 \\ 147 \\ 262 \\ 262 \\ 278 \\ 280 \\ 287 \\ 287 \end{array}$	lt. col 7 mar. 67	Mich Ind N. Y	D. C. 111. M. A.
Second Lieutenants.					
McFarland, William C 14 june, 72 Cushman, Engene 17 dec. Lassiter, William 1 oct. 73 Tyler, Charles R 17 june, 74 Steedman, Richard R 13 june, 79 Newten, John 1 sept. Dunning, Samnel Wadsworth 12 june, 80 Cowles, Warren Hayden 12 june,	E B F A D H K I G	$\frac{20}{34}$		Pa N. C Ky Pa N. Y N. Y Pa	Pa. N. C. M. A. Mass. M. Δ. Kans. M. A. M. A.

ORGANIZED BY DIRECTION OF THE PRESIDENT MAY 4, 1861; CONFIRMED BY ACT OF CONGRESS JULY 29, 1861; REORGANIZED BY ACT OF CONGRESS JULY 28, 1866; AND AGAIN BY THE CON-SOLIDATION OF THE SEVENTEENTH AND FORTY-FOURTH REGIMENTS OF INFANTRY, BY ACT OF CONGRESS APPROVED MARCH 3, 1869.

Name, rank, and date of commission.	Letter af company.	Numberon lineal list.	Brevet rank in the Regular Army.	Born in.	Appointed from.
Colonel.					•
Crittenden, Thomas L	· • • • • • •	9	brig. gen 2 mar. 67	Ку	Ky.
Lieutenant Colonel.					
Carlin, William P 1 july, 72		6	maj. gen13 mar. 6	5 111	М. А.
Major.		r			
Conrad, Joseph S		18	col13 mar. 65	5 N. Y	м. А.
Captains.					
Pearson, Edward P	B E F C A H K I D	$ \begin{array}{r} 10 \\ 55 \\ 109 \\ 127 \\ 152 \\ 176 \\ 199 \\ \end{array} $	lt. col 1 sept. 6- maj	Mass 5 Me N. Y Me Ohio Mass Pa 7 Conn	Army. Army. M. A. M. A. Ohio, Minn. Iowa. Conn.
	17	5.0		D T	R. I.
Greene, Charles II 1 nov. 67 Garrettv, Frank D 11 jan. 68 Sharp, Thomas 14 feb, Rogers, William P 3 oct. 72	к С р	$ 50 \\ 57 \\ 59 \\ 105 $	1 lt 2 mar. 6	7 Ireland Pa	Ky. Pa. Md.
(adj t. 25 july, 74.) Chance, Josiah	С А	139		Ohio	Ohio.
(r. qm. 1 july, 79.) Ruhlen, George	F II B E	216 221 250	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	Pa N.Y Engl'd	M. A. N. Y. Army,
Second Lieutenants. Mann, William A16 june, 75	в	11		Pa	М. А.
Main, William A	$\begin{array}{c} 0\\ 1\\ \Lambda\\ K\end{array}$			Ill N.Y Mass Pa Miss Va Ohio Saxony	Army. M. A. M. A. M. A. M. A. D. C.

ORGANIZED BY DIRECTION OF THE PRESIDENT MAY 4, 1861; CONFIRMED BY ACT OF CONGRESS JULY 29, 1861; REORGANIZED BY ACT OF CONGRESS JULY 28, 1866; AND AGAIN BY THE CON-SOLIDATION OF THE REGITERATIL AND TWENTY-FIFTH REGIMENTS OF INFANTRY, BY ACT OF CONGRESS APPROVED MARCH 3, 1869.

Name, rank, and date of commission.	Letter of company.	Number on lineal list.	Brevet rank in the Regular Army.	Born in.	Appointed from.
• Colonel.					
Ruger, Thomas II		5	brig, gen 2 mar, 67	N. Y	М. А.
Lieutenant Colonel.					
Black, Henry M 7 oct. 68		3	col13 mar. 65	Pa	М. Д.
Major.					
Poland, John S15 dec. 80		25	lt. col	Ind	М. А.
Captains.					
Morris, Richard L., jr. 31 dec. 62 Smith, Edward W 17 feb. 63 Kline, Jacob 30 sept. 64 Kellogg, Edgar R 16 feb. 65 McLaughlin, William H 31 july, 67 Keder, Birney B 5 june, 68 Lloyd, Thomas J 3 dec. Durham, Cass 30 june, 77 Paule, Charles R 20 mar, 79 Potter, Carroll H 20 mar, 71	D G E A H I F B K C	6 42 49 124	maj	Vt Pa Pa Pa Pa Ind Pa	III. Pa. Army, M. A. N. Y. M. A. M. A. N. J.
First Lieutenants.					
Bomford, George N. 12 nov. 64 Miller, William A. 21 sept.66 Adams, Henry H. 21 sept.6 Lealy, Michael F. 40 oct. 64 Baldwin, James H. 31 july, 67 Batty, Mole Baldwin, 79,) 28 mar. 73 (adji't, 1 july, 79,) 4 may, 74 Hoyt, George S. 5 oct. (r. qm. 30 june, 79,) 5 oct.	B K II D A I	$\frac{16}{17}$	maj 2 mar. 67 capt	Ky Ohio Ireland Mass N. Y D. C	Ky, ⁷ Ohio, Army, Mass, Pa, D. C.
Barnhart, Frank II	E C F G	$ \begin{array}{r} 188 \\ 228 \\ 239 \\ 263 \\ \end{array} $		Mass Ky	Mass. Ky.
Second Lieutenants.					
$\label{eq:william B} = 12 \ june, 71 \\ Warwick, Oliver B = 1 \ oct. 73 \\ Cabaniss, Charles IL, jr. 17 \ june, 74 \\ Turner, George L = 17 \ june, 74 \\ Turner, George L = 17 \ june, 74 \\ Wood, William S = 15 \ oct. 75 \\ Wood, William T = 30 \ june, 77 \\ MeClure, Charles L = 13 \ june, 9 \\ Steele, Charles L = 13 \ june, 9 \\ Steele, Charles L = 13 \ june, 9 \\ Steele, Charles L = 24 \ june, 80 \\ = 16 \ june,$	B H D I C F K G A E			Ala Va Me N. Y Ill Miss Ohio	Ala. M. A. M. A. N. Y. M. A. M. A. M. A. N. Y.

ORGANIZED BY DIRECTION OF THE PRESIDENT MAY 4, 1861; CONFIRMED BY ACT OF CONGRESS JULY 29, 1861; REDICIANIZED BY ACT OF CONGRESS JULY 28, 1866; AND AGAIN BY THE CONSOLI-DATION OF THE NINETEENTH AND TWENTY-EIGHTH REGIMENTS OF INFANTRY, BY ACT OF CONGRESS APPROVED MARCH 3, 1869.

Name, rank, and date of commission.	er of pany. 1	Number on lineal list.	Brevet rank in the	ı in.	Appointed from.
	Letter	Num linea	Regular Army.	Born in	Appo fre
Colonel.					
Smith, Charles II	·····	8	maj. gen 2 mar. 67	Ме	Me.
Lieutenant Colonel.					
Bliss, Zenas R 4 mar. 79		17	lt. col 7 may, 64	R. I	М. А.
Major.					
Offley. Robert H 6 may, 79	•••••	19	maj 4 july, 63	N. Y	Ν. Υ.
Captains.					
Lyster, William J	B A	$\frac{35}{54}$	lt. col 1 sept. 64 capt		
Bradford, James II 1 dec.	Ĝ	63	capt 1 aug. 64		
Remington Philip H	F	74		Conn	M. A.
Liscum, Emerson II	\mathbf{D}	94 119	capt 1 ang. 64		
Smith, Jacob II	- K	119		N. H.	N. H.
Witherell, Charles T	-C $-$		maj 2 mar.	Me	
Vance, Richard19 june,	E	233	⁻	Ky	Ky.
Robinson, Thomas B24 nov.	н	238		∆t sea	Army,
First Lieutenants.					
Leefe, John G	\mathbf{B}	53	capt 2 mar. 67	Engl'd	N. Y.
Vernou, Charles A	р 	$\frac{58}{74}$	capt 2 mar. 67	Ра Ме	Ра. Ме.
(r. qu. 1 may, 76.) Cook, George H	· · · · · · · ·	120		Ν. Υ	N. Y.
Wenic, Thomas M 9 july, 76	I	169	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	N. Y	Del.
Vedder, Simon C	C		1 lt 7 mar. 67	N. Y	N. Y.
Payne, John A	H	$\frac{202}{209}$	·····		
Williams, William M	F				
Guard, Alexander McC 20 mar, 79	E	243		m.	M. A.
Gardener, Cornelius	$\frac{G}{K}$	257		Neth'd	M. A.
	K	275		Engra	N. Y.
Second Lieutenants.					
Read, George B 1 oct. 73	A		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		
Homitt (Shuistian () 17 ton 74					
Hewitt, Christian C17 june, 74	K			Cheor	
Hewitt, Christian C17 june, 74 Eckerson, Theodore H15 aug. 76		$\frac{81}{127}$		Wis	M. A.
Hewitt, Christian C	K C D B	81 127 131		Wis D. C	М. А. М. А.
Hewitt, Christian C 17 june, 74 Eckerson, Theodore H	K D B E	81 127 131 147	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	Wis D.C Ind	M. A. M. A. M. A.
Hewitt, Christian C	K C D B E I	$81 \\ 127 \\ 131 \\ 147 \\ 148 \\$	·	Wis D.C Ind Conn	M. A. M. A. M. A. M. A.
Hewitt, Christian C 17 june, 74 Eckerson, Theodore H	K D B E	81 127 131 147	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	Wis D. C Ind Conn Ohio	M. A. M. A. M. A. M. A. M. A.

ORGANIZED BY DIRECTION OF THE PRESIDENT MAY 1, 1861, AND CONFIRMED BY ACT OF CONGRESS JULY 29, 1861, AS THE SECOND BATTALION OF THE ELEVENTH REGIMENT OF INFANTRY; DESIG-NATION CHANGED BY ACT OF CONGRESS JULY 28, 1866.

Name, rank, and date of commission.	Letter of company.	Numberon lineallist.	Brevet rank in the Regular Army.	Born in.	Appointed from.
Colonel.					
Otis, Elwell S 8 feb. 80	· · · · · ·	23	col 2 mar. 67 1	via	Ν. Υ.
Lieutenant Colonel.					
Hunt, Lewis C 29 mar. 68		1	brig, gen13 mar. 65 '	Wis	М. А.
Major.					
Layton, Caleb R 4 mar. 79		10	maj 2 july, 63))el	Del.
Captains.					
$\begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	В А I Е К F I G D C	$\begin{array}{c} 73\\ 82\\ 107\\ 118\\ 128\\ 136\\ 143\\ 170\end{array}$	lt. col 9 apr. 65 ; capt 1 oct. 64 lt. col 2 mar. 65 capt 2 mar. 67 capt	N. Y Mich . Pa Mass Me Pa N. H	N. Y. Ill. Army, Army, Army, Pa, N. H.
First Lieutenants.					
Maize, William R 22 jan. 67 Wishart, Alexander 19 oct. 19 oct. Harwood, Paul 8 jan. 68 Manley, John A. 21 aug. 10 oct. Lord, Thomas W 1 oct. 71 (r. qu. 1 oct. (r. qu. 1 oct. 71.) 10	I C F G	49 56 70 87	capt	Pa Pa N. Y Mass	Pa. Conn. N. Y. Me.
Hannier, William H 27 july, 75 Rodman, John B 4 aug. (adj't, 4 nov. 73.)	в	$\frac{152}{151}$	····· l		
Giuli, 1, 4 (iov. 65) Cushman, Herbert,	А К Ю Н Е	180 220 284		N. Y N. Y Pat	М. А. М. А. М. А.
Second Lieutenants.					
Tilton, Palmer 15 oct. 75 Føster, Herbert S 15 june, 76 Dent, John C 15 aug. Sharp, F. Dent 14 dec. Greene, Henry A 13 june, 79 Irons, James A 13 june, 79 Rogers, James A 13 june, 80 Moon, Henry Backman, jr 12 june, 80 Moor, Henry Backman, jr 24 nov.	ADGEFBC 1 K	$\begin{array}{r} 67 \\ 84 \\ 89 \\ 149 \\ 163 \\ 215 \end{array}$		Vt Dreg Mo N. Y Pa Pa N. J	M. A. At l'ge. D. C. M. A. M. A. M. A. M. A.

ORGANIZED BY DIRECTION OF THE PRESIDENT MAY 4, 1861, AND CONFIRMED BY ACT OF CONGRESS
JULY 29, 1861. AS THE SECOND BATTALION OF THE TWELFTH REGIMENT OF INFANTRY ; DESIG-
NATION CHANGED BY ACT OF CONGRESS JULY 28, 1866; REORGANIZED BY THE CONSOLIDATION
OF THE TWENTY-FIRST AND THIRTY-SECOND REGIMENTS OF INFANTRY, BY ACT OF CONGRESS
APPROVED MARCH 3, 1869.

Name, rank, and date of commission.	Letter of company.	Number on lineal list.	Brevet rank in tho Regular Avmy,	Born in.	Δppointed from.
Colonel.					(
Morrow, Henry A27 apr. 79		22	col 2 mar. 67	Va	Mich.
Lieutenant Colonel.					
Chambers, Alexander		15	col 4 july, 63	Ν. Υ	М. А.
Major.					
Mason, Edwin C 5 sept. 71		1	col10 may, 64	Ohio	Ohio.
Captains.					
Miles, Evan 20 jan. 65 Downey, George M 5 oct. Burton, George H	EK C D B I G H A F	$\begin{array}{r} 45\\ 58\\ 141\\ 155\\ 168\\ 182\\ 187\\ 220\\ 237\\ 215 \end{array}$	capt 18 aug. 64 maj 13 mar. 65 maj	Md Del Vt Ky N. Y Md Mass	Va. M. A. Cal. Vt. Ind. N. Y. Md. Mass.
Bradley, Thomas H	D	69	capt 2 mar. 67	- III	Mo.
Ross, John M	Е	112	capt16 oct. 67	Prussia	Army.
(regtl. adj't. 1 oct. 80.) Rheem, Edward B	К С Ғ А В 1 Н	$ \begin{array}{r} 181 \\ 187 \\ 201 \\ 222 \\ 269 \\ 273 \\ \end{array} $		Ohio Pa Pa Ohio Va	Ohio. M. A. Mo. M. A. M. A. M. A.
Second Lieutenants.					
Bonesteel, Charles H	K E B G A II D F C I	$\frac{71}{74}$		Md Ohio Me Mass Ky Tenn Oreg	M. A. M. A. M. A. M. A. M. A. M. A.

ORGANIZED BY DIRECTION OF THE PRESIDENT MAY 4, 1861, AND CONFIRMED BY ACT OF CONGRESS JULY 29, 1861, AS THE SECOND BATTALION OF THE THEREENTH REGIMLAT OF INFANTRY; DEA-IONATION CHANGED BY ACT OF CONGRESS JULY 28, 1865; REORGANIZED BY THE CONSOLIDATION OF THE TWENTY-SECOND AND THERTY-FIRST REGIMENTS OF INFANTRY, BY ACT OF CONGRESS APPROVED MARCH 3, 1869.

Name, rank, and date of commission.	Letter of company.	Number on lineal list.	Brevet rank in the Regular Army.	Born in.	Appointed from.
Colonel.					
Stanley, David S		4	maj. gen13 mar. 65	Ohio	М. А.
Lieutenant Colonel.					
Dallas, Alexander J 8 feb. 80		23	····	Ð. C	At l'ge.
Major.					
Hongh, Alfred L 18 feb. 74		5	col13 mar. 65	N. J	Pa.
Cuptains.					
Dickey, Charles J. 5 nov. 64 Clarke, Francis. 10 oct. 65 Irvine, Javan B. 7 apr. 66 Hartley, John 28 july. Poole, De Witt C. 29 jan. 67 Miner, Charles W. 7 mar. Goodloe, Archibald H. 1 july. 72 Hooton, Mott. 5 ang. Thorne, Platt M. 4 mar. 79 Conway, William. 4 july.	E1ABHGFKCD	$59 \\ 70 \\ 102 \\ 113 \\ 120 \\ 149 \\ 151$	maj 1 sept. 64 maj	Ireland N. Y Me N. Y Ohio Ky Pa	Army, Minn. Minn. Wis, Ohio, M. A. Pa,
First Lieutenants.					
Ketchum, Hiram H	E A F B K	$ \begin{array}{r} 76 \\ 100 \\ 100 \\ 106 \\ 150 \end{array} $		Ind Pa N. Y Ky Ireland	Ind. Pa. N. Y. Ky. Pa.
Davies, Fielding L 10 mar. 77 Webster, John McA	G C H I D	$\frac{236}{260}$ $\frac{266}{266}$	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	Ohio Ohio Mich	M. A. Ohio. Ky.
Second Lieutenants.					
Ballance, John G 16 june, 75 Sharpe, Alfred C 21 june, 76 Crittenden, John J 14 dec. Mosher, Theodore 19 apr. 77 Martin, Medad C 15 june, 78 Getty, Robert N 28 june, 78 Hewit, Augustine F 13 june, 79 Jones, Frank B 13 june, 79 Ord, Edward O, C., jr 1 sept. Chapman, James Rolla 12 june, 80	DH 1 C G A E K B F			Ohio Kv Md Vt N. Y Miss Cal Hl	Iowa, Ky, Army, M. A, M. A, M. A, M. A, Texas,

ORGANIZED BY DIRECTION OF THE PRESIDENT MAY 4, 1861, AND CONFIRMED BY ACT OF CON-GRESS JULY 29, 1861, AS THE SECOND BATTALION OF THE FOURTEENTH REGIMENT OF INFANTRY; DESIGNATION CHANGED BY ACT OF CONGRESS JULY 28, 1866.

Name, rank, and date of commission.	Letter of company.	Number on lineal list.	Brevet rank in the Regular Army.	Born in.	Δppointed from.
Colonel.					
Haller, Granville O		14		Pa	Wash, T
Lieutenant Colonel.					
Dodge, Richard I		8	col	N. C	М. А.
Major.					
Fletcher, Joshna S., jr		22	lt. eol 18 ang. 64	Pa	Pa.
Captains.			t.		
$\begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	E 1 B F D G C H K A	$56 \\ 60 \\ 95 \\ 118 \\ 122 \\ 154$	capt	Ohio Engl'd Ohio Pa Pa Mo Me	Pa. Army. Ohio, Army. R. I. Pa. Mo, Me.
First Lieutenants.					
Manning, William C 7 feb. 67 Bird, Charles 23 may, Trout, John F 10 nov. Rice, William F 8 july, 68 . (r. qm. 6 sept. 73.) 73.)	A F B	$\frac{52}{67}$	lt. col 2 mar. 67	Del Pa Mass	Del. Pa. Ky.
Ilay, Charles 1 jan. 71 Dodge, Frederick L. 22 jan. 73 Clarke, William L 6 sept. Brothrick, Patrick T 24 july, 74 (adj't, 1 oct. 76.) 24 july, 74	C I G	110		N. H Del	N. H. Del.
Pardee, Julius II 16 mar. 77 Wieting, Orlando L 25 apr. Pratt, Edward B 25 june, 78 Cowles, Calvin D 20 mar. 79	D 11 K E	183		Pa	M. A.
Second Lieutenants.					
Heyt, Charles II 1 oct. 73 Loekwood, James B 1 oct. Bolton, Edwin B 16 jime, 75 Clagett, J. Rozier 29 nov. Febiger, Lea 5 aug. 76 Dyer, S. Allen 31 aug. Nichols, William A 7 may, 77 O'Connor, Stephen 9 june, 79 Papray, John Augustus 24 nov. 80	G D C A F II K I B	$21 \\ 46 \\ 59 \\ 82 \\ 88 \\ 101 \\ 102 \\ 151$		Md Miss Dhio Ark N. M. N. Y R. I	Md. M. A. D. C. At Fge. D. C. Kans. Army. M. A.

ORGANIZED BY ACT OF CONGRESS JULY 25, 1833; REORGANIZED BY THE CONSOLIDATION OF THE THERFY-EIGHTH AND FORFY-FIRST REGIMENTS OF INFANTRY, BY ACT OF CONGRESS APPROVED MARCH 3, 1869. Number on lineal list. Appointed from. Letter of company. Ē Brevet rank in the Name, rank, and date of commission. Regular Army. Bern Colonel. Potter, Joseph H.,..., 11 dec. 73,..... 15 brig, gen.....13 mar. 65 N. H., M. A. Lieutenant Colonel. Yard, John E 4 mar. 79 16 Pa..... Cal. Major. Chaplain. 2 Ireland Pa. Laverty, James C 15 mar. 76 Captains.
 Hood, Charles C
 28 july, 66

 Chons, John W
 22 jun, 67

 Gilmore, John C
 22 jun, 72

 Grandal, Frederick M
 12 june, 12
 \mathbf{F} E 11 .۸ Md. Germ'y Ind. 15 K m m. ... 111. 15 203 1) N.H. 1 Ċ First Lieutenants. Leggett, Henry F11 sept.72 TC.
 Bullis, John L
 20 june, 73

 Clem, John L
 5 oct, 74

 Wessells, Morris C
 15 m n, 77

 Pierce, Jacob R
 28 june, 78

 116
 N, Y
 Ark.

 141
 Ohio.
 Ohio.

 184
 N, J
 Mo.
 G П Ohio F Ky Miss. N. V. M. Α. Teun M. Α. D Л 217 223 (adj't, 7 jan. 79.) К 224 Texas. N. Y. 232 N. Y. N. Y. 12 248 Miss M. A. 286 Mich M. A. Ċ M, Λ . Augur, Ammon A..... 18 june, 80 I. Second Lieutenants. F 111 N. J ... M. A. 146 D. C ... Army. Н Ohio M. A. Muss Army G 16.) Ripley, Henry 1, 28 june, 178 Army. Black, William ĸ 194 Iowa... Iowa... 226 Ind Army. 1) N.C. Army. Me N.Y. в 225 Hovey, Henry Walter..... 23 nov.

Е

C

 Λ

245

McCov, Frank Bourbon 26 nov.

Batchelor, Joseph Branch, jr., 29 nov.

Name, rank, and date of commission.	Letter of company.	Numberon lineal list.	Brevet rank in the Regular Army.	Born in.	Appointed from.
Colonel.					
Andrews, George L 1 jan. 71		13	col 3 may, 63	R. I	Мо.
Lieutenant Colonel.					
Blunt, Matthew M 7 oct. 74		11	col19 june, 64	N. Y	м. А.
Major.					
Bush, Joseph 4 mar. 79		13	maj 4 july, 65	Mass	Vt.
Chaplain.					
Mullins, George G20 jan. 75		1		Ку	111.
. Captains.					
Vanvalzah, David D	K E B	$\begin{array}{c} 84\\ 96\\ 101\\ 146\\ 175\\ 219\\ 222\\ 250\\ 54\\ 71\\ 77\\ 91\\ 118\\ 124\\ \end{array}$	capt	5 Prussia Pa	Army Pa. Tenn. Mich. Hl. N. H. N. H. W. T. Va. N. Y. Hl.
(r. qm. 1 jan. 78.) Reade, Harry	$\mathbf{A} \\ \mathbf{H} \\ \mathbf{D}$	$199 \\ 246 \\ 249$. Mass . . Mich . . Ark	. Kans, . Wyo, . Cal.
Second Lieutenants.					
Longhborough, Robert H. R 15 oct. 75 Andrews, George 15 june, 76 McMartin, John 15 june, Glenn, Edwin F 15 june, Reed, Harvey D		195 227		. Ohio . Ireland . Md	Ohio. Army Army

ORGANIZED BY ACT OF CONGRESS JULY 28, 1866; REORGANIZED BY THE CONSOLIDATION OF THE

SERVICE

OF

GENERAL OFFICERS,

AND OF

OFFICERS OF THE ADJUTANT GENERAL'S DEPARTMENT, INSPECTOR GENERAL'S DEPARTMENT, &c., &c.

GENERAL OFFICERS.

GENERAL OF THE ARMY.

SHERMAN, WILLIAM T., Mar. 4, 69. [Born in Ohio: apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 56: 2/lt. 3/art. july 1, 40: 1/lt. nov. 30, 41; capt. bvt. may 30, 48, "for gal. and mer. ser. in California, dur. the war with Mexico"; capt. com. sub. sept. 27, 50, acc. oct. and mer. ser. in Cambornia, dur. the war with Mexico : capt.com. sub. sept. 27, 50, acc. oct. 25, 50; resgd. sept. 6, 53; col. 13 inf. may 14, 61; acc. june 19, 61; brig. gen. vol. may 17, 61, acc. ang. 16, 61; nem. for and coufd. as maj. gen. vol. may 1, 62, "for dis. ser. in the battle of Pittsburg Landing. Tenn.," acc. may 2, 62; brig. gen. U. S. A. july 4, 63, acc. ang 15, 63; the thanks of Congress and of the people of the United States, tendeted to Maj. Gen. W. T. Sherman and the officers and soldiers of the Army of the Tennessee, by joint resolu-tion approved feb. 19, 64, "for their gal, and ard, ser, in marching to the relief of the Army of the Cumberland, and for their gallantry and heroism in the battle of Chatta-Army of the contributed in a great degree to the success of our arms in that glorions victory"; apptd. maj. gen. U. S. A. ang. 12, 64, "for gal. and dis, ser. as comdr. of the Miss. div, in the cond, of the campaign in Ga."; rac com of maj.gen, vol. ang. 12, 64; the thanks of the people and of the Congress of the United States, tendered to Maj. Gen. W. T. Sherman and the others and soldiers of his command, by joint resolution approved jan. 10, 65. "for their gallantry and good cond, in their late campaign from Chattanooga to Atlanta, and the triumphal much thence through Georgia to Savannah, ter-minating in the capture and occupation of that city"; It, gen. july 25, 66, acc. aug. 1, 66; general mar. 4, 69, acc. mar. 8, 69.

LIEUTENANT GENERAL.

SHERIDAN, PHILIP H., Mar. 4, 69. [Born in Ohio; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 48; bvt. 2 lt. 1 int. july 1, 53; 2 lt. 4 inf. nov. 22, 54; 1 lt. mar. 1, 61; capt. 13 inf. may 14, 61, acc. ang. 3, 61; col. 2 Mich. cav. may 25, 62; brig. gen. vol. july 1, 62, acc. sept. 30, 62; maj. gen. vol. dec. 30, 62; acc. apr. 10, 63; brig. gen. U. S. A. sept. 20, 64, acc. oct. 12, 64; maj. gen. V. S. A. nov. 8, 64, 7 for the personal gallative mills skill, and just conti 12, 64; maj. gen. V. S. A. nov. 8, 64, 7 for the personal gallative mills skill, and just conti 14, 64; maj. gen. V. S. A. nov. 8, 64, 7 for the personal gallative mills skill, and just conti 15, 64; maj. gen. V. S. A. nov. 8, 64, 7 for the personal gallative mills skill, and just conti 16, 64; maj. gen. V. S. A. nov. 8, 64, 7 for the personal gallative mills skill, and just conti 16, 64; maj. gen. V. S. A. nov. 8, 64, 7 for the personal gallative mills skill, and just conti 17, 64; maj. gen. V. S. A. nov. 8, 64, 7 for the personal gallative mills skill, and just conti 18, 64; maj. gen. V. S. A. nov. 8, 64, 7 for the personal gallative mills skill, and just conti 19, 64; maj. gen. V. S. A. nov. 8, 64, 7 for the personal gallative mills skill, and just conti 19, 64; maj. gen. V. S. A. nov. 8, 64, 7 for the personal gallative mills skill, and just conti 19, 64; maj. gen. V. S. A. nov. 8, 64, 7 for the personal gallative mills skill and just personal gallative mills skill statistic mills and statistic mills and the statistic mills and the statistic mills skill statistic mills and statistic mills and statistic mills and statistic mills skill statistic mills skill statistic mills and statistic mills skill stati dence in the courage and patriotism of his [your] troops, displayed by him [you] on the 19th day of oct, at Cedar Run, whereby, under the blessing of Providence, his [your] routed army was reorganized, a great national disaster averted, and a brilliant victory achieved over the rebels for the third time in pitched battle within thirty days": vac. com. of maj. gen, vol. nov. 8, 64; the thanks of Congress tendered to Maj. Gen. Philip H. Sheridan and to the officers and soldiers under his command, by joint resolution approved feb. 9, 65. 7 for the gallantry, mil. skill, and courage displayed in the brilliant series of victories achieved by them in the valley of the Shenandoah, and especially for their services at Cedar Run on the nineteenth day of October, eighteen hundred and sixty-four, which retrieved the fortunes of the day and thus averted a great disaster"; It. gen. mar. 4, 69. aec. mar. 12, 69.

(66)

MAJOR GENERALS.

HANCOCK, WINFIELD S., July 26, 66. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from M. A.]-

- COCK, WINFIELD S. JULY 20, 00. [DOTE in Ta.; apput. From M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 40: bvt. 24; 6 inf. july 1, 44: 24; Li, june 18, 46; 14; bvt. aug. 20, 47, "for gal, and mer. cond. in the battles of Contreras and Churubnisco, Mex."; reg1l, qm, june 30, 48, to oct. 1, 49; reg1l, adj t oct. 1, 49, to nov. 7, 55; 14; 6 inf. jan. 27, 53; capt. a, qm, nov. 7, 55, acc. nov. 14, 55; brig. gcn. vol. sept. 23, 61, acc. sept. 24, 61; maj. gen. vol. nov. 20, 62, acc. jan. 27, 63; maj. qm. nov. 30, 63; apptd. brig. gcn. U. S. A. ang. 12, 64, "for gal, and dis, ser, in the battles of the Wilderness, Spottsylvania, and Cold Harbor, and is all the associations of the Avery in Vol. model 14, for in all the operations of the Army in Va. under Lt. Gen. Grant," acc. aug. 17, 64; maj. gen. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Spottsylvania, Va."; tendered the thanks of Congress—in addition to the thanks heretofore voted by joint resolution, approved jan. 28, 64, to * * * * and the officers and soldiers of the Army of the Potomac—by joint resolution approved apr. 21, 66, "for the skill and heroic valor which, at Gettysburg, repulsed, defeated, and drove back, broken and dispirited, the veteran army of the rebellion, the gratitude of the American people, and the thanks of their Representatives in Congress, are likewise due, and are hereby tendered, to Maj. Gen. Winfield S. Hancock, for his gal, mer., and cons. share in that great and decisive victory": maj. gen. U. S. A. july 26, 66; vac. com. of maj. gen. vol. july 26, 66.
- SCHOFIELD, JOHN M., Mar. 4, 69. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from M. A.]-Cadet july 1, 49; bvt. 2 lt. 2 art. july 1, 53; 2 lt. 1 art. aug. 31, 53; 1 lt. mar. 3, 55; maj. 1 Mo. vol. apr. 26, 61; capt. 1 art. may 14, 61; capt. 11 inf. may 14, 61, declined; maj. 1 Mo. art. june 26, 61; brig. gen. vol. nov. 21, 61, acc. nov. 30, 61; maj. gen. vol. nov. 29, 62, acc. feb. 2, 63; exp. by con. lim. mar. 4, 63; brig. gen. vol. mar. 4, 63; maj. gen. vol. may 12, 63, to rank from nov. 29, 62, acc. may 19, 63; brig. gen. U. S. A. nov. 30, 64, acc. june 13, 65; mai, gen. byt. mar. 13, 65, " for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Franklin, Tenn."; must. out of vol. ser. sept. 1, 66; maj. gen. U. S. A. mar. 4, 69, acc. mar. 8, 69,

McDOWELL, IRVIN, Nov. 25, 72. [Born in Ohio; apptd. from M. A.]-Cadet july 1, 34; bvt. 2 lt. 1 art. july 1, 38; 2 lt. july 7, 38; 1 lt. oct. 7, 42; capt. bvt. feb. 23, 47, "for gal. and mer. cond. in the battle of Buena Vista, Mex."; bvt. capt. a. g. may 13, 47, acc. june 23, 47; we com of 1 ht 1 art (b), 22, 51; b(t, maj, a, a, g, mar, 31, 56; brig, gen, may 14, 61, acc. may 14, 61; maj, gen, vol. mar, 14, 62, acc. mar, 17, 62; maj, gen, bvt, mar, 13, 65, "for gal, and mer, ser, in the battle of Cedar Mountain, Va."; must. out of vol. ser, sept. 1, 66; maj, gen, U. S. A. nov, 25, 72, acc. nov. 25, 72.

BRIGADIER GENERALS.

POPE, JOHN, July 14, 62. [Born in Ky.: apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 38; bvt. 2 lt. top. enc. july 1, 42; 2 lt. may 9, 46; 1 lt. bvt. sept. 23, 46, "for gal. and mer. cond. in the several conflicts at Monterey, Mex."; capt. bvt. feb. 23, 47, "for gal. and mer. cond. in the battle of Buena Vista, Mex."; 1 lt. top. eng. mar. 3, 53; "ble 1. 52. brids and the several 52. S capt. july 1, 56; brig. gen. vol. may 17, 61, acc. june 18, 61; mai, gen. vol. mar. 21, 62, acc. mar. 22, 62; brig. gen. U. S. A. july 14, 62, acc. july 17, 62; maj, gen. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. at the capture of Island No. 10"; must. out of vol. ser. sept. 1, 66.

HOWARD, OLIVER O., Dec. 21, 64. [Born in Me.: apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet sept. 1, 50; bvt. 2 lt. ord. july 1, 54; 2 lt. feb. 15, 55; 1 lt. july 1, 57; resgd. june 7, 61; col. 3 Me. vol. june 4, 61; brig. gen. vol. sept. 3, 61, acc. sept. 5, 61; maj. gen. vol. nov. 29, 62, acc. nov. 29, 62; the gratitude of the American people, and the thanks of their Representatives in Congress tendered to * * * * Maj. Gen. Oliver O. Howard, and the officers and soldiers of the Army of the Potomac, by joint resolution approved jan. 28, 64, "for the skill and heroic valor which, at Gettysburg, repulsed, defeated, and drove back, broken and dispirited, beyond the Rappahannock, the veteran army of the rebellion"; brig, gen. U. S. A. dec. 21, 64, acc. may 22, 65; maj, gen. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal, and mer. ser, in the battle of Ezra Church, and during the campaign against Atlanta, Ga."; must. out of vol. ser. jan. 1, 69.

Brigadier Generals-Continued.

- TERRY, ALFRED H., Jan. 15, 65. [Born in Conn.; apptd. from Conn.]— Col. 2 Conn. vol. may 7, 61; *must. out* ang, 7, 61; col. 7 Conn. vol. sept. 17, 61; brig. gen. vol. apr. 25, 62, acc. may 15, 62; maj. gen. vol. bvt. ang, 26, 64, "for mer. and dis. ser. dur. the war"; non. for and confd. as brig. gen. U.S.A. jan. 15, 65. "for dis. ser. in the war" in the data and confd. as brig. gen. U.S.A. jan. 15, 65. "for dis. ser. dur, the war, and for gallantry and generalship in the capture of Fort Fisher, N. C., acc. feb. 10, 65; provisionally apptd. maj. gen. vol. jan. 15, 65, acc. jan. 16, 65; commissioned maj. gen. vol. apr. 20, 65, to rank from jan. 15, 65, "for gal. ser, in the capture of Fort Fisher," ace, apr. 20, 65; the thanks of Congress tendered to Byt. Maj. Gen. Alfred H. Terry and to the officers and soldiers under his command, by joint resolution approved jan. 24, 65, "for the unsurpassed gallantry and skill exhibited by them in the attack upon Fort Fisher, and the brilliant and decisive victory by which that important work has been captured from the rebel forces and placed in the possession and under the authority of the U.S., and for their long and faith, ser, and unwavering devotion to the cause of the country in the midst of the greatest difficulties and dangers"; maj. gen. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal, and mer. ser. in the capture of Wilmington, N. C."; must. out of vol. ser. sept. 1, 66.
- AUGUR, CHRISTOPHER C., Mar. 4, 69. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from M. A.]—
 Cadet july 1, 39; bvt. 2 lt. 2 int. july 1, 43; 2 lt. 4 int. sept. 12, 45; 1 lt. feb. 16, 47; capt.
 aug. 1, 52; maj. 13 inf. may 14, 61, acc. aug. 17, 61; brig. gen. vol. nov. 12, 61, acc. nov.
 I8, 61; apptd. maj. gen. vol. aug. 9, 62; "for dis. and mer. ser. in the battle of Cedar
 Mountain, Va.," acc. nov. 14, 62; col. bvt. aug. 9, 62; "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle
 of Cedar Mountain, Va."; lt. col. 12 inf. july 1, 63; brig. gen. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and
 mer. ser. in the tield dur. the war"; col. 12 inf. mar. 15, 66; must. out of vol. ser. sept. 1,
 66; brig. gen. U.S. A. unv. 4, 69 are: mar. 12, 60; must. out of vol. ser. sept. 1, 66; brig. gen. U. S. A. mar. 4, 69, acc. mar. 12, 69.
- CROOK, GEORGE, Oct. 29, 73. [Born in Ohio; apptd. from M. A.]-
- OK, GEORGE, Oct. 29, 73. [Born in Ohio; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 48; bvt. 24, 4 inf. july 1, 52; 24, july 7, 53; 14, mar. 11, 56; capt. 14 inf. may 14, 64, declined; capt. 4 inf. may 14, 61; col. 36 Ohio vol. sept. 13, 61; maj. bvt. may 23, 62; "for gal. and mer. ser, in the battle of Lewisburg, Va."; apptd. brig, gen. vol. sept. 7, 62; "for gal. and mer. ser, in the battle of Antietam, Md."; col. bvt. sept. 17, 63; "for gal, and mer. ser, in the battle of Antietam, Md."; col. bvt. oct. 7, 63, "for gal, and mer. ser, in the battle of Farmington, Term."; maj. gen. vol. bvt. july 18, 64, "for gal, and dis, ser, in W. Va."; maj, gen. vol. oct. 21, 64, acc. oct. 21, 64; brig, gen. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal, and mer, ser, in the battle of Fisher's Hill, Va."; must, out of vol. ser, in. 15, 66; maj. 3 inf. july 18, 66; it. col. 23 inf. july 28, 66, acc. oct. 6, 66; brig, gen. U. S. A. oct. 29, 73, acc. nov. 9, 73.

MILES, NELSON A., Dec. 15, 80. [Born in Mass.; appld. from Mass.]— Capt. 22 Mass. vol. sept. 9, 61; 11, col. 61 N. Y. vol. may 31, 62; col. sept. 30, 62; brig. gen. vol. may 12, 64, "for dis. ser. dur. the recent battles of the 01d Wilderness and Spottsylvania C. H., Ya.," acc. june 27, 64; maj. gen. vol. by: aug. 25, 64, "for highly mer. and dis, cond. throughout the campaign, and particularly for gallantry and val. ser, in the battle of Ream's Station, Va."; maj. gen. vol. oct. 21, 65, acc. oct. 26, 65; must. out sept. 1, 66; col. 40 inf. july 28, 66, acc. sept. 6, 66; brig. gen. byt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser, in the battle of Chancellorsville, Va."; maj. gen. byt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser, in the battle of Spottsylvania, Va."; trs. to 5 inf. mar. 15, 69; brig. gen. U. S. A. dec. 15, 80, acc. dec. 18, 80.

ADJUTANT GENERAL.

With rank of Brigadier General,

DRUM, RICHARD C., June 15, 80. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Pa.]-

Pyt. co. K, 1 Pa, vol. dec. 16, 46; 2 lt. inf. feb. 18, 47, acc. mar. 17, 47; 2 lt. 9 inf. apr. 9, 47; 1 lt. bvt. sept. 13, 47, "for gal. and mer. cond. in the battle of Chapultepee"; trs. to 4 art. mar. 8, 48; 1 lt. sept. 16, 50; bvt. capt. a. a. g. mar. 16, 61, acc. mar. 23, 61; vac. com. of 1 lt. 4 art. may 14, 61; maj. a. a. g. aug. 3, 61; 1t. col. a. a. g. july 17, 62; col. byt. sept. 24, 64, " for mer, and faith, ser, dur, the war "; brig, gen. byt. mar. 13, 65, " for faith, and mer, ser, in the adj't gen's dept. dur. the war''; col. a. a. g. feb. 22, 69; brig. gen. a. g. june 15, 80, acc. june 16, 80.

Assistant Adjutant Generals.

With rank of Colonel,

- FRY, JAMES B., Mar. 3, 75. [Born in Ill.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 43; byt. 2 lt. 3 art. july 1, 47; 2 lt. 1 art. ang. 20, 47; 1 lt. feb. 22, 51; byt. capt. a. a. g. mar. 16, 61, acc. mar. 20, 61; vac. com. of 1 lt. 1 art. may 14, 61; capt. a. a. g. aug. 3, 61; col. a. a. d. c. nov. 14, 61, acc. apr. 14, 62; maj. a. a. g. apr. 22, 62; 1f. col. a. a g. dec. 31, 62; col. pro. mar. gcn. mar. 17, 63; brig. gen. pro. mar. gcn. apr. 21, 64, acc. may 20, 64; col. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mcr. ser, in the battle of Bull Run (first), Va."; by by coll, by mar, 13, 65, "for gal, and mer, set, in the battle of Shiloh, Tenn, and Perry-brid, gen, by mar, 13, 65, "for gal, and mer, ser, in the battles of Shiloh, Tenn, and Perry-ville, Ky, "; maj, gen, byt, mar, 13, 65, "for faith, mer, and dis, ser, in the pro, mar, gen's dept, dur, the war"; com, of pro, mar, gen, *exp. by law* ang, 27, 66; col, a, a, g. mar, 3, 75.
- KELTON, JOHN C., June 15, 80. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 47; bvt. 2 lt. 6 inf. july 1, 51; 2 lt. dec. 31, 51; 1 lt. may 9, 55; regtl. qm. Called piny 14:10512 in o min piny to 112 in the constraint of the may σ_{s} since the may σ_{s} since the max σ_{s} since th may 31, 66; col. a. a. g. june 15, 80.

With rank of Lieutenant Colonel.

WILLIAMS, ROBERT, Feb. 22, 69. [Born in Va.; apptd. from M. A.]-Cadet july 1, 47; byt. 2 lt. 1 drag, july 1, 51; 2 lt. july 15, 53; 1 lt. june 7, 55; byt. capt. conce part 1, 47; 10; 6, 27; 11, 11, 12, 31, 12, 12, 14, 141, 15, 35; 14, 16, 16, 55; byt. eapt. a. a. g. may 11, 61, acc. may 16, 61; vac. com. of 1 11, 1 drag, may 7, 61, paid to may 10, 61; eapt. a. a. g. ang, 3, 61; col. 1 Mass, cav. oct. 7, 61; maj, a. a. g. july 17, 62; resgd. vol. com. oct. 1, 62; 11, col. byt. sept. 24, 64, "for mer, and faith, ser. dnr, the war"; col. byt. and brig, gen. byt. may, 13, 65, "for dil,, faith,, and mer, ser, in the adj't gen's dept. dnr, the war"; 1t, col. a. a. g. feb. 22, 69.

- WHIPPLE, WILLJAM D., Mar. 3, 75. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 47; bvt. 2 lt. 3 inf. july 1, 51; 2 lt. sept. 9, 51; 1 lt. dec. 31, 56; bvt. capt. a. a. g. may 11, 61, acc. may 18, 61; eqc. com. of 1 lt. 3 inf. may 14, 61, paid to may 16, 61; capt. a. a. g. aug. 3, 61; lt. col. a. a. d. c. feb. 10, 62, acc. apr. 4, 62; maj. a. a. g. july 17, 62. brig. gen. vol. july 17, 63, acc. july 17, 63; exp. by con. lim. july 4, 64; brig. gen. sept. 6.64, to rank from july 17, 63, acc. sept. 26, 64; it. col. bvt., col. bvt., and brig. gen. bvt. nar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the Atlanta campaign, and in the battles before Nashville, Tenn.": maj. gen. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the field dur, the war": *most. out of* yol. ser. jan. 15, 66; col. a. d. e. to the gen. jan. 1, 73, to jan. 1, 81; lt. col. a. a. g. mar. 3, 75.
- McKEEVER, CHAUNCEY, Mar. 3, 75. [Born in Md. ; apptd. from M. A.]---Cadet july 1, 45 ; bvt. 2 lt. 1 art. july 1, 49 ; 2 lt. 3 art. july 27, 59 ; 1 lt. dec. 24, 53 ; bvt. capt. a. a. g. july 1, 61, acc. july 4, 61; vac. com. of 1 lt. 3 art. may 14, 61, paid to june 30 byt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith, and mer. ser. dur. the war"; lt. col. a. a. g. mar. 3, 75.

RUGGLES, GEORGE D., June 15, 80. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet sept. 1, 51; bvt. 2 lt. 1 inf. july 1, 55; 2 lt. 2 inf. july 1, 55; regtl. adj't sept. 10, 57, to

[july 1, 61; c1t, ar, b7; c1t, 11th, july 1, 55; c1t, c1th, july 1, 55; tegit and t september 10, 57; t0 $july 2, 61; c1t, ar, a, g, ang, 3, 61; vac, com, of 11t, 2 inf, ang, 10, 61; c0, <math>\Rightarrow$ a, d, c, july 2, 61; c1t, ar, 10, 61; c0, \Rightarrow a, d, c, june 28, 62; acc, june 29, 62; mai, a, g, july 17, 62; lt, col, byt, and col, byt, mar, 13, 65, "for gal, and mer, ser, dur, the war"; brig, gen, byt, mar, 13, 65, " for gal, and mer, ser, dur, the campaign terminating with the surrender of the insurgent army of Northern Virginia"; brig, gen, vol. byt. apr. 9, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. dur. the recent operations resulting in the fall of Richmond, Va., and the surrender of the insurgent army nuder Gen. Robert E. Lee"; must. out as col. a. a. d. c. may 31, 66; lt. col. a. a. g. june 15, 80.

ASSISTANT ADJUTANT GENERALS.

With rank of Major.

- VINCENT, THOMAS M., July 17, 62. [Born in Ohio; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 49; bvt. 2 lt. 2 art. july 1, 53; 2 lt. oct. 8, 53; 1 lt. oct. 20, 55; capt. 18 inf. may 14, 61, declined; regth. qm. 2 art, june 1, 61, to july 1, 61; bvt. capt. a, a, g, july 3. 61, acc. july 6, 61; capt. a. a. g. ang. 3, 61; maj. a. a. g. july 17, 62; capt. 2 art. july 25, 63; result come of capt. 2 art. june 11, 64 ; 1t. col. byt. and col. byt. sept. 24, 64, " for mer. and faith, ser, dur, the war"; brig, gen, byt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith, and mer, ser, dur, the war."
- GREENE, OLIVER D., July 17, 62. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 49; bvt. 241, 3 art, july 1, 54; 241, 2 art, nov. 25, 54; 14, apr. 25, 61; capt. bvt. july 21, 61, "for gal. and mer. ser, in the battle of Bull Run, Va,"; capt. a. a. g. aug. 5. 61, acc. ang. 18, 61; maj. a. g. july 17, 62; 11; col. a. g. (act july 17, 62) ang. 20, 62; to dec. 31, 62; capt. 2 art. oct. 1, 63; *resgd*, com. of capt. 2 art. july 17, 62) ang. 20, 62; mar. 13, 65; "for gal. and mer. ser, in the battle of Crampton's Gap. Md."; col. byt. mar. 13, 65; "for gal. and mer. ser, in the battle of Antietam. Md."; brig. gen. byt. mar. 13, 65; "for gal, and mer, ser, dur, the war,
- BRECK, SAMI'EL, July 17, 62. [Born in Mass.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 51; bvt, 24t, 1 art, july 1, 55; 24t, july 1, 55; 14t, apr. 11, 61; capt. a. a. g. nov. 29, 61, acc. dec. 6, 61; rac, com, of 14t, 1 art, feb, 20, 62; maj, a. a. d. c. may 23, 62, box 25, 61, acc. dec. 6, 61; rac, com, of 14t, 1 art, feb, 20, 62; maj, a. a. d. c. may 23, 62, box 25, 61, acc. dec. 6, 61; rac, com, of 14t, 1 art, feb, 20, 62; maj, a. a. d. c. may 23, 62, box 25, 61, acc. dec. 6, 61; rac, com, of 14t, 1 art, feb, 20, 62; maj, a. a. d. c. may 23, 62, box 25, 61, acc. dec. 62, 61; rac, com, of 14t, 1 art, feb, 20, 62; maj, a. a. d. c. may 23, 62, box 25, 62; maj, acc. dec. 64; box 25, 61; rac, com, of 14t, 1 art, feb, 20, 62; maj, acc. dec. 64; box 25, 62; box 25, 62; box 25, 63; box 25, 64; box 25, 65; box acc. may 23, 62; maj: a. a. g. july 17, 62; *vac.* com of maj: a. a. d. e. july 17, 62; lt. col. byt. sept. 24, 64, "for mer. and faith, ser, dur, the war"; col. byt. and brig, gen. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for dil., faith, and mer. ser, in the adj't gen's dept. dur, the war."
- WOOD, HENRY C., June 24, 64. [Born in Me.; apptd. from Me.]— 2 lt. 1 inf. june 27, 56, acc. july 30, 56; 1 lt. may 10, 61; 1 lt. 11 inf. may 14, 61; capt. oct. 24, 61, acc. pp. 15, 62; may, a.g. $_{ij}$ inc. 24, 64, acc. pp. 14, 8, 64; res. gd. com, of capt. 11 inf, july 12, 64; lt, col, byt, mar, 13, 65, "for gal, and mer, ser, in the battle of Wilson's Creeck [Mo, ang, 10, 61]"; col, byt, mar, 13, 65, "for dill, faith, and mer, ser, in the adj't gen's dept, dur, the war."
- TAYLOR, JOSEPHI H., Mar. 30, 66. [Born in Ky.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 52; bvt. 24t. 1 cav. july 1, 56; 24t. jan. 16, 57; 14t. apr. 22, 61; capt. 6 cav. may 14, 61, acc. july 12, 61; maj. bvt. june 1, 62, "for gal, and mer. ser. in the battle of Fair Oaks, V.a."; 4t. col. a. a. g. (act. july 77, 62) ang. 20, 62; 4t. col. bvt. sept. 17, 62, "for gal, and mer. ser. in the battle of Anticiam, Md."; col. vol. byt. mar. 3, 65; maj. a. a. g. mar. 30, 66, acc. may 1, 66; respl. com. of capt. 6 cav. may 1, 66; relieved as It. col. a. a. g. (act july 17, 62) june 11, 66; col. byt. aug. 13, 66, "for faith, and mer. ser. dur. the war."
- MARTIN, JAMES P., Apr. 10, 69. [Born in Ky.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cader july 1, 55; hvt. 24, 6 ind, july 1, 60; 24, 7 ind, dec 20, 60; 14, may 14, 61; capt. jan. 2, 63; maj, bvt. july 2, 63, "for gal, and mer, ser, in the battle of Gettysburg, Pa."; ht. col. hvt. july 22, 65, "for faith, and mer, ser,"; maj, a. a. g. apr. 10, 69, acc. apr. 20, 60; resgd. com. of capt. 7 inf. apr. 21, 69.
- PLATT, EDWARD R., Mar. 6, 73. [Born in Vt.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 45; byt. 24t. 3 art. july 1, 49; 24t. 2 art. july 8, 50; 14t. oct. 8, 53; capt. may 15, 61; maj. byt. july 24, 61, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Bull Run Va."; It. col. a. i. g. (act july 17, 62) sent. 4, 62; 1t. col. byt. dec. 13, 62, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Fredericksburg, Va."; relieved as It. col. a. i. g. (act july 17, 62) nov. 1, 63; maj. j. a. vol. nov. 2, 63, acc. nov. 2, 63; muit, out of vol. ser. july 28, 65; maj. a. a. g. mar. 6, 73, acc. mar. 25, 73; resgd. com. of capt. 2 art. mar. 25, 73.
- BENJAMIN, SAMUEL N., Mar. 3, 75. [Born in N. Y.: apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 56; 24; 2 art, may 6, 61; 14; may 15, 61; capt. june 13, 64; maj, byt, aug. 1, 64, "for good cond, and gal, ser, in the battle of Spottsylvania"; 14; col. byt. mat. 13, 65, "for good cond, and gal, ser, dur, the war"; maj, a, a, g, mar. 3, 75, acc. mar. 16, 75; resgd. com. of capt. 2 art. mar. 16, 75.
- NICKERSON, AZOR IL, June 15, 78. [Born in Ohio: apptd. from Ohio.]-2 lt. 8 Ohio vol. aug. 17, 61; 1 lt. apr. 30, 62; capt. jan. 20, 63; dischijd. nov. 20, 63; capt. vet, res. corps nov. 12, 63, acc. nov. 21, 63; maj. vol. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. cond. in the vect res, corps nov. 12, 63, acc. nov. 21, 65; maj. vol. ovt. mar. 16, 65; Tor gai, cond. If the battles of Antietam and Gettysburg"; *must. out* of vect, res, corps apr. 19, 66; paid to apr. 30, 66; 21t, and 11t, 14 inf, felb. 23, 66; acc. may 3, 66; trs, to 23 inf, sept. 21, 66; regtl, adj't may 23, 67, to july 8, 68; capt. 23 inf, july 8, 68; maj. a. a. g. june 15, 78, acc. june 25, 78; resgd. com. of capt. 23 inf. june 25, 78.
- CORBIN, HENRY C., June 16, 80. [Born in Ohio: apptd. from Ohio.]-
 - Recraiting 24t, 83 Ohio vol. july 28, 62; 24t, 79 Ohio vol. ang. 29, 62; 44t, may 11, 63; maj. [14] U. S. c. t. nov. 14, 63; It col. mar. 4, 64; brig. gen. vol. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for mer. ser."; col. 14 U. S. c. t. sept. 23, 65; must. out mar. 26, 66, paid to mar. 28, 66; 2 lt. 17 inf. may 11. the latter end of Nashville, Tenn."; trs. to 24 inf. nov. 11, 69; maj. byt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal, and mer. ser, in action at Decatur, Ala."; ft. col. byt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal, and mer. ser, in the battle of Nashville, Tenn."; trs. to 24 inf. nov. 11, 69; maj. a. a. g. june 16, 80, acc, june 18, 80; "exad, com, of capt. 24 inf. june 18, 80.

INSPECTOR GENERAL'S DEPARTMENT.

SENIOR INSPECTOR GENERAL.

With rank of Brigadier General.

MARCV, RANDOLPH B., Dec. 12, 78. [Born in Mass.; apptd. from M. A.]—
 Cadet july I, 28; bvt. 24; 5 inf. july 1, 32; 24; nov. 25, 35; 14; june 22, 37; capt. may
 18, 46; maj. pm. aug. 22, 59, acc. aug. 24, 59; resyd. com. of capt. 5 inf. aug. 24, 59; col.
 i. g. aug. 9, 61, acc. aug. 14, 61; brig. gm. vol. sept. 23, 61, acc. oct. 2, 61; exp. by con.
 lim, july 17, 62; brig. gen. vol. sept. 13, 62; to rank from sept. 23, 61, acc. oct. 16, 62;
 cxp. by con. lim. mar. 4, 63; brig. gen. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser, in the field
 dur, the war"; maj. gen. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith, and mer. ser, dur, the war"; brig
 gen. i.g. dec. 12, 78, acc. dec. 19, 78.

INSPECTOR GENERALS.

With rank of Colonel.

SACKET, DELOS B., Oct. 1, 61. [Born in N. Y.: apptd. from M. A.]-Cadet july 1, 40: byt. 2 lt. 2 drag, july 1, 45: 1 lt. byt. may 9, 46. "for gal. and mer. cond. in the battles of Palo Alto and Resact de la Palma": 241.1 drag, june 30, 46; 14 h. dec. 27, 48; capt. 1 eav. mar. 3, 55, acc. mar. 23, 55; maj. 1 eav. jun. 31, 61; h. col. 2 eav. [5 eav.] may 3, 61; col. i. g. oct. 1, 61, acc. oct. 8, 61; brig, gen. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser, in the field dur, the war"; maj. gen. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith, and mer. ser. dur. the war.

SCHRIVER, EDMUND, Mar. 13, 63. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 29; bvt. 2 lt. 2 art. july 1, 33; 2 lt. july 31, 34; 1 lt. nov. 1, 36; bvt. capt. a. a. g. july 7, 38, acc. july 12, 38; capt. 2 art. aug. 17, 42; *rac.* com. of capt. 2 art. june 18, 46; *resgd.* july 31, 46; lt. col. 11 inf. may 14, 61, acc. july 26; eol. a. a. d. c. may 18, 62, acc. may 21, 62; col. i. g. mar. 13, 63; *rac.* com. of col. a. a. d. c. mar. 13, 63; brig. gen. bvt. aug. 1, 64, 'for faith. and mer. ser. in the field"; maj. gen. bvt. mar. 13, 65 ''for mer. and dis. ser. dur. the war."

DAV18, NELSON II., Mar. 23, 64. [Born in Mass.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 41; bvt. 2 lt. 3 inf. july 1, 46; 2 lt. 2 inf. feb. 16, 47; 1 lt. bvt. ang. 20, 47, "for gal. and mer. cond. in the battles of Contreras and Churubusco"; 1 lt 2 inf. june 8, 49; capt. mar. 3, 55; col. 7 Mass. vol. sept. 4, 61; resgd. vol. com. nov. 12, 61; mai, a. i. g. nov. 12, 61, acc. nov. 18, 61; lt. col. bvt. july 3, 63, "for gal. and mer. ser. in action with Apache Indians in Arizona"; brig. gen. bvt. mar 29, 64, "for gal. and mer. ser. in action with Apache Indians in Arizona"; brig. gen. bvt. mar 13, 65, "for mer. and eff. ser. dur. the war"; lt. col. a. i. g. jone 13, 67, acc. ang. 1, 67; col. i. g. to rank from mar. 23, 64, with par from ion 6, 72 for imag. 8, 79]. pay from jan. 6, 73 [act june 8, 72].

Assistant Inspector Generals.

With rank of Lieutenant Colonel.

JONES, ROGER, June 13, 67. [Born in D. C.; apptd. from M. Λ.]— Cadet july 1, 47; bvt. 2 lt. m. rif. july 1, 51; 2 lt. may 24, 52; regtl. adj't july 1, 54, to mar. 24, 58; 1 lt. jun. 26, 57; capt. a. qm. apr. 23, 61, acc. may 7, 61; rac. com. of 1 lt. m. rif. july 31, 61; maj. a. i, g. nov. 12, 61, acc. nov. 14, 61; rac. com. of capt. a. qm. nov. 14, 61; lt. col. a. i, g. june 13, 67, acc. ang. 12, 67.

 BAIRD, ABSALOM, June 13, 67. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from M. A.]—
 Cadet july 1, 45; bvt. 2 lt. 2 art, july 1, 49; 2 lt. 1 art. apr. 1, 50; 1 lt. dec. 24, 53; bvt. capt.
 a. a. g. may 11, 61, acc. may 13, 61; rac. com. of 1 lt. 1 art. may 14, 61; capt. a. a. g. aug. 3, 61;
 rac. nov. 14, 61; maj. a. i. g. nov. 12, 61, acc. nov. 14, 61; brig. gen. vol. apr. 28, 62, acc. may
 7, 62; lt. col. bvt. sept. 20, 63; "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Ch ckamauga, 6a.";
 col. bvt. nov. 24, 63; "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Ch ckamauga, 6a.";
 vol. bvt. nov. 24, 63; "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Ch ckamauga, 6a.";
 vol. bvt. nov. 24, 63; "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Ch ckamauga, 6a.";
 vol. bvt. nov. 24, 63; "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Ch ckamauga, 6a.";
 vol. bvt. nov. 24, 63; "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Ch ckamauga, 6a.";
 vol. bvt. nov. 24, 63, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Ch ckamauga, 6a.";
 vol. bvt. nov. 24, 63, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Ch ckamauga, 6a.";
 vol. bvt. nov. 24, 63, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Ch ckamauga, 6a.";
 vol. bvt. nov. 24, 63, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Ch ckamauga, 64.";
 vol. bvt. nov. 24, 65, "for for for head mer. ser. in the battle of Ch ckamauga, 64.";
 vol. bvt. nov. 24, 65, "for for for head mer. ser. in the battle of Ch ckamauga, 65.";
 vol. bvt. nov. 24, 65, "for for for head mer. ser.";
 vol. bvt. nov. 24, 65, "for for for head mer. ser.";
 vol. bvt. nov. 24, 65, "for for for head mer. ser.";
 vol. bvt. nov. 24, 65, "for for for head mer.";
 vol. bvt. nov. 14, 65, "for for head mer.";
 vol. bvt. nov. 14, 65, "for for head mer.";
 vol. bvt. nov. 14, 65, "for head mer.";
 vol. bvt. nov. 14, 65, "for head mer. col. byt. nov. 24, 63, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Chattanooga, Tenn.": maj. gen. vol. byt. sept. 1, 64, "for faith, ser, and dis. cond. dur. the Atlanta campaign, and particu-Tarly in the battles of Resaca and Jonesborough, and for general good could in the com-mand of his division against Savannah", brig, gen. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser, in the capture of Atbanta, Ga."; maj, gen. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. the field dur, the war"; *must, out* of vol. ser. sept. 1, 66; It. col. a. i. g. june 13, 67, with pay from june 16, 74 [act june 16, 74].

BUREAU OF MILITARY JUSTICE.

JUDGE ADVOCATE GENERAL.

With rank of Brigadier General.

DUNN, WILLIAM McK., Dec. 1, 75. [Born in Ind.; apptd. from Ind.]— Maj. j. a. vol. mar. 13, 63, acc. mar. 31, 63; col. a. j. a. gen. june 22, 64, acc. july 6, 64; brig. gen. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith, mer., and dis. ser. in his dept."; brig. gen. j. a. gen. dec. 1, 75, acc. dec. 1, 75.

JUDGE ADVOCATES.

With rank of Major.

- LIEBER, GUIDO N., Nov. 13, 62. [Born in S. C.; apptd. from N. Y.]-1 lt. 11 inf. may 14, 61, acc. july 15, 61; regth. adj't sept. 18, 61, to oct. 1, 62; capt. bvt. june 27, 62, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Gaines' Mill. Va."; maj. j. a. vol. nov. 13, 62; acc. nov. 13, 62; capt. 11 inf. july 2, 63; maj. bvt. may 28, 64, "for gal. and mer. (a) and how an and how an and how and a set of the s
- WINTHROP, WILLIAM, Sept. 19, 64. [Form in Conn.; apptd. from N. Y.]— Pvt. co. F, 7 N. Y. s. m. apr. 26, 61; must. out june 3, 61; 11t. 1 U. S. sh. sh. oct. 1, 61; [capt. sept. 22, 62; must. out sept. 16, 64; maj. j. a. vol. sept. 19, 64, acc. sept. 24, 64; lt. col. vol. bvt. mar. 13, 65, [] for faith, and mer. ser, in his dept, in the field []; col. vol. bvt. mar. 13, 65, [] for faith, and mer. ser, in the field and in the Bur, of Mil. Jus.]]; j. a. U. S. A. feb. 25, 67 [act feb. 25, 67].
- BURNHAM, HORACE B., Oct. 31, 64. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from Pa.]-Lt. col. 67 Pa. vol. oct. 31, 61; must. out oct. 31, 64; maj. j. a. vol. oct. 31, 64, acc. oct. 31, 64; It. col. vol. bvt. and col. vol. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith, and mer. ser. dur. the war" j. a. U. S. A. feb. 25, 67 [act feb. 25, 67].
- BARR, THOMAS F., Feb. 26, 65. [Born in Mass.; apptd. from Mass.] -Maj. j. a. vol. feb. 26, 65, acc. apr. 13, 65; 14, col. vol. bvt. dec. 2, 65, ''for faith, and mer ser, in his dept.''; j. a. U. S. A. feb. 25, 67 [act feb. 25, 67].
- CURTIS, HERBERT P., June 21, 65. [Born in Mass.; apptd. from Mass.]— 24, 1 Mass. cav. jan. 4, 62; 14, july 19, 62; capt. feb. 6, 64; must. out june 26, 65; maj. j a. vol. june 21, 65, acc. july 4, 65; 14, col. vol. bvt. and col. vol. bvt. dec. 2, 65, "for faith, and mer. ser, in his dept"; j. a. U. S. A. feb. 25, 67 [act. feb. 25, 67].
- GOODFELLOW, HENRY, Nov. 28, 65. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Pa.]— Capt. 26 Pa. vol. may 5, 61; must, out june 18, 64; lt. col. vol. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal, and mer. cond. in the battle of Gettysburg, Pa."; col. vol. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal, and mer. cond. in the battles of the Wilderness and Spottsylvania, Va."; maj, j. a. vol. nov. 28, 65, acc. dec. 1, 65; 2 lt. 31 inf. may 11, 66, declined; j. a. U. S. A. feb. 25, 67 [act feb. 5]. 25. 67].
- SWAIM, DAVID G., Dec. 9, 69. [Born in Ohio; apptd. from Ohio.]— 24t, 65 Ohio vol. oct. 4, 61; 14t. nov. 4, 61; hon, must. out june 17, 62; capt. a. a. g. vol. may 16, 62, acc. jume 18, 62; maj. a. a. g. vol. feb. 7, 65, acc. mar. 28, 65; H. col. vol. bvt. and col. vol. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith, and mer. ser. dur. the war"; 24, 34 inf. july 28, and col. col. by that, 19, 65, 10 faint and mer set. due the wart is 17, 57, 10, 57, 10, 56, 66, acc, feb. 28, 67, most, out as maj, a, a, g, vol. sept. 15, 66; 1 lt. bvt., capt. bvt., and maj, bvt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal, and mer, ser, due, the war"; 2 lt. inf. unassd [apr, 14, 69; maj, j, a, dec, 9, 69, acc, jan, 29, 70; resgd, com, of 2 lt. inf. apr, 14, 70.

GARDNER, ASA B., Aug. 18, 73. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from N. Y.]-1 lt, 31 N. Y. vol. may 27, 61; hon. must. out aug. 7, 61; capt. 22 N. Y. vol. may 31, 62; hon. must. out sept. 5, 62; cept. 22 N. Y. vol. june 18, 63; hon. must. out july 24, 63; capt. vol. byt. mar. 12, 65. "for g tl. and mer. ser. dur. the war"; 14. vet. res. corps feb. 11, 65, acc. may 16, 65; hon. must. out aug. 13, 66; 24, 9 inf. july 20, 65; acc. aug. 13, 66; 14, feb. 14, 68; trs. (5) art. apr. 3, 69; maj. j. a. aug. 18, 73, acc. aug. 19, 73; respl. com. of 1 lt. 1 art. aug. 19, 73; prof. of law at M. A. july 29, 74 [act june 23, 74], to aug. 28, 78.

QUARTERMASTER'S DEPARTMENT.

OUARTERMASTER GENERAL.

With rank of Brigadier General.

MEIGS, MONTGOMERY C., May 15, 64. [Born in Ga.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 32; 2 lt. 1 art. july 1, 36; resgd. july 31, 37; bvt. 2 lt. eng. ang. 1, 37, to rank from july 1, 36; 1 lt. july 7, 38; capt. mar. 3, 53; col. 11 inf. may 14, 61, acc. may 18, 61; vac. com. of capt. eng. may 18, 61; brig. gen. qm. gen. may 15, 61, acc. june 13, 61; maj. gen. bvt. july 5, 64; "for dis. and mer. ser. dur. the present war."

Assistant Quartermaster Generals.

With rank of Colonel.

- RUCKER, DANIEL H., July 28, 66. [Born in N. J.; apptd. from Mich.]— 2 lt. 1 drag. oct. 13, 37, acc. oct. 31, 37; 1 lt. oct. 8, 44; capt. feb. 7, 47; maj. bvt. feb. 23, 47; ''for gal. and mer. cond. in the battles of Buena Vista''; trs. to capt. a. qm. aug. 23, 49; maj. 6 cav. may 14, 61, declined; maj. qm. aug. 3, 61; col. a. a. d. c. sept. 28, 61, acc. oct. 1. 61; brigg gen, vol. may 23, 63, acc. may 26, 63; rac, one of col. a. a. d. c. may 26, 63; 1. col. brt., col. brt., and brigg gen, bvt. july 5, 64, "for dil, and faith, ser. dur, the war"; maj, gen, bvt., mar, 13, 65, "for faith, and mer, ser. dur, the war"; col. a. q. d. c. may 26, 63; bvt. mar, 13, 65, "for faith, and mer, ser. dur, the war"; col. a. qm. gen. july 28, 66, acc. sept. 28, 66; must. out of vol. ser. sept. 1, 66.

INGALLS, RUFUS, July 29, 66. [Born in Me.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 39; bvt. 2 lt. rif. july 1, 43; 2 lt. 1 drag. mar. 17, 45; 1 lt. bvt. feb. 4, 47, "for gal. and mer. cond. in the conflicts of Embudo and Taos, N. M."; 1 lt. 1 drag. feb. 16, 47; capt. a. qm. jan. 12, 48, acc. jan. 20, 48; capt. 1 drag. oct. 22, 54; vac. com. of capt. 1 drag. oct. 22, 54; lt. col. a. a. d. c. sept. 28, 61, acc. oct. 1, 61; maj. qm. jan. 12, 62; brig. gen. vol. may 23, 63, acc. may 26, 63; vac. com. of lt. col. a. a. d. c. may 26, 63; lt. col. bvt., col. bvt., and brig. gen. bvt. july 6, 64, "for mer. and dis. ser. dur. the war"; maj. gen. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith, and mer. ser. dur. the war"; maj. gen. vol. bvt. mar. 13, 55, "for faith, and mer. ser. dur. the war"; lt. col. d. qm. gen. july 28, 66, acc. nov. 8, 66; col. a. om. gen. july 29, 66; wast. out for vol. ser. seut. 1, 66; 66: col. a. am. gen. july 29, 66; must. out of vol. ser. sept. 1, 66.

EASTON, LANGDON C., June 6, 72. [Born in Mo.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 33; 24; 6 inf, july 1, 38; 14; july 23, 39; capt.a. qu. mar. 3, 47, acc. mar. 25, 47; vac. com. of 14; 6 inf, apr 15, 51; maj, qm, aug. 3, 61; 14; col. qm, [act july 17, 62] nov. 13, 63, to aug. 1, 64; col. qm, [act july 4, 64] aug. 2, 64; 14; col. bvt., col. bvt., and brig. gen. bvt. sept. 17, 64; "for dis, and imp, ser, in the qm, dept. in the campaign terminating in the capture of Athanta, 6a."; naj, gen. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for mer. ser, dur. the war"; 14; col. d. qm, gen. july 29, 66; relieved as col. qm. [act july 4, 64] jan. 1, 67; col. a. qm, gen. june 6, 72 67; col. a. qm. gen. june 6, 72.

VAN VLIET, STEWART, June 6, 72. [Born in N. V.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 36; 2 lt. 3 art. july 1, 40; 1 lt. nov. 19, 43; reg1, qm. mar. 28, 47, to june 4, 47; capt. a. qm. june 4, 47, acc. june 7, 47; capt. 3 art. der. 24, 53; vac. com. of capt. 3 art. der. 24, 53; maj. qm. aug. 3, 61; brig. gen. vol. sept. 23, 61, acc. sept. 23, 61; exp. by con. lin. july 17, 62; lt. col. bvt., col. bvt., and brig. gen. bvt. oct. 28, 64, "for faith, and mer. ser. dur. the war"; maj. gen. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "tor faith, and dis. ser. in the qm. dept. dur. the war"; brig. gen. vol. mar. 13, 65, acc. mar. 13, 65; maj. gen. vol. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith, and mer. ser. dur. the war"; lt. col. d. qm. gen. july 29, 66; must. out of vol. ser. sept. 1, 66; col. a. qm. gen. june 6, 72.

DEPUTY QUARTERMASTER GENERALS.

With rank of Lieutenant Colonel.

- HOLABIRD, SAMUEL B., July 29, 66. [Born in Conn.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 45; bvt. 2 lt. 1 inf. july 1, 49; 2 lt. june 10, 50; regfl. qu., july 1, 52; to may 31, 58; 1 lt. may 31, 55; capt. a. qu., may 13, 61, acc. may 16, 61; zec. com. of 1 lt. 1 inf. may 14, 61; maj. a. a. d. e. july 2, 62, acc. july 6, 62; col. a. a. d. e. july 11, 62, acc. july 14, 62; maj. bvt., lt. col. bvt., col. bvt., and brig. gen. bvt. mar. 13, 55, "for faith, and merg. ser. dur. the war"; must. out as col. a. a. d. c. may 31, 66; lt. col. d. qm. gen. july 29, 66, acc, dec, 4, 66,

DEPUTY QUARTERMASTER GENERALS-Continued.

TOMPKINS, CHARLES H., July 29, 66. [Born in Va.; apptd. from N.Y.]-

- Pvt. co. F. 1 drag, jan. 21, 56; corpl. oct. 17, 56; sergt. oct. 1, 59; dischol. jan. 10, 61; 2 lt. 2 cav. [5 cav.] mar. 23, 61, acc. mar. 30, 61; 1 lf. apr. 30, 61; regtl. qu. ang. 28, 61, to nov. 13, 61; capt. a, qm. nov. 13, 61, acc. nov. 13, 61; col. 1 Vt. cav. apr. 24, 62; vac com. of 14t. 5 cay, july 17, 62; *cespl*, vol. com, sept. 9–62, maj. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal, cond. at Fairfax C. H., Va., may 31, 61"; 1t. col. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for mer. ser, in the campuigns of Genls, Banks and McDowell in 1862 and 1663"; col. byt. mar. 13, 55, "for mer. ser. in the qm. dept. in 1863, 1864, 1865"; brig. gen. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith, and mer. ser. dur. the war"; lt. col. qm. [act july 17, 62] july 1, 65, to june 11, 66; col. qm. [act july 4, 64] june 13, 66; 1t. col. d. qm. gen. july 29, 66, acc. dec. 1, 66; relieved as col. qm. [act july 4, 64] jan. 1, 67.
- EKIN, JAMES A., July 29, 66. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Pa.]— 14t, 12 Pa. vol. apr. 25, 61; mast. out aug. 5, 61, paid to aug. 4, 61; capt. a. 99, vol. aug. 7. 61, acc. ang. 10, 61; capt. a. qm. U. S. A. mar. 13, 63, acc. apr. 14, 63; vac. com. of capt. a. qm. ser, in the qm. dept. dur. the war"; lt. col. d. qm. gen. july 29, 66, acc. dec. 3, 66: relieved as col. qm. [act july 4, 64] jan. 1, 67.
- SAXTON, RUFUS, June 6, 72. [Born in Mass.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 45; byt. 21t, 3 art, july 1, 49; 24t, 4 art, sept. 12, 50; 14t, mar. 2, 55; capt. a, qm. may 13, 61, acc, may 18, 61; ruc, com, of 14t, 4 art, july 3, 61; brig, gen. yol, apr. 15, 62. ace, apr. 21, 62; maj. gen. vol. byt. jan. 12, 65; maj. byt., it col. byt. and col. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith, and mer. ser, dur, the war"; brig, gen. byt. apr. 9, 65, "for faith, and mer. ser, dur, the war"; brig, gen. byt. apr. 9, 65, "for faith, and mer. june 6, 72.
- BINGHAM, JUDSON D., Mar. 3, 75. [Born in N. Y.: apptd. from M. Λ.]— Cadet july 1, 50; 2 lt. 2 art. july 1, 54; 1 lt. mar. 12, 56; capt. a. qm. may 13, 61, acc. may 15, 61; 10, col. qm. [act july 17, 62] jan. 1, 63; *rac*, com, of 1 lt. 2 art. ang. 1, 63; *relieved* as lt. col. qu. [act july 17, 62] aug. 1, 64; col. qu. [act july 4, 64] aug. 2, 64; maj. byt., lt. col. byt., and col. byt. mar. 13, 65, " for faith, and mer. ser. dur. the war "; brig. gen. byt. apr. 9, 65, " for faith, and mer. ser, in the tield dur, the war "; maj. qu. july 29,66; *relieved* as col. qu. [act july 4, 64] jan. 1, 67; lt. col. d. qu. gen. mar. 3, 75.
- PERRY, A LEN ANDER J., Mar. 3, 75. [Form in Conn.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 47; byt. 24t. 2 art. july 1, 51; 24t. july 1, 52; 14t. sept. 27, 54; capt. a, qm. may 17, 61, acc. june 4, 61; vac. com. of 14t. 2 art. nov. 12, 61; 4. col. qm. [act july 17, 62] aug.
- 20, 62, to join 15, 63; col. qm, [act july 4, 64] ang, 2, 64; ang), byt, ft col. put, interproject, [act july 4, 64] ang, 2, 64; ang), byt, ft col. byt, and col. byt, and and mer, see, due, the war "; brig, gen, byt, mar, 13, 65, " for faith, and mer, see, due, the war "; naj, qm, july 29, 66; *relieved* as col. qm, [act july 4, 64] jan, 1, 67; ft, col. d. qm, gen, mar, 3, 75.
- HODGES, HENRY C., May 29, 76. [Born in Yt.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 47; byt. 24t, 4 inf. july 1, 51; 24t, aug. 1, 52; 14t, may 23, 55; regtl. adj't oct. 1, 55; to june 25, 61; capt, a, qn, may 17, 61, acc, june 27, 61; rec. com, of 14t, 4 inf. may 14, 61, but served as such to june 27, 61; 1t, col, qu, [act july 17, 62] jun. 1, 63, to feb. 14, 63; 4t, col, qn, [act july 17, 62] aug. 1, 63, to noy, 13, 63; maj, byt, and 4t, col, byt, mar. 13, 65, "for faith, and mer. ser. dur. the war"; maj. qm. july 29, 66; lt. col. d. qm. gen. may 29, 76.
- CHANDLER, JOHN G., Mar. 4, 79. [Born in Mass.; apptd. from M. A.]-
- Cadet sept. 1, 48; byt. 2 lt. 3 art. july 1, 53; 2 lt. dec. 24, 53; 1 lt. may 31, 56; regtl. adj't dec. 27, 57, to may 17, 61; capt. a. qm. may 17, 61, acc. june 14, 61; rac, com. of 1 lt. 3 art. nov. 1, 61; lt. col. qm. [act july 17, 62] jan. 1, 63; maj. byt., lt. col. byt., and col. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith and mer, ser, dur, the war"; "relieved as It. col. qm. [act july 17, 62] aug. 1, 65; maj. qm. jau. 18, 67, acc, apr. 13, 67; vac, com, of capt. a. qm. apr. 13, 67; lt. col. d. qm. gen. mar. 4, 79.

QUARTERMASTERS.

With rank of Major.

- MYERS, WHLLIAM, Jan. 18, 67. [Born in Pa. : apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 48 : byt. 2 lt. 5 inf. july 1, 52 : 2 lt. 4 inf. mar. 27, 54 : 2 lt. 9 inf. mar. 3, 55 : 1 lt. may 1, 57; capt. a. qm. may 17, 61, acc. june 27, 61; vac. com. of 1 lt. 9 inf. june 25, 61; col.
 - a. a. d. c. june 14, 62, acc. june 19, 62; brig. gen. vol. bvi. mar. 13, 65, "for f itle and mer, ser, dur, the war"; maj. bvt., lt. col. bvi., col. bvi., and brig. gen. bvi. mar. 13, 65, "for faith, and mer, ser, dur, the war"; *must. out* as col. a. a. d. c. may 31, 65; maj. on, june 6, 72; rac. com. of capt. a. qm. june 6, 72; maj. qm. jan. 18, 67, with 1 ay f. om june 6, 72, only [act june 20, 74].

QUARTERMASTERS-Continued.

- SAWTELLE, CHARLES G., Jan. 18, 67. [Born in Me.; apptd. from M. A.]-TELLE, CHARLES G., Jan. 18, 67. [Born in Mc; approx. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 50; bvt. 2 lt. 2 inf, july 1, 54; 2 lt. 6 inf. mar, 3, 55; regtl. qu. feb. 15, 57, to june 19, 61; 1 lt. june 5, 60; capt. a. qm. may 17, 61, acc. june 19, 61; *rac.* com. of 1 lt. 6 inf. may 17, 61, but served as such to june 19, 61; lt. col. qm. [act july 17, 62] ang, 20, 62, to oct. 4, 62; lt. col. qm. [act july 17, 62] nov. 12, 62; to feb. 15, 64; lt. col. qm. [act july 17, 62] may 27, 64; maj, bvt., lt. col. byt., and col. byt. mar, 13, 65, "for faith, and mer, ser. dur. the war": brig. gen. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith, and ner. set. in the qu. dept. dur. the war": relieved as II. col. qu. [act july 17, 62] may 24, 65; col. qu. [act july 4, 64] may 25, 65, to jan. 1, 67; maj. qu. jan. 18, 67, acc. mar. 26, 67; rac. com. of capt. a. qu. mar. 26, 67.
- DANA, JAMES J., Jan. 18, 67. [Born in Mass.; apptd. from N. Y.]— 2 lt. 4 art. june 18, 55, acc. june 27, 55; 1 lt. jun. 16, 57; regtl. qm. feb. 20, 61, to aug. 24, 61; capt. a. qm. aug. 3, 61, acc. aug. 26, 61; *vac.* com. of 1 lt. 4 art. sept. 3, 61; lt. col. qm. [act. july 17, 62] jan. 1, 63, to july 7, 63; col. qm. [act. july 4, 64] aug. 2, 64; unij. by t., lt. col. byt., and col. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith, and mer. ser. dur. the war"; buig. gen. byt. mar. 12, 65; 0 for 65th, and mer. gen. fab. and mer. ser. dur. the war"; buig. gen. byt. mar.
- 13, 65, ¹⁴ for faith, and mer. ser. in the qm. dept. dur. the war"; *relieved* as col. qm. [act july 4, 64] jan. 1, 67; maj. qm. jan. 18, 67, acc. mar. 18, 67; *vac.* com. of capt. a. qm. mar. 18, 67. BATCHELDER, RICHARD N., Jan. 18, 67. [Born in N. H.; apptd. from N. H.]-1 lt. 1 N. II. vol. may 2, 61; must. out ang. 9, 61; capt. a. qm. vol. ang. 3, 61, acc. ang. 27,
- jan. 18, 67, acc. mar. 23, 67; vac. com. of capt. a. qm. mar. 23, 67.
- LUDINGTON, MARSHALL L, Jan. 18, 67. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Pa.]— Capt. a. qm. vol. oct 20, 62, acc. nov. 10, 62; maj. qm. [act.july 4, 64] aug. 2, 64, to oct. 23, 64; col. qm. [act july 4, 64] oct. 24, 64; maj. vol. bvt., lt. col. vol. bvt., and col. vol. bvt. mar. 33, 65, "for faith, and mer. ser. dur, the war", brig, gen. vol. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith, and mer. ser. dur, the war", brig, gen. vol. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith, and mer. ser. in the qui, dept. dur, the war": *relieved* as col. qui. [act july 4, 64] jan. 1, 67; maj. qui, jan. 18, 67, acc. mar. 14, 67; *rec.* com, of capt. a. qui, vol. mar. 14, 67; lt. col. bvt. mar. 2, 67, "for faith, and mer, ser, in the qm. dept. dur. the war."
- MOORE, JAMES M., June 13, 67. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Pa.]- Pvt. co. G, 19 Pa. vol. apr. 18, 61; must. out ang. 8, 61; 21t. 90 Pa. vol. feb. 21, 62; 11t. mar.
 10, 62; resgd. apr. 7, 63; capt. a. qm. vol. mar. 11, 63, acc. apr. 8, 63; capt. a. qm. july 2, 64, acc.
 july 27, 64; we. com. of capt. a. qm. vol. july 27, 64; maj. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith. and
 mer. ser. dur. the war."; 1t. col. bvt. nov. 24, 65, "for faith. and mer. ser."; maj. qm. june 13, 67, acc. ang. 2, 67; vac. com. of capt. a. qm. aug. 2, 67.
- CARD, BENJAMIN C., June 6, 72. [Born in R. I.; apptd. from Kans.]— 1 lt. 12 inf. sept. 27, 61, acc. oct. 1, 61; capt. a. qm. sept. 27, 61; acc. oct. 1, 61; *reseal.* com. of 1 It 12 inf, june 11, 64; col. qm. [act july 4, 64] ang. 2, 64; maj. bvt., lt. col. bvt., and col. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith and mer. ser. dnr. the war"; brig. gen. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith and mer. ser. in the qm. dept. dur. the war"; *relieved* as col. qm. (act july 4, 64) jan. 1, 67; maj. qm. jane 6, 72.
- REYNOLDS, CHARLES A., Mar. 3, 75. [Born in Md. ; apptd. from Md.]-Pvt. co. F, D. C. and Md. batt. vols. july 23, 47; dischigd. feb. 6, 48; 2 lt. 9 inf. mar. 3, 55, acc.
 - mar. 27, 55; 1 lt. feb. 20, 61; capt. a. qm. nov. 18, 61, acc. nov. 23, 61; vac. com. of 1 lt. 9 inf. dec. 31, 62; lt. col. qm. [act july 17, 62] nov. 1, 62, to apr. 22, 63; maj. bvt. and lt. col. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. dur. the war"; maj. qm. mar. 3, 75.
- DANDY, GEORGE B., Mar. 3, 75. [Born in Ga.: apptd. from Army.]— Pvt. co. A, 1 art. nov 14, 54; sergt. jan. 15, 55; 1 sergt. mar. 1, 55; 2 lt. 3 art. feb. 21, 57, acc. mar. 23, 57; 1 lt. mar. 3, 61; capt. a. qm. mar. 24, 62, acc. mar. 27, 62; col. 100 N. Y. vol. aug. 29, 62; maj. lvt. sept. 6, 63; "for gal. and mer. ser. in the siege of Fort Wagner, S. C."; voc. com. 11, 3 art. feb. 8, 64; lt. col. bvt. aug. 14, 64, "for gal. and mer. ser. in action at Deep Bottom, Va."; col. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the field dur. the war"; brig. gen. vol. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the field dur. the war"; brig. gen. vol. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. at Fort Gregg, Va."; must. out of vol. ser. aug. 28, 65; maj. qm. mar. 3, 75.
- WEEKS, GEORGE H., May 29, 76. [Born in N. H.; apptd. frem M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 53; bvt. 2 lt. 1 art. july 1, 57; 2 lt. 4 art. feb. 10, 59; 1 lt. may 14, 61; regtl. qm. aug. 24, 61, to dec. 30, 61; regtl. adj't dec. 30, 61, to apr. 1, 62; capt. a. qm. mar. 24, 62, ace, apr. 1, 62; vac. com. 1 lt. 4 art. ang. 11, 63; maj. bvt. and lt. col. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith, and mer, ser, in the qm. dept. dnr. the war"; maj. qm. may 29, 76.

QUARTERMASTERS-Continued.

- HUGHES, WILLIAM B., May 29, 76. [Born in Tenn.: apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 52; bvt. 2 lt. 4 inf. july 1, 56; 2 lt. 9 inf. sent. 30, 56; 1 lt. apr. 1, 61; 1 lt. 18 inf. may 14, 61, declined; capt. 18 inf. oct. 24, 61, declined; capt. a. gm. feb. 19, 63, acc. apr. 25, 63; vac. com. 1 lt. 9 inf. dec. 31, 62, but served as such to apr. 25, 63; maj. qm. may 29, 76,
- ROBINSON, AUGUSTUS G., Mar. 4, 79. [Born in Me.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 53; bxt. 21, 4 art. july 1, 57; 21, 3 art. oct. 21, 58; 11, may 14, 61; capt. a. Cadet july 1, 53; bxt. 21, 4 art. july 1, 57; 21, 3 art. oct. 21, 58; 11, may 14, 61; capt. a. qm. feb. 19, 63; acc. apr. 18, 63; respl. com. 1 lt. 3 art. june 18, 64; maj. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith, and mer. ser. dur. the war"; maj. qm. mar. 4, 79.
- BAKER, EDWARD D., Apr. 21, 79. [Born in III.; apptd. from Oreg.]— 2 lt. 1 cav. [4 cav.] may 8, 61, acc. may 11, 61; 1 lt. 4 cav. july 17, 62; regtl. adj't dec. -62, to aug. -, 63; capt. a. qm. mar. 13, 63, acc. apr. 1, 63, resyd. com. 1 lt. 4 cav. oct. 12, 64; maj. qm. apr. 21, 79.
- LEE, JAMES G. C., July 2, 79. [Born in Canada; apptd. from Ohio.]-Capt. a. qu., vol. nov. 26, 62, aec. jan. 3, 63; capt. a. qu., july 2, 64, acc. july 27, 64; vac. com. of capt. a. qu., vol. july 27, 64; maj. bvt. july 31, 65, "for faith, and mer. ser. dur. the war"; lt. col. bvt. july 31, 65, "for faith, and mer. ser."; maj. qm. july 2, 79.

ASSISTANT QUARTERMASTERS.

With rank of Captain.

- GILLISS, JAMES, Aug. 10, 64. [Born in D. C.; apptd. from D. C.]— 21t. 5 art. may 14, 61, acc. july 24, 61; 14t. bet. july 1, 62, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Malvern Hill, Va."; 14t. 5 art. apr. 27, 63; capt. byt. may 12, 64, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Sportsylvanja C. H., Va."; capt. a. qm. ang. 10, 64, acc. ang. 17, 64; resgd. com. of I lt. 5 art. dec. 23, 70.
- ECKERSON, THEODORE J., Mar. 21, 65. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from Wash. T.]-EASON, THEOROGIE J., Mar. 21, 65. (port in N. Y.; apput, from Wash, 1.)— Pvt. co. 1, 3 inf. dec. 20, 38; 4rs. to co. C, oct. 2, 41; disselfed, dec. 20, 43; pvt. co. C, 3 inf. dec. 25, 43; discloyd, jan. 21, 48; pvt. co. H. 1 art, sept. 15, 48; trs. to co. L, sept. 28, 48; corpl. oct. 1, 49; sergt, feb. 7, 59; 1 sergt, oct. 7, 51; sergt, oct. 17, 52; discloyd, feb. 17, 53; m. sk. ord. dept. sept. 16, 53, acc. oct. 31, 53; cept. a, qu. mar. 24, 65, acc. may 10, 65; nac, as m. sk. ord. dept. sept. 16, 53, emaj. bvt. mar. 21, 65, "for faith, and mer. ser, in the qm. dept.
- MCGONNIGLE, ANDREW J., May 19, 65. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from N. Y.]— Capt. a qm. vol. mar. 18, 64, acc. apr. 13, 64; maj. vol. bvt. and It. col. vol. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith, and mer. ser. in the qm. dept. dur. the war"; capt. a. qm. mvy 19, 65, acc. may 26, 65; we, com. of capt. a. qm. vol. may 26, 65; maj. bvt. mar. 2, 67, "for gallantry in the battles of Winchester, Fisher's Hill, and Cedar Creek, Va."; It. col. bvt. mar. 2, 67, "for gallantry in the battles of Five Forks, Stilor's Creek, and Appointatox C. H., Va."; col. byt. feb. 11, 69, "for mer. ser. dur. the Indian campaign."
- GRIMES, EDWARD B., May 26, 65. [Born in Md.; apptd. from Kans.]— Capt. a. qm. vol. sept. 29, 62, acc. nov. 19, 62; capt. a. qm. may 26, 65, acc. june 7, 65; rac. com. of capt. a. qm. vol. june 7, 65; maj. bvt. may 26, 65, ``for faith, and mer. ser. in the qm. dept. during the war.''
- SCULLY, JAMES W., Sept. 27, 65. [Born in Ireland; apptd. from Tenn.]-Pvt. co. K, 1 art. sept. 20, 56; corpl. sept. 21, 58; sergt. jan. 2, 60; dischad. sept. 20, 61; 11t. 10 Tenn. vol. aug. 27, 62; lt. col. 10 Tenn. vol. aug. 21, 63; col. june 6, 64; must. out may 25, 65; capt. a. qu. vol. seq. 25, 65; acc. oct. 2, 65; capt. a. qu. sept. 27, 65, c. 65; agat. a. qu. sept. 27, 65, acc. oct. 2, 65; capt. a. qu. sept. 27, 65, core and the battle of Mill Springs, Ky, "; it. col. bvt. sept. 27, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Mills," Tenn."; col. bvt. sept. 27, 65, "for gal. and mer. sen in the battle of Shiloh, Tenn."; col. bvt. sept. 27, 65, "for gal. and mer. sen in the battle of Mills, Tenn."; col. bvt. sept. 27, 65, "for gal. and mer. sen in the battle of Mills, Tenn."; col. bvt. sept. 27, 65, "for gal. and mer. sen in the battle of Mills, Tenn."; col. bvt. sept. 27, 65, "for gal. and mer. sen in the battle of Mills, Tenn."; col. bvt. sept. 27, 65, "for gal. and mer. sen in the battle of Mills, Tenn."; col. bvt. sept. 27, 65, "for gal. and mer. sen in the battle of Mills, Tenn."; col. bvt. sept. 27, 65, "for gal. and mer. sen in the battle of Mills, Tenn."; col. bvt. sept. 27, 65, "for gal. and mer. sen in the battle of Mills, Tenn."; col. bvt. sept. 27, 65, "for gal. and mer. sen in the battle of Mills, Tenn."; col. bvt. sept. 27, 65, "for gal. and mer. sen in the battle of Mills, Tenn."; col. bvt. sept. 27, 65, "for gal. and mer. sen in the battle of Mills, Tenn."; col. bvt. sept. 27, 65, "for gal. and mer. sen in the battle of Mills, Tenn."; col. bvt. sept. 27, 65, "for gal. and mer. sen in the battle of Mills, Tenn."; col. bvt. sept. 27, 65, "for gal. and mer. sen in the battle of Mills, Tenn."; col. bvt. sept. 27, 65, "for gal. and mer. sen in the battle of Mills, Tenn."; col. bvt. sept. 27, 65, "for gal. and mer. sen in the battle of Mills, Tenn."; col. bvt. sept. 27, 65, "for gal. and mer. sen in the battle of Mills, Tenn."; col. bvt. sept. 27, 65, "for gal. and mer. sen in the battle of Mills, Tenn."; col. bvt. sept. 27, 65, "for gal. and mer. sen in the battle of Mills, Tenn."; col. bvt. sept. 27, 65, "for gal. and mer. sen in the battle of Mills, tenn."; col. bvt. sept. 27, 65, "for gal. and mer. sen in the battle of Mills, tenn."; col. bvt. sepNashville, Tenn.
- HOWELL, WILLIAM T., Oct. 26, 65. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Pa.]-
 - Capt. a. qm. vol. aug. 5, 63, ace. aug. 10, 63: lt. col. vol. bvt. may 11, 65, "for long and faith, ser. dur. the war"; capt. a. qm. oct. 23, 65; acc. oct. 28, 65; vac. com. of capt. a. qm. vol. oct. 28, 65; maj. bvt. mar. 2, 67, "for faith, and mer. ser. in the qm. dept. dur. the war.'

Assistant Quartermasters-Continued.

- FOSTER, CHARLES W., Nov. 4, 65. [Born in Mass.; apptd. from N. H.]— Pvt. co. A, eng. june 1, 46; artf. aug. 1, 48; corpl. mar. 1, 49; serget.— 1993. Appl. 2019. Appl. Appl. 2019. Appl. Appl. 2019. Appl. Appl. 2019. Appl .__, 50; dischad. june 1, 51; pvt. co. A, eng. aug. 26, 51; sergt. sept. 1, 51; disclad. aug. 26, 56; capt. a. a. g. pune 1, or; pvr. co. A, eng. ang. 26, or; sergt. sept. 1, or; auseugt. ang. 26, bi; capl. a. a. g. vol. sept. 19, 61, acc. sept. 24, 61; maj. a. a. g. vol. ang. 24, 63, acc. ang. 24, 63; et al. a. of expt. a. a. g. vol. ang. 24, 63; et al. ang. vol. ang. 24, 63, acc. ang. 24, 64, "for faith, and mer. ser. during the war"; capl. a. qm. nov. 4, 65, acc. nov. 8, 65; maj. bvt. R. col. bvt., and col. bvt. nov. 4, 65, "for faith, and mer. ser. in the adj"t gen's dept. dur, the war"; must. out of vol. ser. sept. 1, 67.
- BRADLEY, GEORGE W., Nov. 4, 65. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from N. Y.]— Capt. a. qm. vol. nov. 26, 62, acc. dec. 4, 62; lt. col. qm. [act july 17, 62] sept. 17, 64, to nov. 6, 64; col. qm. [act july 4, 64] nov. 7, 64; maj. vol. byt., lt. col. vol. byt., and col. vol. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith, and mer. ser. dur. the war"; capf. a. qm. nov. 4, 65, ace, nov. 14, 65; vac. com. of capt. a. qm. vol. nov. 14, 65; relieved as col. qm.]act july 4, 64] oct. 18, 66.
- BELCHER, JOHN H., June 16, 66. [Born in Mass.; apptd. from Cal.]-Capt. a. qm. vol. oct. 14, 64, acc. nov. 4, 64; maj. vol. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith. ser. dm. the war"; capt. a. qm. june 16, 66, acc. aug. 2, 66; cac. com. of capt. a. qm. vol. aug. 2, 66; maj. bvt. mar. 2, 67, "for mer. ser. in the qm. dept. during the war."
- KIRK, EZRA B., July 28, 66. [Born in Ohio; apptd. from Ohio.]-Pvt. co. 11, 71 N. Y. s. m. apr. 20, 61; must. out july 30, 61; 1 lt. 14 Ohio vol. aug. 15, 61; dischold, Jeb. 9, 64; capt. a. qm. vol. dec. 5, 63, acc. Jeb. 9, 64; maj. vol. bvt. aug. 19, 65, '' for faith, and mer. ser.''; H. col. vol. bvt. aug. 19, 65, '' for faith, and mer. ser. in the qm. dept. and in the field"; capt. a. qm. july 28, 66, acc. dcc. 13, 66; rac. com. of capf. a. qm. vol. dec. 13, 66.
- KIMBALL, AMOS S., Nov. 19, 66. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from N. Y.]—
 14, 98 N. Y. vol. nov. 27, 61; dischyd. may 1, 64; capt. a. qm. vol. apr. 7, 64, acc. may 1, 64; maj. vol. bvt. feb. 1, 66, "for faith. and eff. ser. in the qm. dept."; capt. a. qm. nov. 19, 66, acc. dec. 7, 66; vac. com. of capt. a. qm. vol. dec. 7, 66.
- ROCKWELL, ALMON F., Jan. 18, 67. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from N. Y.]— 1lt. a. d. c. vol. oct. 26, 61, to sept. 17, 63 [act mar. 3, 79]; capt. a. a. g. vol. sept. 15, 63, acc. sept. 18, 63; maj. a. a. g. vol. feb. 23, 65, acc. mar. 24, 65; lt. col. vol. bvt. mar. 13, 65; "for eff and mer. ser."; capt. a. qm, jan. 18, 67, acc. apr. 1, 67; maj. bvt. and lt. col. bvt. mar. 2, 67, "for faith. and mer. ser. dur. the war"; *must. out* of vol. ser. apr. 1, 67.

SMITH, GILBERT C., Jan. 18, 67. [Born in N. Y.; appid. from Cal.]— 1 sergt. co. D. 5 Cal. vol. sept. 17, 61; dischgd. dec. 27, 61; 2 lf. 5 Cal. vol. dec. 27, 61; dischgd. july 24, 64; capt. a. qm. vol. may 18, 64, acc. july 25, 64; 2 lt. 9 inf. may 12, 66, acc. oct. 15, 66; must. out of vol. ser. nov. 3, 66; capt. a. qm. jan. 18, 67, acc. may 13, 67; 1 lt. 9 inf. sept. 10, 67; resgd. com. of 1 lt. 9 inf. feb. 14, 68.

- HUNT, THOMAS B., Jan. 18, 67. [Born in Canada; apptd. from Minn.]— 1 lt. r. qm. 4 Minn. vol. dec. 23, 61; capt. a. qm. vol. nov. 26, 62, nec. apr. 25, 63; maj. vol. bvt. and R. col. vol. bvt. july 28, 65, "for mer. ser. in his dept."; capt. a. qm. jan. 18, 67, acc. apr. 2, 67; maj. bvt. and R. col. bvt. mar. 2, 67, "for faill, and mer. ser. in the qm. dept. dur. the war"; vac. com. of capt. a. qm. vol. apr. 2, 67; out of ser. feb. 26, 74; re-apptd. june 12, 79, with former rank and date of com. [act mar. 3, 79], acc. june 16, 79.
- STRANG, EDWARD J., Jan. 18, 67. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from N. Y.]-1 It. 15 N. Y. vol. june 17, 61; dischard apr. 14, 63; capt. a. (m, vol. upr. 13, 63, acc. apr. 15, 63; 1t. col. vol. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for long and faith. ser. dur. the war"; capt. a. <math>(m, z), jan. 18, 67, acc. mar. 29, 67; wac. com. of capt. a. (m, vol. mar. 29, 67; mai, byt. mar. 2, 67; vac. com. of capt. a. <math>(m, vol. mar. 29, 67; mai, byt. mar. 2, 67, "for faith. and mer. ser. in his dept. dur. the war"; lt. col. byt. mar. 2, 67, "forfaith. and mer. ser. dur. the war.'
- FUREY, JOHN V., Jan. 18, 67. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from N. Y.]-Pyt. co. C. 84 N. Y. vol. apr. 18, 61; *must. out* sept. 28, 62; capt. a. qm. vol. apr. 7, 64, acc. may 1, 64; maj. vol. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for mer. ser. in the qm. dept. dur. the war"; capt. a. qm. jan. 18, 67, acc. mar. 25, 67; *vac.* com. of capt. a. qm. vol. mar. 25, 67.
- FORSYTH, LEWIS C., Mar. 11, 67. [Born in Mich.; apptd. from D. C.]—
 Capt. a. qm. vol. june 11, 62, acc. june 14, 62; must. out nov. 3, 66; capt. a. qm. mar. 11, 67, acc. mar. 28, 67; maj. bvt. mar. 11, 67, "for faith. and mer. ser. dur. the war."

Assistant Quartermasters-Continued.

HOYT, CHARLES H., Mar. 22, 67. [Born in Conn.; apptd. from N. Y.]-

- T, CHARLES R., Mar. 22, 64. [Born in Conn.; appfd. from N. 1.]— 1R, 37, N. Y. vol. june 8, 61; disched june 8, 62; capt. a. qu. vol. may 12, 62, acc. june 9, 62; col. qm. [act july 4, 64] ang. 2, 64; maj. vol. bvt., lt. col. vol. bvt., and col. vol. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith, and mer. ser. dur. the war"; brig. gen. vol. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for mer. ser. in the Northern dept."; relieved as col. qm. [act july 4, 64] dec. 31, 66; capt. a. qm. mar. 22, 67, acc. apr. 12, 67; vac. com. of capt. a. qm. vol. apr. 12, 67.
- BLUNT, ASA P., Mar. 28, 67. [Born in Vt.; apptd. from Vt.]— 14, 3 Vt. vol. july 16, 61; must. out aug. 31, 61; 4t. col. 6 Vt. vol. oct. 15, 61; must. out sept. 18, 62; col. 12 Vt. vol. oct. 4, 62; must. out july 14, 63; capt. a. qu. vol. feb. 29, 64. acc. apr. 1, 64: maj. vol. byt., lt. col. vol. byt., and col. vol. byt. jane 9, 65, "for faith, and acc, apr. 4, 64; may, vol. byt., fr. col. vol. byt., and col. vol. byt., and g, g, g, g, for faith, and mer, sec, g; brig, gen, vol. byt. mar, 13, 66; "for faith, and mer, ser,"; col. qm, [act july 4, 64] july 31, 66; to jan, 1, 67; capt, a, qm, mar, 28, 67, acc, apr. 9, 67; rac, com, of capt, a, qm, vol. apr. 9, 67; maj, byt. mar, 28, 67; "for gal, and mer, ser, in the battle of Lee's Mill apr. 16, 62"; h. col. byt. mar, 28, 67; "for gal, and mer, ser, in the battle of Savage Station, Va."; col. byt. mar, 28, 67, "for mer, ser, dur, the war."

june 26, 65, acc. june 26, 65; must. out of vol. ser. aug. 25, 65; regtl. qm. 2 art. may 1, 67, to apr. 28, 75; capt. a. qm. apr. 24, 75, acc. apr. 28, 75; resed. com. of 1 lt. 2 art. apr. 28, 75.

MARSHALL, JAMES M., Apr. 24, 75. [Born in III.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 61: 24t, 13 inf. june 23, 65: 14t, june 23, 65: qm. 3 batt. jan, 1, 66, to sept. 21, 66: trs. to 31 inf. sept. 21, 66: regtl. qm. dec. 28, 65, to mar. 31, 67: regtl. adj't mar. 31, [67] to may 15, 69; trs. to 22 inf. may 15, 69; trs. to 4 art. dec. 15, 70; capt. a. qm. apr. 24, 75, acc. apr. 28, 75; respl. com. of 1 ht. 4 art. apr. 28, 75.

ATWOOD, EDWIN B., Apr. 24, 75. [Born in Ohio; apptd. from Ohio.]— Sergt. maj. 41 Ohio vol. sept. 19, 61; dischad. jan. 20, 62; 2 lt. 41 Ohio vol. jan. 21, 62; 1 lt. oct. 31, 62; capt. may 1, 64; maj. vol. bvt. mar. 13, 65. "For val. and con. ser. dur. the war", must. out nov. 27, 65; 2 lt. 16 inf. may 11, 66, acc. may 16, 67; 1 lt. bvt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Murfreesboro', Tenn."; capt. bvt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Chickanauga, 6a."; maj. bvt. mov. 26. 57, erg. and mer. ser. in the battle of Chickanauga, 6a."; maj. bvt. mar. 2, 67, ¹¹ for gal, and mer, ser, in the battle of vinterkandige, teat, ¹¹ hal, over mar. 2, 67, ¹² for gal, and mer, ser, in the battle of Mission Ridge, Tean, ¹; trs. to 2 inf. apr. 17, 69; trs. to 6 inf. dec. 31, 70; tlt. 6 inf. mar. 1, 72; capt. a. qm. apr. 24, 75, acc. apr. 28, 75; respl. com. of 1 lt. 6 inf. apr. 28, 75.

SIMPSON, JOHN, July 17, 75. [Born in Ohio; appfd. from Ohio.]-Pyt. co, A, 5 Ohio cav, sept. 27, 62; *must.* out may 28, 65; 2 lt. 4 art. aug. 17, 67, acc, sept. 6, 67; 1 H. mar. 28, 73; regtl. qm. may 1, 73, to july 30, 75; capt. a. qm. july 17, 75, acc. july 30, 75; *resgd.* com. of 4 lt. 4 art. july 30, 75.

- CAMPBELL, LAFAYETTE E., May 29, 76. [Born in Ohio; apptd. from Ohio.]-Fyt. co. F. 3 Iowa cav. july 20, 62; *must. out* feb. 22, 65; 11: 3 U. S. yol. feb. 22, 65; *must. out* nov. 29, 65; 2 11: 15 inf. may 11, 66, acc. aug. 20, 66; trs. to 33 inf. sept. 21, 66; 1 lt. oct. 11, 68; unassd. may 3, 69; assd. to 22 inf. july 23, 69; capt. a. qm. may 29, 76, acc. june 28, 76; *respl.* com. of 1 lt. 22 inf. june 28, 76.
- HEINTZELMAN, CHARLES S., May 29, 76. [Born in Mich.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 63; 2 lt. 3 art. june 17, 67; 1 lt. apr. 20, 70; capt. a. qm. may 29, 76, acc, june 30, 76; resgd. com. of 1 lt. 3 art. june 30, 76.
- MILTIMORE, ALONZO E., June 23, 79. [Born in III.; apptd. from Wis.]— Pvt. co. E. 33 Wis, vol. ang, 21, 62; dischad, ang, 10, 63; pvt. 12 batty, Wis. I. art. jan. 5, 64; dischad, nov. 8, 64; 2 lt. 1 Wis, art. nov. 17, 64; must, out june 25, 65, paid to july 12, 65; 2 lt. 1 art. feb. 23, 66, acc, apr. 11, 66; 1 lt. july 28, 66; capt. a. qm. june 23, 79, acc. july 1, 79; resgd. com. of 1 lt. 1 art. july 1, 79.
- HUMPHIREY, CHARLES F., June 23, 79. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from Army.]— Pvt. co. E. 5 art. mar. 17, 63; corpl. nov. 9, 63; sergt. oct. 1, 64; 1 sergt. nov. 3, 65; 2 lt. 5 art. may 8, 66, acc. june 28, 66; frs. to 4 art. oct. 23, 66; 1 lt. may 21, 68; capt. a. qm. june 23, 79, acc. july 9, 79; resgd. com, of 1 lt. 4 art. july 9, 79.
- WILLIAMS, CHARLES W., June 30, 79. [Born in Ky.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 71; 24t. 18 inf. june 16, 75; capt. a. qm. june 30, 79, acc. july 14, 79; resgd. com. of 24t. 18 inf. july 14, 79.

Assistant Quartermasters-Continued.

WHEELER, DANHEL D., July 2, 79. [Born in Vf.; apptd. from Vt.]— 2 lt. 4 Vt. vol. sept. 21, 61; 1 lt. apr. 21, 62; capt. a. a. g. vol. june 30, 64, acc. sept. 22, 64; maj. vol. bvt. sept. 29, 64, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the campaign of 1864"; maj. a. g. vol. dec. 27, 64, acc. may 16, 65; lt. col. a. a. g. vol. [act july 17, 62] may 26, 65; col. vol. bvt. dec. 1, 65, "for faith and mer. ser."; *relieved* as lt. col. a. g. vol. june 11, 66; *must. out* oct. 19, 66; 2 lt. 1 art, may 11, 66; acc. oct. 31, 66; 1 lt. feb. 12, 67; capt. bvt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and p. acc. 20, 64; acc. and p. 65, acc. 20, 66; 1 lt. feb. 12, 67; capt. bvt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and p. acc. 20, 66; 2 lt. 1 art. may 11, 66; acc. 20, 66; 1 lt. feb. 12, 67; capt. bvt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and p. 65, "for faith and mer. ser."; acc. 20, 61, 10, 12, 67; capt. bvt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and p. 65, "for faith and for the second sec mer, ser, in the battles of Salem Heights and Cold Harbor, Va"; capt. a. qm. july 2, 79, acc. july 5, 79; resgd. com. of 1 lt. 1 art. jan. 13, 80.

GIBBS, EUGENE B., Mar. 23, 80. [Born in R. I.; apptd. from R. I.]-

Capt. 2 Cal. vol. sept. 17, 61; must. out may 6, 66, paid to may 9, 66; 2 lt. 8 inf. jan. 22, 67, acc. mar. 27, 67; 1 H. feb. 18, 69; unassd. may 3, 69; assd. to 6 inf. jan. 1, 71; capt. a. qm. mar. 23, 80, acc. mar. 30, 80; resgd. com. of 1 It. 6 inf. mar. 30, 80.

MILITARY STOREKEEPERS.

With rank of Captain.

- POTTER, REUBEN M., July 28, 66. [Born in N. J.; apptd. from Texas.]-M. sk. qm. dept. mar. 23, 48, acc. apr. 1, 48; capt. july 28, 66 [act july 28, 66].
- ALLIGOOD, CHARLES A., July 28, 66. [Born in Pa.; appfd. from Pa.]-M. sk. ord. dept. mar. 27, 61, acc. apr. 9, 61; m. sk. qin. dept. sept. 19, 61, acc. sept. 27, 61; vae. as m. sk. ord. dept. sept. 27, 61; capt. july 28, 66 [act july 28, 66].
- RODGERS, JOHN F., July 28, 66. [Born in Conn.; apptd. from N. Y.]-M. sk. qm. depf. july 21, 62, acc. aug. 2, 62; capt. july 28, 66 [act july 28, 66].
- HULL, GUSTAVUS A., July 28, 66. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from Ky.]-M. sk. qm. dept. july 21, 62, acc. aug, 1, 62; capt. july 28, 66 [act july 28, 66].

LIVERS, JOHN, July 28, 66. [Born in Md.; apptd. from Pa].-

A.S. 4011, any 28, 66. [1000 m m are; appear non-ray.] Pvt. co. E, 4 art. feb. 11, 28; corpl. ang. 1, 29; sergt. mar. 1, 31; out of ser. july 9, 32; pvt. co. E, 4 art. june 18, 33; dischgd. nov. 20, 33; pvt. co. E, 4 art. nov. 20, 33; dischgd. nov. 20, 36; hosp. styd. june 12, 37; dischgd. oct 9, 37; pvt. co. E, 4 art. nov. 1, 39; corpl. -: sergt. dec. 27, 39: 1 sergt. may 1, 40; sergt. jan. 5, 44; dischad. sept. 1, 44; sergt. co. E, 4 art. sept. 1, 44; trs. to co. D, aug. 31, 46; qm. sergt. aug. 25, 47; dischad, july 1, 28, 66 [act july 28, 66].

BARRETT, ADDISON, July 28, 66. [Born in Mass.; apptd. from Mass.]-

Serget, gen, see, ang. 16, 62; dischool apr. 1, 63; capt. com. sub. vol. dec. 21, 64, acc. mar. 25, 65; maj. vol. bvt. sept. 14, 65; 'for faith, and mer. ser. "; capt. m. sk. qm. dept. july 28, 66, acc. dec. 5, 66; must. out of vol. ser. dec. 8, 66.

MARTIN, WILLIAM P., Mar. 5, 67. [Born in Ireland; apptd. from Conn.]-

CITS, WILLIAM P., MRT 5, 67. [Born in Trefand; apple. from Conn.]— Pyrt. co. K. 1 art. mar. 28, 39; corpl. june 4, 41; sergt. jau. 1, 42; disclopd. jan. 28, 44; sergt. co. K. 1 art. jau. 28, 44; disclopd. dec. 8, 47; pyt. gen. ser. aug. 21, 50; ord. sergt. oct. 20, 50; disclopd. aug. 21, 55; ord. sergt. aug. 21, 55; disclopd. june 24, 60; ord. sergt. june 21, 60; disclopd. aug. 27, 61; 11t. r. qm. 3 R. I. art. aug. 27, 61; resgd. sept. 12, 62; capt. com. sub. vol. aug. 50, 62; acc. sept. 12, 62; maj. vol. byt. mar. 13, 65; "for faith. ser. dur. the war"; 11, 60; vol. byt. may 15, 66; "for faith, and mer. ser. in the sub. dept."; col. vol. byt. dec. 11, 66; "for faith way in the sub. dept."; wayd. cart of vol. can. dea 7" for cont. m. at, com. 11, 66, "for faith, ser. in the sub. dept"; must. out of vol. ser. dec. 27, 66; capt. m. sk. qm. dept. mar. 5, 67, acc. apr. 10, 67.

SUBSISTENCE DEPARTMENT.

COMMISSARY GENERAL OF SUBSISTENCE.

With rank of Brigadier General.

MACFEELY, ROBERT, Apr. 14, 75. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 46; byt. 24t. 4 inf. july 1, 50; 24t. july 13, 52; 14t. feb. 3, 55; regtl. qm. sept. 10, 56; to may 18, 61; capt. com. sub. may 14, 61, acc. may 18, 61; vac. com. of 14t. 4 inf. may 14, 61, but served as such to may 18, 61; It. col. com. sub. [act july 17, 62] jan. 1, 63; maj. com. sub. fcb. 9, 63; relieved as it. col. com. sub. [act july 17, 62] sept. 3, 64; it. col. byt. and col. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith, and mer. ser. dur. the war"; brig. gen. com. gen. sub. apr. 14, 75, acc. apr. 30, 75.

80

ASSISTANT COMMISSARY GENERALS OF SUBSISTENCE.

With rank of Colonel.

- KILBURN, CHARLES L., June 29, 64. [Born in Pa. ; apptd. from M. A.]-Catch july 1, 38: by 2 fit. 1 art, july 1, 42: trs. fo 3 art, july 10, 43: 21, june 27, 44; 1 ft. byt. sept. 23, 46, " for gal. and mer. cond. at Monterey "; 1 ft. 3 art. feb. 16, 47; capt. byt. feb. 23, 47, " for gal. and mer. cond. in the battle of Buena Vista ": capt. com. sub. sept. 13, 53, acc. sept. 19, 53, *rac.* some of 1 ft. 3 art. nov. 11, 56: maj. com. sub. may 11, 61: ft. col. asst. com. gen. sub. feb. 9, 63; col. asst. com. gen. sub. june 29, 64; brig. gen. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith, and mer. ser. dur. the war.
- SIMPSON, MARCUS D. L., June 23, 74. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from M. A.]-
- Cadet july 1, 42, but 20, 2 art, july 1, 46, 2 lt, mar. 3, 47, 1 lt, byt, aug. 20, 47, "for gal, and mer, cond, in the battles of Contreras and Churnbusco"; capt. byt, sept. 13, 47, "for gal, and mer, cond, in the battle of Chapultepec"; l lt, 2 art, oct. 27, 47; regth. qm. mar. 8, 48, to mar. 26, 55; capl. com, sql. mar. 26, 55; acc. apr. 3, 55; cacc. on, of l lt, 2 art, apr. 25, 61; maj, com. sub. july 1, 61; 1t. col. asst. com. gen. sub. feb. 9, 63; col. bvt., brig. gen. bvt., and maj. gen. bvt. mar. 13–65, "for mer. ser. dur. the war"; col. asst. com. gen. sub. june 23, 74.

With rank of Lieutenant Colonel.

- CLARKE, HENRY F., June 29, 64. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 39; bvt. 2 lt. 2 art. july 1, 43; 2 lt. june 18, 46; 1 lt. sept. 8, 47; capt. bvt. sept. 13, 47, "for gal. and mer. cond. in the battle of Chapaltepee"; regtl. adj t sept. 2, 52, to june 30, 55; capt. com. sub. jan. 12, 57, acc. feb. 1, 57; vac. com. of 1 lt. 2 art. mar. 3, 57; maj. com. sub. aug. 3, 61; col. a. a. d. c. sept. 28, 61, acc. sept. 28, 61; col. bvt. sept. 11, 63, "for gal, and mer. ser. dur. the Maryland campaign"; It. col. asst. com. gen. sub. june 29, 64; brig. gen. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Gettysburg, Pa." maj. gen. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith, and mer. ser. in the sub. dept. dur. the war"; mus · must. out as col. a. a. d. c. may 31, 66.
- BURNS, WILLIAM W., June 23, 74. [Born in Ohio; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 42; byt. 24t, 3 inf. july 1, 47; 24t, 5 inf. sept. 8, 47; 14t, aug. 12, 50; regtl. qm. nov. 1, 55, to aug. 18, 58; capt. com. sub. nov. 3, 58, acc. nov. 5, 58; rac. com. of 14t, 5 inf, jan. 19, 59; maj. com, sub. ang. 3, 61; brig, gen. vol. sept. 28, 61, acc. oct. 5, 61; I. col. byt. june 29, 62, "for gal, and mer, ser, in the battle of Savage Station, Va."; col. byt, june 30, 62, "for gal, and mer, ser, in the battle of Glendale, Va."; *respl.* com, of brig, gen. vol. mar. 20, 63; brig. gen. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. dur. the war"; it. col. asst. com. gen. sub. june 23, 74.

BECKWITH, AMOS, June 23, 74. [Born in Vt.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 46; byt. 2 lt. 1 art. july 1, 50; 2 lt. feb. 22, 51; 1 lt. aug. 21, 54; capt. com. sub. may 10, 61, acc. may 16, 61; rac. com. of 1 lt. 1 art. may 14, 61; maj. com. sub. sept. 29, 61; col. a. a. d. c. jan, 1, 62, acc, july 11, 62; H. col. byt. sept. 1, 64, "for gal, and mer. ser, in the Atlanta campaign"; col. byt. sept. 1, 64, "for gal, and mer. ser, in the campaign "; col. byt. sept. 1, 64, "for gal, and mer. ser, in the campaign against Atlanta "; brig, gen, vol. byt. jan, 12, 65; brig, gen, byt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal, and mer. ser. in the campaign terminating in the surrender of the insurgent army under Gen. Jos. E. Johnston "; maj, gen, byt, mar, 13, 65, "for faith, and mer, ser, in the sub, dept, dur, the war"; must, out as col. a, a, d, c, may 31, 66; It, col. asst, com, gen, sub, june 23, 74, acc, july 3, 74.

COMMISSARIES OF SUBSISTENCE.

With rank of Major.

DU BARRY, BEEKMAN, Feb. 9, 63. [Born in N. J.: apptd. from M. A.]-Cadet july 1, 45; byt. 2 lt. 1 art. july 1, 49; 2 lt. 3 art. feb. 13, 50; 1 lt. dec. 24, 58; capt. com, sub, may 11, 61, acc. may 20, 61; rac. com. of 1 lt. 3 art. may 14, 61, but served as such to may 20, 61; maj. com. sub. feb. 9, 63; lt. col. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for mer. ser. dur. the war"; col. byt. mar. 13, 65, " for faith. and mer. ser. dur. the war.

HAINES, THOMAS J., Feb. 9, 63. [Born in N. H.; apptd. from M. A.]-

Cadet july 1, 45; bvt. 2 lt. 1 art. july 1, 49; 2 lt. 2 art. july 1, 48; 1 lt. july 9, 53; regtl. adj't oct. 1, 55, to aug. 3, 61; capt. 13 inf. may 14, 61, declined; capt. com. sub. aug. 3, 61, acc. aug roct, 1, 55, 15 aug, 5, 51; capt, 13 ml, may 14, 61, declined; capt, com, sub, aug, 3, 61, acc, aug, 13, 61; rac, com, of 1 lt, 2 art, may 15, 61, but served as such to aug, 13, 61; col, a. a. d. e. may 1, 62, acc, june 20, 62; maj, com, sub, feb, 9, 63; lt, col, bvt, col, bvt, and brig, gen, bvt, mar, 13, 65, "for faith, and mer, ser, dur, the war"; must, out as col, a, a, d, e, may 31, 66.

Commissanties of Subsistence-Continued.

BELL, GEORGE, Apr. 25, 65. [Born in Md.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 48; byt. 2 lt. 4 art, july 1, 53; 2 lt. 1 art. oct. 31, 53; 1 lt. june 30, 55; capt. 14 inf. may 14, 61, declined; capt, com. sub, aug. 3, 61, acc. aug. 22, 61; eqc. com. of 1 lt. 1 arl, may 14, 61, but served as such to aug. 22, 61; 11, col. com, sub. [act july 17, 62] aug. 20, 62; maj. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith, and mer. ser, dur, the war"; 1t, col. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith, and mer. ser, dur, the war"; brig, gen, bvt, apr. 9, 65, "for faith, and mer. ser, in the sub, dept. dur, the war"; brig, gen, bvt, apr. 9, 65, "for faith, and mer. ser, in the sub, dept. dur, the war"; sub. apr. 25, 65; relieved as It. col. com. sub. [act july 17, 62] aug. 1, 65.

MORGAN, MICHAEL R., Nov. 17, 65. [Born in N. S.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 50; 2 lt. 3 art, july 1, 54; 1 lt. nov. 11, 56; capt. 11 inf. may 14, 61, declined; capt. com. sub. aug. 3, 61, acc. aug. 23, 61; cae. com. of 1 lt. 3 art. nov. 1, 61; lt. col. com. sub. [act july 17, 62] nov. 8, 62; maj. byt., lt. col. byt., and col. byt. july 6, 64, "for dis. ser. as chi, com, sub, of the armies operating in the campaign of 1864 before Richmond, Va." by fig. gen. bet. apr. 9, 65, "I or gal, and mer ser, dur, the campaign terminating with the surrender of the insurgent army under Gen. Robert E. Lee"; *relieved* as It, col. com sub. [act july 17, 62] june 5, 65; It, col. ins. sub. dept. [act. mar, 3, 65] june 6, 65; maj. com. sub. nov. 17, 65; *relieved* as It, col. ins. sub. dept. [act. mar, 3, 65] due c. 29, 65.

HAWKINS, JOHN P., June 23, 74. [Born in Ind.; apptd. from M. A.]-

Caster july 1, 48; byt. 2 It. 6 inf. july 1, 52; 2 It. 2 inf. june 23, 54; 1 It. oct. 12, 57; regtl. qm. oct. 1, 58, to aug. 10, 61; 1 It. 14 inf. nay 14, 61, declined; capt. com. sub. aug. 3, 61, acc. aug. 20, 61; eac. com. of I It. 2 inf. aug. 10, 61, but served as such to aug. 20, 61; It. col. com. sub. [act july 17, 62] nov. 1, 62, to apr. 13, 63; brig. gen. vol. apr. 13, 63, acc. apr. 13, 63; maj. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. dur. the size of Mobile, Ala."; It. col. byt. and col. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. dur. the swar"; brig. gen. byt. and maj. gen. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the field dur. the war"; maj. gen. vol. byt. june 30, 65, "for gal. and mcr. ser, dur. the war"; must. out of vol. ser. feb. 1, 66; maj. com. sub. june 23, 74.

SMALL, MICHAEL P., June 23, 74. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from M. A.]-

Cadet, july 1, 51; bvt. 2 lt. 3 art. july 1, 55; 2 lt. 2 art. sept. 21, 55; 1 lt. apr. 27, 61; regtl. qm. july 10, 61, to aug. 3, 61; capt. com. sub. aug. 3, 61, acc. aug. 24, 61; lt. col. com. sub. [act july 17, 62] ang 14, 63; vac. com. of 1 lt. 2 art. mar. 30, 64; col. vol. bvt. jan. 1, 65, "for dis. and mer. ser. in the campaign of 1863, 1864"; maj. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for mer. ser. in the sub. dept. dur. the war"; 1t. col. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for mer. ser. in his dept. dur. the war"; col. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for mer. ser. in the sub. dept. dur. the war"; brig. gen. byt. apr. 9, 65, "for faith, and mer. ser. in his dept. dar. the war"; *relieved* as It. col. com. sub. [act july 17, 62] may 25, 65; col. com. sub. [act mar. 3, 65] may 25, 65, to dec. 29, 65; maj. com. sub. june 23, 74.

SULLIVAN, THOMAS C., Apr. 14, 75. [Born in Ohio; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 52; 2 lt. 1 art. july 1, 56; 1 lt. apr. 27, 61; capt. 18 inf. may 14, 61, declined; capt. com. sub. aug. 3, 61, acc. aug. 22, 61; vic. com. of 1 lt. 1 art. fcb. 20, 62; lt. col. com. sub. fact july 17, 62] aug. 20, 62, to jan. 27, 63; maj. byt. and lt. col. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith. and mcr. ser. dur. the war"; lt. col. com. sub. [act july 17, 62] mar. 21, 65, to aug. 1, 65; maj. com. sub. apr. 14, 75.

BARRIGER, JOHN W., Nov. 21, 75. [Born in Ky.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet sept. 1, 52; 2 lt. 2 art. july 1, 56; 1 lt. may 2, 61; 1 lt. 5 art. may 14, 61, declined; capt. bvt. july 21, 61, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Bull Run. Va."; capt. com. sub. ang. 3, 61, acc. ang. 26, 61; lt. col. com. sub. [act july 17, 62] nov. 17, 63; vac. com. of 1 lt. 2 art. mar. 30, 64; maj. bvt., lt. col. bvt., col. bvt., and brig. gen. bvt. mar. 13, 65. "for faith. and mer. ser. dur. the war"; relieved as lt. col. com. sub. [act july 17, 62] aug. 1, 65; maj. com. sub. nov. 21, 75.

With rank of Captain.

WILSON, THOMAS, Oct. 25, 61. [Born in D. C.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 49; bvt. 2 lt. 6 inf. july 1, 53; 2 lt. 5 inf. oct. 26, 54; 11t. apr. 1, 57; capt. com. sub. oct. 25, 61, ace. oct. 25, 61; rac. com. of 1 lt. 5 inf. sept. 25, 61, but served as such to oct. 25, 61; lt. col. com. sub. [act july 17, 62] dec. 26, 63; col. vol. bvt. aug. 1, 64, "for faith. and mer. ser. in the field"; brig. gen. vol. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith. and mer. ser. dur. the war"; maj. bvt. lt. col. bvt., col. bvt., and hrig. gen. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith. and mer. ser. dur. the war"; relieved as lt. col. com. sub. [act july 17, 62] aug. 1, 65.

BELL, WILLIAM H., June 11, 62. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from M. A.]-

Cadet july 1, 53; bvt. 2 It. 3 inf. july 1, 58; 2 It. dec. 6, 58; 1 It. may 14, 61; capt. com. sub. june 11, 62, acc. june 17, 62; vac. com. of 1 It. 3 inf. mar. 12, 62, but served as such to june 17, 62; maj. bvt. mar. 13, 65, ''for faith. and mer. ser. in New Mexico.''

COMMISSARIES OF SUBSISTENCE-Continued.

- GILMAN, JEREMIAH H., Feb. 9, 63. [Born in Me.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 52; bvt. 2 lt. 1 art, july 1, 56; 2 lt. oct. 31, 56; 1 lt. apr. 27, 61; capt. 19 inf. may 14, 61, acc. june 29, 61; maj. bvt. apr. 7, 62; "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Shiloh, Teum."; lt. col. bvt. dec. 31, 62, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Stone River, Tenn."; capt. com. sub. feb. 9, 63, acc. mar. 19, 63; vac. com. of capt. 19 inf. mar. 19, 63.
- CUSHING, SAMUEL T., Feb. 9, 63. [Born in R. I. : apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 55; bvt. 24t, 10 int. july 1, 60; 24t, 2 inf. jan. 19, 61; 14t, may 14, 61; capt. feb. 15, 62; capt. com. sub. feb. 9, 63, acc. may 12, 63; rac. com. of capt. 2 inf. may 12, 63; maj. byt. mar. 13, 65, " for faith, and mer. ser. dur. the war."
- ELDERKIN, WILLIAM A., July 4, 64. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 56; 2 lt. 1 art. may 6, 61; 1 lt. may 14, 61; capt. com. sub. july 4, 64, acc. july 21, 64; resgd. com. of 1 lt. 1 art. aug. 16, 64; maj. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith. and mer. ser, dur, the war.
- PENROSE, CHARLES B., May 13, 65. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Pa.]— Capt. com. sub. vol. aug. 3, 61, acc. aug. 46, 61; maj. vol. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for mer. ser. dur, the war"; capt. com. sub. may 13, 65; wee, com. of capt. com. sub. vol. may 13, 65; maj. bvt. may 13, 65; "for faith, and mer. ser, in the sub. dept. dur, the war"; ht. col. byť, nov. 11, 67, 11 for faith, and mer. ser. dur. the war.
- NASH, WILLIAM II., Nov. 17, 65. [Born in Ohio: apptd. from Ohio.]---Capt. com. sub. vol. nov. 26, 62, acc. dec. 18, 62; maj. vol. byt. mar. 31, 65. "for gal. and dis, ser."; capt. com. sub. nov. 17, 65; vac. com. of capt. com. sub. vol. nov. 17, 65; maj. byt. nov. 17, 65, " for faith, and mer. ser. in the sub. dept. dur. the war.
- EAGAN, CHARLES P., June 23, 74. [Born in Ireland; apptd. from Wash, T.]— 1 h. 1 Wash, T. vol. june 21, 62; masst. out apr. 1, 65, paid to mar. 31, 65; 2 h. 9 inf, ang. 30, 66, acc. sept. 5, 66; 1 h. jan. 2, 60; massd. june 14, 69; assd. to 12 inf, jan. 1, 71; capt. com. sub. june 23, 74, acc. july 3, 74; resgd. com. of 1 h. 12 inf, july 3, 74.
- WHITEHEAD, FREDERICK F., Apr. 14, 75. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from Mo.]— 11, 7 Mo. vol. aug. 21, 61; disebad, may 20, 63; capt. a. a. g. vol. may 1, 63, acc. may 20, 63; maj. vol. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith, and mer. ser, dur, the recent campaign in Georgia and the Carolinas"; must. out of vol. ser, sept. 19, 65; 14t, 18 inf, july 28, 66, acc. oct. 5, 66; capt. bvt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal, and mer. ser, in the siege of Vicksburg, Miss."; capt. com, sub-over, 41, 55, and may 1, 55, aread cam, eff. 14, 55 inf, may 1, 75.
 - apr. 14, 75, acc. may 1, 75; resgd. com. of 1 lt. 18 inf. may 1, 75.
- WESTON, JOHN F., Nov. 24, 75. [Born in Ky.; apptd. from Ky.]--
 - 14. 4 Ky. cav. dec. 24, 61; capt. feb. 9, 63; maj. nov. 1, 64; must. out ang. 21, 65, paid to ang. 31, 65; 241, 7 cav. ang. 9, 67, acc. ang. 26, 67; 144; nov. 27, 68; regd. qm. jan. 1, 71, to feb. 29, 72; capt. com. sub. nov. 24, 75, acc. dec. 9, 75; regd. com. of 14, 7 cav. dec. 9, 75.
- WOODRUFF, CHARLES A., Mar. 28, 78. [Born in Vt.; apptd. from M. A.]— Pvt. co. A, 10 Vt. vol. jan. 5, 62; corpl. may 19, 63; disclipd. aug. 18, 65; cadet july 1, 67; 2 lt. 7 inf. june 12, 71; 1 lt. aug. 9, 77; capt. com. sub. mar. 28, 78, acc. apr. 15, 78; resgd. com. of 1 lt. 7 inf. apr. 15, 78.
- CLAGUE, JOHN J., Aug. 30, 80. [Born in Engl'd: apptd. from Minn.]— Pvt. co. F. 6 Minn. vol. june 28, 62; sergt. aug. 22, 62; capt. 18 V. S. c. t. oct. 11, 64; must. out feb. 21, 66, paid to feb. 26, 66; 2 H. 40 inf. mar. 7, 67, acc. may 13, 67; unassd. apr. 20, 69; assd. to 12 inf. ang. 3, 79; 1 H. sept. 1, 73; capt. com. sub. ang. 30, 80, acc. sept. 6, 80; resgd. com. of lt. 12 inf. dec. 15, 80.

MEDICAL DEPARTMENT.

SURGEON GENERAL.

With rank of Brigadier General.

BARNES, JOSEPH K., Aug. 22, 64. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Pa.]— Asst. surg. june 15, 40, acc. june 29, 40; capt. asst. surg. feb. 11, 47; maj. surg. aug. 29, 56; lt. col. med. ins. feb. 9, 63, acc. feb. 19, 63; col. med. ins. gen. aug. 10, 63, acc. aug. 12, 63; hrig, gen, surg, gen, ang, 22,64, acc, ang, 31,64; wa, com, of col, med, ins. gen, aug, 12, 65; hrig, gen, surg, gen, ang, 22,64, acc, ang, 31, 64; wa, com, of col, med, ins. gen, aug, 31, 64; maj, gen, byt, mar, 13, 65, "for faith, and mer, ser, dur, the war."

ASSISTANT SURGEON GENERAL.

With rank of Colonel.

- CRANE, CHARLES H., July 28, 66. [Born in R. I.; apptd. from Mass.]-
 - Asst. surg. feb. 14, 48, acc. mar. 20, 48; capt. asst. surg. feb. 14, 53; maj. surg. may 21, 61, It, col. byt, and col. byt, jan. 1, 65: brig, gen. byt, mar. 13, 65, "for faith, and mer. ser. dur. the war"; col. asst. surg. gen. july 28, 66, acc. july 30, 66.

CHIEF MEDICAL PURVEYOR.

With rank of Colonel.

BAXTER, JEDEDIAH H., June 23, 74. [Born in VI.; apptd. from Vt.]-

Surg. 12 Mass. vol. june 26,61; dischod. apr. 17,62; surg. U. S. vol. apr. 4, 62, acc. apr. 18, 62; It. col. vol. byt. mar. 30,65, "for mer. and faith. ser. in the recruitment of the armies of the United States"; col. vol. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith, and mer. ser. dur. the war"; lt. col. asst. med. pur. july 20, 67, acc. july 30, 67; rae. com. of surg. U. S. vol. july 30, 67; col. bvt. july 20, 67, "for faith, and mer. ser. dur. the war"; lt. col. chf. med. pur. mar. 12, 72 [act mar. 12, 72]; col. chf. med. pur. june 23, 74, acc. june 23, 74.

SURGEONS.

With rank of Colonel.

- MURRAY, ROBERT, June 26, 76. [Born in Md.; apptd. from Md.]-Asst. surg. june 29, 46, acc. july 10, 46; capt. asst. surg. june 29, 51; maj, surg. june 23, 60; It. col. byt. and col. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith, and mer. ser. dur. the war"; it. col. asst. med. pur. july 28, 66, acc. oct. 17, 66; col. surg. june 26, 76, acc. aug. 8, 76.
- SUTHERLAND, CHARLES, June 26, 76. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Pa.]-
 - It asst. surg. aug. 5, 52, acc. nov. 14, 52; capt. asst. surg. aug. 5, 57; maj. surg. apr. 16, 62; lt. col. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith. and mer. ser. dur. the war"; col. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for mer. ser. and dil. discharge of duties dur. the war"; lt. col. asst. mcd. pur. july 28, 66, acc. sept. 21, 66; col. surg. june 26, 76, acc. aug. 1, 76.
- CUYLER, JOHN M., June 26, 76. [Born in Ga.; apptd. from Ga.]-
 - Asst. surg. apr. 1, 34, acc. may 16, 34; capt. asst. surg. feb. 11, 47; maj. surg. feb. 16, 47; ht. col. med. ins. june 11, 62, acc. june 23, 62; col. bvt. nov. 29, 64; brig. gen. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith, and mer. ser, dur. the war"; *must. out* as lt. col. med. ins. oct. 31, 65; col. surg. june 26, 76, acc. aug. 1, 76.
- KING, WILLIAM S., Mar. 17, 80. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Pa.]— Asst. surg. july 29, 37, acc. aug. 9, 37; capt. asst. surg. feb. 11, 47; maj. surg. aug. 29, 56; lt. col. bvt. and col. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith, and mer. ser. dur. the war"; lt. col. surg. june 26, 76, acc. aug. 1, 76; col. surg. mar. 17, 80.

With rank of Lieutenant Colonel.

- SIMONS JAMES, June 26, 76. [Born in S. C.; apptd. from S. C.]— Asst. surg. july 11, 39, acc. july 15, 39; capt. asst. surg. feb. 11, 47; out of ser. jan. 16, 56, paid to mar. 14, 56; recaptd. occ. 24, 56, to rank from july 11, 39, acc. oct. 25, 56; apptd. surg. mar. 11, 59, to rank from aug. 29, 56; lt. col. byt. and col. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith. and mer. ser. dur. the war"; lt. col. surg. june 26, 76, acc. aug. 1, 76.
- KEENEY, CHARLES C., June 26, 76. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from Mich.]— Asst. surg. july 12, 42, acc. july 23, 42; disbanded sept. 23, 42; reapptd. mar. 19, 45, acc. mar. 28, 45; capt. asst. surg. mar. 19, 50; maj. surg. june 23, 60; lt. col. med. ins. june 11, 62, acc. june 24, 62; lt. col. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith. and mer. ser. dur. the war"; must. out as lt. col. med. ins. oct. 31, 65; lt. col. surg. june 26, 76, acc. aug. 8, 76.
- HEAD, JOHN F., June 26, 76. [Born in Mass.; apptd. from Mass.]-Asst. surg. aug. 6, 46, acc. aug. 13, 46; capt. asst. surg. aug. 6, 51; maj. surg. sept. 6, 60; lt. col. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith. and mer. ser. dur. the war"; lt. col. surg. jnne 26, 76, acc. jnly 29, 76.
- HAMMOND, JOHN F., June 26, 76. [Born in S. C.; apptd. from S. C.]-
 - 1 lt. asst. surg. feb. 16, 47, acc. mar. 24, 47; eapt. asst. surg. feb. 16, 52; maj. surg. feb. 26, 61; lt. col. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith. and mer. ser. dur. the war"; lt. col. surg. june 26, 76, acc. ang. 1, 76.
- BAILY, ELISHA L, June 26, 76. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Pa.]-1 lt. asst. surg. feb. 16, 47, acc. feb. 25, 47; capt. asst. surg. feb. 16, 52; maj. surg. may 15, 61; lt. col. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith. and mer. ser. dur. the war"; lt. col. surg. june 26, 76, ace. aug. 11, 76.

Assistant Medical Purveyors.

With rank of Lieutenant Colonel.

 COOPER, GEORGE E., Dec. 2, 76. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Pa.]—
 1 lt. asst. surg. aug. 28, 47, acc. feb. 23, 48; capt. asst. surg. aug. 28, 52; maj. surg. may 21, 61; lt. col. bvt. sept. 1, 64; col. med. dir. [act feb. 25, 65] feb. 25, 65; col. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith, and mer, ser, dur, the war"; relieved as col. med. dir. [act feb. 25, 65] june 30. 65; lt. col. asst. med. pur. dec. 2, 76.

Assistant Medical Purveyors-Continued.

SWIFT, EBENEZER, Dec. 31, 76. [Born in Mass.; apptd. from Ohio.]— 1 It. asst. surg. aug. 30, 47, acc. feb. 14, 48; capt. asst. surg. aug. 30, 52; maj. surg. may 21, 61; It. col. med. dir. [act feb. 25, 65] feb. 25, 65; It. col byt. and col. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith, and mer. ser. dur. the war"; col. med. dir. [act feb. 25, 65] _____, to june 30, 65; brig. gen. hvt. july 20, 67, "for mer. ser. voluntarily rendered during the prevalence of cholera at Fort Harker, Kans."; lt. col. asst. med. pur. dec. 31, 76.

SUBGEONS.

With rank of Lieutenant Colonel.

PERIN, GLOVER, Apr. 28, 77. [Born in Ohio; apptd. from Ohio.]-

1 lt. asst. surg. dec. 4, 47, acc. jan. 8, 48; capt. asst. surg. dec. 4, 52; maj. surg. may 21, 61; lt. col. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith, and mer. ser. dur. the war"; lt. col. surg. apr. 28, 77.

CAMPBELL, JOHN, Nov. 8, 77. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from N. Y.]-

4. H. asst, surg, dec. 13, 47, acc, mar. 22, 18; capt. asst, surg, dec. 13, 52; maj, surg, may 21, 61; col. med. dir. [act feb. 25, 65] feb. 25, 65; 11, col. byt, and col. byt, mar. 13, 65, "for faith, and mer, ser, dur, the war"; relieved as col. med. dir, june 30, 65; 11, col. surg, nov. 8, 77.

8 UMMERS, JOHN E., Mar. 17, 80. [Born in Va : apptd. from Va.]— 1 It. asst. surg. dec. 13, 47, acc. feb. 22, 48; capt. asst. surg. dec. 13, 52; maj. surg. may 21, 61; ft. col. med. ins. feb. 27, 63, acc. mar. 25, 63; ft. col. byt. mar. 13, 65, [] for faith, and mer. ser, dur, the war," declined ; must, out as lt. col. med. ins. oct. 31, 65; lt. col. surg. mas, 17, 80.

With rank of Major.

MCPARLIN, THOMAS A., May 21, 61. [Born in Md.; apptd. from Md.]— 1 lt. asst. surg. mar. 3, 49, acc. mar. 14, 49; capt. asst. surg. mar. 3, 54; maj. surg. may 21. 61; lt. col. byt. aug. 1, 64, " for faith, and mer. ser. in the field "; col. med. dir. [act feb. 25, 65] feb, 25, 65; col. byt. mar. 13, 65, " for faith, and mer. ser. dur. the war"; relieved as col. med. dir. [act feb. 25, 65] june 30, 65; brig. gen. bvt. nov. 26, 66, "for mer. and dis. ser. at New Orleans, where cholera and yellow fever prevailed.

BROWN, JOSEPH B., July 4, 61. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from Mich.]-

1) It asst, surg. june 29, 49, acc, july 15, 49; capt. asst, surg. june 29, 54; maj. surg. july 4, 61; It. col. byt. and col. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith, and mer. ser. dur. the war": brig. gen. byt. sept. 28, 66, "for mer. and dis, ser. at Fort Columbus, N. Y. Harbor, where cholera warmshild." prevailed." MAGRUPER, DAVID L., Apr. 16, 62. [Born in Md. ; apptd. from Va.]-

A. (2118, 1218) 11, Apr. 16, 62. [Born m Md.; apptd. from Va.]— 1 R. asst. surg. feb. 1, 50, acc. mar. 22, 50; capt. asst. surg. feb. 1, 55; maj. surg. apr. 16, a. b. a. b. straightform. 62; lt. col. byt. mar. 13, 65, " for faith, and mer. ser. dur. the war.

PAGE, CHARLES, Apr. 16, 62. [Born in Va.; apptd. from Va.]-

1 lt. asst. surg. dec. 2, 51, acc. (eb. 25, 52); capt. asst. surg. dec. 2, 56; maj. surg. apr. 16, 62; lt. col. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith, and mer. ser. dur. the war"; lt. col. med. dir. (act feb. 25, 65] mar. 26, 65, to june 30, 65.

 NORRIS, BASH., Apr. 16, 62. [Born in Md.; apptd. from Md.]—
 11, asst. surg. act. 11, 52, acc. act. 18, 52; capt. asst. surg. act. 11, 57; maj. surg. apr. 16, 62; lt. col. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith, and mer, ser. dur. the war"; col. bvt. mar. 13, 65. "for mer, ser, and dif, discharge of duties dur, the war,"

VOLLUM, EDWARD P., May 12, 62. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from N. Y.]-

1 It. asst. surg. may 31, 53, acc. June 2, 55; capt. asst. surg. may 31, 58; maj. surg. may 12, 62; It. col. med. ins. June 11, 62, acc. June 18, 62; It. col. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith, and mer. ser. dur. the war"; relieved as It. col. med. ins. oct. 31, 65.

MOORE, JOHN, June 11, 62. [Born in Ind.; apptd. from Ind.]— 1 lt. asst. surg. june 29, 53, acc. july 18, 53; capt. asst. surg. june 29, 58; maj. surg. june 11, 62; lt. col. byf. sept. 1, 64, "for gal. and mer, ser, dur, the Atlanta campaign"; col. med. dir. [act feb. 25, 65] feb. 25, 65; col. byt. mat. 13, 65, "for faith, and mer, ser, dur, the war"; relieved as col. med. dir. [act feb. 25, 65] june 30, 65.

SMITH, ANDREW K., June H, 62. [Born in Conn.; apptd. from Conn.]— 1 lt. asst. surg. july 26, 53, acc. aug. 4, 53; capt. asst. surg. july 26, 58; maj. surg. june H, 62; lt. col. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith, and mer. ser. dur. the war."

ALEXANDER, RICHARD II., June 11, 62. [Born in Ill.; apptd. from Ky.]— 1 lt. asst. surg. dec. 2, 53, acc. jan 11, 54; capt. asst. surg. dec. 2, 58; maj. surg. june 11, 62: It. col. byt. mar. 13, 65, " for faith, and mer. ser. dnr. the war.

SMITH, JOSEPH R., June 11, 62. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from N. Y.]-

1 It asst. surg. dec. 15, 54 acc. feb. 25, 55; capt. asst. surg. dec. 15, 59; maj. surg. june 11, 62; It. col. med. dir. [act feb. 25, 65] feb. 25, 65; lt. col. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for superior ability and excellent management of the affairs of his dept."; relieved as It. col. med. dir. [act feb. 25, 65] june 30, 65; col. byt. nov. 22, 66, "for mer. ser. and devotion to the sick dur. the prevalence of the cholera at Little Rock, Ark.'

SURGEONS-Continued.

- IRWIN, BERNARD J. D., Sept. 16, 62. [Born in Ireland ; apptd. from N.Y.]-1 lt. asst. surg. ang. 28, 56, acc. nov. 7, 56; capt. asst. surg. ang. 28, 61; maj. surg. sept. 16, 62; lt. col. byt., and col. byt. mar. 13, 65, " for faith, and mer. ser. dur. the war."
- HEGER, ANTHONY, Sept. 17, 62. [Born in Aust'a: apptd. from Pa.]-1 lt. asst. surg. aug. 29, 56, acc. sept. 11, 56; capt. asst. surg. ang 29, 61; maj. surg. sept. 17, 62; lt. col. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith and mer, ser. during the war.
- ALEXANDER, CHARLES T., Feb. 9, 63. [Born in Ch. N.; apptd. from Ark.]— 11t. asst. surg. oct. 1, 56, acc. oct. 25, 56; capt. asst. surg. oct. 1, 61; maj. surg. feb. 9, 63; It. col. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith. and mer. ser. during the war."
- CLEMENTS, BENNETT A., Feb. 27, 63. [Born in D. C.; apptd. from N. Y.]— 1 lt. asst. surg. nov. 4, 56, acc. nov. 26, 56; capt. asst. surg. nov. 4, 61; maj. surg. feb. 27, 63; lt. col. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith, and mer. ser. dur. the war."
- BAHLY, JOSEPH C., Dec. 1, 64. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Pa.]— 11, asst. surg. oct. 27, 57, acc. mar. 22, 58; capt. asst. surg. oct. 27, 62; maj. surg. dec. 1, 64; lt. col. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith. and mer. ser. dur. the war."
- McKEE, JAMES C., Dec. 22, 64. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Pa.]-1 It. asst. surg. oct. 2, 58, acc. dec. 1, 58; capt. asst. surg. oct. 2, 63; maj. surg. dec. 22, 64; lt. col. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith, and mer. ser. dur. the war."
- BILL, JOSEPH H., July 28, 66. [Born in Pa.: apptd. from Pa.]— 1 lt. asst. surg. apr. 13, 60; acc. june 1, 60; maj. bvt. and lt. col. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith. and mer. ser. dur. the war"; capt. asst. surg. apr. 13, 65; maj. surg. july 28, 66.
- ALDEN, CHARLES H., July 28, 66. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Pa.]-1 lt. asst. surg. june 23, 60, acc. july 31, 60; maj. bvt. and lt. col. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith. and mer. ser. dur. the war"; capt. asst. surg. june 23, 65; maj. surg. july 28, 66.
- WEBSTER, WARREN, July 28, 66. [Born in N. II.; apptd. from Mass.]-
- 31 P.R., WARREA, 5 my 25, 66. [June 29, 60]; acc, june 29, 60]; capt. byt. may. 54, 63, "for gal, and mer. ser. in the battle of Chancellorsville, Va."; maj. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith, and mer. ser. dur. the war"; capt. asst. surg. june 23, 65; maj. surg. july 28, 66; 1t. col. byt. sept. 28, 66, "for mer. agad dis. ser. at Hart's Island and David's Island, N. Y. Harbor, where cholera prevailed.'
- BYRNE, CHARLES C., July 28, 66. [Born in Md.; apptd. from Md.]-
- I H. asst. surg. june 23, 60, acc. june 27, 60; maj. bvt. and H. col. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith, and mer. ser. dur. the war"; capt. asst. surg. june 23, 65; maj. surg. july 28, 66.
- WRIGHT, JOSEPH P., July 28, 66. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Pa.]— 1 lt. asst. surg. may 28, 61, acc. june 1, 61; capt. bvt., maj. bvt., and lt. col. bvt. mar. 13, 65, 'for faith, and mer. ser. dur. the war"; capt. asst. surg. may 28, 66; maj. surg. july 28, 66; SPENCER, WILLIAM C., July 28, 66. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from N. Y.]-
- 1 R. asst. surg. may 28, 61, acc. may 30, 61; capt. bvt., maj. bvt., and R. col. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith, and mer. ser. dur. the war"; capt. asst. surg. may 28, 66; maj. surg. july 28, 66.
- TOWN, FRANCIS L., Oct. 20, 66. [Born in N. H.; apptd. from Pa.]— 1 lt. asst. surg. may 28, 61, acc. may 30, 61; capt. bvt. and maj. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith. and mer. ser.": lt. col. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith. and mer. ser. dur. the war"; capt. asst. surg. may 28, 66; maj. surg. oct. 20, 66.
- BACHE, DALLAS, Aug. 5, 67. [Born in D. C. ; apptd. from Pa.]— 1 lt. asst. surg. may 28, 61, acc. may 30, 61 ; capt. byt. and maj. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith, and mer. ser. dur. the war"; capt. asst. surg. may 28, 66; maj. surg. aug. 5, 67.
- FRYER, BLENCOWE E., Oct. 30, 67. [Born m Engl'd; apptd. from Pa.]-1 lt. asst. surg. may 28, 61, acc. may 31, 61; capt. bvt. and maj. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith. and mer. ser. dur. the war"; capt. asst. surg. may 28, 66; maj. surg. oct. 30, 67.
- FRANTZ, JOHN H., Dec. 19, 67. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Md.]-1 lt. asst. surg. may 28, 61, ace. may 31, 61; capt. bvt., maj. bvt., and lt. col. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith, and mer, ser, dur, the war"; capt. asst. sur. may 28, 66; maj. surg. dec. 19, 67.
- GODDARD, CHARLES E., Jan. 6, 68. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from N. Y.]-1 lt. asst. surg. may 28, 61, acc. may 30, 61; capt. bvt. and maj. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith.
 - and mer. ser. dur. the war"; capt. asst. snrg. may 28, 66; maj. surg. jan. 6, 68.
- WHITE, CHARLES B., Oct. 1, 75. [Born in N. Υ.; apptd. from N. Υ.]— 1 ht. asst. surg. may 28, 61, acc. june 1, 61; capt. bvt. and maj. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith. and mer. ser. dur. the war"; capt. assf. surg. may 28, 66; maj. surg. oct. 1, 75.
- STERNBERG, GEORGE M., Dec. 1, 75. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from N. Y.]— 1 lt. asst. surg. may 28, 61, acc. may 31, 61; capt. bvt. and maj. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith. and mer. ser. dur. the war"; capt. asst. surg. may 28, 66; maj. surg. dec. 1, 75.

SURGEONS—Continued.

GREENLEAF, CHARLES R., June 26, 76. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Ohio.]-

- Asst. surg. 5 Ohio vol. may 9, 61; dischad, july 18, 61; I R. asst. surg. ang. 5, 61, acc. ang. 22, 61; capt. byt. and maj. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith, and mer. ser. dur. the war"; capt. asst. surg. july 28, 66; maj. surg. june 26, 76.
- WOODWARD, JOSEPH J., June 26, 76. [Born in Pa.: apptd. from Pa.]— 1 lt. asst. surg. aug. 5, 61, acc. aug. 24, 61; capt. bvt., maj. bvt., and lt. col. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith, and mer. ser. dur. the war"; capt. asst. surg. july 28, 66; maj. surg. june 26, 76.
- FORWOOD, WILLIAM H., June 26, 76. [Born in Del.; apptd. from Pa.]— 1]t. asst. surg. aug. 5, 61, acc. aug. 23, 61; capt. byt. and maj. byt. mar. 13, 65, 5 for faith.
 - and mer. ser. dur. the war"; capt. asst. snrg. july 28, 66; maj. surg. june 26, 76.
- McCLELLAN, ELY, June 26, 76. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Pa.]— 1 lt. asst. surg. aug. 5, 61, acc. aug. 25, 61; capt. bvt. and maj. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith, and mer. scr. dur. the war"; capt. asst. surg. july 28, 66; maj. surg. june 26, 76.
- WOLVERTON, WILLIAM D., June 26, 76. [Born in N. J.; apptd. from N. J.]— 1 lt. asst. surg. aug. 5, 61, acc. aug. 22, 61; capt. bvt., maj. bvt., and lt. col. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith, and mer. ser. dur. the war"; capt. asst. surg. july 28, 66; maj. surg. june 26, 76,
- HARTSUFF, ALBERT, June 26, 76. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from Mich.]-1 lt. asst. surg. aug. 5, 61, acc. aug. 28, 61; capt. bvt. and maj. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith. and mer. ser. dur. the war"; capt. asst. surg. july 28, 66; lt. col. byt. nov. 26, 66, "for mer. and dis. ser. dur. the outbreak and continuance of cholera in New Orleans, La."; maj. surg. june 26, 76.
- MIDDLETON, JOHNSON V. D., June 26, 76. [Born in D. C.; apptd. from D. C.]+ 11t. asst. surg. aug. 5, 61, acc. aug. 22, 61; capt. byt. and maj. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith. and mer. ser. dur. the war"; capt. asst. surg. july 28, 66; maj. surg. june 26, 76.
- JANEWAY, JOHN H., June 26, 76. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Pa.]— 1 It. asst. surg. aug. 26, 61, acc. aug. 28, 61; capt. bvt. feb. 20, 63, "for gal. and mer. ser. dur. the war"; maj. bvt. and H. col. bvt. mar.13, 65, "for faith, and mer. ser. dur. the war"; capt. asst. surg. july 28, 66; maj. surg. june 26, 76.
- TILTON, HENRY R., June 26, 76. [Born in N. J.; apptd. from N. J.]— 1 lt. asst. surg. aug. 26, 61, acc. sept. 1, 61; capt. byt. and maj. byt. mar. 13, 65. " for faith. and mer. ser. dur. the war"; capt. asst. surg. july 28, 66; maj. surg. june 26, 76.
- HORTON, SAMUEL M., June 26, 76. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Pa.]-
 - 1 lt. asst. surg. aug. 26, 61, acc. aug. 28, 61; capt. byt. and maj. byt. mar. 13, 65, " for faith. and mer. ser. dur. the war"; capt. asst. surg. july 28, 66; maj. surg. june 26, 76.
- HAPPERSETT, JOHN C. G., June 26, 76. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Pa.]— 14. asst. surg. aug. 26, 61, acc. aug. 29, 61 capt. byt. and maj. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith, and mer. ser. dnr. the war"; capt. asst. surg. july 28, 66; maj. surg. june 26, 76.
- WOODHULL, ALFRED A., Oct. 1, 76. [Born in N. J.; apptd. from Kaws.]— 1 lt. asst. surg. sept. 19, 61, acc. sept. 21, 61; capt. bvt., maj. bvt., and lt. col. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith, and mer. ser. dur. the war"; capt. asst. surg. july 28, 66; maj. surg. oct. 1, 76. BILLINGS, JOHN S., Dec. 2, 76. [Born in Ind.; apptd. from Ohio.]-
- 1 lt. asst. surg. apr. 16, 62, acc. july 16, 62; capt. bvt., maj. bvt., and lt. col. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith, and mer, ser, dur, the war"; capt, asst, surg, july 28, 66; maj, surg, dec, 2, 76.
- NOTSON, WILLIAM M., Dec. 31, 76. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Pa.] 11t. asst. surg. apr. 16, 62, acc. july 14, 62; capt. bvt. july 3, 63, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of fettysburg. Pa.": maj. bvt. mar. 13, 65. "for faith, and mer. ser. dur. the war": capt. asst. surg. july 28, 66; maj. surg. dec. 31, 76.
- GIBSON, JOSEPH R., Mar. 19, 77. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Pa.]— 1 lt. asst. surg. apr. 16, 62, acc. aug. 1, 62; capt. bvt. and maj. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith. and mer. ser. dur. the war"; capt. asst. surg. july 28, 66; lt. col. bvt. sept. 28, 66, "for mer. and dis. ser. at Hart's Island, N. Y. Harbor, where cholera prevailed "; maj. surg. mar. 19, 77.
- HUNTINGTON, DAVID L., Apr. 28, 77. [Born in Mass.; apptd. from Pa.]-1 It. asst. surg. july 11, 62, acc. aug. 18, 62; col. med. dir. [act fob. 25, 65] feb 25, 65; capt. bvt. and maj. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith. and mer. ser. dur. the war"; It. col. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal, and mer. ser. dur. the war"; relieved as col. med. dir. [act feb. 25, 65] june 30, 65; capt. asst. surg. july 28, 66; maj. surg. apr. 28, 77.
- WILLIAMS, JOHN W., Nov. 8, 77. [Born in D. C.; apptd. from D. C.]— 11t. asst. surg. july 11, 62, acc. aug. 4, 62; capt. bvt. aug. 18, 63, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the action at Berryville, Va."; maj. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith, and mer. ser. dur. the war"; capt. asst. surg. july 28, 66; maj. surg. nov. 8, 77.

SURGEONS-Continued.

- WATERS, WILLIAM E., Jan. 10, 79. [Born in D. C.; apptd. from D. C.]-Asst. surg. D. C. mil. may 13, 61; must. out ang. 3, 61; surg. vol. aug. 3, 61, acc. aug. 27,
 - 61; t It, asst. surg. apr. 16, 62, acc. aug. 5, 62; rac. com. of surg. vol. aug. 5, 62; capt. bvt. and maj. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith, and mer. ser. dur. the war"; capt. asst. surg. june 6. 66; maj. surg. jan. 10, 79.
- BENTLEY, EDW1N, July 12, 79. [Born in Coun.; apptd. from Coun.]-
- ALEAY, ELEWEN, JULY 12, 79. [Form in Count.; apptd. from Count.]— Asst. surg. 4 Conn. vol. june 6, 61; discligd. oct. 1, 61; surg. vol. sept. 4, 61, acc. oct. 1, 61; ft. col. vol. byt. mar. 13, 65; "for faith and mer. sev. dur, the war"; *must. out* june 4, 66, paid to june 8, 66; 1 ft. asst. surg. feb. 28, 66, acc. june 10, 66; capt. asst. surg. july 28, 66; maj. surg. july 12, 79.
- OTIS, GEORGE A., Mar. 17, 80. [Born in Mass.; apptd. from Mass.]— Surg. 27 Mass. vol. sept. 14, 61; dischad. july 20, 64; asst. surg. vol. june 30, 64, acc. july 21, 64; snrg, vol. ang 30, 64, acc. sept. 7, 64; ft. col. vol. byt. nar. 13, 65, "for faith, and mer, ser, dur, the war"; *must. out* june 4, 66; 1 It. asst. surg. feb. 28, 66, acc. june 6, 66; capt. asst. surg. july 28, 66; capt. byt. and maj. byt. sept. 29, 66, "for faith, and mer. ser. in the med. dept."; It. col. bvt. sept. 29, 66, "for faith. and mer. ser. dur. the war;" maj. surg. mar. 17, 80.
- JAQUETT, GEORGE P., May 14, 80. [Born in N. J.; apptd. from N. J.]— 1 lt. asst. surg. oct. 23, 61, acc. nov. 1, 61; capt. byt. and maj. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith. and mer. ser. dur. the war"; capt. asst. surg. july 28, 66; maj. surg. may 14, 80.

Assistant Surgeons.

With rank of Captain.

- BROWN, HARVEY E., July 28, 66. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from Mass.]— Asst. surg. 70 N. Y. vol. june 29, 61; surg. 70 N. Y. vol. july 27, 61; resgd. dec. 10, 62, paid to dec. 12, 62; 1 lt. asst. surg. apr. 13, 63, acc. apr. 18, 63; capt. bvt. and maj. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "far faith. and mer. ser. dur. the war"; capt. asst. surg. july 28, 66.
- BROWN, JUSTUS M., July 28, 66. [Born in Ohio; apptd. from Ohio.]-1 lt. asst. surg. july 11, 62, acc. aug. 13, 62; capt. bvt. and maj. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith. and mer. ser. during the war"; capt. asst. surg. july 28, 66.
- HUBBARD, VAN BUREN, July 28, 66. [Born in Ohio: apptd. from Ohio.]— 1 lt. asst. surg. july 11, 62, acc. aug. 2, 62; capt. bvt. and maj. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith. and mer. ser. dur. the war"; capt. asst. surg. july 28, 66.
- SMART, CHARLES, July 28, 66. [Born in Scotl'd: apptd. from N. Y.]— Asst. surg. 63 N. Y. vol. nov. 5, 62: must. out apr. 15, 64; 1 lt. asst. surg. mar. 30, 64, acc. apr. 16, 64; capt. byt. dec. 2, 64, "for mer. ser. in the field dur. the present campaign before Richmond, Va."; capt. asst. surg. july 28, 66.
- BROOKE, JOHN, July 28, 66. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Pa.]— 1 ht. asst. surg. nov. 22, 62, acc. nov. 26, 62; capt. bvt. and maj. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith. and mer. ser. dur. the war"; capt. asst. surg. july 28, 66.
- GARDNER, WILLIAM H., July 28, 66. [Born in N. C.; apptd. from D. C.]— Med. cadet sept. 24, 61, to sept. 24, 62; 1 lt. asst. surg. nov. 22, 62, acc. nov. 26, 62; capt. byt. and maj. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith, and mer. ser. dur. the war"; capt. asst. surg. july 28, 66.
- WHITEHEAD, WILLIAM E., July 28, 66. [Born in N. J.; apptd. from N. J.]— 1 lt. asst. surg. apr. 13, 63, acc. apr. 17, 63; capt. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith. and mcr. ser. dur, the war"; capt. asst. surg. july 28, 66.
- TREMAINE, WILLIAM S., Sept. 16, 66. [Born in P. E. I.; apptd. from N. Y.]-Asst. surg. 24 Mass. vol. aug. 7, 63; must. out apr. 12, 64; surg. 31 U. S. c. t. may 2, 64; resgd. sept. 9, 64; asst. surg. vol. sept. 1, 64, acc. sept. 5, 64; must. out june 4, 66, paid to june 7, 66; 1 lt. asst. surg. feb. 28, 66, acc. june 12, 66; capt. asst. surg. sept. 16, 66.
- COUES, ELLIOTT, Mar. 30, 67. [Born in N. H.; apptd. from D. C.]-Med. cadet may 8, 62, to may 8, 63; 1 lt. asst. surg. mar. 30, 64, acc. apr. 14, 64; capt. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith, and mer. ser. dur. the war"; capt. asst. surg. mar. 30, 67.
- TAYLOR, MORSE K., May 14, 67. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from Iowa.]— 2 lt. 1 Mich. vol. dec. 1, 47; must. out july 18, 48; sung. 26 III. vol. aug. 29, 61; dischgd. aug. 15, 62; sung. vol. aug. 8, 62, acc. aug. 16, 62; lt. col. vol. bvt. oct. 7, 65, "for faith. and mer. ser."; must. out oct. 12, 65, paid to oct. 23, 65; capt. asst. surg. may 14, 67, acc may 28, 67.
- AZPELL, THOMAS F., May 14, 67. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from N. J.] Surg. vol. oct. 7, 61, acc. oct. 25, 61; 11; col. vol. bvt. oct. 18, 65, "for faith, and mer. ser."; must. out oct. 23, 65, paid to oct. 31, 65; capt. asst. surg. may 14, 67, acc. may 25, 67.

ASSISTANT SURGEONS-Continued.

- MEACHAM, FRANK, June 21, 67. [Born in Mass.; apptd. from Mass.]-Asst. surg. 14 Ky. vol. mar. 30, 62; must. out nov. 10, 62; asst. surg. vol. apr. 23, 63, acc. apr. 29, 63; surg. vel. july 9, 63, acc. july 17, 63; lt. col. vol. bvt. aug. 9, 65, "for faith, and mer. ser.": must. out aug. 10, 65, paid to aug. 22, 65; 1 lt. asst. surg. may 14, 67, acc. june I, 67; capt. asst. surg. june 21, 67
- CALDWELL, DANIEL G., Dec. 11, 67. (Born in Pa.; apptd. from Pa.)— Asst. surg. 74 Pa. vol. aug. 4, 62; must. out oct. 21, 63; 1 lt. asst. surg. feb. 28, 66, acc. sept. 11, 66; capt. asst. surg. dec. 11, 67.
- CLEARY, PETER J. A., Dec. 26, 67. [Born in Malta: apptd. from N. Y.]— Asst. surg. vol. oct. 4, 62, acc. oct. 28, 62; sarg. vol. apr. 13, 63, acc. apr. 17, 63; lt. col. vol. byt. aug. 9, 65, "for faith, and mer. ser."; must. out aug. 10, 65, paid to aug. 14, 65; 1 II. asst. surg. oct. 9, 67, acc. oct. 14, 67; capt. asst. surg. dec. 26, 67.
- VICKERY, RICHARD S., Dec. 28, 67. [Born in Ireland ; apptd. from Mich.]— Pvt. co. F, 2 Mich, vol. may 17, 61; dischard, oct. 23, 62; asst. surg. 2 Mich. vol. oct. 23, 100 (2010) [Content of the content of the cont 62; must. out mar. 11, 65, paid to mar. 13, 65; 1 lt. asst. surg. may 14, 67, acc. july 14, 67; capt. asst. surg. dec. 28, 67.
- MIDDLETON, PASSMORE, Feb. 15, 68. (Born in Pa.; apptd. from Pa.]— 14, asst. surg. feb. 15, 65, acc, may 13, 65; capt. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith, and mer. ser. dur. the war"; capt. asst. surg. feb. 15, 68.
- KOERPER, EGON A., Apr. 6, 68. [Horn in Prussia: apptd. from Pa.]— Asst. surg. 75 Pa. vol. sept. 11, 61; must. out sept. 11, 62; asst. surg. 75 Pa. vol. july 25, 64; surg. 75 Pa. vol. oct. 8, 64; must. out sept. 1, 65, paid to sept. 12, 65; 1 It. asst. surg. may 14, 67, acc. may 24, 67; capt. asst. sarg. apr. 6, 68.
- DE HANNE, J. VICTOR, May 12, 68. [Bern in N. Y.; apptd. from N. Y.]— Ivt. co. B. 176 N. Y. vol. oct. 7, 62; dischold, sept. 22, 63; asst. surg. vol. dec. 21, 64, acc. may 12, 65; 11, asst. surg. may 14, 65, acc. may 28, 67; rac. com. of asst. surg. vol. may 28, 67; capt. vol. byt. and maj. vol. byt. june 3, 67, " for faith, and mer. ser."; capt. asst. sarg. may 12, 68.
- LIPPINCOTT, HENRY, Nov. 11, 68. [Born in N. S.; apptd. from Cal.]— Asst. surg. 6 Cal. vol. july 15, 65; must. out oct. 31, 65; 14, asst. surg. feb. 28, 66, acc. may 30, 66; capt. asst. surg. nov. 11, 68.
- McELDERRY, HENRY, Feb. 28, 69. [Born in Md.; apptd. from Md.]— Pyt. co. A, 10 Md. vol. june 19, 63; hesp. stwd. july 6, 63; diskfild, jan. 29, 64; med. cadet mar. 50, 64, to mar. 30, 65; 111, asst. surg. feb. 28, 66, acc. may 26, 66; capt. asst. surg. feb. 28, 69.
- PATZKI, JULIUS II., Mar. 30, 69. [Born in Prussia: apptd. from Pa.]— Pyt. co. G. 15 N. Y. h. art, july 13, 63; *discliped*, jun. 10, 64; asst. surg. 15 N. Y. vol. jan. 11, 64; *must. out* ang. 22, 65, paid to aug. 31, 65; 14t. asst. surg. nov. 11, 67, acc. nov. 15, 67; eapt. asst. surg. mar. 30, 69.
- POPE, BENJAMIN F., May 13, 69. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from N. Y.]— Asst. surg. 10 N. Y. art. july 18, 64; must. out july 19, 65; 1 lt. asst. surg. may 14, 67, acc. may 25, 67; capt. asst. surg. may 13, 69.
- BARTHOLF, JOHN H., May 23, 69. [Born in N. J.; apptd. from N. Y.]— Asst. surg. 18 N. Y. vol. nov. 5, 62; *must. out* may 28, 63; asst. surg. vol. jan. 12, 65, acc. may 11, 65; capt. vol. byt. oct. 6, 65, "for faith, and mer. ser."; *must. out* oct. 9, 65, paid to oct, 12, 65; 14t, asst. surg. may 14, 67, acc. may 25, 67; capt. asst. surg. may 23, 69.
- CORSON, JOSEPH K., July 23, 69. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Pa.]-Corp. co. K, 4 Pa. vol. apr. 20, 61; sergt. may 30, 61; diselogd. july 26, 61; asst. surg. 35 Pa. vol. mar. 26, 63; must. out june 11, 64; maj. vol. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith, and mer. ser, in the Wilderness campaign in Virginia"; 14t, asst. surg. oct. 9, 67, acc. oct. 14, 67; capt. asst. surg. july 23, 69.
- DICKSON, JOHN M., July 31, 69. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Pa.]— Asst. surg. 93 Pa. vol. mar. 14, 63; must. out oct. 29, 64; surg. 213 Pa. vol. mar. 18, 65; must, out nov. 18, 65, paid to nov. 25, 65; 1 lt. asst. surg. nov. 16, 68, acc. dec. 1, 68; capt. asst. surg. july 31, 69.
- KING, WHLLIAM H., Oct. 6, 69. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Pa.]— Asst. surg. 149 Pa. vol. may 23, 63; must. out july 30, 63; surg. 21 Pa. cav. aug. 5, 63; must. out july 8, 65, paid to july 16, 65; 1 lt. asst. surg. nov. 16, 68, acc. dec. 24, 68; capt. asst. surg. oct. 6, 69.
- KIMBALL, JAMES P., Nov. 12, 69. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from N. Y.] Asst. surg. 121 N. Y. yol, jan. 16, 65; trs. to 65 N. Y. yol, june 25, 65; must. out july 17. 65, paid to july 26, 65; 1 lt. asst. surg. may 14, 67, acc. may 24, 67; capt. asst. surg. nov. 12, 69.

Assistant Surgeons—Continued.

- MUNN, CURTIS E., Dec. 2, 69. [Born in Vt.; apptd. from Mass.]— Hosp. stwd. 1 Mass. cav. dec. 21, 61; discligit, july 10, 63; asst. surg. 27 Mass. vol. july 11, 63; must. out dec. 30, 64; surg. 2 Mass. vol. jan. 19, 65; must. out july 14, 65, paid to july 26, 65; 1 lt. asst surg. nov. 16, 68, acc. dec. 5, 68; capt. asst. surg. dec. 2, 69.
- EWEN, CLARENCE, Dec. 23, 69. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from N. Y.]— Asst. surg. 53 N. Y. vol. sept. 8, 62; must. out sept. 13, 62; asst. surg. 182 N. Y. vol. dec. 13, 62; must. out oct. 27, 63; asst. surg. 29 U. S. e. t. nov. 2, 64; must. out nov. 6, 65, paid to nov. 24, 65; 1 R. asst. surg. nov. 16, 68, acc. dec. 17, 68; capt. asst. surg. dec. 23, 69.
- DE WITT, CALVIN, May 14, 70. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Pa.]-Capt. 49 Pa. vol. oct. 24, 61; resgd. jan. 18, 63; 1 lt. asst. surg. may 14, 67, acc. may 24, 67; capt. asst. surg. may 14, 70.
- CRONKHITE, HENRY M., May 14, 70. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from Cal.]— Pvt. co. C, 26 N. Y. vol. july 29, 61; dischold. may 28, 63; 1 H. asst. surg. may 14, 67, acc. june 1, 67; capt. asst. surg. may 14, 70.
- O'REHLLY, ROBERT M., May 14, 70. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Pa.]-Med. cadet jan. 7, 64, to jan. 8, 65; med. cadet feb. 6, 65, to sept. 23, 65; 1 lt. asst. surg. may 14, 67, acc. may 25, 67; eapf. asst. surg. may 14, 70.
- HEIZMANN, CHARLES L., May 14, 70. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Pa.]-1 lt. asst. surg. may 14, 67, acc. june 5, 67; capt. asst. surg. may 14, 70.
- WHITE, ROBERT H., May 14, 70. [Born in Va.; apptd. from Pa.]-1 lt. asst. surg. may 14, 67, acc. may 31, 67; capt. asst. surg. may 14, 70.
- CARVALLO, CARLOS, May 14, 70. [Born in S. A.; apptd. from D. C.] --1 lt. asst. surg. may 14, 67, acc. may 24, 67; capt. asst. surg. may 14, 70.
- GHRARD, ALFRED C., May 14, 70. [Born in Switz'd; apptd. from N. Y.]-1 lt. asst. surg. may 14, 67, acc. may 30, 67; capt. asst. surg. may 14, 70.
- GIRARD, JOSEPH B., May 14, 70. [Born in France; apptd. from Mich.]-1 lt. asst. surg. may 14, 67, acc. june 10, 67; capt. asst. surg. may 14, 70.
- LAUDERDALE, JOHN V., May 14, 70. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from N. Y.]-1 lt. asst. surg. may 14, 67, acc. may 25, 67; capt. asst. surg. may 14, 70.
- LORING, LEONARD Y., May 14, 70. [Born in Mo.; apptd. from Mo.]— 1 lt. asst. surg. may 14, 67, acc. june 1, 67; capt. asst. surg. may 14, 70.
- WILSON, WILLIAM J., July 5, 70. [Born in Ireland; apptd. from Mo.]— Asst. surg. 13 Ohio cav. may 6, 65; must. out ang. 10, 65, paid to aug. 16, 65; 1 lt asst. surg. oct. 9, 67, acc. nov. 8, 67; eapt. asst. surg. july 5, 70.
- MOFFATT, PETER, Oct. 9, 70. [Born in Canada: apptd. from Cal.]— 1 lt. asst. surg. oct. 9, 67, acc. nov. 11, 67; capt. asst. surg. oct. 9, 70.
- KING, JOSEPH H. T., Oct. 9, 70. [Born in Engl'd; apptd. from N. Y.]— 1 lt. asst. surg. oct. 9, 67, acc. oct. 19, 67; capt. asst. surg. oct. 9, 70.
- WEISEL, DANIEL, Oct. 9, 70. [Born in Md.; apptd. from Md.]— 1 lt. asst. surg. oct. 9, 67, acc. oct. 12, 67; capt. asst. surg. oct. 9, 70.
- WOODRUFF, EZRÅ, Mar. 7, 71. [Born in Ky.; apptd. from Ky.]— Asst. surg. 15 Ky. vol. mar. 7, 63; must. out nov. 18, 63; 1 lf. asst. surg. nov. 16, 68, ace, nov. 25, 68; capt. asst. surg. mar. 7, 71.
- ELBREY, FREDERICK W., Nov. 16, 71. [Born in Va.; apptd. from N. Y.]-1 lt. asst. surg. nov. 16, 68, acc. nov. 26, 68; capt. asst. surg. nov. 16, 71.
- MATTHEWS, WASHINGTON, Nov. 16, 71. [Born in Ireland ; apptd. from Iowa.]-
 - 1 lt. asst. surg. nov. 16, 68, acc. dec. 19, 68; capt. asst. surg. nov. 16, 71.
- STEINMETZ, WILLIAM R., Nov. 16, 71. [Born in Germ'y; apptd. from Pa.]— Pvt. gen. ser. may 3, 60; hosp. stwd. jan. 23, 61; dischgd. mar. 16, 65; 1 lt. asst. surg.
 - nov. 16, 68, acc. nov. 24, 68; capt. asst. surg. nov. 16, 71.
- HALL, JOHN D., Nov. 16, 71. [Born in N. II.; apptd. from N. V.]-
- 1 lt. asst. surg. nov. 16, 68, acc. dec. 14, 68; capt. asst. surg. nov. 16, 71.
- HARVEY, PHILIP F., Nov. 16, 71. [Born in Ohio; apptd. from Iowa.]-1 lt. asst. surg. nov. 16, 68, acc. nov. 26, 68; capt. asst. surg. nov. 16, 71.
- COWDREY, STEVENS G., Nov. 16, 71. [Born in N. H.; apptd. from N. Y.]-1 lt. asst. surg. nov. 16, 68, acc. nov. 25, 68; capt. asst. surg. nov. 16, 71.
- BYRNE, CHARLES B., Nov. 16, 71. [Born in Md.; apptd. from Md.]-
 - 1 lt. asst. surg. nov. 16, 68, acc. dec. 21, 68; eapt. asst. surg. nov. 16, 71.

Assistant Surgeons-Continued.

WINNE, CHARLES K., Nov. 10, 79. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from N. Y.]— 14t. asst. surg. aug. 5, 61, acc. sept. 4, 61; capt. byt. and maj. byt. mar. 13, 65. "for taith. and mer. ser. dur. the war"; capt. asst. surg. july 28, 66; It. col. byt. sept. 28, 66, "for mer, and dis, ser, at Tybee Island, Ga, where cholera prevailed"; *reggl*, oct. 15, 73; 1 It, asst. surg. nov. 10, 74, acc. nov. 16, 74; capt. asst. surg. nov. 10, 79. AINSWORTH, FRED. C., Nov. 10, 79. [Born in VI.; apptd. from VI.]— 1 lt. asst. surg. nov. 10, 74, acc. nov. 13, 74; capt. asst. surg. nov. 10, 79, HAVARD, VALERY, Nov. 10, 79. [Born in France; apptd. from N. Y.]-1 lt. asst. surg. nov. 10, 74, acc. nov. 20, 74; capt. asst. surg. nov. 10, 79, HOFF, JOHN VAN R., Nov. 10, 79. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from N. Y.]-1 lt. asst. surg. nov. 10, 74, acc. nov. 15, 74; capt. asst. surg. nov. 10, 79. PAULDING, HOLMES O., Nov. 10, 79. [Born in D. C.; apptd. from D. C.]-1 lt. asst. surg. nov. 10, 74, acc. nov. 13, 74; capt. asst. surg. nov. 10, 79. ADAIR, GEORGE W., Nov. 10, 79. [Born in Mich.; apptd. from Mich.]-1 lt. asst. surg. nov. 10, 74, acc. nov. 14, 74; capt. asst. surg. nov. 10, 79. BROWN, PAUL R., Nov. 10, 79. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from N. Y.]— 1 lt. asst. surg. nov. 10, 74, acc. nov. 13, 74; capt. asst. surg. nov. 10, 79. MOSELEY, EDWARD B., Nov. 10, 79. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Pa.]— 1 lt. asst. surg. nov. 10, 74, acc. nov. 20, 74; capt. asst. surg. nov. 10, 79. SEMIG. BERNARD G., Nov. 10, 79. [Born in Hung y: apptd. from Cal.] --Hosp. stwd. may 20, 63; dischool. june 27, 64; med. cadet july 2, 64, to apr. 5, 65; 1 lt. asst. surg. nov. 10, 74, acc. nov. 24, 74; capt. asst. surg. nov. 10, 79. SKINNER, JOHN O., Nov. 10, 79. [Born in Md.; apptd. from Md.]-1 lt. asst. surg. nov. 10, 74, acc. nov. 24, 74; capt. asst. surg. nov. 10, 79. FINLEY, JAMES A., Nov. 10, 79. [Born in Ky.; apptd. from Pa.] -1 lt. asst. surg. nov. 10, 74, acc. nov. 14, 71; capt. asst. surg. nov. 10, 79. DE LOFFRE, AUGUSTUS A., Nov. 10, 79. [Born in France : apptd. from La.]-1 It. asst. surg. nov. 10, 74, acc. nov. 13, 74 ; capt. asst. surg. nov. 10, 79. WILCOX, TIMOTHY E., Nov. 10, 79. [Born in N. Y.: apptd. from N. Y.]— Asst. surg. 6 N. Y. h. art. jan. 4, 65; dischgd. may 11, 65; asst. surg. vol. apr. 25, 65, acc. may 12, 65; must. out june 4, 66, paid to june 9, 66; 1 lt. asst. surg. may 14, 67, acc. may 25, 67; resgd. july 1, 68; 1 lt. asst. surg. nov. 10, 74, acc. nov. 15, 74; capt. asst. surg. nov. 10, 79. MAUS, LOUIS M., Nov. 10, 79. [Born in Md. ; apptd. from Md.]— 1 lt. asst. surg. nov. 10, 74, acc. nov. 16, 74 ; capt. asst. surg. nov. 10, 79. TAYLOR, BLAIR D., June 26, 80. [Born in Va.; apptd. from Va.]-I lt. asst. surg. june 26, 75, acc. july 1, 75; capt. asst. surg. june 26, 80. PRICE, CURTIS E., June 26, 80. [Born in Ohio; apptd. from III.]— Asst. surg. 12 Tenn. cav. may 11, 64; surg. 12 Tenn. cav. mar. 10, 65; lt. col. vol. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for yal, and mer. ser. dur. the war, and more especially for gal, cond, in the battle of Nashville, Tenn."; must. out oct. 7, 65, paid to oct. 24, 65; 1 lt. asst. surg. june 26, 75, acc. july 29, 75; capt. asst. surg. june 26, 80. WORTHINGTON, JAMES C., June 26, 80. [Born in Md.; apptd. from Md.]-1 lt. asst. surg. june 26, 75, acc. july 1, 75; capt. asst. surg. june 26, 80. TURRILL, HENRY S., June 26, 80. [Born in Conn.; apptd. from N.Y.]-Asst. surg. 17 Conn. vol. feb. 13, 64; must. out july 19, 65, paid to ang. 2, 65; 1 lt. asst. surg. june 26, 75, acc. july 24, 75; capt. asst. surg. june 26, 80. COMEGYS, EDWARD T., June 26, 80. [Born in Ohio: apptd. from Ohio.]-1 lt. asst. surg. june 26, 75, acc. july 1, 75; capt. asst. surg. june 26, 80. REED, WALTER, June 26, 80. [Born in Va.; apptd. from Va.]-1 lt. asst. surg. june 26, 75, acc. july 3, 75; capt. asst. surg. june 26, 80. KILBOURNE, HENRY S., June 26, 80. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from Wis.]-1 lt. asst. surg. june 26, 75, acc. july 3, 75; capt. asst. surg. june 26, 80. MERRILL, JAMES C., June 26, 80. [Born in Mass.; apptd. from Mass.]— 1 lt. asst. surg. june 26, 75, acc. july 2, 75; capt. asst. surg. june 26, 80. HALL, WILLIAM R., June 26, 80. [Born in Mo.; apptd. from Mo.]— 1 lf. asst. surg. june 26, 75, acc. july 1, 75; capt. asst. surg. june 26, 80. BARNETT, RICHARDS, June 26, 80. [Born in Miss.; apptd. from Miss.]-1 lt. asst. surg. june 26, 75, acc. july 9, 75; capt. asst. surg. june 26, 80. TORNEY, GEORGE H., June 26, 80. [Born in Md.; apptd. from Md.]-It. asst. surg. june 26, 75, acc. july 1, 75; capt. asst. surg. june 26, 80.

Assistant Surgeons-Continued.

CRAMPTON, LOUIS W., June 26, 80. [Born in Md.; apptd. from Pa.]-1 It. asst. surg. june 26, 75, acc. july 4, 75; capt. asst. surg. june 26, 80.

PORTER, JOSEPH Y., June 26, 80. [Born in Fla.; apptd. from Fla.]-

1 lt. asst. surg. june 26, 75, acc. july 12, 75; capt. asst. surg. june 26, 80.

WOOD, MARSHALL W., June 26, 80. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from N. Y.]— Pvt. co. E, 186 N. Y. vol. sept. 5, 64; dischad. june 15, 65; hosp. stwd. july 15, 70; dischad. feb. 12, 75; 1 lt. asst. surg. june 26, 75, acc. july 2, 75; capt. asst. surg. june 26, 80.

TAYLOR, MARCUS E., June 26, 80. [Born in Miss.; apptd. from Miss.]— 1 lt. asst. surg. june 26, 75, acc. july 4, 75; capt. asst. surg. june 26, 80.

GARDINER, JOHN DE B. W., June 26, 80. [Born in Md.; apptd. from Md.]— 1 lt. asst. surg. june 26, 75, acc. july 27, 75; capt. asst. surg. june 26, 80.

SHANNON, WILLIAM C., June 26, 80. [Born in N. H.; apptd. from Me.]-1 lt. asst. surg. june 26, 75, acc. july 2, 75; capt. asst. surg. june 26, 80.

TESSON, LOUIS S., June 26, 80. [Born in Mo.; apptd. from Mo.]-

1 lt. asst. surg. june 26, 75, acc. july 3, 75; capt. asst. surg. june 26, 80.

SPENCER, WILLIAM G., June 26, 80. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from N. Y.]-1 lt. asst. surg. june 26, 75, acc. july 3, 75; capt. asst. surg. june 26, 80.

With rank of First Lieutenant.

GARDNER, EDWIN F., Aug. 5, 76. [Born in Me.; apptd. from Me.]— Pvt. cc. A, 1 batt. Me. vol. mar. 22, 65; dischgd apr. 5, 66; 1 lt. asst. surg. ang. 5, 76, acc. aug. 19, 76.

CORBUSIER, WILLIAM H., Aug. 5, 76. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from Cal.]-

1 lt. asst. surg. aug. 5, 76, acc. aug. 20, 76.

BUELL, JAMES W., Aug. 5, 76. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from N. Y.]-1 lt. asst. surg. aug. 5, 76, acc. aug. 21, 76.

SHUFELDT, ROBERT W., Aug. 5, 76. [Born in N. Y.: apptd. from D. C.]-1 lt. asst. surg. aug. 5, 76, acc. aug. 18, 76.

APPEL, DANIEL M., Aug. 5, 76. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Pa.]-1 lt. asst. surg. aug. 5, 76, acc. aug. 20, 76.

CUNINGHAM, THOMAS A., Aug. 5, 76. [Born in Va.; apptd. from Va.] 1 lt. asst. surg. aug. 5, 76, acc. aug. 25, 76.

PERLEY, HARRY O., Aug. 5, 76. [Born in Me.; apptd. from Mich.]-1 lt. asst. surg. aug. 5, 76, acc. sept. 1, 76.

BURTON, HENRY G., Aug. 5, 76. [Born in Vt.; apptd. from Vt.]-1 lt. asst. surg. aug. 5, 76, acc. aug. 21, 76.

ROBINSON, SAMUEL Q., Jan. 9,77. [Born in Mass.; apptd. from Mass.]-1 lt. asst. surg. jan. 9, 77, acc. jan. 20, 77.

DAVIS, WILLIAM B., Jan. 9, 77. [Born in Va.; apptd. from Va.]-1 lt. asst. surg. jan. 9, 77, acc. jan. 19, 77.

BIART, VICTOR, June 6, 78. [Born in Belg'm; apptd. from Kans.]-1 lt. asst. surg. june 6, 78, acc. june 21, 78.

GRAY, WILLIAM W., June 6, 78. [Born in Tenn.; apptd. from Tenn.]-1 lt. asst. surg. june 6, 78, acc. june 20, 78.

BRECHEMIN, LOUIS, June 6, 78. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Pa.]-1 lt. asst. surg. june 6, 78, acc. july 9, 78.

LA GARDE, LOUIS A., June 6, 78. [Born in La.; appld. from Ky.]-1 lt. asst. surg. june 6, 78, acc. june 19, 78.

POWELL, JUNIUS L., June 6, 78. [Born in Va.; appld. from Md.]-1 lt. asst. surg. june 6, 78, acc. feb. 22, 79.

KANE, JOHN J., June 3, 79. [Born '53 in Ky.; apptd. from Pa.]-1 lt. asst. surg. june 3, 79, acc. july 9, 79.

- BANISTER, JOHN M., June 3, 79. [Born '54 in Ala.; apptd. from Ala.]-1 lt. asst. surg. june 3, 79, acc. july 9, 79.
- BREWSTER, WILLIAM B., June 3, 79. [Born '54 in Pa.; apptd. from Pa.]-1 lt. asst. surg. june 3, 79, acc. july 8, 79.

APPEL, AARON H., June 3, 79. [Born '56 in Pa.; apptd. from Pa.]-1 lt. asst. surg. june 3, 79, acc. july 8, 79,

RICHARD, CHARLES, June 3, 79. [Born '54 in N.Y.; apptd. from N.Y.]-1 lt. asst. surg. june 3, 79, acc july 8, 79.

ASSISTANT SURGEONS-Continued.

- CARTER, W. FITZHUGH, June 3, 79. [Born '51 in Va.; apptd. from Va.]-1 lt. asst. surg. june 3, 79, acc. july 8, 79.
- MCCREERV, GEORGE, Feb. 17, 80. [Born 54 in N. Y.; apptd. from N. Y.]-1 lt. asst. surg. feb. 17, 80, acc. feb. 28, 80.
- SCHUÉ, EUGENE D., Feb. 17, 80. [Born '54 in Ky.; apptd. from N.Y.] -1 lt. asst. surg. feb. 17, 80, acc. feb. 28, 80.
- NEWTON, RICHARD C., Feb. 17, 80. [Born '51 in Mass.; apptd. from N. J.]-1 lt. asst. surg. feb. 17, 80, acc. mar. 6, 80.
- COCHRAN, JOHN J., Feb. 17, 80, [Born 53 in Mass.; apptd. from N.Y.]-
- 1 lt. asst. surg. feb. 17, 80, acc. mar. 6, 80.
- EBERT, RUDOLPH G., June 16, 80. [Born '54 in N. Y.; apptd. from Oregon.]-1 lt. asst. surg. june 16, 80, acc. june 24, 80.
- GUBSON, BOBERT J., June 16, 80. [Born '54 in Conn.; apptd. from Conn.]-1 lt. asst. surg. june 16, 80, acc. june 30, 80.
- BENHAM, ROBERT B., June 16, 80. [Born '53 in Ohio; apptd. from Pa.]-1 It. asst. surg. june 16, 80, acc. june 23, 80.
- GORGAS, WILLIAM C., June 16, 80. [Born '54 in Ala.; apptd. from Ala.]-1 lt. asst. surg. june 16, 80, acc. june 28, 80.
- STRONG, NORTON, June 16, 80. [Born '5] in Mich.; apptd. from Mich.]-1 lt. asst. surg. june 16, 80, acc. june 24, 80,
- TAYLOR, ARTHUR W., June 16, 80. [Born '57 in N.Y.; apptd. from N.Y.]-I lt. asst. surg. june 16, 80, acc. june 24, 80,

Medical Storekeepers.

With rank of Captain.

- JOHNSON, HENRY, July 28,66. [Born in S. A.; apptd, from Pa.]-Med. sk. vol. ang. 13, 62, acc. aug. 25, 62; capt. med. sk. july 28, 66, acc. may 16, 67.
- BEALL, GEORGE T., July 28, 66. [Born in D. C.; apptd. from N. M.]-Capt. med. sk. july 28, 66, acc. nov. 1, 66,
- CHERBONNIER, ANDREW V., July 28, 66. [Born in La.; apptd. from Md.]-Capt. med. sk. july 28, 66, acc. nov. 19, 66.
- O'DONNOGHU'E, FLORENCE, Aug. 3, 67. [Born in D. C.; apptd. from D. C.]-Capt. med. sk. aug. 3, 67, acc. aug. 14, 67.

PAY DEPARTMENT.

PAYMASTER GENERAL.

With rank of Brigadier General.

- BROWN, NATHAN W., June 8,80. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from N. Y.]— Maj. pm. sept. 5, 49, acc. oct. 8, 49: 11, col. d. pm. gen. apr. 4, 64; col. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith, and mer. ser. dur. the war"; col. asst. pm. gen. july 28, 66, acc. dec. 10, 66; brig, gen. bvt. oct. 15, 67, "for faith, and mer. ser. dur. the war"; brig, gen. pm. gen. june 8, 80, acc. june 17, 80.

Assistant Paymaster Generals.

With rank of Colonel.

McCLURE, DANIEL, July 28, 66. [Born in Ind.; apptl. from M. A.]-Cadet july 1, 45; byt. 21t. m. rif. july 1, 49; *result.* nov. 30, 50; maj. pm. oct. 23, 58, acc. oct. 29, 58; R. col. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith, and mer. ser. dur. the war "; col. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith, and mer, ser, in the pay dept."; col. asst. pm. gen. july 28, 66, acc. dec. 6, 66,

WOODS, SAMUEL, June 8, 80. [Form in Ind.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 33; 24; 6 inf, july 1, 37; 14; dec. 25, 37; capt. feb. 27, 43; maj. 15 inf, apr. 9, 47; maj. byt, and It. col. byt, sept. 13, 47, "for gal, and mer. cond. in the battle of Chapultepee"; diskanded as maj. 15 inf, aug. 7, 48, and restored to com. of capt. 6 inf; maj. pm. dec. 24, 56, ace, jan. 5, 57; rac, com. of capt. 6 inf, jan. 5, 57; h. col. byt, mar. 13, 65, "for faith, and mer, ser, dur, the war."; h. col. 6, pm, gen. june 7, 79; col. asst. pm. gen. june 8, 80.

DEPUTY PAYMASTER GENERALS.

With rank of Lieutenant Colonel.

FEBIGER, GEORGE L., Dec. 31, 79. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Del.]

Maj. pm. may 3, 61, acc. may 4, 61; lt. col. bvt. mar. 13, 65, " for faith, and mer. ser. dur. the war"; It. col. d. pm. gen. dcc. 31, 79.

LARNED, CHARLES T., June 8, 80. [Born in Mich.; apptd. from Mo.]— Cadet july 1, 51; respit. june 30, 54; add. pm. june 4, 64, acc. june 26, 61; maj. pm. aug. 30, 61: rue com, of add, pm, ang, 30, 61; It, col. byt, mar. 13, 65, "for faith, and mer, ser, dur. the war"; It. col. d. pm. gen. june 8, 80.

PAYMASTERS.

With rank of Major.

- SMITH, RODNEY, Feb. 23, 64. [Born in Vt.; apptd. from Ky.]-Maj. pm. feb. 23, 64, ace. mar. 4, 64.
- Mal, pm. (cb. 23, 64, acc. mar. 4, 64.
 EATON, JOSEPH H., Apr. 21, 64. (Born in Mass.; apptd. from M. A.]—
 Cadet sept. 1, 31; bvt. 2 lt. 3 inf. july 1, 35; 2 lt. oct. 30, 30; 1 lt. sept. 3, 38; capt. june
 18, 46; maj. bvt. sept. 23, 46, "for gal, and mer. cond, in the several conflicts at Monterey";
 It. col. bvt. feb. 23, 47, "for gal, and mer. cond, in the battle of Buena Vista. Mex."; resgd.
 dec. 31, 56; add, pm. june I. 61, acc. june 11. 61; maj. pm. apr. 21, 64; two, com. of add
 pm. apr. 21, 64; lt. col. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for mer. and val. ser. as asst. to the pm. gen.";
 but the war "; col. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for mer. and val. ser. as asst. to the pm. gen.";
 but war 13, 65; "for mer. and val. ser. as asst. to the pm. gen.";
 but war 12, 65; "for mer. and val. ser. as asst. to the pm. gen.";
 but war 13, 65, "for mer. and val. ser. as asst. to the pm. gen.";
 but war 12, 65; "for mer. and val. ser. as asst. to the pm. gen.";
 but war 12, 65; "for mer. and val. ser. as asst. to the pm. gen.";
 but war 13, 65, "for mer. and val. ser. as asst. to the pm. gen.";
 but war 13, 65, "for mer. and val. ser. as asst. to the pm. gen.";
 but mar 13, 65, "for mer. and val. ser. as asst. to the pm. gen.";
 but mar 13, 65, "for mer. and val. ser. as asst. to the pm. gen.";
 but mar 13, 65, "for mer. and val. ser. as asst. to the pm. gen.";
 but mar 14, 65, "for mer. and val. ser. as asst. to the pm. gen.";
 but mar 13, 65, "for mer. and val. ser. as asst. to the pm. gen.";
 but mar 14, 65, "for mer. and val. ser. as asst. to the pm. gen.";
 but mar 14, 65, "for mer. and val. ser. as asst. to the pm. gen.";
 but mar 18, 65, "for mer. and val. ser. as asst. to the pm. gen.";
 but mar 18, 65, "for faith and mer. ser. for the pm. gen.";
- brig, gen, byt, mar, 13, 65, "for faith, and mer, ser, in the pay dept."
 POTTER, JAMES B. M., July 15, 64. [Born in R. I.: apptd. from R. I.]—
 Add. pm, june I, 61, acc. june 18, 61; maj. pm. july 15, 64; rac. com. of add. pm. july 15 64; lt. col. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith, and mer. ser. dur. the war."
- RUCKER, WILLIAM A., Apr. 16, 66. [Born in Mich.; apptd. from Mich.]-Capt. com. sub. vol. aug. 39, 62, acc. sept. 16, 62; add. pm. nov. 26, 62, acc. dec. 4, 62; resgd. com. of capt. com. sub. vol. dec. 4, 62; maj. pm. apr. 16, 66; rae. com. of add. pm. apr. 16, 66; tt. col. vol. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith, and mer. ser. dur. the war."
- JOHNSTON, WILLIAM H., July 28, 66. [Born in Ohio; apptd. from Ohio.]— Add. pm. sept. 5, 61, acc. sept. 11, 61; It. col. vol. bvt. mar. 12, 66, "for faith. ser. in the pay dept."; must. out as add. pm. vol. july 20, 66; maj. pm. july 28, 66, acc. dec. 8, 66; It. col. bvt. mar. 2, 67, "for faith. and mer. ser. in the pay dept. dur. the war."
- GIBSON, WILLIAM R., Jan. 17, 67. [Born in S. C.; apptd. from Oreg.]— M. sk. qm. dept. mar. 14, 57, acc. mar. 20, 57; add. pm. june 1, 61, acc. aug. 31, 61; vac. com. of m. sk. aug. 31, 61; ft. col. vol. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith, and val. ser, in the pay dept."; maj. pm. jan. 17, 67; vac. com. of add. pm. jan. 17, 67.
- SPRAGUE, CHARLES J., Jan 17, 67. [Born in Me.; apptd. from Cal.]—

 It. inf. mar. 24, 47, acc. mar. 25, 47; 1 It. 9 inf. apr. 9, 47; regtl. adj't june —, 47, to oct. 9, 47; capt. oct. 9, 47; disbanded ang. 26, 48; add. pm. ang. 17, 61, acc. sept. 12, 61; It. col. vol. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith, and mer. ser. dnr. the war"; maj. pm. j.m. 17, 67; vac. com. of add. pm. jan. 17, 67.
- ROCHESTER, WILLIAM B., Jan. 17, 67. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from N. Y.]-Add. pm. june 1, 61; acc. june 29, 61; it. col. vol. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith, and mer. ser. dur. the war"; maj. pm. jan. 17, 67; *vac.* com. of add. pm. jan. 17, 67.
- REESE, HENRY B., Jan. 17, 67. [Born in Ohio; apptd. from Ohio.]— Add. pm. june 1, 61, acc. july 11, 61; lt. col. vol. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith. and mer. ser.
 - dur, the war"; maj. pm. jan. 17, 67; vac. com. of add. pm. jan. 17, 67.
- VEDDER, NICHOLAS, Jan. 17, 67. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from III.]— Add. pm. sept. 5, 61, acc. sept. 7, 61; It col. vol. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith. and mer. ser. dnr. the war"; maj. pm. jan. 17, 67; *vac.* com. of add. pm. jan. 17, 67.
- SMITH, WILLIAM, Jan. 17, 67. [Born in Vt.; apptd. from Minn.]— Add. pm. aug. 29, 61, acc. sept. 4, 61; lt. col. vol. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith. and mer. ser dur. the war"; must. out july 20, 66, paid to july 31, 66; maj. pm. jan. 17, 67, acc. mar. 26, 67.
- TERRELL, CHARLES M., Jan. 17, 67. [Born in Ind.; apptd. from Ky.]--Add. pm. june 30, 62, ace. july 20, 62; lt. col. vol. bvt. aug. 15, 65, "for faith. and mer. ser." maj. pni. jan. 17, 67; vac. com. of add. pm. jan. 17, 67.
- STANTON, THADDEUS H., Jan. 17, 67. [Born in Ind.; apptd. from Iowa.]— Pvt. co. A, 3 batt. D. C. vol. apr. 15, 61; disclad, july 15, 61; capt. 19 Iowa vol. aug. 18, 62; disclad. doc. 18, 62; add. pm. oct. 3, 62, acc. doc. 18, 62; tt. col. vol. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for aith. and mer. ser. dnr. the war"; maj. pm. jan. 17, 67; vac. com. of add. pm. jan. 17, 67.

PAYMASTERS-Continued,

- GLENN, GEORGE E., Jan. 17, 67. [Born in Ohio: apptd. from Ohio.]-Add. pm. nov. 24, 62, acc. nov. 25, 62; maj. pm. jan. 17, 67; vac. com. of add. pm. jan. 17, 67.
- CLARKE, ROBERT D., Jan. 17, 67. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Pa.]— Add. pm. aug. 12, 63, acc. aug. 17, 63; lt. col. vol. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith, and mer. ser. in the pay dept."; maj. pm. jan. 17, 67; vac. com. of add. pm. jan. 17, 67.
- NELSON, JAMES H., Jan. 17, 67. [Born in Mich.: apptd. from Mich.]-
- Add. pm. feb. 23, 64, acc. mar. 10, 64; maj. pm. jan. 17, 67; vac. com. of add. pm. jan. 17, 67.
- WINGARD, CHARLES W., Jan. 17, 67. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Pa.]— Maj. 137 Pa. vol. aug. 25, 62; It. col. 137 Pa. vol. mar. 15, 63; must. out june 1, 63; add. pm. may 10, 64, are. may 20, 64; It. col. vol. byt. june 15, 66, "for faith, and mer. cond.": maj. pm. jan. 17, 67; vac. com. of add. pm. jan. 17, 67.
- CANBY, JAMES P., Jan. 17, 67. [Born in Del.; apptd. from Del.]— Add. pm. may 28, 61, acc. june 20, 61; 1r. col. vol. bvt. jan. 8, 67; 'for faith. ser. in the pay dept.'; maj. pm. jan. 17, 67; reac cous. of add. pm. jan. 17, 67.
- HALL, PETER P. G., Jan. 17, 67. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Pa.]— 24, 26 Pa. vol. may 31, 61; 1 It. 26 Pa. vol. aug. 25, 61; dischgd. feb. 16, 63; add. pm. nov. 6, 63, acc. nov. 17, 63; must. out nov. 15, 65; maj. pm. jan. 17, 67, acc. mar. 20, 67.
- CANDEE, GEORGE W., Jan. 17, 67. [Born in N. J. : apptd. from Ill.]— Add. pm. feb. 23, 64, acc. apr. 18, 64; must. out jan. 15, 66; maj. pm. jan. 17, 67, acc. apr. 11, 67.
- BROOKE, EDMUND H., Jan. 17, 67. [Born in Md.; app1d. from Md.]— Add. pm. apr. 1, 65, acc. apr. 1, 65; lt. col. vol. bvt. apr. 1, 65, "for faith, and mer. ser."; maj. pm. jan. 17, 67; rac. com. of add. pm. jan. 17, 67.
- DEWEY, ISRAEL O., Jan. 17, 67. (Born in Vt.: apptd. from N. H.)— Add. pm. may 28, 64, acc. july 2, 61: must. out dec. 1, 65; maj. pm. jan. 17, 67, acc. mar. 20, 67
- CAREY, ASA B., Oct. 5, 67. [Born in Conn.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 54; byt. 2, lt. 6 inf. july 1, 58; 2 lt. 7 inf. oct. 22, 58; 1 lt. 13 inf. may 14, 61, cance physics by the first physics of the first physics of the first of the first physics are sept. 2, 61; capt. oct. 24, 61; maj. byt. mar. 28, 62, "for gal. and mer. ser, at the battle of Apache Cañon, N. M."; It. col. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser, in the war against the Navajo Indians"; maj. pm. oct. 5, 67, acc. oct. 11, 67; wae, com. of capt. 13 inf. oct. 11. 67.
- GOULD, WILLIAM P., Oct. 18, 67. [Born in R. I.; apptd. from Nev.]-Add, pm, june 1, 61, acc, june 17, 61; lt, col, vol, byt, mar, 13, 65; " for faith, and mer, ser, dur, the war": *must, out* july 1, 67; maj, pm, oct, 18, 67, acc, oct, 21, 67; *negatived* by the Senate july 25, 68, and *revoked* aug, 1, 68, paid to oct, 30, 68; re-apptd, mar, 8, 69, to rank from oet, 18, 67, acc. mar. 22, 69.
- BRIDGMAN, FRANK, Feb. 3, 69. [Born in Mass.; apptd. from Iowa.]— Add. pm, sept. 5, 61, acc. sept. 12, 61; It. col. vol. bvt. nov. 24, 65, "for faith. and mer. ser."; must. out jan. 1, 69; maj. pm. feb. 3, 69, acc. mar. 23, 69.
- COXE, FRANK M., Mar. 3, 75. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Pa.]— 2 It. 87 U. S. e. t. nov. 2, 63; 1 It. may 9, 64; 1 It. 81 U. S. e. t. dec. 1, 64; maj. vol. bvt., It. col. vol. bvt., and col. vol. byt. mar. 13, 65. "for faith, and mer. ser. dur. the war"; capt. H. U. S. e. t. july 7, 65; capt. 84 U. S. e. t. aug. 31, 65; must. out. mar. 14, 66, paid to mar. 31, 66; capt. 40 inf. july 28, 66, acc. nov. 17, 66; trs. to 25 inf. apr. 20, 69; maj. pm. mar. 8, 75, acc. apr. 29, 75; wac. com. of capt. 25 inf. apr. 29, 75.
- BATES, ALFRED E., Mar. 3, 75. [Born in Mich.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 61; 2 lt. 2, cav. june 23, 65; 1 lt. oet. 19, 65; regtl. qm. sept. 1, 66, to may 1, 67; regtl. adj/t may 1, 67, to jan. 26, 69; capt. jan. 26, 69; maj. pm. mar. 3, 75, acc. apr. 9, 75; rac. com. of capt. 2 cav. apr. 9, 75.
- WILLARD, JOHN P., Mar. 3, 75. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from Wis.]— 11t, 31 Wis, vol. dec, 21, 62; dischod, apr. 11, 63; capt. a. d. c. vol. mar. 11, 63, acc. apr. 11, 63; maj. vol. bvt. june 3, 65, "for faith, ser."; ht. col. vol. bvt. and col. vol. bvt. june 3, 65, "for gal, and mer. scr. dur. the Atlanta campaign and at the battle of Nashville, Tenn."; 2 It. and 1 It. 17 inf. fcb. 23, 66, acc. june 6, 66; *must. out as capt. a. d. c. vol. july 10, 66*; trs. to 26 inf. sept. 21, 66; capt. bvt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Chattanooga, Term."; maj. bvt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the capture of Atlanta, Ga.";

PAYMASTERS—Continued.

- WILSON, CHARLES I., Mar. 3, 75. [Born in D. C.; apptd. from N. Y.]-1 R. asst, surg. may 28, 61, acc. may 31, 61; capt. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for mer. and dis. ser. in the battles of Todd's Tavern and Yellow Tavern, Va."; naj. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for highly mer, and dis, ser, in his dept, in twelve engagements in the Shenandoah Valley, Va."; eapt. asst. surg. may 31, 66; *resgd.* jan. 1, 67; capt. 16 inf. jan. 22, 67, acc. mar. 23, 67; maj. bvt. mar. 2, 67, "for mer. ser. in the battle of Todd's Tavern Va."; unassd. apr. 17, 69; *hon. dischgd.* dec. 31, 70; maj. pm. mar. 3, 75, acc. mar. 22, 75.
- ECKELS, WILLIAM H., Mar. 3, 75. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Pa.]-1 lt. 9 Pa. cav. oct. 17, 61; capt. 9 Pa. cav. may 22, 63; must. out nov. 25, 64; maj. pm. mar. 3, 75, acc. mar. 22, 75.
- BLAINE, JOHN E., Mar. 3, 75. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Mont.]-M. sk. qm. dept. june 16, 68, acc. aug. 6, 68; resgd. may 1, 70; maj. pm. mar. 3, 75, acc. apr. 1, 75.
- ROCHE, JAMES R., Mar. 3, 75. [Born in Md.; apptd. from D. C.]-Maj. pm. mar. 3, 75, acc. apr. 1, 75.
- TOWAR, ALBERT S., Mar. 3, 75. [Born in Canada; apptd. from Mich.]— Maj. pm. mar. 3, 75, acc. mar. 23, 75.
- MAXNADJER, WHLLIAM M., Apr. 26, 75. [Born in Md.; appld. from Md.]— 2 lt. 1 art. may 1, 61, acc. may 1, 61; 1 lt. may 14, 61; capt. bvt. sept. 17, 62, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Antictam, Md."; capt. 1 art. june 4, 64; maj. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for good cond. and gal. ser. dur. fhe war"; must. out dec. 8, 70; maj. pm. apr. 26, 75, acc. apr. 29, 75.
- BRODHEAD, JOSIAII A., July 25, 75. [Born in N. H.; apptd. from Mass.]-Capt. a. qu. vol. apr. 14, 62, acc. apr. 30, 62; add. pun. nv. 26, 62, acc. dec. 8, 62; *resgd*, com. of capt. a. qu. dec. 8, 62; lt. col. vol. bvt. dec. 27, 65, "for faith, ser. in his dept."; *must. out* apr. 1, 69; maj. pm. july 25, 75, acc. july 29, 75.
- ARTHUR, WILLIAM, July 26, 75. [Born in Vt.; apptd. from N. Y.]-
- 11. 4. N. Y. art. jan. 29, 62; ept. jan. 1, 63; maj. dec. 23, 63; maj. vol. bvt. feb. 20, 65; 1. col. vol. bvt. mar. 13, 65; "for gal. cond. in the battles of Spottsylvania and Ream's Station, Va."; must. out apr. 6, 65; capt. vet. res. corps jan. 19, 65, acc. apr. 29, 65, must. out feb. 22, 66, paid to mar. 31, 66; 24, 18, art. feb. 23, 66, acc. apr. 18, 66; 14, 1, july 28, 66; capt. bvt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Spottsylvania, Va."; maj. bvt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Spottsylvania, Va."; eggl. 3, art. feb. 1, 73, to july 28, 75; maj. pm. july 26, 75; acc. july 28, 75; vae. com. of 14; 3 art. july 28, 75.
- WASSON, JAMES R., Sept. 14, 76. [Born in Ohio; appfd. from M. A.]— Pvt. co. B, 34 Iowa vol. jan. 26, 64; trs. to co. C nov. 26, 64; dischgd. aug. 15, 65; eadet july 1, 67; 2 lt. 4 cav. june 12, 71; resgd. july 1, 72; maj. pm. sept. 14, 76, acc. nov. 7, 76.
- THOMAS, HENRY G., Oct. 22, 76. [Born in Me.; apptd. from Me.]— Capt. 5 Me. vol. june 24, 61, dischgd. ang. 26, 61; capt. 11 inf. aug. 5, 61, acc. aug. 24, 61; col. 79 U. S. e. t. mar. 20, 63, dischgd. july 11, 63; col. 19 U. S. e. t. jun. 16, 61; maj. bvt. may 12, 64, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Spottsylvania, Va."; It.col. bvt. july 20 64, "for gal. and mer. ser. in front of Petersburg, Va."; brig, gen. vol. bvt. 30, 64, acc. dec. 9, 64; dischgd. as col. 19 U. S. e. t. dec. 8, 64; col. bvt. and brig, gen. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. dur. the war"; maj. gen. vol. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. dur. the war"; must. out as brig, gen. vol. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. dur. the war"; must. out as hrig. gen. vol. bvt. may 26 thes to gat dept. may 23, 78. 41 inf. july 28, 66, declined; maj. 4 inf. oct. 22, 76; trs. to pay dept. may 23, 78.
- SHARP, ALEXANDER, Jan. 26, 77. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Mo.]— Maj. pm. jan. 26, 77, acc. mar. 19, 77.
- KEEFER, JOHN B., Feb. 13, 77. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Pa.]-Maj. pm. feb. 13, 77, acc. feb. 22, 77.
- WHAM, JOSEPH W., Mar. 3, 77. [Born in Ill.; apptd. from Ill.]—
 Pvt. co. G, 21 Ill. vol. june 10, 61; sergt. nov. 1, 64; dischgd. july 27, 65; 1 lt. 21 Ill. vol july 28, 65; must. out dec. 16, 65, paid to jan. 24, 66; 2 lt. 35 inf. may 22, 67, acc. may 31, 67; dischyd. jan. 1, 71: maj. pm. mar. 3, 77, acc. mar. 6, 77.
- SNIFFEN, CULVER C., Mar. 3, 77. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from N. Y.]-Maj. pm. mar. 3, 77, acc. mar. 6, 77.
- SMITH, THOMAS C. H., Apr. 17, 78. [Born in Mass.; apptd. from Ohio.]-Lt. col. 1 Ohio cav. sept. 9, 61; dischad. apr. 27, 63; brig. gen. vol. nov. 29, 62, acc. apr. 27, 63; must. out jan. 15, 66; paid to jan. 31, 66; maj. pn. apr. 17, 78, acc. may 6, 78.

PAYMASTERS-Continued.

- BAIRD, GEORGE W., June 23, 79. [Born in Conn.; apptd. from Conn.]— Pvt. 1 batty, Conn. I. art. ang. 25, 62; pvt. co. II, 13 regt. vet. res. corps dec. 19, 63; dischgd. mar. 11, 64; col. 32 U. S. e. t. mar. 18, 64; must.out ang. 22, 65 paid to ang. 28, 65; 24, 19 inf. may 11, 66; trs. to 37 inf. sept. 21, 66, acc. feb. 28, 67; 1/1, apr. 27, 67; trs. to 5 inf. may 19, 69; regfl. adj't jan, 1, 71, to janc 26, 79; maj, pm. junc 23, 79; acc. junc 26, 79; zac. com. of 1 lt. 5 inf. june 26, 79.
- LARNED, DANIEL R., June 23, 79. [Born '29 in Conn.; apptd. from Conn.]-
 - Capt. a. a. g. vol. mar. 13, 63, acc. apr. 10, 63; maj. vol. bvt. ang. 1, 64, "for gal. and mer. ser. dur. the campaign in East Tenn.; at the siege of Knoxville, and in the battles of the late campaign from the Rapidan to Petersburg;" It, col. vol. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer, ser, in the campaign from the Rapidan to Petersburg, Va."; *resgd.* june 1, 65; maj, pm. june 23, 79, acc. july 2, 79.
- ROBINSON, GEORGE F., June 23, 79. [Born '32 in Me.; apptd. from Me.]-
 - Pvt. co. B, 8 Me. vol. ang. 15, 63; disclegel. may 19, 65; maj. pm. june 23, 79, acc. june 27, 79.
- CREARY, WILLIAM E., June 23, 79. [Born '42 in N. Y.; apptd. from Mich.]— Pyt. co. F. 3 Mich. vol. may 13, 6; trs. to 2 batt. vct. res. corps oct. 19, 63; dischgd, june 10, 64; pyt. 2 batt. vct. res. corps june 13, 64; dischgd, aug. 23, 66; maj. pm. june 23, 79, acc. june 26, 79.
- DODGE, FRANCIS S., Jan. 13, 80. [Born in Mass.; apptd. from Mass.]-Pv1. co. F, 25 Mass. vol. oct. 9, 61; corpl. —, dischyd. dec. 19, 63; 14, 2/U, 8, c, cav. dec. 20, 63; capt. july 6, 65; must. out feb. 12, 66, paid to mar. 8, 66; 14, 9 cav. july 28, 66, acc. jan. 24, 67; capt. july 31, 67; maj. pm. jan. 13, 80, acc. jau. 25, 80; vac. com. of capt. 9 cav. jan. 25, 80.
- MCCLURE, CHARLES, Aug. 30, 80. [Born in Pa.; appld. from Pa.]— Capt. com. sub. vol. apr. 28, 62, acc. may 3, 62; maj. vol. bvt., it. col. vol. bvt., and col. vol. bvt. oct. 21, 65, "for faith, and mer, set.": capt. com. sub. aug. 17, 66; rac, com. of com. sub. vol. ang. 17, 66; maj. bvt. aug. 17, 66, "for faith, set. in the sub. dept.": maj. pm. aug. 30, 80, acc. sept. 4, 80; vac. com. of capt. com. sub. sept. 4, 80.

WITCHER, JOHN S., Aug. 30, 80. [Born '39 in Va.; apptd. from W. Va.]-

1 lt. 3 W. Va vol. dec. 13, 62; capt. sept. 8, 63; maj. may 23, 64; col. vol. bvt. mar. 13, 65, " for gal, and mer, ser, dur, the Shenandoah campaign of 1864 and in the final campaign around Richmond and Petersburg, Va., in the spring of 1865, especially at the battle of Ford's Station, Va."; brig, gen. vol. byt, mar. 13, 65, "for gal, and mer. ser. dur. the Shenandoah campaign of 1864, and in the final campaign around Richmond and Petersburg, Va. in the spring of 1865": It. col. 3 W. Va. vol. may 6, 65: kon. must. out june 30, 65: maj. pm. ang. 30, 80, acc. oct. 5, 80.

CORPS OF ENGINEERS.

CHIEF OF ENGINEERS.

With rank of Brigadier General.

WRIGHT, HORATIO G., June 30, 79. [Born in Conn.; apptd. from M. A.]--Cadet july 1, 37; 2 lt. eng. july 1, 41; 1 lt. feb. 28, 48; capt. july 1, 55; maj. 43 inf. may 14. Cader July 1, 37; 24), eng. July 1, 44; 144, 165, 28, 48; eapt. July 1, 55; maj. 13 inf. may 14, 61, declined; maj. eng. ang. 6, 64; brigg gen, vol. sept. 14, 64, acc. sept. 17, 64; maj. gen, vol. July 18, 62, acc. ang. 19, 62; *negatived* by the Senate mar. 12, 63, and *revoked* mar. 24, 63; brig, gen, vol. mar. 24, 63; 41; col. byt. moy. 8, 63, "for gal, and mer. ser, in the battle of Rappahannock Station, Va."; col. byt. may 12, 64, "for gal, and mer. ser, in the battle of Spottsylvania, Va."; maj. gen, vol. may 12, 64, acc. may 26, 64; brig, gen, byt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal, and mer. ser, in the battle of Cold Harbor, Va."; maj. gen, byt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal, and mer. ser, in the capture of Petersburg, Va."; ht. col. eng. nov, 23, 65; *must.* "or gal, ser, ser, 1, 66, eng. mer. 4, 79; brig, gen, colf, of geng, byt. 97, 90, ecc. out of vol. ser. sept. 1, 66; col. eng. mar. 4, 79; brig. gen. chf of eng. june 30, 79, acc. july 2, 79.

Colonels.

- BARNARD, JOHN G., Dec. 28, 65. [Born in Mass.; apptd. from M. A.]-
 - NARD, JOHN G., Dec. 28, 65. [1601) in Masse; applied from M. A.S., \rightarrow Cadet july 1, 29; byt. 2 It, eng. july 1, 33; 2 It, may 15, 35; cupt. july 7, 38; maj. byt. may 30, 48, "for mer. cond, while serving in the enemy's country"; maj. eng. dec. 13, 58; brig, gen. vol. sept. 23, 61, acc, sept. 28, 61; col. byt. june 30, 62. "for gal, and mer. ser, in the campaign of the Peninsula"; It, col. eng. mar. 3, 63; maj. gen. vol. byt. july 4, 64, "for mer, and dis, ser, dur, the present war"; brig, gen. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal, and mer, ser, in the campaign terminating with the surrender of the insurgent army under D_{cold} (1, 1), D_{cold} (1, 2), but must 12, 65. "for gal, and mer, ser, in the campaign terminating with the surrender of the insurgent army under Gen. Robt, E. Lee"; maj. gen. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the field dur, the war"; col. eng. dec. 28, 65; must. out of vol. ser. jan. 15, 66.

Colonels-Continued.

- BENHAM, HENRY W., Mar. 7, 67. [Born in Conn.; apptd. from M. A.]-Cadet july 1, 33; byt. 2 It. eng. July 1, 37; 1 It. July 7, 38; capt. byt. feb. 23, 47, 5 for gal. and mer. cond. in the battles of Baena Vista 5; capt. eng. may 24, 48; maj. 9 inf. mar. 3, 55, declined; col. byt. July 13, 61, 5 for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Carrick's Ford. Va."; maj. eng. ang. 6, 61; brig. gen. vol. ang. 13, 61, acc. ang. 16, 61; lt. col. eng. mar. 3, 65brig, gen, byt. mar. 13, 65, " for gal, and mer, ser, in the campaign terminating with the surrender of the insurgent army under Gen. Robt. E. Leeu"; and gen. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal, and mer. ser. dur. the war"; maj. gen. vol. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith, and mer. ser. dur. the war"; *must. out* of vol. ser. jan. 15, 66; col. eng. mar. 7, 67.
- MACOMB, JOHN N., Mar. 7, 67. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet sept. 1, 28; byt. 2 lt. 4 art. july 1, 32; 2 lt. sept. 30, 33; 1 lt. oct. 15, 36; 1 lt. top. eng july 7, 38; capt. aug. 4, 51; maj. aug. 6, 61; lt. col. a. a. d. e. sept. 28, 61, acc. oct. 3, 61 col. a. a. d. c. may 15, 62, acc. may 17, 62; lt. col. cng. mar. 3, 63; col. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith, and mer. ser. dur. the war"; must. out as col. a. a. d. c. may 31, 66; col. eng. mar. 7, 67.
- 7, 67.
 TOWER, ZEALOUS B., Jan. 13, 74. [Born in Mass.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 37; 24. eng. july 1, 41; 14. bvt. apr. 18, 47. "for gal. and mer. cond. in the battle of Cerro Gordo"; 14. eng. apr. 24, 47; capt. bvt. ang. 20, 47. "for gal. and mer. ser in the battles of Contrearts and Charubusco"; maj. bvt. sept. 13, 47. "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Chapultepee": capt. eng. july 1, 55; maj. aug. 6, 61; 1t. col. bvt. nov 22, 61, "for gal. and mer. ser. dur. the defence of Fort Pickens, Fla."; brig. gen. vol. nov 23, 61, acc. june 14, 62; col. bvt. ang. 9, 62. "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Gedar Mountain, Va."; brig. gen. bvt. mar. 13, 65. "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Grove-ton, Va."; maj. gen. bvt. mar. 13, 65. "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Grove-ton, Va."; mol. bvt. june 12, 65. "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Grove-ton, Va."; brig. gen. bvt. mar. 13, 65. "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Grove-ton, Va."; mol. bvt. june 12, 65. "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Grove-ton, Va."; col. bvt. june 12, 65. "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Grove-ton, Va."; maj. gen. bvt. mar. 13, 65. "for gal. and mer. ser. in the field dur. the war" maj. gen. vol. bvt. june 12, 65. "for gal. and mer. Ser. dur. the war"; it. col. eng. nov. 11 65; must. out of vol. ser. jan. 15, 66; col. eng. jan. 13, 74.
- NEWTON, JOHN, June 30, 79. [Born in Va.; apptd. from M. A.]-
 - FON, SOITN, June 30, 53. [Jorni Va.; appul. Four M. X.] \rightarrow Cadet july 1, 38; 2 If, eng. july 1, 42; 1 If, oct. 16, 52; eapt. july 1, 56; maj, ang, 6, 61 brig, gen, vol. sept. 23, 61, acc. sept. 24, 61; H. col. bvt, sept. 17, 62; "for gal, and mer, ser, in the battle of Antifetam, Md."; maj, gen, vol. mar. 30, 63, acc. mar. 31, 63; col. bvt, july 3, 63, "for gal, and mer: ser, in the battle of Gettysburg, Pa."; com, as maj, gen, vol. mar. 30, 63, *recoked* apr. 18, 64; brig, gen, vol. apr. 18, 64; brig, gen, bvt, mar. 13, 65, "for gal, and betty battle of Booch Two, Coch Vu, and the accurate accurate Atlentic and mer, ser, in the battle of Peach Tree Creek, Ga., and in the campaign against Atlanta. Ga."; maj. gen. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. dur. the field dur. the war"; maj. gen. vol. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. dur. the war"; lt. col. eng. dec. 28, 65; must. out of vol. ser. jan. 31, 66; col. eng. june 30, 79.
- THOM, GEORGE, Mar. 31, 80. [Born in N. H.; appld. from M. A.]—
 Cadet july 1, 35; bvt. 21t. top. eng. july 1, 39; 24t. july 18, 40; 14t. sept. 26, 49; capt. july 1, 53; maj. sept. 9, 61; col. a. a. d. c. nov. 16, 61, acc. dec. 5, 61; trs. to eng. mar. 3, 63; bv. ecd. hvt. mar. 13, 65; 'for mer. ser. dur. the war"; col. bvt. and brig. gen. bvt. mar. 13; 65; 'for faith, and mer. ser.dur. the war"; must.out as col. a. a. d. e. may 31, 66; 1t. col. eng. july 10, 66; col. mar. 31, 80.

Lieutenant Colonels.

- RAYNOLDS, WHLLIAM F., Mar. 7, 67. [Born in Ohio; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 39; bvt. 24; 5 inf, july 1, 43; tis, to top, eng. july 20, 43; 24; mar. 3, 53; capt. july 1, 57; col. a, a, d, c, mar. 31, 62, acc, apr. 21, 62; maj, eng. mar. 3, 63; ht. col. bvt. and col. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith, and mer. ser. dnr. the war": brig. g cn. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for mer. ser. in the field dur, the war"; must out as col. a. a. d. c. may 31, 66; lt. col. eng. mar. 7, 67.
- STEWART, CHARLES S., Mar. 7, 67. [Born at sea; apptd. from. M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 42; 24t. eng. july 1, 46; 14t. july 1, 53; capt. july 1, 60; maj. mar. 3, 63; 14. col. byt. fcb. 25, 65, "for long, faith., and eff. ser."; col. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. dur. the war." declined; h. col. eng. mar. 7, 67.
- BLUNT, CHARLES E., Mar. 7, 67. (Born in N. H.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 42; bvt. 2 It, eng. july 1, 46; 2 It, icb. 28, 48; 1 It, icb. 2, 54; capt. july 1. 60; maj. mar. 3, 63; It, col. bvt. june 30, 66, "for long an t faith, ser."; col. bvt. june 30, 66, "for mer. ser. dur. the war"; It, col. eng. mar. 7, 67.
- DUANE, JAMES C., Mar. 7, 67. [Born in N. Y., apptd. from M. A.]-Cadet july 1, 44; byt. 2 lt. eng. july 1, 48; 2 lt. mar. 16, 53; 1 lt. july 1, 55; capt. 12 inf. may 14, 6J, declined: capt. eng. aug. 6, 61; maj. mar. 3, 63; lt. col. byt. and col. byt. july 6, "for mer. and faith, ser, in the field in the campaign from the Rapidan to the James, 64. and particularly for dis. professional ser. in the operations before Petersburg, Va." · brig. gen, byt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. dur. the siege of Petersburg, Va., and in the campaign terminating with the surrender of the insurgent army under Gen. Robt. E. Lee' '; It. col. eng. mar. 7, 67.

Lieutenant Colonels-Continued.

WILLIAMSON, ROBERT S., Feb. 22, 69. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from M. A.]-Cadet july 1, 44; bvt. 24; t. 69, eug. 1001 in 47; 17, appendix 34; A. 20, 56; capt. aug. 6, 61; maj. bvt. mar. 14, 62; "for gal, and mer. ser, in action at Newbern, N. C."; It. col. bvt. apr. 26, 62; "for gal, and mer. ser, in the siege of Fort Macon, N. C."; trs. to eng. mar. 3, 63; maj. may 7, 63; It. col. feb. 22, 69.

- GILLMORE, QUINCY A., Jan. 13, 74. [Born in Ohio; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 45; bvt. 2 lt. (ng. july 1, 49; 2 lt. sept. 5, 53; 1 lt. july 1, 56; capt. ang. 6, 61; lt. col. bvt. apr. 11, 62; "for gal. and mer. ser. in the capture of Fort Pulaski, Ga."; brig. gen. vol. apr. 28, 62, acc. may 9, 62; col. bvt. mar. 30, 63, "for gal. and mer. ser, in the battle of Somerset, Ky."; maj. eng. june 1, 63; maj. gen. vol. july 10, 63; "for the dis, skill, ability, and gallantry displayed in the operations under your (bis) charge in Charles. skul, ability, and gallantry displayed in the operations under your (his) charge in Charles-ton Harbory; the descent upon Morris Island; the reduction of Fort Sunter, and the taking of Fort Wagner and Battery Gregg", acc. sopt. 20,63; brig. gen. bvt. mar. 13,65, "for gal, and mer. ser, in the capture of Fort Wagner, S. C."; maj, gen. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal, and mer, ser, in the assault on Morris Island, S. C., july 10, 63, and the bombardment and demolition of Fort Sumter"; *resgd*, as maj, gen. vol. dec, 5, 65; lt. col. eng. jan. 13, 74.
- CASEY, THOMAS L., Sept. 2, 74. [Forn in N. Y.; apptd. from M. A.]--Cadet july 1, 48; bvt. 2 lt. eng. july 1, 52; 2 lt. june 22, 54; 1 lt. dec. I. 56; capt. ang. 6, 61; maj. oct. 2, 63; lt. col. byt. and col. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith, and mer. ser. dur. the war"; It. col. eng. sept. 2, 74.

MICHLER, NATHANIEL, Oct. 16, 77. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 44; byt. 24, top. eng. july 1, 48; 24, apr. 7, 54; 14, may 19, 56; capt. sept. 9, 61; tis, to eng. mar. 3, 63; maj. apr. 22, 64; lt. col. byt. ang. 1, 64, "for faith, and mer. ser. in the field"; col. byt. apr. 2, 65, "for gal, and mer. ser. dur. the siege of Petersburg, Ya."; brig, gen. byt. apr. 2, 65, "for gal, and mer. ser. dur. the war"; h. col. eng. oct. 16, 77.

PARKE, JOHN G., Mar. 4, 79. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 45; bvt. 2 lt. top. eng. july 1, 49; 2 lt. apr. 18, 54; 1 lt. july 1, 56; eapt. 13 inf. may 14, 61, declined; capt. top. eng. sept. 9, 61; brig. gen. vol. nov. 23, 61, acc. nov. 25, 61; It. col. byt. apr. 26, 62, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the capture of Fort Macon, N. C."; maj. gen. vol. july 18, 62, acc. ang. 1, 62; trs. to eng. mar. 3, 63; col. byt. july 12, 63, "for gal, and mer, ser, in the capture of Jackson, Miss."; maj. edg. june 17, 64; brig, gen. byt, mar, 13, 65, "for gal, and mer, ser, in the defence of Knoxville, Tenu."; maj. gen. byt, mar, 13, 65, "for gal, and mer, ser, in the repulse at Fort Steadman, Va."; *must, out of* vol. ser. jan. 15, 66; lt. col. eng. mar. 4, 79.

 WARREN, GOUVERNEUR K., Mar 4, 79. [Born in N. Y.; appid, from M. A.]—
 Cadet july 1, 46; bvt, 24; top, eng. july 1, 50; 24; sept. 1, 54; 14; july 1, 56; capt. 17
 inf, may 14, 61, declined ; H. col, 5 N. Y. vol, may 14, 61; capt. top, eng. sept. 9, 61; col, 5
 N. Y. vol, sept. 11, 61; H. col, bvt, june 27, 62; "for gal, and mer, ser, in the battle of Gaines' Mill, Va."; dischad, from vol, ser, sept. 26, 62; brig, gen. vol, sept. 26, 62; "for dis, cond, in the battle of Gaines' Mill," acc, sept. 27, 62; tus, to eng. mar, 3, 63; col, bvt, july 4, 63, "for gal, and mer, ser, in the battle of Getty, brig, gen. vol, sept. 20, 62; evol, may 3, 63, acc, ang, 8, 63; maj, eng, june 25, 64; brig, gen. bvt, mar, 13, 65, "for gal, and mer, ser, in the field fur, the war"; "read, con, of mai, ecr, vol, may 27, 55; it, col, evel, mar, 4, 79
 in the field dur. the war"; resgd. com. of maj. gen. vol. may 27, 65; lt. col. eng. mar. 4, 79.

MENDELL, GEORGE H., June 30, 79. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from M. A.]-

Cadet july 1, 48; bvt. 2 lt. top. eng. july 1, 52; 2 lt. mar. 3, 55; 1 lt. july 1, 56; capt. sept. 28, 61; trs. to eng. mar. 3, 63; 11, col. byt. ang. 15, 64, "for gal. and mer. ser. dur. the present campaign before Richmond Va.": maj. eng. ang. 15, 64; col. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. dur. the war"; 11, col. eng. june 30, 79.

ABBOT, HENRY L., Mar. 31, 80. [Born in Mass.; appid. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 50: bvt 2 lt. top. eng. july 1, 54; 2 lt. oct. 2, 55: 1 lt. july 1, 57; capt. bvt. july 21. 61, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Bull Run, Va."; maj. bvt. may 4, 62, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the size of Vorkiown, Va."; capt. eng. june 18, 62; col. 1 Conn. art. jan. 19, 63; trs. to eng. mar. 3, 63; brig. gen. vol. bvt. ang. 1, 64, "for gal. and distribution in the battle of and are ser. by the battle of bull run, Va."; capt. eng. 1, born battle of ba dis. ser. in the operations before Richmond, and especially in the lines before Petersburg, Va."; H. Col. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. dur. the size of Petersburg, Va."; col. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. dur. the size of Petersburg, Va."; "for gal. and mer. ser. in the field dur. the war"; maj. gen. vol. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. dur. the war"; *must. out* of vol. ser. sept. 25, 65; maj. eng. nov. 11, 65; H. col. mar. 31, 80.

Majors.

- CRAIGHILL, WILLIAM P., Nov. 23, 65. [Born in Va.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 49; bvt. 2 lt. eng. july 1, 53; 2 lt. mar. 3, 55; 1 lt. july 1, 59; capt. mar. 3, 63; lt. col. bvt. mar. 13, 65; "for faith. and mer. ser. dur. the war, and particularly for his services in the defence of Cumberland Gap and the ulterior operations of Gen. Morgan's forces"; col. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. dur. the war," declined; maj. eng. nov. 23, 65,

COMSTOCK, CYRUS B., Dec. 28, 65. [Born in Mass.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 51; bvt. 21t. eng. july 1, 55; 21t. sept. 1, 55; 11t. july 1, 60; capt. mar. 3, 63; maj. bvt. july 4, 63, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the siege of Vicksburg, Miss."; it. col. a. i. g. [act july 17, 62] nov. 19, 63, to mar. 28, 64; lt. col. a. d. e. to the Lt. Gen. mar. 29, 64; lt. col. bvt. may 6, 64, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of the Wilderness, Va."; col. bvt. jan. 15, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser, in the capture of Fort Fisher, N. C."; col. vol. bvt. and brig. gen. vol. bvt. jan. 15, 65, "for gal. ser, in the capture of Fort Fisher"; brig. byt, and brig, gen. vol. byt, jan. 15, 65, ⁺ for gal. ser. In the capping of Folt Fisher⁺; brig, gen. byt, mar. 13, 65, ⁺ for gal. and mer. ser. in the campaign ending with the capping of Mobile, Ala.⁺; maj, gen. vol. byt, mar. 26, 65, ⁺ for faith, and mer. ser. dur, the campaign against the city of Mobile and its defences⁺; maj, eng. dec. 28, 65; *relieved* as lt. col. a. d. c. july 24, 66; col. a. d. c. to the Gen. july 25, 66; *relieved* as col. a. d. c. may 3, 70.

WEITZEL, GODFREY, Aug. 8, 66. [Born in Ohio; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 51; bvt. 2 lt. eng. july 1, 55; 2 lt. july 27, 56; 1 lt. july 1, 60; brig. gen. vol. ang. 29, 62, acc. sept. 15, 62; maj. bvt. oct. 27, 62, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Thibodeaux, La."; capt. eng. mar. 3, 63; lt. col. bvt. july 8, 63, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the capture of Port Hudson, La."; maj. gen. vol. bvt. ang. 26, 64, "for mer. and dis. ser. dur. the war"; col. bvt. sept. 29, 64, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the capture of Fort Har-rison, Va."; maj. gen. vol. nov. 17, 64, acc. nov. 21, 64; brig. gen. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the campare to the suprender of the insurgent array and mer. ser. in the campaign terminating with the surrender of the insurgent army under Gen. Robt. E. Lee'; maj. gen. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the field during the war"; *must. out* of vol. ser. mar. 1, 66; maj. eng. aug. 8, 66.

POE, ORLANDO M., Mar. 7, 67. [Born in Ohio; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet sept. 1, 52; bvt. 2 lt. top. eng. july 1, 56; 2 lt. oct. 7, 56; 1 lt. july 1, 60; col. 2 Mich. vol. sept. 16, 61; dischood, feb. 16, 63; brig. gen. vol. nov. 29, 62, acc. feb. 16, 63; capt. eng. mar. 3, 63; appt. of brig. gen. vol. exp. by con. lin. mar. 4, 63; mail. bvt. july 6, 64, "for gal. ser. in the siege of Knoxville"; lt. col. bvt. sept. 1, 64, "for gal. ser. in the capture of Atlanta"; col. bvt. dec. 21, 64, "for gal. ser. in the capture of Savannah"; brig. gen. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the campaign terminating with the surren-der of the insurgent army under Gen. J. E. Johnston"; maj. eng. mar. 7, 67; col. a. d. c. to the Gen. jan. 1, 73.

- HOUSTON, DAVID C., Mar. 7, 67. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 52; bvt. 2 H. eng. july 1, 56; 2 H. oct. 3), 56; 1 H. may 2, 61; maj. a. a, d. e. may 16, 62, acc. may 20, 62; capt. bvt. aug. 10, 62, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Cedar Mountain, Va."; maj. bvt. sept. 17, 62, "for gal. and mer. ser. dur. the Maryland campaign"; capt. eng. mar. 3, 63; 1L. col. bvt. june 17, 63, "for gal. and mer. ser. in ac-tion at Port Hudson, La."; col. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. dur. the war"; must. out as maj. a, a. d. e. may 31, 66; maj. eng. mar. 7, 67.
- ELLIOT, GEORGE H., Mar. 7, 67. [Born in Mass.; apptd. from M. A.]-Cadet july 1, 51; bvt. 2 lt. 4 art. july 1, 55; 2 lt. 1 art. july 1, 55; trs. to eng. jan. 26, 57; 1 lt. aug. 3, 61; capt. mar. 3, 63; maj. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for mer. ser. dur. the war"; maj. eng. mar. 7, 67.
- ROBERT, HENRY M., Mar. 7, 67. [Born in S. C.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 53; bvt. 2 lt. eng. july 1, 57; 2 lt. dec. 13, 58, 1 lt. aug. 3, 61; capf. mar. 3, 63; maj. mar. 7, 67.
- MERRILL, WILLIAM E., Mar. 7, 67. [Born in Wis.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 54; byt. 2 lt. eng. july 1, 59; 2 lt. feb. 20, 61; 1 lt. aug. 6, 61; capt. byt. apr. Catter July 1, 54; by 2, 21, eng. July 1, 59; 24, 16). 29, 61; 14; aug. 6, 61; Capt. by 7, apr. 16, 62, "for gal, and mer. cond. in an engagement with the enemy before Vorktown, Va."; capt. eng. mar. 3, 63; maj. byt. sept. 19, 63, "for faith, and mer. ser. in the battle of Chicka-mauga, Ga."; col. 1 U. S. vet. vol. eng. aug. 30, 64; lt. col. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith, and mer. ser. in the battles of Lookout Mountain and Missionary Ridge, Tenn."; col. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith, and mer. ser. in the battles of Resaca and New Hope Church, Ga."; must. out of vol. ser. sept. 26, 65; maj. eng. mar. 7, 67.

1881

Majors-Continued.

- MCFARLAND, WALTER, Mar. 7, 67. [Born in N. J.; apptd. from M. A.]-Cadet july 1, 55; bvt. 2 lt. eng. july 1, 60; 2 lt. may 1, 61; 1 lt. ang. 6, 61; capt. bvt. nov.
- 23, 61, "for gal, and mer, ser, dur, the bombardment of Fort Pickens, Fla."; capt. eng. mar. 3, 63; maj. byt. apr. 11, 65, "for able, zealons, and eff. ser, in the operations un-dertaken against Charleston, S. C., in 1863"; lt. col. a. a. g. [act july 17, 62] june 2, 65, to aug. 1,65; maj. eng. mar. 7, 67.
- BABCOCK, ORVILLE E., Mar. 21, 67. [Born in Vt.; apptd. from M. A.]-
- COC(A, ORVILLE E., Mar. 21, 67. [Born in VI.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 56; bvt. 24, eng. may 6, 61; 24, may 6, 61; 1–1, nov. 17, 61; capt. bvt. may 4, 62, "for gal, and mer. ser, dur. the slege of Yorktown, Va."; 1, eol. a. i. g. [act july 17, 62] jan, 1, 63; capt, eng. june 1, 63; maj, bvt. nov. 29, 63, "for gal, and mer. ser, dur. the slege of Knoxville, Tenn."; *relieved* as ft, eol. a. i. g. [act july 17, 62] mar. 28, 64; 1, col. a. d. e. to the Lt. Gen. mar. 29, 64; 1), eol. bvt. may 6, 64, "for gal, and mer. ser, in the battle of the Wilderness, Va."; eol. vol. bvt. feb, 24, 65, "for faith, and mer, ser," is coll bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal, and mer, ser, dur, the war"; *relieved* as 1, eol. a. d. e. july 24, 66; "for gal, and mer, ser, in the field dur, the war"; *relieved* as 1, eol. a. d. e. july 24, 66; col. a. d. e. to the Gen, july 25, 66; maj, eng. nar, 21, 67; *relieved* as col. a. d. e. mar. 4, 69; col, sut. hublic buildines mar. 3, 75. col. supt. public buildings mar. 3, 73, to mar. 3, 77.
- WILSON, JOHN M., June 9, 67. [Born in D. C.; apptd. from M. A.]--Cadet july 4, 55; byt. 2 lt. 1 art. july 1, 60; fis. to ord. oct. 9, 60; frs. to 1 art. jan. 14, 61; 2 lt. 2 art. jan. 28, 61; 1 lt. may 14, 61; capt. bvt. june 27, 62, " for gal. and mer. ser. in the 246. 2 art. Jan. 28, 61; 744, may 14, 61; eapl. byt. june 22, 62; "for gal, and mer. ser. in the battle of Gaines' Mill, Va."; traj. byt. july 1, 62; "for gal, and mer. ser. in the battle of Malvern Hill, Va."; trs. to top, eng. july 24, 62; trs. to eng. mar. 3, 65; eapl. june 1, 63; h. col. a. i. g. [act july 17, 62] may 26, 64; col. vol. byt. mar. 26, 65, "for faith, and mer. ser. dur, the campaign against the city of Mobile and its defences"; ht. col. hyt. apr. 8, 65, "for gal, and mer. ser, a tSpanish Fort, Mobile Harbor, Ala."; col. byt. apr. 8, 65, "for gal, and mer. ser, a tSpanish Fort and Fort Blakely, Ala."; reliered as ht. apr. 4, 65, "for gal, and mer. 5, col. byt. col. a. i. g. [act july 17, 62] aug. 1, 65; maj. eng. june 3, 67.
- HARWOOD, FRANKLIN, Feb. 22, 69. [Born in R. I.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 56; 241, 3 art, may 6, 61; 141, may 14, 61; trs. to top, eng. july 24, 62; trs. to eng. mar. 3, 63; capt. june 5, 63; maj. byt. aug. 1, 64, "for gal, and mer. ser. dur, the present campaign before Richmond, Va."; it. col. byt. apr. 9, 65, "for faith, and mer. ser. dur. the recent operations resulting in the fall of Richmond, Va., and the surrender of the insurgent atmy under Gen. Robt. E. Lee "; maj. eng. feb. 22, 69.
- BARLOW, JOHN W., Apr. 23, 69. [Dorn in N. Y.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 56; 24t, 2 art, may 6, 61; 14t, may 15, 61; capt. bvt, may 27, 62, bf or gal, and mer. ser. in the battle of Hanover C. H., Va.?; trs. to top, eng. july 24, 62; trs. to eng. mar. 3, 63; capt. july 3, 63; capt. bvt, july 22, 64. bf or gal, and mer ser, in the Atlanta campaign "; It, col. bvt, mar. 13, 65, bf for gal, and mer, ser, in the battles before and mer. ser. in the battle of hanover (13, 65, bf for gal, and mer, ser, in the battles before Nashville, Tenn."; maj. eng. apr. 23, 69.
- HAINS, PETER C., Sept. 22, 70. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 57; 241, 2 art. june 24, 61; 14, june 24, 64; capt. byt. may 27, 62. "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Planoyer C.H., Va.": 41s. to top, eng. july 24, 62; frs. to eng. Miss."; capt. eng. july 4, 63; "for gal. and mer. ser. during the siege of Vicksburg. Miss."; capt. eng. july 4, 63; It. col. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. dur. the war"; maj. eng. sept. 22, 70.
- FARQUIAR, FRANCIS U., July 11, 71. [Born in Pa.: apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 57; byt. 24t. eng. june 24, 61; 24t. june 29, 61; 14t. byt. may 5, 62, "for gal, and mer. ser. in the battle of Williamsburg, Va."; 14t. eng. mar. 3, 63; capt. aug. 1, 63; maj. byt. june 1, 64, "for gal, and mer. ser. in the battle of Cold Harbor, Va."; 1t. col. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal, and mer. ser. dur, the war"; maj. eng. july 11, 71.
- GILLESPIE, GEORGE L., Sept. 5, 71. [Born in Tenn.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 58; 2 lt. eng. june 17, 62; 1 lt. mar. 3, 63; capt. apr. 22, 64; maj. bvt. ang. 1, 64, "for gal. and mer. ser. dur. the present campaign before Richmond, Va."; lt. col. bvt. apr. 9, 65, " for gal. and mer. ser. in the campaign from Winchester to Appomattox C. IL, Va."; maj. eng. sept. 5, 71.
- SUTER, UHARLES R., Oct. 10, 71. [Form in N. Y.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 58; 24t. eng. june 17, 62; 14t. mar. 3, 65; capt. bvt. july 18, 63, "for gal, and mer. ser. dur. the siege of Morris Island, S. C."; capt. eng. june 17, 64; maj. bvt. mar. 13, 65,
 - " for faith, and mer, ser, dur, the war"; maj. eng. oct. 10, 71.
- SMITH, JARED A., Jan. 13, 74. [Born in Me.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 58; 21t. eng. june 17, 62; 11t. bvt. aug. 9, 62. "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Cedar Mountain, Va."; 11t. eng. mar. 3, 63; capt. june 25, 64; maj. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the war of the rebellion"; maj. eng. jan. 13, 71.

- MANSFIELD, SAMUEL M., Sept. 2, 74. [Born in Conn.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet.july 1, 58; 2 lt. eng. june 17, 62; col. 24 Conn. vol. nov. 18, 62; 1 lt. eng. mar. 3, 63; capt. bvt. june 14, 63, "for gal. and mer. ser. in action at Port Hudson, La."; must.out of vol. ser. sept. 30, 63; capt. eng. ang. 15, 64; maj. bvt. and lt. col. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. dur. the war"; maj. eng. sept. 2, 74.
- TWINING, WILLIAM J., Oct. 16, 77. [Born in Ind.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 59; 1 lt. eng. june 11, 63; expt. a. d. e. vol. june 30, 64, ace. aug. 10, 64; capt. bvt. dec. 16, 64, "for gal. and mer. ser. in artion dur. the siege of Nashville, Tenn."; maj. vol. bvt. and lt. col. vol. bvt. jan. 26, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. dur. the late campaign in Georgia and Tennessee"; maj. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. dur. the war"; resgd. vol. com. aug. 30, 65; capt. eng. dec. 28, 65; maj. oct. 16, 77.
- KING, WILLIAM R., Mar. 4, 79. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from M. A.]-Cadet july 1.59; 11, eng. june 11,63; capt. bvt. dec. 1,64, "for gal. and mer. ser. dur. the campaign of 1864 in the district of North Carolina"; maj. bvt. apr. 9,65, "for gal. cond. in the field"; capt. eng. dec. 31,65; maj. mar. 4,79.
- BENYAURD, WILLIAM H. H., Mar. 4, 79. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 59; 1 H. eng. june 11, 63; capt. bvt. aug. 1, 64, "for gal. and mer. ser. dur. the present campaign before Richmond, Va."; maj. bvt. apr. 1, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Five Forks, Va."; capt. eng. may 1, 66; maj. mar. 4, 79.
- HOWELL, CHARLES W., June 30, 79. [Born in Ind.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet sept. 1, 59: 1 H. eug. june H, 63; capt. bvt. ang. 1, 64, "for gal. and mer. ser. dur. the present campaign before Richmond, Va."; maj. bvt. aug. 1, 64, "for gal. and mer. ser. dur. the campaign from the Rapidan to the James, and in front of Petersburg, Va."; capt. eng. july 10, 66; maj. june 30, 79.
- LYDECKER, GARRETT J., Mar. 31, 80. [Born in N. J.; apptd. from M. A.]--Cadet sept. 1, 60: 1 lt. eng. june 13, 64; capt. bvt. apr. 2, 65, "for gal. and mer.-ser. in the siege of Petersburg, Va."; capt. eng. ang. 8, 66; maj. mar. 31, 80.

Captains.

- STICKNEY, AMOS, Mar. 7, 67. [Born in Mo.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 60; 1 lt. eng. june 13, 64; capt. bvt. dec. 21, 64, "for zeal and eff. in the discharge of his duties with the army of the Tennessee dur. the campaign in Georgia in 1864"; maj. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith, and mer. ser. dur. the campaign through Georgia and the Carolinas"; capt. eng. mar. 7, 67.
- CUYLER, JAMES W., Mar. 7, 67. [Born in D. C.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 60; 1 lt. eng. june 13, 64; capt. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith. and mer. ser. dur. the war"; capt. eng. mar. 7, 67.
- MACKENZIE, ALEXANDER, Mar. 7, 67. [Born in Wis.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet sept. 1, 60; 1 lt. eng. june 13, 64; capt. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. dur. the war"; capt. eng. mar. 7, 67.
- ERNST, OSWALD H., Mar. 7, 67. [Born in Ohio; apptd. from M. A.]-Cadet july 1, 60; 1 lt. eng. june 13, 64; capt. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith. and mer. ser.": capt. eng. mar. 7, 67.
- HEAP, DAVID P., Mar. 7, 67. [Born in Asia; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 60; 1 lt. eng. june 13, 64; capt. bvt. apr. 2, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. dur. the siege of Petersburg, Va."; capt. eng. mar. 7, 67.
- LUDLOW, WILLIAM, Mar. 7, 67. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 60; 1 lt. eng. june 13, 64; capt. bvt. july 20, 64, "for gal. and mer. ser, in the defence of Allatona Pass"; maj. bvt. dec. 21, 64, "for mer. ser, in the campaign thro. Georgia in 1864"; lt. col. bvt. nar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. cond. in the campaign of the Carolinas"; capt. eng. mar. 7, 67.
- PHILLIPS, CHARLES B., Mar. 7, 67. [Born in Mass.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 60; 1 H. eng. june 13, 64; capt. bvt. apr. 9, 65, "for faith, and mer. ser. dur. the recent operations resulting in the fall of Richmond, Va., and the surrender of the insurgent army under Gen. Robt. E. Lee"; capt. eng. mar. 7, 67.
- JONES, WILLIAM A., Mar. 7, 67. [Born in Mo.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 60; 1 lt. eng. june 13, 64; capt. mar. 7, 67.
- DAMRELL, ANDREW N., Mar. 7, 67. [Born in Mass.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 60; 1 lt. eng. june 13, 64; capt. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for mer. ser. in the battle of Franklin, Tenn."; maj. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for mer. ser. in the battles before Nashville, Tenn."; capt. eng. mar. 7, 67.

- ALLEN, CHARLES J., Mar. 7, 67. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 60; 1 lt. eng. june 13, 64; capt. byt. aug. 24, 64, "for highly mer. ser. in the sieges of Forts Gaines and Morgan, Ala."; maj. byt. mar. 26, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. dur. the campaign against the city of Mobile and its defences"; capt. eng. mar. 7, 67.
- RAYMOND, CHARLES W., Mar. 21, 67. [Born in Conn.; apptd. from M. A.]-
 - Cadet july 1, 61; 1 lt. eng. june 23, 65; capt. mar. 21, 67.
- OVERMAN, LEWIS C., June 3, 67. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from M. A.]-

Cadet july 1, 61; 1 lt. eng. june 23, 65; capt. june 3, 67.

- MILLER, ALEXANDER M., Feb. 22, 69. [Born in D. C.; apptd. from M. A.]-
- Cadet july 1, 61; 1 lt. eng. june 23, 65; capt. leb. 22, 69.
- ADAMS, MILTON B., Jan. 6, 70. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from M. A.]-Cadet sept. 1, 61; 1 lt. eng. june 23, 65; capt. jan. 6, 70.
- LIVERMORE, WILLIAM R., Jan. 22, 70. [Born in Mass.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 61; 14t. eng. june 23, 65; capt. jan. 22, 70.
- HEUER, WILLIAM H., Sept. 22, 70. [Born in Mo.: apptd. from M.A.]-Cadet sept. 1, 61; 1 ht eng. june 23, 65; capt. sept. 22, 70; batt. adj't june 16, 71, to june 17, 72.
- STANTON, WILLIAM S., Feb. 14, 71. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 61; 1 lt eng. june 23, 65; capt. feb. 14, 71.
- HANDBURY, THOMAS H., Sept. 5,71. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 61; 24t. 2 art. june 23, 65; trs. to eng. may 1, 66; 14t. may 1, 66; capt. sept. 5,71.
- POST, JAMES C., Oct. 10, 71. [Born in N.Y.; apptd. from M.A.]-
- Cadet july 1, 61; 2 lt. 5 art, june 23, 65; trs. to eng. may 1, 66; 1 lt. may 1, 66; hatt. adj't june 17, 72, to sept. 13, 72; capt. oct. 10, 71.
- GREGORY, JAMES F., Jan. 13, 74. [Born in N.Y.; apptd. from M.A.]-Cadet july 1, 61; 2 lt. 5 art. june 23, 65; trs. to eng. may 1, 66; 1 lt. may 1, 66; capt. jan. 13, 74.
- ADAMS, HENRY M., Sept. 2, 74. [Born in Mass.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 62; 2 lt. eng. june 18, 66; 1 lt. july 10, 66; capt. sept. 2, 74.
- MERCUR, JAMES, Dec. 9, 75. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from M. A.]--Cadet july 1, 62; 24t. eng. june 18, 66; 1–1t. mar. 7, 67; batt. adj't sept. 13, 72, to feb. 20, 76; capt. dec. 9, 75.
- DAVIS, CHARLES E. L. B., Sept. 12, 77. [Born in Conn.; apptd. from M. A.]-Cadet july 1, 62; 2 It. eng. june 18, 66; 1 lt. mar. 7, 67; batt. qm. may 1, 71, to oct. 21, 72; capt. sept. 12, 77.
- GREENE, BENJAMIN D., Oct. 16, 77. [Born in Mass.: apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 62; 2 lt. eng. june 18, 66; 1 lt. mar. 7, 67; batt. qm. feb. 14, 74, to sept. 2, 76; batt. adj't dec. 11, 76, to july 6, 78; capt. oct. 16, 77.
- WHEELER, GEORGE M., Mar. 4, 79. [Born in Mass.; apptd. from M. A.]-Cadet july 1, 62; 2 lt. eng. june 18, 66; 1 lt. mar. 7, 67; capt. mar. 4, 79.
- QUINN, JAMES B., Mar. 4, 79. [Born in Ohio; apptd. from M. A.]-Cadet july 1, 62; 2 lt. eng. june 18, 66; batt. qm. dec. 22, 76, to feb. 29, 80; 1 lt. mar. 7, 67; capt. mar. 4, 79.
- LOCKWOOD, DANIEL W., June 30, 79. [Born in N. Y.: apptd. from M. A.]-
- Cadet july 1, 62; 2 lt. eng. june 18, 66; 1 lt. mar. 7, 67; capt. june 30, 79.
- RUFFNER, ERNEST H., Oct. 31, 79. [Born in Ky.; apptd. from M. A.]-Cadet july 1, 63; 2 lt. eng. june 17, 67; 1 lt. june 17, 67; capt. oct. 31, 79.
- MALLERY, JOHN C., Mar. 31, 80. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet sept. 1, 63; 24t. eng. june 17, 67; 14t. june 17, 67; batt. adj't july 26, 78, to mar. 31,
- 80; capt. mar. 31, 80.
- SEARS, CLINTON B., Apr. 9, 80. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from M. A.]— Pvt. co. G. 95 Ohio vol. july 24, 62; corpl. aug. 19, 62; discludd. sept. 20, 63; cadet sept. 16, 63; 2 lt. eng. june 17, 67; 1 lt. june 17, 67; capt. apr. 9, 80.

First Lieutenants.

- TURTLE, THOMAS, Aug. 13, 67. [Born in Ireland; apptd. from M. A.]-
 - Cadet july 1, 63; 2 lt. eng. june 17, 67; 1 lt. aug. 13, 67.
- MAGUIRE, EDWARD, Feb. 15, 69. [Born in Tenn.; apptd. from M. A.]-
 - Cadet sept. 29, 63; 2 lt. eng. june 17, 67; batt. adj t dee. 7, 68, to may 1, 71; 1 lt. feb. 15, 69.

- MAHAN, FREDERICK A., Feb. 22, 69. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from M. Δ.]— Cadet july 1, 63; 2 lt. eng. june 17, 67; 1 lt. feb. 22, 69.
- POWELL, CHARLES F., Apr. 23, 69. [Born in III.; apptd. from M. A.]— Pyt. co. B. 5 Wis, vol. may 10, 61; corpl. aug. 1, 63; sergt. mej. 5 Wis, vol. sept. 4, 63; dischad. sept. 28, 63; cadet sept. 29, 63; 24t. eng. june 17, 67; batt. qm. may 2, 68, to may 1, 71; 1 lt. apr. 23, 69.
- HINMAN, FREDERICK A., Oct. 1, 69. [Born in Mich.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet sept. 29, 63; 24t. eng. june 17, 67; 44t. oct. 1, 69; batt. adj't may 1, 71, to june 16, 71.
- PAXSON, ALBERT H., Jan. 6, 70. [Born in Mass.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 64; 24t. eng. june 15, 68; 14t. jan. 6, 70; batt. qm. nov. 30, 72, to feb. 14, 74.
- KNIGHT, JOHN G. D., Jan. 22, 70. [Born in Engl'd; apptd. from M. A.]-Cadet sept. 1, 64; 2 lt. eng. june 15, 68; 1 lt. jan. 22, 70.
- HOXIE, RICHARD L., Sept. 22, 70. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from M. A.]— Bugler co. F, 1 Iowa cav. june 13, 61; pvt. apr. 15, 63; corpl. june 1, 63; dischyd. june 9, 64; cadet july 1, 64; 2 lt. eng. june 15, 68; 1 lt. sept. 22, 70.
- MARSHALL, WILLIAM L., June 21, 71. [Born in Ky.: apptd. from M. A.]--Pyt. co. A, 10 Ky. cay. aug. 16, 62; dischad. sept. 17, 63; cadet sept. 1, 64; byt. 2 lt. euz. june 15, 68; 2 lt. fcb. 22, 69; 1 lt. june 21, 71.
- WILLARD, JOSEPH II., July 11, 71. [Born in III.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 64; byt. 2 tt. eng. june 15, 68; 2 tt. apr. 23, 69; 1 lt. july 11, 71.
- BERGLAND, ERIC, June 10, 72. [Born in Sweden : apptd. from M. A.]— 2 lt. 57 lll. vol dec. 26, 61; 1 lt. 57 lll. vol. july 20, 62; must. out. july 7, 65; cadet july 1, 65;
- 2 lt. 5 art. june 15, 69; trs. to eng. june 10, 72; 1 lt. june 10, 72.
- PRICE, PHILIP M., Sept. 30, 73. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 65; 2 lt. 2 art, june 15, 69; trs. to eng. june 10, 72; 1 lt. sept. 30, 73.
- GREENE, FRANCIS V., Jan. 13, 74. [Born in R. I.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet sept. 1, 66; 24t. 4 art. june 15, 70; trs. to eng. june 10, 72; 14t. jan. 13, 74.
- PALFREY, CARL F., Sept. 2, 74. [Born in Mass.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet oct. 17, 65; 24k, 1 art. june 15, 70; trs. to eng. june 10, 72; 14k. sept. 2, 74.
- BIXBY, WILLIAM H., Dec. 9, 75. [Born in Mass.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 69; 2 lt. eng. june 13, 73; 1 lt. dec. 9, 75.
- TABER, HENRY S., Jan. 29, 77. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 69; 2 lt. eng. june 13, 73; batt. qm. sept. 2, 76, to dec. 22, 76; 1 lt. jan. 29, 77.
- ROSSELL, WILLIAM T., Sept. 12, 77. [Born in Ala.; apptl. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 69; 2 lt. eng. june 13, 73; 1 lt. sept. 12, 77.
- BAILEY, THOMAS N., Oct. 16, 77. [Born in Tenn.; apptd. from M.A.]-Cadet july 1, 69; 2 lt. eng. june 13, 73; 1 lt. oet. 16, 77.
- SYMONS, THOMAS W., May 2, 78. [Born in N. Y. ; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet sept. 1, 70; 2 lt. eng. june 17, 74; 1 lt. may 2, 78.

- LEACH, SMITH S., Mar. 4, 79. [Born in Ind.; appid. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 71; 2 lt. eng. june 16, 75; batt. adj't sept. 14, 76, to dec. 11, 76; 1 lt. mar. 4, 79.
- KINGMAN, DAN C., Mar. 4, 79. [Born in N. H.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 70; 2 lt. eng. june 16, 75; 1 lt. mar. 4, 79.
- GRIFFIN, EUGENE, June 30, 79. [Born in Me.; apptd. from M. A.]-
- Cadet july 1, 71; 2 lt. eng. june 16, 75; 1 lt. june 30, 79; batt. qm. feb. 29, 80.
- YOUNG, WILLARD, Oct. 31, 79. [Born in Utah; apptd. from M. A.]-
- Cadet july 1, 71; 2 lt. eng. june 16, 75; 1 lt. oct. 31, 79.
- BLACK, WILLIAM M., Mar. 31, 80. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 73; 2 lt. eng. june 15, 77; 1 lt. mar. 31, 80.
- FISK, WALTER L., Apr. 9, 80. [Born in ill.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet sept. 1, 73; 2 lt. eng. june 15, 77; batt. adj't mar. 31, 80, to sept. 14, 80; 1 lt. apr. 9, 80.
- ROESSLER, SOLOMON W., Dec. 31, 80. [Born in Ill.; apptd. from M. A.]-Cadet sept. 1, 73; 2 lt. eng. june 15, 77; 1 lt. dec. 31, 80.

Second Lieutenants.

DERBY, GEORGE McC., June 14, 78. [Born at sea; apptd. from M.A.] Cadet july 1, 74; 2 lt. eng. june 14, 78.

Second Lieutenants-Continued.

- LUSK, JAMES L., June 14, 78. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet sept. 1, 74; 24t. eng. june 14, 78.
- ABBOT, FREDERIC V., June 13, 79. [Born '58 in Mass.; apptd. from M. A.]-Cadet july 1, 75; 2 lt. eng. june 13, 79.
- CASEY, THOMAS L., JR., June 13, 79. [Born '57 in N. Y.; apptd. from M. A.]-Cadet july 1, 75; 2 lt. eng. june 13, 79.
- BINGHAM, THEODORE A., June 13, 79. [Born '58 in Coun.; appld. from M.A.]— Cadet sept. 1, 75; 21t. eng. june 13, 79.
- TOWNSEND, CURTIS McD., June 30, 79. [Born '56 in N. Y.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 75; add. 2 lt. eng. june 33, 79; 2 lt. june 30, 79.
- FIEBEGER, GUSTAV J., Oct. 31, 79. [Born 58 in Ohio; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 75; add. 2 lt. eng. june 13, 79; 2 lt. oct. 31, 79
- CARTER, OBERLIN M., June 12, 80. [Born '56 in Ohio; apptd. from M. A.]-Cadet june 14, 76; 2 lt. eng. june 12, 80.
- GOETHALS, GEORGE W., June 12, 80. [Born '58 in N.Y.; apptd. from M.A.]-Cadet june 14, 76; 2 lt. eng. june 12, 80.

ORDNANCE DEPARTMENT.

CHIEF OF ORDNANCE.

With rank of Brigadier General.

BENÉT, STEPHEN V., June 29, 74. [Born in Fla.: apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 45: byt. 2 lt. ord. july 1, 49: 2 lt. july 10, 51: 1 lt. july 1, 53: capt. aug. 3 61: maj. byt. and lt. col. byt. mar. 13, 65. [For fuith and mer. ser, in the ord. dept.]; maj. ord. dec. 22, 66; brig. gen. chf. of ord. june 23, 74, acc. june 25, 74.

Culunels

- HAGNER, PETER V., Mar. 7, 67. [Dorn in D. C.: apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 32; bvt. 2 lt. 1 art. july 1, 36; 2 lt. aug. 6, 36; 2 lt. ord. july 9, 38; 1 lt. may
 - 22, 40; capt. byt. apr. 18, 47, "for gal, and mer, cond, in the battle of Cerro Gordo"; mai, byt, sept. 13, 47, " for gal, and mer, cond, in the battle of Chapultepec": capt, ord, july 10, 51; maj, aug. 3, 61; lt. col. june 1, 63; col. byt. and brig. gen. byt. mar. 13, 65, faith, and mer. ser. in the ord, dept."; col. ord. mar. 7, 67.
- LAIDLEY, THEODORE T. S. Apr. 14, 75. [Born in Va.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 38: byt. 2 lt. ord. july 4, 42: 1 lt. mar. 3, 47: capt. byt. apr. 18, 47, "for gal, and mer. cond. in the battle of Cerro Gordo"; maj. byt. oct. 12, 47. "for gal, and mer. cond. in the defence of Puebla"; capt. ord, july 1, 56: maj. june 1, 63; ht col. byt. and col. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith, and mer. ser, in the ord. dept."; ht col. ord, mar. 7, 67; col. apr. 14, 75. apr. 14, 75.
- BENTON, JAMES G., May 29, 79. [Born in N. H.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 38; byt. 2 lt. ord. july 1, 42; 2 lt. mar. 3, 47; 1 lt. mar. 25, 48; capt. july 1, 56; maj. sept. 15, 63; lt. col. byt. and col. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith, ser, in the ord. dept. ; lt. col. ord. june 23, 74; col. may 29, 79.

Lieutenant Colonels.

- MCALLISTER, JULIAN, June 23, 74. [Born in N. V.: apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 43; 24t, 2 art, july 1, 47; trs. to ord. apr. 13, 48; 14t. mar. 3, 53; capt, july 1, 61; maj. byt. and 4t. col. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith, and mer. ser. in the ord, dept."; col. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for zeal, ability, and faithfulness in the discharge of his duties as senior ord. officer in the dept. of the Pacific"; maj. ord. apr. 6, 66; lt. col. june 23, 74.
- CRISPIN, SILAS, Apr. 14, 75. [Born in Pa.: apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 46: bvt. 2 lt. ord. july 1, 50: 2 lt. oct. 31, 51: 1 lt. july 1, 54: capt. aug. 3, 61; maj. bvt. and lt. col. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith, and mer. ser. in the ord, dept."; col. byt, mar. 13, 65, " for faith, and mer. ser. in the ord, dept. dur. the war"; maj. ord, mar. 7, 67; lt, col. apr. 14, 75.
- BAYLOR, THOMAS G., May 29, 79. [Born in Va.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 53; bvt. 2 lt. ord. july 1, 57; 2 lt. jan. 25, 61; 1 lt. feb. 1, 61; capt. 12 mf. may 14, 61, declined; capt. ord. mar. 3, 63; maj. bvt. sept. 1, 64. "for gal. ser. in the capt. nue of Atlania": It. col. bvt. dec. 21, 64, "for gal. ser. in the capture of Savannah": col. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for mer. ser. in the recent campaigns of Atlanta, Savannah, and the Carolinas"; maj. ord. mar. 7, 67; lt. col. may 29, 79.

WHITTEMORE, JAMES M., Aug. 2, 79. [Born in Mass.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 55; byt. 2 lt. 2 art, july 1, 60; 2 lt. 3 art, sept. 27, 60; trs. to ord. may 5, 61; 1 lt. july 1, 61; capt. mar. 3, 63; maj. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for mer. ser, in the ord. dept. dur, the war"; maj. ord. june 23, 74; lt. col. ang. 2, 79.

Majors.

- BUFFINGTON, ADELBERT R., June 23, 74. [Born in Va.; apptd. from M. A.]-Cadet july 1, 56; bvt. 2 lt. ord. may 6, 61; 2 lt. may 14, 61; 1 lt. july 22, 61; capt. mar. 3, 63; maj. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith. and mer. ser. in the ord. dept."; maj. ord. june 23, 74.
- FLAGLER, DANIEL W., June 23, 74. [Born in N. Y.; appid. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 56; bvf. 2 lt. ord. june 24, 61; 2 lt. june 24, 61; 1 lt. aug. 3, 61; capf. bvf. mar. 14, 62, "for gal. and mer. ser, in the battle of Newbern, N. C."; maj. bvf. apr. 26, 62, "for gal, and mer. ser. in the siege of Fort Macon, N. C."; capt. ord, mar. 3, 63; it. col. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for dis. ser. in the field and faith. ser. in the ord. dept. dur. the war"; maj. ord. june 23, 74.
- MORDECAI, ALFRED, June 23, 74. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 57; bvt. 21t. top. eng. june 24, 61; 24t. aug. 3, 61; irs. to ord. oct. 23, 61; 14t. mar. 3, 63; capt. june 1, 63; maj. bvt. sept. 7, 63, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the siege of Fort Wagner, S. C."; R. col. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for dis. ser. in the field and faith. and mer. ser. in the ord. dept. dur. the war"; maj. ord. june 23, 74.
- LYFORD, STEPHEN C., June 23, 74. [Born in N. H.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 57, bvt. 2 lt. 1 drag. (I cav.) june 24, 61; 2 lt. june 24, 61; trs. to ord. oct. 24, 61; 1 lt. mar. 3, 63; capt. hvt. july 4, 63, "for gal. and mer. ser. dur. the siege of Vicksburg, Miss."; capt. ord. sept. 15, 63; mu; bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith. and mer. ser. in the ord. dept. and in the field dur. the war"; lt. col. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. dur. the war"; maj. ord. june 23, 74.
- PARKER, FRANCIS H., Apr. 14, 75. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 57; 2 lt. 2 drag. (2 cav.) june 24, 61; trs. to ord. oct. 24, 61; 1 lt. mar. 3, 63; capt. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith. and mer. ser. in the ord. dept."; maj. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith, and mer. ser. in the ord, dept. and in the field "; capt. ord. dec. 1, 65; maj. apr. 14, 75,
- FARLEY, JOSEPH P., Mar. 25, 76. [Born in D. C. ; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 57; bvt. 2 lt. 2 art. june 24, 61; 2 lt. june 24, 61; trs. to ord. oct. 24, 61; 1 lt. mar. 3, 63; capt. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for mer. ser. in the ord. dept. dur. the war"; capt. ord. apr. 6, 66; maj. mar. 25, 76.
- BABBITT, LAWRENCE S., May 10, 78. [Born in Mass.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 57; 2 lt. 3 art. june 24, 61; 1 lt. bvt. july 21, 61, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Bull Run, Va."; trs. to ord. oct. 26, 61; 1 lt. mar. 3, 63; capt. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith, and mer. ser. in the ord. dept. dur. the war"; capt. ord. dec. 22, 66; maj. may 10, 78.
- MARYE, WILLIAM A., May 27, 78. [Born in Md.; apptd. from M. A.]-Cadet july 1, 58; 2 lf. ord. june 17, 62; 1 lf. mar. 3, 63; capt. mar. 7, 67; maj. may 27, 78.
- ARNOLD, ISAAC, May 29, 79. [Born in Conn.; apptd. from M. A.]-Cadet july 1, 58; 2 lt. 2 art. june 17, 62; trs. to ord. apr. 27, 63; 1 lt. apr. 27, 63; capt. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith. and mer. ser. dur. the war"; capt. ord. mar. 7, 67; maj. may 29, 79.
- COMLY, CLIFTON, Aug. 2, 79. [Born in Ohio; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 58; 2 lt. 1 cav. june 17, 62; regd. adj't july 19, 62, to may 26, 63; 1 lt. july 27, 62; trs. to ord. may 26, 63; capt. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith, and mer. ser. in the ord. dept."; capt. ord. dec. 15, 67; maj. aug. 2, 79.

Captains.

- ROLLINS, JAMES H., July 5, 67. [Born in Mo.; appid. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 57; bvt. 2 lt. 4 art. june 17, 62; 2 lt. 2 art. july 24, 62; trs. to ord. apr. 27, 63; 1 lt. apr. 27, 63; capt. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith, and mer. ser in the ord. dept."; capt. ord. july 5, 67 (waived promotion on account of ill health aug. 2, 79).
- McGINNESS, JOHN R., Feb. 10, 69. [Born in Ireland; apptd. from M. A.]-
- Cadet july 1, 59; i H, ord. june 11, 63; capt. bvt. mar. 1, 64, "for gal. and mer. ser. dur. the siege of Morris Island, S.C."; maj. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. dur. the operations before Charleston, S. C."; capt. ord. feb. 10, 69.

- MCKEE, GEORGE W., June 23, 74. [Born in Kv.; apptd. from M. A.].-Cadet july 1, 58; 14t. ord. june 11, 63; capt. bvt. and maj. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for eff. and val. ser. dur. the war"; capt. ord. june 23, 74.
- PHIPPS, FRANK H., June 23, 74. [Born in Mass.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 59; 14, ord. june 11, 63; capt. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith, and mer. ser. in he ord. dept."; capt. ord. june 23, 74.
- REILLY, JAMES W., June 23, 74. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 59; 1 lt. ord. june 11, 63; capt. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith, and mer. ser. in the campaign of nov. and dec. 64, including the battles of Franklin and Nashville"; capt. ord, june 23, 74.
- KRESS, JOHN A., June 23, 74. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from N. Y.]— Maj, 94 N. Y. vol. july 9, 62; It. col. nov. 1, 62; 2 It. ord. nov. 24, 63, acc. dec. 12, 63; resgd, vol. com. dec. 11, 63; 1 It. ord. july 16, 64; ccpt. bct. apr. 2, 65, "for gel. and mer. ser. dur. the siege of Richmond and Petersburg, Va."; nrij, bvt. apr. 3, 65, "for mer. and dis. ser. as chf. of ord, of the 25th army corps"; capt. ord, june 23, 74.
- MICHAELIS, OTHO E., June 23, 74. (Born in Germ'y; apptd. from N. Y.)— 24t. sig. corps. sept. 30, 63, acc. oct. 15, 63; 24t. ord. nov. 24, 63, acc. dec. 10, 63; yac. com, of 2 h, sig, corps, dec. 10, 63; 1 h, ord, sept. 12, 64; capt. bvt. mar. 13, 65, " for faith, and mer, ser,"; capt. ord, june 23, 74.
- DUTTON, CLARENCE E., June 23, 74. [Born in Conn.: apptd. from Conn.]— 1 lt. 21 Conn. vol. sept. 5, 62; capt. neur. 1, 63; must. out june 1, 64; 2 lt. ord. jan. 29, 64, acc. july 18, 61; 1 lt. mar. 7, 67; capt. june 23, 74.
- BUTLER, JOHN G., June 23, 74. [Born in Pa. : apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 59; 2 lt. 4 art. june 11, 63; 1 lt. byt. sept. 20, 63, " for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Chickamanga, Ga."; trs. to ord. jan. 29, 64; 1 lt. mar. 7, 67; capt. june 23, 74.
- BRYANT, CULLEN, June 23, 74. (Born in Ill.; apptd. from M. A.]--Cadet july 1, 60; 2 lt. ord. june 13, 64; 1 lt. july 5, 67; capt. june 23, 74.
- VARNEY, ALMON L., Oct. 29, 74. [Born in Me.; apptd. from Me.]-1 R. 13 Me, vol. dec. 9, 61; c.pi. nov. 22, 62; must. out jan. 6, 65; 2 R. ord. feb. 15, 65, acc. apr. 7, 65; 1 R. june 23, 74; capt. oct. 29, 74.
- CLIFFORD, JOSEPH C., Apr. 14, 75. [Born in Mass.; apptd. from N. H.]— 1 sergt. co. B, 42 Mass. vol. sept. 3, 62; disclipt. nov. 12, 62; 244 Mass. vol. nov. 12, 62; must. out ang. 20, 63; 14t. 1 N. H. art. sept. 8, 64; must. out june 15, 65, paid to june 22, 65; 24t. ord. june 9, 65, acc. june 23, 65; 14t. june 23, 74; capt. apr. 14, 75.
- GREER, JOHN E., May 10, 78. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 63; 2 lt. ord. june 17, 67; 1 lt. june 23, 74; capt. may 10, 78.
- PITMAN, JOHN, May 27, 78. [Born in R. I.; apptd. from M. A.]— Pyt. co. G, 1 K. I. vol. july 18, 61; disclard, aug. 2, 61; pyt. co. D, 10 K. I. vol. may 26, 62; disclapt. aug. 30, 62; sergt. maj, 11 R. I. vol. sept. 22, 62; disclapt. apr. 14, 63; 24t, 11 R. I. vol. apr. 14, 63; *mast.* out july 13, 63; calet sept. 29, 63; 24t, ord. june 17, 67; 14t, june 23, 74; capt. may 27, 78.
- SHALER, CHARLES, Mar. 4, 79. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from M. A.]— Sergt. co. 1, 12 Pa. vol. apr. 25, 61; dischad. aug. 5, 61; endet sept. 1, 63; 2 lt. 5 art. june 17, 67; trs. to ord. july 5, 67; 1 lt. june 23, 74; capt. mar. 4, 79.
- METCALFE, HENRY, Mar. 4, 79. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from M. A.]-Cadet sept. 1, 63; 24t. ord. june 15, 68; 14t. june 23, 74; capt. mar. 4, 79.
- STARRING, WHLLIAM S., May 29, 79. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from M. A.]-Cadet july 1, 60; 24t, 18 inf. june 23, 65; 14, june 23, 65; adj't 1 batt. nov. 1, 65, to sept. 21, 66; trs. to 36 inf. sept. 21, 66; regth adj't mar. 1, 67, to may 19, 69; trs. to 7 inf. may 19, 69; regtl. adj't may 19, 69, to aug. 23, 69; trs. to 2 art. jan. 1, 71; trs. to ord. nov. 1, 74; 1 lt. nov. 1, 74; capt. may 29, 79.
- SMITH, CHARLES S., Aug. 2 79. [Born in Vt.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 62; 2 lt. 4 art. june 18, 66; 1 lt. july 28, 66; trs. to ord. nov. 1, 74; 1 lt. nov. 1, 74; capt. aug. 2, 79.
- BLUNT, STANHOPE E., Apr. 24, 80. [Born in Mass.: apptd. from M. A.]--Cadet sept. 1, 68; 2 lt. 13 inf. june 14, 72; 1 lt. mar. 27, 74; trs. to ord. nov. 1, 74; 1 lt. nov
 - 1. 74; capt. apr. 24, 80.
- HEATH, FRANK, Dec. 18, 80. [Born in Englid; apptd. from M. A.]-
 - Cadet sept. 1, 64; 2 lt. 3 art. june 15, 68; trs. to ord. nov. 1, 74; 1 lt. nov. 1, 74, acc. nov. 7, 74; capt. dec. 18, 80.

First Lieutenants.

- TAYLOR, DANIEL M., Nov. 1, 74. [Born in D. C.; apptd. from M. A.]-
- Cadet july 1, 65; 2 lt. 1 art. june 15, 69; trs. to ord. nov. 1, 74; 1 lt. nov. 1, 74, acc. nov. 9, 74. LYLE, DAVID A., Nov. 1, 74. [Born in Ohio; apptd. from M. A.]-
- Cadet oct. 17, 65; 2 lt. 2 art. june 15, 69; trs. to ord. nov. 1, 74; 1 lt. nov. 1, 74, acc. nov. 9, 74.
- ROCKWELL, JAMES, JR., Nov. 1, 74. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from M. A.]-
 - Cadet july 1, 66; 2 lt. 1 cav. june 15, 70; regtl. adj't feb. 1, 72, to aug. 31, 74; trs. to ord. nov. 1, 74; 1 lt. nov. 1, 74, acc. nov. 16, 74.
- AYRES, JAMES C., Nov. 1, 74. [Born in Wis.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet sept. 1, 67; 2 lt. 3 inf. june 12, 71; trs. to ord. nov. 1, 74; 1 lt. nov. 1, 74, acc. nov. 5, 74.
- LYON, MARCUS W., Nov. 1, 74. [Born in N. J.; apptd. from M. A.]-
- Cadet july 1, 68; 2lt. 13 inf. june 14, 72; trs. to ord. nov. 1, 74; 1lt. nov. 1, 74, acc. nov. 5, 74. WHIPPLE, CHARLES W., July 19, 75. [Born in N. H.; apptd. from M. A.]-
- Cadet july 1, 64; 2 lt. 3 art. june 15, 68; trs. to ord. july 19, 75; 1 lt. july 19, 75, acc. ang. 15, 75.
- RUSSELL, ANDREW II., Apr. 21, 76. [Born in Mass.: apptd. from M. A.]-Cadet july 1, 67, 2 lt. 3 cav. june 12, 71; trs. to ord. apr. 21, 76; 1 lt. apr. 21, 76, acc. may 27, 76,
- BIRNIE, ROGERS, JR., June 13, 78. [Born in Md. ; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet sept. 1, 68 ; 2 lt. 13 inf. june 14, 72 ; 1 lt. feb. 18, 74 ; regfl. qm. may 27, 74, to aug. 1,
 - 74; trs. to ord. june 13, 78; 1 lt. june 13, 78.
- MACNUTT, 1RA, June 13, 78. [Born in Pa ; apptd. from M. A.]-Cadet july 1, 66; 2 lt. 3 art. june 15, 70; frs. to ord. june 13, 78; 1 lt. june 13, 78, acc. june 28, 78.
- MORRISON, CHARLES C., Apr. 14, 79. [Born in Ohio; apptd. from M. A.]-Cadet july 1, 67; 2 lt. 6 cay, june 12, 71; 1 lt. jan. 27, 75; trs. to ord. apr. 14, 79; 1 lt. apr. 14, 79.
- BAKER, FRANK, Apr. 18, 79. [Born in Mass.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 68; 2 lt. 13 inf. june 14, 72; 1 lt. nov. 1, 74; regtl. adj't june 10, 76, to apr. 18, 79; tvs. to ord. apr. 18, 79; 1 lt. apr. 18, 79.
- MITCHAM, ORIN B., June 23, 79. [Born in Va.; apptd. from M. A.]-
- Cadet sept. 1, 70; 2 lt. 4 art. june 17, 74; trs. to ord. june 23, 79; 1 lt. june 23, 79, acc. july 9.79.
- BORUP. HENRY D., Sept. 13, 79. [Born in Minn.; apptd. from M. A.]-
- Cadet july 1, 72; 2 lt. 2 art. june 15, 76; trs. to ord. sept. 13, 79; 1 lt. sept. 13, 79, acc. sept. 17. 79.
- BRUFF, LAWRENCE L., Oct. 30, 79. [Born in Md.; apptd. from M. A.]-Cadet sept. 1, 72; 21t. 3 art. june 15, 76; trs. to ord. oct. 30, 79; 11t. oct. 30, 79, acc. nov. 1, 79. CLARK, CHARLES H., June 16, 80. [Born in Mass.; apptd. from M.A.]-
- Cadet sept. 1, 71; 2 lt. 1 art. june 16, 75; trs. to ord. june 16, 80; 1 lt. june 16, 80, acc. june 23, 80.

ORDNANCE STOREKEEPERS.

With rank of Captain.

- INGERSOLL, EDWARD, July 28, 66. [Born in Mass.; apptd. from Mass.]-
- O. sk. may 24, 41, acc. may 28, 41; capt. o. sk. july 28, 66; maj. pm. Springfield armory july 28, 66.
- SHOEMAKER, WILLIAM R., July 28, 66. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Ill.]-
- O. sk. aug. 3, 41, acc. ____; eapt. o. sk. july 28, 66.
- GILBRETH, BENJAMIN H., July 28, 66. [Born in Me.; apptd. from Me.]-
- O. sk. may 11, 61, acc. may 24, 61; capt. o. sk. july 28, 66.
- ELLSWORTH, EPHRAIM D., July 28, 66. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from N. Y.]-O. sk. nov. 16, 61, acc. nov. 25, 61; capt. o. sk. july 28, 66.
- ADAMS, WILLIAM, July 28, 66. [Born in Ireland; apptd. from Pa.]— O. sk. sept. 13, 62, acc. sept. 28, 62; capt. o. sk. july 28, 66.
- MORGAN, ALGERNON S. M., July 28, 66. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Pa.]— 2 [t. 12 Pa. vol. apr. 25, 61; must. out july 31, 61; lt. col. 63 Pa. vol. aug. 1, 61; col. oct. 6, 62; must. out apr. 18, 63; o. sk. dec. 5, 63, acc. dec. 12, 63; capt. o. sk. july 28, 66.
- REXFORD, WILLIAM H., July 28, 66. [Born in Mich.; apptd. from Mich.]-1 ht. 24 Mich. vol. aug. 13, 62; capt. dec. 20, 62; dischgd. nov. 1, 63, paid to nov. 24, 63; o. sk. may 16, 65, acc. may 22, 65; capt. o. sk. july 28, 66.

107

ORDNANCE STOREKEEPERS-Continued.

WHYTE, FREDERICK, July 28, 66. [Born in Englid; apptd. from D. C.]-Artf. ord. det. U. S. A. ang. 1, 43; discligd, ang. 31, 45; o. sk. oct. 9, 65, acc. oct. 10, 65; capt. o. sk. july 28, 66,

YOUNG, DANIEL J., July 28, 66. [Born in Pa. : apptd. from W. Va.]-

O. sk. dec. 26, 65, acc. may 1, 66; capt. o. sk. july 28, 66.

GREALISH, MICHAEL J., July 28, 66. [Born in Ireland: apptd. from Kans.] O. sk. june 4, 66, acc. july 20, 66; capt. o. sk. july 28, 69.

SIGNAL CORPS.

CHIEF SIGNAL OFFICER.

With rank of Brigadier General.

HAZEN, WILLIAM B., Dec. 15, 80. [Born in Vt.: apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet sept. 1, 51; bvt. 2 lt. 4 inf. july 1, 55; 2 lt. 8 inf. sept. 4, 55; 1 lt. bvt. may 16, 59, "for gal. cond. in two several engagements with Indians in Texas"; 1 lt. 8 inf. apr. 1, "for gal, cond. in two several engagements with Indians in Texas"; 14t. 8 inf. apr. 1, 61; capt. may 14, 61; capt. 17 inf. may 14, 61, declined; col. 41 Ohio vol. oct. 29, 61; brig. gen. vol. nov. 29, 62, acc. apr. 30, 63; maj. bet. sept. 20, 63; "for gal, and mer. ser, in the battle of Chickamanga, Ga."; It, col. bet. nov. 24, 63, "for gal, and mer. ser, in the battle of Chickamanga, Ga."; It, col. bet. nov. 24, 63, "for gal, and mer. ser, in the battle of Chickamanga, Ga."; It, col. bet. sopt. 1, 64, "for gal, and mer. ser, in the capture of Atlanta, Ga."; provisionally apptd. maj gen. vol. jan. 12, 65; acc. jan. 12, 65; brig. gen. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal, and mer. ser, in the field dur, the war"; commissioned maj gen. vol. apr. 20, 65, to rank from dec. 13, 64, "for long and continued ser, of the highest character and for special gallentry and ser, at Fort McAllister," acc. apr. 20, 65; mig. gen. 15, 66; od. 38 inf july 28 66, acc. od. 20, 66 its, to 6 inf. mar. 15, 69; brig. gen. chf. sig. officer dec. 15, 89, acc. dec. 17, 80; rac, com, of col. 6 inf. dec. 17, 80.

Second Lieutenants.

SWIFT, JAMES A., Nov. 1, 78. [Born '47 in Md.; apptd. from Army,]— Sergt. sig. corps oct. 30, 78; dischold.oct. 31, 78; 24f. sig. corps nov. 1, 78, acc. nov. 1, 78.

SEBREE, LEROV E., Nov. 1, 78. [Born '50 in HL; apptd. from Army.]-

Pvt. sig. corps feb. 29, 72; scrgt. feb. 8, 73; re-en. feb. 28, 77; discled. nov. 3, 78; 2 lt. sig. corps nov. 1, 78, acc. nov. 4, 78.

POWELL, JOSEPH S., Nov. 1, 79. [Born 52 in D.C.; apptd. from Army.]— Pvt. sig. corps apr. 1, 73; corpl. aug. 1, 75; sergt. july 23, 76; dischold. mar. 31, 78; sergt, sig. corps apr. 1, 78; dischold. nov. 42, 79; 24t. sig. corps nov. 1, 79, acc. nov. 13, 79.

GLASSFORD, WILLIAM A., Nov. 1, 79. [Born '53 in Ind.; apptd. from Army.]-Pvt. sig. corps nov. 20, 74; sergt. nov. 1, 77; discloyd. nov. 13, 79; 21t. sig. corps nov. 1, 79,

acc. nov. 14, 79.

POST CHAPLAINS.

With rank of Captain.

- KENDIG, DANIEL, Apr. 3, 67. [Born in Pa : apptd. from Cal.]— Chap. posts of Ft. Steilacoom, Wash. T., and Presidio, San Francisco, Cal., dec. 13, 59, to may 27, 67: post chap. apr. 3, 67, acc. may 27, 67.

RAYNER, JAMES O., Apr. 3,67. [Born in Englid: apptd. from Wash, T.]-

Chap. post of Ft. Steilacoom, Wash. T., may 28, 64, to jane 4, 67; post chap. apr. 3, 67, ace. june 4, 67.

HERRICK, OSGOOD E., Apr. 3, 67. [Born in Vt.; appid. from Fla.]— Chap. post of Key West, Fla., nov. 4, 64, to may 7, 67; post chap. apr. 3, 67, ace, may 7, 67.

CHASE, DUDLEY, Apr. 3, 67. [Born in Conn.; apptd. from Cal.]— Hosp. chap. apr. 7, 64, acc. june 7, 64; *must. out* ang. 21, 65, paid to sept. 30, 65; chap. post of Alcatraz Island, Cal., apr. 17, 66, to july 15, 67; post chap. apr. 3, 67, acc. july 15, 67.

WILITE, DAVID, Apr. 3, 67. [Born in Tenn.; apptd. from Ill.]-Pyt. co. 1, 107 III. vol. aug. 2, 62; dischgd. mar. 10, 64; chap. 107 III. vol. mar. 10, 64; must. out june 21, 65, paid to june 30, 65; chap. post of Ft. Reno, D. T., may 15, 66, to june 17, 67; post. chap. apr. 3, 67, acc. june 17, 67.

REYNOLDS, CHARLES, Apr. 3, 67. [Born in Englid: appld. from Kans.]— Chap. 2 Kans. cav. jan. 9, 62; must. out dec. 31, 64; chap. post of Ft. Riley, Kans., sept. 1, 64, to apr. 29, 67; post chap. apr. 3, 67, acc. apr. 29, 67.

1881.

Post Chaplains—Continued.

- BLAKE, CHARLES M., Apr. 3, 67. [Born in Me.; apptd. from Pa.]-KE, CHARLES M., Apr. 3, 67. [1607] in Me; apptd. nom Fa.]— Chap. U. S. vol. aug. 13, 61. [1607] chap. vol. june 4, 62, acc. june 7, 62; resgd. july 21, 63; capt. 3 U. S. e. t. july 26, 63; dischgd. aug. 11, 64; hosp. chap. vol. sept. 26, 64, acc. dec. 26, 64; dischgd. may 10, 65, paid to may 17, 66, [joint resolution of july 27, 66]; chap. post of Ft. Whipple, Ariz, may 17, 66, to june 10, 67; post chap. apr. 3, 67, acc. june 10, 67; resgd. mar. 17, 69, paid to apr. 27, 69; restored to ser. oct. 2, 78, with pay from may 14, 78.
- LA TOURRETTE, JAMES A. M., Apr. 3, 67. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from N. Y.]— Chap. post of Ft. Columbus, N. Y. Harbor, feb. 6, 65, to apr. 27, 67; post chap. apr. 3, 67, acel apr. 27, 67.
- WOART, JOHN, Apr. 3, 67. [Born in Mass.; apptd. from Pa.]—
 Hosp. chap. vol. mar. 22, 65, acc. apr. 3, 65; must. out june 2, 66; chap. post of Ft. Union,
 N. M., june 2, 66, to may 9, 67; post chap. apr. 3, 67, acc. may 9, 67.
- TUTTLE, EDMUND B., Sept. 20, 67. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from III.]---Hosp. chap. vol. june 23, 62, acc. june 26, 62; must. out nov. 20, 65, paid to nov. 26, 65; post chap. sept. 20, 67, acc. sept. 21, 67.
- CROCKER, GEORGE D., Oct. 3, 67. [Born in Conn.; apptd. from Mass.]— Chap. 6 N. Y. cav. dec. 14, 61; must. out aug. 9, 65, paid to sept. 9, 65; post chap. oct. 3, 67, acc. oct. 5, 67.
- VAN HORNE, THOMAS B., July 2, 70. [Born in Ohio; apptd. from Wis.]--Chap. 13 Ohio vol. jnly 10, 62; must. out june 26, 64, paid to aug. 31, 64; chap. post of Chattanooga, Tenn., oct. 14, 64, to apr. 29, 67; post. chap. apr. 3, 67, acc. apr. 29, 67; *resgd.* aug. 2, 69; post chap. july 2, 70, acc. oct. 1, 70.
- 2, 69; posternaje, jny 2, 70, acc. oct. 1, 70.
 PORTER, JEREMIAH, July 2, 70, [Born in Mass.: apptd. from Texas.]— Chap. 1 III. 1, art. mar. 5, 62; must, out july 31, 65; post chap. july 2, 70, acc. sept. 2, 70.
 MESPLIE, TOUSSAINT, Aug. 17, 72. [Born in France; apptd. from Idaho.]— Post, chap. aug. 17, 72, acc. aug. 20, 72.
 ENGLAND, GEORGE A., Feb. 1, 76. [Born in Vt.; apptd. from Colo.]— Post chap. feb. 1, 76, acc. feb. 23, 76.
 SIMPSON, GEORGE W., Feb. 1, 76. [Born in Md.; apptd. from Md.]— Post, chap. feb. 1, 76, acc. feb. 17, 76.
 ADAMS, MOSES N., Feb. 1, 76. [Born in Ohio; apptd. from Min.]— Post chap. feb. 14, 76, acc. mar. 176.

- Post chap, feb. 14, 76, acc. mar. 1, 76. BALDRIDGE, BENJAMIN L., June 8, 76. [Born in Ohio; apptd. from Kans.]—

- MIDTHELL, ANDREW D., June 27, 76. [Dorn in Onto; apptd. from Kan Post chap. june 8, 76, acc. june 30, 76.
 MITCHELL, ANDREW D., June 27, 76. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Pa.]—Post chap. june 27, 76, acc. july 17, 76.
 DUNBAR, GEORGE W., Aug. 15, 76. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from Wis.]—Post chap. ang. 15, 76, acc. sept. 4, 76.
- ROBINSON, GEORGE, Mar. 1, 77. [Born in N. Y. ; apptd. from N. Y.]— 2 lt. 123 N. Y. vol. sept. 4, 62; 1 lt. nov. 11, 63; capt. vol. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. dur. the recent campaign in Georgia and the Carolinas"; must. out june 8, 65; post chap. mar. 1, 77, acc. apr. 19, 77.
- JACKSON, JOHN W., Mar. 3, 77. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Pa.]-Post chap. mar. 3, 77, acc. mar. 12, 77.
- WILLS, DAVID, June 3, 79. [Born '25 in Pa.; apptd. from D.C.]-Post. chap. june 3, 79, acc. june 14, 79.
- COLLIER, (FEORGE W., June 23, 79. [Born '26 in Ohio; apptd. from Ohio.]— Chap. 34 Ohio vol. sept. 14, 61; trs. to 36 Ohio vols. feb. 24, 65; must. out july 27, 65, paid to july 31, 65; post chap. june 23, 79, acc. june 30, 79.
- DODD, STEPHEN G., June 23, 79. [Born '26 in N. J.; apptd. from N. J.]... Chap. 25 Mass. vol. may 28, 64; must. out july 13, 65; post chap. june 23, 79, acc. july 8, 79.
- MCADAM, WILLIAM T., June 16, 80. [Born 23 in Ohio; a) ptd. from Iowa.]— Chap. 57 Pa. vol. dec. 14, 61; must. out june 29, 65; post chap. june 16, 80, acc. june 25, 80. MACOMBER, JOHN H., June 16, 80. [Born '36 in N. Y.; apptd. from Minn.]---Corpl. co. C, 1 Vt. h. art. aug. 12, 62; sergt. apr. 12, 63; 1 lt. 1 Vt. h. art. july 11, 63; capt.
- vol. bvt. apr. 2, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the assault before Petersburg, Va."; capt. 1 Vt. h. art. june 25, 65; must. out aug. 25, 65; post chap. june 16, 80, acc. sept. 15, 80.
- BLAINE, MALNOR C., June 16, 80. [Born '46 in Ky.; apptd. from Pa.]— Pvt. co., H, 54 Ky. m. inf. sept. 1, 64; dischgd. sept. 1, 65; post chap. june 16, 80, acc. june 25, 80.
- WILSON, DAVID, June 16, 80. [Born '26 in Pa.; apptd. from D.C.]-
 - Post chap. june 16, 80, acc. june 23, 80.
- LINDESMITH, ELI W. J., June 19, 80. [Born '27 in Ohio; apptd. from Ohio.]-Post chap. june 19, 80, acc. july 2, 80.

SERVICE AND LINEAL RANK

\mathbf{OF}

OFFICERS OF CAVALRY.

Colonels.

- HATCH, EDWARD, July 28, 66, 9th Cavahy. [Born in Me. ; apptd. from Iowa.]— Capt. 2 Iowa cav. sept. 2, 61; maj. sept. 5, 61; It. col. dec. II, 61; col. june 13, 62; brig. gen. vol. apr. 27, 64, acc. apr. 30, 64; maj. gen. vol. bvt. dec. 15, 64, "for gal, and mer. ser, in the battles before Nuskville, Tenn."; most, out of vol. ser, jan. 15, 66; col. 9 cav. july 28, 66, acc. sept. 18, 66; brig. gen. bvt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal, and mer. ser, in the battle of Franklin, Tenn."; maj. gen. bvt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal, and mer. ser, in the battles of Nuskville, Tenn., dec., 1864."
- 2. GRHEISON, BENJAMIN H., July 28, 66, 10th Cavalry. [Form in Pa. : apptd. from III.] Maj. 6 III. cav. jan. 9, 62; col. apr. 12, 62; brig. gen. vol. june 3, 63, "for gal. and dis. ser.," acc. june 16, 63; maj. gen. vol. bvt. feb. 10, 65; nue 3, 66, "tor gal. and dis. 19, 66; must. out of vol. ser. apr. 30, 66; col. 10 cav. july 28, 66; acc. mar. bvt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the raid through Mississippi in 1863"; maj. gen. bvt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the raid through Mississippi in 1863";
- 3. MACKENZIE, RANALD S., Mar. 6, 67, 4th Cavalry. [Born in N. Y.: apptd. from M. A.]—Cadet july 1, 58: 2–14, eng. june 17, 62; 141, byt. aug. 29, 62, "for gal, and mer. ser. in the battle of Manasas, Va."; 14, eng. mar. 3, 63; ergt, byt. may. 63, "for gal, and mer. ser. in the battle of Chancellorsville, Va."; maj, byt. july 4, 63, "for gal, and mer. ser. in the battle of Chancellorsville, Va."; maj, byt. july 4, 63, "for gal, and mer. ser. in the battle of Chancellorsville, Va."; maj, byt. july 4, 63, "for gal, and mer. ser. in the battle of Chancellorsville, Va."; capt. eng. nov. 6, 661; H. col, byt. june 18, 64, "for gal, and mer. ser. in the battle of Clettysburg, Va."; col. 2 Conn. art. july 10, 64, col, byt. oct, 19, 64, "for gal, and mer. ser. in the battles of Opequan, Fisher's Hill, and Middletown, Va.," acc. dec. 29, 64; bit; gen. byt. mar. 31, 65, "for gal, and mer. ser. dur. the war"; maj, gen. vol. byt. mar. 31, 65, "for gal, and mer. ser. dur. the war"; mast. out of vol. ser. jan, 15, 66; col, 41 inf. mar. 6, 67, acc. apr. 26, 67; trs. to 24 inf. mar. 15, 69; trs. to 4eav. dec. 15, 70.
- 4. STURGIS, SAMUEL, D., May 6, 69, 7th Cavalry. [Born in Pa.: apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 42; hert. 2 lb. 2 drag. july 1, 46; 2 lb. 1 drag. fob. 16, 47; regtl. qm. apr. 1, 51, to mar. 1, 52; 1 lb. july 15, 53; caqt. 1 cav. (approx.mar. 3, 55, acc. may 24, 55; maj. 1 cav. (4 cav.) may 3, 61; 11, col. byl. ang. 10, 61, "for gal. and mer. ser, in the battle of Wilson's Creek, Mo."; hrig, gen. vol. ang. 10, 61, acc. mar. 7, 62; col. byl. ang. 29, 62; "for gal. and mer. ser, in the battle of Second Ball Run, Va."; ht col. 6 cav. ort. 27, 63; brig, gen. byl. mar. 13, 65; "for gal. and mer. ser, in the battle of South Mountain, Md."; maj. gen. byl. mar. 13, 65; "for gal. and mer. ser, in the battle of Fredericksburg, Va."; must. out of vol. ser, ang. 24, 65; col. 7 cav. may 6, 69.
- 5. GROVER, UVIER, bec. 2, 75, 1st Cavalry. [Form in Me.; apptd. from M. A.]— Codet july 1, 46; bvt. 2 lt. 1 art. july 1, 50; 2 lt. 4 art. sept. 16, 50; 1 lt. 10 inf. mar. 3, 55, acc. mar. 27, 55; capt. sept. 17, 55; brig. gen. vol. apr. 14, 62, acc. apr. 18, 62; lt. col. bvt, may 5, 62; "for gal, and mer. ser. in the battle of Williamsburg, Va."; nol. 3 unf. ang. 31, 63; maj. gen. vol. bvt, out. 19, 64; "for gal, and mer. ser. in the battle of Kell set of Williamsburg, Va."; nol. 30, 10, 40; acc. dt and Fisher's Hill, Va."; brig. gen. bvt, mar. 13, 65, "for gal, and mer. ser. in the battle of Cadar Greek and in the campaign of the Shenamdonh Valley, Va."; maj. gen. bvt, mar. 13, 65, "for gal, and mer. ser. in the battle of Codar Greek and in the campaign of the Shenamdonh Valley, Va."; maj. gen. bvt, mar. 13, 65, "for gal, and mer. ser. in the field dur, the war"; must. out of vol. ser. aug. 244 65; lt. col. 38 inf. july 28, 66, acc. oct. 20, 66; massd. mar. 15, 69; assd. to 3 cav. dec 15, 70; col. 1 cav. dec. 27, 75.
- 6. MERRITT, WESLEY, July 1, 76, 5th Cavalry. [Born in], Y.; apptd. from M. A.]—Cadet july 1, 55; bvt. 2 lt. 2 drag.july 1, 66; 2 lt. jan, 28, 69; 1 lt. 2 drag. (2 eav.) may 13, 61; regtl. adj't july 1, 61, to jan. 1, 62; capt. 2 cav. apr. 5, 62; brig. gen. vol. june 29, 63, acc. july 11, 63; maj. bvt. july 1, 63, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Gettysburg, Pa. "; lt. col. bvt. may 13, 64, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Yellow Tavern, Va."; col. bvt. may 24, 64, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Yellow Tavern, Va."; col. bvt. may 24, 64, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Winchester and Fisher's Hill, Va."; brig. gen. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Winchester and Fisher's Hill, Va."; brig. gen. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. dur. the campaign ending with the surrender of the insurgent army of Northern Virginia"; maj. gen. vol. apr. 1, 65, "for gal. ser." ace. apr. 1, 65, "for gal. ser. feb. 1, 66; lt. col. 9 cav. july 28, 66 acc. sept20, 66; col. 5 cav. july 1, 76.

(110)

Colonels-Continued.

- 7. DAVIDSON, JOHN W., Mar. 20, 79, 2nd Cavalry. [Born in Va.; apptd. from M. A.]—Cadet july 1, 41; byt. 24t. 1 drag. july 1, 45; 24t. apr. 21, 46; 14t. jan. 8, 48; regtl. adj't jan. 4, 51, to sept. 30, 51; capt. 1 drag. (1 cav.) jan. 20, 55; maj. 2 cav. nov. 14, 61; brig. gen. vol. feb. 3, 62; acc. mar. 1, 62; 14t. col. bvt. june 27, 62, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Gaines' Mill, Va."; col. byt. june 28, 62, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Golding's Farm, Va."; brig. gen. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the capture of Little Rock, Ark."; maj. gen. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the field dur. the war"; maj. gen. vol. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the war"; must.out of vol. ser. jan. 15, 66; th col. 10 cav. dec 1, 66; col. 2 cav. mar. 20, 79.
- 8. BRACKETT, ALBERT G., Mar. 20, 79, 3rd Cavalry. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from Ind.]— 2 lt. co. 1, 4 hnd. vol. jnne 1, 47; 1 lt. jnne 18, 47; must. out july 16, 48; capt. 2 cav. mar. 3, 55, acc. mar. 29, 55; col. 9 lll. cav. oct. 26, 61; maj. bvt. jnne 28, 62; "for gal. and mer. ser. in the campaign in Arkansas"; maj. 1 cav. july 17, 62; lt. col. bvt. sept. 1, 64, "for gal. and mer. ser. dur. the Atlanta campaign"; must. out of vol. ser. oct. 26, 64; col. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. dur. the war"; lt. col. 2 cav. june 9, 68; col. 3 cav. mar. 20, 79.
- 20, 79.
 9. NEILL, THOMAS H., Apr. 2, 79, 8th Cavalry. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 43; bvt. 2 lt. 4 inf. july J, 47; 2 lt. 5 inf. sept. 8, 47; 1 lt. july 31, 50; capt. apr. 1, 57; col. 23 Pa. vol. feb. 17, 62; maj. bvt. july 1, 62; "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Malvern Hill, Va."; lt. col. bvt. may 3, 63; "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Chancellorsville, Va."; brig. gen. vol. nov. 29, 62, acc. may 8, 63; maj. 11 inf. ang. 26, 63; col. bvt. may 12, 64, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Spottsylvania, Va."; brig. gen. bvt. may 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the idel dur, the war"; maj. 64, "for gal. and mer. ser. and by the mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the field dur, the war"; maj. 24, 65; trs. to 20 inf. sept. 21, 66; lt. col. 1 inf. feb. 22, 69; unassd. mar. 45, 69; assd. to 6 cav. dec. 15, 70; col. 8 cav. apr. 2, 79.
- 10. CARR, EUGENE A., Apr. 29, 79, 6th Cavalry. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from M. A.]—Cadet sept. 1, 46; bvt. 21t. m. rif. july 1, 50; 21t. june 30, 51; 14t. 1 cav. mar. 3, 55, acc. apr. 11, 55; capt. 1 cav. (4 cav.) jnne 11, 58; 1t. col. bvt. ang. 10, 61; "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Wilson's Creek, Mo."; col. 3 Hl. cav. aug. 16, 61; brig. gcn. vol. mar. 7, 62; "for dis. ser. in the battle of Pea Ridge," acc. may 13, 62; maj. 5 cav. july 17, 62; col. bvt. may 17, 63; "for gal. and mer. ser. in the action of Black River Bridge, Miss."; maj. gcn. vol. bvt. mar. 11, 65; brig. gen. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the field dur. the war"; must. out of vol. ser. jan. 15, 66; 1t. col. 4 cav. jan. 7, 73; trs. to 5 cav. apr. 10, 73; col. 6 cav. apr. 29, 79.

Lieutenant Colonels.

- HATCH, JOHN P., Jan. 15, 73, 4th Cavalry. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 40; bvt. 2 lt. 3 inf, july 1, 45; trs. to m. rif. july 17, 46; 2 lt. apr. 18, 47; 1 lt. bvt. ang. 20, 47, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battles of Contreras and Churnbusco"; capt. bvt. sept. 13, 47, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battles of Chapultepec"; regtl. adj't nov. 1, 47, to may 1, 50; 1 lt. m. rif. june 30, 51; capt. m. rif. (3 cav.) oct. 13, 60; big. gen. vol. sept. 28, 61, acc. nov. 7, 61; maj. bvt. ang. 30, 62; "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Manassas, Va."; lt. col. bvt. sept. 14, 62; "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of South Mountain, Md."; maj. 4 cav. oct. 27, 63; col. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. dm. the war"; brig. gen. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the field dm. the war"; maj. gen vol. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser."; must. out of vol. ser. jan. 15, 66; lt. col. 5 cav. jan. 15, 73; trs. to 4 cav. apr. 10, 73.
- 2. ROYALL, WILLIAM B., Dec. 2, 75, 3rd Cavarayr. [Bonn in Va.; apptd. from Mo.]— 1 H. co. D, 2 Mo. m. vol. (one year) july 3t, 46; retained ang. 14, 47, as 1 H. adj't Santa Fé batt; must. out oct. 20, 48; 1 H. 2 cav. mar. 3, 55, acc. mar. 31, 55; capt. 2 cav. (5 cav.) mar. 21, 61; maj. bvt. may 27, 62; "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Hanover C. H., Va."; H. col. bvt. june 13, 62; "for gal. and mer. ser. in the cattle of Hanover C. H., Va."; H. col. bvt. june 13, 62; "for gal. and mer. ser. in the cattle of the recruitment of the armies of the U. S."; H. col. 3 cav. dec. 2, 75.
- OTIS, ELMER, June 25, 76, 7th Cavalry. [Born in Mass.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 49; bvt. 2 lt. 1 inf. july 1, 53; 2 lt. 4 inf. feb. 3, 55; 2 lt. 1 cav. mar. 3, 55; 1 lt. feb. 28, 56; capt. 1 cav. (4 cav.) may 1, 61; maj. 1 cav. may 9, 64; lt. col. bvt. oct. 19, 64 "for industry, zeal, and faith. ser."; col. bvt. apr. 15, 65, "tor faith. and mer. ser. dur. the war"; lt. col. 7 cav. june 25, 76.
- 4. DUDLEY, NATHAN A. M., July 1, 76, 9th Cavalry. [Born in Mass.; apptd. from Mass.]— 1 lt. 10 inf. mar. 3, 55, acc. mar. 23, 55; capt. may 7, 61; col. 30 Mass. vol. mar. 1, 62; maj. bvt. aug. 5, 62; "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Baton Ronge, La."; lt. col. bvt. june 14, 63; "for gal. and mer. ser. in the siege of Port Hudson, La."; maj. 15 inf. sept. 13, 64; brig. gen. vol. bvt. jan. 19, 65; must. out of vol. ser. feb. 16, 65; col. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. dur. the war"; trs. to 24 inf. sept. 21, 66; unassd. mar. 15, 69; assd. to 3 cav. dec. 15, 70; lt. col. 9 cav. july 1, 76.

Lieutenant Colonels-Continued.

- 5. SWEITZER, NELSON B., June 25, 772 8th Cavalry. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from M. A.]—Cadet july 1, 49; byt. 2 lt. 2 drag, july 1, 53; 2 lt. 1 drag, july 25, 54; 2 lt. 2 eav, mar. 3, 55, declined; 1 lt. 1 drag, sept. 4, 55; capt. 1 drag, (l cav) may 7, 61; capt. 16 inf, may 14, 61, declined; 1 lt. 1 drag, sept. 4, 55; capt. 1 drag, (l cav) may 7, 61; capt. 6 inf, may 14, 61, declined; 1 lt. 0 drag, sept. 28, 60, acc. oct. 2, 61; maj, byt. july 1, 62, "for gal, and mer. ser. dor, the Peninsular campaign in Virginia"; rediered as lt. col. a. a. d. c. may 31, 63; lt. col. byt. sept. 19, 64, "for gal, and mer. ser. in the battle of Winchester, Va."; col. 16 N, Y, cav. nov. 12, 64; col. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for dis. gallantly in the battles of Vellow Tavern and Meadow Bridge, Va."; brig, gen. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal, and mer. ser. dur, the war"; brig, gen. vol. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for mer, and dis. ser."; col. 3 N. Y. pro, cw, june 25, 65; "*inv. out of vol.* ser. ser. 41, 61, col. byt. 19, 64, col. byt.
- 6. FORSYTH, JAMES W., Apr. 4, 78, 1st Cavalry. [Born in Ohio: appld, from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 51; 24, 9 inf. july 1, 56; 14, mar. 15, 61; tts. to 1s inf. may 14, 61; capt. oct. 24, 61; maj. byt. sept. 20, 65, "for gal, and mer. ser, in the battle of Chickamanga, Ga."; maj. a. a. g. vol. app. 7, 64, acc. may 31, 61; th. col. a. i.g. [act july 17, 62] apr. 19, 64; It. col. byt. oct. 19, 64, "for gal, and mer. ser, in the battle of Cedur Creek, Va."; brig, gen. vol. byt. oct. 19, 64, "for gal, and mer. ser, in the battle of Cedur Creek, Va."; brig, gen. vol. byt. oct. 19, 64, "for gal, and mer. ser, in the battles of Operjum, Fisher's Hill, and Middletown, Va."; col. byt. apr. 1, 65, "for gal, and mer. ser, in the battle of Five Forks, Va."; brig, gen. byt. apr. 9, 65, "for gal, and mer. ser, in the battle of ... for gal, and mer. ser," acc. may 20, 65; must, out of vol. ser, jan. 15, 66; mai, 19 cay, july 28, 66, acc. oct. 16, 66; fl. col. a. d. c. to the Lt. Gen. mar. 13, 69, to mar. 17, 73; fl. col. mil, sec, to the Lt. Gen. mar. 17, 73; to apr. 4, 78; fl. col. cay, apr. 4, 78.
- 7. WADE, JAMES F., Mar. 29, 79, 16th Cavalry. [Born in Ohio: appld. from Ohio.] 1 R. 6 cav. may 14, 61, acc. june 24, 61; capt. byt. june 9, 63, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Beyerly Ford, Va."; R. col. 6 U. S. c. cav. may 1, 64; col. 6 U. S. c. cav. sept. 19, 64; maj. byt. dec. 19, 61, "for gal and mer. ser. in the action at Marron, East Tenn." brig. gen. byt. feb. 13, 65, "for gal, and mer. ser. in the action at Marron, East Tenn." ic. byt. and col. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal, and mer. ser. dur. the wat"; must, out of vol. ser. apr. 15, 66; capt. 6 cav. may 1, 66; maj. 9 cav. july 28, 66, acc. sept. 17, 66; R. col. 10 cav. mar. 20, 79.
- 8. ALEXANDER, ANDREW J., Mar. 20, 79, 2nd Cavalry. [Born in Ky.; apptd. from Mo.]—24L and I II. m. rif. 3 cav., july 26, 61, acc. ang. 2, 61; capt. byt. july 1, 62, "for gat and mer. ser. dur. the Peninsular campaign in Virginia," it. col. a. a. g. (act july 17, 62] jan. 1, 63; maj. byt. july 2, 63, "for gat, and mer. ser. dur. the Gettysburg campaign,"; relieved as II. col. a. a. g. (act july 17, 62] apr. 23, 64; II. col. byt. july 20, 64; "for gat, and mer. ser. dur. the Attanta campaign,"; relieved as II. col. a. (a. g. act, vol. byt, july 20, 64; "for gal, and mer. ser. dur. the Attanta campaign,"; col. vol. byt. and lorie, gen. vol. byt, july 20, 65, "for gal, and mer. ser. dur. the Attanta campaign,"; col. vol. byt. and lorie, gen. vol. byt. jan. 5, 65; col. byt. apr. 26, 65, "for gal, and mer. ser. in the capture of 8 bina, Ma."; brig, yn. byt. apr. 16, 65, "for dis, skill and gallanty in the cavalry cugagements at Ebenezer Church, Ala, and Colambus, Gal, and for steadfield dar, the war"; relieved as II. col. a. a. g. apr. 24, 65; maj, 8 cav, july 28, 66, it. col. 2 cav, mar. 20, 79.
- 9. PRICE, WILLIAM REDWOOD, Apr. 2, 79, 6th Cavalry. [Born in Ohio: apptd. from Ohio.]— 249, 3 Pa. cav. jan. 15, 62; 141, sept. 7, 62; capt. may 1, 63; m j. a. a. g. vol. aug. 5, 64, acc. aug. 6, 64; 41, col. vol. bvt j. m. 23, 65; "for industry, zeal, and faith, ser, dur. the recent campaign before Richmond, Va."; col. vol. bvt, mar. 13, 65; "for gal, and mer. ser,"; brig, gen. vol. bvt, mar. 13, 65; "for faith, and mer. ser, dur. the war"; maj. scav. july 28, 66, acc. oct. 1, 66; must, out of vol. ser, sept. 1, 66; 4L, col. bvt, mar. 2, 67; "for gal, and mer. ser, in the battle of Five Forks, Va."; col. bvt, dec. 10, 68; "for gal, and mer. ser, in an engagement with Indians in the vicinity of Walker's Springs in the Aquarious range in Arizona on dec. 10 and dec. 3, 68"; 40; ol. 64; ed. col. 679.
- 10. COMPTON, CHARLES E., Apr. 29, 79, 5th Cavalry. [Born in N. J.; apptd. from Iowa.]— 1 sergt. Co. A. 1 Iowa vol. may 7, 61; sergt. maj. 1 Iowa vol. may 24, 61; discloid, ang. 21, 61; eqpt. 11 Iowa vol. oct. 19, 61; maj. 47 U. S. e.t. may 5, 63; 1t. eol. 53 U. S. et. dee, 9, 64; must. out mar. 8, 66; maj. 40 inf. july 28, 66, acc. sept. 27, 66; 1t. col. byt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal, and mer. ser. in the campaign against Mobile, Ala."; unassd. mar. 15, 69; assd. to 6 cav. dec. 15, 70; 1t. col. 5 cav. apr. 29, 79.

Majors.

 FORSYTH, GEORGE A., July 28, 66, 9th Cavalry. [Form in Pa., apptd. from III.]—

 R. 8, III. cav. sept. 18, 61; capt. feb. 12, 62; maj. sept. 1, 63; col. vol. byt. oct. 19, 64, "for gal. and mer. ser in the battles of Opeqnan and Middletown, Va"; brig. gen. vol. byt. mar. 12, 65, "for dis.ser. and cons. gallantry"; must. out feb. 1, 66; maj. 9 cav. july 28, 66, acc. sept. 6, 66; R. col. byt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Dinwiddle C. H., Va."; col. byt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Five Forks, Va."; brig. gen. byt. sept. 17, 68, "for gal. cond. and mer. ser. in an engagement with hostile Indians on the Arickauce Fork of the Republican River on the 17th, 18th, 19th, and 20th of sept., 68 ; R. col. mil. sec. to the Lt. Gen. mar. 13, 69, reliceed mar. 17, 73; R. col. a. d. c.

- 2. SCHOFIELD, GEORGE W., July 28, 66, 10th Cavalry. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from Mo.]— 14, 1 Mo. art. oct. 5, 61; capt. sept. 1, 62; 1t. col. 2 Mo. art. mar. 9, 64; col. vol. byt. and brig; gen. vol. byt. jan. 26, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. dur. the late campaign in Georgia and Tennessee; must. out nov. 20, 65; maj. 41 inf. july 28, 66, acc. nov. 16, 66; 1t. col. byt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Champion Hill, Miss."; col. byt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the siege of Vicksburg, Miss."; unassd. mar. 15, 69; assd. to 10 cav. dec. 15, 70.
- CLENDENIN, DAVID R., Jan. 22, 67, 8th Cavalry. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Ill.]— Capt. and maj. 8 Ill. cav. sept. 18, 61; lt. col. dec. 5, 62; col. vol. bvt. feb. 20, 65; brig. gen. vol. bvt. july 11, 65, "for mer. ser."; *must. out* july 17, 65, paid to july 21, 65; maj. 8 cav. jan. 22, 67, acc. apr. 16, 67.
- 4. MORROW, ALBERT P., Mar. 6, 67, 9th Cavalry. [Born in Ill.; apptd. from P.a.]— Sergt. co. K, 17 P.a. vol. apr. 18, 61; *dischgd.* ang. 1, 61; sergt. co. C, 6 P.a. cav. dec 9, 61; 1 sergt. co. I, dec. 18, 61; sergt. maj. 6 P.a. cav. mar. 1, 62; *dischgd.* mar. 27, 62; 2 lt. mar. 27, 62; 1 lt. nov. 20, 62; eapt. feb. 8, 64; maj. feb. 10, 65; col. vol. byt. mar. 18, 65, "for cons. gallantry in action"; lt. col. 6 P.a. cav. mar. 29, 65; *must. out* ang. 7, 65, paid fo ang. 14, 65; capt. 7 cav. july 28, 66, acc. oct. 26, 66; maj. 9 cav. mar. 6, 67, acc. apr. 20, 67; col. a. d. c. to the Gen. jan. 1, 81.
- 5. EVANS, ANDREW W., May 10, 67, 3rd Cavalry. [Born in Md.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 48; bvt. 2 lf. 7 inf. july 1, 52; 2 lt. mar. 3, 55; 1 lt. sept. 20, 56; capt. 6 cav. may 14, 61, acc. sept. 4, 61; maj. bvt. fcb. 2], 62; "for gal. and mer. ser. in the hattle of Valverde, N. M."; col. 1 Md. cav. apr. 15, 64; 14; col. bvf. apr. 9, 65, "for gal, and mer, ser. in the cavalry action at Appointtox C. II., Va."; must. out of vol. ser. aug. 8, 65; maj. 3 cav. may 10, 67; col. bvt. dec. 25, 68, "for gal, and mer. ser, resulting in the capture and destruction of a Comanche Indian village at the western base of the Wichita Monntains, dec. 25, 68."
- 6. TILFORD, JOSEPH G., Nov. 14, 67. 7th Cavalry. [Born in Ky.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 47; bvt. 2 lt. m. rif. july 1, 51; 2 lt. jau. 27, 53; 1 lt. june 14, 58; capt. m. rif. (3 cav.) july 31, 61; maj. bvt. fcb. 21, 62, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Valverde, N. M."; lt. col. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith. and mer. ser. dur. the war"; maj. 7 cav. nov. 14, 67.
- 100. 19, 67.
 7. BRISBIN, JAMES S., Jan. 1, 68, 2nd Cavahy. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Pa.]—
 21b. 1 drag, apr. 26, 61, acc. apr. 27, 61; capt. 6 cav. ang. 5, 61, acc. sept. 7, 61; maj. bvt.
 june 9, 63, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Beverly Ford, Va."; col. 5 U. S. e. e. mar. 1, 64; brig. gen. vol. bvt. dec. 12, 64; 1t. col. bvt. dec. 19, 64, "for gal. and mer. ser. in action at Marion, East Tenn."; col. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. dur. the war"; maj. gen. vol. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. dur. the war"; brig. gen. vol. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. dur. the war"; brig. gen. vol. bvt. mar. 13, 66; "trong the gal. and mer. ser. dur. the war"; brig. gen. vol. but. mar. 13, 66; "trong the ser. Ser. dur. the ser. 15, 66; trans. 15, 66; tra
- GREEN, JOHN, June 9, 68, 1st Cavalty. [Born in Gern'ry; apptd. from Army.]— Sergt. co. B, m. rif. july 1, 46; 1 sergt. feb. 7, 47; sergt. maj. m. rif. may 1, 48; dischad, ang. 27, 48; pvt. co. B. m. rif. sept. 18, 52; 1 sergt. oct. 5, 52; 2 lt. 2 drag, june 18, 55, acc. july 5, 55; 1 lt. mar. 3, 61; capt. 2 cav, ang. 13, 61; maj. bvt. july 3, 63; "for gal. and mer. ser. in the Gettysburg campaign"; lt. col. bvt. apr. 15, 65, "for faith, and mer. ser, dur. the war"; maj. 1 cav. june 9, 68.
- 9. MERRILL, LEWIN, Nov. 27, 68, 7th Cavalry. [Born in Pa.: apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 51: bvt. 2 lt. 1 drag, july 1, 55: 2 lt. 2 drag, dec. 13, 55: 1 lt. 2 drag, (2 cav.) apr. 24, 61: col. 2 Mo. cav. ang. 23, 61: capt. 2 cav. oct. 1, 61: maj. bvt. sept. 10, 62, "for gal. and mer. ser. against the rehel forces in North Missonri"; lt. col. bvt. sept. 10, 63, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the capture of Little Rock, Ark."; col. bvt. mar. 5, 65. "for gal. and mer. ser. against the rehel forces in North West Georgia under the command of the rehel Gen. Wofford, and which terminated in his surrender"; brig. gen. vol. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. dur. the war "; must. out of vol. ser. dec. 14, 65; maj. 7 cav. nov. 27, 68.
- 10. MIZNER, JOHN K., Jan. 26, 69, 4th Cavalry. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 52; bvt. 2 lt. 2 drag. july 1, 56; 2 lt. feb. 28, 57; 1 lt. 2 drag. (2 cav.) may 9, 61; capt. 2 cav. nov. 12, 61; col. 3 Mich. cav. mar. 7, 62; maj. bvt. oct. 4, 62, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Corintli, Miss."; lt. col. bvt. june 12, 63, "for gal. and mer. ser. in action at Panola, Miss."; brig. gen. vol. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. dur. the war"; must. out of vol. ser. feb. 12, 66; maj. 4 cav. jau. 26, 69.
- 11. BAKER, EUGENE M., Apr. 8, 69, 2nd Cavalry. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 54; bvt. 2 lt. 2 drag, july 1, 59; 2 lt. 1 drag, feb. 28, 60; 1 lt. 1 drag, (t cav.) may 7, 61; capt. 1 cav.jan. 16, 62; maj. bvt. may 5, 63; "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Williamsburg, Va."; lt. col. bvt. sept. 19, 64, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Winchester, Va."; col. bvt. dec. 1, 68, "for zeal and energy while in command of troops operating against hostile Indians in 1866; 67, and '68"; maj. 2 cav. apr. 8, 69.

.

- 12. ARNOLD, ABRAHAM K., June 22, 69, 6th Cavalry. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from M. A.]—Cadet july 1, 54; bvt. 2 lt. 2 cav. july 1, 59; 2 lt. june 28, 60; 1 lt. 2 cav. (5 cav.) apr. 6, 61; regtl. adj't june 1, 61, to may 9, 62; capt. bvt. june 27, 62; "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Gaines' Mill, Va."; capt. 5 cav. july 7, 62; maj. 6c, may 6, 64, "for gal. and mer. ser. at the battle of Todd's Tavern, Va."; maj. 6 cav. june 22, 69.
- HUNTT, GEORGE G., Feb. 10, 70, 1st Cavalry. [Born in D. C. ; apptd. from D. C.]— 2 lt. 1 cav. (4 cav.) mar. 27, 61, acc. mar. 30, 61; 1 lt. may 2, 61; regtl. adj't sept. 14, 61, to july 17, 62; capt. 4 cav. july 17, 62; maj. 1 cav. feb. 10, 70.
- 14. BIDDLE, JAMES, Feb. 21, 73, 6th Cavalry. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from N. Y.]— 14, 10 N. Y. vol. may 2, 61; must, out ang, 31, 61; capt. 15 inf. ang, 5, 61, acc. sept. 1, 61; maj. bvt. sept. 1, 62, "for gal, and mer. ser, in the battle of Richmond, Ky,"; col. 6 1nd, cav. nov. 11, 62; 4; col. bvt. dec. 16, 64, "for gal, and mer. ser, in the battle of Nashville, Tenn."; brig, gen. vol. hvt. mar. 13, 65, "for long, gal, and mer. ser, dur, the war"; must, out of vol. ser, june 27, 65; trs. to 24 inf. sept. 21, 66; trs. to 11 inf. apr. 25, 69; trs. to 1 cav. jan. 1, 71; maj. 6 cav. feb. 21, 73.
- 15. UPHAM, JOHN J., Ang. I. 74, 5th Cavalry. [Born in Del.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 54; byt. 24: 9int, july 1, 59; 24: 6 inf. dec. 2, 59; 14; may 4, 61; regtl. adj't july 1, 61, to sept. 9, 61; capt. sept. 9, 61; maj. byt. july 2, 63, "for gal. and mer. ser, in the battle of Gettysburg, Pa."; trs. to 6 cav, jan. 1, 71; maj. 5 cav, ang. 1, 74.
- 16. HART, VERLING K., Dec. 2, 75, 5th Cavadry. [Born in Ind.; apptd. from Ind.]— Capt. 19 inf. oct. 30, 61, acc. nov. 7, 61; maj. bvt. sept. 20, 63, "for gal, and mer. ser. in the battle of Chickanauga, Ga."; It. col. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal, and mer. ser. dar. the war"; trs. to 37 inf. sept. 21, 66; trs. to 3 inf. aug. 11, 69; trs. to 7 cav. jan. 1, 71; maj. 5 cav. dec. 2, 75.
- CARLTON, CALEB H., May 17, 76, 3rd Cavalry. [Born in Ohio: apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 54: byt. 24t, 7 inf. july 1, 59: 24t, 4 inf. oct. 12, 59: 44t, may 14, 61; capt. june 30, 62; maj. byt. july 4, 62; "for gal. and mer. ser, in the Peninsular campaign"; col. 89 Ohio vol. july 7, 63; 4t; col. byt. sept. 20, 63; "for gal, and mer. ser, in the battle of Chickamanga, Ga"; most, out of vol. ser, june 23, 65; massd. mar. 23, 69; assd. to 10 cav. dec. 15, 70; maj. 3 cav. may 17, 76.
- MCLAUGHLEN, NAPOLEON B., May 17, 76, 10th Cavalry. [Born in Vt.; apptd. from N.Y.]—

Pyt. co. P, 2 drag, may 27, 50; corpl. may 25, 51; sergt. oct. 7, 51; trs. to gen. mtd. ser. aug. 31, 52; diseligd apr. 1, 55; sergt, gen. mtd. ser. apr. 1, 55; pyt. aug. 15, 58; diseligd apr. 28, 59; 2 it. leav. mar. 27, 61, acc. apr. 8, 61; 1 lt. leav. (4 cav.) may 3, 61; capt. 4 cav. july 17, 62; col. 1 Mass. vol. oct. 1, 62; maj. byt. may 3, 63; "for gal, and mer. ser. in the battle of Chancellorsville, Va."; lt. ocl. byt. july 2, 63; "for gal, and mer. ser. in the battle of Chancellorsville, Va."; lt. ocl. byt. july 2, 63; "for gal, and mer. ser. in the battle of Gentysburg, Pa."; must. out of vol. ser. may 28, 64; col. 57 Mass. vol. sept. 14, 64; brig, gen. vol. byt. sept. 30, 64; "for gal, and dis, ser, at Poplar Grove Church, Va."; col. byt. mar. 13, 65; "for gal, and mer. ser, dur, the assault on Fort Steedman, Va."; brig, gen. byt. mar. 13, 65; "for gal, and mer. ser, in the field dur, the war"; must. out of vol. ser, ang. 10, 65; maj. 10 cav. may 17, 76.

- SANFORD, GEORGE B., June 25, 76, 1st Cavalry, [Born in Conn.; apptd. from Conn.]— 21t, 1drag, apr. 26, 60, acc. may 2, 61; 14t. 4 drag, (1 cav.) july 30; 61; capt. 1 cav. oct. 1, 62; maj. byt. oct. 19, 64, "for gal. and mer. ser, in the battle of Cedar Creek, Va."; ht. col. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser, dur, the war"; maj. 1 cav. june 25, 76.
- 20. MASON, JULHUS W., July 1, 76, 3rd Cavalry. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Pa.]— 2lt, 2 cav. apr. 26, 61, acc. may 4, 61; 1 lt, 2 cav. (5 cav.) june 1, 61; capt. 5 cav. dec. 6, 62; maj. bvt. june 9, 63, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Beverly Ford, Va."; lt. col. bvt. aug. 1, 63, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Brandy Station, Va."; maj. 3 cav. july 1, 76.
- 21. GORDON, DAVID S., June 25, 77, 2nd Cavalry. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Kans.]— 2 It. 2 drag. apr. 26, 61, acc. apr. 27, 61; 1 It. 2 drag. (2 cav.) june 1, 61; capt. 2 cav. apr. 25, 63; maj. bvt. july 3, 63, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the Gettysburg campaign"; maj. 2 cav. june 25, 77.
- 22. MILLS, ANSON, Apr. 4, 78, 10th Cavalry. [Born in Ind.; apptd. from Texas.]— 1 It. 18 inf. may 14, 61, acc. june 22, 61; capt. bvt. dec. 31, 62; "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Murtreesboro', Tenn."; capt. 18 inf. apr. 27, 63; maj. bvt. sept. 1, 64, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Chickamauga, Ga., and dur. the Atlanta campaign."; It. col. bvt. dec. 16, 64, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Nashville, Tenn."; trs. to 3 cav. jan. 1, 71; maj. 10 cav. apr. 4, 78.

- 23. SUMNER, EDWIN V., Mar. 4, 79, 5th Cavalry. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from At l'ge.]— 24t. 1 cav. aug. 5, 61, acc. aug. 17, 61; 14t. nov. 12, 61; naj. a. d. c. vol. may 19, 63, acc. june 5, 63; dischard, from vol. ser. aug. 15, 63; capt. 1 cav. sepl. 23, 63; maj. bvi. may 6, 64, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Todd's Tavern, Va."; col. 1 N. Y. m. rif. sepl. 8, 64; It. col. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. dur. the war"; brig. gen. vol. bvt. mar. 28, 65; "for gal. and mer. ser. in the field"; *must.* out of vol. ser. nov. 29, 65; naj. 5 cav. mar. 4, 79.
- 24. MAUCK, CLARENCE, Mar. 20, 79, 9th Cavalry. [Born in Ind.; apptd. from Pa.]— 2 It. 1 cav. mar. 27, 61, acc. apr. 11, 61; 1 It. 1 cav. (4 cav.) may 9, 61; capt. bvt. dec. 31, 62, "for gal. and mer. ser, in the battle of Stone River, Tenn."; capt. 4 cav. nov. 5, 63; maj. bvt. oct. 11, 64, "for gal. and mer. ser, dur. the Atlanta campaign"; maj. 9 cav. mar. 20, 79.
- WILCON, JOHN A., May. 20, 79, 8th Cavalry. [Born in D. C.; apptd. from D. C.]— 2 k. 1 cav. mar. 28, 61, acc. apr. 1, 61; 1 lt. 1 cav. (4 cav.) may 14, 61; capt. 4 cav. dec. 1, 63; maj. 8 cav. mar. 20, 79.
- 26. SUMNER, SAMUEL S., Apr. 2, 79, 8th Cavalry. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from At l'ge.]— 24. SUMNER, SAMUEL S., Apr. 2, 79, 8th Cavalry. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from At l'ge.]— 24. 2 cav. (5 cav.) june 11, 61, acc. june 14, 61; 14t. bvt. june 1, 62, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Fair Oaks, Va."; 14t. 5 cav. july 17, 62; capt. a. d. c. vol. ang. 20, 62, acc. ang. 29, 62; capt. bvt. sept. 17, 62, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Antietam, Md."; dischgd. from vol. ser. ang. 15, 63; capt. 5 cav. mar. 30, 64; maj. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. cond. dur. the campaign against Vicksburg, Miss."; maj. 8 cav. apr. 2, 79.
- 27. PERRY, DAVID, Apr. 29, 79, 6th ('avalry. [Born in Conn.; apptd. from N. J.]— 2 h. 1 cav. mar. 24, 62, acc. apr. 7, 62; 1 ht july 27, 62; capt. nov. 12, 64; maj. bvt. apr. 1, 65, "for gall, and mer. ser. in the battle of Five Forks, Va."; h. col. bvt. dec. 26, 66, "for gallantry in an engagement with a large band of Indians on the Owyhee River, Idaho, dec. 26, 66."; col. bvt. apr. 5, 68, "for gallantry in an engagement with a large band of Indians on the Malheur River, Oreg., apr. 5, 68"; maj. 6 cav. apr. 29, 79.
- 28. NOVES, HENRY E., June 14, 79, 4th Cavalry. [Born in Me.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 57; byt. 24t. and 24t. 2 drag. (2 cav.) june 24, 61; 14t. 2 cav. feb. 15, 62; capt. byt. aug. 1, 63, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Brandy Station, Va."; eapt. 2 cav. jan. 25, 65; maj. byt. apr. 2, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the capture of Selma, Ala."; maj. 4 cav. june 14, 79.
- 29. BEAUMONT, EUGENE B., Nov. 12, 79, 4th Cavahy. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from M. A.]—Cadet july 1, 56; 2 lt. 1 cav. (4 cav.) may 6, 61; 1 lt. 4 cav. sept. 14, 61; capt. a. d. c. vol. may 13, 63, acc. june 1, 63; capt. bvt. nov. 7, 63, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Rappahannock Station, Va."; maj. a. a. g. vol. oct. 20, 64, acc. nov. 8, 64; lt. col. vol. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. dur. the recent campaign in Tennessee"; eol. vol. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Schma, Ala."; maj. bvt. apr. 2, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the capture of Schma, Ala."; lt. col. bvt. apr. 2, 65, "for gal. and mer."; capt. 4 cav. july 25, 65; *must. out* of vol. ser. mar 19, 66; naj. 4 cav. nov. 12, 79.
- BALL, EDWARD, Apr. 1, 80, 7th Cavalry. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Army.]— Pvt. co. H, 4 inf. nov. 25, 44; trs. to co. E, june 2, 46; disclingd. nov. 25, 49; pvt. co. H, 1 drag. may 7, 50; corpl. jun. 1, 51; 1 sergt. june 1, 51; disclingd. may 7, 55; pvt. co. H, 1 drag. may 7, 50; corpl. ang. 1, 56; 1 sergt. ang. 13, 56; pvt. july 16, 57; corpl. mar. 27, 58; 1 sergt. may 5, 58; disclingd. jun. 7, 61; 1 sergt. co. H, 1 drag. jan. 7, 61; 2 lt. 12 inf. may 14, 61, acc. ang. 13, 61; trs. to 2 cav. sept. 20, 61; 11k. apr. 5, 62; regtl. qm. sept. 24, 62, to july 25, 65; capt. july 25, 65; maj. 7 cav. apr. 1, 80.

Captains.

- MIX, JOHN, Oct. 19, 65, 2nd Cavalry. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from Army.]— Pvt. co. F, 2 drag. apr. 11, 52; corpl. sept. 1, 54; sergt. june 15, 66; dischad. feb. 11, 57; sergt. co. F, 2 drag. feb. 11, 57; 1 sergt. oct. 14, 58; sergt. june 15, 61; 2 lt. 2 cav. ang. 14, 61, acc. ang. 14, 61; maj. 3 N. Y. cav. sept. 17, 61; lt. col. apr. 26, 62; 1 lt. 2 cav. july 17, 62; resgd. from vol. ser. dec. 27, 62; capt. 2 cav. oct. 19, 65.
- 2. HENRY, GUY V., Dec. 1, 65, 3rd Cavahy. [Born in Ind. T.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 56; 2 lt. 1 art. may 6, 61; 1 lt. may 14, 61; capt. bvt. oct. 22, 62, "for gal. and mer. ser. in action near Pocotaligo River, S. C."; col. 40 Mass. vol. nov, 9, 63; maj. bvt. fch. 20, 64, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Olnstee, Fla."; lt. col. bvt. sept. 29, 64, "for gal. and mer. ser. in front of Petersburg, Va."; brig. gen. vol. bvt. oct. 28, 64, "for gal. and mer. ser. dur. the present campaign in front of Petersburg, Va."; col. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. dur. the war"; must. out of vol. ser. june 30, 65, capt. 1 art. dec. 1, 65; tris. to 3 cav. dec. 15, 70.

- DEWEES, THOMAS B., July 10, 66, 2nd Cavalry. [Born in Pa.: apptd. from Army.]— Pyt. co. B, 2 drag. mar. 9, 58, corpl. july 17, 60; sergt. feb. 1, 61; 1 sergt. may 1, 61; 2 lt. 2 cav. oct. 24, 61, acc. nov. 2, 61; 1 lt. july 17, 62; capt. bvt. june 9, 63, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Beverly Ford, Va."; regth adj't july 1, 65, to mar. 6, 66; regtl. qm. nar. 6, 66, to july 10, 66; capt. 2 cav. july 10, 66.
- 4. MCLELLAN, CURWEN B., July 28, 66, 6th Cavalry, [Born in Scotl'd) apptd. from Army,]— Pyt. co. B, 3 inf. nov. 17, 49; corpl. feb. 1, 51; sergt. may 1, 51; 1 sergt. nov. 7, 53; trs. to co. A, 4 farag, may 1, 54; diskdpd, nov. 17, 54; pyt. co. H, 2 cav, ang, 7, 56; sergt. nov. 1, 56; 2 lt. 6 cav, may 14, 61, acc, june 11, 61; 1 lt. byt. may 5, 62; "for gal, and mer, ser, in the battle of Williamsburg, Va."; 1 lt. 6 cav, july 17, 62; capt. byt. july 3, 63, "for gal, and mer, ser, in the Gettysburg campaign"; maj, byt. mar. 31, 65, "for gal, and mer, ser, in the battle of Dinwiddle C, H., Va."; capt. 6 cav, july 28, 66.
- 5. VAN VLIET, FREDERICK, July 28, 66, 3rd Cavalry. [Boun in N. Y. ; apptd. from N. Y.]— 2 ht. 3 cav. ang. 5, 60, acc. ang. 16, 61; regth. adj't july 12, 62; to jan. 9, 63; 1 ht. july 17, 62; capt. byt. ang. 1, 64, "for gal. and mer. ser, in the battles of the late campaign from the Rapidan to Petersburg"; maj. byt. apr. 8, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser, dur, the siege of Mobile, Ala."; ht. col. byt. sept. 30, 65, "for mer. ser, dur, the war"; capt. 3 cav. july 28, 66.
- 6. BERNARD, REUBEN F., July 28, 66, 1st Cavalry. [Born in Tenn.; apptd. from Army.]— Pyt. co. D. I drag, feb. 19, 55; corpl. june I, 57; pyt. may I, 58; corpl. mar. 1, 59; sergt, may 5, 59; 1 sergt, june 6, 59; discloyd, dec. 19, 59; 1 sergt, co. D. J drag, dec. 19, 59; pyt. jan, 5, 62; on duty acting 2 It. 1 cav. jan, 5, 62; to sept. 15, 62; by order dept. comdr.; 2 It. 1 cav. july 17, 62; acc. sept. 15, 62; 1 ft. june 21, 63; capt. byt. may 6, 64; "for gal. and mer. ser, in the battle of Todd's Tayern, Va."; maj, byt. ang, 28, 64, "for gal. and mer. ser, in action at Smithfield, Va."; It. col. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser, dur. the war"; capt. 1 cav. july 28, 66.
- Inter, Str. uni, the wart i coper tear, gay 25, 55.
 7. BENTEEN, FREDERICK W., July 28, 66, 7th Cavalry. [Born in Va.; apptd. from Mo.]—
 1 h, 10 Mo. cav. sept 1, 61; capt. oct 1, 61; maj. dec. 19, 62; h, col. feb. 27, 64; must.
 out june 30, 65; col. 128 F, S. c. t. july 15, 65; must. out jan. 6, 66; capt. 7 cav. july 28, 66,
 acc. nov. 21, 66; maj. byt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of the Osage";
 It. col. byt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the charge on Columbus, Ga."; col. byt.

 Rigg. 13, 68, "for gal. and mer. cond. in an engagement with hostile Indians on the Saline

 River, Kans, ang. 13, 68."
- 8. NOLAN, NICHOLAS, July 28, 66, 10th Cavalry. [Born in Ireland; apptd. from Army.]— Pyt. co. M, 4 art. dec. 9, 52; corpl. nov. 1, 55; dischaft.oct. 9, 57; corpl. co. M, 4 art. oct. 9, 57; trs. to pyt. co. K, 2 drag, sept. 1, 58; corpl. dec. 1, 58; 1 sergt. dec. 4, 59; sergt. may 22, 60; trs. to sergt. co. B, 6 cav. sept. 5, 61; 1 sergt. sept. 21, 61; 2 lt. 6 cav. july 17, 62; acc. sept. 22, 62; 1 lt. byt. ang. 1, 63, "for gal. and mer. ser, in the battle of Brandy Station, Va."; 1 lt. 6 cav. july 5, 64; capt. hyt. mar. 31, 65, "for gal, and mer. ser, in the battle of Dinwiddle U, H., Va."; capt. 10 cav. july 28, 66, acc. dec. 17, 66.
- 9. CARPENTER, LOUIS H., July 28, 66, 10th Cavalry. [Born in N. J.; apptd. from Army.]— Ivt. co. C. 6 cav. nov. 1, 61; sergt. jan. 1, 62; trs. to co. L, may 19, 62; corpl. june 5, 62; sergt. july 1, 62; disclind. sept. 20, 62; 24; 6; cav. july 17, 62; acc. sept. 29, 62; 14; bvt. july 3, 63; "for gal. and mer. ser, in the battle of Getty shurg, Pa."; capt. bvt. sept. 19, 64, "for gal. and mer. ser, in the battle of Winchester, Va."; 11t. 6 cav. sept. 28, 64; 14; col. 5 U. S. c. c. oct. 1, 64; maj. bvt. and 11; col. bvt. may. 13; 65. "for gal. and mer. ser, dur. the war"; col. vol. bvt. sept. 28, 65, "for mer. ser, dur, the war"; col. 5 U. S. c. e. nov. 2, 65; must. out of vol. ser, mar. 16, 66; capt. 40 cav. july 28, 66; acc. dec. 5, 66; col. bvt. oct. 18, 68, "for gal. and mer. ser, in the engagement with Indians on Beaver Creek, Kans., oct. 18, 68."
- 10. YOUNG, SAMUEL B. M., July 28, 66, 8th Cavalry. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Pa.]— Pyt. co. K, 12 Pa. vol. apr. 25, 61; dischad. aug. 5, 61; capt. 4 Pa. cav. sept. 6, 61; maj. sept. 29, 62; R. col. oct. 1, 64; col. dec. 29, 64; brig. gen. vol. byt. apr. 9, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. dur. the campaign terminating with the surrender of the insurgent army under Gen. R. E. Lee": must. out of vol. ser. july 1, 65, paid to july 6, 65; 24t. 12 inf. may 11, 66, acc. sept. 11, 66; capt. 8 cav. july 28, 66, acc. nov. 22, 66; maj. byt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. in action at Suphur Spring, Va."; R. col. byt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. in action at Amelia Spring, Va."; col. byt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. in action's Creek, Va."
- 11. TOURTELLOTTE, JOHN E., July 28,66,7th Cavalry. [Bornin Conn.: apptd. from Minn.]— Pyt. co. II, 4 Minn. vol. sept. 30, 61; capt. 4 Minn. vol. dec. 13, 61; ht. col. sept. 1, 62; col. oct. 5, 64; brig. gen. vol. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. set."; must. out of vol. set. june 21, 65; capt. 28 inf. july 28, 66, acc. oct. 11, 66; maj. byt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the siege of Vicksburg, Miss."; H. col. byt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the batthe of Allatoona, Ga."; col. byt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the batter of Boutonville, N. C."; unassd. mar. 31, 69; assd. to 7 cav. dec. 15, 70; col. a. d. e. to the Gen. jan. 1, 71.

- 12. PURINGTON, GEORGE A., July 28, 66, 9th Cavalry. [Born in Ohio; apptd. from Ohio.]— 1 serget. 19 Ohio vol. apr. 22, 61; dischged. aug. 31, 61; naj. 2 Ohio cav. sept. 10, 61; ft. col. july 10, 63; must. out nov. 1, 64; capt. 9 cav. july 28, 66, aci, jan. 21, 67; maj. hvt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser, in the battle of the Wilderness, Va."; ft. col. bvt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser, in the battle of Winchester, Va."; col. bvt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser, in the battle of Cedar Creeck, Va.";
- 13. ARMES, GEORGE A., July 28, 66, 10th Cavalry. [Born in Va.; apptd. from D. C.]— Pyt. co. B, 16 Ya. vol. sept. 1, 62; 24, 16 Ya. vol. dec. 8, 62; must. out june 10, 63; 24t. vet. res. corps july 1, 63, acc. july 2, 63; result out, 28, 64, paid to oct. 31, 64; capt. 2 N. Y. art. nov. 7, 64; maj. vol. byt. mar. 13, 65, "For gal, and mer. ser. dur. the campaigns of 1864 and 1865"; must. out sept. 8, 65, paid to oct. 9, 65; 24t. 2 cav. apr. 19, 66, acc. may 25, 66; capt. 10 cav. july 28, 66, acc. feb. 20, 67; maj. byt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal, and mer. ser. in action at Hatcher's 18m, Va., dec. 9, 64"; dismissed june 7, 70; dismissal amended by act of Congress june 8, 74, so as to give him an hon. dis. with same pay and allowances as if he had been disched, under sec. 3, act july 15, 70; capt. 10 cav. may 11, 78, with former rank and date from july 28, 66 [act apr. 23, 78], acc. may 11, 78.
- 14. SHERIDAN, MICHAEL V., July 28, 66, 7th Cavalry. [Born in Ohio; apptd. from Ohio.]— 1 It. 2 Mo. vol. sept. 7, 63; eapt. a. d. c. vol. may 18, 64, acc. june 29, 64; maj. vol. hvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer, ser."; 2 It. 5 eav. feb. 23, 66, acc. apr. 12, 66; eapt. 7 cav. july 28, 65, acc. oct. 23, 66; must. out of vol. ser. ang. 1, 66; maj. bvt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of the Opequan."; It. col. bvt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Fisher's Hill, Va."; It. col. a. d. c. to the Lt. Gen. aug. 1, 70; It. col. mil. sec. to the Lt. Gen. apr. 9, 78.
- 15. BACON, JOHN M., July 28, 66, 9th Cavalry. [Born in Ky.; apptd. from Ky.]— 2 lt. 11 Ky. cav. sept. 22, 62; 2 lt. 4 Ky. cav. nov. 5, 62; 1 lt. feb. 1, 63; capt. mar. 14, 63; maj. nov. 20, 64; *must. out* aug. 21, 65, paid to aug. 31, 65; capt. 9 cav. july 28, 66, acc. jan. 14, 67; maj. byt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the siege of Resaca, Ga."; col. a. d. c. to the Gen. jan. 1, 71.
- 16. TYLER, GEORGE L.; July 28, 66, 2nd Cavalry. [Born in Md.; apptd. from Md.]— 2 It, 7 Md. vol. sept. 20, 62; 1 It, jan. 22, 63; resyd. nov. 3, 64; capt. vol. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of the Wildermess, Va."; capt. 36 inf. july 28, 66, acc. oct. 5, 66; unassd. may 19, 69; assd. 10 2 cav. dec. 15, 70.
- MCGREGOR, THOMAS, Oct. 15, 66, 1st Cavalry. [Born in Scotl'd; apptd. from Army.]— Pvt. co. A, 1 drag. apr. 8, 58; corpl. nov. 1, 58; sergt. feb. 1, 59; 1 sergt. sept. 1, 60; 2 lt. 1 cav. july 17, 62, acc. oct. 1, 62; 1 lt. sept. 10, 63; capt. bvt. may 6, 64, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Todd's Tavern, Va."; regtl. adj t oct. 1, 64, to apr. 1, 65; capt. 1 cav. oct. 15, 66.
- WHITSIDE, SAMPEL M., Oct. 20, 66, 6th Cavalry. [Born in Canada; apptd. from Army.]— Pvt. gen. mtd. ser. nov. 10, 58; trs. to 6 cav. july 27, 61; sergt. maj. 6 cav. ang. 1, 61; 2 It. 6 cav. nov. 1, 61, acc. nov. 4, 61; 1 It. jan. 25, 64; capt. bvt. and maj. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith, and mer. ser."; capt. 6 cav. oct. 20, 66.
- BENNETT, FRANK T., Jan. 22, 67, 9th Cavalry. [Born in Ohio; apptd. from Army.]— Pvt. co. H, 3 batt. 18 inf. apr. 29, 62; qm. sergt. 18 inf. aug. 1, 62; 2 lt. 18 inf. feb. 19, 63, aec. apr. 1, 63; 1 lt. bvt. june 26, 63, "for gal. and mer. ser, in action at Hoover's Gap, Tenn.": capt. bvt. sept. 20, 63, " for gal. and mer. ser, in the battle of Chickamanga, Ga."; 1 lt. 18 inf. jan. 6, 64; trs. to 36 inf. sept. 21, 66; capt. 39 inf. jan. 22, 67, acc. may 16, 67; unassd. apr. 20, 69; assd. to 9 cav. dec. 15, 70.
- 20. CARROLL, HENRY, Jan. 22, 67, 9th Cavalry. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from Army.]— Pet. co. E, 3 art. jan. 13, 59; corpl. dec. 1, 59; sergt. oct. 13, 60; 1 sergt. july 1, 61; dischgd. jan. 13, 64; pvt. co. G, 3 art. feb. 3, 64; sergt. mar. 18, 64; 2 lt. 3 cav. may 18, 64, acc. june 4, 64; 1 lt. apr. 14, 66; capt. 9 cav. jan. 22, 67, acc. may 11, 67.
- WHIPPLE, STEPHEN G., Jan. 22, 67, 1st Cavalry. [Born in Vt.; apptd. from Cal.]— Lt. col. 1 batt. Cal. vol. june 22, 63; col. vol. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith. and mer. ser."; must. out june 14, 65; capt. 32 inf. jan. 22, 67, acc. mar. 28, 67; unassil. apr. 19, 69; assilt to 1 cav. dec. 15, 70.
- 22. SPAULDING, EDWARDJ., Feb. 12, 67, 2nd Cavalry. [Bornin N. Y.; apptd. from Army.]— Pvt. co. I, 2 drag. jan. 22, 57; corpl. sept. 26, 57; sergt. ang. 29, 60; qm. sergt. 2 cav. oct. 27, 61; discloyd. dec. 1, 61; qm. sergt. 2 cav. dec. 1, 61; 2 lt. 2 cav. july 17, 62, acc. sept. 22, 62; regtl. com. oct. 1, 62, to feb. 12, 67; 1 lt. june 9, 63; capt. bvt. june 9, 63, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Beverly Ford, Va."; capt. 2 cav. feb. 12, 67.
- 23. HOOKER, AMBROSE E., Mar. 6, 67, 9th Cavalry. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from Cal.]— Lt. col. 6 Cal. vol. feb. 16, 63; col. vol. bvl. and brig. gen. vol. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith. and mcr. ser."; must. out oct. 31, 65; lt. col. 2 Cal. cav. nov. 1, 65; must. out june 13, 66; ltl. 8 cav. july 28, 66, acc. feb. 2, 67; capt. 9 cav. mar. 6, 67, acc. july 19, 67.

- 24. MADDEN, DANIEL, May 10, 67, 6th Cavalry. [Born in Engl'd; apptd. from Army.] Pyt. co. E. 2 drag. dec, 9, 56; trs. to co. H. 1 drag, ang, 22, 54; discligd, dec, 9, 55; pyt. co. B. 2 drag, may 1, 56; corpl. jan, 1, 57; sergt. june 45, 57; 1 sergt. apr. 1, 59; discligd, apr. 28, 61; com. sergt. 6 cav. ang, 14, 61; 24. 6 cav. nov. 1, 61, acc. nov. 3, 61; 14. byt. june 9, 63, "for gal, and mer. ser, in the battle of Beverly Ford, Va."; 14. 6 cav. may 4, 64; capt. byt. apr. 9, 65, "for gal, and mer. ser, in the campaign terminating with the surrender of the insurgent army under Gen. R. E. Lee"; capt. 6 cav. may 10, 67.
- 25. ADAM. EMIL. May 31, 67, 5th Cavalry. [form in Germ'y: apptd. from III.]— 2 ft. 9 III. vol. apr. 25, 61; 1 lt. july 28, 61; capt. nov. 14, 61; must. out aug. 20, 64; pvt. co. E, 144 III. vol. sept. 1, 64; capt. 144 III. vol. sept. 10, 64; maj. nar. 18, 65; must. out july 14, 65; 1 lt. 39 inf. july 28, 66, acc. jan. 28, 67; capt. may 31, 67; unassd. apr. 20, 69; assd. to 5 cav. dec. 15, 70.
- 26. RANDLETT, JAMES F., June 6, 67, 8th Cavalry. [Iorn in N. H.: apptd. from N. H.]— Capt. 3 N. H. vol. aug. 23, 61; maj. apr. 6, 64; M. col. oct. 15, 61; mast, out july 20, 65, paid to aug. 1, 65; capt. 39 inf. june 6, 67, acc. july 20, 67; massel, apr. 20, 69; assd. to 8 cav. dec. 15, 70.
- 27. HAMILTON, JOHN M., June 6, 67, 5th Cavalry. [Born in Canada: apptd, from N. Y.]— Pyt. co. H, 33 N. Y. vol. may 1, 61; corpl. sept. 1, 61; dischyd. june 2, 63, 24t, 94U, S. e. t. dec. 24, 63; capt. vol. byt. mar. 13, 65; "toy faith, and mer. ser. dur. the war"; 14t, 94U, S. e. t. may 15, 65; must. out june 20, 67; capt. 39 inf. june 6, 67, acc. june 21, 67; unassd. apr. 20, 69; assd. to 5 cay. dec. 30, 70.
- 28. BEYER, CHARLES D., June 6, 67, 9th Cavalry. (Born in N. Y.; apptd. from La.]— Mus. gen. ser. aug. 12, 58; mus. co. B. 1 inf. may 25, 60; *disclopd.* july 14, 63; mus. co. B, 1 inf. july 14, 63; prin. mus. 1 inf. jan. 25, 64; *disclopd.* oct. 14, 65; 2 ft. 81 U. S. c. t. oct. 17, 65; must. out july 15, 67; capt. 41 inf. june 6, 67, acc. july 15, 67; trs. to 24 inf. nov. 11, 69; trs. to 9 cav. jun. 1, 7).
- 29. BALDWIN, THEODORE A., July 23, 67, 10th Cavalry. [Bornin N. J.; apptd. from Army.]— Pvt. 19 inf. may 3, 62; qm. sergt. june 9, 62, dischool, may 3, 65; 24, and 14, 19 inf. feb. 9, 65, acc. may 19, 65; qm. 1 batt. oct. 18, 65, to sept. 21, 66; regtl qm. nov. 23, 66, to july 23, 67; capt. july 23, 67; unassd. mar. 31, 69; assd. to 10 cav. dec. 15, 70.
- 30. LEE, JOHN, July 31, 67, 4th Cavalay. [Form in Ireland; apptd. from Army.]— Pvt. co. I, 2 drag, ang. 12, 50; corpl. mar. 29, 53; doschad. ang. 12, 55; pvt. gen. mtd. ser. nov. 21, 55; corpl. dec. I, 55; sergt. jan. 16, 57; pvt. mar. 19, 60, disclad. oct. 10, 60; pvt. gen. mtd. ser. oct. 10, 60, corpl. nov. I, 61; trs. to 6 cav. dec. 2, 61; sergt. maj. 6 cav. dec. 8, 61; sergt. co. K. may 12, 62; 1 sergt. june I, 62; 2 lt. 4 cav. july 37, 62, acc. sept. 24, 62; 1 lt. nov. 5, 63; capt. bvt. apr. 2, 65; "forgal, and mer. ser, in the capture of Selma, Ala."; regR, qm. ang. 10, 65; to ang. 11, 66; capt. 4 cav. july 37, 67.
- HEVL, EDWARD M., July 31, 67, 4th Cavalry. [Born in Pa.: apptd. from Pa.]— Qm. scrgt. co. E. 3 Pa. cav. ang. 12, 61; 1 sergt. oct. 16, 61; *i discligit*, sept. 8, 62, 24t, 3 Pu. cav. sept. 8, 62; 14t, may 1, 63; capt. may 2, 64; must, out ang. 24, 64; 14t, 9 cav. july 28, 66, acc. nov. 17, 66; capt. july 31, 67; trs. to 4 cav. jun. 1, 71.
- 32. TUPPER, TFLLIVS C., Sept. 17, 67, 6th Cavalry, [Born in Ohio; apptd. from Army,]— Pvt. co. E. 6 cav. july 19, 61; 1 sergt. oct. 1, 61; sergt. maj. 6 cav. may 12, 62; 2 h. 6 cav. july 17, 62, acc. sept. 22, 62; 1 h. bvt. july 3, 63, "for gal, and mer, ser, in the battle of Gettysburg, Pa."; regtl. adj't oct. 25, 63, to nov. 11, 64; 1 h. 6 cav. sept. 28, 64; capt. bvt. and maj. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal, and mer, ser, dur, the war"; capt. 6 cav. sept. 17, 67.
- 33. CHAFFEE, ADNA R., Oct. 12, 67, 6th Cavalry. [Form in Ohio: apptd. from Army.]— Pvt. co. K. 6 cav. july 22, 61; sergt. oct. 1, 61; 1 sergt. sept. 26, 62; 2 It. 6 cav. mar. 13, 63, acc. may 12, 63; 1 It. bvt. july 3, 63, "for gal, and mer. ser, in the battle of Gettysburg, Pa."; regtl. adj't nov. II, 64, to dec. 12, 66; regtl. qm. dec. 12, 66; to oct. 12, 67; 1 It. 6 cav. feb. 22, 65; capt. bvt. mar. 31, 65, "for gal, and mer. ser, in the battle of Dinwiddle C. H., Va."; capt. 6 cav. oct. 12, 67; maj. bvt. mar. 7, 68, "for gal, and eff. ser, in an engagement with Comanche Indians on Paint Creek, Texas, mar. 7, 68."
- 34. RUSSELL, GERALD, Nov. 14, 67, 3rd Cavalry. [Born in Ireland; apptd. from Army.]— Pvt. co. F. m. rif. july 21, 51; eorpl. feb. 15, 56; dischad. july 21, 56; pvt. co. D. m. rif. jan. 25, 57; eorpl. may 10, 58; sergt. may 1, 60; 1 sergt. oct. 16, 60; dischad. jan. 25, 62; 1 sergt. co. D. 3 cav. jan. 25, 62; en dutv acting 24t. 3 cav. may 9, 62, to serpt. 5, 62; by order dept. comdr.; 2 lt. 3 cav. july 17, 62, acc. sept. 15, 62; 1 lt. bvt. july 4, 63, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the siege of Vicksburg, Miss."; 1 lt. 3 cav. aug. 4, 64; capt. nov. 14, 67.
- ¹⁴, 67.
 ¹⁵ COONEY, MICHAEL, Jan. 1, 68, 9th Cavalry. [Born in Ireland; apptd. from N. Y.]— Pyt. co. A, 1 cav. dec. 4, 56; corpl. may 1, 59; sergt. mar. 10, 69; diselyd, dec. 4, 61; pyt. co. M, 6 cav. dec. 18, 61; 1 sergt. jan. 1, 62; sad. sergt. 6 cav. jan. 20, 63; qm. sergt. <u>—</u>, 63; diselyd, mar. 22, 64; qm. sergt. 6 cav. mar. 22, 64; diselyd, dec. 30, 64; capt. jan. 1, 68;

- JACKSON, JAMES, Feb. 17, 68, 1st Cavalry. [Born in N. J.; apptd. from Army.]— Pvt. 12 inf. nov. 8, 61; scrgt. july 4, 62; scrgt. co. C, 2 batt. 12 inf. sept. 6, 62; 2 lt. 12 inf. apr. 22, 63, acc. apr. 28, 63; 1 lt. ang. 31, 63; capt. byt. ang. 1, 64, "for gal. scr. in the batteries." the of the North Anna River, Va."; maj. byt. aug. 18, 64, "for gal. ser, in the battle of the Weldon R. R., Va."; tix, to 30 inf, sept. 21, 66; capt. feb. 17, 68; unassd. mar. 23, 69; assd. to 1 cav. jan. 1, 71.
- MORRIS, LOUIS T., † Feb. 15, 65, 8th Cavalry. [Born in Ind.; apptd. from Ind.]— 1 lt. 19 inf. may 14, 61, acc. sept. 2, 61; capt. bvt. sept. 1, 64, "for gal. and mey sep. dur. the Atlanta campaign "; maj. b. i. dec. 16, 64, " for gal, and mer. ser. in the battle of Nash-ville, Tenn,"; capt. 19 inf. feb. 15, 65; trs. to 28 inf. sept. 21, 66; trs. to 37 inf. nov. 30, 67; trs. to 3 inf. aug. 11, 69; trs. to 8 cav. dec. 29, 73, taking rank from mar. 26, 68.
- VIELE, CHARLES D., Apr. 22, 68, 10th Cavalry. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from N. Y.]— 2 R. 1 inf. oct. 24, 61, acc. nov. 7, 61; 1 H. apr. 6, 62; capt. bvt. july 4, 63, " for gal. and mer. ser. dur. the siege of Vicksburg, Miss."; capt. 1 inf. apr. 22, 68; unassd. apr. 8, 69; assd. to 10 cav. jan. 1, 71.
- 39. RAFFERTY, WILLIAM A., May 14, 68, 6th Cavalry. (Born in N. J.: apptd. from M A.)-Cadet july 1, 61; 2 lt. 6 cay, june 23, 65; 1 lt. may 1, 66; regtl. adj't dec. 12, 66, to may 14, 68; eapt. may 14, 68.
- 40. NORVELL, STEVENS T., June 10, 68, 10th Cavalry. [Born in Mich.: apptd. from Army.]-Pyt. co. A, 5 inf, jan. 23, 58; sergt, oct. 3, 58; 1 sergt, may 1, 61; sergt, field, 1, 62; sizehgd, jan. 23, 63; sergt, co. A, 5 inf, jan. 23, 63; on duty acting 2 lt, 5 inf, jan. 28, 62; to feb. 19, 63, hy order dept, comdr.; 2 lt, 13 inf, feb. 19, 63, acc, feb. 19, 63; 1 lt, july 12, 63; adj 1 l batt, aug. 1, 64, to oct. 1, 65; qm. 2 batt, oct. 1, 65, to may 26, 66; trs. to 31 inf. sept. 21, 66; capt. june 10, 68; unassd. may 15, 69; assd. to 10 cav. jan. 1, 71.
- 41. DAVIS, WIRT, June 19,68 4th Cavalry. [Born in Va.: apptd. from Army.]-Pvt. co. K, 1 cav. may 12, 60; corpl. mar. 12, 62; sergt. co. L, 4 cav. nov. 1, 62; 2 lt. 4 cav. apr. 22, 63, acc. may 5, 63; 1 lt. bvt. sept. 19, 63. "for gal. and mer. ser, in the battle of Chickamanga, Ga."; capt. byt. feb. 20, 64, "for gal. and mer. ser. In the bactoe predition in Mississippi"; regt. adjt mar. 1, 65, to june 19, 68; maj. byt. apr. 2, 65, "for gal, and mer. ser. in the capture of Selma, Ala."; 14t. 4 cay, apr. 2, 65; capt. june 19, 68.
- MONAHAN, DEANE, July 9, 68, 3rd Cavalry. [Born in Ireland; appid. from Army.]— Pvt. co. I, m. rif. july 29, 56; corpl. jan. 31, 60; disclayd. may 29, 61; corpl. co. I, m. rif. may 29, 61; sergt. ang. 1, 61; 1 sergt. co. I, 3 cav. feb. 22, 62; sergt. maj. 3 cav. sept. 9, 62; 21t. 3 cav. july 17, 62, acc. dec. 20, 62; 11t. byt. nov. 15, 63; ror gal. and mer. sev. in action near Thysembla, Ala.''; 1 ft. 3 cav. may 18, 65; regtl. adj't may 29, 67, to july 9, 68;
- (a) 1. [a) 2. (a) 3. (a) 3. (a) 3. (b) 3. (c) 3. feb. 6, 62; sergt. mar. 1, 62; trs. to com. sergt. 1 batt. 11 inf. july 14, 62; qm. sergt. 11 inf. apr. 25, 69; capt. jan. 27, 69; unassd. apr. 25, 69; assd. to 1 cav. jan. 1, 71.
- 44. CARR, CAMILLO C. C., Apr. 8, 69, 1st Carathy. [Born in Va.; apptd. from Army.]— Pvt. co. F, 1 cav. aug. 15, 62; corpl. sept. 1, 62; sergt. dec. 26, 62; 1 sergt. apr. 11, 63; sergt. maj. 1 cav. sept. 1, 63; sergt. co. F, 1 cav. oct. 28, 63; 1 sergt. oct. 29, 63; 2 lt. oct. 31, 63, acc. nov. 12, 63; 1 lt. bvt. may 6, 64, "for gal, and mer. ser, in the battle of Todd's Tavern, Va."; 1 lt. 1 cav. june 28, 64; capt. bvt. sept. 19, 66; capt. 1 cav. apr. 8, 69.
- LEE, PHILLIP L., Apr. 10, 69, 10th Cavalry, [Both in Va.; apptd. from Va.]— Pvt. co. F. 2 N. Y. cav. ang. 28, 62; discligit. apr. 7, 65; 1 H. 16 N. Y. cav. apr. 7, 65; must. out oct. 7, 65; 1 lt. 10 cav. july 28, 66, acc. june 3, 67; capt. apr. 10, 69.
- 46. KAUFFMAN, ALBERT B., May 13, 69, 8th Cavalry. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Mo.]— Pvt. co. D. 11 inf. mar. 18, 47; corpl. jan. 1, 48; sergt. may 1, 48; discloyd. aug. 16, 48; pvt. co. F. 6 inf. jan. 11, 59; corpl. nov. 12, 50; sergt. may 1, 51; 1 sergt. oct. 1, 51; discloyd. nov. 21, 54; 1 sergt. co. F. 6 inf. nov. 21, 54; discloyd. nov. 21, 59; pvt. co. I, 1 cav. sept. 12, C0; corpl. co. I, 4 cav. oct. 4, 61; 1 sergt. apr. 1, 62; sergt. ang. 31, 62; pvt. may 1, 63; dischgd. sept. 14, 63; capt. 11 Mo. cav. sept. 14, C3; maj. mar. 21, 65; must. out july 27, 65, paid to ang. 4, 65; 1 lt. 8 cav. july 28, 66, acc. jan. 16, 67; regtl. qm. ang. 26, 67, to may 13, 69 : capt. may 13, 69.
- 47. MONTGOMERY, ROBERT H., Jan. 3, 70, 5th Cavalry. [Forn in Pa. : apptd. from Army.]-Pvt. co. C, 2 cav. aug. 6, 60; corpl. jan. 1, 61; sergt. co. C, 5 cav. oct. 20, 61; 1 sergt. sept. 6, 62; 24, 5 cav. nov. 29, 62, acc. dec. 17, 62; 14t. byt. june 9, 63, "for gal. and mer. scr. in the battle of Beverly Ford, Va."; capt. byt. aug. 1, 63, "for gal. and mer. scr. in the battle of Brandy Station, Va."; out of ser. nov. 19, 63; reinstated 2 H. 5 cav. feb. 16, 65; 1 lt. apr. 25, 65; regtl. qm. aug. 3, 65, to dec. 31, 66; regtl. adj't dec. 31, 66, to july 12, 69; capt. jan. 3, 70.

- 48. PARKER, CHARLES, Jan. 16, 70, 9th Cavalry. [Born in N. Y.: apptd. from III.]— Capt. 71–10. vol. july 22, 62; must. out oct 29, 62, paid to oct 50, 62; capt. 17–10. cav. jan. 7, 64; maj. nov. 1, 65; must. out nov. 23, 65; paid to nov. 28, 65; 24. 9 cav. july 28, 66, acc. apr. 22, 67; 14t. byt. and capt. byt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. in battle"; 14f. 9 cav. june 12, 67; capt. jan. 16, 70; hou. must. out jan. 1, 71, under sec. 12 act july 15, 70; recaptd. capt. 9 cav. may 1, 74, with rank from jan. 16, 70, acc. may 2, 74.
- 49. GUNTHER, SEBASTIAN, Feb. 10, 70, 4th Cavalry, [Born in Germ'y: apptd, from Army,]— Pvt. co. B. 1 cav. ang. 27, 55; corpl. dec. 1, 57; sergt. apr. 1, 58; disclid. june 27, 60; sergt. co. B. 1 cav. june 27, 60; com. sergt. 4 cav. oct. 17, 62; 24, 4 cav. ang. 10, 63, acc, ang. 28, 63; regfl. com. dec. 31, 63; to nov. 30, 67; 14; bvt. dec. 16, 64, " for gal, and mer. ser, in the pursuit of the rebel forces under Gen. Hoad"; capt. bvt. apr. 2, 65, "for gal, and mer. ser, in the capture of Schma, Ala."; 14, 4 cav. july 25, 65; capt. feb. 10, 70.
- WELLS, ALMOND B., May 23, 70, 8th Cavalry. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from Nev.]— 1 R. 1 batt. Nev. cav. july 13, 63; capt. may 1, 64; *must. out* nov. 18, 65; 2 R. 8 cav. july 28, 66; acc. apr. 17, 67; 1 R. july 31, 67, acc. mar. 3, 68; capt. may 23, 70.
- 51. FEUHÉT, EDMOND G., May 26, 70, 8th Cavalry. [Born in Mich.apptd. from Mich.]→ Sergt. co. A. 7 Mich. vol. june 19, 61; 1 Sergt. → : dischgd. sept. 17, 62; 24t. 7 Mich. vol. sept. 17, 62; 14t. june 18, 63; dischgd. july 31, 63; qu. sergt. co. 6, 10 Mich. cav. oct. 13, 63; dischgd. jan. 23, 64; 24t. 10 Mich. cav. jan. 23, 64; 14t. apr. 4, 65; dischgd. nov. 21, 65; 24t. 8 cav. july 28, 66, acc. nov. 26, 66; 14t. bvt. and capt. bvt. mar. 2, 67, ~ 6 rg gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Antictam, Md.~; 14t. 8 cav. july 31, 65; capt. may 26, 70.
- KENNEDY, WHLLIAM B., June 7, 70, 10th Cavalry. [Born in Ireland: apptd. from Cal.]— 1 It. 1 Cal. cav. june 13, 65; capt. nov. 42, 65; must. out may 22, 66; 1 It. 10 cav. jan. 22, 67, acc. mar. 26, 67; capt. june 7, 70.
- 53. KELLOGG, SANFORD C., Jan. 11, 71, 5th Cavalry. [Born in N. Y.: apptd. from N. Y.]—Sergt. co. 6, 37 N. Y. s. m. may 29, 62; pyt. july 19, 62; disclopd. sept. 2, 62; capt. a. d. c. vol. may. 11, 63, acc. apr. 7, 63; maj. vol. byt. june 3, 65; "for faith. ser,"; lt. col. vol. byt. june 3, 65, "for gal, and mer. ser, dur. the Atlanta campaign and in the battle of Nashville, "Tenn."; 2 lt. 18 inf, 6cb, 23, 66 (acc. may 5, 66;) lt. may 15, 66; most, out of vol. ser, july 10, 66; capt. byt. mar, 2, 67, "for gal, and mer. ser, in the battle of Atlanta, Ga,"; lt. col. byt. mar, 2, 67, "for gal, and mer, ser, in the battle of Atlanta, Ga,"; lt. col. byt. mar, 2, 67, "for gal, and mer, ser, in the battle of Atlanta, Ga,"; lt. col. byt. mar, 2, 67, "for gal, and mer, ser, in the battle, Tenn."; massd. apr. 26, (6); assd. to 5 cav. dec. 15, 70; capt. jul. 11, 71.
- 54. ILSLEY, CHARLES S., July 11, 71, 7th Cavalry. [Born in Me.; apptd. from Me.]— Pvt. eo. C. 71 N. Y. s. m. apr. 29, 61; dischad, july 30, 61; capt. 15 Me. vol. dec, 23, 61; must. out may 25, 65; capt. 5 N. Y. art. apr. 3, 65; must. out july 19, 65, paid to july 30, 65; 2 1t. and 1 It. 16 inf. feb. 23, 66, acc. apr. 25, 66; capt. bvt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal, and mer. ser. dur. the war"; unassd. apr. 17, 69; assd. to 1 cav. dec. 15, 70; trs. to 7 cav. dec. 23, 70; capt. july 11, 71.
- 55. CHILSON, GEORGE W., Dec. 28, 71, 8th Cavalry. [Born in Mich.; apptd. from Mich.]— Corpl. co. F, 24 Mich. vol. july 30, 62; sergt. may 1, 64; 111, 24 Mich. vol. ang. 14, 64; must. out june 30, 65; 24, 14 inf. feb. 23, 66, acc. apr. 27, 66; 14, july 9, 66; 178, 1032 inf. sept. 24, 66; 178, to 21 inf. apr. 19, 69; unassd. ang. 16, 69; assd. to 8 cav. dec. 15, 70; capt. dec. 28, 71.
- 56. MOYLAN, MYLES, Mar, 1, 72, 7th Cavalry. [Born in Mass.; apptd. from Army.]— Pvt. co. U, 2 drag, june 8, 57; corpl. oct. 1, 58; sergt. oct. 1, 60; 1 sergt. may 17, 61; disebgd, apr. 1, 62; 1 sergt. co. U, 2 cuv. apr. 1, 62; 2 h, 5 cav. feb. 19, 63, acc. mar. 28, 63; out of ser, oct. 20, 63, paid to oct. 25, 63; pvt. co. A, 4 Mass. cav. dec. 2, 63; sergt. dec. 26, 63; 1 ht 4 Mass, cav. jan. 25, 64; capt. dec. 1, 64; maj. vol. bvt. apr. 9, 65, " for gal. and dis. ser. dur. the late comparing in Virginia"; must. out nov. 14, 65, paid to nov. 26, 65; pvt. gen. mtd. ser. jan. 25, 66; corpl. mar. 10, 66; pvt. 7 cav. ang. 20, 66; sergt. maj. 7 cav. sept. 1, 66; 1 H. 7 cav. july 28, 66, acc. dec. 16, 6; regtl. adjf teb. 21, 67, to dec. 31, 70; capt. mar. 1, 72.
- 57. WINT, THEODORE J., Apr. 21, 72, 4th Cavalry. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Army.]— Pv1. co. F. 6 Pa. cav. oct. 12, 61; corpl. ______, 63; sergt. oct. 1, 63; 11t. 6 Pa. cav. july I, 64; must. out sept. 30, 64; pvt. gen. mtd. ser, feb. 20, 65; 24t. 4 cav. nov. 24, 65, acc. dec. 1, 65; 14; must. out sept. 30; 64; regtl. adj't ang. 26, 68, to dec. 31, 71; capt. apr. 21, 72.
- 58. HARRIS, MOSES, June 20, 72, 1st Cavalry, [Born in N. H.: apptd. from Army.]— Pvt. co. G. 1 cav. mar. 19, 57; corpl. apr. 16, 60; sergt. july 13, 61; dischgd. jan. 20, 62; sergt. co. G. 4 cav. jan. 20, 62; 1 sergt. apr. 19, 63; 2 It. 1 cav. may 18, 64, acc. june 15, 64; 1 It. aug. 15, 64; capt. bvt. sept. 19, 64, " for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Winchester, Va."; capt. 1 cav. june 20, 72.

- 59. MOORE, FRANCIS, Ang. 24, 72, 9th Cavalry. [Born in Scotl'd; appld, from La.]— Pyt. co. M, 1 Colo. cav. sept. 10, 61; sergt. dec. 31, 62; capt. 65 U. S. e. t. dec. 29, 63; R. col. vol. byt. mar. 13, 65; "for faith, and mer. ser, dur. fhe war"; R. col. 65 U. S. e. t. mar. 30, 65; must. out june 21, 65; maj. 65 U. S. e. t. june 21, 65; 24, 9 cav. july 28, 66, acc. nov. 21, 66; must. out of vol. ser, jan. 8, 67; regtl. com. 9 cav. may 15, 67, to july 15, 70; 14t. 9 cav. july 12, 67; regtl. qm. sept. 1, 70, to ang. 24, 72; capt. ang. 24, 72.
- 60. PRICE, GEORGE F., Aug. 29, 72, 5th Cavalry. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from Cal.]— 14, 2 Cal. cav. sept. 3, 61; capt. nov. 14, 61; 24t. 5 cav. feb. 23, 66, acc. may 16, 66; must. out of vol. ser. july 9, 66; 14t. 5 cav. july 31, 66; regtl. qm. may 1, 72, to ang 29, 72; capt. aug. 29, 72.
- WESSELLS, HENRY W., JR., Dec. 29, 72, 3rd Cavalry. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from Army.]— Pvt, eo. K, 7 inf. mar. 1, 65; sergt. mar. 14, 65; trs. to co. D. may 29, 65; 24t. and 14t. 7 inf. july 20, 65; acc. aug. 16, 65; trs. to 3 cav. jan. 1, 74; capt. dec. 29, 72
- 62. CARAHER, ANDREW P., Jan. 15, 73, 8th Cavalry. [Born in Ireland; appt'd. from Mass.]— Capt. 28 Mass. vol. dec. 13, 61; maj. nov. 15, 62; maj. vet. res. corps sept. 21, 63; it. col. oct. 1, 63; col. 2 U.S. vol. feb. 18, 65; must. ant as col. 2 U.S. vol. nov. 7, 65; must. out of vet. res. corpsjan. 6, 67; 14t. 43 inf. july 28, 66, acc. jan. 7, 67; capt. bvt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Fredericksburg, Va."; maj. bvt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Grettysburg, Pa."; trs. to 1 inf. apr. 8, 69; trs. to 8 cav. jan. 1, 71; capt. jan. 15, 73.
- 63. BENDURE, CHARLES, Feb. 21, 73, 1st Cavalry. [Born in Germ'y: apptd. from Army.]— Pvt. co. D. 1 drag, june 10, 54; corpl. dec. 1, 55; pvt. aug. 17, 56; disclagd, june 10, 59; pvt. co. D. 1 cav. june 8, 60; corpl. mar. 16, 61; sergt. co. D. 4 cav. nov. 21, 61; hosp. stwd. 4 cav. nov. 3, 62; disclagd, july 1, 64; hosp. stwd. 4 cav. july 1, 64; 2 ft. 2 inf. may 18, 64, acc. sept. 9, 64; 1 ft. bvt. june 11, 64; "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Trevillian Station, Va."; trs. to 1 cav. sept. 9, 64; 1 lt. nov. 12, 64; capt. feb. 21, 73.
- 64. FOULK, WILLIAM L., Mar. 3, 73, 6th Cavalry. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Pa.]— 21t. 7 Pa. vol. apr. 23, 61; 11t. june 11, 61; must. out ang. 5, 61; paid to ang. 6, 61; capt. 46 Pa. vol. ang. 26, 61; 1k. col. june 9, 63; must. out july 29, 65; 24t. 18; inf. may 11, 66, acc. ang. 18, 66; trs. to 36 inf. sept. 21, 66; 14t. mar. 1, 67; massd. may 19, 69; assd. to 10 cav. dcc. 15, 70; capt. mar. 3, 73; out of ser. dcc. 6, 73, paid to jan. 4, 74; capt. of cav. june 14, 78, to rank from mar. 3, 73 (act mar. 9, 78), acc. june 18, 78, assd. to 6 cav. aug. 10, 78.
- 65. COSTER, JOHN H., Mar. 29, 73, 8th Cavalry. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from N. Y.]— Pvt. co. K, 7 N. Y. s. m. apr. 26, 61; disclingd, june 3, 61; capt. I N. Y. vol. sept. 12, 61; must. out mar. 3, 63; maj. vol. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. dur. the war"; 1 lt. 6 Cal. vol. sept. 20, 65; must. out oct. 25, 65, paid to oct. 30, 65; 1 lt. 7 Cal. vol. nov. 18, 65; capt. 1 Ariz. vol. apr. 1, 66; must. out june 13, 66; 2 lt. 14 inf. july 28, 66, declined; 1 lt. 30 inf. mar. 7, 67, ace. may 14, 67; capt. bvt. mar. 7, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. in action at Glendale, Va."; unassd. mar. 23, 69; assd. to 8 cav. dec. 15, 70; capt. mar. 29, 73.
- 66. KEYES, ALEXANDER S. B., Dec. 6, 73, 10th Cavalry. [Born in Mass.; apptd. from Mass.]—
 Pvt. co. A, 59 Mass. vol. oct. 31, 63; sergt. _____; sergt. maj. 59 Mass. vol. may 1, 64; dischad. june 30, 64; 24t. 1 Mass. art. july 5, 64; must. out oct. 20, 65, paid to oct. 23, 65; 2
 14. 12 inf. feb. 23, 66, acc. apr. 24, 66; trs. to 30 inf. sept. 21, 66; 14t. feb. 9, 67; capt. byt.

11. 12 mir. teo. 23, 66, acc. apr. 24, 66; trs. to 30 mir. sept. 21, 66; 1 mir. e.b. 9, 67; capt. byt. mar. 2, 67, " for gal. and mer. ser. dur. the war"; regtl. adj# 30 mf. nov. 10, 68, to mar. 23, 69; unassd. mar. 23, 69; trs. to 10 cav. apr. 2, 70; capt. dec. 6, 73.

- 67. WHEELAN, JAMES N., Dec. 15, 73, 2nd Cavalry. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from N. Y.]-1 sergt. co. A, 1 N. Y. m. rif. july 18, 61; 2 lt. 1 N. Y. m. rif. jan 7, 62; capt. feb. 7, 62; maj. ang. 13, 62; col. vol. byt. mar. 13, 65. "for gal. and mer. ser. dur. the war"; lt. col. 1 N. Y. m. rif. aug. 17, 65; must. out nov. 29, 65, paid to dec. 8, 65; 2 lt. 2 cav. feb. 23, 66, acc. apr. 9, 66; 1 lt. july 28, 66; capt. dec. 15, 73.
- 68. KRAMER, ADAM, Ang. 1, 74, 6th Cavalry. [Born in Germ'y; apptd. from Pa.]— Pvt. co. F, 2 drag. may 16, 57; dischyd. may 16, 62; pvt. co. 1, 15 Pa. cav. aug. 25, 62; sergt. oct. 30, 62; 1 sergt. nov. 1, 62; 1 lt. 15 Pa. cav. mar. 1, 63; capt. may 8, 63; must. out june 21, 65; 2 lt. 2 U. S. e. c. dec. 7, 65; must. out feb. 12, 66; paid to mar. 8, 66; 2 lt. 6 cav. apr. 27, 66, acc. june 7, 66; 1 lt. dec. 12, 66; capt. aug. 1, 74.
- 69. HAYES, EDWARD M., Aug. 15, 74, 5th Cavalry. [Born in N. Y.; appid. from N. J.]— Mus. gen. mid. ser. aug. 28, 55; bug. co. II, 2 cav. feb. 15, 57; trs. to co. B, july 1, 59; *dischgd.* aug. 28, 60; 11 h. 10 Ohio cav. jan. 15, 63; capit. mar. 24, 64; maj. vol. bvt. mar. 13, 65; "for gal. and mer. ser. dur. the campaigns in Georgia and the Carolinas"; *must. out* july 24, 65, paid to aug. 6, 65; 2 H. 5 cav. feb. 23, 66, acc. apr. 14, 66; 1 ht. aug. 20, 66; regth. qm. june 22, 69, to may 1, 72; capt. aug. 15, 74.

- 70. CAMPBELL, CHARLES H., Sept. 29, 74, 6th Cavalry. [Born in D. C.; apptd. from D. C.]— 2 R. 1 N. Y. art, feb. 4, 65; 1 R. vol. byt. apr. 9, 65, "for mer. ser. dur. the campaign terminating with the surrender of the insurgent array under Gen. R. L. Lee"; capt. a. a. g. vol. june 1, 65, acc. june 3, 65; must. out may 11, 66; 2 R. 6 cav. july 25, 66, acc. ang. 16, 66; 1 R. byt. and capt. byt. mar 2, 67, "for gal, and mer. ser. in the battle of Petersburg, Va."; 14, 6 cav. may 7, 67; capt. seq4. 20, 74.
- 71. KELLEY, JOSEPH M., Apr. 15, 75, 10th Cavahy. [Form in N. Y.; apptd. from Pa.]— Pvt. co. G. 19 Pa. vol. apr. 18, 61; dischad. ang. 8, 61; 14t. 69 Pa. vol. ang. 26, 61; must. out mar. 4, 63; 14t. vet. res. corps mar. 8, 64, acc. mar. 12, 64; capt. apr. 3, 65, acc. apr. 30, 65; must. out nov. 20, 65; 44, 38 inf. mar. 7, 67, acc. may 22, 67; unassd. nov. 11, 69; assd. to 10 cav. dec. 15, 70; capt. apr. 15, 75.
- 72. PAYNE, J. SCOUT, June 4, 75, 5th Cavalry. [Born in Va.: apptd. from M. A.]— Calet july 1, 62; 24, 5 cav. june 18, 66; 14, may 23, 67, *resgd.* sept. 12, 68; 24t, 6 cav. feb. 3, 75, acc. feb. 22, 73; 14t, 5 cav. sept. 8, 74, with rank from may 23, 67 [act june 23, 74], acc. sept. 25, 74; capt. june 4, 75.
- (73) MCDOUGALL, THOMAS M., Dec. 15, 75, 7th Cavalry. [Born in Wis.; apptd. from Kans.]— 2 lt. 48 U. S. et al. (6b) 18, 64; (appt. 5 U. S. vol. june 2, 65; 2 lt. 14 inf. may 10, 66, acc, july 20, 66; *must. out* of vol. ser. ang. [0], 66; (tts. to 32 inf. sept. 21, 66; 1 lt. nov. 5, 66; (capt. bvt. mar. 2, 67, "for faith, and mer. ser."; (tts. to 32 inf. apr. 19, 69; (massd. oct. 21, 69; assd. to 7 cav. jan. 1, 71; (capt. dec. 15, 75).
- 71. VROOM, PETER D., May 17, 76, 3rd Cavalry. [Born in N. J.; apptd. from N. J.]— 14, 1 N. J. vol. aug. 28, 62; must, out sept. 19, 63; maj. 2 N. J. cav. sept. 25, 63; ht. col. vol. bvt. and col. vol. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. dnr. the war"; must, out oct. 24, 65; 2 H. 3 cav. fcb, 23, 66, acc, app. 9, 66; 1 H. july 28, 66; regtl. com. dec. 1, 66, to may 28, 67; regtl. adj't dec. 25, 68, to may 15, 71; capt. may 17, 76.
- 75. HEMPHILL, WILLIAM C., May 17, 76, 4th Cavalry. [Born in Va.; apptd. from Army.]— Pvt. co. D. 2 cav. july 1, 55; co.pl. nov. 6, 55; sergt. jan. 18, 56; pvt. band 2 cav. aug. 1, 57; pvt. co. D. 2 cav. mar. 1, 58; corpl. aug. 15, 58; pvt. nov. 24, 58; dischad. may 1, 60; corpl. co. D. 2 cav. mar. 1, 66; sergt. july 1, 66; 1 sergt. mar. 15, 61; *out of ser*, oct. 21, 61; pvt. co. D, 5 cav. mar. 22, 63; corpl. oct. 1, 63; sergt. may 1, 64; *dischad.* july 11, 64; sergt. co. D, 5 cav. july 11, 64; 2 lt. 4 cav. may 25, 66, acc. sept. 8, 66; 1 lt. jan. 22, 67; capt. may 17, 76.
- 76. LEBO, THOMAS C., May 17, 76, 10th Cavalry. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Pa.]— 2 It. 11 Pa. vol. apr. 26, 61; most. out aug. 1, 61; 24, 1 Pa. cav. nov. 24, 61; 14, feb. 2, 63; capt. dec. 13, 64; most. out aug. 7, 65, paid to aug. 14, 65; 14t. 10 cav. june 12, 67, acc. july 16, 67; capt. may 17, 76.
- 77. FARNSWORTH, HENRY J., May 17, 76, 8th Cavalry. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from N. Y.]— Uapt. a. qui, vol. july 8, 64, acc, july 23, 64; maj. vol. byt. and R. col. vol. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith, and mer. ser. dar, the war": 11, 34 inf. june 14, 67, acc, aug. 31, 67; capt. byt. june 14, 67, "for faith, and eff. ser. dur, the war": *must, out of vol. ser. sept.* 1, 67; unassd. apr. 14, 69; assd. to 8 cav. dec. 15, 70; capt. may 17, 76.
- 78. WALLACE, WILLIAM M., May 17, 76, 6th Cavalry. [Born in Wis.; apptd. from N. Y.]-1 R. 13 N. Y. art. mar. 29, 64; *must. out* may 6, 64; 24R, 8 inf. oct. 2, 66, acc. oct. 26, 66; 1 R. sept. 25, 67; unassd. may 3, 69; assd. to 6 cav. dec. 15, 70; capt. may 17, 76.
- 79. NOWLAN, HENRY J., June 25, 76, 7th Cavalry. [Born in Corfu: apptd. from N. Y]— 14, 14 N. Y. cav. jan. 17, 63; capt. 18 N. Y. cav. jan. 15, 66; must. out may 31, 66; 24t, 7 cav. july 28, 66, acc. oct. 23, 66; 14, dec. 3, 66; regtl. com. nov. 1, 67, to july 15, 70; regtl. qu., mar. 1, 72, to june 25, 76; capt. june 25, 76.
- 80. BELL, JAMES M., June 25, 76, 7th Cavalry. [Form in Pa.; apptd. from Pa.]— 1 It. 86 Ohio vol. june 10, 62; must. out sept. 25, 62; capt. ind. co. Pa. cav. june 20, 63; must. out ang. 9, 63; capt. 13 Pa. cav. oct. 8, 63; must. out july 14, 65, paid to july 26, 65; 2 It. 7 cav. july 28, 66, acc. nov. 27, 66; 1 It. bvt. and capt. bvt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal and mer. ser. in the battle of the Wilderness, Va."; maj. bvt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal, and mer. ser. in the battle of Ream's Station, Va."; 14, 7 cav. apr. 2, 67; regtl. qm. nov. 1, 67, to mar. 31, 69, and from oct. 26, 69, to dec. 31, 70; capt. june 25, 76.
- JACKSON, HENRY, June 25, 76, 7th Cavalry. [Born in Englid: apptd. from III.]— Pet. co. A, 14 III. cav. dec. 28, 63; corpl. june 1, 64; serget. maj. 5 U. 8, c. c. jan. 2, 65; 2 H. 5 U. 8, c. c. may 14, 65; 14, dec. 28, 65; most, out max. 16, 66; 2 H. 7 cav. july 28, 66, acc. nov. 12, 66; 1 H. july 31, 67, acc. oct. 22, 67; capt. june 25, 76.
- 82. WOODSON, ALBERT E., July 1, 76,5th Cavalry. [Born in Ky.; apptd. from Idaho.] Pvt. co. E, 1 Wash. T. vol. may 27, 62; hosp. stwd. 1 Wash. T. vol. aug. 31, 62; dischgd. apr. 14, 63; 2 lt. 1 Wash. T. vol. apr. 14, 63; must. out mar. 25, 65; 1 lt. 36 inf. aug. 5, 67, acc. sept. 14, 67; unassd. may 19, 69; assd. to 5 cav. dec. 15, 79; capt. july 1, 76.

- NORWOOD, RANDOLPH, July 19, 76, 2nd Cavalry. [Born in Md. : apptd. from Md.] 24t. 1 Md. cav. oct. 30, 61 ; 1 H. feb. 14, 63; capt. sept. 1, 63; must. out oct. 27, 64; 2 H. 2 cav. feb. 23, 66, acc. apr. 21, 66; 1 H. ang. 31, 66; regtl. adj't july 4, 76, to july 19, 76; capt. july 19, 76.
- LAWSON, JOSEPH, Sept. 25, 76, 3rd Cavalry. [Born in Ireland; apptd. from Ky.]— 2 R. 11 Ky. cav. oct. 3, 62; capt. nov. 28, 62; must. out july 17, 65; 2 R. 3 cav. feb. 23, 66, acc. apr. 13, 66; J R. july 28, 66; capt. sept. 25, 76.
- HENTIG, EDMUND C., Nov. 15, 76, 6th Cavalry. [Dorn in Mich.; apptd. from Mich.]— 2 h. 6 cav. june 12, 67, acc. june 24, 67; 1 h. dec. 23, 68; capt. nov. 15, 76.
- GODFREY, EDWARD S., Dec. 9, 76, 7th Cavalry. [Born in Ohio: apptd. from M. A.]- Pvt. co. D. 21 Ohio vol. apr. 26, 61; dischyd. aug. 12, 61; cadet july 1, 63; 24t. 7 cav. june 17, 67; 14t. feb. 1, 68; capt. dec. 9, 76.
- 87. BABCOCK, JOHN B., May 9, 77, 5th Cavalry. [Born in La.; apptd. from Coun.]— Sergt. co. 6, 37 N. Y. s. m. may 29, 62; dischad. sept. 2, 62; 21, 174 N. Y. vol. nov. 13, 62; 11t. dec. 1, 63; trs. to 162 N. Y. vol. june 26, 64; capt. 162 N. Y. vol. dec. 9, 64; naj. jan. 1, 65; resgd. july 23, 65; 24t. 5 cav. jan. 22, 67, acc. mar. 28, 67; 14t. bvt., capt. bvt., and mail. bvt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser, in the battles of Sabine Cross Roads, Pleasant Hill, and Cane River Crossing, La."; 14, 5 cav. fob. 14, 68; capt. may 9, 77.
- 88. GREGG, THOMAS J., June 25, 77, 2nd Cavalry. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Pa.]— Pvt. 125 Pa. vol. ang. 7, 62; corpl. aug. 20, 62; diselogd. oct. 30, 62; 2 It. 6 Pa. cav. nov. 1, 62; must. out oct. 3, 64; capt. 8 Pa. cav. june 24, 65; frs. to 16 Pa. cav. july 24, 65; must. out ang. 11, 65, paid to ang. 14, 65; 2 It. 2 cav. feb. 23, 66, acc. apr. 9, 66; 1 It. sept. 1, 66; capt. bvt. and mrij. bvt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. dur. the war."; regil. com. nov. 3, 68, to july 15, 70; capt. 2 cav. june 25, 77.
- 89. MATHEY, EDWARD G., Sept. 30, 77, 7th Cavalry. [Born in France; apptd. from Ind.]— 1 sergt. co. C. 17 Ind. vol. may 31, 61; dischgd. may 21, 62; 2 lt. 17 Ind. vol. may 21, 62; resgd. aug. 10, 62; 2 lt. 81 Ind. vol. sept. 1, 62; 1 lt. mar. 21, 63; capt. nov. 8, 63; maj. sept. 12; 64; must. out june 13, 65, paid to june 25, 65; 2 lt. 7 cav. sept. 24, 67, acc. oct. 5, 67; 1 lt. may 10, 70; cap1. sept. 30, 77.
- 90. JOHNSON, JOHN B., Apr. 4, 78, 3rd Cavalry. [Born in Mass.; apptd. from Mass.]— 2 li, 6 U. S. e. t. sept. 8, 63; disclopd. jan. 20, 65, paid to jan. 22, 65; 1 li, 6 U. S. e. t. feb. 15, 65; must. out sept. 20, 65; 2 lt. 7 inf. apr. 23, 66, acc. may 23, 66; 1 lt. oct. 12, 67; unassd. may 19, 69; assd. to 3 cav. jan. 1, 71; regtl. adj't may 15, 71, to apr. 4, 78; capt. apr. 4, 78.
- 91. MAHNKEN, JOHN H., June 28, 78, 8th Cavabry. [Born in Germ'y: apptd. from N. Y.]→ 1 sergt. Devin's ind. co. cav. N. Y. s. m. july 14, 61; dischool. cot. 23, 61; 1 lt. 6 N. Y. cav. nov. 27, 61; capt. may 1, 64; capt. a. a. g. vol. may 18, 64, acc. june 21, 64; maj. vol. bvt. mar. 21, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the vicinity of Five Forks, Va."; must. out sept. 15, 66; 1 lt. 8 cav. aug. 7, 67, acc. aug. 20, 67; capt. bvt. aug. 7, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the batthe of Cedar Creek, Va."; maj. bvt. aug. 7, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the batfor Forks, Va."; regth. adj't 8 cav. oct. 13, 68, to june 28, 78; capt. june 28, 78.
- 92. FORSE, ALBERT G., Mar. 4, 79, 1st Cavalry. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 61; 2 lt. 1 cav. june 23, 65; regtl. qm. sept. 7, 66, to dec. 23, 69; 1 lt. oct. 15, 66; regtl. adj't dec. 23, 69, to feb. 1, 72; capt. mar. 4, 79.
- 93. SPENCER, THOMAS J., Mar. 20, 79, 10th Cavabry. [Born in Mich. ; apptd. from Mich.]— Pvt. co. A, 1 Mich. L art. may 28, 61; disclipid, aug. 21, 62; 2 It. 1 Ala. cav. aug. 21, 62; must, out sept. 16, 65; 2 H. 10 cav. july 28, 66, acc. jan. 7, 67; 1 It. bvt. and capt. bvt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Atlanta, 6a."; 1 It. 10 cav. june 1, 67; out of ser. apr. 24, 73; 1 It. 10 cav. may 3, 77, with rank from june 1, 67 [act mar. 3, 77], acc. may 7, 77; capt. mar. 20, 79.
- 94. LAWTON, HENRY W., Mar. 20, 79, 4th Cavalry. [Born in Ohio; apptd. from Ind.]— Sergt. co. E, 9 Ind. vol. apr. 18, 61; dischgd. july 29, 61; 1 It. 30 Ind. vol. sept. 24, 61; capt. may 17, 62; It. col. feb. 10, 65; col. vol. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. dur. the war"; must. out nov. 25, 65, paid to dec. 6, 65; 2 Ir. 41 inf. july 28, 66, ace. may 4, 67; 1 It. july 31, 67; regtl. qm. june 1, 68, to nov. 11, 69; trs. to 24 inf. nov. 11, 69; regtl. qm. nov. 11, 69, to jan. 1, 71; trs. to 4 cav. jan. 1, 71; regtl. qm. may 1, 72, to mar. 20, 75, and from sept. 1, 76, to mar. 20, 79; capt. mar. 20, 79.
- 95. RUCKER, LOUIS H., Mar. 20, 79, 9th Cavalry. [Born in Ill.; apptd. from Ill.]— Sergt. co. G, 8 Ill. cav. sept. 14, 61; pvt. ——; sergt. feb. 1, 62; 1 sergt. feb. 12, 62; dischad. feb. 29, 64; 2 It. 8 Ill. cav. mar. 1, 64; 1 It. dec. 14, 64; must. out apr. 21, 65; 2 It. 9 cav. july 28, 66, acc. jan. 12, 67; 1 It. july 31, 67; regtl. qm. aug. 25, 72, to mar. 20, 79; capt. mar. 20, 79.

96. STEVENSON, JONATHAN D., Mar. 20, 79, 8th Cavalry, [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from N. Y.]-

Com. Serg1, 102 N. Y. vol. oct. 15, 61; disclight apr. 28, 62; pvt. 25 N. Y. cav. aug. 25, 64; disclight oct. 19, 64; 14t. 25 N. Y. cav. oct. 20, 64; must. out june 27, 65, paid to july 6, 65; 24. 8 cav. july 28, 66, acc. nov. 23, 66; 14. aug. 26, 67; capt. mar. 20, 79.

- 97. CREWS, HANSON H., Mar. 20, 79, 4th Cavalry. [Born in III.; apptd. from III.]-Pyt. co. G, 39 III. vol. aug. 9, 61; disched. feb. 19, 64; 24t, 64 III. vol. feb. 20, 64; 11t. sept. 20, 64; capi, apr. 8, 65; *mark. ont* july 11, 65, paid to july 17, 65; 1 lt. 28 inf. july 28, 66, acc. oct. 26, 66; capt. byt. mar. 2, 67. "for gal, and mer. ser, in the battle of Kenesaw Moontain"; trs. to 1 9 inf. mar. 31, 69; trs. to 4 (cv), july 10, 73, taking rank from jan. 13, 68; regtl. adj't mar. 1, 78, to may 17, 78; capt. mar. 20, 79.
- 98. DREW, GEORGE A., Mar. 20,79, 3rd Cavalry. [Born in Mich.; apptd. from Mich.]-CARLW, GEORGEE A., Mar. 20, 69, 3rd Cavary. [Born m Mich.; appld. from Mich.]— Capt. 6 Mich. cav. oct. 11, 62; mai, sept. 24, 63; ht col. vol. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for highly dis, and mer. ser. in the Shenandoah Valley"; col. vol. bvt. apr. 9, 65, "for highly dis, and mer. ser. in the campaign against Richmond, Va."; *must. out* oct. 11, 65; 2 ht. 10 inf. may 15, 66, acc. july 11, 66; 1 H. bvt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal, and mer. ser. in the campaigns in the Shenandoah Valley in 1864"; capt. bvt. mar. 2, 68; unass6, may 19, 69; ass6, to 3 (cay, jin, 1, 71), regft on mary 15, 75 (mar. 20, capt. may 20, 75). cav. jan. 1, 71; regtl. qm. aug. 15, 75, to mar. 20, 79; capt. mar. 20, 79.
- 99. CRAWFORD, EMMET, Mar. 20, 79, 3rd Cavidry. [Form in Pa.; apptd. from Pa.]— Pyt. co. F, 71 Pa. vol. may 28, 61; dischod. july 2, 64; 4 sergt. co. K, 197 Pa. vol. july 11, 64; dischod. nov. 11, 64; 141; 13 U. S. c. t. nov. 23, 64; capt. vol. byt. and maj. vol. byt. mar. 13, 65; "for mer. ger. dur. the war"; most. out nov. 18, 65; 241; 37 U. S. c. t. feb. 16, 66; must. out may 19, 67; 241; 33 inf. jan. 22, 67, acc. may 20, 67; 14; june 5, 68; trs. 16 25 inf. apr. 20, 69; mnassd. june 17, 69; assd. to 3 cav. jan. 1, 71; capt. mar. 20, 79.
- 100. CALLAHAN, CHARLES M., Apr. 2, 79, 4th Cavalry. [Born in Ireland; apptd. from Mo.]— Sergt. co. K. 1 Mo. vol. apr. 26, 61; dischad. ang. 9, 61; 2 lt. 1 Mo. 1, art. ang. 10, 61; 14t. sept. 1, 62; capt. jan. 26, 65; *uanst. out* june 16, 65; 2 lt. 3 art. feb. 23, 66, acc. apr. 17, 66; 1 H. july 28, 66; capt. byt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Bentonville, N. C."; trs. to 4 cav. jan. 13, 71, taking rank from feb.15, 68; capt. apr. 2, 79.
- 101. SWEENEY, HENRY, Apr. 2, 79, 4th Cavalry. [Born in Ireland; apptd. from Ark.]— Pvt. co. II, 2 drag. sept. 11, 54; bug. june —, 55; pvt. sept. 8, 57; corpl. feb. 1, 59; hosp. stwd. jan. 20, 59; discloyd. july 15, 59; hosp. stwd. july 15, 59; discloyd. oct. 8, 63; capt. 60 U. S. e. t. oct. 15, 63; maj. vol. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for long and faith, ser."; 2 H. 15 inf. june 18, 67, acc. july 22, 67; must, out of vol. ser. aug. 11, 67; 1 H. 15 inf. july 27, 68; massd. ang. 12, 69; assd. to 4 cav. jan. 1, 71; capt. apr. 2, 79.
- 102. VOLKMAR, WILLIAM J., Apr. 2, 79, 5th Cavalry. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from M. A.]— Sergt. co. D, 33 Pa. vol. june 19, 63; dischool. ang. 4, 63; cadet july 1, 64; 24: 5 cav. june 15, 68; 1 lt. mar. 19, 70; capt. apr. 2, 79.
- 103. DAWSON, BYRON, Apr. 4, 79, 9th Cavalry. [Born in Ind.: apptd. from Ind.]— 1 sergt. co. L, 3 Ind. cav. sept. 5, 62; 2 H. 3 Ind. cav. sept. 1, 64; capt. 8 Ind. cav. may 4, 65; must. out july 20, 65, paid to aug. 7, 65; 2 H. 9 cav. july 28, 66, acc. may 20, 67; 1 lf. july 31, 67; eapt. apr. 4, 79.
- 104. HUGGINS, ELI L., Δpr. 23, 79, 2nd Cavalry. [Born in Ill.; apptd. from Minn.]— Pvt. co. E. 2 Minn. vol. july 5, 61; corpl. nov. 19, 62; discloyd, july 14, 64; pvt. co. K, 1 Minn. art. feb. 16, 65; 11 ht. 1 Minn. art. mar. 1, 65; must. out sept. 27, 65, paid to get. 8, 65; 2 H. 2 art. feb. 23, 66, acc. apr. 16, 66; 1 H. dec. 24, 66; trs. to 2 cav. apr. 11, 79, taking rank from nov. 1, 67; capt. apr. 23, 79.
- 105. PARNELL, WILLIAM R., Apr. 29, 79, 1st Cavalry. [Born in Ireland; apptd. from N. Y. [- N. Y. [- 111. Au, Al., Apr. et al., and the mail may 25, 63; it. col. jan. 28, 64; dischgd. 1 It. 4 N. Y. eav. ang. 29, 61; capt. dec. 19, 61; maj. may 25, 63; it. col. jan. 28, 64; dischgd. dec. 15, 64; 2 It. 1 cav. feb. 23, 66, ace, apr. 11, 66; 1 It. oct. 15, 66; capt. bvt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. in action at Upperville, Va., june 21, 63"; maj. bvt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. dur, the war"; It. col. bvt. sept. 26, 67, "for cons. gallantry in charging a large body of Indians, strongly fortified, in the "Infernal Caverns," Pitt River, Cal., sept. 26, 67";
 - capt. apr. 29, 79.
- 106. FORBUSH, WILLIAM C., May 1, 79, 5th Cavalry. [Born in Mass.; apptd. from M. A.]-Cadet july 1, 64; 2 lt. 5 cav. june 15, 68; regtl. adj't july 12, 69, to oct. 5, 76; 1 lt. mar. 19, 70; capi. may 1, 79.
- 107. MACADAMS, JAMES G., May 9, 79, 2nd Cavalry. [Born in Canada; apptd. from Kv.]— 21t. 6 Ky. cav. feb. 28, 63; must. out july 14, 65; capt. 6 Ky. cav. aug. 1, 65; must. out sept. 6, 65, paid to sept. 17, 65; 2 lt. 2 cav. mar. 7, 67, acc. aug. 15, 67; 1 lt. june 18, 68; capt. may 9, 79.

- 108. HAMILTON, SAMUEL T., Jane 14, 79, 2nd Cavalry. [Form in Pa.; apptd. from Pa.]— Pvt. co. I, 15 Pa. cav. ang. 22, 62; corpl. oct. 39, 62; sergt. nov. I, 62; trs. to co. B mar. 1, 63; com. sergt. co. B nov. 10, 64; qm. sergt. co. B mar. 16, 65; dischad, june 21, 65; 2 lt. 2 cav. june 18, 67, acc. july 25, 67; 1 lt. nov. 27, 68; capt. june 14, 79.
- 109. AUGUR, JACOB A., June 14, 79, 5th Cavalry. [Born in N. Y. ; apptd. from M. Λ.]— Cadet sept. 1, 65; 2 lt. 5 cav. june 15, 69; 1 lt. jan. 11, 71; capt. june 14, 79.
- 110. THOMPSON, WILLIAM A., July 23, 79, 4th Cavalry. [Born in Md. ; apptd. from Md.]— Pyt. co. 0, 1 Md. vol. aug. 18, 62; qm. sergt. 1 Md. vol. dec. 6, 64; dischard, june 3, 65; 2 R. 4 cav. june 18, 67, acc. july 16, 67; 1 R. july 31, 69; regtl. adj't sept. 1, 77, to mar. 1, 78; capt. july 23, 79.
- 111. THOMPSON, JOHN C., Aug. 10, 79, 3rd Cavalry. [Born in Md.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 62; 24t. 3 cav. june 18, 66; 14t. july 28, 68; regt. qm. dec. 1, 68, to oct. 1, 74; regt. adjt mar. 1, 79, to aug. 10, 79; capt. aug. 10, 79.
- 112. HUNTER, EDWARD, Aug. 21, 79, 1st Cavalry. [Born in Me.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 60; 24, and 14, 12 inf. june 23, 65; qm. 3 batt. feb. 23, 66, to aug. 11, 66; regtl. qm. 12 inf. aug. 11, 66, to feb. 28, 69; regtl. adj't oct. 31, 69, to feb. 19, 70; trs. to 1 cav. feb. 19, 70; regtl. qm. sept. 19, 70, to may 1, 73; regtl. adj't nov. 26, 77, to aug. 21, 79; capt. aug. 21, 79.
- 113. WALKER, JOHN P., Nov. 30, 79, 3rd Cavalry. [Born in Ohio; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 61; 2 lt, 13 inf. june 18, 66; trs. to 22 inf. sept. 21, 66; regtl. adj't may 12, 67, to jan 31, 68; 1 lt. jan. 5, 69; unassd. may 15, 69; assd. to 3 cav. jan. 1, 71; capt. nov. 30, 79.
- 114. LOUD, JOHN S., Jan. 13, 80, 9th Cavalry. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from N. Y.]— Pvt. co. E, 7 N. Y. n. g. may 25, 62; dischgd. sept. 5, 62; 1 lt. 12 N. Y. cav. jan. 5, 63; capt. jan. 25, 64; *mutst. out* june 24, 65; 2 lt. 9 cav. jan. 22, 67, acc. apr. 15, 67; 1 lt. hvt. and capt. bvt. mar. 2, 67, "for mer. ser. dur. the war"; 1 lt. 9 cav. july 31, 67; regtl. adj't sept. 13, 67, to jan. 13, 80; capt. jan. 13, 80.
- 115. GIBSON, FRANK M., Feb. 5, 80, 7th Cavalry. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Pa.]— 2 lt. 7 cav. oct. 5, 67, acc. oct. 28, 67; 1 lt. july 11, 71; capt. feb. 5, 80.
- 116. O'BRIEN, MARTIN E., Apr. 1, 80, 2nd Cavalry. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from Iowa.]— Pvt. co. D, 1 Ark. cav. june 3, 62; 1 sergt. co. C, july 31, 62; pvt. oct. 1, 63; capt. 2 Ark. cav. oct. 12, 63; must. out aug. 20, 65; 2 lt. 2 cav. aug. 7, 67, acc. aug. 9, 67; 1 lt. dec. 3, 68; capt. apr. 1, 80.
- 117. SMITH, ALLEN, May 21, 80, 4th Cavalry. [Born in Fla.; apptd. from Pa.] 2 It. 1 inf, july 18, 66, acc. aug. 15, 66; 1 It. apr. 22, 68; regtl. adj t apr. 21, 69, to mar. 16, 80; regtl. qm. mar. 16, 80, to may 1, 80; capt. may 21, 80; trs. to 4 cav. dec. 6, 80, taking rank from may 21, 80.
- 118. ABBOTT, LEMUEL A., June 3, 80, 6th Cavalry. [Born in Vt ; apptd. from Vt.]— 1 sergt. co. B, 10 Vt. vol. july 28, 62; 2 lt. 10 Vt. vol. mar. 20, 63; 1 lt. july 31, 64; capt. fcb. 5, 65; must. out june 22, 65, paid to july 2, 65; 1 lt. 97 U. S. c. t. nov. 6, 65; must. out apr. 6, 66; paid to apr. 8, 66; 2 lt. 6 cav. july 2, 67, acc. july 22, 67; 1 lt. sept. 10, 69; regtl. qu. nov. 25, 69, to may 17, 73; capt. june 3, 80.
- 119. WESENDORFF, MAX, June 12, 80, 1st Cavalry. [Born in Prussia; apptd. from D. C.]— 1 lt. 1 Wash. T. vol. apr. 7, 62; must. out may 12, 65; 2 lt. 24 inf. jan. 22, 67, acc. apr. 1, 67; 1 lt. apr. 21, 68; unassd. apr. 25, 69; assd. to 1 cav. jan. 1, 71; capt. june 12, 80.
- 120. RAWOLLÉ, WILLIAM C., Dec. 20, 80, 2nd Cavalry. [Born in Prussia: apptd. from N.Y.] 2 H. 2 N. Y. art. oct. 26, 61; 1 H. 2 N. Y. art. mar. 4, 62; capt. a. a. d. c. june 21, 62, acc. june 25, 62; maj. vol. hvt. mar. 12, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the army of the Potomae from ang., 62, to jan., 63, including the battles of Second Bull Run, South Mountain, Antifetam, Warrenton, Sulphur Spring, and Fredericksburg"; H. col. vol. bvt. mar. 12, 65, "for ser. in the West, including the cavalry campaigue in East Term. and expeditions into Northern Mississippi, and for gal. daring and good cond. in the battle of Brice's Cross Roads, Miss."; resgd. aug. 11, 65; 2 H. 2 cav. june 6, 68, acc. aug. 6, 65; I H. apr. 26, 69; regtl. qm. july 15, 70, to sept. 15, 74; regtl. adj't mar. 31, 78, to aug. 31, 80; capt. dec. 20, 80.

First Lieutenants.

- SMITHER, ROBERT G., June 12, 67, 10th Cavalry. [Born in Ind.; apptd. from Ind.]— Pvt. co. 1, 26 Ind. vol. ang, 31, 61; dischyd. nov. 5, 62; 1 sergt. co. 11, 7 Ind. cav. aug. 9, 63; 21t. 7 Ind. cav. sept. 30, 64; 11t. apr. 9, 65; must. out felb. 18, 66, paid to mar. 14, 66; 1 lt. 10 cav. june 12, 67, acc. july 18, 67; regtl. adj't jan. 25, 77.
- MORRISON, JOHN T., July 31, 67, 10th Cavalry. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from Minn.]— Pvt. co. A, 1 Minn. vol. apr. 29, 61; discligit mar. 11, 62; 144. 2 Minn. cav. oct. 20, 63; must. out.nov. 17, 65; 244. 10 cav. mar. 7, 67, acc. may 4, 67; 144. july 31, 67; regtl. qm. june 30, 75, to aug. 31, 78.

- 3. CUSACK, PATRICK, July 31, 67, 9th Cavalry. [Born in Ireland; apptd. from N. Y.]— Pvt. co. K, 4 art. sept. 8, 55; corpl. may 1, 56; pvt. nov. 10, 57; corpl. july 1, 58; sergt. ang. 9, 59; pvt. sept. 30, 59; disclud, july 9, 60; pvt. co. K, 4 art. july 9, 60; trs. to 6 cav. nov. 4, 61; sergt. co. B, 6 cav. nov. 4, 61; t sergt. dec. 1, 62; sergt. maj. june 23, 63; disclud, jan. 19, 65; capt. 6 U. S. c. e. mar. 1, 65; must. out apr. 15, 66; 2 ht. 9 cav. mar. 7, 67, acc. may 20, 67; capt. bvt. sept. 12, 68, " for cons. gallantry in an engagement with Indians at Horse-Head Hills, Texas, sept. 12, 68, " 1 ht. 9 cav. july 31, 67.
- PRATT, RICHARD H., July 31, 67, 10th Cavalry. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from Ind.]— Corpl. co. A, 9 Ind. vol. apr. 20, 61; dischgd. july 29, 61; sergt. co. A, 2 Ind. cav. sept. 18, 61; 14; 11 Ind. cav. apr. 20, 64; capt. sept. 1, 64; must. out may 29, 65; 24; 10 cav. mar. 7, 67, acc. may 18, 67; 14; bvt. and capt. bvt. mar. 7, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. dur. the war"; 14; 10 cav. july 31, 67.
- COOPER, CHARLES L., Oct. 5, 67, 10th Cavalry. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from Pa.]— Pvt. co. B, 71 N. Y. s. m. may 27, 62; disclidd. sept. 2, 62; pvt. co. A, 21 N. Y. s. m. june 27, 63; disclidd. aug. 6, 63; 24: 127 U. S. e. t. sept. 5, 64; 14t. mar. 5, 65; must. out oct. 20, 65, paid to nov. 2, 65; 24t. 39 inf. july 28, 66, acc. oct. 9, 66; 14t. oct. 5, 67; massd. apr. 20, 69; assd. to 10 cav. jan. 1, 71.
- 6. WOODWARD, SAMUEL L., Dec. 11, 67, 10th Cavalry. [Botn in N. J.; apptd. from Ky.]— Pyt. co. G. 6 Ill. cav. (cb. 1, 62; 24t. 6 Ill. cav. nov. 1, 62; 14t. mar. 16, 63; capt.a.a.g. vol. july 21, 63, acc. ang. 23, 63; maj. a. a.g. vol. (cb. 1), 65; acc. apr. 10, 65; moret, aut sept. 19, 65; 24t. 10 cav. june 18, 67, acc. july 27, 67; regt1 adj[4 cct. 1, 67, to oct. 1, 76; 14t. dec. 11, 67; capt. byt. dec. 11, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. dur. the raid through Mississippi in apr. 63"; maj. byt. dec. 11, 67, "for gal.lantry dur. the light at Egypt Station, Miss. dec. 28, 64."
- BECK, WILLIAM H., Dec. H. 67, 10th Cavalry. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from III.]— Corpl. co. B, 10–111, vol. apr. 16, 61; *dischad.* july 29, 61; qm. sergt. 6–111, cav. sept. 21, 61; i 11, 6–611, cav. nov. 1, 62; *respl.* feb. 28, 63; 24t, 10 cav. june 48, 67, acc. july 20, 67; reg11, qm. sept. 1, 67, to dec. 31, 74; i 41, dec. 11, 67.
- 8. FOOTE, GEORGE F., Apr. 21, 68, 8th Cavalry. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from Tenn.]— Pvt. co. E, 14 Mich. vol. jan. 2, 62; 1 sergt. jan. 7, 62; 2 lt. 14 Mich. vol. mar. 15, 63; 1 lt. sept. 1, 64; mai, vol. bvt. and lt. col. vol. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal, and mer. ser. dur. the war": capt. 14 Mich. vol. may 26, 65; maixt. out july 18, 65, paid to july 28, 66; acc. aug. 3, 66; 1 lt. bvt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal, and mer. ser. in the battle of Stone River, Tenn."; capt. bvt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal, and mer. ser. in the battle of Jonesboro', Ga."; 14, 9 inf. apr. 21, 68; massd. june 14, 69; assd. to 9 inf. dec. 17, C9; trs. to 8 cav. feb. 1, 70; regtl. qm. may 1, 70, to ang. 31, 80.
- HENNISEE, ARGALUS G., May D. 68, 8th Cavalry. [Born in Md.; apptd. from Md.]— 14, 14, 8, Md. vol. sept. 30, 61; capt. july 24, 62; disclopd. feb. 11, 65; 24t, 19 inf. jan. 22, 67, acc. mar. 28, 67; 14t. may 14, 68; unassd. mar. 31, 69; assd. to 8 cav. jan. 1, 71; regtl. adjt oct. 22, 78.
- BOYD, ORSEMUS B., Oct. 13, 68, 8th Cavalry. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from M. A.]-Corpl. co. 1, 89 N. Y. vol. sept. 16, 61; 24t. 144 N. Y. vol. sept. 27, 62; respl. feb. 14, 63; cadet july 1, 63; 24t. 8 cav. june 17, 67; 14t. oct. 13, 68; regth. qm. sept. 1, 80.
- HUGO, WILLIAM H., Nov. 21, 68, 9th Cavalry. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from Mich.]— Capt. 70 N. Y. vol. june 21, 61; *mast. out* july 1, 64; 2 lt. 16 inf. may 11, 66, acc. sept. 7, 66; fts. to 25 inf. sept. 21, 66; 1 lt. nov. 21, 68; massd. apr. 26, 69; assd. to 9 cav. jan. 1, 71.
- ROPES, JAMES M., Dec. 28, 68, 8th Cavalry. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from N.J.]—

 R. 2 Cal. cav. sept. 13, 61; capt. jan 31, 63, maj. vol. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith, and mer. ser. dur. the war"; *must. out* feb. 1, 66; 24t. 8 cav. june 48, 67, acc. july 29, 67; 14t. dec. 28, 68.
- CLARK, WILLIAM P., July 10, 69, 2nd Cavalry. [Form in N. V. ; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 64; 24t, 2 cav. june 15, 68; 14t, july 10, 69; regth. adj t july 31, 69, to july 1, 76.
- 14. UPHAM, FRANK K., Aug. 27, 69, 1st Cavalry. [Born in Me.; apptd. from Cal.]— 24, 7 Cal. vol. nov. 1, 64; must. out apr. 26, 66; 24, 1 cav. mar. 7, 67, acc. July 2, 67, but performed duty of 24, 1 Cav. under erroneous order of mil. div. condr. from may 23 to july 2, 67; 14, ang. 27, 69; regtl. qm. sept. 3, 76, to ang. 15, 78; regtl. adj't sept. 7, 79.
- KENDALL, HENRY M., Sept. 11, 69, 6th Cavalry. [Born in Mass.; apptd. from Ind.]— Corpl. 5 batty. Ind. 1. art. sept. 23, 61; pvt. ——; dischgd. jan. 5, 63; 2 lt. 6 cav. july 17, 67, acc. aug. 29, 67; 1 lt. sept. 11, 69.

- 16. ADAMS, JOHN Q., Sept. 14, 69, 1st Cavalry. [Born in N. V.: apptd. from Ohio.]— Pvt. co. C, 88 Ohio vol. may 26, 62; disclind. sept. 26, 62; qm. sergt. co. 1, 10 Ohio cav. oct. 15, 62; pvt. co. B, batt. cav. Miss. m. b. feb. 25, 63; 2 It. sig. corps mar. 3, 63, acc. sept. 9, 64; must. out ang. 22, 65; 2 It. 1 cav. ang. 17, 67, acc. nov. 7, 67; 1 B, bvt. ang. 17, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the sig. corps at the capture of Flort McAllister and Savamah, Ga., and dur, the war"; 1 It. 1 cav. sept. 14, 69.
- SWIGERT, SAMUEL M., Oct. 26, 69, 2nd Cavalry. [Born in Ky.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet sept. 29, 63; 24t. 2 cav. june 15, 68; 14t. oct. 26, 69.
- 18, FOWLER, JOSHUA L., Nov. 4, 69, 2nd Cavaley. [Born in N. Y.; appid. from M. A.]— Cadet sept. 1, 64; 21f. 2 cav. june 15, 68; 14f. nov. 4, 69; regtl. qm. sept. 15, 74, to june 1, 80.
- ELTING, OSCAR, Nov. 17, 69, 3rd Cavalry. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from N. Y.]— Corpl. co. A, 1 N. Y. cav. july 30, 61; pvt. apr. 1, 63; reven. jan. 1, 64; diselayd. aug. 22, 66; 2 ft. 3 cav. july 22, 67, acc. aug. 1, 67; 1 ft. nov. 17, 69.
- 20. DIMMICK, EU(4ENE D., Jan. 16, 70, 9th Cavalry. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from N. Y.]— Pvt. co. G. 2 N. J. s. m. apr. 26, 61; dischgd. july 31, 61; 1 sergt. co. M, 5 N. Y. cav. oct. 7, 61; 2 H. 5 N. Y. cav. may 9, 62; 11t. oct. 10, 62; must. out nov. 6, 63; 2 H. vet. res. corps feb. 3, 64, acc. feb. 11, 64; must. out june 30, 66; 2 It. 9 cav. aug. 9, 67, acc. aug. 26, 67; 1 H. jan. 16, 70.
- 21. GORDON, CHARLES G., Feb. 21, 70, 6th Cavalry. [Born in N. C.; apptd. from Cal.]— Corpl. co. B. 2 Cal. cav. sept. 14, 61; pvt. sept. 30, 62; *diselugit*, apr. 25, 64; 24t. 6 eav. sept. 26, 67, acc. oct. 3, 67; 14t. feb. 21, 70; regfl. qm. apr. 4, 74, to sept. 3, 78.
- 22. LUFF, EDMUND, May 23, 70, 8th Cavalry. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from III.]— Pyt. Board of Trade batty. III. art. july 22, 62; corpl. apr. 4, 63; discligd. feb. 20, 64; 14t. 12 III. cav. feb. 25, 64; capt. oct. 13, 64; must. out oct. 2, 65, paid to oct. 10, 65; 24t. 8 cav. nov. 20, 67, acc. nov. 30, 67; 14t. may 23, 70.
- KING, ALBERT D., July 8, 70, 3rd Cavalry. [Born in Ohio; apptd. from Cal.]— Pyt. co. F. 2 Cal. cav. aug. 15, 64; *disclipit.* june 27, 66; 2 It. 3 cav. oct. 5, 67, acc. oct. 11, 67; 1 It. july 8, 70.
- COLLADAY, SAMUEL R., Jan. 1, 71, 10th Cavalry. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Pa.]— Pvt. co. F, 19 Pa. vol. apr. 18, 61; dischgd, ang. 9, 61; corpl. co. B, 6 Pa. cav. ang. 29, 61; sergt. june 1, 62; dischgd, jan. 24, 63; 2 H. 6 Pa. cav. jan. 24, 63; must. out june 3, 64; 11 H. 6 Pa. cav. mar. 1, 65; capt. mar. 23, 65; must. out ang. 7, 65, paid to ang. 13, 65; 2 H. 10 cav. ang. 9, 67, acc. ang. 19, 67; 111; jan. 1, 71.
- 25. WINCHESTER, HIRAM F., Jan. 1, 71, 6th Cavalry. [Born in Md.; apptd. from Md.]— 1 ht. 1 Md. cav. mar. 8, 64; must. out june 28, 65, paid to june 30, 65; 2 ht. 10 cav. aug. 31, 67, declined; 2 ht. 6 cav. sept. 27, 67, acc. sept. 27, 67; regtl. adj't sept. 1, 70, to apr. 5, 73; 1 ht. jan. 1, 71.
- 26. DOANE, GUSTAVUS C., Dec. 4, 71, 2nd Cavalry. [Born in III.; apptd. from D. C.]— 1 h. cav. Miss. m. b. mar. 23, 64; must. out jan. 23, 65; 2 h. 2 cav. july 5, 68, acc. ang. 1, 68; 1 h. dec. 4, 71.
- WEEKS, HARRISON S., Dec. 28, 71, 8th Cavalry. [Born in Mich.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 64: 24t. 8 cav. june 15, 68; 14t. dec. 28, 71.
- THOMAS, EARL D., Mar. 1, 72, 5th Cavalry. [Born in III.; apptd. from M. A.]— Pyt. co. II, 8 III. cav. apr. 1, 62; corpl. aug. 6, 63; re-en. jan. 1, 64; sergt. maj. 8 III. cav. apr. 4, 64; dischgd. apr. 23, 65; cadet july 1, 65; 2 lt. 5 cav. june 15, 69; 1 lf. mar. 1, 72.
- 30. OVERTON, GILBERT E., May 22, 72, 6th Cavalry. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from N. Y.]-2 lt, 4 N. Y. cav, sept. 26, 61; must. out apr. 30, 62; 1 lt, 12 N. Y. cav. oct. 25, 62; must. out mar. 2, 66; 1 lt, 12 N. Y. cav. sept. 21, 63; must. out july 19, 65, paid to ang. 6, 65; 2 lt, 6 cav. oct. 2, 67, acc. oct. 5, 67; 1 lt, may 22, 72; regth. adj't apr. 5, 73, to apr. 3, 74.
- GARVEY, THOMAS, June 20, 72, 1st Cavalry. [Born in Ireland; apptd. from Army.]- Pvt. co. A, 2 art. aug. 10, 63; corpl. june 7, 65; trs. to co. K sept. 25, 65; trs. to co. A jan. 2, 66; sergt. sept. 1, 66; dischgd. aug. 10, 68; 2 lt. 1 cav. oct. 7, 68, acc. oct. 31, 68; 1 lt. june 20, 72.

- PERRINE, HENRY P., June 20, 72, 6th Cavalry. [Born in N. J.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 65; 2 lt. 6 cav. june 15, 69; 1 lt. june 20, 72.
- VALOIS, GUSTAVUS, Aug. 25, 72, 9th Cavalry. [Born in Prussia: apptd. from Army.]— Sergt. co. C, 4 Md. vol. apr. 12, 62; 1 sergt. co. E, 3 Md. vol. jau. 1, 63; qm. sergt. 3 Md. vol. jau. 26, 64; 14; 1, 3 Md. vol. apr. 27, 64; capt. may 9, 65; must. out may 29, 65; pvt. co. I, 5 cav. dec. 11, 65; corpl. sept. 1, 66; sergt. july 12, 67; 24; 9 cav. july 18, 68, acc. ang. 11, 68; 14; h. ang. 25, 72; regtl. qm. mar. 18, 80, to dec. 31, 80.
- ROCKWELL, CHARLES IL, Aug. 29, 72, 5th Cavalry. [Born in Ohio; apptd. from M. A.] Cadet july 1, 65; 244, 5 cav. june 45, 69; regtl. qm. aug. 29, 72, to oct. 5, 76; 144, aug. 29, 72.
- 35. PAUL, AUGUSTUS C., Dec. 20, 72, 3rd Cavalry. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from Mo.]— Capt. Ky. m. inf. may 16, 61; must. out ang. 17, 61; capt. 23 Ky. vol. jan. 2, 62; capt. a. a. g. vol. june 1, 63, acc. june 13, 63; maj. vol. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of the Wilderness, Va."; ht. col. vol. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Spotts/Ivania, Va."; must. out sept. 19, 65; 24, 11, 12 inf. may 11, 66, deelined; 24, 3 cav. jan. 23, 60, acc. apr. 1, 69; 141, dec. 20, 72.
- PULLMAN, JOHN W., Jan. 15, 73, 8th Cavalry. [Born in Mich.; apptd. from M.A.]— Cadet july 1, 65; 24t. 8 cav. june 15, 69; 14t. jan. 15, 73.
- DAVIS, WILLIAM, JR., Mar. 3, 75, 16th Cavalry. [Born in Ind.; apptd. from Ind.]— 14t. 1 Mo. cav. june 7, 62; must. out sept. 1, 65, paid to sept. 9, 65; 24t. 10 cav. aug. 17, 67, acc. oct. 9, 67; 14t. mar. 3, 73; regth. qm. sept. 1, 78.
- 38. NORDSTROM, CHARLES E., Sept. 1, 69, 10th Cavalry. [Born in Me.; apptd from Me.]— Pvt. co. E. 1 Me. cav. aug. 26, 62; disclight may 28, 65; 2 lt. 10 cav. june 18, 67, acc. july 13, 67; 1 lt. sept. 1, 69; reduced in rank so as to take place on list of 1 lts. of cav. next after mar. 3, 73.
- SPROLE, HENRY W., Mar. 29, 73, 8th Cavalry. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet oct. 17, 65; 24t. 8 cav. june 15, 69; 44t. mar. 29, 73.
- SHOEMAKER, FRANK L., May 1, 73, 4th Cavalry. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from M. A.]-Cadet july 1, 63; 24t. 4 cav. june 15, 68; 44t. may 1, 73.
- 41. HUGHES, MARTIN B., May 24, 73, 9th Cavalry. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from M. A.]—Cadet july I, 65; 2 lt, 9 cav. june 15, 69; 1 lt, may 24, 73.
- 42. GREELY, ADOLPHU'S W., May 27, 73, 5th Cavalry. [Born in Mass.; apptd. from La.]— Pet. co. B, 19 Mass, vol. july 26, 61; corpl. may 15, 62; 1 serget jan. 1, 63; disclayd, mar. 18, 63; 24, 84 U. S. et. mar. 18, 63; 11t, apr. 26, 64; maj, vol. bet, mar. 13, 65; "or faith, and mer. ser. dur. the war"; capt. 84 U. S. et. apr. 4, 65; must, out mar. 22, 67; 24, 36 inf, mar. 7, 67, acc, may 20, 67; massd, may 19, 69; assd, to 5 cav. july 14, 69; 1 ht, may 27, 73.
- 43. BOUTTELLE, FRAZIER A., July 31, 75, 181 Cavalry. [Born in N. Y.; apptd from Army.]— Qm. sergt. co. A, 5 N. Y. cav. june 4, 61; 2 H, 5 N. Y. cav. nov. 5, 62; 1 R. apr. 2, 64; must. out ang 31, 64; capt. 5 N. Y. cav. jun. 10, 65; must. out july 19, 65, paid to july 24, 65; pvt. co. F. 1 cav. feb. 12, 66; corpl. apr. 20, 66; sergt. jan. 1, 67; sergt. maj. 1 cav. dec. 1, 67; dischaft, feb. 12, 69; 2 R, 1 | cav. jan. 2, 69, acc. may 8, 69; 1 R, july 31, 73; regtl. adj't may 25, 75; to oct. 16, 77.
- 44. WOOD, EDWARD E., July 31, 73, 8th Cavalry. [Bom in Pa.; apptd. from M. A.]— Com. sergt. co. C. 17 Pa. cav. sept. 8, 62; 4 sergt. apr. 5, 64; 4 h. 17 Pa. cav. july 22, 64; must, out ang. 7, 65, paid to ang. 14, 65; cadet july 1, 66; 2 h. 8 cav. june 15, 70; 1 h. july 31, 73.
- HARMON, WILLIAM R., Dec. 6, 73, 40th Cavalry. [Born in Ohio ; apptd. from Ohio.]— 2 ht, 70 Ohio vol. jan. 6, 62; 1 ht, feb. 11, 62; resgd. sept. 3, 62; 2 ht, 10 cav. aug. 17, 67, acc. aug. 28, 67; 1 ht, dec. 6, 73.
- 46. AUGUR, COLON, Dec. 15, 73, 2nd Cavalry. [Born in N. Y.: apptd. from D. C.]— 2 h, 2 cav. aug. 3, 68, acc. aug. 17, 68; 1 h. dec. 15, 73.
- BUDD, OTHO W., Jan. 5, 74, 4th Cavalry. [Born in Pa.: apptd. from Md.]— 2 It. 4 cav. dec. 8, 68, acc. apr. 10, 69; 1 It. jan. 5, 74.
- KERR, JOHN B., Aug. 1, 74, 6th Cavalry. [Born in Ky.: apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet sept. 1, 66; 2 It. 6 cav. june 15, 70; 1 It. aug. 1, 74; regth. adj't sept. 30, 76.
- ANDERSON, GEORGE S., Sept. 20, 74, 6th Cavalry. [Born in N. J.; appid. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 67; 2 lt. 6 cav. june 12, 71; 1 lt. sept. 20, 74.
- STANTON, WILLIAM, Nov. 16, 74, 6th Cavalry. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from Mich.]— Pvt. co. G, 43 Ohto vols. sept. 3, 62; corpl. sept. 7, 62; sergt. oct. 4, 62; dischgd. mar. 11, 63; 2 ft. 2 art. sept. 3, 67, acc. sept. 9, 67; 11: nov. 16, 74; trs. to 6 cav. feb. 6, 77.

- KINGSBURY, HENRY P., Jan. 27, 75, 6th Cavalry. [Born in N. C.; apptd. from M. Δ.] Cadet july 1, 66; 2 It. 6 cav. june 12, 71; 1 It. jan. 27, 75.
- DINWIDDIE, WILLIAM A., Mar. 3, 75, 2nd Cavalry. [Born in Ind.; apptd. from lows.]— Hosp. stwd. 40 Iowa vol. aug. 13, 62; asst. surg. 22 Iowa vol. may 16, 63; must. out (eb. 21, 65; 24, 8 euv. june 20, 68; acc. aug. 1, 68; trs. to 2 cav. mar. 22, 69; 14; mar. 3, 75.
- STEDMAN, CLARENCE A., Apr. 19, 75, 9th Cavalry. [Born in Mass.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 65; 24t. 9 cav. june 15, 70; 14t. apr. 19, 75; regtl. qm. june 24, 79, to mar. 17, 80; regtl. adj't mar. 18, 80.
- MAXON, MASON M., Apr. 24, 75, 10th Cavalry. [Boru in Wis.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 64; 2 lt. 10 cav. june 15, 69; 1 lt. apr. 24, 75.
- 55. BARNARD, PHINEAS P., June 4, 75, 5th Cavalry. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from Mich.]— Capt. a. qm. vol. may 13, 63, acc. july 11, 63; maj. vol. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith. and mer. ser."; must. out dec. 6, 65; 2 lt. 4 inf. mar. 7, 67, acc. may 7, 67; 1 lt. hvt. and capt. bvt. mar. 7, 67, "for faith. and mer. ser. dur. the war"; unassd. mar. 23, 69; assd. to 5 cav. july 14, 69; 1 lt. june 4, 75.
- 56. HUNT, LEVI P., June 30, 75, 10th Cavalry. [Born in Mo.: apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 66; 2 lt. 10 cav. june 15, 70; 1 lt. june 30, 75.
- WARD, FREDERICK K., Nov. 11, 75, 1st Cavalry. [Born in Ohio; apptd. from M. A.]-Cadet july 1, 66; 2 lt. 1 cav. june 15, 70; 1 lt. nov. 11, 75.
- CONLINE, JOHN, Nov. 15, 75, 9th Cavalry. [Born in Vt.; appid. from M. A. J.– Pvt. co. E, 1 Vt. vol. may 2, 61; dischad. aug. 15, 61; pvt. co. E, 4 Vt. vol. mar. J, 62; dischad. sept. 5, 63; cadet sept. 9, 63; dischad. july 6, 68; reinstated jan. 30, 69; 21t. 9 cav. june 15, 70; 1 lt. nov. 15, 75.
- 59. DE RUDIO, CHARLES C., Dec. 15, 75, 7th Cavalry. [Born in Italy; apptd. from N. Y.]— Pvt. co. A, 79 N. Y. vol. aug. 25, 64; dischgd. oct. 17, 64; 2 lt. 2 U. S. c. t. nov. 11, 64; must. out jan. 5, 66, paid to jan. 15, 66; 2 lt. 2 inf. aug. 31, 67; appt. cancelled sept. 20, 67; appt. renewed oct. 25, 67, from which date paid; unassd. apr. 17, 69; assd. to 7 cav. july 14, 69; 1 lt. dec. 15, 75.
- 60. TAYLOR, F. BEERS, Feb. 25, 76, 9th Cavalry. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from N. Y.]— 2 lt, 25 inf. sept. 5, 67, acc. sept. 13, 67; trs. to 18 inf. apr. 26 69; trs. to 9 cav. sept. 18, 75; 1 lt. feb. 25, 76.
- BOURKE, JOHN G., May 17, 76, 3rd Cavalry. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from M. A.]— Pvt. co. E, 15 Pa. cav. aug. 12, 62; trs. to co. D, mar. 1, 63; dischgd. july 5, 65; cadet oct. 17, 65; 2 lt. 3 cav. june 15, 69; 1 lt. may 17, 76.
- WILLIAMS, RICHARD A., May 17, 76, 8th Cavalry. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet sept. 1, 65; 2 lt. 8 cav. june 15, 70; 1 lt. may 17, 76.
- WARD, CHARLES R., May 17, 76, 10th Cavalry. [Boin in Pa.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 67; 2 lt. 10 cav. june 12, 71; 1 lt. may 17, 76.
- WEST, FRANK, May 17, 76, 6th Cavalry. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 68; 2 lt. 6 cav. june 14, 72; 1 lt. may 17, 76.
- 65. BOMUS, PETER S., June 5, 76, 1st Cavalry. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 66; 2 lt. 1 cav. june 15, 70; 1 lt. june 5, 76.
- 66. EDGERLY, WINFIELD S., June 25, 76, 7th Cavalry. [Born in N. H.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 66; 2 lt. 7 cav. june 15, 70; 1 lt. june 25, 76; regtl. qu. june 25, 76, to nov. 14, 76.
- NAVE, ANDREW H., June 25, 76, 7th Cavalry. [Born in Tenn.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 67; 2 lt. 7 cav. june 12, 71; 1 lt. june 25, 76.
- WALLACE, GEORGE D., June 25, 76, 7th Cavalry. [Born in S. C.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet sept. 1, 68; 2 lt. 7 cav. june 14, 72; 1 lt. june 25, 76; regtl. adj't june 25, 76, to june 6, 77.
- VARNUM, CHARLES A., June 25, 76, 7th Cavalry. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet sept. 1, 68; 24: 7 cav. june 14, 72; 14: june 25, 76; regtl. qm. nov. 14, 76, to oct. 31, 79.
- 70. HARE, LUTHER R., June 25, 76, 7th Cavalry. [Born in Ind.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet sept. 1, 70; 2 lt. 7 cav. june 17, 74; 1 lt. june 25, 76.
- 71. GARLINGTON, ERNEST A., June 25, 76, 7th Cavalry. [Born in S. C.; apptd. from M. Δ.]— Cadet july 1, 72; 2 lt. 7 cav. june 15, 76; 1 lt. june 25, 76; regtl. adj't june 6, 77.
- 72. GRANT, FREDERICK D., June 28, 76, 4th Cavalry. [Born in Mo. : apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 66; 2 lt. 4 cav. june 12, 71; lt. col. a. d. c. to the Lt. Gen. mar. 17, 73; 1 lt. 4 cav. june 28, 76.

- HALL, WILLHAM P., July J. 76, 5th Cavalry, [Born in Mo.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet sept. 1, 64; 24: 19 inf. june 15, 68; unassd. mar. 31, 69; ussd. to 5 cav. july 14, 69; 14. july 1, 76; regtl. qm. oct. 5, 76.
- SCHUYLER, WALTER S., July 29, 76, 5th Cavalry. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 66; 24t. 5 cav. june 15, 70; 14t. july 29, 76.
- ROBINSON, WILLIAM W., JR., Aug. 14, 76, 7th Cavalry. [Born in Ohio; apptd. from M. A.]...

Pvt. co. E, 7 Wis, vol. mar. 17, 65; *disclept.* july 3, 65; cadet july 1, 65; 2 lt. 3 cav. june 15, 69; trs. to 7 cav. june 26, 76; 1 lt. aug. 14, 76.

- MORTON, CHARLES, Sept. 25, 76, 3rd Cavalry. [Born in Ohio; apptd. from M. A.]— Pvt. co. 1, 13 Mo. vol. july 29, 61; pvt. co. 1, 25 Mo. vol. feb. —, 62; pvt. co. H, 1 Mo. eng. feb. 47, 64; discligd. sept. 14, 64; catet july 1, 65; 24t. 3 cav. june 15, 69; 14t. sept. 25, 76.
- 77. GODWIN, EDWARD A., Oct. 3, 76, 8th Cavalry. [Born in Va.; apptd. from M.A.]— Pyt. eo. A, 1 W. Va. eav. (cb. 13, 65; discligid, july 8, 65; cadet oct. 17, 65; 2 lt. 8 cav. june 15, 70; 11, oct. 3, 76.
- MICHLER, FRANK, Nov. 12, 76, 5th Cavalry. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet sept. 1, 66; 24t, 5 cav. june 15, 70; 14t. nov. 12, 76.
- 79. WOOD, ABRAM E., Nov. 25, 76, 4th Cavalry. [Born in lowa; apptd. from M. A.]— Corpl. co. F. 43 lowa vol. oct. 4, 61; sergt. apr. 10, 62; recen. j.m. 4, 64; 1 sergt. dec. 24, 61; 24f. 13 lowa vol. july 1, 65; must, out july 24, 65, paid to aug. 14, 65; cadet july 1, 68; 24f. 4 cav. june 14, 72; 14; nov. 25, 76; regtl. qm. july 6, 79, to feb. 1, 80.
- WILKINSON, JOHN W., Dec. 9, 76, 7th Cavalry, [Born in Mo.; apptd. from M.A.]-Cadet july 1, 68; 24t. 8 cav. june 14, 72; trs. to 7 cav. june 26, 76; 14t. dec. 9, 76.
- 81. DAV18, GEORGE B., May 9, 77, 5th Cavalry. [Born in Mass.; apptd. from M. A.]— Sergt. co. 1, 1 Mass. civ. sept. 10, 63; qm. sergt. co. 1 dec. 5, 63; qm. sergt. 1 Mass. civ. nov. 14, 64; 2 H. 1 Mass. civ. june 17, 65; *must. out* june 26, 65, paid to july 16, 65; cadet july 1, 67; 2 H. 5 civ. june 12, 71; 1 H. may 9, 77.
- COALE, JOHN H., June 25, 77, 2nd Cavalry. [Born in Md.; apptd. from Md.]— Capt. com. sub. vol. ang. 30, 62, acc. aug. 31, 62; It. col. com. sub. vol. [act july 17, 62] jan, I, 63 to may 10, 65; maj. vol. bvt. june 24, 65, "for faith, and mer. ser."; *must. out* june 26, 65; 2 It. 27 inf. oct. 2, 67, acc. oct. 2, 67; trs. to 9 inf. june 14, 69; trs. to 2 cav. mar. 17, 73; 1 It. june 25, 77; regtl. qm. june 1, 80.
- HEIN, OTTO L., Sept. 30, 77, 1st Cavalry. [Both in D. C.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 66; 24t. 1 cav. june 45, 70; 14t. sept. 30, 77.
- FULLER, EZRA B., Sept. 30, 77, 7th Cavalry. [form in III.; apptd. from M. A.]— Pyt. co. E, 141 III. vol. may 17, 61; discligid. oct. 10, 64; pyt. co. M, 8 III. cav. feb. 2, 65; discligid. july 17, 65; cadet july 1, 69; 24t. 8 cav. june 13, 73; trs. to 7 cav. june 26, 76; 14t. sept. 30, 77.
- 85. SIMPSON, JAMES F., Dee, 14, 77, 3rd Cavalry. [Born in Mass.; apptd. from Conn.]— 24, 14 Conn. vol. ang, 20, 62; 14; 4cb, 4, 63; capt. oct. 20, 63; disclud nov. 14, 64; capt. 2 F. 8, vet. vol. feb. 16, 65; most. out mar. 26, 66; 24; 40 inf. ang, 17, 67, acc. ang, 23, 67; 14; bvt. ang, 17, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of the Wilderness, Va."; capt. bvt. ang, 17, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Ream's Station, Va."; trs. to 25 inf. apr. 20, 69; trs. to 3 cav. mar. 15, 71; 14; dec. 14, 77; regth. qm, july 24, 79.
- 86. ROBINSON, FRANK U., Mar. 31, 78, 2nd Cavalry. [Born in N. V.; apptd. from N. Y.]-2 It, 41 U. S. e. t. oct. 1, 64; mass. out dec. 10, 65, paid to dec. 12, 65; 2 It, 125 U. S. e. t. apr. 26, 66; must. out dec. 20, 67, paid to dec. 27, 67; 2 It, 19 inf. mar. 13, 68, acc. july 29, 68; unassd. mar. 31, 69; assd. to 2 cav. july 14, 69; 1 It. mar. 31, 78.
- STEEVER, EDGAR Z., JR., May 18, 78, 3rd Cavalry. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from M. A.]-Cadet july 1, 67; 2 It. 3 cav. june 12, 71; 1 It. may 18, 78.
- GIBBON, DAVID J., June 28, 78, 9th Cavalry. [Born in Ohio; apptd. from Ohio.]— Pvt. co. K, 5 Ohio vol. june 20, 61; discligid. oct. 13, 62; sergt. sig. corps sept. 12, 70; 21t. 9 cav. mar. 4, 72, acc. mar. 22, 72; 14t. june 28, 78.
- HATFIELD, CHARLES A. P., June 28, 78, 4th Cavalry. [Born in Ala.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 68; 2 lt. 4 cav. june 14, 72; 1 lt. june 28, 78.
- DAVENPORT, THOMAS C., June 28, 78, 9th Cavalry. [Born in D. C.; apptd. from M. A.]-Cadet july 1, 67; 2 lt. 9 cav. june 14, 72; 1 lt. june 28, 78.
- GRESHAM, JOHN C., June 28, 78, 7th Cavalry. [Born in Va.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 72; 2 lt. 3 cav. june 15, 76; trs. to 7 cav. june 26, 76; 1 lt. june 28, 78.
- SCOTT, HUGH L., June 28, 78, 7th Cavalry. [Boin in Ky.; apptd. from M. A.]-Cadet july 1, 71; 2 lt. 9 cav. june 15, 76; trs. to 7 cav. june 26, 76; 1 lt. june 28, 78.

- MCCORMICK, LOYD S., June 30, 78, 7th Cavalry. [Born in Ohio; appid. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 72; 2 lt. 10 cav. june 15, 76; trs. to 7 cav. june 26, 76; 1 lt. june 30, 78.
- HANNA, ROBERT, July 11, 78, 6th Cavalry. [Born in Ind.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 68; 24t 6 cav. june 14, 72; 141, july 11, 78.
- 95. PARKHURST, CHARLES D., Aug. 23, 78, 5th Cavalry. [Born in Mass.; apptd. from M. A.].
 - Cadet july 1, 68; 2 lt. 5 cav. june 14, 72; 1 lt. aug. 23, 78.
- 96. FOUNTAIN, SAMUEL W., Oct. 22, 78, 8th Cavalry. [Born in Va.; apptd. from M. A.]— Pvt. co. K, 140 Ohio vol. may 2, 64; dischgd. sept. 3, 64; cadet july 1, 66; 24, 8 cav. june 15, 70; 1 lt. oct. 22, 78.
- 97. MARTIN, JOHN W., Jan. 4, 79, 4th Cavalry. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from N. Y.]-2 lt. 4 cav. july 27, 72, acc. aug. 20, 72; 1 lt. jan. 4, 79.
- 98. KNOX, THOMAS T., Mar. 4, 79, 1st Cavalry. [Born in Tenn.; apptd. from M. A.]-Cadet july 1, 67; 2 lt. 1 cav. june 12, 71; regtl. qm. oct. 1, 73, to nov. 11, 75; 1 lt. mar. 4, 79.
- 99. MILLER, WILLIAM H., Mar. 4, 79, 1st Cavalry. [Born in Ala.; apptd. from M. A.]-Cadet sept. 1, 68; 2 lt. 1 cav. june 14, 72; regtl. qm. ang. 15, 78; 1 lt. mar. 4, 79.
- 100. PHELPS, FREDERICK E., Mar. 20, 79, 8th Cavalry. [Born in Ohio; apptd. from M. A.]-Cadet july 1, 65; 2 lt. 8 cav. june 15, 70; 1 lt. mar. 20, 79.
- 101. SCHWATKA, FREDERICK, Mar. 20, 79, 3rd Cavalry. [Born in Ill.; apptd. from M. A.]-Cadet july 1, 67; 24t. 3 cav. june 12, 71; 14t. mar. 20, 79.
- 102. CHASE, GEORGE F., Mar. 20, 79, 3rd Cavalry. [Born in Ill.; apptd. from M.A.]-Cadet july 1, 67; 2 lt. 9 inf. june 12, 71; trs. to 3 cav. may 8, 72; 1 lt. mar. 20, 79.
- 103. DORST, JOSEPH H., Mar. 20, 79, 4th Cavalry. [Dorn in Ky.; apptd. from M. A.]-Cadet sept. 1, 69; 2 lt. 4 cav. june 13, 73; regtl. adj't may 17, 78; 1 lt. mar. 20, 79.
- 104. WATTS, CHARLES H., Apr. 2, 79, 5th Cavaby. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from M. A.]-Cadet july 1, 68; 2 lt. 5 cav. june 14, 72; 1 lt. apr. 2, 79.
- 105. BELLAS, HENRY H., Apr. 2, 79, 4th Cavalry. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Va.]-2 lt. 4 cav. oct. 1, 73, acc. oct. 11, 73; 1 lt. apr. 2, 79.
- 106. MASON, STANTON A., Apr. 2, 79, 4th Cavalry. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from M. A.]-Cadet july 1, 71; 2 lt. 4 cav. june 16, 75; 1 lt. apr. 2, 79,
- 107. TUTHERLY, HERBERT E., Apr. 4, 79, 1st Cavalry. [Born in N. H.; apptd. from M. A.]-Cadet july 1, 68; 2 lt. 1 cav. june 14, 72; 1 lt. apr. 4, 79.
- 108. GOODWIN, MILLARD F., Apr. 4, 79, 9th Cavalry. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from M. A.] Cadet july 1, 67; 2 lt. 9 cav. june 14, 72; 1 lt. apr. 4, 79; regtl. qm. jan. 1, 81.
- 109. CARTER, WILLIAM H., Apr. 14, 79, 6th Cavalry. [Born in Tenn.; apptd. from M. A.] Cadet july 1, 68; 2 lt. 8 inf. june 13, 73; trs. to 6 cav. nov. 28, 74, taking rank from nov. 28, 74; regtl. qm. apr. 14, 79; 1 lt. apr. 14, 79.
- 110. PEARSON, DANIEL C., Apr. 23, 79, 2nd Cavalry. [Born in Mass.; apptd. from M. A.]-Cadet july 1, 65; 2 lt. 2 cav. june 15, 70; 1 lt. apr. 23, 79.
- 111. HICKEY, JAMES B., Apr. 23, 79, 8th Cavalry. [Born in Md.; apptd. from M. A.]-Cadet july 1, 67; 2 lt. 8 cav. june 12, 71; 1 lt. apr. 23, 79.
- 112. HOYLE, GEORGE S., Apr. 29, 79, 1st Cavalry. [Born in Ga.; apptd. from M. A.]-Cadet july 1, 69; 2 lt. 1 cav. june 13, 73; 1 lt. apr. 29, 79.
- 113. LONDON, ROBERT, May 1, 79, 5th Cavalry. [Born in N. C.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 69; 2 lt. 5 cav. june 13, 73; 1 lt. may 1, 79.
- 114. EATON, GEORGE O., May I, 79, 5th Cavalry. [Born in Me.; apptd. from M. A.]-Cadet sept. 1, 69; 2 lt. 5 cav. jnne 13, 73; 1 lt. may 1, 79.
- 115. MCCAULEY, CHARLES A. H., May 5, 79, 3rd Cavalry. [Born in Md.; apptd. from M. A.]-Cadet july 1, 66; 2 lt. 3 art. june 15, 70; trs. to 3 cav. oct. 7, 78, taking rank from june 14, 72; 1 lt. may 5, 79. 116. MCCLERNAND, EDWARD J., May 9, 79, 2nd Cavalry. [Born in Ill.; apptd. from M. A.]—
- Cadet sept. 1, 66; 2 lt. 2 cav. june 15, 70; 1 lt. may 9, 79.
- 117. SCHOFIELD, CHARLES B., June 14, 79, 2nd Cavalry. [Born in Ill.; apptd. from M. A.]-Cadet july 1, 66; 2 lt. 2 cav. june 15, 70; 1 lt. jnne 14, 79.
- 118. BISHOP, HOEL S., June 14, 79, 5th Cavalry. [Born in Wis.; apptd. from M. Δ.]— Cadet sept. 1, 69; 24t. 5 cav. june 13, 73; 14t. june 14, 79.
- 119. HUMPHREY, BALLARD S., June 24, 79, 9th Cavalry. [Born in Va.; apptd from Va.]-Pvt. co. I, 1 art. $\frac{1}{2}$; 1 sergt. $\frac{1}{2}$; 61; 2 lt. 1 art. oct. 22, 62, acc. oct. 29, 62; 1 lt. bvt. may 26, 63, "for gal. and mer. scr. in an assault on Port Hudson. La."; 1 lt. 1 art. june 4,
 - 64; capt. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for good cond. and gal. ser. dur. the war"; hon. must. out jan. 1, 71 [sec. 12, act july 15, 70]; 2 lt. 9 cav. dec. 12, 72, acc. jan. 15, 73; 1 lt. june 24, 79.

- 120. RODGERS, ALEXANDER, July 6, 79, 4th Cavalry. [Born in N. J.; apptd. from M. A.]-Cadet july 1, 71; 2 lt. 4 cav. june 16, 75; 1 lt. july 6, 79; regtl. qm. feb. 1, 80, to oct. 1, 80.
- 121. PARKER, JAMES, July 23, 79, 4th Cavalry. [Born in N.J.; apptd. from M.A.]— Cadet july 1, 72; 2 lt. 4 cav. june 15, 76; 1 lt. july 23, 79.
- 122. ALLEN, JAMES, July 24, 79, 3rd Cavalry. [Born in Ind.; apptd. from M.A.]-Cadet july 1, 68; 2 lt. 3 cav. june 14, 72; 1 lt. july 24, 79,
- 123. REYNOLDS, BAINBRIDGE, Aug. 21,79, 3rd Cavalry. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from M. A.]-Cadet sept. 1, 69; 2 lt. 3 cav. june 13, 73; regtl. adj't aug. 21, 79; 1 lt. aug. 21, 79.
- 124. MURRAY, CUNLIFFE II., Sept. 2, 79, 4th Cavalry. [Born in S. C.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 73; 2 lt. june 15, 77; 1 lt. sept. 2, 79.
- 125. EDWARDS, FRANK A., Sept 7, 79, 1st Cavalry. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from D.C.]-2 lt. 1 cav. oct. 1, 73, acc. oct. 13, 73; 1 lt. sept. 7, 79.
- 126. WILDER, WILBER E., Nov. 12, 79, 4th Cavalry. [Born in Mich.; apptd. from M. A.]-Cadet july 1, 73; 24t. 4 cav. june 15, 77; 14t. nov. 12, 79.
- 127. JONES, THADDEUS W., Nov. 20, 79, 10th Cavalry. [Born in N. C.; apptd. from M. A.]-Cadet sept. 1, 68; 2 lt. 10 cav. june 14, 72; 1 lt. nov. 20, 79.
- 128. FOSTER, JAMES E. H., Nov. 30, 79, 3rd Cavalry. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Pa.]-Pvf. co. A, ind. batty, Pa. art, may 19, 64; dischold, aug. 29, 64; pvf. co. F, 155 Pa. vol. mar. 21, 65; trs. to co. G, 191 Pa. vol. june —, 65; dischold, june 23, 65; 2 lt. 3 cav. oct. 1, 73, acc. oct. 15, 73; 1 lt nov. 30, 79.
- 129. CRAIG, LOUIS A., Nov. 30, 79, 6th Cavalry. [Born in Mo.; apptd. from M. A.]-Cadet july 1, 69; 2 lt. 9 inf. june 17, 74; trs. to 6 cav. may 25, 75, taking rank from may 25, 75; 1 lt. nov. 30, 79.
- 130. BACKUS, GEORGE B., Jan. 12, 80, 1st Cavalry. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from M. A.]-Cadet sept. 1, 71; 2 lt. 1 cav. june 16, 75; 1 lt. jan. 12, 80.
- DODD, GEORGE A., Feb. 29, 80, 3rd Cavalry. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from M. A.]-Cadet july 1, 72; 2 lt. 3 cav. june 15, 76; 1 lt. feb. 29, 80.
- 132. WRIGHT, HENRY IL, Mar. 18, 80, 9th Cavadry. [Born in D.C.; apptd. from D.C.]-2 lt. 9 cav. dec. 12, 72, acc. jan. 14, 73; 1 lt. mar. 18, 80.
- 133. KINGSBURY, FREDERICK W., Apr. 1, 80, 2nd Cavalry, [Born in Ohio; apptd. from $[M, \Lambda,] =$

Cadet july 1, 66; 2 lt. 2 cav. june 15, 70; 1 lt. apr. 1, 80.

- 134. PATCH, ALEXANDER M., May 5, 80, 4th Cavalry. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet sept. 1, 73; add. 2 lt. 8 cav. june 15, 77; 2 lt.4 cav. dec. 7, 77; 1 lt. may 5, 80; regtl. qui, oct. 1, 80.
- 135. TOUEY, TIMOTHY A., June 3, 80, 6th Cavalry. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from M. A.]-Cadet sept. 1, 71; 2 lt. 6 cav. june 16, 75; 1 lt. june 3, 80.
- 136. WAINWRIGHT, ROBERT P. P., June 12, 80, 1st Cavalry. [Boin in Pa.; apptd. from M. A.]-

Cadet july 1, 70; 2 lt. 1 cav. june 16, 75; 1 lt. june 12, 80.

- 137. ALLISON, JAMES N., Dec. 20, 80, 2nd Cavalry. [Born in Ky.; apptd. from M.A.]-Pyt. co. C, 39 Ky, vol. aug. 10, 63; *dischad*, june 3, 65; cadet sept. 1, 67; 2 It. 2 cav. june 12, 71; 1 It. dec. 20, '80.
- 138. ROE, CHARLES F., Dec. 20, 80, 2nd Cavalry. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 64; 2 lt. 1 cav. june 15, 68; frs. to 2 cav. oct. 29, 70; must. out dec. 28, 70 [sec. 11, act july 15, 70]; 2 lt. 2 cav. dec. 9, 71, acc. feb. 25, 72; regth. adj't nov. 2, 76, to mar. 31, 78; and from dec. 20, 80; 1 lt. dec. 20, 80.

Second Lieutenants.

- 1. POND, GEORGE E., June 14, 72, 8th Cavalry. [Born in Conn.; apptd. from M. A.]-Pyt. co. K. 21 Conn. vol. dec. 9, 63; dischad. june 7, 65; cadet july 1, 68; 2 lt. 8 cav. june 14, 72.
- 2. EVANS, GEORGE H., June 14, 72, 10th Cavalry, [Born in Pa.; apptd. from M. A.]-Cadet sept. 1, 68; 2 lt. 10 cav. june 14, 72.
- 3. LA POINT, HENRY C., June 13, 73, 2nd Cavalry. [Born in Vt.; apptd. from M. A.]-Cadet july 1, 69; 2 lt. 2 cav. june 13, 73.
- 4. O'CONNOR, CHARLES M., June 13, 73, 8th Cavalry. [Bornin Iowa; apptd. from M. A.]-Cadet july 1, 69; 2 lt. 8 cav. june 13, 73.

Second Lieutenants-Continued.

- 5. SMITH, GEORGE W., Aug. 3, 73, 9th Cavalry. [Born in Va.; apptd. from Kans.]— Capt. 18 inf. aug. 5, 64, acc. aug. 27, 61; maj. bvt. sept. 20, 63, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Chickananga. Ga."; It. col. bvt. sept. 1, 64, "for gal. and mer. ser. dur. the Atlanta campaign and in the battle of Jonesboro', Ga."; *resgd.* may 15, 66; 2 It. 9 cav. aug. 6, 73, acc. aug. 8, 73.
- SIBLEY, FREDERICK W., June 17, 74, 2nd Cavalry. [Born in Texas; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 69; 2 lt. 2 cav. june 17, 74.
- GILLMORE, QUINCY O'M., Mar. 19, 75, 8th Cavalry. [Born in N. Y.: apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july I, 69; 2 lt. 10 cav. june 13, 73; *resgd.* nov. 12, 74; 2 lt. 8 cav. mar. 19, 75, acc. apr. 3, 75.
- ANDRUS, EDWIN P., June 16, 75, 5th Cavalry. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 70; 2 lt. 5 cav. june 16, 75.
- HUNTINGTON, HENRY D., June 16, 75, 2nd Cavalry. [Born in Vt.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet sept. 1, 71; 2 lt. 2 cav. june 16, 75.
- BAIRD, WILLIAM, June 16, 75, 6th Cavalry. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet sept. 1, 70; 2 lt. 6 cav. june 16, 75.
- SCOTT, GEORGE L., June 16, 75, 6th Cavalry. [Born in Oreg.; apptd. from M. A.]-Cadet july 1, 71; 2 lt. 6 cav. june 16, 75.
- AYRES, CHARLES G., Oct. 31, 74, 10th Cavalry. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from N. Y.]-2 ht. 25 inf. oct. 31, 74, acc. nov. 9, 74; trs. to 10 cav. sept. 18, 75, taking rank from sept. 18, 75.
- WHEELER, HOMER W., Oct. 15, 75, 5th Cavalry. [Born in Vt.; apptd. from Kans.]-2 lt. 5 cav. oct. 15, 75, acc. nov. 4, 75.
- ELLIS, EUGENE A., June 15, 76, 8th Cavalry. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet sept. 1, 72; 2 lt. 8 cav. june 15, 76.
- DRAVO, EDWARD E., June 15, 76, 6th Cavalry. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from M. Α.]— Cadet july 1, 72; 2 lt. 6 cav. june 15, 76.
- RUSSELL, ALBERT J., June 15, 76, 7th Cavalry. [Born in Ohio; apptd. from M. A.]-Cadet sept. 1, 72; 2 lt. 10 cav. june 15, 76; trs. to 7 cav. june 26, 76.
- CUMMINGS, JOSEPH F., June 15, 76, 3rd Cavalry. [Born in Texas; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 71; 2 lt. 10 cav. june 15, 76; trs. to 3 cav. july 28, 76.
- FULLER, ALFRED M., June 15, 76, 2nd Cavahy. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from M. A.]-Cadet july 1, 71; 2 lt. 10 cav. june 15, 76; trs. to 2 cav. july 28, 76.
- CHERRY, SAMUEL A., June 16, 75, 5th Cavalry. [Born in Ind.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 70; 2 lt. 23 inf. june 16, 75; trs. to 5 cav. july 28, 76, taking rank from july 28, 76.
- SWIFT, EBENEZER, J., June 15, 76, 5th Cavalry. [Born in Texas; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 72; 2 lt. 14 inf. june 15, 76; trs. to 5 cav. july 28, 76, taking rank from july 28, 76; regtl. adj't june 4, 78.
- SICKEL, HORATIO G., JR., June 15, 76, 7th Cavalry. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet sept. 1, 72; 2 lt. 14 inf. june 15, 76; trs. to 7 cav. july 28, 76, taking rank from july 28, 76.
- PITCHER, JOHN, June 15, 76, 1st Cavalry. [Born in Texas; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 72; 2 lt. 9 inf. june 15, 76; trs. to 1 cav. july 28, 76, taking rank from july 28, 76.
- SLOCUM, HERBERT J., June 21, 76, 7th Cavalry. [Born in Ohio; apptd. from Ill.]--Cadet july 1, 72; *dischyd.* june 22, 76; 2 lt. 25 inf. june 21, 76, acc. july 26, 76; trs. to 7 cav. july 28, 76, taking rank from july 28, 76.
- HARDIE, FRANCIS H., July 23, 76, 3rd Cavalry. [Born in Cal.; apptd. from At l'ge.]-2 lt. 3 cav. july 28, 76, acc. aug. 18, 76.
- KING, JOSIAH H., Aug. 15, 76, 8th Cavalry. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Pa.]-2 lt. 8 cav. aug. 15, 76, acc. aug. 23, 76.
- 26. GUEST, JOHN, Aug. 15, 76, 8th Cavalry. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Md.]— 2 lt. 8 cav. aug. 15, 76, acc. aug. 21, 76.
- 27. PINDER, JOSEPH W., Aug. 15, 76, 8th Cavalry. [Born in Ga.; apptd. from Ga.]— 2 lt. 8 cav. aug. 15, 76, acc. aug. 19, 76.
- NICHOLSON, WILLIAM J., Aug. 15, 76, 7th Cavalry. [Born in D. C.; apptd. from D. C.] -2 lt. 7 cav. aug. 15, 76, acc. aug. 19, 76.

Second Lieutenants-Continued.

29. CHEEVER, BENJAMIN H., JR., Aug. 15, 76, 6th Cavalry. [Born in D. C.; apptd. from D. C.]-

2 lt. 6 cay, aug. 15, 76, acc. aug. 21, 76.

- 30. BREWER, EDWIN P., Aug. 31, 76, 7th Cavalry. [Born in Ohio; apptd. from Ohio.]-2 lt. 7 cav. aug. 31, 76, acc. sept. 4, 76.
- 31. LESTER, CHARLES H., Aug. 6, 73, 8th Cavalry. [Born in Conn.; apptd. from M.A.]-ESTER, CHARLES H., Aug. 6, 73, 8th Cavairy. [Born in Conn.; apple. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 59; 21t, 2 cav, june 11, 63; 14t, byt. may 6, 64, "for gal, and mer, ser, in the battle of Todd's Tavern, Va."; 14t, 2 cav, may 30, 64; capt, byt. july 27, 64, "for gal, and mer, ser, in action at Deep Boltom, Va."; regth adj't mar, 6, 66, to july 1, 66; capt, 8 cav, july 28, 66, acc. nov. 17, 66; resol. may 13, 69; 24t, 24 inf. ang. 6, 73, acc. ang. 11, 73; trs. to 8 cav, oct. 31, 76, taking rank from oct. 31, 76.
- 32. JOUETT, JAMES S., Jan. 20, 75, 10th Cavalry. [Born in Ky.; apptd. from Md.]— 2 lt. 10 inf. jan. 20, 75, acc. feb. 8, 75; trs. to 10 cav. feb. 6, 77, taking rank from feb.
 - 6, 77.
- 33. FOSTER, FRED. W., June 15, 77, 5th Cavalry. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from M.A.]-Cadet july 1, 73; 2 lt. 5 cav. june 15, 77.
- 34. BLOCKSOM, AUGUSTUS P., June 15, 77, 6th Cavalry. [Botn in Ohio; apptd. from M. A.]-Cadet sept. 1, 73; 2 It. 6 cav. june 15, 77.
- 35. GATEWOOD, CHARLES B., June 15, 77, 6th Cavalry. [Born in Va.; apptd. from M. A.]-Cadet july 1, 73; 2 lt. 6 cav. june 15, 77.
- 36. GALBRAITH, JACOB G., June 15, 77, 1st Cavalry, [Born in Minn.; apptd. from M. A.]-Cadet sept. 1, 73; 2 lt. 1 cav. june 15, 77.
- 7. ESTERLY, CALVIN, June 15, 77, 10th Cavalry. [Born in Ohio; apptd. from M. A.]-Cadet july 1, 73; 2 lt. 10 cav. june 15, 77.
- 38. GOLDMAN, HENRY J., June 15, 77, 5th Cavalry. [Born in Germ'y; apptd. from M. A.]-Cadet sept. 1, 73; 2 lt. 5 cav. june 15, 77.
- PADDOCK, JAMES V. S., June 15, 77. 5th Cavalry. [Born in Ill.; apptd. from M. A.]-Cadet sept. 1, 73; 24t. 5 cav. june 15, 77.
- 40. MANN, JAMES D., June 15, 77, 7th Cavalry. [Born in Ind.; apptd. from M. A.]-Cadet july 1, 73; 2 lt. 7 cav. june 15, 77.
- 41. GUILFOYLE, JOHN F., June 15, 77, 9th Cavalry. [Born in Md.; apptd. from M. A.]--Cadet july 1, 72; 2 lt. 9 cay, june 15, 77.
- 42. BIGELOW, JOHN, JR., June 15, 77, 10th Cavalry. [Born in N.Y.; apptd. from M. A.]-Cadet july 1, 73; 2 lt. 10 cav. june 15, 77.
- 43. FLIPPER, HENRY O., June 15, 77, 10th Cavalry. [Born in Ga.; apptd. from M. A.]-Cadet july 1, 73; 2 lt. 10 cav. june 15, 77.
- 44. EMMET, ROBERT T., June 15, 77, 9th Cavalry. [Born in N.Y.; apptd. from M.A.]-Cadet sept. 1, 73; 2 lt. 9 cav. june 15, 77.
- 45. READ, ROBERT D., JR., June 15, 77, 10th Cavalry. [Born in Tenn.; apptd. from M.A.]-Cadet sept. 1, 73; 2 H. 10 cav. june 15, 77.
- 46. EGGLESTON, MILLARD F., June 15, 77, 10th Cavalry. [Born in Ind.; apptd. from M. A.]-
 - Cadet july 1, 73; 2 lt. 10 eav. june 15, 77.
- HOPPIN, CURTIS B., June 25, 77, 2nd Cavalry. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet sept. 1, 73; add. 2 lt. 1 cav. june 15, 77; 2 lt. 2 cav. june 25, 77.
- BROWN, WILLIAM C., July 3, 77, 1st Cavalry. [Born in Minn : apptd. from M. A.]-Cadet july 1, 73; add. 2 lt. 2 cav. june 15, 77; 2 lt. 1 cav. july 3, 77.
- BAXTER, GEORGE W., Sept. 16, 77, 3rd Cavalry. [Born in N.C.; apptd. from M.A.]— Cadet july 1, 73; add. 2 lt. 5 cav. june 15, 77; 2 lt. 3 cav. sept. 16, 77.
- BROWN, OSCAR J., Sept. 30, 77, 1st Cavalry. [Born in Ga.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 72; add. 2 lt. 3 cav. june 15, 77; 2 lt. 1 cav. sept. 30, 77.
- BALDWIN, WILLIAM H., Sept. 30, 77, 7th Cavalry. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from M. A.]-Cadet sept. 1, 73; add. 2 lt. 5 cav. june 15, 77; 2 lt. 7 cav. sept. 30, 77; regtl. qm. apr. 9, 80.
- CREEL, HEBER M., Sept. 30, 77, 7th Cavalry. [Born in Mo. : apptd. from M. A.]-Cadet sept. 1, 73; add. 2 lt. 8 cav. june 15, 77; 2 lt. 7 cav. sept. 30, 77.
- SQUIERS, HERBERT G., Oct. 12, 77, 7th Cavalry. [Born in Canada; apptd. from Minn.]— 2 It. 1 inf. oct. 12, 77, acc. oct. 15, 77; exp. by con. lim. dec. 3, 77; 2 It. 1 inf. jan. 26, 78, with rank from oct. 12, 77, acc. jan. 28, 78; trs. to 7 cav. aug. 31, 80, taking rank from oct. 12, 77.

1881. SERVICE AND LINEAL RANK OF OFFICERS OF CAVALRY. 135

Second Lieutenants-Continued.

- HUNTER, GEORGE K., Dec. 14, 77, 3rd Cavalry. [Born in Ohio; apptd. from M. Λ.]— Cadet sept. 1, 73; add. 2 lt. 4 cav. june 15, 77; 2 lt. 3 cav. dec. 14, 77.
- 55. CLARK, WALLIS O., Dec. 31, 77, 6th Cavalry. [Born in Mass.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 73; add. 2 lt. 7 cav. june 15, 77; 2 lt. 6 cav. dec. 31, 77.
- 56. DAY, MATTHIAS W., Mar. 1, 78, 9th Cavalry. [Born in Ohio; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 73; add. 2 lt. 10 cav. june 15, 77; 2 lt. 9 cav. mar. 1, 78.
- 57. MCDONALD, DAVID N., May 17, 78, 4th Cavalry. [Born in Tenn.; apptd. from M. Δ.]— Cadet july 1, 73; add. 2 lt. 4 cav. june 15, 77; 2 lt. may 17, 78.
- 58. FRENCH, F. HALVERSON, May 18, 78, 3rd Cavalry. [Born in Va.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 73; add. 2 lt. 3 cav. june 15, 77; 2 lt. may 18, 78.
- BARNETT, JOHN T., June 14, 78, 5th Cavalry. [Born in Ind.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 73; 2 lt 5 cav. june 14, 78.
- 60. BAILEY, ALBERT S., June 14, 78, 6th Cavalry. [Born in Texas: apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 74; 2 lt. 9 cav. june 14, 78; trs. to 6 cav. aug. 9, 78.
- LANDIS, J. F. REYNOLDS, June 15, 78, 1st Cavalry. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 74; add. 2 lt. 1 cav. june 14, 78; 2 lt. june 15, 78.
- 62. GLASS, JOHN N., June 25, 78, 6th Cavalry. [Born in Tenn.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 73; add. 2 lt. 10 cav. june 14, 78; 2 lt. june 25, 78; trs. to 6 cav. aug. 9, 78.
- 63. SPILMAN, BALDWIN D., June 28, 78, 7th Cavalry. [Born in Va.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 74; add. 2 lt. 7 cav. june 14, 78; 2 lt. june 28, 78.
- WHEELER, FRED, June 28, 78, 4th Cavalry. [Born in Wis.; apptd. from M. A.]-Cadet july 1, 74; add. 2 lt. 4 cav. june 14, 78; 2 lt. june 28, 78.
- 65. RICHARDS, JAMES R., Ju., June 28, 78, 4th Cavalry. [Born in Va.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 74; add. 2 lt. 9 cav. june 14, 78; 2 lt. june 28, 78; trs. to 4 cav. sept. 5, 78, taking rank next after 2 lt. F. Wheeler.
- 66. ELLIOTT. WILLIAM J., June 28, 78, 8th Cavalry. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from M. Δ.]— Cadet july 1, 74; add. 2 lt. 8 cav. june 14, 78; 2 lt. june 28, 78.
- 67. BELL, JAMES F., June 28, 78, 7th Cavalry. [Bern in Ky.; apptd from M. A.]— Cadet sept. 1, 74; add. 2 lt. 9 cav. june 14, 78; 2 lt. june 28, 78; trs. to 7 cav. aug. 9, 78.
- 68. SMITH, ABIEL L., Junè 28, 78, 4th Cavalry. [Born in Mo.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 74; add. 2 lt. 19 inf. june 14, 78; 2 lt. june 28, 78; trs. to 4 cav. feb. 3, 79, taking rank from feb. 3, 79.
- 69. MACOMB, AUGUSTUS C., Jan. 23, 78, 5th Cavalry. [Born in Mich.; apptd. from Atl'ge.]— 2 lt. 4 inf. jan. 23, 78, acc. jan. 29, 78; trs. to 5 cav. june 3, 79, taking rank from june 3, 79.
- 70. KENDALL, HENRY F., June 28, 78, 8th Cavalry. [Born in France; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 74; add. 2 lt. 3 inf. june 14, 78; 2 lt. june 28, 78; trs. to 20 inf. sept. 9, 78; trs. to 8 eav. june 3, 79, taking rank from june 3, 79.
- SCHAEFFER, CHARLES M., June 14, 78, 9th Cavaley. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 74; 2 lt. 15 inf. june 14, 78; trs. to 9 eav. june 12, 79, taking rank from june 12, 79.
- 72. GALE, GEORGE H. G., June 13, 79, 4th Cavalry. [Born '58 in Me.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 75; 2 lt. 4 cav. june 13, 79.
- SHUNK, WILLIAM A., June 13, 79, 8th Cavalry. [Born '58 in Ind.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 75; 2 lt. 8 cav. june 13, 79.
- 74. PORTER, JOHN M., June 13, 79, 3rd Cavalry. [Born '57 in Ala.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 75; 2 lt. 3 cav. june 13, 79.
- 75. FOLTZ, FREDERICK S., June 13, 79, 1st Cavalry. [Born '58 in Pa.; apptd. from M. Δ.]— Cadet july 1, 75; 24t. 1 cav. june 13, 79.
- 76. WELBORN, LUTHER's S., June 13, 79, 5th Cavalry. [Born '56 in Ind.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 75; 2 lt. 5 cav. june 13, 79.
- 77. BROOKS, LORENZO L. C., June 13, 79, 5th Cavalry. [Born '55 in Iowa.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet sept. 1, 75 ; 2 lt. 5 cav. june 13, 79.
- 78. MACKAY, JAMES O., June 13, 79, 3rd Cavalry. [Born '58 in N. S.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 75; 2 lt. 3 cav. june 13, 79.
- 79. HUSE, GUY E., June 13, 79, 4th Cavalry. [Born '55 in N. Y.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet sept. 1, 75; 2 lt. 4 cav. june 13, 79.
- JOHNSTON, JOHN A., June 13, 79. 8th Cavalry. [Born '58 in Pa.; apptd. from M. A.]-Cadet july 1, 75; 2 lt. 8 cav. june 13, 79.

Second Lieutenants-Continued.

- BEACH, WILLIAM D., June 13, 79, 3rd Cavalry. [Born '56 in N. Y.; apptd. from M. A.]--Cadet july 1, 75; 2 lt. 3 cav. june 13, 79.
- GIBSON, ARCHIE, June 13, 79, 7th Cavalry. [Born '55 in Mo.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 75; 2 It. 7 cav. june 13, 79.
- CRUSE, THOMAS, June 13, 79, 6th Cavalry. [Born '58 in Ky.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet sept. 1, 75; 24t. 7 cav. june 13, 79.
- JORDAN, ALLEN R., June 13, 79, 3rd Cavalry. [Born '55 in S. C. ; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet sept. 1, 75; 24t. 3 cav. june 13, 79.
- O'BRIEN, ALONZO L., June 13, 79, 2nd Cavalry. [Born '55 in Va.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 75; 2 lt. 2 cav. june 13, 79.
- JENKINS, MICAH J., June 13, 79, 4th Cavalry. [Born '57 in S.C.; apptd. from M. Δ.]— Cadet sept. 1, 75; 2 lt. 4 cav. june 13, 79.
- GRIERSON, CHARLES II., June 13, 79, 10th Cavalry, [Born '55 in Hl.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet sept. 1, 74, 2 lt. 10 cav. june 13, 79.
- BRETT, LLOYD M., June 13, 79, 2nd Cavalry. [Born '56 in Me.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 75; 2 ht. 2 cav. june 13, 79.
- ROBERTSON, SAMUEL C., June 13, 79, 1st Cavalry. [Born '57 in Va.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1-75; 2 lt. 1 cav. june 13, 79.
- MILLS, ALBERT L., June 13, 79, 1st Cavalry. [Born '54 in N. Y.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 74; 2 lt. 1 cav. june 13, 79.
- LOCKETT, JAMES, June 13, 79, 4th Cavalry. [Born '55 in Ga.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 75; 24t. 4 cav. june 13, 79.
- 92. LEW15, THOMAS J., June 13, 79, 2nd Cavalry. [Born '57 in La.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet sept. 1, 75; 241, 2 cav, june 13, 79.
- FINLEY, WALTER L., June 13, 79, 9th Cavalry. [Born '57 in Pa.; apptd. from M.A.]-Cadet july 1, 75; 2 ht.9 cav. june 13, 79.
- TAYLOR, CHARLES W., June 13, 79, 9th Cavalry. [Born '56 in N.Y.; apptd. from M.A.]— Cadet july 1, 74; 2 lt. 9 cav. june 13, 79.
- FULLER, ALVARADO M., June 28, 79, 2nd Cavalry. [Born '51 in R. L; apptd. from Army.]— Pyt. co. B. 2 cav. jan. 1, 70; corpl. sept. 1, 72; sergt. mar. 1, 73; dischold. jan. 1, 75; pyt. 2 cov. apr. 1, 76; sergt. maj. apr. 6, 76; 2 lt. june 28, 79, acc. july 8, 79.
- 96. PARKER, MONTGOMERY D., Sept. 1, 79, 9th Cavalry. [Born '51 in Mass.; apptd. from Mass.]—
 - 2 lt, 9 cav. sept. 1, 79, acc. sept. 26, 79.
- 97. WAITE, HENRY DE H., Jane 13, 79, 5th Cavalry. [Born '55 in N.Y.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 75; 2 lt. 3 inf. june 13, 79; trs. to 5 cav. sept. 4, 79, taking rank from sept. 4, 79.
- ALMY, WILLIAM E., June 13, 79, 5th Cavalry. [Born.156 in D.C.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 75; 24t, 3 inf. june 13, 79; trs. to 5 cav. sept. 4, 79, taking rank from sept. 4, 79.
- DUCAT, ARTHUR C., JR., June 13, 79, 3rd Cavalry. [Born 56 in Ill.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 75; 241, 11 inf. june 13, 79; trs. to 3 cav. sept. 8, 79, taking rank from sept. 8, 79.
- 100. FINLEY, LEIGHTON, Sept. 1, 79, 10th Cavalry. [Born '56 in S. C.; apptd. from S. C.]— 24t. 15 inf. sept. 1, 79, acc. sept. 1, 79; trs. to 10 cav. nov. 11, 79; taking rank from nov. 11, 79.
- 101. YAN DEUSEN, GEORGE W., June 12, 80, 4th Cavalry. [Born '59 in Mass.; apptd. from M. A.]-

Cadet sept. 1, 76; 2 lt. 4 cav. june 12, 80.

- 102. ALESHIRE, JAMES B., June 12, 80, 1st Cavalry. [Born '56 in Ohio; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet june 14, 76; 2 lt. 1 cav. june 12, 80.
- 103. ERWIN, JAMES B., June 12, 80, 4th Cavalry. [Born '57 in Ga.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 75; 24t. 4 cav. june 12, 80.
- 104. MCGRATH. HUGH J., June 12, 80, 4th Cavalry. [Born '56 in Wis.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet june 14, 76; 2 lt.4 cav, june 12, 80.
- 105. SCOTT, WILLIAM S., June 12, 80, 1st Cavalry. [Born '56 in Texas; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet june 14, 76; 2 lt. 1 cav. june 12, 80.
- 106. DICKINSON, WALTER M., June 12, 80, 4th Cavalry. [Born '56 in Mass.; apptd. from M. A.].— Cadet june 14, 76; 2 lt. 4 cav. june 12, 80.

Second Lieutenants-Continued.

- 107. CONVERSE, GEORGE L., JR., June 12, 80, 3rd Cavalry. [Born '57 in Ohio; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet sept. 1, 75; 2 lt. 3 cav. june 12, 80.
- 108. HOLTON, FREDERICK D., June 12, 80, 2nd Cavalry. [Born '58 in Vt.; apptd. from M. A.]-
 - Cadet june 14, 76; 2 lt. 2 cav. june 12, 80.
- 109. TATE DANIEL L., June 12, 80, 1st Cavalry. [Born '56 in Ky.; apptd. from M. A.]-Cadet june 14, 76; 2 lt. 1 cav. june 12, 80.
- 110. MORGAN, GEORGE H., June 12, 80, 3rd Cavalry. [Born '55 in Canada; apptd. from M. A.]-
 - Cadet june 14, 76; 2 lt. 3 cav. june 12, 80.
- 111. BLAKE, JOHN Y. F., June 12, 80, 6th Cavalry. [Born '55 in Mo.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet sept. 1, 76; 2 lt. 6 cav. june 12, 80.
- 112. WILCOX, JAMES H. G., June 12, 80, 7th Cavalry. [Born '57 in Ky.; apptd. from M. A.]-Cadet sept. 1, 76; 2 lt. 7 cav. june 12, 80.
- 113. SANDS, GEORGE H., June 12, 80, 6th Cavalry. [Born '56 in D. C.; apptd. from M. Α.] C (det june 14, 76; 2 lt. 6 cav. june 12, 80.
- 114. GOODE, GEORGE W., June 12, 80, 1st Cavalry. [Born '55 in Mo.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 75; 2 lt. 1 cav. june 12, 80.
- 115. BURNETT, GEORGE R., June 12, 80, 9th Cavalry. [Born '58 in Pa.; apptd. from M. A.]-Cadet june 14, 76; 2 lt. 9 cav. june 12, 80.
- 116. WATSON, JAMES W., June 12, 80, 10th Cavalry. [Born '54 in Miss.; apptd. from M. A.]-Cadet sept. 1, 76; 2 lt. 10 cav. june 12, 80.
- 117. TRIPPE, PERCY E., June 12, 80, 10th Cavalry. [Born '57 in Ga.; apptd. from M. A.]-Cadet june 14, 76; 2 lt. t0 cav. june 12, 80.
- H8. HOWARD, CHARLES A., June 24, 80, 9th Cavalry. [Born '50 in R. 1.; apptd. from Army.]-

Pvt. co. 1, 3 inf. july 9, 70; corpl. oct. 1, 70; pvt. ang. 25, 71; *dischgd.* nov. 2, 72; pvt. co. C. 6 cav. jan. 14, 73; corpl. june 14, 74; sergt. jan. 1, 76; qu. sergt. 6 cav. july 13, 77; *dischgd.* jan. 14, 78; qu. sergt. 6 cav. jan. 28, 78; sergt. maj. 6 cav. may 5, 79; 2 lt. 9 cav. june 24, 80, acc. sept. 5, 80.

- 119. MCBLAIN, JOHN F., June 24, 80, 9th Cavalry. [Born '51 in Pa.; apptd. from Army.] -Pvt. co. L, 2 cav. oct. 7, 72; eorpl. feb. 6, 74; sergt. aug. 3, 75; dischgd. june 29, 77; pvt. co. L, 2 cav. oct. 22, 78; corpl. nov. 22, 78; sergt. jan. 8, 80; 2 lt. 9 cav. june 24, 80, acc. july 16, 80.
- 120. POWELL, PHILIP P., June 24, 80, 9th Cavalry. [Born '46 in Va.; apptd. from Army.]— Pvt. co. D. 6 cav. oct. 27, 75; corpl. sept. 2, 76; sergt. may 29, 78; 2 lt. 9 cav. june 24, 80, acc. july 24, 80.

Chaplains.

- GONZALES, MANUEL J., Dec. 26, 68, 9th Cavalry. [Born in Mad'a; apptd. from D. C.] --Hosp. chap. vol. aug. 6, 62, acc. aug. 7, 62; must. out sept. 15, 63; hosp. chap. vol. oct. 17, 63, acc. oct. 19, 63; must. out aug. 4, 65, paid to aug. 17, 65; chap. 9 cav. dec. 26, 68, acc. apr. 19, 69.
- WEAVER, FRANCIS H., June 16, 80, 10th Cavalry. [Born '44 in Pa.: apptd. from Pa.] Pvt. co. (53 Pa. vol. oct. 10, 61; trs. to vet, rcs. corps jan. 20, 64; must. out oct. 17 64; pvt. co. K, 44 inf. aug. 1, 68; dischold. nov. 30, 68; chap. 10 cav. june 16, 80, acc. june 25, 80.

SERVICE AND LINEAL RANK

OF

OFFICERS OF ARTILLERY.

Colonels.

- VOGDES, ISRAEL, Aug. 1, 63, 1st Artillery. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 33; 24t, 1 art. july 4, 37; 14t, july 9, 38; capt. aug. 20, 47; maj. may 14, 61; brig. gen. vol. nov. 29, 62, acc. jan. 28, 63; 1t, col. 5 art. june 4, 63; col. 1 art. aug. 1 63; brig. gen. byt. apr. 9, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the field dur, the war"; must. out of vol. ser. jan. 15, 66.
- 2. GETTY, GEORGE W., July 28, 66, 3rd Artillery. [Born in D. C.; apptd. from M. A.]— Undet sept. 1, 36; 24, 4 art. july 1, 40; 14, oct. 31, 45; capt. br. aug. 20, 47, "for gal. and mer. cond. in the battless of Contreras and Churubasco": capt. 4 art. nov. 4, 53; trs. to 5 art. may 14, 64; it. col. a. a. d. c. sept. 28, 64, acc. oct. 1, 64; brig. gen. vol. sept. 25, 62, acc. oct. 4, 62; 14, col. byt. apr. 19, 63, "for gal. and mer. ser. dur. the siege of Saffolk, Va."; maj. 5 art. ang. 1, 63; col. byt. may 5, 64, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of the Wilderness, Va."; maj. gen. vol. byt. may 5, 64, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Saffolk, Va."; maj. 5 art. ang. 1, 63; col. byt. may 5, 64, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of the Wilderness, Va."; maj. gen. vol. byt. may 5, 64, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battles of Winchester and Fisher's Hill, Va."; brig. gen. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the field dur. the war"; col. 37 inf. july 28, 66, acc. oct. 22, 66; must. out of vol. ser. oct. 9, 66; trs. to 3 inf. mar. 15, 69; trs. to 3 art. jan. 1, 71.
- 3. HUNT, HENRY J., Apr. 4, 69, 5th Artillery. [Born in Mich.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet sept. 1, 35; 2/h, 2/art, july 1, 39; 1/h, june 18, 46; capt. byt. ang. 20, 47, "for galand mer, cond, in the battles of Contreras and Churuhusco", maj. byt. sept. 13, 47, "for gal, and mer, cond, in the battle of Chapultepec"; capt. 2/art. sept. 28, 52; maj. 5/art. may 14, 61, acc. ang. 3, 61; col. a. a. d. c. sept. 28, 61, acc. oct. 1, 61; brig. gen. vol. sept. 15, 62, "for mer. ser.," acc. sept. 21, 62; col. byt. july 3, 63, "for gal, and mer. ser. in the battle of Gettysburg, Pa. '; 1t. col. 3/art. ang. 1, 63; maj. gen. vol. byt. july 6, 64, "for gal, and dis, cond. in the battle of Gettysburg, and for faith, and highly mer. ser. in the campaign from the Kapidan to Petersburg, Ya.'; brig, gen. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal, and mer. ser. dur, the siege of Petersburg and in the campaign terminating with the surrender of the insurgent army under Gen. R. E. Lee"; maj. gen. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal, and mer. ser. in the high dur. the war"; most, out of vol. ser. apr. 30, 66; col. 5/art, apr. 4, 69.
- 4. AYRES, ROMEYN B., July 18, 79, 2nd Artillery. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from M. A.]—Cadet july 1, 43; bvt. 2 lt. 4 art. july 1, 47; 2 lt. 3 art. sept. 22, 47; 1 lt. mar. 16, 52; capt. 5 art. may 14, 61, acc. june 28, 61; brig. gen. vol. nov. 29, 62, acc. apr. 4, 63; maj. ber. july 2, 63; "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Getty-slong, Pa."; lt. col. bvt. may 5, 64, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of the Wilderness, Va."; maj. gen. vol. hvt. may 6, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of the Wilderness, Spottsylvania C. H., Jericho Mills, Bethesda Church, Petersburg, and Globe Tavern (Weldon R. R.), and for faith, ser. in the campaign "; col. bvt. may, 18, 64, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Prive Forks, Va."; maj. gen. vol. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Five Forks, Va."; maj. gen. vol. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Five Forks, va."; maj. gen. vol. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Five Forks, va."; maj. gen. vol. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Five Forks, va."; maj. gen. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the idel dur. the war"; must. out of vol. ser. apr. 30, 66; lt. eol. 28 inf. july 28, 66, acc. sept. 15, 66; trs. to 19 inf. mar. 15, 69; trs. to 19 inf. mar. 15, 69; trs. to 19 inf. mar.
- 15, 69; trs. to 3 art. dec. 15, 70; col. 2 art. july 18, 79.
 5. UPTON. EMORY, July 1, 80, 4th Artillery. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from M. A.]—
 Cadet july 1, 56; 21t. 4 art. may 6, 61; 1 t. 5 art. may 14, 61, acc. june 25, 61; col. 121
 N. Y. vol. oct. 23, 62; maj. bvt. nov. 8, 63, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Rappahannock Station, Va."; lt. col. bvt. may 10, 64, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Spottsylvania, Va."; brig. gen. vol. may 12, 64, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the eight days
 battles in the Old Wilderness and at Spottsylvania C. H. Va.," acc, june 19, 64; col. bvt.
 sept. 19, 64, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Winchester, Va."; capt. 5 art. feb. 22,
 65; brig. gen. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle and capture of Selma,
 Ala."; maj. gen. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle dur. the war;" must.
 aut of vol. ser. apr. 30, 66; lt. col. 25 inf. july 28, 66, acc. sept. 19, 66; trs. to 18 inf. mar.
 15, 69; unassd. july 1, 70; assd. to 1 art. dec. 15, 70; trs. to 4 art. mar. 16, 77; col. july 1, 80.
 (122)

(138)

Lieutenant Colonels.

- DENT, FREDERICK T., Dec. 31, 67, 5th Artillery. [Born in Mo.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet sept. 1, 39; byt. 24t. 64nf. july 1, 43; 24t. 54nf. mar. 30, 46; 14t. byt. ang. 20, 47, "for gal. and mer. cond. in the battles of Contreras and Chambasco": capt. byt. sept. 8, 47, "for gal. and mer. cond. in the battle of Molino del Rey"; 14t. 54nf. sept. 11, 47; capt. 9 inf. mar. 3, 55, acc. mar. 31, 55; maj. 44nf. mar. 9, 63; dt col. a. d. c. to the 1dt Gen. mar. 29, 64; lt. col. byt. may 7, 64, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of the Wilderness, Va."; col. byt. july 30, 64, "for gal. and mer. ser. in front of Petersburg, Va."; col. vol. byt. fcb. 24, 65, "for faith, and mer. ser."; brig. gen. bot. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the field dur. the war"; brig. gen. vol. apr. 5, 65, acc. apr. 6, 65; must. out of vol. ser. apr. 30, 66; col. a. d. c. to the Gen. july 25, 66; trs. to 14 inf. aug. 21, 66; lt. col. 32 inf. dec. 31, 67; unassd. mar. 15, 69; assd. to 5 art. dec. 15, 70; reliered as col. a. d. c. to the Gen. dec. 31, 72.
- BRANNAN, JOHN M., Jan. 10, 77. 1st Artillery. [Born in D. C. ; apptd. (ro a M. A.]— Cadet sept. 1, 37; bvt. 2 lt. 1 art. july 1, 41; 2 lt. may 16, 42; 1 lt. mar. 3, 47; regtl. adj't apr. 17, 47, to nov. 4, 54; capt. bvt. ang. 20, 47, "for gal. and mer. coud. in the battles of Contreras and Churubusco"; capt. 1 art. nov. 4, 54; brig. gen. vol. sept. 28, 61, acc. oct. 23, 61; lt. col. bvt. sept. 25, 62, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Jacksonville, Fla."; maj. 1 art. aug. 1, 63; col. bvt. sept. 20 63; "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Chickamanga, Ga."; maj. gen. vol. bvt. jan. 23, 65; brig. gen. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the campaign against Atlanta, Ga."; maj. gen. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the campaign against Atlanta, Ga."; maj. gen. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the field dur. the war"; must. out of vol. ser. may 31, 66; lt. col. 22 inf. july 28, 66, declined; lt. col. 4 art. jan. 10, 77; trs. to 1 art. mar. 16, 77.
 WOWE, A.L.PUN, B.A.LOR, D.A.LOR, D., D.A.LOR, "Data and the service of the service of
- 3. HOWE, ALBION P., Apr. 10, 79, 2nd Artillery. [Born in Me.; appld. from M. A.] → Cadet july 1, 37; 2 lt. 4 art. july 1, 41; 1 lt. june 18, 46; regul. adj't oct. 1, 46, to mar. 2, 55; capt. bvt. aug. 20, 47, "for gal. and mer. cond. in the battles of Contrerns and Churn-busco"; capt. 4 art. mar. 2, 55; maj. bvt. july 1, 62, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Malvern Hill, Va."; brig. gen. vol. june 11, 62, acc. june 20, 62; lt. col. bvt. may 3, 63, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Rappahannock Station, Va."; brig. gen. vol. pine 11, 62, acc. june 20, 62; lt. col. bvt. may 3, 63, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Rappahannock Station, Va."; brig. gen. vol. bvt. and mer. ser. dur. the war"; maj. gen. vol. bvt. july 18, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. dur. the war"; maj. gen. vol. bvt. july 28, 66, declined; lt. col. 2 art. apr. 10, 79.
- 4. DE RUSSY, GUSTAVU'S A., Aug. 25, 79, 3rd Artillery. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from Va.]— 2 lt. 4 art. mar. 8, 47, acc. mar. 10, 47; 1 lt. bvt. aug. 20, 47, "for gal. and mer. cond. in the battles of Contreras and Churnbusco"; capt. bvt. sept. 13, 47, "for gal. cond. at Chapultepec"; regtl. qm. feb. 15, 49, to aug. 9, 57; 1 lt. 4 art. may 16, 49; capt. but, june 25, 62, "for gal, and mer. ser. in action near Fair Oaks, Va."; lt. col. bvt. july 1, 62, "for gal, and mer. ser. in the battle of Malvern Hill, Va."; col. 4 N. Y. art. mar. 17, 63; brig. gen. vol. may 23, 63, acc. may 25, 63; col. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal, and mer. ser. dur. the war"; brig. gen. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal, and mer. ser. in the field dnr. the war"; must. out of vol. ser. jam. 15, 66; maj. 3 art. july 26, 66; lt. col. aug. 25, 79.
- ANDREWS, GEORGE P., July I, 80, 4th Artillery. [Born in Conn.; apptd from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 41; bvt. 24t. 3 art. july 1, 45; 24t. feb. 16, 47; regtl qm. june 4, 47, to oct. 24, 48; 14t. sept. 8, 47; capt. bvt. sept. 8, 47, "for gal. and mer. cond. in the battle of Molino del Rey"; maj. bvt. sept. 13, 47, "for gal. cond. at Chaphtepee"; regtl. qm. june 1, 58, to oct. 12, 58; capt. 3 art. oct. 12, 58; maj. 5 art. july 28, 66; 4t. col. 4 art. july 1, 80.

Majors.

- HAMHLTON, JOHN, Aug. 13, 66, 1st Artillery. [Born at sea; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 43; 2 lt. 3 art. july 1, 47; 1 lt. feb. 13, 50; capt. apr. 27, 61; maj. bvt. apr. 11, 62, "for gal. and mer. ser. dur. the investment of Fort Pulkski, (4a."; lt. col. bvt. june 17, 62, "for gal. and mer. ser. in action at Sccessionville, James Iskand, S. C.; col. bvt. feb. 20, 64, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Olustee, Fla."; maj. 1 art. aug. 13, 66.
- 2. BEST, CLERMONT L., Feb. 5, 67, 184 Artillery. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from M. A.] Cadet july 1, 42; bvt. 2 lt. 1 art. july 1, 47; 2 lt. 4 art. sept. 13, 47; 1 lt. sept. 12, 50; capt. apr. 29, 61; maj. bvt. may 3, 63, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Chancellorsville, Va."; lt. col. a. i. g. [act july 17, 62] may 15, 63; lt. col. bvt. july 3, 63, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Gettysburg, Pa."; *relieved* as lt. col. a. i. g. apr. 4, 64; col. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for good cond. and gal. ser. dur. the war"; maj. 1 art. feb. 5, 67.
- 3. GHBSON, HORATIO G., Feb. 5, 67, 3rd Artillery. [Born in Md.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 43; bvt. 24; 2 art. july 1, 47; 24; 3 art. sept. 8, 47; 14; nay 26, 51; regtl. qm. nov. 1, 58; to may 14, 64; capt. nay 14, 64; maj. bvt. may 5, 62; "for gal. and mer. ser, in the battle of Williamsburg, Ya."; H. col. bvt. sept. 17, 62; "for gal. and mer. ser, in the battle of Artifician, Md."; H. col. 2010 art. aug. 1, 63; col. ang, 15, 63; col. bvt. mar. 13, 65; "for gal. and mer. ser, in the field dnr. the war"; brig. gen. vol. bvt. mar. 13, 65; "for gal. and mer. ser, dnr. the war"; must. out of vol. ser. aug. 23, 65; maj. 3 art. feb. 5, 67.

Majors-Continued.

- 4. TIDBALL JUHN C., Feb. 5, 67, 2nd Artillery. [Born in Va.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 44; bvt. 2 h. 3 art. july 1, 48; 2 h. 2 art. feb. 14, 49; 1 ht. mar. 31, 53; capt. may 14, 61; capt. 12 inf. may 14, 61. declined; maj. bvt. june 27, 62. "for gal. and mer. ser, in the battle of Gaines" Mill, Va."; ht. col. bvt. sept. 17, 62. "for gal. and mer. ser, in the battle of Antietam, Md."; col. 4 N. Y. art. ang. 28, 63; brig. gen. vol. bvt. ang. 1, 64, "for gal. and dis. ser, in the battles of the Po. Spotts; Ivania C. H. and dur, the present operations in front of Petersburg, Va."; col. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser, in the reled attack on Fort Steedman, Va."; brig. gen. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser, dur, the reled attack on Fort Steedman, Va."; brig. gen. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser, at Forts Steedman and Sedgwick, Va."; must. out of vol. ser. sept. 26, 55; maj. 2 art. feb. 5, 67; col. a. d. c. to the gen. jan. 4, 81.
- 5. ARNOLD, RICHARD, May 1, 75, 5th Artillery. [Born in R. L.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 46; byt. 2 it. 1 art. july 1, 50; 2 lt. 3 art. may 26, 51; 1 lt. mar. 17, 54; capt. 5 art. may 14, 61, acc. july 4, 61; maj. byt. june 29, 62, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Savage Station, Va."; brig. gen. vol. nov. 29, 62, acc. june 1, 63; lt. col. byt. july 8, 63, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the siege of Port Hudson, La."; col. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. dur, the war"; brig. gen. byt. and maj. gen. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the field dur, the war"; maj. gen. vol. byt. ang. 22, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the sieges of Port Hudson, La., and Fort Morgan, Mobile Harbor"; must. out of vol. ser. ang. 24, 65; maj. 5 art. may 1, 75.
- 6. PIPER, ALEXANDER, Dec. 20, 75, 4th Artillery. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 47; bct. 2 lt. 3 art. july 1, 51; 2 lt. dec. 12, 51; 1 lt. jan. 31, 55; capt. 18 inf. may 14, 61, declined; capt. 3 art. may 14, 61; maj. bvt. aug. 30, 62; "for gal. and mer. ser. dur. the campaign in Northern Virginia"; col. 10 N. Y. art. jan. 7, 63; lt. col. bvt. june 15, 64; "for gal, and mer. ser. in the siege of Petersburg, Va."; must. out of vol. ser. july 6, 65; maj. 4 art. dec. 20, 75.
- CLOSSON, HENRY W., Nov. 1, 76, 5th Artillery. [Born in Vt.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet sept. 1, 50; 24t. 1 art. july 1, 54; 14t. oct. 31, 56; capt. 19 mf. may 14, 61, declined; capt. 1 art. may 14, 61; maj. byt. july 8, 63; "for gal. and mer. ser. in the capture of Port Hindson, La."; It. col. byt. mag. 23, 64, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the capture of Fort Morgan, Ala."; maj. 5 art. nov. 1, 76.
- MENDENHALL, JOHN, Jan. 10, 77, 1st Artillery. [Born in Ind.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 47; byt. 24; 1 drag, july 1, 51; trs. to 4 art. feb. 20, 52; 24; to et. 8, 53; 14; mar. 12, 56; capt, july 3, 61; maj, byt. apr. 7, 62; "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Shiloh, Tenn."; maj, j. a. vol. mar. 17, 63; acc. apr. 3, 63; 4t. col. byt. sept. 20, 63; "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Chickananga, Ga. ; 4t. col. a. i. g. [act july 17, 62] feb. 27, 64, to sept. 26, 64; col. byt. mar. 13, 65; "for gal. and mer. ser. dur. the war"; must. out of vol. ser. oct. 23, 65; maj, 1 art. jan. 10, 77.
- 9. MCMHLLAN, JAMES, July 2, 77, 2nd Artillery. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 52; byt. 24, 24nf july 1, 56; 24t, sept. 30, 56; 14t, may 3, 61; 14t, 124nf, may 14, 61, declined, regult, adj't july 1, 61, to ang, 10, 61; capt. 24nf, ang, 10, 61; maj, byt, mar, 30, 65, "for mer, and faith, ser, in the recruitment of the armies of the United States"; massed, apr. 17, 69; assd. to 11 inf. feb. 15, 70; irs. to 3 art, jan. 1, 71; maj, 2 art, july 2, 77.
- LANGDON, LOOMIS L., Mar. 20, 79, 2nd Artillery. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 50; bvt. 2 lt. 4 art. july 1, 54; 2 lt. 1 art. aug. 21, 54; 1 lt. july 13, 60; capt. aug. 28, 61; maj. bvt. feb. 20, 64, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Ohrstee, Fla."; lt. col. bvt. sept. 29, 64, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the attack on Fort Gilmer, Va."; maj. 2 art. mar. 20, 79.
- 11. SCOTT, ROBERT N., Mar. 20, 79, 3rd Artillery. [Born in Tenn.; apptd. from Cal.]— 2 lt. 4 int feb. 21, 57, acc. apr. 29, 57; 1 lt. may 14, 61; regth. adjt july 1, 61, to sept. 25, 61; capt. sept. 25, 61; maj. bvt, june 27, 62; "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Gaines' Mill, Ya."; maj. a. g. vol. sept. 28, 64, acc. oct. 1, 64; lt. col. bvt. mar. 13, 65; "for mer. ser. in connection with the organization of the vol. army of the United States"; lt. col. a. a. g. [act july 17, 62] july 5, 65, to aug. 1, 65; must. out of vol. ser. jan. 1, 67; unassd. mar. 23, 69; assd. to 16 inf. jan. 29, 70; trs. to 3 art. jan. 1, 71; maj. mar. 29, 79.
- 12. LIVINGSTON, LA RHETT L., Apr. 10, 79. 4th Artillery. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from M. A.]-

Cadet july 1, 49; bvt. 2 lt. 1 art. july 1, 53; 2 lt. 3 art. dec. 24, 53; 1 lt. jan. 3, 56; capt. oct. 26, 61; maj. bvt. july 1, 62, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Malvern Hill, Va."; lt. col. bvt. arg. 28, 64, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Smithfield, Va."; maj. 4 art. apr. 10, 79.

Majors-Continued.

- GRAHAM, WILLIAM M., July 18,79,4th Artillery. [Born in D. C.; apptd. from D. C.]-24, 1 art. june 7, 55, acc. june 13, 55; 44, mar. 4, 61; capt. oct. 26, 61; maj. bvt. july 4, 62, "for gal. and mer. ser. dur. the Peniusular campaign in Va."; 4r. col. bvt. sopt. 17, 62, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Antietam, Md."; col. bvt. july 3, 63, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Gettysburg, Pa."; brig. gen. bvt. mur. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the field dur. the war"; col. 2 D. C. vol. apr. 7, 65; must. out of vol. ser. sept. 12, 65; maj. 4 art. july 18, 79.
- 14. LODOR, RICHARD, Aug. 25, 79, 3rd Artillery. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 52; byt. 24k 4 art. july 1, 56; 24k. oct. 31, 56; 14k. feb. 1, 61; capt. nov. 29, 61; maj. byt. dec. 34, 62; "for gal. and mer. ser, in the battle of Stone River, Tenn."; 4k. col. a. i. g. [act july 17, 62] [an. 29, 63, to nov. 10, 63; 4k. col. byt. and col. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser, dur. the war"; maj. 3 art. ang. 25, 79.
- JACKSON, RICHARD H., July 1, 80, 5th Artillery. [Born in Ireland: apptd. from Army.]— Pet. co. L. 4 art. dec. 12, 51: corpl. apr. 25, 52: pet. may 18, 53; corpl. feb. 9, 54; sergt. apr. 9, 56; dischad. sept. 30, 56; sergt. co. L. 4 art. sept. 30, 56; 1 sergt. dec. 28, 56; hvt. 24, 4 art. sept. 43, 59, acc. apr. 24, 60; 24t. 4 art. sept. 30, 56; 1 sergt. dec. 28, 56; hvt. 24, 60; 24; 4t. col. a. i. g. [act july 17, 62] apr. 15, 63; maj. bet. may 15, 64; "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Durny's Bluft, Va."; ht. col. hvt. oct. 7, 64; "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Durny's Bluft, Va."; hrig. gen. vol. bvt. jan. 1, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the campaign of 1864"; col. bvt. mar. 13, 65; "for gal. and mer. ser. dur. the war"; brig. gen. bvt. mar. 13, 65; "for gal. and mer. ser. in the field dur. the war"; *relieved* as lt. col. a. i. g. may 23, 65; brig. gen. vol. may 19, 65, acc. may 24, 65; maj. gen. vol. bvt. nov. 24, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. dur. the war"; *must. out* of vol. ser. feb. 1, 66; maj. 5 art. july 1, 80.

Captains.

- FRANK, ROYAL T., Feb. 27, 62, 1st Artillery. [Born in Me.: apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 54; bvt. 24: 5 inf. july 1, 58; 24: 8 inf. oct. 19, 58; 14: may 14, 61; capt. feb. 27, 62; maj. bvt. july 3, 62, "for gal. and mer. ser. dur. the Peninsular campaign"; R. col. bvt. dec. 13, 62, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Fredericksburg, Va."; trs. to 1 art. dec. 15, 70.
- LORAIN, LORENZO, Feb. 28, 62, 3rd Artillery. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 52; 24: 3 art. july 1, 56; 14: jan. 2, 60; capt. bvt. july 18, 61, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Blackburn's Ford, Va."; capt. 3 art. feb. 28, 62; maj. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for good coud. and gal. ser. dur. the war."
- BAINBRIDGE, EDMUND C., Aug. 30, 62, 5th Artillery. [Born in Va.; apptd. from M.A.]—

Cadet july 1, 52; bvt. 2 lt. 3 art. july 1, 56; 2 lt. 4 art. oet. 31, 56; 1 lt. nov. 2, 59; trs. to 5 art. may 14, 61; capt. a. qm. ang. 3, 61, acc. ang. 28, 61; capt. 3 art. ang. 30, 62; vac. com. of capt. a. qua. ang. 30, 62; maj. a. d. c. vol. sept. 3, 64, acc. feb. 19, 65; maj. bvt. and lt. col. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith, and mer. ser. dur. the war"; must. out of vol. ser. july 1, 66.

- 4. KENSEL, GEORGE A., Oct. 8, 62, 5th Artilley. [Born in Pa.: apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 53: bvt. 2 lt. 4 art. july 1, 57: 2 lt. ang. 17, 57: 1 lt. mar. 1, 61; trs. to 5 art. may 14, 61; capt. a. qm. ang. 3, 61, acc. ang. 28, 61; capt. 5 art. ort. 8, 62; mac. com. of capt. a. qm. oct. 8, 62; maj. bvt. sept. 20, 63, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the bittle of Chickamauga, Ga.", lt. col. a. i. g. [act july 17, 62] nov. 9, 63; lt. col. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for mer. ser. while serving as chf. of art. of the dept. of the Gulf, and of Virginia and North Carolina, and for gal. cond. in action at Drary's Blatt, Va."; col. vol. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. dur. the war"; relicered as lt. col. a. i. g. ang. 1, 65.
- 5. RANDOL, ALANSON M., Oct. 11, 62, 1st Artillery. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 55; byt. 2 lt.4 art. july 1, 60; trs. to ord. oct. 9, 60; trs. to 3 art. jan. 14, 61; 2 lt. 1 art. nov. 22, 60; 1 lt. may 14, 61; capt. byt. june 30, 62. "for gal. and mer. ser. in action at Newmarket, Va."; capt. 1 art. oct. 11, 62; maj. byt. july 3, 63. "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Gettysburg, Pa."; col. 2 N. Y. cay. dec. 23, 64; lt. col. byt. mar. 13, 65; "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Five Forks, Va."; col. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. dur. the war"; must. out of vol. ser. june 23, 65; brig. gen. vol. byt. june 24, 65, "for mer. ser. dur. the war."
- 6. GUENTHER, FRANCIS L., July 2, 63, 5th Artillery. [Born in N. Y.; apptd from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 54; bvt. 21t. 1 art. july 1, 59; 21t. 4 art. nov. 2, 59; 11t. 5 art. may 14, 61, acc. july 16, 61; capt. bvt. apr. 7, 62, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Shiloh, Tenn."; maj. bvt. dec. 31, 62, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Stone River, Tenn."; capt. 5 art. july 2, 63; 1t. col. bvt. and col. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. dur. the war."

.

- WHLDRICK, ABRAM C., Feb. 8, 64, 3rd Artillery, [Born in N. J.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 53; byt. 241, 3 art, july 1, 57; 241, oct. 5, 57; 141, apr. 27, 64; capt. feb. 8, 64; col. 39 N. J. vol. oct. 11, 64; maj. byt. mar. 13, 65; "for gal. and mer. ser. dur. the siege of Petersburg, Va."; 47, col. byt. mar. 13, 65; "for gal. and mer. ser. dur. the swar"; brig. gen. vol. byt. apr. 2, 65; "for gal. and mer. ser. in front of Petersburg, Va."; must, out of vol. ser. june 17, 65;
- PENNINGTON, ALENANDER C. M., Mar. 30, 64, 2nd Artillery. [Born in N. J.; apptd. from M. A.]—
 Cadet july 1.55; bvt. 2 lt 2 art. july 1, 60; 2 lt. feb. 1, 61; 1 lt. may 14, 61; capt. bvt. june 9, 63, "for gal. and mer. ser, in the battle of Beyerly Ford, Va."; maj. bvt. july 3, 63,

- 10. MILLER, MARCUS P., May D. 64, 4th Artillery. [Botn in Mass.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet sept. 1, 54; byt. 24, 4 art, july 1, 58; 24, sept. 27, 59; 14, may 14, 61; regtl, qm. feb, 14, 62; on apr. 1, 62; regtl, adji't apr. 1, 62; to may D. 64; capt. byt. july 1, 62; "for gal, and mer, ser, in the battle of Malvern Hill, Va."; capt. 4 art, rey 11, 64; maj, byt. mar, 13, 65; "for gal, and mer, ser, in the cavalry camping from Winchester to Richmond, Va."; R. col. byt. mar. 31, 65; "for gal, and mer, ser, in the battle of Dinwiddle C. H., Va."
- RODGERS, JOHN L. June 11, 64, 2nd Artillery. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from M. A.]-Cadet july 1, 56; 246, 2 art, may 6, 61; 14t, may 14, 61; capt. june 11, 64.
- THROCKMORTON, CHARLES B., July 18, 64, 4th Artillery. [Born in Va.; apptd. from Md.]—
 2 lt. 4 art. mar. 16, 61, acc. mar. 28, 61; 1 lt. may 14, 61; capt. july 18, 64; maj. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. cond. dur. the war."
- 13. WHLLISTON, EDWARD B., Mar. 8, 65, 2nd Artillery. [Born in Vt.; apptd. from Cal.]— 2 It. 2 art. aug. 5, 61, acc. sept. 23, 61; 1 It. sept. 27, 61; cupt. bvt. may 3, 63, "for gal. and mer. ser, in action at Salem Heights, Va.", maj. bvt. july 3, 66, "for gal, and mer. ser, in the Gettysburg campaign"; It. col. bvt. sept. 10, 64, "for gal, and mer. ser, ser, dur, the war."
- 14. SINCLAH, WILLIAM, Dee, H, 65, 3rd Artillery. [Born in Ohio: apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 53; byt. 2 ht. 2 art. july 1, 57; 2 ht. 3 art. july 31, 58; 1 ht. apr. 30, 61; eapt. byt. may 4, 62, "for gal, and mer, ser, in the alege of Yorktown, Va."; col. 6 Pa. res. corps june 27, 62; maj, byt. dec. 13, 62, "for gal, and mer, ser, in the battle of Fredericksburg, Va."; must. out of vol. ser, june 6, 63; ht. col. a, i. g. [act july 17, 62] oct. 12, 63, to july 3, 65; capt. 3 art. dec. H, 65.
- TAYLOR, FRANCK E., Feb. 1, 66, 1st Artillery. [Born in D. C.; apptd. from D. C.]— 2 It, and 1 li, 1 att. aug. 5–61, acc. aug. 15, 61; capt. bvt. july 8, 63, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the capture of Port Hudson, La."; maj. bvt. sept. 19, 64, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Winchester, Va."; capt. 1 art. feb. 1, 66.
- 16. HASBBOUCK, HENRY C., July 26, 66, 4th Artillery. [Born in N. V.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 56; 21t, 4 art, may 6, 61; 11t, may 14, 61; capt, byt, oct, 25, 62, "for gal, and mer. ser, in action at Blackwater Bridge, near Suffolk, Va."; maj, bet, apr. 2, 65, "for gal, and mer. ser, dur, the sleege of Petersburg, Va.," declined *j* capt, 4 art, july 26, 66.
- 17. WARNER, EDWARD R., July 28, 66, 3rd Artillery. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from M. A.] Cader sept. 1, 53; bvt. 24, 1 art. july 1, 57; 24, 3 art. dec. 3, 58; 14, may 14, 61; regul, qm, sept. 27, 64, to oct. 27, 62; ht. col. 1 N. Y. art. nov. 1, 62; capt. bvt. july 3, 63, "for mer. ser, in the battle of Gettysburg, Pa."; col. vol. bvt. aug. 1, 64, "for gal, and dis. ser, in the battle of Gettysburg and in the operations in front of Petersburg."; maj. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal, and mer. ser, dur, the siege of Petersburg, Va."; ht. col. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for good cond, and gal, ser, dur, the war"; brig, gen vol. bvt. apr. 9, 65, "for faith, and mer. ser, dur, the event operations resulting in the fall of Richmond, Va., and the surrender of the insurgent army under Gen. R. E. Lee"; must. out of vol. ser, jme 21, 65; capt. 3 art, july 28, 66.

- 18. RAWLES, JACOB B., July 28, 66, 5th Artillery. [Born in Mich.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet sept. 1, 56; 24t. 3 art. may 6, 61; 14t. 5 art. may 14, 61, acc. june 28, 61; capt. bvt. july 8, 63, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the siege of Port Hudson, La."; maj. bvt. apr. 9, 65, "for gal, and mer. ser. due, the campaign terminating with the surrender of the insurgent forces under Gen. R. E. Lee"; capt. 5 art, july 28, 66.
- 19. HASKIN, WILLIAM L., July 28, 66, 1st Artillery. [Born in Me.; apptd. from At l'ge.]— 24, and 14, 1 art. aug. 5, 61, acc. aug. 17, 61; eapt. bvt. july 8, 63, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the capture of Port Hudson, La.": maj. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for good cond. and gal. ser. dur. the war"; eapt. 1 art. july 28, 66.
- 20. RANDOLPH, WALLACE F., July 28, 66, 5th Artillery. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Pa.]— 24, 5 art. may 14, 61, acc. june 29, 61; 14, mar. 1, 62; capt. bvt. june 14, 63, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the defence of Winchester, Va."; maj. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for good cond. and gal. ser. dur. the war"; capt. 5 art. july 28, 66.
- 21. MCCREA, TULLY, July 28, 66, 1st Artillery. [Born in Miss.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 58; 24: 1 art. june 17, 62; 14: bvt. sept. 17, 62, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Antietam, Md."; capt. bvt. july 3, 63, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Gettysburg, Pa."; 14: 1 art. nov. 4, 63; maj. bvt. feb. 20, 64, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Olnstee, Fla."; regtl. qm. 1 art. june 20, 66; to nov. 20, 66; capt. 42 inf. july 28, 66, acc. nov. 20, 66; unassd. apr. 22, 69; assd. to 1 art. dec. 15, 70.
- 22. EGAN, JOHN, July 28,66,4th Artillery. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 58; 24: 1–art, june 17, 62; 14: bvt. sept. 7, 62, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Antictam, Md."; capt. bvt. july 3, 63, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Gettysburg, Pa."; 14: 1–art, may 19, 64; maj. bvt. june 1, 64, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Cold Harbor, Va."; capt. 11 inf. july 28, 66, acc. nov. 26, 66; unassd. apr. 14, 69; assd. to 23 inf. sept. 1, 69; irs. to 4–art, jan. 1, 71.
- 23. HAMILTON, FRANK B., July 28, 66, 2nd Artillery. [Born in Ohio; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 58; 24: 3 art, june 17, 62; 14t. bvt. sept. 17, 62; "for gal, and mer, ser, in the battle of Antietam, Md."; capt. bvt. july 3, 63; "for gal, and mer, ser, in the battle of Gettysburg, Pa."; 14t. 3 art, june 18, 64; capt. 14 inf. july 28, 66, acc. nov. 26, 66; trs. to 2 art, dec. 15, 1870.
- 24. DUNN, WILLIAM McK., JR., July 28, 66, 2nd Artillery. [Born in Ind.; apptd. from Ind.]— Pvt. co. K, 6 Ind. vol. apr. 18, 61; dischgd. ang. 2, 61; pvt. co. C, 67 Ind. vol. aug. 8, 62; 2 It.83 Ind. vol. nov. 19, 62; 1 It. oct. 4, 63; capt. a. a. g. vol. apr. 9, 65, acc. apr. 21, 65; 1 It. 10 inf. nov. 29, 65, acc. mar. 2, 66; must. out of vol. ser may 3, 66; capt. 21 inf. july 28, 66; acc. dec. 10, 66; maj. bvt. mar. 2, 67; "for gal and mer. ser. in the campaigns and battles of Vicksburg, Miss., Chattamooga, Tenn., Richmond and Petersburg, Va."; unassd. apr. 19, 69; assd. to 2 art. jan. 1, 71.
- 25. CAMPBELL, JOSEPH B., Feb. 5, 67, 4th Artillery. [Born in Pa.; appld. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 57; bvt. 21t., 21t, and 11t. 4 art. june 24, 61; capt. bvt. ang. 30, 62; "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Bull Run (2d), Va."; maj. bvt. sept. 17, 62; "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Antictam, Md."; capt. a. d. e. may 26; Must. out as capt. a. a. d. e. july 10, 65; capt. 16 inf. july 28, 66, declined; capt. 4 art. feb. 5, 67.
- 26. SMITH. FRANK G., Feb. 5, 67, 4th Artillery. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Ohio.]— 2 It. and I It. 4 art. aug. 5, 61, acc. aug. 15, 61; capt. bvt. dec. 31, 62, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the lattle of Stone River, Tenn."; maj. bvt. sept. 20, 63, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Chickamauga, Ga."; capt. 4 art. feb. 5, 67.
- 27. RAMSAY, JOSEPH G., Feb. 5, 67, 2nd Artillery. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from At l'ge.]— 2 lt. 2 art. ang. 5, 61, acc. ang. 15, 61; 1 lt. nov. 12, 61; regtl. adj't nov. 4, 63, to nov. 17, 64; capt. a. a. g. vol. nov. 17, 64, acc. dec. 31, 64; capt. bvt. mar. 13, 65, '' for gal. and mer. ser. dur. the war''; *must. out* of vol. ser. aug. 3, 65; regtl. qm. 2 art. june 23, 66, to feb. 5, 67; capt. 2 art. feb. 5, 67.
- 28. DARLING, JOHN A., Dec. 9, 67, 1st Artillery. [Born in Me.; apptd. from Me.]— 2 lt. 2 art. aug. 5, 61, acc. sept. 3, 61; 1 lt. may 31, 62; maj. 3 Pa. h. art. mar. 31, 63; capt. bvt. and maj. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. dur. the war"; must. out of vol. ser. sept. 1, 65; capt. 2 art. dec. 9, 67; hon. must. out jan. 1, 71 [sec. 12, act july 15, 70]; capt. art. apr. 24, 78, with rank from dec. 9, 67 [act apr. 8, 78], acc. apr. 29, 78; assd. to 1 art. mar. 20, 79.
- 29. BREWERTON, HENRY F., Sept. 18, 68, 5th Artillery. [Born in N.Y.; appt]. from At

24. 5 art. may 14, 61, acc. june 24, 61; 14t. mar. 1, 62; capt. byt. oct. 19, 64, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Cedar Creek, Va."; capt. 5 art. sept. 18, 68.

30. LITCHFIELD, HENRY G., Feb. 22, 69; 2nd Artillery. [Born in N. V.: apptd. from Army.]— Pvit. co. 6, 2 batt. 18 inf. mar. 21, 62; 1 sergt. mar. 24, 62; 2 lt. 18 inf. july 14, 62, ace.

Pyt. co. 6, 2 batt. 18 inf. mar. 21, 62; 1 sergt. mar. 24, 62; 2 ft. 18 inf. july 14, 62, ace. july 31, 62; 1 lt. apr. 27, 63; capt. byt. sept. 20, 63, "for gal. and mer. ser, in the battle of Chickamanga, Ga."; maj. byt. sept. 1, 64, "for gal. and mer. ser, dur, the Atlanta campaign and in the battle of Jonesboro', 6a,"; lt. col. a, i. g. [act july 17, 62] dec. 6, 64; lt. col. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser, in the battle of Beutonville, N. C."; *relieved* as lt. col. a, i. g. ang. 1, 65; trs. to 36 inf. sept. 21, 66; capt. feb. 22, 69; unassd. may 19, 69; assd. to 2 art. jan. 1, 71.

- RODNEV, GEORGE B., Mar. 4, 69, 4th Artillery. [Born in Del.; apptd. from Del.]— Pvt. commonwealth art. Pa. vol. apr. 24, 61; dischgd. aug. 5, 61; 2 lt. and 1 lt. 4 art. aug. 5, 61, acc. aug. 15, 61; capt. bvt. dec. 31, 62, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Stone River, Ten."; maj. bvt. sept. 20, 63, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Chickamauga, Ga."; capt. 4 art. mar. 4, 69.
- 3 WOODRUFF, CARLE A., May 6, 69, 2nd Artillery. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from At Fge.]— 2 lt. 2 art. oct. 22, 61, acc. oct. 23, 61; 1 lt. july 24, 62; capt. bvt. july 3, 63, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Gettysburg, Pa."; maj. bvt. june 11, 64, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Trevillian Station, Va."; lt. col. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for good cond. and gal. ser. dur. the war"; capt. 12 inf. july 28, 66, declined; capt. 2 art. may 6, 69.
- 33. TURNBULL, JOHN G., Apr. 20, 70, 3rd Artillery. [Born in D.C.; apptd. from At lige.]— 2 It. and 1 It. 3 arf. aug. 5, 61, acc. aug. 8, 61; capt. byt. may 3, 63, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Chancellorsville, Va."; nagl. byt. july 3, 63, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the hattle of Gettysburg. Pa."; capt. 3 art. apr. 20, 70.
- 34. KINZIE, DAVID II., Apr. 12, 71, 5th Artillery. [Born in III.; apptd. from Kans.]— Cadet july 1, 59; dischgd. feb. 6, 61; 2 lt. 5 art. may 14, 61, acc. june 21, 61; 1 lt. bvt. june 30, 62, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of White Oak Swamp, Va."; 1 lt. 5 art. aug. 30, 62; capt. bvt. sept. 17, 62, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Antietam, Md."; maj. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for good cond. and gal. ser. dur. the war"; capt. 39 inf. july 28, 66, declined; capt. 5 art. apr. 12, 71.
- 35. CUSHING, HARRY C., Ang. 22, 71; 4th Artillery. [Born in Md.; apptd. from R. I.]— Corpl. co. A, 1 R. I. I. art. june 6, 61; sergt. sept. 16, 61; dischgd. nov. 3, 61; 2 lt. 4 art. oct. 24, 61, acc. nov. 3, 61; 1 lt. bvt. ang. 9, 62; "for gal, and mer. ser. in the battle of Cedar Moantain, Va."; 1 lt. 4 art. sept. 17, 62; capt. bvt. sept. 20, 63; "for gal, and mer. ser. in the battle of Chickamanga, Ga."; maj. bvt. ang. 28, 64, "for gal, and mer. ser. in the battle of Smithfield, Va."; capt. 38 inf. july 28, 66, declined; capt. 4 art. aug. 22, 71.
- 36. MYRICK, JOHN R., Dec. 1, 72, 3rd Artillery. [Born in N. J.; apptd. from N. Y.]— Pyt. co. B, 13 N. Y. s. m. apr. 23, 61; dischool ang. 6, 61; 2 H. and 1 H. 3 art. nov. 18, 61, acc. nov. 18, 61; capt. byt. fcb. 20, 64, "for gal. and mer. ser, in the battle of Olnstee, Fla."; maj. byt. oct. 7, 64, "for gal. and mer. ser, in action on the Newmarket Road near Richmond, Va."; capt. 38 inf. july 28, 66, declined; regtl. adj't 3 art. oct. 10, 67, to dec. 1, 72; capt. 3 art. dec. 1, 72.
- 37. KELLY, JAMES R., Dec. 20, 72, 3rd Artillery. [Born in Ireland; apptd. from Army.] Pvt. co. A, eng. feb. 28, 54; artf. july 1, 55; corpl. july 1, 57; artf. may 17, 58; disched, feb. 28, 59; pvt. co. D, 4 art. ang. 3, 59; corpl. sept. 1, 59; sergt. june 4, 61; 24; and 14; 3 art. nov. 29, 61, acc. dec. 3, 61; capt. bvt. june 27, 62, "for gd. and mer. ser. in the battle of Gaines' Mill, Va."; maj. bvt. dec. 13, 62, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Fredericksburg, Va."; capt. 3 art. dec. 20, 72.
- 38. GRAVES, WILLIAM P., Mar. 25, 73, 2nd Artillery. [Born in D.C.; apptd. from Ky.]-2 lt. 2 art. mar. 24, 62, acc. may 5, 62; 1 lt. byt. july 1, 62. "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Malvern Hill, Va."; capt. byt. aug. 29, 62, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Manassas, Va."; 1 lt. 2 art. aug. 1, 63; maj. byt. nov. 29, 63, "for gal. and mer. ser. dur. the defence of Fort Saunders, Tenn."; capt. 2 art. aug. 25, 73.
- 39. BANCROFT, EUGENE A., Apr. 26, 73, 4th Artillery. [Born in Mass.; apptd. from Mass.]— Pvt. Steel's co., Sturgis rif. 1ll. vol. june 15, 61; disched. nov. 9, 61; 2 lt. 4 act. oct. 24, 61, acc. nov. 9, 61; 1 lt. bvt. june 25, 62; "for gal. and mer. ser. in action near Fair Oaks, Va."; 1 lt. 4 art. dec. 13, 62; capt. bvt. july 3, 63, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Gettysburg, Pa."; regtl. qm. 4 art. july 12, 65, to apr. 26, 73; capt. 15 inf. jan. 22, 67, declined; capt. 4 art. apr. 26, 73.
- 40. FIELD, EDWARD, Apr. 29, 73, 4th Artillery. [Born in N. J.; apptd. from N. J.]— 2 It. I N. J. cav. ang. 15, 61; must. out feb. 28, 62, paid to mar. 1, 62; 2 It. 4 art. feb. 19, 62, acc. mar. 10, 62; 1 It. bvt. june 30, 62, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of White Oak Swamp, Va."; 1 It. 4 art. aug. 11, 63; capt. bvt. may 12, 64, "for gal. and mer. ser. in action at Meadow Bridge, Va."; capt. 4 art. apr. 29, 73.

 BRECKINRIDGE, JOSEPH C., June 17, 74, 2nd Artillery. [Born in Md.; apptd. from Ky.]-

14. a. d. e. aug. 30, 61, to june 5, 62 [act june 20, 74]; 2 lt. 2 art. apr. 14, 62, ace. june 5, 62; 1 lt. aug. 1, 63; capt. bvt. july 22, 64, "for gal. and mer. scr. in battle in front of Atlanta, Ga."; maj. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. scr. dur. the war"; capt. 2 art. june 17, 74.

- 42. WILSON, JAMES E., July 24, 74, 2nd Artillery. [Born in D. C. ; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet sept. 1, 58; 2/h. 5 art. june 17, 62; trs. to 2 art. oct. 6, 62; 1/h. oct. 1, 63; regtl. qm. dec. 10, 63, to apr. 2, 66; capt. 38 mf. july 28, 66, declined; capt. 2 art. july 24, 74.
- 43. EAKIN, CHANDLER P., Oct. 1, 74, 1st Artillery. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Pa.]— Pvt. Montgomery's co., Commonwealth art. Pa. vol. apr. 24, 61; dischgd. june 25, 61; 2 lt. 1 art. aug. 5, 61, acc. aug. 15, 61; 1 lt. oct. 26, 61; capt. bvt. may 5, 62; "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Williamsburg, Va."; maj. bvt. july 3, 63, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Gettysburg, Pa."; capt. 42 int. july 28, 66, declined; capt. 1 art. oct. 1, 74.
- 44. BRINCKLÉ, JOHN R., Oct. 7, 74, 5th Artillery. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Del.]--2 lt. 5 art. may 14, 61, acc. june 22, 61; t lt. sept. 18, 62; capt. bvt. apr. 6, 65, "for gal. and mer. scr. in the battle of Sailor's Creek, Va.": maj. bvt. apr. 9, 65, "for gal. and mer. scr. in the campaign terminating with the surrender of the insurgent forces under Gen. R. E. Lee"; capt. 5 art. oct. 7, 74.
- 45. WEHR, GULLAN V., Nov. 10, 74, 5th Artillery. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from At Fge.]— Pvt. co. B. 7 N. Y. s. ni, apr. 26, 61; disebgd. june 3, 61; 24, 5 art. may 14, 61, acc. july 12, 61; 14; bvt. july 1, 62, "for gal, and mer. ser. dur, the Peninsular campaign in Virginia"; 14, 5 art. oct. 8, 62; capt. bvt. dec. 13, 62, "for gal, and mer. ser. in the battle of Fredericksburg, Va."; capt. 39 hf. july 28, 66, dcclined; regtl, adj't 5 art. apr. 1, 67, to dec. 1, 67; capt. 5 art. nov. 10, 74.
- 46. SANGER, JOSEPH P., Feb. 7, 75, 1st Artillery. [Born in Mich.; apptd. from Mich.]--24, 1 Mich. vol. may 1, 61; must. out aug. 7, 61; 24, 1 aut. aug. 5, 64, acc. aug. 26, 61; 14, cot. 26, 61; capt. byt. may 28, 64, "for gal, and mer. ser, in action at Bermuda Hundred, Va."; maj. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal, and mer. ser, in the battle of Fussell's Mills, Va., aug. 16, 64"; regtl. adj't 1 art. jan. 31, 66, to feb. 13, 68; capt. 7 cav. july 28, 66, declined; capt. 1 art. feb. 7, 75.
- 47. VAN REED, WILLIAM E., Mar. 1, 75, 5th Artillery. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Pa.]— Corpl. co. II, 5 Pa. vol. apr. 20, 61; 2 lt. 5 art. may 14, 61, acc. june 22, 61; 1 lt. july 2, 63; capt. bvt. aug. 18, 64, "for gal. ser. dur. the operations on the Weldon R. R., Va."; capt. 5 art. mar. 1, 75.
- 48. CALEF, JOHN H., Mar. 16, 75, 2nd Artillery. [Born in Mass.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 58; 24, 5 art. june 17, 62; trs. to 2 art. oct. 6, 62; 14, nov. 4, 63; capt. bvt. july 6, 64, "for gallantry and good cond, in the battle of Gettysburg and in the campaign from the Rapidan to Petersburg, Va."; regtl. adj't 2 art. nov. 6, 64, to mar. 16, 75; maj. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for good cond, and gal. ser. dur. the war"; capt. 10 cav. june 12, 67, derlined; capt. 2 art. mar. 16, 75.
- 49. MACCONNELL, CHARLES C., May 1, 75, 5th Artillery. [Born in Pa.; appld. from Pa.]-2 lt. 5 art. may 14, 61, acc. july 15, 61; 1 lt. bvt. june 27, 62, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the Peninsular campaign in Va."; capt. bvt. july 2, 63, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Gettysburg, Pa." lt. 5 art. aug. 1, 63; maj. bvt. mar. 25, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. dur. the attack on Fort Steedman, Va."; capt. 5 art. may 1, 75.
- 50. BARSTOW, GEORGE F., Dec. 20, 75, 3rd Artillery. [Born in Mass.; apptd. from Mass.]— 2 It. and 1 H. 3 art. nov. 30, 61, acc. dec. 9, 61; capt. bvt. july 3, 63, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Gettysburg, Pa."; maj. bvt. ang 25, 64, "for gal. and mer. ser. in action at Kearneysville, Va."; capt. 3 art. dec. 20, 75.
- 51. BECK, WILLIAM B., Oct. 30, 76, 5th Artillery. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Pa.]— 1 It. 11 Pa. vol. apr. 24, 61; 2 It. 5 art. may 14, 61, acc. june 27, 61; 1 It. bvt. may 10, 64, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle near the crossing of the Po River, Va."; capt. bvt. oct. 27, 64, for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle on the Boydton Plank Road, Va."; 1 It. 5 art. jan. 26, 65; maj. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. dur. the siege of Petersburg, Va."; It. col. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. dur. the war"; regtl. qm. 5 art. oct. 1, 67, to oct. 30, 76; capt. 5 art. oct. 30, 76.
- 52. WARD, THOMAS, Nov. 1, 76, 1st Artillery. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 59; 2 lt. 1 art. june 11, 63; 1 lt. bvt. june 3, 64, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Cold Harbor, Va."; 1 lt. 1 art. july 18, 64; capt. bvt. mar 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. dur. the war"; capt. 1 art. nov. 1, 76.

- 53. MORRIS. ARTHUR, Jan. 10, 77, 4th Artillery. [Born in Va.; apptd. from At Fge.]— 24, 4 art. mar. 24, 62, acc. mar. 27, 62; 14f. bvt. june 30, 62 "ror gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of White Oak Swamp, Va."; capt. bvt. sept. 17, 62, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Antietam, Md."; 14f. 4 art. nov. 12, 63; capt. jan. 10, 77.
- TIERNON, JOHN L., July 2, 77. 3rd Artillery. [Born in Ind.; apptd. from Mo.]— 2 lt. 3 art. feb. 19, 62, acc. june 20, 62; 1 lt. jan. 20, 64; capt. july 2, 77.
- 55. LANCASTER, JAMES M., Mar. 20, 79, 3rd Artillery. [Born in Ky.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 57; 241, 3 art, june 17, 62; 14t, june 24, 64; capt. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for good cond. and gal. ser. dur. the war"; regth. adj't 3 art. mar. 26, 67, to sept. 24, 67; capt. 3 art. mar. 29, 79.
- 56. SMITH, LEWIS, Apr. 10, 79, 3rd Artillery. [Born in Ireland: apptd. from Army.] Pert. co. 6.3 art. july 1, 51; corpl. ——; Sergt. mar. 15, 54; sorgt. maj.3 art. mpr. 1, 56; disclight.may 1, 56; sorgt. maj. 3 art. may 1, 56; disclight.may 1, 61; sorgt. maj.3 art. may 1, 61; 24; 3 art. oct. 22, 62, acc. oct. 27, 62; regtl. qm. oct. 27, 62; to feb. 1, 73; 14; dec. 30, 64; eapt. apr. 10, 79.
- 57. WHITE, JOHN C., July 18, 79, 1st Artillery. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from Army.]— Pyt. co. A, 17 Pa. vol. apr. 18, 61; dischad. aug. 2, 61; pyt. co. B, 1 batt. 11 inf. may 8, 63; corpl. oct. 23, 63; sergt. jan. 1, 64; 24t. 10 inf. may 18, 64, acc. june 10, 64; 14t. byt. june 18, 64, "forgal, and mer. ser, in front of Petersburg, Va."; cupt. byt. aug. 19, 64; "forgal, and mer. ser, in the battle on the Weldon R. R., Va."; 14t. 10 inf. sept. 13, 64; unassd. may 19, 69; assd. to 1 art, jan. 1, 71; cupt. july 18, 79.
- 58. RODER, JOHN W., Aug 25, 79, 4th Artillery. [Born in Mo.; apptd. from Army.]— Pyt. co. H. 2 art. mar. 50, 55; corpl. mar. 1, 56; sergt. may 20, 58; 1 sergt. june 1, 58; discbgd. feb. 1, 60; 1 sergt. co. H. 2 art. feb. 1, 60; bvt. 2 ft. 2 art. oct. 22, 62; acc. nov. 18, 62; 2 ft. 4 art. dec. 13, 62; 1 ft. july 11, 64; capt. bvt. oct 27, 64; "for diss. ser. in the battle of Boydton Plank Road, Va."; regtl. adj't tart. mar. 7, 65; to aug. 25, 79; maj. bvt. apr. 6, 65; "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Sailor's Creek, Va."; capt. 17 inf. july 28, 66; declined; capt. 4 art. aug. 25, 79.
- 59. INGALLS, JAMES M., July I, 80, 1st Artillery. [Form in Vt.; apptd. from Army.]— Pyt. co. A, 2 batt. 16 inf. jan. 2, 64; corpl. apt. I, 64; com. sergt. 16 inf. sept. 1, 64; qm. sergt. 16 inf. mar. 1, 65; 2 lt. and 1 k. 16 inf. may 3, 65, acc. may 21, 65; qm. 1 batt. june 4, 65, to sept. 21, 66; trs. to 2 inf. apr. 17, 69; trs. to 1 art. jan. 1, 71; capt. july 1, 80.
- 60. CHESTER, JAMES, Sept. 20, 80, 3rd Artillery. [Form in Scotl'd: apptd. from Army.]— Pet. co. E, 1 art. dec. 1, 54; corpl. july 1, 55; aergt. may 29, 56; 1 sergt. oct. 1, 57; dischgd. oct. 1, 59; 1 sergt. co. E, 1 art. oct. 1, 59; sergt. nov. 3, 59; 1 sergt. jan. 15, 62; byt. 24; 1, 1 feb. 19, 63, and 24; 3 art. apr. 17, 63, acc. apr. 18, 63; 14; byt. july 3, 63; "for gal, and mer. ser, in the Gettysburg campaign"; capt. byt. ang. 25, 64; "for gal, and mer. ser, in action at Kearneysville, Va."; 14; 3 art. jan. 14, 65; capt. sept. 20, 80.

First Licutenants.

- MCGHLVRAY, JOHN, May 6, 64, 2nd Artillery. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from Army.]— Pvt. co. K, 2 art, june 20, 53; corpl. fcb. 3, 55; sergt. nov. 1, 55; 1 sergt. may 1, 56; dischgd. june 20, 58; pvt. co. G, 4 art. oct. 5, 58; corpl. mar. 1, 62; sergt. nov. 1, 62; sergt. maj.4 art. jan. 26, 63; bvt. 2 lt. 4 art. fcb. 19, 63; acc. mar. 28, 63; 2 lt. 2 art. apr. 27, 63; 11t. may 6, 64; capt. bvt. sept. 22, 64; "for gal, and mer. set, in the battle of Fisher's Hill, Va."; regtl. qm 2 art. mar. 20, 77.
- CRABB, GEORGE W., Feb. 22, 65, 5th Artillery. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Pa.]— Pyt. co. 1, 2 Pa. vol. apr. 20, 61; dischgd. july 2, 61; 24, 5 art. may 14, 61, acc. july 2, 61; 14, byt. sept. 17, 62, "for gal, and mer. ser, in the battle of Antictam, Md."; 14, 5 art. feb. 22, 65; capt. byt. apr. 2, 65, "for gal, and mer. ser, dur. the siege of Petersburg, Va."
- HOWELL, REZIN G., Mar. 1, 65, 2nd Artillery. [Born in Ky.; apptd. from M. Λ.]-Cadet july 1, 60; 2 lt. 2 art. june 13, 64; 1 lt. mar. 1, 65.
- VOSE, WILLIAM P., Mar. 8, 65, 2nd Artillery. [Both in Me.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 60; 2 lt. 2 art, june 13, 64; 1 lt. mar. 8, 65; capt. bvt. mar. 29, 65, "for gal. and mer. scr. in the siege of Petersburg, Va."
- 5. ANDRUSS, E. VAN ARSDALE, May 10, 65, 1st Artillery. [Born in N. J.; apptd. from M. A.]-

Cadet júly 1, 60; 2 lt. 1 art. june 13, 64; 1 lt. byt. apr. 2, 65, ""for gal, and mer, ser, in the capture of Petersburg, Va."; capt. byt. apr. 9, 65, "for gal, and mer, ser, in the campaign ending with the surrender of the rebel army of Northern Virginia"; 1 lt. 1 art, may 10, 65. First Lieutenants-Continued.

- STORY, JOHN P., June 23, 65, 4th Artillery. [Born in Wis.; apptd. from M. A.]--Cadet july 1, 61; 24, and 14t, 16 inf, june 23, 65; trs. to 34 inf. sept. 21, 66; (massd. apr. 14, 66); assd. to 2 art. dec. 15, 76; trs. to 4 art. jun. 1, 71.
- GREENOUGH, GEORGE G., June 23, 65, 4th Artillery. [Born in D. C.; apptd. from M. A.]—

Cadet july 1, 61; 2 lt. and 1 lt. 12 inf. june 23, 65; tvs. to 21 inf. sept. 24, 66; unassd. apr. 19, 69; assd. to 4 art. dec. 15, 70.

- MORRIS, CHARLES, June 23, 65, 5th Artillery. [Born in Mass.; appfd. from M. A.]— Cadet sept. 1, 61; 2 lt. and 1 lt. 19 inf. june 23, 65; adj't 3 batt. mar. 28, 66, to sept. 21, 66; trs. to 37 inf. sept. 21, 66; regth. adj't. dec. 14, 66, to oct. 31, 68; trs. to 5 inf. may 19, 69; regth. qm. aug. 10, 69; to june 10, 70; regth. adj't june 10, 70, to dec. 15, 70; trs. to 5 art. dec. 15, 70.
- FESSENDEN, JOSHUA A., Nov. 30, 65, 5th Artillery. [Born in Me.; apptd. from Me.]— Sergf. co. B, 1 Me. cav. sept. 18, 61; 2 lt. 1 cav. mar. 24, 62, acc. apr. 1, 62; resgd. ang. 6, 62; 2 lt. 5 art. sept. 6, 62; acc. sept. 13, 62; 1 lt. bvt. dec. 31, 62, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Stone River, Tenn."; capt. bvt. sept. 20, 63, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Chickamanga, Ga."; 1 lt. 5 art. nov. 30, 65.
- FUGER, FREDERICK, Dec 21, 65, 4th Artillery. [Born in Germ'y; apptd. from Army,]--Pvt. co. A, 4 art. aug. 21, 56; corpl. aug. 1, 59; dischgd. july 21, 61; corpl. co. A, 4 art. july 21, 61; sergt. nov. 6, 61; 1 sergt. july 16, 62; 21t. 4 art. ort. 31, 63, acc. nov. 9, 63; 14: bvt. may 11, 64, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Yellow Tavern, Va."; capt. bvt. mar. 31, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Dinwiddle C. H., Va."; 11t. 4 art. dec. 21, 65; regtl. (m. aug. 1, 75.
- 11. HESS, FRANK W., Feb. 23, 66, 3rd Artillery. [Born in Pa.; appid. from Pa.]— Capt. 15 Pa. vol. apr. 23, 61; must. out ang. 7, 61; 1 lt. 3 Pa. cav. nov. 14, 61; capt. july 8, 62; maj. oct. 31, 64; must. out ang. 7, 65, paid to ang. 14, 65; 2 lt. and 1 lt. 11 inf. feb. 23, 66, acc. apr. 21, 66; trs. to 29 inf. sept. 21, 66; trs. to 11 inf. apr. 25, 69; trs. to 3 art. dec. 15, 70.
- 12. MACMURRAY, JUNIUS W., Mar. 20, 66, 1st Artillery. [Born in Mo.; apptd. from Mo.]— 2 It. 1 Mo. vol. may 9, 61; 21t. 1 Mo. 1. art. june 10, 61; 11 It. sept. 1, 61; capt. nov. 1, 63; maj. vol. bvt. and 1t. col. vol. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. dur. the war"; capt. 2 Mo. 1. art. july 24, 65; must. out nov. 20, 65; 2 It. 1 art. feb. 23, 66, and 1 It. mar. 20, 66, acc. apr. 7, 66; capt. bvt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the siege of Corinth, Miss."; maj. bvt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the siege of Vicksburg, Miss."
- 13. MILLS, SAMUEL M., June 23, 65, 5th Artillery. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 61; 2 lt. and 1 lt. 19 int. june 23, 65; adj't 2 bart. may 1, 66; to sept. 21, 66; trs. to 28 inf. sept. 21, 66; regtl. adj't nov. 30, 66, to mar. 31, 69; trs. to 19 inf. mar. 31, 69; regtl. adj't apr. 12, 69, to may 10, 70; trs. to 5 art. may 10, 70, taking rank from apr. 3, 66.
- DILLENBACK, JOHN W., May 1, 66, 1st Artillery. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from N. Y.]— Pvt. co. G, 10 N. Y. h. art. ang. 7, 62; corpl. sept. 11, 62; pvt. may 26, 63; dischad. ang. 21, 63; capt. 4 U. S. e. t. sept. 15, 63; maj. vol. bvt. and 1t. col. vol. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. during the war"; must. out apr. 11, 66; 2 lt. 1 art. feb. 23, 66, acc. apr. 12, 66; 1 lt. may 1, 66; regl. qm. mar. 1, 75.
- 15. ENNIS, WILLIAM, May 8, 66, 4th Artillery. [Born in R. I.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 60; 2 lt. 4 art. june 13, 64; 1 lt. bvt. nov. 30, 64, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Franklin, Tenn."; capt. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. ser. at Nashville, Tenn., dec. 15 and 16, 64"; 1 lt. 4 art. may 8, 66.
- ROBINSON, FREDERICK, July 28, 66, 5th Artillery. [Born in Ireland; apptd. from Army]—

Pvt. co. A, 4 art. sept. 19, 49; *dischgd.* sept. 19, 54; pvt. det. drag. at M. A. aug. 18, 58; trs. to co. D, 5 art. —, 61; corpl. july 1, 61; sergt. dec. 1, 61; 2 lt. 5 art. oct. 30, 62, acc. nov. 11, 62; 1 lt. bvt. june 3, 64, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Cold Harbor, Va."; capt. bvt. oct. 19, 64, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Cedar Creek, Va."; 1 lt. 5 art. july 28, 66.

- DAY, SELDEN A., July 28, 66, 5th Artillery. [Born in Ohio; apptd. from Army.]— Pvt. co. C, 7 Ohio vol. june 20, 61; corpl. nov. 20, 61; sergt. mar. 24, 62; dischgd. feb. 4, 63; hosp. stwd. U. S. A. feb. 4, 63; 24t. 5 art. apr. 7, 64, acc. may 24, 64; 14t. bvt. june 3, 64, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Cold Harbor, Va.": capt. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. dur. the war"; 14t. 5 art. july 28, 66.
- 18. BURBANK, JAMES B., July 28, 66, 3rd Artillery. [Born in Conn.; apptd. from Army.]— 1 ft. 20 Conn. vol. nov. 24, 62; capt. jnne 4, 63; resgd. dec. 17, 63; pvt. co. —, 3 art. may 14, 64; sergt. maj. 3 art. may 19, 64; 2 lt. 3 art. mar. 12, 65, acc. mar. 31, 65; 1 lt. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. dur. the war"; maj. vol. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. cond. in the battle of Chancellorsville, Va."; 1 lt. 3 art. july 28, 66.

First Lieutenants-Continued.

- MAURICE, THOMAS D., July 28, 66, 2nd Artillery. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from Mo.]— Capt. 1 Mo. vol. apr. 23, 61; maj. 1 Mo. l. art. jan. 1, 63; must. out july 29, 65; 2 lt. 2 art. feb. 23, 66, acc. apr. 10, 66; 1 lt. july 28, 66.
- 20. MOUNT, JOHN F., July 28, 66, 3rd Artillery. [Born in N.Y.; apptd. from N.Y.]-byt. mar. 2, 67, "for mer. ser. dur. the war.
- 21. STRONG, RICHARD P., May I, 66, 4th Artillery. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from N. Y.]-Pyt. co. II, 71 N. Y. s. m. apr. 20, 61; dischgd. july 30, 61; 2 lt, 139 N. Y. vol. sept. 9, 62; 1 It sig, corps mar. 3, 63, acc. june 19, 63; maj, vol. byt, and col. vol. byt, mar. 13, 65, "for faith, and mer. ser."; *must, out* apr. 19, 66, paid to may 26, 66; 240, 7 inf, feb, 23, 66, and 1 It, may 1, 66, acc, may 26, 66; capt, byt, mar. 2, 67, "for gal, and mer. ser. in the capture of Fort Blakely, Ala."; unassd. may 19, 69; assd. to 25 inf. july 14, 69; trs. to 4 art. sept. 20, 69, taking rank from july 28, 66.
- SHAW, RICHARD G., July 28, 66, 1st Artillery. [Born in R. I.; apptd. from R. I.]— Capt. 3 R. 1. art. oct. 9, 61; must. out jan. 13, 64; maj. 14 R. 1. colored h. art. (11 U. S. c. t.) jan. 31, 64; must. out oct. 2, 65, paid to oct. 25, 65; 2 R. 1 art. mar. 27, 66, acc. may 4, 66; 1 lt. july 28, 66; capt. byt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. on Morris Island, S. C.
- ROEMER, PAUL, Aug. 13, 66, 5th Artillery. [Born in Germ'y: apptd. from Army.]— Pvt. gen. ser. aug. 23, 58; corpl. sept. 24, 59; sergt. aug. 10, 60; trs. to co. C, 5 art. oct. 20, 61; 1 sergt. feb. 1, 62; dischad. aug. 10, 63; pvt. 5 art. aug. 10, 63; 1 sergt. co. C, 5 art. july 21, 64; 2 lt. 5 art. apr. 8, 65, acc. apr. 27, 65; 1 lt. aug. 13, 66.
- ZALINSKI, EDMUND L., Jan. 1, 67, 5th Artillery. [Born in Poland; apptd. from N.Y.]-24, 2 N. Y. art. feb. 23, 65; must. out sept. 29, 65, paid to oct. 9, 65; 24, 5 art. feb. 23, 66, acc. apr. 9, 66; 1 lt. jan. 1, 67.
- 26. WOLDER, WILLIAM A., R., Feb. 2, 67, 3rd Artillery. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from N. Y.]— Pyt. co. K, 7 N. Y. s. m. june 5, 62; dischold, sept. 5, 62; pyt. co. G, 178 N. Y. vol. may 29, 63; dischold, oct. 18, 63; 14, 178 N. Y. vol. oct. 18, 63; maj. vol. byt. and It. col. vol. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for dis. and faith, ser. throughout the war"; capt. 178 N. Y. vol. ang, 2, 65; must, outmar. 1, 66; 21t, 19 inf, mar. 17, 66, acc. may 5, 66; trs. to 37 inf, sept. 21, 66; 11t, feb. 2, 67; capt. byt. mar. 2, 67, ''for gal. and mer. ser, in the battle of Nashville, Tenn.''; maj. byt. mar. 2, 67, ''for gal. and mer. ser, in the capture of Fort Blakely, Ala.''; regtl. adj't 37 inf. oct. 31, 68, to aug. 11, 69; trs. to 3 inf. aug. 11, 69; regth adj't aug. 11, 69, to feb. 5, 72; trs. to 3 art. feb. 5, 72; regth adj't may 1, 73, to oct. 10, 77.
- 26. DUNWOODY, HENRY H. C., Feb. 5, 67, 4th Artillery. [Born in Ohio; apptd. from M. A.]-
 - Cadet sept. 1, 62; 2 lt. 4 art. june 18, 66; 1 lt. feb. 5, 67.
- 27. CRAIG, ROBERT, Feb. 5, 67, 4th Artillery. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from M.A.]-Cadet july 1, 62; 2 lt. 4 art. june 18, 66; 1 lt. feb. 5, 67.
- ROBERTS, BENJAMIN K., Feb. 7, 67, 5th Artillery. [Born in Teun.; apptd. from Conn.]-2 lt. 7 Iowa cav. july 25, 63; capt. a, a. g. vol. nov. 12, 64, acc. dec. 23, 64; maj. vol. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith, and mer. ser. dur. the war"; must. out july 1, 66; 2 lt. 5 art. apr. 18, 66, acc. july 2, 66; 1 lt. feb. 7, 67.
- 29. RUSSELL, EDMUND K., Feb. 21, 67, 1st Artillery. [Born in N.Y.; apptd. from N.Y.] 24. 67 N. Y. vol. june 24, 61; 14, area, 14, 62; capt. may 3, 63; maj. "ol. bvt. dec. 2, 64, "for faith, and mer. ser, in the line of his duty"; maj. 65 N. Y. vol. june 24, 65; *must. out* july 17, 65, paid to july 26, 65; 24t. 1 art. may 11, 66, acc. aug. 2, 66; 14t. feb. 24, 67.
- KNOWER, EDWARD C., Mar. 25, 67, 3rd Attillery. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from N. Y.] 24, 4 N. Y. art. feb. 3, 62; 14, july 11, 62; eapl. nov. 20, 63; must. out sept. 3, 64; eapt. yet. res. corps dec. 3, 64, acc. dec. 17, 64; must. out dec. 31, 66; 24t. 45 inf, july 28, 66, acc. jan. 1, 67; 1 lt. byt. and capt. byt. mar. 2, 67; "for gal. and mer. ser. in front of Peters-burg, july 18, 64"; 1 lt. 45 inf. mar. 25, 67; unassd. july 22, 69, assd. to 3 art. dec. 15, 70.
- O'HARA, JAMES, Mar. 26, 67, 3rd Artillery. [Born in Ireland: apptd. from M. A.]-Cadet july 1, 62; 2 lt. 3 art. june 18, 66; 1 lt. mar. 26, 67.
- 32. O'BRIEN, MICHAEL, Apr. 15, 67, 4th Artillery. [Born in Ireland; apptd. from Army.]-Pvt. ord. dept. july 11, 59; artf. jan. 1, 60; armorer nov. 1, 60; hosp. stwd. U. S. A. may 16, 62; 2 lt. 1 art. may 18, 64, acc. june 5, 64; 1 lt. nov. 30, 64; resgd. feb. 12, 67; 1 lt. 1 art. apr. 15, 67, acc. apr. 26, 67; *hon. must. out* jan. 1, 71 [sec. 12 act july 15, 70], paid to jan. 13, 71; 1 lt. 4 art. sept. 1, 79, with rank from apr. 15, 67 [act feb. 25, 79], acc. sept. 6, 79.
- VOGDES, ANTHONY W., May 15, 67, 5th Artillery. [Bornin N. Y.; apptd. from N. Y.]-2 It. 100 N. Y. vol. ang. 13, 63; 1 lt. mar. 19, 64; *must. out* ang. 28, 65, paid to sept. 10, 65; 2 lt. 4 inf. apr. 26, 66; acc. may 28, 66; 1 lt. may 15, 67; trs. to 5 art. may 22, 75.

First Licutenants-Continued.

- THORP, FRANK, June 6, 67, 5th Artillery. [Born in Me.; apptd. from Me.]... 2 It. 28 Me. vol. oct. 14, 62; must. out aug. 31, 63; 2 It. 1 Me. I. art. dec. 30, 63; must. out june 21, 65; 2 It. 5 art. may 11, 66, acc. acc. 44, 66; 1 It. june 6, 67; regtl. qm. nov. 22, 76.
- 35. CHAMBERLIN, LOWELL A., Aug. 28, 67, 1st Artillery. [Born in Mass.; apptd. from Mass.]—

10.085 June 2018 June 2

- 36. HILLS, ELBRIDGE R., Sept 28, 67, 5th Artillery. [Born in Ohio; apptd. from M. A.]-Cadet july 1, 62; 2 lt. 5 art. june 18, 66; 1 H. sept. 28, 67; regtl. adj't sept. 1, 70.
- 37. GRUGAN, FRANK C., Nov. 1, 67, 2nd Artillery. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Pa.]— Pvt. Commonwealth Pa. h. art. june 4, 61; dischgd. aug. 5, 61; 2 lt. 114 Pa. vol. aug. 11, 62; 1 lt. sopt. 1, 63; 1 lt. 3 Pa. cav. dec. 19, 61; must. out aug. 7, 65, paid to aug. 14, 65; pvt. gen. ser. aug. 18, 65; dischgd. may 15, 66; 2 lt. 2 cav. apr. 25, 66, acc. may 16, 66; regtl. qm. nov. 1, 67, 16 july 15, 70; 1 lt. nov 1, 67; trs. to 2 art. apr. 11, 79, taking rank from nov. 1, 67.
- THURSTON, GEORGE A., Feb. 15, 68, 3rd Artillery. [Born in N. Y. ; apptd. from Nev.]— 1 R. 1 Nev. vol. apr. 10, 64; capt. june 28, 64; must. out dec. 15, 65; 2 R. 4 cav. mar. 7, 67, acc. may 28, 67; 1 R. feb. 15, 68; trs. to 3 art. jan. 13, 74.
- CHASE, CONSTANTINE, Mar. 26, 68, 3rd Artillery. [Born in Mass.; apptd. from Mass.]—

2 lt. 3 Mass. art. sept. 9, 63; 1 lt. oct. 15, 64; capt. vol. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith, and mer. ser. dur. the war"; *must. out* sept. 18, 65, paid to sept. 28, 65; 2 lt. 1 art. may 11, 66, acc. aug. 6, 66; trs. to 3 art sept. 28, 66; 1 lt. bvt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. dur. the war"; 1 lt. 3 art. mar. 26, 68.

- 40. MTTCHELL, GEORGE, June 10, 68, 2nd Artillery. [Born in Ireland; apptd. from Conn.]— 1 It. 57 N. Y. vol. nov. 1, 62; must. out nov. 1, 64; maj. vol. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith. sor."; It. col. vol. bvt. mar. 13, 65; "for gal. and mer. ser. dur. the war"; 1 It. 7 U. S. vet. vol. june 9, 65; capt. sept. 27, 65; must. out apr. 24, 66; 2 It. 13 inf. apr. 30, 66, acc. may 26, 66; trs. to 31 inf. sept. 21, 66; 1 It. june 10, 68; unassd. may 15, 69; assd. to 2 art. dec. 15, 70; regil. adj't may 21, 75, to mar. 24, 77.
- 41. SCANTLING, JOHN C., July I, 68, 2nd Artillery. [Born in Ind.; apptd. from Ind.]--Corpl. co. K, 9 Ind. vol. apr. 24, 61, dischgd. july 29, 61; pvt. co. A, 2 batt. 17 inf. jan. 1, 62; 1 sergt. july 25, 62; dischgd. dec. 31, 64; capt. 157 Ind. vol. apr. 3, 65; mais. 155 Ind. vol. apr. 20, 65; maist. out ang. 4, 65, prid to ang. 20, 65; 2 lt. 15 inf. may 11, 66; acc. sept. 6, 66; trs. to 33 inf. sept. 21, 66; 1 lt. july 1, 68; unassd. may 3, 69; assd. to 2 art. jan. 1, 71.
- 42. GRIMES, GEORGE S., July 20, 68, 2nd Artillery. [Born in Engl'd; appld, from N. Y.]— Pvt. co. G. 116 N. Y. vol. ang. 16, 62; sergt. maj. 89 U. S. e. t. dec. 1, 63; trs. to 93 U. S. e. t. ang. 5, 64; 2 It. 81 U. S. e. t. mar. 30, 65; 1 H. jan. 6, 66; must. out nov. 30, 66; 2 It. 39 inf. jun. 22, 67, acc. mar. 23, 67; 1 It. july 20, 68; trs. to 25 inf. apr. 20, 69; unassd. july 13, 69; assd. to 2 art. dec. 15, 70.
- 43. TAYLOR, ASHER C., Aug. 25, 68, 2nd Artillery. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from Wis.]—Corpl. co. D, 3 Wis. vol. apr. 25, 61; sergt. dec. 1, 62; sergt. maj. 3 Wis. vol. apr. 12, 63; dischgd dec. 21, 63; sergt. maj. 3 Wis. vet. vol. dec. 21, 63; dischgd. oct. 28, 64; 1 lt. 3 Wis. vet. vol. oct. 20, 64; regtl. adj't apr. 1, 65, to july 18, 65; must. out july 18, 65, paid to ang. 25, 65; 2 lt. 15 inf. oct. 16, 67, acc. oct. 26, 67; 1 lt. ang. 25, 68; unassd. aug. 12, 69; assd. to 2 art. jan. 1, 71.
- 44. REILLY, HENRY J., Sept. 18, 68, 5th Artillery. [Born in Ireland; apptd. from Army.]— Pvt. co. B, 5 art. sept. 22, 64; corpl. nov. 1, 65; sergt. mar. 15, 66; 2 lt. 5 art. dec. 1, 66, acc. dec. 30, 66; 1 lt. sept. 18, 68.
- 45. HARROLD, CHRISTOPHER W., Sept. 21, 68, 3rd Artillery. [Born in N. H.; apptd. from Mass.]—

Pvt. co. B, 17 N. H. vol. nov. 7, 62; sergt. nov. 13,62; dischad. apr. 16, 63; 2 lt. 1 N. H. art. ang. 25, 63; 1 lt. nov. 14, 64; must. out sept. 11, 65; 2 lt. 3 art. nov. 7, 66, acc. nov. 20, 66; 1 lt. sept. 21, 68.

- 46. HUBBARD, EDWARD B., Sept. 30, 68, 2nd Artillery. [Bora in Ohio; apptd. from Ohio.]— Pvt 14 ind. batty. Ohio 1. art. ang 20, 61; disebgd. oct. 17, 61; 2 lt. 2 Ohio cav. oct. 17, 61; 1 lt. july 15, 62; trs. to 25 ind. batty. Ohio 1. art. feb. 17, 63; must. out sept. 12, 64; 2 lt. 32 inf. jan. 22, 67, ace. apr. 11, 67; 1 lt. sept. 30, 68; unassd. apr. 19, 69; assd. to 2 art. jan. 1, 71
- 47. NICHOLS, FREDERIC C., Oct. 19, 68, 1st Artillery. [Born in Canada; apptd. from Mo.]— Capt. 25 Mo. vol. june 20, 61; maj. apr. 25, 62; maj. 1 Mo. eng. feb. 17, 64; must. out nov. 18, 64; maj. 9 U. S. vet. vol. jan. 20, 65; 1t. col. vol. bvt. and col. vol. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. dur. the war"; must. out mar. 31, 66; 2 lt. 14 inf. jan. 22, 67, acc. apr. 26, 67; 1 lt. cot. 19, 68; unassd. july 22, 69; assd. to 1 art. jan. 1, 71.

First Lieutenants-Continued.

- 48. WILLARD, WELLS, Nov. 5, 68, 5th Artillery. [Born in Mass.; apptd. from Mass.]— 1 h. 21 Mass. vol. ang. 5, 61; capt. 34 Mass. vol. oct. 2, 62; must. out june 16, 65, paid to july 5, 65; 2 ft. 19 inf. may 11, 66; acc. ang. 27, 66; trss. to 37 inf. sept. 21, 66; 1 h. bvt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Chantilly, Va."; capt. bvt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Newmarket, Va."; 1 h. 37 inf. nov. 5, 68; unassd. ang. 11, 69; assd. to 5 art. jan. 1, 71.
- 49. CAZIARC, LOUIS V., Nov. 23, 68, 2nd Artillery. [Born in Mass.; apptd. from Mass.]— Sergl. co. 1, 38 Mass. vol. ang. 16, 62; 1 sergt. nov. 2, 62; dischad, apr. 19, 64; 1 It. 89 U: S. e. f. apr. 24, 64; must. out ang. 11, 64; 1 It. 81 U. S. e. f. ang. 30, 64; 1 It. 73 U. S. e. t oct. 12, 64; capt. vol. byt. mar. 26, 65; "for faith, and mer. ser. dur. the campaign against the city of Mobile and its defences"; 1 It. 81 U. S. e. f. ang. 22, 65; must. out sept. 9, 66; 2 It. 11 inf. july 20, 66, acc. sept. 10, 66; 1 It. nov. 23, 68; unassd. apr. 14, 69; assd. to 2 art. jan. 1, 71.
- KILBOFRNE, CHARLES E., Dec. 3, 68, 2nd Artillery. [Born in Ohio; apptd. from M. A.]—
 - Cadet july 1, 62; 2 lt. 2 art. june 18, 66; 1 lt. dec. 3, 68.
- LOMLA, LU164, Mar. 24, 69, 5th Artillery. [Boun in Italy; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet sept. 1, 63; 24t. 5 art. june 17, 67; 14t. mar. 24, 69.
- 52. EASTMAN, JAMES E., May 6, 69, 2nd Artillery. [Born in Mass.; apptd. from M. Δ.]— Cadet july 1, 62; 24t, 2art, june 18, 66; 14t, may 6, 69.
- 53. POTTS, KAMSAY D., Nov. 2, 69, 3rd Artillery. (Born in D. C.; apptd. from D. C.] 241, 3 art. mar. 7, 67, acc. apr. 26, 67; 141, nov. 2, 69.
- STEWART, WILLIAM F., Nov. 19, 69, 4th Artillery. [Born in R. I.: apptd. from Atl'ge.]-24t. 4 art. dec. 1, 66, acc. dec. 29, 66; 14t. nov. 19, 69.
- M1LLER, CROSBY P., Dec. 1, 69, 4th Artillery. [Born in Vt.; apptd. from M. A.]— Corpl. eo. G. 16 Vt. vol. sept. 4, 62; dischgd. mar. 12, 63; cadet july 1, 63; 24t. 4 art. june 17, 67; 14t. dec. 1, 69.
- HUMPHIREYS, CHARLES, Jan. t, 70, 3rd Artillery. [Born in Pa.; apptd from D.C.]— 24t, 1 N. V. att. feb. 14, 65; must. out june 16, 65, paid to june 17, 65; 24t, 3 art. may 9, 67, acc. may 15, 67; 14t, jan. 1, 70.
- MCCLELLAN, JOHN, Jan. 5, 70, 5th Artillery. [Born in III.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet sept. 9, 63; 24t. 5 art, june 47, 67; 14t. jan. 5, 70.
- 58. EATON, JOHN B., Apr. 7, 70, 3rd Artillery. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from N. Y.]— Capt. 27 N. Y. art. dec. 17, 62; maj. vol. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. cond. in action before Petersburg, Va., june 17, 64"; H. col. bvt. apr. 2, 65, "for gal. and mer. cond. in action before Petersburg, Va., june 17, 64"; H. col. bvt. apr. 2, 65, "for gal. and mer. cond. in action before Petersburg, Va., june 17, 64"; H. col. bvt. apr. 2, 65, "for gal. and mer. cond. in action before Petersburg, Va., june 17, 64"; H. col. bvt. apr. 2, 65, "for gal. and mer. cond. 7, 67; 114, bvt. may 27, 67, "for gal. and mer. cond. in action before Petersburg june 17, 64"; capt. bvt. may 27, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. in action before Petersburg apr. 2, 65"; 14, 3 art. apr. 7, 70.
- ROGERS, ROBERT M., Apr. 13, 70, 2nd Artillery. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from M. A.]— Pyt. co. A, 3 W. Va. cav. oct. 19, 61; 24t. 5 W. Va. vol. apr. 8, 62; 14t. 73 Ohio vol. nov. 20, 62; must. out nov. 5, 63; cadet sept. 29, 63; 24t. 2 art. june 17, 67; 14t. apr. 13, 70.
- 60. OSGOOD, HENRY B., Apr. 25, 70, 3rd Artillery. [Born in Me.; apptd. from M. A.]— 2 lt. 27 Me. vol. sept. 30, 62; 1 lt. dec. 15, 62; must. out july 17, 63; cadet sept. 1, 63; 2 lt. 3 art. june 17, 67; 1 lt. apr. 25, 70.
- MERRILL, ABNER H., May I, 70, 1st Artillery. [Born in N. Y.: apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet sept. 1, 62; 24t. 1 art, june 48, 66; 14t. may 1, 70.
- 62. WOOD, OLIVER E., June H. 70, 5th Artillery. [Boru in Conn.; apptd. from M. A.]— Pvt. co. B. 1 Conn. cav. july 20, 62; dischyd. sept. 9, 63; cadet sept. 16, 63; 2 ht. 5 art. june 17, 67; 1 h. june 11, 70.
- 63. WEBSTER, ISAAC T., Jan. I, 71, 1st Artillery. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 62; 24t. 3 art. june 18, 66; frs. to 1 art. sept. 28, 66; 14t. jan. 1, 71.
- 64. MCCALLUM, WILLIAM B., Jan, I. 7b, 5th Artillery. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from M. A.]-Cadet oct. 19, 63; 24t. 5 art. june 17, 67; 14t. jan. 1, 71.
- ADAMS, THOMAS R., Mar. 2, 71, 5th Artillery. [Born in Ky.; apptd. from M. A.]— Uadet sept. 16, 63; 24t, 5 art. june 17, 67; 14t. mar. 2, 71.
- 66. CURRY, JAMES, Apr. 12, 71, 5th Artillery. [Born in Xu.; apptd. from Va.]— Pvt. co. I, 2 art. sept. 1, 49; corpl. june 1, 51; pvt. ang. 28, 51; dischad. sept. 1, 54; pvt. co. E, 2 art. sept. 11, 54; trs. to co. 6, nov. 22, 56; qm. sergt. 2 art. dec. 22, 56; dischad. june 11, 59; qm. sergt. 2 art. july 11, 59; dischad. june 5, 61; capt. com. sub. vol. july 25, 62, acc. july 31, 62; maj. vol. bvt. and 1t. col. vol. bvt. mar. 9, 65, "for long, faith, and ard. ser."; col. com. sub. vol. [act mar. 3, 65] june 23, 65, to oct. 31, 66; must. out mar. 13, 67; 24t. 5 art. june 18, 67, acc. july 20, 67; 14t. apr. 12, 71.

First Lieutenants-Continued.

- 67. JONES, SAMUEL R., Aug. 22, 71, 4th Artillery. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet sept. 1, 62; 2 lt. 4 art. june 17, 67; 1 lt. aug. 22, 71.
- PRATT, SEDGWICK, Sept. 21, 71, 3rd Artillery. [Born in D. C.; apptd. from M. A.]-2 lt. 4 N. Y. art. june 11, 63; must. out sept. 3, 63; cadet sept. 9, 63; 2 lt. 3 art. june 17, 67; 1 lt. sept. 21, 71; regtl. qm. nov. 1, 77, to may 1, 80.
- 69. DAVIS, JOHN M. K., Dec. 23, 71, 1st Artillery. [Born in D. C.; app1d. from M. A.]— Cadet sept. 1, 63; 2 lb. 1 art. june 17, 67; 1 lf. dec. 23, 71; regtl. adj't ang. 17, 77.
- 70. RICHMOND, EPHRAIM T. C., Apr. 1, 72, 2nd Artillery. [Born in Md.; apptd. from M. A.]-
 - Cadet july 1, 63; 2 lt. 2 art. june 17, 67; 1 lt. apr. 1, 72.
- 71. BARBER, THOMAS H., July 10, 72, 1st Artillery. [Born in Engl'd; apptd. from M. A.]-Cadet july 1, 63; 2 lt. 1 art. june 17, 67; 1 lt. july 10, 72.
- 72. HOWE, WALTER, Sept. 1, 72, 4th Artillery. [Born in Ind.; apptd. from M.A.]-Cadet july 1, 63; 2 lt. 4 art. june 17, 67; 1 lt. sept. 1, 72.
- 73. DANES, HENRY C., Dec. 20, 72, 3rd Artillery. [Born in N.Y.; apptd. from M.A.]-Cadet july 1, (2; 2 lt. 3 art. june 17, 67; 1 lt. dec. 20, 72
- 74. LEARY, PETER, JR., Jan. 24, 73, 4th Artillery. [Born in Md.; apptd. from Md.]— 2 lt. Md. ind. l. art. ang. 18, 62; 1 lt. apr. 8, 65; must. out june 17, 65; 2 lt. 4 art. july 2, 67, acc. july 21, 67; 1 lt. jan. 24, 73.
- 75. SCHENCK, ALEXANDER D., Jan. 27, 73, 2nd Artillery. [Born in Ohio; apptd. from M.A.]-

Pvt. co. F, 1 Ohio vol. apr. 17, 61; dischad. aug. 16, 61; sergt. co. B, 2 Ohio vol. aug. 31, 61; dischyd. sept. 18, 63; cadet sept. 29, 63; 2 lt. 2 art. june 17, 67; 1 lt. jan. 27, 73.

- 76. CURTIS, EDWIN S., Feb. 10, 73, 2nd Artillery. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from M. A.]— Pvt. co. D, 48 N. Y. vol. sept. 1, 61; dischgd. sept. 16, 63; cadet sept. 16, 63; 2 lt. 2 art. june 17, 67; 1 lt. feb. 10, 73.
- 77. WAGER, BARNET, Mar. 25, 73, 2nd Artillery. [Born in N.Y.; apptd. from M.A.]-Cadet sept. 1, 63; 2 lt. 2 art. june 17, 67; 1 lt. mar. 25, 73; regtl. qm. apr. 28, 75, to mar. 20.77.
- 78. DAVIS, EDWARD, Apr. 14, 73, 3rd Artillery. [Born in Ky.; apptd. from M. A.]— 2 lt. 5 Ky. cav. sept. 20, 62; *resgd.* nov. 2, 63; cadet oct. 20, 63; 2 lt. 3 art. june 17, 67; 1 lt. byt. june 17, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Chickamauga, Ga."; 1 lt. 3 art. apr. 14, 73; regtl. qm. may 1, 80.
- 79. TAYLOR, SYDNEY W., Apr. 26, 73, 4th Artillery. [Born in D. C.; apptd. from N. Y.]— 2 lt. 4 art. sept. 3, 67, acc. sept. 5, 67; 1 lt. apr. 26, 73.
- EVERETT, WILLIAM, Apr. 26, 73, 4th Artillery. [Born in Me.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 64; 2 lt. 4 art. june 15, 68; 1 lt. apr. 26, 73.
- ANDERSON, HARRY R., Apr. 29, 73, 4th Artillery. [Born in Ohio; apptd. from Ohio.].-Capt. 6 U. S. vol. apr. 28, 65; must. out june 12, 66; 2 lt. 6 inf. mar. 7, 67, acc. may 8, 67; unassd. apr. 22, 69; assd. to 4 art. july 14, 69; 1 lt. apr. 29, 73.
- 82. WOLCOTT, CHRISTOPHER C., May 1, 73, 3rd Artillery. [Born in Ohio; apptd. from M. A.]-
 - Cadet sept. 1, 63; 2 lt. 3 art. june 17, 67; 1 lt. may 1, 73,
- 83. QUINAN, WILLIAM R., May 12, 73, 4th Artillery. [Born in Md.; apptd. from M.A.]-Cadet july 1, 66; 2 lt. 4 art. june 15, 70; 1 lt. may 12, 73.
- 84. CAPRON, ALLYN, Aug. 19, 73, 1st Artillery. [Born in Fla.; apptd. from M. A.]-Cadet sept. 1, 63; 2 lt. 1 art. june 17, 67; 1 lt. aug. 19, 73.
- 85. COTTON, GILBERT P., Sept. 11, 73, 1st Artillery. [Born in Ohio; apptd. from M. A.]-Cadet sept. 16, 63; 2 lt. 1 art. june 17, 67; 1 lt. sept. 11, 73.
- 86. HUBBELL, HENRY W., JR., Nov. 17, 73, 1st Artillery. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from N. Y.)-2 lt. 40 N. Y. vol. dec. 4, 61; must. out oct. 4, 63; 2 lt. 1 art. june 18, 67, acc. july 17, 67;

1 lt. nov. 17, 73.

- 87. CHAPIN, EDWARD S., Nov. 19, 73, 4th Artillery. [Born in Conn.; apptd. from M. A.]-Cadet july 1, 66; 2 lt. 4 art. june 15, 70; 1 lt. nov. 19, 73.
- 88. LUNDEEN, JOHN A., Mar. 7, 74, 4th Artillery. [Born in Sweden; apptd. from M. A.]-Cadet july 1, 69; 2 lt. 4 art. june 13, 73; 1 lt. mar. 7, 74.
- 89. CRAWFORD, MEDOREM, JR., June 17, 74, 2nd Artillery. [Born in Oreg.; apptd. from M. A.]-Cadet july 1, 63; 2 lt. 2 art. june 17, 67; 1 lt. june 17, 74.

152 SERVICE AND LINEAL RANK OF OFFICERS OF ARTILLERY, 1881.

First Lieutenants-Continued.

90. VAN NESS, WILLIAM P., Sept. 1, 74, 1st Artillery. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from Mich.]-

2 It. 1 art. sept. 20, 67, acc. sept. 30, 67; 1 lt. sept. 1, 74.

- 91. PATTERSON, ROBERT H., Oct. 1, 74, 1st Artillery. [Born in D. C. ; apptd. from D. C.]-2 ht. 1 art. sept. 23, 67, acc. sept. 25, 67; 1 ht. oct. 1, 74.
- 92. WHISTLER, GARLAND N., Oct. 7, 74, 5th Artillery. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from N. Y.]-

2 lt. 5 art. oct. 9, 67, acc. oct. 12, 67; 4 lt. oc. 7, 74.

- 93. GIFFORD, JOHN H., Nov. 1, 74, 2nd Artillery. [Born in Ind.; apptd. from M. A.]— Pvt. co. E. 16 Ind. vol. apr. 23, 61; dischgd. may 14, 62; cadet july 1, 63; 2 lt. 2 art. june 17, 67; 1 lt. nov. 1, 74.
- 94. TOTTEN, CHARLES A. L., Nov. 1, 74, 4th Artillery. [Born in Conn.; apptd. from M. A.]--
 - Cadet sept. 1, 69; 2 lt. 4 art. june 13, 73; 1 lt. nov. 1, 74.
- 95. SAWYER, J. ESTCOURT, Nov. 10, 74, 5th Artillery. [Born in D. C.; apptd. from N. J.]-2 ht. 5 art. nov. 11, 67, acc. nov. 12, 67; 1 ht. nov. 10, 74.
- 96. SMITH, SEBREE, Oct. 4, 72, 2nd Artillery. [Born in Mo.; apptd. from M. A.]— Uadet july 4, 66; 24t, 6 cav. june 45, 70; 1/1t. oct. 4, 72; regtl. qm. may 17, 73, to apr. 4, 74; trs. to 2/art, feb. 6, 77, taking runk from nov. 16, 74.
- 97. BEST, CLERMONT L., JR., Feb. 7, 75, 1st Artillery. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from N. Y.]-24t, 1 art. oct. 3, 67, acc. oct. 4, 67; 14t, feb. 7, 75.
- 98. JOHNSON, DAVID D., Mar. 1, 75. 5th Artillery. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 64: 24t. 5 art. june 15, 68; 14t. mar. 1, 75.
- 99. HOWARD, CLARENCE O., Apr. 26, 75, 2nd Artillery. [Born in Mass.; apptd. from M. A.]—
 - Cadet july 1, 64; 2 It. 2 art. june 15, 68; 1 It. apr. 26, 75; regtl. adj't mar. 24, 77.
- 100. WOLFE, NATHANIEL, Apt. 28, 75, 2nd Artillery. [Born in Ky.; apptd. from Ky.]— Sergt. maj. 28 Ky. vol. jan. 3, 62; disclad. apr. 30, 62; 14t. 28 Ky. vol. apr. 30, 62; must. out mar. 5, 64; 24t. 34 inf. jan. 22, 67, acc. apr. 43, 67; unassd. apr. 14, 69; assd. to 2 art. july 4, 69; 14t. apr. 28, 75.
- 10I. BARNETT, UHARLES R., May 1, 75, 5th Artillery. [Born in Mo.; apptd. from M. A.]-Cadet sept. 1, 64; 24t. 5 art. june 15, 68; 14t. may 1, 75.
- 102. CALIFF, JOSEPH M., May 21, 75, 3rd Artillery. (Born in Pa.; apptd. from Pa.]— 21t, 7 U. S. e. t. oct. 8, 63; 14t. mar. 5, 65; capt.vol. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser."; must. out oct. 13, 66, paid to nov. 13, 66; 24t. 3 art. aug. 17, 67, acc. aug. 27, 67; 1 It. may 21, 75.
- 103. REED, HENRY A., May 21, 75, 2nd Artillery, [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from M. A.]— Sergt. co. I, 24 Wis, vol. aug. 14, 62; 1 sergt. may 1, 64; 1 lt. 24 Wis, vol. feb. 19, 65; must. out june 10, 65, paid to june 21, 65; cadet sept. 1, 66; 2 lt. 2 art. june 15, 70; 1 lt. may 21, 75.
- 104. CUMMINS, ALBERT S., May 29, 75, 4th Artillery. [Born in Mich.; apptd. from M. A.]-Cadet sept. 1, 69; 2 lt. 4 art. june 13, 73; 1 lt. may 29, 75.
- 105. GARRARD, JOSEPH, Aug. 1, 75, 4th Artillery. [Born in Ky.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 69; 24: 4 art. june 13, 73; 14t. aug. 1, 75.
- 106. DYER, ALEXANDER B., Aug. 13, 75, 4th Artillery. [Born in N. C.; apptd from M. A.]-Cadet july 1, 69; 2 lt. 4 art. june 13, 73; 1 lt. aug. 13, 75; regtl. adj't sept. 6, 79.
- 107. DUDLEY, EDGAR S., Oct. 29, 75, 2nd Artillery. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from M. A.]— 24, 1 N. Y. Lart, may 28, 64; must. out nov. 28, 64; cadet sept. 1, 66; 24, 2 art. june 15, 70; 11, oct. 29, 75.
- 108. HOBBS, CHARLES W., Dec. 20, 75, 3rd Artillery. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from N. Y.]— 2 lt. 113 N. Y. vol. aug. 19, 62; 1 lt. 7 N. Y. art. july 13, 63; capt. nov. 12, 64; maj. mar. 22, 65; must. out july 3, 65; 2 lt. 3 art. sept. 21, 67, acc. sept. 24, 67; 1 lt. bvt. sept. 21, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Spottsylvania, Va."; capt. bvt. sept. 21, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Cold Harbor, Va."; 1 lt. 3 art. dec. 20, 75.
- 109. HOSKINS, JOHN D. C., Dec. 20, 75, 3rd Artillery. [Born in Mo.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 64; 2 lt. 1 inf. june 15, 68; trs. to 3 art. may 13, 69; 1 lt. dec. 20, 75; regtl. qm. july 3t, 75, to nov. 1, 77; regtl. adj't nov. 1, 77.
- 110. HARRIS, HENRY L., Nov. 1, 76, 1st Artillery. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from M. A.]-Cadet dec. 4, 65; 2 lt. 1 art. june 15, 69; 1 lt. nov. 1, 76.

First Lieutenants-Continued.

- 111. MORTON, ALEXANDER L., Nov. 22, 76, 5th Artillery. [Born in Ky.; apptd. from M. A.]-
 - Cadet july 1, 64; 2 lt. 5 art. june 15, 68; 1 lt. nov. 22, 76.
- 112. DUVALL, WILLIAM P., Apr. 9, 77, 5th Artillery. [Born in Md.; apptd. from M.A.]— Cadet july 1, 65; 24t. 5 art. june 15, 69; 14t. apr. 9, 77.
- 113. PADDOCK, GEORGE H., Apr. 19, 77, 4th Artillery. [Born in Ill.; apptd. from M. A.]-Cadet july 1, 69; 24t. 4 art. june 13, 73; 14t. apr. 19, 77.
- 114. SELLMER, CHARLES, July 2, 77, 3rd Artillery. [Born in Germ'y; apptd. from Me.]-Pvt. co. b. 1 art. nov. 8, 54; corpl. dec. 8, 56; sergt. sept. 1, 57; dischgd. sept. 8, 50; sergt. co. b, 1 art. nov. 8, 54; sorpl. dec. 8, 56; sergt. sept. 1, 57; dischgd. sept. 8, 59; sergt. ang. 20, 61; dischgd. june 30, 63; 1 H. 11 Me. vol. july 1, 63; cant. july 17, 64; H. col. vol. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. dur. the war"; maj. vol. bvt. apr. 2, 65, "for cons. gallantry in the assault on Fort Gregg, Va,"; must. out feb. 9, 66; 2 lt. 2 inf. sept. 2, 67, acc. sept. 17, 67; 1 lt. byt. sept. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the capture of Fort Gregg, Va.": capt. byt. sept. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the bat-tle of Appomattox C. H., Va.": nnassd. apr. 17, 69; assd. to 3 art. july 14, 69; 1 lt. july 2, 77.
- 115. POPE, JOHN, JR., Nov. 22, 77, 1st Artillery. [Born in Ill.; apptd. from M. A.]-Cadet sept. 1, 64; 2 lt. 26 inf. june 15, 68; unassd. may 19, 69; assd. to 1 art. july 14, 69; 1 lt. nov. 22, 77.
- 116. COBB, EDMUND M., June 7, 78, 2nd Artillery. [Born in Mass.; apptd. from M. A.]-Cadet july 1, 66; 2 lt. 8 cav. june 15, 70; trs. to 2 art. oct. 7, 71; 1 lt. june 7, 78.
- 117. MURRAY, ARTHUR, June 14, 78, 1st Artillery. [Born in Mo.; apptd. from M. A.]-Cadet sept. 1, 70; 2 lt. 1 art. june 17, 74; 1 lt. june 14, 78.
- 118. ANDREWS, HENRY M., July 6, 78, 1st Artillery. [Born in N.Y.; apptd. from M.A.]-Cadet july 1, 70; 2 lt. 1 art. june 17, 74; 1 lt. july 6, 78.
- 119. POSTLEY, CLARENCE A., Mar. 20, 79, 3rd Artillery. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from M. A.]-Cadet july 1, 66; 2 lt. 3 art. june 15, 70; 1 lt. mar. 20, 79.
- 120. BIRKHIMER, WILLIAM E., Apr. 10, 79, 3rd Artillery. [Born in Ohio; apptd. from M. A.]-Pvt. co. M. 4 Iowa cav. mar. 21, 64; *dischad.* aug. 8, 65; cadet sept. 1, 66; 2 lt. 3 art. june 15, 70; 1 lt. apr. 10, 79.
- 121. RANDOLPH, BENJAMIN H., Apr. 23, 79, 3rd Artillery, [Born in R. I.; apptd. from M. A.]-

Cadet july 1, 66; 2 lt. 3 art. june 15, 70; 1 lt. apr. 23, 79.

- 122. RICE, FRANK S., July 1, 79, 1st Artillery. [Born in Ohio; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 70; 2 lt. 1 art. june 17, 74; 1 lt. july 1, 79.
- 123. HONEYCUTT, JOHN T., July 18, 79, 1st Artillery. [Born in Miss.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet sept. 1, 70; 2 lt. 1 art. june 17, 74; 1 lt. july 18, 79.
- 124. MACOMB, MONTGOMERY M., Sept. 6, 79, 4th Artillery. [Born in Mich.; apptd. from M. A.]--Cadet sept. 1, 70; 2 lt. 4 art. june 17, 74; 1 lt. sept. 6, 79.
- 125. WILSON, JAMES L., Jan. 1, 80, 4th Artillery. [Born in Va.; apptd. from M. A.]— Pvt. and hug. co. K, 2 W. Va. vol. dec. 1, 62; *dischgd.* dec. 4, 65; cadet july 1, 70; 2 lt. 4 art. june 17, 74; 1 lt. jan. 1, 80.
- 126. WISSER, JOHN P., Jan. 13, 80, 1st Artillery. [Born in Mo.; apptd. from M. A.]-Cadet sept. 1, 70; 2 lt. 1 art. june 17, 74; 1 lt. jan. 13, 80.
- 127. LEMLY, HENRY R., Feb. 23, 80, 3rd Artillery. [Born in N. C.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet sept. 1, 68; 2 lt. 3 cav. june 14, 72; trs. to 3 art. oct. 7, 78; 1 lt feb 23, 80.
- 128. OYSTER, JOSEPH S., May 15, 80, 1st Artillery. [Born in D.C.; apptd. from M.A.]-Cadet july 1, 70; 2 lt. 1 art. june 17, 74; 1 lt. may 15, 80.
- 129. BLISS, TASKER H., July 1, 80, 1st Artillery, [Born in Pa,; apptd. from M. A.]-Cadet sept. 1, 71; 2 lt. 1 art. june 16, 75; 1 lt. july 1, 80.
- 130. MYERS, JOHN E., Sept. 20, 80, 3rd Artillery. [Born in N.Y.; apptd. from M.A.]-Cadet july 1, 69; 2 lt. 3 art. june 13, 73; 1 lt. sept. 20, 80.

Second Lieutenants.

- SAGE, GEORGE E., Sept. 30, 68, 5th Artillery. [Born in N. Y.: apptd. from IR.]— 2 lt. 19 inf. sept. 30, 68, acc. oct. 5, 68; unassd. mar. 13, 69; assd. to 5 art. july 14, 69.
- HOMER, WILLIAM B., June 15, 70, 5th Artillery. [Born in Mass.: apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 66; 2 lt. 5 art. june 15, 70.
- IVES, ROLLIN A., June 15, 70, 5th Artillery. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 66; 24t. 5 art. june 15, 70.
- COFFIN, WILLIAM II., June 13, 73, 5th Artillery. [Born in D. C.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet sept. 1, 69; 24t. 5 art, june 13, 73.
- BROWN, EDWARD T., June 13, 73, 5th Artillery. [Born in Me.; apptd. from M.A.]— Cadet july 1, 69; 24t. 5 art. june 13, 73.
- 6. HARRISON, GEORGE F. E., June 13, 73, 2nd Artillery. [Born in Cal.; apptd. from M. A.]— Orderick interference in the sector in the sector in the sector.
 - Cadet july 1, 69; 2 lt. 2 art. june 13, 73.
- ANDERSON, GEORGE L., June 17, 74, 4th Artillery. [Born in Wis.; apptd. from M. Λ.]— Cadet july 1, 70; 24t, 4 art. june 17, 74.
- DEEMS, CLARENCE, June 17, 74, 4th Artillery. [Born in Va.; apptd. from M. Δ.]— Cadet sept. 1, 70; 24t, 4 art, june 17, 74.
- EDGERTON, WRIGHT P., June 17, 74, 2nd Artillery. [Born in Ohio; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 70; 2 lt. 2 art. june 17, 74.
- NILES, LOTUS, June 16, 75, 2nd Artillery. [Born in Ill.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 4, 70; 2 lt. 2 art. june 16, 75.
- SIMPSON, WILLIAM A., June 16, 75, 2nd Artillery. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from M. Δ.]— Cadet july 4, 71; 2 lt. 2 art. june 46, 75.
- TINGLE, CHARLES A., June 16, 75, 2nd Artillery. [Born in Ohio; apptd. from M. A.]-Cadet july 1, 71; 2 lt. 2 art. june 16, 75.
- JEFFERSON, JOHN P., June 16, 75, 5th Artillery. [Born in Del.; apptd. from M. A.]-Cadet july 1, 71; 240, 5 art, june 16, 75.
- BRIDGMAN, VICTOR IL, June 16, 75, 2nd Artillery. [Born in Vt.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 71; 2 lt. 2 art. june 16, 75.
- BALDWIN, JOHN M., June 16, 75, 5th Artillery. [Born in La.; apptd. from M. A.]-Cadet july 1, 71; 24t. 5 art. june 16, 75.
- 16. WEAVER, ERASMUS M., JR., June 16, 75, 2nd Artillery. [Born in Ind.; apptd. from M. A.]— (Net A. J. T. 1914, Net A. 19, 55
 - Cadet sept. 1, 71; 24t. 2 art. june 16, 75.
- MCAULIFFE, JAMES R., June 16, 75, 5th Artillery. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from M. A.]-Cadet sept. 1, 71; 24t. 5 art. june 16, 75.
- JONES, JAMES M., June 16, 75, 4th Artillery. [Born in Ohio; apptd. from M. A.]-Cadet july 1, 71; 24t. 4 art. june 16, 75.
- HOYLE, ELI D., June 16, 75, 2nd Artillery. [Born in Ga.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 71; 24t, 2 art. june 16, 75.
- BUSH, JAMES C., June 16, 75, 5th Artillery. [Born in Conn.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 71; 2 lt. 5 art. june 16, 75.
- WILLIAMS, JOHN R., June 15, 76, 3rd Artillery. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 72; 2 lt. 3 art. june 15, 76.
- DOWD, HEMAN, June 15, 76, 3rd Artillery. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 72; 2 lt. 3 art. june 15, 76.
- CROZIER, WILLIAM, June 15, 76, 4th Artillery. [Born in Ohio; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet sept. 1, 72; 24t. 4 art. june 15, 76.
- LUDLOW, HENRY H., June 15, 76, 3rd Artillery. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from M. Δ.]— Cadet july 1, 72; 2 lt. 3 art. june 15, 76.
- FRENCH, JOHN T., JR., June 15, 76, 4th Artillery. [Born in Mass.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet sept. 1, 72; 24t. 4 art. june 15, 76.
- MEDCALFE, WILLIAM M., June 15, 76, 4th Artillery. [Born in Md.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 72; 2 lt. 4 art. june 15, 76.
- SATTERLEE, CHARLES B., June 15, 76, 3rd Artillery. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 72; 2 It. 3 art. june 15, 76.
- HOWARD, WILLIAM T., June 15, 76, 2nd Artillery. [Born in S. C.; apptd. from M. A.]-Cadet july 1, 72; 2 lt. 2 art. june 15, 76.

Second Lieutenants-Continued.

- 29. GAYLE, EDWARD E., June 15, 76, 2nd Artillery. [Born in Va.; apptd. from M.A.]-Cadet july 1, 72; 2 lt. 2 art. june 15, 76.
- 30. HAMILTON, WILLIAM R., June 15, 76, 5th Artillery. [Born in Wis.; apptd. from M. A.]-

Cadet july 1, 72; 2 lt. 5 art. june 15, 76.

- 31. ADAMS, GRANGER, June 15, 76, 5th Artillery. [Born in N.Y.; apptd. from M.A.]→ Cadet july 1, 72; 2 lt. 5 art. june 15, 76.
- 32. FOSTER, CHARLES W., June 15, 76, 3rd Artillery. [Born in Mich.; appfd. from M. A.]-Cadet july 1, 72; 2 lt. 4 inf. june 15, 76; trs. to 3 art. aug. 15, 76, taking rank from aug. 15, 76,
- 33. ROWAN, HAMILTON, June 15, 76, 2nd Artillery. [Born in Ind.; apptd. from M. A.]-Cadet july 1, 72; 2 lt. 6 inf. june 15, 76; trs. to 2 art. jan. 9, 77, taking rank from jan. 9, 77.
- 34. OTIS, HARRISON G., June 17, 74, 4th Artillery. [Born in N. J.; apptd. from M. A.]-Cadet sept. 1, 70; 2 lt. 4 cav. june 17, 74; trs. to 4 art. feb. 27, 77, taking rank from feb. 27, 77.
- 35. PATTERSON, THOMAS C., June 15, 77, 1st Artillery. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from M. A.]-Cadet sept. 1, 73: 2 lt. 1 art. june 15, 77.
- 36. TODD, ALBERT, June 15, 77, 1st Artillery. [Born in R. I.; apptd. from M. A.]-Cadet july 1, 73; 2 lt. 1 art. june 15, 77.
- 37. GORDON, WILLIAM B., June 15, 77, 4th Artillery. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from M.A.]-Cadet july 1, 73; 2 lt. 4 art. june 15, 77.
- 38. SPRINGETT, HOWARD A., June 15, 77, 4th Artillery. [Born in Ohio; apptd. from M. A.].
 - Cadet july 1, 73; 2 lt. 4 art. june 15, 77.
- 39. GALBRAITH, WILLIAM W., June 15, 77, 5th Artillery. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from M. A.]-
 - Cadet july 1, 73; 2 lt. 5 art. june 15, 77.
- MASSEY, SOLON F., June 15, 77, 5th Artillery. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from M. Δ.]-Cadet july 1, 73; 2 lt. 5 art. june 15, 77.
- 41. WOODWARD, CHARLES G., July 2, 77, 3rd Artillery. [Born in Md.; apptd. from M. A.]-Cadet july 1, 73; add. 2 lt. 4 art. jnne 15, 77; 2 lt. 3 art. july 2, 77.
- SLAKER, ADAM, Oct. 13, 77, 1st Artillery. [Born in Ill.; apptd. from M. A.]-Cadet sept. 1, 73; add. 24t. 5 art. june 15, 77; 24t. 1 art. oct. 13, 77.
- 43. WHITE, JOHN V., Nov. 22, 77, 1st Artillery. [Born in Miss.; apptd. from M. A.]-Cadet sept. 1, 73; add. 2 lt. 4 art. june 15, 77; 2 lt. 1 art. nov. 22, 77.
- 44. MARSH, FREDERICK, Mar. 15, 78, 1st Artillery. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet sept. 1, 73; add. 2 lt. 2 art. june 15, 77; 2 lt. 1 art. mar. 15, 78.
- 45. PRICE, DAVID, JR., June 7, 78, 1st Artillery. [Born in Wales; apptd. from M. A.]-Cadet july 1, 73; add. 2 lt. 1 art. june 15, 77; 2 lt. 2 art. june 7, 78; trs. to 1 art. june 14, 78.
- 46. BLAIR, FRANCIS P., June 13, 78, 3rd Artillery. [Born in Mo.; apptd. from M. A.]-Cadet july 1, 73; add. 2 lt. 3 art. june 15, 77; 2 lt. june 13, 78.
- 47. HOBBS, FRANK E., June 14, 78, 2nd Artillery. [Born in Me.; apptd. from M. A.]-Cadet july 1, 74; 2 lt. 2 art. june 14, 78.
- 48. SCRIVEN, GEORGE P., June 14, 78, 3rd Artillery. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from M. A.]-Cadet sept. 1, 74; 2 lt. 8 inf. june 14, 78; trs. to 3 art. june 13, 79, taking rank from june 13.79.
- 49. HOWARD, DOUGLAS A., June 14, 78, 3rd Artillery. [Born in Ill.; apptd. from M. A.]-Cadet oct. 3, 74; 2 lt. 9 inf. june 14, 78; trs. to 3 art. june 13, 79, taking rank from june 13.79.
- 50. TOTTEN, JOHN R., June 14, 78, 4th Artillery. [Born in Fla ; apptd. from M. A.]-Cadet july J, 74; 2 lt. 1 inf. june 14, 78; trs. to 4 art. june 23, 79, taking rank from june 23, 79.
- 51. GIBSON, WILLIAM W., June 13, 79, 3rd Artillery. [Born '56 in Conn.; apptd. from M. A.]-Cadet jnly 1, 75; 2 lt. 5 inf. june 13, 79; trs. to 3 art. july 11, 79, taking rank from july 11, 79,

156 SERVICE AND LINEAL RANK OF OFFICERS OF ARTILLERY, 1881.

Second Lieutenants-Continued.

52. ALEXANDER, WALTER S., June 13, 79, 1th Artillery. [Born '56 in Mass.; apptd. from M.A.]— Cadet july 1, 75; 2 lt. 5 inf. june 13, 79; trs. to 4 art. july 11, 79, taking rank from july 11, 79.

 HARLOW, FRANK S., June 13, 79, 1st Artillery. [Born '57 in Vt.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 75; 241, 9 inf. june 13, 79; trs. to 1 art. ang. 11, 79, taking rank from aug. 11, 79.

 RUNCIE, JAMES E., June 13, 79, 1st Artillery. [Born '58 in lowa; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet sep1, 1, 75; 2 H. 5 cav. june 13, 79; trs. to 1 art. aug. 11, 79, taking rank from aug. 11, 79.

- STUARF, SIDNEY E., June 12, 80, 1st Artiflery. [Born '57 in Pa; apptd. from M. A.]-Cadet june 14, 76; 2 lt. 1 art, june 12, 80.
- 56. RAFFERTY, WILLIAM C., June 12, 80, 1st Artillery. [Born '59 in Ind.; apptd. from M.A.]-

Cadet june 11,76; 2 lt. 1 art. june 12, 80.

.

- 57. CHAMBERLIN, JOHN L., June 12, 80, 1st Artillery. [Born '58 in N. Y.; apptd. from M A.]— Calet sept. 1, 76; 24t. 1 art. june 12, 80.
- SCHROEDER, HENRY A., June 12, 80, 4th Artillery. [Born '57 in Wis.; apptd. from M. A.]—

Cadet july 1, 74 ; 2 lt. 4 art. june 12, 80.

- BAILEV, CHARLES J., June 12, 80, 1st Artillery. [Born '59 in Pa.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet sept. 1, 76; 2 lt. 1 art. june 12, 80
- CATLIN, EDWARD H., June 12, 80, 2nd Artiflery. [Born '58 in N. H.; apptl. from M. A.]— Cadet sept. 1, 76; 2/ht/2/art. june 12, 80.
- 61. STRONG, FREDERICK S., June 12, 80, 4th Artillery. [Born '55 in Mich.; apptd. from M, A.]— Cadet june 14, 76; 24t, 4 art. june 12, 80.
- LOVERIDGE, WH.BUR, June 12, 80, 3rd Artillery. [Born '56 in N.Y.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet sept. 1, 76; 241, 3 art june 12, 80.
- RUMBOUGH, DAVID J., June 12, 80, 3rd Artillery. [Born '56 in Va.; apptd. from M. Λ.]— Cadet sept. 1, 76; 2 lt. 3 art. june 12, 80.
- HARMON, MILLARD F., June 12, 80, 1st Artillery. [B nr 56 in Pa.; apptd. from M. A.]-Cadet sept. 1, 76; 24t.5 inf. june 12, 80; trs. to 1 art. july 21, 80.

SERVICE AND LINEAL RANK

OF

OFFICERS OF INFANTRY.

Colonels.

- KING, JOHN H., July 30, 65, 9th Infantry. [Born in Mich.; apptd. from Mich.]—
 2 lt. 1 inf. dec. 2, 37, acc. dec. 22, 37, 1 lt. mar. 2, 39; capt. oct. 31, 46; maj. 15 inf. may 14, 61, acc. june 30, 61; brig. gen. vol. nov. 29, 62, acc. may 5, 63; lt. col. 14 inf. june 1, 63; col. hvt. sept. 20, 63, "for gal. and mcr. ser, in the battle of Chickamauga, 6a."; brig. gen. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser, in the battle of Kuff's Station, Ga."; maj. gen. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser, in the battle of Mif's Station, Ga."; maj. gen. bvt. mar. 31, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser, in the field dur, the war"; maj. gen. vol. bvt. may 31, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser, dur. the war"; col. 9 inf. july 30, 65; must. out of vol. ser. jan. 15, 66.
- 2. GIBBON, JOHN, July 28, 66, 7th Infantry. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet sept. 1, 42; bvt. 2 lt. 3 art. july 1, 47; 2 lt. 4 art. sept. 13, 47; 1 lt. sept. 12, 50; capt. nov. 2, 59; burg. gen. vol. may 2, 62; acc. may 12, 62; maj. bvt. sept. 17, 62, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Antietam, Md."; lt. col. bvt. dec. 13, 62, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Fredericksburg, Va."; col. bvt. july 4, 63, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Fredericksburg, Va."; col. bvt. july 4, 63, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Gettysburg, Pa."; maj. gen. vol. june 7, 64, acc. june 18, 64; brig. gen. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Spoitsylvania, Va."; must. out of vol. sev. in 15, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the capture of Petersburg, Va."; must. out of vol. sev. in 15, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the capture of Petersburg, Va."; must. out of vol. sev. in 15, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the capture of Petersburg, Va."; must. out of vol. ser. jan. 15, 66; col. 36 inf. july 28, 66, acc. oct. 7, 66; trs. to 7 inf. mar. 15, 69.
- WILLCON, ORLANDO B., July 28, 66, 12th Infantry. [Born in Mich.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 43; 2 lt. 4 art. july 1, 47; 1 lt. apr. 30, 50; resgd. sept. 10, 57; col. 1 Mich. vol. may 1, 61; brig. gen. vol. july 21, 61, acc. aug. 20, 62; maj. gen. vol. bvt. aug. 1, 64, (i) and yi, ord yil, ord yil, yil, yil, or, and yil, or, and yil, or, ord may her very ord and yil, yil, ord yil, which we several actions since crossing the Rapidan''; which out jan. 15, 66; col. 29 inf. july 28, 66, acc. sept. 10, 66; brig. gen. bvt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal, and mer. ser, in the battle of Spottsylvania C. H., Va."; maj, gen. bvt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal, and mer. ser, in the capture of l'etersburg, Va."; trs. to 12 inf. mar. 15, 69.
- 4. STANLEY, DAVID S., July 28, 66, 22nd Infantry. [Born in Ohio; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 48; bvt. 2lt. 2 drag. july 1, 52; 2lt. sept. 6, 53; 2lt. 1 cav. (4 cav.) mar. 3, 55; 1 lt. mar. 27, 55; capt. mar. 16, 61; brig. gen. vol. sept. 28, 61, acc. oct. 15, 61; lt. col. bvt. dec. 31, 62; "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Stone River, Term."; maj. gen. vol. nov. 29, 62, acc. apr. 10, 63; maj. 5 cav. dec. 1, 63; col. bvt. may 15, 64, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Resaca, 6a."; brig. gen. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Franklin, Tenn."; must. out of vol. ser. feb. 1, 66; col. 22 inf. july 28, 66, acc. cont. 12, 66 sept. 13, 66.
- 5. RUGER, THOMAS II., July 28, 66, 18th Infantry. [Born in N.Y.; apptd. from M. A.]-Crack, FIGMANS II., 0 my 28, 06, 180 Infantry. [1607) In N. Y.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 50; byt. 2 ft. eng. july 1, 54; resgd. apr. 1, 55; ft. col. 3 Wis, vol. june 29, 61; col. sept. 1, 61; brig. gen. vol. nov. 29, 62, acc. apr. 24, 63; maj. gen. vol. byt. nov. 30, 64, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Franklin, Tenn."; must. out sept. 1, 66; col. 33 inf, july 28, 66, acc. sept. 4, 66; brig. gen. byt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Gettysburg, Pa."; trs. to 18 inf. mar. 15, 69.

 SMITH, JOHN E., July 28, 66, 14th Infantry. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from III.]— Col. 45 Ill. vol. july 23, 61; brig. gen. vol. nov. 29, 62, acc. dec. 15, 62; maj. gen. vol. bvt. jan. 12, 65, "for faith, and eff. ser. and for gallautry in action"; must out apr. 30, 66; col. 27 inf. july 28, 66, acc. oct. 29, 66; brig, gen. bvt. mar. 2, 67, "for galla and mer. ser. in the siege of Vicksburg Miss."; maj. gen. bvt. mar. 2, 67, "for galla and mer. ser. in action at Savannah, Ga., dec., 64"; massd. mar. 15, 69; assd. to 15 inf. dec. 15, 70; trs. to 14 inf. dec. 20, 70.

Colonels-Continued.

- 7. PENNYPACKER, GALUSHA, July 28, 66, 15th Infuntry. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Pa.]— Qm. sergt. 9 Pa. vol. apr. 22, 61; diseled. july 29, 61; cept. 97 Pa. vol. aug. 22, 61; maj. oct. 7, 61; ft. col. june 7, 64; col. aug. 15, 64; brig. gen. vol. byt. jun. 15, 65; "for gal. serin the capture of Fort Fisher"; brig. gen. vol. fcb, 18, 65, acc. may 8, 65; maj. gen. vol. byt. mar. 13, 65; "for gal. and mer. ser, due, the war"; resgd. apr. 30, 66; col. 34 inf. july 28, 66, acc. dec. 10, 66; brig. gen. byt. mar. 2, 67; "for gal, and mer. ser, in the capture of Fort Fisher, N. C."; maj. gen.
- 8. SMITH, CHARLES H., July 28, 66, 19th Infantry. [Born in Me.; apptd. from Me.]— Capt. 1 Me. cav. oct. 19, 61; maj. feb. 16, 63; h. col. mar. I, 63; col. june 18, 63, brig. gen. vol. byt. ang. 1, 64, "for dis. cond. in the engagement at St. Mary's Church"; maj. gen. vol. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for highly dis. and mer. ser,"; *must. out* ang. 11, 65; col. 28 inf. july 28, 66, acc. sept. 17, 66; brig. gen. byt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser, in the battle of Sailor's Creek, Va." maj. gen. byt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser, dur, the war"; trs. to 19 inf. mar. 15, 69.
- CRITTENDEN, THOMAS L., July 28, 66, 17th Infantry. [Born in Ky.: apptd. from Ky.]— Pyt. Capt. G. B. Crittenden's co-intd. gunnets of Ky. vol. aug. 17, 36; discloyd, sept. 18, 36; h. col. 3 Ky. vol. oct. 4, 47; mored, out july 21, 48; brigg, gen. vol. 8, pt. 27, 64, acc. oct. 4, 61; maj. gen. vol. july 17, 62, acc. aug. 8, 62; recept. dec. 13, 64; col. 32; inf. july 28, 66, acc. oct. 8, 66; brig, gen. byt, mar. 2, 67; "for gal, and mer. ser, in the battle of Stone River, Tenn."; trs. to 17 inf. mar. 15, 69.
- FLINT, FRANKLIN F., July 8, 68, 4th Infantry. [Born in N. H.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 37; 2/lt. 6/inf. july 1, 41; 1/lt. oct. 42, 47; capt. sept. 46, 56; maj. 16/inf. may 14, 61, acc. oct. 2, 61; lt. col. 7/inf. oct. 20, 63; col. 4/inf. july 8, 68.
- 11. CLITZ, HENRY B., Feb. 22, 69, 10th Infantry, [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 41; byt. 2 lt. 7 inf. july 1, 45; 2 lt. 3 inf. sept. 21, 46; 1 lt. byt. apr. 18, 47, "for gal, and mer. cond. in the battle of Cerro Gordo"; 1 lt. 3 inf. mar. 5, 51; capt. dec. 6, 58; maj. 12 inf. may 14, 61, acc. july 12, 61; lt. col. byt. june 27, 62; "for gal, and mer. ser. in the battle of Gaines' Mill, Va."; lt. col. 6 inf. nov. 1, 63; col. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal, and mer. ser. dur. the war"; brig. gen. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal, and dis. ser. in the field"; col. 10 inf. feb. 22, 69.
- 12. WOOD, WILLIAM H., Feb. 22, 69, 11th Infantry. [Born in Mass.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 41; bvt. 24t, 7 inf. july 1, 45; 24t, 3 inf. sept. 21, 46; 14t, sept. 9, 51; regtl. adj!t may i, 60, to apr. 11, 61; capt. apr. 11, 61; maj, 17 inf. may 14, 61, acc. june 25, 61; 41, col. 1 inf. dec. 3, 63; col. bvt. mar. 13, 65; "for faith, and mer. ser. dur, the war," declined; col. 17 inf. feb. 22, 69; unassd. mar. 15, 69; assd. to 11 inf. dec. 15, 70.
- 13. ANDREWS, GEORGE L., Jan. 1, 71, 25th Infantry. [Born in R. I.; apptd. from Mo.]— Lt. col. 1 Mo. vol. apr. 24, 61; It. col. 1 Mo. I. art. sept. 1, 61; discloff, sept. 5, 61; maj. 17 inf. may 14, 61, acc. sept. 5, 61; It. col. bxt. may 30, 62; "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Bull Run (2d), Va."; col. byt. may 3, 63, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Chancellorsville, Va."; It. col. 13 inf. oct. 14, 64; unassd. mar. 15, 69; assd. to 25 inf. dec. 15, 70; col. jan. 1, 71.
- 14. HALLER, GRANVHLEE, O., Feb. 19, 73, 23rd lufantry. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Wash, T.]— 24. A to sept. 10, 47, 39, acc. nov. 25, 39; regth, adj't jan, 1, 43, to sept, 10, 45; 14, july 12, 46; eapt. byt. sept. 8, 47, "for gal, and mer. cond, in the battle of Molino del Rey"; maj. byt. sept. 13, 47, "for gal, and mer. cond, in the battle of Chapultepec"; capt. 4 inf, jan, 1, 48; maj, 7 inf, sept. 25, 64; otto fver, july 25, 63; ed. of inf, july 1, 79, to rank feb. 19, 73, [joint r solution mar. 3, 79], acc, july 1, 79; assd. to 23 inf. dec. 11, 79.
- 15. POTTER, JOSEPH H., Dec. 11, 73, 24th Infantry. [Born in N. H.; appid. from M. A.]—Cadet july 1, 39; bvt. 24r. 1 inf. july 1, 43; 24t. 7 inf. oct. 21, 45; 14r. bvt. sept. 23, 46, "for gal. and mer. cond. in the battles of Montercy"; 14r. 7 inf. oct. 30, 47; regtl. adjt nov. 16, 53, to feb. 13, 56; capt. jan. 9, 56; col. 12 N. H. vol. sept. 22, 62; ft. col. bvt. dec. 13, 62, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Fredericksburg, Va."; col. bvt. may 3, 63, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Fredericksburg, Va."; col. bvt. may 3, 63, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the charged lower law of the compagine terminating with the surreder of the insurgent army under Gen. R. E. Lee"; brig. gen. vol. may 1, 65, acc. may 14, 65; must. out of vol. ser. jm. 15, 66; ft. col. 30 inf. july 28, 66, acc. sept. 19, 66; trs. to 4 inf. mar. 15, 69 col. 24 inf. dec. 11, 73.

Colonels-Continued.

- 16. KAUTZ, AUGUST V., June 8, 74, 8th Infantry. [Born in Germ'y; apptd. from M. A.].— Pyt. co. 6, 1 Ohio vol. june 8, 46; *dischal.* june 14, 47; cadet july 1, 48; byt. 24, 44 inf. july 1, 52; 24, mar. 24, 55; 14t. dec. 4, 55; capt. 6 cay, may 14, 64, acc, aug. 7, 64; col. 240 hio cay, sept. 2, 62; maj. byt. june 9, 63; "for gal, and mer. ser, in action at Monticello, Ky,"; brig gen, vol. may 7, 64, acc, may 23, 64; 4t. col. byt. june 9, 64, "for gal, and mer. ser, in an attack on Petersburg, Va,"; col. byt. oct. 7, 64, "for gal, and mer. ser, in action on the Darbytown Road, Va,"; maj. gen, vol. byt. oct. 28, 64, "for gal, and mer. ser, in action on the present campaign against Richmond, Va,"; brig, gen, byt. and maj. gen, byt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal, and mer. ser, in the field dur, the war"; *must. out of* vol. ser, jan. 15, 66; H. col, 34 inf. july 28, 66, acc, sept. 22, 66; frs. to 15 inf. mar. 15, 69; col. 8 inf. june 8, 74.
- 17. WHEATON, FRANK, Dec. 15, 74, 2nd Infantry. [Born in R. I.; apptd. from R. I.]— 110. 1 cav. [4 cav.] mar. 3, 55, acc. july 20, 55; capt. mar. 1, 61; lt. cot. 2 R. 1, vol. july 10, 61; col. july 21, 61; brig. gen. vol. nov. 20, 62, acc. dec. 14, 62; maj. 2 cav. nov. 5, 66; lt. col. Nt. 10, 64, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of the Wilderness, Va."; col. bvt. oct. 19, 64, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Cedar Creek, Va."; mai, gen. vol. bvt. oct. 19, 64, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Cedar Creek, Va."; mai, gen. vol. bvt. oct. 19, 64, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Ocequan, Fisher's Hill, and Middletown, Va."; brig. gen. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the capture of Pt tersburg, Va."; maj. gen. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the field dur. the war"; must. out of vol. ser. apr. 30, 66; lt. col. 39 int. july 28, 66; acc. nov. 15, 66; rts. to 21 int. mar. 15, 69; col. 21 int. dec. 15, 74.
- 18. SHAFTER, WILLIAM R., Mar. 4, 79, 1st Infantry. [Born in Mich., appid, from Mich.]— 1 It. 7 Mich. vol. ang. 22, 61; dischgd. ang. 22, 62; maj. 19 Mich. vol. sept. 5, 62; It. col. june 5, 63; col. 17 U. S. c. 1, apr. 19, 64; brig. gen. vol. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. dur. the war"; must. out nov. 2, 66, paid to nov. 6, 66; It. col. 4t inf. july 28, 66, acc. jan. 26, 67; col. byt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Fair Oaks, Va."; unased. mar. 15, 69; assd. to 24 inf. apr. 14, 69; col. 1 inf. mar. 4, 79.
- BROOKE, JOHN R., Mar. 20, 79, 3rd Infantry. [Born in Pa.; appt]. from Pa.]— Capt. 4 Pa. vol. apr. 20, 61; most. out july 27, 61; col. 53 Pa. vol. nov. 7, 61; brig. gen. vol. may 12, 64, "for dis. ser. dur. the recent battles of the Old Wilderness and Spottsylvania C. H. Va.," are, june 23, 64; maj. gen. vol. byt. aug. 1, 64, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battles of Tolopotomy and Cold Harbor, Va."; resgd. feb. 1, 66; it. col. 37 inf. july 28, 66, acc. sept. 15, 66; col. byt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Gettysburg, Pa."; brig. gen. byt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Spottsylvania C. H., Va."; trs. to 3 inf. mar. 15, 69; col. 13 inf. mar. 20, 79; trs. to 3 inf. june 14, 79.
- 20. BRADLEY, LUTHER P., Mar. 20, 79, 13th Infantry. [Born in Conn.; apptd. from Ill.]— Lt. col. 51 Ill. vol. cct. 15, 61; col. cot. 15, 62; brig, gcn. vo. july 30, 64, acc. july 30, 64; resgd. june 30, 65; It. col. 27 inf. july 28, 66, acc. dec. 7, 66; col. bvt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mcr. ser, in the battle of Chickamanga, Ga."; brig, gcn. bvt. msr. 2, 67, "for gal. and mcr. ser, in the battle of Resaca, Ga."; trs. to 9 inf. mar. 15, 69; col. 3 inf, mar. 20, 79; trs. to 13 inf. june14, 79.
- 21. BUELL, GEORGE P., Mar. 20, 79, 15th Infantry. [Born in Ind.; apptl. from Ind.]— Lt. col. 58 Ind. vol. dec. 17, 61; col. june 24, 62; brig. gen. vol. bvt. jan. 12, 65, "for long, faith., and most val. ser., and for able management of pontion trains"; *must. out* july 25, 65, paid to july 31, 65; lt. col. 29 inf. july 28, 66, acc. jan. 10, 67; col. bvt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Missionary Ridge, Tenn."; brig. gen. bvt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. dur, the war"; trs. to 11 inf. mar. 15, 69; col. 15 inf. mar. 20, 79.
- 22. MORROW, HENRY A., Apr. 27, 79, 21st Infantry. [Born in Va.; apptd. from Mich.]— Pvt. co. C. Watson's regt. D. C. and Md. vols. may 18, 46; dischgd. may 30, 47; col. 24 Mich. vol. aug. 15, 62; brig. gen. vol. bvt. aug. 1, 64, "for gal. and dis. ser. dur. the present campaign before Richmond, Va."; maj. gen. vol. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for dis. and cons. gallantry, and for good cond. before Petersburg, Va."; must. out july 19, 65; it. col. 36 inf july 28, 66, acc. jan. 17, 67; col. bvt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Hatcher's Run, Va., feb. 6, 65"; trs. to 13 inf. mar. 15, 69; col. 21 inf. apr. 27, 79.
- 23. OTIS, ELWELL S., Feb. 8, 80, 20th Infantry. [Born in Md.; apptd. from N. Y.]— Capt. 140 N. Y. vol. sept. 13, 62; ft. col. dec. 23, 63; must. out jan. 24, 65; col. vol. hvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal, and mer. ser. in the battle of Spottsylvania, Va."; brig. 2en. vol. hvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal, and mer. ser. in the battle of Chappel House, Va."; hig. 22; nf. jnly 28, 66, acc. feb. 7, 67; col. bvt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal, and mer. ser. in the battle of Spottsylvania, Va."; col. 20 inf. feb. 8, 80.
- 24. MCCOOK. A LEXANDER McD., Dec. 15, 80, 6th Infantry. [Born in Ohio; apptd. from M.A.]-Cadet july 1, 47; bvt. 2 H. 3 inf. july 1, 52; 2 H. june 30, 54; 1 H. dec. 6, 58; col. 1 Ohio vol. apr. 16, 61; capt. 3 inf. may 14, 61; maj. bvt. july 21, 61, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Bull Run, Va."; must. out of vol. ser. aug. 16, 61; brig. gen. vol. sept. 3, 61; acc. sept. 20, 61; H. col. bvt. mur. 3, 62, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the capture of Nashville, Tenn."; col. bvt. apr. 7, 62, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Shiloh, Tenn."; maj. gen. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Perryville, Ky."; maj. gen. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the field dur. the war"; resgd. vol. com. oct. 21, 65; H. col. 26 inf. mar. 5, 67, acc. apr. 1, 67 trs. to 10 inf. mar. 15, 60; col. a. d. c. to the Gen. june 11, 75, to jan. 1, 81; col. 6 inf. dec. 15, 80.

Colonels-Continued.

25. LUGENBEEL, PINKNEY, Dec. 15, 89, 5th Infantry. [Born in Md.; apptd. from M. A.]—Cadet sept. 1, 35; bvt. 2 lt. 5 inf. july 1, 40; 2 lt. sept. 22, 40; lt. june 29, 46; regth adj t feb 1, 47, to apr. 16, 55; capt. bvt. aug. 20, 47, "for gal. and mer. cond. in the battles of Contreras and Churubusco"; maj. bvt. sept. 13, 47, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Chapultepee"; capt. 9 inf. mar. 3, 55, acc. apr. 46, 55; maj. 19 inf. dec. 31, 62; lt. col. june 25, 67; trs. to 1 inf. mar. 15, 69; col. 5 inf. dec. 15, 80.

Lieutenant Colonels.

- HUNT, LEWIS C., Mar. 29, 68, 20th Infantry. [Born in Wis.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 43; byt. 24; 3 inf. july 1, 47; 24; 4 inf. sept. 13, 47; 14; apr. 15, 52; capt. may 23, 55; col. 92; N. Y. vol. may 25, 62; maj, byt. may 34, 62; "for gal. and mer. ser, in the battle of Fair Oaks, Va."; 11, col. byt. 06; 14, 62; "for gal. and mer. ser, in the battle of Kinston, N. C."; brig, gen. vol. dec. 24, 62, acc. dec. 27, 62; maj, 14 inf. june 8, 63; col. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser, dur. the war"; brig, gen. byt. mar. 15, 66; trs. to 4 inf. aug. 21, 66; 14, col. 20 inf. mar. 29, 68.
- 2. GILBERT, CHARLES C., July 8, 68, 7th Infantry. [Born in Obio ; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 42; byt. 241, 34nf, july 4, 46; 241, 14nf, sept. 27, 46; 141, june 40, 50; capt. dec. 8, 55; maj. byt. apr. 7, 62, "for gal, and mer, ser, in the battle of Shiloh, "rem."; it. col. byt. sept. 1, 62, "for gal, and mer, ser, in the battle of Shiloh, "rem."; here, "observed a sept. 9, 62, "for gal, cond, at Springfield, Mo., and Pittsburg Landing, Tenn," act, sept. 15, 62; col. byt. eet. 8, 62, "for gal, and mer, ser, in the battle of Perryville, Ky."; appt. of brig, gea, rol, exp. by coa, line, mar 4, 63; maj, 19 inf, july 2, 63; trs. to 28 inf, sept. 24, 66; It. eol. 7 inf, july 8, 68.
- BLACK, HENRY M., Oct. 7, 68, 18th Infantry. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet. july 1, 42; byt. 24t. 4 inf. july 1, 47; 24t. 7 inf. ang. 20, 47; regtl. qm. sept. 10, 50, to apr. 14, 55; 141, 9 inf. mar. 3, 55, acc. apr. 14, 55; capt. sept. 10, 56; col. 6 Cal. vol. feb. 1, 63; maj. 7 inf. july 25, 63; 1t, col. byt. and col. byt. mar. 13, 65; ¹¹ for faith, and mer. ser. dur. the war"; *must. out* of vol. ser. oct. 27, 65; 1t, col. 4 inf. oct. 7, 68; unassd. mar. 15, 69; assid. to 18 inf. july 1, 70.
- 4. HUSTON, DANIEL, JR., Feb. 22, 69, 6th Infantry. [Born in Me.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 43; byt. 24; 8 inf. july 1, 48; 24; 1 inf. june 30, 49; 14; dec. 31, 52; capt. dec. 8, 56; maj. byt. aug. 10, 61; "for gd. and mer. ser. in the battle of Wilson's Creck, Mo."; col. 7 Mo. cav. feb. 21, 62; 11; col. byt. july 4, 63; "for gd. and mer. ser. dur the siege of Vicksburg, Miss."; maj. 11 inf. aug. 1, 63; must. out of vol. ser. dec. 30, 64; col. byt. mar. 13, 65; "for gal. and mer. ser. during the war"; trs. to 23 inf. dec. 24, 68; 1; col. 6 inf. feb. 22; 69.
- VAN VOAST, JAMES, Aug. 16, 71, 16th Infantry. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 48; byt. 2/4, 3 art. july 4, 52; 2/4; aug. 22, 53; 1/4; 9/inf. mar. 3, 55, acc. may 6, 55; regtl. qm, july 4, 55, to june 11, 58; capt. mar. 1, 61; maj. 18 inf. dec. 29, 63; 14, col. 16 inf. aug. 16, 71.
- 6. CARLIN, WILLIAM P., July 1, 72, 17th Infantry. [Born in III.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 4, 46; byt. 24; 64; inf. july 1, 50; 24; app. 45, 54; 14; mar. 3, 55; capt. mar. 2, 64; col. 38; III. vol. aug. 15, 64; bitg. gen. vol. nov. 29, 62; acc. may 6, 63; 1t. col. byt. nov. 24, 63; "for gal. and mer. ser, in the battle of Chattanooga, Tenn."; maj. 16; inf. feb. 8, 64; col. byt. sept. 4, 64, "for gal. and mer. ser, in the battle of Jonesborel, Gal."; brig. gen. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser, in the field dur. the war"; maj. gen. vol. byt. mar. 19, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser, in the field dur. the war"; maj. gen. vol. byt. mar. 19, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser, in the field dur. the war"; aug. 24, 65; trs. to 34 inf. sept. 21, 66; trs. to 16; inf. mar. 15, 69; 11; col. 17; inf. july 1, 72.
- 7. WILKINS, JOHN D., Feb. 19, 73, 8th Infantry. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 42; bvt. 2 lt, 4 inf. july 1, 46; 2 lt. 3 inf. dec. 31, 46; 1 lt. bvt. aug. 20, 47, "for gal, and mer, cond. in the battles of Conterars and Churnbusco"; 1 lt. 3 inf. nov. 10, 51; capt. apr. 17, 61; maj. bvt. july 1, 62; "for gal, and mer, ser, in the battle of Malvern Hill, Va."; lt. col. bvt. may 3, 63; "for gal, and mer, ser, in the battles of Fredericksburg and Chancellorsville, Va."; maj. 15 inf. may 6, 64; trs. to 33 inf. sept. 21, 66; trs. to 8 inf. mar. 15, 69; lt. col. feb. 19, 73.

Lieutenant Colonels-Continued.

- MASON, JOHN S., Dec. 11, 73, 4th Infantry. [Born in Obio : apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july I, 43; 24; 3 art. july J, 47; 14t. sept. 7, 56; regtl. qm. june 27, 54, to june 1, 58; capt. II inf. may 14, 61, acc. july 31, 61; col. 4 Obio vol. oct. 3, 61; maj. bvt. sept. 17, 62, "for gal. and mer. ser, in the battle of Antictam, Md."; It. col. bvt. dec. 13, 62, "for gal. and mer. ser, in the battle of Predericksburg, Va."; brig, gen. vol. nov. 29, 62, acc. jun. 9, 63; maj. 17 inf. oct. 14, 64; col. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser, dur. the war"; brig, gen. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser in the field dur. the war"; mut. out of vol. ser, apr. 30–66; trs. to 35 inf. sept. 21, 66; trs. to 15 inf. mar. 15, 69; It. col. 4 inf. dec. 11, 73 11, 73.
- 10. WHISTLER, JOSEPH N. G., Feb. 18, 74, 5th Infantry. [Born in Wis.; apptd. from $M, \Lambda, l-$

M. A. $j \rightarrow 0$. Cadet sept. 1, 42; bvt. 2 lt. 8 inf. july 1, 46; 2 lt. 3 inf. jan. 7, 47; 1 lt. bvt. aug. 20, 47, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battles of Contrevas and Churabusco"; 1 lt. 3 inf. june 6, 52; capt. may 14, 61; col. 2 N. V. art may 6, 63; maj. bvt. may 24, 64, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of North Anna, Va."; lt. col. bvt. june 19, 64, "for gal. and mer. ser. in front of Petersburg, Va."; maj. 13 inf. dec. 31, 64; col. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. in front of Petersburg, Va."; maj. 13 inf. dec. 31, 64; col. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. in front of vol. ser. ser. yel. vol. twn mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. dur. the war"; must. out of vol. ser. sept. 29, 65; trs. to 31 inf. sept. 21, 66; trs. to 22 inf. mar. 15, 69; lt. col. 516, for h. 8, c col. 5 inf. feb. 18, 74.

- BLUNT, MATTHEW M., Oct. 7, 74, 25th Infantry. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet sept. 1, 49; bvt. 2 lt. 1 art. july 1, 53; 2 lt. 2 art. sept. 30, 53; 1 lt. mar. 31, 55; capt. 12 inf. may 14, 61, acc. july 18, 61; maj. bvt. july 1, 62, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Malvern Hill, Va."; lt. col. bvt. dec. 13, 62; "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Fred-ericksburg, Va."; col. bvt. june 19, 64; "for gal. and mer. ser. in front of Petersburg, Va."; maj. 7 inf. july 30, 65; trs. to 14 inf. mar. 15, 69; lt. col. 25 inf. oct. 7, 74.
- 12. SWAINE, PETER T., Oct. 24, 74, 15th Infantry. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from M. A.]-WALME, PETERT T., OCI. 23, 74, 15th Infantry. [Born in N. Y.; appld. from M. A.]— Cadet sept. 1, 47; bvf. 24t. 1 inf. july 1, 52; 24t. dec. 31, 52; 24t. 10 inf. mar. 3, 55; 14t. aug. 8, 55; regtl qm. dec. 7, 55; to apr. 30, 60; capt. 15 inf. may 14, 61, acc. july 1, 61; maj. bvf. apr. 7, 62; "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Shiloli, Tenn."; col. 99 Ohio vol. sept. 4, 62; 1t. col. bvf. dec. 34, 62; "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Murfreesboro', Tenn."; must. out of vol. ser. dec. 31, 64; col. bvt. mar. 13, 65; "for faith, and mer. ser. dur. the war"; maj. 16 inf. dec. 29, 65; trs. to 25 inf. sept. 21, 66; trs. to 2 inf. mar. 15, 69; 1t. col. 15 inf. oct. "4, 74 24, 74.
- DOUGLASS, HENRY, Jan. 10, 76, 14th Infantry. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from M. A.]-Cadet july 1, 47; byt. 2 lt. 7 inf. july 1, 52; 2 lt. 8 inf. dec. 31, 53; 2 lt. 9 inf. mar. 3, 55; 1 lt. sept. 10, 56; capt. 18 inf. may 14, 61, acc. july 15, 61; maj. bvt. dec. 31, 62, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Murfreesboro', Tenn."; maj. 3 int. july 28, 66; unassd. mar. 15, 69; assd. to 11 inf. jan. 1, 71; lt. col. 14 inf. jan. 10, 76.
- MERRIAM, HENRY C., June 10, 76, 2nd Infantry. [Born in Me.; apptd. from Me.]— Capt. 20 Me. vol. aug. 29, 62; respd. jan. 7, 63; capt. 80 U.S. c. tmar. 11, 63; H. col. 85 U. S. c. t. may 21, 64; H. col. 73 U. S. c. t. june 3, 64; col. vol. bvt. mar. 26, 65, "for faith, and mer. ser. dur. the campaign against the city of Mobile and its defences"; must. out oct. 24, 65; maj. 38 inf, july 28, 66, acc, sept. 14, 66; ht, col. bvt, mar. 2, 67, "for gal, and mer, ser, in the battle of Antietam, Md."; col. bvt, mar. 2, 67, "for cons. gallantry in the capture of Fort Blakely, Ala."; trs. to 24 inf. mar. 15, 69; ht, col. 2 inf. june 10, 76.
- 15. CHAMBERS, ALEXANDER, Oct. 22, 76, 21st Infantry. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from M. A.]-

Cadet july 1, 49; bvt. 21t. 5 inf. july 1, 53; 2 lt. mar. 3, 55; regtl. adj't june 9, 57, to aug. 7, 61; 1 lt. jan. 19, 59; capt. 18 inf. may 14, 61, acc. aug. 7, 61; col. 16 Iowa vol. mar. 24, 62; maj. byt. apr. 7, 62; "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Shiloh, Tenn."; lt. col. bvt. sept. 19, 62, "for gal and mer. ser. in the battle of Inka Miss."; col. byt. July 4, 65, "for gal and mer. ser. during the siege of Vicksburg, Miss."; brig. gen. vol. ang. 11, 63, acc. sept. 22, 63; negatived and recoked apr. 6, 64; brig. gen. vol. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer ser. in the battles of Champion Hills, Miss., feb. 4, 64, and Meridian, Miss., feb. 14, 64"; trs. to 27 inf. sept. 21, 66; maj. 22 inf. mar. 5, 67; trs. to 10 inf. mar. 15, 69; unassd. june 24 69; assd. to 4 inf. feb. 4, 70; lt. col. 21 inf. oct. 22, 76.

- 16. YARD, JOHN E., Mar. 4, 79, 24th Infantry. [Born in Pa.: apptd. from Cal.]— 2 R, 9 inf. nov. 12, 61, acc. doc. 19, 61; 1 It. may 30, 63; capt. july 28, 66; maj. 10 c; v. mar. 7, 67, acc. july 22, 67; unassd. doc. 15, 70; assd. to 20 inf. jan. 1, 71; It. col. 24 inf. mar. 4, 79. 11

Lieutenant Colonels-Continued.

- 17. BLISS, ZENAS R., Mar. 4, 79, 19th Infantry. [Born in R. I.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 50; bvt. 24t. 1 inf. july 1, 54; 24t. 8 inf. mar. 3, 55; 14t. oct. 17, 60; capt. may 14, 61; col. 10; K. I. vol. may 26, 62; col. 7; R. I. vol. ang, 24, 62; maj, bvt. dec. 13, 62; "for gal, and mer. scr. in the battle of Fredericksburg, Va."; 4t. col. bvt. may 7, 64, "for gal, and mer. ser, in the battle of the Wilderness, Va."; most out of vol. scr. june 9, 65; maj, 39 inf. ang. 6, 67; trs. to 25 inf. mar. 15, 69; it. col. 19 inf. mar. 4, 79.
- 18. G1BSON, GEORGE, Mar. 20, 79, 3rd Infantry. (Born in Pa.: apptd. from Pa.]— M. sk. qm. dept. apr. 9, 53, acc. apr. 25, 53; eapt. 11 inf. may 14, 61, acc. aug. 7, 61; maj. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. cond. in the battle of Gettysburg, Pa."; It. col. bct. apr. 9, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. dur. the recent operations resulting in the fall of Richmond, Va., and the surrender of the insurgent army under Gen. R. E. Lee"; maj. tinf. jan. 12, 68; unassd. mar. 15, 69; assd. to 5 inf. june 9, 69; It. col. 3 inf. mar. 20, 79.
- 19. ANDERSON, THOMAS M., Mar. 20, 79, 9th Infantry. [Born in Ohio: apptd. from Ohio.]— Pvt. co. A, 6 Ohio vol. apr. 20, 61; dischool. may 15, 61; 24t. 2 cav. may 7, 61, acc. may 15, 61; capt. 12 inf. may 14, 61, acc. oct. 8, 61; maj, byt. ang. 1, 64, "for gal. ser. in the battle of the Wilderness": It. col. byt. ang. 1, 64, "for gal. ser. in the battle of Spottsylvania"; trs. to 21 inf. sept. 21, 66; maj, may. 26, 68; massd. mar. 15, 69; assd. to 10 inf. june 24, 69; It. col. 9 inf. mar. 20, 79.
- 20. TOWNSEND, EDWIN F., Mar. 20, 79, 11th Infantry. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from M. A.]—Cadet sept. 1, 50; bvt. 24, 3 art, july 1, 54; 24t, jan. 34, 55; resgd. mar. 14, 56; 14t, 14 inf. may 14, 60, acc. july 1, 61; regtl. adj[4] july 8, 64, to ang. 27, 61; capt. 16 inf. may 14, 61, acc. ang. 27, 61; maj, bvt. apr. 7, 62; "for gal, and mer. ser, in the battle of Shiloh, Tenn."; It. col. bvt. mar. 15, 65; "for continued and faith ser, in the ord, dept."; trs. to 25 inf. sept. 21, 66; maj, 25 inf. june 22, 68; trs. to 9 inf. mar. 15, 69; it. col. 11 inf. mar. 20, 79.
- 21. CROFTON, ROBERT E. A., Apr. 27,79, 13th Infantry. [Born in Ireland; apptd. fromDel.]— Capt. 16 inf. may 14, 61, acc, june 21, 61; maj. byt. apr. 7, 62, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Shiloh, Tenn."; 4t. col. byt. nov. 25, 63, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battles of Chickamanga, Ga., and Mission Ridge, Tenn."; maj. 14 inf. sept. 25, 68; t18, to 17 inf. mar. 15, 69; 1t. col. 13 inf. apr. 27, 79.
- LA MOTTE, ROBERT S., June 7, 79, 12th Infantry. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Del.]— Capt. 1 Del. vol. may 2, 61; maj. june 12, 61; *unst. out* june 24, 61; capt. 13 inf. may 14, 60, acc. june 19, 61; maj. 12 inf. dec. 3, 68; trs. to 13 inf. mar. 15, 69; lt. col. 12 inf. june 12, 79.
- 23. DALLAS, ALEXANDER J., Feb. 8, 80, 22nd Infantry. [Born in D. C.; apptd. from At Fge.]— Pvt. co. H. 3 batt. D. C. vol. apr. 27, 61; dischool. june 11, 61; capt. 12 inf. may 14, 61, acc. june 11, 61; maj. bvt. july 30, 64, "for gal, and mer. ser. in front of Petersburg, Va."; trs. to 30 inf. sept. 21, 66; maj. 23 inf. feb. 22, 69; lt. col. 22 inf. feb. 8, 80.
- 24. MIZNER, HENRY R., Dec. 15, 80, 10th Infantry. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from Mich.]— Capt. 18 inf. may 14, 61, acc. july 3, 61; col. 14 Mich. vol. dec. 22, 62; maj. bet. dec. 31, 62, "for gal. and mer. ser, in the battle of Murfreesbore", Tenn."; It. col. bet. sept. 1, 64, "for gal. and mer. ser, during the Atlanta campaign and in the battle of Jonesbore", Ga."; brig. gen. vol. bet. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser, dur, the war"; must. out of vol. ser, july 18, 65; trs. to 36 inf. sept. 21, 66; maj. 20 inf. feb. 22, 69; trs. to 12 inf. mar. 15, 69; trs. to 8 inf. may 14, 77; It. col. 10 inf. dec. 15, 80.
- 25. BROWN, WILLIAM H., Dec. 15, 80, 1st Infantry. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Pa.]— Capt. 14 inf. may 14, 61, acc. june 24, 61; maj. bvt. sept. 17, 62, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Antifetam, Md."; lt. col. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. dur. the war"; trs. to 32 inf. sept. 21, 66; trs. to 21 inf. apr. 19, 69; maj. 18 inf. aug. 16, 71; lt. col. 1st inf. dec. 15, 80.

Majors.

MASON, EDWIN C., Sept. 5, 71, 21st Infantry. [Born in Ohio; apptd. from Ohio.]—
Capt. 2 Ohio vol. apr. 17, 61; must. out june 24, 61; capt. 17 inf. may 14, 61, acc. june
24, 61; col. 7 Me. vol. ang. 22, 61; maj. bvt. dec. 13, 62, "for gal, and mer. ser. in the
battle of Fredericksburg, Va."; it. col. bvt. may 664, "for gal, and mer. ser. in the battle
of the Wilderness, Va."; it. col. bvt. may 10, 64, "for gal, and mer. ser. in the battle
of spottsylvania, Va."; must. out of vol. ser. sept. 5, 64; col. 176 Ohio vol. sept. 23, 64; brig.
gen. vol. bvt. june 3, 65, "for faith, ser."; must. out of vol. ser. june 4, 65; trs. to 35 inf.
sept. 21, 66; unassd. aug. 12, 69; assd. to 20 inf. oct. 14, 69; maj. 21 inf. sept. 5, 71.

1881. SERVICE AND LINEAL RANK OF OFFICERS OF INFANTRY. 163

Majors-Continued.

- 2. CHIPMAN, HENRY L., Oct. 29, 73, 3rd Infantry. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from Mich.]— Capt. 11 inf. may 14, 61, acc. june 24, 61; lt. col. 2 Mich. vol. may 25, 61; resgd. vol. com. june 24, 61; maj. bvt. may 3, 63, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Chancellorsville, Va."; lt. col. bvt. july 2, 63, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Celtysburg, Pa."; col. 102 U. S. e. t. apr. 15, 64; brig, gen. vol. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser, dur. the war"; most. out of vol. ser. sept. 30, 65; trs. to 29 inf. sept. 21, 66; trs. to 11 inf. apr. 25, 69; maj. 3 inf. oct. 29, 73.
- ILGES, GUIDO, Dec. 10, 73, 5th Infantry. [Born in Prussia; appld. from Ind.]— Capt. 14 inf. may 14, 61, acc. june 22, 61; maj. bvt. aug. 1, 64, "for gal. ser. in the battle of the Wilderness, Va."; It. col. bvt. aug. 1, 64, "for gal. ser. in the battle of Spottsylvania, Va."; maj. 7 inf. dec. 10, 73; irs. to 5 inf. dec. 18, 79.
- OSBORNE, NATHAN W., Dec. 11, 73, 15th Infantry. [Born in Mass.; apptd. from Mass.]— Capt. 13 inf. may 14, 61, acc. sept. 2, 61; maj. bvt. july 4, 63, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the siege of Vicksburg, Miss."; maj. 15 inf. dec. 11, 73.
- 5. HOUGH, ALFRED L., Feb. 18, 74, 22nd Infantry. [Born in N. J.; apptd. from Pa.]— Sergt. co. F, 17–Pa. vol. apr. 18, 61; discloyd. june 29, 61; capt. 19 inf. may 14, 61, acc. june 29, 61; maj. bvt. sept. 20, 63, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Chickananarg, 6a."; H. col. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith, ser. in conflection with the mustering of troops"; col. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. dur. the war"; trs. to 28 inf. sept. 21, 66; unassd. mar. 31, 69; assd. to 13 inf. apr. 16, 76; maj. 22 inf. feb. 18, 74.
- 6. MOORE, ORLANDO H., June 8, 74, 6th Infantry. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Mich.]— 2 lt. 6 inf. june 27, 56, acc. july 31, 56; 1 lt. mar 2, 61; 1 lt. 19 inf. may 14, 61, declined; capt. 6 inf. may 26, 61; lt. col. 13 Mich. vol. jun. 17, 62; resgd. vol. com. july 4, 62; col. 25 Mich. vol. sept. 22, 62; maj. byt. july 4, 63, "for gal. and mer. ser. in action at Tebbs Bend, Ky."; lt. col. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. dur. the war"; must. out of vol. ser. june 24, 65; maj. 6 inf. june 8, 74.
- BRYANT, MONTGOMERY, Oct. 7, 74, 14th Infantry. [Born in Kans.; apptd. from Mo.]— 2 lt. 6 inf. feb. 21, 57, acc. apr. 9, 57; 1 lt. may 3, 61; 1 lt. 16 inf. may 14, 61, declined; capt. 6 inf. june 10, 61; maj. bvt. dec. 13, 62, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Fredericksburg, Va."; maj. 14 inf. oct. 7, 74.
- LAZELLE, HENRY M., Dec. 15, 74, 1st Infantry. [Born in Mass.; apptd. from M. Δ.]— Cadet july 1, 50; bvt 24, 1 inf. july 1, 55; 24, 8 inf. oct. 9, 55; 14, apr. 27, 61; capt. june 11, 61; col. 16 N. Y. cav. oct. 23, 63; maj. bvt. sept. 19, 64, "for gal. and mer. ser. in action near Culpeper, Va."; respl. vol. com. oct. 19, 64; maj. 1 inf. dec. 15, 74.
- 9. BARTLETT, CHARLES (4, Jan. 10, 76, 11th Infantry. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from N. Y.]— Sergt. co. F, 7 N. Y. s. m. apr. 17, 61; dischgd. may 8, 61; capt. 5 N. Y. vol. may 9, 61; matst. out sept. 8, 61; capt. 12 inf. ang. 5, 61, acc. sept. 10, 61; lt. col. 150 N. Y. vol. sept. 29, 62; maj. bvt. may 14, 64, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Resaca, Ga. "; must. out of vol. ser. dcc. 31, 64; brig. gen. vol. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. dur. the war"; lt. col. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. dur. the war"; col. 119 U. S. e. t. may 10, 65; mast. out of vol. ser. apr. 27, 66; trs. to 30 inf. sept. 21, 66; trs. to 4 inf. mar. 23, 69; maj. 11 inf. jan. 10, 76.
- LAYTON, CALEB R., Mar. 4, 79, 20th Infantry. [Born in Del.; apptd. from Del.]— Capt. 1 Del. vol. may 16, 61; maj. july 1, 61; *must. out* aug. 17, 61; capt. 11 inf. aug. 5, 61, acc. sept. 28, 61; maj. bvt. july 2, 63, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Gettysburg, Pa."; trs. to 16 inf. apr. 14, 69; maj. 20 inf. mar. 4, 79.
- COCHRAN, MELVILLE A., Mar. 4, 79, 12th Infantry. [Born in Me.; apptd. from Me.]— Capt. 16 inf. aug. 5, 61, acc. sept. 15, 61; maj. bvt. sept. 20, 63, "for gal, and mer. ser, in the battle of Chickanaauga, Ga."; trs. to 2 inf. apr. 17, 69; maj. 12 inf. mar. 4, 79.
- WEBB, CHARLES A., Mar. 4, 79, 16th Infantry. [Born in Vt.; apptd. from Vt.]--Capt. 13 inf. aug. 5, 61, acc. oct. 7, 61; maj. bvt. july 4, 63, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the siege of Vicksburg, Miss."; trs. to 22 inf. sept. 21, 66; maj. 16 inf. mar. 4, 79.
- BUSH, JOSEPH, Mar. 4, 79, 25th Infantry. [Born in Mass.; apptd. from Vt.]— Capt. 1 Vt. vol. may 9, 61; mast. out aug. 15, 61; capt. 13 int. aug. 5, 61, acc. oct. 28, 61; maj. bvt. july 4, 63, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the siege of Vicksburg, Miss."; trs. to 22 inf. sept. 21, 66; maj. 25 inf. mar. 4, 79.
- 14. BROTHERTON, DAVID H., Mar. 20, 79, 7th Infantry. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 50; bvt. 2 lt. 5 inf. july 1, 54: 2 lt. mar. 3, 55; 1 lt. aug. 22, 59; capt. sept. 25, 61; maj. bvt. feb. 21, 62, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Valverde, N. M."; maj. 5 inf. mar. 20, 79; trs. to 7 inf. dec. 18, 79.

Majors-Continued.

- 15. COPPINGER, JOHN J., Mar. 20, 79, 10th Infantry. [Born in Ireland; apptd. from N. Y.] Capt. 14 inf. sept. 30, 61, acc. oct. 30, 61; maj. bvt. june 12, 64, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Trevillian Station, Va."; It. col. bvt. oct. 19, 64, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Cedar Creek, Va."; col. 15, N. Y. cav. jan. 27, 65; must.out of vol. ser. june 17, 65; trs. to 23 inf. sept. 21, 66; col. bvt. dec. 1, 68, "for zeal and energy while in command of troops operating against hostile Indians in 1866, 1867, and 1868"; maj. 10 inf. mar. 20, 79.
- 16. GENTRY, WILLLAM T., Mar. 20, 79, 9th Infantry. [Born in Ind.: apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 52; bvt. 24, 45; mf. july 1, 56; 24; aug. 1, 56; 14; 14; 75 mf. may 14, 61, acc. aug. 19, 61; capt. oct. 24, 61; maj. bvt. july 6, 64; "for gal. ser. at the crossing of the North Anna and dur, the present campaign before Richmond, Va."; 1r, col. bvt. apr. 1, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Five Forks, Va."; unassd. may 27, 69; assd. to 19 inf. feb. 15, 70; maj. 9 inf. mar. 20, 79.
- 17. O'BEHRNE, RICHARD F., Mar. 20, 79, 24th Infantry. [Born in Canada; apptd. from Mich.]— 1 It. 14 inf. may 14, 61, acc. june 21, 61; qm. 2 batt. sept. 10, 61, to oct. 31, 61; capt. oct. 25, 61, acc. oct. 31, 61; maj. bvt. aug. 1, 64, "for gal. ser. in the battle of the North Anna, Va."; It. col. bvt. aug. 18, 64, "for gal. ser. in battle on the Weldon R. R., Va."; trs. to 32 inf. sept. 21, 66; trs. to 21 inf. apr. 19, 69; maj. 24 inf. mar. 20, 79.
- 18. CONRAD, JOSEPH S., Apr. 27, 79, 17th Infantry. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 4, 53; byt. 24t. 4 inf. july 4, 57; 24t. 2 inf. eet. 12, 57; 14t. may 14, 61; 14t. 12 inf. may 14, 61, declined; capt. nov. 1, 61; 4t. col. a. a. d. c. may 5, 62, acc. may 7, 62; *must.* out as a. a. d. c. jan. 2), 64; maj. byt. ang. 1, 64; "for gal. ser, in the battle of the Wilderness, Va."; 4t. col. byt. ang. 1, 64, "for gal, and mer. ser, in the battle of the North Anna River, Va."; col. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal, and mer. ser, in the campaign under Gen. W. S. Hancock in 1864"; maj. 17 inf. apr. 27, 79.
- OFFLEY, ROBERT H., May 6, 79, 19th Infantry. [Born in N. Y.: apptd. from N. Y.] = 2 It. 1 inf. may 14, 57, acc. may 18, 57; 1 It. may 14, 61; capt. nov. 23, 61; maj. bvt. july 4, 63, " for gal. and mer. ser. dur. the siege of Vicksburg, Miss."; maj. 19 inf. may 6, 79.
- 20. VAN HORN, JAMES J., June 7, 79, 13th Infantry. [Born in Ohio; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 54; byt. 2 lt. 1 inf. july 1, 58; 2 lt. 8 inf. july 19, 58; 1 lt. may 14, 61; capt. feb. 19, 62; maj. byt. june 4, 64, "for gal. and mer. ser, in the battle of Cold Harbor, Va."; maj. 13 inf. june 7, 79.
- 21. DE RUSSY, ISAAC D., Sept. 29, 79, 4th Infantry. [Born in Va.; apptd. from N. Y.]— 2 It. 1 inf. apr. 26, 61, acc. may 9, 61; 1 It. may 14, 61; capt. feb. 27, 62; maj. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith, and mer. ser. dur. the war"; maj. 4 inf. sept. 29, 79.
- 22. FLETCHER, JOSHUA S., Ja., Feb. 8, 80, 23rd Infantry. [Born in Pa. ; apptd. from Pa.]— 14, 11 inf. may 14, 60, acc. june 19, 61; capt. mar, 17, 62; maj, byt. aug. 1, 64, "for gal, ser, in the battle of the Wilderness, Va."; 1t. col. byt. aug. 18, 64, "for gal, ser, in battle on the Weldon R. R., Va."; trs. to 16 inf. apr. 14, 69; maj, 23 inf. feb. 8, 80.
- 23. SMITH, LESLIE, May 21, 80, 2nd Infantry. [Born in Ireland; apptd. from Mich.]— Pvt. gen. ser. july 27, 49; corpl. sept. 1, 50; sergt. oct. 1, 51; discloyd. july 27, 54; 24t, 1 inf. apr. 30, 61, acc. may 1, 61; 14t, june 41, 6t; capt. apr. 6, 62; maj. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith, and mer. ser. dur. the war": maj. 2 inf. may 21, 80.
- 24. SANDERS, WILLIAM W., Dec. 15, 80, 8th Infantry. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Pa.]— 2 It. 6 inf. june 23, 60, acc. july 12, 60; 1 It. may 9, 61; regth. adj't dec. 1, 61, to june 27, 62; capt. june 27, 62; maj. byt. dec. 2, 64, "for faith, and mer. ser. in the field"; col. 2 Pa. cay. mar. 26, 65; It. col. byt. apr. 2, 65, "for gal, and mer. ser. in front of Petersburg, Va."; col. byt. apr. 9, 65; "for gal, and mer. ser. in the campaign terminating with the surrender of the insurgent army under Gen. R. E. Lee"; must. out of vol. ser. july 13, 65; It. col. 1 U. S. yet. vol. ag. 4, 65; must. out of vol. ser. mar. 1, 66; maj. 8 inf. dec. 15, 80.
- 25. POLAND, JOHN S., Dec. 15, 80, 18th Infantry. [Born in Ind.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 56; 2 h. 2 inf. may 6, 61; 1 h. june 6, 61; regtl. qu. ang. 10, 61, to june 27, 62; capt. june 27, 62; naj. bct. dcc. 13, 62, "for gall, and mer. ser. in the battles of Antietam and Shepardstown Ford, Md., and Fredericksburg, Va."; h. col. bvt. may 3, 63, "for gal, aud mer. ser. in the battle of Chancellorsville, Va."; unassd. apr. 17, 69; assd. to 6 inf. july 4, 69; naj. 18 inf. dcc. 15, 80.

Captains.

 PEARSON, EDWARD P., Ang. 16, 62, 17th Infantry. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Pa.]— Pvt. co. A, Ringgold art. Pa. vol. apr. 18, 61; dischad. may 1, 61; 14t. adj't 25 Pa. vol. may 1, 61; must. out june 24, 61; 14t. 17 inf. may 14, 61, acc. june 24, 61; capt. ang. 16, 62; maj. bvt. may 3, 63, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the batthe of Chancellorsville, Va."; ht. col. bvt. sept. 1, 64, "for gal. and mer. ser. dur. the Atlanta campaign."

- JORDAN, WILLIAM H., Dec. 34, 62, 9th Infantry. [Born in Ohio; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 55; hvt. 24, 2 inf. july 1, 60; 24, 9 inf. feb. 20, 61; 14, may 14, 61; capt. bvt. june 27, 62, "for gal, and mer, ser, in the battle of Gaines' Mill, Va."; capt. 9 inf. dec. 31, 62; maj, 8 Cal. vol. feb. 3, 65; must, out of vol. ser, oct. 24, 65.
- 3. JEWETT, HORACE, Dec. 31, 62, 15th Infantry. [Born in Me. : apptd. from Me.]— 1 [t, 15 inf, may 14, 61, acc. july 29, 61 ; capt. bvt. dec. 31, 62, "for gal. and mer. scr. in the battles of Shiloh and Murfreesboro', Tenn."; capt. 15 inf. dec. 31, 62 ; maj. bvt. sept. 1, 64, "for gal. and mer. scr. dur, the Atlanta campaign and in the battle of Jonesboro', (fa.")
- 4. MORRIS, RICHARD L., JR., Dec. 31, 62, 18th Infantry. [Born in N. V.; apptd. from N. Y.]— Pvt. co, K, 7 N. Y. 8, m. apr. 26, 61; *dischgd.* june 3, 61; 1 h. 18 inf. may 14, 61, acc. july 10, 61; adjit 1 hatt, aug. 15, 61, to dec. 31, 62; capt. dec. 31, 62; maj. bvt. dec. 31, 62, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Murfreesboro", Tenn."
- BRAYTON, GEORGE M., Jan. 3, 63, 8th Infantry. [Born in Mass.: apptd. from Ohio.]— 11t, 15 inf, may 14, 61, acc, july 2, 61; regtl. qm, may 8, 62; to oct. 3, 62; capt. jan. 3, 63; maj. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser, in the battle of Missionary Ridge, Tenn."; trs. to 33 inf. sept. 21, 66; trs. to 8 inf. may 3, 69.
- 6. SMITH, EDWARD W., Feb. 17, 63, 18th Infantry. [Born in Vi: apptd. from 111.]— 1 lt. 15 inf. may 14, 61, acc. june 30, 61; maj. a. a. g. vol. oct. 30, 62; acc. nov. 10, 62; capt. 15 inf. feb. 17, 63; it. col. a. a. g. [act july 17, 62] july 1, 63; maj. bvt. july 18, 63, " for gal. and mer. ser. in the assault on Fort Wagner, S. C."; col. vol. bvt. july 18, 63, " for mer. ser. in the campaigns of 1853 and 1864"; brig gen. vol. bvt. mar. 13, 65, " for faith. and mer. ser. dur, the war"; lt. col. bvt. apr. 2, 65, " for gal. and mer. ser. in front of Petersburg, Va."; relieved as lt. col. a. a. g. ang. 1, 65; must. out of vol. ser. july 20, 66; trs. to 24 inf. sept. 21, 66; unassd. apr. 25, 69; assd. to 18 inf. mar. 4, 70.
- BUSH, EDWARD G., Mar. 13, 63, 10th Infantry. [Born in Ill.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet sept. 1, 54; bvt. 2 It. 6 inf. july 1, 59; 2 It. 10 inf. aug. 7, 59; 1 It. 12 inf. may 14, 61 declined; 1 It. 10 inf. may 14, 61; regtl. adj't aug. 1, 61, to mar. 13, 63; capt. mar. 13, 63; maj. bvt. july 2, 63, " for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Gettysburg, Pa."
- 8. BATES, JOHN C., May 1, 63, 20th Infantry. [Born in Mo.; appld. from Mo.]— 1 lt. 11 inf. may 14, 61, acc. june 26, 61; adj't 1 batt. dec. 20, 62, 10 may 1, 63; capt. may 1, 63; maj. bvt. aug. 1, 64, " for faith. and mer. ser. in the field "; lt. col. bvt. apr. 9, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. dur. the recent operations resulting in the fall of Richmond, Va., and the surrender of the insurgent army under Gen. R. E. Lee"; trs. to 20 inf. sept. 21, 66.
- 9. DRUM, WILLIAM F., May 1, 63, 2nd Infantry. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from Minn.]— Cadet july 1, 51; resgd. may 11, 52; 24, 24nf. aug. 5, 61, acc. aug. 19, 61; 14t. oct. 9, 61; capt. may 1, 63; maj. byt. dec. 2, 64, "for gal. ser. dur. the present campaign before Richmond, Va."; It. col. byt. apr. 1, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Five Forks, Va."; It. col. 5 N. Y. vol. apr. 1, 65; col. may 29, 65; must. out of vol. ser. aug. 21, 65.
- 10. COLLINS, EDWARD, May 25, 63, 17th Infantry. [Born in Mass; apptd. from Army.]— Pvt. co. A, batt. eng. june 4, 46; avtf. sept. 1, 46; corpl. may 18, 48; sergt. feb. 1, 49; dischgd. june 4, 51; sergt. co. A, batt. eng. june 11, 51; dischgd. june 11, 56; sergt. co. A, batt. eng. june 11, 56; dischgd. june 11, 61; 1 lt. 17 inf. may 14, 61, acc. july 9, 61; capt. may 25, 63.
- 11. BURT, ANDREW S., May 30, 63, 9th Infantry. [Boru in Ohio ; apptd. from Ohio.]— Sergt. co. A, 6 Ohio vol. apr. 12, 61; dischgd. july 16, 61; 1 lt. 18 inf. may 14, 61, acc. july 16, 61; capt. a. a. d. e. apr. 3, 62, acc. apr. 25, 62; capt. bvt. june 19, 62, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Mill Spring, Ky."; capt. 18th inf. may 30, 63; vac. com. of capt. a. a. d. e. may 30, 63; maj. bvt. sept. 1, 64, "for gal. and mer. ser. dur. the Atlanta campaign, and in the battle of Jonesboro', Ga."; trs. to 27 inf. sept. 21, 66; trs. to 9 inf. june 14, 69.
- SNYDER, SIMON, July 1, 63, 5th Infantry. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Pa.]-2 lt. 5 inf. apr. 26, 61, acc. may 6, 61; 1 lt. june 25, 61; capt. july 1, 63.
- KRAUSE, DAVID, July 31, 63, 14th Infantry. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Pa.]—

 I. It. 14 inf. may 14, 61, acc. oct. 1, 61; qm. 1 batt. june —, 62, to july 31, 63; capt. july 31, 63; maj. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Gettysburg, Pa."
- MEARS, FREDERICK, Aug. 27, 63, 9th Infantry. [Born in N. Y.: apptd. from III.]—
 2 It. 9 inf. apr. 26, 61, acc. apr. 29, 61; 1 It. may 17, 61; It. col. 1 U. S. sh. sh. oct. 1, 61; must. out of vol. ser. nov. 30, 61; capt. 9 inf. aug. 27, 63; maj. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith, and mer. ser. dur. the war."
- 15. HALL, ROBERT H., Ang. 31, 63, 10th Infantry. [Born in Mich.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 55; bvt. 2 lt. 5 inf. july 1, 60; 2 lt. 10 inf. jan. 23, 61; 1 lt. june 1, 61; capt. aug. 31, 63; maj. bvt. nov. 24, 63, " for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Lookout Mountain, Tenn."; lt. col. bvt. aug. 19, 64, " for gal. and mer. ser. in battle on the Weldon R. R., Va."

- 16. PENROSE, WILLIAM H., Sept. H, 63, 3rd Infantry. [Born in N. Y.: apptd. from Mich.]—24, 3 inf. apr. B, 64, acc. may 1, 61; 14, may 14, 61; regtl. adjt mar. 1, 63, to apr. 18, 63; col. 15 N. J. vol. apr. 18, 63; cut. byt. may 3, 63, "for gal, and mer. ser. in the battle of Marye's Heights, Va."; maj. byt. july 2, 63, "for gal, and mer. ser. in the battle of thetwilderness, Va."; col. byt. oct. 19, 64, "for gal, and mer. ser. in the battle of Marye's Heights, Va."; brig. gen. vol. byt. oct. 19, 64, "for gal, and mer. ser. in the battle of Charty-forcek, Va."; brig. gen. vol. byt. oct. 19, 64, "for gal, and mer. ser. in the battle of Middlebow, Va."; brig. gen. vol. byt. oct. 19, 64, "for gal, and mer. ser. in the battle of Middlebow, Va."; brig. gen. vol. byt. oct. 46, "for gal, and mer. ser. jan. 15, 66.
- SMITH, ALFRED T., Sept. 19, 65, 8th Infantry. [Born in Mo.: apptd. from M. Λ.]— Cadet july 1, 55; bvt. 2 lt. 4 inf. july 1, 60; 2 lt. 8 inf. oct. 17, 60; 1 lt. may 14, 61; capt. bvt. july 1, 62, "for gal, and mer. ser. dur. the Peninsular campaign"; capt. 8 inf. sept. 19, 63; maj. bvt. and lt. col. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal, and mer. ser. dur. the war"; col. 156 Hl. vol. apr. 4, 65; mast. out of vol. ser. sept. 20, 65.
- 18. HAWKINS, HAMILTON S., Sept. 20, 63, 6th Infantry. [Born in S. C.; apptd. from N. Y.]

2 R. 6 inf. apr. 26, 61 and 1 R. may 14, 61, acc. may 17, 61; regth. qm. dec. 25, 61, ross sept. 20, 63; capt. byt. july 2, 63; "for gal, and mer. ser. in the battle of Gettysburg, Pa.," *declined* ; capt. 6 inf. sept. 20, 63; mnj. byt. oct. 11, 65, "for mer. ser.," *declined*.

 PARKER, DAINGERFIELD, Oct. 20, 63, 3rd Infantry. [Both in N. Y.; apptd. from At Uge.]-.

=24%3 inf, apr. 26, 61, acc, may 3, 61 ; -1 H, may 30, 61 ; maj, byt, july 2, 63, ** for gal and mer. ser, in the battle of Gettysburg, Pa, ** ; capt, 3 inf, oct, 20, 63,

- RAWN, CHARLES C., Nov. 4, 63, 7th Infantry. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Pa.]— Pet. co. F, 25 Pa. vol. may 2, 61; dischgd. july 26, 61; 24t. 7 inf. ang. 5, 61, acc. sept. 6, 61; 14, july 9, 62; capt. nov. 4, 63.
- 21. CASEY, JAMES S., Dec. 1, 63, 5th Infantry. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from N. Y.]— Pyt. eo. II, 7 N. Y. 8, m. apr. 26, 61; disclopd, june 3, 61; 24, 5 inf. ang. 5, 61; acc. ang. 26, 61; 14, sept. 25, 61; capt. dec. 1, 63; maj. bvt. mar. 25, 65, ``for gal. and mer. ser. dur. the attack by the enemy on Fort Steedman, Va."
- 22. KELLOGG, WILLIAM L., Jan. 1, 64, 10th Infantry. [Form in Ohio: apptd. from Ohio.]— 2 h. 10 inf. aug. 5, 61, acc. aug. 21, 61; 1 H. mar. 13, 63; 1 H. bvt. may 3, 63, "for gal, and mer. ser. in the battle of Chancellorsville, Va."; capt. bvt. july 2, 63, "for gal, and mer. ser. in the battle of Gettysburg, Pa."; capt. 10 inf. jan. 1, 64; maj. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal, and mer. ser. in the battle of Gettysburg, Pa."
- 23. VANCE, DUNCAN M., Jan. 6, 64, 16th Infantry. [Born in Ohio; apptd. from Ohio.]— 14. 11 inf. may 14, 61, acc. june 22, 61; capt. byt. july 3, 62; "for gal. and mer. ser. dur. the Peninsular campaign"; maj. byt. july 2, 63; "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Gettysburg. Pa."; capt. 11 inf. jan. 6, 64; irs. to 16 inf. apr. 14, 69.
- WEINS MIG, F.J. J., COB. F., Jan. 8, 64, 3rd Infantry. [Born in P.A.: apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 56; 24, 3 inf. may 6, 61; 14, july 31, 61; 1, eol. a. i. g. [act july 17, 62] jan. 1, 63; maj. byt. may 3, 63, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Marye's Heights, Va."; capt. 3 inf. jan. 8, 64; 1, col. byt. may 12, 64, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the field dur, the present campaign before Richmond, Va."; relieved as 11, col. a. i. g. aug. 31, 65.
- 25. SELLERS, EDWIN E., Feb. 17, 64, 10th Infantry. [Horn in Pa., apptd. from Pa.]— 24t, 10 inf. oct. 24, 61, acc. nov. 5, 61; 14t, byt. may 3, 63, "for gal, and mer. ser, in the battle of Chancellorsville, Va."; 14t, 10 inf. june 1, 63; capt. byt. july 2, 63, "for gal, and mer. ser, in the battle of Gettysburg, Pa."; capt. 10 inf. feb. 17, 64; maj, byt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal, and mer. ser, dur, the war."
- OVENSHINE, SAMUEL, Mar. 30, 64, 5th Infantry. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Md.]- 24t. 54nf. aug. 5, 61, acc. aug. 29, 61; 14t. sept. 25, 61; regtl. adj't jan. 4, 63, to mar. 30, 64; capt. mar. 30, 64.
- POLLOCK, EDWIN, Apr. 20, 64, 9th Infantry. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Pa.]— 24, 9 inf. aug. 5, 61, acc. aug. 28, 61; 14t. dec. 31, 62; regtl. qu. sept. I, 63, to apr. 20, 64, capt. apr. 20, 64.
- 28. PAGE, JOHN H., May 6, 64, 3rd Infantry. [Born in Del.: apptd. from III.]— Pvt. co. A. 1 III. 1, art, ang. 25, 61; discload, oct. 24, 61; 2 It. 3 inf, ang. 5, 61, acc. oct. 24, 61; 1 It. mar. 12, 62; capt. bvt, doc. 13, 62, "for gal, and mer. ser, in the battle of Fredericksburg, Va."; maj. bvt, july 2, 63, "for gal, and mer. ser, in the battle of Gettysburg, Pa."; capt. 3 inf, may 6, 64.
- BUTLER, EDMOND, May 14, 64, 5th Infantry. [Born in Ireland; apptd. from N. Y.]-2 lt. 5 inf. oct. 7, 61, acc. oct. 10, 61; 1 lt. feb. 20, 62; capt. may 14, 64.

- 30. BRADY, GEORGE K., June 10, 64, 23rd Infantry. [Form in Pa.; apptd. from Pa.]— Pvt. co. B. 12 Pa. vol. apr. 25, 61; dischad. july 8, 61; 1 ht. 14 inf. may 14, 61, acc. july 8, 61; regtl. qm. jan. 1, 62, to june 10, 64; eapt. june 10, 64; maj. bvt. ang. 18, 64, "for gal. ser. dm. the operations on the Weldon R. R. Va."; It. col. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. dm. the war"; trs. to 23 inf. sept. 21, 66.
- 31. ANDREWS, JOHN N., June 21, 64, 8th Infantry. [Born in Del.: apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 55; byt. 24, 4 inf. july 1, 60; 24, 8 inf. jun. 28, 61; 14, may 14, 61; capt. byt. ang. 9, 62, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Cedar Mountain, Va.": regtl. adj't dec. 1, 62, to apr. 20, 63; capt. 8 inf. june 21, 64; maj. byt. nov. 29, 64, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Franklin, Tenn."; 14, col. byt. nar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. dur, the war."
- 32. HEAD, GEORGE E., July 12, 64, 3rd Infantry. [Born in Mass.: apptd. from Mass.]— 1 R. 11 inf. may 14, 61, acc. july 10, 61; regfl. adj't oct. 1, 62, to apr. 24, 63; capt. july 12, 64; maj. byt. aug. 1, 64, "for gal. ser. in the battle of Spottsylvania"; trs. to 29 inf. sept. 21, 66; unassd. apr. 25, 69; assd. to 3 inf. jan. 1, 71.
- 33. PARKE, JOHN B., July 14, 64, 10th Infantry. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Pa.]— Pyt. co. F, 25 Pa. vol. may 2, 61; discligid, june 26, 61; 11, 17 inf. may 14, 61, acc. june 26, 61; capit. july 14, 64; maj. byt. ang. 1, 64, "for gal. ser. in the battle of Spottsylvania and dur, the operations before Richmond, Va."; It. col. byt. apr. 2, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. at Fort Steedman and in the assault on Fort Sedgwick, Va."; trs. to 26 inf. sept. 21, 66; trs. to 10 inf. may 19, 69.
- 34. THEAKER, HUGH A., July 28, 64, 16th Infantry. [Born in Ohio: apptd. from Ohio] 1 lt. 16 inf. may 14, 61, acc. july 25, 61; capt. bvt. nov. 25, 63, "for gal, and mer. ser. in the battle of Missionary Ridge, Tenn."; capt. 16 inf. july 28, 64; trs. to 34 inf. sept. 21, 66; trs. to 16 inf. apr. 14, 69.
- 35. LYSTER, WILLIAM J., Ang. 9, 64, 19th Infantry [Born in Mich.; apptd. from Mich.]— 2 H. adj't 2 Mich. vol. may 25, 61; dischgd. june 21, 61; 1 H. 19 inf. may 14, 61, acc. june 21, 61; capt. byt. apr. 7, 62, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Shiloh, Tenn."; uaj. byt. sept. 20, 63, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Chickamauga, Ga."; capt. 19 inf. ang. 9, 64; 1t. col. byt. sept. 1, 64, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Missionary Ridge, Tenn., and dur, the Atlanta campaign.."
- 36. VANVALZAH, DAVHD D., Aug. 10, 64, 25th Infantry. [Born in Ill.; appid. from Pa.]— 1 Ir. 12 inf. may 14, 61, acc. june 29, 61; capt. byt. aug. 1, 64, "for gal. ser. in the battle of the Wilderness and due, the present campaign before Richmond, Va."; capt. 12 inf. aug. 10, 64; trs. to 30 inf. sept. 21, 66; unasad, mar. 23, 69; assd. to 25 inf. jan. 1, 71.
- 37. WIKOFF, CHARLES A., Aug. 15, 64, 11th Infantry. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Pa.]— Pvt. co. H, 1 Pa. vol. apr. 20, 61; dischgd. june 25, 61; 1 lt. 15 inf. may 14, 61, acc. june 25, 61; capt. bvt. apr. 7, 62, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Shiloh, Tenn."; maj. hvt. nov. 25, 63, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battles of Chickamauga, Ga., and Missionary Ridge, Tenn."; capt. 15 inf. aug. 15, 64; trs. to 24 inf. sept. 21, 66; trs. to 11 inf. apr. 25, 69.
- 38. STACEY, MAY H., Aug. 19, 64, 12th Infantry. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Pa.]— 1 It. 12 inf. may 14, 61, acc. july 9, 61; adj[t 1 hat. aug. 20, 62, to feb. 24, 63; qm, 3 batt. feb. 24, 63, to feb. 11, 64; qm. 1 batt. feb. 11, 64, to aug. 19, 64; capt. bvt. aug. 18, 64, "for gal. ser. dur. the operations on the Weldon R. R., Va."; capt. 12 inf. aug. 19, 64; maj. bvt. apr. 9, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. dur. the campaign terminating with the surrender of the insurgent army under Gen. R. E. Lee"; It. col. bvt. apr. 9, 65, "for gal. and eff. ser. in the engagements on the Weldon R. R., Va., on the 18th, 19th, and 21st of aug. 1864."
- 39. MOALE, EDWARD, Sept. 13, 64, 3rd Infantry. [Born in Md.; apptd. from Md.]— 1 lt. 19 inf. may 14, 61, acc. june 28, 61; regtl. qu. aug. 22, 60, to july 20, 62; capt. sept. 13, 64; maj. bvt. dec. 2, 64, "for gal. and dis. ser. in the battle of Spottsylvania and dur. the present campaign before Richmond, Va."; col. vol. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. dur. the war"; lt. col. a. a. g. [act july 17, 62] mar. 21, 65; lt. col. bvt. apr. 2, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. in front of Petersburg, Va."; reliered as lt. col. a. a. g. ang. 1, 65; trs. to 37 inf. sept. 21, 66; trs. to 3 inf. ang. 11, 69.
- CLIFT, EMORY W., Sept. 29, 64, 13th Infantry. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from Mich.]— 1 lt. 13 inf. may 14, 61, acc. june 24, 61; regtl. qm. sept. 1, 61, to nov. 1, 62; capt. sept. 20, 64.
- 41. COOK, HENRY C., Sepi. 24, 64, 2nd Infantry. [Born in Mass.; apptd. from Mass.]— 2 It. 2 R. I. vol. june 5, 61; must. out ang. 7, 61; 1 It. 16 inf. ang. 5, 61, acc. ang. 7, 61; regtl. adj't mar. 15, 62, to nov. 7, 63; capt. byt. sept. 1, 64, "for gal. and mer. ser. dur. the Atlanta campaign and in the battle of Jonesboro', Ga."; capt. 16 inf. sept. 24, 64; trs. to 2 inf. apr. 17, 69.

- 42. KLINE, JACOB, Sept. 30, 64, 18th Infantry. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Pa.]— 1 It. 16 inf. sept. 9, 61, acc. sept. 13, 61; capt. bvt. apr. 7, 62, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the lattle of Shiloh, Tenn."; qu. 1 batt. 16 inf. sept. —, 62, to sept. —, 63; maj. bvt. sept. 1 C4, "for gal. and mer. ser. dur. the Atlanta campaign"; capt. 16 inf. sept. 30, 64; tts. to Lo inf. sept. 21, 66; tts. to 18 inf. apr. 26, 69.
- 43. DICKEY, CHARLES J., Nov. 5, 64, 22nd Infantry. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Pa.]— 1 lt. 13 inf. may 14, 61, acc. june 25, 61; capt. bvt. july 4, 63, "for gal, and mer. ser. in "the siege of "Vicksburg, Miss."; maj, bvt. sept. 1, 64, "for gal, and mer. ser. dur, the Atanta campaign and in the battle of Jonesboro", Ga."; capt. 13 inf. nov. 5, 64; trs. to 31 inf. sept. 21, 66; trs. to 22 inf. may 15, 69.
- 44. WOODRUFF, EDWARD C., Dec. 30, 64, 12th Infantry. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from N. J.]— Drum maj. 2, N. J. vol. may 2, 61; hosp. stwd. 2 N. J. vol. — , , , ; ; dischgd. july 31, 61; 1 ff. 5 N. Y. cav. oct. 31, 61; must. out apr. 6, 62; 2 ft. 7 inf. mar. 24, 62, acc. apr. 7, 62; regth. adjt jun. 1, 63, to sept. 5, 66; 1 ff. byt. july 2, 63; "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Gettysburg. Pa."; 1 ft. 7 inf. sept. 10, 63; capt. dec. 30, 64; maj. byt. mar. 13, 65; "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Gettysburg, Pa."; mussel, may 19, 69; assd. to 12 inf. july 14, 69.
- 45. MILES, EVAN, Jan. 20, 65, 21st Infantry. [Born in Pa.: apptd. from Pa.]— 1 R. 12 inf. ang. 5, 60, acc. sept. 16, 61; qu. 1 batt, ang. 5, 63 to nov. 19, 63; regth qm. nov. 19, 63, to jan. 20, 65; capt. byt, ang. 18, 64, "for gal, ser, dur, the operations on the Weldon R. R., Va."; capt. 12 inf. jan. 20, 65; trs. to 21 inf. sept. 21, 66.
- 46. PCWELL, WILLIAM H., Feb. 2, 65, 4th Infantry. [Born in D. C.; apptd. f: am D. C.]— Pvt. 4 batt. D. C. militia vol. apr. 17, 61; dischad. july 17, 61; 24t, 4 inf. oct. 24, 61, acc. oct. 25, 61; regtl. adj't mar. 1, 62, to jan. 29, 63; 14t, sept. 16, 62; capt. bvt. sept. 17, 62, "for gal, and mer. ser, in the battle of Antician, Md."; capt. 4 inf. feb. 2, 65; maj. bvt. apr. 2, 65, "for gal, and mer. ser, in front of Petersburg, Va."
- 47. HAMPSON, JESSE A. P., Feb. 3, 65, 10th Infantry. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Iowa.]— Pyt. co. M. 4 Iowa cay, nov [6, 61; disclad, apr. 4, 62; 24, 10 inf. feb. 19, 62; acc. apr. 1, 62; 14, byt. may 3, 63, "for gal, and mer, ser, in the battle of Chancellorsville, Va."; cap6, byt, july 2, 63, "for gal, and mer, ser, in the battle of Chancellorsville, IO, fifther and the battle of Chancellorsville, and mer, ser, in the battle of Chancellorsville, of Gettysburg, Pa."; 14, of Gettysburg, Pa.
- 48. BENHAM, DANIEL W., Feb. 8, 65, 7th Infantry. [Born in Ohio: apptd. from Ohio.]— Pyt. co. B, 6 Ohio vol. apr. 20, 61; dissdapl. ang. 21, 61; 2 It. 18 inf. act. 24, 61, acc. nov. 8, 61; 1 It. feb. 19, 62; qu. 1 batt. mar. 16, 62; to feb. 8, 65; capt. byt. dec. 31, 62; "for gal. and mer. ser, in the battle of Muttree shore," rem."; capt. 18 inf. feb. 8, 65; maj. byt. mar. 13, 65; "for gal. and mer. ser, dur, the Atlanta campaign"; trs. to 36 inf. sept. 21, 66; trs. to 7; inf. may 19, 69.
- 49. KELLOGG, EDGAR R., Feb. 16, 65, 18th Infantry. [Born in N. Y.: apptd. from Army.]— Sergt. co. A. 24 Ohio vol. apr. 22, 61; sergt. maj. 24 Ohio vol. june 19, 61; dischgd. july 23, 61; 24, 24 Ohio vol. july 23, 61; regal. ecc. 28, 61; pvt. co. B. 1 batt. 16 inf. nov. 29, 61; sergt.maj. 1 batt. 16 inf. dec. 18, 61; dischgd. ang. 1, 62; 24 h. 64 inf. apr. 7, 62, acc. aug. 1, 62; 14; may 3, 62; capt. bvt. dec. 31, 62; "for gal. and mer. ser, in the battle of Murfreesboro" fein."; maj. bvt. sept. 1, 64, "for gal. and mer. ser, dur, the Atlanta campaign and in the battle of Jonesboro", Ga."; capt. 16 inf. feb, 16, 65; trs. to 25 inf. sept. 21, 66; trs. to 18 inf. apr. 26, 69.
- 50. WHITTEMORE, EDWARD W., Mar. 10, 65, 15th Infantry. [Born in Mass.; apptd. from Mass.] 21, 17 inf. oct. 24, 61, acc. nov. 4, 61; 1-4t. may 10, 62; capt. mar. 10, 65; maj. bvt. mar.

241, 17 mi, oct. 24, 61, acc. nov. 4, 61; 7 ft, may 40, 62; capt. mar. 40, 65; maj. 68; mar. 13, 65; "for faith, and mer. ser."; trs. to 35 inf. sept. 21, 66; trs. to 15 inf. aug. 12, 69.

- 51. COMBA, RICHARD, Mar. 14, 65, 7th Infantry. [Born in Ireland: apptd. from Army.]— Pyt. co. K, 7 inf. jan. 30, 55; corpl. mar. 18, 58; pyt. july 1, 59; discloid. dec, 1, 59; pyt. co. K, 7 inf. dec, 1, 59; sergt. fcb, 15, 60; 1 sergt. june 6, 60; sergt. co. B, 7 inf. dec, 8, 61; sergt. co. E, 7 inf. dec, 13, 61; 1 sergt. mar. 17, 62; 2 lt, 7 inf. fcb, 19, 63, acc. mar. 26, 63; I lt, byt. july 2, 63, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Gettysburg, Pa."; 1 lt, 7 inf. oct. 30, 63; capt. byt. and maj. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Gettysburg, Pa."; capt. 7 inf. mar. 14, 65.
- 52. EGBERT, HARRY C., Apr. 1, 65, 12th Infantry. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Pa.]— 1 It. 12 inf. sept. 23, 61, acc. sept. 24, 61; adj 12 batt, icb. 26, 62, to apr. 1, 65; capt. bvt, aug. 1, 64, "for gal, ser, in the battle of North Anna, Va."; naj. bvt, aug. 1, 64, "for gal, ser, in the battle of Betheada Church, Va."; capt. 12 inf. apr. 1, 65.

- 53. COATES, EDW1N M., Apr. 11, 65, 4th Infantry. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from III.] 1 It. 11 N. Y. vol. may 7, 61; *resqd*, ang. 4, 61; 2 It. 2 cav. ang. 5, 61, acc. ang. 29, 61; trs. to 12 inf. sept. 20, 61; 1 It. oct. 24, 61; qm. 2 batt, feb. 26, 62, to feb. 24, 63; and [1 1 batt. feb. 24, 63, to apr. 11, 65; capt. bvt. ang. 1, 64, "for gal. ser. in the battle of the Wilderness, Va., and dur, the present campaign before Richmond, Va."; capt. 12 inf. apr. 11, 65; trs. to 30 inf. sept. 21, 66; trs. to 4 inf. mar. 23, 69.
- 54. WHARTON, JOHN S., June 30, 65, 19th Infantry. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from N. Y.]— 1 lt. 14 inf. may 14, 61, acc. june 28, 61; capt. bvt. ang. 30, 62, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Bull Run (2d), Va.": capt. 14 inf. june 30, 65; unassd. july 22, 69; assd. to 19 inf. dec. 15, 70.
- 55. SANGER, LOUIS II., July 21, 65, 17th Infantry. [Born in Me.; app4d, from Army.]— Pvt. co. C, 1 batt. 17 inf. sept. 19, 61; corpl. july 1, 62; sergt. july 18, 62; 2 lt. 17 inf. july 19, 62, acc. aug. 2, 62; 1 lt. aug. 9, 62; capt. bvt. july 2, 63, and maj. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Gettysburg, Pa."; capt. 17 inf. july 21, 65; out of ser. july 24, 72; reinstated jan. 6, 73.
- 56. RANDALL, GEORGE M., Sept. 23, 65, 23rd Infantry. [Born in Ohio; apptd. from Pa.]— Pvt. co. A, 4Pa, vol. apr. 20, 61; discbgd, july 25, 61; 2 lt. 4 inf. oct. 24, 61; acc. nov. 6, 61; capt. bvt. sept. 17, 62, "for gal. and mer. ser, in the battle of Antictam, Md."; 1 lt. 4 inf. nov. 6, 62; maj. 14 N, X, ant, ang. 16, 64; lt. col. vol. bvt. and col. vol. bvt. mar. 26, 65, "for gallantry in the attack on Fort Steedman, Va."; maj. bvt. apr. 265, "for gal. and mer. ser, in front of Petersburg, Va."; lt. col. 14 N, Y, art. june 1, 65; must. out of vol. ser, ang. 26, 65; capt. 4 inf. sept. 23, 65; unassd. mar. 23, 69; assd. to 23 inf. jan. 1, 71.
- 57. MUNSON, SAMU'EL, Sept. 28, 65, 9th Infantry. [Born in E. Ind.; apptd. from Me.]— Sergt. co. H. 5 Me. vol. may 6, 61; *disclud.* may 27, 61; 2 H. 5 Me. vol. may 27, 61; *must. out* sept. 4, 61; 2 H. 9 inf. ang. 5, 61, acc. sept. 5, 61; 1 H. dec. 31, 62; regtl. qm. may 9, 64, to july 7, 65; capt. a. qm. vol. feb. 27, 65, acc. oct. 10, 65; capt. 9 inf. sept. 28, 65; *must. out* of vol. ser, june 27, 66.
- 5.8. DOWNEY, GEORGE M., Oct. 5, 65, 21st Infantry. [Born in Md.; apptd. from Va.]— 1 lt, 14 inf. oct. 26, 61, acc. (cb. 13, 62; qm. 2 batt. oct. ..., 62; to mar. ..., 63; capt. bvt. july 2, 63, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Gettysburg, Pa."; adjt 2 batt. 14 inf. nov. ..., 64, to dec. 11, 64; regtl. adjt dec. 11, 64, to oct. 5, 65; maj. bvt. mar. 13, 65, " for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Gettysburg, Pa."; capt. 14 inf. oct. 5, 65; trs. to 32 inf. sept. 21, 66; trs. to 21 inf. apr. 19, 69.
- 59. CLARKE, FRANCIS, Oct. 10, 65, 22nd Infantry. [Born in Ireland: apptd from Δrmy.]— Pvt. co. G, 3 inf. june 4, 50; corpl. jan. 1, 53; sergt. mar. 1, 53; disclad. apr. 4, 55; sergt. co. G, 3 inf. apr. 4, 55; disclad. disb. 15, 60; sergt. co. G, 3 inf. fcb. 15, 60; 1 sergt. dec. 8, 60; 2 lt. 13 inf. may 14, 61, acc. june 28, 61; 1 lt. oct. 24, 61; capt. bvt. july 4, 63, "for gal. and mer. scr. in the siege of Vicksburg, Miss."; maj. bvt. nov. 25, 63, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Missionary Ridge, Tenn."; capt. 13 inf. oct. 10, 65; trs. to 31 inf. sept. 21, 66; trs. to 22 inf. may 15, 69.
- 60. HENTON, JAMES, Nov. 4, 65, 23rd Infantry. [Born in Engl'd; apptd. from Army.]— Pvt. co. D, 6 inf. nov. 22, 53; corpl. july 1, 55; stergt. june 1, 56; 1 stergt. mar. 17, 58; disclayd. nov. 22, 58; pvt. gen. ser. may 14, 60; trs. to 14 inf. sept. 1, 61; 1 stergt. co. A, 2 batt. 14 inf. _____, 61; 2 lt. 14. inf. oct. 5, 61, acc. oct. 25, 61; 1 lt. feb. 19, 62; capt. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Gettysburg, Pa."; adj't 2 batt. 14 inf. aug. 1, 65, to nov. 4, 65; capt. 14 inf. nov. 4, 65; trs. to 23 inf. sept. 21, 66.
- 61. WEDEMEYER, WILLIAM G., Nov. 16, 65, 16th Infantry. [Born in Germ'y; apptd. from Army.]— Pvt. co. —, 1 batt. 16 inf. nov. 16, 61; sergt. dec. 4, 61; sergt. co. 11, may 19, 62; sergt. maj. 1 batt. 16 inf. aug. 2, 62; 2 lt. 16 inf. aug. 13, 62, acc. sept. 9, 62; 1 lt. feb. 14, 63; capt. bvt. sept 20, 63, "for gal, and mer. ser. in the battle of Chickamauga, Ga."; capt. 16 inf. nov. 16,

sept 20, 55. for gat and mer, ser, in the particle of the kannandiga, tra.; capt, for inf. nov. 10, 65; its, to 34 inf. sept. 21, 66; its, to 16 inf. apr, 14, 60.
 62. DE COURCY, FERDINAND E., Nov. 21, 65, 13th Infantry. [Born in Ireland; apptd.

- from Army.]— Pvt. co. K, 2 int. dec. 22, 57; corpl. june 14, 59; sergt. nov. 1, 59; 2 lt. 13 inf. may 14, 61, acc.
 - june 22, 61; 1 lt. oct. 24, 61; regtl. adj t oct. 1, 62, to nov. 12, 64; capt. nov. 21, 65.
- 63. BRADFORD, JAMES H., Dec. 1, 65, 19th Infantry. [Born in Del.; apptd. from Army.]— Pvt. 1 batty. Del. 1, art. oct. 20, 62; disedgd. nov. 18, 62; pvt. co. —, 17 inf. nov. 18, 62; 2 lt. 17 inf. nov. 18, 62, acc. nov. 18, 62; 1 lt. may 1, 63; capt. bvt. ang. 1, 64, "for gul. ser. in the battle of Spoitsylvania and dur. the present campaign before Richmond, Va."; adjt 2 batt. 17 inf. oct. 19, 64, to dec. 1, 65; capt. 17 inf. dec. 1, 65; trs. to 26 inf. sept. 21, 66; unassd. may 19, 69; assd. to 19 inf. ang. 16, 69.

- 64. WORTH, WILLIAM S., Jan. 14, 66, 8th Infantry. [Born in N. Y.: apptd. from N. Y.] = 24t. 8 inf. apr. 26, 61, acc. may 2, 61; 1 It. june 7, 61; regtl. adj ts sept. 25, 61, to apr. 13, 62; capt. byt. aug. 1, 64, "for gal, and dis. ser, in the assault on the enemy's lines before Petersburg and in the operations in the camprogn against Richmond, Va.": maj. byt. apr. 9, 55, "for gal, and mer. ser, dur, the camprogn against Richmond, Va.": maj. byt. apr. 9, 55, "for gal, and mer. R. E. Lee"; capt. 8 inf. jan. 14, 66.
- 65. MILLS, WILLIAM, Feb. 13, 66, 2nd Infantry. [Born in Mich.; apptd. from Army.]— Pyt. co. C. 5 inf. oct. 28, 58; corpl. m r. 1, 60; sergt. july 1, 61; t sergt. july 21, 61; on duty acting 214, 5 inf. jan. 6, 62, to feb. 24, 65, by order dept. condr.; 24; u and 14; 16 inf. feb. 19, 63, acc. feb. 24, 63; capt. byt. sept. 1, 64, "for gal, and mer. ser. dur. the Atlanta campaign and in the battle of Jonesboro', Ga."; regit. qm. 16 inf. oct. 42, 65, to feb. 13, 66; capt. 16 inf. feb. 13, 66; ust. to 2 inf. apr. 17, 69.
- 66. SCHIWAN, THEODORE, Mar. 14,66, 11th Infantry. [Bornin Germ'y: apptd. from Army.]— Pvt. co. K. 10 inf. june 12,57; corpl. mar. 4,60; sergt. sept. 1,60; 1 sergt. apr. 1, 61; discloped, june 1, 62; 1 sergt. co. K. 10 inf. june 1, 62; qm, sergt. 10 inf. apr. 12, 63; 2 lt. 10 inf. oct 34,63; acc. nov. 6,63; 1 lt. apr. 9, 61; capt. bvt. oct. 1, 64, "for gal. ser, in the battle of Chapel House, Va."; regtl. qm, 10 inf. dec. 6, 64, to mar 14, 66; capt. 10 inf. mar. 14, 66; maj. bvt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser, dur. the war"; massd. may 19, 69; assd. to 11 inf. dec. 13, 69.
- 67. BATES, KINZIE, Mur. 15, 66, 1st Infuntry. [B orn in Mich.; appt.l. from Mich.]— Pet. co. A. 1 Much. vol. may 1, 61; corpl. june 13, 61; disched, aug. 7, 61; 24). Vinf. aug. 5, 61, acc. aug. 29, 61; 14). nov. 23, 61; reg2h. qu. au; 9, 62, to jun. 27, 61; eq. bv. to et 4, 62, "for gal, and mer. ser, in the battle of Corinth, Miss,"; mij. bvt, july 4, 63, "for gal, and mer. ser, dur, the siege of Vicksburg. Miss,"; regth adj't 1 inf. jan. 27, 64, to mar. 15, 66; eapt. 1 inf. mar. 15, 66.
- 68. SANDERSON, GEORGE K., Mar. 28, 66, 11th Infuntry. [Born in Pa.; apptd from Army.] Pyt. co. — 15 inf. oct. 24, 61; 2 4t. 15 inf. oct. 34, 64, acc. nov. 7, 61; 1 ft. byt. apr. 7, 62, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Shilb A. Tenn,": 1 H. 15 inf. nov. 9, 62; eapt. byt. sept. 1, 64, "for gal, and mer. ser. dur. the Atlanta campaign "; regth qu. 15 inf. apr. 6, 65, to mar. 28, 66; capt. 15 inf. mar. 28, 66; trs. to 33 inf. sept. 21, 66; unassd. may 3, 69; assd. to 11 inf. dec. 18, 69.
- 69. WHERRY, WHALAAM M., Apr. 5, 66, 6th Infantry. [Born in Mo.: apptd. from Mo.]— 14, 3 Mo. vol. may 8, 61; mast, out ang. 18, 61; 14, 13 inf. oct. 26, 64, acc. oct. 26, 64; maj, a. d. e. vol. may 12, 64, acc. may 31, 64; capt. byt. sept. 1, 64, "for gal, and mer. ser, dur. the Athanta campaign"; maj, byt. dec. 16, 64, "for gal, and mer. ser, in the battles of Franklin and Nashville, Tenn."; It. col. byt. and col. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal, and mer. ser, dur. the war"; ed. vol. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal, and mer. ser, dur. the late campaign in Georgia and Tennessee "; brig. gen. vol. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal, and mer ser,"; must, out of vol. ser, feb. 9, 66; capt. 13 inf. apr. 5, 66; trs. to 31 inf. sept. 21, 65; unassd. may 15, 69; ass3, to 6 inf. feb. 15, 70.
- 70. IRVINE, JAVAN B., Apr. 7, 66, 22nd lufantry. [Born in N. Y.: apptd. from Minu.]— Pvt. co. A, 1 Minu. vol. apr. 29, 61; *dischad.* may 15, 61; pvt. co. A, 1 Minu. vol. july 9, 61; *dischyd.* dec. 2, 61; 14, 13 int. oct. 26, 61, acc. dec. 2, 61; regtl. qu. nov. I, 62, to mar. I, 65; capt. apr. 7, 66; trs. to 22 inf. sept. 21, 66.
- 71. FALCK, WILLIAM, Apr. 18, 66, 2nd Infantry. [Born in Germ'y: apptd. from Army.]— Pvt. co. F. 2 inf. june 14, 58; corpl. apr. 1, 60; sergt. maj. 2 inf. nov. 1, 61; 2 lt. 2 inf. july 18, 62, acc. oct. 3, 62; 1 lt. feb. 9, 63; regt'l adj't nov. 1, 63, to nov. 30, 64; capt. bvt. aug. 1, 64, "for gal. ser, in the battle of Spottsylvania and dur, the present campaign before Richmond, Va."; maj. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal, and mer. ser, in the battle of Chancellorsville, Va."; lt. col. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal, and mer, ser, in the battle of Spottsylvania C. H., Va."; apr. 2 inf. apr. 18, 66.
- 72. TORREY, ROBERT A., June 19, 66, 13th Infantry. [Born in III.; apptd. from III.]— 24t, 13 inf. feb. 99, 62, acc. mar. 17, 62; 14t. june 18, 62; regtl. qu. mar. 1, 65, to june 19, 66; capt. june 19, 66.
- 73. PATTERSON, JOHN H., July 28, 66, 20th Infantry. [Born in N. Y.; apped. from N. Y.] 1 lt. 11 inf. may 14, 61, acc. july 8, 61; capt. byl. oct. 1, 64, ∩ for gal. ser. in the battle of Chapel House, Va.⁺; trs. to 20 inf. sept. 21, 66; capt. july 28, 66.
- 74. REMINGTON, PHILLP H., July 28, 66, 19th Infantry. [Born in Conn.; apptd. from M.A.]— Cadet july 1, 57; 2 lt. 8 inf. june 24, 61; 1 lt. aug. 23, 61; regtl. adj't apr. 21, 63, to oct. 18, 64, and from feb. 2, 65, to jan. 31, 66; capt. july 28, 66; unassd. may 3, 69; assd. to 19 inf. dec. 28, 69.

- 75. FREEMAN, HENRY B., July 28, 66, 7th Infantry. [Born in Ohio: apptd. from Army.]→ Pvt. co. G. 10 mf. july 16, 55: discloyd. feb. 5, 56; pvt. co. B; 2batt. 18 inf. july 8, 61; 1 sergt. ..., ..., 2: 11. 18 inf. oct. 30, 61; acc. nov. 4, 61; 111, may 30, 62; capt. bvt. dec. 31, 62, "for gal, and mer. ser, in the battle of Murfreesboro", Tenn."; adjit 1 batt. 18 inf. mar. 16, 63, to nov. 1, 65; maj. bvt. sept. 20, 63, "for gal, and mer. ser, in the battle of Chickamanga, Ga."; capt. 18 inf. july 28, 66; trs. to 27 inf. sept. 21, 66; unassd. june 14, 69; assd. to 7 inf.jan. 7, 70.
- 76. KIRTLAND, THADDEUS S., July 28, 66, 7th Infantry. [Born in Conn.; apptd. from Army.]—

Pvt. co. -, 18 inf. oct. 1, 61; 2 lt. 18 inf. oct. 30, 61, acc. nov. 7, 61; 1 lt. july 22, 62; trs. to 36 inf. sept. 21, 66; eapt. july 28, 66; trs. to 7 inf. may 19, 69.

- BAILEY, CLARENCE M., July 28, 66, 8th Infantry. [Born in Ind.; appid. from Ind.]— 24t, 6 inf. aug. 5, 61, acc, sept. 4, 61; 1/t. july 14, 63; capt. july 28, 66; unassd. apr. 22, 69; assd. to 8 inf. dec. 15, 70.
- 78. FERRIS, SAM'EL P., July 28, 66, 4th Infantry. [Born in Conn., apptd. from M. A.]—Cadet sept. 1, 57; byt. 24t. and 24t. 8 inf. june 24, 61; 14t. feb. 19, 62; col. 28 Conn. vol. nov. 15, 62; copt. byt. june 14, 63; "for gal, and mer. ser. in the campaign against Port Hudson, La."; must out of vol. ser, ang. 28, 63; regtl. qu. feb. 2, 64, to aug. 13, 66; maj. byt. oct. 28, 64, "for gal, and mer. ser. in the battle of Hatcher's Run, Va."; capt. 30 inf. july 28, 66, acc. nov. 23, 66; trast. to 4 inf. mar. 23, 69.
- 79. MITCHELL, WILLIAM G., July 28, 66, 5th Infantry. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Pa.] Pvt. co. E, 25 Pa. vol. apr. 18, 61; trs. to 7 Pa. vol. apr. 23, 61; sergt. maj. apr. 23, 61; if t. 7 Pa. vol. jnne 25, 61; must. out ang. 5, 61; 11t, 49 Pa. vol. ang. 25, 61; must. out ang. 5, 66]; 11t, 49 Pa. vol. ang. 25, 61; must. out ang. 5, 61; 11t, 49 Pa. vol. ang. 25, 61; must. out ang. 5, 61; 11t, 49 Pa. vol. ang. 25, 61; angl. a, d. e. vol. jnne 25, 63; acc. dec. 7, 63; H. col. vol. bvt. aug. 1, 64, "for mer. and dis. cond. and for gal-lantry in action, especially in the Wildermess"; col. vol. bvt. oct. 27, 64; "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Boydton Plank Road, Va."; brig. gen. vol. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for dis. and most val. ser. dur. the war"; H. col. a. i. g. [act july 17, 62] aug. 1, 65, to june 11, 66; must. out july 31, 66; copt. 37 inf. july 28, 66, acc. oct. 23, 66; mai. bvt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Boydton Road, Va."; brig. 9, and bvt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Boydton Road, Va."; to 5 inf. may. 9, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Boydton Road, Va."; to 5 inf. may. 9, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Boydton Road, Va."; to 5 inf. may. 9, 66, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Boydton Road, Va."; to 5 inf. may. 9, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Boydton Road, Va."; to 5 inf. may. 9, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Boydton Road, Va."; to 5 inf. may. 9, 69.
- 80. POWELL, JAMES W., JR., July 28, 66, 6th Infantry. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from N. Y.]— Pvt. co. B, 7 N. Y. s. m. apr. 21, 61; *dischgd.* june 3, 61; 1–11, 71 N. Y. vol. june 20, 61; 14, vet. res. corps may 22, 63, acc. may 28, 63; capt. oct. 28, 63, acc. nov. 18, 63; maj. vol. bvt. and It. col. vol. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. dur. the war"; *must. out* june 3, 66; capt. 42 inf. july 28, 66, acc. oct. 20, 66; trs. to 6 inf. apr. 22, 69.
- 81. CONRAD, 408EPH, July 28, 66, 41th Infantry. [Born in Germ'y; apptd. from Mo.]— Capt. 3 Mo. vol. apr. 22, 61; maj. july 31, 61; must. out may 25, 62; It col. 15 Mo. vol. may 26, 62; col. nov. 29, 62; brig. gen. vol. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. coud. throughout the Atlanta campaign"; must. out feb. 3, 66; capt. 29 inf. july 28, 66, ace. oct. 6, 66; maj. bvt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the Atlanta campaign"; It. col. bvt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Franklin, Tenn."; col. bvt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Nashville, Tenn."; trs. to 11 inf. apr. 25, 69.
- 82. WHEATON, LOYD, July 28, 66, 20th Infantry. [Born in Mich.; apptd. from III.]— 1 scrgt. co. E, 8 III. vol. apr. 20, 61; 1 II. 8 III. vol. july 25, 61; capt. mar. 25, 62; maj. aug. 28, 63; II. col. dec. 2, 64; col. vol. bvt. mar. 26, 65, "for faith, and mer. ser. dur. the campaign against the city of Mobile and its defences"; must. out may 4, 66, paid to may 15, 66; capt. 34 inf. july 28, 66, acc. oct. 20, 66; maj. bvt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the size of Vickburg, Miss."; II. col. bvt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the assault on Fort Blakely, Ala."; unassd. apr. 14, 69; assd. to 20 inf. sept. 1, 69.
- 83. FRENCH, JOHN W., July 28, 66, 25th Infantry. [Born in D. C. ; apptd. from At l'ge.]— Pyt. co. F, 7 N. Y. s. m. apr. 17, 61; dischgd. june 3, 61; 21t. 8 inf. oct. 24, 61, acc. nov. 2, 61; 1 lt. byt. ang. 19, 64, "for gal. and mcr. ser. in battle on the Weldon R. R., Ya."; capt. byt. oct. 28, 64, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Hatcher's Run, Va."; 1 lt. 8 inf. jan. 9, 66; regl. adj't jan. 31, 66, to nov. 20, 66; capt. 40 inf. july 28, 66, acc. nov. 20, 66; trs. to 25 inf. apr. 20, 69.
- BENTZONI, CHARLES, July 28, 66, 25th Infantry. [Born in Prussia; apptd. from Army.]—

¹ March, ¹ er, ser, may 12, 57; corpl. nov. I, 57; sergt. sept. 24, 59; sergt. co. D, 1 batt. II inf. aug. 29, 61; I sergt. sept. 1, 61; 2 It. 11 inf. nov. 20, 61, acc. nov. 27, 61; I It. mar. 17, 62; qm. 2 batt. feb. -, 63; to jan. -, 65; capt. bvt. sept. 30, 64, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Poplar Spring Church, Va."; col. 56 U. S. et . jan. 29, 65; maj. bvt. and It. col. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. dur. the war"; must out of vol ser. sept. 15, 66; trs. to 29 inf. sept. 21, 66; capt. 40 inf. july 28, 66; acc. nov. 21, 66; trs. to 25 inf. apr. 20, 69.

- 85. WALKER FERGUS, July 28, 66, 1st Infantry. [Born in Ireland; apptd. from N. Y.]— 24, 38 N. Y. vol. ang. 6, 61; 14f. may 2, 62; capt. apr. 24, 64; mast. out june 22, 63; capt vef. res. corps oct. 1, 63, acc. oct. 15, 63; must out july 20, 66; capt. 43 inf. july 28, 66, acc. oct. 12, 66; maj. bvt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Chancellorsville, Va."; trs. to 1 inf. apr. 8, 69.
- 86. DAGGETT, AARON S., July 28, 66, 2nd Infantry. [Born in Me.; apptd. from Me.]— 1 It. 5. Me. vol. june 24, 61; capt. ang. 15, 61; maj. apr. 14, 63; mast. out july 27, 64; It, col. 5 U. S. vet. vol. jun. 23, 65; col. vol. bvt. and brig. gen. vol. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal, and mer. ser. dur. the war": most out may 10, 66; capt. 16 inf. july 28, 66, acc. nov. 1, 66; maj. bvt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal, and mer. ser. in the battle of Rappahannock Station, Va., nov. 7, 63"; It. col. bvt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal, and mer. ser. in the battle of the Wilderness, Va."; trs. to 2 inf. apr. 17, 69.
- TROTTER, FREDERICK E., July 28, 66, 14th Infanity. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from N. Y.]...

^{15,11,11} P.V. C6, 7 N, Y. s. m. apr. 26, 61; discloyd, june 3, 61; capt. 102 N, Y. vol. dec. 18, 61; maj, july 16, 62; must. out mar. 18, 63, paid to mar. 27, 63; capt. vet. res. corps june 18, 63, and june 21, 63; maj, out. 15, 63, acc, i.e., 64; 17, 63; 11, out mar. 30, 64, acc, apr. 7, 64; col. vol. byt. and brig. gen. vol. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal, and mer. ser. dur. the war"; must. out nov. 2, 66; capt. 45 inf, july 28, 66, acc, mer. 25, 67; maj, byt. and lt. col. byt. mar. 2, 67, "for faith, and mer. ser. dur. the war"; must.

 VON HERRMANN, CHARLES J., July 28, 66, 4th Infantry. [Born in Prussia; apptd. from Conn.]—

Maj, a. a. d. é. nov. 5, 61, acc. nov. 5, 61; 41, col. vol. lvt. apr. 9, 65, "for coolness, galharty, and val, ser, dur, the recent compaign terminating with the surrender of the insurgent army under Gen. R. E. Lee "; *must, out* mar. 12, 65, paid to mar. 14, 66; capt. 33 inf. july 28, 66, acc. oct. 16, 66; maj, bvt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal, and mer, ser, in the siege of Port Hudson, La."; unussd, may 3, 69; assd. 10 4 inf. Icb, 19, 70.

- 89. ROSE, THOMANS E., July 28, 66, 16th Infantry. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Pa.]→ Pvt. co. 1, 12 Pa. vol. apr. 25, 61; disslayd. ang. 5, 61; capt. 77 Pa. vol. oct. 28, 61; col. feb. 1, 63; brig. gen. vol. bvt. july 22, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser."; must. out dec. 6, 65, paid to jan. 14, 66; capt. 11 july 28, 66, acc. jan. 7, 67; maj. bvt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Liberty Gap. Tenn."; h. col. bvt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Chickananga, Ga."; un issd. apr. 14, 69; assd. to 16 inf. feb. 15, 70.
- 90. RUSSELL, GEORGE B., July 28, 66, 9th Infantry. [Born in Mass.; apptd. from Mass.]— 24, 38 Mass. vol. ang. 29, 62; 14t, jun. 4, 63; capt. apr. 5, 63; 14t, vet. res. corps ang. 25, 64, acc. sept. 9, 64; capt. sept. 15, 64, acc. sept. 17, 64; maj. vol. byt. mar. 13, 65; "for mer. ser."; 4t, col. vol. byt. mar. 13, 65; "for gal, and mer. cond. dur. the slege of Port Hudson, La."; must. out sept. 1, 66; capt. 44 inf. july 28, 66, acc. oct. 3, 66; maj. byt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal, and mer. cond. in the assault on Port Hudson, La."; mussd. may 27, 69; assd. to 7 inf. apr. 7, 70; trs. to 9 inf. apr. 30, 70.
- 91. MCKIBB4N, CHAMBERS, July 28, 66, 15th Infantry. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Army,]— Pvt. gen. ser. sept. 22, 62; 24, 14 inf. s.pt. 22, 62, acc. sept. 24, 62; adj't 1 hatf, oct. —, 63, fu oct. —, 64; 44, in the 10, 64; capt. byt. ang. 18, 64, "for gal, ser, in the battle of the North Anna River, Va., and dur, the operations on the Weldon R. R."; qm. 2 batt, 14 inf. sept. —, 65, to sept. 21, 66; trs. to 32 inf. sept. 21, 66; capt. 35 inf. july 28, 66, acc. jan. 5, 67; trs. to 15 inf. ang. 12, 60;
- 92. HUGHES, ROBERT P., July 28, 66, 3rd Infantry. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Pa.]— Pvt. co. E, 12 Pa. vol. apr. 25, 61; discloyd, aug. 5, 61; 11; 83 Pa. vol. oct. 11, 61; capt. may 20, 62; 11; col. 109 Pa. vol. dec. 7, 64; col. vol. bvt. apr. 2; 65, "for gal, and dis, ser, at Fort Gregg, Va."; mast. out june 28, 65, paid to july 7, 65; capt. 18 inf. july 28, 66, acc. nov. 27, 66; maj. bvt. mu.2, 67, "for gal, and mer, ser, in the assult on Fort Gregg, Va."; unassd. apr. 26, 69; assd. to 3 inf. july 5, 70.
- 95. CRAIG, JOHN N., July 28, 66, 10th Infantry. [Born in Mass.; apptd. from D. C.]— Capt. a. a. g. vol. oct. 3, 62, acc. nov. 3, 62; maj. vol. bvt. ang. 1, 64, "for gal. and dis. ser. in the battle of tictrysburg, and in the operations before Richmond, Va. "It col. bvt. apr. 9, 65, "for good cond. and mer. ser. dur. the recent operations resulting in the fall of Richmond, Va., and the surrender of the insurgent army under Gen. R. E. Lee"; must. out may 19, 66; capt. 35 inf. july 28, 63, acc. oct. 9, 65; mrj. bvt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and dis. ser. in the battle of Gettysburg, Pa., and for good cond. and m. r. s.r. dur. the operations resulting in the full of Richmund, Va., and the surrender of the insurgent army under Gen. R. E. Lee"; massd. nov. 11, 69; assd. to 10 inf. dec. 15, 70.

- 94. LISCUM, EMERSON H., July 28, 66, 19th Infantry. [Born in Vt.; apptd. from Army.]— Corpl. co. H, 1 Vt. vol. may 2, 61; disedupl. ang. 15, 61; pvt. co. E, 2 batt. 12 inf. 46b, 1, 62; corpl. may 24, 62; sergt. june 1, 62; 1 sergt. june 1, 62; trs. to co. A. mar. 3, 63; 2 H. 12 inf. 4cb, 19, 63, acc. mar. 22, 65; 1 H, may 4, 63; capt. bvt. aug. 1, 61, "for gal. ser, in the ; regtl. battle of Bethesda Church, and dur, the present campaign before Richmond, Va. qm. 12 inf. feb. 5, 65, to oct. 16, 65; trs. to 30 inf. sept. 21, 66; capt. 45 inf. july 28, 66, de-clined; capt. 25 inf. july 28, 66, acc. mar. 26, 67; unassd. apr. 26, 69; assd. to 19 inf. july 5, 75.
- 95. HASKELL, JOSEPH T., July 28, 66, 23rd Infantry. [Born in Ohio; apptd. from Ohio.]— Capt. com. sub. vol. feb. 19, 63, acc. apr. 24, 63; maj. vol. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for mer. ser. in his dept. dur. the war"; It. col. vol. bvt. apr. 2, 66, "for faith, and zealous ser. in the sub. dept. "; expt. 23 inf. july 28, 66, acc. nov. 23, 66; col. vol. bvt. nov. 26, 66, "for faith, ser. in the sub. dept."; must. out of vol. ser. dec. '8, 66.
- 96. SCHOOLEY, DAVID, July 28, 66, 25th Infantry. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Pa.]-Capt. 2 Pa. art. aug. 26, 62; m ij. may 18, 65; moust. out jan. 29, 66, paid to feb. 4, 66; capt. 40 inf. july 28, 66, acc. nov. 21, 65; trs. to 25 inf. apr. 20, 69.
- 97. MACARTHUR, ARTHUR, JR., July 28, 63, 13th Infantry. [Born in Mass.; apptd. from Wis.]-

1 lt. 24 Wis, vol. aug. 4, 62; maj. jan. 25, 64; lt. col. vol. bvt. mar. 13, 65, 6 for gal. and mer. ser. in the battles of Perryville, Ky., Stone River, Missionary Ridge, and Danridge, Tenn."; col. vol. byt. mar. 13,65, "for gal, and mer. ser. in the hattle of Franklin, Tenn., and in the Atlanta campaign"; It. col. 24 Wis, vol. may 18, 65; *must. out* june 10, 65, paid to june 21, 65; 2 lt. and 1 lt. 17 inf. feb. 23, 66, acc. apr. 30, 66; trs. to 26 inf. sept. 21, 66; c upt. 36 inf. july 28, 66, acc. oct. 12, 66; unassd. may 19, 69; assd. to 13 inf. july 5, 70.

- 98. GAGEBY, JAMES H., July 28, 66, 3rd Infantry. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Army.]— Sergt. co. K. 3 Pa. vol. apr. 19, 61; dischgd. july 30, 61; 1 sergt. co. 6, 1 batt. 19 inf. oct. 25, 61; 24, 19 inf. june 1, 63, acc. june 9, 63; 14, byt. june 25, 63, "for gal. and mer. ser. in action at Hoover's Gap. Tenu."; capt. byt. nov. 25, 63, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Chrittmoo ga, Tenu."; 14, 19 inf. dec. 28, 63; capt. 37 inf. july 28, 66, acc. dec. 13, 66; trs. to 3 inf. aug. 11, 69.
- LYMAN, WYLLYS, July 28, 66, 5th Infantry. [Born in Vt.: apptd. from Vt.]—

 I it. 10 Vt. vol. aug. 15, 62; maj. feb. 24, 65; must. out june 28, 65; capt. 40 inf. july 28, 66, acc. oct. 25, 66; maj. bvt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of the Ope
 quan, Va."; trs. to 25 inf. apr. 20, 69; trs. to 5 inf. dec. 15, 70.
- 100. HOOD, CHARLES C., July 28, 65, 24th Infantry. [Born in Ohio; apptd. from Ohio.]— Pvt. co. G. 31 Ohio vol. aug. 20, 61; corpl. s pt. 24, 61; sergt. june 1, 62; 1 lt. 31 Ohio vol. feb. 3, 64; capt. oct. 26, 64; must. out july 20, 65, paid to july 25, 65; capt. 41 inf. july 28, 66, acc. oct. 24, 66; trs. to 24 inf. nov. 11, 69.
- 101. LAWSON, GAINES, July 28, 66, 25th Infantry. [Born in Tenn.; apptd. from Tenn.]-Pyt. co. D. 4 Tenn. vol. dec. 21, 62; 1 sergt. apr. 15, 63; capt. 4 Tenn. vol. aug. 10, 64; maj. june 5, 65; *must. out* aug. 2, 65; capt. 30 inf. july 28, 66, acc. nov. 19, 66; maj. byt. and It. col. byt. mar. 2, 67. "for faith, and mer. ser."; trs. to 25 inf. apr. 20, 69.
- 102. HARTLEY, JOHN, July 28, 66, 22nd Infantry. [Born in Me.; apptd. from Minn.]-FARTER I. 1997, 5 mill es, 65, 2007 Brand Brand, 5 [1997] Ballin, vol. jan. 1, 63; capt. com. sub. vol. jan. 27, 65, acc. apr. 8, 65; maj. vol. byt. july 14, 65, "for eff. and mer. ser."; must. out july 12, 65; capt. 22 inf. july 28, 66, acc. oct. 11, 66.
- 103. LACEY, FRANCIS E., Aug. 8, 66, 10th Infantry. [Born in Ireland : apptd. from Army.]-Pvt. co. 1, 2 inf. may 10, 58; corpl. sept. 1, 59; sergt. july 1, 60; 1 sergt. july 1, 60; 2 lt. 2 inf. july 18, 62, acc. oct. 12, 62; 1 lt. may 1, 63; capt. bvt. july 2, 63; "for gal. and mer. ser, in the battle of Gettysburg, Pa."; capt. 2 inf. aug. 8, 66; unassd. apr. 17, 69; assd. to 10 inf. july 5, 70.
- 104. BAINBRIDGE, AUGUSTUS H., Aug. 11, 66, 14th Infantry. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from Army. -Pyt. gen. sev. aug. 11, 58; sevgt. co. A. 2 batt. 14 inf. june 14, 62; 2 lt. 14 inf. july 14, 62, acc. july 30, 62; 1 lt. june 9, 64; qm. 1 batt. july 7, 64, to dec. 11, 64; capt. byt. aug. 18, 64, "for gal. sev. dur. the operations on the Weldon R. R."; regtl. qm. 14 inf. dec. 11, 64,

to ang. 13, 65; capt. aug. 11, 66.

105. EWERS, EZRA P., Sept. 12, 66, 5th Infantry. [Born in N. Y.: apptd. from Army.]— Pvt. co. E. 1 hatt. 19 inf. jan. 18, 62; sergt. mar. 15, 62; 1 sergt. mar. 1, 63; 2 lt. 19 inf. oet. 31, 63, acc. dec. 4, 63: 1 lt. bvt. june 26, 63, "for gal. ser, in action at Hoover's Gap, Tenn."; capt. bvt. nov. 25, 63, "for gal. and mer. ser in the battle of Chattanooga, Tenn."; 1 lt. 19 inf. mar. 16, 64; trs. to 37 inf. sept. 21, 66; capt. sept. 12, 63; trs. to 5 inf. may 19, 69.

106. STEELIIAMMER, CHARLES, Nov. 1, 66, 15th Infantry. [Born in Sweden; apptd. from Army.]— Pvt. co. B, 83 N. Y. vol. may 27, 61; hosp. stwd. U. S. A. may 12, 62; 24t, and 14t, 17 inf.

scot. 2, 64, acc. sept. 6, 64; trs. to 35 inf. sept. 21, 66; 'cupt. nov. 1, 66; trs. to 15 inf. ang. 12, 69.

- 107. FLETCHER, WILLIAM, Nov. 2, 66, 2011 Infantry. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from Army.]— Pet. co. 6, 4 Ohio vol. june 10, 46; discloyd. june 14, 47; pet. co. A, 2 Ohio vol. july 31, 47; corpl. sept. 27, 47; pet. nov. 30, 47; discloyd. july 25, 48; pet. co. F, 1 art. de 29, 48; discloyd oct. 9, 58; pet. co. F, 1 art. oct. 9, 53; corpl. june 20, 54; pet. sept. 5, 55; corpl. feb. 5, 56; pet. july 1, 58; discloyd, oct. 9, 58; pet. co. F, 8 inf. june 23, 59; sergt. july 14, 66; 24; 11 inf. oct. 29, 61, acc. nov. 1, 61; 14; mar. 12, 62; c. apt. bvt. ang. 30, 62; "for gal. and mer. ser, in the batthe of Bull Run (2d), Va. "; qm. 1 batt. 11 inf. july 1, 63, to sept. 24, 66; trs. to 20 inf. sept. 21, 66; c. apt. nov. 2, 66.
- 24, 69 ; cap. nov. 2, 90.
 108. BISBEE, WILLIAM H., Dec. 21, 65, 40h Infantry. [B cm in R. I.; appt1. from Army.]— Pvt. co. A, 2 batt. 18 inf. sept. 2, 61; 18 srgt. sept. 2, 61; qu. srgt. 2 out. 18 inf. nov. 1, 61; 24, 18 inf. june 9, 62, acc. july 11, 62; 14t. bvt. dec. 31, 62; [S or gd. and mer. scr. in the battle of Murfreesbore', Tenn.': 14, 18 inf. dec. 31, 62; adj? 2 batt. apr. 27, 63, to oct. …, 63, and from ang. 29, 64, to sept. 21, 66; capt. bvt. sept. 1, 64, [S re gd. and mer. scr. dur. the Athata campaign and in the battle of Jon soboro', G.; [srsto 27, inf. sept. 21, 65; capt. dec. 21, 66; unassel, june 14, 64; ass4, to 25 inf. july 5, 70; trst to 4 inf. oct. 27, 70.
- 109. BENNETT, ULARENCE E., Jan. 22, 67, 17th Infantry. (Born in N. Y.; appt), from M. A.].--Cadet july 1, 51; bvt, 2 lt, 3 inf, july 1, 55; 2 lt 40 inf, aug. 16, 55; regth, adj't oct. 1, 58, to apr. 30, 60; regth, qm, apr. 30, 60; to july 16, 60; *respl.* s pt 40, 61; maj. 1 Cal. civ. feb, 9, 63; lt, col. dec. 31, 63; col. vol. bvt, mar. 13, 65, "for faith, and m.c. s c."; *must, out* aug. 15, 66; 2

It. col. dec. 31, 63; col. vol. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith, and m/r. s/r."; must. out aug. 15, 66; 2 It. 6 cay. feb. 23, 66, acc. nov. 8, 66; 4 lt. jaly 28, 66; capt. 47 inf. jun. 22, 67, acc. oct. 5, 67.

110. CARPENTER, GILBERT S., Jan. 22, 67, 14th Infantry. [Born in Ohio; apptd. from Army.]—

24t. 19 Ohio vol. apr. 22, 61; must. out aug. 31, 61; pvt. co. F. 2 batt. 18 inf. sept. 14, 61; 1 sergt. oct. 31, 61; sergt. feb. 1, 62; 24t. 18 inf. june 9, 62, acc. july 41, 62; 14t. nov. 25, 62; capt. bvt. d.c. 31, 62; 75 or gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Murfreesboro', Tenn.''; capt. 18, inf. dec. 21, 66; capt. 45 inf. jun. 22, 67; trs. to 14 inf. july 22, 60.

- 111. HARBACH, ABRAM A., Jan. 22, 67, 26th Infantry. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Army,]→ Sergt. co. E, 1 Iowa vol. may 7, 61; disekpd. aug. 20, 61; pvt. co. →, 11 inf. dec. 7, 61; corpl. co. H. 1 batt. 11 inf. →, →; 21 1. 11 inf. june 11, 62, acc. june 20, 62; 11; infly 2, 63; capt. bvt. july 2, 63; "for gal, and mer. ser, in the battle of Gettysburg, Pa."; adjt 2 batt. 11 infl june 10, 66, to sept. 21, 66; trs. to 20 infl sept. 21, 65; regth. adj1 dec. 6, 66; to mar, 1, 67; capt. june 22, 67, aec. apr. 10, 67.
- 112. BURKE, DAN4EL W., Jan. 22, 67, 14th Infinitry. [Bornin Conn.; apptd. from Army.]— Pyt. co. E. 2 inf. june 10, 58; corpl. nov. 4, 59; pyt. d.e. 31, 60; corpl. sept. 19, 61; 1 sergt. co. B. 2 inf. dee, 4, 61; 24; 2, inf. july 18, 62, acc. nov. 8, 62; 14; july 2, 63; capt. byt. july 2, 63; "For gd. and mer. 8 e. in the buttle of Gettysburg, Pa."; capt. 45 inf. jan. 22, 67, acc, apr. 5, 67; maj. byt. jan. 22, 67, "for gal, and mer. ser, in the battle of Gettysburg, Pa."; trs. to 14 inf. july 22, 69.
- 143. POOLE, DE WITT C., Jan. 22, 67, 22nd Infantry. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from Wis.]— 14, 1 Wis, vol. may 17, 61; mask. out ang. 21, 61; 1t. e.d. 12 Wis, vol. oct. 31, 61; resgd. july 3, 63; 1t. col. vet. res. corps nov. 15, 63, acc. nov. 25, 63, resgl. feb. 10, 66; capt. 25 inf, jan. 22, 67, acc. apr. 1, 67; massd. apr. 26, 64; assd. to 22 inf. oct. 25, 70.
- 14. CLOUS, JOHN W., Jan. 22, 67, 24th Infantry. [Born in Germiy: apptl. from Army.]— Pvt. co. K, 9 inf. f.b. 2, 57; trs. to band 9 inf. may 1, 55; discler l. nov. 5, 60; pvt. co. K, 6 inf. feb. 9, 61; corpl. may 1, 61; qm sergt. 6 inf. aug. 1, 62; 24 fc 6 inf. nov. 23, 62; acc. dec. 7, 62; regtl. qm. feb. 1, 64; to apr. 1, 65; 1 4t. bvt. july 2, 63, and capt. mar. 13, 65; "frequence and capt. and mar. ser, in the battle of Gettysburg. P.J.": 1 4t. 6 inf. mar. 25, 65; regtl. alj't apr. 1, 65; to mar. 28, 67; capt. 38 inf. jan. 22, 67, acc. mar. 28, 67; trs. to 24 inf. nov. 11, 69.
- 115. DAVIS, GEORGE W., Jan. 22, 67, 14th Infantry. [Born in Conn.; apptd. from Conn.]— Qm. sergt. 11 Conn. vol. nov. 27, 61; disclard, apr. 3, 62; 1 lt. 11 Conn. vol. apr. 5, 62; maj. vol. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith and mer. ser, dur. the war;" capt. a. qm. vol. may 22, 65, acc. may 31, 65; maj. qm. [act july 4, 64] may 31, 65, to feb. 5, 66; must. out apr. 20, 66; capt. 14 inf. jan. 22, 67, acc. mar. 25, 67.
- 116. GILMORE, JOHN C., Jan. 22, 67, 24th Infantry. [Born in Canada; apptd. from N. Y.]—Capt. 16 N. Y. vol. may 15, 61; maj. feb. 11, 63; must, out may 22, 63; It. col. 193 N. Y. vol. mar. 18, 65; col. vol. bvt. nov. 14, 65; "for gal. and ner. ser,"; must, out jan. 18, 66, paid to jan. 27, 66; 24; 11; 21 nf. may 11, 66; acc. sept. 13, 66; trs. to 30 inf. sept. 21, 66; regtl. adj't dec. 10, 66; to feb. 9, 67; capt. 38 inf. jan. 22, 67, acc. mar. 29, 67; maj. bvt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser, in the battle of Antietann. Md. '; It. col. bvt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser, in the battle of Fredericksburg, Va."; trs. to 24 inf. nov. 11, 69.

- 117. BROWNING, GEORGE L., Feb. 7, 67, 7th Infanity. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from Army.]— Pvt. co. F, 7 N. Y. s. m. apr. 26, 61; disclight june 3, 61; pvt. co. F, 1 batt. 14 inf. sept. 29, 62; sergt. dec. 29, 62; 2 lt. 14 inf. feb. 27, 63, acc. mar. 25, 63; 4 lt. aug. 15, 64; qm. 3 batt. sept. 20, 65, to sept. 21, 66; trs. to 23 inf. sept. 21, 66; capt. feb. 7, 67; unassd. july 23, 69; assd. to 7 inf. jan. 1, 71.
- 118. SMITH, THOMAS M. K., Mar. 7, 67, 23rd Infantry. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Army.]— Pvt. co. B, 1 batt. 17 inf. mar. 31, 61; corpl. may 1, 64; sergt. may 15, 64; 21t. and 14t. 17 inf. july 2, 64, acc. july 23, 64; qm. 3 batt. oct. 31, 65, to ang. 15, 66; trs. to 26 inf. sept. 21, 66; capt. mar. 7, 67; unassd. may 19, 69; assd. to 23 inf. dec. 15, 70.
- 119. SMITH, JACOB H., Mar. 7, 67, 19th Infantry. [Born in Obio; apptd. from III.]— 1 ht. 2 Ky. vol. june 5, 61; capt jan. 28, 62; capt. vet. res. corps june 25, 63, acc. june 30, 63; must. out oct. 21, 65; capt. 13 inf. mar. 7, 67, acc. may 1, 67; maj. bvt. mar. 7, 67, "for gal. cond. in the battle of Shiloh, Tenn., apr. 6, 62"; maj. j. a. may 25, 69, acc. may 26, 69; appt. of j. a. revoked dec. 10, 69, and reverted to com. of capt. of inf.; unassd. may 25, 69; assol. to 19 inf. dec. 15, 70.
- 120. MINER, CHARLES W., Mar. 7, 67, 22nd Infantry. [Born in Ohio; apptd. from Ohio.]— Pvt. co. D. 2 Ohio vol. apr. 17, 61; diselyod. aug. 9, 61; capt. 22 Ohio vol. may 1, 62; must. out aug. 28, 65, paid to sept. 8, 65; 24t. 19 inf. mar. 31, 66, acc. may 22, 66; trs. to 28 inf. sept. 21, 66; 14t. jan. 1, 67; capt. 22 inf. mar. 7, 67, acc. Feb. 28, 68.
- 121. CRANDAL, FREDERICK M., June 12, 67, 24th Infantry. (Born in Pa.; apptd. from Md.]— 11f. 33 Ill. vol. ang. 15, 61; capt. a. a. g. vol. oct. 2, 62, acc. nov. 23, 62; col. 48 U. S. e. t. ang. 8, 63; brig. gen. vol. bvt. oct. 24, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser."; *must. out* jan. 4, 66; 11t. 38 inf. july 28, 66, acc. mar. 14, 67; capt. bvt. and maj. bvt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. in battle of Arkansas Post, Ark."; It. col. bvt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the capture of Fort Blakely, Ala."; capt. 41 inf. june 12, 67, acc. ang. 9, 67; trs. to 24 inf. nov. 11, 69.
- 122. WHEATON, CHARLES, July 17, 67, 23rd Infantry. [Born in R. I.; apptd. from R. I.]— 1 H. 2 Mass. vol. may 25, 61; eapt. com. sub, vol. july 17, 62; acc. july 27, 62; maj. vol. bvt. mar. 13, 65; "for mer. ser. in bis dept. dur. the war"; It col. com. sub. fact july 17, 62] june 9, 65; It. col. vol. bvt. and col. vol. bvt. dec. 1, 65; "for fath, and mer. ser. in the sub. dept.;" *relieved* aslt.col. com. sub, jan. 8, 66; must. out may 31, 66; capt. 33 inf. july 17, 67, acc. aug. 12, 67; unassd. may 3, 69; assgd.to 23 inf. jan. 1, 71.
- 123. CLIFFORD. WALTER, July 31, 67, 7th Infantry. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from Army.]— Pvt. gen. ser. mar, 19, 60; pvt. co. A, 1 batt. 16 inf. may 27, 63; corpl. —; sergt. maj. 16 inf. june 10, 63; 2 lt. 16 inf. ang. 10, 63, acc. ang. 18, 63; 1 lt. bvt. sept. 19, 63, "for gal, and mer. ser. in the battle of Chickamanga, Ga."; 1 lt. 16 inf. may 14, 64; trs. to 34 inf. sept. 21, 66; capt. july 31, 67; unassd. apr. 14, 69; assd. to 7 inf. jan. 1, 71.
- 124. MCLAUGHLIN, WILLIAM H., July 31, 67, 18th Infantry. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 61; 2 lt. and 1 lt. 17 inf. june 23, 65; adj't 2 batt. apr. 26, 66, to aug. 1, 66; trs. to 26 inf. sept. 21, 66; capt. july 31, 67, acc. sept. 10, 67; unassd. may 19, 69; assd. to 18 inf. jan. 1, 71.
- 125. BYRNE, THOMAS, Aug. 15, 67, 12th Infantry. [Born in Ireland; apptd. from Army.]— Pvt. co. A, 2 inf. dec. 14, 54; corpl. june 1, 55; 1 sergt. sept. 15, 56; discligd nov. 3, 59; 1 sergt. co. A, 2 inf. nov. 3, 59; 2 H. 2 inf. july 18, 62, acc. oct. 3, 62; 1 H. june 9, 63; capt. bvt. july 2, 63; "for gal. and mer. ser, in the battle of Gettysburg, Pa."; capt. 2 inf. aug. 15, 67; unassd. apr. 17, 69; assd. to 12 inf. jan. 1, 71.
- 126. JACKSON, MASON, Sept. 14, 67, 14th Infantry. [Born in Ohio; apptd. from Army,]— Pvt. co. C. Fremont's body guard aug. 20, 61; discludd. nov. 30, 61; pvt. co. -, 15 inf. dec. 17, 61; 24t. 15 inf. nov. 24, 62, acc. dec. 1, 62; 14t. dec. 17, 63; capt. bvt. sept. 1, 64, "for gal. and mer. ser. dur. the Atlanta campaign"; qm. 1 batt. 15 inf. feb. 9, 66, to aug. 15, 66; trs. to 24 inf. sept. 21, 66; capt. sept. 14, 67; trs. to 11 inf. apr. 25, 69.
- 127. MCARTHUR, MALCOLM, Sept. 18, 67, 17th Infantry. [Born in Me.; apptd. from M. A.]— Calet sept. 1, 61; 2 lt. and 1 lt. 17 inf. june 23, 65; adj't 1 batt. jan. 1, 66, to sept. 21, 66; capt sept. 18, 67.
- 128. MCNAUGHT, JOHN S., Oct. 5, 67, 20th Infantry. [Born in Mass.; apptd. from Army.]— Pvt. co. G. 1 batt. 11 inf. ang. 16, 61; trs. to co. B, sept. 27, 61; sergt. oct. 12, 61; trs. to co. C, feb. 15, 62; 1 sergt. feb. 16, 62; 2 lt. 11 inf. feb. 19, 63, acc. mar. 25, 63; 1 lt. may 29, 64; capt. bvt. ang. 1, 64, "for gal. ser. in the battle of the Wilderness, Va."; trs. to 20 inf. sept. 21, 66; capt. oct. 5, 67.

- 129. SHORKLEY, GEORGE, Oct. 13, 67, 15th Infantry. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from Pa.]— 1 H. 51 Pa. vol. nov. 16, 61; capt. apr. 22, 64; maj. vol. byt. july 30, 64, "for gal. and dis, see, in the operations before Petersburg, Va.": It col. vol. byt. mar. 25, 65, "for gallantry and mer, ser, at Fort Steedman, Va."; ed. vol. byt. apr. 9, 65, "for long, faith, and val. see,"; most, out july 27, 65, proid to july 30, 65; 24, and 14, 15 inf. feb. 23, 66, acc, apr. 25, 66; capt. byt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal, and mer, ser, in the battle of Antietam. Md."; maj, byt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal, and mer, ser, in the engagement at Fort Steedman, Va."; capt. 15 inf, oct. 13, 67.
- 130. TOLMAN, THOMAS M., Nov. 18, 67, 1st Infantry. [Barn in Me.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 61; 24t. 6 cav. june 23, 65; 4 It. jan. 25, 66; capt. nov. 18, 67; trs. to 1 inf. jan. 1, 71.
- 131. JOHNSON, LEWIS, Dec. 12, 67, 24th Infantry. [Born in Germ'y: apptd. from Ind.]— Pet. co. E, 10–1nd, vol. apr. 18, 61; disched aug. 6, 61; 1–1t, 10–1nd, vol. sept. 18, 61; capt, aug. 29, 62; col. 41–U. S. c. 1. sept. 16, 64; brigg gen. vol. byt. mrr. 13, 65, "For gal, and merser, dur, the war"; most, out apr. 30, 66, paid to may 4, 66; 1–1t, 4)–inf. july 28, 66, acc, nov. 20, 66; capt. bct, mar, 2, 67, "for gal, and mer, ser, in the battle of Mill Springs, Ky,"; mai, byt, mar, 2, 67, "for gal, and mer, ser, in the siege of Corinth, Miss."; 11, col. byt, mar, 2, 67, "for gal, and mer, ser, in the battle of Missionary Ridge, Tenn."; capt. 41–inf. dec. 12, 67; trs. to 24 inf. nov. 11, 69.
- 132. SNYDER, JAMES A., Dec. 31, 67, 3rd Infantry. [Born in D. C. ; apptd. from Va.]— 24, 3 inf. aug. 5, 64, acc. aug. 10, 61; 14, byt. n (y 3, 63, "For gal, and mer. ser, in the battle of Chancellorsville, Va."; capt. byt. july 2, 63, "For gal, and mer. ser, in the battle of Gettysburg, Pa."; 14, 3 inf. oct. 3, 63; regth. adj t jan. 1, 66; to aug. 6, 66; capt. dec. 31, 67.
- 133. SCHINDEL, JEREMIAH P., Feb. 25, 68, 6th Infinitry. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Pa.]— 1 sergt. co. A, 104 Pa. vol. sept. 6, 61; dischad nov. 4, 61; 24t. 6 inf. oct. 24, 61, acc. nov. 4, 61; 14t. bvt. ang. 30, 62, "for gal, and mer. ser, in the battle of Bull Run (2d), Va."; capt, hvt. july 2, 63, "for gal, and mer. ser, in the battle of Gettysburg, Pa."; 14t. 6 inf. feb. 8, 64; regtl. qm, july 1, 65, to aug. 1, 66; capt. feb. 25, 68.
- 134 HOBART, CHARLES, Mar. 26, 68, 3rd Infan(ry. [Bora in Mass.; appt], from Oreg.]— 24, 10 oreg. cav. jan. 16, 62; 44, oct. 12, 65; mast. out july 25, 63; 44, 8, eav. july 28, 66, acc. oct. 18, 66; regth adjt june 10, 67, to mur. 26, 68; capt. mur. 26, 68; trs. to 3 inf. dec. 29, 73.
- 135. KEELER, BIRNEY B., June 5, 68, 18th Infantry. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from N. Y.]→ A It. 142 N. Y. vol. sept. 29, 62; capt. may 18, 64; maj; vol. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal, and mer, cond, at the storming of Fort Fisher, N. C.", It. col. vol. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal, and dis, ser, in the field dur, the campaign of 1834", capt. 160 N. Y. vol. june 7, 65; mij, j. a vol. june 26, 65, acc. july 8, 65; must, out may 31, 66; 14, 30 inf. july 28, 66 acc. nov. 1, 66; regtl. qm, jan, 5, 67, to jan, 17, 68; capt. byt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal, and mer. ser in action at Chapin 8 Farm, Va."; maj, byt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal, and mer. ser, in the assault on Fort Fisher, N. C."; capt. 39 inf. june 5, 68; musts, app. 20, 66) ass. to 18 inf. jan. 1, 71.
- 136. COE, JOHN N., June 19, 68, 20th Infantry. [Born in Me.; apptd. from Army,]— Pvt. co. II, 1 batt. 11 inf. apr. 14, 62; corpl. may 17, 62; sergt. jan. 1, 63; 1 s agt. jan. 1, 63; com. sergt. 11 inf. apr. 1, 63; qm. sergt. 11 inf. jan. 11, 65; 2 lt. and 1 lt. 11 inf. mar. 12, 65, acc. apr. 1, 65; adjit 2 batt. june 18, 65, to oct. 4, 65; qm. 2 batt. oct. 4, 65; to sept. 21, 66; trs. to 20 inf. sept. 21, 66; regtl. qm. dec. 6, 66, to june 19, 68; capt. june 19, 68.
- 137. MORSE, CHARLES E., Oct. 2, 68, 16th Infantry. [Born in Englid; apptd. from Army.]— Pvt. 17 inf. jan. 8, 63; pvt. co. C, 2 hatt, 17 inf. sept. 19, 63; trs. to co. B, 1 hatt. feb. 29, 64; sergt. may 15, 64; qut. sergt. 2 hatt. may 25, 64; 2 ht and 1 h. 17 inf. oct. 9, 65; acc. oct. 16, 65; adji 13 hatt. oct. 39, 65; to sept. 21, 66; trs. to 26 inf. sept. 21, 66; capt. oct. 2, 68; unassd. may 19, 69; assd. to 16 inf. jan. 1, 71.
- 138. LLOYD, THOMAS J., Dec. 3, 68, 18th Infantry. [Born in Pa.: apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 61; 24t. and 14t. 13 inf. june 23, 65; adj't 1 batt. oct. 4, 65, to july 15, 66; regth. adj't july 15, 66, to june 4, 68; capt. dec. 3, 68; unassd. june 44, 69; assd. to 48 inf. jan. 1, 71.
- 139. TISDALL, WILLIAM N., Jan. 13, 69, 1st Infantry. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Pa.]— 2 lt. 1 inf. oct. 24, 61, acc. nov. 2, 61; 1 h. july 2, 63; regtl. qu. may 8, 65, to jan. 13, 69; capt. jan. 13, 69; unassd. apr. 8, 69; assd. to 1 inf. jan. 1, 71.

- SANNO, JAMES M. J., May 15, 71, 7th Infantry. [Bern in N.J.; appld. from M.A.L., Cadel july 1, 59; 24, 7 inf. june 11, 63; 14, dec. 3, 63; reg1, adj't kept. 5, 64, to may 19, 69 and from sept. 1, 60, rom y 15, 77; capt. 28 inf. july 28, 66, declined, capt. 7 inf. may 15, 74.
- 141, BURTON, GEORGE H., Aug. 16, 71, 21st fafantry. [Born in Del.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 61; 24, and 14t. 12 inf. june 23, 65; ad]'r 2 batt. nov. 40, 65, to sept. 21, 66 trs. to 21 inf. sept. 21, 66; regtl. ad]'t dec. 9, 66, to june 2, 68, and from apr. 5, 69, to aug. 16, 71; eapt. aug. 16, 71.
- 142. MACGOWAN, ALEXANDER B., Aug. 30, 71, 12th Infantry. [Born in Scotl'd; apptd. from (al.]— 1 ht. 1 Cal. vol. ang. 16, 61; capt. 6 Cal. vol. july 11, 63; *must. out* oct. 31, 65; 2 ht. and 1 ht. 12 inf. feb. 23, 66, acc. apr. 17, 66; capf. aug. 30, 71.
- 143. MCCASKEY, WILLIAM S., Sept. 5, 71, 20th Infantry. [Born in Pa. : apptd. from Pa.]— Pvt. co. F, 1 Pa. vol. apr. 20, 61; dischgd. july 25, 61; 1 secgt. co. B, 79 Pa. vol. sept. 5, 01, 21t, 79 Pa. vol. oct. 9, 62; 1 H. apr. 10, 63; catof, july 1, 63; must. out july 12, 65, paid to july 17, 65; 24, and 14, 13 inf. feb. 23, 66, acc. apr. 27, 66; adjt 2 batt, july 20, 65, to sept. 21, 66; trs. to 22 mf. sept. 21, 66; regtl. adj't jan. 1, 67, to may 12, 67; regtl. qm. feb. 1, 68, to july 14, 69; trs. to 20 inf. july 14, 69; regtl. qm. jan. 1, 71, to sept. 5, 71; capt. sept. 5, 71.
- 144. HALE, CLAYTON, Sept. 24, 71, 16th Infantry. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Ill.]— Capt. 59–111, vol. july 17, 61; maj. apr. 1, 63; It. col. dec. 5, 63; must. out dec. 8, 65, paid to jan. 12, 66; 2–10, and i It. 16 inf. feb. 23, 66, acc. may 28, 66; trs. to 34 inf. sept. 24, 66; regtl. qm. feb. 10, 67, to apr. 14, 69; capt. byt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Stone River, Tenn."; maj. byt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Missionury Ridge, Tenn."; It. col. byt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Franklin Tenn."; trs. to 16 inf. apr. 14, 69; capt. sept. 24, 71.
- 145. WATERBURY, WILLIAM M., Oct. 18, 71, 13th Infantry. [Born in N. Y.; appid. from N. Y.]. 2 It. 4 N. Y. art, jan. 4, 62: 1 It. jan. 6, 63; must. out jan. 3, 65; 1 It. 19 inf. july 28, 66, acc. oct. 20, 66: mnassd. mar. 31, 69: assd. to 13 inf. july 14, 69: capt. oct. 18, 71.
- 146. ROBE, CHARLES F., Jan. 25, 72, 25th Infastry. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from Mich.]— 1 ht. 147 N. Y. vol. sept 23, 62; capt. vet. res. corps mar. 5, 64, acc. mar. 12, 64; mast. out sept. 7, 66; 111, 29 inf. july 28, 66, acc. oct. 31, 66; massd. apr. 25, 69; assd. to 25 inf. jan. 31, 70; capt. jan. 25, 72.
- 147. BRITTON, THOMAS, Mar. 1, 72, 6th Infantry. [Born in Engl]d; apptd. from Army.]— Pvt. co. 1, 4 Ky. vol. oct. 26, 47; diselyd, july 25, 48; pvt. co. D, 6 inf. dec. 22, 48; corpl. sopt. 1, 49; out of ser. man. 3, 50; pvt. gen. ser. may 25, 50; pvt. co. D, 6 inf. oct. 11, 50; diselyd, july 30, 54; pvt. co. H, 6 inf. oct. 3, 54; corpl. apr. 5, 55; sorgt. oct. 1, 56; 1 sergt. nov. 9, 58; diselyd, ang. 3, 59; 1 sergt. co. H, 6 inf. aug. 3, 59; ord. sergt. U. S. A. nov. 11, 62; 2 lt. 6 inf. nov. 18, 62, acc. dec. 8, 62; 1 lt. bvt. july 2, 63, and capt. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Gettysburg, Pa."; 1 lt. 6 inf. mar. 23, 65; capt. 39 inf. july 28, 66, declined; capt. 6 inf. mar. 1, 72.
- 148. ELLIS, PHILIP H., Apr. 1, 72, 13th Infautry. [Born in Md.; apptd. from Md.]— Pvt. co. L, 6 Pa. cav. nov. 11, 62; sergt. dec. 1, 62; 2 It. 6 Pa. cav. may 1, 63; 1 It. mar. 12, 64; must. out nov. 3, 64; 2 It. 13 inf. feb. 23, 66, acc. apr. 27, 66; trs. to 31 inf. sept. 21, 66; 1 It. dec. 28, 66; massd. june 21, 69; assd. to 13 inf. jan. 1, 71; capt. apr. 1, 72.
- 149. GOODLOE, ARCHHBALD H., July 1, 72, 22nd Infantry. [Born in Ky.; appid. from M.A.]— Cadet sept. 1, 61; 2 lt. and 1 lt. 13 inf. june 23, 65; qm. 2 batt. may 8, 66, to sept. 21, 66; trs. to 22 inf. sept. 21, 66; regtl. qm. jan. 1, 67, to jan. 31, 68; regtl. adj't jan. 31, 68, to mar. 1, 69; regtl. qm. july 30, 69, to july 1, 72; capt. july 1, 72.
- 150. PORTER, CHARLES, Aug. 1, 72, 8th Infantry. [Born in Ireland; appid. from Army.]— Pvt. co. E, 5 inf. apr. 26, 58; corpl. jan. 15, 63; qm. sergt. 5 inf. apr. 17, 63; dischad. apr. 26, 63; qm. sergt. 5 inf. apr. 26, 63; 2 lt. 5 inf. oet. 31, 63, acc. nov. 27, 63; 1 lt. feb. 20, 65; trs. to 8 inf. jan. 18, 70; capt. aug. 1, 72.
- 151. HOOTON, MOTT, Ang. 5, 72, 22nd Infantry. [Born in Pa.: apptd. from Pa.]— 2 It Pa. res. corps july 26, 61; capt. oct. 16, 61; must. out june 13, 64; maj. vol. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the Wilderness campaign"; 2 It. and 1 It. 13 inf. feb. 23, 66, acc. apr. 23, 66; trs. to 31 inf. sept. 21, 66; trs. to 22 inf. may 15, 69; capt. aug. 5, 72.

- [152] VAN HORNE, WILLIAM M., Dec. 31, 72, 17th Infantry. [Born in Ohio; app(d, from Ohio.]— Pvi, co. E. 2 Ohio vol. ang. 14, 61; disclayd, oct. 10, 64; recrniting 24t, 184 Ohie vol. jan. 4, 65; capt. 195 Ohio vol. mar. 17, 65; must, out dec. 18, 65, paid to dec. 21, 65; 24t, and 14; 17 inf, feb. 23, 66, acc, apr. 26, 66; regth adj't feb. 1, 69, to dec. 15, 70; regtl, qm, dec. 15, 70, to july 24, 72; capt. dec. 31, 72.
- (5) HUMPHREYS, HENRY H., Jan. 15, 73, 15th Infantry. [Born in Pa.; apptl. from Pa.]— 1 R. 112 Pa. vol. oct. 25, 62; capt. vol. byt. ang. I, 64; "for Lifth, and mer. ser. in the field"; maj. vol. byt. mar. 13, 65; "for gal, gnd mer. ser. dur the war"; maj. a. d. e. vol. apr. 5, 65, acc. apr. 27, 65; R. col. vol. byt. apr. 9, 65; "for val. and mer. ser. dur, the recent campaign terminating with the surrender of the insurgent army under Gen. R. E. Lee"; must. out nov. 10, 65; 2 R. and I. R. 17, no. 2, 66, acc. apr. 23, 66; trs. to 35 inf. sept. 21, 66; capt. byt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal, and mer. service in the battle of Fredericksburg, Va."; maj. byt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal, and mer. service in the battle of Gettysburg, Pa."; R. col. byt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal, and mer. service in the battle of Gettysburg, Pa."; R. col. byt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal, and mer. service in the battle of J. Gettysburg, Pa."; R. col.
- [1] POLLOCK, OTIS W., Jan. 22, 73, 23rd Infantry. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Pa.]— 14, 63 Ohio vol. oct. 40, 61; capt. june 30, 62; *must. out* july 8, 65; 24t. and 14t. 14 inf. feb. 23, 66; acc. apr. 30, 66; trs. to 23 inf. sept. 21, 66; regtl. adj't dec. 7, 60, to jan. 22, 73; capt. jan. 22, 73.
- 175. POLLOCK. ROBERT. Feb. 19, 73, 21st Infantry. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Cal.]— Sergt. co. H. 1 Va. vol. jan. 6, 47; 24; 1 Va. vol. may 6, 47; must. out july 31, 48; maj. 3 Cal. vol. sept. 4, 61; 1; col. dec. 12, 61; col. mar. 29, 63; must. out nov. 14 64; 1; col. 2 Cal. vol. 7, 65; col. vol. byt. mar. 13, 65; "for faith and mer. ser."; must out june 23, 66; 1 4; 32 inf. july 28, 66, acc. feb. 18, 67; trs. to 21 inf. apr. 19, 69; capt. feb. 19, 73.
- 156. VIVEN, JOHN L., Mar. 31, 73, 12th Infantry. [Born in N. Y.); apptd. from N. M.]— Pvt. co. D. 1 Cal. cav. sept. 6, 61; sergt. sept. 13, 61; pvt. aug. 18, 62; 24t. 1 N. M. cav. mar. 16, 64; 14t. mar. 25, 65; *must. out.* apr. 19, 65, paid to may 12, 66; 21t. 12 inf. feb. 23, 66, and 14t. apr. 5, 66, acc. may 21, 66; capt. bvt. mar. 2, 67, "for faith and mer. ser. dur. the war"; regH. qu. 12 inf. may. 4, 60, to feb. 28, 71; capt. 12 int. mar. 31, 73.
- 157. WHALAAMS, CONSTANT, May 10, 73, 7th Infantry. [Born in Pa.: apptd. from Army,]— P.t. eo [B, 31 Pa vol. (subs. 82 Pa. vols.) july 23, 61; sergt. dec. 25, 61; pvt. june 26, 62; disclind, sept. II, 62; pvt. gen. ser. feb. 20, 65; 24t.7 inf. june 29, 63, acc. june 29, 63; 14t. jan. 1, 64; capt. may 10, 73.
- 158. CORLISS, AUGUSTVS W., May 29, 73, 8th Infantry. [Born in Me.; apptd. from Army,]— Maj. R. I. cav. june 24, 62; must. out oct. 2, 62; maj. 2 R. I. cav. dec. 24, 62; 1t col. jan, 19, 63; result, july 11, 63; pvt. co. II, 2 bett, 15 inf. mar. 14, 65; 1 scrgt. apr. 1, 65; 2 R. and 4 R. 15 inf. july 21, 65, acc. aug. 9, 65; trs. to 39 inf. sept. 21, 66; reg(l. qm. jan, 17, 67, to may 3, 69; trs. to 8 inf. may 3, 69; capt. may 29, 73.
- 15.) MORGAN, JAMES N., June 20, 73, 24th Infantry. [Born in Ill.; apptd. from Ill.]— 2 Ir. 22 Ill. vol. june 25, 61; 1 Ir. nar. I. 62; capt. june 13, 62; most. out july 7, 64; capt. 144 Ill. vol. sept. 10, 64; maj. sept. 26, 64; Ir. col. nar. 18, 65; must. out july 14, 65; 2 Ill.38 inf, july 28, 66, acc. jan. 28, 67; 11L byt. and capt. byt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Stone River, Tenn."; maj. byt. nar. 2, 67; "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of New Hope Church, Ga."; 1 Irl. 38 inf. june 12, 67; trs. to 2 inf. nov. 11 69; capt. june 20, 73.
- 160. ESKRIDGE, RICHARD I., Sept. I, 73, 23rd Infantry. [Born in Mo.; apptd. from Mo.]— 18t class mus. band 2 howa vol. sept. 10, 61; dischad, may 1, 62; pvt. 2 Mo. cav. jan. 9, 64; sergt. mar. 1, 64; 1 ft 14 Mo. cav. feb. 8, 65; capt. ang, 28, 65; most. out nov. 17, 65, paid to nov. 27, 65; 2 lt, 14 inf. feb. 23, 66, and 1 lt, mar. 22, 66, acc. may 7, 66; trs. to 23 inf. sept. 21, 66; regtl. qu. june 8, 67, 10 sept. 1, 73; capt. bvt. sept. 26, 67, "for cons. gallantry in charging a large band of Indians strongly fortilied in the Infernal Caverns, Pitt River, Cal., sept. 26, 67"; capt. 23 inf. sept. 1, 73.
- 164. DOVE, WILLIAM E., Sept. 1, 73, 12th Infantry. [Born in Ohio: apptd. from Ohio.]— Pyt. co. B, 126 Ohio vol. aug. 8, 62; corpl. feb. 1, 63; sergt. sept. 24, 63; 1–1t. 196 Ohio vol. mar. 24, 65; must. out. sept. 11, 65, paid to sept. 19, 65; 2/h, 12 inf. feb. 25, 66; acc. apr. 30, 66; 1/h, july 28, 66; card. sept. 1, 73.
- 162. BEACH, WARREN C., Oct. 29, 73, 11th Infantry. [Form in N. Y.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 61; 24t, and 14t, 15 inf, june 23, 65; adj't 2 batt, feb. 14, 66, to sept. 21, 66; trs. to 24 inf, sept 21, 66; regtl. adj't dec. 13, 66, to apr. 25, 69; trs. to 11 inf, apr. 25, 69; regtl. adj't apr. 25, 69, to jan. 23, 71; capt. oct. 29, 73.

- 163. KENNINGTON, JAMES, Dec. 10, 73, 14th Infantry. [Born in Irel'd; apptd. from Army.]— Pvt. co. K, 2 inf. oct. 20, 51; corpl. nov. 17, 53; sergt. july 21, 55; dischgd. aug. 20, 56; sergt. co. K, 2 inf. aug. 20, 56; f. sergt. sept. 5, 58; sergt. oct. 10, 60; dischgd. aug. 20, 56; sergt. co. K, 2 inf. june 20, 61; sergt. co. —, t batt. 11 inf. aug. 16, 61; sergt. maj. 1 batt. 11 inf. mar. 1, 62; com sergt. 1 batt. 11 inf. sept. 23, 62; 2 H. 11 inf. nov. 26, 62; acc. dec. 3, 62; 1 H. bvt. dec. 13, 62; "for gal. and mer. ser, in the battle of Fredericksburg. Va."; 1 H. 11 inf. may. 64; capt. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gen. good cond. in the field"; unassd. apr. 14, 69; assd. to 14 inf. jun. 1, 71; capt. dec. 10, 73.
- 164. BASCOM, GUSTAVUS M., Dec. 11, 73, 13th Infantry. [Born in Ohio; appid. from Ohio.] Capt. a. d. c. Ohio vol. apr. 23, 61; must. out ang. 15, 61; capt. a. a. g. vol. ang. 20, 61, acc. ang. 27, 61; maj. a. a. g. vol. oct. 7, 62, acc. oct. 7, 62; lt col. a. a. g. vol. [act july 17, 62] jan. 25, 64, to jan. 31, 65; lt col. vol. bvt. and col. vol. bvt. nov. 4, 65, "for faith. and mer. ser."; must. out july 1, 66; l lt. 17 inf. jan. 22, 67, acc. mar. 28, 67; capt. bvt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Antietam, Md."; maj. bvt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Resaca, Ga."; regtl. adjt 17 inf. dec. 17, 67, to fcb. 1, 69; unssel. may 27, 69; assd. to 13 inf. july 14, 69; regtl. qm. aug. 1, 71, to dec. 11, 73; capt. dcc. 11, 73.
- 165. GILBREATH, ERASMUS C., Dec. 23, 73, 11th Infantry. [Born in Ohio; apptd. from Ind.]— 1 lt. 20 Ind. vol. july 22, 61; capt. dec. 7, 62; maj. july 27, 63; mast. out oct. 19, 64; capt. a. qm. vol. jun. 23, 65, acc. may 18, 65; must. out july 28, 65; 2 lt. and 1 lt. 15 inf. feb. 23, 66, acc. may 2, 66; trs. to 24 inf. sept. 21, 66; trs. to 11 inf. apr. 25, 69; capt. dec. 23, 73.
- 166. NORVELL, JOHN M., Jan. 31, 74, 12th Infantry. [Born in Mich.; apptd. from Mich.]— 2 It 2 Mich. vol. may 25, 61; capt. a. a. g. vol. ang. 30, 61, acc. sept. 1, 61; maj. a. a. g. vol. ang. 22, 62, acc. sept. 8, 62; it. col. vol. bvt. apr. 9, 65, "for mer. ser. in the recent campaign terminating with the surrender of the insurgent army under Gen. R. E. Lee," *resyd.*, inne 21, 65; 1 It. 31 inf. july 28, 66, acc. oct. 2, 66; capt. bvt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Gettysburg, Pa."; maj. bvt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of the Wilderness, Va."; unassd. may 15, 69; assd. to 12 inf. jan. 1, 71; regtl. adj't feb. 7, 71, to jan. 17, 73; capt. jan. 31, 74.
- 167. ROGERS, BENJAMIN H., Feb. 18, 74, 13th Infantry. [Born in R. I.; apptd. from R. I.]— Pvt. co. F, 1 R. I. vol. may 2, 61; dischyd. ang. 1, 61; corpl. co. F, 1 R. 1. art. oct. 7, 61; sergt. may 29, 62; trs. to 1 R. I. cav. nov. 22, 62; dischyd. oct. 10, 64; 24. 12 inf. mar. 16, 66, acc. may 4, 66; trs. to 21 inf. sept. 21, 66; 11t. feb. 18, 67; unassd. july 9, 70; assd. to 13 inf. jan. 1, 71; capt. feb. 18, 74.
- 168. JOCELYN, STEPHEN P., May 19, 74, 21st Infantry. [Born in Vt.; apptd. from Vt.]— Pvt. co. A, 6 Vt. vol. aug. 22, 63; dischgd. july 6, 64; 1 lt. 115 U. S. c. t. aug. 1, 64; must. out feb. 10, 66; 2 lt. 6 inf. feb. 23, 66, acc. apr. 13, 66; 1 lt. july 28, 66; how. must. out jan. 1, 71; 2 lt. 21 inf. mar. 9, 71, acc. may 23, 71; 1 lt. 21 inf. apr. 14, 73, with rank from july 28, 66 [act feb. 25, 73]; capt. may 19, 74.
- 169. BAKER, STEPHEN, June 8, 74, 6th Infantry. [Born in Mich.; apptd. from Army.]— Pvt. co. E, 6 inf. aug. 20, 60; corpl. mar. 7, 62; sergt. maj. 6 inf. apr. 1, 63; pvt. co. F, 6 inf. aug. 24, 63; sergt. sept. 1, 63; sergt. co. D, 6 inf. mar. 18, 64; 1 sergt. mar. 20, 64; dischad, july 10, 64; 1 sergt. co. D, 6 inf. july 11, 64; qm. sergt. 6 inf. oct. 6, 64; 2 H. and 1 H. 6 inf. may 3, 65, acc. may 12, 65; regtl. qm. mar. 1, 67, to sept. 1, 68; capt. june 8, 74.
- 170. BRADLEY, CHARLES O., Aug. 25, 74, 20th Infautry. [Bornin N. H.; apptd. from N. H.]— 1 sergt. co. 1, 1 N. H. vol. apr. 20, 61; disclord. aug. 9, 61; capt. 13 N. H. vol. sept. 19, 62; must. out june 10, 64; capt. 1 N. H. art. sept. 17, 64; must. out june 15, 65, paid to june 22, 65; 2 lt. and 1 lt. 11 inf. feb. 23, 66, acc. apr. 25, 66; trs. to 20 inf. sept. 21, 66; capt. aug. 25, 74.
- 171. MURDOCK, DANIEL H., Oct. 7, 74, 6th Infantry. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Iowa.]— Pvt. co. D, 3 Iowa cav. aug. 30, 62; eorpl. aug. 3, 64; dischad. oct. 5, 64; 2 lt. 122 U. S. c. t. oct. 5, 64; 1 lt. jan. 10, 65; must. out feb. 8, 66; 2 lt. 6 inf. feb. 23, 66, acc. may 2, 66; 1 lt. july 28, 66; capt. oct. 7, 74.
- 172. TOBEY, THOMAS F., Nov. 23, 74, 14th Infantry. [Born in R. I.; apptd. from Army.]— Sergt. co. D, 10 R. I. vol. may 26, 62; dischgd. aug. 6, 62; capt. 7 R. I. vol. sept. 4, 62; maj. jan. 7, 63; must. out feb. 9, 64; pvt. co. F, 2 batt. 14 inf. feb. 27, 65; sergt. mar. 1, 65; 2 lt. 14 inf. may 3, 65, and 1 lt. may 6, 65, acc. may 15, 65; regtl. adj't jan. 16, 66, to sept. 30, 67; capt. nov. 23, 74.
- 173. WELLS, DA NIEL T., Dec. 15, 74, 8th Infantry. [Born in Vt.; apptd. from Mich.]— Capt. 1 Mich. cav. dec. 30, 62; must. out june 23, 63; 24t. 8 int. feb. 19, 63, acc. june 24, 63; 14t. byt. sept. 29, 64, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the assault on Fort Harrison, Va."; capt. hyt. apr. 2, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. in front of Petersburg, Va."; maj. byt. apr. 2, 65, "for gal. cond. in the capture of Fort Harrison, Va., and succeeding engagements at that place"; 14t. 8 inf. feb. 13, 66; regft. adj t nov. 21, 66, to mar. 1, 68; capt. dec. 15, 74

- 174. CLAPP, WILLIAM H., Dec. 25, 74, 16th Infantry. [Born in Ohio; apptd. from Ohio.]— Pv1. co. A, 71 N. Y. s. m. apr. 19, 61; dischgd. july 30, 61; 24, 42 Ohio vol. sept. 25, 61; 14t. mar. 14, 62; capt. a. a. g. vol. may 15, 63, acc. may 22, 63; maj. vol. bvt. and 4t. col. vol. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith, and mcr. ser. dur. the war"; must. out dec. 5, 65, 24t. and 14t. 11 inf. feb. 23, 66, acc. apr. 29, 66; adj't 1 batt. ang. 9, 66; regtl. adj't dec. 5, 66, to apr. 14, 69; 4rs. to 16 inf. apr. 14, 69; regth. adj't may 1, 72, to ang. 1, 74; regtl. qm. aug. 1, 74, to dec. 25, 74; capt. dec. 25, 74.
- 175. COURTNEY, MICHAEL L., Mar. 3, 75, 25th Infantry. [Born in Irel'd: apptd. from III.]— Sergt. co. 1, 102 III. vol. july 26, 62; 2 1t. 102 III. vol. apr. 9, 63; 1t. aug. 9, 63; 1k. col. 16 U. S. et. dec. 2), 63; most. out apr. 30, 66, paid to may 3, 66; 2 It. 39 inf. july 28, 66, acc. jan. 7, 67; 1 It. byt. and capt. byt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. in action at Pulaski, Ga."; maj. byt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Nashville, Tenn."; 1t. 39 inf. may 31, 67; trs. to 25 inf. apr. 20, 69; capt. mar. 3, 75.
- 176. HOWE, HENRY S., June 1, 75, 17th Infantry. [Born in Mass.; apptd. from Minn.]— Pvt. co. B. Hatche's ind. batt. Minn. cav. july 1, 63; 1 sergt. aug. 10, 63; 2 fr. june 29, 64; 1 ft. july 6, 65; *must. out* may 50, 66, paid to june 8, 66; 2 ft. 17 inf. feb. 23, 66, acc. june 5, 66; 1 ft. july 28, 66; capt. june 1, 75.
- 177. KELLER, CHARLES, July 20, 75, 2nd Infantry. [Born in Pa.: apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 61; 24t, and 14t, 16 inf. june 23, 65; trs. to 2 inf. apr. 17, 69; regth. qm. aug. 20, 73, to july 20, 75; capt, july 20, 75.
- 178. LUHN, GERHARD L., Dec 31, 75, 4th Infantry. [Form in Germly: apptd. from Army.]— Pyt. co. E. 6inf. jan. 10, 55; corpl. july 1, 55; discloyd. nov. 16, 57; corpl. co. E. 6 inf. nov. 16, 57; sorgf. mar. 18, 59; i sergt. nov. 1, 59; sergf. dec. 8, 61; discloyd. nov. 16, 62; 2 R. 4 inf. feb. 19, 63, acc. apr. 3, 63; i 11, june 29, 64; capt. byt. apr. 2, 65; " for gal. and mer. ser, in front of Petersburg Va."; regul. qu., 4 inf. jan. 31, 69, to jan. 1, 71; capt. dec. 31, 75.
- 179. QUINN, THOMAS F., Jan. 10, 76, 4th Infantry. [Born in Ireland: apptd. from Army.]— Music boy gen. ser. apr. 14, 53; mus. co. C. 2 art. teb. 25, 54; dischool, apr. 13, 58; pvt. gen. ser. (eb. 3, 59; pvt. band 4 inf. nov. 29, 60; drum maj. 4 inf. dec. 1, 61; prin. mus.june 30, 62; sergt. maj. 4 inf. july 21, 63; 24t. 4 inf. oct. 31, 63, acc. nov. 6, 63; 14t. (eb. 2, 65; capt. hvt. apr. 2, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. in front of Petersburg, Va."; capt. 4 inf. jan. 10, 76.
- 180. CONRAD, CASPER H., Jan. 25, 76, 15th Infantry. [Born in N.Y.; apptd from D.C.]— Pyt. co. I, 120 N.Y. vol. aug. 18, 62; pyt. co. B. I regt. vet. res. corps. apr. 8, 64; dischgd. july 31, 65; 14t, 35 inf. mar. 7, 67, acc. apr. 12, 67; trs. to 15 inf. aug. 12, 69; capt jan. 25, 76.
- 181. MCCONHIE, SAMUEL, Feb. 25, 76, 14th Infantry. [Born in N. II.; apptd. from N. V.]— Capt. 93 N. Y. vol jan. 17, 62; maj. dec. 3, 63; must. out feb. 15, 65; if. col. vol. byt., col. vol. byt., and brig. gen. vol. byt. mar. 13, 65; "for cons. gallantry in the battles of the Wilderness and Spottsylvania and for gal, and mer. ser, dur. the war"; 24, and 14, 14 inf, feb. 23, 66, acc, apr. 25, 66; capt. byt. mar. 26; "for gal, and mer. ser, in the battle of spottsylvania, Va.,"; if. col. byt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal, and mer. ser, in the battle of Spottsylvania, Va.,"; if. col. byt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal, and mer. ser, in the battle of Spottsylvania, Va.,"; if. col. byt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal, and mer. ser, in the battle of Spottsylvania, Va.,"; if. col. byt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal, and mer. ser, in the battle of Spottsylvania, Va.,"; if. col. byt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal, and mer. ser, for the war"; capt. 14 inf, feb. 25, 76.
- 182. SPURGIN, WHLIJAM F., June 2, 76, 21st Infantry. [Born in Ky.; apptd. from Ind.]— 14, 54 Ind. vol. jane 49, 62; must.out sept. 26, 62; capt. 15 U. S. e. t. apr. 9, 64; capt. 100 U. S. e. t. june 9, 64; maj. vol. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for special galantry at Johnsonville in nov., 1864, and at Nushville, Tenn, dee, 16, 64, and for faith, and mer. ser, in the Bur, of R., F., and A. L.", most. out dec, 26, 65; 14, 38 inf, july 28, 66, acc, oct 15, 66; capt. byt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal, and mer. ser, in action at Johnsonville, Tenn."; maj. byt.mar. 2, 67, "for gal, and mer. ser, in the battle of Nashville, Tenn."; regtl. qm, 38 inf, mar. 29, 67, to to nov. 11, 69; trs. to 24 inf, nov. 11, 69; unassd. apr. 14, 70; assd. to 24 inf, jan. 1, 71; regtl. qm, july 8, 74, to june 2, 76; capt. june 2, 76.
- 183. PRATT, HENRY C., June 10, 76, 13th Infantry. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from N. Y.]— 24, 38 N. Y. vol. jan. 11, 62; 14t. july 30, 62; capt. nov. 21, 62; must. out june 22, 63; 14t. 13 N. Y. art. apr. 8, 64; capt. dec. 12, 64; must. out aug. 24, 65; paid to aug. 30, 65; 24t. 13 inf. may 11, 66, acc. sept. 6, 66; 14t. byt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Elackburn's Ford, Va."; capt. byt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Rackburn's Ford, Va."; eapt. byt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Fair Oaks, Va."; 14t. 13 inf. july 1, 67; regtl. adj't sept. 1, 71, to june 10, 76; capt. june 10, 76.
- 184. TAYLOR, RODNEY M., Oct. 22, 76, 20th Infantry. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from N. Y.]-Capt. 12 N. Y. cay, doc. 13, 62; maj, jan. 5, 64; 11, col. vol. byt. and col. vol. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith, and mer. ser."; *must. out* july 19, 65, paid to aug. 6, 65; 1 lt. 12 inf. july 28, 66, acc. mar. 13, 67; unassd. aug. 16, 69; assd. to 20 inf. jan. 1, 71; capt. oct. 22, 76.

- 185. LEE, D. MORTIMER, Oct.34,76,6th Infantry. [Born in Conn.; apptd. from Conn.]— Pvt. co. E, 2 Conn. vol. may 7, 61; dischyd. aug. 7, 61; sergt. co. K, 1 Conn. h. art. apr. 4, 62; dischyd. dec. 3), 63; 2 lt. 29 Conn. colored vol. jan. 1, 64; 1 lt. feb. 1, 65; must. out oct. 24, 65, paid to nov. 24, 65; 2 lt. 19 inf. feb. 23, 66, acc. may 3, 66; trs. to 37 inf. sept. 21, 66; 1 lt. sept. 12, 66; trs. to 5 inf. may 19, 69; unassd. june 22, 69; assd. to 6 inf. jan. 1, 71; capt. oct. 31, 76.
- 186. NIXON, JOHN B., Jan. 5, 77, 24th Infantry. [Born in Va.; apptd. from III.]— 24t. 402 III. vol. sept. 2, 62; 14t, apr. 20, 63; capt. 17 U. S. c. t. dcc. 3, 63; maj. vol. bvt. and H. col. vol. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith, and mer. ser. dur. the war"; must. out nov. 3, 66; 14t. 38 int. june 12, 67, acc. july 20, 67; trs. to 24 inf. nov. 11, 69; regtl. qm. mar. 4, 71, to jan. 5, 77; capt. jan. 5, 77.
- 187. BOYLE, WILLIAM H., Apr. 23, 77, 21st Infantry. [Born in N. Y.; appid. from N. Y.]-2 It, 5 N. Y. art. june 28, 62; 1 It. dec. 27, 64; must. out may. 9, 65; capt. 5 N. Y. art. may. 25, 65; maj. may 20, 65; must. out july 19, 65, paid to july 30, 65; 2 It. 2 inf. may 10, 66, acc. june 15, 66; 1 It. aug. 15, 67; unassd. apr. 17, 69; assd. to 21 inf. dec. 15, 70; capt. apr. 23, 77.
- 188. SAVAGE, EGBERT B., May 30, 77, 8th Infantry. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from N. Y.]— 14, 115 N. Y. vol. ang. 26, 62; capt. nov. 1, 62; must. out ang. 30, 65, paid to sept. 3, 65; 24, and 14, 15 inf. feb. 23, 66, acc. apr. 28, 66; trs. to 33 inf. sept. 21, 66; trs. to 8 inf. may 3, 69; capt. may 30, 77.
- 189. DURHAM, CASS, June 30, 77, 18th Infantry. [Born in Ind.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 60; 2 lt. and 1 lt. 16 inf. june 23, 65; trs. to 25 inf. sept. 21, 66; regtl. qm. june 22, 68, to apr. 26, 69; trs. to 18 inf. apr. 26, 69; capt. june 30, 77.
- 190 COOLIDGE, CHARLES A., Aug. 9, 77, 7th Infantry. [Born in Mass.; apptd. from Anny.]— Det 15 56 act 22 52, and an M 2 bett 16 inf and 1 for 21, 21th 7 inf may 18 61 and 1

Pvt. 16 inf. oct. 23, 62; pvt. co. H, 3 batt. 16 inf. apr. -, 64; 2 lt. 7 inf. may 18, 64, and 1 It. july 20, 64, acc. july 21, 64; capt. aug. 9, 77.

- HARTZ, WILSON T., Aug. 23, 77, 15th Infantry. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Pa.]— Sergt. maj. 6 Pa. vol. apr. 22, 61; dischgd. july 27, 61; 1 H. 70 N. Y. vol. oct. 23, 61; capt. a. a. g. vol. oct. 23, 62, acc. oct. 29, 62; maj. vol. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith, and mer. ser."; 2 H. 15 inf. may 11, 66, acc. sept. 11, 66; 1 H. bvt. and capt. bvt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser, in the battle of Fair Oaks, Va."; maj. bvt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Fredericksburg, Va."; 1 H. 15 inf. june 17, 67; must. out of vol. ser. sept. 1, 67; capt. 15 inf. mag. 23, 77.
- 192 DEMPSEY, CHARLES A., Feb. 9, 78, 2nd Infantry. [Born in Va.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet sept. 1, 61; 2 lt. and 1 lt. 17 inf. june 23, 65; trs. to 35 inf. sept. 21, 66; unassd. aug. 12, 69; assd. to 2 inf. june 3, 70; regtl. adjit dec. 21, 71, to feb. 9, 78; capt. feb. 9, 78.
- DOUGHERTY, WILLIAM E., Mar. 1, 78, 1st Infantry. [Born in Ireland; apptd. from Army.]—

Pvt. gen. ser. apr. 10, 60; pvt. co. K, 1 inf. dec. 16, 60; corpl. july 1, 61; trs. to co. G, nov. 8, 61; sergt. nov. 20, 61; 1 sergt. may 1, 62; 2 It. 1 inf. feb. 19, 63, acc. mar. 18, 63; 1 It. bvt. july 4, 63, "for gal. and mer. ser. dur. the siege of Vicksburg, Miss."; 1 It. 1 inf. apr. 9, 65; capt. mar. 1, 78.

- 194. HAY, LEONARD, Mar. 11, 78, 9th Infantry. [Born in Ind.; apptd. from Army.]— Pvt. co. D, 3 batt. 15 inf. june 18, 64; 2 lt. 9 inf. july 2, 64, acc. july 12, 64; 1 lt. sept. 29, 64; regth. ad]'t july 1, 65, to mar. 11, 78; capt. mar. 11, 78.
- 195. TOWLE, GEORGE F., Mar. 18, 78, 19th Infantry. [Born in N. H.; apptd. from N. H.]— 1 It. 4 N. H. vol. sept. 18, 61; capt. feb. 13, 62; maj. feb. 3, 65; It. col. a. i. g. [act july 17, 62] apr. 22, 65; to ang. 1, 65; must. out ang. 23, 65; 2 It. and 1 It. 19 inf. feb. 23, 66, acc. may 9, 66; trs. to 28 inf. sept. 21, 66; capt. bvt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. at Fort Wagner, S. C."; maj. bvt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. at Russell's Mill"; It. col. bvt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the capture of Fort Fisher, N. C."; trs. to 19 inf. mar. 31, 69; capt. mar. 18, 78.
- 196. LINCOLN, SUMNER H., Mar. 24, 78, 10th Infantry. [Born in Mass.; apptd. from Vt.]— Pyt. co. B, 1 Vt. vol. may 2, 61; discliped, aug. 15, 61; corpl. co. B, 6 Vt. vol. oct. 15, 61; 1 1t. 6 Vt. vol. feb. 21, 63; maj. nov. 10, 64; 1t. col. feb. 6, 65; must. out june 26, 65, paid to july 6, 65; 2 1t. and 1 lt. 17 inf. feb 23, 66, acc. appr. 23, 66; irts. to 20 inf. sept. 21, 66; regtl. adj't may 1, 68, to may 19, 69; trs. to 10 inf. may 19, 69; capt. mar. 24, 78.
- 197. GOODALE, GREENLEAF A., June 25, 78, 23rd Infantry. [Born in Me.; apptd. from Me.]− Pvt. co. E, 6 Me. vol. may 7, 61; corpl. — sergt. may 5, 63; 14, 77 U. S. e. t. jan. 2, 64; capt. may 24, 64; maj. vol. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith, and mer. ser. dur. the war"; *must. out.* nov. 14, 66; 1 H. 23 inf. july 28, 66, acc. nov. 24, 66; cupt. bvt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Gettysburg"; capt. 23 inf. june 25, 78.

- 198. READ: OGDEN B., June 28, 78, 11th Infantry. [Born in Vt.: appth. from Vt.]→ Pvt.co. D. 10 Vt. vol.aug. 4, 62; corpl. dec. 26, 62; disclop1, apt 2, 64; capt. 39 V. S. e. t. apt. 5, 64; maj; vol.lvt.mar, 13, 65; "for gd. and mer. set"; must out dec. 4, 65; paid todec, 11, 65; 24, and 14, 11 inf. feb, 23, 66, acc. apr. 25, 66; trs. to 29 inf. sept. 21, 66; regth. adj't dec. 18, 66; to apr. 25, 69; trs. to 11 inf. apr. 25, 69; regth. adj't jan. 23, 74, to sept. 18, 74; capt june 28, 78.
- 199. TRONEL, THOMAS G., June 28, 78, 17th Infantry. [Born in P.a.; apptd. from Jowa.]— Pyt. co. E. 25 Iowa vol. aug. 21, 62; 1 sergt. — — 62; d solgd. june 6, 65; 24t, 17 inf. feb. 23, 66, acc. apr. 27, 66; 14t, july 6, 67; regtl. qu. oct. 20, 72, to june 28, 78; capt. june 28, 78.
- 200 ROBERTS, CYRUS S., June 28, 78, 17th Infantry. [Born in Conn.; appth from Conn.]— Pvt. co. A, 22 N, Y, 8, m, may 28, 62; pvt. co. A, 150 N, Y, vol. sept. 6, 62; s/rgt, maj. 150 N, Y, vol. oct. H, 62; 24; 150 N, Y, vol. feb/13, 63; 14; jan, 4, 65; capt. vol. bvt. mar. 15, 65; "for gal, and mer, ser."; maj, vol. bvt. mar. B, 65; "for gal, and mer, s/r, dm; the campaign in West Virginia and in the Shenandoah Vall y,"; most, out june 8, 65, pad to jane 16, 65; capt. a, d. c, vol. june 22, 65, acc. june 26, 65; most, out d/c, 7, 65; 24; 17; inf may 10, 66; acc. sept. 14, Byt. mar. 2, 67; "for gal, and mer's s/r, in the battle of Winchester, Va., sept. 19, 64 "; capt. bvt. mar. 2, 67; "for gal, and m''s s/r, in the battle of Fisher's Hill, Va., sept. 22, 64 []; 14, 15 inf, sept. 18, 67; capt. june 28, 78.
- 201. CARTER, MASON, Sept. 4,78,5th Infantry. [Born in Ga.: apptd. from Army.]— Pyt. co. B. 1 inf. feb. 1, 60; corpl. june 17, 61; disclad, may 21, 62; 1 lt, 1 Mo. cav. may 21, 62; respl. may 29, 62; 2 lt, 5 inf. may 12, 62, acc. may 20, 62; 1 lt, may 14, 64; regtl. adj't mov. 1, 64, to june 4, 69; capt. byt. oct. 18, 67, "for. gal. and mer. ser, in an affair with Indians en toute from Fort Hays to Fort Harker, Kans," capt. 5 inf. sept. 4, 78.
- 202. BRINKERHOFF, HENRY R., Sept. 18, 78, 15th Infantry. [Bornin Ohio: apptd. from Mo.] 1 [1, 50 Ohio vol. ang. 29, 61]; II, eol. 52 U. S. e. t. july 27, 63]; *respl.* june 20, 65, paid to july 17, 65]; II, eol. 52 U. S. e. t. sept. 16, 65]; *must. out* may 5, 66]; 2 It, 15 inf. june 3, 67, acc. sept. 13, 67]; I II, nov. 7, 67]; enpt. sept. 18, 78.
- 203. THOMPSON, J. MHLTON, Dec. 25, 78, 24th Infantry. [Born in N. H.; apptd. from N. H.]— Pvt. co. E. 7 N. H. vol. nov. 7, 61; 14, 33 U. S. e. t. jan. 27, 63; capt. nov. 7, 63; must, out jan. 31, 66; 24t. 38 inf. july 28, 66, acc. nov. 42, 66; 44t. bvt. mar. 2, 67, ["for gal. and mer. ser. at James Island, S. C." 44t. 38 inf. nov. 4, 67; t18, to 24 inf. nov. 11, 69; capt. dec. 23, 78.
- 204. MCKEEVER, SAMUEL, Mar. 4, 79, 2nd Infantry. [Born in Mass.; apptd. from Mass.] 1 [1, 16] Mass. vol. july 2, 61; minst. out ang. 10, 62; capt. 28 Mass. vol. nov. 16, 62; minst. out july 27, 63; capt. vet. ress. corps ang. 29, 63, acc. ang. 24, 63; maj. vol. byt. and II; col. vol. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal, and mer. ser. dur. the war"; minst. out feb, 22, 66, paid to apr. 16, 66; 2 It. and 1 It. 16 inf. feb. 23, 66, acc. apr. 17, 66; capt. byt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal, and mer. ser. dur. the war"; trs. to 2 inf. apr. 17, 69; capt. mar. 4, 79.
- 205. BARBER, MERRITT, Mar, 4, 79, 46th Infantry. [Born in Vt.; appt I, from Vt.]— 14t. 40–Vt. vol. sept. 4, 62; capt. july 31, 64; maj. vol. bvt. oct. 49, 64, "for having borne himself with dis. gallantry in every engagement since may 5, and particularly in the engagement at Cedar Creek, Va."; capt. a. a. g. vol. dec. 30, 64, acc. may 18, 65; must. out sept. 19, 65; 24, and 14, 16 inf. feb, 23, 66, acc. may 5, 66; rest. may 18, 65; must. out sept. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer, ser, in the battle of the Wilderness, Va."; mij, bvt. mar, 2, 67, "for gal, and mer, ser, in the battle of Cedar Creek, Va."; meth. adj t 3 inf. feb, 15, 68, to apr. 14, 69; test. to 16 inf. apr. 14, 69; regtl. adj t apr. 14, 69; to apr. 30, 72; cept. mar, 4, 79.
- 206. THORNE, PLATT M., Mar. 4, 79, 22nd Infantry. [Born in N. Y.) apptd. from N. Y.] Cupt. 150 N. Y. vol. oct. 10, 62; maj. vol. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith, and mer. ser, dur, the war": It. col. vol. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith and mer. ser,"; must. out june 8, 65, paid to june 16, 65; 2/It. 13 inf. feb. 23, 66, and 14, apr. 5, 66, acc. apr. 26, 66; trs. to 31 inf. sept. 21, 66; trs. to 22 inf. may 15, 69; regtl. qm. july 1, 72, to mar. 4, 79; capt. mar. 4, 79.
- 207. BEAN, JOHN W., Mar. 5, 79, 15th Infantry. [Born in Vt.; apptd. from N. II.]— 24t. 5 N. H. vol. oct. 15, 61; 14t. july 31, 62; capt. jan. 4, 63; must. out sept. 20, 64; 24t. 35 inf. jan. 22, 67, acc. mar. 22, 67; 14t. byt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and ner. ser. in the battle of Fredericksburg, Va."; capt. byt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Cold Harbor, Va."; trs. to 15 inf. aug. 12, 69; 14t. dec. 13, 71; capt. mar. 5, 79.
- 208. BUBB: JOHN W., Mar. 16, 79, 4th Infantry. [Born in Pa. ; apptd. from Army.]— Pvt. co. E, 1 batt. 12 inf. sept. 13, 61; sergt. jan. 1, 62; 1 sergt. dec. 1, 62; dischool. feb. 10, 64; 1 sergt. co. E, 1 batt. 12 inf. feb. 10, 64; 2 1t. and 1 lt. 12 inf. feb. 5, 66, acc. apr. 25, 66; trs. to 30 inf. sept. 21, 66; trs. to 4 inf. mar. 23, 69; regtl. qm. apr. 1, 72, to june 1, 75; capt. mar. 16, 79.

- 209. MCDONALD, ROBERT, Mar. 29, 79, 5th Infantry. [Born in N. V.: apptd. from Army.]— Pvt. co. E. 5 inf. july 24, 56; corpl. mar. 11, 58; sergt. cet. 1, 59; discligit june 7, 61; sergt. co. E. 5 inf. june 7, 61; 1 sergt. july 10, 62; discligit, feb. 21, 64; 1 sergt. co. E. 5 inf. feb. 21, 64; 24, 5 inf. july 2, 64, acc. sept. 9, 64; 14, sept. 28, 65; regtl. qu. nov. 18, 66, to aug. 10, 69; capt. mar. 20, 79.
- 210. DAV18, CHARLES L., Mar. 20, 79, 10th Infantry. [Born in Pa.: apptd. from Del.]— Pet. commonwealth art. Pa. vol. apr. 24,61; discloyd ang. 5, 61; 24, 31 Pa. vol. ang. 20, 61; 1 R. 82 Pa. vol. sept. 4, 61; capt. feb. 4, 63; cart. sig. corps mar. 3, 63, acc. june 19, 63; maj, vol. byt, april 9, 65, "for gal, and mer. ser, dur. the recent operations resulting in the fall of Richmond, Va., and the surrender of the insurgent army under Gen. R. E. Lee.", *most. out* ang. 18, 65; 2 R, and 1 R, 10 inf. feb. 23, 66, acc. apr. 19, 66; capt. byt, mar. 2, 67, "for gal, and mer. ser, in the campaign from the Rapidan to the James"; maj, byt, mar. 2, 67, "for gal, and mer. ser, in the siege of Petersburg, Va."; capt. 10 inf. mar. 20, 79.
- 211. BALDWIN, FRANK D., Mar. 20, 79, 5th Infantry. [Form in Mich.; apptd. from Mich.]— 24, Mich. horse guards sept. 19, 61; *must. out* nov, 22, 61; 14, 19, Mich. vol sept. 5, 62; capt. mar. 1, 61; *must. out* june 10, 65, paid to june 24, 65; 24, L. and 44, L. 19 inf. feb. 23, 66, acc. may 10, 66; trs. to 37 inf. sept. 24, 66; trs. to 5 inf. may 19, 69; capt. mar. 20, 79.
- 212. SPENCER, JAMES H., Mar. 29, 79, 4th Infantry. [Born in Mass.; apptd. from Mass.]— Pvt. c., K. 6 Mass. vol. apr. 16, 61; *disch al*, aug. 2, 61; sergt. co. F. 20 Mass. vol. ang. 23, 61; 14t. 20 Mass. vol. nov. 23, 66; capt. july 6, 64; *awrst. out* july 16, 65, paid to july 27, 65; 24t. and 14t. 12 inf. 6cb. 23, 66, acc. apr. 23, 66; trs. to 30 inf. sept. 21, 66; trs. to 4 inf. mar. 23, 69; capt. mar. 20, 79.
- 213. PAUL, CHARLES R., Mar. 20, 79, 18th Infantry. [Born in Pa.: apptd. from N. J.]— Pyt. co. C. 7 N. J. vol. ang. 28, 61; com. sergt. 7 N. J. vol. nov. 27, 61; dischol. ang. 15, 62; 2 It. 15 N. J. vol. ang. 25, 62; 1 It. ang. 10, 63; capt. sept. 10, 64; maj. vol. byt. oct. 19, 64, "for gallantry throughout the campaign before Richmond, Va., and particularly in the engagements at Winchester, Fisher's Hill, and Cedar Creek, in the valley of the Shenandoab ": It. col. vol. byt. apr. 2, 65; "for gal. and mer. ser, before Petersburg, Va."; must. out july 11, 65, paid to july 12, 65; 2 It. and 1 It. 16 inf. feb. 23, 66, acc. apr. 26, 66; trs. to 25 inf. sept. 21, 66; cept. byt. mar. 20, 77. "for gal. and mer. ser, in the battle of Petersburg, Va."; trs. to 18 inf. apr. 26, 69; capt. may. 20, 79.
- 214. MORTON, ALFRED, Mar. 20, 79, 9th Infantry. [Born in Me.; apptd. from Cal.]— Sergt. co. F, 2 Cal. cav. sept. 13, 61; com. sergt. jan. 1, 62; dischgd. jan. 6, 62; 11t. 2 Cal. vol. jan. 26, 62; capt. feb. 14, 63; maj. 7 Cal. vol. nov. 25, 64; must. out mar. 17, 66; 2 It. 9 inf. mar. 3, 66, acc. may 15, 66; regtl. qm. june 1, 66; to mar. 20, 79; 1 It. july 28, 66; capt. mar. 20, 79.
- 215. POTTER, CARROLL II., Mar. 20, 79, 18th Infantry [Born in R. I.; apptd. from Mass.]— Capt. a. a. g. vol. oct. 21, 61, acc. oct. 23, 61; maj. a. a. g. vol. feb. 25, 65, acc. mar. 28, 65; brig. gen. vol. bvt. mar. 13, 65, '' for mer. ser. dur. the war''; *rac.* com of maj. a. a. g. vol. mar. 28, 65; col. 6 U. S. vol. mar. 27, 65; *must. out* oct. 10, 66; 1 H. 18 inf. july 28, 66, acc. oct. 26, 66; regtl. adj't jan. 1, 67, to mar. 20, 79; capt. mar. 20, 79.
- 216. WITHERELL, CHARLES T., Mar. 20, 79, 19th Infantry. [Born in Me.; apptd. from Me.]— Sorgt. co. K, 6 Me. vol. may 7, 61; dischgd. mar. 10, 62; 214. 6 Me. vol. mar. 10, 62; 11t. feb. 12, 63; capt. ang. 13, 63; capt. 1 Me. vet. vol. ang. 21, 64; maj. vol. bvt. oct. 19, 64; "for gal. cond. dur. the whole campaign before Richmond, and especially in the battles of Winchester, Fisher's Hill, and Cedar Creek. Va.': mark. out june 28, 65, paid to july 4, 65; 1 lt. 28 inf. july 28, 66, acc. dec 20, 66; capt. bvt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser, in the battle of Marye's Heights, Va.''; maj. bvt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser, in the battle of Rappahannoek Station, Va.''; nust. to 19 inf. mar. 31, 69; capt. mar. 20, 79.
- 217. STILLÉ, LOUIS R., Mar. 20, 79, 23rd Infantry. [Born in Md.; apptd. from Pa.]— 24, 3 Pa. cav. sept. 9, 62; 14. may 1, 63; capt. may 2, 64; maj. vol. bvt apr. 9, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. dur. the operations resulting in the fall of Richmond, Va., and the surrender of the insurgent army under Gen. R. E. Lee"; capt. 5 Pa. cav. may 8, 65; must. out aug. 7, 65, paid to aug. 14, 65; 24, 14 inf. mar. 16, 66, acc. may 2, 66; trs. to 23 inf. sept. 21, 66; 11. cot. 4, 66; capt. man. 20, 79.
- 218. BROWN, HUGH G., Mar. 20, 79. 12th Infantry. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Iowa.]— 2 It. 15 Iowa vol. dec. 1, 61; 11f. july 9, 62; capt. a. d. c. vol. aug. 28, 63, acc. sept. 14, 63; maj. vol. bvt. sept. 29, 64, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the campaign of 1864"; It. col. vol. tmar. 31, 65, "for gal. cond. in the field"; 2 It. 18 inf. may 2, 66, acc. june 18, 66; must. out of vol. ser. july 10, 66; trs. to 36 inf. sept. 21, 66; 1 It. nov. 25, 66; capt. bvt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the siege of Vicksburg, Miss."; maj. bvt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the capture of Fort Harrison, Va."; unassd. may 19, 69; assd. to 12 inf. dec. 15, 70; capt. mar. 20, 79.

- 210. GRAY, CYRUS N., Mar. 20, 79, 25th Infantry. [Born in Ind.; apptd. from Minn.]— Pet. co. C, 22 Ind. vol. ang. 15, 61; sergt. maj. 22 Ind. vol. sept. 1, 62; 24t, 15 U. S. e. t. feb. 3, 64; 14, mar. 25, 64; capt. apr. 11, 65; respt. nov. 24, 65, paid to nov. 26, 65; 14t, 39 inf. june 12, 67, acc. july 24, 67; 478, to 25 inf. apr. 20, 69; regt1, adj't ang. 9, 69, to jan. 1, 76; capt. mar. 20, 79.
- 220. EVANS, GEORGE W., Mar. 20, 79, 21st Infantry. [Born in Md.; apptd. from Md.]— Capt. 1 Md. vol. dec. 23, 61; must. out dec. 23, 64; 24t, 52 inf. jan. 22, 67, acc. mar. 26, 67; 1 It. byt. and capt. byt. mar. 2, 67, ~ (or gal. and mer. ser. dur. the war "; 14t, 32 inf. dec. 9, 67; unassd. apr. 19, 69; assd. to 21 inf. oct. 24, 69; regth. adj[t ang. 34, 71, to mar. 20, 79; capt. mar. 20, 79.
- 221. MARKLEV, ALFRED C., Mar. 20, 79, 24th Infantry. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Pa.]— Sergt. co. K. 197 Pa. vol. july 11, 64; d school, sept. 5, 64; 24t, 127 V. S. e. t. sept. 9, 64; 14t. mar. 5, 65; must. out oct. 29, 65, paid to nov. 2, 65; 24t, 41 inf. july 28, 66, acc, oct 13, 66; regft, adj't dec. 25, 66, to june 14, 67; 14t. mar. 31, 68; t18, to 24 inf. nov. 11, 69; capt. mar. 20, 79.
- 222. KENDALL, FREDERIC A., Mar. 22, 79, 25th Infantry. [Born in N. H.; apptd. from N. H.]— Pyt. eo. B, 11 Ind. vol.jume 18, 61; trs. to eo. 1, 4 N. H. vol.july 23, 61; dischafd aug. 9, 61, 2 It. 4 N. H. vol. sept. 48, 61; 1 H. jun. 1, 63; capt. sept. 27, 64; must. out aug. 23, 65; capt. 8 U, 8, e, art. oct. 9, 65; must. out feb. 10, 66; paid to mar. 9, 66; 2 It. 40 inf. july 28, 66; acc. jan. 4, 67; 1 H. byt. and capt. byt. mar. 2, 67, " for gal. and mer. ser. at Fort Harrison, Va."; 1 H. 40 inf. july 31, 67, acc. aug. 29, 67; trs. to 25 inf. apr. 20, 69; capt. mar. 22, 79.
- 223. O'BRIEN, LYSTER M., Mar. 22, 79, 17th Infantry. [Born in Mich.; apptd. from Mich.]-2 It. 27 Mich. vol. fcb. 25, 63; 1 lt. mar. 8, 64; capt. dec. 14, 64; maj. vol. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for gd. and mer. set. before Petersburg. Va."; *most. out* july 26, 65, paid to aug. 4, 65; 2 It. 16 inf. may 11, 66, acc. aug. 18, 66; trs. to 25 inf. sept. 21, 66; 1 lt. sept. 21, 67; massd. apr. 26, 69; assd. to 17 inf. dec. 15, 70; capt. mar. 22, 79.
- 224. AUMAN, WH.LIAM, Mar. 26, 79, 13th Infantry. [Born in Pa., apptl. from Pa.] Pvt. co. B. Wash, art. Pa. vol. apr. 18, 61; dischafd, july 29, 61; corpl. co. G. 48 Pa. vol. sept. 9, 61; sorgl. june 2, 62; 24t. 48 Pa. vol. july 24, 64; 14, sept. 12, 64; capt. vol. byt. apr. 2, 65; "for gal, and mer. ser, before Petersburg, Va."; capt. 48 Pa. vol. june 4, 65; most, out july 17, 65; 24t. 13 inf. may 14, 66, acc. dec. 22, 66; 14t. oct. 5, 67; regth qm. jan. 1, 70, to ang. 1, 71; capt. mar. 26, 79.
- 225. ROGERS, WHLLIAM W., Mar. 27, 79, 9th Infantry. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Pa.]— Pvt. co. B, 3 Pa. cav. july 23, 61; 2 It.3 Pa. cav. doc. 31, 61; 1 It. aug. 1, 62; capt. may 1, 63; capt. vet. res. corps. feb. 6, C4, acc. feb. 17, 64; maj. vol. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal, and mer. ser."; It. col. vol. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal, cond, in the field"; must, out jan, 13, 67; 1 It. 45 inf. july 28, 66, acc. jan, 14, 67; capt. bvt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal, and mer. ser. in the battle of Gettysburg, Pa."; trs. to 14 inf. july 22, 69; trs. to 9 inf. may 22, 71; capt. mar. 27, 79.
- 226. WESTERN, CHARLES B., Apr. 23, 79, 14th Infantry. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from N. Y.]— Pyt. co. C. 8 N. Y. 8, m. may 29, 62; dischard, sept. 10, 62; sergt. co. K. 156 N. Y. vol. sept. 15, 62; dischard, feb. 11, 61; 14, 156 N. Y. vol. feb. 11, 64; capt. oct. 18, 64; must. out oct. 23, 65, paid to nov. 6, 65; 241, and 14, 14 inf. feb. 23, 66, acc. apr. 27, 66; capt. apr. 23, 79.
- 227. DRURY, THOMAS, Apr. 27, 70, 2nd Infantry. [Born in Ireland; apptd. from Army.]— Pet. co. A, 1 inf. jan. 7, 42; corpl. jan. 1, 44; sergt. july 26, 45; disclad. nov. 14, 46; sergt co. A, 1 inf. nov. 14, 46; 1 sergt. jan. 1, 48; disclad. sept. 16, 51; 1 sergt. co. A, 1 inf. sept. 16, 51; ord. sergt. U. S. A. dec. 1, 52; disclad. july 16, 56; ord. sergt. U. S. A, july 16, 56; disclad. may 16, 61; ord. sergt. U. S. A. may 16, 61; 21; 21; 21, 20, 63; acc. ang. 11, 63; 11; hyt. may 5, 64, "16r gal. and mer ser, in the battle of the Wilderness, Va."; 11t, 2 inf. feb. 28, 66; capt. 39 inf. july 28, 66; declined; capt. 2 inf. apr. 27, 79.
- 228. LEE, JESSE M., May 1, 79, 9th Infantry. [Born in Ind.: apptld. from Ind.]— Pyt. co. B 59 Ind. vol. nov. 13, 61; com. sergt. 59 Ind. vol. nov. 15, 61; 24t. 59 Ind. vol. oct. 13, 62; 14t. ich. 14, 63; capt. ang 14, 63; must. out july 17, 65; capt. 38 U. S. e. t. ang 23, 65; must. out jan. 25, 67; 24t. 39 inf. july 28, 66; 14t. jan. 7, 67, acc. jan. 25, 67; regth adj i jan. 1, 60; to apr. 20, 69; tits: to 25 inf. japr. 20, 69; regth. adj i apr. 20, 69; to apr. 24, 69; nansat, apr. 24, 69; assil. to 9 inf. jan. 1, 71; regth. adj i mar. 11, 78, to may 1, 79; capt. may 1, 79.
- 229. HAMILTON, JOHN, May 6, 79. 1st Infantry. [Born in Ireland: apptd. from Army.]— Pyt. eo. A, 1 inf. oct. 14, 59: corpl. june 1, 54: dischgd. sept. 1, 55: corpl. co. A, 1 inf. sept. 1, 55: sergt. sept. 1, 56: 1 sergt. dec. 22, 58: dischgd. july 1, 60: 1 sergt. co. A, 1 inf. july 1, 60: ord. sergt. U. S. A. apr. 27, 63: 2 ft. 1 inf. may 12, 63, acc. june 22, 63: 1 ft. byt. july 4, 63. "for gal. and mer. ser. dur. the siege of Vicksburg, Miss."; 1 ft. 1 inf. mar. 15, 66; capt. may 6, 79.

- 1 lt. 11 inf. feb. 23, 66, acc. apr. 28, 66; trs. to 29 inf. sept. 21, 66; trs. to 11 inf. apr. 25, 69; capt. june 7, 79.
- 231. MILLER, JAMES, June 7, 79, 2nd Infantry. [Born in Mass.; appfd. from Mass]— Pvt. co. B, 50 Mass, vol. sept. 11, 62; dischad. aug. 24, 63; 24t. 4 Mass. cav. jan. 9, 64; 14t. feb. 8, 64; must. out nov. 14, 65, paid to nov. 16 (65; 24t. 16 inf. feb. 23, 66, acc. apr. 26, 66; 1 It. july 28, 66; trs. to 2 inf. apr. 17, 69; regtl. qm. jan. 1, 71, to aug. 20, 73; capf. june 7, 79.
- 232. WILHELM, THOMAS, June 7, 79, 8th Infantry. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Pa.]-Capt. 6 Pa. rif. apr. 23, 61; *must. out* july 27, 61; capt. 2 Pa. h. art. dec. 19, 61; maj. nov. 25, 62; col. 2 pro. Pa. h. art. apr. 20, 64, to aug. 26, 64; maj. 2 Pa. h. art. aug. 26, 64; *must. out* july 11, 65; *must. out* aug. 26, 66; 1 N. S. vet. vol. july 19, 65; *must. out* apr. 24, 66; 2 H. 8, int. may 11, 66, acc. june 13, 66; 1 H, aug. 14, 66; capt. byt. mar. 2, 67, ``for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of the Wilderness, Va."; maj. bvt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Cold Harbor, Va."; regtl. adj't 8 inf. mar. 4, 68, to june 7, 79; capt. june 7, 79.
- 233. VANCE, RICHARD, June 19, 79, 19th Infantry. [Born in Ky.; apptd. from Ky.]— Hosp. stwd. 26 Ky. vol. oct. 1, 61; 2 lf. 26 Ky. vol. june 22, 62; 4 lt. jau. 31, 63; must. out july 10, 65, paid to july 27, 65; 2 lt. 19 inf. feb. 23, 66, acc. sept. 8, 66; trs. to 28 inf. sept. 21, 66; 1 lt. sept. 19, 66; trs. to 19 inf. mar. 31, 69; capt. june 19, 79.
- 234. CALLINAN, DANIEL F., July 1, 79, 1st Infantry. [Born in Ireland: apptd. from Army.]-Byt. co. E, 1 inf. sept. 5, 60; corpl. aug. 1, 61; 1 sergt. jan. 21, 62; sergt. feb. 20, 63; 2 lt. 1 inf. aug. 10, 63, acc. oct. 2, 63; 1 lt. july 28, 66; capt. july 1, 79.
- 235. CONWAY, WILLIAM, July 4, 79, 22nd Infantry. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from N. Y.]— 14, 74 N. Y. vol. june 27, 61; capt. jan. 14, 63; must. out june 19, 64; 241, 16 inf. mar. 22, 66, acc. july 18, 66; trs. to 25 inf. sept. 21, 66; 14t. apr. 4, 67; unassd. apr. 26, 69; assd. to 22 inf. apr. 6, 70; capt. july 4, 79.
- 236. HEINER, ROBERT G., Sept. 29, 79, 1st Infantry. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Pa.]-2 It. 22 U. S. e. t. dec. 26, 63; 11t. jan. 25, 65; *must. out oct.* 16, 65, paid to nov. 20, 65; 2 It. 11 inf, feb. 23, 66, acc. apr. 27, 66; irs. to 29 inf. sept. 21, 66; 1 It. july 28, 66; unassd. apr. 25, 69; assd. to 1 inf, july 14, 69; capt. sept. 29, 79.
- 237. STONE, EBENEZER W., Nov. 11, 79, 21st Infantry. [Born in Mass.; apptd. from Mass.]— Capt. 1 Mass. vol. may 24, 61; must. out may 25, 64; It. col. 61 Mass. vol. feb. 28, 65; col. vol. byt. apr. 9, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. dur. the campaign resulting in the fall of Richmond, V.a., and the surrender of the insurgent army under Gen. R. E. Lee"; *must. out* july 16, 65, paid to july 31, 65; 24, 12 inf. may 11, 66, acc. sept. 7, 66; trs. to 21 inf. sept. 21, 66; 1 If. bvt. and capt. bvt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. at the battle of Williams-[24] G. Yu, Yu, Yu, and Capter for that 2, 67, "for gal, and mer, ser, at the battle of Chancellorsville, Va."; It. col. byt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal, and mer, ser, at the battle of Gettysburg, Pa."; 1 It. 21 inf. mar. 26, 68; unassd. apr. 19, 69; assd. to 21 inf. dec. 15, 70; capt. nov. 11, 79.
- 238. ROBINSON, THOMAS B., Nov. 24, 79, 19th Infantry. [Born at sea; apptd. from Army.]— Pvt. co. B, 2 batt. 12 inf. apr. 30, 62; corpl. july 1, 62; qm. sergt. 2 batt. 12 inf. dec. 1, 62; dischool. apr. 30, 65; qm. sergt. 1 batt. 12 inf. may 1, 65; trs. to 2 batt. dec. 20, 65; 2 lt. 8 inf. june 16, 66, acc. aug. 27, 66; 1 lt. aug. 6, 67; unassd. may 3, 69; assd. to 19 inf. sept. 1, 69; capt. nov. 24, 79.
- 239. PTERCE, FRANCIS E., Jan. 8, 80, 1st Infantry. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from N. Y.]— Capt. 108 N. Y. vol. aug. 18, 62; maj. sept. 17, 62; 1t. col. mar. 2, 63; brig. gen. vol. bvt. mar 13, 65; "for gal. and mer. ser. dur. the war"; must. out may 28, 65, paid to may 31, 65; col. 8 U. S. vet. vol. june 15, 65; must. out mar. 22, 66; 24, 11 inf. may 8, 66, acc. june 9, 66; 14. sept. 9, 67; regtl. qm. feb. 20, 74, to jan. 8, 80; capt. jan. 8, 80.
- 240. WARD, HENRY C., Feb. 8, 80, 16th Infantry. [Born in Mass.; apptd. from Mass.]— Pvt. co. D, 15 Mass. vol. july 31, 61; sergt. maj. 15 Mass. vol. nov. 1, 62; 24t. 15 Mass. vol. apr. 9, 63; must. out sept. 4, 63, paid to sept. 5, 63; 14t. 57 Mass. vol. mar. 26, 64; capt. oct. 24, 64; must. out july 30, 65, paid to aug. 10, 65; 24t. and 14t. 14 inf. feb. 29, 66, acc. may 1, 66; capt. bvt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser, in action at Fort Steedman, Va., mar. 24, 65"; trs. to 16 inf. apr. 14, 69; regtl. qm. mar. 1, 75, to feb. 8, 80; capt. feb. 8, 80.
- 56 ; (18, 10 10 m, ap. 14, 67; regul. qut. mar. 1, 65, (10 10), 6, 90; Capl. 10 16, 8, 90;
 241, NEIDE, HORACE, Apr. 27, 80, 4th Infratry, [10 m in Pa.; apptd. from Pa.]—
 241, 2 Pa. res. vet. corps ang. 1, 61; 1 lt. dec. 12, 61; capt. apr. 2, 62; maj. aug. 1, 62; *resgd.* nov, 24, 62; capt. vet. res. corps junc 8, 63, acc. junc 11, 63; maj. dec. 4, 63, acc. dec. 24, 63; it. col. junc 20, 64, acc. aug. 11, 64; col vol. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. ser. in the battles of Mechanicsville, Gaines' Mill, and Charles City Cross-Roads, Va."; brig. gen. vol. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. ser. in the battles of Mechanicsville, Gaines' Mill, and Charles City Cross-Roads, Va., and for faith, and mer. ser. dur, the war"; *must. out* jan. 10, 67; 11, 14, 41 fut july 28, 66 acc. janc 16, 67; cant byt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. fut. 14. 44 inf. july 28, 66, acc. jan. 10, 67; capt. bvt. mar 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Gaines' Mill, Va."; maj. bvt. mar 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. in action at Glendale, Va."; nnassd. may 27, 69; assd. to 4 inf. dec. 15, 70; capt. apr. 27, 80.

.

Captains-Continued.

- 242. EWING: EVARTS S., Apr. 30, 80, 16th Infuntry. [Born in Tenn.: apptd. from Mo.] Bug. co. D. 1 Iowa cav, july 29, 61; qm. sergt. I Iowa cav, aug. 8, 61; cht bug. cet. 7, 61; com. sergt. jan. 1, 62; pvt.co. D. _____, ____; dischpt. sept. 12, 63; capt. com. sub vol. jan. 31, 65, acc. may 1, 65; maj. vol. bvt., 1t. col. vol. bvt., and col. vol. bvt. ort 6, 65, "for faith, and mer. ser."; mast, out oct. 9, 65; 24; 16; inf. f b, 23, 66; 11; mar. 19, 69, acc. may 5, 66; trs. to 31; inf. seot. 21, 66; capt. bvt. and maj. bvt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. dur, the war"; trs. to 16; inf. apr. 14, 69; regth. qm. mar. 9, 80; capt. apr. 30, 80.
- 243. PARKER, LEOPOLO O., Nov. 12, 79, 1st Infantry. [Born in Mo.: apptd from Va.]— 241, 4 U. S. vol. jan. 11, 65; minst, out june 18, 66; 241, 1461, oct. 9, 66, acc. oct. 22, 66; regfl. adj't sept. 25, 67, to may 29, 68; trs. to 4 cav, sept. 16, 69; 141, feb. 10, 70; regfl. adj't jun. 1, 72, to may 6, 75; capt. nov. 12, 79; trs. to 146, 49, 680, taking rank from may 21, 80.
- 244. CUSTER, BETHEL M., June 18 80, 24th Infantry. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Pa.]— Pvt. co. C. 19 Pa. vol. apr. 18, 61; dischaft aug. 9, 61; corpl. co. C, 90 Pa. vol. sept. 17, 61; sergt. mar. 1, 63; dischaft feb. 27, 64; 240, 32 U. S. ett. mir. 4, 61; 14, nov. 25, 64; must. out ang. 22, 65, poid to ang. 28, 65; 44, 141 U. S. ett. ent. 4, 61; 14, nov. 26, 64; paid to jan. 47, 66; 24t. 38 inf. july 28, 66, acc. jan. 10, 67; 14t. bvt. mar. 2, 67, 75 for gal, and mer. ser. at James Island, S. C. 7; 18, to 24 inf. nov. 11, 69; 14t. mar. 1, 71; regtl. qu. my 15, 77, to apr. 30, 89; capt. june 18, 80.
- 215. ILAUGHEY, JAMES A., Aug. 15, 80, 218; Infentry. [Sorn in Del.; apptd. from Del.]— 14, 5 Del vol. new, 7, 61; expt. dec. 5, 62; must. out dec. 6, 64; expt. 8 U. S. vet. vol. sept. 7, 65; must. out app. 28, 66; 2 10, 36 int. jul. 28, 66; acc. oct. 15, 66; 4 10, may 21, 68; massd. may 19, 69; assil. to 24 inf. dec. 15, 70; expt. ang. 15, 80.
- 246. MUNSON, JACOB F., Dec, 15, 80, 6th Infinitry. [Born in N. V.; apptd. from N. V.]— Pyt. eo. C. 83 N. Y. vol. sept. 14, 61; corpl. may 8, 62; sergt. nov. 14, 62; 2, 11, 83 N. Y. vel. oct. 21, 63; must. out june 23, 64; 2 H. 8 U. S. vel. vol. dec, 33, 64; 11K vol. byt. and capt. vol. hyt. mar. 13, 65; "for gal. and mer. ser, dur, the war"; must. out feb. 15, 66; 2 H. 6 inf. may 11, 66; acc. may 28, 66; 1 H. oct. 31, 66; regtl. adjit apr. 1, 67, to apr. 22, 69, and from may 29, 69, to jan. 31, 75; capt. dec. 15, 80.
- 247. BADGER, WILLIAM, Dec. 15, 89, 6th Infantry. [Born in N. II.; apptd. from N. II.]— Capt. 4 N. II. vol. sept. 18, 61; *out of ser.* june 4, 61; maj. vol. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal, and mer. ser. dur. the war"; capt. 9 U. S. vet. vol. june 20, 65; *must. out* apr. 20, 66; 24t, 6 inf. may 13, 66, acc. oct. 15, 66; 14t. feb. 9, 67; capt. byt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal, and mer. ser. dur. the war"; capt. 6 inf. dec. 15, 89.
- 248. CRAIGIE, DAVID J., Dec. 16, 89, 12th Infantry. [Born in Scotl'd; apptd. from Iowa.] 14t. 8 Iowa vol. sept. 12, 61; capt. a. a. g. vol july 2, 64, acc. july 26, 64; must. out sept. 19, 65; 24, 12 in 12 infany 11, 66; acc. aug. 10, 66; regult. adj't dec. 1, 66, to act. 31, 69; 14, byt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal, and mer. ser, in the battle of Shiloh, Tenn."; capt. byt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal, and mer. ser, in the battle of Iuka"; 1-40, 10, e1, 76, 7; regil. qu. mar. 4, 71, to jan. 31, 76; capt. dec. 16, 80.
- 249. QUINBY, 1RA, Dec. 21, 80, 11th Infantry. [Jorn in N. Y.; apptd. from Colo.]— 1 sergt. co. D. 2 Colo. vol. sept. 5, 64; discloyed june 6, 62; 2 lt.1 Colo. cav. june 5, 62; 1 lt. may 7, 64; must. out nov. 18, 65; 2 lt. 15 inf. feb. 25, 66; 1 lt. mar. 28, 66, acc. ap. 27, 66; trs. to 24 inf. sept. 21, 66; regth. qm. mar. 4, 67, to apr. 25, 69; trs. to 11 inf. apr. 25, 69; regth. qm. apr. 25, 69; to sept. 3, 78; capt. dec. 21, 80.
- 250. QUIMBV, H. BANTER, Dec. 31, 80, 25th Infantry. [Born in N. H.; apptd. from N. H.]— 1 sergt. co. H. 9 N. H. vol. aug. 11, 62; 24, 9 N. H. vol. nov. 22, 62; 14t. feb. 15, 64; must. out june 10, 65, prid to june 12, 65; 24t. 108 U. S. e. t. sept. 20, 65; must. out mar. 21, 66, paid to may 29, 66; 24t. 39 inf. july 28, 66, acc. dec. 29, 66; 14, july 31, 67; regtl. qu. feb. 1, 68, to apr. 20, 69; 4rs. to 25 inf. apr. 20, 69; regtl. qu. apr. 20, 69 to sept. 1, 77; capt. dec. 31, 80.

First Lieutenants.

- MITCHELL, WILLIAM, Nov. 10, 64, 3rd Infantty. [Born in Ireland; apptd. from Army.]— Pyt. co, D. 2 inf. jan. 4, 55; corpl. ang. 1, 55; sergt. jan. 3, 57; dischad. nov. 7, 59; sergt. co, D. 2 inf. nov. 7, 59; 1 sergt. ort. 4, 62; 2 ft. 3 inf. apr. 22, 63, acc. apr. 26, 63; 1 lt. byt. july 2, 63; "for gal. and mer. ser, in the battle of Gettysburg, Pa."; 1 lt. 3 inf. nov. 10, 64; capt. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser, in the battle of Gettysburg, Pa."; 1 k. 3 inf. nov. 10, 64; and fully 1, 66, to ang. 11, 69.
- STOUCH, GEORGE W. H., Dec. 31, 64, 3rd Infantry. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Army.]-Pvt. co. B, 1 batt. 11 inf. nov. 30, 61; corpl. apr. 8, 62; sergt. maj. 11 inf. may 1, 63; dischud. feb. 27, 64; sergt. maj. 11 inf. feb. 27, 64; 2 lt. 3 inf. may 18, 64, acc. june 3, 64; 1 lt. dec. 31, 64.

- HALE, JOSEPH, M.R. 21, 65, 3rd Infantry. [Born in Mass.; apptd. from Army,]— Pyt. co. 1, 5 Mass. vol. apr. 19, 61; dischgd. jmly 31, 61; pyt. co. B, 11 inf. ang. 10, 61; pyt. co. B, 2 hatt. 10 inf. sept. 8, 62; co.cpl. sept. 14, 62; sergt. cot. 1, 62; 1 sergt. dec. 30, 62; 1 sergt. co. B, 1 hatt. 11 inf. may. 1, 63; dischgd. feb. 10, 64; 1 sergt. co. B, 1 batt. 11 inf. feb. 10, 64; dischgd. may 5, 64; 2 ft. 3 inft. may 18, 64, acc. may 26, 64; 1 ft. mar. 21, 65 regth. adj t. may, 5, 72.
- KRAUSE, WILLIAM, June 23, 65, 3rd Infantry. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet sept. 1, 61; 24t, and 14t, 19 inf. june 23, 65; tvs to 37 inf. sept. 21, 66; tvs. to 3 inf. ang. 11, 69.
- BENSON, HENRY M., Feb. 23, 66, 7th Infantry. [Born in Mo.; apptd. from Cal.]—

 I. I. Cal. vol. aug. 27, 61; capt. mar. 1, 63; must. out aug. 31, 64; mai. 4 Cal. vol. may 22, 65; must. out jan. 31, 66; 24, and 14t. 18 inf. feb. 23, 66, acc. june 2, 66; its. to 36 inf. sept. 21, 66; vis. to 7 inf. may 19, 66); regtl. adj't oct. 11, 71, to nov. 1, 74.
- KIRKMAN, JOEL T., Feb. 23, 66, 10th Infantry. [Born in III.; apptd. from III.]-24, 24, 11, vol. june 28, 61; 14, nov. 13, 62; capt. jan. 1, 64; must. out june 7, 64; capt. 6 U. S. vet. vol. feb. 19, 65; must. out apr. 9, 66; 24t. and 14t. 47 inf. feb. 23, 66, acc. apr. 17, 66; tys. to 26 inf. sept. 21, 66; tys. to 10 inf. may 19, 69.
- REED, WILLIAM I., July 28, 66, 7th Infantry. [Born in Mass.; appfd. from Cal.]- 1 lt. 6 Cal. vol. mar. 14, 63; *must. out* dec. 1, 65; 2 lt. 5 inf. feb. 23, 66, acc. june 6, 66; 1 lt. july 28, 66; unassd. may 19, 69; assd. to 7 inf. jan. 1, 71.
- MAHON, STEPHEN K., July 28, 66, 16th Infantry. [Born in Ireland; apptd. from Iowa.] Pyt. co. E, 36 Iowa vol. ang. 14, 62; sergt. maj. 36 Iowa vol. oct. 5, 62; 14t. 36 Iowa vol. ang. 11, 65; must. out ang. 24, 65, paid to sept. 3, 65; 24. 11 inf. feb. 23, 66, acc. apr. 27, 66; 14 15, july 28, 66; capt. byt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the defence of Helena, Ark."; trs. to 16 inf. apr. 14, 69.
- GIBSON, EDWIN O., July 28, 66, 10th Infuntry. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from N. Y.] = 2 lt 114 N. Y. vol. sept. 3, 62; 1 lt. nov. 1, 63; must. out june 8, 65, paid to june 15, 65; 2 lt. 17 inf. feb. 23, 66, acc. may 2, 66; trs. to 26 inf. sept. 21, 66; 1 lt. july 28, 65; trs. to 10 inf. may 19, 69; regtl. adj t dec. 13, 71, to june 1, 79.
- HARKINS, CHARLES, July 28, 66, 2nd Infantry. [Born in Ireland; apptd. from Nev.]— Pvt. co H, 6 inf. dec. 3, 53; corpl. oct. 1, 56; sergt. may 1, 57; (dischaft dec. 3, 58; pvt. co. F, 2 Mass. cav. mar. 26, 63; corpl. ____; pvt._____; 1L, 124 U.S. et. jun. 10, 65; must. out oct. 24, 65, paid to nov. 5, 65; 2 lt. 2 inf. feb. 23, 66, acc. apr. 21, 66; 1 lt. july 28, 66.
- 11. BOMFORD, GEORGE N., Nov. 12, 64, 18th Infantry. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from Δrmy.] 1 lt. 42 N. Y. vol. june 28, 61; capt. feb. 19, 62; lt. col. aug. 2, 62; must. out mar. 16, 63; pvt. co. —, 1 batt. 15 inf. aug. 25, 64; scrgt. co. D sept. 9, 64; 2 lt. and 1 lt. 7 inf. nov. 12, 64, acc. dec. 31, 64; capt. bvt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Antictam, Md."; maj. bvt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Fredericksburg, Va."; trs. to 18 inf. nov. 28, 71, taking rank from july 28, 66.
- 12. LOGAN, THOMAS H., July 28, 66, 5th Infantry. [Born in Ohio; apptd. from Ind.].--, t ft. 20 Ind. vol. july 22, 61; capt. nov. 15, 62; mast. out aug. 26, 64; maj. 28 U. S. et aug. 20, 64; It. col. oct. 18, 64; mast. out nov. 8, 65, paid to jan. 9, 66; 11 It. 40 inf. july 28, 66, acc. oct. 10, 66; regtl. qm. dec. 1, 66, to apr. 22, 67; capt. bvt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of feettysburg, Pa."; maj. bvt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. iu the battle of the Wilderness, Va."; unssel. apr. 20, 69; is sol. to 5 inf. nov. 26, 69.
- 13. RICE, EDMUND, July 28, 66, 5th Infantry. [Born in Mass.; apptd. from Mass.]— Capt. 19 Mass. vol. ang. 28, 61; maj. oct. 1, 62; lt. col. july 27, 64; must. out june 30, 65, paid to july 20, 65; l lt. 40 int. july 28, 66, acc. dec. 29, 66; capt. bvt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Antietam, Md."; maj. bvt. mar. 2, 66, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Gettysburg, Pa."; lt. col. bvt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of the Wilderness, Va."; unassd. apr. 20, 69; assd. to 5 inf. jan. 1, 71; regtl. adj't july 5, 79.
- 14. BARRETT, GREGORY, JR., July 28, 66, 10th Infantry. [Born in Md.; apptd. from Md.]— Capt. 4 Md. vol. aug. 15, 62; lt. col. mar. 9, 64; col. vol. bvt. jan. 4, 65; must. out may 31, 65; 1 lt. 26 inf. july 28, 66, acc. nov. 19, 66; regtl. qm. mar. 4, 69, to may 19, 69; trs. to 10 inf. may 19, 69; regtl. qm. july 12, 69.
- CATLEY, HENRY, Aug. 5, 66, 2nd Infantry. [Born in Ohio; apptd. from Oreg.]— Pvt. co. K, 9 inf. july 3, 55; corpl. oct, 1, 55; pvt. feb. 7, 57; hosp. stwd. U.S. A. july 15, 57; *dischgd.* june 21, 60; hosp. stwd. U.S. A. june 21, 60; *dischgd.* dec. 31, 64; 1 ht. 1 Oreg. vol. jan. 2, 65; *must. out* feb. 9, 66; 2 lt. 16 inf. feb. 23, 66, acc. may 31, 66; 1 lt. aug. 5, 66; trs. to 2 inf. apr. 17, 69.

- 16. MILLER, WILLIAM A., Sept. 21, 66, 18th Infantry. [Born in Ky.; apptd. from Ky.]— Pyt. co. F. 8 Ky, vol. sept. 17, 61; 1 sergt. feb. 28, 63; trs. as pyt. to co. E. 8 Ky, vol. jan. 6, 64; dischgd. mar. 20, 65; 211, 16 inf. feb. 23, 66, acc. apr. 28, 66; trs. to 25 inf. sept. 21, 66; 14, sept. 21, 66; trs. to 18 inf. apr. 26, 69.
- ADAMS, HENRY H., Sept. 21, 66, 18th Infantry. [Born in Ohio; apptd. from Ohio.] Pet. co. C, 98 Ohio vol. feb. 2, 61; corpl. mar. 20, 65; diseledd. june 26, 65; 2 4; 16 inf. feb. 23, 66; acc. may 4, 66; trs. to 25 inf. sept. 21, 66; 1 11, sept. 21, 66; trs. to 18 inf. apr. 26, 69.
- VINAL, WILLIAM H., Oct. 4, 66, 16th Infantry. [Born in Ohio: apptd. from Ohio.]— Mus. 17 ind. batty. Ohio I. art. July 28, 62; corpl. sept. 1, 63; pvt. july 25, 65; dischad. aug. 16, 65; 24: 11 inf. feb. 23, 66, acc. apr. 27, 66; 14; oct. 4, 66; trs. to 16 inf. apr. 14, 69; regth. adj't july 4, 80.
- RANDALL, EDWARD L., Oct. 31, 66, 5th Infantry, [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Pa.]— Corpl. co. E, 33 Pa. vol. mil. june 24, 63; *discloyd.* july 31, 63; 24, 1-17; S. e. t. jan. 29, 64; 14, oct. 13, 64; *must.out* sept. 29, 65, paid to oct. 11, 65; 24t. 5 inf. feb. 23, 66, acc. apr. 28, 66; 14, oct. 31, 66.
- 20. WHITNEY, FOLLIOT A., Nov. 21, 66, 8th Infinitry. [Born in D. C.; apptd. from D. C.]— 24, 1 Md. cav. apr. 25, 62; must, out apr. 7, 63, p.id to apr. 8, 63; 24t, vet. res. corps june 6, 63, acc. june 11, 63; 1 4t. vol. bvt., capt. vol. bvt., and maj. vol. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser."; must, out june 18, 66; 24t. 8 inf. may 15, 66, acc. june 20, 66; 14t. nov. 21, 66; regtl. qu., may 47, 77, 16 8 pt. 19, 78; regtl. adj[t]alv[4, 79].
- 21. LEATLY, MICHAEL, Oct. 14, 64, 18th Infantry. [Born in Ireland: apptd. from Army.]— Pyt. co. B, 3 art. july 15, 53; trs. to co. C, 1 art. dec. 3, 53; corpl. july 10, 57; disclipid, may 15, 58; corpl. co. C, 1 art. may 15, 58; sergt, sept. 1, 62; 1 sergt, oct. 22, 62; disclipid, may 15, 63; 1 sergt, co. C, 1 art. may 16, 63; 2 ft. 1 art. oct. 31, 63; acc. nov. 30, 63; 11, byt. feb, 20, 64; "for gal, and mer, ser, in the battle of Olustee, Fla."; capt. byt. oct. 7, 64; "for gal, and mer, ser, in action on the Darbytown Road, near Richmond, Va."; 1 ft. 1 art. oct. 14, 64; trs. to 18 inf. ang. 3, 69; lashing rank from jan. 7, 67.
- 22. WARRENS, CHARLES H., Jan. 7, 67, 14th Infantry. [Born in Prussia; apptd. from Mo.]— 14, 4 Mo. vol. may 20, 61; must. out aug. 1, 61; equ. 5 Mo. eav. (eb. 1, 62; maj, july 7, 62; must. out oct. 16, 62; equ. 29 Mo. vol. oct. 18; 62; must. out june 13, 65; equ. vct. res. corps sept. 5, 63, acc. 8 qb; 24, 63; 2 H. 18 inf. may 11, 66; trs. to 27 inf. sept. 21, 66, acc. oct. 7, 66; must. out of vet. res. corps oct. 25, 66; 11; 27 inf. jan. 7, 67; regtl. qu. july 1, 67, to june 14, 69; trs. to 9 inf. june 14, 69; trs. to 14 inf. may 22, 71; regtl. qu. july 1, 67, to june 20, 78.
- 23. MAIZE, WILLIAM R., Jan. 22, 67, 20th Infantry. (Born in P.a.; apptd. from P.a.] Pvt. co. K. 19 Pa, vol ap. 18, 61; discheft ang 9, 61; 24t, 78 Pa, vol. oct. 14, 61; 14t, sept. 1, 63; most.out nov. 1, 61; 24t, 24t, 24t, ap. 25, 65, acc. June 4, 66; 14t, jan. 22, 67; capt. bvt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal, and mer. ser, in the battle of Stone River, Tenn."; unassl. ap. 17, 69; assil. to 20 inf. apr. 2, 70.
- 24. ROMEYN, HENRY, Jan. 22, 67, 5th Infantry. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from Mich.]— Corpl. co. 6, 105 Ill, vol. aug. 15, 62; pvt. — 62; sergt. mar. 1, 63; capt. 14 U.S. e. t. nov. 15, 63; mij vol. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal, and mer. cond. in the buttle of Nushville, Tenn."; must. out mer 26, 66, paid to mar. 28, 66; 1 H, 37 inf. jan. 22, 67, acc. apr. 1, 67; capt. bvt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal, and mer. 8 m. in the battle of Nashville, Tenn."; unussd. may 19, 69; assd. to 5 inf. ang. 14, 69.
- KINGSBURY, WILLIAM E., Jan 22, 67, 11th Infantry. [Born in Pa.; appt4, from Conn.]— Pvt. co. 1, 7 inf. oct. 16, 57; diselopt. oct. 16, 62; 141, 13 N. Y. art. nov. 17, 63; must. out aug. 24, 65, paid to aug. 30, 65; 141, 24 inf. jan. 22, 67, acc. mar. 29, 67; trs. to 11 inf. apr. 25, 69.
- 26. BARTLETT, WILLIAM C., Oct. 14, 64, 3rd Infantry. [Born in N. Y.; appt I, from M, A.]— Cadet july 1, 58; 24; 3 art, june 17, 62; 14; byt, sept. 17, 62; 45 regal, and mer, ser, in the battle of Antietam, Md."; capt. byt, nov. 16, 63; ("for gal, and mer, ser, in action at Campbell's Station, Tenn."; capt. a, d. e, vol. mar. 19, 64, acc, ang, 10, 64; mai, byt, sept. 1, 64; "for gal, and mer, ser, dur, the Atlanta campaign"; 14; Bart, oct. 14, 64; 14; col. 2 N, C, m. inf. nov. 17, 64; brig, gen. vol. byt, mu; 13, 65; "for mer, ser,"; must, out of vol. ser, aug. 16, 65; trs. to 3 inf, feb. 5, 72; taking rank from feb. 2, 67.
- 27. MANNING, WILLIAM C., Feb. 7, 67, 23rd Infantry. [Form in N. Y.; apptd. from Me.]— Pvt. co. D, 1 Mass. vol. may 22, 61; mus. ang. 16, 61; pvt. —, —; corpl. june 25, 62; scret. mij. 1 Mass. vol. ang. 9, 62; dischool. fob. 20, 63; 11t. 35 U. S. e. t. may 18, 63; capt. ang. 25, 64; maj. 103 U. S. e. t. may. 19, 65; must. out may 5, 66; 20, 11t. 14 inf. may 11, 66; acc. ang. 25, 66; trs. to 23 inf. sept. 21, 66; 1 lt. feb. 7, 67; regtl. adj't july 8, 68; to dec. 7, 69.

- NOBLE, CHARLES H., Feb. 10, 67, 16th Infantry. [Born in Ohio: apptd. from Ind.]— Pvt. co. K. 1 Ind. cav. june 20, 61; corpl. feb. 24, 63; dischyd. june 19, 64; 24; 14 fe inf. feb. 23, 66, acc. may 4, 66; trs. to 34 inf. sept. 21, 66; 1 H. feb. 10, 67; trs. to 16 inf. apr. 14, 69.
- DAY, RUSSELL H., Feb. 25, 67, 6th Infantry. [Born in N.Y.; apptd. from N.Y.]— 24t. 16 N. Y. art. jan. 19, 64; 14t. july 1, 65; must. out ang. 21, 65, paid to ang. 27, 65; 24t. 6 inf. may 30, 66, acc. sept. 5, 66; 14t. feb. 25, 67.
- 30. WHITNEY, JOHN, Mar. 1, 67, 11th Infantry. [Born in Mass.; appfd. from Ohio.]— Sergt. co. D, 2 Ohio vol. apr. 17, 61; *dischgd.* ang. 9, 61; 214; 3 inf. ang. 5, 61, acc. ang. 21, 61; 11t. feb. 11, 63; unij. vol. byt. and 1. col. vol. byt. mar. 1, 65; "for gal. and mer. ser. dur. the war"; *resgd.* apr. 25, 65, paid to apr. 30, 65; capt. 8 U. S. vet. vol. ang. 21, 65; *must. out* apr. 27, 66; 2 14, 15 inf. may 11, 66; acc. may 25, 66; trs. to 24 inf. sept. 21, 66; 1 1t. mar. 4, 67; trs. to 11 inf. apr. 25, 69.
- JACOBS, JOSHUA W., Mar. 4, 67, 7th Infantry. [Born in Ky.; appld. from Ky.]— Pvt. co. K. 4 Ky. vol. nov. 10, 61; sergt. maj. 4 Ky. vol. jan. 4, 62; 1 lt. 4 Ky. vol. sept. 25, 62; capt. sept. 4, 63; maj. jnry 1, 65; mast. out aug. 17, 65, paid to aug. 39, 65; 2 lt. 18 inf. jnno 28, 66, acc. aug. 22, 66; trs. to 36 inf. sept. 21, 66; 1 lt. mar. 4, 67; trs. to 7 inf. may 19, 69; regtl. qm. jnne 4, 69.
- 32. QUENTIN, JULH'S E., Mar. 1, 67, 14th Infantry. [Born in Germ'y; apptd. from N. Y.]-Capt. 103 N. Y. vol. mar. 6, 62; hon. dischgd. jan. 19, 63; capt. 103 N. Y. vol. ang. 30, 63; must. outmar. 15, 65; 11k. vet. res. corps mar. 15, 65, acc. mar. 16, 65; must. outjan. 7, 67; 21k. 45 inf. july 28, 66, acc. jan. 8, 67; 1 h. mar. 1, 67; trs. to 14 inf. july 22, 69.
- 33. BOWMAN, ALPHEUS H., Mar. 5, 67, 9th Infantry. [Born in Va.; apptd from Va.]— Capt. 91 Pa. vol. dec. 3, 61; out of ser. sept. 12, 62; capt. 91 Pa. vol. dec. 22, 62; dischgd. sept. 23, 63, paid to sept. 26, 63; pyt. co. L. 3 Pa. art. dec. 24, 63; 13 sept. jan. 24, 64; disc chgd. mar. 21, 64; 24t. 2 Pa. h. art. mar. 21, 64; 14t. sept. 4, 64; must. out nov. 9, 65, paid to nov. 13, 65; 24t. 27 inf. july 28, 66, acc. oct. 3, 66; regth. adj't jan. 1, 67, to june 14, 69; 14t. mar. 5, 67; irs. to 9 inf. june 14, 69.
- 34. POWELL, JAMES W., Mar. 7, 67, 8th Infantry. [Born in Ohio; apptd. from Ohio.]— Pvt. co. A, 13 Ohio vol. apr. 22, 61; dischgd. aug. 18, 61; 1 lt. 1 Ohio vol. ang. 24, 61; resgd. june 17, 62; capt. 10 U. S. c. t. nov. 30, 63; must. out may 17, 63; 2 lt. 15 inf. mar. 28, 66, acc. june 19, 66; trs. to 33 inf. sept. 21, 66; 1 H. mar. 7, 67; trs. to 8 inf. may 3, 69.
- FOOTE, MORRIS C., Mar. 7, 67, 9th Infantry. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from N. Y.]— Pvt. co. C, 44 N. Y. vol. sept. 3, 61; dischad. june 20, 62; 24t. 92 N. Y. vol. june 2t, 62; must. out dec. 31, 64; 14t. 121 N. Y. vol. mar. 26, 65; capt. vol. bvt. apr. 6, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. hefore Petersburg and in the battle of Lit'le Sailor's Creek, Va."; must. out july 17, 65; 2 It. 9 inf. may 7, 66, acc. june 14, 66; 14t. mar. 7, 67; reg1. adj't june 22, 79.
- 36. PEASE, WILLIAM B., Mar. 7, 67, 9th Infantry. [Born in Conn.; apptd. from Conn.]— Pvt. co. II, 15 Conn. vol. aug. 11, 62; dischold. jan. 5, 63; 2 It. 8 U.S. e. t. oct. 15, 63; 1 It. dec. 3, 61; result. sept. 18, 65, paid to oct. 16, 65; 1 It. 11 inf. mar. 7, 67, acc. apr. 27, 67; unassd. apr. 14, 69; assd. to 9 inf. dec. 15, 70.
- 37. KEEFFE, JOSEPH, July 28, 66, 4th Infantry. [Born in Ireland; apptd. from Army.]— Pvt. co. E, 2 art. dec. 5, 53; corpl. may 2, 55; sorgt. july 9, 56; pvt. mar. 3, 57; *disrliqd.* dec. 5, 58; pvt. co. E, 2 art. dec. 5, 58; corpl. dec. 20, 58; sorgt. ang. 5, 61; 1 sorgt. jan. 29, 62; bvt. 2 It. 2 art. oct. 22, 62; 2 It. 5 art. oct. 22, 62; acc. oct. 39, 62; 1 It. bvt. nov. 29, 63; "for gal. and mer. ser. dur. the defence of Fort Saunders, Tenn."; capt. bvt. sept. 23, 64, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Fisher's Hill, Va."; 1 It. 5 art. july 28, 66; capt. 9 cav. june 12, 67, *declined*; trs. to 4 inf. may 22, 75, taking rank from may 15, 67.
- 38. BIRD, CHARLES, May 23, 67, 23rd Infantry. [Born in Del.; apptd. from Del.]— 11t. 1 Del. vol. may 20, 61; must. out ang. 16, 61; 2 lt. 2 Del. vol. apr. 11, 62; 1 lt. oct. 1, 62; eapt. mar. 15, 63; must. out june 30, 64; lt. col. 9 Del. vol. sept. 3, 64; must. out dec. 23, 64; lt. col. 1 U. S. vet. vol. jan. 25, 65; col. may 30, 65; must. out jan. 19, 66; 2 lt. 14 inf. may 11, 66, ace, ang. 21, 66; trs. to 23 inf. sept. 21, 66; 1 lt. bvt. and capt. bvt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Fredericksburg, Va."; maj. bvt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Spottsylvania, Va."; lt. col. bvt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Petersburg, Va., jone 20, 64"; 1 lt. 23 inf. may 23, 67; regtl. adj't aug. 1, 73, to oct. 1, 76.
- 39. QUINTON, WILLIAM, June 12, 67, 7th Infantry. [Born in Ireland; apptd. from Ill.] 1 sergt. co. C, 19 Ill. vol. june 17, 61; diselgd. nov. 2, 61; 2 It. 19 Ill. vol. nov. 2, 61; 1 If. mar. 1, 63, 2 It. sig. corps mar. 3, 63, acc. sept. 10, 64, must. out may 1, 66, paid to may 8, 66; 1 It. 33 inf. june 12, 67, acc. july 19, 67; unassd. may 3, 69; assd. to 7 inf. may 3, 70.

- 40. HOFMAN, WILLIAM E., June 12, 67, 9th Infantry. [Born in Ohio; apptd. from III.]— 1 ht 98 HL vol. sept. 3, 62; capt. may L 63; must. out june 27, 65, paid to july 2, 65; 1 ht 31 int. june 12, 67, acc. july 20, 67; unissed. may 15, 69; assed. to 9 inf. may 4, 70.
- 41. HOFFMAN, WILLIAM, June 25, 67, 11th Infantry. [Born in Me.; apptd. from Me.]— Sergt. co. 6, 5 N. Y. vol. may 9, 61; 2 lt, 5 N. V. vol. jaly 26, 62; 1 lt. sept. 24, 62; capt. jan. 23, 66; must. out may 14, 66; capt. 13 N. V. art. ang. 29, 63; must. out ang. 24, 65, paid to ang. 30, 65; 2 lt, 11 inf. may 11, 66, acc. sept. 5, 66; trs. to 29 inf. sept. 21, 66; 1 lt, june 25, 67; trs. to 11 inf. apr. 25, 69.
- 42. SLADEN, JOSEPH A., July 17, 67, 14th Infantry. [Born in Engl'd; apptd from Mass.]— Pyt. eo. A. 33 Mass, vol ang 6, 62; corpl. aug. 9, 62; pyt. aug. 1, 63; 24: 14 U. S. e. t. jan, 1, 65; 14t, vol. byt. mar. 13, 65; [] for gd, and mer. cond. dur. the Atlanta and Carolina campaigns []: 14, 14 U. S. e. t. oct. 24, 65; must. out mar. 26, 66; 24t, 17 inf. mrr. 27, 65; acc. may 19, 66; trs. to 26 inf. sept. 21, 66; 14t, byt. and capt. byt. mar. 2, 67; [] for gal, and mer. ser, in the battle of Jonesboro', Ga. []; 14t, 26 inf. july 17, 67; massd. may 19, 69; assd. to 14 inf. dec. 15, 70.
- THOMPSON, JOHN P., July 24, 67, 3rd Infantry. [Born in N. H.; apptd from N. H.]— Pyt. co. 1, 14; I. cav. oct. 28, 61; pyt. 14R, I. vet. vol. jan. 2, 64; *disclipit.* apr. 22, 64; 24t, 1 N. H. cav. apr. 23, 64; *must. out* july 15, 65, paid to july 19, 65; 24t, 3 inf. feb. 23, 65, acc. may 1, 66; 14t, july 24, 65.
- 44. KETCHI'M, HURAM H., July 34, 67, 22nd Infantry. [Born in Canula; apptd. from N. Y.]→ Pyt. eo. K. 16 N. Y. vol. sept. 20, 61; *disclipt.* sept. 29, 62; pvt. co. I, 1 N. Y. eng. sept. 10, 64; *disclipt.* may 30, 65; 241, 13 inf. feb. 23, 63, acc. apr. 30, 66; trs. to 22 inf. sept. 21, 66; 14t. july 34, 67; regth. adj t mar. 1, 69.
- 45. BALDWIN, JAMES H., July 31, 67, 18th Infantry. [Born in Mass.; apptd. from Mass.]— 14t, 35 Mass, vol. aug. 16, 62; 14t, 3d eo. Mass. h. art. jan, 19, 63; capt. 4 batt. Mass. h. art. may 25, 63; must. out oct. 20, 65, paid to oct. 23, 65; 24t, 16 inf. mar. 30, 66, acc. may 23, 66; trs. to 25 inf. sept. 21, 66; 14t, july 31, 67, acc. sept. 21, 67; trs. to 18 inf. apr. 25, 69; regtl. qm. apr. 29, 69, to june 30, 79.
- 46. DRUM, JOHN, July 31, 67, 10th Infantry. [Boin in Freland: apptd. from Cal.]— 1 It. 8 C d. vol. dec. 5, 64: must. out oct. 24, 65; 2 It. 14 inf. july 28, 65, acc. dec. 12, 66; 1 It. july 31, 67, acc. sept. 30, 67; unassd. july 22, 69; assd. to 10 inf. dec. 15, 70.
- 47. PALMER, GEORGE H., Aug. 2, 67, 16th Infantry. [Born in N. Y.: apptd. from III.]— Bag. eo. G. 1 III. eav. app. 24, 64; disseled, oct. 9, 61; 14t, 83–10, vol. ang. 21, 62; expt. mar. 6, 63; must. out june 26, 65, paid to july 4, 65; 24, 27, 16f, jan. 22, 67, acc. apr. 15, 67; 14, aug. 2, 67; massel, june 14, 69; assel to 16 inf. dec. 15, 70.
- 48. REGAN, JAMES, Aug. 12, 67, 9th Infantry. [Born in N. Y.: apptd. from Army.]— Mas. co. II, 2 inf. june 1, 58; *dischg I*, june 1, 63; nurs. co. B, music boys gen. 8 r. mar. 8, 64; sergt. nov. 1, 61; 2 It. 18 inf. dec. 1, 66, acc. dec. 31, 66; 1 It. ang. 12, 67; nurs.s.d. apr. 26, 69; asside to 9 inf. dec. 15, 70; regtl. qm. june 22, 79.
- 49. WISHART, ALEXANDER, Oct. 19, 67, 24th Infinity. [Born in Pa.; appth from Pa.]— Captus Pa. res. vol. corps jame 22, 61; restel sept. 10, 62, paid to nov. 15, 62; 211, 27 inf. jam. 22, 67, nec. mr. 30, 67, 111, byt. mm. 2, 67, 7 for gd. and mer. ser. in the battle of Gaines' Mill. Val's copt. byt. mr. 2, 67, 7 for gd. and mer. ser. due the war"; 14, 27 inflort. 19, 67; massel, june 14, 69; assil. to 20 infl dec. 15, 70.
- 50. GREENE, CHARLES H., Nov. I. 67, 17th Infantry. [Born in R. I.; apptd. from R. I.]— 21r. 4 R. I. vol. oct. 30, 61; 1 It. nov. 20, 61; expt. ang. 11, 62; must. out sept. 30, 62; expt. 4 R. I. vol. may 2, 63; must. out oct. 15, 64; 2 It. 17 inf. jan. 22, 67, acc. mar. 20, 67; 1 It. nov. 1, 67.
- 51. PENNEY, CHARLES G., Nov. 4, 67, 6th Infuntry. [Born in Ohio: apptd. from Ohio.]— Pyt. co C, 76 Ohio vol. ang. 16, 62; disch.p.l. [ulv 10, 63; 241, 51 U.S. e. t.]ulv 10, 63; 14, jan. 8, 64; capt. mar. 20, 64; must. out june 16, 65; 241, 35 inf. July 28, 66, acc. o et. 3, 66; 14t, byt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and incr. ser. in the battle of Vicksburg, Miss."; capt. byt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the capture of Fort Blakely, Ala."; regth. all't 38 inf. may 4, 67, to nov. 11, 69; 14t, 38 inf. nov. 4, 67; un tss l. nov. 11, 69; ass.l. to 6 inf. dec. 15, 79; regtl.
- 52. TROUT, JOHN F., Nov. 10, 67, 23rd Infantry. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Pa.]— Pvt. co. A. 10 Pa. vol. apr. 24, 61; dischof J. july 31, 61; 1 s regt. co. B, 45 Pa. vol. sept. 2, 61; erot. 45 Pa. vol. sept. 4, 62; mij. apr. 1, 65; misst. out july 17, 65, paid to july 18, 65; 24t. 9 inf. miy 15, 63, acc. june 12, 65; 14, nov. 10, 67; out of ser. jan. 2, 64; 14t. of inf. mar, 25, 70 with rank from n. v. 10, 67, acc. apr. 5, 70; unass I. mar, 25, 70; ass.I. to 23 inf. jan. 1, 71.

- 53. LEEFE, JOHN G., Nov. 18, 67, 19th Infantry. [Born in Englid; apptd. from N. Y.]— 1 It. 162 N. Y. vol. oct. 14, 62; capt. july 1, 64; maj. vol. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. ser. in the battle of the Opequan, Ya."; It. col. vol. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. ser. in the battle of Fisher's Hill, Ya."; capt. a. a. g. vol. june 15, 65, acc. ang 2, 65; most. out nov. 22, 65; 2 It. 19 inf. may 11, 66, acc. sept. 7, 66; regtl. adj't nov. 23, 66 to mar. 31, 69; 1 It. bvt. nar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of The Opequan"; capt. bvt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Fisher's Hill"; 1 It. 19 inf. nov. 18, 67; regtl. qm. apr. 12, 69, to may 1, 76.
- 54. PRATT, JAMES, Dec. 12, 67, 25th Infantry. [Born in Me.; apptd. from N. Y.]— Pvt. co. B, 127 III, vol. ang. 21, 62; sergt. sept. 6, 62; dischad. nov. 3, 62; 11t. 87 U. S. e. t. oct. 16, 63; capt. dec. 1, 64; maj. vol. bvt. mar. 13, 65; "for faith. and mer. ser. dur. the war"; capt. 84 P. S. e. t. ang. 31, 65; must. out mar. 14, 66; 2 H. 41 inf. july 28, 66, acc. nov. 17, 66; 1 H. dec. 12, 67; mussed. nov. 11, 69; assed. to 25 inf. jan. 1, 71.
- 55. CROWELL, WILLIAM H. H., Dec. 17, 67, 6th Infantry. [Born in Ohio; apptd. from Ohio.]— 2 It. 15 Ohio batty. dec. 12, 61; resgd. dec. 15, 62; recruiting 2 It. 2 Ohio art. june 17, 63; capt. 2 Ohio art. sept. 9, 63; must. out ang. 23, 65, paid to ang. 28, 65; 2 It. 17 int. jan. 22, 67, acc. apr. 23, 67; 1 It. dec. 17, 67; unassd. may 27, 69; assd. to 6 int. dec. 15, 70.
- 56. HARWOOD, PAUL Jan. 8, 68, 20th Infantry. [Born in Pa.: a pptd, from Conn.]— Pvt. co. E. 8 N. Y. 8, m. apr. 20, 61; dischad. ang. 2, 61; 24: 1 Conn. art. apr. 20, 62; 14, dec. 14, 63; must. out june 8, 64; maj. 57 U. S. c. t. july 20, 64; col. jan. 9, 65; must. out oct. 19, 66; 24, 27 inf. mar. 7, 67, acc. may 20, 67; 14; jan. 8, 68; mussel. june 14, 69; assel. to 20 inf. sept. 3, 69.
- 57. GARRETTY, FRANK D., Jan. 11, 68, 17th Infantry. [Born in Ireland; apptd. from Ky.]→ 24, 15 Ky. vol. dec. 14, 61; must. out june 27, 63, paid to aug. 24, 63; 14. vet. res. corps oct. 2, 63, acc. oct. 2, 63; must. out dec. 13, 66; 24, 43 inf. july 28, 66, acc. dec. 14, 66; 14. byt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. dur. the war"; 14, 43 inf. jan. 11, 68; mussd. apr. 8, 69; assd. to 17 inf. dec. 15, 70.
- 58. VERNOU, CHARLES A., Jan. 13, 68, 19th Infantry. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Pa.]— 24, 3 Pa. cav. apr. 18, 62; must. out july 8, 62; 24, 3 Pa. cav. may 9, 63; must. out ang 24, 64; 14, 6 Pa. cav. feb. 19, 65; capt. mar. 22, 65; must. out ang, 7, 65, paid to aug. 14, 65; 24, 4 cav. mar. 7, 67, acc. apr. 11, 67; 14, jan. 13, 68; trs. to 19 inf. july 10, 73.
- 59. SHARP, THOMAS, Feb. 14, 68, 17th Infantry. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Pa.]— Pvt. co. A, 7 Pa. res. vet. corps.apr. 21, 61; discliptd. nov. 18, 61; capt. 65 U. S. c. t. dec. 29, 63; must. out ang. 15, 65; 2 It. 41 inf. july 28, 65, acc. feb. 12, 67; 1 It. feb. 14, 68; unassd. nov. 11, 69; assd. to 1 int. jan. 1, 71; trs. to 17 mt. apr. 23, 78.
- 60. THHBAUT, FREDERICK W., Feb. 25, 68, 6th Infantry. [Born in Germ'y; apptd. from N. Y.]. _____2 lt. 7 N. Y. vol. apr. 23, 61; 1 lt. july 11, 61; capt. sept. 28, 62; must. out may 8, 63; capt. yet. res. conps oct. 15, 63, acc. oct. 19, 63; maj. vol. bvt. july 19, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. dur.

vct. res. corpts oct. 15, 63, acc. oct. 19, 63; maj. vol. bvt. july 19, 65, "for gal. and mer. sor. dur. the way"; *must. out* june 29, 67; 2 H. 6 inf, jan. 22, 67, acc. june 30, 67; 1 H. feb. 25, 68, J. STRETCH, JOHN F., Mar. 26, 68, 10th Infantry. (Born in Ind.) anoth from W. A. L.

- 61. STRETCH, JOHN F., Mar. 26, 68, 10th Infantry. [Born in Ind.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 62; 2 lt. 10 inf. june 18, 66; regtl. adj't may 1, 67, to may 19, 69; 1 lt. mar. 26, 68; regtl. adj't july 12, 63, to dec. 13, 71, and from june 1, 79.
- KELTON, DWIGHT H., Mar. 26, 68, 10th Infantry. [Born in Vt.; apptd. from Vt.]-Pvt. co. B, 98 N. V. vol. jan. 29, 64; dischgd. oct. 14, 64; capt. 115 U. S. c. t. oct. 15, 64; must. out feb. 10, 66; 2 lt. 10 inf. july 20, 66, acc. aug. 23, 66; 1 lt. mar. 26, 68; unassil. may 19, 69; assd. to 10 inf. dec. 15, 70.
- 63. ROE, CHARLES F., June 10, 68, 11th Infantry. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from N. Y.]-Pvt. co. C. 9 N. Y. vol. may 4, 61; corpl. sept. 1, 61; disclard, may 20, 63; 11t. 3 U. S. e. f. ang. 11, 63; must. out oct. 31, 65, paid to nov. 17, 65; 24t. 26 inf. july 28, 66, acc. jan. 3, 67; 14t. june 10, 68; unassd. may 19, 69; assd. to 11 inf. dec. 15, 70.
- HUMBERT, JAMES, June 10, 68, 1st Infantry. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Pa.]— 2 lt. 8 inf. nov. 1, 66, acc. nov. 15, 66; 1 lt. june 10, 68; unassd. may 3, 69; assd. to 17 inf. dec. 15, 70; trs. to 1 inf. apr. 23, 78.
- 65. RICHARDS, WILLIAM V., June 19, 68, 16th Infantry. [Born in Ireland; apptd. from Mich.]-----

1 It. 1 U. S. lancers nov. 1, 61; must. out mar. 20, 62; 1 It. 17 Mich. vol. july 2, 62; capt. aug. 4, 64; mai. vol. bvt. dec. 2, 64, "for gal. scr. dur. the present war"; must. out june 3, 65, paid to june 6, 65; 2 It. 11 inf. may 11, 66, acc. sept. 13, 66; 1 It. bvt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. scr. in the battle of South Mountain, Md."; capt. bvt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Spottsylvania, Va."; 1 It. 11 inf. june 19, 68; reg11, adj't ang. 12, 68, to apr. 14, 69; trs. to 16 inf. apr. 14, 69; reg11, qu, apr. 14, 69, to aug. 1, 74; reg11, adj't aug. 1, 74, to june 30, 80; reg11, qu, july 1, 80

- 66. WINSLOW, GORDON, Jan. 17, 67, 8th Infantry. [Born in N. Y.: apptd. from N. Y.] = 24t, 5 N. Y. vol. ang. 30, 62; 14t, oct. 29, 62; must, out may 14, 63; 14t, 5 N. Y. vot, vol. oct, 19, 63; out of ser, feb, 8, 64; pvt, co. B, 5 N. Y. vot, vol. mar, 21, 64; capt, 5 N. Y. vet, vol. july 28, 64; mai, vol. byt, apr. 1, 65, "for gal, and mer, ser, dur, the war"; must, out ang, 21, 65; 24t, 15 inf, mar, 3, 66, acc, mur, 34, 66; trs. to 35 inf, s-pt, 21, 66; 14t, jan, 17, 67; reduced by sentence of gen, court martial so as to rank from june 22, 68; trs. to 8 inf, may 3, 69.
- 67. RICE, WILLIAM F., July 8, 68, 23rd Infantry. [Born in Mass.; apptd. from Ky.]— Pyt. eo. G. 1 Mass. vol. may 25, 61; disclord, aug. 15, 61; 1 sergt.co. F. 19 Mass. vol. ang. 16, 61; pyt. eot. 16, 62; sergt. co. E. 19 Mass. vol. may 1, 63; trs. to co. A, — ..., -: 24; 19 Mass. vol. nov. 13, 63; 1 H. nov. 15, 63; capt. ang. 17, 64; must, out oct. 4, 64; 1 H. 26 N. Y. cay, dec. 30, 64; must, out june 30, 65, paid to july 16, 65; 2 H. 23 inf, july 28, 66, acc. oct. 10, 66; 1 H. july 8, 68; regtl. qu. sept. 6, 73.
- 68. JONES, FRANCIS B., July 21, 68, 3rd Infantry. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Pa.]— 1 ft. 149 Pa. vol. aug. 30, 62; capt. mar. 25, 65; must. out apr. 6, 65; lt. col. 215 Pa. vol. apr. 16, 65; must. out [mb/31, 65; prid to aug. 2, 65; 2 Jr. 19 inf. may 11, 66, acc. aug. 28, 66; trs. to 37 inf. sept. 21, 66; 141, july 21, 68; regth. qm. doc. 31, 68, to aug. 11, 69; trs. to 3 inf. aug. 11, 69; regth. qm. aug. 11, 69.
- 69. BRADDLEV, THOMAS H., Aug. 12, 68, 21st Infantry. [Born in H.: apptd. from Mo.]— Pyt. co. F. 2 Mo. cav. dec. 16, 61; capt. a. a. g. vol. june 6, 63, acc. june 9, 63; maj. a. a. g. vol. may 1, 65, acc. may 8, 65; 241; 11 inf. may 11, 66, acc. aug. 22, 66; mask, out of vol. set, sept. 1, 66; 14, byt. and capt. byt. may, 2, 67, "for fifth, and mer. ser. dur. the war"; 1 It. 11 inf. aug. 12, 68; massel, apv. 44, 69; ass.l. to 24 inf. dec. 15, 70.
- MANLEY, JOHN A., Aug. 21, 68, 20th Infantry. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from N. Y.]— Corpl. co. F. 64, N. Y. vol. ang. 20, 61; sorgt. nov. 27, 62; 141, 64 N. Y. vol. mar. 4, 63; capt. oct. 18, 63; massl. out doe: 16, 61; 24t. 18 inf. mar. 7, 67, acc. may 21, 67; 14t. ang. 21, 68; massl. apr. 26, 69; assl. to 20 inf. doe: 15, 70.
- 71. STIVERS, EDWIN J., Sept. 15, 68, 25th Infantry. [Born in Ohio; apptd. from III.].— Fifter co. K, 89–10, vol. ang, 7, 62; fifte mai, 89–10, vol. sept. 4, 62; sergt. mai, jan. 15, 63; pet. co. K, nov. 29, 63; *discloyd*, dec. 1, 63; 2 11, 17 U. S. et. 1, dec. 2, 63; 14, feb. 5, 64; equ. ang, 2, 65; *most. out.* nov. 3, 66; 2 4t. 40 [inf. july 28, 66] acc. feb. 5, 67; 14t. byt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser, in the battle of Naslaville, Tenta."; 14t. 40 inf. sept. 15, 68; trs to 25 [inf. apr. 29, 69].
- 72. LOTT, GEORGE G., Oct. 14, 68, 11th Infantry. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Ohio.] Capt. a. d. e. july 2, 62, acc. july 8, 62; most out may 31, 66; 24, 24 inf. mar. 7, 67, acc. may 11, 67; 11, to et. 11, 68; trs. to 11 inf. apr. 25, 69; regett. adj'(nov. 11, 74.
- 73. GRIFFTTH, DAVID A., Oct. 29, 68, 3rd Infantry, [Born in M-I.; apptl. from P.J.]= 24t.co. B. Md. and D. C. vol. sept. 30, 47; must out july 15, 48; capt. 14 Pa vol. apr. 25, 61; must out ang. 7, 61; capt. 88 Pa, vol. sept. 14, 61; mij, sept. 1, 62; respl. dec. 31, 62; capt. 31 Pa, vol. june 49, 63; B. col. june 27, 63; must out ang. 8, 63; 24; 34 inf, jan. 22, 67, acc. may 18, 67; 14, oct. 29, 68; muss k. mar. 5, 60; ask. to 3 inf jan. 1, 71.
- 74. HALL, CHARLES B., Dec. 28, 68, 19th Infantry. [Born in Me.; apptd. from Me.] 24t, 25 Me. vol. sept. 29, 62; 14t. mar. 6, 63; must, out july 10, 63; 14t. 3) Me. vet. vol. jan. 6, 64; must, out sept. 2, 65; 24 t. 28 inf. jan 22, 67, acc mail 29, 67; 14 t. byt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser, in the battle of Schine Cross-Roads, Lu,"; capt. byt, mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser, in the battle of Pleasant Hill, Lu,"; 14t. 28 inf. dec. 28, 68; massd.mar. 31, 69; assd. to 19 inf. dec. 25, 76; regtl. qu. may 1, 76.
- 75. CARLAND, JOHN, Dec. 34, 68, 6th Infantry. [Born in Ireland; apptd. from Mich.]— 24, 23 Mich. vol. july 19, 62; capt. m₂, 19, 62; m₃, mar. 25, 65; must. out june 28, 65, paid to july 19, 65; 24, 6 inf. mar. 7, 67, acc. may 4, 67; regtl. qu. sept. 4, 68, to apr. 22, 69; 14t. dec. 31, 68; massd. apr. 22, 69; assd. 10 6 inf. oct. 18, 69; regtl. qu. oct. 16, 69, to oct. 39, 71.
- 76. DAUGHERTY, WILL, W., Jan. 2, 69, 22nd Infantry. [Form in Ind.; apptd. from Ind.]— Pvt. co. G. 27 Ind. vol. ang. 19, 61; sergt. maj. 27 Ind. vol. june 1, 62; 24f. 27 Ind. vol. nov. 14, 62; 14t. mar. 7, 63; must. out nov. 4, 64; 24t. 18 inf. mar. 7, 67, acc. may 21, 67; 44t. jan. 2, 69; massd. apr. 26, 69; assol. to 22 inf. jan. 1, 71.
- 77. SANBORN, WASHINGTON L., Feb. 10, 69, 25th Infantry. [Born in Me.; apptd. from Wash. T.]-

24, 1 Wash, T. vol. oct. 3, 62; capt. a. a. g. vol. feb. 1, 65, acc. ang. 21, 65; must. out oct. 1, 66; 24, 13 inf. may 11, 66, acc. oct. 1, 65; 14, 13 inf. feb. 10, 69; unassd. july 20, 69; assd. to 25 inf. jan. 1, 71.

- 79. HAINES, ABNER, JR., Jan. 1, 71, 2nd Infantry. [Born in Ohio; app4d. from Ohio.]— Corpl. co. C, 20 Ohio vol. apr. 17, 61; dischgd. aug. 18, 61; pvt. co. E, 87 Ohio vol. june 2, 62; dischgd. oct. 3, 62; 24t. 54 Ohio vol. apr. 2, 64; 14t. jan. 1, 65; capt. mar. 28, 65; must out aug. 15, 65, paid to aug. 23, 65; 24t. 16 inf. mar. 28, 66, acc. may 25, 66; trs. to 2 inf. apr. 17, 69; 14t. jan. 1, 71.
- 80. JACKSON, ALLAN H., Jan. 1, 71, 7th Infantry. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from N. Y.]— Capt. 91 N. Y. vol. dec. 18, 61; must. out feb. 23, 63, paid to fcb. 26, 63; ft. col. 134 N. Y. vol. apr. 3, 63; must. out june 10, 65, paid to june 21, 65; 21, 7 inf. may 11, 66, acc. aug. 11, 65; 11, byt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Chancellorsville, Va."; capt. byt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Gettysburg, Pa."; maj. byt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Chattanooga, Tenn."; 11, 7 inf. jan. 1, 71.
- 81. WILKINSON, MELVILLE C., Jan. 1, 71, 3rd Infantry. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from N. Y.] 1 lt. 23 N. Y. vol. may 16, 61; resgd. nov. 7, 61; 1 lt. 107 N. Y. vol. july 24, 62; capt. ang. 9, 62; resgd. jan. 26, 63; 1 lt. vet. res. corps aug. 13, 63, ace. aug. 20, 63; capt. dec. 10, 63, acc. dec. 26, 63; must. out june 30, 66; 2 lt. 42 inf. july 28, 66, acc. oct. 10, 66; 1 lt. bvt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Antietam, Md."; capt. bvt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. dur. the war"; trs. to 6 inf. apr. 22, 69; unassd. june 28, 69; assd. to 3 inf. aug. 3, 70; 1 lt. jan. 1, 71.
- 82. HAY, CHARLES, Jan. 1, 71, 23rd Infantry. [Born in Ohio; apptd. from Ohio.]— Pvt. co. C, 8 Ohio vol. apr. 23, 61; dischgd. july 23, 61; pvt. co. H, 23 Ohio vol. july 24, 61; corpl. apr. 28, 62; com. sergt. 23 Ohio vol. jan. 21, 63; pvt. co. B, july 1. 64; dischgd. july 24, 64; capt. 5 U. S. vet. vol. (5b. 20, 65; mvst. out may 28, 66; 21, 36 inf, jan. 22, 67 acc. mar. 29, 67; unassd. may 19, 69; assd. to 23 inf, july 14, 69; 1 h, jan. 1, 71.
- 83. KING, JAMES S., Feb. 7, 71, 12th Infantry. [Boru in W. Ind.; apptd. from N. Y.]— Pvt. co. B, 7 N. Y. s. m. apr. 26, 61; dischgd. jnno 3, 61; 2 lt. 65 N. Y. vol. july 2, 61; 1 lt. jan. 11, 62; must. out july 9, 62, paid to july 11, 62; capt. 162 N. Y. vol. oct. 14, 62; must. out ang. 14, 63; 1 lt. 79 N. Y. vol. oct. 7, 64; capt. july 1, 65; must. out july 14. 65, paid to july 22, 65; 2 lt. 13 inf. may 11, 66, acc. aug. 27, 66; trs. to 31 inf. sept. 21, 66: unassd. may 15, 69; assd. to 12 inf. july 14, 69; 1 lt. feb. 7, 71.
- HALLORAN, JAMES, Aug. 30, 71, 12th Infantry. [Born in Ireland; apptd. from Oreg.]— Mus. co. K, 9 inf. apr. 18, 55; dischad. apr. 18, 60; 2 lt. 1 Wash. T. vol. sept. 17, 62; must. out mar. 17, 65; 2 lt. 12 inf. dec. 1, 63, acc. feb. 23, 67; 1 lt. aug. 30, 71.
- GUTHRIE, JOHN B., Sept. 1, 71, 13th Infantry. [Born in Ohio; apptd. from Ohio.]— Corpl. co. C, 1 Ky, vol. june 7, 61; sergt. mar. —, 62; 1 sergt. apr. 1, 62; 2 lt. 1 Ky, vol. dec. 7, 62; must. out june 18, 64; 2 lt. 13 inf. july 28, 66, acc. oct. 5, 66; 1 lt. sept. 1, 71.
- 86. CAVENAUGH, HARRY G., Sept. 4, 71, 13th Infantry. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Del.]— Corple to 1, 1 Del. vol. sept. 19, 61; sergt. nov. 13, 62; sergt. co. I, 1 Del. vet. vol. dec. 19, 63; 1 H. 1 Del. vet. vol. july 26, 64; capt. dec. 26, 64; must. out july 12, 65, paid to july 13, 65; 2 H. 37 inf. july 28, 66, acc. oct. 22, 66; trs. to 5 inf. may 19, 69; unassel. june 5, 63; assel. to 13 inf. mar. 31, 70; 1 H. sept. 4, 71.
- 87. LORD, THOMAS W., Oct. 1, 71. 20th Infantry. [Born in Mass.; apptd. from Me.]— Sergt. co. K, 17 Me. vol. july 21, 62; dischgd. fcb. 23, 63; 2 H. 17 Me. vol. fcb. 23, 63; must. out sept. 8, 63; 2 H. vet. res. corps dec. 8, 63, acc. dec. 29, 63; capt. vol. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Chancellorsville, Va."; 1 If. vet. res. corps june 5, 65, acc. june 20, 65; must. out oct. 3, 66; 2 H. 43 inf. july 28, 66, acc. oct. 3, 66; regtl. adj't jan. 12, 67, to apr. 8, 69; 1 H. bvt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Chancellorsville, Va."; unassel. apr. 8, 69; assel. to 20 inf. july 14, 69; regtl. qm. oct. 1, 71; 1 H. oct. 1, 71.
- 88. ROSS, JOHN M., Oct. 15, 71, 21st Infantry. [Born in Ohio; apptd. from N. Y.]— 2 lt. 38 U. S. e. t. mar. 3, 65; 1 lt. jan. 17, 67; must. out mar. 21, 67; 2 lt. 21 inf. mar. 7, 67, acc. may 18, 67; 1 lt. oet. 15, 71; regtl. adj't aug. 7, 79, to sept. 30, 80; regtl. qm. sept. 30, 80.
- CHANCE, JESSE C., Oct. 18, 71, 13th Infantry. [Born in Ohio; apptd. from Ohio.]— Pvt. co. E. 25 Ohio vol. aug. 9, 62; dischold. mar. 17, 65; 2 lt. 103 U. S. e. t. mar. 17, 65; must. out apr. 16, 66; 2 lt. 13 inf. jan. 22, 67, acc. apr. 4, 67; unassd. july 20, 69; assd. to 13 inf. mar. 4, 79; 1 lt. oct. 18, 71.

- CAPRON, THADDEUS H., Nov. 8, 71, 9th Infantry. [Born in Wis.; apptd. from III.]— Pvt. co. C. 55 III. vol. sept. 9, 61; qu. sergt. 55 III. vol. nov. 25, 62; 24t. 55 III. vol. mar. 1, 63; 14t. oct. 10, 62; capt. a. qu. vol. june 1, 65, acc. june 14, 65; maj. qu. [act july 46, 64] june 6, 65, to aug. 1, 65; must. out oct. 31, 65; 24t. 9 inf. jan. 22, 67, acc. apr. 9, 67; 14t. nov. 8, 71.
- 91. WILSON, DAVID B., Dec. 20, 71, 25th Infantry. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Va.]— 1 ht. 131 Pa. vol. aug. 18, 62; *imst. out* may 23, 63; 1 ht. 1 U. S. vet. vol. aug. 4, 64; *imst. out* sept. 29, 65; 2 ht. 40 inf. july 28, 66, acc. mar. 5, 67; regth. adj't july 13, 68, to sept. 15, 68; trs. to 25 inf. apr. 20, 69; 1 ht. doc. 20, 71; regth. adj't jan. 1, 76.
- 92. UL10, JAMES, Dec. 21, 71, 2nd Infantry. [Born in Ireland; apptd. from Army.] Pvt. co. I, 9 inf. may 29, 55; 1 sergt. july 1, 55; sergt. feb. 8, 56; 1 sergt. nov. 3, 57; dischad. may 31, 60; 1 sergt. co. 1, 9 inf. nov. 7, 60; dischad. oct. 28, 62; 2 It. 6 Cal. vol. oct. 29, 62; 11; feb. 20, 63; capt. ang. 6, 64; maj. vol. byt. mar. 13, 65; "for faith, and mer. ser,"; must. out oct. 25, 65; pyt. co. F, 3 batt. 16 inf. feb. 9, 66; 1 sergt. feb. 21, 66; 2 It. 16 inf. apr. 25, 66, acc. june 2, 66; adj't 1 batt. ang. 23, 66 v sept. 21, 66; regtl. adj't sept. 25, 68, to apr. 17, 69; trs. to 2 inf. apr. 17, 69; 11t. dec. 21, 71.
- 93. RAPHALL, ALFRED M., Dec. 30, 71, 11th Infantry. [Bom in Englid: apptd. from N.Y.]— 1 It. 40 N. Y. vol. july 1, 61; most, out jan. 24, 62; 1 It. 40 N. Y. vol. jan. 19, 63; capt, feb. 4, 64; most, out july 29, 64; 1 It. vel. res. corps oct. 3, 64, acc, out. 5, 64; capt. vol. hvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal, ser, in the battle of tiettyshurg, P.a."; maj. vol. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for highly mer, ser, while in the field and on detached daty with Gen. Sickles in South America"; most, out june 30, 66; 2 It. 43 inf. jan. 22, 67, acc, mar. 30, 67; 1 It. bvt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal, and mer, ser, in the battle of tiettysburg, Pa."; unassd. apr. 8, 69; assd. to 11 inf. ang. 3, 70; 1 It. dec. 30, 71.
- 94. BISHOP, JOHN S., Jan. 19, 72, 13th Infantry. [Born in Pa.: apptl. from Ind.]— Sergt. co. A, 68 Ill, vol. may 27, 62; 141, and adj 1 68 Ill vol. june 20, 62; must. out sept. 26, 62; 11, col. 108 U. S. c. t. july 1, 64; col. oct. 16, 65; must. out mar. 21, 66, paid to mar. 29, 66; 244, 30 inf. mar. 7, 67, acc. apt. 27, 67; trs. to 4 inf. mar. 23, 69; unassd. june 17, 69; assd. to 13 inf. nov. 22, 69; 140; jan. 19, 72; regtl. qm. sept. 1, 80.
- 95. ROBINSON, DANIEL, Mar, 1, 72, 7th Infantry. [Born in Ireland; apptd. from Army.]— Pyt. co. C, 7 inf. sept. 26, 49; eorpl. dec. 27, 52; dischad, sept. 5, 54; eorpl. co. C, 7 inf. sept. 5, 54; sergt. feb. 21, 56; dischad, july 22, 59; sergt. co. C, 7 inf. july 22, 59; 1 sergt. apr. 1, 62; ord, sergt. U, S, A, mar. 11, 63; 24, 7, 7, 10, 66; acc. ang. 12, 63; 14, may 8, 64; out of ser, may 3, 65; pyt. co. G, 2 batt. 16 inf, june 25, 65; sergt. july 4, 65; qui, sergt. 16 mf, oct. 5, 65; 24, 7 inf, may 28, 66; acc. sept. 10, 66; 14, mar. 1, 72.
- 96. AMES, LUTHER S., Mar. 18, 72, 2nd Infantry. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from Ill.] Pet, co. A, 64 Ill, vol. sept. 25, 61; qu. sergt. 64 Ill, vol. jan. 1, 62; sergt. maj. sept. 1, 62; 1 R, 64 Ill, vol. dec. 10, 63; capt. sept. 17, 64; must. out july 11, 65, paid to july 17, 65; 2 It. 16 inf. may 11, 66, acc. oct. 13, 66; tixs to 2 inf. apr. 17, 69; 1 R. mar. 18, 72.
- 97. HASSON, PATRICK, Apr. 12, 72, 14th Infantry. [Born in Ireland; apptd. from Pa.]— Pyt. co. E. 4 inf. [an. 12, 56]; corpl. july 1, 57; sergt. july 23, 58; discloyd. jan. 12, 61; 24t, 14 inf. jan. 22, 67, acc. mar. 25, 67; 141, apr. 12, 72.
- 98. SETON, HENRY, May 17, 72, 4th Infantry. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from N. Y.]— Capt. 51 N. Y. vol. apr. 16, 64; *must. out* apr. 14, 66, paid to apr. 17, 66; 2 lt. 4 inf. may 11, 66, acc. june 7, 66; 1 lt. may 17, 72.
- FORNANCE, JAMES, June 29, 72, 13th Infantry. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from M. Λ.]— Cadet sept. 1, 67; 2 lf. 13 inf. june 12, 71; 1 lt. june 29, 72; regth adj t july 24, 79.
- 100. WARD, G. S. LUTTRELL, July 1, 72, 22nd Infantry. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Pa.]— 241, 3 Pa. cav. may 16, 63; 14f. oct. 5, 64; capt. oct. 31, 64; must. out ang. 7, 65, paid to ang. 14, 65; 241, 13 inf. may 11, 66, acc. ang. 11, 66; trs. to 31 inf. sept. 21, 66; trs. to 22 inf. may 15, 69; 14, july 1, 72.
- 101. OLMSTED, JERAULD A., July 1, 72, 13th Infantry. [Born in N. Y. : apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 66 : 2 h. 4 cav. june 15, 70 ; trs. to 13 inf. june 13, 72 ; 1 h. july 1, 72 : regtl. qu., aug. 1, 74, to sept. 1, 80.
- 102. EARNEST, CYRUS A., Aug. 1, 72, 8th Infantry. [Born in Ohio; apptd. from Ohio]— Pet. co. G. 2 Ohio vol. apr. 17, 61; dischgd. july 31, 61; sergt. co. H. 30 Ohio vol. aug. 21, 61; 2 h. 30 Ohio vol. dec 20, 61; 1 h. aug. 12, 62; capt. sept. 1, 63; h. col. vol. bvt. mar. 13, 65; "for val. and constant ser, dur, the war"; must. out aug. 13, 65, paid to aug. 23, 65; 2 H. 33 inf, july 28, 66, acc. apr. 3, 67; 1 h. bvt. mur. 2, 67, "for gal, and mer. ser, in the siege of Vicksburg, Miss."; capt. bvt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal, and mer. ser, dur, the Atlanta campaign."; maj. bvt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal, and mer. ser, in the capture of Fort McAllister, Ga."; tr. 8, 68 inf. may 3, 69; 1 h. aug. 1, 72.

- 103. CUSICK, CORNELIUS C., Aug. 5, 72, 22nd Infantry. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from N. Y.]— 2 It. 132 N. Y. vol. aug. 14, 62; 1 If. july 1, 63; *must. out* june 29, 65, paid 10 july 15, 65; 2 It. 13 inf. june 20, 66, acc. aug. 24, 66; trs. to 31 inf. sept. 21, 66; trs. to 22 inf. may 15, 69; 1 It. aug. 5, 72.
- 104. LEGGETT, HENRY F., Sept. 14, 72, 24th Infantry. [Born in Ohio; apptd. from Ohio.]— Pvt. co. H, 12 Ohio vol. june 4, 61; dischgd. oct. 20, 61; 1 lt. 59 Ohio vol. oct. 20, 61; respd. apr. 18, 62; capt. 9 Ky, vol. apr. 18, 62; must. out dec. 15, 64; 2 lt. 38 inf. july 17, 67, acc. sept. 27, 67; 1 lt. bvt. july 17, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser, in the battle of Missionary Ridge, Tenn."; capt. bvt. july 17, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser, in the battle of Peach Tree Creek, Ga."; trs. to 24 inf. nov. 11, 69; 1 lt. sept. 14, 72.
- 105. ROGERS, WILLIAM P., Oct. 3, 72, 17th Infantry. [Born in Md.; apptd. from Md.] Corpl. co. H. 7 Md. vol. aug. 21, 62; discligid. may 4, 65; 24, 44 - inf. july 28, 66, acc. oct. 24, 66; trs. to 17 inf. may 27, 69; 1 H. oct. 3, 72; regfl. adjt july 25, 74.
- 106. LOCKWOOD, BENJAMIN C., Oct. 5, 72, 22nd Infantry. [Born in Ky.; apptd. from Ky.] Pvt. co. F. 6 Ky. vol. oct. 1, 61; dischad. apr. 17, 63; 2 1t. 54 Ky. vol. sept. 30, 64; must. out sept. 1 65, paid to sept. 15, 65; 2 lt. 31 inf. mar. 7, 67, acc. apr. 30, 67; trs. to 22 inf. m ty 15, 69; 1 lt. oct. 5, 72.
- 107. MUMFORD, THOMAS S., Jan. 8, 73, 13th Infantry. [Born in Texas; apptd. from M. A.] Cadet sept. 1, 67; 2 lt. 9 eav. june 12, 71; trs. to 13 inf. june 13, 72; 1 lt. jan. 8, 73.
- 108. WRIGHT, GEORGE H., Jan. 12, 73, 7th Infantry. [Born in Canada; apptd. from Wis.]— Pvt. co. B, 1 Wis, cav. sept. 15, 61; dischyd. dec. 30, 62; 1 lt. 39 Wis, vol. june 3, 64; must. out sept. 22, 64; 2 lt. 7 inf. mar. 7, 67, acc. may 21, 67; 1 lt. jan. 12, 73.
- 109. STAFFORD, STEPHEN R., Jan. 15, 73, 15th Infantry. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from N. Y.]— Pvt. co. G, 13 N. Y. vol. may 2, 61; trs. to co. K, 3 N. Y. cav. — , 61; dischyd. sept. 18, 61; 24; 8 N. Y. art, aug. 22, 62; 14; 16; fb, 22, 64; capt. jan. 10, 65; maj, vol. bvt, mar. 13, 65, "for faith, and mer. ser, dur. the war"; must. out june 5, 65, paid to june 20, 65; 24; 38 inf. may 21, 67, acc. may 27, 67; unassd. nov. 11, 69; assd. to 15 inf. mar. 5, 70; 14; jan. 15, 73; regit. qu. jan. 1, 75, to jan. 1, 81.
- 110. DODGE, FREDERICK L., Jan. 22, 73, 23rd Infantry. [Born in N. H.; apptd. from N. H.] Pvt. co. F, 44 Mass. vol. ang. 29, 62; dischard. june 18, 63; 11t. 18 N. H. vol. mar. 22, 65; mast. out.july 29, 65, paid to aug. 8, 65; 2 lt. 23 inf. mar. 7, 67, acc. june 7, 67; 1 lt. jan. 22, 73.
- 111. HANNAY, JOHN W., Feb. 15, 73, 3rd Infantry. [Born in Engl'd; apptd. from Pa.]-1 lt. 198 Pa. vol. oct. 29, 64; resgd. feb. 15, 65; 1 lt. 8 U. S. c. h. art. mar. 10, 65; must. out feb. 10, 66, paid to mar. 10, 66; 2 lt. 3 inf. sept. 28, 66, acc. feb. 15, 67; 1 lt. feb. 15, 73.
- 112. EBSTEIN, FREDERICK H. E., Feb. 19, 73, 21st Infantry. [Born in Prussia; apptd. from Army.]— Pvt. co. 11, 4 inf. nov. 18, 64; corpl. aug. 7, 65; sergt. jan. 16, 66; pvt. july 31, 66; 2 lt. 18 inf. sept. 12, 67, acc. oct. 19, 67; unassd. apr. 26, 69; assd. to 21 inf. july 14, 69; 1 lt. feb. 19, 73; regtl. qm. july 19, 76, to sept. 30, 80.
- 113. BATES, ROBERT F., Mar. 28, 73, 18th Infantry. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from Pa.]— Pvt. co. D, 53 N. Y. vol. sept. 16, 61; dischgd. mar. 21, 62; sergt. co. D, 121 Pa. vol. aug. 13, 62; dischgd. feb. 29, 64; 1 lt. 121 Pa. vol. mar. 1, 64; must. out june 2, 65, p iid to june 4, 65; 211. 18 inf. mar. 7, 67, acc. apr. 12, 67; 114. bvt. mar. 7, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Gettysburg, Pa."; 1 lt. 18 inf. mar. 28, 73; regtl. adj't july 1, 79.
- 114. BURNETT, LEVI F., May 10, 73, 7th Infantry. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from N. Y.]— Pvt. co. A, 84 N. Y. vol. aug. 16, 62; trs. to co. A, 21 regt. vet res. corps aug. 15, 63; 2 lt. vet. res. corps may 12, 64, acc. may 23, 64; 1 lt. vol. bvt. and capt. vol. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal, and mer. ser. in the battless of South Mountain and Antietam, Md."; must. out june 9, 67; 2 lt. 36 inf. may 25, 67 acc. june 10, 67; 1 lt. bvt. may 25, 67. "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Antietam, Md."; capt. bvt. may 25, 67. "for gal. and mer. ser. dur. the war"; trs. to 7 inf. may 19, 69; 1 lt. may 10, 73; regtl. adj't nov. 5, 74, to oct. 1, 80.
- 115. O'CONNELL, JOHN, May 29, 73, 8th Infantry. [Born in Ireland; appt.l. from N. Y.]— Pvt. co. H, 71 N. Y. vol. may 1, 61; sorgt. maj. july 7, 61; 2 lt. 71 N. Y. vol. june 16, 62; 1 lt. aug. 5, 62; capt. mar. 16, 64; must. out july 30, 64; capt. 5 U. S. vet. vol. feb. 11, 65; must. out apr. 14, 66; 2 lt. 8 inf. jan. 22, 67, acc. mar. 29, 67; 1 lt. may 29, 73.
- 116. BULLIS, JOHN L., June 20, 73, 24th Infantry. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from Ark.]— Corpl. co. H, 126 N. Y. vol. aug. 8, 62; dissland. aug. 17, 64; capt. 118 U. S. c. t. aug. 18, 64; must. out feb. 6, 66; 2 lt. 41 inf. sept. 3, 67, acc. sept. 7, 67; trs. to 24 inf. nov. 11, 69; 1 lt. june 20, 73.

196 SERVICE AND LINEAL RANK OF OFFICERS OF INFANTRY. 1881.

.

First Lieutenants-Continued.

117. MORRISON, THEOPHILUS W., Aug. 6, 73, 16th Infantry. [Born in Ind.; apptd. from Ind.]-2 h. 18 Ind. vol. aug. 16, 61; 1 lt. nov. 1, 62; must. out feb. 27, 63, paid to feb. 28, 63; capt. a, a, g vol. feb. 27, 63, acc. apr. 23, 63; resgd. jan. 25, 65, paid to feb. 6, 65; lt. col. 146 lnd. vol. apr. 26, 65; must out aug. 31, 65, paid to sept. 12, 65; 2 lt. 34 inf. july 28, 66,

ace, feb. 5, 67; trs. to 16 inf. apr. 14, 69; 1 lt. aug. 6, 73.

- 118. SWEET, OWEN J., Aug. 19, 73, 25th Infantry. [Born in Conn.; apptd. from N. Y.]— 2 It. 137 N. Y. vol. sept. 6, 62; 1 It. mar. 19, 63; capt. mar. 12, 64; must. out june 9, 65, paid to june 18, 65; 2 It. 40 inf. may 27, 67, acc. june 15, 67; trs. to 25 inf. apr. 25, 69; 1 It. ang. 19, 73.
- 119. CLARKE, WILLIAM L., Sept. 6, 73, 23rd Infantry. [Born in Del.; apptd. from Del.]-2 H. 36 inf. nov. 20, 67, acc. nov. 27, 67; unassd. may 19, 69; assd. to 23 inf. aug. 3, 70; 1 lt. sept. 6, 73.
- 120. COOK, GEORGE IL, Oct. 7, 73, 19th Infantry. [Born in N.Y.; apptd. from N.V.]-1 H. 109 U. S. e. t. july 8, 64; capt. 8 U. S. e. art, feb. 13, 65; maj. vol. bvt, and lt. col. vol. bvt, mar. 10, 66; "for faith, and mer. ser."; *must. mit* mar. 10, 66; 2 lt. 28 inf. jan. 22, 67, acc. mar. 25, 67; trs to 19 inf. mar. 31, 69; regtl. adj't oct. 7, 73; 1 lt. oct. 7, 73.
- 121. TAYLOR, DAVID B., Oct. 29, 73, 11th Infantry. [Born in Scotl'd; apptd. from Army.]— Pyt. co. A, batt. eng. nov. 23, 60; artf. july 1, 61; trs. to co. D, july 1, 62; corpl. july 12, 62; sergt. may 1, 63; dischool. july 11, 64; sergt. co. D, batt. eng. july 11, 64; 1 sergt. co. C. sept. 4, 64; 2 lt. 24 inf. mar. 7, 67, acc. mar. 29, 67; trs. to 11 inf. apr. 25, 69; 1 lt. oct. 29, 73.
- 122. PRICE, BUTLER D., Nov. 25, 73, 4th Infantry. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Pa.]-2 1f. 2 Pa, cay, jan. 4, 62; 1 lf. feb. 2, 63; *must. out* jan. 5, 65; 2 lf. 4 inf. may 11, 66, acc. aug. 2, 66; 1 lf. nov. 25, 73.
- 123. WEBSTER, GEORGE O., Nov. 25, 73, 4th Infantry. [Born in Conn. : apptd. from M. A.]-Cadet sept. 1, 61; 2 lt. 4 inf. june 18, 66; regtl. adj't nov. 15, 67, to may 6, 75; 1 lt. nov. 25, 73.
- 124. TEAR, WALLACE, Nov. 30, 73, 25th Infantry. [Born in Ohio; apptd. from Ill.]— Sergt. co. K, 96 Ill. vol. aug. 4, 62; disclept. nov. 14, 63; 1 It. 14 U.S. e. t. nov. 15, 63; must. out. mar. 26, 66, paid to mar. 28, 66; 21t. 49 inf. aug. 9, 67, acc. sept. 11, 67; trs. to 25 inf. apr. 20, 69; 1lt. nov. 30, 73.
- 125. BUCHANAN, JAMES A., Dec. 10, 73, 14th Infantry. [Born in Md.; apptd. from Md.]-2 lt. 14 inf. mar. 7, 67, acc. may 27, 67; 1 lt. dec. 10, 73.
- 126. MCCAMMON, WILLIAM W., Dec. 10, 73, 14th Infantry. [Born in Ohio; apptd. from Mo.]-1 It. 22 Mo. vol. oct. 15, 61; capt. 24 Mo. vol. feb. 21, 63; capt. a. a. g. vol. feb. 3, 65, acc. apr. 21, 65; m ij. vol. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. dur. the war"; must. out feb. 2, 66, paid to feb. 9, 66; 2 lt. 14 inf. june 18, 67, acc. aug. 7, 67; regtl. adj't july 23, 69; 1 lt. dec. 10, 73.
- 127. EGBERT, Al'GUSTUS R., Dec. 18, 73, 2nd Infantry. [Born in N. J. ; apptd. from N. J.]— Surg, U. S. vol. nov. 5, 61, acc. nov. 15, 61; 11, e0, vol. bvt. ect. 6, 65, "for faith, and mer. ser,"; *must. out oct.* 7, 65, paid to nov. 27, 65; 244, 24 inf. july 28, 66, acc. jan. 4, 67; un-assd, apr. 19, 69; assd. to 8 inf. july 14, 69; trs. to 2 inf. may 26, 70; 11, dec. 18, 73.
- 128. MATILE, LEON A., Dec. 23, 73, 11th Infantry. [Born in Switz'd; apptd. from Army.]— Pvt. co. A, 3 batt, 15 inf. dec. 3, 63; corpl. aug. 26, 66; trs. to 33 inf. sept 21, 66; 2 lt. 24 inf. mar. 7, 67, acc. apr. 27, 67; trs. to 11 inf. apr. 25, 69; 1 lt. dec. 23, 73.
- 129. CHANCE, JOSIAH, Dec. 23, 73, 17th Infantry. [Born in Ohio; apptd. from Ohio.]-Pvt. co. II, 13 Ohio vol. june 28, 61; trs. to band july 2, 61; dischgd. sept. 3, 62; bug. ind. co. Union light guard, Ohio cav. dec. 4, 63; dischol. sept. 10, 64; capt. 127 U. S. e. t. sept. 13, 64; must. out oct. 20, 65, paid to nov. 2, 65; 2 lt. 17 inf. july 22, 67, acc. sept. 9, 67; 1 lt. dec. 23, 73.
- 130. CARPENTER, WILLIAM L., Dec. 31, 73, 9th Infantry. [Born in N.Y.: apptd. from Army.]--Pvt. co. D. 2 art. july 29, 64; trs. to co. L. sept. 25, 65; corpl. sept. 28, 66; sergt. jan. 29, 67; 21t. 9 inf. apr. 5, 67, acc. june 11, 67; 1 1t. dec. 31, 73.
- HURST, JOSEPH H., Jan. 31, 74, 12th Infantry. [Born in Engl'd: apptd. from Pa.]— Sergt. co. A, 141 Pa. vol. ang. 7, 62: dischold. feb. 16, 64; 1 R. 141 Pa. vol. feb. 16, 63; capt. apr. 21, 65; must. out may 28, 65, paid to may 31, 65; 2 R. 12 inf. mar. 7, 67, acc. may 6, 67; 1 R. byt. mar. 7, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Chancellorsville, Va."; capt. byt. mar. 7, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Spottsylvania, Va."; 1 R. 12 inf. jan. 31, 74.

- 132. BRIGGS, THOMAS B., Feb. 9, 74, 14th Infantry. [Born in R. I.; apptd. from Conn.]— Pvt. co. G. 4 III. vol. june 17, 46; dischgd. may 26, 47; 1 sergt. co. A, 1 R. I. vol. may 2, 61; dischgd. aug. 2, 61; capt. 3 R. I. vol. aug. 20, 61; misst. out may 22, 63; 1 R. H. U. S. e. I. sept. 22, 63; must. out oct. 2, 65, paid to oct. 25, 65; 2 R. 3 inf. june 18, 67, acc. july 20, 67; unassd. aug. 11, 69; assd. to 14 inf. apr. 27, 76; 1 R. 6b, 9, 74.
- 133. HINTON, CHARLES B., May 4, 74, 18th Infantry. [Born in D. C.; apptd. from D. C.]-2 lt. 25 inf. may 6, 67, acc. may 20, 67; trs. to 18 inf. apr. 26, 69; 1 lt. may 4, 74.
- 134. PIERCE, HENRY H., May 19, 74, 21st Infantry. [Born in Mass.; apptd. from Mass.]— 1 sorgt. co. X, 4 Conn. vol. may 22, 61; dischold. nov. 6, 61; 21, 1 Conn. art. nov. 6, 61; 1 lt. mar. 1, 62; capt. feb. 9, 63; mai. vol. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for cons. gallantry"; maj. 1 Conn. art. may 24, 65; must. out sept. 25, 65, paid to sept. 30, 65; 2 lt. 1 inf. oct. 16, 67, acc. oct. 19, 67; 11k. bvt. oct. 16, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the hattle of Petersburg Mine, Va."; capt. bvt. oct. 16, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. in action at Grave Yard Bend"; unassd. apr. 8, 69; assd. to 21 inf. aug. 3, 70; 11k. may 19, 74; regfl. adjt oct. 1, 80.
- 135. ARMSTRONG. ROBERT G., May 29, 74, 1st Infantry. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Pa.]— Pvt. co. G. 11 Pa. res. corps apr. 27, 61; *dischgd.* june 13, 64; 24t. 1 inf. jan. 22, 67, acc. mar. 20, 67; regtl. adj't may 21, 68, to apr. 20, 69; 14t. may 29, 74.
- 136. KINGSBURY, GEORGE W., July 3, 74, 12th Infantry. [Born in Vt.: apptd. from Vt.]— Pyt. co. K, 16 Vt. vol. sept. 15, 62; corpl. oct. 1, 62; dischad, ang. 10, 63; pyt. co. F, 17 Vt. vol. jan. 2, 64; 24, 17 Vt. vol. apr. 9, 64; muzt. out oct. 5, 64, paid to oct. 6, 64; 21 Ut. vet. res. corps oct. 25, 64, acc. nov. 5, 64; 14, vol. byt. and capt. vol. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith, and mer. ser."; must. out jone 5, 67; 24, 43 inf. may 31, 67, acc. june 6, 67; 14; byt. may 31, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of the Wilderness, Va."; unassd. apr. 8, 69; assd. to 12 inf. jan. 5, 70; 14; july 3, 74; regtl. qm. feb. 4, 76, to july 1, 79.
- RHEEM, EDWARD B., July 8, 74, 21st Infantry. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Pa.]— Pvt. co. A. 7 Pa. res. corns, july 8, 61; dischgd, june 16, 64; 21t, 32 inf. oct. 30, 67, acc. nov. 12, 67; trs. to 21 inf. apr. 19, 69; uansad. aug. 19, 69; assid. to 21 inf. jan. 29, 70; 1 H. july 8, 74.
- BRODRICK, PATRICK T., July 24, 74, 23rd Infantry. [Born in Irel'd; apptd. from M.A.]— Cadet sept. 1, 63; 2 H. 25 inf. june 15, 68; unassd. apr. 26, 69; assd. to 23 inf. july 14, 69; 1 H. july 24, 74; regth. adj! toct. 1, 76.
- 139. BURNS, JAMES M., July 25, 74, 17th Infantry. [Born in Ohio: apptd. from Ohio.]— Pet. co. B, 1 W. Va. vol. oet. 3, 61; sergt. nov. 1, 63; sergt. co. B, 1 W. Va. vet. vol. jam. 23, 64; trs. to co. D, 2 W. Va. vol. dec. 10, 64; *dischyd.* july 17, 65; 2 lt. 17 inf. sept. 21, 67, acc. sept. 26, 67; 1 lt. july 25, 74.
- 140. HOYT, GEORGE S., Oct. 5, 74, 18th Infantry. [Born in N. H.: apptd. from Wis.]— Sergt. co. K, 7 Wis. vol. aug. 7, 61: 1 sergt. mar. 22, 62; 2 lt. 7 Wis. vol. oct. 5, 62; 1 lt. mar. 1, 63: capt. june 1, 63: capt. 7 Wis. vet. vol. jan. 1, 64; maj. jan. 9, 65; must. out july 3, 65, paid to july 12, 65; 2 lt. 18 inf. june 18, 67, acc. july 20, 67; 1 lt. oct. 5, 74; regtl. qm. june 29, 79.
- CLEM, JOHN L., Oct. 5, 74, 24th Infantry. [Born in Ohio; apptd. from Ohio.]— Mus. co. C, 22 Mich. vol. may 1, 63; lance sergt. sept. 20, 63; dischgd. sept. 10, 64; 2 lt. 24 inf. dec. 18, 71, acc. jan. 23, 72; 11. doct. 5, 74.
- 142. GROESBECK, STEPHEN W., Oct. 7, 74, 6th Infantry. [Born in N. Y.; appt]. from Ill.]— Qm. sergt. co. H, 4 Iowa cav. oct. 28, 61; 2 lt. 4 Iowa cav. nov. 1, 62; must. out apr. 4, 63; 2 lt. vet. res. corps sept. 16, 64, acc. nov. 21, 64; must. out jan. 14, 67; 2 lt. 42 inf. july 28, 66, acc. jan. 15, 67; trs. to 6 inf. apr. 22, 69; 1 lt. oct. 7, 74; regtl. adj't feb. 1, 75, to mar. 30, 80.
- 143. DUGGAN, WALTER T., Nov. 13, 74, 10th Infantry. [Born in Engl'd: apptd. from Army.]— Pvt. co. B, 5 Wis, vol. june 13, 61; dischgd. ang. 31, 63; hosp. stwd. U. S. A. sept. 7, 63; 2 lt. 10 inf. jan. 3, 67, acc. mar. 23, 67; 1 lt. nov. 13, 74.
- 144. AUSTUN, ALBERT, Nov. 23, 74, 14th Infantry. [Born in Conn.; apptd. from Conn.]— Corpl. co. F. 8 Conn. vol. sept. 3, 61; sergt. dec. 24, 62; sergt. co. F. 8 Conn. vet. vol. dec. 24, 63; dischad. may 12, 65; 21t, 11 Conn. vol. may 13, 65; 11t, nov. 2, 65; must. out dec. 21, 65, paid to dec. 27, 65; 21t, 14 inf. ang. 9, 67, acc. aug. 30, 67; 1 lt. nov. 23, 74.
- 145. SUMMERHAYES, JOHN W., Dec. 15, 74, 8th Infantry. [Born in N.Y.; apptd. from N.Y.]— Pyt. co. 1, 20 Mass. vol. sept. 9, 61; corpl. nov. 1, 61; sergt..., -, ..., e; sergt. maj. 20 Mass. vol. ju. 1, 63; disedgd. mar. 14, 63; 2 lt. 20 Mass. vol. mar. 14, 63; 1 lt. sept. 8, 63; capt. oct. 10, 63; maj. vol. byt. apr. 9, 65, "for mer. ser. in the recent campaign terminating with the surrender of the insurgent army under Gen. R. E. Lee"; must. out june 6, 65; 2 lt. 33 inf. jan. 22, 67, acc. apr. 12, 67; 1 lt. byt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Ball's Bluff, Va."; capt. byt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Cold Harbor, Va."; trs. to 8 inf. may 3, 69; 1 lt. dec. 15, 74.

- 146. BURNHAM, DAVID R., Jan. 1, 75, 15th Infantry. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from N. Y.]— 14t, 67 Pa. vol. ang. 28, 61; capt. jan. 7, 64; most. out sept. 15, 64; 24t, 35 inf. june 18, 67, acc. july 17, 67; trs. to 15 inf. aug. 12, 69; 14, jan. 1, 75.
- 147. LOVE. GEORGE M., Mar. 1, 75, 16th Infantry. [Born in N. Y.; apptd from N. Y.] = 1 s s c_4, c_0, D, 21 N, Y, vol. may 13, 61; setgl. maj, 21 N, Y, vol. may 13, 61; docligit, ang, 23, 61; 11h, 14 N, Y, vol. ang, 23, 61; capt, jan, 2, 62; most, out sept, 4, 62; maj, 116 N, Y, vol. sept, 5, 62; col. july 16, 63; brig, gen, vol. byt. mar, 7, 65; mast, out june 8, 65, paid to june 25, 65; 2 h, 11 inf. mar. 7, 67, acc. may 6, 67; 1 h, byt. mar. 7, 67; for gal, and mer. ser. in action at Plain's Store''; capt, byt. mar. 7, 67; ''for gal, and mer. ser, in the battle of Cedar Creek, Va.''; h, col. byt. mar. 7, 67, ''for gal, and mer. ser, in the battle of Cedar Creek, Va.''; h, col. byt. mar. 7, 67, ''for gal, and mer. ser, in the battle of 16 f. apr. 14, 69; 14h, mar. 1, 75.
- 148. RITZHUS, HENRY P., Mar. 3, 75, 25th Infantry. [Born in Prussia: apptd. from Pa.]→ Pvt. co. A. 5, N. Y. s. m. may 1, 61; disclad. ang, 7, 61; 1 sergt. co. 6, 52 N. Y. vol. sept. 17, 61; disclad, june 30, 62; 241, 52 N. Y. vol. june 30, 62; 14, ang, 23, 62; capt. oct. 23, 63; must. out ang, 2, 64; maj, 52 N. Y. vol. dec. 8, 64; must. out july 1, 65; paid to july 11, 65; r 11, 7 U, 8, vet. vol. ang, 10, 65; must. out app. 30, 66; 24, 36 ord, 23, 67, acc. oct. 25, 67; trs. to 25 inf. apr. 20, 69; 111, mar. 3, 75; regtl. qu. jun. 1, 78.
- 149. WETHERILL, ALEXANDER M., Apr. 28, 75, 6th Infantry. [Bornin Pa.; apptd.from Pa.]-2 It. 6 inf. may 9, 67, acc. may 45, 67; 1 It. apr. 28, 75.
- 150. CAMPHELL, WHILLAM J., May 12, 75, 22nd Infantry. (Bornin Irel'd; apptd. from Pa.]— Pyt. co. A, 18 Pn, vol. apr. 24, 61; dischad, ang. 5, 61; pyt. co. A, 95 Pa. vol. ang. 21, 61; com, sergl, 95 Pa. vol. oct. 16, 61; sergl, maj, july 21, 62; dischad, feb. 10, 63; 114, 95 Pa. vol. feb. 10, 63; must. out nov. 2, 64; 24t, 22 inf. may 21, 67, acc. may 23, 67; 14t, may 12, 75.
- 152. HAMNER, WILLIAM H., July 27, 75, 20th Infantry. [Born in Tenn.; apptd. from N.Y.]— Pyt. co. H. 1 art. feb. 13, 56; corpl. nov. 4, 56; sorgt. mar. 21, 57; 1 sorgt. may 26, 58; qm. sorgt. 1 art. feb. 1, 60; discloyd. doc. 20, 60; qm. sorgt. 1 art. doc. 20, 60; discloyd. oct. 14, 61; 24t. 3 R. 1, art. oct. 17, 61; 14; may 8, 66; capt. june 9, 63; must. out ang. 9, 65; 24t. 20 infl. oct. 16, 67, acc. oct. 17, 67; 14t. july 27, 75.
- 153. CLARK, SIDNEY E., Aug. 1, 75, 2nd Infantry. [Born in Conn.; apptd. from Conn.]— Pyt. eo. G. 2 Conn. vol. may 7, 61; *disclipil*, aug. 7, 61; *edut*, 12 Conn. vol. jan. 1, 62; maj. oct. 33, 64; *must.* out aug. 12, 65, paid to aug. 21, 65; 24; 16 inf. july 25, 66 ace, jan. 27, 67; 14; byt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal, and mer. ser, in the battle of Winchester, Va."; capt. byt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal, and mer. ser, dur, the war"; trs. to 2 inf, apr. 17, 69; regtl. qm, aug. 1, 75; 14; R. aug. 4, 75.
- 154. RODMAN, JOHN B., Aug. 4, 75, 20th Infantry. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from M.A.]-Cadet sept. 4, 65; 24t. 20 inf. june 15, 68; regth adj't nov. 4, 73; 14t. aug. 4, 75.
- 155. FORRES, THEODORE F., Aug. 31, 75, 5th Infantry. [Born in S. I.; apptd.from Pa.]— Corpl. co. 6, 102 N. Y. vol. nov. 9, 61; sergt. aug. 12, 62; 211–102 N. Y. vol. nov. 12, 62; most. out mar. 7, 63; 24, vet. res. corps aug. 12, 63; ed. aug. 19, 63; most. out oct. 12, 66; 24, 42; inf. july 28, 66, acc. oct. 12, 66; readt. adjt. jan. 4, 67, to june 15, 67; 14, byt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and met. ser, in the battle of Cedar Mountain, Va."; unassl. apr. 22, 69; assd. to 5 int. nov. 15, 69; 14, aug. 31, 75.
- 156. WALNER, LEVERETT H., Nov. 2, 75, 15th Infantry. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from M. A.]-Cadet july 1, 67; 24t, 15 inf. june 12, 71; 14t. nov. 2, 75.
- 157. RAY, P. HENRY, Dec. 31, 75. 8th Infantry. [Born in Wis.; apptd. from Wis.] Pvt. co, K, 2 Wis, vol. may 7, 61; corpl. sept. 2, 61; trs. to co, A, 1 Wis, h. art. dec. 9, 61; sergt, sept. 1, 62; 1 sergt. apr. 15, 63; 2 It. 1 Wis, h. art. july 13, 63; capt. sept. 13, 64; most, out may 30, 65, paid to july 13, 65; capt. 6 U. S. vet. vol. aug. 14, 65; most, out apr. 12, 66; 2 It. 33 inf. mar. 7, 67, acc. may 18, 67; trs. to 8 inf. may 3, 69; 1 It. dec. 31, 75.
- 158. BROWN, RUFUS P., Jan. 10, 76, 4th Infantry. [Born in Ohio; apptd. from M. Δ.]— Cadet july 1, 62; 24t. 4 inf. june 18, 66; 14t. jan. 10, 76.
- 159. JOHNSON, CHARLES A., Jan. 23, 76, 14th Infantry. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Wis.]— Pyt. co. B. 1 Wis. vol. apr. 20, 61; dischad. aug. 21, 61; pyt. 13 batty. Wis. I. art, july 4, 63; 1 scrgt.dec. 31, 63; scrgt.feb. 21, 64; pyt. aug. 30, 64; dischad. mar. 22, 65; 21, 51 Wis. vol. apr. 6, 65; must. out may 6, 65; 24, 14 inf. aug. 9, 67, acc_oct. 19, 67; 14t, jan. 23, 76.

1881. SERVICE AND LINEAL RANK OF OFFICERS OF INFANTRY. 199

- 160. CORNISH, GEORGE A., Jan. 25, 76, 15th Infantry. [Born in Ala.; apptd. from M.A.]-Cadet july 1, 69; 2 lt. 15 inf. june 13, 73; 1 lt. jan. 25, 76.
- 161. MURPHY, JOHN, Feb. 1, 76, 14th Infantry. [Born in Ireland; apptd. from Army] Pvt. dct. drag. M. A. may 21, 58; trs. to co. D, 5 art. june 26, 61; sergt, july 4, 61; 1 sergt, nov. 1, 62; disclad, may 21, 63; pvt. dct. cav. M. A. june 4, 63; trs. to co. 1, 5 art. dec. 3, 63; sergt. dcc, 3, 63; 1 sergt. aug. 1, 64; 2 lt. 14 inf. aug. 16, 67, acc. aug. 21, 67; 1 lt. feb. 1, 76.
- 162. TAYLOR, FRANK, Feb. 25, 76, 14th Infantry. [Born in France; apptd.from Iowa.]— Pet. gen. ser. oct. 24, 60; sergt. dec. 19, 62; disclapil. apr. 1, 63; 24, 2 inf. oct. 29, 67, acc. nov. 1, 67; massd. apr. 17, 69; assd. to 14 inf. july 31, 69; 14t. feb. 25, 76.
- 163. TRUE, THEODORE E., Feb. 26, 76, 4th Infantry. [Born in III.; apptd. from III.]— Corpl. co. B, 7 III. vol. apr. 25, 61; dischard. july 25, 61; serget. co. D, 44 III. vol. july 39, 61; 2 II. 44 III. vol. feb. 15, 62; capt. 6 U. S. c. art. nov. 28, 63; result, sept. 14, 64; 2 It. 4 inf. july 24, 66, acc. aug. 29, 66; regtl. adj't feb. 26, 76; 1 II. feb. 26, 76.
- 164. BAILEY, EDWARD L., Feb. 26, 76, 4th Infautry. [Born in N. II.; apptd. from N. II.]— Capt. 2 N. H. vol. june 7, 61; maj. july 26, 62; It. col. feb. 20, 63; col. may 1, 63; must, out june 21, 64; 2 It. 4 inf. mar, 7, 67, acc. apr. 29, 67; 11 th vt. nov. 6, 67, "for gal. and mer, ser, in the battle of Williamsburg, Va."; capt. bvt. nov. 6, 67, "for gal, and mer, ser, in the battle of Fair Oaks, Va."; maj. bvt. nov. 6, 67, "for gal, and mer, ser, in the battle of Ball Run (20), Va."; It. col. bvt. nov. 6, 67, "for gal, and mer, ser, in the batde of Ball Run (20), Va."; It. col. bvt. nov. 6, 67, "for gal, and mer, ser, in the battle of Ball Run (20), Va."; It. col. bvt. nov. 6, 67, "for gal, and mer, ser, in the battle of Gettysburg, Pa."; I It. 4 inf, feb. 26, 76.
- 165. CLARK, DILLARD H., Feb. 29, 76, 15th Infantry. [Born in Ky.; appid. from M. Δ.]-Cadet july 1, 69; 2 lt. 15 inf. june 13, 73; 1 lt. feb. 29, 76; regtl. qm. jan. 1, 81.
- 166. SCOTT, JOHN, Mar. 1, 76, 4th Infantry. [Born in Scotl'd; apptd. from Ill.]— Corpl. co. II, 25–Ill. vol. july 27, 61; 2–lt. 25–Ill. vol. feb. 23, 63; 4–lt. apr. 4, 63; eapt. mar. 4, 64; maj. vol. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith, and mer. ser."; *must. out.* sept. 21, 65; 2– lt. 30 inf. mar. 7, 67, acc. may 20, 67; regtl. qu. jan. 1, 69, to mar. 23, 69; trs. to 4 inf. mar. 23, 69; regtl. qu. mar. 1, 76; 1–lt. mar. 1, 76.
- 167. GRIFFITH, EMERSON, June 10, 76, 13th Infantry. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from M. Λ.]— Cadet july 1, 68; 2 lt. 13 inf. june 14, 72; 1 lt. june 10, 76.
- 168. SMITH, OSKALOOSA M., June 28, 76, 22nd Infantry. [Born in Ind.; apptd. from Ind.]— Mus. co. I, 13 Ind. vol. dec. I, 61; qm. sergt. 13 Ind. vol. june 19, 64; dischgd. nov. 39, 64; 11, 155 Ind. vol. apr. 25, 65; *ansat. out* ang. 4, 65, paid to ang. 20, 65; 21t. 31 inf. june 18, 67, acc. aug. 6, 67; trs. to 22 inf. may 15, 69; 1 lt. june 28, 76; regtl. qm. june 25, 75.
- 169. WENIE, THOMAS, M., July 9, 76, 19th Infantry. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from Del.]— 1 It. 2 Del. vol. june 12, 61; capt. apr. 23, 62; must. out sept. 14, 64; capt. 1 Del. vet. vol. oct. 26, 64; must. out july 12, 65, paid to july 13, 65; capt. 4 U. S. vet. vol. aug. 23, 65; must. out mar. 23, 66; 2 It. 28 inf. mar. 7, 67, acc. june 7, 67; trs. to 19 inf. mar. 31, 69; 1 It. july 9, 76.
- 170. BRUSH, DANIEL H., Aug. 4, 76, 17th Infantry. [Born in Ill, ; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet sept. 4, 67; 2 lt. 17 inf. june 12, 71; 1 lt. aug. 4, 76; regtl. qm. july 1, 79.
- 171. SARSON, HORACE B., Aug. 16, 76, 2nd Infantry. [Born in Engl'd: apptd. from Army.]-Pvt. co. H, 3 batt. 16 inf. sept. 6, 64; sergt. maj. 16 inf. jan. 1, 66; 2 lt. 16 inf. nov. 16, 66, acc. nov. 20, 66; trs. to 2 inf. apr. 17, 69; 1 lt. ang. 16, 76.
- 172. RUHLEN, GEORGE, Sept. 18, 76, 17th Infantry. [Born in Germ'y; apptd. from M. A.]-Cadet july 1, 68; 2 lt. 17 inf. june 14, 72; 1 lt. sept. 18, 76; regtl. qm. aug. 27, 78, to july 1, 79.
- 173. CUSHMAN, HERBERT, Oct. 22, 76, 20th Infantry. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Pa.]— 2 lt. 20 inf. june 23, 68, acc. aug. 10, 68; 1 lt. oct. 22, 76.
- 174. CRAFT, DAVID L., Oct. 31, 76, 6th Infantry. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Pa.]— Pvt. co. D, 8 Pa. res. corps may 1, 61; trs. to sig. corps aug. 1, 63; 2 lt. sig. corps sept. 2, 63, acc. jan. 20, 64; must. out sept. 4, 65; 2 lt. 6 inf. aug. 24, 67, acc. aug. 31, 67; 1 lt. bvt. aug. 24, 67, "for gallantry in maintaining his position under great exposure on the Appointtox sig. tower dur, the siege of Petersburg Va., in the late war, while his station was for some time deliberately cannonaded by the rehel batteries"; capt. bvt. aug. 24, 67, "for faith. and mer. ser. in the sig. corps dur, the war"; 1 lt. 6 inf. oct. 31, 76.
- 175. STILES, DANIEL F., Nov. 2, 76, 10t ; Infantry. [Born in Mass.; apptd. from D. C.]— Qm. sergt. 1 D. C. vol. aug. 6, 61; com. sergt. sept. 20, 61; 2 lt. 1 D. C. vol. dec. 1, 62; trs. to 2 D. C. vol. feb. 28, 65; 1 lt. mar. 21, 65; must. out sept. 12, 65; 2 lt. 26 inf. jan. 22, 67; acc. mar. 27, 97; trs. to 10 inf. may 19, 69; 1 lt. nov. 2, 76.

- 176. WILSON, GEORGE S., Dec.28, 76, 12th Infantry. [Born in Ind. apptd. from Ind.]— Corpl. co. C. 17 Ind. vol. may 31, 61; secgt. dec. 9, 61; 2 It. 17 Ind. vol. mar. 1, 64; 1 It. june 3, 64; most, out ang. 8, 65, paid to ang. 18, 65; 2 It. 12 inf. july 2, 67, acc. july 12, 67; regtl. qu, june 12, 73, to feb. 20, 75; 1 It. dec. 28, 76.
- 177. CORY. WILLIAM O., Feb. 22, 77, 15th Infantry. [Born in Ohio: apptd. from Army.] Pyt. co. II, 7 inf. oct. 5, 64; corpl. oct. 21, 64; scr20, june 1, 66; com, scr20, 7 inf. feb. 20, 67; 24, 17, 191, 22, 67, acc. may 24, 67; 141, july 16, 68; unassd. apr. 25, 69; assa, 10 24 inf. dec. 15, 70; hon. must. out jan. 1, 71; 24t. 15 inf. oct. 4, 73, acc. oct. 15, 73; 14t. feb. 22, 77.
- 178. DAVIES, FIELDING L., Mar. 10, 77, 22nd Infantry. [Born in Ohio: apptd. from Ohio.]— Pvt. co. F. 3 Ohio vol. may 29, 61; *discluyd.* jan 12, 64; eapt. 15 U. S. e. t. jan, 13, 64; *must. out* apr. 7, 66, paid to apr. 11, 66; 2 h, 22 inf. july 17, 67, acc. sept. 16, 67; 1 h. mar. 10, 77.
- 179. PARDEE, JULIUS H., Mar. 16, 77, 23rd Infantry. [Born in N. Y.; appld. from M. Δ.]-Cadet july 1, 67; 24t, 25 inf. june 42, 71; trs. to 23 inf. aug. 4, 71; 14t. mar. 16, 77.
- 180. LOW, WILLIAM H., JR., Apr. 7, 77, 20th Infantry. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from M. A.]-Cadet july 1, 68; 24t, 20 inf. june 14, 72; 14t, apr. 7, 77.
- 181. FLETCHER, ROBERT H., Apr. 23, 77, 21st Infantry. [Born in Ohio ; apptd. from Ohio.]— 24t, 21 inf. july 27, 72, acc. aug. 5, 72; 14t, apr. 23, 77.
- 182. LARKE, ALURED, Apr. 25, 77, 10th Infantry. [Born in Englid: apptd. from Wis.]— Pvt. co. A. 2. Wis, vol. may 27, 61; sergt. dec. 1, 61; 24t, 2 Wis, vol. feb. 20, 63; 14t, ang. 21, 63; capt. mar. 24, 64; *must. out* dec. 11, 61; capt. 5 U. S. vet. vol. jan. 9, 65; *must. out* july 20, 66; 24t, 26 inf. mar. 7, 67, acc. june 8, 67; trs. to 10 inf. may 19, 69; 14t, apr. 25, 77.
- [43] WIETING, ORLANDO L., Apr. 25, 77, 23rd Infautry. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from M. Λ.]— Pyt. co. F. I Pa. Lart, june 4, 64; *dischaft*, june 9, 65; cadet oct. 17, 65; 24t. 3 cav. june 15, 70; *respid*. dec. 29, 70, paid to jan. 12, 71; 24t. 23 inf. july 30, 72, acc. aug. 3, 72; 14t. apr. 25, 77.
- 184. WESSELLS, MORRIS C., May 15, 77, 24th Infantry. [Born in N. J.; apptd. from Mo.]— 24t. 24 inf. dec. 18, 71, acc. jan. 24, 72; 14t, may 15, 77.
- 185. MCMINN, WILLIAM H., May 17, 77, 8th Infantry. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Pa.]— Pyt. co. F. 3 Cal. vol. nov. 12, 61; 1 sergt. dec. 19, 61; disclipid. mar. 16, 62; 24t. 3 Cal. vol. mar. 27, 62; respid. june 20, 66; 14t. 196 Pa. vol. juli 22, 64; must. out nov. 17, 64; capt. 213 Pa. vol. mar. 1, 65; must. out nov. 18, 65, paid to nov. 23, 65; 24t. 8 inf. mar. 7, 67, acc. may 27, 67; 14t. may 17, 77.
- 186. BAHLY, CHARLES M., May 30, 77, sth Infantry. [Born in Ind. T.: apptd. from At l'ge.]-24t. 8 inf. mar. 7, 67, acc. may 17, 67; 14t. may 30, 77; regth. qu. oct. 1, 78.
- 187. CORNMAN, DANIEL, June 17, 77, 21st Infinitry. [Form in Pa.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet sept. 1, 69; 2 lt. 21 inf. june 13, 73; 1 lt. june 17, 77.
- 188. BARNHART, FRANK H., June 30, 77, 18th Infantry. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Pa.]— Pvt. co. G. 6 Pa. vol. apr. 22, 61; disclipit. july 26, 61; corpl. co. A, 50 Pa. vol. aug. 19, 61; corpl. co. A, 50 Pa. vet, vol. dec. 31, 65; sergt. nuj. 50 Pa. vet, vol. mar. 1, 64; 14t, 50 Pa. vet, vol. nov. 26, 64; capt. mar. 24, 65; mist, out july 30, 65; 24t, 25 inf, june 18, 67, acc. july 20, 67; trs. to 18 inf, apr. 26, 69; 44t, june 30, 77.
- 189. HASKELL, HARRY L., June 30, 77, 12th Infantry. [Bern in Me.; apptd. from N. Y.]— Pvt. co. A, 125 N. Y. vol. aug. 26, 62; sergt. maj. 125 N. Y. vol. aug. 26, 62; 2 It. 125 N. Y. vol. mar. 16, 63; capt. dec. 7, 63; must. out sept. 22, 64; capt. 7 U. S. vet. vol. may 10, 65; must. out ap; 27, 66; 2 It. 12 inf. aug. 30, 67, acc. sept. 3, 67; unassd. june 3, 69; assd. to 12 inf. aug. 3, 70; 1 It. june 30, 77.
- 190. KENDRICK, FREDERICK M. H., Aug. 9, 77, 7th Infantry. [Born in N. Y.: apptd. from Tenn 1— 2 It. 31 Mass, vol. feb. 19, 62; *must. out* aug. 7, 62; capt. 1 La. vol. aug. 8, 62; *must. out* july 20, 63, paid to july 24, 63; capt. vet. res. corps mar. 25, 64, acc. mar. 31, 64; *must. out*. oct. 31, 67; 2 It. 7 inf. oct. 22, 67, acc. nov. 1, 67; 1 It. aug. 9, 77.
- 191. VAN ORSDALE, JOHN T., Aug. 20, 77, 7th Infantry. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from M. Λ.]— Cadet sept. 1, 68; 24t, 7 inf. june 14, 72; 14t, aug. 20, 77.
- 192. McGUNNEGLE, GEORGE K., Aug. 23, 77, 15th Infantry. [Born in Md.; apptd. from Md.]— 2 ht. 15 inf. oct. 1, 73, acc. oct. 13, 73; 1 ht. ang. 23, 77.

- 193. SMITH THEODORE, Oct. 6, 77, 15th Infantry. [Born in Germ'y; apptd. from Army.]— Pyt. gen. ser. oct. 31, 67; trs. to sig. corps sept. 8, 68; corpl. may 1, 70; sergt. july 1, 70; dischal. oct. 31, 70; sergt. sig. corps nov. 15, 70; 24t. 15 inf. oct. 4, 73, acc. oct. 41, 73; 14t. oct. 6, 77.
- 194. BOOTH, CHARLES A., Mar. 1, 78, 1st Infantry. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from N. Y.]— Capt. a, a, g. vol. june 20, 63, acc. june 23, 63; maj. vol. bvt. and It. col. vol. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith, and mer. ser. dur. the war"; *mast. out* feb. 10, 66, paid to mar. 9, 66; 2 It. 1 inf. mar. 7, 67, acc. may 15, 67; 1 It. mar. 1, 78.
- 195. ROCKEFELLER, CHARLES M., Mar. 11, 78, 9th Infantry. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from N. V.]—
 Pyt. co. E, 7 N. Y. s. m. apr. 26, 61; dischgd. june 3, 61; pvt. co. C, 8 N. Y. s. m. june 3, 61; dischgd. aug. 2, 61; 14, 178 N. Y. vol. oct. 17, 63; must. out apr. 20, 66, paid to apr. 25, 66; 24t. 9 inf. sept. 3, 67, acc. sept. 7, 67; 14t. mar. 11, 78.
- 196. VEDDER, SIMON C., Mar. 18, 78, 19th Infantry. [Born in N. Y.; appid, from N. Y.]— 1 lt. 16 N. Y. vol. may 15, 61; *must. oot* sept. 13, 62, paid to sept. 30, 62; expt. com. sub. vol. july 22, 64, acc. ang. 3, 64; maj. vol. bvt. june 3, 65, "for mer. ser."; *must. out* june 14, 65, paid to june 17, 65; 21, 28 inf. mar. 7, 67, acc. apr. 11, 67; 14, bvt. mar. 7, 67, "for gal, and mer. ser. in the battle of Gaines' Mill, Va."; trs. to 19 inf. mar. 31, 69; 14, mar. 18, 78.
- 197. BURBANK, CLAYTON S., Mar. 24, 78, 10th Infantry. [Born in Kans.; apptd. from Ky.]— 2 lt. 10 inf. mar. 7, 67, acc. may 20, 67; 1 lt. mar. 24, 78.
- 198. HYDE, JOHN MCE., Mar. 26, 78, 8th Infantry. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from N. Y.]— Pvt. co. A, 71 N. Y. s. m. june 16, 61; dischgd. july 30, 61; 2–11, 38 N. Y. vol. jau, 11, 62; 14t. nov. 1, 62; most. out june 22, 63; 14t. 38 N. Y. vol. jaue 29, 63; most. out oct. 14, 63; 14t. 39 N. Y. vol. dec. 22, 63; maj. jau, 27, 65; 14, col. vol. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal, and mer. ser. in the battle of Cold Harbor, Va."; col. vol. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal, and mer. ser. in front of Petersburg, Va."; most. out may 15, 65; 2–1t. 33 inf. sept. 3, 67, acc. sept. 6, 67; trs. to 8 inf. may 3, 69; 140; mar. 26, 78.
- 199. READE, HARRY, Apr. 11, 78, 25th Infantry. [Born in Mass.; appid. from Kaus.]— 2 lt. 25 inf. mar. 4, 72, acc. mar. 31, 72; 1 lt. apr. 11, 78.
- 200. BOOTH, CHARLES A., Apr. 15, 78, 7th Infantry. [Born in Vt.: apptd. from M. Δ.]-Cadet july 1, 68; 2 lt. 7 inf. june 14, 72; 1 lt. apr. 15, 78.
- 204. DUNCAN, JOSEPH W., May 10, 78, 21st Infantry. [Born in Texas; apptd. from Mo.]— 2 lt. 21 inf. oct. 1, 73; acc. oct. 16, 73; 1 lt. may 10, 78.
- 202. PAYNE, JOHN A., May 13, 78, 19th Infantry. [Born in Ind.; apptd. from Ill.]— Pvt. co. A. 12 Ill. vol. apr. 26, 61; dischgd. july 31, 61; pvt. co. I, 1 Mo. s. m. vol. dec. 27, 61; dischgd. mar. 13, 62; 1 lt. 1 Mo. s. m. vol. mar. 13, 62; capt. oct. 1, 62; must. out dec. 2, 64; capt. 14 Mo. cav. dec. 3, 64; maj. july 31, 65; must. out nov. 1, 65; 2 lt. 28 inf. may 6, 67, acc. oct. 7, 67; trs. to 19 inf. mar. 31, 69; 1 lt. may 13, 78.
- 203. GILMAN, BENJAMIN H., June 13, 78, 13th Infantry. [Born in N. H.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet sept. 1, 68; 2 lt. 13 inf. june 14, 72; 1 lt. june 13, 78.
- 204. HARGOUS, CHARLES E., June 21, 78, 5th Infantry. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from N. Y.]— 1 lt. 15 N. Y. eng. dec. 1, 62; must. out june 25, 63; 1 lt. 15 N. Y. eng. july 22, 64; capt. jan. 17, 65; must. out june 13, 65, paid to june 24, 65; 2 lt. 40 inf. july 28, 65, acc. jan. 12, 67; 1 lt. byt. may. 2, 67, "for gal, and mer. ser, at Sedgwick's Crossing, Va."; capt. byt. may. 2, 67, "for gal, and mer. ser, dur, the war"; regtl. qu. 40 inf. may 15, 67, to dec. 24, 67; unassd. apr. 20, 69; assd. to 5 inf. dec. 9, 69; 1 lt. june 21, 78.
- 205. PRATT. EDWARD B., June 25, 78, 23rd Infantry. [Born in Va.; apptd. from Mich.]— 2 lt. 23 inf. dec. 12, 72, acc. jan. 18, 73; 1 lt. june 25, 78.
- 206. YOUNG, ROBERT H., June 28, 78, 4th Infantry. [Born in Ky.; apptd. from Ky.]— Pyt. eo. F. 9 Ky. eav. ang. 12, 62; corpl. sept. 1, 62; sorgt. jan. 1, 63; dischad, sept. 11, 63; capt. 54 Ky. m. inf. sept. 30, 64; must. out sept. 1, 65, paid to sept. 16, 65; 2 Ik. 30 inf. mar. 7, 67, acc. may 30, 67; trs. to 4 inf. mar. 23, 69; 1 It. june 28, 78.
- 207. BOTTSFORD, CHARLES E, June 28, 78, 10th Infantry. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from Army.]— Pvt. co. D, 18 N. Y. cav. aug. 25, 63; discludd, june 23, 64; pvt. co. A, 10 inf. jan. 4, 65; corpl. aug. 1, 66; sergt. mar. 1, 67; 24t. 10 inf. may 29, 67, acc. june 13, 67; 14t. june 28, 78.
- 208. SCOTT, DOUGLAS M., June 28, 78, 1st Infantry. [Born in Mass.; apptd. from Pa.]—
 - 2 lt. 4 cav. june 19, 67, acc. july 6, 67; trs. to 1 inf. sept. 16, 69; 1 lt. june 28, 78.

- 209. SPENCER, GEORGE K., June 28, 78, 19th Infantry. [Born in Pa.: apptd. from Iowa.]— Pvt. co. B, 2 Iowa vol. mrw 27, 61; diselogd. sept. 18, 62; 1 It. 35 Iowa vol. sept. 18, 62; capt. nov. 22, 63; must. out ang. 10, 65; 2 It. 19 inf. aug. 17, 57, acc. ang. 26, 67; 1 It. june 28, 78.
- 210. DE LANY, HAYDEN, June 28, 78, 9th Infantry. [Born in Ohio: apptd. from Ohio.]— Pyt. co. B. 30 Ohio vol. dec. 31, 61; pyt. co. B. 30 Ohio vet. vol. feb. 1, 64; corpl. oct. 1, 64; disclad. may 31, 65; 2 lt. 9 inf. sept. 11, 67, acc. sept. 12, 67; 1 lt. byt. may 1, 68, "for gal. and mer. ser. in action with the Pah-ute Indians in Warner Valley, Oreg., may 1, 68"; 1 lt. 9 inf. june 28, 78.
- 211. MARKIAND, MATTHEW, June 2≤ 78, 1st Infantry. [Born in Kv.: apptd. from Kv.]-Pvt. co. F. 22 Kv. vol. dec. 2, 61; *disclopel.* jan. 20, 65; 241, 1 inf. oct. 24, 67, acc. oct. 26, 67; 14, june 28, 78.
- 212. O'CONNELL, JOHN J., Jane 28, 78, 18t Infantry. [Born in Ireland: apptd. from Army.]— Pyt. co. A. bett, of eng. feb. 3, 65; artf. mar. 15, 67; 2 lt. 1 inf. oct. 28, 67, acc. nov. 11, 67; 1 lt. june 28, 78.
- 213. MYER, ALBERT L., June 28, 78, 11th Infantry. [Born in N. Y.: apptd. from Army.]— Pyt. co. F. 3 batt. 11 inf. oct. 26, 65; trs. to 29 inf. sept. 21, 66; sergt. nov. 1, 66; qm. sergt feb. 18, 67; 2 lt. 29 inf. dec. 6, 67, acc. june 12, 68; trs. to 11 inf. apr. 25, 69; 1 lt. june 28, 78.
- 214. MANSFIELD, FRANCIS W., June 28, 78, 11th Infantry. [Born in Ohio: apptd. from M. A.]—

Cadet sept. 1, 66; 2 lt. 11 inf. june 12, 71; 1 lt. june 28, 78.

- 215. PIERCE JACOB R., June 28, 78, 24th Infantry. [Born in Ky.; apptd. from Miss.]-2 lt, 24 inf. dec. 18, 74, acc. jan. 27, 72; 14t. june 28, 78.
- 216. OGLE, ALFNANDER, June 28, 78, 17th Infantry. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet sept. 1, 68; 24t, 17 inf. june 14, 72; 4 4t. june 28, 78.
- 217. WYGANT, HENRY, June 28, 78, 24th Infantry. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from M. Δ.]-Cadet sept. 1, 68; 24t, 24 inf. june 14, 72; 14t, june 28, 78.
- 218. TASSIN, AUGUSTUS G., June 25, 78, 12th Infantry, [Born in France: apptd. from Ind.]— 11t, 35 hol, vol. oct. 9, 61; capt. june 17, 63; 4; col. aug. 9, 64; col. mur. 4, 65; mast. out sept. 30, 65, paid to oct. 22, 65; capt. 12 inf. inly 28, 66, acc. oct. 12, 66; mai, byt. mar. 2, 67, "for gel, and mer. ser, in the battle of Missionary Ridge, Tenn."; 4t. col. byt. mar. 2, 67, "for gel, and mer. ser, in the capture of Atlanta, Ga."; col. byt. mar. 2, 67, "for gel, and mer. ser, in the battle of Nashville, Tenn."; hon, disclipid, dec, 1, 70, paid to dec, 12, 70; pyt. sig. corps june 18, 72; 241, 12 inf. mar. 19, 73, acc. apr. 3, 73; 14t, june 28, 78;
- 219. SMITH, FREDERICK A., June 28, 78, 12th Infantry. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 69; 24t, 12 inf. june 13, 73; 14t, june 28, 78; regth. adj't nov. 17, 78.
- 220. HUSTON, 408EPH F., June 28, 78, 20th Infantry. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from M. A.]-Cadet july 1, 69; 24b, 20 inf. june 13, 73; 4 lt. june 28, 78.
- 221. ROACH, GEORGE H., June 28, 78, 17th Infantry. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from N. Y.]-Pyt, co. F. 26 Hl, vol. feb. 27, 64; *diseligit*, july 20, 65; 24t, 17 inf. oct. 1, 73, acc. oct. 14, 73; 14, june 28, 78.
- 222. WOOD, CHARLES E. S., June 28, 78, 21st Infantry. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 70; 2 lt, 21 inf. june 17, 74; 1 lt, june 28, 78.
- 223. JAMES, WILLIAM H. W., July 9, 78, 24th Infantry. [Born in Tenn.; apptd. from M. Λ.]— Cadet sept. 1, 68; 24t. 24 inf. june 14, 72; 14t. july 9, 78; (egth. adj) jan. 7, 79.
- 224. MILLS, FRANK H., Aug. 20, 78, 24th Infantry. [Born in Texas; apptd. from N.Y.]— 2 R. 24 inf. oct. 4, 73, acc. oct. 18, 73; 1 R. aug. 20, 78.
- 225. BORDEN, GEORGE P., Sept. 4, 78, 5th Infantry. [Born in Ind.; apptd. from Ind.]— Pvt. co. C, 121 N. Y. vol. july 23, 62; *dischad.* oct. 12, 63; 24t. 5 inf. oct. 1, 66, acc. oct. 17, 66; 14t. sept. 4, 78.
- 226. HATHAWAY, FORREST H., Sept. 4, 78, 5th Infantry. [Born in Vt.: apptd. from Vt.]— Pvt. co. 6, 16 Vt. vol. sept. 4, 62; disclad, aug. 10, 63; capt. 107 U. S. c. t. june 30, 64; maj. vol. bvt. jnly 25, 66, "for faith, ser," *must, out* feb. 20, 67, paid to feb. 24, 67; 2 lt. 41 inf. mar, 7, 67, nec. may 18, 67; 1 lt. bvt. mar, 7, 67, "for gal, and mer, ser, in the battle of Fair Oaks, Va., oct. 27, 64"; capt. bvt. mar, 7, 67, "for gal, and mer, ser, in the battle of Newmarket, Va."; trs. to 40 inf. nov. 27, 67; regth qm, dec. 24, 67, to apr. 20, 69; massl, apr. 20, 69; assd, to 5 inf. dec, 17, 69; regth, adj't jan, 31, 70, to june 10, 70; regtl, qm, june 10, 70; 1 lt. sept. 4, 78.
- 227. KINZIE, GEORGE H., Sept. 18, 78, 15th Infantry. [Born in III.; apptd. from III.]— Pet. co. D, 134–111, vol. may 10, 64; dischad. oct. 25, 64; 2/4, 15 inf. oct. 1, 73, acc. oct. 14, 73; 11; sept. 18, 78; regul. adjt nov. 1, 80.

- 228. ANDERSON, JOHN, Oct. 17, 78, 18th Infantry. [Born in Mass.; apptd. from Mass.]— Pvt. co. E, 1 Mich. sh. sh. jan. 5, 63; discloyd, feb. 12, 64; 2 lt, 57 Mass. vol. mar. 12, 64; disclind, jan. 21, 65; 14, vol. bvt, and capt, vol. bvt, mar. 13, 65, "for gal, and mer. ser, in the battles before Petersburg, Va."; 24t, vet, res, corps mar. 25, 65, acc, apr. 4, 65; *must*. out june 30, 66; 2 lt. 25 int. aug. 10, 67, acc. aug. 13, 67; trs. to 18 inf. apr. 26, 69; 1 lt. oct. 17, 78.
- 229. VON SCHRADER, FREDERICK, Nov. 17, 78, 12th Infantry. [Born in Hl.; apptd. from Mich.]-

2 lt. 12 inf. oct. 1, 73, acc. oct. 15, 73; 1 lt. nov. 17, 78.

- 230. WILLIAMS, WILLIAM M., Nov. 27, 78, 19th Infantry. [Born in Ohio; apptd from Ohio.]-Pvt. co. G, 45 Ohio vol. july 31, 62; qm. sergt 45 Ohio vol. dec. 1, 62; 24, 45 Ohio vol. june 12, 63; 14, apr. 2, 64; capt. fcb. 18, 65; maj. vol. bvt. mar. 13, 65; "for gal. and mer. ser, in the pursuit of the rehel guerrilla Morgan through Indiana and Ohio": must.out june 12, 65, paid to june 16, 65; 2 lt. 28 inf. nov. 13, 67, acc. nov. 18, 67; trs. to 19 inf. mar. 31, 69; 1 lt. nov. 27, 78.
- 231. READE, PHILIP, Dec. 8, 78, 3rd Infantry. [Born in Mass.; apptd. from Mass.]-Cadet july 1. 64; discugd. june 21, 67; 2 H. 3 inf. may 13, 67, acc. may 20, 67; 1 H. dec. 8, 78.
- 232. KANE, JOHN I., Dec. 23, 78, 24th Infantry. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from N. Y.]-2 lt. 24 inf. oct. 31, 74, acc. nov. 11, 74; 1 lt. dec. 23, 78; regtl. qm. may 6, 80.
- 233. MARSTELLER, JAMES S., Jan. 7, 79, 24th Infantry. [Born in Va.; apptd. from W. Va.]— 2 R. 24 inf. jan. 20, 75, acc. feb. 10, 75; 1 R. jan. 7, 79.
- 234. WOLFE, WILLIAM V., Mar. 4, 79, 2nd Infantry. [Born in Ky.; apptd. from Ky.]-1 lt. 15 Ky, vol. dec. 14, 61; must. out dec. 9, 62; 2 lt. 35 inf. mar. 7, 67, acc. apr. 27, 67; unassd. ang. 12, 69; assd. to 2 inf. apr. 29, 70; 1 lt. mar. 4, 79.
- 235. WHITALL, SAMUEL R., Mar. 4, 79, 16th Infantry. [Born in Mich.; apptd. from D. C.]-2 lt. 2 N. Y. art. may 5, 64; dischad. sept. 23, 64; 2 lt. 11 inf. mar. 7, 67, acc. apr. 10, 67; trs. to 16 inf. apr. 14, 69; 1 lt. mar. 4, 79.
- 236. WEBSTER, JOHN MCA., Mar. 4, 79, 22nd Infantry. [Born in Ohio; apptd. from M. A.]-2 lt. 197 Ohio vol. apr. 20, 65; must. out july 31, 65; cadet sept. 1, 65; 2 lt. 22 inf. june 12, 71; 1 lt. mar. 4, 79.
- 237. DAVIS, THOMAS F., Mar. 5, 79, 15th Infantry. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 71; 2 lt. 15 inf. june 16, 75; 1 lt. mar. 5, 79; regtl. adj't nov. 3, 79, to nov. 1, 80.
- 238. O'BRIEN, JOHN J., Mar. 16, 79, 4th Infantry. [Born in Ireland; apptd. from Army.]-Pvt. co. F, 4 art. sept. 1, 54; coupl. dec. 1, 55; sergt. sept. 1, 56; pvt. june 5, 57; dischad. sept. 1, 59; corpl. co. B, 1 N. Y. cav. july 19, 61; sergt. aug. 12, 61; its to co. K. cet. 31, 62; trs. to co. F, nov. 1, 62; 1 sergt. co. F, nov. 12, 62; discladat man. 31, 64; 2 H. 1 N. Y. cav. apr. 1, 64; capt. dec. 27, 64; must. out june 27, 65, paid to july 6, 65; pvt. co. F, 1 batt. 12 if the 90, 65; or each served is a served data 1, 65; 2 H. 30 if may 6, 67, are; may 15, 67; inf. july 29, 65; corpl. sept. 1, 65; sergt. dec. 1, 65; 2 lt. 30 inf. may 6, 67, acc. may 15, 67; trs. to 4 inf. mar. 23, 69 ; 1 lt. mar. 16, 79.
- 239. TODD, JOHN H., Mar. 20, 79, 18th Infantry. [Born in Ky.; apptd. from Ky.]— 2 lt. 18 inf. aug. 22, 67, acc. aug. 28, 67; 1 lt. mar. 20, 79.
- 240. CRANSTON, JAMES R., Mar. 20, 79, 10th Infantry. [Born in Mass.; apptd. from Mass.]— Corpl. co. E, 24 Mass. vol. sept. 9, 61; sergt. aug. 9, 62; capt. 119 U. S. e. t. aug. 31, 64; must. out apr. 27, 66, paid to apr. 30, 66; 2 lt. 10 int. aug. 24, 67, acc. sept. 12, 67; 1 lt. mar. 20, 79.
- 241. POPE, JAMES W., Mar. 20, 79, 5th Infantry. [Born in Ky.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet sept. 1, 64; 2 lt. 5 inf. june 15, 68; 1 lt. mar. 20, 79.
- 242. ROBINSON, HENRY E., Mar. 20, 79, 4th Infantry. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet sept. 1, 67; 2 lt. 4 inf. jnno 12, 71; 1 lt. mar. 20, 79.
- 243. GUARD, ALEXANDER McC., Mar. 20, 79, 19th Infantry. [Born in Ill.; apptd. from M. A.]-
 - Cadet july 1, 66; 2 lt. 19 inf. june 12, 71; 1 lt. mar. 20, 79.
- 244. WORDEN, CHARLES A., Mar. 20, 79, 7th Infantry. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from M. A.]-Cadet july 1, 67; 2 lt. 7 inf. june 14, 72; 1 lt. mar. 20, 79.
- 245. COWLES, CALVIN D., Mar. 20, 79, 23rd Infantry. [Born in N.C.; apptd. from M. Λ.]— Cadet july 1, 69; 2 lt. 23 inf. june 13, 73; 1 lt. mar. 20, 79.
- 246. ORD, JAMES C., Mar. 20, 79, 25th Infantry. [Born in Mich.; apptd. from Wyo.]-2 lt. 25 inf. oct. 1, 73, acc. oct. 15, 73; 1 lt. mar. 20, 79.
- 247. WOTHERSPOON, WILLIAM W., Mar. 20, 79, 12th Infantry. [Born in D. C.; apptd. from D.C.]-2 lt. 12 inf. oet. 1, 73, acc. oct. 10, 73; 1 lt. mar. 20, 79; regtl. qm. july 1, 79.

- 248. CRANE, CHARLES J., Mar. 20, 79, 24th Infantry. [Born in Miss.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet sept. 1, 72; 2 lt. 24 inf. june 15, 77; 1 lt. mar. 20, 79.
- 249. SCOTT, WALTER S., Mar. 22, 79, 25th Infantry. [Born in Ark.; apptd. from Cal.]-2 It. 25 inf. oct. 31, 74, acc. nov. 16, 74; 4 It. mar. 22, 79.
- 250. BRENNAN, JAMES, M.r. 22, 79, 17th Infantry. [Born in Englid: appth from Army.] Pvt. co. K, 7 N. Y. h. art. jan. i4, 64; trs. to 138 co. 2 britt, vet, res. corps apr. 17, 65; dischad, ang. 9, 65; hosp. stwd. U. S. A. dec. 31, 66; dischad, dec. 31, 64; hosp. stwd. dec. 31, 69; dischad, dec. 31, 74; hosp. stwd, jan. 2, 75; 24, 17 inf. jan. 20, 75, acc. feb. 6, 75; 1 R. mar. 22, 79.
- 252. STEMBEL, JAMES MCB., Mar. 27, 79, 9th Infantry. [Born in Ohio: apptd. from N. Y.]-2 R. 27 inf. oct. 19, 67, acc. oct. 22, 67; trs. to 9 inf. june 14, 69; 14t. mar. 27, 79.
- 253. WARING, JOHN K., Apr. 27, 79, 2nd Infantry. (Born in N. Y.): apptd. from N. Y.]-2 R. 2 inf. may 8, 67, acc. may 11, 67; 14t, apr. 27, 79.
- 254. EDMUNDS, FRANK H., May 6, 79, 1st Infantry. [Born in Mich.; apptd. f.om M A.]-Codet july 1, 66; 240, 1 inf. june 12, 74; 44t. may 6, 79.
- 255. HOYT, RALPH W., June 7, 79, 11th Infantry. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from Μ. Α.]— Cadet sept. 1, 68; 24t. 11 inf. june 14, 72; regtl. qm. june 7, 79; 14t june 7, 79.
- 256. KINZIE, JOHN, June 7, 79, 2nd Infantry. [Born in Kans.; apptd. from III.]— 2 lt. 2 inf. july 27, 72, acc. aug. 1, 72; 1 lt. june 7, 79.
- 257. GARDENER, CORNELIUS, June 49, 79, 19th Infantry. [Born in Neth'd; apptd. from M.A.]—
 - Cadet júly 1, 69; 2 lt. 19 inf. june 13, 73; 1 lt. june 19, 79.
- 258. WYATT, WALTER S., June 22, 79, 9th Infantry. [Born in Ohio: appt]. from M. A.]— Pyt. co. L, 4 N. V. h. art. sept. 21, 64; *dischaft*, june 5, 65; cadet july 1, 67; 24t, 3 cav, june 12, 71; frs. to 9 inf. may 8, 72; 141, june 22, 79.
- 259. NORRIS, WILLIAM F., June 22, 79, 9th Infinitry. (Born in Me.; appt l. from M. Δ.]— Cadet july 1, 68; 24t, 9 inf. june 14, 72; 44t, june 22, 79.
- 260. KELL, WILLIAM H., June 25, 79, 22nd Infantry. [Born in Ohio; appfd. from Ohio.]— Pvt. co. F. 1 Ohio vol. apr. 17, 61; dischoft aug. 16, 61; pvt. co. I, 2 Ohio vol. sept. 15, 62; tas. to co. E, 18 Ohio vol. nov. 10, 61; dischoft june 10, 65; 2 H, 22 inf. dec. 12, 72, acc. jan. 20, 73; 1 H. june 25, 79.
- 261. FLETCHER, EDMUND L., June 30, 79, 13th Infantry. [Born in N.Y.; apptd. from Arm c.]— Pvt. co. E, 45 inf. aug. 2, 72; 2 lt. 13 inf. jan. 9, 73, acc. mar. 11, 73; 1 lt. june 30, 79.
- 262. SHELBY, ISAAC O., July 1, 79, 16th Infantry. [Born in Ind.; apptd. from 111.]— Pvt. co. B, 25 Iowa vol. aug. 21, 62; *discleptl.* may 31, 65; 24t. 34 inf. july 25, 67, acc. july 31, 67; trs. to 16 inf. apr. 14, 69; 14t. july 1, 79.
- 263. FLOYD, DANIEL H., July 4, 79, 18th Infantry. [Born in Md.: apptd. from M. Α.]— Cadet july 1, 66; 24t. 9 cav. june 15, 70; trs. to 48 inf. sept 48, 75; 44t. july 4, 79.
- 264. REED, HUGH T., July 4, 79, 1st Infantry. [Born in Ind.; apptd. from M. Λ.]— Cadet july 1, 69; 247, 1 inf. june 13, 73; 444, july 4, 79.
- 265. LYNCH, EDWARD, July 4, 79, 8th Infantry. [Born in Ireland: apptd. from Army.]— Pvt. band 3 inf. july 21, 58; sergt. maj. 3 inf. oct. 1, 62; *discley l.* oct. 11, 63; 24t. vet. res. corps dec. 14, 63, acc. dec. 30, 63; *must. out* june 30, 66; sergt. co. F, 3 bitt. 16 inf. ang. 3, 66; trs. to 34 inf. sept. 21, 66; sergt. maj. 34 inf. dec. 1, 66; 24t. 33 inf. july 9, 68, acc. ang. 4, 68; trs. to 8 inf. may 3, 69; 14t. july 4, 79.
- 266. GORE, J. MOREHEAD, July 4, 79, 22nd Infantry. (Born in Mich.; apptd. from Ky.)-2 lt. 22 inf. jan. 6, 73, acc. feb. 18, 73; 1 lt. july 4, 79.
- 267. WOODRUFF, THOMAS M., July 5, 79, 5th Infantry. [Born in N.Y.; apptd. from M.A.]— Cadet sept. 1, 67; 24t. 5 inf. june 12, 74; 14t. july 5, 79.
- 268. HOLMES, SAMUEL N., July 24, 79, 13th Infantry. [Born in Pa.; app1d. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 69: 2 lt. 13 inf. june 13, 73; 1 lt. july 24, 79.
- 269. WITTICH, WILLIS, Aug. 7, 79, 21st Infantry. [Born in Ohio: apptd. from M.A.]— Cadet july 1, 70: 24t, 21 inf. june 17, 74; 14t, aug. 7, 79.
- 270. MAUS, MARION P., Sept. 29, 79, 1st Infantry. [Born in Md.; apptd. from M. Λ.]-Cadet sept. 1, 70; 2 lt. 1 inf. jnne 17, 74; 4 lt. sept. 29, 79.
- 271. GERLACH, WILLIAM, Oct. 8, 79, 3rd Infantry. [Born in Germ'y; apptd. from Armv.]-Pyt. co. H, 4 art, feb. 26, 56; dischod. dec. 26, 69; pvt. co. H, 4 art. dec. 26, 60; hosp. stwd. U. S. A. ang. 29, 61; dischod. july 19, 64; hosp. stwd. U. S. A. july 19, 64; 24L, 37 inf. may 22, 67, acc. june 15, 67; trs. to 3 inf. ang. 11, 69; 141, oct. 8, 79.

- 272. COOKE, GEORGE F., Nov. 3, 79, 15th Infantry. [Born in Ohio: apptd. from Ohio.]— 2 lt. 15 inf. oct. 15, 75, acc. oct. 23, 75; 1 lt. nov. 3, 79.
- 273. WILLIAMS, CHARLES A., Nov. 11, 79, 21st Infantry. [Born in Va.; appld. from M. A.]-Cadet sept. 1, 70; 2 lt. 21 inf. june 17, 74; 1 lt. nov. 11, 79.
- 274. BAILEY, HOBART K., Nov. 17, 79, 5th Infantry. [Born in Ind.; apptd. from Miss.]— 2 lt. 5 inf, july 27, 72, acc. july 31, 72; 1 lt. nov. 17, 79.
- 275. TAYLOR, ALEXANDER H. M., Nov. 24, 79, 19th Infantry. [Born in Englid: apptd. from N. V.]_
 - Pvt, co. B, 83 N, Y, vol. nov. 30, 61; sergf, gen. ser. sept. 10, 62; dischgd, apr. 30, 63; 2 R. 17 inf. mar. 16, 66, acc. apr. 25–66; 1 lt. sept. 1, 67; hon. dischgd. dec. 1, 70; hosp. stwd. U. S. A. may 24, 72; 2 lt. 19 inf. oct. 1, 73, acc. oct. 15, 73; 1 lt. nov. 24, 79.
- 276. JACOB, RICHARD T., JR., Nov. 30, 79, 6th Infantry. [Born in Ky.; apptd. from Ky.]-2 lt. 6 inf. oct. 1, 67, acc. oct. 12, 67 ; 1 lt. nov. 30, 79.
- 277. BOWEN, WILLIAM H. C., Nov. 30, 79, 5th Infantry. [Born in N.M.; apptd. from Me.]-2 It. 5 inf. oct. 15, 75, acc. nov. 6, 75; 1 lt. nov. 30, 79.
- 278. BACON, GEORGE E., Dec. 7, 79, 16th Infantry. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 67; 2 lt. 16 inf. june 12, 71; 1 lt. dec. 7, 79.
- 279. CASEY, EDWARD W., Jan. 11, 80, 22nd Infantry. [Born in Cal.; apptd. from M.A.]— Cadet july 1, 69; 2 lt. 22 inf. june 13, 73; 1 lt. jan. 11, 80.
- 280. WOODBURY, THOMAS C., Mar. 9, 80, 16th Infantry. [Born in Ky.; apptd. from M. A.]-Cadet july 1, 68; 2 lt. 16 inf. june 14, 72; 1 lt. mar. 9, 80.
- 281. WILHELMI, LOUIS. Mar. 16, 80, 1st Infantry. [Born in Prussia; apptd. from Pa.]-2 lt. 1 inf. oct. 15, 75, acc. oct. 21, 75; regtl. adj't mar. 16, 80; 1 lt. mar. 16, 80.
- 282. THOMPSON, RICHARD E., Mar. 30, 80, 6th Infantry. [Born in Me.; apptd. from M. A.]-Cadet july 1, 64; 2 lt. 6 inf. june 15, 68; 1 lt. mar. 30, 80; regtl. adj't mar. 30, 80.
- 283. MERRIAM, LEWIS, Apr. 27, 80, 4th Infantry. [Born in Me.; apptd. from Me.]— Sergt. co. II, 20 Me. vol. aug. 5, 62; 2 lt. 61 U. S. e. t. may 29, 65; must. out dec. 30, 65; 2 H. 65 U. S. e. f. feb. 20, 66; I lt. june 1, 66; must. out jan. 8, 67, paid to jan. 18, 67; 2 lt. 4 inf. july 27, 72, ace. aug. 15, 72; 1 lt. apr. 27, 80.
- 284. REYNOLDS, ALFRED, June 1, 80, 20th Infantry. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from M.A.]-Cadet sept. 1, 70; 2 lt. 20 inf. june 17, 74; 1 lt. june 1, 80.
- 285. HODGES, CHARLES L., June 1, 80, 25th Infantry. [Born in R. I.; apptd. from Army.]-Pvt. co. D. 18 inf. nov. 17, 69; corpl. ang 15, 70; sergt. ang. 18, 70; 1 sergt. ang. 20, 70; sergt. maj. 18 inf. nov. 1, 71; dischgd. nov. 17, 74; pvt. gen. ser. nov. 17, 74; corpl. nov. 24, 74; 2 lt. 25 inf. jan. 20, 75, acc. feb. 13, 75; 1 lt. june 1, 80.
- 286. AUGUR, AMMON A., June 18, 80, 24th Infantry. [Born in Mich.; apptd. from M. A.]-Cadet july 1, 73; 2 lt. 24 inf. june 15, 77; 1 lt. june 18, 80.
- 287. ALLEN, LEVEN C., July 1, 80, 16th Infantry. [Born in Mo.; apptd. from M. Λ.]-Cadet july 1, 68; 2 lt. 16 inf. june 14, 72; 1 lt. july 1, 80.
- 288. MOTT, WALLACE, July 26, 80, 8th Infantry. [Dorn in N.Y.; apptd. from M.A.]-Cadet july 1, 67; 2 lt. 8 inf. june 12, 71; 1 lt. july 26, 80.
- 289. ELTONHEAD, FRANCISE., Aug. 15, 80, 21st Infantry. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 71; 2 lt. 21 inf. june 16, 75; 1 lt. aug. 15, 80.
- 290. CHUBB, CHARLES ST. J., Sept.11, 80, 17th Infantry. [Born in D. C.; apptd. from Army.]-Pvt. gen. ser. oct. 6, 73; 2 lt. 17 inf. jan. 20, 75, acc. feb. 6, 75; 1 lt. sept. 11, 80.
- TOWNSEND, THOMAS G., Dec. 15, 80, 6th Infantry. [Born in D. C.; apptd. from M. A.]-Cadet july 1, 66; 2 lt. 6 inf. june 12, 71; 1 lt. dec. 15, 80.
 WALKER, GEORGE B., Dec. 15, 89, 6th Infantry. [Born in Ind.; apptd. from M. A.]-
- Cadet july 1, 68; 2 lt. 6 inf. june 14, 72; 1 lt. dec. 15, 80. 293. ALLEN, WILLIAM, Dec. 15, 80,12th Infantry. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Army.]—
- Pyt. co. F, 29 Pa. vol. ang. 15, 64; *dischgd.* june 7, 65; pyt. co. G. 2 batt 14 int. aug. 3, 65; trs. to 23 inf. sept. 21, 66; eerpl. nov. 1, 66; 1 sergt. nov. 11, 67; *dischgd.* aug. 3, 68; pyt. co. I, 23 inf. feb. 26, 70; corpl. june 20, 70; sergt. nov. 8, 70; 1 sergt. dec. 7, 71; com. sergt. U. S. A. june 26, 73; 2 lt. 12 inf. eet. 1, 73, acc. dec. 16, 73; 1 lt. dec. 15, 80.
- [ARY, WILLIAM L., Dec. 16, 80, 12th Infantry. [Born in Cal.; apptd. from M. A.]--Mus. band 28 Pa. vol. july 17, 61; *dischad.* sept. 9, 62; cadet sept. 1, 70; 2 lt. 12 mt. june 294. GEARY, 74; regtl. adj't feb. 20, 75, to nov. 17, 78; 1 if. dec. 16, 80.

- 297. LANE, JAMES H., Dec. 31, 80, 25th Infantry. [Born in Ind.; apptd. from Kans.]-2 lt. 25 inf. oct. 15, 75, acc. oct. 23, 75; 1 lt. dec. 31, 80.

Second Lieutenants.

- CLARK, EDWIN R., May 16, 67, 10th Infantry. [Born in N. H.: apptd. from Mass.]— Capt. 30 Mass. vol. may 28, 62: must. out apr. 25, 65; capt. 30 Mass. vol. may 3, 65; must. out july 5, 66, paid to july 9, 66; 2/1t. 26 inf. may 16, 67, acc. may 30, 67; trs. to 10 inf. may 19, 69; out of sec. july 12, 76; 2/lt. 10 inf. june 12, 79, with rank from may 16, 67 [act mar. 1, 79], acc. june 28, 79.
- 2. WHEELER, WILLIAM B., June 12, 71, 18th Infantry. [Born in N.Y.; apptd. from M.A.]-Cadet july 1, 67; 2 lt. 18 inf. june 12, 71.
- ROE, FAYETTE W., June 12, 71, 3rd Infantry. [Born in Va.; appid. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 67; 24t, 24 inf. june 12, 71; trs. to 3 inf. aug. 4, 71.
- 4. COOKE, LORENZO W., Oct. 13, 71, 3rd Infantry. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from Kans.]— Pvt. co. II, 27 Wis, vol. july 26, 62; corpl. oct. 22, 62; trs. to pvt. co. E, 1 batt, 13 U. S. inf. dec. II, 62; dischedt. dec. 11, 65; pvt. gen. ser. dec. 13, 65; 21t. 3 inf. sept. 21, 66, acc. oct. 1, 66; 1 lt. sept. 17, 68; hon. neust. out jan. 1, 71; 24t. 3 inf. oct. 13, 71, acc. oct. 16, 71.
- 5. PITCHER, WILLIAM L., Dec. 18, 71, 8th Infantry, [Born in Texas; apptd. from D.C.]-2 It. 10 cav. dec. 18, 71, acc. jan. 26, 72; trs. to 8 inf. june 13, 72.
- C. YEATMAN, RICHARD T., June 14, 72, 14th Infantry. [Born in Ohio; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 68; 2 lt. 14 inf. june 14, 72.
- HENRY, ADDIS M., June 14, 72, 3rd Infantry. [Born in Ohio; appid. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 68; 24t, 3 inf. june 14, 72.
- MCFARLAND, WILLIAM C., June 14, 72, 16th Infantry. [Born in Ohio; apptd. from M.A.]— Cadet july 1, 68: 24t, 16 inf. june 14, 72.
- 9. PATTERSON, GEORGE T. T., June 14, 72, 14th Infantry. [Born in Ohio; apptd. from M. A.]--Pyt, 22 md. batty, Ohio I. art. july 6, 63; dischad. july 13, 65; cadet july 1, 68; 2 lt. 14 inf.
- june 14, 72; regtl. qm. apr. 23, 79. 10. BROWN, GEORGE LE R., June 14, 72, 11th Infantry. [Born in Mich.; apptd. from M. A.]-
- Cadet july 1, 68: 2 lt. 11 inf. june 14, 72.
- 11. GURLEY, CHARLES L., July 27, 72, 6th Infantry. [Born in Ind.; apptd. from D. T.]-2 lt. 6 inf. july 27, 72, acc. aug. 15, 72.
- 12. LOVELL, ROBERT A., July 27, 72, 14th Infantry. [Born in Kans.; apptd. from Ky.]-2 It. 14 inf. july 27, 72, acc. aug. 2, 72.
- 13. BALDWIN, JOHN A., July 27, 72, 9th Infantry. [Born in Iowa; apptd. from N. Y.]-2 lt. 9 inf. july 27, 72, acc. aug. 1, 72.
- CUSHMAN, EUGENE, Dec. 17, 72, 16th Infantry. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Pa.]-2 It. 16 inf. dec. 17, 72, acc. jan. 14, 73.
- PESHINE, JOHN H. H., Oct. 1, 73, 13th Infantry. [Born in N. J.; apptd. from N. J.]-24t, 31 U. S. e. f. dec. 14, 64; must. out nov. 7, 65, paid to nov. 30, 65; 24t, 13 inf. oct. 1, 73, acc. oct. 13, 73.
- 16. WARWICK, OLIVER B., Oct. 1, 73, 18th Infantry. [Born in Ala.; apptd. from Ala.]-2 lt. 18 inf. oct. 1, 73, acc. ocf. 15, 73.
- 17. KISLINGBURY, FREDERICK F., Oct. 1, 73, 11th Infantry. [Born in Engl'd; apptd. from Mich.] Pvt. co. E, 54 N. Y. s. m. july 26, 64; dischad. nov. 10, 64; pvt. co. D. 4 inf. june 3, 65; dischold, june 3, 68; pvt. co. K. 4 inf. july 3, 68; trs. to gen. ser. jan. 4, 69; dischold, june 9, 69; pvt. gen. ser. feb. 2, 70; corpl. ang. 1, 70; sergf. ang. 1, 72; dischold, feb. 1, 73; 2 lt.
- 11 inf. oct. 1, 73, acc. oct. 14, 73. 18. HEYL, CHARLES H., Oct. 1, 73, 23rd Infantry. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from N.J.]-
- 2 lt. 23 inf. oct. 1, 73, acc. oct. 13, 73.
- THIES, FREDERICK, Oct. 1, 73, 3rd Infantry. [Born in Germ'y: apptd. from Army.]— Pvt. 19 inf. anassd. mar. 12, 66; corpl. may 1, 66; sergt. june 7, 66; trs. to co. C, 37 inf. sept. 21, 66; pvt. jan. 13, 67; sergt. jan. 16, 67; 1 sergt. feb. 7, 67; sergt. maj. 37 inf. dec. 1, 68; dischold, mar. 12, 69; sergt. maj. 37 inf. mar. 12, 69; dischold, dec. 30, 69; pvt. gen. ser. jan. 12, 70; dischold, june 8, 70; pvt. co. M, 7 cav. july 7, 70; corpl. aug. 8, 70; 1 sergt. nov. 1, 70; 2 lt. 3 inf. oct. 1, 73, acc. oct. 27, 73.
- 20. LASSITER, WILLIAM, Oct. 1, 73, 16th Infantry. [Born in N.C.; apptd. from N.C.]-Cadet sept. 1, 68; dischad. jnly 19, 71; 2 lt. 16 inf. oct. 1, 73, acc. oct. 14, 73.
- LOCKWOOD, JAMES B., Oct. 1, 73, 23rd Infantry. [Born in Md.; apptd. from Md.]-2 lt. 23 inf. oct. 1, 73, acc. oct. 11, 73.
- 22. PAULDING, WILLIAM, Oct. 1, 73, 10th Infantry. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from N. Y.]-2 lt. 10 inf. oct. 1, 73, acc. dec. 24, 73.

.

Second Lieutenants-Continued.

23.	READ, GEORGE B., Oct. 1, 73, 19th Infantry. [Born in Ind. T.; apptd. from Md.]- 2 lt, 19 inf. oct. 1, 73, acc. oct. 20, 73.
24.	TURNER, WILLIAM J., Oct. 1, 73, 2nd Infantry. [Born in R. I.; apptd. from Pa.]— Pvt. co. H, 5 cav. oct. 3, 70; dischgd. jnne 26, 71; 2 lt. 2 inf. oct. 1, 73, acc. oct. 22, 73.
25.	ROBERTSON, EDGAR B., June 17, 74, 9th Infantry. [Born in Mass.; apptd. from M. A.]-Cadet july 1, 70; 2 lt. 9 inf. june 17, 74.
26.	WEBSTER, EDMUND K., June 17, 74, 2nd Infantry. [Born in La.; apptd. from M. A.]-Cadet sept. 1, 70; 2 lt. 2 inf. june 17, 74.
27.	CEC1L, GEORGE R., June 17, 74, 13th Infantry. [Born in Va.; apptd. from M. A.]- Cadet sept. 1, 70; 2 lt. 13 inf. june 17, 74.
	CABANISS, CHARLES H., JR., June 17, 74, 18th Infantry. [Born in Va.; apptd. from M.A.]— Cadet july 1, 70; 2 lt. 18 inf. june 17, 74.
29.	ROWELL, CHARLES W., June 17, 74, 2nd Infantry. [Boru in N. Y.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 70; 2 lt. 2 inf. june 17, 74; regtl. adj't may 14, 78.
	TURNER, GEORGE L., June 17, 74, 18th Infantry. [Born in Me.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 70; 2 lt. 18 inf. june 17, 74.
31.	DAVIES, WILLIAM S., June 17, 74, 13th Infantry. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 70; 2 lt. 13 inf. june 17, 74.
	HEWITT, CHRISTIAN C., June 17, 74, 19th Infantry. [Born in Va.; apptd. from M. A.]- Cadet july 1, 70; 2 lt. 19 inf. june 17, 74.
	HARDIN, EDWARD E, June 17, 74, 7th Infantry. [Born in Ky.; apptd. from M. Λ.]— Cadet july 1, 70; 2 lt. 7 inf. june 17, 74.
	TYLER, CHARLES R., June 17, 74, 16th Infantry. [Born in Ky.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 70; 2 lt. 16 inf. june 17, 74.
	LLOYD, CHARLES F., June 17, 74, 14th Infantry. [Born in Sweden; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet sept. 1, 70; 2 lt. 14 inf. june 17, 74.
	WHEELER, WILLIAM H., June 17, 74, 11th Infantry. [Born in Ohio; apptd. from M. A.] Cadet sept. 1, 70; 2 lt. 11 inf. june 17, 74.
	WILLIAMS, ARTHUR, Oct. 31, 74, 3rd Infantry. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Ky.]— 2 lt. 3 inf. oct. 31, 74, acc. nov. 9, 74.
	MASON, CHARLES W., Jan. 20, 75, 4th Infantry. [Born in Cal.; apptd. from Ohio.]— 2 lt. 13 inf. jan. 20, 75, acc. feb. 8, 75; trs. to 4 inf. feb. 15, 75.
	YOUNG, GEORGE S., Jan. 20, 75. 7th Infantry. [Born in Va.; apptd. from W. Va.] 2 lt. 7 inf. jan. 20, 75, acc. feb. 8, 75.
40.	CALHOUN, FREDERIC S., Mar. 10, 75, 14th Infantry. [Born in Ohio; apptd. from D. T.]— Pvt. co. B, 137 Ohio vol. may 12, 64; dischgd. aug. 19, 64; 2 lt. 14 inf. mar. 10, 75, acc. apr. 2, 75.
41.	. MANN, WILLIAM A., June 16, 75, 17th Infantry. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet aug. 1, 71; 2 k. 17 inf. june 16, 75.
42	SMITH. GEORGE R., June 16, 75, 12th Infantry. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from M. A.] Cadet july 1, 70; 2 lt. 12 inf. june 16, 75.
43	GI'STIN, JOSEPH H., June 16, 75, 14th Infantry. [Born in Ohio; apptd. from M. Δ.]— Cadet sept. 1, 71; 2 lt. 14 inf. june 16, 75.
44	GOE, JAMES B., June 16, 75, 13th Infantry. [Born in Ohio; apptd. from M. Δ.]— Cadet july 1, 71; 2 lt. 13 inf. june 16, 75.
	. BALLANCE, JOHN G., June 16, 75, 22nd Infantry. [Born in Ill.; appfd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 71; 2 lt. 16 inf. june 16, 75; trs. to 22 inf. july 1, 75.
46	. BOLTON, EDWIN B., June 16, 75, 23rd Infantry. [Born in Miss.; apptd. from M. A.]
47	. WAGNER, ARTHUR L., June 16, 75, 6th Infantry. [Born in Ill.; apptd. from M. Δ.]— Cadet july 1, 70; 2 lt. 6 inf. june 16, 75.
	. MCCALEB, THOMAS S., June 16, 75, 9th Infantry. [Born in Va.; apptd. from M. A.]
49	EVANS, ROBERT K., June 16, 75, 12th Infantry. [Born in Miss.; apptd. from M. A.] Cadet july 1, 71; 2 lt. 12 inf. june 16, 75.

- JOHNSON, HENRY, JR., Oct. 15, 75, 8th Infantry. [Born in Del.; apptd. from Cal.]-2 lt. 8 inf. oct. 15, 75, acc. oct. 27, 75.
- BYRNE, BERNARD A., Oct. 15, 75, 6th Infantry. [Born in Ky.; apptd. from D. C.]-2 lt. 6 inf. oct. 15, 75, acc. oct. 20, 75.

Second Lievtenants-Continued.

- 52. SEYBURN, STEPHEN Y., Oct. 15, 75, 10th Infantry. [Born in Me.; apptd. from La.]— 2 R. 10 inf. oct. 15, 75, acc. oct. 26, 75.
- 53. NICKERSON, JAMES D., Oct. 15, 75, 17th Infantry. [Born in III.; app'd. from Army.] Pet. co. 11, 141–111, vol. may 20, 64; disselpt oct 10, 64; pet. co. 11, 94th cav. mar. 20, 65; disselpt oct 11, 15, pet. co. A, 10 inf. sept. 13, 67; rrs. to gen. ser. dec. 1, 65; corpl. apr. 1, 69; disselpt sept. 13, 70; corpl. gen. ser. sept. 13, 70; pvt. july 20, 75; disselpt sept. 13, 75; pvt. gen. ser. sept. 13, 75; trs. to co. D, 1 inf. sept. 14, 75; trs. to gen. ser. sept. 15, 75; 2 lt. 17 inf. oct. 15, 75, acc. oct. 23, 75.
- TILTON, PALMER, Oct. 15, 75, 20th Infantry. [Born in Mass.: apptd. from Mass.]-2 lt, 20 inf. oct. 15, 75, acc. oct. 19, 75.
- JOHNSON, ALFRED B., Oct. 15, 75, 7th Infantry. [Born in Texas: apptd. from Minn.]-2 lt.7 inf. oct. 15, 75, acc. oct. 23, 75.
- 56. LOUGHBOROUGH, ROBERT H. R., Oct. 15, 75, 25th Infantry. [Born in Va.: apptd. from Va.]-
 - 2 lt. 25 inf. oct. 15, 75, ace. oct. 20, 75.
- 57. PATTEN, WILLIAM S., Oct. 15, 75, 18th Infantry. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from N. Y.] 2 R. 18 inf. oct. 15, 75, acc. oct. 20, 75.
- EARLE, RICHARD T., Nov. 5, 75, 2nd Infantry. [Born in Md.: apptd. from D. C.] = 24t, 2 inf. nov. 5, 75, acc. nov. 9, 75.
- CLAGETT, J. ROZIER, Nov. 29, 75, 23rd Infantry. [Born in D.C.; apptd. from D.C.]-24t, 25 inf. nov. 29, 75, acc. dec. 7, 75.
- STEEDMAN, RICHARD R., Feb. 1, 76, 16th Infantry. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Mass.]-24t, 16 inf. feb. 1, 76, acc. feb. 19, 76.
- WOODBRIDGE, FRANCIS, Feb. 1, 76, 7th Infantry. [Born in Mich.; apptd. from Pa.]— Pet. gen. ser. may 11, 69; dischoid, may 11, 74; pvt. gen. ser. may 11, 74; dischoid, july 1, 74; 21, 7 inf. feb. 1, 76, acc. feb. 19, 76.
- 62. MULHALL, STEPHEN J., Feb. 29, 76, 14th Infantry. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from Army.] Pvt. 4 art. june 26, 62; 3d class mus. 4 art. nov. 1, 62; *disclopd.* june 25, 65; pvt. and mus. co. I, 42 inf. july 20, 67; trs. to 6 inf. apr. 22, 69; *disclopd.* july 23, 69; pvt. gen. ser. july 7, 75; 24t. 14 inf. feb. 29, 76, acc. mar. 18, 76.
- 63. INGALLS, CHARLES H., Feb. 29, 76, 6th Infantry. [Bern in Me.; apptd. from Me.]-2 lt, 6 inf, feb. 29, 76, acc. mar. 21, 76.
- MITCHELL, DAVID D., Feb. 29, 76, 15th Infantry. [Born in Mo.; apptd. from Mo.]— 2 lt. 15 inf. feb. 29, 76, acc. mar. 17, 76.
- LOVERING, LEONARD A., June 15, 76, 4th Infantry. [Born in Vt.: apptd. from M. Δ.]— Cadet sept. 1, 72; 2 lf. 4 inf. june 15, 76.
- DOUGLAS, SAMUEL R., June 15, 76, 7th Infantry. [Born in Scotl'd ; apptd. from M. A.]-Cadet sept. 1, 72; 2 ht. 7 inf. june 15, 76.
- FOSTER, HERBERT S., June 15, 76, 20th Infantry. [Born in Vt.: apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 72; 24t, 20 inf. june 15, 76.
- LONG, OSCAR F., June 15, 76, 5th Infinitry. [Born in N. Y.: apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 72; 24t. 5 inf. june 15, 76.
- BONESTEEL, CHARLES H., June 15, 76, 21st Infantry. [Born in Conu.; apptd. from M.A.]— Cadet july 1, 72; 24t, 21 inf. june 45, 76.
- 70. HOWLAND, CARVER, June 15, 76, 4th Infantry. [Born in R. I.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 72; 24t. 4 inf. june 15, 76.
- FARROW, EDWARD S., June 15, 76, 21st Infantry. [Born in Md.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet sept. 1, 72; 2 lt. 21 inf. june 15, 76.
- BUTTLER, WILLIAM C., June 15, 76, 3rd Infantry. [Born in N. J. ; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 72 ; 24, 3 inf. june 15, 76.
- HALL, CHARLES S., June 15, 76, 13th Infantry. [Born in Ind.: apptd. from M. A.]-Cadet july 1, 72; 24t. 13 inf. june 15, 76.
- 74. BAILEY, HARRY L., June 15, 76, 21st Infantry. [Born in Ohio; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet sept. 1, 72; 2 lt. 21 inf. june 15, 76.
- ANDREWS, GEORGE, June 15, 76, 25th Infantry. [Born in R. I.: apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 72; 24t. 25 inf. june 15, 76.
- 76. GARST, CHARLES E., June 15, 76, 15th Infantry. [Born in Ohio: apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 72; 2 lt. 15 inf. june 15, 76.
- PAGUE, SAMUEL S., June 15, 76, 15th Infantry. [Born in Ohio: apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 72; 2 lt. 15 inf. june 15, 76.

- HUTTON, JAMES A., June 15, 76, 8th Infantry. [Born in Cal.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet sept. 1, 72; 24t. 8 inf. june 15, 76.
- PALMER, GEORGE, June 15, 76, 9th Infantry. [Born in Wis.; apptd. from M. Λ.]— Cadet july 1, 72; 2 lt. 24 inf. june 15, 76; trs. to 9 inf. july 28, 76.
- SHARPE, ALFRED C., June 21, 76, 22nd Infantry. [Born in Ohio; apptd. from Iowa.]— Cadet july 1, 72; *resgd.* june 29, 75; 24, 10 cav. june 21, 76, acc. july 26, 76; trs. to 22 inf. july 28, 76.
- 81. ECKERSON, THEODORE H., Aug. 15, 76, 19th Infantry. [Born in Oreg.; apptd. from M. A.]-
 - Cadet july 1, 70; 2 lt. 6 inf. june 17, 74; resgd. sept. 15, 75, paid to oct. 3, 75; 2 lt. 19 inf. aug. 15, 76, acc. aug. 27, 76.
- FEBIGER, LEA, Aug. 15, 76, 23rd Infantry. [Born in Ohio; apptd. from At Uge.] 2 ht. 23 inf. aug. 15, 76, acc. aug. 19, 76.
- GOODWIN, WILLIAM P., Aug. 15, 76, 14th Infantry. [Born in Ill.; apptd. from Ohio.]— 2 lt. 14 inf. aug. 15, 76, acc. aug. 21, 76.
- DENT, JOHN C., Aug. 15, 76, 20th Infantry. [Born in Oreg.; apptd. from At Fgc.] = 2 lt. 20 inf. aug. 15, 76, acc. aug. 22, 76.
- KIMBALL, WILLIAM A., Aug. 31, 76, 14th Infantry. [Born in Ind.; apptd. from Utah.]— 2 ht. 14 inf. aug. 31, 76, acc. sept. 6, 76.
- 86. HOWARD, GUY, Aug. 31, 76, 12th Infantry. [Born in Me.; apptd. from At Fge.] + 2 lt. 12 inf. aug. 31, 76, acc. sept. 11, 76.
- ELDRIDGE, BOGARDUS, Aug. 31, 76, 10th Infantry. [Born in Ala.; apptd. from Mass.]-2 ht. 10 inf. aug. 31, 76, acc. sept. 12, 76.
- DYER, S. ALLEN, Aug. 31, 76, 23rd Infantry. [Born in Ark.; apptd. from D. C.]-2 lt. 23 inf. aug. 31, 76, acc. aug. 31, 76.
- SHARP, F. DENT, Dec. 14, 76, 20th Infantry. [Born in Mo.; apptd. from D. C.]-2 lt. 20 inf. dec. 14, 76, acc. jan. 1, 77.
- CRITTENDEN, JOHN J., Dec. 14, 76, 22nd Infantry. [Born in Ky.; apptd. from Ky.]-2 lt. 22 inf. dec. 14, 76, acc. jan. 1, 77.
- VAN VLIET, ROBERT C., Dec. 14, 76, 10th Infantry. [Born in Kans.; apptd. from N. J.]-2 lt. 10 inf. dec. 14, 76, acc. dec. 30, 76.
- MUILLENBERG, WILLIAM C., Dec. 14, 76, 2nd Infantry. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Pa.]---2 lt. 2 inf. dec. 14, 76, acc. jan. 1, 77.
- BYRNE, CHARLES, Jan. 9, 77, 6th Infantry. [Born in Wash. T.; apptd. from Texas.]— 2 lt. 6 inf. jan. 9, 77, acc. jan. 18, 77.
- 94. THOMPSON, CHARLES B., Jan. 9, 77, 5th Infantry. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Pa.]-2 lt. 5 inf. jan. 9, 77, acc. jan. 20, 77.
- 95. MACKLIN, JAMES E., Jan, 12, 77, 11th Infantry. [Born in N.Y.; apptd. from Ind.]— Pvt. co. B, 16 Ind. vol. apr. 22, 61; corpl. — — , — ; *discbgd.* may 23, 62; 21t. 16 Ind. vol. aug. 19, 62; 1 lt. mar. 1, 63; capt. dec. 20, 64; *must. out* june 30, 65, paid to july 20, 65; 2 lt. 31 inf. aug. 9, 67, acc. aug. 16, 67; unassd. may 15, 69; assad. to 22 inf. july 14, 69; *out of ser.* nov. 20, 76; 21: 11 inf. jan. 12, 77, acc. jan. 17, 77.
- 96. WOOD, PALMER G., Mar. 1, 77, 12th Infantry. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from Cal.]→ 2 It. 7 Cal. vol. oct. 28, 64; 1 It. dec. 7, 65; must. out apr. 26, 66; 2 It. 5 inf. feb. 23, 66, acc. may 27, 66; 1 It. jan. 7, 67; unasad. may 19, 69; assd. to 12 inf. july 14, 69; resgd. may 24, 73, paid to may 31, 73; 2 It. 12 inf. mar. 1, 77, acc. mar. 31, 77.
- 97. ABERCROMBIE, WILLIAM R., Mar. 1, 77, 2nd Infantry. [Born in Minn. : apptd. from At Fige.]—
 - 2 lt. 2 inf. mar. 1, 77, acc. mar. 10, 77.
- PAXTON, ALEXIS R., Mar. 3, 77, 15th Infantry. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from At l'ge.]— 2 lt. 15 inf. mar. 3, 77, acc. mar. 8, 77.
- MOSHER, THEODORE, Apr. 19, 77, 22nd Infantry. [Born in Md.; apptd. from Army.]— Sergt. sig. corps aug. 8, 70; dischgd. aug. 8, 75; pvt. sig. corps aug. 8, 75; sergt. aug. 10, 75; 211, 22 inf. apr. 19, 77, acc. apr. 20, 77; exp. by con. lim. dec. 3, 77, paid to dec. 13, 77; 2 1t. 22 inf. jan. 26, 78, with rank from apr. 19, 77, acc. jan. 28, 78.
- 100. CLAY, THOMAS J., Apr. 25, 77, 10th Infantry. [Born in Ky.; apptd. from Ky.]— 2 lt. 10 inf. apr. 25, 77, acc. apr. 20, 77; *exp. by con. lim.* dec. 3, 77; 2 lt. 10 inf. jan. 26, 78, with rank from apr. 25, 77, acc. jan. 28, 78.

- 101. NICHOLS, WILLIAM A., May 7, 77, 23rd Infantry. [Born in N. M.; apptd. from Kans.]— 24, 23 inf. may 7, 77, acc. may 10, 77; exp. by con. lim. dec. 3, 77, paid to dec. 19, 77; 2 1t, 23 inf. jan. 26, 78, with rank from may 7, 77, acc. jan. 28, 78.
- 102. O'CONNOR, STEPHEN, June 9, 77, 23rd Infantry. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from Army.]— Pvt. co. B, 8 inf. june 21, 60; trs. to co. E. may 22, 63; corpl. aug. 3, 63; sergt. nov. 1, 63; dischgd. july 8, 64; sergt. co. E, 8 inf. july 9, 64; trs. to co. C, sept. 17, 64; qm, sergt. co. C, 8 inf. sept. 21, 66; 2 it. 8 inf. dec. 28, 66, acc. mar. 26, 67; 1 lt. jan. 4, 69; massd. may 3, 69; assd. to 23 inf. jan. 1, 71; out of ser. mar. 16, 77, paid to mar. 23, 77; 2 lt. 23 inf. june 9, 77, acc. june 9, 77; exp. by con. lim. dec. 3, 77; 2 lt. 23 inf. feb. 11, 78, with rank from june 9, 77, acc. leb. 15, 78.
- 103. HADEN, JOHN J., June 15, 77, 8th Infantry. [Born in Mo.; apptd. from M. A.]-Cadet july 1, 73; 2 lt. 8 inf. june 15, 77.
- 104. SHOFNER, JAMES C., June 15, 77, 2)st Infantry. [Born in Tenn.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet sept. 1, 73; 2 lt. 21 inf. june 15, 77.
- 105. PLUMMER, EDWARD H., June 15, 77, 10th Infantry. [Born in Md.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 73; 2 lt. 10 inf. june 15, 77.
- 106. MARTIN, MEDAD C., June 15, 77, 22nd Infantry. [Born in Vt.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 73; 24t, 22 inf. june 15, 77.
- 107. WILSON, RICHARD 11., June 15, 77, 8th Infantry. [Born in Mich.; apptd. from M. A.]→ Cadet july 1, 73; 24t. 8 inf. june 15, 77.
- 108. CHYNOWETH, EDWARD, June 15, 77, 17th Infantry. [Born in N.Y.; appld. from M.A.]— Cadet sept. 1, 73; 2 lt. 17 inf. june 15, 77.
- 109. PHILBRICK, JOHN H., June 15, 77, 11th Infantry. [Born in Me.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 73; 2 lt. 11 inf. june 15, 77.
- 110. STEVENS, ROBERT R., June 15, 77, 6th Infantry. [Born in Texas; apptd. from M. A.]-Cadet sept. 2, 73; 2 lt. 6 inf. june 15, 77.
- 111. BRERETON, JOHN J., June 15, 77, 24th Infantry. [Born in N. J.: apptd. from M. A.]-Cadet july 1, 73; 24th 24 inf. june 15, 77.
- 112. MCMARTIN, JOHN, June 15, 77, 25th Infantry. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from M. A.]-Cadet july 1, 73; 24t, 25 inf. june 15, 77.
- 113. GLENN, EDWIN F., June 15, 77, 25th Infantry. [Born in N. C.; apptd. from M. A.]-Cadet july 1, 73; 2 lt. 25 inf. june 15, 77.
- 114. PATTEN, FRANCIS J., June 17, 77, 21st Infantry. [Born in Me.; apptd. from M.A.]— Cadef july 1, 73; add. 2 lt. 21 inf. june 15, 77; 2 lt. june 17, 77.
- 115. KIRBY, HENRY, June 20, 77, 10th Infantry. [Born in N. C.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 73; add. 2 lt. 12 inf. june 15, 77; 2 lt. 10 inf. june 20, 77.
- 116. WOOD, WILLIAM T., June 30, 77, 18th Infantry. [Born in Ill.; apptd. from M.A.]— Cadet july 1, 73; add. 2 lt. 4 inf. june 15, 77; 2 lt. 18 inf. june 30, 77.
- 117. MILLS, STEPHEN C., June 30, 77, 12th Infantry. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 73; add. 2 lt. 17 inf. june 15, 77; 2 lt. 12 inf. june 30, 77.
- 118. CHASE, GEORGE N., July 1, 77, 4th Infantry. [Born in Wis.; apptd. from M. A.]-Cadet sept. 1, 73; add. 2 lt. 1 inf. june 15, 77; 2 lt. 4 inf. july 1, 77.
- 119. BAXTER, JOHN, JR., July 1, 77, 9th Infantry. [Born in N. J.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 73; add. 2 lt. 19 inf. june 15, 77; 2 lt. 9 inf. july 1, 77.
- 120. JACKSON, JAMES B., Aug. 9, 77, 7th Infantry. [Born in Ky.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet sept. 1, 73; add. 24t. 5 inf. june 15, 77; 24t. 7 inf. aug. 9, 77.
- 121. FREDERICK, DANIEL A., Aug. 9, 77, 7th Infantry. [Born in Ga.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 73; add. 2 lt. 10 inf. june 15, 77; 2 lt. 7 inf. aug. 9, 77.
- 122. MANEY, JAMES A., Aug. 23, 77, 15th Infantry. [Born in Tenn.; apptd. from M.A.]— Cadet july 1, 73; add. 2 lt. 16 inf. june 15, 77; 2 lt. 15 inf. aug. 23, 77.
- 123. BARRY, THOMAS H., June 15, 77, 1st Infantry. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 73; 2 lt. 7 cav, june 15, 77; trs. to 1 inf. aug. 31, 80, taking rank from oct. 12, 77.
- 124. HANCOCK, BENJAMIN F., Jan. 23, 78, 2nd Infantry. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Pa.]-2 lt. 2 inf. jan. 23, 78, acc. jan. 28, 78.
- 125. PETTIT, JAMES S., June 14, 78, 1st Infantry. [Born in Ohio: apptd. from M. A.]-Cadet july 1, 74: 2 lt. 1 inf. june 14, 78.
- 126. WOOLEY, FREDERICK, June 14, 78, 10th Infantry. [Born in N. C. : apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 74 : 2 lt. 10 inf. june 14, 78.

1881. SERVICE AND LINEAL RANK OF OFFICERS OF INFANTRY. 211

- 127. EVANS, WILLIAM P., June 19, 78, 19th Infantry. [Born in Wis.; apptd. from M.A.]— Cadet july 1, 71; 24t. 19 inf. june 14, 78.
- 128. HOWE, EDGAR W., June 14, 78, 17th Infantry. [Born in Mass.; appfd. from M.A.]— Cadet sept. 1, 74; 2 lt. 17 inf. june 14, 78.
- 129. SPARROW, SOLOMON E., June 14, 78, 21st Infantry. [Born in Mass.; apptd. from M.A.]— Cadet sept. 1, 74; 2 lt. 21 inf. june 14, 78.
- 130. GREENE, LEWIS D., June 14, 78, 7th Infantry. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 74; 2 lt. 7 inf. june 14, 78.
- 131. IVES, EDWARD B., June 14, 78, 19th Infantry. [Born in D.C.; apptd. from M. Δ.]--Cadet july 1, 74; 2 lt. 19 inf. june 14, 78.
- 132. BUCK, WILLLAM L., June 14, 78, 13th Infantry. [Born in Ala.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet sept. 1, 74; 2 lt. 13 inf. june 14, 78.
- 133. PICKERING, ABNER, June 14, 78, 2nd Infantry. [Born in Ind.; apptd. from M. A.]-Cadet july 1, 74; 2 lt. 2 inf. june 14, 78.
- 134. TILLSON, JOHN C. F., June 21, 78. 5th Infantry. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from M. A.] Cadet july 1, 74; add. 2 lt. 5 inf. june 14, 78; 2 lt. june 21, 78.
- 135. CARRINGTON, FRANK pE L., June 25, 78, 1st Infantry. [Born in Ga.; appid. from M.A.]— Cadet sept. 1, 74; add. 2 lt. 1 inf. june 14, 78; 2 lt. 23 inf. june 25, 78; trs. to 1 inf. june 28, 78.
- 136. WINSTON, DONALD, June 28, 78, 10th Infantry. [Born in Va.; apptd. from M. Λ.]— Cadet sept. 1, 73; add. 2 lt. 10 inf. june 14, 78; 2 lt. june 28, 78.
- 137. AVERY, FRANK P., June 28, 78, 3rd Infantry. [Born in Mich.; apptd. from M.A.] Cadet july 1, 74: add. 2 lt. 3 inf. jnne 14, 78; 2 lt. june 28, 78.
- 138. STARR, CHARLES G., June 28, 78, 1st Infantry. [Born in Ill.; appld. from M. Δ.]-Cadet july 1, 74; add. 2 lf. 1 inf. june 14, 78; 2 lt. june 28, 78.
- 139. WALTZ, MILLARD F., June 28, 78, 12th Infantry. [Born in Md.; apptd. from M. A.]-Cadet july 1, 74; add. 2 lt. 12 inf. june 14, 78; 2 lt. june 28, 78.
- 140. HEISTAND, HENRY O. S., June 28, 78, 11th Infantry. [Born in Ohio; apptd. from M.A.]— Cadet sept. 1, 74; add. 2 lt. 11 inf. june 14, 78; 2 lt. june 28, 78.
- 141. GETTY, ROBERT N., June 28, 78, 22nd Infantry. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from M. Δ.]— Cadet july 1, 74; add. 2 lt. 22 inf. june 14, 78; 2 lf; june 28, 78.
- 142. PHISTER, NAT. P., June 28, 78, 1st Infantry. [Born in Ky.; apptd. from M. Λ.]— Cadet sept. 1, 74; add. 21t. 1 inf. june 14, 78; 2 H. june 28, 78.
- 143. WILLCOX, E. FARNSWORTH, June 28, 78, 12th Infantry. [Born in Mich.; apptd., from M. A.]-
 - Cadet july 1, 73; add. 2 lt. 12 inf. june 14, 78; 2 lt. june 28, 78.
- 144. WOLF, SILAS A., June 28, 78, 4th Infantry. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 74; add. 2 lt. 4 inf. june 14, 78; 2 lt. june 28, 78.
- 145. HOCK, ORMENTIZ J. C., June 28, 78, 17th Infantry. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from M. A.] Cadet july 1, 74; add. 2 lt. 17 inf. june 14, 78; 2 lt. june 28, 78.
- 146. DODGE, CHARLES, JR., Oct. 25, 78, 24th Infantry. [Born in D. C.; apptd. from Army.]--Pvt. gen. ser. june 14, 75; sergt. dec. 1, 76; 2 lt. 24 inf. oct. 25, 78; acc. oct. 29, 78.
- FRENCH, FRANCIS IL, June 13, 79, 19th Infantry. [Born '57 in Ind.; apptd. from M.A.]— Cadet july 1, 75; 2 lt. 19 inf. june 13, 79.
- 148. SMITH, EDMUND D., June 13, 79, 19th Infantry. [Born '57 in Conn.; apptd. from M. Δ.]— Cadet july 1, 75; 2 lt. 19 inf. june 13, 79.
- 149. GREENE, HENRY A., June 13, 79, 20th Infantry. [Born '56 in N. Y.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 75; 2 lt. 20 inf. june 13, 79.
- 150. DODDS, FRANK L., June 13, 79, 9th Infanity. [Born '54 in Pa.; apptd. from M. Δ.]-Cadet july 1, 75; 2 lt. 9 inf. june 13, 79.
- 151. PENDLETON, EDWIN P., June 13, 79, 23rd Infantry. [Born '57 in R.I.; apptd. from M.A.] Cadet july 1, 75; 2 lt. 23 inf. june 13, 79.
- 152. OGLE, ALFRED McC., June 13, 79, 19th Infantry. [Born '56 in Ohio; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 75; 2 lt. 19 inf. june 13, 79.
- 153. NOYES, CHARLES R., June 13, 79, 9th Infantry. [Born '58 in Mass.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet sept. 1, 75; 2 H. 9 inf. june 13, 79.
- 154. LEYDEN, JAMES A., June 13, 79, 4th Infantry. [Born '56 in Tenn.; apptd. from M. A.]-Cadet july 1, 75; 2 lt. 4 inf. june 13, 79.
- 155. TRUITT, CHARLES M., June 13, 79, 21st Infantry. [Born '57 in Ky.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 75; 24, 21 inf. june 13, 79.

156.	HEWIT, AUGUSTINE F., June 13, 79, 22nd Infantry. [Born '56 in N. Y.; apptd. from
	M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 75; 2 lt. 22 inf. june 13, 79.
157.	STIVERS, CHARLES P., June 13, 79, 9th Infantry. [Born '58 in La.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 75; 24f. 9 inf. june 13, 79.
158.	LIGGETT, HUNTER, June 13, 79, 5th Infantry. [Born '57 in Pa.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 75; 2 lt. 5 inf. june 13, 79.
159.	PARKE, JOHN S., JR., June 13, 79, 21st Infantry. [Born '53 in Tenn.: apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 75; 24t, 21 inf. june 43, 79.
160.	REYNOLDS, WILLIAM B., June 13, 79, 14th Infantry. [Born 57 in Wash, T.; apptd. from M. A.]-
1.01	Cadet sept. 1, 75; 2 lt. 14 inf. june 13, 79. DOWDY, ROBERT W., June 13, 79, 17th Infantry. [Born '54 in Miss.; apptd. from M. A.]-
101.	Cadet july 1, 75; 2 lt. 17 inf. june 13, 79.

- 162. MINER, CHRISTOPHER C., June 13, 79, 9th Infantry. [Born '56 in Conn.; apptd. from
 - Cadet july 1, 75; 2 lt. 9 inf. june 13, 79.
- 163. IRONS, JAMES A., June 13, 79, 20th Infantry. [Born '57 in Pa.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 75; 2 lt. 20 inf. june 13, 79.
- 164. EASTMAN, FRANK F., June 13, 79, 14th Infantry. [Born '54 in Ill.; appld. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 75; 2 lt. 14 inf. june 13, 79.
- 165. MCCLURE, CHARLES, June 13, 79, 18th Infantry. [Born '56 in Hl.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 75; 24t, 18 inf. june 13, 79.
- 166. STEELE, CHARLES L., June 13, 79, 18th Infantry. [Born '56 in Miss.; apptd. from M.A.]-Cadet july 1, 75; 2 lt. 18 inf. june 43, 79.
- 167. HOWELL, DANIEL L., June 13, 79, 7th Infantry. [Born '53 in Iowa : apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 75; 24t, 7 inf. june 13, 79.
- 168. BROWNE, EDWARD H., June 13, 79, 4th Infantry. [Born '54 in Mich.; apptd. from M.A.]— Cadet sept. 1, 75; 2 lt. 4 inf. june 13, 79.
- 169. LEAVELL, BENJAMIN W., June 13, 79, 24th Infantry. [Born '57 in Ohio: apptd. from M. A.].— Cadet july 1, 75; 24t, 24 inf. june 13, 79.
- 170. MALLORY, JOHN S., June 13, 79, 2nd Infantry. [Born '57 in Va.; apptd. from M. A.]-Cadet july 1, 75; 2 lt. 2 inf. june 13, 79.
- 171. MAY, WILL T., June 13, 79, 15th Infantry. [Born '57 in Ind.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 75; 24t. 15 inf. june 13, 79.
- 172. MILLER, SAMUEL W., June 13, 79, 5th Infantry. [Born '57 in P.a.; apptd. from M. A.]-Cadet july 1, 75; 24t. 5 inf. june 13, 79.
- 173. JONES, FRANK B., June 13, 79, 22nd Infantry. [Born '55 in Miss.; apptd. from M. A.]-Cadet july 1, 75; 24t, 22 inf. june 13, 79.
- 174. SAFFOLD, MARION B., June 13, 79, 13th Infantry. [Born '56 in Ala.; apptd. from M. A.]-Cadet july 1, 75; 2 lt, 13 inf. june 13, 79.
- 175. PARKER, PERCY, June 13, 79, 8th Infantry. [Born '57 in Mass.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 75; 24t, 8 inf, june 13, 79.
- 176. WHITEHEAD, NATHANIEL J., June 13, 79, 4th Infantry. [Born 55 in N. J.; apptd. from M. Λ.]— Cadet july 1, 75; 2 lt. 4 inf. june 13, 79.
- 177. THURSTON, WALTER A., June 13, 79, 16th Infantry. [Born '57 in Δla.: apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 75; 2 lt. 16 inf. june 13, 79.
- 178. RIPLEY, HENRY L., June 28, 79, 24th Infantry. [Born '49 in Mass.; apptd. from Army.]— 2 class pvt. co. E. batt. cug. apr. 1, 76; 1 class pvt. may 1, 76; corpl. june 17, 77; 2 lt. 24 inf. june 28, 79, acc. july 10, 59.
- 179. BRANT, LOUIS P., Aug. 7, 79, 1st Infantry. [Born '50 in Ohio: apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 69; 2 lt. 21 inf. june 13, 73; resgd. mar. 31, 76; 2 lt. 1 inf. aug. 7, 79, acc. aug. 19, 79.
- 180. REED, HARVEY D., Aug. 14, 79, 25th Infantry. [Born 57 in N. Y.; apptd. from Army.]— 2 class pvt. co. E, batt. eng. june 1, 76; 1 class pvt. oct. 1, 76; corpl. jan. 8, 79; 2 lt. 25 inf. aug. 14, 79, acc. aug. 20, 79.

- 181. ORD, EDWARD O. C., JR., Sept. I. 79, 22nd Infantry. [Born '58 in Cal.; apptd. from Tex.]— 2 It. 22 inf. sept. 1, 79, acc. sept. 27, 79.
- 182. STOLBRAND, VASA E., Sept. 1, 79, 13th Infantry. [Born '59 in 111, ; apptd. from S. C.]-2 lt. 13 inf. sept. 1, 79, acc. sept. 2, 79.
- 183. STROTHER, LEWIS H., Sept. 1, 79, 1st Infantry. [Born '55 in Va.; apptd. from Va.]— 2 lt. 1 inf, sept. 1, 79, acc. sept. 10, 79; regtl. qm. aug. 18, 80.
- 184. FRENCH, WILLIAM E. P., Sept.1, 79, 3rd Infantry. [Born'55 in N.Y.; apptd. from N. Y.]— Cadet july 1, 75; discligible, june 26, 77; 24t, 3 inf. sept. 1, 79, acc. sept. 9, 79.
- 185. PARTELLO, JOSEPH M. T., Sept. 1, 79, 5th Infinity. [Born 544 in Ohio: apptd. from D.C.] Pet. gen. ser. aug. 2, 72; sergt. dec. 2, 75; disclipid, aug. 2, 77; sergt. gen. ser. aug. 2, 77; disclipid, may 11, 78; 21; 55 inf. sept. 1, 79, acc. sept. 1, 79.
- 186. IRVINE, ROBERT J. C., Sept. 1, 79, 11th Infantry. [Born'51 in Canada; apptd. from Ga.]— 2 lt. 11 inf. sept. 1, 79, acc. sept. 9, 79.
- 187. AMES, ROBERT F., Sept. 1, 79, 8th Infantry. [Born '56 in R. I.; apptd. from N. Y.]-2 lt. 8 inf. sept. 1, 79, acc. sept. 8, 79.
- 188. ENGLISH, WILLIAM, Sept. I, 79,17th Infantry. [Born '56 in Va.; apptd. from Pa.]— Cadet july 1, 75; disclipted, june 24, 76; pvt. gen. ser. apr. 23, 79; disclipted, aug. 31, 79; 2 It. 17 inf. sept. 1, 79, acc. sept. 1, 79.
- BENHAM, HENRY H., Sept. 1, 79, 2nd Infantry. [Born '58 in Mass.; apptd. from N. Y.]-2 lt. 2 inf. sept. 1, 79, acc. sept. 9, 79.
- 190. SLOCUM, STEPHEN L'H., Sept. 1, 79, 18th Infantry. [Born'59in Ohio; apptd. from N.Y.]-2 lt. 18 inf. sept. 1, 79, acc. sept. 3, 79.
- 191. MASON, JOHN S., JR., Sept. 1, 79, 1st Infantry. [Born '56 in Cal.; apptd. from Texas.]— 2 lt. 1 inf. sept. 1, 79, acc. sept. 27, 79.
- 192. CUNNINGHA M, JOHN M., Sept. 1, 79, 19th Infantry. [Born '58 in Ill.; apptd. from Ill.]-2 lt. 19 inf. sept. 1, 79, acc. oct. 9, 79.
- 193. NEWTON, JOHN, Sept. 1, 79, 16th Infantry. [Born '50 in N. Y.; apptd. from Kans.] 2 lt. 16 inf. sept. 1, 79, acc. sept. 13, 79.
- 194. BLACK, WILLIAM, Sept. 1, 79, 24th Infantry. [Born '50 in Iowa; apptd. from Iowa.]— Pvt. sig. corps oct. 7, 71; sergf. nov. 15, 72; discligd. oct. 7, 76; sergt. sig. corps oct. 7, 76; discligd. aug. 30, 79; 24t. 24 inf. sept. 1, 79, acc. sept. 1, 79.
- 195. DEVOL, CARROLL A., Sept. 1, 79, 25th Infantry. [Born '59 in Ohio; apptd. from Ohio.]— 2 lt. 25 inf. sept. 1, 79, acc. sept. 5, 79.
- 196. TERRETT, COLVILLE P., Nept. 1, 79, 8th Infantry. [Born '52 in D. C.; apptd. from Md.]— 2 class pvt. sig. corps. july 13, 78; 1 class pvt. july 16, 79; dischgd. oct. 16, 79; 2 lt. 8 inf. sept. 1, 79, acc. oct. 17, 79.
- 197. RUCKER, FRANCIS D., Sept. 1, 79, 11th Infantry. [Born'59in Mich.; apptd. from Mich.]— 2 lt. 11 inf. sept. 1, 79, acc. sept. 3, 79.
- 198. MCCOY, J. ESPY, Sept. 1, 79, 7th Infantry. [Born '58 in Ohio; appld. from D.C.]— 2 lt 7 inf. sept. 1, 79, acc. oct. 18, 79.
- 199. HUGHES, WILLIAM N., Sept. 1, 79, 13th Infantry. [Born'50 in Tenn.; apptd from Tenn.]-2 lt. 13 inf. sept. 1, 79, acc. nov. 11, 79.
- 200. FREMONT, FRANCIS P., Sept. 1, 79, 3rd Infantry. [Born '55 in D. C.; apptd. from Ariz.]— Cadet july 1, 72; resgd. sept. 8, 74; 2 lt. 3 inf. sept. 1, 79, acc. sept. 20, 79.
- 201. CHURCHILL, CHARLES A., Sept. 1, 79, 5th Infantry. [Born '56 in Mo.; apptd. from Ky.]— 2 lt. 5 inf. sept. 1, 79, acc. sept. 13, 79.
- 202. BROOKE, EDWARD H., Nov. 28, 79, 21st Infantry. [Born'56 in Oreg.; apptd. from Oreg.]— 2 lt. 21 inf. nov. 28, 79, acc. dec. 12, 79.
- 203. DEFREES, THOMAS M., Jan. 13, 80, 5th Infantry. [Born'58 in Ind.; apptd. from W. Va.]— 2 lf. 5 inf. jan. 13, 80, acc. jan. 22, 80.
- 2)4. PLUMMER, SATTERLEE C., Jan. 20, 80, 15th Infantry. [Born '44 in Wis.; apptd. from M. A.]-

Cadet july 1, 61; 2 lt. 17 inf. june 23, 65; 1 lt. june 23, 65; irs. to 26 inf. sept. 21, 66; capt. june 10, 68; unassd. may 19, 69; trs. to 7 cav. auc. 9, 69; discladd. dec. 15, 70; 2 lt. 4 inf. may 19, 76; acc. may 29, 76; ort of ser. july 1, 77; 2 lt. 15 inf. jan. 20, 80, acc. jan. 23, 80.

- 205. HUNTER, CHARLES H., June 12, 80, 19th Infantry. [Born '58 in Pa.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet june 14, 76; 2 lt. 19 inf. june 12, 80.
- 103. HUBERT, EDGAR, June 12, 80, 8th Infantry. [Born '57 in Ga.; appld. from M. A.]— Cadet june 14, 76; 2 lt. 8 inf. june 12, 80.

207. DUNNING, SAMUEL W., June 12, 80, 16th Infantry. [Born '59 in N.Y.; apptd. from M.A.] Cadet june 14, 76; 24t, 16 inf, june 12, 80.
208. AVIS, EDWARD S., June 12, 80, 5th Infantry. [Born '57 in Va.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet june 14, 76; 2 lt. 5 inf, june 12, 80.
209. COWLES, WARREN H., June 12, 80, 16th Infantry. [Born '59 in Pa.; apptd. from M. A.]- Cadet june 14, 76; 2 It. 16 inf. june 12, 80.
210. CHANDLER, ELLAS, June 12, 80, 16th Infantry. [Born '56 in 111.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet june 14, 76; 24t. 16th inf. june 12, 80.
211. TRAVIS, PIERCE M. B., June 12, 80, 11th Infantry. [Born '54 in Ala.: apptd. from M. A.]- Cadet sept. 1, 76; 2 lt. 11 inf. june 12, 80.
212. SCOTT, ALBERT B., June 12, 80, 13th Infantry. [Born 58 in Tex.; apptd. from M. A.]- Cadet june 14, 76; 2 lt. 13 inf. june 12, 80.
213. BENÉT, J. WALKER, June 12, 80, 15th Infantry. [Born '57 in Ky.; apptd. from M. A.]- Cadet july 1, 75; 24t, 15 inf, june 12, 80.
214. WEVER, BENJAMIN S., June 12, 80, 1st Infantry. [Born '58 in N.V.; apptd. from M. Δ.]- Cadet june 14, 76; 2 lt. 1 inf. june 12, 80.
215. ROGERS, JAMES S., June 12, 80, 20th Infantry. [Born '56 in Pa.; apptd. from M. A]— Cadet june 14, 76; 2 lt. 20 inf. june 12, 80.
216. MOON, HENRY B., June 12, 80, 20th Infantry. [Born '56 in N. J.; apptd. from M. A.]- Cadet june 14, 76; 2 It 20th inf. june 12, 80.
217. ROBERTS, HARRIS L., June 12, 80, 4th Infantry. [Born '58 in D. C.; apptd. from M. A.] Cadet june 14, 76; 241, 4 inf. june 12, 80.
[218. CHAPMAN, JAMES R., June 12, 80, 22nd Infantry. [Born 54 in III.; apptd. from M. A.]- Cadet june 14, 76; 24t, 22 inf. june 12, 80.
219. DARR, FRANCIS J. A., June 12, 80, 12th Infantry. [Born 59 in Ohio ; apptd. from M. A.]- Cadet june 24, 76 ; 24t, 12 inf. june 12, 80.
220. BELL GEORGE, JR., June 12, 80, 3rd Infantry. [Born 59 in Md.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet june 11, 76; 24t, 3 inf. june 12, 80.
221. VOGDES, CHARLES B., June 12, 80, 1st Infantry. [Born '56 in Fla.; apptd. from M. A.]- Cadet sept 4, 76; 2 lt. 1 inf. june 12, 80.
222. SHARPE, HENRY G., June 12, 80, 4th Infantry. [Born 58 in N.Y.: apptd. from M.A.]-Cadet june 14, 76; 2 lt, 4 inf. june 12, 80.
223. TORREY, ZERAH W., June 12, 80, 6th Infantry. [Born 55 in Mass.: apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet june 14, 76; 2 lt. 6 inf. june 12, 80.
224. GRUMLEY, EDWARD 1., June 24, 80, 17th Infantry. [Born '47 in Ohio; apptd. from Army.]-
Pvt. 13 batty, Wis, L art, nov. 16, 63; dischad, may 21, 64; 14t, 57 Wis, vol. oct. 28, 64; must. out july 27, 65; pvt. co. A, 24 inf. aug. 15, 70; corpl. feb. 1, 71; seigt. apr. 1, 71; dischad, aug. 15, 75; pvt. co. G, 21 inf. sept. 1, 75; corpl. may 1, 77; sergt. may 16, 77; 1 sergt. june 15, 77; 24, 17 inf. june 24, 80, acc. july 13, 80.
225. CAMPBELL, PETER, June 24, 80, 18th Infantry. [Born '42 in Canada: apptd. from Army.]
 Pyt. co. 6, 33 N. Y. vol. may 22, 61; corpl. sept. 16, 61; dischad. mar. 24, 62; corpl. co. H, Pyt. co. 6, 33 N. Y. vol. may 22, 61; corpl. sept. 16, 61; dischad. mar. 24, 62; corpl. co. H, I4 N. Y. h. art. nov. 13, 63; sergt mar. 24, 64; sergt. maj. 14 N. Y. h. art. dec. 1, 64; 2 lt. 14 N. Y. h. art. june 24, 65; must. out ang 26, 65; pyt. co. D. b sinf jan. 12, 71; corpl. nov. 1, 73; sergt. jan. 1, 72; 1 sergt. mart. 1, 74; qm. sergt. 18 inf. nov. 17, 74; dischad. jan. 42, 76; qm. sergt. 18 inf. oct. 13, 79; 2 lt. 18 inf. jane 24, 80, acc. july 12, 80.
226. PALMER, ALFRED M., June 24, 80, 24th Infantry. [Born '47in Ind.; apptd. from Army.]— Pyt. batty, 1, 5 art, apr. 22, 67; diseleft, apr. 22, 70; pyt batty, M, 4 art, may 16, 70; corpl, feb. 1, 71; scrgt, july 1, 73; scrgt, maj, 4 art, jan, 1, 74; diseleft may 15, 75; scrgt, maj 4 art, may 16, 75; on, scrgt, 4 art, aug. 1, 75; diseleft, may 15, 80; qm, scrgt, 4 art, may 16, 80; 2 h, 21 inf, june 24, 80, acc, july 8, 80.
227. EDWARDS, EATON A., June 24, 80, 25th Infantry. [Born '45 in Ireland; apptd. from Army;]-

Pvt.co, X, 10 Conn. vol. oct. 16, 61; dischgd. aug. 25, 64; hosp. stwd. U. S. A. aug. 26, 64; dischgd. aug. 26, 67; hosp. stwd. aug. 26, 67; dischgd. aug. 26, 70; hosp. stwd. aug. 26, 70; dischgd. aug. 26, 70; hosp. stwd. aug. 26, 75; 2 lt. 25 inf. june 24, 80, acc. july 16, 80.

228. BRETT, JAMES E., June 24, 80, 24th Infantry. [Boru '50 in N. C. ; apptd. from Army.]— Pvt. co. K. 12 inf. sept. 23, 70; hosp. stwd. U. S. A. sept. 6, 71; dischool. sept. 23, 75; hosp stwd. sept. 23, 75; 2 lt. 24 inf. june 24, 80, acc. july 13, 80.

- 229. WEBB, GEORGE W., June 24, 80, 25th Infantry. [Born '48 in Md.; apptd. from Army.]-Pyt. co. H. 33 inf. dec. 12, 66; artf. dec. 1, 68; irs. to co. B, 8 inf. as pyt. may 6, 69; disclude dec, 12, 69; pvt. co, B, 8 inf. dec, 12, 69; corpl. jan. 1, 70; sergt. nov. 10, 70; pvt. july 6, 71; corpl. jan. 20, 72; sergt. oct. 18, 73; disclight. dec, 12, 74; sergt. co, B, 8 inf. dec, 12, 74; com. sergt, U.S. A. sept. 22, 75; *disclipt.* may 16, 76; sergt. co. B, 8 inf. may 27, 76; 1 sergt. june 7, 76; 2 lt. 25 inf. june 24, 80, acc. july 8, 80.
- 230. SHAW, JOHN J., June 24, 80, 6th Infantry. [Born '47 in N. Y. : apptd. from Army.]— Pvt. co. C, 6 inf. june 24, 75; corpl. jan 4, 77; sergt. may 1, 78; 1 sergt. may 1, 78; dischgd. june 26, 80; 1 sergt. co. C, 6 inf. june 26, 80; 2 lt. 6 inf. june 24, 80, acc. july 7, 80.
- 231. CONNOLLY, THOMAS, June 24, 80, 1st Infantry. [Born '50 in Ireland; apptd. from

Army.]— Pvt. co. C, 19 inf. june 12, 71 : corpl. apr. 23, 75 : sergt. july 29, 75 : dischapt. june 12, 76 : pvt. co. U, 21 inf. july 12, 76 : corpl. jan. 1, 77 : sergt. doc. 1, 77 : sergt. naj. 21 inf. feb. 1, 79 : trs. to gen, ser. U. S. A. as sergt, jan. 1, 80; 2 lt. 1 inf. june 24, 80, acc. july 13, 80.

232. BLAUVELT, WILLIAM F., June 24, 80, 15th Infantry. [Born '51 in N.Y.; apptd. from Army.]-

Pvt. batty. D, 4 art. feb. 28, 78; corpl. nov. 12, 78; sergt. apr. 16, 79; 2 lt. 15 inf. june 24. 80, acc. july 8, 80.

- 233. MOFFATT, WILLIAM, June 24, 80, 2nd Infantry. [Born '54 in N.Y.; apptd. from Army.] Mns. co. E, 17 inf. jan. 12, 71; trs. to co. II, may 20, 75; discligibility, jan. 12, 76; mus. co. A, 21 inf. june 2, 76; corpl. jan. 1, 78; trs. to gen. ser. U. S. A. as pvt. aug. 1, 78; corpl. may 4. 80; 2 lt. 2 inf. june 24, 80, acc. july 13, 80.
- 234. CHATFIFLD, WALTER H., Oct. 4, 80, 5th Infantry. [Born 52 in Conn.; apptd. from Army.

Pvt. co. G, 7 cav. oct. 4, 78; corpl. sept. 25, 79; qm. sergt. 7 cav. feb. 1, 80; 2 lt. 5 inf. oct. 4, 80, acc. oct. 16, 80.

235. LOCKWOOD, JOHN A., Nov. 23, 80, 17th Infantry. [Born '56 in Saxony; apptd. from D. C.]-2 lt. 17 inf. nov. 23, 80, acc. nov. 26, 80.

- 236. MERCER, WILLIAM A., Nov. 23, 80, 8th Infantry. [Born'55 in N.Y.; apptd. from Conn.]-2 lt. 8 inf. nov. 23, 80, acc. nov. 26, 80.
- 237. HOVEY, HENRY W., Nov. 23, 80, 24th Infantry. [Born '52 in Me.; apptd. from N.Y.]-2 lt. 24 inf. nov. 23, 80, acc. nov. 26, 80,
- 238. DAPRAY, JOHN A., Nov. 24. 80, 23rd Infantry. [Born '53 in S.C.; apptd. from D.C.]-2 lt. 23 inf. nov. 24, 80, acc. nov. 25, 80.
- 239. HEARN, LAWRENCE J., Nov. 24, 80, 21st Infantry. [Born '56 in Tex.; apptd. from Ky.]-2 lt. 21 inf. nov. 24, 80, acc. nov. 27, 80.
- 240. WEBBER, EDWIN H., Nov. 24, 80, 20th Infantry. [Born '59 in Pa.; apptd. from Pa.]-2 lt. 20 inf. nov. 24, 80, acc. nov. 26, 80.
- 241. MCCOY, FRANK B., Nov. 26, 80, 24th Infantry. [Born '51 in Ga.; apptd. from Mo.]-2 lt. 24 inf. nov. 26, 80, acc. nov. 29, 80.
- 242. LLOYD, EDWARD, Nov. 26, 80, 15th Infantry. [Born '50 in Va.; apptd. from D. C.]— Pyt. sig. corps july 22, 71; sergt. apr. 12, 72; dischood, july 22, 76; sergt. sig. corps july 22, 76; dischgd nov. 26, 80; 2 lt. 15 inf. nov. 26, 80, acc. nov. 27, 80.
- 243. SAGE, CORWIN, Nov. 26, 80, 17th Infantry. [Born '59 in Ohio; apptd. from Ohio.]-2 lt. 17 inf. nov. 26, 80, acc. dec. 1, 80,
- 244. DEAN, ALEXANDER T., Nov. 26, 80, 25th Infautry. [Born '57 in N.J.; apptd. from Pa.]-2 lt. 25 inf. nov. 26, 80, acc. nov. 28, 80.
- 245. BATCHELOR, JOSEPH B., JR., Nov. 29, 80, 24th Infantry. [Born '58 in N. C.; apptd. from N. C.] -Cadet june 14, 76; dischgd. june 15, 80; 2 lt. 24 inf. nov. 29, 80, acc. dec. 4, 80.

Chaplains.

- 1. MULLINS, GEORGE G., Jan. 20, 75, 25th Infantry. [Born in Ky.; apptd. from III.]-Chap. 25 inf. jan. 20, 75, acc. feb. 15, 75.
- 2. LAVERTY, JAMES C., Mar. 15, 76, 24th Infantry. [Born in Ireland; apptd. from Pa.]-Chap. 24 inf. mar. 15, 76, acc. apr. 3, 76.

CAPTAIN IN THE ARMY.

[In accordance with the act of Congress approved July 24, 1876.]

OLMSTED, GEORGE T., JR., July 24, 76. [Born in N. J.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 61; 2 lt. and 1 lt. 19 inf. june 23, 65; capt. nov. 18, 67; unassd. mar. 31, 69; assd, to 2 art jan. 1, 71; out of ser. july 24, 74; capt. U.S. A. july 24, 76, acc. aug. 16, 76.

RETIRED FROM ACTIVE SERVICE.

Major Generals.

- ROBINSON, JOHN C. May 6,69. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from N. Y.]— Cadet july 1, 35; out of sev. mar. 14,38; 24, 5 inf. oct. 27,39, acc. oct. 29, 59; 14, june 18, 46; regtl. qm. mar. 28, 47, to sept. 1, 47, and from jan. 27, 49, to ang. 12, 50; capt. ang. 12, 50; col. 1 Mich. vol. sept. 1, 61; maj. 2 inf. feb. 20, 62; brig. gen. vol. apr. 28, 62, acc. may 4, 62; lt. col. bvt. july 1, 63, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Gettysburg, Pa."; col. bvt. june 27, 64, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the field "i brig. gen. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Spottsylvania, Va."; maj. gen. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the field dnr. the war"; col. 43 inf. july 28, 66, acc. sept. 5, 66; must. out of vol. ser. sept. 1, 66; retired with rank of maj. gen. may 6, 69, "for loss of left leg from wounds received in line of duty" [acts aug. 3, 6], sees. 16 and 17; july 28, 66, sec. 22].
- SIGKLES, DANIELE, A. Apr. 14, 69. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from N. Y.]—
 C. SIGKLES, DANIELE, A. Apr. 14, 69. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from N. Y.]—
 Col. 70 N. Y. vol. june 29, 61; brig. gen. vol. sopt. 3, 61, acc. oct. 3, 61; maj. gen. vol. nov. 29, 62, acc. mar. 29, 63; col. 42 inf, july 28, 66, acc. sopt. 18, 66; brig. gen. bvt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser, in the battle of Fredericksburg, Va.", maj. gen. but. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser, in the battle of Settysburg, Pa.", must. out of vol. ser, jan. 1, 68; retired with rank of maj. gen. apr. 14, 69, "for loss of right leg from wounds received in line of daty" [acts ang. 3, 61, sees. 16 and 17; july 28, 66, see. 32].
- 3. CARROLL, SAMUEL S., June 9, 69. [Born in D. C.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 52; hvt. 2 lt. 9 inf. july 1, 56; 2 lt. 10 inf. oct. 1, 56; 1 lt. apr. 25, 61; 1 lt. 19 inf. may 14, 61, decliaed; capt. 10 inf. nov. 1, 61; col. 8 Ohio vol. dec. 15, 61; maj. bvt. may 3, 63, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Chancellorsville, Va."; lt. col. bvt. july 3, 63, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Gettysburg, Pa."; col. bvt. may 5, 64, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of the Wilderness, Va."; brig. gen. vol. may 12, 64, "for gal. and dis. ser. in the cight days' battles in the old Wilderness and at Spottsylvania C. H., Va.", acc. june 14, 64; brig. gen. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the field dur. the war"; maj. gen. vol. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the field dur. the war"; maj. gen. vol. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. dur. the war"; must. out of vol. ser. jun. 15, 66; lt. col. 21 inf. jan. 22, 67, acc. apr. 1, 67; retired with rank of maj. gen. june 9, 69, "for wounds received in line of duty" [acts aug. 3, 61, secs. 16 and 17; july 28, 66, sec. 32].
- 4. RICKETTS, JAMES B., Jan. 3, 67. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet sept. 1, 55; 2 H. 1 art. july 1, 39; 1 H. apr. 21, 46; regtl. qu. june 15, 49, to ang. 3, 52; capt. ang. 3, 52; H. col. bvt. july 21, 61, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Bull Run, Va.", bring, gen. vol. july 21, 61, "for gal. and mer. cond. in the battle of Bull Run, Va." acc. mar. 26, 62; maj. 1 art. june 1, 63; col. bvt. june 3, 64, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Cold Harbor, Va."; maj. gen. vol. bvt. ang. 1, 64, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Cold Harbor, Ya."; maj. gen. vol. bvt. ang. 1, 64, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Cold Harbor, Ya."; maj. gen. vol. bvt. ang. 1, 64, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Cold Harbor, Ya."; maj. gen. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Cedar Creek, Va."; maj. gen. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Cedar Creek, Va."; maj. gen. 3, 66; 14, col. 21 inf. july 28, 66, declined; retired with rank of maj. gen. jan. 3, 67, "for wounds received in line of duty" [acts ang. 3, 61, secs. 16 and 17; july 28, 66, sec. 32].

Brigadier Generals.

- 5. HARNEY, WILLIAM S., June 14, 58. [Born in La.; apptd. from La.]— 24t. 1 inf. feb. 13, 18; 14; jan. 7, 19; trs. to 1 art. nov. 16, 21; trs. to 1 inf. dec. 21, 22; capt. may 14, 25; maj. pm. may 1, 33, acc. july 11, 33; *resgd.* line com. july 11, 33; 1t; col. 2 drag. aug. 15, 36, acc. aug. 16, 36; *vac.* staff com. aug. 15, 36; col. bvt, dec. 7, 40, "for gal. and mer. cond. in several successive engagements with the hostile Indians in Florida": col. 2 drag. june 30, 46; brig. gen. bvt. apr. 18, 47, "for gal. and mer. cond. in the battle of Cerro Gordo"; brig. gen. june 14, 58, acc. ____, __; *retired* aug. 1, 63, having served over fortyfive years [act july 17, 62, sec. 12]; maj. gen. bvt. mar. 13, 55, "for long and faith. ser."
- 6. COOKE, PHILIP ST. G., Nov. 12, 61. [Born in Va.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 23; bvt. 2 lt. inf. july 1, 27; 2 lt. 6 inf. july 1, 27; regtl. adj't sept. 7, 32, to apr. 1, 33; 1 lt. 1 drag. mar. 4, 33, acc. m: r. 30, 33; capt. may 31, 35; maj. 2 drag. feb. 16, 47; lt. col. bvt. feb. 20, 47, "for mer. cond. in California"; lt. col. 2 drag. july 15, 53; col. june 14, 58; brig. gen. vol. nov. 12, 61, acc. nov. 19, 61; brig. gen. U. S. A. nov. 12, 61, acc. nov. 28, 61; maj. gen. bvt. mar. 13, 65; "for gal. and mer. ser. dur. the war"; retired oct. 29, 73, having served over forty-five years [act july 17, 62, sec. 12].

Brigadier Generals-Continued.

- HAMMOND, WILLIAM A., Apr. 25, 62. [Born in Md.: apptd. from Md.] = 1 R. asst. surg. junc 29, 49, acc. july 3, 49; capt. asst. surg. junc 29, 54; *resol.* oct. 31, 66; 1 R. asst. surg. may 28, 64, acc. naw 31, 61; brig. gcn. surg. gcn. apr. 25, 62, acc. apr. 26,
 62; out of ser, ang. 18, 64; restored to the Army and placed on the retired list as surg. gen. brig. gen. ang. 27, 79, without pay or allowances, under an act of Congress approved mar. 15, 78.
- 8. RAMSAY, GEORGE D., Sept. 15, 63. [Born in Va.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet ang. 20, 14; 2 lt, Lart, july 1, 20; trs. to 1 art, june 1, 21; 1 lt, mar. 1, 26; regtl. adj't dec. 3, 33, to feb. 25, 35; capt, ord. feb. 25, 35; acc, mar. 16, 35; maj, byt. sept. 23, 46, "for gal, and mer. cond., in the several conflicts at Monfercy,"; maj, ord. apr. 22, 61; lt, col, ang. 5, 61; col. june 1, 63; brig, gen. chf. of ord, sept. 15, 63, acc. sept. 28, 63; retired sept. 12, 64, being over sixty-two years of age [act july 17, 62, sec. 12]; maj. gen. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for long and faith, ser, in the Army,"
- HOLT, JOSEPH, June 22, 64. [Born in Ky.; apptd. from D. C.]— Col. j. a. gen. sept. 3, 62, acc. sept. 3, 62; brig. gen. j. a. gen. june 22, 64, acc. june 29, 64; maj. gen, byt. may 13, 65, "for faith, mer., and dis, ser, in the Barcan of Military Justice dur, the war"; *retired* dec. 1, 75, at his own request, being over sixty-two years of age [see, 1244, rev. stats.].
- 10. ORD, EDWARD O. C., July 26, 66. [Born in Md.; apptd. from M. A.]-(AD), PDV ATD D. C., July 20, 66, [Dorn in Mar.; applied from M. A.J.— Cadet sept. 1, 35, 214, 3 art. July 1, 35; 14, July 1, 41; carl, sept. 7, 50; brig. gen. vol. sept. 14, 61, acc. sept. 14, 61; maj. 4 art. nov. 21, 61; 1, col. bvt. dec. 20, 61, "for gal. and mer, set, in the battle of Drainesville, Va."; maj. gen. col. may 2, 62, acc. may 12, 62; col. lvt. sept. 19, 62, "for gal. and mer, set, in the battle of Tuka, Miss."; brig. gen. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal, and mer. ser. in the battle of the Hatchie, Miss,": maj. gen. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal, and mer. ser. in the assault on Fort Harrison, Va."; It. col. 1 art. dec. 11, 65; brig. gen. U. S. A. july 26, 66, acc. ang. 15, 66; must. out of vol. ser. sept. 1, 66; retired dec. 6, 80, being over sixty-two years of age [sec. 1244, rev. stats.].

- BRICE, BENJAMIN W., July 28, 66. [Born in Va.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadel july 1, 25; bvt. 2 It. 3 inf, july 1, 29; respl. feb. 13, 32; mai, pm. mar. 3, 47, acc. mar. 9, 47; disbanded mar. 4, 49, paid to apr. 30, 49; maj, pm. feb. 9, 52, acc. feb. 18, 52; col. pm. gen, feb. 8, 66, to rank from nov, 29, 64; it. col. bvt., col. bvt., and brig. gen. bvt. deg. 2, 64; maj. gen. byt. mar. 13, 65. " for faith., mer., and dis. ser. in the pay dept. dur. the war"; brig. gen, pm. gen, july 28, 66, acc. nov. 17, 66; *retired* jan. 1, 72, at his own request, being over sixty-(wo years of age (act july 17, 62, sec. 12).
- HUMPHREYS, ANDREW A., Aug. 8, 66. [form in Pa.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 27; byt. 2 lt. 2 art, july 1, 31; 2 lt, july 1, 31; 1 lt, aug. 16, 36; respl. sept. 30, 36; 1 lt, top. eug. feb. 13, 39, to rank from july 7, 38; acc. feb. 24, 39; capt. may 31, 48; maj, aug. 6, 61; col. a. a. d. e. mar. 5, 62, acc. —, —, brig. gen. vol. apr. 28, 62, acc. may 6, 62; col. byt. dec. 13, 62, "for gal, and mer. ser. in the battle of Fredericksburg. Va."; It, col. eng. mar. 3, 63; maj. gen. vols. july 8, 63, acc. july 10, 63; brig. gen. bvt. mar. 13, 6. Concern end, and as solver indigent, vols, (my 8-5), acc, (my 16, 65) (mg, 26m, 162, 16m, 171, 165, 55, "for gal, and mer. ser, in the battle of Gettysburg, Pat."; maj, gen, byt, mar. 13, 65, "for gal, and mer. ser, in the battle of Sailor's Creek, Va."; brig, gen, chf, of eng, ang, 8, 66, acc, ang, 9, 66; must, out of vol, ser, sept. 1, 66; retired june 30, 79, at his own request, having served over forty consecutive years [sec, 1243, rev. stats.].
- TOWNSEND, EDWARD D., Feb. 22, 69. [Born in Mask.; apptd from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 53; 21t, 2 art, july 1, 57; regth adjt july 7, 38; to aug. 18, 46; 14t sept. 16, 38; bott, capt. a. g. aug. 8, 46; acc. aug. 13, 46; capt. 2 art, apr. 21, 48; ree, com. of capt. 2 art, apr. 21, 48; bott maj. a. a. g. july 15, 52; ft, col. a. g. mar. 7, 6]; col. a. a. g. aug. 3, 61; brig. gen. byf. sept. 24, 64, "for mer, and faith, ser, dur, the war": maj. gen. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith, mer, and dis, ser, in the adj't gen,'s dept, dur, the war"; brig, gen, a.g. feb. 22, 69, acc. apr. 20, 69; retired jnne 15, 80, being over sixty-two years of age [sec. 1244, rev. stats.].

In several analysis with other inferences at 1 also coverals, Stationar Dingley, and Cerlo Verlau Mex.": maj. pun. june 22, 54; brig, gen. vol. apr. 15, 62, acc. may 16, 62; lt. col. bvt. and col. bvt. mar. 13, 65, and brig, gen. bvt. apr. 9, 65, "for faith, and mer, ser, dur, the war"; *resqd*, com, of brig, gen. vol. ang. 8, 65; col. pm. gen. jan. 1, 72 [act june 4, 72]; brig, gen. pm. gen. ang. 4, 76, to rank from july 22, 76 [act july 22, 76]; *retired* june 8, 80, at his own request, having served over forty-six consecutive years [sec. 1243, rev. stats.].

Brigadier Generals-Continued.

- 15. WOOD, THOMAS J., Mar. 3, 75. [Born in Ky.; apptd. from M. A.]-Cadet july 1, 41; byt. 21; top, eng. july 1, 45; trs. to 2 drag, oct. 19, 46; 24; dec. 2, 46; 14; byt. feb. 23, 47, "for gal, and mer, cond, in the battles of Buene Vista"; regtl, adj't sept. 23, 49, to july 1, 54; 1 lt. 2 drag. june 30, 51; capt. 1 cay. mar. 3, 55, acc. mar. 21, 55; maj. maj, gen, vol. jan, 27, 65, acc. pp. 29, 65, brig, gen, byt, mar. 13, 65, "for gal, and mer. ser, in the battle of Chickamauga, Ga."; maj, gen, byt, mar. 13, 65, "for gal, and mer. ser, in the
- in The battle of Chickamauga, 'Ga.''; maj. gen. byt. mar. 13, 65, ''for gal. and mer. scr. in the battle of Nashville, 'Tenn.''; mast. out of vol. scr. sept. 1, 66; ''tetred with rank of maj. gen. june 9, 68, ''for wounds received in line of duty'' [acts aug. 3, 61, sees. 16 and 17; july 28, 66, see, 32], and with rank of brig, gen. mar. 3, 75 [act mar. 3, 75, see, 2].
 16. EMORY, WILLIAM IL, July 1, 76. [Born in Md.; apptd. from M. A.]-Cadet july 1, 20; byt. 2 It. 4 art. july 1, 31; 2 It. july 1, 31; resgd. sept. 30, 36; 1 It. top. eng. july 7, 38, acc. ---, --; ent. byt. dec. 6, 46. ''for gal. and mer. scr. in the battle of San Pasqual''; maj. byt. jan. 9, 47, '' for gal. and mer. scr. in the battle of San Cabriel and the Plains of Mesa''; capt. top. eng. 24, 51; maj. 2 cav. mar. 3, 55, acc. ang. 1, 55; trs. to 1 cav may 26, 55; It. col. bett. of the United States and the Remainsioner for ranning the boundary line between the United States and the Remainsioner for ranning the boundary line between the United States and the Remainsioner for ranning the boundary line between the United States and the Remainsioner for ranning the boundary line between the United States and the Remainsioner for ranning the boundary line between the United States and the Remainsioner for ranning the boundary line between the United States and the Remainsioner for ranning the boundary line between the United States and the Remainsioner for ranning the boundary line between the United States and the Remainsioner for ranning the boundary line between the United States and the Remainsioner for the states and the Remainsioner for public of Mexico⁺⁺; it. col. 1 env. jan. 31, 61; *resgd*. may 9, 61, paid to may 31, 61; it. col. 6 eav. may 14, 61, acc. june 20, 61; brig. gen. vol. mar. 17, 62, acc. mar. 25, 62; col. bvt. may 27, 62, "for gal, and mer. ser, in the battle of Hanover C. H. Va."; col. 5 eav. oct. 27, 63; brig. gen. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal, and mer. ser, in the battle of Fisher's Hill, and in the campaign of the Shenandoah Valley, Va.;" maj. gen. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Cedar Creek, Va.;" maj. gen. vol. sept. 25, 65, acc. sept. 30, 65; must. out of vol. ser. jan. 15, 66; retired with rank of brig. gen. july 1, 76 [act june 26, 76].
- PAUL, GABRIEL R., July 28, 66. [Born in Mo.; apptd from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 29; byt. 2 lt. 7 inf. july 1, 34; 2 lt. dec. 4, 34; 1 lt. oct. 26, 36; capt. apr. 19. 46; maj. bvt. sept. 13, 47, "for gal. and mer. cond. in the battle of Chapultepec; maj. 8 inf. apr. 22, 61; col. 4 N. M. vol. dec. 9, 61; must. out may 31, 62; lt. col. 8 inf. apr. 25, 62;
- with rank of brig. gen. July 28, 66 [act July 28, 65, sec. 32]; must out of vol. ser. sept. 1, 66; granted full pay and allowances of brig. gen. by resolution of Congress, apr. 12, 70.
 18. CRAWFORD, SAMUEL W., Feb. 19, 73. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Pa.] Asst. surg. mar. 10, 51, acc. may 6, 51; maj. 13 inf. may 14, 61, acc. sept. 2, 61; brig. gen. vol. apr. 25, 62, acc. apr. 30, 62; col. bvt, july 2, 63, "for gal, and mer, ser, in the battle of Gettysburg, Pa."; It. col. 2 inf. feb. 17, 64; maj. gen. vol. bvt. aug. 1, 64, "for cons. gallantry in the battles of the Wilderness, Spottsylvania C. H., Jericho Mills, Bethesda Churci, Petersburg, and Giobe Tavern (Weldon R. R.), and for faith. ser, in the campaign"; brig. gen. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal, and mer, ser, in the battle of Five Forks, Va."; maj. gen. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal, and mer, ser, in the battle of Five Forks, va."; must, con, vir, mar. 56, col. 16 inf. feb. 22, 69, trs. to 2 inf. mar. 15, 69, col. 64, "for col. 20, pr. 20, pr. 20, 20, pr. 20, pr. 20, pr. 20, 20, pr. out of vol. ser. jan. 15, 66; col. 16 inf. feb. 22, 69; trs. to 2 inf. mar. 15, 69; retired feb. 19, 73, "for wonneds received in line of duty" [act aug. 3, 61, secs. 16 and 17]; *retired* with rank of brig, gen. to date from feb. 19, 73, with pay as such from mar. 3, 75 [act mar. 3, 75].
- McINTOSH, JOHN B., July 30, 70. [Born in Fla.; appel. from At Pge.]—
 McINTOSH, JOHN B., July 30, 70. [Born in Fla.; appel. from At Pge.]—
 21t. 2 cav. june 8, 61, acc. june 22, 61; 11t. 5 cav. june 27, 62; maj. bvt. ang. 5, 62. "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of White Oak Swamp, Va.": col. 3 Pa. cav. nov. 15, 62: It. col. bvt. july 3, 63, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Gettysburg, Pa,": capt. 5 cav. dec. 7, 63; col. bvt. june 1, 64, "for gal. and, mer. ser. in the battle of Ashland, Va." brig, gen. vol. july 21, 64, acc. july 29, 64; maj. gen. vol. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for dis. gal-lantry and good management in the battle of Opequan, Va."; brig. gen. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Winchester, Va."; maj. gen. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for "for jast, and mer, ser, in the battle of winchester, v.a.; ind, gen, byt, hat, is, b), "for gal, and mer, ser, in the field dur, the war"; *must, out o*f vol. ser, ap. 30, 66; it, col. 42 inf, july 28, 66, acc. sept. 25, 66; unased, mar, 15, 69; *retived* with rank of bridg gen, july 30, 70, "for loss of right leg from wounds received in line of duty" [acts aug. 3, 61, secs. 16 and 17; july 28, 66, sec. 32].
- 20. JOHNSON, RICHARD W., Mar. 3, 75. [Born in Ky.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 44; bvt. 2 lt. 6 inf. july 1, 49; 2 lt. 1 inf. june 10, 50; regtl. adj't mar. 3, 53, to apr. 12, 55; 1 lt. 2 cav. mar. 3, 55, acc. apr. 12, 55; regtl. qu. june 12, 55, to sept. 30, 56; to apr. (2, 55; 14). 2 cav. mar. 5, 55, acc. apr. (2, 55; (2), (4, 6), (m), (4, 6), (5, 6), (5, 6), (5, 6), (5, 6), (6, 6), (6, 6), (6, 6), (7 13, b., "for gal, and mer. ser. In the battle of Nashvine, fein, ; maj, gen, byt, mar. 13, 65, "for gal, and mer. ser, in the field dur, the war "; maj, gen, vol. byt, mar. 15, 65, "for gal, and mer. sev, in the battles before Nashville, Tenn."; *must, out of* vol. ser. jan. 15, 66; *retired* with rank of maj, gen, oct. 12, 67, "for wounds received in line of duty," [acts ang, 2, 6], secs. 16 and 17; july 28, 66, sec. 32], and with rank of brig, gen, mar. 3, 75 [act mar 3, 75, sec. 2].

Brigadier Generals-Continued.

- SWEENY, THOMAS W., May 11, 70. [Born in Ireland; apptd. from N. Y.]—
 2 lt. co. A, 2 N. Y. vol. nov. 23, 46; 2 lt. 2 inf. mar. 3, 48, acc. mar. 17, 48; 1 lt. june H. 51; capt. jan. 19, 61; brig. gen. Mo. vol. may 20, 61; must. out ang. 14, 61; col. 52 Ill. vol. jan. 21, 62; brig. gen. vol. nov. 29, 62, acc. apr. 21, 63; maj. 16 inf. oct. 20, 63; must. out of vol. ser. ang. 24, 65; out of ser. dec. 29, 65; reinstated nov. 8, 66; unassd. mar. 15, 69; retired with rank of brig. gen. may 11, 70, "for loss of right arm and wounds received in line of duty [acts ang, 3, 61, sees, 16 and 17; july 28, 66, sec. 32].
- HARDIN, MARTIN D., Dec. 15, 70. [Born in HL; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 54; bvt. 2 lt. 3 art. july 1, 59; 2 lt. jan. 2, 60; 1 lt. may 14, 61; lt. col. 12 Pa. res. vet. corps july 8, 62; capt. byt. aug. 29, 62, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Groveton, Va."; maj. byt. ang. 30, 62, ""for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Bull Run (2d), Va."; col. 12 Pa. res. vet. corps sept. 1, 62; lt. col. byt. dec. 14, 63, "for gal. and mer. ser, in an encounter with a band of guerrillas "; col. bvt, may 23, 64, " for gal, and mer. ser. in the battle of North Anna River, Va."; must, out of vol. ser, june 11, 64; brig, gen, vol. july 2, 64, acc, july 8, 64; brig, gen, byt, mar, 13, 65, "for gal, and mer, ser, in the field
- dur, the war"; *must*, *out* of vol.ser, Jan. 15, 66; maj. 43 inf. july 28, 66, acc. sept. 7, 66; trs. to 1 inf. mar. 15, 69; *retired* with rank of brig, gen. dec. 15, 70, " for loss of left arm and wounds received in line of duty" [acts ang. 3, 61, sees. 16 and 17; july 28, 66, see, 32]. FESSENDEN, FRANCIS, Nov. 1, 66. [Born in Me.; apptd. from Me.]— Capt. 19 inf. may 14, 61, acc. june 19, 61; col. 25 Me. vol. sept. 29, 62; must. ont july 10, 63; col. 30 Me. vol. jan. 11, 64; brig. gen. vol. may 10, 64, acc. june 4, 64; maj. bvt. and it. col. bvt.
 - july 6, 64, " for gal. ser. at Shiloh and Montell's Bluff, on Red River"; brig. gen. bvt. mar. 13, 65, " for gal and mer, ser, in the field due, the war"; maj. gen. bet. mar. 13, 65, " for gal, and mer, ser, due, the war"; maj. gen, vol. nov. 9, 65, acc. nov. 16, 65; ht. col. 45 inf. july 28, 66, declined; most, out of vol. ser, sep1. 1, 66; tris, to 28 inf. sep1. 21, 66; reficed with rank of brig gen. nov. 1, 66; "for wounds received in line of duty" [acts aug. 3, 61, secs. 16 and 17; july 28, 66, sec. 32].
- LONG, ELI, Mar. 3, 75. [Born in Ky.; apptd. from Ky.]→ 24t. 1 cav. june 27, 56, acc. july 28, 56; 1/lt. mar. 1, 61; capt. may 24, 61; maj. bvt. oct. 7, 62, "for gal, and mer. ser. in the battle of Farmington, Tenn."; col. 4 Ohio cav, feb. 23, 63; It. col. byt. dec. 3, 63, "for gal. and mer. ser. dur. the defence of Knoxville, Tenn. col. byt. ang. 21, 64, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Lovejoy's Station, Ga."; bri : brig. gen, vol. aug. 18, 64, acc. sept. 1, 64; brig, gen, bvt, mar. 13, 65, "for gal, and mer, ser, in the battle and capture of Selma, Ala,"; maj, gen, bvt, mar. 13, 65, "for gal, and mer, ser, in the field dar, the war": maj, gen. vol. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal, and mer, ser, in action"; must. out of vol. ser, jan. 15, 66; *retired* with rank of maj, gen. ang. 16, 67, "for wounds received in line of duty" [acts ang, 3, 61, sees. 16 and 17 ; july 28, 66, sec. 32], and with rank of brig, gen. mar. 3, 75 [act, mar. 3, 75, sec. 2].

Colonels.

- ALEXANDER, EDMUND B., May, 3, 55. [Born in Va.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet oct. 6, 18; byt. 2 4t. 6 inf. july 1, 23; 2 4t. 3 inf. july 1, 23; 1 4t. doc. 29, 27; capt. july 7, 38; capt. a. qm, july 7, 38; vac. staff com, june 18, 46; maj. byt. apr. 48, 47, " for gal. and mer, could in the battle of Cerro Gordo"; R. col. byt. ang. 20, 47, "for gal, and mer, could in the battles of Contreras and Churubusco"; maj. 8 inf. nov. 10, 51; col. 10 inf. mar. 3, 55, acc. apr. 20, 55; brig. gen. byt. oct. 18, 65, " for mer. ser, in the recruitment of the armies of the United States ": retired feb. 22, 69, having served over forty-five years [act july 17, 62, sec. 12].
- 26. SEAWELL, WASHINGTON, Oct. 17, 60. [Born in Va.: apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 21: byt. 24t 7 inf july 1, 25; 24t july 1, 25; 14t 1.1 drag, mar. 4, 33, declined; 14t, 7 inf, july 12, 33; capt, july 31, 36; mai, byt, july 18, 41, 77 for mer. and successful servin the war against the Florida Indians, "; maj. 24nf, mar. 3, 47; 14, col. sinf, feb 23, 52; col. 6 inf. oct, 17, 607 retired feb, 20, 62, "for disability resulting from exposure in line of duty" [ac aug. 3, 61, sees, 16 and 17]; brig, gen, byt, mar, 13, 65, "for long and faith, ser, in the Army, fact
- SIMONSON, JOHN S., May 13,61. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Ind.]— Sergt. capt. H. F. Knapp's co. N. Y. vol. may 1, 14; disclered, nov. 8, 14; capt. m. rif. may 27, 46, acc. jane 8, 46; maj. byt. sept. 13, 47, "for gal, and mer. cond. in the battle of ("hapdtepee"); maj. m. rif. sept. 16, 53; ed. may 13, 61; *retired* sept. 28, 61, " for disability resulting from exposure in line of duty" [act ang. 3, 61, sees. 16 and 17]; brig. gen. byt. mar. 13, 65, " for long and faith, ser, in the Army."

- 29. CARRINGTON, HENRY B., May 14, 61. [Born in Conu.; apptd. from Ohio.]— Col. 18 inf. may 14, 61, acc. june 24, 61; brig. gen. vol. nov. 29, 62, acc. apr. 6, 63; must. out of vol. ser. aug. 24, 65; unasid. mar. 15, 69; retired dec. 15, 70, "for wounds accidentally received in the line of duty" [act aug. 3, 61, sees. 16 and 17].
- 30. MORRISON, PITCAIRN, June 6, 61. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from N. Y.]— 2 h. corps of art. oct. 27, 20, acc. nov. 6, 20; trs. to 4 art. june 1, 21; 1 ht. ang, 26, 26; capt. sopt. 13, 35; maj. byt. may 9, 46, "for gil, and mer. cond. in the battles of Palo Alto and Resaca de la Palma"; maj. 8 inf. sopt. 26, 47; ht. col. 7 inf june 9, 53; col. 8 inf. june 6, 61; retired oct. 20, 63, "for disability resulting from long and faith. ser." [act ang, 3, 61. secs. 16 and 17]; brig, gen. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for long and faith. ser. in the Army."
- 31. SWORDS, THOMAS, Aug. 3, 61. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 25; byt. 2 lt. 4 inf. july 1, 29; 2 lt. july 1, 29; 1 lt. 1 drag. mar. 4, 33, acc. mar. 15, 33; capt. mar. 3, 37; capt. a, qm. july 7, 38; rac. line com. apr. 21, 46; lt. col. byt. may 30, 48; "for mer. cond. while serving in the enemy's country"; lt. col. dep. qm. gen. ang. 1, 56; col. asst. qm. gen. aug. 3, 6]; brig. gen. byt. and maj. gen. byt. mar. 13, 65; "for faith, and eff. ser. in the qm. dept. dur. the war"; retired feb. 22, 69, being over sixty-two years of age [act july 17, 62, sec. 12].
- 32. CASEY, SILAS, Oct. 9, 60. [Born in R. I.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 22; byt. 24t, 7 inf. july 1, 26; 24t, 24nf. july 1, 26; 14t, june 28, 36; capt. july 1, 29; maj. byt. aug. 20, 47, "for gal, and mer. cond, in the battles of Contreras and Churubusco": 1t, col. byt. sept. 13, 47, "for gal, and mer. cond, in the battle of Chapultepec": 4t, col. 9 inf. mar. 3, 55, acc. mar. 13, 55; brig, gen. vol. aug. 31, 64, acc. sept. 10, 61; col. 4 inf. oct. 9, 61; brig, gen. byt. may 31, 62, "for gal, and mer. cond, in the battle of Fair Oaks, Va."; maj, gen. vol. may 31, 62, acc. mar. 24, 63; maj, gen. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal, and mer. ser. dur. the war"; must. out of vol. ser. aug. 34, 65; retired july 8, 68, at his own request, having served over forty years (act aug. 3, 61, sec. 15).
- 33. BLAKE, GEORGE A. H., Feb. 15, 62. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Pa.]— 14.2 drag, june 11, 36, acc. june 11, 36; eapt. dec. 3, 39; maj. bvt. aug. 17, 47. "for gal. and mer. cond. in the affirir of San Augustine, Mex."; maj. 1 drag. july 23, 50; 14, col. may 13, 61; col. 1 cav. feb. 15, 62; brig. gen. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and eff. ser. dur. the Gettysburg campaign."; retired dec. 15, 70, at his own request, having served over thirty years [act july 15, 70, sec. 4].
- 34. HOFFMAN, WILLIAM, Apr. 25, 62. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 25; bvt. 2 lt. 6 inf. july 1, 29; 2 lt. july 1, 29; 1 lt. nov. 16, 36; capt. feb. 1, 38; maj. bvt. aug. 20, 47, "for gal. and mer. cond. in the battle of Contreras and Churnbusco"; lt. col. bvt. sept. 8, 47, "for gal. and mer. cond. in the battle of Molino del Rey"; maj. 5 inf. apr. 15, 51; trs. to 6 inf. feb. 20, 52; lt. col. 8 inf. oct. 17, 60; col. 3 inf. apr. 25, 62; brig. gen. bvt. oct. 7, 64, "for faith. and mer. ser. dur. the war"; maj. gen. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith., mer., and dis. ser. as com. gen. of prisoners dur. the war"; unassd. man. 15, 69; retired may 1, 70, at his own request, having served over forty years [act aug. 3, 61, sec. 15].
- 35. DAY, HANNIBAL, June 7, 62. [Born in Vt.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet sept. 4, 19: 24t. 24nf, july 1, 23: 14t. apr. 4, 32; capt. july 7, 38; maj. feb. 23, 52; 1t. col. feb. 25, 61; col. 64nf, june 7, 62; refired aug. 1, 63, at his own request, having served over forty years [act aug. 3, 61, sec. 15]; brig. gen. bvt. mar. 13, 65; "for long and faith, ser, in the Army."
- 36. BURBANK, SIDNEY, Sept. 16, 62. (Born in Mass.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 25; bvt 24t.1 inf, july 1, 29; 24t. july 1, 29; 141. oct 29, 36; capt. nov. 8, 39; maj. 2 inf. dec. 8, 55; trst to 1 inf, july 2, 56; 14; col.13 inf. may 14, 64, acc, july 1, 64; col. 2 inf. sept. 16, 62; brig. gen. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Gettysburg, Pa."; unassel. mrr. 15, 69; retired may 1, 70, at his own request, having served over forty years [act ang. 3, 61, sec. 15].
- 37. SHEPHERD, OLIVER L., Jan. 2, 63. (Born in N. Y.: apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 36; bvt 2 lt.4 inf. july 1, 40; 2 lt.3 inf. oct. 2, 40; 1 lt. nov. 3, 45; capt. hvt. aug. 20, 47, '' for gal. and mer. cond. in the battles of Conterns and Churnbusco ''; maj. bvt. sept. 13, 47, '' for gal. and mer. cond. in the battles of Chaputepee''; capt. 3 inf. dec. 1, 47; It. col. 18 inf. may 14, 61, acc. june 25, 61; col. bvt. may 17, 62, '' for gal. and mer. ser. in the siege of Corinth, Miss ''; col. 15 inf. jan. 21, 63; brig. gen. bvt. mar. 13, 65, '' for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Stone River, Tenu.''; retired dec. 15, 70, at his own request, having served over thirty years [act july 15, 70, sec. 4].
- 38. CROSMAN, GEORGE H., Feb. 26, 63. [Born in Mass.: apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet sept. 1, 19: bvt. 21t. 3 inf. july 1, 23: 21t. 6 inf. july 1, 23: 11t. aug. 30, 28: capt. apr. 30, 37: capt.a. qu. july 7, 38; maj. bvt. may 8, 46, "for gal. and mer. cond. in the battle of Palo Alto ": rac. line com. june 18, 46; maj. qm. mar. 3, 47: lt. col. dep. qm. gen. dec. 22, 56; col. asst. qm. gen. feb. 26, 63: brig. gen. bvt. and maj. gen. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith. and mer ser. dur. the war"; retired july 29, 66; being over sixty-two years of age [act.]uly 17, 62, sec. 12].

- 39. BROOKS, HORACE, Aug. 1, 63. [Born in Mass.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 34; byt. 21t, 2art, july 1, 35; 21t, dec. 28, 35; 11t, byt. dec. 31, 35, "for gallantry and good cond. in the war against the Florida Indians"; 14t, 2art, feb. 8, 37; capt. june 18, 46; maj. byt. aug. 29, 47, "for gal, and mer. cond. in the battles of Contreras and Churubusco"; It. col. byt. sept. 8, 47, "for gal, and mer. cond. in the battles of Contreras and Churubusco"; It. col. byt. sept. 8, 47, "for gal, and mer. cond. in the battle of Molino del Rey"; maj. 2art, apr. 28, 61; It. col. oct. 26, 61; col. 4 art, aug. 1, 65; brig, gen. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for mer. serdur, the war"; retired jan. 10, 77, being over sixty-two years of age [sec. 1244, rev. stats.].
- 40. CADY, ALBEMARLE, Oct. 20, 63. [Born in N. H.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 25. bvt. 2 It. 6 inf. july 1, 29; 2 It. july 1, 29; 1 It dec. 31, 36; capt. july 7, 38; maj. bvt. sept. 8, 47, "for gal. and mer. sev. in the battle of Molino del Rey"; maj. 6 inf. jan. 27, 53; It. col. 7 inf. june 6, 61; col. 8 inf. oct. 20, 63; redired may 18, 64, for disability resulting from borg and faith, ser. and siekness and exposure in line of duty [act ang. 3, 6], sees. 16 and 17; 1 brig. gen. bvt. mar. 3, 65, "for long and faith, ser. in the Army."
- GRAHAM, LAWRENCE P., May 9, 64 [Born in Va.; apptd. from Va.]--2 It. 2 drag. oct. 13, 37, acc. oct. 16, 37; 1 It. jan. 1, 39; capt. aug. 31, 43; maj. bvt. may 9, 46,
 - ¹¹ for gal, could, in the battles of Palo Alto and Resaca de la Palma⁺⁺; maj. 2 drag, june 14, 58; brig, gen, vol, ang. 31, 61, acc, sept. 4, 61; lt, col. 5 cav, oct. 1, 61; col. 4 cav, may 9, 64; brig, gen, byt mar. 13, 65, ¹¹ for gal, and mer, ser, dur, the war⁺⁺; *must, out of vol, ser, ang, 24, 65; retired* dec, 15, 70, at his own request, having served over thirty years [act july 15, 70, sec, 4].
- 42. BOMFORD, JAMES V., May B. 64. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 2s; byt. 2 ht. 2 inf. july 1, 32; 2 ht oct. 6, 34; 1 ht s inf. july 7, 38, acc. sept. 14, 38; regth adj1 oct. 1, 38; to dec. 12, 39; capt. mart 4, 45; maj. byt. ang. 29, 47, "for gal, and mer. cond. in the battles of Contreras and Churubusco"; ht col. byt. sept. 8, 47, "for gal, and mer. cond. in the battles of Moino del Rey"; maj. 6 inf. oct. 17, 60; ht col. 16 inf. jun. 10, 62; col. byt. oct. 8, 62, "for gal, and mer. ser," in the battle of Perryville, Ky,"; col. 8 inf. may 18, 64; brig. gen. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith, and cff. ser,"; retired june 8, 74, heling over sixty-two years of age [sec. 1244, rev. stats.].
- 43. REEVE, ISAAC V. D., Oct. 14, 64. [Born in N. Y.: apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 31; bvt. 24, 4 inf. july 1, 35; 24, nay 2, 36; 44, 8 inf july 7, 38, acc, sept. 30, 38; capt. june 18, 46; maj. bvt. ang. 20, 47, "forgal, and mer. cond. in the battles of Contreras and Churubusco"; 4, col. bvt. sept. 8, 47, "for gal, and mer. cond. in the battles of Molino del Rey '; maj. Unit. may 14, 61; 4, col. 13 inf. sept. 16, 62; col. ort. 14, 64; brig. gen. bvt. mar. 45, 55, "for faith, and mer. ser. dur, the war "; unassd. mar. 15, 69; *retired* jan. 1, 71, at his own request, having served over thirty years [act july 15, 70, sec. 4].
- 44. CRAM, THOMAS J., Nov. 23, 65. [Born in N. H.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 22; byt. 2 It. 2 art, july 1, 26; 2 It. 4 art, july 1, 26; 1 It. apr. 10, 35; resgd. sept. 16, 36; capt. top. eng. july 7, 38, acc. — — , —; maj. aug. 6, 61; It. col. sept. 9, 61; col. a. a. d. c. sept. 25; 61; acc. sept. 27, 61; trs. to eng. mar. 3, 63; brig. gen. vol. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith, and mer. ser. dur. the war"; col. eng. nov. 23, 65; must, out as col. a. a. d. e. nov. 23, 65; brig. gen. byt, and maj. gen. byt. jan. 13, 66; "for faith, and mer. ser. dur. the war"; reford feb. 22, 69, being over sity-two years of age [act july 17, 62; sec. 12].
- 45. WHITELEY, ROBERT H. K., Apr. 6, 66. [Born in Md.: apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 26; levt. 24; 2 art, july 1, 30; 24; july 1, 30; 14; dec. 28, 55; eapt. byt. july 19, 36; "for gal. cond. in the war against the Florida Holiaus"; 14; ord. july 9, 38; eapt. mar. 27, 42; maj. ang. 3, 61; ft; eol, june 1, 63; col, byt, mar. 13, 65; "for faith, and mer. ser, in the ord. dept."; brig, gen, byt, mar. 13, 65; "for mer. ser, in the ord, dept."; col, ord, apr. 6, 66; retured apr. 14, 75; being over sixty: two years of age [see, 1244, rev. stats.].
- apr. 9, 59; retrieval apr. re, 65, 66; [Born in Pa.; app1d, from M. A.]—
 46, DAWSON, SAMUEL K., Judy 28, 66; [Born in Pa.; app1d, from M. A.]—
 Cadet july 1, 35; 24, 1 art, july 1, 39; 14, june 18, 46; capt. bvt. apr. 18, 47, "for gal, and mer, cond, in the battle of Cerro (fordo"; capt. 1 art, man, 31, 55; maj, 19 inf, may
 14, 61, acc, nov. 26; 1t, col. 15 inf, july 4, 63; col. bvt. sept. 20, 63; "for gal, and mer, ser, in the battle of Chickanauga, Ga."; brig, gen, bvt. mar, 13, 65, "for faith, and mer, ser, dur, the war"; col. 19 inf, july 28, 66; unassd, mar, 15, 60; retired may 11, 70, "for disability resulting from long and faith, ser, and exposure in line of duty" [act aug. 3, 61, secs. 16 and 17].
- 47. STONEMAN, GEORGE, July 28, 66. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 42: bvt. 2 lt. 1 drag. july 1, 46: 2 lt. july 12, 47: 1 lt. july 25, 54; regtl. adj't oct. 22, 54, to mar. 3, 55; capt. 2 cav. mar. 3, 55, acc. may 3, 55; maj. 1 cav. may 9, 61; brig. gen. vol. may, 13, 61, acc. aug. 14, 61; maj. gen. vol. nov. 29, 62, acc. apr. 4, 63; col. bvt. dec. 13, 62, "for gal, and mer. ser. in the battle of Fredericksburg, Va."; lt. col. 3 cav. mar. 30, 64; brig. gen. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal, and mer. ser. in the field dur. the war"; col. 21 inf. july 28, 66, acc. oct. 16, 66; must. out of vol. ser. sept. 1, 66; retired aug. 16, 71, "for disability resulting from disease contracted in line of duty" [act aug. 3, 61, secs. 16 and 17].

.

- 48. ALLEN, ROBERT, July 28, 66. [Born in Ohio; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 32; bvt. 24, 2 art. july 1, 36; 24, aug. 46, 36; 14, july 7, 38; capt. a. qu, may 11, 46, acc, may 22, 46; mai, bvt. apr. 18, 47, "for gal, and mer, cond. in the bat-tle of Cerro Gordo"; capt. 2 art. oct. 19, 47; eee. line com. oct. 19, 47; maj. qu, may 17, 61; the of Cerro Corto (1940) (2010) 2010, 19,47; 000, 100,000, 00, 00, 00, 10, 44; 100, qui may 17, 61; col, a. a. d. e. feb. 19, 62, acc. apr. 4, 62; brigg gen. vol. may 23, 63, acc. may 28, 63; 14, col. bvt., col. bvt., and brigg gen. bvt. july 4, 64; maj. gen. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith, and mer. ser. dur. the war"; maj. gen. vol. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith, and mer. ser. dur. the war"; col. a. qu, gen. july 28, 66; acc. coct. 1, 66; *must.* out of vol. ser. sept. 1, 66; *retired* mar. 21, 78, having served over forty years [sec. 1243, rev. stats.].

49. PITCHER, THOMAS G., July 28, 66. [Born in Ind.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 41; bct. 2 lt. 5 inf. july 1, 45; 2 lt. 8 inf. sept. 21, 46; 1 lt. bvf. aug. 20, 47, "for gal. and mer. cond, in the battles of Contreras and Churabusco"; regtl. qm. 8 inf. ¹⁷ for gai, and mer, cond, in the battles of Contretras and Charnbusco⁻⁺; reg11, qu. 8 inf., ect. 2, 48 to july 9, 49; 11t, june 26, 49; reg11, aqi' july 9, 49, to july 1, 54; reg11, qu, july 1, 54; to mar, 5, 57; capt. oct. 19, 58; maj. byt. aug. 9, 62, "for gal, and mer, ser, in the battle of Cedar Mountain, Va.", brig, gen, vol. nov. 29, 62, acc, apr. 4, 63; mrj, 16 inf. sept. 19, 63; lt. col. byt. and col. byt, mar. 13, 65, "for gal, and mer, ser, dur, the war"; brig, gen, byt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal, and mer, ser, dur, the war"; brig, gen, byt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal, and mer, ser, dur, the war"; *must, out* of vol. ser, apr. 30, 66; col. 44 inf. july 28, 66, acc, aug. 11, 66; unassd, mar, 15, 68; assd, to 1 inf. dec. 15, 70; *retired* june 28, 78, "for wounds received in line of duly" [sec, 125], ex. state 1. rev. stats.].

50. REYNOLDS, JOSEPH J., July 28, 66. [Born in Ky.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 39; bvt. 2 lt. 4 art. july 1, 43; 2 lt. 3 art. may 11, 46; 1 lt. mar. 3, 47; resgd. feb. 28, 57; col. 10 Ind. vol. apr. 25, 61; brig. gen. vol. may 17, 61, acc. june 14, 61; resgd. jan. 25, 62; brig. gen. vol. sept. 17, 62, "for mer. ser. in West Virginia," acc. nov. 10, 62; maj. gen. vol. nov. 29, 62, acc. feb. 2, 63; most. ord of vol. ser. sept. 1, 66; col. 26 inf. july 28, 66, acc. sept. 21, 66; brig. gen. bvt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Chickamanga, Ga."; maj. gen. bvt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Sionary Ridge"; unassd. mar. 15, 69; assd. to 25 inf. jan. 8, 70; trs. to 3 cav. dec. 15, 70; retired june 25, 77, "for disability resulting from disease contracted in line of duty" [sec. 125] rest stal. 1251, rev. stats.].

51. GREGG, JOHN L, July 28, 66. [Born in Pa.; appld. from Pa.]— Pvt. co. D, 2 Pa. vol. dec. 29, 46; 1 lt. inf. feb. 18, 47, acc. apr. 14, 47; 1 lt. 11 inf. to rank from apr. 9, 47; eapt. sept. 5, 47; disbonded ang. 14, 48; eapt. 6 eav. may 14, 61, acc. june 21, 61; eol. 16 Pa. cav. nov. 14, 62; maj. bvt. mar. 17, 63, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Kelly's Ford, Va."; lt. col. bvt. oct. 12, 63, "for gal. and mer. ser. in action at Subjour Springs, Va."; brig, gen. vol. bvt. aug. 1, 64, "for gal. and dis. ser. in the engage-ment at the defences of Richmond on the Brock Turnpike, and at Trevellian Station"; whether of the trevelling spring and the spring spring the spring spr col. bvt. oct. 7, 64, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Deep Bottom, Va."; brig. gen. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal, and mer. ser. in the field dur. the war"; maj. gen. vol. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal, and mer, ser."; must. out of vol. ser, ang. 11, 65; col. 8 cav. july 28, 66, acc. oct. 9, 66; retired apr. 2, 79, "for disability resulting from disease contracted in line of duty" [sec. 1251, rev. stats.].

52. SWAYNE, WAGER, July 28, 66. [Born in Ohio; apptd. from Ohio.]— Maj. 43 Ohio vol. aug. 31, 61; ht. col. dec. 14, 61; col. oct. 18, 62; brig. gen. vol. bvt. feb. 5, 65; brig. gen. vol. mar. 8, 65, acc. apr. 25, 65; maj. gen. vol. june 20, 65, acc. may 21, 66; coll 45 inf july 28, 66, acc. sept. 10, 66; brig, gen. byt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal, and mer. ser. in the action of Rivers' Bridge, S. C."; maj, gen. byt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal, and mer. ser. dur. the war"; must. out of vol. ser. sept. 1, 67; unassd. mar. 15, 69; retired july 1, 70, "for loss of right leg from wound received in line of duty" [act ang. 3, 61, secs. 16 and 17].

- DE TROBRIAND, PHILIP R., July 28, 66. [Born in France; apptd. from N. Y.]— Col. 55 N. Y. vol. aug. 28, 61; col. 38 N. Y. vol. dec. 21, 62; must. out nov. 21, 63; brig. gen. vol. jan. 5, 64, acc. may 2, 64; maj. gen. vol. bvt. apr. 9, 65, "for highly mer. ser. dur, the recent campaign terminating with the surrender of the insurgent army under Gen, R. E. Lee"; *must. out* jan. 15, 66; col. 31 inf. july 28, 66, acc. oc. 31, 66; brig. gen. byt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. dur. the war"; trs. to 13 inf. mar. 15, 69; *retired* mar. 20, 79, at his own request, being over sixty-two years of age [sec. 1244, rev. stats.].
- 54. BABBITT, EDWIN B., July 29, 66. [Born in Conn.; apptd. from M. A.]-

Cadet july 1, 22; bvt. 2 lt. 3 inf, july 1, 26; 1 lt. mar. 31, 34; capt. a. qm. july 7, 38, acc. july 26, 38; capt. 3 inf, july 1, 39; wae. line com. june 18, 46; maj. bvt. may 30, 48, "for mer. cond. while serving in the eneny's country"; maj. qm. may 10, 61; 11. col. dep. qm. gen. aug. 3, 61; col. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith, and mer. ser. dur. the war"; brig. gen. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith, and mer. ser. in the qm. dept. dur. the war"; col. asst. qm. gen. july 29, 66; *retired* july 29, 66, being over sixty-two years of age [act july 17, 62, sec. 12].

- CLARY, ROBERT E., July 29, 66. [Born in Mass.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 23; bvt. 2 lt. inf. july 1, 28; 2 lt. 5 inf. july 1, 28; 1 lt. apr. 1, 36; capt. a. qm. july 7, 38, acc. aug. 14, 38; capt. 5 inf. apr. 3, 39; vac. line com. june 18, 46; junj. qm. may 17, 61; col. a. a. d. c. july 5, 62, acc. july 10, 62; lt. col. dep. qm. gen. apr. 15, 64; col.
- OAKES, JAMES, July 31, 66. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 42; hvt. 2 lt. 2 drag. july 1, 46; 1 lt. bvt. mar. 25, 47, "for gal. and mer. cond. in the affair at Medelin"; 2 lt. 2 drag. july 29, 47; capt. bvt. sept. 8, 47, "for gal. mar. 30, 65, " for mer, and faith, ser, in the recruitment of the armies of the United States" col. 6 cav. july 31, 66; retired apr. 29, 79, at his own request, having served over thirty years [sec. 1243, rev. stats.].
- 57. GRIER, WILLIAM N., Ang. 31, 66. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from M. A.]--Cadet sept. 1, 31; bvt. 2 It. 1 drag. july 1, 35; 2 It. june 15, 26; 1 It. apr. 14, 38; capt. and mer, ser. dur, the war''; col. 3 cav. aug. 31, 66; *retired* dec. 15, 70, at his own request, having served over thirty years [act july 15, 70, sec. 4].
- CULLUM, GEORGE W., Mar. 7, 67. [Born in N. Y.: apptd. from M. A.]— Uadet july 1, 29; bvt. 2 lt. eng. july 1, 33; 2 lt. apr. 20, 36; capt. july 7, 38; maj. aug. 6, 61; col. a. d. c. aug. 6, 61, acc. sept. 6, 61; brig. gen. vol. nov. 1, 61, acc. nov. 15, 61; lt. col. eng. mar. 3, 63; col. byt. and brig, gen. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith, and mer. ser. dur. the war"; maj. gen. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith, mer., and dis. ser. dur. the war"; *must.* out of vol. ser. sept. 1, 66; col. eng. mar. 7, 67; retired jan. 13, 74, being over sixty-two years of age [sec, 1244, rev. stats.].
- 59. SIMPSON, JAMES H., Mar, 7, 67. [Born in N. J.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet sept. 1, 28; bvt. 24t. 3 art. july 1, 32; 24t. nov. 30, 33; 14t. apr. 30, 37; 14t. top. eng. july 7, 38; capt. mar. 3, 53; maj. aug. 6, 61; col. 4 N. J. vol. ang. 12, 61; resed. vol. com. aug. 24, 62; trs. to eng. mar. 3, 63; 4t. col. june 1, 63; col. bvt. mar. 13, 65; "for mer. ser. dur. the war"; brig. gen. bvt. mar. 13, 65; "for faith, and mer. ser. dur. the war"; col. eng. mar, 7, 67; retired mar, 31, 80, having served over forty consecutive years laws 129; nov. dots 1. [sec. 1243, rev. stats.].
- 60. FLOYD JONES, DE LANCEY, June 25, 67. [Bern in N. Y.; apptd. from M. A.]-Cadet july 1, 41; byt. 2 lt. 7 inf. july 1, 46; 2 lt. 4 inf. nov. 27, 46; 1 lt. byt. sept. 8, 47, "for gal, and mer. cond. in the battle of Molino del Rey"; 1 lt. 4 inf. jan. 1, 48; capt. july 31, 54; indj. 11 inf. may 14, 61, acc. ang. 26, 61; It. col. bet. july 4, 62, " for gal, and mer, ser, dut, the Peninsular campaign in Va."; col. byt. july 2, 63, " for gal, and mer, ser, in the battle of Getty shurg, Pa."; It. col. 19 inf. ang. 1, 63; col. 6 inf. june 25, 67; unasad, mar, 15; 69; assd. to 3 inf. jan. 1, 71; retired mar, 20, 79, at his own request, having served over thirty years [sec. 1243, rev. stats.].

61. DOUBLEDAY, ABNER, Sept. 15, 67. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet sept. 1, 38; byt. 2 It. 3, art. july 1, 42; 2 It. 1 art. (cb. 24, 45; 1 It. mar. 3, 47; capt. mar. 3, 55; may, 17 inf. may 14, 61, acc. june 22, 61; brigg gen. vol. (cb. 3, 62, acc. (cb. 28, 62; It. col. byt. sept. 17, 62, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Antictam, Md."; maj. 62; in (60, 60); 29, 62; acc, mar, 28, 63; (c) bet, july 2, 63; \neg tor gal, and mer, ser, in the bat-tle of Gettysburg, $1^{\rm a}$, γ ; It, col. 17 inf, sept. 20, 63; brig, gen, bet, and maj, gen, bet, mar, 13, 65, \neg for gal, and mer, ser, dur, the war'', *must*, *out* of vol. ser, aug. 24, 65; (col. 35 inf, sept. 15, 67; massd, mar, 15, 69; assd. to 24 inf, dec. 15, 70; retired dec. 11, 73, at his own request, having served over thirty years [sec. 1243, rev. stats.].

62. PALMER, INNIS N., June 9, 68. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from Μ. Α.]--Cadet july 1, 42; byt. 2 lt. m. rif. july 1, 46; 2 lt. july 20, 47; 1 lt. byt. aug. 20, 47, "for conce july 1, 42; byt. 24, m. rit. july 1, 40; 2(6, july 20, 4); 1(1, byt. aug. 20, 47, "107 gal, and mer. cond. in the battles of Contreras and Churubusco"; capt. byt. sept. 13, 47, "for gal, cond, at Chapultepee"; regtl, adj't m. rif, may 1, 50, to july 1, 54; 1 h, jan, 27, 53; capt. 2 cay, mar. 3, 55, acc. mar. 25, 55; maj. 2 cay, 15 cay, 1 apr. 25, 61; it. col. byt. july 21, 61, "for gal, and mer. ser, in the battle of Bull Run, Va.", brig, gen. vol. sept. 23, 61, acc. oct. 1, 61; ht, col. 2 cay, sopt. 23, 63; col. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal, and mer, ser, dur, the mar.", height mer the mark 25, bott mer and inter ser, in the fattle mer ser in the fattle mer the mark learner in the fattle mer ser in the settle settle fattle mer ser in the fattle settle sett war"; brig. gen. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for long and mer. ser, in the field dur, the war"; maj. gen. vol. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for long and mer. ser,"; *must. out* of vol. ser, jan. 15, 66; col. 2 cav. june 9, 68; *retired* mar. 20, 79, at his own request, having served over thirty years [sec. 1243, rev. stats.].

- 63. GRANGER, ROBERT S., Ang. 16, 71. [Born in Ohio; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 33; 24, 1 inf. july 1, 38; 14, mar. 14, 39; capt. sept. 8, 47; maj. 5 inf. sept. 9, 61; col. byt. oct. 9, 62, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Lawrenceburg, Ky."; brig. gen. vol. oct. 29, 62, acc. nov. 8, 62; brig. gen. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the defence of Decatur, Ala."; maj. gen. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. dur. the war"; it. col. 11 inf. june 12, 65; must. out of vol. ser. ang. 24, 65; trs. to 16 inf. mar. 15, 69; col. 21 inf. aug. 16, 71; retired dec. 10, 73, at his own request, having served over thirty years [sec. 1243, rev. stats.].
- 64. WALLEN, HENRY D., Feb. 19, 73. [Born in Ga.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet sept 1, 36; bvi. 2 lt. 3 inf. july 1, 40; 2 lt. 4 inf. oct. 4, 40; 1 lt. sept. 9, 46; regtl. adj't feb. 1, 49; to jan. 31, 50; capt. jan. 31, 50; maj. 7 inf. nov. 25, 61; lt. col. bvt. and col. bvt. feb. 23, 65, "for mer. ser! rendered by bim in New Mexico dur. the war"; brig. gen. bvt. mar. 13, 65; "for faith. and mer. ser. dur. the war"; 1t. col. 14 inf. july 30, 65; mass.d. mar. 15, 69; assd. to 8 inf. dec. 15, 70; col. 2 inf. feb. 19, 73; retired feb. 18, 74, "for disability re-celling form discuss entracted in line of duty" [set 25], ret. set 415.] sulting from disease contracted in line of duty" [sec. 1251, rev. stats.].
- WOODS, CHARLES R., Feb. 18, 74. [Born in Ohio; apptd. from M. A.]-Cadet july 1, 48; hyt. 2 lt. 1 inf. july 1, 52; 2 lt. july 31, 52; 2 lt. 9 inf. mar. 3, 55; 1 lt. oct. 16, 55; capt, apr. i, 61; col. 56 Ohio vol. cot. 13, 61; it. col. bvt, july 4, 63, "for gal, and mer. ser. in the capture of Vicksburg, Miss."; brig, gen. vol. aug. 4, 63, acc. aug. 22, 63; col. bvt, nov. 24, 63, "for gal, and mer. cond. in the battle of Chattanooga, Tenn."; maj. 18 inf. apr. 20–64; maj. gen. vol. bvt. nov. 22, 64, "for long and continued ser, and for special gallantry at Griswoldville, (fa.": brig. gen. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battles before Atlanta, Ga.": maj. gen. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Bentonville, N. C."; must. out of vol. ser. sept. 1, 66; trs. to 27 inf. sept. 21, 66; H. col. 23 inf. july 28, 66, acc. sept. 15, 66; unassd. mar. 15, 69; assd. to 5 inf. mar. 24, 60; col. 2 int. feb. 18, 74: retired dec. 15, 74, "for disability resulting from disease contracted in line of duty" [sec. 1251, rev. stats.].
- 66. CALLENDER, FRANKLIN D., June 23, 74. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 35: bvt. 2 lt. ord. july 1, 39: 2 lt. nov. 16, 39: 1 lt. bvt. may 1, 42. "for active and highly mer. ser. in the war against the Florida Indians"; 1 lt. ord. may 3, 47: capt. byt, aug. 20, 47, "for gal, and mer, coud, in the battles of Contreras and Churabusco"; capt. ord, july 1, 53; maj, byt, apr. 14, 62, "for faith, and mer, ser, in his dept."; maj, ord, mar, 3, 63; ft, col. byt, mar, 13, 65, "for faith, and mer, ser, dur, the siege of Corinth, Miss."; col. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith, and mer. ser. in the ord. dept. at St. Louis, Mo."; brig. gen. byt. apr. 9, 65, "for faith and mer. ser. in the ord. dept."; It. col. ord. apr. 6, 66; col. june 23, 74; retired may 29, 79, being over sixty-two years of age [see, 1244, rev. stats.].

67. WOODWARD, GEORGE A., Jan. 10, 76. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Pa.]-

Capt. 2 Pa. res. vet. orps may 27, 61; maj. apr. 2, 62; 3t. col. feb. 20, 63; maj. vet. res. corps aug. 24, 63, acc. aug. 30, 63; 1t. col. sept. 25, 63, acc. oct. 2, 63; col. dec. 4, 63, acc. dec. 22, 63; *must. out* july 20, 66; 11, col. 45 inf, july 28, 66, acc. sept. 26, 66; col. 00; 4, 63, acc. 00; 27, 63; *must. out* july 20, 66; 11, col. 45 inf, july 28, 66, acc. sept. 26, 66; col. bvt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal, and mer. ser, in the battle of Gettysburg, Pa."; trs. to 14 inf, mar 15, 69; col. 15 inf, jan. 10, 76; *retired* mar. 20, 79, "for disability resulting from wound received in line of duty" [see, 125], rev. stats.].

68. ROBERTS, JOSEPH, Jan. 10, 77. [Born in Del.; apptd. from M. A.]-

Calct sept 1, 31; bet, 21t, 4 art, july 1, 35; 21t, june 10, 36; 1 ft, july 7, 38; capt. aug. 20, 48; maj. sept. 3, 61; col. 3 Pa. art, mar, 19, 63; ft, col. 4 art, aug. 11, 63; col. bvt. mar, 13, 65, "for faith, and mer. ser. dur, the war"; brig. gen. bvt. mar, 13, 65, "for mer, and dis. ser, dur, the war"; brig. gen. vol. bvt. apr. 9, 65, "for mer, and dis. ser, dur, the war"; must. out of vol. ser, nov. 13, 65; col. 4 art, jan. 10, 77; retired july 2, 77, being over sixty-two years of age [sec. 1244, rev. stats.].

69. FRENCH, WILLIAM H., July 2, 77. [Born in Md. ; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 33; 2 lt. 1 art. july 1, 37; 1 lt. july 9, 38; capt. bvt. apr. 18, 47, "for gal. and mer. cond. in the battle of Cerro Gordo"; maj. bvt. ang. 20, 47, "for gal. and mer. cond. in the battles of Contreras and Churnhusco"; capt. 1 art. sept. 22, 48; brig: gen. vol. sept. 28, 61, acc. oct. 24, 61; maj. 2 art. oct. 26, 61; 1t. col. bvt. june 1, 62, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battles of Fair Oaks, Va."; col. bvt. sept. 17, 62, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Antietam, Md."; maj. gen. vol. nov. 29, 62, acc. feb. 1, 63; lt. col. 2 art. feb. 8, 64; must. out of vol. ser. may 6, 64; brig. gen. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Chancellorsville, Va."; maj. gen. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. on: the battle of Chancellorsville, Va."; maj. gen. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. on: the battle of 24, 4 art. july 2, 77; retired july 1, 80, at his own request, being over sixty-two years of aze fsee. 1244, rev. stats.]. age [sec. 1244, rev. stats.].

Colonels-Continued.

- 70. ELLIOTT, WASHINGTON L., Apr. 4, 78. [Born in Pa.: apptd. from Pa.]-Cadet july 1, 41; respl. jnne 30, 44; 2 lt. m. rif. may 27, 46, acc. june 2, 46; 1 lt. july 20. ture of Island No. 10, on the Mississippi River''; col. bvt. may 30, 62, '' for gal. and met. ser, in the raid on the Mississippi and Ohio R. R., and in the siege of Corinth, Miss.'': brig. gen. vol. june 11, 62, acc. june 29, 62; brig. gen. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal, and mer. ser. in the battle of Nashville, Tenn.": maj. gen. vol. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal, and mer. ser. in the battles before Nashville, Tenn. "; maj. gen. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the field dur, the war": *must, out* of vol. ser. mar. 1, 66; It. col. 1 cav. ang. 31, 66; col. 3 cav. apr. 4, 78; *retired* mar, 20, 79, at his own request, having served over thirty years [see. 1243, rev. stats].
- - 71. HINKS, EDWARD W., Dec. 15, 70. [Born in Me.; apptd. from Mass.] 2 It. 2 cav. apr. 26, 61, acc. may 1, 61; It. col. 8 Mass. vol. apr. 30, 61; col. may 16, 61; resgd. con. of 2 1t, 2 civ, june 4, 61; most, ort of vol. ser. and 1; b); of 19 Miss, vol. ang, 3, 61; brig, gen, vol. nov. 29, 62, acc, apr. 28, 63; maj, gen, vol. bvt, mar. 13, 65, "for gal, and mer. ser,"; respl. june 30, 65; It, col. 40 inf, july 28, 66, acc, sept. 17, 66; col. bvt, mar. 2, 67, "for gel, and mer, ser, in the battle of Antietam, Md."; Ibrig, gen, Ivt, Ivt, nar.2, 67, "for gal, and mer, ser, in the assault on Petersburg, Va."; trs. to 25 inf mar, 15, 69; *retired* with rank of col. dec. 15, 70. "for wounds received in line of duty." [acts aug. 3, 61, secs. 16 and 17; july 28, 66, sec. 32].

 - STARR, SAMPEL H., Dec. 15, 70. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from Army.]— Pyt. co. G. 4 art. oct. 27, 32; corpl. jan. 11, 34; sergt. <u>10</u>, -1; disclinal, oct. 26, 37; pyt. Fyt. co. G. J art. ed. 2a, 32; corpl. <u>Jan</u>. 11, 34; sergt. <u>Jan</u>. <u>4</u>, 46; byt. 20, 57; pyt. co. A, batt. eng. june 23, 65; corpl. <u>Jan</u>. <u>1</u>, 34; sergt. nov. 1, 46; byt. 21; 2 drag. june 28, 48; "for dis, ser, in the Mexican war," ace, july 13, 48; 2 ft, july 13, 48; 1 ft, nov. 10, 51; capt. june 14, 58; col. 5 N. J. vol. aug. 24, 61; maj. byt. may 4, 62, "for gal, and mer. ser, in the battle of Williamsburg, Va."; reggd. com. of col. 5 N. J. vol. oct, 20, 62; maj. 6 cav. apr.25, 63; ft, col. byt. june 21, 63, "for gal, and mer. ser, in action at Upperville, Va."; col. byt. july 2, 63, "for gal, and mer. ser, in the Gettysburg campaign."; retired with rank of col. dec. 15, 70, "for loss of right arm from wounds received in line of duty." [acts aug. 3, 61]. sees, 16 and 17; july 28, 66, sec. 32].
 - 73. MARSHALL, ELISHA G., Sept. 11, 67. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 45; bvt. 2 lt. 4 inf. july 1, 50; 2 lt. 6 inf. may 15, 51; 4 lt. mur. 26,55; capt. may 14, 61; col. 13 N. Y. vol. app. 20, 62; maj. bvt. june 27, 62, " for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Gaines' Mill, Va."; lt. col. bvt. dec. 13, 62, " for gal and mer. ser. in the battle of line of duty" [acts aug. 3, 61, sees. 16 and 17; july 28, 66, see, 32].
 - 74. RODENBOUGH, THEOPHILU'S F., Dec. 15, 70. [Born in P.a.; apptd. from Pa.]-2 lt. 2 drag, mar. 27, 61, acc. apr. 8, 61; 4 lt. may 14, 61; capt. 2 cav. july 17, 62; maj. bvt. sept. 19, 64, " for gal, and mer, ser, in the battles of Trevillian Station and Opequan, Va." sept. 19, 64, "tor gai, and mer, ser, in the battles of Trevillian Station and Opequan, Va. ; It, col. byt. mar 13, 65, "for gal, and mer, ser, dur, the war"; col. byt. mar, 13, 65, "for gal, and mer, ser, in the battle of Told's Tayern, Va."; brig, gen, byt. mar, 13, 65, "for gal, and mer, ser, in the battle of Cold Harbor, Va."; brig, gen, vol. byt. mar, 13, 65, "for gal, and mer, ser, in the battle of Cold Harbor, Va."; brig, gen, vol. byt. apr, 13, 65, "for gal, and mer, ser, dur, the war"; col. 18 Pa, cay, apr, 29, 65; most, out of vol. ser, oct, 31,65; maj, 42 inf, july 28, 66, acc, sept. 24, 66; massed, mar, 15, 69; retired with rank of col. dec. 15, 70, "for loss of right arm from wounds received in line of daty" [acts ang, 3, 6], sees, 16 and 17, july 28, 66, acc. 201 16 and 17; july 28, 66, sec. 32].
 - LEWIS, JOHN R., Apr. 28, 70. [Born in Pa. : apptd. from Vt.] --Sergt. co. H. 1 Vt. vol. may 2, 61; discheft, aug. 15, 61; capt. 5 Vt. vol. sept. 16, 61; maj. july 16, 62; H. col. oct. 6, 62; col. june 5, 64; most, out sept. 11, 64; col. vet. res. corps sept. 8. 64, acc, sept. 12, 64; brig gen, vol. yt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. ser. in the Wilderness, Va."; most, out nar, 31, 67; maj. 44 int, jan. 22, 67, acc, apr. 1, 67; ht col. byt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser, in the battle of White Oak Swamp, Va."; col. byt. mar. 2, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser, in the battle of the Wilderness, Va."; unassel, mar. 15, 69; refired with rank of col. apr. 28, 70, "for loss of right arm from wounds received in line of duty" [acts aug. 3, 61, sees. 16 and 17; july 28, 66, sec. 32].
- 76. YATES, THEODORE, Nov. 1, 67. [Born in Mo.; apptd. from Mo.]— Capt. 1 Mo. vol. apr. 25, 61; must. out oct. 10, 61; capt. 13 inf. ang. 5, 61, acc. oct. 11, 61; maj. byt, july 4, 63, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the siege of Vicksburg, Miss."; trs. to 31 inf. sept. 21, 66; retired with rank of col. nov. 1, 67, "for wounds received in line of duty" (acts aug. 3, 61, secs. 16 and 17; july 28, 66, sec. 32].

- 77. WALKER, MOSES B., July 28, 66. [Born in Ohio; app(d. from Ohio.]— Capt. 12 inf. ang. 23, 61, acc. nov. 15, 61; col. 31 Ohio vol. sept. 27, 61; maj. bvt. and It. col. hvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. dur. the war"; brig. gen. vol. bvt. mar. 27, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. dur. the war"; *most. out of* vol. ser. july 20, 65; *retired*, feb. 19, 66, "for wounds received in line of duty" [act, ang. 3, 6], sees. 16 and 17]; retired with rank of col. july 28, 66 [act july 28, 66, sec. 32].
- 78. KILPATRICK, ROBERT L., Dec. 15, 70. [Born in Scotl'd; apptd. from Ohio.]— Capt. 5 Ohio vol. may 9, 61; lt. col. apr. 8, 63; mnst. out ang. 17, 64; capt. vet. res. corps sept. 28, 64, acc. oct. 14, 64; maj. vol. bvt. and lf. col. vol. bvt. mar. 13, 65, " for gal. and mer. sept. 28, 64, acc. oct. 14, 64; maj. con byt. and ri. col. cot. byt. mar. 56, 65, - 16f gat and mer. ser. dur. the war"; *must. out* june 30, 66; capt. 42 inf. july 28, 66, acc. sept. 10, 66; maj. byt. mar. 2, 67, "for gallantry in the battle of Port Republic june 9, 62"; h. col. byt. mar. 2, 67, "for gallantry in the battle of Chancellorsville, Va."; unassd. apr. 22, 69; *retired* with rank of eol. dec. 15, 70. " for loss of right arm from wounds received in line of daty" [acts aug. 3, 61, secs. 16 and 17; july 28, 66, sec. 32].
- 79. MCNETT, ANDREW J., Dec. 15, 70. [Born in N. Y.: apptd. from N. Y.]— Capt. 93 N. Y. vol. oct. 11, 61; must. out june 12, 63; It. col. 141 N. Y. vol. feb. 13, 64; must. out june 8, 65, paid to june 25, 65; brig, gen. vol. bvt. july 28, 66, "for dis. ser. in the bat-tles of Resaca, Dallas, Culp's Farm, and Peach Tree Creek "; capt. 44 int. july 28, 66, acc. oct. 3, 66; maj. bvt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Resaca, Ga."; It. col. bvt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Peach Tree Creek, Ga."; unassd. may 27, 69; retired with rank of col. dec. 15, 70, "for loss of right arm from wounds received in line of duty" [acts ang. 3, 61, sees. 16 and 17; july 28, 66, sec. 32].
- CATLIN, ISAAC S., May 6, 70. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from N. Y.]— Capt. 3 N. Y. vol. may 14, 61; *resyd.* mar. 14, 62; lt. col. 109 N. Y. vol. aug. 28, 62; col. july 29, 64; by J. vol. may 14, 61; *respandar.* 14, 62; it controls N. 1, vol. ang, 28, 62; col. jiny 29, 64; by gen, vol. by mar. 13, 65, "for gal, and mer. ser. in the battles before Petersburg, Va."; *must. out* june 4, 65, paid to june 6, 65; capt. 45 inf. may 6, 67, acc. may 10, 67; maj. by t. may 6, 67, "for gal, and mer. ser. in the battle of the Wilderness, Va."; the coll by may 6, 67, "gal, and mer. ser. in the battle of Petersburg, Va."; unassd. july 22, 69; *retired* with rank of col. may 6, 70, "for loss of right leg from wound received in line of duty" [acts ang. 3, 61, secs. 16 and 17; july 28, 66, sec. 32].
- St. PULFORD, JOHN, Mar. 13, 78. [Born in N. Y.; appfd. from Mich.]-

1 lt. 5 Mich. vol. ang. 28, 61; capt. may 15, 62; maj. jan. 1, 63; lt. col. may 3, 63; col. july 1 If 5 Mrch, vol. ang. (5, 6); capt, may 15, 62; maj, Jan, 1, 65; ft con, may 5, 65; col, jiny 12, 64; higg, gen, vol. bvt, mar, 13, 65; "for good cond, and mer, ser, dur, the war"; *maxt*, out july 5, 65; paid to july 14, 65; 2 lt, and 1 lt, 19 inf, feb, 23, 66, acc, apr. 21, 66; trs. to 37 inf, sept. 21, 66; unassd, may 19, 69; *reticed* with rank of col. dec. 15, 70, "for wounds received in line of duty" [acts aug 3, 61, secs, 16 and 17; july 28, 66, sec, 32]; reduced to lt, col. mar, 3, 75 [act mar, 3, 75, sec, 2]; restored to col. mar, 13, 78 [act mar, 13, 78].

 PRESTÓN, ALBERT W., July 25, 76. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from N. Y.]— 1 sergt. co. F, 13 N. Y. vol. may 14, 61; dischad. nov. 22, 61; 1 lt. 25 N. Y. vol. nov. 22, 61; capt. jan. 1, 62; *must.* out sept. 22, 62; capt. vet. res. corps' june 8, 63, acc. june 12, 63; maj. vol. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the various actions on the Peninsula, from Hanover C. II. to Malvern Hill, and also in the battle of Antietam, Md."; *must. out* sept. Transver C. H. & bar with Him and bas of the barrie barrie of Entretoin State $\frac{1}{2}$ matrix of the state $\frac{1}{2}$ matrix $\frac{1}{2}$ matrix capt. mar. 3, 75 [act mar. 3, 75, sec. 2]; restored to col. july 25, 76 [act july 25, 76].

Professors, with retired pay of Colonel.

- 83. BARTLETT, WILLIAM H. C., July 15, 70. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 22: bvt. 2 lt. eng. july 1, 26; 2 lt. july 1, 26: prof. M. A. apr. 20, 36; retired with pay of col. fcb. 14, 71, at his own request, being over sixty-two years of age [acts july] 17, 62, sec. 12; july 15, 70, sec. 13].
- WEIR, ROBERT W., July 15, 70. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from N. Y.]— Teacher M. A. may 8, 34; prof. M. A. aug. 8, 46; *retired* with pay of col. july 25, 76, being over sixty-two years of age [sees. 1244 and 1333, rev. stats.].
- 85. KENDRICK, HENRY L., LL, D., Feb. 28, 73. [Born in N. H.; appfd. from M. A.]— Cadet sept. 1, 31; bvt. 2 lt. 2 int. july 1, 35; 2 lt. apr. 1, 36; trs. to 2 art. june 16, 36; 1 lt. june 20, 37; capt. june 18, 46; maj. bvt. oct. 12, 47, "for gal. and mer. cond. in the defence of Pracht", prof. M. A. mar. 3, 57; brig. gen. vol. sept. 23, 61, declined ; retired with pay of col. dec. 13, 80, at his own request, having served over forty-five years and being over interference of program. Sector 10, 100 and 100 arts of the pay of col. dec. 13, 80, at his own request, having served over forty-five years and being over sixty-two years of age [secs. 1244 and 1333, rev. stats.].

Lieutenant Colonels.

- RUFF, CHARLES F., June 10, 61. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet sept. 1, 34; 2 lt. 1 drag. july 1, 38; respl. dec. 31, 43; lt. col. 1 Mo. m. vol. june 18, 46; resgd. sept. 17, 46; capt. m. rif. july 7, 46, acc. aug. 22, 46; maj. bvt. aug. 1, 47, "for gal. and mer. cond. in the affair at San Juan de los Llanos, Mex."; maj. m. rif. dec. 30, 56; It, col. 3 cav, june 10, 61; *retired* mar. 30, 64, "for disability resulting from sickness and exposure in line of duty" [act, aug. 3, 61, sees, 16 and 17]; col. byt, and brig, gen. byt, mar. 13, 65, "for faith, and mer, ser, in recruiting the armies of the United States,"
- ALEXANDER, THOMAS L., July 31, 61. [Born in Va.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 26; bvt. 24, 6 inf, july 1, 30; 24, july 1, 30; 14, apr. 18, 37; cap4, july 7, 38; maj. bvt. aug. 20, 47, " for gal, and mer. cond. in the battles of Contreras and Churn-busco"; maj. 8 inf. june 9, 53; 14, col. 5 inf. july 31, 61; retired oct. 16, 63, "for disability resulting from sickness and exposure in line of duty " [act aug. 3, 61, secs. 16 and 17].
- BURKE, MARTIN, Ang. 28, 61. [Born in Md.; appld. from D. C.]-2 R. 8 inf. jan. 28, 20, acc. feb. 2, 20; frs. to 1 inf. june 1, 21; frs. to 3 art. june 12, 23; 1 R. may 1, 28; "capit dec. 1, 38; maj. bvt. ang. 20, 47, "for gal, and mer, could in the battles of Contreras and Churnbusco"; R. col. bvt. sept. 8, 47, "for gal, and mer, could in the battle of Molino del Rey "; maj. 2 art. nov. 11, 56; lt. col. 3 art. ang. 28, 61; retired ang 1, 63, being over sixty-two years of age [act july 17, 62, sec. 12]; col. bvt. and brig. gen. bvt. mar. 13, 65, " for faith, ser, to his country.
- WHITING, DANIEL P., Feb. 15, 62. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 28; bvt. 2 lt. 7 inf july 1, 32; 2 lt. dec. 15, 33; 1 lt. june 8, 36; capt. apr. 18, 45; maj. bvf. apr. 18, 47, " for gal. and mer, cond. in the battle of Cerro Gordo"; maj. 10 inf. dec. 29, 60; 11, col. 6 inf. feb. 15, 62; *retired* nov. 4, 63, ⁽¹⁾ for disability resulting from sickness and exposure in line of duty ⁽¹⁾ [act aug. 3, 61, sees. 16 and 17].
- 90. CHAPMAN, WILLIAM, Feb. 20, 62. [Born in Md.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 27; byt. 2 H. 5 inf.july 1, 31; 2 H. mar. 4, 33; regth. adf theor, 7, 33; to june 30, 58; 1 H. dec, 31, 36; capt. june 8, 45; maj. byt. ang. 20, 47, "for gal. and mer. cond. in the battles of Confretas and Churnbusco"; H. col. byt. sent. 847, "for gal. and mer. cond. in the battles of Confretas and Churnbusco"; H. col. byt. sent. 847, "for gal. and mer. cond. In the battles of Confretas and Churnbusco"; H. col. byt. sent. 847, "for gal. and mer. cond. in the battle of Molino del Rey": maj. 2 inf. feb. 25,61; lt. col.3 inf. feb. 20, 62; col. bvt, aug. 30, 62, "for gal, and mer, ser, in the battle of Bull Run (2d), Va,"; retired aug. 26, g. 30, 62, ""for gal, and mer," ser, in the battle of Bull Run (2d), Va,"; retired ang, 26, "for disability resulting from sickness and exposure in line of duty" [act ang, 3, 61]. 63. sees. 16 and 17].
- 9) PATTEN, GEDRGE W., June 7, 62. [Born in R. I.: apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 26; bvt. 24t. 2 inf. july 1, 30; 24t. july 1, 30; 14t. feb. 13, 37; capt. june 18, 46; maj. bvt. apr. 18, 47, "for gal. and mer. cond. in the battle of Cerro Gordo"; maj. 9 inf. apr. 30, 61; H. col. 2 inf. june 7, 62; retired feb. 17, 64, "f r disability resulting from wounds received and sickness contracted in line of duty" [act aug. 3, 61, secs. 16 and 17].
- 92. LEONARD, HIRAM, Sept. 6, 62. [Born in Vt.; apptd. from N. Y.]— Add. pm. nov. 24, 46, acc. nov. 30, 46; maj. pm. mar. 2, 49; It. col. dep. pm. gen. sept. 6, 62; col. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith, and mer. ser. dur. the war"; brig. gen. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith, and mer. ser, in the pay dept. dur. the war"; retired jan. 1, 72, at his own request, being over sixty-two years of age [act july 17, 62, sec. 12].
- 93. HILL, BENNETT H., Aug. 1, 63. [Born in D.C.; apptd. from M.A.]-Cadet july 1, 33; 24t. 1 art. july 1, 37; 14t. july 9, 38; capt. jan. 12, 48; maj. 2 art. aug. 28, 61; H. col. 5 art, aug. 1, 63; col. byt, and brig, gen. byt, jan. 31, 65; retired dec. 15, 70, at his own request, having served over thirty years [act july 15, 70, sec. 4].
- 94. SITGREAVES, LORENZO, Apr. 22, 64. [Born in Pa.; apptd from M. Λ.]— Cadet july 1, 27; bvt. 2 lt. 1 art. july 1, 32; 2 lt. sept. 30, 33; resgd. aug. 31, 36; 2 lt. top. eng, july 7, 38, acc. -, -, -, -; 11t, july 18, 40; capt, byt, feb. 23, 47, $^{\circ}$ for gal, and mer, cond. in the battles of Buena Vista $^{\circ}$; capt, top, eng, mar, 3, 53; maj, ang, 6, 61; trs to eng, mar, 3, 63; lt, col. apr. 22, 64; *retired* july 10, 66, $^{\circ}$ for disability resulting from long and faith. ser, and exposure in line of duty" [act, ang. 3, 61, sees, 16 and 17].
- 95. WESSELLS, HENRY W., Feb. 16, 65. [Born in Conn.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 29; bvt. 24, 24, inf. july 1, 33; 24, june 28, 36; 14, july 7, 38; capt. feb. 16, 47; maj. bvt. ang. 20, 47, "for gal, and mer. cond. in the battles of Contrerzs and Churubusco³⁷; maj. 6 inf. june 6, 61; col. 8 Kans, vol. sept. 29, 61; resgd. vol. com. feb. 7, 62; brig. gen. vol. apr. 25, 62, acc. may 11, 62; lt. col. byt. may 3], 62, ¹⁴ for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Fair Oaks, Va."; col. bvt, apr. 20, 64, "for gal, and mer, ser, dur, the rebel attack on Plymonth, N. C."; lt. col. 18 inf. feb. 16, 65; brig, gen. bvt, mar, 13, 65, "for gal, and mer, ser, dur, the war"; *must, out* of yol, ser, jan, 15, 66; massd, mar, 15, 69; *retired* jan. 1, 71, at his own request, having served over thirty years (act july 15, 70, sec. 4).
- 96. WALLACE, GEORGE W., Mar. 15, 66. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Pa.]— 241.1 inf. july 4, 39, acc. july 12, 39; 1 ht. mar. 1, 44; capt. june 10, 50; maj. 6 inf. jan. 10, 62; ht. col. 12 inf. mar. 15, 66; *retired* dec. 15, 70, at his own request, having served over thirty years [act july 15, 70, see. 4].

Lieutenant Colonels-Continued.

- 97. MCDOUGALL, CHARLES, July 28, 66. [Born in Ohio; apptd. from Ind.]-Asst. surg. july 13, 32, acc. july 23, 32; surg. july 7, 38; col. bvt. nov. 29, 64; brig. gen bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith, and mer. ser. dur. the war"; lt. col. asst. med. pur. july 28, 66, acc. sept. 21, 66; retired feb. 22, 69, being over sixty-two years of age [act july 17, 62, sec. 12].
- 98. DUNCAN, THOMAS, July 28, 66. [Born in III.; apptd from III.]-1 lt. m. vif. may 27, 46, acc. june 17, 46; capt. mar. 15, 48; maj. june 10, 61; lt. col. bvt. apr. 8, 62, "for gal. and mer. ser. in action near Albuquerque, N. M."; col. bvt. and brig, gen. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for mer. ser. dur. the war": It. col. 5 cav, july 28, 66; *retired* jan. 15, 73, "for wounds received in line of duty" [act ang. 3, 61, secs. 16 and 17].
- 99. HAYMAN, SAMUEL B., Sept. 15, 67. [Born in Pat, apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 38; byt. 2 lt. 1 inf. july 1, 42; 2 lt. 7 inf. july 21, 44; 1 lt. feb. 16, 47; capt. m.n.; 3, 55; col. 37 N. Y. vol. sept. 28, 61; maj. 10 inf. jan. 21, 63; lt. col. byt. may 3, 63, "for gal, and mer. ser, in the battle of Chancellorsville, Va."; must. out of vol. ser, june 22, 63; col. byt. may 6, 64, "for gal, and mer. ser, in the battle of the Wilderness, Va."; brig. gen. vol. byt. may 13, 65, "for gal, ser, in the battle of Fair Oaks, Va."; lt. col. 17 inf. sept. 15, 67; retired july 1, 72, at his own request, having served thirty years [act july 15, 70, sec. 4].
- 100. NELSON, ANDERSON D., Jan. 12, 68. [Born in Ky.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 37, byt. 2 lt. 6 inf. july 1, 41; 2 lt. feb. 10, 42; 1 lt. nov. 18, 49; capt. 10 inf. mar. 3, 55, iace. june 2, 55; maj. 1 inf. mar. 13, 65; lt. col. byt. mar. 13, 65; "for faith, and eff. ser. dur. the war"; col. byt. m. u. 13, 65; "for faith, and mer. ser. dur. the war"; ht. col. 5 inf. jan. 12, 68; massd. mar. 15, 69; assd. to 12 inf. dec. 15, 70; retired june 7, 79, at his own request, having served over thirty years [sec. 1243, rev. stats.].
- 101. WOODRUFF, DICKINSON, Mar. 26, 68. [Born in N. J.; apptd. from N. J.] Capt. 9 inf. mar. 3, 55, acc. mar. 22, 55; maj. 12 inf. may 30, 63; t18, to 21 inf. sept. 21, 66; It. col. 9 inf. mar. 26, 68; unassd. mar. 15, 69; *retired* dec. 15, 70, "for disability resulting from exposure in line of duty" [act. aug. 3, 61, sees. 16 and 17].
- 102. GIBSON, AUGUSTUS A., Apr. 4, 69. [Born in Me.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 35; 2 lt. 2 art. july 1, 39; 1 lt. june 18, 46; capt. july 9, 53; col. 2 Pa. h. art. june 25, 62; maj. 3 art. july 25, 63; mast. out of vol. ser. july 22, 64; lt. col. 3 art. apr. 4, 69; retired dec. 15, 70, at his own request, having served over thirty years [act july 15, 70, sec. 4].
- 103. BOOTES, LEVI C., Jan I, 71. [Born in D C.; appt. from Army.]— Pvt. co. F, m. rif. june 19, 46; sergt, aug. 1, 46; bvt. 2 lt. 6 inf. june 28, 48, "for dis. ser. in the Mexican war," acc. july 25, 48; 2 lt. sept. 28, 48; 1 lt. june 9, 53; capt. june 5, 60; maj. bvt. july 1, 62, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Malvern Hill, Va."; lt. col. bvt. dec. 13, 62, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Fredericksburg, Va."; col. bvt. july 2, 63, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Gettysburg, P.a.", maj. 17 inf. sept. 29, 63; trs. fo 96; for gal. 12 Conversel mer. 15, 50; sept. 45, 90; for gal. 46, 10; for gal. and mer. set. 14, 15, 50; sept. 29, 63; trs. fo 26 inf. sept. 21, 66; unassd. mar. 15, 69; assd. to 20 inf. dec. 15, 70; lt. col. 25 inf. jan. 1, 71; retired oct. 7. 74, being over sixty-two years of age [see, 1244, rev. stats.].
- 104. MONTGOMERY, ALEXANDER, June 6, 72. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 30; bvt. 2 lt. 7 inf. july 1, 34; 2 lt dec. 3, 35; 1 lt. july 7, 38; capt. a. qm. may 11, 46, acc. june 7, 46; capt. 7 inf. feb. 16, 47; vac. line com. feb. 16, 47; mai, qu. may 17, 61; lt. col. dep. qm. gen. june 6, 72; retired jan. 15, 74, at his own request, having served over thirty years [sec. 1243, rev. stats.].
- MCNUITT, JOHN, June 23, 74. [Born in Ohio; apptd. from M. A.]—
 Cadet july 1, 36; bvt. 21t. ord. july 1, 40; 21t. mar. 27, 42; 1 lt. mar. 3, 47; capt. july 1, 54; maj. sept. 12, 64; lt. col. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith. ser. in the ord. dept."; col. bvt. mar. 13, 'for faith, ser, in his dept, dur, the war"; lt. col. ord, june 23, 74; retired may 27, 78, at 65.
- bis own request, having served over thirty years [see, 1243, rev. stats].
 106. MCLEAN, NATHANIEL H., Mar. 3, 75. [Born in Ohio; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 44; byt. 2 lt. 7 inf. july 1, 48; 2 lt. 2 inf. mar. 29, 49; 1 lt. jan. 8, 53; regtl. adj't mar. 24, 55, to sept. 10, 57; bvt. capt. a. a. g. may 11, 61, acc. may 13, 61; capt. a. a. g. aug. 3, 61; maj. a. a. g. july 17, 62; *resqd.* june 24, 64, paid to july 23, 64; lt. col. a. a. g. mar. 18, 75, to rank from mar. 3, 75; *retired* mar. 18, 75, to date from mar. 3, 75 [act mar. 3, 75].
- HUNT, FRANKLIN E., Mar. 3, 77. [Born in N. J.; apptd. from M. A.]—
 Cadet july 1, 24; bvt. 2 lt. 4 art. july 1, 29; 2 lt. july 1, 29; 1 lt. aug. 15, 36; capt. june 18, 46; maj. pm. mar. 2, 55, acc. mar. 7, 55; lt. col. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith. and mer. ser. dur. the war"; lt. col. d. pm. gen. mar. 3, 77; retired june 7, 79, being over sixty two vears of age and having served over forty-five years [sec. 1244, rev. stats.].
- Vears of age and naving served over only-rive years [sec. 124, rev. stats.].
 108. PRINCE, HENRY, Mar. 3, 77. [Born in Me.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet sept. 1, 31; bvt. 2 lt. 4 inf. sept. 18, 35; 2 lt. june 11, 36; 1 lt. july 7, 38; capt. bvt. ang. 20, 47, "for gal. and mer. cond. in the battles of Contreras and Churnbusco"; maj. bvt. sept. 8, 47, "for gal. and mer. cond. in the battle of Molino del Rey"; capt. 4 inf. sept. 26, 47; maj. pm. may 23, 55, acc. —;; brig. gen. vol. apr. 28, 62, acc. may 6, 62; lt. bvt. our 0, 62; "for gal. and mer. cond. in the battle of Coding Mountain Vol." of the list of the sept. 26, 47; maj. pm. may 23, 55, acc. —;; brig. gen. vol. apr. 28, 62, acc. may 6, 62; lt. col. byt, ang. 9, 62, "for gal, and mer, ser, in the battle of Cedar Mountain, Va." "; col. bvt. , " for gal. mar. 13, 65, " for faith, and mer. ser. dur. the war"; brig. gen. bvt. mar. 13, 65, " for gal. and mer. ser. in the field dur. the war"; must. out of vol. ser. apr. 30, 66; lt. col. d. pm. gen. mar. 3, 77; retired dec. 31, 79, being over sixty-two years of age [sec. 1244, rev. stats.].

Lieutenant Colonels-Continued.

- 109. ALLEN, HARVEY A., July 2, 77. [Born in N.C.: apptd. from M.A.]— Cader july 1, 37; 2 11, 2 art, july 1, 41; 1 lt. mar. 3, 47; capt. bct. sept. 8, 47. "for gal, and mer. cond. in the battle of Molino del Key"; capt. 2 art, nov. 25, 54; maj. ang. 1, 63; lt. col. july 2, 77; retired apr. 10, 79, at his own request, having served over thirty years [sec. 1243, rev. stats.].
- 110. WYSE, FRANCIS O., Feb. 19, 79. [Born in Md.; appld. from M. Λ.]— Cadet sept. 1, 33; bvt. 2 lt. 3 art. july 1, 37; 2 lt. july 31, 37; 1 lt. july 31, 38; capt. mar. 3, 47; maj. bvt. july 12, 47, " for gal, and mer, cond. in the affair with the enemy at Calabosa River, Mex.": maj. 4 art. may 14, 61; ft. col. nov. 1, 61; result, july 25, 63; [ft. col. 4 art. add. feb. 19, 79 [act feb. 15, 79], acc. feb. 28, 79; retired feb. 28, 79 [act feb. 15, 79].
- 111. STEWART, JOSEPH, July 18, 79. [Born in Ky.; apptd. from M.A.]-Cadet july 1, 38; bvt. 24t. 1 art. july 1, 42; 24t. 3 art. june 27, 43; 14t. oct. 17, 46; capt. jan. 3, 56; maj. 4 art. dec. 11, 65; lt. col. 3 art. july 18, 79; refired aug. 25, 79, at his own request, having served over thirty years [sec. 1243, rev. stats.].
- 112. MALEY, THOMAS E., Mar. 3, 77. [Born in Ireland; apptd. from Ill.]— Pvt. co. I, 2 cav. may 15, 55; sergt. sept. 25, 55; gu, sergt. 2 cav. feb. 1, 57; dischgd, apr. 15, 60; 1 lt. 6 Pa. cav. sept. 12, 61; hon, dischgd, may 1, 62; 2 lt. 5 cav. apr. 14, 62, acc. may 1, 62; 1 lt bvt, june 27, 62; "for gal, and mer, ser, in the battle of Gaines' Mill, Va."; regtl. adj't june 27, 62; ro dec. 1, 62; 1 lt. 5, cav. july 17, 62; regtl. qm, dec. 1, 62; to nov. 30, 64; capt. bvt, sept. 17, 62; "for gal, and mer, ser, in the battle of Anticiam, Md."; maj, bvt, july 28, 64; "for gal, and mer, ser, in the battle of Anticiam, Md."; maj, bvt, july 28, 64; "for gal, and mer, ser, in the battle of battle, of Anticiam, Md."; seav. july 28, 66; *retired* with rank of 1t, col. dcc, 15, 70, " for wounds received in line of duty" [acts ang. 3, 61, secs. 16 and 17; july 28, 66, sec, 32]; reduced to capt, mar. 3, 75 [act mar. 3, 75]; restored to lt, col. mar. 3, 77 [act mar. 3, 77].
- 113. FREUDENBERG, CHARLES G., Mar. 3, 77. [Born in Germ'y: apptd. from N. Y.]--Capt. 52, N. Y. vol. aug. 3, 61; maj. nov. 9, 61; 41; col. nov. 24, 62; maj. vet. res. corps nov. 26,63; acc. dec. 10, 63; respl. as It. col. 52; N. Y. vol. dec. 11, 63; 41; col. vet. res. corps apr. 22; 64; acc. apr. 26, 64; col. vol. byt. mar. 13, 65; "for gal. and mer. ser. dur. the war"; must. rank of lt, col. mar. 3, 77 [act mar. 3, 77].

114. SHEA, THOMAS, Dec. 15, 70. (Born in Ind.; apptd. from Ind.]—

I.R. 22 Jud. vol. aug. 15, 61; capt. jam. 10, 62; maj. dec. 10, 62; lt. col. may 20, 65; col. june
9, 65; must. out july 21, 65; paid to july 31, 65; 1 h. 44 inf. jan. 22, 67, acc. apr. 1, 67; capt. byt. and ..., 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. in action at Rome, Ga."; th. col. byt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Peach Tree Creek, Ga."; col. byt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. dur. the war"; capt. 44 inf. june 5, 67, acc. june 6, 67; trs. to 17 inf. may 27, 69; retired with rank of lt. col. dec. 15, 70, "for loss of left arm from wounds received in line of duty" [acts ang. 3, 61, secs. 16 and 17; july 28, 66, sec. 32].

115. GHLE, GEORGE W., Mar. 3, 75. [Born in N. H.: apptd. from Pa.]-

1 II. 22 Fa. vol. apr. 23, 61; must, out ang 7, 61; maj 88 Fa. vol. sept. 18, 61; It. col. sept. 1, 62; must, out mar, 2, 63; maj, vet, res. corps may 22, 63, acc. may 25, 63; col. sept. 29, 63, acc. ot, 1, 63; brig, gen, vol. byt, may 6, 65; "for energy and good cond, in assisting to repel the attack on Fort Slocum, D. C."; must, out jan 4, 67; 1 It. 45; inf. july 28, 66, acc. jan. 5, 67; capt, byt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal, and mer. ser. in the battle of Bull Run (2d), Va. maj, byt. mar. 2, 67, " for gal, and mer. ser, in the battle of South Mountain, Md.": R. col. byt. mar. 2, 67, " for gal, and mer. ser, in the battle of Antietam, Md.": capt. 45 inf. fcb. 4, (a) J. J. J. J. J. B. Bol, and mer. set: in the outle of Antheram, Md. : capt. 45 inf. feb. 4, 68; massel. july 22, 69; *retired* with rank of col. dec. 15, 70, ["for wounds received in line of duty" [acts ang. 3, 61, secs. 16 and 17; july 28, 66, sec. 32]; reduced to lt. col. mar. 3, 75 [act mar. 3, 75].

116. AVERY, ROBERT, Dec. 31, 70. [Born in Pa.: apptd. from N. Y.].-Capt. 102 N. Y. vol. dcc. 17, 61; ht. col. jan. 1, 63; most. oct june 27, 64, paid to june 29, 64; ht. col. vol. lvt. mar. 13, 65; "for gal. and mer. ser, in the battle of Chancellorsville, Ya."; col. vol. byt, and brig, gen. vol. byt, mar. 13, 65, "for gal, and mer. ser, in the battle of Lookont Monntain, Tenn."; maj.gen.vol. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser."; maj. vet. res. corps apr. 27, 65, acc. may 22, 65; must. out jan. 8, 67; 14, 44 mf. july 28, 66, acc. jun. 9, Festion 5 apt. 27, 63, are may 27, 65; max. or pails of a reference in the first part of the part o

Lieutenant Colonels-Continued.

117. PERRY, ROBERT C., Dec. 31, 70. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from N. Y.]— Sergt. co. I, 75 N. Y. vol. nov. 2, 61; dischgd. aug. 20, 62; 14t. 111 N. Y. vol. aug. 20, 62; Sergt. co. 1, 75 N. Y. vol. nov. 2, 61; disclayd, aug. 20, 62; 147, 141 N. Y. vol. aug. 20, 62; capt. may 1, 63; must. out nov. 9, 64; capt. vet. res. corps. nov. 30, 64, acc. dec. 2, 64; maj. vol. bvt. and It. col. vol. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal, and mer. ser. due, the war"; must. out july 20, 66; 14, 42 inf, jan. 22, 67, acc. mar. 28, 67; capt. bvt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal, and mer. ser, in the battle of the Wilderness, Va."; maj. bvt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal, and mer. ser, in the battle of Sportsylvania, Va."; unassd. apr. 22, 69; retired with rank of It. col. dec. 31, 70, for wounds received in line of duty" [acts aug. 3, 61, secs. 16 and 17; july 28, effect and 20, and and the second se 66, see. 32].

Majors.

- 118. RANDALL, BURTON, July 7, 38. [Born in Md.; apptd. from Md.]— Asst. surg. oct. 24, 32, acc. nov. 16, 32; surg. july 7, 38; lt. col. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith. and mer. ser. dur. the war"; retired oct. 17, 68, being over sixty-two years of age [act july 17, 62, sec. 12].
- 119. LYNDE, ISAAC, Oct. 18, 55. [Born in Vt.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 23; byt. 2 lt. 5 inf. july 1, 27; 2 lt. july 1, 27; 1 lt. feb. 18, 36; capt. jan. 1, 39, maj. 7 inf. oct. 18, 55; out of ser. nov. 25, 61; restored to ser. as maj. 18 inf. nov. 27, 66, to date from july 28, 66; retired nov. 27, 66, to date from july 28, 66, being over sixty-two years of age [act july 17, 62, sec. 12].
- Asst. surg. mar. 2, 49, acc. apr. 15, 49; surg. may 21, 61; retired aug. 27, 62, "for disability resulting from sickness and exposure in line of duty" [act aug. 3, 61, secs. 16 and 17]. 120. EDGAR, WILLIAM F., May 21, 61. [Born in Ky.; apptd. from Mo.]-
- 121. PRATT, HENRY C., June 14, 61. [Born in Mass.; appid. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 33; 2 ft. 2 art. july 1, 37; 1 ft. dec. 11, 35; capt. bct. oct. 19, 47, "for gal. and mer. cond. in the affair at Atfaxco, Mex."; regtl. adj't jan. 11, 48, to apr. 21, 48; capt. 2 art. apr. 21, 48; maj. pm. june 14, 61, acc. june 14, 61; zac. con. of capt. 2 art, june 14, 61; It. col. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith, and mer. ser. dnr. the war"; retired june 19, 79, "for disability resulting from age and long and faith. ser." [sec. 1251, 1ev. stats.].
- 122. AUSTINE, WILLIAM, July 23, 61. [Born in Conn.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet sept. 1, 33; 2 lb. 2 drag, july 1, 38; trs. to 3 art. july 12, 38; 1 lt. nov. 5, 39; regtl. adj t may 1, 41, to ang 13, 47; capt, ang 13, 47; mai, byt ang 20, 47, "for gal and mer, cond, in the battles of Contreras and Churabusco"; maj, 3 art, july 23, 61; *retired* feb. 20, 62, "for disability resulting from exposure in line of duty" [act ang, 3, 61, secs. 16 and 17]: It. col. bvt. and col. bvt. sept. 28, 65, "for long and faith, ser.
- 123. SMITH, SIMEON, Aug. 29, 61. [Born in N. Y.; apptd from Minn.]— Maj. 2 Minn. vol. july 23, 61; maj. pm. aug. 29, 61, acc. sept. 4, 61; *resgd.* vol. com. sept. 6, 61; lt. col. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith, and mer. ser. dur. the war"; *retired* june 10, 79, being over sixty-two years of age [sec. 1244, rev. stats.].
- 124. JUDD, HENRY B., Nov. I, 61. [Born in Conn.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 35; 24, 3 art. july 1, 39; 14, dec. 26, 40; capt. bvt. mar. 25, 47, "for gal. and mer. cond. in the affair a Medelin"; reglt. ad[74 jan. 20, 48, to june 1, 48; capt. 3 art. feb. 13, 50; nrij. 4 art. nov. 1, 61; retired nov. 21, 61, "for disability resulting from exposure in line of duty" [act aug. 3, 61, sees. 16 and 17]; 16, col. bvt. nov. 13, 65, "for faith, and mer. ser, connected with the mustering and disbanding of the vol. armies of the United States"; col. bvt. nov. 13, 65, "for faith, and mer. ser. connected with the organization of the vol. armies of the United States dur. the war."
- 125. WHITTLESEY, JOSEPHI H., Nov. 12, 61. (Born in N. Y.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 40; bvt. 2 lt. 2 drag, july 1, 44; 2 lt. 1 drag, sept. 18, 45; 1 lt. bvt. feb. 23, 47, "for gal. and mer. cond. in the battle of Baena Vista"; 1 lt. 1 drag, oct. 18, 47; regtl. adj't sept. 30, 51, to oct. 22. 54; capt. oct. 22, 54; maj. 5 cav. nov. 12, 61; refired nov. 30, 63, "for disability resulting from sickness and exposare in line of duty" [act ang. 3, 61, secs. 16 and 17].
- 126. PRINCE, WILLIAM E., Nov. 23, 61. [Born in Mass.; apptd. from Mass.]— 2 lt. 1 inf. aug. 1, 38, acc. aug. 28, 38; 1 lt. nov. 8, 39; capt. bvt. mar. 16, 48, "for gal. and mer. cond. in the battle of Santa Cruz de Rosales, Mex."; capt. 1 inf. aug. 31, 49; mal. 3 inf. nov. 23, 61; retired mar. 30, 64, "for disability resulting from sickness and exposure in line of duty" [act aug. 3, 61, secs. 16 and 17]; lt. col. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith, and mer. ser. during the war." mer, ser, during the war.
- 127. CALDWELL, JAMES N., Feb. 27, 62. [Born in Ohio; appt. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 36; bvt. 2 lt. 2 inf. jnly 1, 40; 2 lt. 1 inf. ang. 5, 40; 4 lt. mar. 31, 47; capt. oct. 26, 50; maj. 18 inf. feb. 27, 62; lt. col. bvt. dec. 31, 62. "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Murfreesbord", Tenn."; retired dec. 29, 63, "for disability resulting from long and faith, ser. and exposure in line of duty" [act. ang. 3, 61, secs. 16 and 17].

Majors-Continued.

- 128. MORRIS, ROBERT M., Mar, 11, 63. [Born in D. C.; apptd. from D. C.]— 2 It. m. rif. may 27, 46, acc. june 11, 46; 1 It. byt. ang. 20, 47, "for gal. and mer. cond. in the battle of Contreras"; capt. byt. sept. 13, 47, "for gal. and mer. cond in the battle of Chapultepee"; 1 It. m. rif. june 8, 48; capt. june 14, 58; maj. byt. feb. 21, 62, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Valverde, N. M."; maj. 6 cay, mar. 11, 63; It. col. byt. mar. 31, 65, "for gal. and for the battle of Valverde, N. M."; maj. 6 (av). Mar. 11, 63; It. col. byt. mar. 31, 65. " for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Dinwiddle C. H., Va."; *retired* feb. 21, 73, " for disability resulting from injury or disease not incident to the ser." [act ang. 3, 61, see, 17].
- 129. TRACY, ALBERT, June I, 63. (Born in N. Y.; appld. from Me.)— 1 lt. inf. feb. 24, 47, acc. mar. 2, 47; 1 lt. 9 inf. apr. 9, 47; capt. bvt. sept. 13, 47, ¹⁶ for gal. and mer. cond. in the battle of ChapHepee⁽²⁾; capt. 9 inf. feb. 23, 48; *disbanded* ang. 26, 48; capt. 10 inf. mar. 3, 55, acc. mar. 21, 55; col. a. a. d. c. mar. 31, 62, acc. apr. 10, 62; maj. 15; inf. june 4, 63; *disclupil*, as col. a. a. d. c. mov. 25, 63; ht. col. bvt. mar. 13, 65, ¹⁶ for mer. ser. dur, the campaign of 1862, under Gen. Fremont, in Virginia ": col. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith, and mer. ser. dur. the war"; *retired* nov. 1, 65, " for disability resulting from dis-case contracted in line of duty" [act, aug. 3, 61, sees. 16 and 17].

- 130. PRIME, FREDERICK E., June I. 63. [Form in Italy; apptd. from M. A.] --Cadet july 1, 46; byt. 24t. eng. july 4, 50; 24t. sept. 13, 53; 14t. july 1, 56; capt. aug. 6, 61; maj. byt. oct. 4, 62, [5] for gal and mer. ser. in the battle of Corinth. Miss. 7; maj. eng. june 1, 63; it, col. byt, july 4, 65; "for gal, and mer, ser, dur, the single of Vicksburg, Miss." brig, gen, vol. aug, 4, 63, *declined*, col. byt, mar, 13, 65; "for gal, and mer, ser, dur, the war," brig, gen. byt. mar. 13, 65, " for gal, and mer, ser, dur, the war"; *retir.d* sept. 5, 71, " for dis-ability resulting from wounds and injuries received in line of duty" (act ang. 3, 61, sees. 16 and 17].
- 131. HASTINGS, DAVID IL, Sept. 23, 63. [Born in Ireland; apptd. from Army.]-Pvt. co. B, 2 inf. july 19, 37; corpl. apr. 21, 38; sergt. nov. 10, 38; dischad, july 18, 40; 1 sergt. co. B, 2 inf. nov. 18, 40; dischad, nov. 17, 45; pvt. co. K, 3 art. dec. 1, 45; corpl. july 1, structure is 2 min movers, we assume that in the result of the result o
- 132. MCARTHUR, JOSEPH H., Sept. 25, 63. [Born in Mo.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 45; bvt. 2 lt. 2 inf. july 1, 49; 2 lt.5 inf. aug. 12, 50; 1 lt. 2 cav. mar. 3, 55, acc. apr. 11, 55; capt. june 28, 60; it. col. 6 Pa. cav. sept. 11, 61; *must. out* of vol. ser. feb. 3, 62; maj. 3 cav. sept. 25, 63; *retired* nov. 2, 63, "for disability resulting from sickness and exposure in line of duty" (act ang. 3, 61, secs. 16 and 17).
- and exposure in line of duty" [act ang. 3, 61, sees. 16 and 17].
 133. BEUKWITH, EDWARD G., Feb. 8, 64. [Born in N. V.; appld, from M. A.]→
 Cadet july 1, 38; 24, 3 art, july 1, 42; 14t, june 18, 46; capt, may 12, 55; col, a, a, d, e, july 5, 62, acc, july 5, 62; maj, 2 art, feb. 8, 64; 1t, col, bet., col, byt., and brig, gen, byt.
 mar. 13, 65; "for faith, and mer. ser. dur, the war"; must, out as col, a, a, d, e, may 30, 66; retired mar. 20, 79, at his own request, having served over thirty years [sec. 1243, rev. stats.].
- 134. BRUA, JOHN P., Feb. 23, 64. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Pa.]— Add. pm, june 1, 61, acc. july 2, 61; vac. feb. 23, 64; maj. pm. feb. 23, 64; lt. col. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith, and mer, ser. dur, the war": retired feb. 8, 75, "for disability resulting from sickness contracted in line of duty" [sec. 1251, rev. stats.].
- 135. BISSELL, LYMAN, Mar. 4, 64. [Born in Conn.; apptd. from Conn.]— 1 lt. inf, feb. 24, 47, acc. mar. 4, 47; 1 lt.9 inf, apr. 9, 47; capt. sept. 8, 47; disbanded aug. 26, 48 ; 1 ht.9 inf. mar. 3, 55, acc. mar. 22, 55 ; regtl. qm. sept. 1, 58, to mar. 15, 61 ; capt. mar. 15, 61 ; capt. mar. 15, 61 ; mar. 4, 64 ; trs. to 29 inf. sept. 21, 66 ; trs. to 11 inf. mar. 15, 69 ; *retired* dec. 31, 70, " for disability resulting from sickness contracted in line of duty" [act aug. 3, 61, sees. 16 and 17].
- 136. LUDINGTON, ELISHA H., Apr. 20, 64. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Va.]-Capt. 1753, ELISITA II., Apr. 20, 64. [Jorn in (a.); apport for value (a.) --Capt. 17 inf. aug. 5, 61, acc. ang. 30, 61; naj. byt. july 2, 63, " for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Gettysburg, Pa."; maj. a. i, g. apr. 20, 64, acc. apr. 20, 64; rac. com. of capt. 17 inf. apr. 20, 64; H. col. byt. mar. 13, 65, " for mer. ser. due, the war"; col. byt. mar. 13, 65, " for faith, and mer. ser. in his dept."; retured mar. 27, 79, "for disability resulting from discase contracted in line of duty" [sec. 1251, rev. stats.].

137. COGSWELL, MILTON, Oct. 8, 64. [Born in Ind.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 45; bvt. 2 lt. 4 inf. july 1, 49; 2 lt. 8 inf. aug. 4, 49; 1 lt. aug. 15, 55; capt. Cader July 1, 45; byt. 24, 4 mi, july 1, 45; 24, 8 mi, aug. 4, 69; 47, 6 aug. 6, 59; Caper may 13, 61; col. 42, N. Y. vol. july 21, 61; maj, byt. col. 21, 61, "for gal, and mer, ser, in the battle of Ball's Bluff, Va."; col. 2 N. Y. h. art. oct. 1, 62; must, out of vol. ser, apr. 7, 63; 1; col. byt. july 30, 64, "for gal, and mer, ser, in front of Petersburg, Va."; maj, 8 inf. oct. 8, 64; col. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal, and mer, ser, dur, the war"; unassd, mar. 15, 69; assd. to 21 inf. mar. 26, 69; retired sept. 5, 71, "for disability resulting from sickness and exposure in line of duty" [act ang. 3, 61, secs. 16 and 17].

- 138. COLLINS, JOSEPH B., Jau. 20, 65. [Born in D. C.; apptd. from D. C.]-24. 4 inf. mar. 29, 48, acc. mar. 30, 48: [1611] in 17. C. ? approx from 19. C. [= 24. 4 inf. mar. 29, 48, acc. mar. 30, 48: [11, july 7, 53]; capt. may 14, 61; maj. byt. june 27, 62, "for gal, and mer. ser, in the battle of Gaines' Mill, Va."; fr. col. byt. ang. 30, 62, "for gal, and mer. ser, in the battle of Bull Run (20, Va."; maj. 2 inf, jan. 20, 65; col. byt. app. 9, 65, "for gal, and mer. ser, dur, the operations resulting in the fall of Richmond, Va., and the surrender of the insurgent army under Gen. R. E. Lee"; unassd. mar. 15, 69; hon. must. out jan, 1, 71 [sec. 12, act july 15–70]; restored to the Army mar. 8, 79, and placed on the retired list to date from jan. 1, 71 [act mar. 3, 79].
- 139. HUDSON, EDWARD McK., Nov. 4, 65. [Born in Conn.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 45; bvt. 2 lt.3 art. july 1, 49; 2 lt.4 art. sept. 12, 50; 1 lt. apr. 30, 55; capt. 14 inf. may 14, 61, acc. june 29, 61; lt. col. a. a. d. c. sept. 28, 61, acc. oct. 2, 61; diselogd. as lt. col. a. a. d. c. mar 31, 63; maj. bvt. ang. 1, 64, "for gal. ser. in fleb battle of the Wilderness and dur, the present campaign before Richmond, Va."; lt. col. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. dur. the war "; maj. 15 inf. nov. 4, 65; unassd. mar. 15, 69; *retired* dec. 15, 70, "for disability resulting from wounds received and disease contracted in line of duty." [act aug. 3, 61, secs. 16 and 17].
- 140. WILLIAMS, GEORGE A., Mar. 15, 66. [Born in N. Y.; appld, from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 48; bvt. 21t. 1 inf. july 1, 52; 2 lt. mar. 2, 53; 1 lt. feb. 11, 56; capt. may 14, 61; maj. bvt. oct. 4, 62; "for gal, and mer. ser. in the battle of Corinth, Miss."; ht. col. bvt. july 4, 63; "for gal, and mer. ser. dur. the size of Vicksburg, Miss."; maj. 6 inf. mar. 15, 66; trs. to 20 inf. mar. 15, 69; retired doc. 15, 70; "for disability resulting from disease con-tions for the document of the series of t tracted in line of duty" [act aug. 3, 61, secs. 16 and 17].
- FLEMING, HUGH B., July 28, 66. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from M. A.]—
 Cadet july 1, 48; byt. 24, 66 inf. july 1, 52; 24t. june 9, 53; 24t. 9 inf. mar. 3, 55; 14t. june 7, 56; capt. 16 inf. may 14, 61, declined; capt. 9 inf. may 14, 61; maj. 19 inf. july 28, 66; trasto 37 inf. sept. 24, 66; trasto 46; mar. 15, 66; mars. 16, 66; mars. 16, 61; mar. 17].
- 142. GRAY, CHARLES C., July 28, 66. [Born in N.Y.; apptd. from N.Y.]-11t. asst. surg. may 28, 61, e.e. may 30, 61, captulation and the coll byt, mar. 13, 65, "for faith, and mer, ser, dur, the war"; capt. asst. surg. may 28, 66; maj, surg. july 28, 66; refired jan 10, 79, "for disability resulting from disease not incident to the ser." [sec. 1252, rev. stats.].
- 143. RUNKLE, BENJAMIN P., July 28, 66. [Born in Ohio; apptd. from Ohio.]— Capt. 13 Ohio vol. app. 22, 61; maj. nov. 8, 61; must. out ang. 18, 62; col. 45 Ohio vol. ang. 19, 62; *must. out* july 21, 64; It col. vet res. corps ang. 22, 64, acc. ang. 29, 64; col. vol. bvt., brig. gen. vol. bvt., and maj. gen. vol. bvt. nov. 9, 65, "for mer. ser."; *must. out* oct. 5, 66; naj. 45 inf. july 28, 66, acc. oct. 6, 66; It. col. bvt. nar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Shiloh, Tenn."; col. bvt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. dur. the war"; un-assd. mar. 15, 69; retired dec. 15, 70, "for disability resulting from wounds received in line of duty" [act. aug. 3, 61, secs. 16 and 17]; out of ser. jan. 16, 73; reinstated aug. 4, 77.
- 144. SEYMOUR, TRUMAN, Aug. 13, 66. [Born in Vt.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 42; bvt. 21t. I art. july 1, 46; 21t. mar. 3, 47; 11t. bvt. apr. 18, 47, "for gal. and mer. cond. in the battle of Cerro Gordo "; capt. byt. aug. 20, 47, "for gal. and mer. cond. in the battles of Contreras and Churubusco"; 1 lt. 1 art. aug. 26, 47; capt. nov. 22, 60; in the battles of Contreras and Churubusco"; 11t. 1 art. ang. 26, 47; capt. nov. 22; 60; maj. byt. apr. 14, 61, "for gal. and mer. ser. dm. the defence of Fort Sunter, S. C."; trs. to 5 art. may 14, 61; brig. gen. vol. apr. 28, 62; nee. may 6, 62; th. col. byt. sept. 14, 62, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of South Mountain, Md."; col. byt. sept. 17, 62, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Antictam, Md."; lorg gen. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the capture of Petersburg, Va."; maj. gen. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the field dur. the war"; maj. gen. vol. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. ing bis div., and for gallantry and val. ser. in action"; muzt. out of vol. ser. ang. 24, 65; maj. 5 art. ang. 13, 66; retired nov. 1, 76, at his own request, having served over thirty years [sec. 1243, rev. stats.].
- 145. LANE, WILLIAM B., Nov. 9, 66. [Born in Ky.; apptd. from Army.]-Pyt. co. D, m. rif. july 17, 46; corpl. dec. 2, 46; sergt. fcb. 1, 47; 1 sergt. fcb. 25, 47; sergt nov. 16, 47; trs. to pyt. co. A, 4 Ky, vol. jan. 21, 48; byt. 24; n. rif. june 28, 48, "for dis. ser, in the Mexican war," acc. july 25, 48; 24; th. cot. 31, 48; 1 H. sept. 16, 53; capt. may 14, 61; naj. byt. mar. 30, 65, "for mer, and faith, ser, in the recruitment of the armies of the United States". If and the arm 12, 65; 1 for faith, and the recruitment of the armies of the United States"; It. col. bvt. nov. 13, 65, "for faith, and mer. ser. in connection with the mustering out of ser. and disbanding of the vol. army of the United States"; maj. 3 cav. nov. 9, 66; retired doc. 15, 70, "for disability resulting from long and faith. ser. and disease contracted in line of duty " [act aug. 3, 61, secs. 16 and 17].
- 146. LARNED, FRANK H., Jan. 3, 67. [Born in Mich.; apptd. from Mich.]— 2 It. inf. mar. 8, 47, acc. mar. 18, 47; 2 It. voltigeurs apr. 9, 47; 17s. to 2 art. june 27, 48; 1 It. july 1, 52; capt. apr. 28, 61; maj.1 art. jan. 3, 67; retired feb. 5, 67, "for disability resulting from sickness and exposure in line of duty" [act aug. 3, 61, sees. 16 and 17].

Majors-Continued.

- 147. JUDD, EDWIN D., Jan. 17, 67. [Born in Conn.; apptd. from Conn.] Add. pm, june I, 61, acc. june 15, 61; it. col. vol. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith, and mer. ser, dur, the war"; *must. out* july 20, 66; maj. pm, jan. 17, 67, acc. mar. 19, 67; *retired* june 4, 79, "for disability resulting from disease contracted in line of duty" [sec. 125], rev. stats.].
- 148. HANNA, VALENTINE C., Jan. 17, 67. [Born in Ind.; apptd. from Ind.]→ Add. pm. aug. 15, 61, acc. aug. 24, 61; 11, col. vol. bvt. mar, 13, 65, "for fatth, and mer. ser, dur, the war"; must, out july 20, 66, paid to july 31, 66; maj, pm. jan. 17, 67, acc. mar. 20, 67; retired jan. 11, 77, being over sixty-two years of age [sec. 1244, rev. stats.].
- 149. BURBANK, JACOB E., Jan. 17, 67. [Born in Pa.: apptd. from Ind.]— Add. pm. feb. 19, 63, acc. mar. 20, 63; *rac.* jan. 17, 67; maj. pm. jan. 17, 67; *retired* mar. 3, 75, "for disability resulting from disease contracted in line of duty" [sec. 1251, rev. stats.].
- 150. POTTER, JUSEPH A., Jan, 18, 67. [Born in N. V.; apptd. from Mich.]— 14, 15 inf, sept. 27, 61, acc. oct. 8, 61; capt. a, qu. sept. 27, 61, acc. oct. 8, 61; resyd. com. of 14t, 15 inf, june 11, 64; col, qu. [act july 4, 61] sept. 24, 64; maj. bvt., 4t, col. bvt., col. bvt., and brig, gen. bvt. mar. 13, 65; "for faith and mer. ser. dur, the war"; relieved as col. qu. [act july 4, 64] jan, 1, 67; maj. qu. jan, 18, 67, acc. mar. 29, 67; vac. com. of capt. a, qu. [act july 4, 64] jan, 1, 67; maj. qu. jan 18, 67, acc. mar. 29, 67; vac. com. of capt. a, qu. [act july 4, 64] jan, 21, 79, at his own request, being over sixty-two years of age [sec. 124, rev. stats.].
- 151. LATIMER, ALFRED E., June 25, 67. [Born in S.C.; apptd. from M. A.] Uadet july 1, 48; byt. 2 [0, 4 mf. july 1, 53; 2 [1, 2 mf. feb. 5, 55; 1 [1, ap; 18, 59; capt. 11 inf. may 14, 61, acc, ang. 25, 61; maj. byt. mar. 13, 65; "for gal, and mer, ser,"; trs. to 29 inf. sept. 21, 64; maj. 19 inf. june 25, 67; unassd. mar. 15, 64; assd. to 4 cay, dec. 15, 70; retired mar. 20, 79, "for disability resulting from disease contracted in line of daty" [sec. 125], rev. stats.].
- 152. McKHBBIN, DAVID B., Sepf. 15, 67. [Born in Pa.: apptd. from Pa.]— 2 R.9 inf. mar. 3, 55. acc. mar. 27, 55; 1 R. mar. 1, 61; eapt. 14 inf. my 14, 61, acc. july 3, 61; col. 158 Pa. vol. nov. 24, 62; mox6, oort of vol. ser, ang 12, 63; maj. byt. ang. 1, 64, "for gal. ser, in the battle of North Anna, Va."; R. col. byt. ang. 1, 64, "for gal. ser, in the battle of Bethesda Church, Va."; col. byt. and brig. gen. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser, dur. the war"; brig. gen. vol. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser, dur. the war"; col. 214 Pa. vol. apr. 5, 65; must. out of vol. ser, apr. 34, 66; trs. to 32 inf. sept. 21, 66; maj. 10 inf. sept. 15, 67; must. out of vol. ser, apr. 34, 66; trs. to 32 inf. sept. 21, 66; maj. 10 inf. sept. 15, 67; must. cont. 15, 664; assel, to 10 c.v.; jan. 1, 71; retired may 31, 75, "for disabinty resulting from discase contracted in line of duty" [sec. 1251, rev. stats.]
- 153. FREEDLEY, HENRY W., Dec. 31, 67. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from M. A.]→ Cadet july 1, 51; byt. 24t. 9 inf, july 1, o5; 24t. 3 inf, sept. 30, 55; 14t. mar, 31, 61; capt. 16 inf, may 14, 61, declined; capt. 3 inf, may 14, 64; maj, byt. may 3, 63, "for gal, and mer, ser, in the battle of Chancellorsville, Va."; 4t. col. byt. july 2, 63, "for gal, and mer, ser, in the battle of Gettysburg, Pa."; maj, 39 inf, july 28, 66, declined; maj, 14 inf, dec, 34, 67; retired with rank of col, sept. 25, 68, "for womds received inte of daty" [acts ang, 3, 60, sees, 16 and 17; july 28, 66, see, 32], and with rank of maj, mar, 3, 75 [act mar, 3, 75, see, 2].
- 154. IIAMBRIGHT, HENRY A., Jan. 27, 69. [Born in Pa : apptd. from Pa.]— 1 sergt. co. 6, 2 Pa. vol. dec. 6, 46; disslayd. ang. 10, 47; 1 H. 2 Pa. vol. aug. 10, 47; must. out july 12, 68; 2 R. 6 inf. mar. 23, 61, declined; capt. 1 Pa. vol. apr. 20, 61; must. out july 26, 61; capt. 11 inf. may 14, 61, acc. july 30, 61; col. 79 Pa. vol. oct. 18, 61; maj. bvt. dec. 31, 62; "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Murfreesboro", Fen."; It. col. bvt. sept. 20, 63; "for gal. and mer. ser, in the battle of Chickananua, 64,"; col. bvt. sept. 20, 63; "for gal. and mer. ser, in the battle of Chickananua, 64,"; col. bvt. sept. 1, 64, "for gal, and mer. ser, dur, the Atlanta camp.ign."; brig. gen. vol. bvt. june 7, 65, "for mer. ser,"; must, out of vol. ser, july 20, 65; trs. to 29 inf. sept. 21, 66; maj. 32 inf. jan. 27, 69; trs. to 19 inf. mar. 15, 69; retrieved may 6, 79; "for dis.infly resulting from disease con-

tracted in line of duty" [sec. 1251, rev. stats.].

155. BELGER, JAMES, Mar. 3, 71. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from Army.]— Pet. co. II, 2 inf. nov. 7, 32; corpl. aug.27, 33; sergt. aug. 22, 35; sergt. maj. 2 inf. may 23, 37; discloyd. nov. 6, 37; sergt. maj. 2 inf. nov. 7, 37; 2 h. 6 inf. oct. 15, 38; acc. oct. 15, 38; regtl. adj't feb. 1, 40, to jam. 1, 46; 1 h. feb. 27, 43; capt. a. qm. june 18, 46, acc. aug. 26, 46; maj. bvt. may 30, 48; "for mer. cond. particularly in the performance of his duty in the prosecution of the war with Mexico"; *vac.* como. f 1 h. 6 inf. june 9, 53; maj. qm. aug. 3, 61; col. a. a. d. c. july 11, 62, acc. july 12, 62; out of ser. nov. 30, 63; maj. qm. mar. 3, 71 [act mar. 3, 71], acc. apr. 13, 71; retired june 19, 73. being over sixty-two years of age [sec. 1244, rev. stats].

Majors-Continued.

- 156. ENOS, HERBERT M., June 6, 72. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 52; hyt. 2 lt. m. rif. july 1, 56; 2 lt. jan. 26, 57; 1 lt. 6 cav. may 14, 61, acc. sept. 9, 61; capt. a. qm. aug. 3, 61, acc. oct. 3, 61; rac. line com. dec. 23, 62; maj. qm. vol. [act [july 4, 64] ang 2, 64, to june 3, 65; maj, bvt., it col. bvt., and col. bvt. may fin, 50; july 6, 64] ang 2, 64, to june 3, 65; maj, qm. vol. fact july 4, 64] june 3, 65, to jan. 8, 66; maj, qm. june 6, 72; *retired* may 29, 76, "for disability resulting from disease contracted in line of duty" [see, 125], rev. stats.].
- 157. BANKHEAD, HENRY C., Jan 15, 73. [Born in Md.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 46; bvt. 24, 55 inf. july 1, 50; 24t, aug. 4, 51; 14t, july 19, 55; cap4, june 25, 61; ft. col.a, i, g. [act july 17, 62] jun, 1, 63; maj, bvt, july 3, 63, "for gal, and mer, ser, in the battle of Gettysburg, Pa."; ft. col. bvt, may 8, 64, "for gal, and mer, ser, in the battle of Spottsylvania, Va."; col. vol. bvt, ang. 4, 64, "for brave cond, and eff, ser, in the battles and marches of the campaign"; brig, gen, vol. bvt, apr. 1, 65, "for gal, and mer, ser, in the battle of Five Forks, Va."; col. bvt, apr. 2, 65, "for gal, and mer, ser, in front of Petersburg, Va."; relieved as 1t, col. a, i, g. aug. 1, 65; brig, gen, bvt, oct. 1, 68, "for the prompt, energetic, and mer, ser, r. ndered by him dur, the present campaign available builting and especially in the nromut relief of Col. Forse the balencered against hostile Indians, and especially in the prompt relief of Col. Forsyth's beleagnered party on the Republican in sept., 1868": trs. to 8 cav. dec. 15, 70; maj. 4 cav. jan. 15, 73; retired nov. 12, 79, "for wound received and disability incurred in line of duty" [sec. 1251, rev. stats].
- 158. DUNN, THOMAS S., Feb. 19, 73. [Born in Ind.; apptd. from Ind.]— Pvt. co. G., 1 Ind. vol. june 14, 46; dischard, june 15, 47; capt. 9 Ind. vol. apr. 24, 61; must. out july 29, 61; capt. 12 inf. may 14, 61, acc. july 4, 61; maj, bvt. aug. 1, 64, "for gal. ser. in the battle of the Wilderness and dar, the present campaign before Richmond, Va."; It, col. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. dur, the war"; trs. to 21 inf. sept. 21, 66; maj, 8 inf. fob. 19, 73; trs. to 12 inf. may 14, 77; refired june 29, 78, "for disability resolving from disease not incident to the ser." [sec. 1252, rev. stats.].
- 159. STANHOPE, PHILIP W., Dec. 10, 73. [Born in R. I.; apptd. from Ohio.]— Capt. 12 inf. may 14, 61, acc. june 30, 61; maj. bvt. aug. 18, 64, "for gal. and mer. ser. dur, the operations on the Weldon R. R. Va."; It. col. bvt. oct. 2, 64, "for gal. and mer. ser, in action at Saltville, Va."; how, must. out jan 1, 71 [act.july 15, 70, sec. 12], paid to feb. 13, 71; maj. of inf. may 27, 79, to rank from dec. 10, 73, that being the grade and rank he would have attained had he remained continuously in ser. [act mar. 3, 79], acc. may 27, 79; retired may 27, 79 [act mar. 3, 79].
- burg campaign"; col. bvt. may 31, 64, " for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Cold Harbor, ; brig. gen, byt, mar, 13, 65, "for dis, ser, while chf, of horse art, attached to the army Va.' of the Potomac dur, the campaign from may to aug. 1864, including the battles of the Wilderness, Cold Harbor, Hawes' Shop, and Trevillian Station, Va."; maj. 2 art. june 17, 74 (act june 17, 74); trs. to 3 art. feb. 1, 75; *retired* mar. 20, 79, at his own request, after forty consecutive years' ser. [sec. 1243, rev. stats.].
- 161. NUGENT, ROBERT, June 10, 76. [Born in Ireland; apptd. from N. Y.]-SUCCENTENT, ROBERT, one 10, 60. [BOFT in Frendrit apput, from N. 1.]— Lt, col. 69 N, Y, vol. apr. 20, 61; must, out ang. 3, 61; capt, 13 inf, ang. 5, 61, ace, ang. 27, 61; col. 69 N, Y, vol. nov. 1, 61; maj, bvt, june 27, 62, "for gal, and mer, ser, in the battle of Gaines' Mill, Va."; It, col. bvt, dec. 13, 62, "for gal, and mer, ser, in the battle of Fredericksburg, Va."; must, out of vol. ser, nov. 28, 63; col. 69 N, Y, vol. oct. 30, 64; brig, gen, vol. bvt, mar, 13, 65, "for gal, and mer, ser, dnr, the war"; col. bvt, apr. 2, 65, "for gal, and mer, ser, in front of Petersburg, Va."; must, out of vol. ser, june 30, 66; maj, 24 inf. june 10, 76; retired mar. 20, 79, "for disability resulting from wound received in line of duty" [sec. 1251, rev. stats.].
- 162. WALKER, ROBERT C., June 19, 78. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Pa.]— Capt. com. sub. vol. oct. 31, 61, acc nov. 1. 61; *rac.* jan. 1, 63; add. pm. nov. 29, 62, acc. jan. 1, 63; *mast. out* nov. 15, 65; maj. pm. may 4, 66, acc. may 21, 66; *resyd.* sept. 3, 74, paid to sept. 15, 74; re-apptd. june 19, 78, acc. june 22, 78, and *retired* june 22, 78 [act june 19, 78].
- 163. HAWLEY, WILLIAM, Mar. 20, 79. [Born in D. C. ; apptd. from D. C.]— Pvt. co. II, 3 batt. D. C. vol. apr. 15, 61; dischgd. july 15, 61; 2 lt. and 1 lt. 3 cav. aug. 5, 61, acc. aug. 15, 61; capt. feb. 15, 64; maj. 4 cav. mar. 20, 79; retired june 14, 79, "for dis-ability resulting from disease contracted in line of duty" [sec. 1251, rev. stats.].

Majors-Continued.

- 164. JANES: HENRY W., June 19, 79. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from N. J.]— 14t. 55 Hi, vol. oct. 31, 61; diseligd, aug. 10, 63; e upt. a. qu. vol. july 31, 63; acc. aug. 10, 63; capt. a. qu. oct. 30, 63; acc. nov. 17, 63; wac conn. of cupt. a. qu. vol. nov. 17, 63; mai, byt. and It. col. byt. mar. 13, 65; "for fuith, and mer. ser, dar. the war"; maj. qu. june 19, 79; retired july 2, 70, "for distibility resulting from disease contracted in line of daty" [sec. 125], rev. stats.].
- 165. CLARK, JOSEPH C., Ju., July 28, 66. [B m in N. J.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 44; byt. 24, 3 art, july 1, 48; 24, 4 art, jun, 6, 49; 14, dec. 11, 59; capt. may 14, 61; maj, byt. june 9, 62, "for gal, and mr. ser, in the campaign of the Shenandoah Valley, Va."; h. col. byt. sept. 17, 62, "for gal, and mer, ser, in the lottle of Antietam, Md."; retired may 11, 64, "for disability resulting from wounds received in line of daty"; [act aug.3, 61, sees, 16 and 17]; col byt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal, and mer, ser, dur, the war"; capt. 42 inf, july 28, 66, declined; retired with rank of maj, july 28, 66 [act, july 28, 66]
- 166. LEE, SAMUEL P., Dec. 15, 70. [Born in Me.; apptd. from Me.]-
 - (b) 10. (Markov Markov Mark

Captains.

- 167. KING, BENJAMIN, June I, 21. [Born in Md.; apptd. from Md.]— Surg. mate 7 inf. oct. 14, 18; asst. surg. june 1, 21; *reticed* nov. 9, 63, being over sixty-two years of arge (act july 17, 62, sec. 12).
- 168. BAILEY, JOSEPH H., Nov. 28, 39. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from N. Y.]— Asst. surg. nov. 28, 34; capt. nov. 28, 39; retired ang. 27, 62, "for disability resulting from long and faith, ser, and disease contracted in line of duty" [act ang. 3, 61, secs. 16 and 17].
- 169. TIDBALL, JOSEPH L., Aug.25, 55. [Born in Pa.; aoptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 45; byt 2 lt.4 inf july 1, 49; 2 lt 6 inf mur.31, 59; 1 lt. 10 inf, mur.3, 55; capt, ang.25, 55; retired nov. 1, 61, "for disbidity resulting from disease contracted and exposure m line of duty" [act ang.3, 64, secs. 16 and 17].
- 170. GARLAND, JOHN S., Dec. 29, 57. [Born in Mich.; apptd. from Mich.]— 241.4 art. mar. 8, 47, acc. mar. 24, 47; 1/41, may 20, 49; capt. dec. 29, 57; retired nov. 29, 61, "for disability resulting from exposure in line of daty" [act ang. 3, 61, secs. 16 and 17].
- 171. HENDERSHOTT, HENRY B., Apr. 27, 61. [Born in Ky.; apptel from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 42; byt., 24, 5 inf july 1, 47; 24, 24n, ang, 24, 47; 14, jun (30, 50; trs. to 2 art, oct. 21, 59; cant, apr. 27, 61; *retired* mer. 30, 64, "for distability resulting from sickness and exposure in line of duty," [act ang, 3, 61, sees, 16 and 17]; mij, byt., 4t, col. byt., and col. byt. mir, 43, 65, "for fuith and mer. ser, connected with the recruitment and organization of the yol, armies of the United States dur, the war."
- 172. CHURCHILL, CHARLES C., May 14, 61. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Pa.]— 24, 3 art. mar. 3, 48, acc. mar. 13, 48; 14f june 39, 52; capt. may 14, 61; retired feb. 28, 62, "for disability resulting from disease contracted in line of daty" [act aug. 3, 61, sees. 16 and 17].
- 173. BATES, FRANCIS H., May 14, 61. [Born in Md.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 45; bvt. 2 lt. 4 inf. july 1, 50; 2 lt. apr. 15, 52; 1 lt. n iv. 22, 54; capt. 17 inf. may 14, 61, declined: cant. 4 inf. mry 14, 61; maj. bvt. june 27, 62; "for gal. and m r. ser. in the battle of Gaines' Mull. Va."; redired oct. 19, 63; "for disability resulting from sickness and exposure in line of duty" [act ang. 3, 61, secs. 16 and 17].
- 174. LOWE, WILLIAM B., May 14, 61. [Born in Ohio: apptd. from Ohio.]— Capt. 11 inf. may 14, 61, acc. june 22, 61; retired feb. 19, 66, "for disability resulting from sickness and exposure in line of daty" [act aug. 3, 61, secs: 16 and 17].
- 175. WALKER, THOMAS W., May 29, 61. [Born in Ind.; appt], from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 52; 2 lt.3 inf. july 1, 56; 1 lt. apr. 11, 61; capt. may 20, 61; maj. bvt. june 27, 62, "for gal, and mer. ser. in the byttle of Gaines' Mill, Va."; retired sept. 11, 63, "for disability resulting from sickness and exposure in line of duty" [act aug. 3, 61, secs. 16 and 17].

.

1881.

- 176. PEASE, WHLLIAM R., June 8, 61. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 51; byt. 24, 10 inf. july 1, 55; 24, 7 inf. oct 16, 55; 14, mar. 23, 61; capt. june 8, 61; cot, 117, N. Y. vol, aug. 15, 62; mai, byt, may 4, 63, "for gal, and mer. ser, in the siege of Suffelk, V.a."; resgd, vol. com, ang 26, 63; refired ang 28, 63, "for disability resulting from sickness and exposure in line of duty" [act aug. 3, 61, sees, 16 and 17]; briggen, vol. byt, mar. 13, 65, "for gal, and mer. ser, dur, the war"; th col. byt, nov. 9, 65, "for faith, and mer. ser, connected with the muster out and disbanding of the vol, armies of the United States."
- 177. SYMMES, JOHN C., July I, 61. [Born in Ky.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 43; 2 It.4 art. july 1, 47; trs. to ord. ap; 24, 49; 1 It. july 1, 53; capt. 10 inf. mar. 3, 55, declined; capt. ord. july 1, 61; retired nov. 1, 61, "for disability resulting from disease contracted and exposure in line of duty" [act aug. 3, 61, secs. 16 and 17].
- 178. DICKINSON, WILLIAM, July 31, 61. [Born in Conn.; apptd. from Conn.]— 246, 3 inf. feb. 24, 57, acc. may. 20, 57; 14, may 10, 61; maj, byt. july 24, 64, "for gal, and mer. ser. in the battle of Bull Run, Ya."; capt. 3 inf. july 34, 61; retired oct. 3; 63, "for disability resulting from wounds received in line of duty" [act aug. 3, 61, secs. 16 and 17].
- 179. THOMPSON, AI B., Aug. 5, 61. [Born in N. II.; apptd. from N. II.] = 24t, 2 N. R. vol. june 3, 61; must, out ang. 7, 61; capt. 18 inf. ang. 5, 61, acc. sept. 28, 61; maj, byt. dec. 31, 62, "for gal and mer. ser, in the battle of Murtreesboro", Teum."; retired may 6, 64, "for disability resulting from wounds received in line of duty" [act ang. 3, 61, secs. 16 and 17].
- 180. NORTON, THOMAS H., Aug. 5, 61. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Va.]— 2 It. 1 Va. vol. may 11, 61; most, out aug. 27, 61; capt. 15 mf. aug. 5, 61, acc. oct. 9, 61; maj. byt. sept. 1, 64. "for gal. and mer. ser, in the battle of Missionary Ridge, Tenn., and in the Atlanta campaign and battle of Jonesboro', Ga."; trs. to 24 inf. sept. 21, 66; trs. to 11 inf. apr. 25, 69; unused, dec. 17, 69; retired dec. 15, 70 "for disability resulting from sickmess and exposure in line of duty" [act aug. 3, 61, sees. 16 and 17].
- 181. ROSSELL, WILLIAM IL, Sept. 7, 61. [Born in N. J.; apptd. from N. J.]— 2 It. 10 inf. mar. 3, 55, acc. mar. 28, 55; 1 It. dec. 29, 60; capt. sept. 7, 61; maj. bvt. feb. 21, 62, "for gal and mer. ser, in the battle of Valverde, N. M."; retired nov. 28, 63, "for disability resulting from sickness and exposure in line of duty" [act ang. 3, 61, secs. 16 and 17].
- 182. STIVERS, CHARLES B., Sept. 9, 61. [Born in Ky.: apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 52: 2 H.7 inf. july 1, 56: regtl. qu. apr. 1, 60, to sept. 9, 61; 1 H. apr. 20, 61; 1 H. 17 inf. may 14, 61, declined; cant, 7 inf. sept. 9, 61; refired dec, 30, 64, "for disability resulting from sickness contracted in line of duty" [act ang. 3, 61, sees, 16 and 17].
- 183. MCNALLY, CHRISTOPHER H., Sept. 28, 61. [Born in Engl'd: apptd. from Army.]— Pyt. co. D. m. rif. dec. 21, 48; sergt. mar. 15, 49; 1 sergt. apr. 26, 49; dischad. oct. 21, 53; 1 sergt. co. D. m. rif. oct. 21, 53; 2 It. m. rif. may 23, 55, acc. jmc. 14, 55; 1 It. may 5, 61; capt. byt. july 25, 61; "for gal. and mcr. ser. in action near Mesilla, Ariz."; capt. 3 cay, sept. 28, 61; maj. byt. may. 13, 65; "tfor mer. ser. dur. the war"; col. 3 U. S. vol. mar. 31, 65; must. out of vol. ser. nov. 29, 65; retired dec. 24, 66, "for disability resulting from wounds and injuries received in line of duty" [act ang. 3, 61, sees. 16 and 17].
- 184. DRAKE, ALEXANDER E., Oct. 9, 61. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from Ky.]— 2 It. 2 inf. feb. 21, 57, acc. mar. 10, 57; 1 It. may 14, 61; capl. oct. 9, 61; retired aug. 27, 62, "for disability resulting from wound and exposure in line of duty" [act aug. 3, 61, sees. 16 and 17]; maj. bvt., It. col. bvt., and col. bvt. may 31, 65, "for faith, and mer. see."
- 185. MURRY, ALEXANDER, Oct. 24, 61. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Pa.]— 2 It. 10 inf. mar. 3, 55, acc. mar. 28, 55; 1 It. jan. 19, 61; trs. to 13 inf. may 14, 61; capt. oct. 24, 61; retired mar. 30, 64, "for disability resulting from sickness and exposure in line of duty." [act aug. 3, 61, sees. 16 and 17].
- 186. SMEDBERG, WILLIAM R., Oct. 25, 61. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from Mo.]— Pvt. co. A., 5 batt. D. C. vol. apr. 15, 61; *dischyd.* july 4, 61; 1 lt 14 inf. may 14, 61, acc. july 5, 61; adji 2 batt. aug. 30, 61, to oct 25, 61; eapt. oct 25, 61; maj. bvt, july 2, 63, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Gettysburg, Pa."; it. col. bvt, may 5, 64, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of the Wilderness, Va."; capt. 45 inf. jan. 22, 67, *declined*; massd. july 22, 69; *retired* with rank of capt. mtd. dec. 15, 70, "for loss of right leg from wound received in line of duty" [acts aug. 3, 61, secs. 16 and 17, july 28, 66, sec. 32].
- 187. CATLIN, LYNDE, Oct. 26, 61. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from N. Y.]— Capt. 15 inf. oct. 26, 61, acc. oct. 30, 61; 1f. col. a. i. g. [act july 17, 62] apr. 1, 64; maj. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith, and mer. ser. dur. the war"; relieved as ft. col. a. i. g. ang. 1, 65; trs. to 24 inf. sept. 21, 66; trs. to 11 inf. apr. 25, 69; retired june 28, 78, "for disability resulting from disease contracted in line of duty" [sec. 1251, rev. stats.].

- 188. HOLMES, CHARLES, Oct. 26, 61. [Born in N. H.; apptd. from N. H.]— 1 scr2t. co. B, 2 N. H. vol. may 27, 61; 2 H. 2 N. H. vol. july 1, 61; must. out nov. 11, 61; capt. 17 inf. oct. 26, 61, acc. nov. 12, 61; retired nov. 28, 63, "for disability resulting from wounds received in line of duty." [act aug. 3, 61, secs. 16 and 17].
- 189. STURGEON, SHELDON, Apr. 25, 62. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 4, 56; 24t. 1 inf. may 6, 61; 14t. june 24, 61; capt. apr. 25, 62; maj. bvt. and 4t. col. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. dur. the war"; col. 1 New Orleans vol. apr. 25, 65; most. out of vol. ser. ang. 15, 65; trs. to 6 cav. jan. 1, 71; retired may 17, 76. "for disability resulting from injuries not incident to the ser." [sec. 1252, rev. stats.].
- 190. KELLOGG, JOSIAH H., May 20, 62. [Form in Pa.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 55; byt. 24, 1 drag, july 1, 60; 24, jan 8, 61; 14, may 13, 61; regtl. adj't jam, 13, 62; for may 20, 62; cept.1 e.u., may 20, 62; col. 17 Pa.; cay, nov, 10, 62; maj, byt, july 3, 63; "for gal, and mer, ser, in the battle of Gettysburg, Pa."; *must, out* of vol. ser, dec. 17, 64; *retired* feb. 6, 65; "for disability resulting from injuries received in line of daty" [act ang 3, 61], sees. 16 and 17].
- 191. BRISTOL, HENRY B., June I, 62. [Both in Mich.; apptd. from Mich.]— 241, 54nf, may 15, 57, acc, may 20, 57; 14, may 13, 61; capt. june 1, 62; maj, byt. mar, 13, 65, "for faith, and mer, ser, in New Mexico": It col. byt. mar, 13, 65, "for faith, and mer, ser, in New Mexico, and particularly for his unfiring zeal and energy in controlling the Navajoe tribe of Indians at the Basque Redondo, and for his praiseworthy efforts in advancing their condition from that of savages to that of civilized men; *retired* mar, 20, 79," for disability resulting from disease contracted in line of daty" [sec, 1251, rev. stats.].
- 192. HASCALL, HERBERT A., July 13, 62. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 52; 24t. 4 art, july 1, 56; 14t sept. 27, 59; trs. to 5 art, may 14; 61; capt. a, qm, ang, 3, 61, acc, ang, 27, 61; capt. 5 art, july 13, 62; *vac*, staff com, july 13, 62; mai, byt, and R. col. byt. mar. 13, 65; "for faith, and mer, set, dur, the war", *veticed* nov, 10, 74, "for disability resulting from exposure in line of duty" [sec, 125], rev. stats.].
- 193. PRIME, NATHANHEL, Aug. 9, 62. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from N. Y.]— 14, 47 inf. may 14, 61, acc. june 29, 61; regtl. qu. nov. 2, 61, to ang. 9, 62; capt. ang. 9, 62; maj. byt. ang. 1, 64, "for gal. ser, in the battle of Spotts/lyania"; I. col. byt. ang. 1, 64, "for gal. ser, in the battle of the Wilderness"; trs. to 26 inf, sept. 21, 65; trs. to 10 inf, may 19, 69; refired mar. 29, 79, "for disability resulting from exposure in the line of duty" [see, 125]. rev. stats.].
- 194. BATLEY, THOMAS C. J., Dec. 14, 62. [Born in Del.; apptd. from Del.]— 14. 17. inf. may 14, 61, acc. june 26, 61; capt. dec. 14, 62; mai. byt. aug. 19, 64, "for gal, and mer. ser, in battle on the Weldon R. R., Va."; *retired* aug. 18, 65, "for dusability resulting from disease contracted in line of duty" [act aug. 3, 61, sees, 16 and 17].
- 195. DEV1N, JOHN D., Mar, 9, 63. [Born in Me.; apptd. from N. H.] = 24t. 9 inf. apr. 26, 61, acc. m y 2, 61; 14t. n y 14, 61; capt. mar. 9, 63; mai, byt, and ht. col. byt, m yr. 13, 65, "For gal, and mer, ser, dur, the war"; retired mar. 27, 79, "for disability resulting from injuries and disease contracted in line of duty" [sec. 1251, rev. stats.].
- 196. MORGAN, HENRY C., June 16, 63. [Form in N. Y.: apptd. from N. Y.]— 1 H. 12 inf. may 14, 61, acc. june 20, 61; capt. june 16, 63; maj. bvt. july 2, 63, "for gal, and mer. ser. in the battle of Gettysburg. Pa."; R. col bvt. may 5, 64, "for gal and m.r. ser. in the battle of the Wilderness, Va."; Irs. to 60 inf. sept. 21, 66; *ectived* feb. 17, 68, "for loss of left leg from wounds received in line of duty" [act ang. 3, 61, sees. 16 and 17].
- 197. BRAND, THOMAS T., Sept. II, 63. [Born in Ohio, appld from Ohio.]— 112. BRAND, THOMAS T., Sept. II, 63. [Born in Ohio, appld from Ohio.]— 14, 2 Ohio vol. apr. 47, 61; respd. june 22, 61; 14, 18 inf. may 14, 61; acc. june 22, 61; eapt. sept. 11, 63; retired dec. 31, 64, "for disability resulting from wom hs received and sickness contracted in line of duty" [act ang. 3, 61, sec. 16 and 17]; maj, byt. m r 13, 65, "for gal, and mer. ser, in the battles of Stone River, Tenn., and Chickamauga, Ga."
- 198. BURROWES, THOMAS B., Nov. 13, 63. [Form in Pa. : apptd. from Pa.]— 14, 18 inf. may 14, 61, acc. june 17, 61; capt. nov. 13, 63; maj. bvt. sept. 1, 64, "for gal, and mer. ser. in the battle of "Joneshoro", Ga."; trs to 27 inf. sept. 21, 65; trs. to 9 inf. june 14, 69; retired mar. 20, 79, "for disability resulting from wounds received in line of duty." [sec. 125], vev. stats.].
- [sec, 120], eV. stars.].
 199. MCL(U'GHLIN, GEORGE H., Dec. I, 63. [Born in Ireland; apptd. from Army.]— Pvt. gen. ser. feb. 21, 49; corpl. ang. 6, 49; trs. to co. M. 3 art. mar. 14, 59; sergt. co. D, 3 art. apr. J, 51; 1 sergt. oct. 8, 51; disclipid. feb. 21, 54; 1 sergt. oc. E, 2 inf. may 12, 54; sergt. jan. I, 56; 1 sergt. oct. 11, 56; disclipid. may 12, 59; pvt. oc. E, 2 inf. may 12, 54; sergt. J, 59; disclipid. oct. 4, 61; 14, 8 lowa vol. oct. 4, 61; resgd. nov. 26, 61; 2 ft. 2 inf. oct. 24, 61, acc. nov. 8, 61; 1 ft. feb. 15, 62; regft. qm. sept. 24, 62; to dec. 1, 65; capt. dec. 1, 63; maj. hvt. aug. 1, 64, "for gal. ser, in the battle of North Anna River, Va., and dur, the present campaign before Richmond, Va."; retired dec. 31, 70, "for disability resulting from woands received in line of duty" [act aug. 3, 6], sees. 16 and 17].

- 200. PARKER, RICHARD C., Dec. 31, 63. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Pa.]— Scrgt. maj. 5 Pa. vol. apr. 21, 61; discloyd, june 25, 61; 14, 12 inf. may 1f, 61, acc. june 25, 61; capt. byt. may 3, 63; "for gal, and m.r. sev. in the battle of Chancellorsville, Va.": capt. 12 inf. dec. 31, 63; maj. byt. mar. 13, 65; "for gal, and mer. ser, in the field dur, the war"; retired mar. 29, 79, "for disability resulting from discase contracted in line of duty." [see, 125], rev. stats.].
- 201. HOLCOMB, PYTHAGORAS E., Jan. 26, 64. [Born in Ohio; apptd. from III.]— Pvt. co. E. 3 art. oct 3, 45; corpl. sept. 24, 46; pvt. nov. 11, 47; 2 lt. 16 inf. dec. 30, 47, acc. feb. 22, 48; disbanded ang, 2, 48; 1 lt. 17 inf. may 14, 61, acc. jnly 28, 61; capt. 2 batty. Vt. L art. mar. 22, 62; capt. bvt. jnne 14, 63, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the siege of Port Hudson, La."; must. outvol. ser. ang, 19, 63; maj. 1 Texus cav. ang, 20, 63; capt. 17 inf. jan. 26, 64; result vol. com. oct. 5, 64; maj. bvt. mer. 13, 65, "for faith, and mer. ser. dur. the war"; trs. to 35 inf. sept. 21, 66; retired jan. 30, 60, "for disbility resulting from sickness and exposure in line of duty" [act ang, 3, 61, secs. 16 and 17].
- 202. WALCOTT, WILLIAM H., Feb. 14, 64. [Born in Mass.; apptd. from R. I.]— Pvt. Tompkins' batty, R. I. I. art. may 2, 61; diseb.pd. junc 1, 61; sergt. co. A, 1 R. I. I. art. june 6, 61; diseb.pd. ang. 24, 61; 1 It. 17 inf. may 14, 61, arc, ang. 24, 61; capt. bvt. may 3, 63; maj. bvt. july 2, 63, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Gettysburg, Pa."; capt. 17 inf. feb. 14, 64; retired jan. 7, 65, "for distbility resulting from wounds received in line of duty" [act ang. 3, 61, sees. 16 and 17]; It. col. bvt. and col. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. dur. the war."
- 203. RIVES, WRIGHT, Feb. 23, 64. [Born in D. C.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 56; 21t. 6 inf. may 6, 61; 14t. may 17, 61; capt. a. a. d. c. june 4, 62, acc. june 21, 62; capt. 6 inf. feb. 23, 64; vac. staff com. feb. 23, 64; maj. bvt. and 1t. col. bvt. mar. 13, 65; "for gal. and mer. ser. dur. the advance on Corinth, and at the siege of Vicksburg, Miss."; massd. apr. 22, 69; retired dec. 31, 70, "for disability resulting from disease contracted in line of duty" [act aug. 3, 61, secs. 16 and 17].
- 204. KROUTINGER, ADOLPH W., Apr. 11, 64. [Born in Germ'y; apptd. from Army.]— Pvt. co. D, 2 inf. nov. 15, 48; corpl. apr. 1, 52; 1 sergt. may 1, 52; diseligit. oct. 19, 53; e1 sergt. co. D, 2 inf. oct. 19, 53; sergt. maj. 2 inf. apr. 5, 55; diseligit. ang. 20, 58; sergt. maj. 2 inf. aug. 20, 58; 2 H. 2 inf. oct. 24, 61, acc. oct. 29, 61; regtl. adj't dec. 16, 61, to nov. 20, 63; 1 H. mar. 15, 62; capt. bvt. may 3, 63, "for gal. and mer. ser, in the battle of Chancellorsville, "a,"; naj. bvt. july 2, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser, in the battle of Gettysburg, Pu."; capt. 2 inf. apr. 11, 64; retired june 7, 79, "for disability resulting from long ser, and exposure m line of daty" [sec. 125], rev. stits.].
- 205. POWELL, JAMES, Sept. 9, 64. [Born in Md.; apptd. frein Army.]— Pyt. co. II, 11 inf. feb. 11, 48; diseligit. ang. 15, 48; pyt. co. I, 1 drag. mar. 26, 51; dischied, mar. 26, 56; pyt. co. I, 1 caw. nov. 17, 56; corpl. apr. 3, 57; sergl. sept. 1, 58; 1 sergl. apr. 28, 60; 2 lt 18 inf. may 14, 61, acc. aug. 6, 61; 1 lt. oct. 24, 61; capt. byt. sept. 20, 63, "for gal, and mer. ser, in the battle of Chickamanga, (i+,"; maj. byt. sept. 1, 64; "for gal, and mer. ser, dur, the Atlanta campaign and in the battle of Jonesboro', Ga."; capt. 18 inf. sept. 9, 64; trs. to 27 inf. sept. 21, 66; lt. col. byt. ang. 2, 67, "for gal, cond, in the fight with the Indians near Fort Philip Kearney, D. T., ang. 2, 67, "for gal, an. 8, 68, "for disability resulting from womds received in line of daty" [act ang. 3, 61, secs. 16 and 17].
- 206. MCGOWN, GEORGE, Sept. 19, 64. [Born in Ireland; apptd. from Army.]— Pet. co. C, 2 inf. june 1, 58; corpl.mar. 4, 60; 24t. 7 inf. nov. 29,61, acc. dec. 2, 61; 14t. july 4, 63; capt. sept. 19, 64; maj. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith and mer. ser."; retired mar. 14, 65, "for disability resulting from sickness contracted in line of duty" [act ang. 3, 61, sees. 16 and 17]; ht. col. byt. nov. 15, 65, "for faith, and mer. ser. connected with the mustar out and disbanding of the vol. armies of the United States."
- 207. WALKER, JOHN H., May 6, 65. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from N. Y.]— Pyt. co. D, 13 N. Y. s. m. apr. 23, 61; disclupt. june 29, 61; 114. 114 inf. may 14, 61, acc. june 21, 61; capt. byt. june 27, 62, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Gaines' Mill, Va."; maj. byt. sept. 17, 62, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Antietam, Md."; adj't 2 batt. 14 inf. fob. —, 65, to may 6, 65; capt. may 6, 65; trs. to 23 inf. sept. 21, 63; refired mar. 27, 69, "for disability resulting from injuries received and exposure in line of duty" (act aug. 3, 61, sees. 16 and 17].
- 208. BROWN, ANDREW M., Aug. 21, 65. [Born in III.; apptd. from III.]— 2 It. 4 Mo. vol. june 11, 61; *invist. out* nov. 14, 61; 1 It. 15 inf. oct. 26, 61, acc. nov. 15, 61; eapt. aug. 21, 65; trs. to 24 inf. sept. 21, 66; un used. apr. 25, 69; assed. to 13 inf. july 14, 69; *retired* aug. 31, 71, "for disability resulting from wounds received and exposure in line of duty" [act aug. 3, 61, sees. 16 and 17].
- 209. NOBLE, IIENRY B., Feb. 13, 66. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 56; 2 lt. 8 inf. may 6, 61; 1 lt. june 11, 61; c upt. bvt. aug. 9, 62, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Cedar Mountain, Va."; capt. 8 inf. feb. 13, 66; *retired* feb. 18, 69, "for disability resulting from disease contracted in line of duty" [act aug. 3, 61, sees. 16 and 17].

- 210. WATSON, MALBONE F., Mar. 9, 66. [Born in N. Y.: apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 56; 2 lt. 1 cav. may 6, 61; 1 lt. 5 art. may 14, 61, acc. july 1, 61; capt. bvt. june 27, 62, "for gal, and mer, ser, in the battle of Gaines' Mill, Va,"; maj, byt, july 2, 63, for gal, and mer, ser, in the battle of Gettysburg, Pa."; capt. 5 art, mar. 9, 66; retired with rank of capt. ntd. sept. 18, 68, "For loss of regist leg from wounds received in line of duty" [acts ang, 3, 61, secs. 16 and 17; july 28, 66, sec. 32].
- 211. VAN DERSLICE, JOSEPH H., Mar. 22, 66. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Army.]— Pyt. co. A, batt. eng. jmt. 30, 51; artf. jmt. 1, 53; corpl. jnt J, 55; dischoft, nov. 30, 65; corpl. co. A, batt. eng. nov. 30, 55; sergt. oct. 1, 56; dischoft, nov. 30, 66; sergt. co. A, batt. eng. nov. 30, 66; 24; 14 art, may 14, 61, acc. ang. 28, 61; 144, oct. 24, 61; adjr 2 batt. may 25, 62; to apr. —, 63; capt. byt. sept. 17, 62; "for gal, and mer. ser. in the battle of Autiental M.,"; out of ser. may 10, 65; reinstated dec. 27, 65; capt. 14 inf. mar. 22, 66; retired apr. 23, 79; "for disability resulting from disease contracted in line of duty" [sec. 195]. 1251, rev. stats.].
- 212. HEARN, JAMES A., Apr. 2, 66. [Born in Ireland: apptd. from Army.]-10. AKN, 0 A MES A., Apr. 2, 66. (160r) in frebuil: apptd. from Army. J.— Pyt. co. G. 5 inf, ang. 20, 41; corpl. feb. 1, 48; seegt, may 1, 49; discload, july 9, 49; seegt, co. G. 5 inf, july 9, 49; discload, june 15, 54; seegt, co. G. 5 inf, june 15, 54; 1 seegt, may 1, 55; ord, seegt, U. S. A. ang. 1, 57; discload, may 16, 59; ord seegt, may 16, 59; 24; 16 inf, feb. 27, 63, acc, apr. 2, 63; 14; ang 31, 63; capt, apr. 2, 66; trs. to 34 inf, sept. 21, 66; maj, byt, mar. 2, 66; " for faith, and mer, see, dur, the war"; unassd, apr. 44, 69; retired dec. 31, 70; " for disability resulting from long and faith, see, and discase contracted in line of hyterwise and set. dnty" [act ang. 3, 61, sees. 16 and 17].
- 213. BARSTOW, SIMON F., May 11, 66. [Born in Mass.: apptd. from Mass]— Capt. a. a. g. vol. mar. 6, 62, acc. july 2, 62; capt. a. a. d. c. mar. 18, 62, acc. mar. 21, 62; was appl. of capt. a. a. d. c. vol. july 2, 62; noj. a. a. g. vol. july 15, 62, acc. july 28, 62; ft. col. vol. byt. aug. 1, 64, ~ for faith, and mer. ser. in the field ~; col. vol. byt. apr. 9, 65, "for gal, and mer, ser, due, the recent operations resulting in the fall of Richmond, Va., and the surrender of the insurgent army under Gen. R. E. Lee": brig. gen. vol. byt. mar. 13,65, " for faith, and mer, ser,"; capt a, que may 11,66 acc, june 20,66; most out of vol. ser, july 31,66; maj, byt, mar, 2,67, "for gd, and mer, ser, in the battle of Gettysburg, Pa,"; it, ed. byt, mar, 2,67, "for gd, and mer, ser, at the fall of Petersburg, Va,"; *relived* june 7,79, "for disability resulting from disease contracted in line of duty" [sec. 1251, rev. stats.].
- 214. SILLIMAN, HENRY R., May 28, 66. [Born in Pa.: apptd. from Pa.]— 1 ft. asst. surg. may 28, 61, acc. may 30, 61; c ept. byt. and maj. byt. mar. 13, 65, 22 for faith. and mer, ser, dar, the war ": capt, asst, surg, may 28, 66; retired may 9, 67, " for disability resulting from sickness contracted in lin (of daty" [act ang, 3, 61, sees, 16 and 17].
- 215. CULBERTSON, HOWARD, July S. 66. [Born in Ohio): apptd. from Wis.]— Surg. U. S. vol. nov. 7, 62, acc. nov. 17, 62; 4t. col vol. byt. oct. 6, 65, "for faith, and mer. ser."; must. out oct. 7, 65, paid to oct. 14, 65; 1 It. asst. surg. feb, 28, 66, acc. may 28, 66; capt. july 8, 66; retired jan. 8, 69, "for disability resulting from disease contracted in line of duty" [act aug. 3, 61, sees, 16 and 17].
- 216. MILLER, JOHN, July 18, 66. [Born in N. Y.: apptd. from Army.]— Pvt. co. M 1 Va. vol. nov. 17, 47; dischard ang. 3, 48; pvt. co. 1, 4 inf. oct. 23, 48; dischard, oct. 23, 53; pvt. co. K, 4 inf. jan. 5, 54; corpl. feb. 1, 54; sergt. dec. 4, 55; dischard, dec. 1, 58; sergt. co. K, 4 inf. dec. 1, 58; 1 sergt. may 1, 60; 2 1; 4 inf. july 18, 62, acc. oct. 24, 62; 1 lt. byt, may 3, 63, "for gal, and mer. ser. in the battle of Chancellorsville, Va."; capt. byt, july 2, 63, "for gal, and mer. ser, in the battle of Gettysburg, Pa.", 14, 4 inf. oct. 19, 63; capt. july 18, 66: retired mar. 20, 79, "for disability resulting from disease contracted in line of duty" [sec. 1251, rev. stats.].
- 217. KERIN, JOSEPH, July 28, 66. [Born in Ireland: apptd. from Army.]— Pyt. co B, 2 drag.jan. 3, 53: dischad. jan. 3, 58: pyt. gen. mtd. ser. ang. 5, 58; corpl. nov. Pyt. co B, 2 drag.jan. 3, 53: dischad. jan. 3, 58: pyt. gen. mtd. ser. ang. 5, 58; corpl. nov. FYUCO D. 2 0742, Jan. 5, 567 (1987), Jan. 6, 587 (1977), gen. mut. seri, ang. 6, 587 (1977), 15, 587 (sergit, jan. 1, 597) 2 It. 6 cav. oct. 26, 61, arcs (ct. 31, 61); 1 It. byt. may 27, 62, "For gal, and mer. ser, in the battle of Hanover C. H., Va."; (11, 6 cav. dec. 23, 62) (capt, byt. apr. 4, 65, "for gal, and mer. ser, in the battle of Beyerly Ford, Va., june 9, 63"; capt, 6 cav. july. 28, 66: retired june 28, 78, " for disability resulting from sickness and exposure in line of duty" [sec. 1251, rev. stats.].
- 218. MALLERY, GARRICK, July 28, 66. [Born in Pa ; apptd. from Pa.]— Capt. 71 Pa. vol. june 4, 61; ft. col. 13 Pa. cav. feb. 17, 63; ft. col. vet. res. corps july 1, 64, acc. july 16, 64; col. vol. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. due the war"; capt. 43 inf. july 28, 66, acc. oct. 19, 66; must. out of vet. res. corps nov. 5, 66; maj. bvt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal, and mer, ser, in a skirmish at Garnett's Farm"; It, col. byt, mar, 2, 67, "for gal, and mer, set, in the battle of Peach Orchard, V.J.": unassd, apr. 8, 69; assd, to 1 inf. dec. 15, 70; *retired* july 1, 79, "for disability resulting from wounds received in line of duty" [sec. 1251, rev. stats.].

- 219. PYNE, CHARLES M., July 28, 66. [Born in N.J.; apptd. from D.C.]— Corpl. co. A, 3 batt, D. C. vol. apr. 15, 61; dischgd. july 15, 61; 2 lt. 6 inf aug. 5, 61, acc. aug. 19, 61; 14, byt, aug. 30, 62, "for gal, and mer, ser, in the battle of Bull Run (20), Va."; 14b, 6 inf, aug. 8, 63; capt, byt, jan. 23, 65; capt, 42 inf, july 28, 66, acc, nov. 19, 66; unassol, apr. 22, 69; retired dee, 15, 70, "for loss of right leg from wounds received in line of duty." [act ang, 3, 61, secs. 16 and 17].
- 220. STEWART, JAMES, July 28, 66. [Born in Scotld ; apptd. from Army.]-
 - FIS START 2017 (1997) 101 (2017) (and mer. ser. in the battle of Spottsylvania C. H., and dur. the present campaign before Richmond, Va."; mai, byt. ang. 18,64, "for gal, and mer. ser, in battle on the Weldon R. R., Va."; capt. 18 inf. july 28, 66, acc. nov. 22, 66; *retired* mar. 20, 79, "for disability resulting from wound and injury received in line of duty" [sec. 1251, rev. stats.].
- 221. THOMPSON, WILLIAM, July 28, 66. [Born in Pa.: apptd. from lowa.]— Capt. I Iowa cav.july 31, 61; maj. may 18, 63; col. june 20, 61; brig, gen. vol. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser."; must. out mar. 15, 66; capt. 7 cav. july 28, 66, acc. dec. 29, 66; maj. bvt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. in action at Prairie (Freye"; H. col. bvt. mar. 2. 67, "for gal, and mer. ser, in action at Bayon Metoe, Ark.": retired dec. 15, 75, at his own request, being over sixty-two years of age [sec. 1244, rev. stats.].
- 222. BATES, JAMES A., July 28, 66. [Born in ScotFd; apptd. from N. Y.]-Pvt. co. F, 42 N. Y. s. m. apr. 19, 61; dischool. aug. 5, 61; 14t. 12 N. Y. vol. dec. 10, 61; capt. dec. 29, 62; *must. out* apr. 21, 64, pail to june 1, 64; 1 lt. vet. res. corps june 3, 64, acc. june 15, 64; maj. vol. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. dur. the war"; capt. vet. res. corps mar. 15, 65, acc. mar. 19, 65; lt. col. vol. bvt. mar. 19, 65, "for faith, and mer. ser "; wast, out oct. 2, 66; capt. 43 inf, july 28, 66, acc. oct. 36, 66; maj. byt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. scr. in the battle of Gaines' Mill, Va."; It. col. byt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Malvern Hill, Va."; It. col. byt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. leg from wounds received in line of duty" [act ang. 3, 61, secs. 16 and 17].
- 223. DODGE, THEODORE A., July 28, 66. [Born in Mass.; apptd. from Mass.]— 1 It, 101 N. Y. vol. feb. 13, 62; 1 It, 119 N. Y. vol. oct. 17, 62; capt. vet. res. corps nov. 12, 63, acc. nov. 26, 63; maj. ang. 17, 64, acc. ang. 22, 64; It. col. vol. bvt. and col. vol. bvt. dec. 2, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser."; capt. 44 inf. july 28, 66, acc. nov. 22, 66; must. out of vet. res. corps dec. I, 66; maj. bvt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser, in the battle of Gettysburg, Pa."; It, col. bvt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal and mer. ser dur, the war"; massd. may 27, 69; retized apr. 28, 70, "for loss of right leg from wounds received in line of duty" [act ang. 3, 61, secs. 16 and 17].
- 224. DONOVAN, JOHN H., July 28, 66. [Born in Ireland; apptd. from N. Y.]— 1 lf. 69 N. Y. vol. jan. 5, 62; capt. sopt. 17, 62; must. out june 12, 63; capt. yet, res. corps. aug. 28, 63, acc. sept. 3, 63; maj. dec. 4, 63, acc. dec. 27, 63; it. col. vol. bvt. and col. vol. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. dur. the war, especially in the battles of Malvern Hill and Fredericksburg, Va.": must, out nov. 23, 66: capt. 44 huft, july 28, 66, acc. nov. 24, 66: maj, byt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal, and mer, ser, in the picket attack near Fair Oaks, Va., june, 62"; trs. to 17 inf. may 27, 69; *retired* june 28, 78, "for disability resulting from wounds received in line of duty" [see, 1251, rev. stats.].
- received in line of duty" [see, 1251, rev. stats.].
 225. MEYER, EDW ARD S., July 28, 66. [Born in 0hio; apptd. from Ohio.]—

 1 Ir. 19 Ohio vol. nov. 1, 61: resgd. sept. 27, 62: capt. 107 Ohio vol. nov. 11, 62: resgd. jan. 1, 65, paid to jan. 16, 65: maj. 5 U. S. vet. vol. feb. 18, 65; It. col. vol. bvt., col. vol. bvt., and brig. gen. vol. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. dur. the war"; must. out mar. 20, 66; capt. 35 int. july 28, 66, acc. oct. 19, 66; maj. 7, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Shiloh, Tenn."; It. col. bvt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Chancellors." ville, Va."; unassd. aug. 12, 66; assd. to 19 inf. aug. 5, 70; trs. to 9 cav. jan. 1, 71; retired aug. 24, 72, "for disability resulting from wounds received in line of duty" [act aug. 3, 61, sees. 16 and 17].
- 226. CLARKE, CHARLES E., July 28, 66. [Born in Conn.; apptd. from Mich.]— Capt. 6 Mich. vol. ang. 20, 61; maj. jan. 20, 63; lt. col. may 1, 64; must. out ang. 20, 65, paid to sept. 6, 65; capt. 38 inf. july 28, 66, acc, oct. 23, 66; maj. bvt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal, and mer. sc. in the siege of Port Hidson, La."; unassd. nov. 11, 69; assd. to 17 inf. apr. 25, 70; retired june 28, 78, "for disability resulting from disease contracted in line of duty" [sec. 1251, rev. stats.].

227. GREENE, CHARLES T., July 28, 66. [Born in Md.; apptd. from N. Y.]— Pvt. co. G. 22 N. Y. s. m. may 28, 62; dischad. ang 8, 62; 2 h. 60 N. Y. vol. ang, 21, 62; 1 lt. aug. 10, 63; capt. a. a, vol. sept. 4, 63, acc. sept. 13, 63; maj. vol. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for mer. ser. dur. the war"; must, out of vol. ser. sept. 19, 65; capt. 42 inf. july 28, 66, acc. oct. 2, 66; maj. bvt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Ringgold, Ga., nov. 27, 63"; unassd. apr. 22, 69; retired with rank for eapt. mtd. dec. 15, 70, "for loss of right leg from wounds received in line of duty" [act aug. 3, 61, secs. 16 and 17].

- 228. GALLUPE, GEORGE S., July 28, 66. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from Pa.]— 14, 8 Pa. res. vet. corps apr. 17, 61; capt. july 29, 61; maj. nov. 2,63; most. out new 24, 64; col. 5 Pa. art. sept. 10, 64; most. out june 30, 65, paid to july 4, 65; capt. 40 inf. july 28, 66, acc. oct. 20, 66; maj. bvt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser, in the battle of Gaines' Mill, Va."; H. col. bvt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser, in the battle of Harles City Cross-Roads, Va."; H. col. bvt. mar. 3, 66; most. to 1 inf. june 7, 69; retired mar. 1, 78, "for disability resulting from injury and disease contracted in line of duty" [sec. 125], rev. stats.].
- 229. GARDNER, HEZEKIAH, July 28, 66. [Born in III.; apptd. from N. Y.]— Capt. 100 III. vol. aug. 30, 62; must. out aug. 18, 64, paid to aug. 20, 61; capt. vet. res. corps sept. 15, 64, acc, sept. 21, 64; maj. vol. bvt. and R. col. vol. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for mer. cond, in the battle of Chattanooga and in the charge on Missionary Ridge"; most. out oct. 28, 66; capt. 44 inf. july 28, 66, acc. oct. 29, 66; maj. bvt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Missionary Ridge, "cam."; muss.d. may 27, 69; caff. of the or loss of right leg from wounds received in line of duty " [act aug. 3, 61, secs. 16 and 17].
- 230. CRONE, LOUIS E., July 28, 66. [Born in Saxony: apptd. from Mass.]— Corpl. co. E. 22 Mass. vol. sept. 29, 61; disclard, sept. 4, 62; 21, 22 Mass. vol. oct. 31, 62; 1 If, dec. 16, 62; must, out june 29, 63; 24; vet, res. corps june 15, 63, acc. june 29, 63; must, out july 3, 66; capt. 42 inf, july 28, 66, acc. arg, 25, 66; unassl, arr. 22, 69; retired dec. 15, 76, " for loss of left arm from wound received in line of duty" [act ang. 3, 61, sees. 16 and 17].
- 232. CATLIN, RODERT, July 28, 66. [Born in III.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 50; 24, 5 art, june 41, 65; 14b, byt, ang. b; 64. "For gal, and mer, ser, dur, the operations on the Webbon R. R., Va."; capt, byt, ang. 20, 64, "For gal, and mer, ser in the battle on the Webbon R. R., Va."; catical apr, 26, 65. "For loss of left leg from wounds received in line of duty" [act ang. 3, 61, sees, 16 and 17]; capt. 46 inf. july 28, 66, acc. nov. 24, 66; unassol. apr, 8, 69; retired dec, 15, 70.
- 233. BARNITZ, ALBERT, July 28, 66. [Born in Pa.: apptd. from Ohio.]— Sergi. co. 6, 2 Obio cav. ang. 22, 61; disedod. june 4, 62; 24, 2 Obio cav. june 4, 62; 14, feb. 18, 63; capt. feb. 26, 63; main. anz. 20, 65; most. out sept. 14, 65, paid to sept. 16, 65; capt. 7 cav. july 28, 65, acc. jan. 10, 67; maj. byt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. in action at Ashland Station, Va."; R. col. byt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Sailor's Creek, Va."; col. byt. nov. 27, 68, "for dis. gallarity in the battle of Washna, Ind. T., nov. 27, 68, in which engagement he was severely wounded"; retired dec. 15, 70, "for disability resulting from wounds received in line of daty" [act ang. 3, 61, secs. 16 and 17].
- 234. HUXFORD, WHLLIAM P., July 28, 66. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from N. Y.]— Pyt. co. D. 4 Mich. vol. june 10, 61; corpt. — . — . dischaft, aug. 15, 62; pyt. co. B, 162 N. Y. vol. sept. 6, 62; secret. maj. 162 N. Y. vol. sept. 6, 62; capt. 162 N. Y. vol. jan. 3, 63; must. out oct. 12, 65; paid to oct. 22, 65; capt. 42 inf. july 28, 66; acc. oct. 13, 66; maj. byt. mag. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the assault on Port Hudson, La."; retired sept. 10, 68; "for disability resulting from disease induced by wounds received in line of duty" [act mag. 3, 61, sees. 16 and 17].
- 235. REEVES, THOMAS H., July 28, 66. [Bern in N. C.; apptd. from Tenn.]— Pyt. eo. D, 4 Tenn, vol. nov. 15, 61; disedigit. feb. 19, 63; 1 lt, 4 Tenn, vol. feb. 19, 63; capt, may 29, 63; maj, ang, 10, 64; lt, col. june 5, 65; must, out ang, 2, 65; copt. 59 inf. july 28, 68, acc. nov. 33, 66; maj, byt, and lt, col. byt, mar. 2, 67, " for faith, and mer, ser, dur, the war"; retired june 5, 68, " for disability resulting from discuse not incident to the ser," [act ang, 3, 61, sec. 17].
- 236. GELRAY, JOSEPH W., July 28, 66. [Born in Engl'd: apptd. from Mass.]— Pvt. co, A. 2 Mass. vol. may 25, 61; corpl. may 25, 61; sergl. co. H. 2 Mass. vol. dec. 22, 61; 2 lt. 2 Mass. vol. feb. 12, 63; 1 lt. 23 Mass. vol. july 23, 63; must. out oct. 13, 64; capt. 55 Mass. vol. oct. 19, 64; must. out nov 14, 64; maj. 4 Mass. h. art. dec. 7, 64; must. out june 17, 65, paid to july 14, 65; capt. 45 inf. july 25, 66; acc. oct. 4, 66; maj. bvt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser, in the battle of Cedar Mountain, Va."; h. col. bvt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser, in the battle of Cedar Mountain, Va."; h. col. bvt. mar. 2, 67, "for row for loss of right arm from wounds received in line of duty." [act aug. 3, 61, sees. 16 and 17].

- 237. O'CONNELL, WHLLIAM, Sept. 27, 66. [Born in Ireland; apptd. from Army.]— Pvt. det. drag. M. A. nov. 24, 54; trs. to co. B. 1 cav. apr. 9, 55; sergt. may 1, 55; 1 sergt. july 23, 55; dischard. sept. 24, 59; 1 sergt. co. B. 1 cav. sept. 24, 59; dischard. aug. 21, 61; 11; 3 Ill. cav. aug. 29, 61; dischard. nov. 7, 61; 2 It. 4 cav. oct. 24, 61, acc. nov. 8, 61; 1 It. dec. 14, 62; capt. bvt. may 22, 63, "for gal. and mer. ser. in action at Middleton. Tenn.": maj. bvt. apr. 2, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. m the capture of Selma, Ala."; capt. 4 cav. sept. 27, 66; retired apr. 2, 79, "for disability resulting from wound received and exposure in line of duty" [see, 125], rev. stats.].
- 238. BUTLER, JOHN H., Jan 22, 67. [Born in Mass.; apptd. from Conn.]— 218. BUTLER, JOHN H., Jan 22, 67. [Born in Mass.; apptd. from Conn.]— 218. 2 art, may 22, 61, acc. june 3, 61; 1 ht, june 40, 61; capt. bvt, june 30, 62, "for gal, and mer. ser. in the battle of tilendale, Va."; maj, bvt, nov. 8, 63, "for gal, and ner. ser. in action near Culpeper, Va."; retired feb. 7, 65, "for loss of left foot from wonnd received in line of daty." [act ang.3, 61, secs. 16 and 17]; capt. 42 inf, jan. 22, 67, acc. apr. 1, 67; massel, apr. 22, 69; retired with rank of capt. mtd. may 14, 70 [acts ang.3, 61, secs. 16 and 17; july 28, 66, sec. 32].
- 17 (Jury 25, 66, 80: 50).
 239, VANDE WIELE, JOHN B., Jan. 22, 67. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from N. Y.]—
 239, VANDE WIELE, JOHN B., Jan. 22, 61; dischard, aug. 2, 61; 111, 4 N. Y. h. art. nov. 1, 61.
 capt. sept. 29, 62; must. out feb. 1, 65; maj. vol. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. dur. the war"; 1 h. 1 U. S. vet. vol. may 20, 65; capt. 8 U. S. vet. vol. aug. 24, 65; must. out apr. 28, 66; capt. 10 cav. jun. 22, 67, acc. mar. 28, 67; maj. bvt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Ream's Station, Va."; retrieved mar. 20, 70, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Ream's Station, Va."; retrieved mar. 20, 70, "for disability resulting from discase contracted in line of duty" [sec. 125], rev. stats.].
- 240. WELLS, ELIJAH R., May 7, 67. [Born in N.Y.; apptd. from Army.]— Pvt. co. H. 2 drag. apr. 8, 58; corpl. apr. 1, 61; sergt. june 1, 61; 1 sergt. july 22, 62; 2 It. 2 cav. july 17, 62, acc. oct. 15, 62; 1 It. bvt. june 9, 63, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Beyerly Ford, Va."; 1 It. 2 cav. nov. 25, 63; capt. bvt. oct. 19, 64, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Cedar Creek, Va."; naj. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. dur. the war"; capt. 9 cav. july 28, 66, declined; capt. 2 cav. may 7, 67; retired apr. 23, 79, "for disability resulting from wound received and disease contracted in line of duty" [sec. 1251, rev. stats.].
- 241. CARSE, GEORGE B., May 21, 67. [Born in N. J.; apptd. from Pa.]— 2 It. 40 N. Y. vol. june 14, 61; 1 It. oct. 1, 61; capt. may 1, 62; must. out dec. 15, 63, paid to dec. 24, 63; capt. vet. res. corps jan. 25, 64, acc. feb. 8, 64; maj. vol. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Chancellorsville, Va."; It. col. bvt. and col. vol. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. dur. the war"; must. out june 17, 67; capt. 45 inf. may 21, 67, acc. june 18, 67; unassd. july 22, 69; retired dec. 15, 70, "for disability resulting from wounds received in line of duty" [act ang 3, 61, sees. 16 and 17].
- 242. WHITE, GEORGE Q., July 2, 67. [Born in Mass.; apptd. from Ill.]— Pvt. co. B, 1 Ill. 1. art. july 16, 61; dischgd. jan. 18, 62; capt. a. qu. vol. may 12, 62, acc. may 31, 62; maj. vol. bvt. apr. 26, 66, "for faith. ser. in the qu. dept."; vac. july 29, 67; capt. 44 inf. july 2, 67, acc. july 29, 67; maj. bvt. july 2, 67, "for mer ser. dur. the rebcllion"; unassd. may 27, 69; retired dec. 15, 70, "for loss of right arm from wounds received in line of duty" [act. aug. 3, 61, secs. 16 and 17].
- 243. NELSON, WILLIAM, July 9, 67. [Born in Ind.; apptd. from Army.]— Pvt. co. B, Datt. 13 inf. sept. 5, 61; sergt. dec. 1, 61; 1 sergt. jan. 1, 62; 2 lt. 13 inf. may 31, 62; acc, june 20, 62; 1 lt. oct. 2, 62; capt. bvt. jun. 10, 63; "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Arkansas Post, Ark."; maj. bvt. july 4, 63, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the siege of Vicksburg, Miss."; qu. 1 batt. 13 inf. mar. 27, 65; to nov. 30, 65; trs. to 22 inf. sept. 21, 66; capt. july 9, 67; unass4 may 15, 69; ass4, to 21 inf. dec. 15, 70; retired may 29, 74, "for disability resulting from disease contracted in line of duty" [sec. 1251, rev. stats.].
- 244. DE GRESS, JACOB C., July 31, 67. [Born in Prusia: apptd. from Mo.]— Capt. 6 Mo. cav. apr. 1, 62; must. out feb. 22, 65, paid to may 21, 65; lt. col. vol. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for mer. ser. at the Bayou de Glaze, La."; maj. a. d. c. vol. may 12, 65; acc. may 22, 65; must. out sept. 1, 66; 1 lt. 9 cav. july 28, 66, acc. jan. 28, 67; capt. bvt. and maj. bvt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. dur. the siege of Vicksburg, Miss."; lt. col. bvt. mar. 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Bayou de Glaze, La."; capt. 9 cav. july 31, 67, acc. oct. 2, 67; reliced dec. 31, 70, "for disability resulting from wounds received in line of duty." [act ang. 3, 6], sees. 16 and 17].
- 245. RENDLEBROCK, JOSEPH, Aug. 13, 67. [Born in Prussia; apptd. from Army,]— Pvt. co. A, m. rif. may 22, 51; corpl. june 4, 52; sergt. mar. 1, 53; 1 sergt. oct. 12, 54; dischad. may 22, 56; pvt. co. G, 1 cav. ang. 16, 55; corpl. ang. 23, 56; sergt. uov. 1, 56; 1 sergt. mar. 17, 60; dischad. july 13, 61; 1 sergt. co. G, 1 cav. july 13, 61; 2 lt. 4 cav. nov. 29, 62; acc. dec. 5, 62; 11; bvt. may 10; 63; "for gal. and mer. ser. in the cav, action at Franklin, Tenn."; capt. bvt. oct. 4, 63; "for gal. and mer. ser. in the cav, action at Franklin, Tenn."; capt. bvt. oct. 4, 63; "for gal. and mer. ser. in the cav, the Schma Ala."; regtl. qm. 4 cav. aug. 20, 66; to aug. 13, 67; capt. 4 cav. aug. 13, 67; retired july 23, 79; "for disability resulting from long and faith. ser. and disease contracted in line of duty" [sec. 125], rev. stats.].

- 246. CONWAY, EDWIN J., Aug 16, 67. [Born in Ireland; apptd. from Mo.]— Pvt. co. II, 1 drag, apr. 22, 52; corpl. nov. 1, 54; pvt. jan. 15, 55; corpl. may 1, 56; pvt. jan. 14, 57; dischad, apr. 22, 57; pvt. co. B; 1 cav. nov. 28, 59; dischad dec. 4, 62; 11, 18 Mo. vol. dec. 4, 62; max, out apr. 7, 63; 24; 4 cav. 6b, 19, 63, acc. apr. 8, 63; 11; sept. 7, 64; capt. hvt. apr. 2, 65, "for gal, and mer, ser, in the capture of Schma, Ala,"; capt. 4 cav. ang. 16, 67; ecticed dec. 31, 70, "for disability resulting from disease contracted in line of daty" fact ang. 3, 61, sees, 16 and 17].
- 247. SCHWENK, SAMUEL K., Dec. 16, 67. [Born in Pa.: apptd. from Pa.]-
- 14t. 50 Pa, vol. sept. 9, 61; capt. nov. 1, 62; must, out oct. 12, 64; maj. 50 Pa, vet. vol. feb. 28, 65; ft. col. vol. byt. mar. 25, 65, "for cons. gallantry before Petersburg and in the assault on Fort Steedman, Va."; ft. col. 50 Pa, vet. vol. may 18, 65; col. vol. byt. and brig. gen. vol. byt. july 24, 65, "for mer. ser, dur, the war"; must, out july 30, 65; capt. 9 U. S. vet. vol. cet. 25, 65; must, out apr. 25, 66; 14t. 41 inf. july 28, 66, acc dec. 28, 66; capt. byt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal, and mer. ser, in the battle of Ny River, Va."; ft. ed. byt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal, and mer. ser, in the battle of Ny River, Va."; h. ed. byt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal, and mer. ser, in the battle of Sv River, Va."; h. ed. byt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal, and mer. ser, in the battle of Sv River, Va."; regtl. adjit 44 inf. july 16, 76 to dec. 16, 67; eng.44 linf, dec. 16, 67; unassd. nov. 11, 69; ussd. to 8 cav, jan. 1, 11; retired may 17, 76, "for disability resulting from wounds received in line of duty" [see, 1251, rev. stats.].
- 248. EGAN, JAMES, Feb. 5, 68. [Born in Ireland; apptd. from Army,]— Pv4. co. E, 1 cav. mar. 1, 60; corpl. dec. 1, 60; sergt. dec. 1, 61; 1 sergt. jan. 8, 63; 2 lt. 2 cav. aug. 10, 63, acc. aug. 20, 63; 1 lt. bvt. may 31, 64, "for gal, and mer. ser, in the battle of Cold Harbor, Va."; 1 lt. 2 cav. oct. 15, 64; capt. feb. 5, 68; retired may 9, 79, "for disability resulting from wounds and injuries received in line of dury" [sec. 125], rev. stats.].
- 249. FRENCH, THOMAS H., Mar. 25, 68. [Born in Md.; apptd. from Army.]— Pvt. 10 inf. jan. 13, 64; 2–lt. 10 inf. may 18, 64, acc. june 10, 64; 1–lt. june 23, 64; capt. bvt. ang. 18, 64, "for gal. ser. dur. the operations on the Weldon R. R."; capt. 44 inf. july 28, 66, d. clined; capt. 10 inf. mar. 26, 68; unassd. may 19, 69; assd. to 7 cav. jan. 1, 71; reticed feb. 5, 80 [sec. 125], rev. stats.].
- 250. MCDONALD, JOHN, July L 68. [Born in Ireland; apptd. from Army.]— Pyt. co. K. 1 drag, aug. 18, 57; corpl. feb. 12, 60; sergt. oct. 1, 60; 1 sergt. jan. 17, 62; dischad, june 18, 62; 1 sergt. co. K. 1 euv. june 18, 62; 2 lt. 1 cav, july 17, 62, acc. oct. 1, 62; 1 lt. dec. 29, 63; capt. july 1, 68; retired july 1, 68; "for disability resulting from sickness and exposure in line of duty" [act aug. 3, 61, secs. 16 and 17].
- 25). TOMKINS, JAMES S., July 30, 68. [Born in III.; apptd. from Army.]— Pyt. co. G. 1 batt, 12 inf, jan. 27, 65; corpl. mar. 1, 65; 24t, and 14t, 12 inf. may 26, 65, acc. june 9, 65; trs. to 30 inf. sept. 24, 66; regtl. adjt feb. 9, 67, to july 30, 68; capt. july 30, 68; unassd. mar. 23, 69; assid. to 25 inf. jan. 1, 71; refired mar. 20, 79, "for disability resulting from disease contracted in line of duty" [see, 1251, rev. stats.].
- 252. MERRELL, WILLIAM H., Sept. 10, 68. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from N. Y.]— Corpl. co E, 27 N. Y. vol. may 21, 61; pvt. — , —, —, *disloyd.* mar. 31, 62; 14, 108 N. Y. vol. ang. 18, 62; capt. mar. 11, 63; must. out july 28, 63; 14, vet. res. corps ang. 8, 63, acc. ang. 15, 63; capt. dec. 10, 63, acc. dec. 28, 63; must. out oct. 23, 66; 14, 42 int. july 28, 66, acc. oct. 24, 66; capt. bvt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser, in the battle of Ball Ran (18), Va."; capt. 42 int. sept. 10, 68; muss.d apr. 22, 69; refired dec. 31, 70, "for disability resulting from disease induced by wound received in line of duty" [act ang. 3, 61, secs. 16 and 17].
- 253. HOTSENPILLER, CHARLES W., Sept. 25, 68. [Born in Ohio: apptd. from Army.]— Pyr. co. A, 2 batt. 16 inf. mar. 21, 62; sergt. may 15, 62; 1 sergt. may 15, 62; 2 lt. 16 inf. ang, 10, 63, acc. ang. 26, 63; 1 lt. may 24, 64; capt. hyt. sept. 1, 64. "for gal, and mer. ser. dur. the Athanta campaign and in the battle of Jonesboro, Ga."; adjr th batt, 16 mf, nov. 23, 64, to ang. 15, 66; capt. sept. 25, 68; unassd. apr. 17, 69; assd. to 19 inf. jan. 1, 71; retired june 19, 79, "for disability resulting from disease not incident to the ser." [see, 1252, rev. stats.].
- 254. TRIMBLE, JOEL G., Dec. 26, 68. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Army.]— Pvt. co. E. 1 drag, feb. 5, 55; corpl. mar. 27, 56; sergt. jan. 30, 57; pvt. dec. 10, 57; dischgd. feb. 5, 60; pvt. co. Å, 2 drag, june 16, 60; corpl. co. Å, 2 core, apr. 1, 62; sergt. jan. 1, 63; 2 lt. 1 cav. feb. 19, 63, acc. apr. 7, 63; 1 lt. june 3, 64; capt. bvt. june 11, 64, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Trevillian Station, Va."; regtl. adj't 1 cav. july 1, 64, to oct. 1, 64; maj. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gallantry in the battles of Trevillian Station and Cedar Creek X.a."; regtl. qu. 1 cav. apr. 19, 66, to july 5, 66; capt. 9 cav. july 28, 66, declined; regtl. com. 1 cav. apr. 25, 67, to dec. 26, 68; capt. dec. 26, 68; retired aug. 21, 79, "for disability resulting from disease contracted in line of duty" [see, 125], rev. stats.].
- 255. REYNOLDS, FRANK, Dec. 29, 68. [Born in Ireland: apptd. from N. Y.]— Surg. 88 N. Y. vol. sept. 26, 61; asst. surg. U.S. vol. aug. 7, 63, acc. aug.15, 63; resgd. sept. 22, 64, paid to dec. 5, 64; th. col. vol. byt. mar.13, 65; "for faith, and mer. ser."; surg. 2 U. S. vet. vol. mar. 23, 65; marst. out mar.18, 66; 1 h. asst. surg. nov. 16, 68, acc. dec. 29, 68; rapt. dec. 29, 68; retired june 28, 78, "for disability resulting from disease contracted in line of duty" [sec. 1251, rev. stats.].

Captains-Continued.

- 256. BOWEN, EDGAR C., Feb. 22, 69. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 61; 24t. and 14, 12 inf. june 23, 65; regth. qm. oct. 16, 65, to aug. 11, 66; trs. to 30 inf. sept. 21, 66; regth. adj't sept. 1, 68, to nov. 10, 68; capt. feb. 22, 69; unassd. mar. 23, 69; assd. to 11 inf. jun. 1, 71; retired june 7, 79, "for disability resulting from disease contracted in line of duty" [sec. 1251, rev. stats.].
- 257. MINOR, WILLIAM C., May 30, 69. [Born in E. Ind.; apptd. from N. Y.]— 11t. asst. surg. feb. 28, 66, acc. may 30, 66; capt. bvt. sept. 28, 66, "for mer. and dis. ser. at Fort Columbus, N. Y. Harbor, where cholera prevailed"; capt. asst. surg. may 30, 69; *retired* dec. 15, 70, "for disability resulting from sickness and exposure in line of duty" [act aug. 3, 61, secs. 16 and 17].
- 258. TAYLOR. ALFRED B., June 22, 69. [Born in D. C.; apptd. from Army.]— Pvt. co. H. 22 N. Y. s. m. may 28, 62; dischgd. scept. 5, 62; pvt. co. K. 5 cav. june 29, 63; 2 It. 5 cav. oct. 31, 63, acc. nov. 12, 63; 1 It. sept. 12, 64; capt. bvt. apr. 9, 65, "for gal. and mer. cond. dur. the campaign terminating with the surrender of the insurgent army under Gen. R. E. Lee", regtl. qm. 5 cav. dec. 31, 66, to june 22, 69; capt. june 22, 69; retired may 1, 70, "for disability resulting from disease contracted in line of duty" [sec. 1251, rev. stats.].
- 259. MCCLEAVE, WILLIAM, Aug. 10, 69. [Born in Ireland; apptd. from Cal.]— Pvt. co. K, 1 drag. oct. 7, 50; sergt. aug. 1, 51; pvt. dec. 26, 51; corpl. june 1, 52; sorgt. apr. 11, 53; 1 sergt. june 1, 53; dischgd. oct. 1, 55; 1 sergt. co. K, 1 drag. oct. 1, 55; dischgd. oct. 1, 60; capt. 1 Cal. cav. aug. 23, 61; maj. may 1, 63; 1t. col. vol. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for his successful pursuit of and gallantry in an engagement with the Apache Indians"; mast out oct. 19, 66; 2 It. 8 cav. july 28, 66, ace. jan. 30, 67; 1 It. mar. 6, 67; capt. aug. 10, 69; retired mar. 20, 79, "for disability resulting from injury received and discase contracted in line of duty" [sec. 1251, rev. stats.].
- 260. RITTENHOUSE, BENJAMIN F., Jan. 5, 70. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from D. C.]— 2 h. 5 art. may 14, 61, acc. junc 22, 61; 1 lt. july 13, 62; capt. bvt. ang. 1, 64, "for gal. ser. in the battle of Bethesda Church, and dur. the present campaign before Richmond, Va."; maj. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for good cond. and gal. ser. dur. the war"; capt. 20 inf. july 28, 66, deelined; capt. 5 art. jan. 5, 70: retired oct. 7, 74, "for disability resulting from wounds received in line of duty" [sec. 125], rev. stats.].
- 261. ARMSTRONG, SAMUEL E., May 27, 71. [Born in Ind.; apptd. from Ind.]— 21t. 1 Ind. h. art. july 24, 61; capt. nov. 18, 63; must. out feb. 13, 66; 21t. 41 inf. july 28, 66, and 1 lt. may 2, 67, acc. june 5, 67; unassd. nov. 11, 69; assd. to 24 inf. may 3, 70; capt. may 27, 71; retired june 28, 78, "for disability resulting from disease contracted in line of duty" [sec. 1251, rev. stats.].
- 262. McCHNNISS, JAMES T., Aug. 31, 71. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Ohio.]— Pvt. co. E, 1 Ohio vol. apr. 14, 61; dischgd. aug. 1, 61; pvt. co. E, 84 Ohio vol. may 26. 62; sergt. june 2, 62; dischgd. sept. 20, 62; 2 lt. 124 Ohio vol. sept. 29, 62; 1 lt. apr. 17, 63; capt. jan. 4, 65; maj. vol. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battles of Chickamanga, Ga., Missionary Ridge, Tenn., and Dallas, Ga."; must. out july 9, 65, paid to july 17. 65; 2 lt. and 1 lt. 13 inf. feb. 23, 66, acc. apr. 30, 66; capt. bvt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Chickamanga, Ga."; maj. bvt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Missionary Ridge, Tenn."; regil. qm. 13 inf. july 1, 67, to june 1, 68; regil. adj'i june 1, 68, to ang. 31, 71; capt. aug. 31, 71; retired mar. 26, 79, "for disability resulting from wound received in line of duty" [sec. 125], rev. stats.].
- 263. SCHREINER, HERMAN, Dee. 9, 71. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Pa.]— Capt. com. sub. vol. aug. 30, 62, acc. sept. 2, 62; maj. vol. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for mer. ser. in his dept. dur. the war"; 21t. 11 inf. feb. 24, 66, acc. apr. 26, 66; it. col. vol. bvt. may 15, 66, "for long, faith., and zealons ser."; must. out of vol. ser. may 31, 66; trs. to 20 inf. sept. 21, 66; 11t. nov. 1, 66; unassd. may 22, 69; assd. to 9 cav. dec. 31, 70; capt. dec. 9, 71; retired mar. 20, 79, "for disability resulting from disease contracted in line of duty" [sec. 125], rev. stats.].
- 264. BOEHM, PETER M., May 1, 73. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from Mont.]— Pvt. gen. mid. ser. july 3, 58; bug. co. B, 2 cav. apr. 20, 61; dischad, july 3, 63; pvt. gen. ser. sept. 3, 63; dischad, mar. 1, 65; 2 lt. 15 N. Y. cav. mar. 1, 65; must. or to ct. 4, 65; 2 lt. 4 cav. may 1, 66, acc. may 19, 66; 1 lt. sept. 27, 66; capt. may 1, 73; retired mar. 1, 78, "for disability resulting from wound received and disease contracted in line of duty" [sec. 125], rev. stats.].

Captains-Continued.

- 265. FITZ GERALD, MICHAEL J., Dec. 31, 73. [Born in Ireland: apptd. from Army.]— Pyt. co. E, 1 art. jan. 5, 55; corpl. nov. 1, 58; pyt. july 10, 59; disclad. nov. 5, 59; pyt. (c) E. 1 art. nov. 5, 59; trs. to ord, dec. 1, 59; nutl. ord, june 1, 69; discloat, nov. 5, 59; pvt. (c) E. 1 art. nov. 5, 59; trs. to ord, dec. 1, 59; nutl. ord, june 1, 69; discload, feb. 23, 61; hosp, stwd. U. S. A. mar. 11, 61; 24, 9 inf, june 1, 63, acc, june 5, 63; 14t. mar. 4, 64; capt. dec. 31, 73; retired may 1, 79; "for disability resulting from wound received and discase constracted in line of daty" [see, 1251, rev. stats.].
- 266. HYER, JOSEPH K., May 4, 74. [Born in Wis.: apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet sept. 4, 61; 2–1t, and 14t, 18–inf. june 23, 65; capt. may 4, 74; *retired.* mar. 20, 79, "for disability resulting from disease contracted in line of duty" [see, 1251, rev. stats.].
- 267. JOHNSTON, JOHN L., May 29, 74. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Pa.]-Corpl. co. 11, 2 Pa, vol. apr. 20, 61; discligit, july 26, 61; 1 sergt. co. II, 148 Pa, vol. aug. 8, 62) 1 h. 148 Pa, vol. nov. I. 62); capt. nov. 15, 65; must. out june 1, 65; capt. 3 U. S. vet. vol. anz.8, 65; must. out apr. 21, 66; 1 h. 21 int july 28, 66; acc. oet. 27, 66; capt. byt. mar. 2, 67, ~ 160; gal. and mer. sec. in the first assoult on Petersburg Va."; reg1. adjt 121 int. june 2, 68, to apr. 5, 69; regth. qu. apr. 5, 69, to may 29, 74; capt. may 29, 74; *refired* june 28, 78, [] for disability resulting from exposure in line of duty [] [sec. 1251, tev. stats.].
- 268. LAFFERTY, JOHN, Oct. 3, 76. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from Cal.]— 14. 1 batt, Cal. cav, july 21, 61; most, out may 15, 66, paid to mar, 19, 66; 2 lt, 8 cav, july 28, 66; nec, nov. 16, 66; 1 lt, july 31, 67, acc, sept. 15, 67; capt. oct. 3, 76; retired june 28, 78, "for disability resulting from wound received in line of duty" [sec, 125], rev. stats.].
- 269. FORD: GEORGE E., Dec. 14, 77. [Born in Pa.; appld. from Pa.]— Pyt. co. B.4 Iowa vol. july 10, 61; sergt. ang. 8, 61; 4 sergt. oct. 10, 61; discligit, jan. 22. 62: 244. 4 Iowa vol. jan. 23, 62; capt. sept. 15, 62; capt. a. d. e. vol. (cb. 2, 65, "ace, apr. 30, 65, maj. vol. byt. and h. col. vol. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. set. dur. the war"; (cel. vol. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. ser, in the battle of Ringgold Ga."; *must out* jan. 12, 66, 14, 39 inf. june 12, 67, acc. july 17, 67; massel, apr. 20, 69; assel, to 3 cav, jan. 1, 71; capt. de., 14, 77; *extired* mar. 20, 79, "for disability resulting from injury received in line of duty" [see, 1251, rev. stats.].
- IRWIN, DAVID A., Mar. I. 7s. (Born in Pa.: appld from Pa.]- 24, 12 Pa. cav. mar. 18, 62; 141, oct. 7, 62; capt may 2, 64; most out july 20, 65, paid to
- 271. MERRITT, THOMAS E., June 28, 78. (Born in N. V.) apptd. from Cal.)— Pyt. co. C, 13 N. Y. S. m. apr. 23, 61; *disclept.* aug. 6, 61; sergt. co. H, 55 N. Y. vol. sept. 6, 61; *disclept.* mar. 21, 62; sergt. co. I, 128 N. Y. vol. aug. 22, 62; 24b, 128 N. Y. vol. june 6.6): absorbat, mar. 21, 621 serger, 66, 4, 128 X, Y, Vol. ang. 22, 621 21, 628 X, V, Vol. june 15, 63; disclopd, ang. 30, 63, paid to ang. 31, 65; cmot. 001, 80, C, C, to et 3, 65; most, out sept. 9, 64; capt. 7, U, S, vet. vol. mar. 1, 65; most, out apr. 25, 66; 2 h. 11 inf. may 11, 66, acc, sept. 17, 66; trs. to 29 inf. sept. 21, 66; 1 h. nov. 2, 67; mass.d. apr. 25, 69; ass.d. to 24 inf. jan. 1, 71; capt. june 28, 78; reliced mar. 20, 79, "for disability resulting from disease contracted in line of duty" [sec. 125], rev. stats.].
- 272. WARD, EDWARD W., Aug. 23, 78. [Born in Ky.; apptd. from Ky.] = 14, Ky, sconts dec. 26, 61; capt. 3 Ky, cay. mar. 24, 63; *must. out* july 15, 65, paid to july 31, 65; 244, 5 cay. july 22, 67, acc. aug. 2, 67; 144, apr. 25, 69; capt. aug. 23, 78; *retired* may 1, 79, "for disability resulting from disease contracted in line of duty" [sec. 1251, rev. stats.].
- 273. KING, CHARLES, May 1, 79. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 62; 24t, 1 art. june 18, 66; 14t, may 15, 70; trs. to 5 cav. jan. 1, 71; regtl. adj't oct. 5, 76, to jan, 28, 78; capt. may 1, 79; retired june 14, 79, "for disability resulting from wound received in line of duty" [sec. 1251, rev. [stats.].
- 274. TOWNSEND, ALFRED, July 28, 66. [Born in Pa. : apptd. from Army.]— Pvt. co. II, 9 Pa. res. corps. may 24, 62: diseligid. nov. 10, 62: pvt. co. —, 10 inf. nov. 10. 22: 21: 15 inf. nov. 10, 62, acc. nov. 10, 62: 11 t. may 30, 63; capt. bvt. sept. 20, 63, "for gal, and mer. ser, in the battle of Chickamanga, 6a,"; *retired* feb. 1, 65, "for disability result-ing from wounds received in line of duty." [act ang. 3, 61, sees, 16 and 17]; *retired* with rank of capt. july 28, 66" [act july 28, 66, sec. 32].
- 275. QUHRK, PAUL, July 28, 66. [Born in Ireland; apptd. from Army.]— Pvt. co. F. 2 drag, apr. 15, 52; diselad, apr. 15, 57; pvt. co. F. 2 drag, apr. 16, 57; corpl. jan. 1, 58; serg. doc. 1, 58; diselad. 46b, 17, 62; 1 sergt. co. F. 2 eav. feb. 17, 62; 24, 2 eav. july 17, 62, acc. sept. 23, 62; 1 ht, bvt. sept. 17, 62; 10 for gal, and mer. ser, due, the Maryland

Cantains-Continued.

- 276. BADEAU, ADAM, May 18, 69. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from N. Y.]-Capt.a. a. d. e. apr. 29, 62, acc. may 2, 62; fb. col. mil. sec. to the lt. gen. mar. 29, 61; col. vol. byt. fcb. 24, 65, "for faith and mer. ser,"; brig. gen. yol. byt. apr. 9, 65, "for gal. and mer, ser, dur, the campaign terminating with the surrender of the insurgent army under Gen. R. E. Lee"; 241.4 inf. mar. 22, 66, acc. may 1, 66; must. out as capt. a. a. d. c. july 1, 66; col. a. d. c. to the gen. july 25, 66; 1 ft. 4 inf. july 28, 65; capt. byt., maj. byt., it. col. byt., col. byt., and brig, gen. byt. mar. 2, 67, "for faith, and mer. ser. dur. the war"; relieved as col. a. d. c. to the gen. mar. 4, 69; massd. mar. 23, 69; retired with rank of capt. may 18, 69, "for disability resulting from wound received in line of duty" [acts aug. 3, 61, sees.

16 and 17; july 28, 66, sec. 32].

- 277. CLEGHORN, JOHN F., Dec. 15, 70. [Born in Canada; apptd. from Ill.]— 2 lt. 20 Ill. vol. apr. 22, 61; 1 lt. june 13, 61; capt. feb. 28, 62; resgd. july 4, 63; 1 lt. vet. res. corps jan. 22, 64, acc. feb. 5, 64; capt. feb. 21, 65, acc. may 8, 65; maj. vol. byt. june 22, 65. "for faith, and ard, ser, dur, the way, both in the field and in the recruitment of the armies of the United States": It. col. vol. byt. mar. 16, 65. "for faith, and mer. ser, connected with the mustering out and disbanding of the vol. armies of the United States"; must. out sept. 11, 66; 1 lt. 45 inf. july 28, 66, acc. oct. 31, 66; regtl. qm. mar. 1, 67, to july 22, 69; capt. byl. mar. 2, 67, "for gal, and mer. ser, in the capture of Vicksburg, Miss."; unassd. july 22, 69; *retired* with rank of capt. dec. 15, 70, "for distibility resulting from wound received in line of duty" [acts ang. 3, 61, sees. 16 and 17; july 28, 66, sec. 32].
- 278. VON SCHIRACH, FREDERICK C., Dec. 15, 70. [Born in Prussia; apptd. from Mo.]-Mus. band and co. A, 54 N. Y. vol. oct. 14, 61; dischgd. mar. 1, 62; 2 lt. 54 N. Y. vol. mar. 1, 62; 1 It. jan. J. 63; most. ort may 27, 63; 1 It. vet. res. corps may 26, 63, acc. may 28, 63; maj. vol. byt. mar. 13, 65; "for gal. and mer. ser. dur. the war"; capt. vet. res. corps mar. 25, 65, acc. apr. 1, 65; must. out jan. 6, 67; 1 It. 43 inf, july 28, 66, acc. jan. 7, 67; capt. byt, mar. 2, 67, "for gal, and mer. ser, in the battle of Bull Run (2d), Va."; unassd. apr. 7, 69; retired with rank of capt. dec. 15, 70. " for loss of right leg from wound received in line of daty." [acts aug. 3, 61, secs. 16 and 17; july 28, 66, sec. 32].
- 279. HOAG, JOHN M., Dec. 15, 70. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from N. Y.]— Pvt. co. B, 138 N. Y. vol. [9 N. Y. h. art.] ang. 11, 62; corpl. may 4, 63; dischad, ang. 29, 63; FYL CO, B. 158 & A. Y. 60, 19 K. Y. h. art. Jang, 11, 62; Corpt. may 4, 65; 0) scalar, and 2, 26, 63; 211; 4 U. S. e. I. sept. 2, 63; 11 K. sept. 24, 64; capt. how, 19, 64; maj, vol. byt. and R. col. vol. byt. mar, 13, 65, "for gal, and mer, ser, dm, the war"; 1 R. 44 inf, july 28, 66, acc. jan. 3, 67; must, out of vol. ser, jan. 28, 67; capt. byt. mar, 2, 67, "for gal, and mer, ser, in action at Chapin's Farm, Va."; unassd. may 27, 69; retired with rank of capt. dec. 15, 70, "for loss of left arm from wounds received in line of duty" [acts aug. 3, 61, sees, 16 and 17; july
 - 28, 66, sec. 32].
- 200. KELLIHER, JOHN, Dec. 15, 70. [Born in N. B.; apptd. from Mass.]— Sergt. co. F, 20 Mass. vol. july 26, 61; 1 sergt. dec. 16, 61; dischgd. dec. 14, 62; 2 lt. 20 Mass. vol. dec. 14, 62; 1 lt. sept. 5, 63; capt. nov. 11, 63; maj. dec. 24, 64; mast. out july 16, 65, paid to july 27, 65; 1 14, 42 inf. july 28, 66, acc jan. 1, 67; capt. bvt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser, in the battle of Gettysburg, Pa."; maj. bvt. myr. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser, in the battle of Spottsylvania, Va."; unassd. apr. 22, 69; *retired* with rank of capt. dec. 15, 70, " for loss of right arm from wounds received in line of duty " [acts ang. 3, 61, secs. 16 and 17; july 28, 66, sec. 32].
- 281. TYLER, RICHARD W., Dec. 15, 70. [Born in Mich.; apptd. from Mich.]-Sergt. co. K, 1 U. S. sh. sh. dec. 26, 61; 1 sergt. mar. 23, 64; 2 lt. 1 U. S. sh. sh. may 25, 64; 1 lt. aug. 4. 64; resgd. nov. 9, 64; 2 lt. vet. res. corps oct. 25, 64, acc. nov. 10, 64; 1 lt. vol. bvt. and capt. vol. byt. mar 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. dur. the war"; must. out oct. 15, 66; 1 It 44 inf, july 28, 66, acc oct. 15, 66; capt. byt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal and mer. ser. in the battle of Deep Bottom, Va."; imassd. may 27, 69; *retired* with rank of capt. dec. 15, 70, "for joss of left arm from wound received in line of duty" (acts aug. 3, 61, secs. 16 and 17: july 28, 66, see. 32].
- 282. HILL, GEORGE D., Dec. 31, 70. [Born in Ohio: apptd. from Mich.]-Pyt. co. D, 3 Mich. vol. may 13, 61; prin. mus. 3 Mich. vol. sept. 1, 61; dischgd. jan. 15, 63; 1 sergt. co. 1, 1 Mich. cav. ed: 23, 63; 2 lt. 1 Mich. cav. jan. 2, 65; 1 lt. may 1, 65; must. out nov. 7, 65; 1 lt. 42 inf. july 28, 66, acc. dec. 28, 66; capt. byt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Appointatox C. II., Va."; unassd. apr. 22, 69; retired with rank of capt. mtd. dec. 31, 70, "for loss of left arm from wound received in line of duty" [acts aug. 3, 61, secs. 16 and 17; july 28, 66, sec. 32].
- 283. NILES, ALANSON E., Dec. 15, 70. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Pa.]-Capt. 1 Pa. rif. jume 21, 61; maj. mar. 1, 63; lt. col. may 15, 63; resgd. mar. 26, 64, paid to mar. 28, 64; maj. vet. res. corps apr. 14, 64, acc. apr. 21, 64; lt. col. vol. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal, and mer, see, dur the war"; col.vol. by the tapter of the state that for the table of the state of [acts ang, 3, 61, sees. 16 and 17; july 28, 66, sec. 32].

Captains-Continued.

- 284. HAY, THOMAS H., Dec. 31, 70. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from N. Y.]— 1 R. 54 N. Y. vol. doc. 1, 62; must, out may 31, 64; 1 H. vet res, corps may 30, 64, acc. june 27, 64; maj, vol. byt, mar. 13, 65; "for gal, and mer.ser, in the battles of Chancellors ville, Va., and Gettysburg, Pa."; capt, vet, res, corps feb, 24, 65, acc. june 7, 65; must, out mar. 31, 67; 1 R. 42 inf, jan. 22, 67, acc. apr. 1, 67; capt, byt, mar.2, 67, "for gal, and mer, ser, in the battle of Chancellorsville, Va.; maj, byt, mar.2, 67, "for gal, and mer.ser, in the battle of Gettysburg, Pa."; unassd. apr. 22, 69; retired with rank of capt, dec. 31, 70, "for loss of left leg from wounds received in line of dury" [acts ang. 3, 61, secs, 16 and 17; july 28, 66, sec. 32].
- 285. KELLER, JACOB W., Dec. 15, 70. [Born in Prussia; apptd. from Conn.]--Pvt co, K, 6 Mass, vol. apr. 22, 61; discligit, aug. 2, 61; 14; 5 N. H. vol. oct. 12, 61; capt. may 1, 63; mast, out jan. 26, 64; capt. vet. res. corps jan. 22, 64, acc. jan. 27, 64; must, out jan. 11, 67; 2–11–42 inf. july 28, 66, acc. jan. 12, 65; 1–11, mar. 20, 67; mussed apr. 22, 69; retired with rank of capt. dec. 15, 70, "for disability resulting from wound received in line of duty" [acts ang. 3, 61, secs. 16 and 17; july 28, 66, sec. 32].
- 286. GASKHLL, EDWIN C., Dec. U. 70. (Eurn in Mass.) apptd. from Mass.]— Pet. eo. B. 25 Mass. vol. oct. 12, 61; dischool. jan. 17, 64; pet. co. F. 25 Mass. vel. vol. jan. 18, 64; discloal, feb. 29, 64; 24, 36 U. 8, e. t. apr. 21, 64; 111, july 11, 64; capt. oct. 24, 64; must. out oct. 28, 66; 14t. 43 inf. may 21, 67, arc, june 4, 67; massed, apr. 8, 69; refixed with rank of eact. dec. 15, 70, "for loss of right arm from wound received in line of daty," [acts ang. 3, 61, sees. 16 and 17; july 28, 66, see, 32].
- 287. DAWES, WILLIAM J., Dec. 15, 70. [Born in Ohio; apptd. from Wis.]— Capt. 8 Wis, vol. sept. 25, 61; most, out mar. 31, 64; capt vect res. corps mar. 25, 64, acc, apr. 4, 64; maj. vol. byt. mar. 13, 65; "for gal. and mer. ser."; must, out jan. 16, 67; 24t. 43 inf, july 28, 66; acc, jan. 17, 67; 14; byt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Corinth, Miss.," declined; 14t. 43 inf july 20, 67; un issol. apr. 8, 69; retired with rank of eapt. dec. 15, 70, "for disability resulting from wound received in line of daty" [acts ang. 3, 61, sees. 16 and 17; july 28, 65, sec. 32].
- 288. BOURNE, WHLLIAM R., Dec. 15, 70. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from N. Y.]— Pyt. co. C. 4t N. Y. vol. aug. 20, 61; 4 scrgt. co. K. oct. 1, 61; 24: 44 N. Y. vol. may 14, 62; 14: dec. 18, 62; capt. jan. 11, 63; must, out oct. 9, 65; capt. vet. res. cops oct. 30, 63, acc. nov. 7, 63; maj. vol. byt. mar. 13, 65; "for gal. and mer. ser. dur. the war"; most, out jan. 10, 67; 24t. 12; inf. july 28, 66, acc. jan. 11, 67; 14t. byt. mar. 2, 67; "for gal. and met. ser. in the battle of Gettysburg, Pa."; 14t. 42; inf. sept. 10, 68; unassd. apr. 22, 69; petired with rank of capt. dec. 15, 70; "for diability resulting from wound received in line of duty" [acts aug. 3, 61, secs. 16 and 17; july 28, 66, sec. 32].
- 289. SPRAGUE, WELLINGTON G., May 21, 70. [Form in Ohio: apptd. from Wis.]— Pet. eo. A. 1 Wis, h. art. mar. 31, 62; ecopl. july 6, 63; discled, 8, spl. 26, 63; eapt. 1 U.S. e. t. oct. 7, 63; maj. vol. byt. and It. eol. vol. byt. mar. 13, 65; "for gal. cond. before Peterssburg, Va., and for general good cond, and met. ser,"; *most. out* sept. 29, 65, paid to oct. 11 65; 2 h. 16 inf. apr. 3, 66, acc. may 19, 66; trs. to 34 inf. sept. 24, 66; mas.d. apr. 14, 69; *retired* with rank of capt. may 21, 70, "for disability resulting from wound received in line of duty" [acts ang 3, 6], sees 16 and 17; july 28, 66, sec. 52].
- 290. RISLEY, DOUGLAS G., Dec. 31, 70. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from Ind.]→ Sergt. co. C, 9 Ind. vol. apr. 19, 61; disclord, july 29, 61; capt. 9 Ind. vol. sept. 5, 61; must. out may 30, 63; capt. 9 U. S. e. 1, nov. 27, 63; must, out may 15, 65; 21, 42 inf, july 28, 66, acc, oct. 5, 66; unissd. apr. 22, 60; retired with rank of capt. dec. 31, 70, " for disability resulting from wounds received in line of duty" [acts ang. 3, 61, sees, 16 and 47; july 28, 66, see, 32].
- 291. ATWELL, WILLIAM P., Dec. 31, 70. [Bern in Ohio; apptd. from Wis.]— 1 It. 37 Wis. vol. june 1, 64; *must. out* dec. 1, 64; capt. vol. byt. and maj. vol. byt. mar. 13, 65; "for gal, and mer. ser, in action before Petersburg, Va."; 2 It. 36 inf. jan. 22, 67, acc. mar. 22, 67; i It. byt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal, and mer. ser, in the assault on Petersburg, Va., july 30, 64"; capt byt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal, and mer. ser, dur. the war"; unassd. apr. 8, 69; *retired* with rank of capt. dec. 31, 70, "for loss of right log from wounds received in line of duty" [acts aug. 3, 61, secs. 16 and 17; july 28, 66, sec. 32].
- 202. JUDD. GEORGE E., May 28, 70. [Born in Mass.: apptd. from Mich.]— I sorgt. co. A, 3 Mich. vol. june 10, 61; disedgal. ang. I. 61; 2 H. 3 Mich. vol. ang. 10,61; 1 lt. oct. 28, 61; capt. june 23, 62; must, out feb. 7, 64; capt. vet. res. corps jan. 29, 64, acc. feb. 8, 64; 2 lt. 45 inf. ang. 19, 68, acc. ang. 25, 68; must, out as c.pt. vet. res. corps ang. 27, 68; trs. to 14 inf. ang. 14, 69; unass.l. sept. 27, 69; retired with rank of capt. may 28, 70, "for loss of left arm from wound received in line of duty" [acts ang. 3, 61, secs. 16 and 17; july 28, 66, sec. 32].

Captains—Continued.

- 293. SINCLAHR, JAMES B. June 21, 76. [Born in N. Y.: apptd. from Pa.]— 2 ht 79 N. Y. vol. may 27, 61; most. out oct, 29, 61; 1 ht 11 inf. oct. 26, 61, acc. oct. 30, 61; capt. byt. ang. 1, 64, "for gal. ser, in the battle of Spottsylvania, Ya.", maj. byt. oct. 1, 64, "for gal. ser, in the battle of Chapel Honse, Va."; ht col. byt. and col. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser, due the war"; capt. 14 inf. july 25, 65; tw. to 23 inf. sept. 2], 66; hon. most. out jan. 1, 71; 21. 16 inf. mar. 9, 71, acc. may 23, 71; retired with rank of capt. july 1, 71. "for disability resulting from wounds received in line of duty" [acts ang. 3, 61, secs. 16 and 17; july 28, 66, sec. 32]; reduced to 1 ht. mar. 3, 75 [act mar. 3, 75, sec. 2]; restored to capt. june 21, 76[ac]
- 294. JOHNSON, WILLIAM S., May 20, 71. [Born in Ill.; apptd. from Mich.]— Pyt. co. A, 4 batt, D. C. vol. apr. 17, 61; diselogd.july 10, 61; 1 lt. 4 Ark, cav. oct. 1, 62; capt. feb. 5, 63; must. out.july 21, 64, paid to july 27, 64; 1 lt. vet. res. corps sept. 15, 64, acc. oct. 3, 64; capt. vol. byt. and maj. vol. byt. mur. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. dur. the war"; must. out ang. 29, 66; 1 lt. 43 inf. june 12, 67, acc. june 17, 67; reg11, qu. july 20, 67, to apr. 8, 69; unassd. apr. 8, 69; out of ser. oct. 4, 69; 1 lt. inf. june 24, 70, acc. feb. 3, 70; hon. must. out jan. 1, 71; 2 lt. 24 inf. mar. 9, 71, acc. may 20, 71; retired with rank of capt. mtd. may 20, 71, "for disability resulting from wound received in line of duty" [acts ang. 3, 61, secs, 16 and 17; july 28, 66, sec. 32].

First Lieutenants.

- 295. MCBLAIR, JOHN H., JR., May 14, 61. [Born in D.C.; apptd. from D.C.—] 1 lt. 15 inf. may 14, 61, acc. june 22, 61: retired oct. 3, 63, "for disability resulting from disease or injury not incident to the ser." [act aug. 3, 61, sec. 17].
- 296. BROWNELL, FRANCIS E., Oct. 24, 61. [Born in N. Y.: apptd. from N. Y.]— Pvt. co. Λ, 11 N. Y. vol. apr. 29, 61; dischgd. july 4, 61; 2 1t. 11 inf. may 14, 61, acc. july 5, 61: 1t. oct. 24, 61; retired nov. 4, 63, "for disability resulting from injuries received and exposure in line of duty" [act aug. 3, 61, sees. 16 and 17].
- 297. VINCENT, ALBERT O., Ang. 11, 62. [Born in Ohio; apptd. from Ohio.]— 2 It. 2 art. oct. 24, 61, acc. nov. 1, 61; 1 It. aug. 11, 62; capt. byt. sept. 17, 62, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Antietam, Md."; maj. bxt. july 3, 63, "for gal. and. mer. ser. in the battle of Gettysburg. Fa."; maj. 4 Ark. cav. apr. 23, 64; most. out of vol. ser. nov. 1, 65; 1t. col. byt. nov. 13, 65, "for faith. and mer. ser. in connection with the mattering out of ser. and disbanding of the vol. army of the United States"; capt. 38 inf. july 28, 66, declined; retired dec. 15, 70, "for disability resulting from sickness and exposure in line of dnty" [act ang. 3, 6], sees. 16 and 17].
- 298. FITCH, WILLIAM G., Sept. 12, 62. [Born in Conn.; apptd. from Conn.]— 1 It. 4 Conn. vol. may 22, 61; must. out ang, 7, 61, paid to nav. 15, 61; 2 It. 2 inf. oct. 29, 61, acc. nov. 16, 61; 1 It. sept. 12, 62; retired nov. 16, 63, "for disability resulting from sickness and exposure in line of duty" [act aug. 3, 61, secs. 16 and 17].
- 299. HUTCHINSON, MERRILL N., Jan 14, 63. [Born in N. H.; apptd. from Army.]— Pvt. co. G. 1 batt. 18 inf. oct. 12, 61; sergt. jan. 1, 62; 2 lt. 18 inf. june 9, 62, acc. july 16, 62; 1 lt. jan. 14, 63; capt. bvt. sept. 20, 63, " for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Chickamauga. Ga."; retired jan. 6, 64, " for disability resulting from sickness and exposure in line of duty" [act ang. 3, 61, secs. 16 and 17].
- 300. WILLIAMS, GEORGE, July 14, 63. [Born in Ohio; apptd. from Oreg.]— 2 lt. 4 inf. apr. 14, 62, acc. june 28, 62; capt. bvt. july 2, 63, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Gettysburg, Pa."; 1 lt. 4 inf. july 14, 63; retired nov. 11, 63, "for disability resulting from wound and injury received in line of duty" [act ang 3, 61, secs. 16 and 17].
- 301. PENNOCK, WILLIAM T., Sept 1, 63. [Born in N. H.; apptd. from Army.]— Pyt. co. G, 1 drag.oct. 23, 57; corpl. oct. 15, 59; sergt. june 24, 60; 1 sergt. aug. 6, 61; dischard. oct. 23, 62; 1 sergt. co. G, 1 cav. oct. 23, 62; on daty acting 2 lt. 1 cav. jan. 5, 62; to sept. 15, 62; by order of dept. condr.; 2 lt. 1 cav. july 17, 62; acc. sept. 15, 62; 1 lt sept. 1, 63; capt. byt.may 6, 64, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Todd's Tavern, Va."; retired july 1, 65; "for disability resulting from wounds received in line of duty" [act aug.3, 61, sees. 16 and 17].
- 302. DAV18, ROBERT, Oct. 20, 63. [Born in Mass.; apptd. from Army.]— Pvt. 1 Mass. vol. jan. 31, 48; dischgd. july 15, 48; pvt. co. 1, 2 inf. june 11, 58; corpl. sopt. 1, 59; sorgt. june 1, 61; 21t. 2 inf. july 18, 62, acc. nov. 19, 62; 1 lt. oct. 20, 63; capt. bvt. aug. 1, 64, "for gal. ser. in the battle of Spottsylvania and dur, the present campaign before Richmond, Va."; relived july 18, 60, "for disability resulting from wounds received in line of duty" [act. aug. 3, 6] sees. 16 and 17]; retired with rank of capt. july 28, 66 [act july 28, 66, see. 32]; reduced to 1 lt. mar. 3, 75 [act mar. 3, 75, sec. 2].

- 303. CURTIS, CHARLES A., Mar. 30, 64. [Born in Me.; apptd. from Me.]— 2 H. 7 inf. apr. 14, 62; trs. to 5 inf. apr. 28, 62, acc. apr. 30, 62; 1 H. mar. 30, 64; capt. bvf. sepl. 27, 65, "for mer, ser, dur, the war"; massd. may 19, 66; 27, 67, "for disability resulting from wound received in line of duty" [act ang. 3, 61, sees. 16 and 17].
- 304. DOUGLAS, WILLIAM O., May 14, 64. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from Army.]— Pvt. co. F. 2 batt. 14 inf. mar. 10, 62; sergt. apr. 30, 62; 2 ft. 14 inf. june 30, 62, acc. july 19, 62; capt. bvt. july 2, 63, "for g.d. and mer. ser, in the battle of Gettysburg, Pa."; 1 lt. 14 inf. may 14, 64; retired dec, 31, 61, "for disability resulting from wounds received in line of duty" [act ang. 3, 64, sees, 16 and 17].
- 395. SMITH, JOHN H., June 13, 64. [Born in Engl'd: appld. from Army.]— Pvt. co. L., 2 art. jan. 27, 54; corpl. sept. 1, 54; sergt. jan. 1, 55; pvt. oct. 1, 56; corpl. aug. 1, 57; sergt. dec. 1, 57; discleyd. jan. 27, 59; sergt. oc. L. 2 art. fob. 22, 59; 2 It. 2 art. aug. 10, 63; acc, aug. 14, 63; 11, june 13, 64; capt. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and faith. ser. dur. the war"; retired dec. 31, 79, "for disability resulting from disease contracted in line of duty" [act aug. 3, 64], sees. 16 and 17].
- 306. MILLER, CHARLES P., Oct. 29, 64. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from Army.]— 2 It. 6 N. Y. arf. upr. 15, 63; respl. mar. 9, 64; pyt. co, E. 5 art. may 30, 64; 2 It. and 1 It. 7 inf. oct. 20, 64, acc. nov. 5, 61; revised act. 12, 67, "for disability resulting from suckness not incident to the ser." [act ang 3, 61, sees. 16 and 17].
- 307. KNOX, EDWARD E., June 16, 65. [Jorn in Me.; apptd. from Army.]— 1 R. 11 N. Y. vol. may 7, 61; most, out ang. 4, 61; 1 R. 41 N. Y. vol. sept. 25, 61; capt. july 4, 62; maj. july 14, 62; most, out oct 10, 61; pvr. co. D. 1 batt, 12 inf, apr. 21, 65; 1 sergt, apr. 29, 65; 2 R. and 1 R. 12 inf, june 16, 65, acc, july 12, 65; tis, to 21 inf, sept. 21, 66; regth. qm, jun. 1, 67, to apr. 5, 69; capt. byt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal, and mer. ser, in the battle of Hamover C. H., Va."; maj, byt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal, and mer. ser, in the battle of Gettysburg, Pa."; h. col. byt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal, and mer. ser, in the battle of Gettysburg, Pa."; h. col. byt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal, and mer. ser, in Spottsylvania C. H., Va."; marsd, apr. 19, 60; refered with rank of 1 R. inthe battle of "for disability resulting from womed received in line of duty" [acts mg. 3, 60, sees. 16 and 17; july 28, 66; see, 32]; reduced to 1 R. mar. 3, 75, see, 2].
- 308. DUBOIS, RICHARD C., Oct. 9, 65. [Born in Pa.; mptd. from Army.]— Pv1. co. K, 6 Pa. res. corps apr. 23, 61; discloid, jan, 27, 62; sergt. co. B., 17 Pa. cav. sept. 15, 62; pvt. nov. 1, 62; discloid, nov. 29, 62; 14t, adj't 158 Pa. mil. nov. 30, 62; discloid, ang. 12, 63; pvt. gen. ser, mar. 6, 61; 24t, and 14t, 14 inf. oct. 9, 65, acc. oct. 10, 65; retired dec. 15, 70, "for disability resulting from sickness and exposure in line of duty" [act ang. 3, 61, sees. 16 and 17].
- 309. CAMPBELL, GEORGE J., Jan. 7, 65. [Born in ScotPd; apptd. from Army.]→ Pvt. det. drag. M. A. jan. 13, 51; pvt. co. A. eng. batt. may 24, 53; artf. jan. 1, 54; dischad. nov. 28, 55; artf. co. A. eng. batt. nov. 28, 55; dischad. nov. 28, 66; pvt. co. C, 3 artf. dee, 11, 60; corpl. oct. 1, 61; sergt. jan. 1, 62; qm sergt. 5 art. jan. 1, 63; 2 ft. 3 cav, may 18, 61, acc, june 13, 64; 1 ft. janl 7, 66; *retired* july 29, 68; "For disability resulting from wound not incident to the ser." [act ang. 3, 60, sec. 17].
- 310. DOLAN, MICHAEL, Jan. 31, 66. [Born in Ireland; apptd. from Army.]— Pyt. co. E. 2 inf. apr. 22, 56; corpl. aug. 1, 58; dischold, apr. 15, 61; corpl. co. E. 2 inf. apr. 15, 61; sergt. may 1, 61; 1 sergt. oct. 1, 61; 2 lt. 2 inf. feb. 19, 63, acc. apr. 1, 63; 1 lt. jan. 31, 66; unassd. apr. 17, 69; retired dec. 15, 70. "for disability resulting from wound received in line of duty" [act aug. 3, 61, sees. 16 and 17].
- 311. KENNICOTT, RANSOM, Feb. 23, 66. [Born in III.; apptd. from III.]— Capt. 37 III. vol. sept. 18, 61; maj. mar. 8, 64; ht. col. july 30, 65; must. out apr. 19, 66, paid to apr. 30, 66; 2 ht. and 1 ht. 19 inf. feb. 23, 66, acc. may 23, 66; its. to 37 inf. sept. 21, 66; retired nov. 5, 68, "for loss of left arm from wound received in line of duty" [act ang. 3, 61, sees. 16 and 17].
- 312. CONVERSE, OSCAR I., May 31, 66. [Born in N. H.; apptd. from N. H.]— Pvt. 1 batty, N. H. I. art, ang, 24, 61; dischad, may 26, 63; 2 lt, 1 N. H. cav, july 21, 64; must, out july 15, 65, paid to july 19, 65; 2 lt, 14 mf, 4cb, 23, 66, acc, may 6, 66; 1 lt, may 31, 66; retired oct, 19, 68, "for disability resulting from wound received in line of duty" [act aug. 3, 61, sees. 16 and 17].
- 313. MULLIKIN, JAMES R., July 18, 66. [Born in N. J.; apptd. from Ind.]— Capt. 35 Ind. vol. dec. 12, 61; must, out nov. 24, 62; pvt. co. A, 124 Ind. vol. oct. 8, 63; sergt. nov. 14, 63; 11, 25 U. S. e. t. mar. 18, 64; 11, 77 U. S. e. t. dec. 7, 65; must, out apr. 6, 66, paid to apr. 30, 63; 24; 4 inf, feb. 23, 66, acc. may 1, 66; 14t, july 18, 66; massd. mar. 23, 69; retired dec. 15, 70. "for disability resulting from exposure in line of duty" [act aug. 3, 61, secs. 16 and 17].

- 314. WHALIAMS, EPHRAIM, July 28, 66. [Born in Mass.; appld. from Mass.]— Pyt. co. C, 27 Mass. vol. ang. 27, 62; pyt. co. C, 27 Mass. vet. vol. jan. 4, 64, 24, 14U, S. vol. apr. 18, 64; 14; july 9, 64; mast. out may 10, 66; 24; 5 inf, feb, 23, 66; acc. may 15, 66; 141, july 28, 66; capt. byt. sept. 23, 67, "for coolness, gallantry, and good cond. in action with Cheyenne Indians near Pawnee Forks, Kans., sept. 23, 67," retired apr. 3, 69, "for loss of left leg from wound received in line of duty" [act ang. 3, 64, secs. 16 and 17].
- 315. HAYS, JOSEPH HL, July 28, 66. [Born in VI: apptd. from N. Y.]— 2 lt, 142 N. Y. vol. sept. 29, 62; 1 lt, jan. 22, 63; most out. dec. 22, 64; 2 lt, 12 inf. feb. 23, 66, acc. may 11, 66; irs. to 30 inf. sept. 21, 66; 1 lt, july 28, 66; capt. bvt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Drury's Farm ", massel, mar. 23, 69; retired dec. 31, 70, "for disability resulting from wound received in line of duty" [act. aug. 3, 61, sees. 16 and 17].
- 316. OLMSTEAD, FREEMAN E., July 28, 66. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from Mich.]— Corpl. co. C, 18 Mich. vol. ang. 7, 62; dischgd. mar. 22, 64; 24t. 12 Tenn. cav. mar. 23, 64; respd. may 12, 65, paid to may 22, 65; 24t. 10 inf. fcb. 23, 66, acc. may 16, 66; 44t. july 28, 66; retired june 28, 78, "for disability resulting from discase contracted in line of duty" [sec. 125], rev. stats.].
- 317. PERKINS, ROLLIN, July 28, 66. [Born in Vt.; apptd. from Mass.]— Corpl. co. K, 6 Mass. vol. aug. 30, 62; dischgd. june 3, 63; jvt. co. B, 6 Mass. vol. july 7, 64; corpl. — , —; dischgd. oct. 27, 64; 1 ht. 24 U. S. e. t. apr. 11, 65; must. out sept. 30, 65, paid to oct. 2, 65; 21 K. Sin I (ch. 23, 66, acc. apr. 27, 66; 11 k, july 28, 66; retired june 10, 68; "for disability not incident to the ser." [act. aug. 3, 61, sees. 16 and 17].
- 318. LEONARD, JOHN, July 28, 66. [Born in Ireland; apptd. from N. J.]— Pyt. co. F, 9 inf. may 17, 55; corpl. sept. 6, 55; sergt. feb. 6, 56; 1 sergt, june 5, 56; dischgd. may 15, 60; capt. 72 N. Y. vol. june 21, 61; maj, apr. 27, 63; lt. col. may 4, 63; must. out june 19, 64, paid to june 30, 64; capt. vct. res. corps ang. 26, 64, acc. ang. 27, 64; maj, vol. byt. nov. 7, 65, "for gal, and mer. ser."; must. out jan. 2, 67; lt. 43 inf, july 28, 66; acc. jan. 3, 67; capt. byt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal, and mer. ser. in the battle of Fredericksburg, Va."; maj, byt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal, and mer. ser. in the battle of Gettysburg, Pa."; trs. to 1 inf, apr. 8, 69; retired dee, 15, 70, "for disability resulting from wounds received in line of duty" [act ang. 3, 6], sees. 16 and 17].
- 319. TYLER, JOHN, July 28, 66. [Born in Mich.; appid, from Mich.]— Pvt. co. A, 1 Mich. vol. may 1, 61; *diselufd.* aug. 7, 61; 1 H; 17 Mich. vol. aug. 26, 62; eapt. feb. 2, 63; eapt. vet. res. corps may 3, 64, acc. may 9, 64; maj. vol. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. cond. in the battle of Campbell's Station. Tenn."; *must. out* jan. 30, 67; 1 H; 43 inf. july 28, 66, acc. jan. 31, 67; eapt. bvt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of South Mountain, Md."; maj. bvt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the attack on Campbell's Station, Tenn."; trs. to 1 inf. apr. 8, 69; regtl. qm. may 18, 69, to feb. 1, 74; *retired* may 29, 74, "for loss of left arm from wound received in line of daty" [see, 125], rev. stats.].
- 320. JONES, HENRY R., July 28, 66. [Born in Conn.; apptd. from Conn.]— I sergt. co. C, 8 Conn. vol. sept. 25, 61 : 2 11, 8 Conn. vol. june 5, 62; must. out jan. 17, 63; 2 H. vet. res. corps july 16, 63, acc. july 24, 63; 1 H. nov. 11, 64, acc. nov. 23, 64; capt. apr. 3, 65, acc. apr. 29, 65; must. out june 30, 66; 1 H. 43 inf. july 28, 66, acc. nov. 24, 66; trs. to 1 inf. apr. 8, 69; retired june 28, 78, "for disability resulting from wound received in line of duty" [see. 1251, rev. stats.].
- 321. EZEKHEL, DAVID I., July 28, 66. [Born in Ohio : apptd. from Ohio.]— 2 H. 10 W. Va. vol. sept. 12, 62; misst. out mar. 9, 65; capt. 6 U. S. vol. apr. 28, 65, must. out oct. 15, 66; J H. 38 inf. july 28, 66, acc. nor. 22, 66; capt. bvt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. in action at Harper's Ferry, Va., july 7, 64"; massd. nov. 11, 69; assl. to 4 inf. apr. 6, 70; retired june 28, 78, "for disability resulting from wounds received in line of duty" [see. 125], rev. stats.].
- 322. HOGARTY, MICHAEL J., July 28, 66. [Born in Ireland; appid. from N. Y.]— Pyt. co. 1, 141 N. Y. vol. dec. 30, 63; disclads sept. 1, 64; pyt. co. 1, 141 N. Y. vol. sept. 16, 64; 111; 141 N. Y. vol. app. 23, 65; mixt out june 8, 65, paid to june 25, 65; 11; 42 inf. july 28, 66, acc. oct. 1, 66; trs. to 6 inf. apr. 22, 69; massd. july 8, 70; retired dec. 15, 70, "for disability resulting from wound received in line of duty" [act ang. 3, 61, secs. 16 and 17].
- 323. SMITH, JAMES M., Nov. 30, 66. [Born in Mass.; apptd. from Mass.]— 2 lt. 29 U. S. e. t. dec. 8, 64; must out nov. 6, 65, paid to nov. 24, 65; 2 lt. 19 inf. feb. 23, 66, acc. apr. 17, 66; trs. to 28 inf. sept. 21, 66; 1 lt. nov. 30, 66; unasad. mar. 31, 69; retired dec. 31, 70, "for disability resulting from disease incurred by exposure in line of duty" [act aug. 3, 61, secs. 16 and 17].

- 324. COFFMAN, JOSEPH C., Dec. 14, 66. [Born in Ohio; apptd. from Ohio.]— Pvt. co. 1, 36 Ohio vol. ang. 13, 61; ccepl. apr. 12, 62; pvt. oct. —, 62; dischool. sept. 22, 64; 24t. 173 Ohio vol. sept. 29, 64; must. out june 26, 65, paid to july 4, 65; 24t. 19 inf. feb. 23, 66, acc, apr. 30, 66; trs. to 37 inf. sept. 21, 66; 14t. doe; 14, 65; retized july 21, 68, "for disability resulting from cause not incident to the service" [act ang. 3, 61, sec. 17].
- 325. MELLEN, HENRY B., Jan. 22, 67. [Born in N. H.; apptd. from Cal.]— 14b. 2 Cal. cay. sept. 21, 61; capt. oct. 26, 61; maj. june 5, 65; mast.out june 21, 66; 24t. 6 cay. may 4, 66, acc, july 20, 66; 14t. jan. 22, 67; retired oct. 4, 72; "for loss of right foot at ankle and left leg below the knee, from injuries received in line of duty" [act ang. 3, 61, sees. 16 and 17].
- 26. LEWIS, GRANVILLE, Jan 29, 67. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Pa.]— Pvt. co. D. m. rif. oct. 16, 55; trs. to pvt. band nov. 1, 57; trs. to pvt. co. K. june 1, 59; disclipid. so ft. 50, 60; pvt. co. A, 4 N. V. vol. feb., 8, 62; secgt. app. 14, 62; sergt. mai, 4 N. Y. vol. may 3, 62; 14; 4 N. Y. vol. may 25, 62; must. out may 25, 65; pvt. gen. ser. U. S. A. feb. 9, 64; disclipid. feb. 1, 65; 24; 5 inf may 14, 66; acc. may 25, 66; 14; jan, 29, 67; ecticed nov. 30, 79. "for disability resulting from wound received in line of duty" [see, 125], rev. stats.].
- 327. HALLECK, WALTER F., Jan. 31, 67. [Born in Mich.; apptd. from Mich.] Pvt. co. 1, 11 Mich. vol. july 25, 62; dischoft.aug. 13, 63; 24, vet. res. corps. apr. 14, 64, acc. apr. 16, 64; must.out sept. 6, 65; 24, 18 inf. may 30, 66, acc. ang. 20, 66; trs. to 27 inf. sept. 21, 66; 1–H. jan. 31, 67; retired sept. 29, 68, "for disability resulting from wound received in line of duty" [act ang. 3, 61, secs. 16 and 17].
- 328. CRAWFORD, ALEXANDER McL., Mar. 29, 67. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Pa.]→ 1 It. 12 Pa. vol. apr. 22, 62; most. out nov. 21, 64, paid to nov. 22, 64; capt. vol. bvt. mar. 13, 65. "for faith, and mer, ser, dur, the war"; mai, vol. bvt. mar. 13, 65. "for mer, cond, in the battle of the Wilderness and that campaign"; 2 It. vet, res. corps feb. 21, 65; acc. apr. 21, 65; most, out jan. 3, 67; 2 It. 3s inf. july 28, 66, acc. jan. 4, 67; 1 It. mar. 20, 67; unassd. nov. 11, 69; refired dec, 31, 70. "for disability resulting from exposure in line of duty" [act ang. 3, 61, secs. 16 and 17].
- 329. BOWKER, HUGH D., Apr. 22, 67. [Form in Ohio; apptd. from Ohio.]— Pvt. co. C. 13 Ohio vol. may 6, 61; dischgd. june 6, 61; corpl. co. D. 8 Ohio vol. june 7, 61; dischgd. aug. 26, 62; pvt. HI co., 2 batt vet. ress. corps july 24, 63; secgt. dec. I, 63; dischgd. jan. 16, 65; 11; 12; U. S. c. t. jun. 17, 65; must, out feb. 8, 66; 11; 45 inf, apr. 22, 67, nec. may 20, 67; mussel, july 22, 69; assel, to 13 inf, sept. 1, 69; mussel, may 7, 79; retired dec. 15, 70, "for disability resulting from wound received in line of daty" [act aug. 3, 60, secs. 16 and 17].
- 330. BADGER, MICHOLAS D., May 29, 67. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from Ohio.]— Pyt. co. 1, 2 Ohio vol. apr. 17, 61; diselegel jaly 31, 61; 1 ft, 44 Ohio vol. sept. 18, 61; capt. oct. 1, 62; capt. 8 Ohio cav. jan. — 64; mal. jame 13, 65; m/ast. ovt jaly 30, 65, paid to ang. 4, 65; 2 ft, 40 cav. july 28, 66, acc. jan. 41, 67; 1 ft, may 29, 67; capt. byt, may 29, 67, "for gal, and mer. ser. dur. the war"; regfl. com. 10 cav. dec. 11, 67, to apr. 2, 70; trs. to inf. massed. apr. 2, 70; asset to 22 inf. jan. 1, 71; revited june 28, 78, "for disability resulting from disease contracted in line of duty" [sec. 1251, rev. stats.].
- 331. RICE, FRANK R., June 5, 67. (Born in Mich.; apptd. from Mich.)→ Pyt. co. A. 1 Mich. vol. may 1, 61; dischad. ang. 7, 61; sergt. co. F. 1 Mich. vol. sept. 1, 61; 1 sergt. july 1, 62; 21; 1. 1 Mich. vol. ang. 30, 62; 14; nov.1, 62; most. out july 2, 63; 21; vet. res. corps june 27, 63, acc. july 3, 63; 14; oct. 28, 63, acc. nov. 14, 63; most. out july 2, 63; 21; ed. 14; inf. july 28, 66, acc. nov. 22, 66; regtl. qu. jun. 15, 67, to may 27, 63; 14; bort, 20, 64; ed. 14; inf. june 5, 67; massel, may 27, 69; refred dec. 15, 70; "for loss of left leg from wound received in line of duty" [act ang. 3, 61, secs. 16 and 17].
- Wohnd received in line of duty [act alg. 5, 61, secs. 16 and (4)].
 332. MARCOTTE, HENRY, June 5, 67. [Born in Engld: apptd. from N. Y.]— Corpl. co. 1, 2 N. Y. vol. may 14, 61; sergt. sept. 23, 61; i sergt. aug. 12, 62; 24, 2 N. Y. vol. feb. 12, 63; must, out may 26, 63; 2 h, vet. res. corps oct. 12, 63, acc. nov. 4, 63; 1 h, vol. bvt. and capt. vol. bvt. mar. 13, 65. "for gal, and mer. ser, in the battles of Big Bethel, White Oak Swamp, Malvern Hill, Fredericksburg, and Chancellorsville, Va."; must, out nov. 23, 66; 2 h, 44 inf, july 28, 66, acc. nov. 24, 66; 1 h, bvt, and capt. bvt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal, and mer, ser, in the battle of Chancellorsville, Va."; h, 44 inf, june 5, 67; trs. to 17 inf, may 27, 69; retired june 28, 78, "for disability resulting from wound received in line of duty" [see, 125], rev. stats.].
- a33. LEAVY, JAMES T., July 31, 67. [Born in Ky.; apptd. from Ky.]—
 Sergt. co. H, 3 Ky. cav. oct. 1, 61; 2 lt. 3 Ky. cav. apr. 8, 62; must. out dec. 26, 64;
 2 lt. 7 cav. jan. 22, 67, acc. apr. 17, 67; 1 lt. bvt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal, and mer. ser, in the battle of Shiloh, Tenn."; capt. bvt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal, and mer ser, in the capture of Savannah, (a."; 1 lt. 7 cav. july 31, 67; retired july 31, 68, "for disability resulting from cause not incident to the ser." [act aug. 3, 61, sec. 17].

- 334. CORTELYOU, DAVID H., July 31, 67. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from W. Va.]— Corpl. co. E, 6 N. Y. cav. sept. 18, 61; sergt. may 23, 62; sergt. maj. 6 N. Y. cav. oct. 6, 63; 1 H. 6 N. Y. cav. apr. 6, 64; must. out mar. 16, 65; 2 H. 9 cav. may 15, 67, acc. may 20, 67; 1 H. july 31, 67; retired with rank of capt. mtd. dec. 15, 70, "for disability resulting from wound received in line of duty" [acts aug. 3, 61, sees. 16 and 17; july 28, 66, sec. 32]; reduced to 1 H. mar. 3, 75 [act mar. 3, 75, sec. 2].
- 335. CRESSON, CHARLES C., Oct. 7, 67. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Pa.]— 2 lt. 66 Pa. vol. aug. 3, 61; trs. to 73 Pa. vols. mar. —, 62; 1 lt. 73 Pa. vol. mar. 13, 62; capt. aug. 30, 62; maj. jan. 1, 64; lt. col. dec. 24, 64; must. out aug. 24, 65, paid to aug. 31 65; 2 lt. 17 int. may 11, 66, acc. aug. 18, 66; trs. to 35 inf. sept. 21, 66; 1 lt. bvt. mar. 2, 67 "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Mill Creek, 6a."; capt. bvt. mar. 2, 67, "for ga and mer. ser, in the battle of Mill Creek, 6a."; capt. bvt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser, the battle of Kenesaw Mountain, 6a."; 1 lt. 35 inf. oct. 7, 67; unassd. aug. 12, 69; assd. t. 7 cav. dec. 15, 70; trs. to 1 cav. dec. 23, 70; retired apr. 4, 79, "for disability resulting from wound received in line of duty" [sec. 1251, rev. stats.].
- 336. ALBEE, GEORGE E., Nov. 4, 67. [Born in N. H.; apptd. from Minn.]— Pvt. co. G, 1 U. S. sh. sh. june 25, 62; dischgd. oct. 22, 62; pvt. 3 batty. Wis. l. art. dec. 23, 63; 2 lt. 36 Wis. vol. mar. 8, 64; 1 lt. jan. 16, 65; 1 lt. vol. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. dur. the war"; must. out july 12, 65, paid to july 24, 65; 2 lt. 36 U. S. et. sept. 18, 65; must. out oct. 28, 66, paid to nov. 29, 66; 2 lt. 41 inf. july 28, 66, acc. jan. 4, 67; 1 lt. bvt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of the Wilderness, Va.," declined; 1 lt. 41 inf. nov. 4, 67; it vs. to 24 inf. nov. 11, 69; retired june 28, 78, "for disability resulting from discase contracted in line of duty" [sec. 1251, rev. stats.].
- 337. WALTER, ISAAC N., Nov. 18, 67. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from Ohio.]— Sergt. co. F. 2 Ohio vol. apr. 17, 61; dischgd. july 31, 61; pvt. co. C, 5 Ohio vol. sept. 6, 61; 2 It. 47 Ohio vol. jan. 11, 62; 1 It. feb. 25, 63; must. out june 22, 64; 2 It. 6 cav. apr. 24, 67, acc. may 20, 67; 111. nov. 18, 67; retired dec. 31, 70, "for disability resulting from sickness and exposure in line of duty" [act ang. 3, 61, secs. 16 and 17].
- 338. SHURLY, EDMUND R. P., Sept. 29, 68. [Born in Engl'd; apptd. from III.]— 1 h. 26 N. Y. vol. may 21, 61; capt. ang. 7, 61; must. out apr. 25, 63; capt. vet. res. corps ang. 28, 63, acc. ang. 31, 63; maj. vol. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Frederickshurg, Va., dec. 13, 62"; th. col. vol. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. dur. the war"; must. out oct. 7, 65, paid to oct. 31, 65; 2 lt. 18 inf. may 10, 66, acc. ang. 18, 66; trs. to 27 inf. sept. 21, 66; resgd. feb. 12, 67; 2 lt. 27 inf. mar. 15, 67, acc. apr. 2, 67; i lt. bvt. mar. 15, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Frederickshurg, Va."; capt. bvt. mar. 15, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. dur. the war"; 1 lt. 27 inf. sept. 29, 68; retired dcc. 2, 68, "for disability resulting from wound received in line of duty" [act ang. 3, 61, secs. 16 and 17].
- 339. STEPHENSON, WILLIAM, Dec. 2, 68. [Born in Engl'd; apptd. from Army.]— Pvt. co. C, 1 batt. 13 inf. nov. 16, 64; corpl. mar. 1, 65; sergt. feb. 20, 66; sergt. maj. 13 inf. dec. 1, 66; 2 ft. 27 inf. june 8, 67, acc. aug. 17, 67; 1 ft. dec. 2, 68; unassd. june 14, 69; assd. to 8 cav. jan. 1, 71; retired apr. 23, 79, "for disability resulting from disease contracted in line of duty" [sec. 1251, rev. stats.].
- 340. WILLIAMS, HENRY R., Dec. 12, 68. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from N. Y.]— Pvt. co. D. 84 N. Y. vol. may 18, 61; corpl. nov. 1, 61; 2 lt. 84 N. Y. vol. oct. 1, 62; must. out apr. 25, 64, paid to apr. 27, 64; pvt. gen. ser. june 16, 64; 2 lt. vet. res. corps jan. 5, 65, acc. jan. 9, 65; 11 lt. vol. bvt. nov. 7, 65, "for gail, and mer. ser."; must. out jan. 17, 67; 2 lt. 45 inf. july 28, 66, acc. jan. 18, 67; 1 lt. dec. 12, 68; unassd. july 22, 69; retired dec. 15, 70, "for disability resulting from wound received in line of duty" [act. aug. 3, 61, secs. 16 and 17].
- 341. WHITMAN, ROYAL E., Ang. 12, 69. [Born in Me.; apptd. from Me.]— Sergt. maj. 23 Me. vol. sept. 10, 62; dischard. mar. 1, 63; capt. 23 Me. vol. mar. 1, 63; must. out july 15, 63; maj. 30 Me. vol. dec. 29, 63; lt. col. sept. 1, 64; col. ang. 14, 65; must. out ang. 20, 65, paid to ang. 28, 65; 24, 3 cav. july 2, 67, acc. july 15, 67; 14, bct. july 2, 67, "for galkatty in the battle of Sabine Cross-Roads, La."; 14, 3 cav. ang. 12, 69; retired mar. 20, 79, "for disability resulting from injury received and disease contracted in line of duty" [sec. 1251, rev. stats.].
- 342. SANDS, JAMES H., Dec. 1, 69. [Born in Ind.; apptd. from Ind.]— 1 lt. 6 Ind. eav. aug. 5, 62; capt. aug. 18, 62; must. out june 17, 65, paid to june 28, 65; 2 lt. 6 cav. sept. 24, 67, acc. oct. 2, 67; 1 lt. dec. 1, 69; regtl. adj't apr. 3, 74, to sept. 30, 76; retired nov. 30, 79, "for disability resulting from disease contracted in line of duty" [sec. 1251, rev. stats.].

- 343. GROSS, PRANK P., Dec. 22, 69. [Born in P.a.; appld. from Ind.]— Sergt. m (j. 9 Ind. vol. ang. 27, 61; 141, 9 Ind. vol. oct. 8, 61; *respl.* apr. 26, 63; 14t, vet. res. corps oct. 24, 63, acc. nov. 30, 63; *mast. out* ang. 25, 67; 24t, 9 cav. ang. 9, 67, acc. ang. 26, 67; 14t, dec. 22, 69; *retire* 1 [ine 28, 78, ``for disability resulting from disease contracted in line of duty '' [sec. 1251, rev. stats.].
- 344. VON LUETTWITZ, ADOLPHUS IL, Jan. 25, 70. [Born in Prussia: apptd. from Kans.]— Pvt co. E. 54 N. Y. vol. jan 1, 62; disch.pl. jane 18, 62; 211, 54 N. Y. vol. jane 18, 62; 1 It, sept. 1, 62; capt. nov. 1, 62; mest. out sept. 18, 65; 214, 54 N. Y. vol. jane 18, 62; 1 67; 1 It, jan. 26, 70; out of sec. july 8, 70; 1 It, 3 cav. sept. 8, 74, with former date and rank from jan 26, 70 [act jane 23, 74], acc. sept. 14, 74; retired may 5, 79, "for loss of right leg from wound received in line of daty" [sec. 1251, rev. stats.].
- 315. WALTON, JOHN M., Jun I, 71. [Horn in P.J.; apptd. from Pa.]— 24t. 4 cav. oct, 24, 67, acc. oct. 26, 67; 14t. jan. 1, 71; regtl. qu. mar. 25, 70, to apr. 30, 72; retired june 28, 78, "for disability incurred in line of duty" [sec. 1251, rev. stats.].
- 346. NELSON, WILLIAM H., Mar. 7, 71. [Born in Tenn.; appt I, from Tenn.]— 110, 5 Tenn. cay, ang. 6, 64; mest, out arg, 11, 65; 247, 7 mf, may 18, 66; nec. oct. 24, 66; 14, mar. 7, 71; redired mu, 20, 70, "for disability resulting from disease contracted in line of duty" [sec. 1251, rev. stats.].
- 347. HOPPY, EDWARD, Sept. 15, 71. [Born in Germ'y: apptd. from N. Y.]— Pvt. eo. D. 2 art. may 31, 54; trs. to eo. E. 8 int. may 7, 55; disclipt, may 31, 59; pvt. eo. D. 2 art. june 11, 59; disclipt, feb. 24, 62; 2 ft. vet. res. corps july 23, 65; arc. july 28, 63; 1 ft. vol. byt. and capt. vol. byt. mar. 13, 55; "for gal. ser. in the battle of Ball Run, Va., and for faith, and mer. ser. due, the vwr ": most out dec. 25, 66; 2 ft. 41 int. july 28, 66; nec. dec. 27, 66; 1 ft. byt. mar. 2, 67; "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Ball Run (1st), Va."; massd. may 27, 69; assd. to 9 inf. aug. 3, 70; 1 ft. sept. 15, 71; retired nov. 8, 71; "for loss of beft arm from wound received in line of duty" [act ang 3, 61, sees, 16 and 17]."
- 348. ALLSWORTH, EDWARD, Jan. 25, 72. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from Ky.]— Pvt. co. H. 2 art. july 1, 42; trs. to co. A. feb. 2, 47; disshol, july 1, 47; pvt. co. H, 2 art. july 27, 47; disshol, ang, 19, 48; pvt. co. U, 1 art. nov. 3, 48; corpl. ap. 1, 40; pvt. ang, 2, 49; dischool, nov. 3, 53; pvt. co. G, 38 Mass. vol. jun. 5, 61; dischool, jun. 3, 65; capt. 119 U. S. et. feb. 20, 65; most, out apr. 27, 66, pand to apr. 30, 66; 2 h. 40 inf, july 28, 66, acc. oct. 27, 66; 1 h. byt. mart, 267, "for glu and mer, ser, dur, the war"; trs. to 25 inf, apr. 20, 69; 1 h. jun. 25, 72; retired june 28, 78, "for glu sability resulting from disease contracted in line of duty" [sec. 125], rev. stats.].
- 349. FITZPATRICK, PATRICK, Apr. 1, 72. [Born in Ohio; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet sept. 1, 63; 24, 43 inf. june 15, 68; nurss l. apr. 8, 64; assel. to 13 inf. july 14, 69, 1 R. apr. 1, 72; retired june 29, 72; "for disability resulting from injuries reserved in lme of duty" [act ang. 3, 61, sees. 16 and 17].
- 350. BUDD, GEORGE W., Apr. 20, 72. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from N. Y.]→ 1 sergt. co. G. 2 Iowa cav. ang. 30, 61; 2 It. 2 Iowa cav. june 1, 62; capt. feb 7, 65; must. out sept. 10, 65; 2 It. 9 cav. ang. 17, 67, acc. sept. 12, 67; 11, apr. 20, 72; retired june 28, 78, "for disability resulting from disease contracted in line of daty" [sec. 125], rev. stats.].
- 351. RICE, JAMES H., Dec. 31, 72. [Born in Mass.; apptd. from Mass.]— 141, 19 Mass. vol. ang. 28, 61; capt. sept. 7, 62; capt. vet. res. corps.june 24, 63, acc. july 1, 63; maj. vol. byt. and H. col. vol. byt. mar. 13, 65, "for faith, and mer. ser. dur. the war"; must. out mar. 31, 67; 2-11, 44 inf, jan, 22, 67, acc. apr. 4, 67; 114, byt. mar. 2, 67, "for galhantry in action in front of Richmond, Va., june 25, 62"; capt. byt. mar. 2, 67, "for mer. ser. dur. the war"; trs. to 17 inf. may 27, 69; 141, dec. 31, 72; retired dec. 23, 73, "for disability resulting from disease contracted in line of duty" [see, 125], rev. stats.].
- 352. DUNTON, WARREN R., Dec. 31, 72. [Born in Vt.; apptd. from Vt.]— 1 sergt. co. E, 5 Vt. vol. sept. 16, 61; 24t. 5 Vt. vol. june 21, 62; 14t. dec. 14, 62; must. out mar. 31, 63; 14t. vet. res. coups oct. 15, 63; acc. oct. 21, 63; cap. jun. 5, 65, acc. jun. 13, 65; maj. vol. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. dur. the war"; must. out june 30, 66; 24t. 2 inf. jan. 22, 67, acc. mar. 26, 67; 14t. bvt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Fredericksburg. Va."; massd. mar. 28, 70; a sod. to 19 inf. aug. 3, 70; 14t. dec. 31, 72; retired june 28, 78, "for disability resulting from disease contracted in line of daty" [sec. 125], rev. stats.].
- 253. YECKLEY, JONATHAN A., Jan. 15, 73. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from N. Y.]— Pvt. co. D. 126 N. Y. vol. aug. 7, 62; dischyd. aug. 25, 63; 2 lt. vet. res. corps jan. 30, 65, acc. may 22, 65; must. out mar. 31, 67; 2 lt. 44 inf. jan. 22, 67, acc. apr. 1, 67; unassd. may 27, 69; assd. to 20 inf. july 14, 69; 1 lt. jan. 15, 73; retired june 28, 78, "for disability resulting from wounds received in line of duty" [sec. 1251, rev. stats.].

- 354. DUFF, GEORGE, Feb. 13, 73. [Born in Scotl'd; apptd. from Pa.]— Pvt. co. D, 102 Pa. vol. aug. 16, 61; corpl. nov. J, 61; I scrat. july 1, 62; 2 lt. 102 Pa. vol. jan. 1, 63; 2 H. vet, res. corps sept. 15, 64, acc. sept. 24, 64; most out nov. 23, 66; 2 H. 43, int. july 28, 66, acc. nov. 24, 66; 1 H. byt, mar. 2, 67, "for gal, and mer. ser, dur, the war"; trs. to 1 inf, apr. 8, 69; 1 H. 6b; 13, 73; *retired* june 28, 78, "for disability resulting from wound received in line of duty" [sec. 1251, rev. stats.].
- 355. JENNINGS, GHLBERT S., May 4, 73. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from N. Y.]— Maj. 26 N. Y. vol. may 21, 61; ft. col. dec. 1, 62; *mast. out* may 28, 63; maj. vet. res. corps july 16, 63, acc. july 23, 63; ft. col. sept. 25, 63, acc. oct. 3, 63; col. vol. bt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal, and mer. ser. dur. the war"; *must. out* sept. 11, 66; 2 lt. 43 inf. jan. 22, 67, acc. mar. 28, 67; 1 lt. byt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal, and mer. ser. in the battle of Groveton, Va."; rapt. byt. mar. 2, 66; i lt. may 4, 73; *retired* june 28, 78, "for disability resulting from wound maximum in hear of battle". received in line of duty" [sec. 1251, rev. stats.].
- 356. RUTHERFORD, ROBERT G., May 24, 73. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from N. Y.]— 2 It, 83 N. Y. vol. nov. 19, 61; 1 It, jan. 7, 62; capt. nov. 1, 62; must. out feb. 26, 63; capt. vet. res. corps sept. 11, 63, acc. sept. 16, 63; maj. vol. bvt. and It. col. vol. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser, in the battle of Rappahannock Station, Va., and for mer. ser, dur. the war"; must. out apr. 30, 67; 2 it. 45 inf. nar. 7, 67, acc. may 1, 67; 1 It. bvt. mar. 7, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser, dur. the battle of Rappahannock Station, Va."; capt. bvt. mar. 7, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser, dur. the war"; unassd. july 22, 69; assd. to 12 inf. aug. 3, 70; 1 It. may 24, 73; retired june 28, 78, "for disability resulting from disease contracted in line of duty" [sec. 1251, rev. stats.].
- 357. BANNISTER, JOHN, July 12, 73. [Born in N.Y.; apptd. from N.Y.] -DAAS METERA, 40418, 40118, 40119 (2, 65. [16071 m N. Y.; apptd. from N. Y.].= Pyt.co. K, 27 N. Y. vol. may 16, 61; corpl. dec. 1, 62; *disclifed.* may 31, 63; pyt.co. M, 24 N. Y. cav. dec. 8, 66; 1 stergt., 63; 146, 24 N. Y. cav. jan. 21, 65; *must. out* july 19, 65, paid to ang. 3, 65; 24 f. 43 inf. jan. 22, 67, acc. mar. 29, 67; 14 f. byt. may. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. in action at Petersburg, Va., july 8, 64"; mussd. apr. 8, 69; assd. to 20 inf. july 14, 69; 14, july 12, 73; *retired* nov. 39, 79, "for loss of right arm from wound received in line of duty" [sec. 1251, rev. stats.].
- 358. BRONSON, NELSON, June 8, 74. [Born in Conn.; apptd. from Conn.]— 1 sergt. co. E. 8 Conn. vol. sept. 25, 61; 1 lt. 8 Conn. vol. mar. 18, 62; must. out jan. 17, 63; 1 lt. vet. res. corps ang. 19, 63, acc. aug. 22, 63; must. out oct. 15, 66, paid to oct. 22, 66; 2 lt. 42 inf. july 28, 66, acc. jan. 1, 67; trs. to 6 inf. apr. 22, 69; 141, june 8, 74; retired nov. 30, 79, "for disability resulting from wound received in line of duty" [sec. 125], rev. stats.].
- 359. ORLEMAN, LOUIS H., Oct. 16, 74. [Born in Germ'y; apptd. from D. C.]— Pvt. co. C, 103 N. Y. vol. jan. 29, 62; dischgd. may 8, 62; 14, 119 N. Y. vol. aug. 11, 62; capt. sept. 1, 63; must. out june 27, 65; 2 lk 10 cav. sept. 20, 67, acc. sept. 24, 67; 1 lt. oct. 16, 74; retired nov. 20, 79, " for disability resulting from loss of sight of left eye and disease from exposure in line of duty" [sec. 1251, rev. stats.].
- 360. CARTER, ROBERT G., Feb. 21, 75. [Born in Me.; apptd. from M. A.]— Pvt. co. H, 22 Mass. vol. ang. 15, 62; dischad. oct. 14, 64; eadet july 1, 65; 24t. 4 cav, june 15, 70; 14t. feb. 21, 75; retired june 28, 76, "for disability incurred in line of duty" [sec. 1251, rev. stats.].
- [act TEL, HAMPDEN S., Mar. 3, 75. [Born in Me.; apptd. from III.]— Sergt. co. C, 15 Ill. vol. may 24, 61: 24t. 15 Ill. vol. dec. 11, 62; capt. aug. 20, 63; must. out june 3, 64; 1 sergt. 9 U. S. vet. vol. apr. 12, 65; dischgd. july 19, 65; 24t. 30 U. S. e. t. aug. 17, 65; 14t. oct. 26, 65; must. out dec. 10, 65, paid to dec. 20, 65; 24t. 39 inf. june 18, 67, acc. july 19, 67; unassd. apr. 20, 69; assd. to 15 inf. ang. 3, 70; 14t. mar. 3, 75; retired feb. 29, 76, "for disability resulting from disease contracted in line of duty" [sec. 1251, rev. stats.].
- 362. CRAYCROFT, WILLIAM T., Dec. 2, 75. [Born in Ky.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 65; 2 lt. 7 cav. june 15, 69; 1 lt. dec. 2, 75; retired june 28, 78, "for disabil ity resulting from disease contracted in line of duty" [sec. 1251, rev. stats.].
- 363. BRADEN, CHARLES, Dec. 9, 75. [Born in Mich.; apptd. from M. A.]-Cadet oct. 17, 65; 2 lt. 7 cav. june 15, 69; 1 lt. dec. 9, 75; retired june 28, 78, "for disability resulting from wound received in line of duty" [see. 1251, rev. stats.].
- 364. ABBOTT, ASA T., June 30, 76. [Born in Me.; apptd. from Minn.]— Pvt. co. E, 1 Minn. vol. apr. 29, 61; trs. to sig. corps aug. 12, 63; 2 It. sig. corps aug. 31, 63, acc. sept. 5, 63; *must. out* ang. 29, 65; 21t. 28 inf. *mar.* 7, 67, acc. apr. 26, 67; 11t. bvt. mar. 7, 67, "for faith and mer. ser. in the sig. corps dur. the war"; *massd. mar.* 31, 69; assd. to 3 art. july 14, 69; 1 lt. juno 30, 76; *retired* apr. 23, 79, "for disability resulting from disease contracted in line of duty" [sec. 1251, rev. stats.].

1881.

First Lieutenants-Continued.

365. BOSWELL, BENJAMIN D., Feb. 8, 77. [Born in Ind.; apptd. from Iowa.]— 1 sergt, co. 1, 4 W. Va, vol. aug. 1, 61; 24t. 4 W. Va, vol. nov. 11, 61; 14t. dec. 8, 62; eapt. mar. 1, 63; maj. 2 W. Va, vet, vol. dec. 29, 64; must. out july 16, 65, paid to july 19, 65; 24t. 29 inf, june 18, 67, acc, july 22, 67; 14t. byt. june 18, 67, "for gal, and mer, ser, in the siege of Vicksburg, Miss."; capt. byt. june 18, 67, "for mer, ser, dur, the war"; trs. to 14 inf, apr. 25, 69; 14t. feb. 8, 77; reticed june 28, 78, "for disability resulting from sickness and exposure in line of duty" [sec. 125], rev. stats.].

366. MILLER, WILLIAM H., July 1677. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from III.]— Pvt. co. 1, 9 Ind. vol. apr. 18, 61; dischgd. july 29, 61; sergt. co. E, 48 Ind. vol. oct. 20, 61; 244, 48 Ind. vol. jan. 10, 63; capt. nov. 14, 64; most. out july 15, 65; 24t. 27 inf. june 18, 67, acc. july 20, 67; trs. to 9 inf. june 14, 69; 114, july 1, 77; retired june 28, 78, "for disabil-ity resulting from disease contracted in line of duty" [sec. 1251, rev. stats.].

- 367. KEYES, CHARLES W., Dec. 31, 70. [Born in Me.; apptd. from Me.]— Sergt. co. B, 28 Me. vol. sept. 10, 62: hosp. slwd. 28 Me. vol. mar. 1, 63; dischool. ang. 31, 63; pvt. 2 Me. cav. nov. 10, 63; dischool. feb. 27, 64; 1 H. 32 Me. vol. apr. 2, 64; nust. out sept. 27, 64; 2 H. Me. coast guard jan. 20, 65; most. out july 7, 65, paid to july 9, 65; 2 H. 44 inf. july 28, 66, acc. jan. 19, 67; 1 H. bvt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal, and mer. ser. in action at Fort Buker, La."; capt. bvt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal, and mer. ser. in the battle of Spottsylvania C. H., Va."; unassd. may 27, 69; retired with rank of 1 H. dec. 31, 70, "for loss of left leg from wound received in line of duty" [acts ang. 3, 61, secs. 16 and 17; july 28, 66, sec. 32].
- 368. KUHN, HENRY H., Mar. 2, 75. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Pa.]— Pvt. co. A, 10 Pa. res. corps. june 20, 61; corpl. _____, ___, sergt. _____, ___; dischgd. apr. 2, 64; 11; 23 U. S. e. t. apr. 1, 04; most out nov. 22, 64; edid to nov. 32, 64; 21; vet. res. corps. jan. 5, 65; acc. jan. 7, 65; most out ovt. 31, 66; paid to nov. 13, 66; 21; 42 inf. jan. 22, 67. corps jan. 9, 56, acc. jan. 7, 56; *muss. or corrected* with rank of capt. dec. 31, 75, "for disability resulting from wounds received in line of duty" [acts ang. 3, 61, sees. 16 and 17; july 28, 66, see, 32]; reduced to 14, mar. 3, 75 [act mar. 3, 75, see, 2].

Second Lieutenants.

- 369. McQUISTON, HENRY, July 17, 62. [Born in Ohio; apptd. from Army.]-Pyt. co. K., 6 cav. july 31, 61; sergt, sept. 1, 61; 24, 6 cav. july 17, 62 acc, sept. 22, 62; 1 It, byt, june 9, 63, "for gal, and mer, ser, in the battle of fleverly Ford, Va."; capt. byt, june 24, 63, "for gal, and mer, ser, in action at Upperville, Va."; *refired* sept. 26, 63, "for disability resulting from wound received in line of duty" [act aug. 3, 61, secs, 16 and 17].
- 370. DAVISON, JAMES, Oct. 22, 62. [Born in Engl d: apptd. from Army.]— Pyt. co. B, 3 art. mar. 22, 54; corpl. mar. 1, 56; sergt. oct. 16, 56; 1 sergt. sept. 15, 57; dischad. feb. 22, 59; 1 sergt. co. B, 3 art. feb. 22, 59; qm. sergt. 3 art. sept. 1, 61; byt. 2 ft. 3 art. and 2 ft. 5 art. oct. 22, 62, acc. oct. 50, 62; 1 ft. byt. dec. 13, 62; "for gal. and mer-ser, in the battle of Fredericksburg, Va."; capt. byt. july 2, 63, "for gal. and mer. ser, in the battle of Gettysburg, Pa."; retired jan. 13, 64, "for disability resulting from wound received in line of duty" [act aug. 3, 60, secs. 16 and 17]; retired with rank of 2 ft. mtd. july 28, 66 [act july 28, 66, sec. 32]; reduced to 2 ft. mar. 3, 75 [act mar. 3, 75, sec. 2].
- 371. CLARKE, LUKE, June 7, 64. [Born in Ireland; appld. from Army.]— Pvt. co. A, 1 batt. 13 inf. july 8, 62; sergt. may 1, 63; 1 sergt. aug. 1, 63; 2 lt. 2 inf. june 7, 61; acc. june 29, 64; *retired* feb. 28, 65, "for disability resulting from wounds received in line of duty" [act aug. 3, 61, secs. 16 and 17].
- 372. BAYNE, ANDREW C., July 28, 66. [Form in Scotl'd : apptd. from N. Y.]--Sergt. co. G, 16 N. Y. vol. may 15, 61 : 2 lt. 16 N. Y. vol. sept. 13, 62 : 1 lt. feb. 11, 63 : must. out june 3, 63 : 1 lt. vet. res. corps july 16, 63, acc. july 24, 63; capt. may 24, 64, acc. june 17, 64 : must. out sept. 14. 66 : 2 lt. 42 inf. july 28, 65, acc. jan. 15, 67 : 1 lt. byt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. in the battle of Marye's Heights": capt. byt. mar. 2, 67, "for gal. and mer. ser. dur. the war": regtl. adj't 42 inf. july 15, 67, to apr. 22, 69; trs. to 6 inf. apr. 22, 69; cegt. dyn. sept. 4, 69; celted mar. 25, 71, "for disability resulting from disease contracted in line of duty" [act aug. 3, 61, secs. 16 and 17].
- 373. HOGARTY, WILLIAM P., July 28, 66. [Born in N. Y.; apptl. from N. Y.] Pvt. co. D, 25 N. Y. vol. may 16, 61; *disclipid.* jan. 29, 63; 2 R. vet. res. corps jan. 30, 65, acc. june 16, 65; 1 R. vol. bvt. and capt. vol. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. dur." the war"; *must, out* oct. 16, 66; 2 lt. 45 inf, july 28, 66, acc. oct. 17, 66; 1 lt. bvt. mur. 2, 67, 401; ' for gal, and mer. ser, in the battle of Fredricksburg, Va."; unassd, july 22, 60; *retired* dec. 31, 70; "for loss of left arm from wound received in line of duty" [act ang. 3, 61, secs. 16 and 17].

Second Lieutenants-Continued.

- 374 MADDEN, FRANK, July 28, 66. [Born in Ireland; apptd. from N. Y.]-Pyt. co. B, 55 N, Y, vol. mar. 1, 62; trs. to co. K, 38 N, Y, vol. dec. 21, 62; trs. to co. H 40 N. Y. vol. may 28, 63; dischad. apr. 23, 64; pvt. gen. ser. july 19, 65; trs. to co. K, 44 inf. oct. 1, 66; 2 lf. 42 inf. july 28, 66, acc. nov. 15, 66; unassd. apr. 22, 69; retired dec. 31. 70, "for loss of left leg from wound received in line of duty" [act ang. 3, 61, secs. 16 and 17]
- 375. MÁNGAN, MICHAEL, Jan. 22, 67. [Born in Ireland ; apptd. from Wis.]— Pvt. co. E, 6 Wis, vol. june 28, 61 ; corpl. oct. 23, 61 ; sergt. dec. 19, 61 ; 24f. 6 Wis, vol. july 1, 63; must, out apr. 3, 64; 24; vet, res. corps mar. 18, 64, acc, apr. 4, 64; must, out sept. 6, 66; 24t, 45 inf, jan. 22, 67, acc, mar. 28, 67; unassd, july 22, 69; retired dec. 31, 70, "for loss of right leg from wound received in line of duty" [act aug. 3, 61, secs. 16] and 171.
- the battle of Petersburg, Va."; unassel. apr. 20, 69; assel. to 14 inf. aug. 3, 70; retired nov. 14, 71, "for disability resulting from wound received in line of duty" [act aug. 3, 6f, sees. 16 and 17].
- 377. WILLIAMS, WILLIAM N., June 18, 67. [Born in Ireland; apptd. from Ind.]— 1 sergt. co. Λ, 6 Ind. vol. apr. 9, 61; dischgd. ang. 2, 61; sergt. maj. 6 Ind. vol. sept. 20, 61; 2 It. 6 Ind. vol. mar. 30, 62; 1 It. may 29, 62; 1 It. vet. res. corps apr. 23, 64, acc. may 4, 64; resgd. june 30, 64; 2 It. 3 inf. june 18, 67, acc. oct. 19, 67, retired june 28, 78, "for dis-ability resulting from disease contracted in line of duty" [sec. 1251, rev. stats.].
- 378. PIATT, BENJAMIN M., July 2, 67. [Born in Ky.; apptd. from Kans.]-Capt. a. a. g. vol. may 16, 62, acc. june 23, 62; maj. vol. byt. mar. 2, 65; maj. a. a. g. vol. mar. 13, 65, acc. apr. 4, 65; *must. out* nov. 25, 65; 21f. 44 inf. july 2, 67, acc. july 25, 67; 11t. byt. july 2, 67, "for gal, and mer. ser. in the battle of Chancellorsville, V.A."; capt. byt. july 2, 67, "for gal, and mer, ser. in the battle of Gettysburg, Pa."; massd. may 27, 69; retired dec. 31, 70, " for disability resulting from sickness and exposure in line of duty" [act aug. 3, 61, secs. 16 and 17].
- 379. REED, THOMAS B., July 22, 67. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Pa.]-REED, THOMAS E, July 22, 67. [Born in Fa.: approx. rom Pa.].— Sergt. co. D. 5 Pa. res. corps, june 5, 61 ; i sergt. jan. 20, 62 ; 11; 5 Pa. vet. res. corps mar. 5, 63; must. out june 11, 64; capt. 205 Pa. vol. sept. 3, 64; capt. vol. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. cond. in the battle of Gettysburg, Pa."; It. col. vol. bvt. june 1, 65, "for faith. and mer. ser. dur. the war"; must. out june 2, 65; 2 [t. 29] inf. july 22, 67; acc. july 27, 67; unassi, apr. 25, 69; assid. to 9 cav. july 14, 69; trs. to 24 inf. feb. 3, 70; retired nov. 14, 71, "for disability resulting from sickness and exposure in line of duty" [act aug. 3, 6f, secs. 16 and 17].
- 380. JOHNSON, HENRY C., Feb. 19, 68. [Born in Ohio; apptd. from Kans.]— Pvt. co. I, 69 Ohio vol. mar. 10, 62; dischgd. mar. 10, 64; pvf. co. I, 69 Ohio vol. mar. 10, 64; dischad, may 10, 65; 2 ft, 45 inf, feb. 10, 68, acc. july 27, 68; unassd. july 22, 69; assd. to 23 inf, aug. 3, 70; retired oct. 4, 72, "for loss of right arm from wound received in line of duty" [act aug. 3, 61, secs. 16 and 17].
- 381. WALKER, SAMUEL, Sept. 16, 68. [Born in Pa.; apptd. from Pa.]— Pvt. co. H, 13 Pa. vol. apr. 25, 61; disclad. aug. 6, 61; pvt. co. F, 155 Pa. vol. aug. 22, 62; sergt. aug. 22, 62; 21; vet. res. carps fib. 20, 64, acc. mar. 12, 64; 1 H. vol. bvt. and capt. vol. bvt. mar. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser, dur. the war"; must. out aug. 27, 68; 2 It. 45 inf. sept. 16, 68, acc. sept. 26, 68; unassd. july 22, 69; retired dec. 31, 70, "for loss of right leg from wound received in line of daty" [act aug. 3, 61, secs. 16 and 17].
- 382. MOORE, MICHAEL, Jan. 19, 60. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from Army.]— Mus. Capt. Sproull's co. 13 inf. apr. 30, 12; discloid. may 1, 17; mus. co. A, 2 inf. feb. 4, 19; discloid. feb. 4, 24; re-en. apr. 20, 24; discloid. feb. 12, 29; re-en. feb. 12, 29; out of ser. may 12; 30; restored to ser. june 11, 30; discloid. feb. 12, 34; mus. co. A, 2 inf. sept. 2, 34; prin. mus. 2 inf nov. —, 34; discloid. sept. 2, 37; re-en. sept. 2, 37; discloid. sept. 2, 40; sergt. co. B, music boys may 4, 41; discloid. may 4, 64; re-en. may 4, 66; discloid. may 4, 66; discloid. may 4, 66; discloid. may 4, 55; re-en. may 5, 56; re-en. may 5, 56; discloid. mar. 6, 61; re-en. mar. 6, 61; discloid. jan. 5, 64; re-en. jan. 5, 64; discloid. jan. 5, 66; re-en. jan. 15, 69; 24; t. 9 inf. jan. 19, 69, acc. mar. 27, 69; musad, june 14, 69; retired dec. 15, 70; 'for disability result-ing from old age and long and faith, service '' [act ang. 3, 66; sees. 16 and 17]. 29; PEVLAMIN, FILW AFEA, A. DO. 19, 75.
- 383. BENJAMIN, EDWARD A., Dec. 12, 72. [Born in Conn.; apptd. from La.]— 2 lt. 6 cav. dec. 12, 72, acc. jun. 25, 73; trs. to 3 inf. oct. 13, 73; retired june 23, 78, "for disability resulting from injury received in line of duty" [sec. 1251, rev. stats.].

Chaplains.

- 384. VAUX, WHLIAM, Mar. 26, 67. [Born in Engl d; apptd, from D. C.]— Chap, post of Ft. Laramie, Neb., sept. 29, 49, to july 1, 62; hosp. chap, vol. ang, 6, 64, acc, ang, 17, 64; must, out apr. 29, 67; post chap, mar. 25, 67, acc, apr. 29, 67; retired june 8, 80, at his own request, being over sixty-two years of age [sec 1244, rev. stats].
- 6, e., at mis own request, own gover staty two years of age (see 14), rev. staty].
 385, MCARTY, JOHN, Apr. 3, 67. [Born in N. Y.: appth from Wash, T.] = Brig, chap. Mex. war apr. 11, 47, to july 6, 48; chap. post of Jefferson Barracks sept. 18, 48; resgid, dec. 31, 52; chap. post of Columbia Barracks jam. 31, 53; of Fr. Stellacoora sopt. 19, 54, and of Ft. Vanconver nov. 26, 65; post chap. U. S. A. apr. 3, 67, acc. may 29, 67; retired sept. 16, 67, "being over sixty-two years of age" [act july 17, 62, sec. 12].
- 386. ELLIOTT, JARED L., Apr. 3, 67. [Born in D. C.; apptd. from D. C.]— Chap. post of Ft. Atkinson sept. 3, 45, to jan. 29, 49; chap. post of Ft. Washington mar. 25, 67; post chap. U. S. A. apr. 3, 67, acc. apr. 29, 67; retired nov. 24, 68, "for cause not incident to the ser." [act aug. 3, 64, sec. 17].
- 237. WRIGHT, ALPHA, Apr. 3, 67. [Born in Vt.; apptd. from Neb.]— Chap. 25 Mo. vol. apr. 25, 63; trs. to 1 Mo. eng. feb. 17, 64; discloyd, apr. 20, 64; chap. 6 Mo. cav. apr. 20, 64; must, out mar. 6, 65; chap. 2 U. S. vol. mar. 7, 65; must, out dec. 11, 65; chap. post of Ft. Laramie, Neb. dec. 11, 65, to may 18, 67; post. chap. apr. 3, 67, acc. may 18, 67; relived oct. 3, 79, at his own request, being over sixty-two years of age [sec. 1243, rev. stats.].
- [388] VAN WYCK, GEORGE P., Aug. 7, 67. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from N. Y.]— Chap. 56 N. Y. vol. apr. 8, 63; must, out oct. 17, 65, paid to oct. 31, 65; post, chap, ang. 7, 67, acc, ang. 20, 67; eviced ang. 1, 79, "for disability resulting from disease contracted in line of duty" [sec, 1251, rev. stats.].
- 389. PALEN, VINCENT, Sept. 11, 67. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from Va.]— Hosp. chap. vol. may 31, 62, acc. june 7, 62; must. out sept. 1, 67; post chap. U. S. A. sept. 11, 67, acc. sept. 12, 67; returned dec. 1, 68, "for disability resulting from sickness and exposure in line of duty while hosp. chap. vol." [act aug. 3, 61, sec. 17].
- 390. COLLINS, GAMALIEL, Oct. 10, 67. [Born in Mass.: apptd. from Pa.]— Chap. 72 Pa. vol. aug. 10, 61; must. out aug. 24, 64; post. chap. oct. 10, 67, acc. oct. 14, 67; rediced oct. 3, 79, at his own request, being over sixty-two years of age [sec. 1244, rev. stats.].
- 394. GILMORE, ALENANDER, July 2, 70. [Born in N.J.; apptd. from N.J.]— Post-chap, july 2, 70, acc. aug. 46, 70; relived may 17, 70, at his own request, being over sixty-two years of age [see, 124], rev. stars.].
- 392. KELLEY, MOSES J., July 2, 70. [Born in Me.; apptd. from Me.]— Chap. 6 Me. vol. aug. 14, 62; must, out aug. 15, 64; post chap. july 2, 70, acc. aug. 16, 70; retired oct. 3, 70, at his own request, being over sixty-two years of age [sec. 1244, rev. stats.].

MILITARY ACADEMY.

MILITARY ACADEMY, WEST POINT, N. Y.

SUPERINTENDENT AND COMMANDANT.

Maj. Gen. John M. Schofield.

ACADEMIC STAFF.

Department of Tactics.

- Maj. Henry M. Lazelle, 1 inf. Commandant of Cadets and Instructor of Tactics. On duty at
- If. A. since june 14, 79. Maj. Alexander Piper, 4 art. Asst. Instr. of Art. Tactics. On duty at M. A. since sept. 1, 76. Capt. Edward S. Godfrey, 7 cav. Asst. Instr. of Cav. Tactics. On duty at M. A. since aug. 27, 79.
- 1 lt. Leverett H. Walker, 15 inf. Asst. Instr. of Inf. Tactics. On duty at M. A. since aug. 28, 76. (Relieved aug. 31, 80.)
- 1 lt. Benjamin H. Randolph, 3 art. Asst. Instr. of Art. and Inf. Tactics. On duty at M. A. since nov. 1, 79.
- Since and L. (19).
 11. Edward J. McClernand, 2 cav. Asst. Instr. of Cav. and Inf. Tactics. On duty at M. A. since ang. 28, 79.
 11. Edward W. Casey, 22 inf. Asst. Instr. of Inf. Tactics. On duty at M. A. since ang. 28, 80.
 2 It. William H. Collin, 5 art. Asst. Instr. of Art. and Inf. Tactics. On duty at M. A. since
- aug. 28, 76.
- 2 lt. Quincy O'M. Gillmore, 8 cav. Asst. Instr. of Cav. Tactics. On duty at M. A. since apr. 6, 80,
- 2 lt. George W. Goethals, corps of eng. Asst. Instr. of Tacties. On duty at M. A. since july 5, 80. (Relieved aug. 28, 80.)
- 2 lt. Frederick S. Strong, 4 art. Asst. Instr. of Tactics. On duty at M. A. since july 5, 80. (Relieved aug. 31, 80.)
- 2 lt. Daniel L. Tate, 1 cav. Asst. Instr. of Tactics. On duty at M. A. since july 5, 80. (Relieved aug. 31, 80.)
- 2 lt. Francis J. A. Darr, 12 inf. Asst. Inst. of Tactics. On duty at M. A. since july 5, 80. (Relieved ang. 31, 80.

Department of Civil and Military Engineering.

Junius B. Wheeler. Professor.

- 1 lt. William T. Rossell, corps of eng. Asst. Prof. On duty at M. A. since aug. 28, 76. (Re-
- lieved aug. 28, 80.
- 1 lt. Dan. C. Kingman, corps of eng. Asst. Prof. On duty at M. A. since aug. 28, 78.

Acting Assistant Professors.

1 lt. Willard Young, corps of eng. On duty at M. A. since aug. 28, 79.

1 lt. Solomon W. Roessler, corps of eng. On duty at M. A. since aug. 28, 80.

Department of Natural and Experimental Philosophy.

Peter S. Michie, Ph. D. Professor.

Capt. Clinton B. Sears, corps of eng. Asst. Prof. On duty at M. A. since aug. 28, 76.

Acting Assistant Professors.

- I. George S. Anderson, 6 cav. On duty at M. A. since sept. 22, 77.
 I. George E. Bacon, 16 inf. On duty at M. A. since june 14, 78. Relieved aug. 31, 80.
 I. George W. Goethals, corps of eng. On duty at M. A. since july 5, 80. (Relieved aug. 28, 80.)

Department of Mathematics.

Edgar W. Bass. Professor.

Ilt. John G D. Knight A. M., corps of eng. Asst. Prof. On duty at M. A. since aug. 28, 74. (259)

Acting Assistant Professors.

- Capt. Stanhope E. Blunt, ord. dept. On duty at M. A. since ang. 28, 76. (Relieved ang. 28, 80.)
 1 k. Eric Bergland, corps of eng. On duty at M. A. since ang. 28, 78. (Relieved ang. 28, 80.)
 1 k. Thomas N. Bailey, corps of eng. On duty at M. A. since ang. 28, 78. (Relieved ang. 28, 80.)
 1 k. Japar Z. Steever, jr., 3 case, On duty at M. A. since ang. 28, 76. (Relieved ang. 28, 80.)
 1 k. John T. Honeyeuti, 1 art. On duty at M. A. since ang. 28, 78.
 2 k. William Crocier, 4 ant. On duty at M. A. since ang. 28, 79.
 2 k. Honry H. Ludlow, 3 art. On duty at M. A. since ang. 28, 79.
 2 k. William M. Medcalfe, 4 art. On duty at M. A. since ang. 28, 80.
 2 k. William M. Medcalfe, 4 art. On duty at M. A. since ang. 28, 80.
 2 k. James L. Lusk, corps of eng. On duty at M. A. since ang. 28, 80.
 2 k. James E. Kuncie, 1 art. On duty at M. A. since ang. 28, 80.
 2 k. James L. Lusk, corps of eng. On duty at M. A. since ang. 28, 80.

- 2 lt. James E. Runcie, 1 art. On duty at M. A. since aug. 28, 80.

Department of History, Geography, and Ethics.

Rev. John Forsyth, D. D., LL. D. Chaplain and Professor.

1 lt. Eric Bergland, corps of eng. Asst. Prof. of Ethics. On duty at M. A. since and 28, 78, 2 lt. Rollin A. Ives, 5 art. Asst. Prof. of Ethics. On duty at M. A. since aug. 28, 76. (Ke-

lieved ung. 28, 80.)

Department of Chemistry, Mineralogy, and Geology.

Henry L. Kendrick, LL. D. Professor. (Retired dec. 13, 80.)

Samuel E. Tillman. Professor.

1 lt. Samuel E. Tillman, corps of eng. Asst. Prof. On duty at M. A. since aug. 28, 79. (Apptd Prof. dec. 21, 80.

Acting Assistant Professors.

1 lt. John P. Wisser, 1 art. On duty at M. A. since aug. 28, 78, 1 lt. Joseph S. Oyster, 1 art. On duty at M. A. since sept. 25, 79.

2 lt. Howard A. Springett, 4 art. On duty at M. A. since oct. 21, 79. (Relieved sept. 10, 50.)

Department of Drawing.

Charles W. Larned. Professor.

1 lt. Henry A. Reed, 2 art. Asst. Prof. On duty at M. A. since aug. 28, 76. (Relieved ang. 28, 80.)

1 lt. Charles A. Worden, 7 inf. Asst. Prof. On duty at M. A. since mar. 11, 79.

Acting Assistant Professors.

1 lt. Thomas G. Townsend, 6 inf. On duty at M. A. since aug. 28, 76. (Relieved aug. 28, 80.)

It. James S. Pettit, 1 inf. On duty at M. A. since aug. 28, 80.
 It. Edward B. Ives, 19 inf. On duty at M. A. since aug. 28, 80.

Department of the French Language and English Studies.

George L. Andrews, A. M. Professor.

1 lt. Orin B. Mitcham, ord. dept. Asst. Prof. On duty at M. A. since mar. 28, 77.

Acting Assistant Professors.

1 It. Alexander Rodgers, 4 cav. On duty at M. A. since ang. 28, 79. (Relieved jan. 16, 89.) 1 It. Tasker II. Eliss, 1 art. On duty at M. A. since sept. 14, 76. (Relieved ang. 28, 80.)

I. John R. Williams, 3 art. On duty at M. A. since oct. 2, 78,
 It. John R. Williams, 3 art. On duty at M. A. since oct. 2, 78,
 It. John H. Philbrick, 11 inf. On duty at M. A. since inn, 28, 79,
 It. John Bigelow, jr., 10 env. On duty at M. A. since inn, 180,
 It. George P. Seriven, 3 art. On duty at M. A. since inn, 28, 80,

Department of the Spanish Language.

Patrice de Janon. Professor.

1 lt. James O'llara, 3 art. Asst. Prof. On duty at M. A. since aug. 28, 80.

2 lt. John T. French, ir., 4 art. Acting Asst. Prof. On duty at M. A. since aug. 28, 90.

Department of Law.

Maj. Guido N. Lieber, j. a. Professor. (Assigned under act of June 6, 74.) On duty at M. A. since aug. 28, 78.

2 It. Eric Bergland, corps of eng. Asst. Prof. On duty at M. A. since aug. 28, 78.
2 It. Rollin A. Ives, 5 art. Asst. Prof. On duty at M. A. since aug. 28, 76. (Relieved aug. 28, 80.)
2 It. Howard A. Springett, 4 art. Acting Asst. Prof. On duty at M. A. since oct. 21, 79.

Department of Practical Military Engineering, Military Signaling and Telegraphy.

Capt. Charles W. Raymond, corps of eng. Instructor. On duty at M. A. since aug. 28, 72, 11f. Henry S. Taber, corps of eng. Asst. Instr. On duty at M. A. since mar. 7, 77, 214 (March 2014) (March 2014)

2 lt. Oberlin M. Carter, corps of eng. Asst. Instr. On duty at M. A. since july 5, 80. (Relieved aug. 28, 80.)

Department of Ordnance and Gunnery.

Mai, Alfred Mordecai, ord. dept. Instructor. On duty at M. A. since ang. 28, 74. [4] H. James Rockwell, jr., ord. dept. Asst. Instr. On duty at M. A. since aug. 28, 78, 1 R. James Rockwell, jr., ord. dept. Asting Asst. Instr. On duty at M. A. since july, 15, 80.

Antoné Lorentz. Sword Master. [Born in France; apptd. from N. Y.; appointed Sword Master apr. 13, 58.]

MILITARY STAFF.

Maj. Beekman Du Barry, sub. dept. Treasurer and Disbursing Officer, and Quartermaster and Commissary Battalion of Cadets. On duty at M. A. since sept. 1, 79.

Capt. Charles II. Hoyt, asst. qm. Quartermaster. On duty at M. A. since june 28, 80.

1 R. Frank Michler, 5 cav. Adjutant. On duty at M. A. since sept. 1, 76. 1 R. Crosby P. Miller, 4 art. Quartermaster. On duty at M. A. since june 29, 75. (Relieved july 12, 80.)

Jurg L. 80, 7 Surg. Charles T. Alexander. On duty at M. A. since aug. 28, 78. Asst. surg. Henry Lippincott. On duty at M. A. since oct. 6, 76. (Relieved oct. 1, 80.) Asst. surg. Robert H. White. On duty at M. A. since oct. 1, 80.

ATTACHED TO THE STAFF OF THE MAJOR GENERAL, SUPERINTENDENT AND COMMANDANT.

Capt. William M. Wherry, 6 inf. Aide-de-Camp, and Acting Asst. Adj't Genl.

Capt. Charles II. Hoyt, asst. qm. Chief Quartermaster.

1 lt. Edward E. Wood, 8 cav. Aide-de-Camp. 1 lt. Charles B. Schofield, 2 cav. Aide-de-Camp.

1 lt. George E. Bacon, 16 inf. Acting Asst. qui. and Acting Asst. Com. Sub.

[NOTE.—The departments are arranged in the order of their creation by law, without regard to the dates of commission or assignment of the professors.]

SERVICE OF PROFESSORS.

- DE JANON, PATRICE, July 1, 57. [Born in S. A.; apptd. from N. Y.]-Sword master at M. A. jan, 6, 46; prof. of Spanish july 1, 57; acc. jan. 25, 58; out of ser. from sept. 16, 63, to mar. 4, 65.
- MICHIE, PETER S., PH. D., Feb. 14, 71. [Born in Scotl'd: apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 59; 1 lt. eng. june 11, 63; capt. bvt. and maj. bvt. oct. 28, 64, ¹⁴ for gal. and mer. ser. dur. the campaign of 1864 against Richmond, Va.¹⁵; brig. gen. yol. byt. jan. 1, 65,
 - "for mer. ser. in 1864"; lt. cot. bvt. apr. 9, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. dnr. the campaign terminating at Appomattox C. H., Va."; lt. col. a. i. g. [act july 17, 62] mar. 23, 65, to june 6, 65; capt. eng. nov. 23, 65; prof. of natural and experimental philosophy feb. 14, 71, ace. mar. 6, 71; resgd. com. of eapt. of eng. mar. 6, 71.
- ANDREWS, GEORGE L., A. M., Feb. 28, 71. [Born in Mass.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 47; byt. 2 lt. eng. july 1, 51; 2 lt. feb. 2, 54; resgd. sept. 1, 55; lt. col. 2 Mass. vol. may 25, 61; col. june 13, 62; brig. gen. vol. nov. 10, 62, acc. nov. 10, 62; maj. gen. vol. byt. mar. 26, 65, "for faith, and mer. ser. dur. the campaign against the city of Mo-Sector was not not 20, 99, 100 tarms and mer, ser, dur, the campaign against the city of Mo-bile and its defences"; *must. out* of vol. ser, ang. 24, 65, paid to sept. 3, 65; prof. of French feb. 28, 71, acc. apr. 1, 71.
- FORSYTH, JOHN, D. D., LL. D., July 28, 71. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from N. Y.]-Chap. 19 N. Y. s. m. july 2, 62; must. out sept. 6, 62; chap. and prof. of ethics and law july 28, 71, acc. aug. 4, 71.
- WHEELER, JUNIUS B., Sept. 16, 71. [Born in N. C.; apptd. from M. A.]-2 It. 11 inf. sept. 9, 47; acc. dec. 14, 47; disbanded ang. 14, 48; cadet july 1, 51; bvt. 2 It. 2 cav. july 1, 55; 2 It. ang. 21, 55; trs. to top. eng. junc 27, 56; 1 It. july 1, 60; capt. eng. mar. 3, 66; maj. bvt. apr. 30, 64, "for gal. and mer. ser. at the battle of Jenkins" Ferry, Ark."; It. col. bvt. and col. bvt. may. 13, 65, "for gal. and mer. ser. dur. the war"; maj. eng. july 10, 66; prof. of civil and mil. engineering sept. 16, 71, acc. oct. 10, 71; resgd. com. of maj. eng. oct. 10, 71.
- LARNED, CHARLES W., July 25, 76. [Born in N. Y.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 66; 241. 3 cav. june 15, 70; trs. to 7 cav. oct. 10, 70; 14. june 25, 76; prof. of drawing july 25, 76, acc. aug. 14, 76; resgd. com. of 14. 7 cav. aug. 14, 76.
- BASS, EDGAR W., Apr. 17, 78. [Born in Wis.; apptd. from M. A.]— Cadet july 1, 64; bvt. 2 lt. eng. jnne 15, 68; 2 lt. feb. 15, 69; 1 lt. feb. 14, 71; prof. of mathematics apr. 17, 78, acc. may 2, 78; resgd. com. of 1 lt. eng. may 2, 78.
- TILLMAN, SAMUEL E., Dec. 21, 80. [Born in Tenn.; apptd from M. A.]— Uadet july 1, 65; 2 lt. 4 art. june 15, 69; trs. to eng. june 10, 72; 1 lt. june 10, 72; prof. of chemistry, mineralogy, and geology dec. 21, 80, acc. dec. 31, 80; resgd. com. of 1 lt. eng. dec. 31, 80.

No.	Names.	Appointed from.	Science and art in which each cadet particularly excels. $\label{eq:constraint}$
	First class.		
1	Oberlin M. Carter,	$\operatorname{At} \operatorname{large} \ldots$	Civil and Military Engineering and Science of War, Law, Mineradogy and Geology, Ordnance and Gun- nery, Natural and Experimental Philosophy, Chemical Physics and Chemistry, Tactics, Draw- ing, Mathematics, French, and Spanish.
2	George W. Goethals	N. Y	Civil and Military Engineering and Science of War, Law, Mineralogy and Geology, Ordnance and Gun- nery, Naturaland Experimental Philosephy, Chem- ical Physics and Chemistry, Tactics, Drawing, Mathematics, French, and Spanish.
3	Sidney E. Stnart	Mass	Civil and Military Engineering and Science of War, Mineralogy and Geology, Ordnance and Gunnery, Natural and Experimental Philosophy, Chemical Physics and Chemistry, Tactics, Drawing, Math- ematics, and French.
4	William C. Ratferty	111	Civil and Military Engineering and Science of War, Law, Mineralogy and Geology, Ordnance and Gun- nery, Naturaland Experimental Philosophy, Chem- ical Physics and Chemistry, Tactics, Drawing, Mathematics, French, and Spanish.
5		N. Y	Civil and Military Engineering and Science of Wat, Law, Mineralogy and Geology, Natural and Ex- perimental Philosophy, Chemical Physics and Chemistry, Tactics, Drawing, and Mathematics.
	Second class.		
1	John Millis	Mich	Natural and Experimental Philosophy, Chemical – Physics and Chemistry, Tactics, and Drawing-
2	John Biddle	М ich	Natural and Experimental Philosophy, Chemical Physics and Chemistry, Tactics, and Drawing.
3	Edward O. Brown	Wis	Natural and Experimental Philosophy, Chemical Physics and Chemistry, Tactics, and Drawing.
4	Edwin St. J. Greble	At large	Natural and Experimental Philosophy, Chemical Physics and Chemistry, Tactics and Drawing.
5	Harry F. Ilodges Third class.	Mass	Natural and Experimental Philosophy, Chemical Physics and Chemistry.
1	Graham D. Fitch	At large	Mathematics and French.
2	Lansing II. Beach	Iowa	Mathematics and French.
3			Mathematics and Drawing.
4			Mathematics and Drawing.
5	Oscar T. Crosby	Miss	Mathematics and French.
	Fourth class.		
1	Beverly W. Dunn	La	Mathematics, French, and English Studies.
2	George A, Zinn	Pa	Mathematics and English Studies.
3	William F. Flynn		Mathematics and English Studies.
4	Alfred B. Jackson		Mathematics, French, and English Studies.
5	Willonghby Walke	Va	French and English Studies.

List of distinguished cadets reported at the examination in June, 1850.

Name.	Rank and regi- ment.	College or university.
George T. Olmsted, jr	Capt. U. S. A.	Agr'l and Mechanical College of Texas, Bryan, Texas
George W. Evans	Capt. 21 inf	Carolina Military Institute, Charlotte, N. O.
Rezin G. Howell	1 lt. 2 art	Agr'land Mechan'l College of Kentucky, Lexington, Ky
Charles Morris	1 lt. 5 art	Massachusetts Agricultural College, Amherst, Mass.
Junius W. MacMurray .	1 lt. 1 art	Union College, Schenectady, N. Y.
James B. Burbank	1 lt. 3 art	Cornell University, Ithaca, N. Y.
Henry Romeyn	1 lt. 5 inť	Humpton Normal and Agr'l Institute, Hampton, Va.
George A. Thurston	1 lt.3 art	Iowa State University, Iowa City, Iowa.
Luigi Lomia	1 lt. 5 art	Ohio Agr'l and Mechan'l College, Columbus, Ohio.
Robert M. Rogers	1 lt. 2 art	University of the South, Sewance, Tenn.
Isaac T. Webster	1 lt. 1 art	University of Nebraska, Lincoln, Neb.
M. C. Wilkinson	1 lt. 3 inf	Tualatin Academy and P.w. Univ'y, Forest Grove, Oreg.
Ephraim T. C. Richmond	1 lt. 2 art	Dickinson College, Carlisle, Pa.
George O. Webster	1 lt. 4 inf	Allegheny College, Meadrille, Pa.
Medorem Crawford, jr	1 lt. 2 art	Bowdoin College, Brunswick, Me.
John L. Clem	1 lt. 24 inf	Galesville University, Galesville, Wis.
Charles R. Barnett	1 ht. 5 art	Pennsylvania Military Academy, Chester, Pa.
Albert S. Cummins	1 lt. 4 art	University of Vermont. Burlington, Vt.
Mitchell F. Jamar	1 lt. 13 inf	Louisiana State University and Mechanical and Agril
		College, Baton Rouge, Lu
George S. Hoyle	1 lt. 1 eav	North Georgia Agricultural College, Dahlonega. Ga.
Hugh T. Reed	1 lt. 1 int	Southern Illinois Normal University, Carbondale, Ill.
Samuel N. Holmes	1 lt. 13 inf	Rutgers College, New Brunswick, N. J.
Clarence Deems	2 lt. 4 art	Maryland Agr'l College, Prince George's County, Md.
George R. Cecil	2 lt. 13 inf	Michigan Military Academy, Orchard Lake, Mich.
John P. Jefferson	2 lt. 5 art	Brooks Military Academy, Cleveland, Ohio.
Edwin B. Bolton	2 lt. 23 inf	Agr'l and Mechan'l College of Mississippi, Starkville, Miss.
William S. Patten	2 lt. 18 inf	
William R. Hamilton	2 lt. 5 art	Indiana Asbury University, Green Castle, Ind.
William T. Wood	2 lt. 18 inf	
Francis P. Blair	2 lt. 3 art	

Established colleges or universities, with officers of the Army serving thereal, under section 1225, Revised Statutes.

SEC. 1225. "The President may, upon the application of any established college or university within the United States, having capacity to reducate, at the same time, not less than one hundred and fifty male students, detail an officer of the Δ rmy to act as president, superintendent, or professor thereof; but the number of officers so detailed shall not exceed * * [thirty] at any time, and they shall be apportioned throughout the United States, as nearly as may be practicable, according to population. Officers so detailed shall be governed by general rules prescribed, from time to time, by the President. The Secretary of War is authorized to issue, at his discretion and under prop r regulations to be prescribed by him, out of any small-arms or pieces of field-artillery belonging to the government, and which can be spared for that purpose, such number of the same as may appear to be required for military instruction and practice by the students of any college or university under the provisions of this section ; and the Secretary shall require a bond in each case, in double the value of the property, for the care and safe keeping thereof, and for the return of the same when required."

SEC. 1260. "Any retired officer may, on his own application, he detailed to serve as professor in any college." [But while so serving, such officer shall be allowed no additional compensation.]

tion.] I. The following regulations, in regard to detail of officers of the Army at established colleges and universities within the United States, are prescribed by the President, under the above laws:

1. Details "shall be apportioned throughout the United States as nearly as may be practicable according to population"; such States as do not contain sufficient population to entitle them to one officer will be grouped with one or nore contiguous States or Territories, so that the combined population of the group will allow the detail of one or more officers, to the extent of thirty officers in all.

2. As a rule, captains of companies, regimental staff officers, or officers who have served less than three years with their regiments or corps, or who have recently completed a tour of detached duty, will not be eligible. No details will be made that will leave a battery, troop, or company without two officers for duty with it. The period of detail will not be longer than three years. 3. Retired officers, if acceptable to any institution, may, on their own request, be detailed on this duty among the thirty authorized. Besides this number, any retired officer may arrange to serve at a college or university without detail from or reference to the War–Department: but unless *detailed* under section 1225, Revised Statutes, such service will not entitle the institution to the arms, &c., provided by that section.

4. No detail will be made for any institution except upon an application from its proper representatives, nor will any officer be so detailed unless acceptable the anthornties of the institution, who should make their selection from the objects available for this dity.

5. Applications for officers should be addressed to the Secretary of War, and should duly certify the number of male students the college or university has the capacity to educate, and should also be accompanied by the last printed catalogue.

6. Officers of the Army desiring a detail at colleges or universities may make application to the Adjutant General, through the usual ultitary channels, for such details; their applications and the recommendations forwarded therewith will, if the officers are available, be furnished to such institutions as may desire to make a selection.

11. The following are the regulations prescribed by the Secretary of War for the issue of arms, $\delta \psi_{\alpha}$, required for military instruction and practice at colleges and universities, under s clion 125. Revised Statutes:

 The number of pieces of field attillery, with necessary implements, and of small-arms and accontrements, which may be issued for the purposes of military instruction to each selected college and university having an efficer of the Army stationed thereat, is limited to the following, viz:

2.3 linch rifled guns, wrought - iron.	1	2 tompions, 3 inch, at 30 cents	\$0 G0
model 1861, at \$450	\$900-00	2 vent covers, at 40 cents	80
2 cartiages and limbers, 3-inch gun, at		1 pendulum hausse, 3-inch	2 50
\$925	650-00	1 pendulum-hausse seat	60
(2) guinner's haversacks, at \$3,35 ()	6 70	1 pendulum-hausse pouch	75
2 handspikes, trail, at \$1	2 (0)	(1) 2 paulins: 12 by 15 feet, at \$11.75 (1)	23 50
I lanyards, at 10 cents	40	 150 Springfield "cadet" rifles, cal. 45. 	
2 priming-wires, at 10 cents	20	with appendages, & c., at \$18	2,700,00
4 sponges and rammers, 3-inch, at \$1	4 00	150 bayonet scabbards, steel, cadet, at	
4 sponge covers, 3-inch, at 39 cents	1 20	91 cents	136 50
2 tube-ponches, at \$1.50	3 00	150 waist belts and plates, at 50 cents	
4 thumbstalls, at 20 cents	80	150 cartridge boxes, cal. 45, at \$1.25	187/50

2. Issue of the above stores will be made by the Chief of Ordnance to any selected institution moon its filing a bond in the penal sum of double the value of the property, conditioned that it will take good cate of and safely keep and account for the same, and will, when required by the S cretary of War, duly return the same, within thirty days, in good order, to the Chief of Ordnance United States Army, or such officer or person as the Secretary of War may designate to receive it.

3. To conform to the requirements of the law, the terms "college" and "university" herein used are held to relate to "State institutions, incorporated or public," and not to "mere schools, private or numicipal."

4. The following is the blank form of bond to be executed previous to the issue of ordnance and ordnance stores, viz:

5. For practice-firing, the following allowances of animunition will be made annually to each of the various institutions, viz:

1,000 carbine metallic ball-cartridges, cal. .45, 1,000 metallic blenk cartridges, cal. .45, 100 round blank cartridges for 3-inch gun. 300 friction primers.

This anomunition will be issued upon requisitions to be forwarded to the Chief of Ordnance by the presidents or superintendents of the institutions; and as annual allowances date in all cases from July 1 of each year, requisitions should be forwarded before or as soon after that date as practicable for the prospective year's supply. Undrawn allowances of one year cannot be drawn in the succeeding year.

6. Regalar property teturns will be rendered quarterly to the Chief of Ordnance by each president or superintendent of an institution supplied with arms, &c., accounting for all ordnance and ordnance stores issued to the institution under his charge. These returns will be mide on the blank forms to be supplied by the Chief of Ordnance.

In the on the bank torms to be supported by the value of the bandance. 7. Whenever any institution shall fail to return the public property in its charge within thirty days after demand made by the Secretary of War, the definquency will be promptly referred to the Attorney General, that the bond of the institution may forthwith be put in suit.

8. All expense of repairs of stores are to be borne by the institution using the same, the Ordninee Pepartment supplying spare parts for repairs at cost price.

[G. O. No. 100, Adjutant General's Office, November 21, 1879.]

In addition to the instructions contained in General Orders No. 100, series of 1879, from Headquarters of the Army, concerning details of officers of the Army at colleges, universities, &c., the following instructions from the Secretary of War, concerning the detail of retired officers at such institutions, under the act approved May 4, 1880, are published for the information of all concerned. The act provides—

"That upon the application of any college, university, or institution of learning incorporated under the laws of any State within the United States, having capacity at the same time to educate not less than one hundred and fifty male students, the President may detail an officer of the Army on the retired list to act as president, superintendent, or professor thereof; and such officer may receive from the institution to which he may be detailed the difference between his retired and full pay, and shall not receive any additional pay or allowance from the United States."

All officers detailed under section 1225, Revised Statutes, whether from the active or retired list, belong to the thirty officers distributed according to the apportionment, and the institutions to which they are detailed are entitled to the arms provided by that section, under regulations published in General Orders No. 100, screes of 1879, from Headquarters of the Army.

hous to which they dreace and a decentration to the amp provided by that section, more regarlations published in General Orders No. 100, series of 1879, from Headquarters of the Army. The details authorized by the act of May 4, 1880, will be in addition to the thirty allowed by the section referred to, and may be made to institutions of learning of the requisite grade in any State, without reference to population or to the number of officers already serving therein.

Whenever the detail of an officer, under section 1225. Revised Statutes, shall expire at an institution of learning within a State or group of States having a greater number of officers on such duty than the State or group is entilled to under the apportionment, the vacancey so created will not be filled by a detail under the section named, but by a detail, under the act approved May 4, 1889, of such officer on the retired list as the authorities of the institution may select and who may be willing to accept the detail.

Any communication addressed to a retired officer, in care of this office, will be forwarded to his address. The names of all such officers are published in the Army Register.

[CIRCULAR. Adjutant General's Office, May 25, 1880.]

Officers detailed at colleges under the provisions of section 1225, Revised Statutes of the United States, are required, by direction of the President, to make out and transmit to the Adjutant General of the Army quarterly reports of their duries and of all matters properly pertaining to the military departments of the colleges at which they are serving, as set forth in detail on the blank for this purpose, which will be furnished by the Adjutant General of the Army.

[CIRCULAR. Adjutant General's Office, August 25, 1880.]

CASUALTIES.

Resigned (19).

Captain Arthur W. Allyn, Sixteenth Infantry, April 30, 1880.

Captain Henry C. Corbin, Twenty-fourth Infantry, June 18, 1880 (his regimental commission only).

First Lieut munt Robert E. Smith, assistant surgeon, April 1, 1880.

- First Lient munt Samuel E. Tillman, Corps of Engineers, December 31, 188) (his staff commis sion only:
- Füst Lieutenant Christopher T. Hall, Second Cavalry, November 17, 188), First Lieutenant A. D. Bache Smeal, Third Cavalry, February 29, 1880.
- First Lieutenant Matthew Leeper, jr., Fourth Cavalry, May 5, 1880.
- First Lieutenant Daniel D. Wheeler, First Artillery, January 13, 1880 (his regimental commission only).
- First Lieutenant Engene B. Gibbs, Sixth Infantry, March 30, 1880 this regimental commission only).
- First Lieutenant John J. Clagne, Twelfth Infantry, December 15, 1880 this regimental commission only).
- First Licatemant Henry W. Howgate, Twentieth Infuntry, December 18, 1889, First Licatemant Henry H. Landon, Twenty-fifth Infuntry, June 1, 1880, Second Licatemant Charles A. Bradley, Ninth Cavalry, June 1, 1880, Second Licatemant Edyin McNell, First Aytillery, May 20, 1880,

Second Lieutenant A. Burnley Crittenden, Fourth Infantry, March 18, 1880.

Second Lieutenant Gay R. Beurdshee, Ninth Infinity, December 27, 1889, Second Lieutenant John F. C. Hegewald, Eleventh Infinity, May 22, 1889, Second Lieutenant Bisil N. Waters: Fifteenth Infinity, October 18, 1889.

Second Lieutenaut Andrew E. Kilpatrick, Seventeenth Infantry, June 30, 1880.

Commissions recated by new appointment (8).

- By Brigadier General Nelson A. Miles, his commission of Colonel Fifth Infantry, December 18, 1880.
- By Brigadier General Richard C. Drum, Adjutant General, his commission of Assistant Adjutant General with the rank of Colonel, June 16, 1880. By Brigadier General Nathan W. Brown, Paymuster General, his commission of Assistant Pay-
- master General with the rank of Colonel, June 17, 1880.
- By Brigadier General Albert J. Myer, Chief Signal Officer, his commission of Chief Signal Officer with the rank of Colonel June 22, 1880. [Since deceased.] By Brigadier General William B. Hazen, Chief Signal Officer, his commission of Colonel Sixth
- Infantry, December 17, 1880.
- By Major Francis S. Dodge, Paymaster, his commission of Captain Ninth Cavalry, January 25, 1880.
- By Major Churles McClure, Paymaster, his commission of Captain and Commissary of Subsistence, September 4, 1880.
- By First Lieutenant Charles II. Clark, Ordnance Department, his commission of Second Lieutenant First Artillery, June 23, 1880.

Died (37).

Major General Samuel P. Heintzelman, retired, May 1, 1889, at Washington, D. C.

Brigadier General Alhert J. Myer, Chief Signal Officer, August 24, 1880, at Boffal - M Brigadier General Joseph B. Kiddoo, retired, August 19, 1880, at New York City, N. Y. Colonel William J. Sloan, Surgeon, March 17, 1880, at Saint Paul, Mina. N. F.

- Colonel George Sykes, Twentieth Infantry, February 8, 1880, at Brownsville Texas. Colonel Sumuel Ross, retired, accidentilly drowned July 11, 1880, in Oscenda Lake, Westchester County, N. Y. Lieutenant Colonel Enceh Steen, retired, January 22, 1880, at Kansas City, Mo.
- Lieutenant Colonel Richard S. Satterlee, retired, November 10, 1850, at New York City. N. F.

Major John F. Randolph, Surgeon, May 14, 1889, at Philadelphia, Pa Major Regniald II, Towler, Paymister, August 8, 1880, at Whipple Burracks, Ariz

- Major David P. Hancock, Second Infantry, May 21, 1880, at Harrisburgh Pa.
- Captain Nathaniel S. Constable, Assistant Quart runsster, Felomary 29, 1880, at Pierce City, Mo. Captain John W. Brewer, Assistant Sargeon, November 15, 1880, at Government II opital, near
- Washington, D. C.
- Captain Augustus A. Yeomans, Assistant Surgeon, May 19, 1880, at Toronto, Canada.

Captain Micah R. Brown, Corps of Engineers, April 9, 1880, at L uwrence, Mass.

Died-Continued.

Captain Edward M. Wright, Ordnance Department, April 24, 1880, at Washington, D. Q.

Captain William Prince, Ordnance Department, December 18, 1880, at Government Hospital. near Washington, D. C.

Captain William II. Winters, First Cavalry, June 12, 1880, at Fort Lapwai, Idalo. Captain Joseph C. Audenried, Sixth Cavalry, June 3, 1880, at Washington. D. C.

Captain Erskine Gittings, Third Artillery, September 20, 1880, at Fort Hamilton. New York Harbor, N. Y.

Captain Robert E. Johnston, First Infantry, January 8, 1880, at Government Hospital, near Washington, D. C

Captain George L. Choisy, Eleventh Infantry, December 21, 1880, at Fort Lee. N.J.

Captain Edmund F. Thompson, Twelfth Infantry, December 16, 1880, at Fort Grant, Ariz.

Captain James Thompson, retired, February 14, 1880, at Newport, Ky.

Captain Samuel A. Porter, retired, April 21, 1880, at Boston, Mass. Captain Thomas L. Brent, retired, May 24, 1880, at Columbus, Ohio.

Captain William II. Andrews, retired, June 21, 1880, at Mount Pleasant, Washington, D. C. Captain Oscar Hagen, retired, December 30, 1880, at Portland, Mc.

First Lieutenant Edwin H. Shelton, First Cavalry, January 13, 1880. at Canyonville. Oreg.

First Lieutenant James L. Sherman, First Artillery, May 15, 1880, at New York City, N. Y. First Lieutenant Frank T. Adams, Eighth Infantry, July 26, 1880, at Bordentown, N. J. First Lieutenant Henry P. Walker, Seventeenth Infantry, September 11, 1880, at Fort Pem-

First Lieutenant Charles M. Edwards, retired, July 30, 1879, at Taylor's Falls, Minn.

First Lieutenant Dorns E. Bates, retired, August 17, 1880, at Pittsfield, Ill.
First Lieutenant Lonis A. Nesmith, retired, November 1, 1880, at New York City, N. Y.

Second Lieutenant J. Hansell French, Ninth Cavalry, killed January 17, 1880, in affair with Indians in the San Mateo Mountains, N. M.

Wholly retired (1).

[In conformity with section 1252, Revised Statutes. . .

Captain William S. Collier, Fourth Infantry, April 27, 1880.

Dropped (1).

[In conformity with section 1229, Revised Statutes.]

Second Lieutenant Horace B. Steele, Ninetcenth Infantry, May 5, 1880.

Dismissed (7).

Major Marcus A. Reno, Seventh Cavalry, April 1, 1880. Captain James T. Peale, Second Cavalry, December 20, 1880. Captain Thomas F. Riley, Twenty-first Infantry, August 15, 1880. Captain Andrew Geddes, Twenty-firth Infantry, December 31, 1880.

First Lieutenant Abram G. Verplanck, Third Artillery, February 23, 1880.

First Lieutenant J. Granville Gates, Twentieth Infantry, June 1, 1880. Second Lieutenant Theodore Decker, Twenty-fourth Infantry, September 4, 1880.

MILITARY GEOGRAPHICAL DIVISIONS, DEPARTMENTS, AND POSTS, WITH POST OFFICES, TELEGRAPH STATIONS, AND NEAREST RAILROAD STATIONS OR BOAT LANDINGS.

[No changes are given after February 1, 1881.]

MILITARY DIVISION OF THE MISSOURI.

LT. GUN, PHILLY II. SHERHAN, COMMANDING .- HIdqrs, Chicago, III. Embraces the Departments of the Missouri, Dakota, and the Platte.

DEPARTMENT OF THE MISSOURL

BVI MAG. GEN. JOHN POPE, BRIG. GUN., COMMANDING (according to his brevet rank of Maj. Gen.) .- Ildgrs, Fort Leavenworth, Kans,

Geographical limits.

States of Missouri, Kansas, Illinois, and Colorado; Territory of New Mexico and the pest of Fort Bliss, Texas, including the town of San Elizario on the Rio Grande, and that pottion of El Paso County lying north of an east and west line passing immediately south of San Elizario camp on Snake River and supply depot at Rawins Station, Wyoming Territory.

DEPARTMENT OF DAKOTA

BVT. MAJ. GEN. ALTRED II, TERRY, BRIG. GEN., COMMANDING (according to his brevet rank of Maj. Gen.).—IIIdqrs. Saint Paul, Minn.

Geographical limits.

State of Minnesota and the Territories of Dakota and Montana.

DEPARTMENT OF THE PLATTE.

BVF. MAJ. GEN. GEORGE CROOK, BRIG. GEN., COMMANDING (according to his brevet rank of Maj. Gen.) .- Hdqrs. Omaha, Neb.

Geographical limits.

States of Iowa and Nebraska; Territories of Utah and Wyoming (excepting of the latter the camp on Snake River and supply depot at Rawlins Station), and so much of the Territory of Idaho as lies east of a line formed by the extension of the western boundary of Utah to the northeastern boundary of Idaho, embracing the post of Fort Hall, Idaho.

MILITARY DIVISION OF THE ATLANTIC

BVF. MAJ. GEN. WINFIELD S. HANCOCK, MAJ. GEN., COMMANDING (according to his brevet rank of Maj. Gen.).-HIdqrs, Governor's Island, New York Harbor. Embraces the Departments of the East and the South.

DEPARTMENT OF THE EAST.

Byr. MAJ, GEN, WINFIELD S, HANCOCK, MAJ, GEN, COMMANDING (according to his brevet rank of Maj. Gen.) .- Hdors, Governor's Island, New York Harbor.

Geographical limits.

The New England States, State of New York (excepting the Department and the post of West Point), States of New Jersey, Pennsylvania, Delaware, Maryland, Virginia, West Virginia, Ohio, Michigan, Wisconsin, Indiana, and the District of Columbia.

(268)

1881.

DEPARTMENT OF THE SOUTH.

BVT. BRIG. GEN. HENRY J. HUNT, COL. 5TH ARTHLERY, COMMANDING (according to his brevet rank of Brig. Gen.).—Hldqrs. Newport Barracks, Ky.

Geographical limits.

States of North Carolina, South Carolina, Georgia, Florida, Mississippi, Alabama, Kentucky, and Tennessee.

MILITARY DIVISION OF THE GULF.

BYT. MAJ. GEN. JOHN M. SCHOFIELD, MAL. GEN., COMMANDING (according to his brevet rank of Maj. Gen.).—Hdqrs. New Orleans, La. Embraces the Departments of Texas and Arkansas.

DEPARTMENT OF TEXAS.

BVT. MAJ. GEX. CHRISTOPHER C. AUGUR, BRIG. GEX., COMMANDING (according to his brevet rank of Maj, Gen.).—Hdqrs, San Antonio, Texas.

Geographical limits.

State of Texas, excepting the posts of Fort Elliott and Fort Bliss, Texas, and that portion of El Paso County embraced in the Dept. of the Missouri.

DEPARTMENT OF ARKANSAS.

BVT. BRIG. GEN. RANALD S. MACKENZIE, COL. 4TH CAVALRY, COMMANDING (according to his brevet rank of Brig. Gen.).--Hdqrs. Little Rock, Ark.

Geographical limits.

The States of Arkansas and Louisiana, the Indian Territory, and the post of Fort Elliott, Texas.

MILITARY DIVISION OF THE PACIFIC.

MAJ. GEN. IRVIN MCDOWELL, COMMANDING.—Hdqrs, Presidio of San Francisco, Cal. Embraces the Departments of California, of the Columbia, and Arizona.

DEPARTMENT OF CALIFORNIA.

MAJ. GEN. IRVIN MCDOWELL, COMMANDING .- Hdqrs. Presidio of San Francisco, Cal.

Geographical limits.

State of Nevada, and so much of Calfornia as lies north of a line from the northwest corner of Arizona Territory to Point Conception, California.

DEPARTMENT OF THE COLUMBIA.

BRIG. GEN. NELSON A. MILES, COMMANDING .- Hdqrs. Vancouver Barracks. Wash. T.

Geographical limits.

State of Oregon, and the Territories of Washington. Idaho, and Alaska, excepting so much of Idaho as lies east of a line formed by the extension of the western boundary of Utah to the northeastern boundary of Idaho.

DEPARTMENT OF ARIZONA.

BV1. MAJ. GEN. ORLANDO B. WILLCOX, COL. 12TH INFANTRY, COMMANDING (according to his brevet rank of Maj. Gen.).-Hdqrs, Whipple Barracks, Prescott, Ariz.

Geographical limits.

Territory of Arizona, and so much of California as lies south of a line from the northwest corner of Arizona to Point Conception. California.

DEPARTMENT OF WEST POINT.

BVI. MAJ. GEN. OLIVER O. HOWARD, BRIG. GEN., COMMANDING (according to his brevet rank of Maj. Gen.).-Hdqrs. West Point, N. Y.

Geographical limits.

The Military Academy and the post of West Point, N.Y.

POSTS.

Those not garrisoned are indicated thus, "

ABRAHAM LINCOLN, FORT, D. T. (Dep. Dak.) .-- P. O. and tel. stn. same : daily conveyance from Bismarck, on N. P. R. K., dist. 43 m. ADAMS, FORT, R. I. (Dept. East).—P. O. and tel. stn. Newport, R. I.: boat from Newport, dist.

- 13 m.
- ALCAPRAZ ISLAND, CAL. (Dept. Cal.) .- P. O. same; tel. and R. R. stu. San Francisco, Cal., dist. 4 m.; steamer to post.
- ANDREW, FORT, MASS, (Dept. East).-P. O. and tel. stn. Plymonth, Mass., dist. 5 m. by water. ANGEL ISLAND, CAL. (Dept. Cal.) .- P. O. same; tel. and R. R. stn. San Francisco, Cal., dist. 7 m.; steamer to post.
- APACUE, FORT, ARIZ. (Dept. Ariz.) .- P. O. and tel. stn. same ; buckboard from Benson, Ariz., on S. P. R. R., dist. 190 m.
- ASSINIBOINE, FORT, MONT. (Dept. Dak.).—P. O. and tel. stn. same: R. R. stn. Lovell's, on U. and N. R. R., dist. 324 m.; studt. ldg. (summer) Coal Banks, on Missouri River, dist. 38 m.; daily conveyance from Lovell's to Fort Benton and tri-weekly thence to post; tri-weekly conveyance from Coal Banks.

- ATLANTA, GA. (Dept. South).—P. O., tel. and R. R. stn. same. BAD LANDS, CANTONMENT AT, D. T. (Dept. Dak.).—P. O. and tel. s.n. via Bismarck, D. T. "BARGANCAS, FORT, FLA. (Dep. South).—P. O. Warrington, Fla.; tel. stn. Pensacola Navy Yard, Fla.; steamer daily from R. R. at Pensacola, Fla., dist. 9 m.
- BATON ROUGE BARRACKS, LA. (Dept. Ark.) P. O. and tel. stn. Baton Rouge, La.; steamer from New Orleans, dist, 130 m.
- BAYARD, FORT, N. M. (Dept. Mo.).-P. O. and tel. stn. same; tri-weekly stage from Albaquerque, on A., T. and S. F. R. R., dist. 520 m. BENICIA BARRACKS, CAL. (Dept. Cal.).-P. O., tel. and R. R. stn. (C. P. R. R.) Benicia, Cal.,
- dist. 1 m
- BENNETT, FORT, D. T. (Dept. Dak.) .- P. O. and tel. stn. same; buckboard from Yankton, 261 m., and Bismarck, 180 m.; stmbt. ldg. (summer), dist. 2 m.; boats from Yankton and Bismarck; route from Yankton preferred.
- BENION. FORT, MONT. (Dept. Dak.) .-- P. O. and tel. stn. same; stage from Lovell's, on U. and N. R. R., eia Helena and Fort Shaw, dist. 262 m. BIDWELL, FORT, CAL. (Dept. Cal.).—P. O. same; tel. and R. R. stn. Reno, Nev., on C. P. R. R.,
- dist, 193 m. : stage to post.
- BLISS, FOLT, TEXAS (Dept. Mo.).—P. O. and tel. stn. El Paso, Texas; daily stage from Sabinal, N. M., on A., T. and S. F. R. R., dist. 198 m.
- BOISE BARRACKS, IDAHO (Dept. Columbia).-P. O. and tel. stn. Boise City, Idaho; stage daily from Kelton, on C. P. R. R., for passengers from east, dist, 243 m.; from Winnemucca, on C. P. R. R., for passengers from San Francisco, dist. 270 m., and from Portland, Oreg., and all points west and north, via Columbia River, and stage from Umatilla, dist. 240 m.
- Bowie, Forr, ARZ, (Dept. Ariz.), –P. O. Apache Pass, Ariz.; tel. stn. at post; daily stage and backboard from Benson, on S. P. R. R., dist. 56 m. BRADY, FORT, MICH. (Dept. East), –P. O. and tel. stn. Sault Ste. Marie, Mich.; boats land at
- post in summer; sled in winter from Potoskey, on G. R. and I. R. R., dist. 115 m. BRIDGER, FORT, WYO. (Dept. Platte).--P. O. same; tel. stn. Carter, Wyo.; special conveyance
- BRIDGER, FORT, WYO, (Dept. Platte)...-P. O. same; tet. stn. Carter, wyo.; special conveyance from Carter Station, on U. P. R. R., dist. 10 m. BROOKE, FORT, FLA. (Dept. South)...-P. O. and tel. stn. Tampa, Fla.; steamer Mondays and Thursdays from Cedar Keys, Fla., dist. 170 m., via Manatee. BROWN, FORT, TEXAS (Dept. Texas)...-P. O, end tel. stn. Stn. Brownsville, Texas. BUFORD, FORT, D. T. (Dept. Dak.)...-P. O, and tel. stn. same; stmbt. ldg. at post on Missouri
- River: by land from Bismarck, 221 m.; by river, 303 m.
- CAMERON, FORT, UTAH (Dept. Platte). P. O. and tel. stn. Beaver City, Utah; stage from Mil-ford, Utah, on U. S. and U. S. E. R. R., dist. 364 m. CANBY, FORT, WASH. T. (Dept. Columbia)–P. O. and tel. stn. Astoria, Oreg.; govt. tug four
- times a week from Astoria, dist. 14 m.
- *CARROLL, FORT, MD. (Dept. East).—P. O. and tel. stn. Baltimore, Md., dist. 8 m. by water. *CASWELL, FORT, N. C. (Dept. South).—P. O. and tel. stn. Smithville, N. C., dist. 2 m.; steamer
- daily from Wilmington to Smithville, dist. 22 m. CHEVENNE DEPOT, WYO. (Dept. Platte).-P. O., tel. and R. R. stn. Cheyenne, on U. P. R. R., dist.
- 2 m.
- CLARK, FORT, TEXAS (Dept. Texas) .-- P. O. and tel. stn. Brackettville, Texas; daily stage or buckboard from San Antonio, Texas, dist. 126 m.
- *CLARK'S POINT, MASS., FORT AT (Dept. East).-P. O. and tel. stn. New Bedford, Mass.; pri-vat conveyance from New Bedford, dist. 3 m.
- *CLINCH, FORT, FLA. (Dept. South). P. O., tel. and R. R. stn. Fernandina, Fla., dist. 3 m.

- CEUR D'ALENE, FORT, IDARIO (Dept. Columbia).-P. O. and tel. stn. Court d'Alene, Idaho. stage (summer) from Almota, on Snake River, dist. 112 m.; from Walla Walla (winter), dist. 180 10
- COLUMBUS, FORT, N. V. H. (Dept. East).-P. O. and tel. stn. Governor's Island, N. Y. Govern-
- Constants, Four X, Y, R. (1997), Fasto, -F. O. and tell sur. Governor's Island, X. Y. (1997), ment stearer from New York City, dist. 14 m. ColVILLE, Four, WASH, T. (Dept, Columbia), --P.O. Colville, Wash, J., tell stn. Colfax, Wash, T.; structure trivmeekly from Walla Walla, on W. W. and C. R. R. R. R. (206 m. CoNCHO, Four, TEXAS, Dept, TeXAS), -P. O. and tell stn. same: stage from Weatherford, TeXas
- on T. P. R. R., dist. 198 m.
- "CONSTITUTION: FORT, N. H. (Dept. East).-P. O. New Castle, N. H., tel. stn. Portsmouth, N II. : stage from Portsmouth, dist. 3 m.

CRAIG, FORT, N. M. (Dept. Mo.).—P. O. Paraje, N. M.; tel. stn. at post; daily stage from So-corro, N. M., on A., T. and S. F. R. R., dist, 31 m. CUMMINGS, FORT, N. M. (Dept. Mo.).—P. O. and tel. stn. same; daily stage from San Marcial.

CUSTER, FOUT, MONT. (Dept. Dak.) .- P. O. and tel. stn. same ; stage from Rock Creek, on U. P

- R. R. (dist. 340 nr. ; studt. to Terry's Linding, on Yellowstone (summer), dist. 34 nr. D. A. Ri ssell, FORT, WYO, (Dept. Platte),--P. O., fel, and R. R. stn. Cheyenne, Wyo, ; on U. P. R. R., dist. 3 m.
- DAVIS, FORT, TEXAS (Dept. Texas).-P. O. and tel. stn. same: stage from El Paso, Texas, dist. 231 m.
- DELAWARE, FORT, DEL. (Dept. East).—P. O. and tel. stn. Delaware City, Del.; daily steamer from Philadelphia to Delaware City, dist. 12 m, from post : daily stage from Kirkwood, on P., W. and B. R. R. dist. 8 m.
- DODAR, Vo.4, KANS, (Dept. Mo.),—P. O. same: tel. stn. Dodge City, Kans.; sp.cial conveyance from Dodge City, Kans., on A., T. and S. F. R. R., dist. 5 m. DOTALS, FOULUET VILTOPHENE, DEATH, OCH, and R. R. stn. Salt Lake City, Utah, dist. 2 m. DUNCAN, FORT, TEXAS (Dept. Texas).—P. O. and tel. stn. Eagle Pass, Texas: stage from San Antonio, dist. 150 m.
- DUTCH ISLAND, R. L., FORT ON (Dept. East) .- P. O. Jamestown, R. L., tel. stn. Newport, R. I. special conveyance from Newport, dist. 5 m.
- ELLIOTT, FOUT, TEXAS (Dept. Ark.),--P. O. and tel. stn. same; daily stage or buckb ard from Dodge City, Kans., on A. T. and S. F. R. R., dist, 179 m. ELLIS, FOUL, MONT, (Dept. Dak.),--P. O. and tel. stn. same; daily stage from Lovell's, on U.
- ELUS, FORT, MONT, (Dept. DaK.).-P. O, and tel. stn. same: damy stage from Loven s, on e-, and N. R. R. dist, 143 m.
 FETTERMAN, FORT, WYO, (Dept. Platte).-P. O, and tel. stn. same; daily stage (summer) and backboard (winter) from Rock Creek, Wyo, on U. P. R. R. dist, 83 m.
 *FRN'S PONT, N. J., EVITERY AT (Dept. Fast).-P. O and tel. stn. Salein, N. J., dist 6 m.
 *FOOTE, FORT, MD, (Dept. East).-P. O, same: tel. stn. Alexandria, Va.; steamer from Washington, D. G. dist, 9 m.
 FORT PONT, Cu. (Dept. Cal.).-P. O, tel. and R. R. stn. San Francisco Cal., dist, 5 m.
 FORT PONT, Cu. (Dept. Cal.).-P. O, tel. and R. R. stn. San Francisco Cal., dist, 5 m.

- FRED STFELE, FORT, WYO, (Dept. Platter.-P. O., tel. and R. R. stn. same, *GAINES, FORT, M.A. (Dept. South).-P. O., tel. and R. R. stn. Mobile, Ala.; boat once a month from Mobile, dist, 30 m.
- GARLAND, FORT, COLO, (D.pt. Mo.).—P. O., tel. and R. R. stn. (D. and R. G. R. R.) sume. GASION, FORT, CAL, (Dept. Cal.).—P. O. Hoopa Valley, Cal.: tel. stn. Arcuta, Cal.: bent daily from Eureka to Arcata, dist. 6 m., or by road, 12 m.; thence by special transportation, dist. 40 m.
- GIBSON, FORT, IND. T. (Dept. Ark.).—P. O. and tel. stn. same, "special conveyance from Gib-son Station, M., K. and T. R. R., dist. 7 m.
- *GORGES, FORT, ME. (Dept. East).—P. O. and tel. stn. Portland, Me., dist. 2 m. GRANT, FORT, ARIZ, (Dept. Ariz.).—P. O. and tel. stn. same; stage from Benson, on S. P. R. R., dist. 70 m.
- *GRATIOT, FORT, MICH. (Dept. East) .- P. O. Gratiot, Mich.; tel. and R. R. stn. (Grand Trunk Depot) adjoins post.
- GRIFFIN, FORT, TEXAS (D. pt. Texas.)—P. O. and fel. stn. same; stage from Weatherford, Texas on T. P. R. R., dist, 92 m.
- GRISWOLD, FORT, CONN. (Dept. East).-P. O. Groton, Conn.; t.d. stu. New London, Conn.; ferry from New London, dist, 1 m.
- HALE, FORT, D. T. (Dept. Dak.) .- P. O. same: tel. stn. Yankton Agency, D. T.: stubt. from Running Water, on C. M. and St. P. R. R., dist, 173 m.
- RAIL, FORT, IDAIO (Dept. Platte). P. O. Blackfoot, Idaho: tel. stn. at post; Blackfoot stn. on U. and N. R. R., dist. s³ m. HALLECK, FORT, NEV. (Dept. Cal.). P.O. same; tel. and R. R. stn. Halleck Station on C. P. R. R., dist. 12 m.; buckboard daily to post.
- HAMILION, FORT, N. Y. (Dept. East).-P. O. and tel. stu. same; city railroad from Brooklyn. dist. 6 m.
- HARISUFF, FORT, NEB. (Dept. Platte).-P. O. Calamus, Neb.; tel. and R. R. stn. St. Paul, Neb. dist. 52 m.
- HAYS, FORT, KANS. (Dept. Mo.).-P. O., tel. and R. R. stn. (K. P. R. R.) Hays City. Kans.

272

- HOWARD, CAMP, IDAHO (Dept. Columbia) .-- P. O. Mount Idaho, Idaho; tcl. stn. Lewiston. Idaho; daily stage from Lewiston, dist. 65 m.
- HUACHUCA, CAMP, ARIZ. (Dept. Ariz.) .- P. O. same; tel. stn. Charleston, Ariz.; daily stage from Benson, on S. P. R. R., dist. 47 m.
- INDEPENDENCE, FORT, MASS. (Dept. East).-P. O. and tel. stn. Boston, Mass.; Government tug from Boston, dist. 3 m.
- JACKSON BARRACKS, LA. (Dept. Ark.).-P. O., tel. and R. R. stn. New Orleans, La.
- *JACKSON, FORT, GA. (Dept. South).—P. O., tel. and R. R. stn. Savannah, Ga., dist. 4 m. *JACKSON, FORT, LA. (Dept. Ark.).—P. O. "The Forts," La.; tel stn. quarantine, La.; steamer
- tri-weekly from New Orleans, dist. 73 m.
- *JEFFERSON, FORT, FLA. (Dept. Sonth).-P. O. and tel. stn. Key West, Fla.; boat from Key West, dist. 71 m.
- JOHNSTON, FORT, N. C. (Dept. South).-P. O. and fcl. stn. Smithville, N. C.; steamer daily from Wilmington, N. C., dist, 22 m.
- KEOGH, FORT, MONT, (Dept. Dak.),—P. O. and tel. stn. same: stubt. ldg. (summer) dist. ²/₃ m: stage from Bozenan, Mont. dist. 303 m.; buckboard from Bismarck. D. T., dist. 372 m. ^{*}KEY WEST BARRACKS, FLA. (Dept. Sonth),—P. O., tel. stn. and boat ldg. Key West, Fla. Key West, Fla.
- KLAMATH, FORT, OREG. (Dept. Columbia) .- P. O. same; tel. stn. Ashland, Oreg.; stage from Redding, Cal., on C.P. R. R., dist. 261 m., and from Roseburg, Oreg., on O. and C. R. R., dist. 214 m.
- *KNOX, FORT, ME. (Dept. East).—P. O. and tel. stn. Bucksport, Me.; ferry from Bucksport, dist. § m.
- *LAFAYETTE, FORT, N. Y. II. (Dept. East).--P. O. and tel. stn. Fort Hamilton, N. Y.; city railroad from Brooklyn, dist. 6 m.
- LAPWAI, FORT, IDAHO (Dept. Columbia).-P. O. and tel. stn. same; special conveyance from Lewiston, Idaho, dist. 12 m.
- LARAMIE, FORT. WYO. (Dept. Platte) .- P. O. and tel. stn. same: stage from Cheyenne, on U. P. R. R., dist. 88 m.
- LEAVENWORTH, FORT, KANS. (Dept. Mo.) .- P. O., tel. and R. R. stn. (M. P. R. R. and C. and R. I. R. R.) same
- LEAVENWORTH MILITARY PRISON, KANS. (Dept. Mo.)-P. O., tel. and R. R. stu, same as Fort Leavenworth.
- LEWIS, FORT, COLO. (Dept. Mo.).—P. O. via Animas City, Colo. LITTLE ROCK BARRACKS, ARK. (Dept. Ark.).—P. O., tel, and R. R. sfn. Little Rock, Ark.
- LIVINGSTON, FORT, LA. (Dept. Ark.) .- P. O. Grand Isle, La.; tel. stn. New Orleans, La.; steamer tri-weekly from New Orleans, dist. 95 m.
- LOWELL, FORT, ARIZ. (Dept. Ariz.).—P. O. Tucson, Ariz.; tel. stn. at post; special conveyance from Tueson, on S. P. R. R., dist 7 m.
- LYON, FORT, COLO. (Dept. Mo.) .- P. O. same; tel. and R. R. stn. Las Animas, on A., T. and S. F. R. R., dist. 1 m.
- MACKINAC, FORT, MICH. (Dept. East) .- P. O. and tel. stn. Mackinac, Mich.; steamer (summer) from Petoskey, on G. R. and I. R. R., dist. 55 m.; stage (winter) from same point to Cheboygan, thence special conveyance.
- Bucooygan, mence special conveyance.
 Macous, Four, La. (Dept. Ark.).—P. O., tel. and R. R. stn. Chef Menteur, La., dist. 1½ m.
 *MAcox, Four, N. C. (Dept. South).—P. O. Beaufort, N. C.; tel. stn. at post; hoat from R. R. at Morchead City, N. C., dist. 2 m.
 MADISON BARRACKS, N. Y. (Dept. East).—P. O., tel. and R. R. stn. Sacket's Harbor, N. Y. MAGISNIS, FORT, MONT, (Dept. Dak.).—P. O. Parker, Mont.; tel. stn. Benton, Mont.
 MANCY, FORT, N. M. (Dept. Mo.).—P. O., tel. and R. R. stn. (A., T. and S. F. R. R.) Santa Fé, MANCY, FORT, N. M. (Dept. Mo.).—P. O., tel. and R. R. stn. (A. J. and S. F. R. R.) Santa Fé.

- N. M.
- *MARION, FORT, FLA. (Dept. Sonth).—P. O. and tel. stn. St. Angustine, Fla.
 *MCCLARY, FORT, ME. (Dept. East).—P. O. Kittery Point, Mes.: tel. stn. Portsmonth, N. H.; stage twice daily from Portsmouth, dist. 42 m.
- MCDERMIT, FORT, NEV. (Dept. Cal.) .- P. O. and tel. stn. same : daily stage from Winnemneca. on C. P. R. R., dist. 78 m.
- McDOWELL, FORT, ARIZ. (Dept. Ariz.).—P. O. same; tel. stn. Phoenix, Ariz.; stage from Mari-copa, Ariz., on S. P. R. R., via Phoenix, dist. 51 m.; gavt. transportation, via Mesa. dist.48 m. MCHENRY, FORT, Mo. (Dept. East).—P. O. and R. R. stn. Bathmore, Md.; tel. stn. at post.
- MCINTOSH, FORT, TEXAS (Dept. Texas) .- P. O. and tel. stn. Laredo, Texas; daily stage or
- buckboard from San Antonio, dist. 165 m. MCKAVETT, FORT, TEXAS (Dept. Texas) .- P. O. and tel. stn. same; stage from San Antonio,
- Texas, dist. 155 m.
- ReAMS, thist, 150 JH. MCKUNEW, FORT, WYO. (Dept. Platte).—P. O. and tel. stn. same; stage or buckboard from Rock Creek, on U. P. R. R., dist. 288 m. MEADE, FORT, D. T. (Dept. Dak.).—P. O. and tel. stn. same; daily stage from Bismarck, D. T., on N. P. R. R., dist. 220 m.; from Sidney, Neb., on U. P. R. R., dist. 260 m.
- *MIFFLIN, FORT, PA. (Dept. East).-P. O and tel. stn. Philadelphia. Pa.; special conveyance from Paschall, on P., W. and B. R. R., dist. 5 m., or by Delaware River from Philadelphia, dist. 7 m.

- MISSOTIA, FORT, MONT, (Dept. Dak.),—P. O. and tel. stn. same: stage from Lovell's, on U, and N. R. R., dist. 235 m., and from stmbt. Idg., Benton, Mont., dist. 276 m.
- MOJAVE, FORT. ARIZ. (Dept. Ariz.).-P.O. Mojave City, Ariz.; tel. stn. Prescott, Ariz.; buckboard from Maricopa, on S. P. R. R., dist. 291 m.; steamer monthly from Yuma, on Colorado River.
- MONDOR, FORT, VA. (Dept. East).—P. O. and tel. stn. same; steamboats daily from Baltimore, Washington, Norfolk, and New York. MONTGOMERY, FORT, N. Y. (Dept. East).—P. O., tel. and R. R. stn. (O. and L. C. R. R.) Rouse's
- Point, N. Y., dist. 2 m.
- MORGAN, FORL ALA, (Dept. South).-P.O. Herndon, Ala, ; tel. stn. Mobile, Ala, ; steamer triweekly from Mobile, dist. 30 m.
- MOULTRIE, FORT, S. C. (Dept. South) .- P. O. Moultrieville, S. C.; tel. and R. R. stn. Charleston. S. C., dist. 5 m.
- MOUNT VERNON BARRACKS, ALA, (Dept. South).-P. O. Mount Vernon, Ala.; tel. stn. Citron-celie, Ala.; Fort Stoldard ldg., on Mobile River, dist.3 m.
- MYER. FORT, VA .- P. O. and R. R. stn. Washington, D. C.; tel. stn. at post.
- NEWPORT BARRACKS, KY. (Dept. Sonth).-P. O., tel. and R. R. stn. Newport, Ky.
- NIAGARA, FORT, N. Y. (Dept. East).—P. O. Youngstown, N. Y.: tel. stu. Lewiston, N. Y.: stage from Lewiston, dist, 7 m.
- MOBRARA, FORT, NEB. (Dept. Platte).—P. O. same; tel. stn. Oakdale, Neb.; stage from Oak dale, on S. C. and P. R. R., dist. 165 m.
- NORTH FORK OF CANADIAN RIVER, CANTONMENT ON, IND. T. (Dept. Ark.) .- P. O. and tel. stn. same: weekly stage and buckboard from Caldwell, Kans., on Caldwell Branch of A., T. and S. F. R. R., dist, 168 m.
- "OGLEIMORIT, BARRACKS, GA. (Dept. South).-P. O., tel, and R. R. stu, Savannah, Ga.
- OMAHA, FORT, NEB. (Dept. Platte).-P. O. Omaha, Neb.; tel. stn. at post; R. R. stn. Omaha, dist. 4 m.
- OSTARIO, FORT, N. Y. (Dept. East).—P. O., tel. and R. R. stn. Oswego, N. Y. PEMBAA, FORT, D. T. (Dept. Dak).—P. O. Pembina, D. T.; tel. stn. St. Vincent, Minn.; St. Vincent on St. P. M. and M. R. R. dist. 3 n.

- PINA COLORADO, TEXAS (Dept. Texas), -P. O. ria Fort Davis, Texas, PHUTNIX, FORT, MASS, (Dept. East),--P. O. and tel. stn. Fairhaven, Mass, PICKENS, FORT, FLA, (Dept. South),--P. O. Warrington, Fla.; tel. stn. Pensacola Navy Yard; steamer daily from R. R. at Pensacola, Fla., dist. 10 m.
- ⁴ PIKF, FORI, LA. (Dept. Ark.).—P. O. same : tel. stn. Miller's Bayou, La. : boat daily from Lake Catherine Station, on N. O. and M. R. R., dist, 7 m. ; steamer tri-weekly from New Orleans, dist 28 m.

- PLATTSBERG BARRACKS, N. Y. (Dept. East).—P. O., tel., and R. R. stn. Plattsburg, N. Y. PONY SAN JOSE, CAL, (Dept. Cal.).—P. O., tel. and R. R. stn. San Francisco, Cal., dist. 3 m. "POPHAM, FORT, ME, (Dept. East).—P. O. Hunnewell's Point, Me, ; tel. stn. Bath, Me, ; stage or water from Bath, Me., dist. t2 m. by water, 15 m. by land. POPLAR RIVER, CAMP, MONT. (Dept. Dak.).—P.O. Poplar Creek Agency, Mont.; tel. stn. Fort
- Buford, D.T.; stmbt. Idg. (summer) at Poplar Creek Agency, dist. Idm. PORTER, CAMP. MOST. (Dept. Dak.)-P. O. rig. Fort Keogh. Mont.; tel. stn. Glendive Creek.
- Mont.; stmbt. ldg. (summer) dist. 1 m.; buckboard (winter) from Bismarck.
- PORTER, FORT, N. Y. (Dept. East).-P. O., tel. and R. R. stn. Buffalo, N. Y. PREBLE, FORT, ME. (Dept. East).-P. O. and tel. stn. Portland, Me. ; special conveyance, by land or water, from Portland, dist. 2½ m.
- PRESIDIO OF SAX FRANCISCO, CAL, (Dept. Cal.) .- P. O. and R. R. stn. San Francisco, Cal., dist. 42 m.; tel. stn. at div. hdqrs.; city railway from Sa | Francisco to near post.
- "PTLASKI, FORT, GA. (Dept. South).—P. O. and R. R. stn. Savannah, Ga., dist. 14 m.; tel. stn. Tybee Island, Ga.
- RANDALL, FORT, D. T. (Dept. Dak.), -P. O. same: tel. stn. White Swan, D. T.; stage from Yankton, dist, 75 m.; boat from Yankton (summer), dist, 96 m.
- RENO. FORI, IND. T. (Dept. A1k.) .- P. O. and tel. stn. same: daily stage and buckboard from Wellington, Kans., on Caldwell Branch of A., T. and S. F. R. R., dist, 110 m. RILEY, FORI, KANS. (Dept. Mo.).—P. O. and R. R. stn. (K. P. R. R.) same: tel. stn. Junction
- City, Kans.
- RINGGOLD, FORL, TEXAS (Dept. Texas).—P. O. Rio Grande City, Texas: tel. stn. at post; con-veyance from R. R. stn. Brownsville, Texas, dist. 120 m.
- ROBINSON, FORT, NEB. (Dept. Platte).-P. O. and tel. stn. same: stage from Sidney, on U. P. R. R., dist. 120 m.
- SAN ANTOMO, TEXAS (Dept. Texas) .- P. O., tel. and R. R. stn. same.
- SANDERS, FORF, WYO. (Dept. Platte) .- P. O. Laramie City, Wyo.; tel. and R. R. stn. (U. P. R. R.) at post.

- AN DIEGO, TEXAS (Dept. Texas),-P. O., tel. and R. R. stn. same. SAN DIEGO BARRACKS, CAL. (Dept. Ariz.),-P. O., tel. stn. and boat ldg. San Diego, Cal. "SANDY HOOK, N. J., FORT AT (Dept. East),-P. O., tel. and R. R. stn. and studt, ldg. Sandy Hook, N. J., dist. 2 m.

SAN FELIPE, TEXAS (Dept. Texas) .- P. O. Del Rio, Texas; tel. stn. Brackettville, Texas; triweekly stage from R. R. stn. San Antonio, dist 159 m.

SCAMMEL, FORT, ME. (Dept. East).-P. O., tel. and R. R. stn. Portland, Me., dist. 2 m.

SCHWILER, FORT, N. Y. (Dept. East).—P. O. rel. and R. R. stn. Vestchester, N. Y., dist. 3½ m. SELDER, FORT, N. M. (Dept. Mo.).—P. O. and tel. stn. same. "SEWALL, FORT, MASS. (Dept. East).—P. O., tel. and R. R. stn. Marblehead, Mass., dist. 1½ m.,

SHAW, FORT, MONT. (Dept. Dak.) .- P. O. and tel. stn. same : stage from Lovell's, on U. and N. R. R., dist. 200 m., and from stmht. ldg., Benton, Mont., dist. 60 m. SHERIDAN, CAMP, NEB, (Dept. Platte).—P. O. same; tel. stn. Fort Robinson, Neb.; stage from

Sidney, on U. P. R. R., to Fort Robinson; huckboard thence to post, dist, 162 m.

*SHIP ISLAND, MISS. (Dept. South).-P. O., tel. and R. R. stn. (N. O. and M. R. R.) Biloxi, Miss., dist. 15 m.; special boat to post.

SIDNEY, FORT, NEB. (Dept. Platte) .- P. O., tel. and R. R. stn. Sidney, Neb., on U. P. R. R.

- SILL, FORT, IND. T. (Dept. Ark.), -P. O. and tel. stn. same; daily stage from Gain. sville, Texas, on M., K. and T. R. R., dist. 116 m. SISSETON, FORT, D. T. (Dept. Dak.), -P. O. same; tel. stn. Morris, Minn. : special conveyance
- from Breckenridge, on St. P., M. and M. R. R., dist. 65 m., and from Herman, Minn., on same 10ad, dist. 72 m.
- SNAKE RIVER, CAMP ON, WYO, (Dept. Mo.) .- P. O. Baggs, Wyo.; tel. stn. Rawlins, Wyo.; triweekly stage from Rawlins, Wyo., on U. P. R. R., dist. 64 m.
- SNELLING, FORT, MINN. (Dept. Dak.) .- P. O., tel, and R. R. stn. same.

- SPOKINE, CAMP, WASH, T. (Dept. Columbia).—P. O. Spokane Falls, Wash, T. *STANDISH, FORT, MASS. (Dept. East).—P. O., tel. and R. R. stn. Plymouth, Mass., dist. 4 m. by water.
- STANTON, FORT, N. M. (Dept. Mo.),—P. O. same; tel. stn. Las Cruces, N. M.; daily conveyance from Santa Fé. N. M., on A., T. and S. F. R. R., dist. 185 m.
- ST. AUGUSTINE, FLA. (Dept. South) .- P. O., tel. and R. R. stn. same.

STEVENS, FORT, OREG. (Dept, Columbia), -P. O. and tel. stn. Astoria, Oreg.; government tug four times a week from Astoria, dist. 7 m.

- STEVENSON, FORT, D. T. (Dept. Dak.) .- P. O. and tel. stn. same; stmbt. (summer) from Bismarck, on N. P. R. R., dist. 84 m.; by land from same, 71 m.
- STOCKTON, FORT, TEXAS (Dept. Texas) .- P. O. and tel. stn. same; daily stage or buckboard from San Antonio, dist. 380 m.
- *SF, PHILIP, FORT, LA. (Dept. Ark.).-P. O. "The Forts," La.; tel. stn. Quarantine, La.; steamer tri-weekly from New Orleans, dist. 73 m.
- *SULLIVAN, FORT, ME. (Dept. East).—P. O. and tel. stn. Eastport, Me. : stmbt. ldg. § m. from post : R. R. stn. Calais, Me., dist. 29 m.

SULLY, FORT, D. T. (Dept. Dak.) .- P. O. and tel. stn. same; stage (winter) and buckboard (summer) from Yankton, dist. 255 m.; stmbt. from Bismarck, 254 m.; by land, 494 m.

*SUMTER, FORT, S. C. (Dept, South).-P. O. Moultrieville, S. C.; tel, and R. stn. Charleston, S. C., dist. 5 m.

SUPPLY, FORT, IND. T. (Dept. Ark.).—P. O. and tel. stn. same; daily stage from Dodge City, Kans., on A., T. and S. F. R. R., dist. 85 m. "TAYLOR, FORT, FLA. (Dept. South).—P. O. and tel. stn. and boat ldg. Key West, Fla.

- THOMAS, CAMP, ARIZ. (Dept. Ariz.) .- P. O. and tel. stn. same; stage and buckboard from San
- Pedro River, on S. P. R. R., dist, 30 m. Toritex, Fort, D. T. (Dept. Dak.), —P. O. same; tel. stn. Jamestown, D. T.; semi-weekly stage from Jamestown, D. T., on N. P. R. R., dist. St m. TOWNSEND, FORT, WASH. T. (Dept. Columbia), —P. O. and tel. stn. Port Townsend, Wash. T.;
- special conveyance from Port Townsend, dist. 3 m.

TRUMBFIL, FORT, CONN. (Dept. East) .- P. O., tel. and R. R. stn. New London, Conn., dist. 1 m. I'NCOMPAHERE RIVER, CANTONMENT ON, COLO. (Dept. Mo.).-P. O. Uncompaligre, Colo.

- I NCOMPARENE REAL OSATOMENTOS, COLO. (Dept. MD.).— J. O. Cheomparigue, Colo. UNION, FORT, N. M. (Dept. Mo.).— P. O. same; tel. and R. R. stn. Watrous, N. M., on A., T. and S. F. R. R., dist. 8 m. UNITED STATES BARRACKS, WASHINGTON, D. C. (Dept. East).— P. O., tel. and R. R. stn. Wash-
- ington, D. C
- VANCOUVER BARRACKS, WASH, T. (Dept. Columbia) .- P. O., tel. stn. and boat ldg. Vancouver, Wash, T.; boat from Portland, Oreg., 4 times daily, except Sundays.
- VERDE, FORT, ARIZ. (Dept. Ariz.) .- P. O. and tel. stn. same; buckboard from Maricopa, on S. P. R. R., dist. 124 m.
- WADSWORTH, FORF, N. Y. (Dept. East).-P. O. Stapleton, N. Y.; tel. stn. Quarantine, Clifton, Staten Island, N. Y.
- WALLACE, FORT, KANS, (Dept. Mo.)-P. O. same; tel. and R. R. stn. Wallace, Kans., on K.
- P. R. R., dist. 2 m. VALLA WALLA, FORT, WASH, T. (Dept. Columbia).—P. O., tel. and R. R. stn. (W. W. and C. R. R. R.) Walla Walla, Wash, T. WALLA W
- WARREN, FORT, MASS. (Dept. East).-P. O. and tel. stn. Boston, Mass.; steamer from Boston, dist. 7 m.
- WASHAKE, FORT, WYO. (Dept. Platte) .- P. O. same: tel. stn. Camp Stambaugh, Wyo.; triaweekly stage from Green River Station, on U. P. R. R., dist. 147 m.

- *WASHINGTON, FORT, MD. (Dept. East) .- P. O. same; tel. stn. Alexandria, Va.: stmbt. from Washington, D. C., dist. 13 m. WAYNE, FORT, MICH. (Dept. East).-P. O. and tel. stu. Detroit, Mich.; city railway from De-
- troit, dist. 3 m.
- IIOH, 0181, 5 m.
 WHIPLE BARRACKS, ARIZ. (Dept. Ariz.).—P. O. and tel. stn. Prescott, Ariz. (mail ria Lathrop, Cal.); daily stage from Maricopa, on S. P. R. R., dist. 126 m.
 WHITE RIVER, CAMP ON, COLO. (Dept. Mo.).—P. O. Mecker, Colo.; tel. stn. Rawlins, Wyo.; tri.weekly stage from Rawlins, Wyo. on U. P. R. R., dist. 145 m.
 WINGATE, FOIT, N. M. (Dept. Mo.).—P. O. same; tel. stn. Albuquerque, N. M.; conveyance interface a mathematical work of the mark the rand to find the result.
- T, and S, F, R, R.
- *WINTHROP, FORT, MASS. (Dept. East).-P. O. and tel. stn. Boston, Mass. : stmbt. from Boston, dist. 2 m.

- *Wolcorr, Forr, R. I.—P. O., tel, and R. R. stn. Newport, R. I.
 *Wolcorr, Forr, N. Y. H.—P. O., tel, and R. R. stn. New York City, dist. 3 m.
 *YATES, FORT, D. T. (Dept. Dak),—P. O. and tel, stn. same: stage (60 m.) and stmbt. (78 m.)
 trom Bismarck, D. T., on N. P. R. R.
- YUMA, FORT, CAL. (Dept. Ariz.) .- P. O., tel. and R. R. stn. and boat ldg. Yuma, Ariz.

ARMORIES, ARSENALS, AND RECRUITING AND ENGINEER DEPOTS.

ARMORIES AND ARSENALS.

ALLEGHENY ARSENAL, PA.-P. O., tel. and R. R. stn. Pittsburg, Pa.; Capt. J. W. Reilly, comdg. AUGUSTA ARSENAL, GA.-P. O., tel. and R. R. stn. Augusta, Ga., dist. 3 m.; Maj. W. A. Marye, coudg.

BENICIA ARSENAL, CAL.-P. O., tel. and R. R. stn. Benicia, Cal., dist. 1 m.; Lt. Col. Julian McAllister, coudg.

FORT MONROE ARSENAL, VA .- P. O. and tel. stn. Fort Monroe, Va.; stmbts. daily from New

York, Baltimore, Washington, and Norfolk; Maj.L. S. Babbitt, condg. York, Baltimore, Washington, and Norfolk; Maj.L. S. Babbitt, condg. Forr UNION ARSENAL, N. M.-P. O. Fort Union, N. M.; tel, and R. R. stn. Watrons, N. M., on A., T. and S. F. R. R., dist. 8 m.; Capt. W. R. Shoemaker, ordnance storekceper, in charge, FRANKFORD ARSENAL, PA.-P. O. and tel, stn. Philadelphia, Pa.; Bridesburg, on P. R. R., dist. ^b m. ; Maj. S. C. Lyford, comdg.

INDIANAPOLIS ARSENAL, IND.-P. O., tel. and R. R. stn. Indianapolis, Ind.; Maj. Isaac Arnold, comdg

KENNEBEC ARSENAL, ME.-P. O., tel. and R. R. stn. Augusta, Me. ; Maj. J. P. Farley, comdg. NEW YORK ARSENAL, N. Y.-P. O. and tel. stn. Governor's Island, N. Y. ; govi. steamer from

New York City, dist. 14 m.: Lt. Col. T. G. Baylor, condg. PICCATINNY POWDER DEPOT, N. J.—P. O. and tel. stn. Dover, N. J.; Maj. F. H. Parker, condg. ROCK ISLAND ARSENAL, ILL.—P. O. and tel. stn. Rock Island, Ill.; special conveyance from R. R. stns. and boat ldgs. in Rock Island, Ill., and Davenport, Iowa, dist. 2 m.; Maj. D. W.

Flagler, coudg. SAINT LOUIS POWDER DEPOT, MO .- P. O., tel. and R. R. stn. Jefferson Barracks, Mo.; Capt. J. R. McGinness, comdg.

SAN ANTONIO ARSENAL, TEXAS .- P. O., tel. and R. R. stu. San Antonio, Texas; Capt. F. H. Phipps, comdg.

SPRINGFIELD ARMORY, MASS.-P. O., tel. and R. R. stn. Springfield, Mass.; Col. J. G. Benton, comde

VANCOUVER ARSENAL, WASH. T.-P. O. and tel. stn. Vancouver, Wash. T.; Capt. J. A. Kress, condg.

WATERTOWN ARSENAL, MASS.-P. O., tel. and R. R. stn. Watertown, Mass.; Col. T. T. S. Laidley, comdg.

WATERVLIET ARSENAL, N. Y.-P. O. and tel. stn. West Troy, N. Y.; R. R. stn. East Troy, N. Y., dist. 14 m.; Maj. A. R. Buffington, comdg.

RECRUITING DEPOTS.

JEFFERSON BARRACKS, MO.-P. O., tel. and R. R. stn. same; Col. T. H. Neill, 8 cav., comdg. DAVID'S ISLAND, N. Y.-P. O. Pelham, N. Y.; tel. stn. New Rochelle, N. Y.; stage and boat from New Rochelle, on N. H. R. R., dist. 2 m., or from Grand Central Depot, New York City, dist. 19 m. : Lt. Col. C. C. Gilbert, 7 inf., comdg.

COLUMBUS BARRACKS, OHIO. - P. O., tel, and R. R. stn. Columbus, Ohio; Lt. Col. L. C. Hunt, 20 inf., comdg.

ENGINEER DEPOT.

WILLET'S POINT, N. Y .- P. O., tel. and R. R. stn Whitestone, N. Y., dist. 24 m.; Eng. Battal. ion, hdqrs., A, B, C, and D, Lt, Cel, H. L. Abbot, comdg.

Organization of the Army

					0			5		5
	CORPS.	General.	Lieutenant General.	Major Generals.	Brigadier Generals.	Adjutant General.	Asst. Adj't Generals (Colonel).	Asst. Adj't Generals (Lieut. Col.).	Asst. Adj't Generals (Major).	Senior Inspector General.
$\frac{1}{2}$	General Officers Military Secretary to the Lientenant General	1	1	3	6		••••			
3	Aides-de-Camp to General Officers.									
45	Adjutant General's Department		-	••••		1		4		· · · i
6	Inspector General's Department Bureau of Military Justice									1
7	Quartermaster's Department									
- 8 9	Subsistence Department					••••	• • • •	• • • •	• • • •	••••
10	Medical Department Pay Department		• •		••			••••		
11	Corps of Engineers									
$\frac{12}{13}$	Ordnance Department									
13	Signal Corps' Post Chaplains									
	Ten Regiments of Cavalry.									
15	Ten Regiments of Cavalry		• • • •	• •	• • • •	• • • •	• • • •			• • •
16	Five Regiments of Artillery									
17										
18	Twenty-five Regiments of Infantry Military Academy.									
19			-		-	-				
20	Non-commissioned staff unattached to regiments. Enlisted men unattached to regiments		••••		•••	· · · ·	• • • •	• • • •	•••	
21	Indian scouts									
22	Graud aggregate	1	1	3	6	1		4	10	1
23	Retired Officers									-
20	Ketired Uncers	• • • •		• • • •	• • • •	• •		• • • •		• • • •

(a) The acts of June 23, 1874, March, 3, 1875, and June 26, 1876, reorganizing the staff corps, provide "that no officer now in service shall be reduced in rank or mustered out by reason of any provisions of law therein made reducing the number of officers in any department or corps of the Army." There are now in service, in excess of the number allowed by these acts, three

of	of the United States.																				
	Inspector Generals (Colonel).	Asst. Inspector Generals (Lieu- tenant Colonel).	Asst. Inspector Generals (Major).	Judge Advocate General.	Judge Advocates (Major).	Quartermaster General.	Assistant Quartermaster Generals (Colonel).	Deputy Quartermaster Generals (Licutemant Colonel).	Quartermasters (Major).	Asst. Quantermasters (Captain).	Commissary General of Subsist- ence.	Asst. Com. Gens. of Subsistence (Colonel),	Asst. Com. Gens. of Subsistence (Lieutenant Colonel).	Commissaties of Subsistence (Major).	Commissaries of Subsistence (Captain).	Surgeon General.	Asst. Surgeon General (Colonel).	Chief Medical Purveyor (Colonel).	Surgeons (Colonel).	Surgeons (Lieutenant Colonel).	Asst. Medical Purveyors (Lieu- tenant Colonel).
1																					
23					 				••••									1	•••		
$ \frac{4}{5} \frac{6}{7} $	(α)	···.·	$\frac{1}{2}$		• • • •									• • •			• • •				• • •
6				1	<i>u</i> 4																
8		ا ـ ـ ـ ^ا				1	4	8	14	30 	1	- 2	· 3		12						
									•••							1	1	1	4	8	2
11													· • • • •			,					
$\frac{12}{13}$			•														••				
14		·	• • • •		• • • •						·										
15											l.										
16						- • •					_										
17			—					—			·		_					_			
18				_			·														
			····												· · · ·		· · ·		<u> </u>		
$\frac{19}{20}$	••••								• • • •	•••	· ·	•				• • • •				• • •	
$\frac{20}{21}$																					
$\overline{22}$	(a)	2	2	1	α1	1	4	8	14	30	1	2	3	8	12	1	1]	4	8	2
23																					
	1																				

Inspectors General, Colonels; *four* Judge Advocates, Majors; *seven* Storekeepers, Captains, in the Quartermaster's Department; *four* Medical Storekeepers, Captains, in the Medical Department, and *ten* Ordnance Storekeepers, Captains.

Organization of the Army of

· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	CORPS.	Surgeons (Major).	Assistant Surgeons (Captain).	Assistant Surgeons (First Lieut.).	Paymaster General.	Asst. Paymaster Generals (Col.).	Deputy Paymaster Generals (Lieu- tenant Colonel).	Paymasters (Major).	Chief of Engineers.	Chief of Ordnance.
$ \begin{array}{r} 1 \\ 2 \\ 3 \\ 4 \\ 5 \\ 6 \\ 7 \\ 8 \\ 9 \\ 10 \\ 11 \\ 12 \\ 13 \\ 14 \\ 15 \\ \end{array} $	General Officers Military Secretary to the Lieutenant General Aidesde Camp to General Officers Adjutant General's Department Inspector General's Department Bureau of Military Justice Quarternaster's Department Subsistence Department Medical Department Pay Department Corps of Engineers Ordnance Department Signal Corps Post Chaplains Ten Regiments of Cavalry	50	81	641	1	2	2	50	1 	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
16 17 18 19 20 21 22	Five Regiments of Artillery Twenty-five Regiments of Infantry Military Academy			·····			·····	50		 I
23	Retired Officers					• • •				

(b) Assistant Surgeons have the rank, pay, and emoluments of First Lieutenant of Cavalry for the first fice years service, and the rank, pay, and encoluments of the grade of Capital after five years service. [See 4, act June 23, 1874.]

(c) The six Aides-de-Camp (Colonels) to the General; the two (Lientenant Colonels) to the Lientenant General; the twenty-eight (Captains or Lientenants) to the Major Generals and Brigadier Generals, making in all thirty-six Aides-de Camp, and also the Military Secretary (Lientenant Colonel) to the Lientenant General, being taken from the corps or regiments, in the strength of which they are included, are, to avoid counting them twice, excluded, as Aides and Military Secretary, from the columns "total counting them twice."

(d) By section 9 of the act of March 3, 1853, a Lientenant of Engineers and Ordnance, having served fourteen years continuously as Lientenant, is entitled to promotion to the rank of Captain, but such promotion is not to increase the whole number of officers in either of said corps.

(e) The Adjulant and Quartermaster allowed to the battalion of engineers not being supernumerary officers, but being included in the strength of the corps to which they belong, are, to avoid counting them *twice*, excluded, as battalion staff officers, from the columns "total commissioned" and "aggregate" of their department.

1881. ORGANIZATION OF THE ARMY OF THE UNITED STATES. 281

the United States-Continued.

	Chief Signal Officer.	Colonels.	Lieutenant Colonels.	Majors.	Captains.	Aides-de-Camp.	Regimental Adjutants (Extra Lieu- tenants).	Regimental Quartermasters (Extra Licutenants).	Battalion Adjutant.	Battalion Quartermaster.	First Licutenants.	Second Lieutenants.	Additional Second Lieutenants.	Chaplains.	Military Storekeepers.	Ordnance Storekeepers.	Medical Storekeepers.	Sergeant Majors.	Quartermaster Sergeants.	Chief Musicians.
$\frac{1}{2}$ $\frac{2}{3}$ $\frac{4}{5}$ $\frac{5}{6}$	· · · · ·	· · · · · ·	<i>c</i> 1	· · · ·		<i>c</i> 36		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·						· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	····				
$\frac{7}{8}$															a & i		 a & i	· • • · ·	· • •	· · · · ·
10 11 12 13	···· · · · · · · · · · ·	6 3	$\frac{12}{4}$	$^{24}_{10}$	$\frac{d30}{d20}$			· • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	e1	e1	$\begin{array}{c} 26 \\ 16 \end{array}$	10 f1				a & i	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	· · · · ·	· · · · ·	
14												100		h30				10	$\frac{10}{10}$	10
15 16		$\frac{10}{5}$	$\frac{10}{5}$	$\frac{30}{15}$	$\frac{120}{60}$		10	$\frac{10}{5}$				$\frac{120}{65}$						<u></u> 5		
10		$\frac{-5}{25}$	25	25	250		25	25			250			<u>h2</u>				25	25	25
18															-					
$19 \\ 20 \\ 21$															·		 			
22	1	49	<i>e</i> 57	104	480	<i>e</i> 36	40	40	<i>e</i> 1	<i>e</i> 1	532	449	(g)	h34	a & i	a & i	a & i	40	40	40
23																				

(f) The act of June 20, 1878, provides that "two [signal] sergeants may, each year, be appointed to be Second Lieutenants."

(q) Under the 4th section of the act of April 29, 1812, as modified by section 19 of the act of July 15, 1870, one additional Second Lieutenant (who shall be a graduate of the Mültary Academy) is allowed to each company. The number authorized is consequently four hundred and thirty-five. (h) The Chaplains of the colored regiments (four), authorized by the act of July 28, 1865, and the Post Chaplains (thirty), authorized by the act of March 2, 1849, rank as Captains of Infantry.

Fost Chaptains (Intry), authorized by the act of Anaton , 1999, fails as Captains et al. (See, 7, act March 2, 1867.)
(i) The Ordnance Storekeeper and Paymaster of the National Armory at Springfield has the rank, pay, and emoluments of Major of Cavahy, and all other Storekeepers have the rank, pay, and emoluments of Captains of Cavahy. [Sec. 7, act March 2, 1867.]

Organization of the Army of

	CORPS.	Principal Musicians.	Saddler Sergeants.	Chief Trumpeters.	Ordnance Sergeants.	Commissary Sergeants.	Hospital Stewards.	Battalion Sergeant Major.	Battalion Quartermaster Sergeant	Pirst Sergeants.
1	General Otlicers									
$\frac{2}{3}$	Military Secretary to the Lieutenant General									
4	Aides de Camp to General Officers Adjutant General's Department			•••		••••	* * ·	••••	••••	
5	Inspector General's Department Bureau of Military Justice									
6	Bureau of Military Justice									· • · ·
78	Quartermaster's Department		•••	•••		• •	• • • •		• • •	••••
8	Subsistence Department Medical Department									
10	Pay Department									
11	Corps of Engineers.							1	1	
12	Ordnance Department				·					
13 14	Signal Corps									
	Post Chaplains					• •	•••			
15 '	Ten Regiments of Cavalry		10	10						120
16	Five Regiments of Artillery	10			••		•		• •	60
17	Twenty-five Regiments of Infantry Military Academy	50								250
18	Military Academy	· · · ·	• • • •		· • • •	· • · ·				• • • •
19 20 21	Non-commissioned staff unattached to regiments Enlisted men unattached to regiments	· • • • •	•••		114	*148	•••			· · · · ·
22	Grand aggregate	60	10	10	114	148	186		1	430
23	Retired Officers									

(k) By the act of March 3, 1873, the Secretary of War is authorized to select from the Sergeants of the line of the Army, who shall have faithfully served therein *fire* years, *three* years of which in the grade of non-commissioned officer, as many Commissary Sergeants as the service may require, not to exceed one for each military post or place of deposit of subsistence supplies.

(1) The act of June 23, 1879, making appropriations for the support of the Army for the year ending June 30, 1880, provides that no money appropriated by that act shall be paid for recruiting the Army beyond the number of 25,000 enlisted men, including Indian scouts and Hospital Stewards, and excepting the Signal Service. The signal detachment is therefore excluded from the aggregate of "total enlisted."

the United States-Continued.

.

														MILI ACAD		
	Sergeants.	Corporals.	Trunpeters.	Musicians.	Farriers and Blacksmiths.	Artificers.	Saddlers.	Wagoners.	Privates, 1st class.	Privates, 2nd class.	Privates.	Total commissioned.	Total enlisted.	Professors.	Cadets.	Aggregate.
$\frac{1}{2}$												11			· • • • • •	11
3			`•••• ••••												· • • • • • •	
- 4 5			••••		• • • • •						· • • • • • • • • • •	17 5				17 5
6												5				5 5 57
- 8												57 26				26
.9									192	186	•••••		378 55
$\frac{10}{11}$	20	16		8	• • • •				80	74	•••••	55 109	200			309
12	40	80							150	130		54	400			454
$\frac{13}{14}$	150	30									320	$\frac{5}{30}$	1500			505 30
15	600	480	240		${240}$		120	120			6,000	432	7, 970			8,402
16	250	240						60			1,750	280	2, 625			2,905
17	1,000	1,000		500		500		250			9,000	877	12,625			13, 502
18		1									<u></u>		·	9	312	321
19											·		262			262
$\frac{20}{21}$	• • • • • •	· • • • •			• • • •		· •				432		432 300			$432 \\ 300$
											300					
22	2,060	1,846	240	628	240	620	120	430	230	204	17,802	2,155	l25,000	9	312	27,976
23												400				400

One Veterinary Surgeon, with the pay of seventy-five dollars per month, is allowed to each of the cavaby regiments, and to each of the Seventh, Eighth, Ninth, and Tenth Regiments an additional Veterinary Surgeon, at one hundred dollars per month, is allowed. These Veterinary Surgeons are not included in the organization table.

Indian sconts to the number of one thousand may be employed in the Territories and Indian country, who shall receive the pay and allowances of cavalry soldners. [See, 6, act July 28, 1866.]

Company Quartermaster Sergeants in any branch of the service are no longer allowed, they not being enumerated in the act of March 15, 1872, and therefore not entitled to its benefits. [G. O. 51, series of 1872.]

Organization of Regi-

		Colonel.	Lieutenant Colouel.	Majors.	Adjutant (Extra Licutenant).	Regimental Quartermaster (Extra Licutenant).	Battalion Adjuta n t.	Battalion Quartermaster.	Captains	First Lieutenants.	Second Lieutenants.	Cbaplain. Sergeant Major.	Quartermaster Sergeant.
$\frac{1}{2}$	Ten Regiments of Cavalry—each Company of Cavalry							 		12 1	$12 \\ 1$	*1 1	1
3 4 5	Five Regiments of Artillery—each Light battery of Artillery Battery of Artillery	•••	• •		- •		· · · · ·		12 1 1	24 2 2	13 2 1	1	1
6 7	Twenty-five Regiments of Infantry—each Company of Infantry			í –					10 1	10 1	10 1	*1 1 	1
8 9 10	Engineer Battalion Two Companies—each Two Companies—each								5 1 1	5 1 1	5 1 1	· · · · · · · · · ·	

* See Note (h) on general organization table.

Regimental commanders will not in future date the rank or appointment of regimental staff officers back of the date on which such appointment was actually made, and hereafter such appointees (regimental quartermasters having been first duly approved by the Secretary of War) will be paid in their new positions from the date of appointment. Officers appointed to positions in the regimental staff will, if serving with the regiment, be required to report without delay; if absent on detached service, application will be made to the authority governing their action. [G. O. No. 73, Adjutant General's Office, July 16, 1879.]

1881. ORGANIZATION OF REGIMENTS AND COMPANIES.

ments and Companies.

	Chief Musician.	Principal Musicians.	Saddler Sergeant.	Chief Trumpeter.	Battalion Sergeant Major.	Battalion Quartermaster Sergeant.	First Sergeants.	Sergeants.	Corporals.	Trumpeters.	Musicians.	Farriers and Blacksmiths.	Artificers.	Saddlers.	Wagoners.	Privates, 1st class.	Privates, 2nd class.	Privates.	Total commissioned.	Total enlisted.	Aggregate.
1	1		1	1			12	60	48	24		24		12	12			600	*44	797	841
2					· ·		1	5	4	2		2		1	1	••••		50	3	66	69
3	1	2					12	50	48	•••	24		24		12			350	56	525	581
4					· · · · ·		1	6	4		2		2		1			64	5	80	85
5			• • •			· · · ·	1	4	4	· • • ·	2		2		1			26	4	40	44
6	1	2					10	40	40		20		20		10			360	*36	505	541
7						· • • •	1	4	4		2		2	••••	1			36	3	50	53
8					1	1		20	16		8					80	74		16	200	216
9								5	4		2					20	19		3	50	53
10								5	4		2					20	18		3	49	52

† See Note (e) on general organization table.

285

5	
్	
- S.	
-S	
1	
ž	
Ħ	
5	
ž	
.≘	
ĩ	
20	
3	
5	
1	
5	
1	
2°	
75	
Ξ.	
б,	
E	
5	
÷	~:
sti	÷
÷ŝ	2
<u>_</u>	
~	2
ĩ	st
Ξ	Ξ
1	22
lie.	7
-	•
	-
to	10.3
ed to	la so.
exed to	tires of
nexed to	tatives of
annexed to	entatives of
y, anneved to	esentatives of
uy, anner	presentatives of
rmy, annexed to	<i>tepresentatives of</i>
uy, anner	Representatives of
trmy, anner	Representatives of
trmy, anner	Representatives of
trmy, anner	Representatives of
s of the Army, anner	Representatives of
trmy, anner	Representatives of
irers of the Army, anner	Representatives of
s of the Army, anner	Representatives of
irers of the Army, anner	Representatives of
irers of the Army, anner	Representatives of
irers of the Army, anner	Representatives of
irers of the Army, anner	Representatives of
irers of the Army, anner	Representatives of
irers of the Army, anner	Representatives of
irers of the Army, anner	Representatives of
irers of the Army, anner	Representatives of
irers of the Army, anner	Representatives of
irers of the Army, anner	Representatives of
irers of the Army, anner	Representatives of
oay allowed by law to officers of the Army, annex	Representatives of
oay allowed by law to officers of the Army, annex	Representatives of
oay allowed by law to officers of the Army, annex	Representatives of
oay allowed by law to officers of the Army, annex	Representatives of

	YVA	PAY OF OFFICERS IN ACTIVE SERVICE.	TERS IN	AUTUVE	SERVIC	JE		PAY OF RETHRED OFFICERS.	RETHRI	IJ30 OFFI	('ERS.*	
			MO	MONTHLY PAY					OW	MONTHLY PAY.	Υ.	
GRADE	Yearly pay-	Prior to 5 years' service.		5 years' 19 years' 15 years' 20 years service, service, service, service,	lā years servieu.	20 years service.	Yearly pay.	Prior to 5 Vears' service.	å years' service.	10 years service.	5 years' 10 years' 15 years' 20 years' service, service, service, service,	0 years service.
			10 per ct.	10 perct. 20 perct. 30 perct. 40 perct	30 per et.	40 peret.						
	\$13, 500-00	Ę.										
_	11, 000 00	916 67										
Major General	7, 500-00	625 00					\$5, 625 00	£1.08 10 #168 10				
Brigadier General	5, 500, 60	128 SCF			•		4, 125, 00	343 75				
('olone'	3, 500, 00	19 167	10× 00004	- 1111 - 111111	00 5154	\$313 m	2, 625, 00	12 212	20 0124	90 207%	1971 [X194]	57 IX1X
Lieutenant Colonel	3,000-00	250 00	125 00	300 00	325 00		00.027	151 20	1000		11 272	00 0077
Major	2,500.00	2.52	210 17	250 00 1	270 83	19 165	1, 575, 00	156 25	171 87		21 202	61 × 15
Captain, mtd.	2,000,00	166 67	121 131	200 00	19 917	12 III	1,500,00	125 00	137 50		162 20	17.5 00
Captain, not mtd	1,800-00	150 00	165 00	150.00	195 60	210 00	1, 350, 00	112 50	12 52	1.55 00	146 25	157 50
Regimental adj't	1,800-00	150 00	165 (8)	00 121	195 00	210 00						
Regimental qm	1, 800-00	150		150 00		210 00						
1st Lieutenant, mtd	1,600 00		146 67	160 00		180 61	1, 200 00	100 00	110 00	120 00		140 00
1st Lieutenant, not mtd	1, 500 00	125 00		150 00		175 00	1, 125 00	11 18 18	11 DE	112 50		121 E2
2d Lieutenant, mtd	1,500 00		137.50	150 00	66 <u>2</u>	175 00	1, 125, 00	53 25	103 12	112 50	121 22	5 22
2d Lieutenant, not mtd1	1,400-00	116 67		140 00		163 23	1, 050, 00	з ç	51 96	105 00		155 50
Chaptain	1,500,00			$150 \ 00$	165 B	175 00	1, 350, 00	112 50	113 73	135 00		157 20

For law establishing the present rates of pay see sections 1261, 1262, 1263, and 1274. Revised Statules.

7 The maximum pay of a Lieutenant Colonel is by law \$1,000 per annum; hence full 40 per cent, cannot acerne. [Section 1267, Revised Statutes.] The maximum pay of a Colonel is by law \$4,500 per annum; hence full 10 per cent, cannot accure. [Soction 1267, Revised Statutes.]

NOTE 1. An Aide-de-Camp to a Major tieneral is allowed \$200 per year in addition to the pay of his rank, not to be included in computing the service increase -[.] et July 15, 1870, Sec. 24.] Section [26], Revised Statutes.

- the service increase --[.1ct.July 15, 1870, Net. 21.] Section 1261, Revised Statutes. An Acting Assistant Commissary of Subsistence is allowed \$100 per year in addition to the pay of his rank, not to be included in An Aide-de-Camp to'a Brigadie General is allowed \$150 per year in addition to the pay of his rank, not to be included in computing zi
 - computing the service mercase.—[.det July 15, 1870, Net 24.] Section [26], Revised Statutes.
 - Assistant Surgeons are entitled to pay of Captan after five years' service.—[Act June 23, 1871, Sec. 1.] ÷
- Retired office's receive 75 per cent, of pay (solary and increase) of their rank, but no increase accrues for fine subsequent to date of retirement.—(*Act July* 15, 1870, *Sec.* 24.) Section 1271, Revised Statutes. ١ċ
 - e.
 - A retired Claphain recoves three-loarths of the pay (sdary and increase) of his rank (Captain, not mounted). The officer in charge of the public buildings and grounds (Washington) has, while so serving, the rank, pay, and emoluments of a Colonel.—[Act March 3, 1873, Nec. 1.] Ŀ,
- The AidesdeCump to the General, selected by him from the Army, have, while so serving, the rank and pay of Colonel. [Section 1096, Revised Statutes.] The AidesdeCamp and Military Secretary to the Lieutenant General, selected by him from the Army, ave, while so serving, the rank and pay of Lientenant Colonel. [Section 1097, Revised Statules.] œ

1551. PAY OF OFFICE	1001	IND	OADENS AT MINITART ROADINGT. 201
NOTE 9. Officers of the Army and of volunteers, assigned to duty which requires them to be mounted, shall, during the time they are employed on such duty. receive the pay, embinements, and allowances of Gavalty officers of the same grade, respectively.—[<i>Act July</i>] 10. Officers temporary 27, 1877. 10. Officers temporary services and officers, shall receive the two receives the pay, embined to (<i>T</i> , 1862, <i>inc February</i> 27, 1877.) 10. Officers temporary services and officers, shall receive the two receives the pay, embined to (<i>T</i> , 1862, <i>inc February</i> 27, 1877.) 10. Officers temporary services and officers, shall receive the two receives the pay, embined to (<i>T</i> , 1862, <i>inc</i> , 1873, <i>inc</i> , 18, 1875.) 11. The examiner of Nate chinas in the office of the Secretary of War, shall have, while on such duty, the pay, embinents, and allow-markes of monited officers, one grade higher than their block of the Secretary of War, shall have, while on such duty, the pay, embinents, and allow-markes are finented officers, one grade higher than the held by thm in his regiment or corps.—[<i>Let July</i> 28, 1879, <i>Sec. 3.</i>]. Riemathy, the subject of milleage are contained, entire, in General to discosing enders, and the section of order 1870. Where are of input easily per mile, is allowed to officers for the rate of notify the pay. Partial for the subject of milleage are contained, entire, in General Orders No. 97, Adjutant General's Office, section 37, 000 enders, 300 enders, 30	leademy.	Acts of Congress establishing present rates of pay.	 June 12, 1858, See, I. July 15, 1870, See, 24. [Section 1334, Tacvised Statutes.] Marcha, Isol, See, J. July 15, 1870, See, 24. [Section July 15, 1862, See, J. July 15, 1870, See, 24. August 7, 1876. July 15, 1870, See, 24. July 15, 1870, See, 24. August July 15, 1870, See, 24. July 15, 1870, See, 24. [See Burth 15, 1870, See, 24. July 15, 1870, See, 24. [See July 15, 1870, See, 23. July 15, 1870, See, 24. [See Burth 19, 1870, See, 24. July 15, 1870, See, 24. [See July 15, 1870, See, 24. July 15, 1870, See, 24. [See July 15, 1870, See, 24. July 15, 1870, See, 24. [See July 15, 1870, See, 24. July 15, 1870, See, 24. [See July 15, 1870, See, 24. July 15, 1870, See, 24. [See July 15, 1870, See, 25. July 15, 1870, See, 24. [See July 15, 1870, See, 25. July 15, 1870, See, 24. [See July 15, 1870, See, 24. [Section 1336, Revised Statutes.] February 28, 1873. [Section 1338, Revised Statutes.]
s them Cavahy hey are by deci- have, v s regim ler orde- th Gener th Gener th per	titary .	Yearly pay.	SS SS See preceding table.
volunteers, assigned to duty which requires or the pay, enoluments, and allowances of V VT.] dis.=Jard fibrers, shall very of War, shall des.=Jard fibrers, shall very fin in fib des. [1] the office of the Secretary of War, shall are grade higher than that held by him in fib are grade higher than that held by him in fib per mile, is allowed to officers for rayed und d, entire, in (teneral Orders No. 97, Adjuttu d, by Tay Department, as follows: (correl onth per room—[.]Acf Jane 18, 1878, Sec. 9], an of quarters shall hereafter be 812 per nu 9.	Pay of officers and cadets at the Military Academy.	Grade, or assimilated pay.	Pay of Ucloud: Pay of Ucloud: Pay of Licurcuant Colonal Pay of Licurcuant Colonal Pay of Rightmental Adjutant. Pay of Internant Colonal Pay of Colonal Pay of Colonal Pay of Colonal Pay of Licurcuant Pay of Licurcuant Pay of Unicureunt Pay of Pay of Distribution Pay of Unicureunt Pay of Pay of Distribution Pay of One Pay of Pay Pay of One Solo Per annum Pay Pay Pay Pay of Pay Pay Pay of One Pay Pay Pay Pay Pay Pay Pay Pay Pay Pay Pay
MOTE 9. Officers of the Army and of very ployed on such dury. receiver 17, 1882; and Fohrmany 27, 187 10. Officers temperating are cress of their respective gradi- 11. The examiner of State claims i ances of monthed officers, on Mileage, at the rate of eight cents p ing the subject of mileage are contained. Commutation of quarkers to be paid other grades not to exceed 810 per mon Adutant General's Office series of 1878.		Grade.	Superintcadent Commandant of Cadets Adjutant Auterial communication purtermaster and Commissary of the Treasure. Engreen Surgeon Assistant Surgeon Assistant Surgeon Assistant Burgeon Professor, of loss than ten years service Assistant Professor Assistant Instructor of Tactics. Assistant Instructor of Tactics. Assistant Instructor of Tactics. Assistant Instructor of Cadets. Assistant Instructor of Cadets. Acting Assistant Instructors of Cadets. Acting Assistant Instructors of Cadets. Acting Assistant Instructors of Cadets.

Tal	ble of mon	Table of monthly-pay of culisted men of the United States Army.	of enlister	dy pay of enlisted men of the United	the Unito	d States .	frmy.			
		silonael	-1 01 00-T	ot, hevised	t statutes.					
		FIRST	FIRST ENLISTMENT.	MENT.			FIRST R	FIRST RE-ENLISTMENT.	PMENT.	
								\$2 ENTRA.		
YEAR IN EACH ENLISTMENT	. 1st year.	1st year. 2nd year: 3rd year: 4th year: 5th year. 1st year: 2nd year: 3rd year: 4th year: 5th year.	3rd year.	4th year.	5th year.	1st year.	2nd year.	3rd year.	4th year.	5th year.
YEAR OF TOTAL CONTINUOUS SERVICE 1st year. 2nd year. 4th year. 5th year. 6th year. 7th year. 8th year. 9th year.	. 1st year.	2nd year.	3rd year.	4th year.	5th year.	6th year.	7th year.	sth year.	9th year.	10th year.
	Retain nothing.	Retain nothing.	Retain \$1.	Retain \$2.	Retain \$3.	Retain \$1.	Retain \$1.	Retain \$1.	Retain \$1.	Retain \$1. Retain \$2. Retain \$3. Retain \$1. Retain \$1. Retain \$1. Retain \$1. Retain \$1.
RANK AND SERVICE.										
COMPANY.										
Private—Artillery, Cavalry, and In- fantry	81 %	22 47 47	F1*	:1 *	× 91 *	80 4-	∞ 4.	0 49	x 1- *	* *1 X
Artificerl—Artillery and Infantry Cornoral—Artillery (Cavalry and)	22				· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·					· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
Infantry Blacksmith and Parrier-Cavalry	9 9	15	16	21	×	9 1	0 1	65	07	20
Sergent-Artillery, Cavalry, and Infantry Private-Firas (ass)Engineers, Ord- worke and Scool Come	1	17	18	61	20	81	<u></u>	ŝl	81	
Corporal—Engineers, Ordnance and Signal Corps	50	20	6	?]	ŝ	5	5	5	5	22

288

1881.

52	39	ci.	22	=	822 8	th amount 54, for re- but reduc- fuclusive of band ar renaining remaining
22	39	28	20	=	8228	red under the act of August 4, 1854, and who comes into the service again, commences with amount thined. Wo pay retained in these cases: but they are entitled to benefits of act of August 4, 1854, for re- ury branch of the service <i>not</i> to be appointed (see General Orders Xo, 6), series of 1573), but reduc- allowed each of the service <i>not</i> to be appointed (see General Orders Xo, 6), series of 1573), but reduc- allowed each of the service <i>not</i> to be appointed (see General Orders Xo, 6), series of 1573), but reduc- allowed each of the service <i>not</i> to be appointed (see General Orders Xo, 6), series of 1573), but reduc- of Adjutant General of The environments, from the First to the Sixth Regiment, inclusive allowed each of the Service 10, 1978, Revised Statustors, The suber in date of appoint of Adjutant General of December 3, 1874. Farthers: The service and 31 Farthers: All service on any listence found due United States to be charged soldier on nuster-realls or arried forward on company books credited to his current clothing account; any balance remaining and farlenare. If the soldier, see paragraph 10, General Orders Xo, 51, series of 1872. For the soldier, see paragraph 10, General Orders Xo, 51, series of 1872. For the soldier, see paragraph 10, General Orders Xo, 51, series of 1872. For the soldier, see paragraph 10, General Orders Xo, 51, act, 0., 4, 53.
53	68	52	80	7	822 8	gain, con again, con af act of 2 o 61, seriu the Sixth who shall who shall who shall arged sold count; m 28. (0, 0
27	39	12	53 15	1f	86 66 68 87 68	e service a benefits o benefits o benefits X (benefits X e First to Regiments of music, elets No. 5 mue 20, 18
27	39	52	80	7	8668 898 898	ues into th entitled to ee General is, from th nd Tenth Teacher is current is current pproved J
25	37	55	26	68:	3683	nd who cou it they are of pointed (so pointed (so y regument is Ninth, a 1874. Statutes]. Statutes]. odited to h of terms of
24	36	57	25	2	8733 <u>8</u>	tt 4, F854, an carses: burl of to be ap of to be ap the cardier 3 S, Revised fances four y hooks cry multar gran
53	35	6	Ŧ	1	522 8	f of Angue d in these e service <i>n</i> the service <i>n</i> the sevo the sevo the sevo 2 <i>and</i> 3.1 <i>y</i> -can 23.1 <i>y</i> -can 33.1 <i>y</i> -can 33.1 <i>y</i> -can 33.1 <i>y</i> -can 33.1 <i>y</i> -can 33.1 <i>y</i> -c
8	34	61	63	36	8319 2	where the are L and r retained anch of thus anch of thus r^{1}_{1277} MeV r^{1}_{1277} MeV r^{2}_{1277} MeV
55	34	61	66 69	8928	9893 %	Indisted an in-retrince of 22. No p of 22. No p of any br of any br of any br of March 3 brownian indistrict of March 3 brownian of br of any of f pay of f
First Sergeant—Artillery, Cavalry, and Infantry	Sergeant–Engineers, Ordnance and Signal Corps	Chief Trumpeter–Cavalty	and Infanty Sergeant Major–Artiliery, Gavalry, Maid Infanty, Quartemastic Sergeant–Artiliery, Gavelry, and Infanty	Sergeaut Major and Quartermaster Sergeaut-Engineers Neterinary Surgeon (nunor) Veterinary Surgeon (nunor) Teacher of music at M. A.	Iospital Matron	* The pay of a man who has <i>ever</i> re-enlisted under the act of August 4, 1854, and who comes into the service again, commences with amount stated in this columin–\$\$ per month to be retained. Tota affected by act of May 15, 1852. No pay retained in these cases: but they are entitled to benefits of act of August 4, 1854, for re-enlistent. Tota affected by act of May 15, 1852. No pay retained in these cases: but they are entitled to benefits of act of August 4, 1854, for re-tilestoned. Tota affected by act of May 15, 1852. No pay retained in these cases: but they are entitled to benefits of act of August 4, 1854, for re-tilestoned. Totanpary Quartermaster Sergemts of any branch of the service <i>aot</i> to be appointed (see General Orders No. 61, series of 1875), but reduct 5, only one Y actionary Sugreout affort allowed each of the service <i>aot</i> to be appointed (see General Orders No. 61, series of 1875), but reduct 5, only one of \$\$ 0 aly one of \$\$ 100 and one at \$\$ 50 by one of the Servential allowed each of the Serventer 3, 1874. We can af \$\$ 100 and one at \$\$ 57 ber month. Jalowed each of the Serventer 3, 1874. Mintary Action 7, \$\$ 0 per month. allowed each of the Serventer 3, 1874. Mintary Action 7, \$\$ 0 per month. allowed each of the Serventer 3, 1874. Mintary Action 7, \$\$ 0 per month. allowed each of the Serventer 3, 1874. Mintary Action 7, \$\$ 0 per month. allowed each of the Serventer 3, 1874. Mintary Action 7, \$\$ 0 per month. allowed each 0, 1975, Revised Statutes). Teacher of music, who shall be leader of and at \$\$ \$\$ 50 brown and the \$\$ 3 577, \$\$ 682, 2 ond 3\$. Mintary Action 7, \$\$ 0 per month. Totach 3, 1877, \$\$ 682, 2 ond 3\$. Mintary Action 7, \$\$ 0 per month. Totach 3, 1877, \$\$ 682, 2 ond 3\$. Mintary Control 10, 10, 10, 20, 20, 20, 20, 20, 20, 20, 20, 20, 2
	-0					

INDEX.

Abraham Lincoln, Fort, Dept. Dak 271
 Adams, Milton B., capt. eng
 17, 102

 Adams, Mose s N., post chap
 19, 109

 Adams, Thomas R., 1 It. 5 art
 29, 150

 Adams, William, ord. sk
 19, 107
 Ainsworth, Fred.C., asst. surg. med. dept. 13, 90 Albee, George E., 1 lt. retired 253 Alcatraz Island, Dept. Cal Alexander, Chas. T., maj. med. dept., 11, 85, 261 Alexander, Edmund B., col. retired 220 Alligool, Charles A., m. sk. qm. dept 10, 79 Allison, James N., 1 lt. 2 cay 22, 132 Allsworth, Edward, 1 lt. retired 254 Anderson, Harry R., 1 lt. 4 art 37, 151 Andrews, George L., prof. mil. acad., 260, 261 Andrews, George P., It. col. 4 art., 37, 139 Andrews, John N., capt. 8 inf., 48, 167 Andrews, John N., capt. 8 inf., 48, 167

Appel, Daniel M., asst. surg. med. dept., 14, 91 Armstrong, Robert G., 1 lt. 1 inf41, 197 Arnold, Isaac, maj. ord. dept18, 105, 277 Arnold, Richard, maj. 5 art 39, 140 Atwood, Edwin B., capt. qm. dept 9, 78 Augusta Arsenal, Ga Anman, William, capt. 13 inf......53, 184 Avery, Frank P., 2 R. 3 inf 43, 211 Babbitt, Lawrence S., maj. ord, dept. 18, 105, 277 Bainbridge, Augustus H., capt. 14 inf. 54, 173 Bainbridge, Edmund C., capt. 5 art39, 141 Baird, Absalom, lt. col. asst. ins. gen8,71 Baird, George W., pm. pay dept 15, 96

(290)

Baker, Edward D., maj. qm. dept9, 76	Belger, James, maj. retired
Daker, Edward D., maj. qui, deperter and, to	Dell (2) and a map it in the second s
Baker, Eugene M., maj. 2 cav	Bell, George, maj. sub. dept10, 81
Baker, Frank, 1 lt. ord. dept	Bell, George, jr., 2 lt. 3 inf
Baker, Frank, 14, ord. dept	Bell, James F., 2 lt. 7 eav
Baldridge, Benjamin L., post chap 19, 109	Bell, James F., 24t, 7 cay
	D.H. William H. and Jak 10.4
Baldwin, Frank D., capt. 5 inf	Bell, William II., capt. sub. dept 10, 81
Baldwin, James H., 1 lt. 18 inf	Bellas, Henry II, 1 ft, 4 cav
Raldwin John V 21t 9 inf 49 206	Bendive Charles capt 1 cay 91 191
Daldwin, John M. 916 5 avt 40,151	Point Tomo W 91t 15 M 55 914
Daluwill, John M., 211.0 are	Denet, σ and s , w_{i} , z it. to interact σ , σ , z_{14}
Baldwm, Theodore A., capt. 10 cav 30, 118	Benet, Stephen V., mag. gen. cht. of ord 18, 104
Baldwin, William H., 2 lt. 7 cay	Benham, Daniel W., capt. 7 inf
Ball Edward mai 7 cay 97 115	Renham Henry H 2 lt 2 inf 12 213
\mathbf{D} and \mathbf{T} by \mathbf{T} by \mathbf{T} by \mathbf{T} by \mathbf{T} by \mathbf{T}	Darban, Renty III, a Real and the second state of
Banance, Joan G., 240, 22001	bennam, frenry W., col. eng
Bancroft, Eugene A., capt. 4 art37, 144	F Benham, Robert B., asst. surg. med. dept. 14, 92
Bankhead, Henry C., maj. retired 235	Benicia Arsenal, Cal
	Benicia Barracks, Dept. Cal
Banister, John M., asst. surg. med. dept 14, 91	Demeta Darracks, Dept. Gar 2/1
Bannister, John, 1 lt. retired	Benjamin, Edward A., 2 lt. retired 257
Barber, Merritt, capt. 16 inf 56, 182	Benjamin, Samuel N., maj. a. g. dept 8, 70
Barber, Thomas H., 1 lt. 1 art 31, 151	Bennett, Clarence E., capt. 17 inf57, 174
Barlow, John W., maj. eng	Bennett, Fort, Dept. Dak 271
Barnard, John G., col. eng	Bennett, Frank T., capt. 9 cav
Barnard, Phineas P., 1 lt. 5 cav25, 129	Beuson, Henry M., 1 lt. 7 inf 47, 187 Benteen, Frederick W., capt. 7 cav27, 116
Barnes, Joseph K., brig, gen. surg, gen 11, 82	Benteen Frederick W cout 7 cov 97 116
Damin a, nosephine, ning, gen, sung, gen 1, 11, 82	D a then D here and the day
Barnett, Charles R., 1 lt. 5 art 39, 152, 263 .	Bentley, Edwin, maj. med. dept
Barnett, John T., 2 lt. 5 cav	Benton, Fort, Dept. Dak
Barnett Richards asst surg med dent 13 90	Bonton Tomos (2) and and dont 19 101 977
Dominant frank II 1 it 19 inf 50 000	Rentzoni Charles and 25 inf
Barnhart, Frank II., 1 lt. 18 inf 58, 200	Dentzoni, Gharles, capit 25 mil
Barnitz, Albert, capt. retired	Bentzoni, Charles, capt. 25 inf
Barr, Thomas F., maj. j. a	Bergland, Eric, 1 lt. eng
Barraneas Kost Dont South 971	Bernard, Reuben F., capt. 1 cav
Darmate A 112	De ta Chamant Tomat Lant 11 120
Barrett, Addison, m. sk. qm. dept 10, 79	Best, Clermont L., maj. 1 art
Barrett, Gregory, jr., 1 lt. 10 inf 50, 187	Best, Clermont L., jr., 1 lt. 1 art31, 152
Barriger, John W., mai, sub, dept 10, 81	Beyer, Charles D., capt. 9 cay 29, 118
Barriger, John W., maj. sub. dept 10, 81 Barry, Thomas H., 2 lt. 1 inf	Biart, Victor, asst. surg. med. dept14, 91
Day town Council Day & Days	Pillly Tanan and Capt. Add Market
Barstow, George F., capt. 3 art 35, 145	Diadie, James, maj. 6 cav
Barstow, Simon F., capt. retired 240	Biddle, James, maj. 6 cav
Bartholf, John H., asst. surg. med. dept., 12, 88	Bulwall Kost Dant Cal 971
Bartlett, Charles G., maj. 11 inf51, 163	Bigdow John in 21t 10 car 20 121 260
Dotto (C. Charles C., maj. 11 m ,	1012 + 1000, 000111, 011, 0110 + 1000, 1000, 1000, 0000
Bartlett, William C., 1 lt. 3 inf43, 188 Bartlett, William H. C., prof. retired	Bill Joseph II., maj. med. dept
Bartlett, William H. C., prof. retired227	
Bascom Gustavas M. capt. 13 inf 53–179	Bineham Judson D. If. col. am. dent 9.74
Bass, Edgar W., prof. mil. acad259, 261	Bingham Theodore V 2 lt ong 17 20 101
Dass, Edgar W., prof. un. avau	Di 1 (1) 1 1 1 20. 2 2 (1) eng 17, 20, 104
Batchelder, Richard N., maj. qm. dept 9, 75 👘	Bingham, Judson D., It. col. qu. dept
Batchelor, Joseph B., jr., 2 lt. 24 inf 64, 215	Bitkhimer, William E., 1 lt. 3 art 36, 153
Bates, Alfred E., pm. pay dept 15, 94	
Rates Down F	Richae William II anot J inf 14 171
Bates, Dorus E	District, of main 11., capt. 4 mc 44, 174
Bates, Francis II., capt. retired 236	Eishop, Hoel S., I II. 5 cav
Bates, James A., capt. retired 241	Bishop, John S., I lt. 13 inf
Bates, John C., capt. 20 inf 60, 165	Bishee, William II, capt. 4 inf 14, 164 Bisbee, William II, capt. 4 inf 14, 174 Bisbop, Hoel S., 1 It. 5 cav 23, 131 Bisbop, John S., 1 It. 13 inf 53, 194 Bisbop, Bisbop, John S., 1 It. 13 inf 23, 214 Bisbop, William II. 12 inf 23, 214 Bisbop, William II. 12 inf 222 Distor, William II. 12 inf 222
Bates Kinzie cant 1 inf 11 170	Bixhy William II 1 lt eng 17 102
Detus Dalart D. 1 h 10 a.C.	Bixby, William II., 1 lt. eng
Bates, Kinzie, capt. 1 inf	DIACK, LICHTY M., R. COL 18 JHI 58, 160
Baton Rouge Barracks, Dept. Ark 271	Black, William, 2 lt. 24 inf
Baxter, George W., 2 It. 3 cav	Black, William M., 1 lt. eng
Bayter Jededish II gol med dent 11 83	Blaine John E um nav dent 15.95
Darten, John in alt 0 inf	Diame, Sonn 12, prin pay (Cperman, 15, 55
Baxter, John, jr., 2 lt. 9 inf 49, 210 Bayard, Fort, Dept. Mo	Biame, Mamor C., post enap
Bayard, Fort, Dept. Mo	Blair, Francis P., 2 lt. 3 art
Baylor, Thomas G., lt. col. ord. dept. 18, 104, 277	Blake, Charles M., post chap
Bayna Andraw (1 2 lt ratical 256	Plake George A H col retired 921
Baylor, Thomas G., R. col. ord. dept. 18, 104, 277 Bayne, Andrew C., 21t. retired	Blaine, John E., pun, pay dept
Beach, Lansing II., dis. cadet	Diake, John Y. F., 246, 0 cav
Beach, Warren C., eapt. 11 inf51, 178 👘	Blanvelt, William F., 2 lt. 15 inf55, 215
Beach, Warren C., capt. 11 inf51, 178 Beach, William D., 2 lt. 3 cav23, 136	
Beall, George T., med. sk 14, 92	Bliss, Tasker H., 1 lt. 1 art
Doon Tohn W word 15 inf	Pline Zonas P. 14 and 10 inf. 50, 200
Deau, John W., Capt. 15 Int	Bliss. Zenas R., lt. col. 19 inf
Bean, John W., capt. 15 inf	Blocksom, Augustus P., 2 lt. 6 cav26, 134
Beaumont, Eugene B., maj. 4 cav24, 115	Blunt, Asa P., capt. qm. dept
Beck, William B., capt. 5 art	Blunt, Charles E., lt. col. eng 16 97
Pool William H 1 ht 10 corr 20 100	Blunt, Charles E., lt. col. eng
Beck, William H., 1 lt. 10 cav	Diana, Matellew M., R. Col. 25 Int
Beckwith, Amos, lt. col. sub. dept10, 80	Bluut, Stanhope E., capt. ord. dept .18, 106, 260
Beckwith, Edward G., maj. retired	Boehuu, Peter M., capt. retired
Belcher, John II., capt. qm. dept	Boise Barracks, Dept. Col
, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	

Bonesteel, Charles IL, 2 It, 21 inf......61, 208 Bootes, Levi C., lt. col. retired 999 Borup, Henry D., i lt. ord. dept 19, 107 Boswell, Benjamin D., 1 lt. retired 256 256 Bourne, William R., capt. retired 248 Boutelle, Frazier A., 1 It. 1 cay 21, 128 Bowie, Fort, Dept. Ariz 271 Boyle, William II., capt. 21 inf 61, 181 Brackett, Albert G., col. 3 cay 23, 111 Bradley, George W., capt. qm. dept..... 9,77 Bradley, Luther P., col. 13 inf 53, 159 Bradley, Thomas H., 1 It. 21 inf 61, 192 Brant, Louis P., 2 R. 1 inf 41, 212 Brayton, George M., capt. 8 inf 48, 165 Brechemin, Louis, asst. surg. med. dept., 14, 91 Brerton, John J., 24, 24 inf. 64, 210 Brett, James E., 24, 24 inf. 64, 214 Brett, Lloyd M., 24, 24 and 22, 156 Brewer, Edwin P., 24, 7 cav. 22, 154 Brewster, Wm. B., asst. surg. med. dept., 14, 91 Brice, Benjamin W., brig, gen, retired ... 218 Bridger, Fort, Dept. Platte 271Bridgman, Frank, pm. pay dept 15, 94 Bridgman, Victor II., 24t, 2 art 34, 154 Briggs, Thomas B., 1 lt. 14 inf......54, 197 Brincklé, John R., capt. 5 art 39, 145 Bristol, Henry B., capt. retired 12.5 Britton, Thomas, capt. 6 inf......46, 177 Brooke, Edward H., pm. pay dept 15,94 Brooke, Fort, Dept. South 971 Brooke, John, asst. surg. med. dept 12,87 Brooks, Horace, col. retired + > + 7 + 1 Brooks, Lorenzo L. C., 2 lt. 5 cav. 25, 135

Brown, Harvey E., asst. surg. med. dept. 12, 87 Brown, Hugh G., capt. 12 inf 52, 183 Brown, Joseph B., maj. med. dept 11, 84 Brown, Justus M., asst. surg. med. dept., 12, 87 Browning, George L., capt. 7 inf 47, 175 Brua, John P., maj. retired......232 Bruff, Lawrence L., 1 lt. ord. dept 19, 107 Bubb, John W., capt. 4 inf 44, 182 Buchanan, James Å., 1 lt. 14 inf..... 54, 196
 Buck, William L., 24, 11, 14, 111, ..., 44, 150

 Buck, William L., 24, 11, 15, 117, ..., 53, 211

 Budd, George W., 14, retired ..., 254

 Budd, Otho W., 14, 4 cav ..., 24, 128

 Budd, Otho W., 14, 4 cav ..., 25, 159

 Budl, George P., col. 15 inf. ..., 55, 159

 Budl, James W., asst, surg, med. dept. 14, 91
 Builington, A. R., maj. ord. dept 1.18, 105, 277
 Buildagton, A. K., maj. ora, Gept. . 18, 105, 20

 Bufotd, Fort, Dept. Dak.
 271

 Bufotd, Fort, Dept. Dak.
 271

 Bullis, John L., 14, 24 inf.
 64, 195

 Burbank, Clayton S., 14, 16 inf.
 50, 201

 Burbank, Jacob E., maj. retired.
 234

 Burbank, Jacob E., 14, 3 art.
 35, 147, 203

 Burbank, James B., 14, 3 art.
 35, 147, 203

 Burke, Martin, R. Col, retired.
 228

 Burnett, George R., 2 h. 9 cav
 29, 137

 Bunnett, Levi F., 11, 7 inf.
 47, 195

 Burnham, David R., 1 h. 5 inf.
 55, 198
 Burton, George IL, capt. 21 inf61, 177 Butler, John G., capt. ord. dept 18, 106 Byrne, Charles B., asst. surg. med. dept., 13, 89 Byrne, Charles C., maj. med. dept.... 12, 85 Cabaniss, Charles II., jr., 2 lt. 18 inf ..., 58, 207 Cady, Albemarle, col. retired 000 Califf, Joseph M., 1 lt. 3 art 35, 152 Callahan, Charles M., capt. 4 cav24, 124

Callender, Franklin D., col. retired225	Cherry, Samuel A., 2 R. 5 cav
Callinan Daniel E const Linf 41 185	
Callinan, Daniel F., eapt. 1 inf	Chevenne Depot, Dept. Platte
Cameron, Fort, Dept. Platte	Chevenne Depot, Dept, Patte
Campbell, Charles H., capt. 6 cav26, 122 Campbell, George J., 1 lf. retired	Chevenic Depot, Depit 7 and 5 are
Campbell George J. 1 lt retired	Chipman, Henry L., mai, 3 inf
Campbell, John, lt. col. med. dept	Chainy Guarga 1 267
Sampher, John, II. col. med. dept	Choisy, crearge 17
Campbell, Joseph B., capt. 4 art 4	Chubb, Charles St. J., 14t. 17 m_1 ,, p_i , 295
- Campbell, Lafayette E., capt. qm, depf 9,78 -	Churchill, Charles A., 2 lt. 5 inf45, 213
Campbell Pater 2 It 18 inf 58 214	Churchill, Charles G., 2 It. 5 inf
Campbell, Peter, 2 lt, 18 inf58, 214 Campbell, William J., 1 lt, 22 inf62, 198	Chynoweth, Edward, 2 lt. 17 inf
Campbell, wintam 5., 1 h. 22 mit	Onynowenn, Edward, 24, 17 mit
	Clagett, J. Rozier, 24, 23 inf
Camby, Full, 0-provide the second sec	Clague, John J., capt. sub. dept 10, 82, 266
Conduct Conner W. nov. nov. dont 15.01	Clapp, William H., capt. 16 inf 56, 180
Candre, George W., più pay dept	
- Capron, Allyn, I It. I art	Clark, Charles H., 1h. ord. dept. 19, 107, 261, 266 Clark, Dillard H., 1h. 15 inf Clark, Edwin R., 2h. 10 inf Clark, Fort, Dept. Texas Clark, Joseph C., jr., maj. retired Clark, Joseph C., jr., maj. retired Clark, Joseph C., jr., 40, 200
Capron, Thaddens II., 1 lt. 9 inf	Clark, Dillard H., 1 lt. 15 inf
Caraber Andrew P cent 8 cay 98 121	Clerk Edwin R 2 lt. 10 inf
Coul D starts (1 set 1 st 1 st 1 77	Glark, East Dear Parez 971
- Card, Denjamin O., maj, qui, dept	Clark, Port, Dept. 10 vas
Carey, Asa B., pm. pay dept	Clark, Joseph C., jr., maj. retired
Carland, John, 1 lt. 6 inf	Clark, Sidney E., 1 It. 2 inf
Carlin William P. It and 17 inf 57 160	Cloub Wallis () 2 lf 6 cay 26 135
(1, 1) $(1, 1, 1, 1)$ $(1, 1, 1)$ $(1, 1)$ $(1, 1)$ $(1, 1)$ $(1, 1)$ $(1, 1)$	(1, 1, 3V; 11;, D, 1] 4 = 0.0000 = 0.0000 = 0.0000 = 0.0000 = 0.00000 = 0.00000 = 0.00000000
Carlton, Caleb 11., maj. 3 cav	U BERK, AV HINDER FOR THE SCORVESSES CONTRACTOR AND
Carpenter, Gilbert S., capt. 14 inf 54, 174	Clarke, Charles E., capt. retired
Carpenter, Louis II., capt. 10 cav	Clarke, Francis, capt. 22 inf
Camoutor William I 114 a set to toe	Clarke Henry F It cal sub dant 10 80
Carpenter, William L., 1 lt. 9 inf 49, 196	Clarke, Henry F., lt col. sub. dept 10, 80
Carr, Camillo C. C., capt. 1 cav	Clarke, Luke, 21t. retired
Carr. Eugene A., col. 6 cay	Clarke, Robert D., pm. pay dept 15, 94
Carrington Front do I 9 lt 1 inf 11 911	Clarke, William L., 1 lt. 23 inf
Carr, Eugene A., col. 6 cay	Clark's Point, Dept. East
Carrington, Henry B., col. retired	Clark's Point, Dept. East
Carroll, Fort, Dept. East	Clary, Robert E., col. retried
Carroll, Henry cant. 9 cay	Clay, Thomas J., 2 lt, 10 inf
	Chappy Datay T A next surg mod dent 19.88
Carton, oannero, maj. gen. ferneu	Open y, 1 cter 5, 22, assisting, include (cpt. 12, 60
Garse, George B., capt. retired	Cleghorn, John F., capt. retired 247
Carter, Mason, capt. 5 inf	Clem, John L., 1 lt. 24 inf
Carron, seminer S., may, gen, renred,, 247 Carror, George B., capt. refired,, 243 Carter, Mason, capt. 5 inf, 45, 182 Carter, Oberlin M., 21k, eng. 17, 20, 104, 260, 262 Carter, Robert G., 11k, refired,, 255 Carfor W. Nicebel, core for a start part of the start	Cleghorn, John F., capt. retired
Cartar Polyat C 11t actival 955	Clendenin, David R., maj. 8 cav
Garrey, Robert et., 1 ft. fettred	Clementi, David R., may o davision 20, 10
Carter, w. Fuzingh, assi, surg, med. depr. 14, 55	Clifford, Joseph C., capt. ord. dept 18, 106
Carter, William II., 1 lt. 6 cav	Clifford, Walter, capt. 7 inf
Carvallo, Carlos, asst. surg. med. dept 13, 89	Clift Emory W., capt. 13 inf
Constructed W 114 00 inf C9 007 050	Clinch, Fort, Dept. South
Casey, Edward W., 11t. 22 inf62, 205, 259	Children, Fort, Dept. South
Casey, James S., capt. 5 inf	Clitz, Henry B., col. 10 inf 50, 158
Casey, Silas, col. retired	Thosen Henry W mai 5 art 39 140
Casey Thomas L. It col. on a 16.98	Clove John W cant. 24 inf
Casey, Thomas L., lt. col. cng 16, 98 Casey, Thomas L., jr., 2 lt. cng 17, 20, 104	Clous, John W., capt. 24 inf
Casey, 1 nomas L., jr., 2 fr. eng17, 20, 104	Coate, John n., 1 h. 2 cav
Caswell, Fort, Dept. South	Coates, Edwin M., capt. 4 mi
Catley, Henry, 14f, 2 inf	Cobb, Edmind M., 14t. 2 art 34, 193
Catley, Henry, 14, 2 inf 217 Catley, Henry, 14, 2 inf 42, 187 Catlin, Edward H., 2 it, 2 art 34, 156 Catlin, Isaac S., col. retired 227 Catlin, Lynde, capt, retired 237	Coobran John Lasst surg med dent 11.99
Catlin Leans S and noticed	Coobron Malvillo A mai 12 inf 52 163
Carlin, 15aac 5., col. renired	C_{1} T 1_{1} T_{1} T_{2} T_{1} T_{2} T_{1} T_{2} $T_$
Qamm, Lynde, capt. refired	Coe, John N., capt. 29 mf
Catlin, Robert, capt. retired	Contrain, J. Pertone A., and T. 2011
Cavenauch, Harry G. 1 lf. 13 inf 53 193	Coffin. William IL, 2 lt, 5 art 40, 154, 259
Caziare, Louis V., 1 lt. 2 art	Collinon Toseph C. 1 lt retired 959
$C_{\rm uot}$, $C_{\rm uot}$, $D_{\rm uot}$, $D_{$	Commun Obseption, 110 februar 1000
- Geen, George R., 24t, 13 mf	Cogswell Million mai retired
Chaffee, Adna R., capt. 6 cay	Colladay, Samuel R., 1 lt. 10 cav
Chamberlin, John L., 2 lt. 1 art32, 156, 262	Colleges, Universities, &c., List of
(homborlin Lowell A 116 1 and 07 140	Collion Course W nest chan 90 100
Chamberlin, Lowell A., 1 lt. 1 art31, 149	Collier, George W., post chap20, 109
Chambers, Alexander, lf. col. 21 inf, 61, 161	Colher, William S
Chance, Jesse C., 1 lt. 13 inf	Culling Edward cont 17 inf 57 165
()home I total 116 17 to 8	Comms, Edward, Capit 17 min 11.1.1. 57, 105
	Collins, Edward, Capit, 17 un
Chance, Josiah, 1 lt. 17 inf	Collier, William S
Chandler, Elias, 24t, 16 inf	Collins, Joseph B., maj. retired
Chandler, Elias, 2 lt. 16 inf	Collins, Joseph B., maj. retired
Chandler, Elias, 2 lt. 16 inf	Collins, Joseph B., maj. retired
Chandler, Elias, 2 lt. 16 inf	Collins, Joseph B., maj. retired
Chandler, Elias, 2 lt. 16 inf	Collins, Joseph B., maj. retired
Chandler, Elias, 24t. 16 inf	Collins, Joseph B., maj. retired
Chandler, Elias, 24t, 16 inf	Collins, Joseph B., mij. retired233 Columbus Barracks, Ohio
Chandler, Elias, 24t, 16 inf	Collins, Joseph B., mij. retired233 Columbus Barracks, Ohio
Chandler, Elias, 24t, 16 inf	Collins, Joseph B., maj. retired233 Columbus Barracks, Ohio277 Columbus, Fort, Dept. East
Chandler, Elias, 24t, 16 inf	Collins, Joseph B., maj. retired233 Columbus Barracks, Ohio277 Columbus, Fort, Dept. East
Chandler, Elias, 24t, 16 inf	Collins, Joseph B., maj. retired233 Columbus Barracks, Ohio277 Columbus, Fort, Dept. East
Chandler, Elias, 24: 16 inf	Collins, Joseph B., maj. retired
Chandler, Elias, 21t. 16 inf	Collins, Joseph B., maj. retired 233 Columbus Barracks, Ohio 277 Columbus Fort, Dept. East 272 Colville, Fort, Dept. Col 272 Comba, Richard, capt. 7 inf 47, 168 Comegys, Edwd.T., asst. surg.med. dept. 13, 90 Comly, Clifton, maj. ord. dept 5 cav 25, 112 Comstock, Cyrns B., maj. eng 16, 99 20 Comlin, Fort, Dept. Texas 272 20 Compto, Charles E., It. col. 5 cav 25, 112 273 Comstock, Cyrns B., maj. eng 16, 99 20 Comlin, Fort, Dept. Texas 272 20
Chandler, Elias, 21t. 16 inf	Collins, Joseph B., maj. retired
Chandler, Elias, 24: 16 inf	Collins, Joseph B., maj. retired 233 Columbus Barracks, Ohio 277 Columbus Fort, Dept. East 272 Colville, Fort, Dept. Col 272 Comba, Richard, capt. 7 inf 47, 168 Comegys, Edwd.T., asst. surg.med. dept. 13, 90 Comly, Clifton, maj. ord. dept 5 cav 25, 112 Comstock, Cyrns B., maj. eng 16, 99 20 Comlin, Fort, Dept. Texas 272 20 Compto, Charles E., It. col. 5 cav 25, 112 273 Comstock, Cyrns B., maj. eng 16, 99 20 Comlin, Fort, Dept. Texas 272 20

•

Conrad, Casper II., capt. 15 inf......55, 180 Cook, George H., 1 lt. 19 inf..... 59, 196 Cooney, Michael, capt. 9 cay 29, 11s Corliss, Augustus W., capt. 8 inf. 48, 178 Courtney, Michael L., capt. 25 inf 65.180Cowdrey, Stevens G., asst.surg.med.dept 13, 89
 Craig, Fort, Dept. Mo
 272

 Craig, John N., capt. 10 inf.
 50, 172

 Craig, Louis A., 14t, 6 cav
 26, 132
 Crampton, Louis W., asst. surg. med. dept. 13, 91 Crandal, Frederick M., capt. 24 inf 64, 175 Crane, Charles, H., col. med. dept 11, 82 Crawford, Alexander McL., 14t. retired 252 Crawford, Medorem, jr., 1 lt. 2 art. 33, 151, 263 Crawford, Samuel W., brig, gen. retired 219 Craycroft, William T., 1 lt. retired 255 Crone, Louis E., capt. retired 242 Crosman, George II., col. retired221

Crowell, William H. H., Ilt. 6 inf46, 191 Cuningham, T.A., asst. surg. med. dept ... 14, 91 Cuyler James W., capt. (ng 16, 101 Dallas, Alexander J., lt. col. 22 inf 62, 162 Damrell, Andrew N., capt. eng 17, 101 Dapray, John A., 2 lt. 23 inf 63, 215

 Dapray, John A., 24t, 23 inf
 63, 215

 Darling John A., capt 1 att
 31, 143

 Darr, Francis J. A., 24t 12 inf
 52, 214, 259

 D. A. Russell, Fort, Dept. Platte
 272

 Daugherty, Will, W. 10, 22 inf
 62, 192

 Davide style
 84, 10, 22 inf

 Davide style
 81, add

 Davide style
 277

 Davidson, John W., col. 2 cav
 22, 111

 Davies, Fielding L., 14, 22 inf
 62, 200

 Davies, Stando, Y. H
 277

 Davidson, John W., col. 2 cav
 22, 111

 Davies, Fielding L., 14, 22 inf
 62, 200

 Davies, Charles E. L. B., capt. cng
 77, 102

 Davies, Charles E. L. D., capt. cng
 76, 05, 083

 Davis, Rohert, 1 lt. retired
 249

 Davis, Thomas F., 1 lt. 15 inf
 55, 203

 Davis, William, jr., 1 lt. 10 erv.
 30, 128

 Davis, William, B., asst. surg. med. dept., 14, 91

 Davisen, Jones, 21, 119
 24, 119

 Davisen, James, 21, retired
 256

 Dawsen, William J., capt. retired
 248

 Dawson, Byron, capt. 9 cay
 29, 124

 Dawson, Samnel K., col. retired
 222

 Day, Hannibal, col. retired
 221

 Day, Russell H., 11, 6 inf.
 46, 189

 Dav. Sublation V. 15, 5 art
 29, 147
 Decker, Theodore . . 267 De Hanne, J. Victor, asst. sarg.med.dept., 12, 88

	• · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
De Lany, Hayden, 1 lt. 9 inf	 Dunning, Samuel W., 2 R. 16 inf (2),56,214 Dunton, Warren R., 1 R. retired
Delaware, Fort, Dept East	Dunton, Warren R., 1 lt. retired
Delaware, Fort, Dept. East	Dumon, warren K. Fusieuren
De Loifre, Aug's A., asst. surg. med. dept. 13, 90	 Dunwoody, Henry H. C., 14t. 4 art 37,148
The monthly filling of the monthly filling the second se	7 Suntaine 4 Suntaine 10 Sult 50 Sult 50 Sult
Dempsey, Charles A., capt. 2 inf 42, 181	 Durham, Cass, capt. 18 inf
Dent, Frederick T., 4: eol. 5 art	Dutch Island, Fort on, Dept. East 272
Dent, Frederick, L., 10, con o are concession, inc	
Dent John C., 2 lt, 20 inf	Dutton, Clarence E., capf. ord. dept 11.18, 103
7, 1, 7, 7, 7, 7, 7, 7, 7, 7, 7, 7, 7, 7, 7,	Duvall, William P., 14t. 5 art
- Derby, George Meth, 240, eng - 111, 20, 105 -	Duvan, whilam F, Fic and Transition, 199
D. D. B. Chasha C. 13t 7 core 97 199	Dyer, Alexander B., 1 lt. 4 art
The Kutho, Charles Co., 1 in a Cast contraction, and	Dyer, Alexander B., 14, 440,
Do Russy Gustavus A. It. col. 3 art 35, 139	 Dver, S. Allen, 24t, 23 million and 55, 209
	From Charles D and sub-dayt 10.82
De Russy, Isaac D., maj. 4 inf	- magan, charles i i, capit suo, depertiti i 20, ca
J. Tadakad Didby P ad rating 992	Eakin Chemdler P cant 1 art
de Trobuand, l'huip Kayou retued	
Devin, John D., capt. retired	 Earle, Richard T., 24t, 24nt
	13
Devol, Carroll A., 2 lt. 25 inf	Earnest, CAINS A., 146.8 00
Dewees, Thomas B., capt. 2 cay	Rootman Frank F 24t 14 inf 54 212
Dewees, Thomas B., Capt. 2 Cav	Eastman, Flank F., 2 n. 34 un
Dewey, Israel O., pm. pay dept 15,94	Eastman, James E., 1 lt. 2 art
Dewey, istart or, pur pay dependent of pa	
De Witt, Calvin, asst. surg. med. dept 13, 89	Easton, Langdon C., col. qm. dept9,73
	Eaton, George O., 1 lt. 5 cav
Dickey, Charles J., cupt. 22 inf	Earon, George G., I n. o Cavinini, inc. 5, 101
Distribution Walter M 2 It Loop 91 126	Eaton, John B., 1 lt. 3 art
Dickinson, waiter and a cave concerned, and	
Dickinson, Walter M., 2 lt. 4 cav	Eaton, Joseph II., pm. pay dept
The second	121 of The Line of a set owner would done 14 00
Dickson, John M., asst. surg. med. dept., 13, 88	Ebert, Rudolph G , asst_surg, med, dept 44/92
DiBanhade John W 11t Lant 91 147	Ebstein, Frederick II, E., 1 It. 21 inf
Dillenback, John W., 1 lt. 1 art 31, 147	a second se
Dimmick, Eugene D., 1 lt. 9 cav 29, 127	Eckels, William II., pm. pay dept 15, 95 Ecketson, Theodore II., 2 lt. 19 inf 59, 209
\mathbf{L}	R.1
Dinwiddie, William A., 1 lt. 2 cav 22, 129	BURGISOR, 1 REOGOTE 11, 240, 15 BR 111, 199, 200
There $(1 + 1 + 1) + 2$ (by $(1 + 1) + 2$) (by $(1 + 1) + 2$)	Eckerson. Theo fore J., capt. qm. dept9, 76
Doane, Gustavus C., 1 lt. 2 cav	and the restored in the second s
Dodd, George A., 1 lt. 3 cav	Edgar, William F., maj. retired
	17.1
Dodd, Stephen G., post chap	Edgerly, Winfield S., 1 lt. 7 cav27, 129
1 + 1 + 1 + 1 + 1 + 1 + 1 + 1 + 1 + 1 +	Edgerton, Wright P., 2 lt. 2 art
100 fulls, clauk 12, 2 10 3 full	
Dodge Charles in 24t.24 inf	Edwands, Frank H., 1 lt. 1 inf
Dodd, Stephen G., post chap	Edwards, Charles M. 267
Dodge, Port, Dept. Mo	Extwards, Charles 51.
Dadra Evancia S num nav dant 15.06.266	- Edwards, Estan V - 24t 25 inf 65, 214
Duige, Pranets (4, June pay depression 15, 50, 255	
Dodge, Frederick L., 14t, 23 inf.,	Edwards, Charles M
T_{1} T_{2} T_{2} T_{2} T_{1} T_{1} T_{2} T_{2} T_{1} T_{2} T_{2	From Tomos and rational 911
Douge, Kichard 1., 16 col. 25 ml	- isgail, sames, capit retree treeters in the
Dadge Theodore A cant ratired 941	Egan, James, capt. retired 244 Egan, John, capt. 4 art
Dodge, Fraderick S., Jin, Jay Gept. 10, 50, 505 Dodge, Frederick L., 11, 23, 167,, 63, 165 Dodge, Richard L. It, col. 23 inf, 63, 160 Dodge, Theodore A., capt. retired	
Dolan, Michael, 1 lt. refired	Egbert, Augustus R., 1 lt. 2 inf42, 196
Durant Libre II want writing] 91]	Eghert, Harry C., capt. 12 inf
Donovan, John II., capt. retired	Equilit, Harry C., capt. 12 int
Dorst Joseph H. Ilt 4 cav. 94 131	Eggleston, Millard F., 2 lt. 10 cav30, 134
Dorst, Joseph H., 1 R. 4 cav	Ekin, James A., It. col. qm. dept 9,74
Doubleday, Abner, col. retired	Ekin, James A., It. col. qm. dept 9,74
Doubleday, Abner, col. retired	Ekin, James A., It. col. qm. dept
Doubleday, Abner, col. retired	Ekin, James A., It. col. qm. dept
Dougherty, Johner, col. retried	Ekin, James A., R. col. qui, dept
Dougherty, Johner, col. retried	Ekin, James A., R. col. qui, dept
Doubleday, Abner, col. refired	Ekin, James A., R. col. qui, dept
Dougherty, John J., Ht. 1) inf	Ekin, James A., R. col. qu. dept
Dougherty, John J., Ht. 1) inf	Ekin, James A., R. col. qu. dept
Doubleday, Abmer, col. refured	Ekin, James A., It. col. qu. dept
Doubleday, Abmer, col. refured	Ekim, James A., R. col. qu. dept
Dongherty, John J. Ht. 11 inf	Ekim, James A., R. col. qu. dept
Dougherty, John J., 11, 11 inf	Ekin, James A., It. col. qu. dept
Dougherty, John J., 11, 11 inf	Ekin, James A., It. col. qu. dept
Dougherty, John J., 11, 11 inf	Ekin, James A., It. col. qu. dept
Dougherty, John J., 11, 11 inf	Ekin, James A., R. col. qu. dept
Dougherty, John J., 11, 11 inf	Ekin, James A., R. col. qu. dept
Dougherty, John J., 11, 11 inf	Ekin, James A., R. col. qu. dept
Dougherty, John J., 11, 11 inf	Ekin, James A., R. col. qu. dept
Dombleday, Abmer, col. refired 224 Dougherty, John J., Ht. 11 inf 51, 205 Dougherty, William E., capt. 1 inf 41, 181 Douglas, Fort, Dept. Platte 272 Douglas, Samuel R., 2 it. 7 inf 272 Douglas, Samuel R., 2 it. 7 inf 270 Douglas, William O., 1 It. refired 272 Douglas, William D., 1 It. refired 250 Douglas, Henry, It. col. 14 inf 54, 161 Dowd, Henan, 2 It. 3 art 52, 178 Dowd, Robert W., 2 It. 17 inf 56, 124 Dowd, Robert W., 2 It. 17 inf 57, 212 Dowdy, Rebert E., capt. refired 281 Dowdy, Relexander E., capt. 2 I inf 61, 169 Dorake, Alexander E., capt. 2 I inf 21, 169	Ekin, James A., R. col. qu. dept
 Donbleday, Abmer, col. refired	Ekin, James A., R. col. qu. dept
 Donbleday, Abmer, col. refired	Ekin, James A., R. col. qu. dept
Dombleday, Abmer, col. reffred 224 Dongherty, John J., Ht. 11 116 51, 205 Donglerty, William E., capt. 1 inf 41, 181 Donglas, Fort, Dopt, Platte 272 Donglas, Samuel R., 2 it. 7 inf 272 Donglas, Samuel R., 2 it. 7 inf 270 Douglas, William O., 1 It. refired 270 Douglas, Henry, It. col. 14 inf 54, 161 Dowd, Henan, 2 It. 3 art 36, 154 Dowdy, Rohert W., 2 It. 17 inf 36, 154 Dowdy, Rohert W., 2 It. 17 inf 61, 169 Drake, Alexander E., capt. refired 23, 124 Drew, George M., capt. 2 inf 21, 13 Drake, Alexander E., 2 if. 6 cav 23, 124	Ekin, James A., It. col. qu. dept
Dombleday, Abmer, col. refired 224 Dougherty, John J., Ht. 1b inf 51, 205 Douglas, Fort, Dept. Platte 72 Douglas, Samuel R., 2 H. 7 inf 41, 184 Douglas, Samuel R., 2 H. 7 inf 47, 208 Pouglas, Samuel R., 2 H. 7 inf 47, 208 Douglas, Samuel R., 2 H. 7 inf 47, 208 Douglas, William O., 1 It. refired 550 Douglas, William E., capt. 12 inf 54, 161 Dowe, William E., capt. 12 inf 57, 212 Downey, George M., capt. 21 inf 61, 169 Drake, Alexander E., capt. refired 237 Drave, Edward E., 214, 6 cav 26, 133 Drave, George A., capt. 3 cav 23, 124 Drem, George A., capt. 3 cav 23, 124 Drem, On. 14, 10 inf 50, 190	$\begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$
Dombleday, Abmer, col. refired 224 Dougherty, John J., Ht. 1b inf 51, 205 Douglas, Fort, Dept. Platte 72 Douglas, Samuel R., 2 H. 7 inf 41, 184 Douglas, Samuel R., 2 H. 7 inf 47, 208 Pouglas, Samuel R., 2 H. 7 inf 47, 208 Douglas, Samuel R., 2 H. 7 inf 47, 208 Douglas, William O., 1 It. refired 550 Douglas, William E., capt. 12 inf 54, 161 Dowe, William E., capt. 12 inf 57, 212 Downey, George M., capt. 21 inf 61, 169 Drake, Alexander E., capt. refired 237 Drave, Edward E., 214, 6 cav 26, 133 Drave, George A., capt. 3 cav 23, 124 Drem, George A., capt. 3 cav 23, 124 Drem, On. 14, 10 inf 50, 190	$\begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$
Donbleday, Abmer, col. refired 224 Dougherty, John J., Ht. 1) inf 51, 205 Douglas, Fort, Dept. Platte 272 Douglas, Samuel R., 2 it. 7 inf 41, 181 Douglas, Samuel R., 2 it. 7 inf 47, 208 Douglas, William O., 1 It. refired 550 Douglas, William O., 1 It. refired 550 Douglas, William C., 11, r off 54, 161 Dove, William E., copt. 12 inf 52, 178 Dowd, Heman, 2 R. 3 art 36, 154 Dowdy, Robert W., 2 R. 17 inf 57, 212 Downey, George M., capt. 21 inf 61, 169 Drake, Alexander E., capt. refired 237 Dravo, George A., capt. 3 cav 23, 124 Drum, John, 1 R. 10 inf 50, 190 Drum, John, 1 R. 10 inf 50, 190 Drum, Kichard C., brig, gen. adj, gen. 7, 69, 260	Ekin, James A., It. col. qu. dept
Dombleday, Abmer, col. refired 224 Dougherty, John J., Ht. 11 inf 51, 205 Dougherty, William E., capt. 1 inf 41, 181 Douglas, Samuel R., 2 It. 7 inf 272 Douglas, Samuel R., 2 It. 7 inf 47, 208 Douglas, Samuel R., 2 It. 7 inf 47, 208 Douglas, William O., 1 It. refired 250 Douglas, Henry, It. col. 14 inf 54, 161 Dowdy, Robert W., 2 It. 17 inf 57, 212 Downey, Robert W., 2 It. 17 inf 57, 212 Downey, George M., capt. 21 inf 61, 169 Dravo, Edward E., 2 It. 6 cav 26, 133 Dravo, Edward E., 2 It. 6 cav 26, 133 Draw, George A., capt. 3 cav 23, 124 Drum, Kichard C., brig, gen. adj, gen. 7, 69, 266 Drum, Nilliam F., capt. 2 inf Drum, Kichard C., brig, gen. adj, gen. 7, 69, 266 Drum, 42, 165	$\begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$
Dombleday, Abmer, col. refired 224 Dougherty, John J., Ht. 11 inf 51, 205 Dougherty, William E., capt. 1 inf 41, 181 Douglas, Samuel R., 2 It. 7 inf 272 Douglas, Samuel R., 2 It. 7 inf 47, 208 Douglas, Samuel R., 2 It. 7 inf 47, 208 Douglas, William O., 1 It. refired 250 Douglas, Henry, It. col. 14 inf 54, 161 Dowdy, Robert W., 2 It. 17 inf 57, 212 Downey, Robert W., 2 It. 17 inf 57, 212 Downey, George M., capt. 21 inf 61, 169 Dravo, Edward E., 2 It. 6 cav 26, 133 Dravo, Edward E., 2 It. 6 cav 26, 133 Draw, George A., capt. 3 cav 23, 124 Drum, Kichard C., brig, gen. adj, gen. 7, 69, 266 Drum, Nilliam F., capt. 2 inf Drum, Kichard C., brig, gen. adj, gen. 7, 69, 266 Drum, 42, 165	$\begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$
Dombleday, Abmer, col. refired 224 Dougherty, John J., Ht. 11 inf 51, 205 Dougherty, William E., capt. 1 inf 41, 181 Douglas, Samuel R., 2 It. 7 inf 272 Douglas, Samuel R., 2 It. 7 inf 47, 208 Douglas, Samuel R., 2 It. 7 inf 47, 208 Douglas, William O., 1 It. refired 250 Douglas, Henry, It. col. 14 inf 54, 161 Dowdy, Robert W., 2 It. 17 inf 57, 212 Downey, Robert W., 2 It. 17 inf 57, 212 Downey, George M., capt. 21 inf 61, 169 Dravo, Edward E., 2 It. 6 cav 26, 133 Dravo, Edward E., 2 It. 6 cav 26, 133 Draw, George A., capt. 3 cav 23, 124 Drum, Kichard C., brig, gen. adj, gen. 7, 69, 266 Drum, Nilliam F., capt. 2 inf Drum, Kichard C., brig, gen. adj, gen. 7, 69, 266 Drum, 42, 165	Ekin, James A., It. col. qu. dept
Dombleday, Abmer, col. refired 224 Dougherty, John J., Ht. 11 inf 51, 205 Dougherty, William E., capt. 1 inf 41, 181 Douglas, Samuel R., 2 It. 7 inf 272 Douglas, Samuel R., 2 It. 7 inf 47, 208 Douglas, Samuel R., 2 It. 7 inf 47, 208 Douglas, William O., 1 It. refired 250 Douglas, Henry, It. col. 14 inf 54, 161 Dowdy, Robert W., 2 It. 17 inf 57, 212 Downey, Robert W., 2 It. 17 inf 57, 212 Downey, George M., capt. 21 inf 61, 169 Dravo, Edward E., 2 It. 6 cav 26, 133 Dravo, Edward E., 2 It. 6 cav 26, 133 Draw, George A., capt. 3 cav 23, 124 Drum, Kichard C., brig, gen. adj, gen. 7, 69, 266 Drum, Nilliam F., capt. 2 inf Drum, Kichard C., brig, gen. adj, gen. 7, 69, 266 Drum, 42, 165	Ekin, James A., It. col. qu. dept
Donbleday, Abmer, col. reffred 224 Dongherty, John J. Ht. Ji fif 51, 205 Donglas, Fort, Dept. Platte 51, 205 Donglas, Samuel R., 2 It. 7 inf 41, 181 Douglas, Samuel R., 2 It. 7 inf 272 Donglas, Samuel R., 2 It. 7 inf 274 Douglas, William O., 1 It. refired 250 Douglas, Henry, It. col. 14 inf 54, 161 Dowd, Henan, 2 It. 6 art 36, 154 Dowd, Robert W., 2 It. 17 inf 56, 154 Dowdy, Robert W., 2 It. 17 inf 57, 212 Dowdy, Robert W., 2 It. 17 inf 56, 154 Dorey, George M., capt. 2 I inf 61, 169 Drake, Alexander E., capt. refired 23, 124 Draw, George M., capt. 3 cav 23, 124 Drum, John, J. H. 10 inf 50, 190 Drum, Richard C., brig, gen. adj. gen 769, 266 Drum, William F., capt. 2 inf 42, 165 Drumy, Thomes, cept. 2 inf 42, 165 Drumy, Thomes,	$\begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$
$\begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	Ekin, James A., It. col. qu. dept
$ \begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	Ekin, James A., It. col. qu. dept
Dombleday, Abmer, col. reffred 224 Dongherty, John J., Ht. Ji Inf 51, 205 Donglas, Fort, Dept. Platte 41, 181 Donglas, Sammel R., 2 It. 7 inf 272 Donglas, Sammel R., 2 It. 7 inf 272 Donglas, William O., 1 It. refired 250 Douglas, Sammel R., 2 It. 7 inf 41, 208 Douglas, William O., 1 It. refired 250 Dowglas, Henry, It. col. 14 inf 54, 161 Dowd, Henan, 2 It. 3 art 36, 154 Dowdy, Robert W., 2 It. 17 inf 36, 154 Dowdy, Robert W., 2 It. 17 inf 36, 154 Dowdy, Robert W., 2 It. 17 inf 36, 154 Dowdy, Robert W., 2 It. 16 inf 237 Drake, Alexander E., capt. refired 23, 124 Drum, John, J. H. 40 inf 50, 190 Drum, Richard C., brig, gen. adj. gen. 7, 69, 266 50 Drum, William F., capt. 2 inf 42, 165 Drum, William F., capt. 2 inf 42, 164 Duane, James C., H. col. eng 16, 97 Duane, James C., H. col. eng 16, 97 Duane, Barey, Beckman, maj, sub, dept. 10, 80, 261 90	Ekin, James A., It. col. qu. dept
Dombleday, Abmer, col. reffred 224 Dongherty, John J., Ht. Ji Inf 51, 205 Donglas, Fort, Dept. Platte 41, 181 Donglas, Sammel R., 2 It. 7 inf 272 Donglas, Sammel R., 2 It. 7 inf 272 Donglas, William O., 1 It. refired 250 Douglas, Sammel R., 2 It. 7 inf 41, 208 Douglas, William O., 1 It. refired 250 Dowglas, Henry, It. col. 14 inf 54, 161 Dowd, Henan, 2 It. 3 art 36, 154 Dowdy, Robert W., 2 It. 17 inf 36, 154 Dowdy, Robert W., 2 It. 17 inf 36, 154 Dowdy, Robert W., 2 It. 17 inf 36, 154 Dowdy, Robert W., 2 It. 16 inf 237 Drake, Alexander E., capt. refired 23, 124 Drum, John, J. H. 40 inf 50, 190 Drum, Richard C., brig, gen. adj. gen. 7, 69, 266 50 Drum, William F., capt. 2 inf 42, 165 Drum, William F., capt. 2 inf 42, 164 Duane, James C., H. col. eng 16, 97 Duane, James C., H. col. eng 16, 97 Duane, Barey, Beckman, maj, sub, dept. 10, 80, 261 90	Ekin, James A., It. col. qu. dept 9, 74 Elirey, Fred'k W., asst, surg, med. dept 13, 89 Elder, Sannel S., capt, 1 art
Dombleday, Abmer, col. reffred 224 Dongherty, John J., Ht. Ji Inf 51, 205 Donglas, Fort, Dept. Platte 41, 181 Donglas, Sammel R., 2 It. 7 inf 272 Donglas, Sammel R., 2 It. 7 inf 272 Donglas, William O., 1 It. refired 250 Douglas, Sammel R., 2 It. 7 inf 41, 208 Douglas, William O., 1 It. refired 250 Dowglas, Henry, It. col. 14 inf 54, 161 Dowd, Henan, 2 It. 3 art 36, 154 Dowdy, Robert W., 2 It. 17 inf 36, 154 Dowdy, Robert W., 2 It. 17 inf 36, 154 Dowdy, Robert W., 2 It. 17 inf 36, 154 Dowdy, Robert W., 2 It. 16 inf 237 Drake, Alexander E., capt. refired 23, 124 Drum, John, J. H. 40 inf 50, 190 Drum, Richard C., brig, gen. adj. gen. 7, 69, 266 50 Drum, William F., capt. 2 inf 42, 165 Drum, William F., capt. 2 inf 42, 164 Duane, James C., H. col. eng 16, 97 Duane, James C., H. col. eng 16, 97 Duane, Barey, Beckman, maj, sub, dept. 10, 80, 261 90	Ekin, James A., It. col. qu. dept 9, 74 Elirey, Fred'k W., asst, surg, med. dept 13, 89 Elder, Sannel S., capt, 1 art
Dombleday, Abmer, col. reffred 224 Dongherty, John J., Ht. Ji Inf 51, 205 Donglas, Fort, Dept. Platte 41, 181 Donglas, Sammel R., 2 It. 7 inf 272 Donglas, Sammel R., 2 It. 7 inf 272 Donglas, William O., 1 It. refired 250 Douglas, Sammel R., 2 It. 7 inf 41, 208 Douglas, William O., 1 It. refired 250 Dowglas, Henry, It. col. 14 inf 54, 161 Dowd, Henan, 2 It. 3 art 36, 154 Dowdy, Robert W., 2 It. 17 inf 36, 154 Dowdy, Robert W., 2 It. 17 inf 36, 154 Dowdy, Robert W., 2 It. 17 inf 36, 154 Dowdy, Robert W., 2 It. 16 inf 237 Drake, Alexander E., capt. refired 23, 124 Drum, John, J. H. 40 inf 50, 190 Drum, Richard C., brig, gen. adj. gen. 7, 69, 266 50 Drum, William F., capt. 2 inf 42, 165 Drum, William F., capt. 2 inf 42, 164 Duane, James C., H. col. eng 16, 97 Duane, James C., H. col. eng 16, 97 Duane, Barey, Beckman, maj, sub, dept. 10, 80, 261 90	Ekin, James A., It. col. qu. dept
Dombleday, Abmer, col. reffred 224 Dongherty, John J., Ht. Ji Inf 51, 205 Donglas, Fort, Dept. Platte 41, 181 Donglas, Sammel R., 2 It. 7 inf 272 Donglas, Sammel R., 2 It. 7 inf 272 Donglas, William O., 1 It. refired 250 Douglas, Sammel R., 2 It. 7 inf 41, 208 Douglas, William O., 1 It. refired 250 Dowglas, Henry, It. col. 14 inf 54, 161 Dowd, Henan, 2 It. 3 art 36, 154 Dowdy, Robert W., 2 It. 17 inf 36, 154 Dowdy, Robert W., 2 It. 17 inf 36, 154 Dowdy, Robert W., 2 It. 17 inf 36, 154 Dowdy, Robert W., 2 It. 16 inf 237 Drake, Alexander E., capt. refired 23, 124 Drum, John, J. H. 40 inf 50, 190 Drum, Richard C., brig, gen. adj. gen. 7, 69, 266 50 Drum, William F., capt. 2 inf 42, 165 Drum, William F., capt. 2 inf 42, 164 Duane, James C., H. col. eng 16, 97 Duane, James C., H. col. eng 16, 97 Duane, Barey, Beckman, maj, sub, dept. 10, 80, 261 90	Ekin, James A., It. col. qu. dept
Dombleday, Abmer, col. reffred 224 Dongherty, John J. Ht. Ji fuf 51, 205 Donglas, Fort, Dept. Platte 51, 205 Donglas, Sammel R., 2 It. 7 inf 41, 181 Donglas, Sammel R., 2 It. 7 inf 272 Donglas, William O., 1 It. refired 250 Douglas, Sammel R., 2 It. 7 inf 47, 208 Douglas, William O., 1 It. refired 250 Dowg, Henry, It. col. 14 inf 54, 161 Powe, William E., capt. 12 inf 56, 154 Dowd, Robert W., 2 It. 17 inf 56, 154 Dowdy, Robert W., 2 It. 17 inf 56, 154 Dowdy, Robert W., 2 It. 17 inf 56, 154 Dowdy, Robert W., 2 It. 17 inf 56, 154 Dowdy, Robert W., 2 It. 16 cav 23, 124 Draw, George A., capt. 3 cav 23, 124 Draw, George A., capt. 3 cav 23, 124 Drum, John, J. H. 40 inf 50, 190 Drum, Richard C., brig, gen. adj. gen 7, 69, 266 50 Drum, William F., capt. 2 inf 42, 165 Drum, William F., capt. 2 inf 42, 165 Drum, Thomes, crpt. 2 inf 42, 165 Durant, Arthmr C., it. 2 inf 20, 216 Du Bois,	Ekin, James A., It. col. qu. dept
Dombleday, Abmer, col. reffred 224 Dongherty, John J. Ht. Ji fuf 51, 205 Donglas, Fort, Dept. Platte 51, 205 Donglas, Sammel R., 2 It. 7 inf 41, 181 Donglas, Sammel R., 2 It. 7 inf 272 Donglas, William O., 1 It. refired 250 Douglas, Sammel R., 2 It. 7 inf 47, 208 Douglas, William O., 1 It. refired 250 Dowg, Henry, It. col. 14 inf 54, 161 Powe, William E., capt. 12 inf 56, 154 Dowd, Robert W., 2 It. 17 inf 56, 154 Dowdy, Robert W., 2 It. 17 inf 56, 154 Dowdy, Robert W., 2 It. 17 inf 56, 154 Dowdy, Robert W., 2 It. 17 inf 56, 154 Dowdy, Robert W., 2 It. 16 cav 23, 124 Draw, George A., capt. 3 cav 23, 124 Draw, George A., capt. 3 cav 23, 124 Drum, John, J. H. 40 inf 50, 190 Drum, Richard C., brig, gen. adj. gen 7, 69, 266 50 Drum, William F., capt. 2 inf 42, 165 Drum, William F., capt. 2 inf 42, 165 Drum, Thomes, crpt. 2 inf 42, 165 Durant, Arthmr C., it. 2 inf 20, 216 Du Bois,	Ekin, James A., It. col. qu. dept
Donbleday, Abmer, col. refired 224 Dongherty, John J., Ht. Ji Inf 51, 205 Donglas, Fort, Dept. Platte 52, 205 Donglas, Samuel R., 2 it. 7 inf 41, 181 Donglas, Samuel R., 2 it. 7 inf 272 Donglas, Samuel R., 2 it. 7 inf 276 Donglas, William O., 1 It. refired 250 Donglas, William D., 1 It. refired 250 Dowglas, William E., capt. 12 inf 54, 161 Dowd, Henan, 2 It. 3 art 36, 154 Dowd, Robert W., 2 It. 17 inf 57, 212 Dowder, George M., capt. 21 inf 61, 169 Drake, A lexander E., capt. refired 23, 124 Drum, George A., capt. 3 cav 23, 124 Drum, Richard C., brig: gen. adj. gen. 7, 69, 266 76, 926 Drum, William F., capt. 2 inf 42, 165 Drumy, Thomas, cript. 2 inf 42, 184 Duane, James C., It. col. eng 250 Duarde, James C., 1 It. refired 250 Duarde, S. Richard C., 114. refired 250 Duarde, James C., 1 It. cat. 23, 134 Duarde, James C., 1 It. cat. 23, 136 Duarde, S. Richard C., 114. cat. 24, 152 <	$ \begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$
Donbleday, Abmer, col. refired 224 Dongherty, John J., Ht. Ji Inf 51, 205 Donglas, Fort, Dept. Platte 52, 205 Donglas, Samuel R., 2 it. 7 inf 41, 181 Donglas, Samuel R., 2 it. 7 inf 272 Donglas, Samuel R., 2 it. 7 inf 276 Donglas, William O., 1 It. refired 250 Donglas, William D., 1 It. refired 250 Dowglas, William E., capt. 12 inf 54, 161 Dowd, Henan, 2 It. 3 art 36, 154 Dowd, Robert W., 2 It. 17 inf 57, 212 Dowder, George M., capt. 21 inf 61, 169 Drake, A lexander E., capt. refired 23, 124 Drum, George A., capt. 3 cav 23, 124 Drum, Richard C., brig: gen. adj. gen. 7, 69, 266 76, 926 Drum, William F., capt. 2 inf 42, 165 Drumy, Thomas, cript. 2 inf 42, 184 Duane, James C., It. col. eng 250 Duarde, James C., 1 It. refired 250 Duarde, S. Richard C., 114. refired 250 Duarde, James C., 1 It. cat. 23, 134 Duarde, James C., 1 It. cat. 23, 136 Duarde, S. Richard C., 114. cat. 24, 152 <	$ \begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$
Donbleday, Abmer, col. refired 224 Dongherty, John J., Ht. Ji Inf 51, 205 Donglas, Fort, Dept. Platte 52, 205 Donglas, Samuel R., 2 it. 7 inf 41, 181 Donglas, Samuel R., 2 it. 7 inf 272 Donglas, Samuel R., 2 it. 7 inf 276 Donglas, William O., 1 It. refired 250 Donglas, William D., 1 It. refired 250 Dowg Mass, Henry, It. col. 14 inf 54, 161 Dowd, Henan, 2 It. 3 art 36, 154 Dowd, Robert W., 2 It. 17 inf 57, 212 Dowdy, Robert W., 2 It. 17 inf 56, 133 Dravo, Edward E., 2 It. 6 cav 23, 124 Drum, Klehard C., brig gen. adj. gen 76, 926 Drum, Richard C., brig gen. adj. gen 76, 926 Drum, William F., capt. 2 inf 42, 165 Drum, William F., capt. 2 inf 42, 184 Duane, James C., It. col. eng 16, 97 Du Barry, Beekman, maj. sub. dept. 10, 80, 261 Du Barry, Beekman, maj. sub. dept. 10, 80, 261 Du Barry, Beekman, Maj. Sub. dept 10, 80, 261 Du Bois, Richard C., 11t. refired 250 Dudey, Nathan A., M., R. col. 9 cav. 23, 136 Dudey, Nathan A., M., tol. 9 cav. 29, 111	Ekin, James A., R. col. qu. dept 9, 74 Elbrey, Fred'k W., asst, surg, med. dept
Donbleday, Abmer, col. refired 224 Dongherty, John J., Ht. Ji Inf 51, 205 Donglas, Fort, Dept. Platte 52, 205 Donglas, Samuel R., 2 it. 7 inf 41, 181 Donglas, Samuel R., 2 it. 7 inf 272 Donglas, Samuel R., 2 it. 7 inf 276 Donglas, William O., 1 It. refired 250 Donglas, William D., 1 It. refired 250 Dowg Mass, Henry, It. col. 14 inf 54, 161 Dowd, Henan, 2 It. 3 art 36, 154 Dowd, Robert W., 2 It. 17 inf 57, 212 Dowdy, Robert W., 2 It. 17 inf 56, 133 Dravo, Edward E., 2 It. 6 cav 23, 124 Drum, Klehard C., brig gen. adj. gen 76, 926 Drum, Richard C., brig gen. adj. gen 76, 926 Drum, William F., capt. 2 inf 42, 165 Drum, William F., capt. 2 inf 42, 184 Duane, James C., It. col. eng 16, 97 Du Barry, Beekman, maj. sub. dept. 10, 80, 261 Du Barry, Beekman, maj. sub. dept. 10, 80, 261 Du Barry, Beekman, Maj. Sub. dept 10, 80, 261 Du Bois, Richard C., 11t. refired 250 Dudey, Nathan A., M., R. col. 9 cav. 23, 136 Dudey, Nathan A., M., tol. 9 cav. 29, 111	Ekin, James A., R. col. qu. dept 9, 74 Elbrey, Fred'k W., asst, surg, med. dept
Donbleday, Abmer, col. refired 224 Dongherty, John J., Ht. Ji Inf 51, 205 Donglas, Fort, Dept. Platte 52, 205 Donglas, Samuel R., 2 it. 7 inf 41, 181 Donglas, Samuel R., 2 it. 7 inf 272 Donglas, Samuel R., 2 it. 7 inf 276 Donglas, William O., 1 It. refired 250 Donglas, William D., 1 It. refired 250 Dowg Mass, Henry, It. col. 14 inf 54, 161 Dowd, Henan, 2 It. 3 art 36, 154 Dowd, Robert W., 2 It. 17 inf 57, 212 Dowdy, Robert W., 2 It. 17 inf 56, 133 Dravo, Edward E., 2 It. 6 cav 23, 124 Drum, Klehard C., brig gen. adj. gen 76, 926 Drum, Richard C., brig gen. adj. gen 76, 926 Drum, William F., capt. 2 inf 42, 165 Drum, William F., capt. 2 inf 42, 184 Duane, James C., It. col. eng 16, 97 Du Barry, Beekman, maj. sub. dept. 10, 80, 261 Du Barry, Beekman, maj. sub. dept. 10, 80, 261 Du Barry, Beekman, Maj. Sub. dept 10, 80, 261 Du Bois, Richard C., 11t. refired 250 Dudey, Nathan A., M., R. col. 9 cav. 23, 136 Dudey, Nathan A., M., tol. 9 cav. 29, 111	Ekin, James A., R. col. qu. dept 9, 74 Elbrey, Fred'k W., asst, surg, med. dept
Donbleday, Abmer, col. refired 224 Dongherty, John J., Ht. Ji Inf 51, 205 Donglas, Fort, Dept. Platte 52, 205 Donglas, Samuel R., 2 it. 7 inf 41, 181 Donglas, Samuel R., 2 it. 7 inf 272 Donglas, Samuel R., 2 it. 7 inf 276 Donglas, William O., 1 It. refired 250 Donglas, William D., 1 It. refired 250 Dowg Mass, Henry, It. col. 14 inf 54, 161 Dowd, Henan, 2 It. 3 art 36, 154 Dowd, Robert W., 2 It. 17 inf 57, 212 Dowdy, Robert W., 2 It. 17 inf 56, 133 Dravo, Edward E., 2 It. 6 cav 23, 124 Drum, Klehard C., brig gen. adj. gen 76, 926 Drum, Richard C., brig gen. adj. gen 76, 926 Drum, William F., capt. 2 inf 42, 165 Drum, William F., capt. 2 inf 42, 184 Duane, James C., It. col. eng 16, 97 Du Barry, Beekman, maj. sub. dept. 10, 80, 261 Du Barry, Beekman, maj. sub. dept. 10, 80, 261 Du Barry, Beekman, Maj. Sub. dept 10, 80, 261 Du Bois, Richard C., 11t. refired 250 Dudey, Nathan A., M., R. col. 9 cav. 23, 136 Dudey, Nathan A., M., tol. 9 cav. 29, 111	Ekin, James A., R. col. qu. dept 9, 74 Elbrey, Fred'k W., asst, surg, med. dept
Donbleday, Abmer, col. refired 224 Dongherty, John J., Ht. Ji Inf 51, 205 Donglas, Fort, Dept. Platte 52, 205 Donglas, Samuel R., 2 it. 7 inf 41, 181 Donglas, Samuel R., 2 it. 7 inf 272 Donglas, Samuel R., 2 it. 7 inf 276 Donglas, William O., 1 It. refired 250 Donglas, William D., 1 It. refired 250 Dowg Mass, Henry, It. col. 14 inf 54, 161 Dowd, Henan, 2 It. 3 art 36, 154 Dowd, Robert W., 2 It. 17 inf 57, 212 Dowdy, Robert W., 2 It. 17 inf 56, 133 Dravo, Edward E., 2 It. 6 cav 23, 124 Drum, Klehard C., brig gen. adj. gen 76, 926 Drum, Richard C., brig gen. adj. gen 76, 926 Drum, William F., capt. 2 inf 42, 165 Drum, William F., capt. 2 inf 42, 184 Duane, James C., It. col. eng 16, 97 Du Barry, Beekman, maj. sub. dept. 10, 80, 261 Du Barry, Beekman, maj. sub. dept. 10, 80, 261 Du Barry, Beekman, Maj. Sub. dept 10, 80, 261 Du Bois, Richard C., 11t. refired 250 Dudey, Nathan A., M., R. col. 9 cav. 23, 136 Dudey, Nathan A., M., tol. 9 cav. 29, 111	Ekin, James A., R. col. qu. dept 9, 74 Elbrey, Fred'k W., asst, surg, med. dept
Donbleday, Abmer, col. refired 224 Dongherty, John J., Ht. Ji Inf 51, 205 Donglas, Fort, Dept. Platte 52, 205 Donglas, Samuel R., 2 it. 7 inf 41, 181 Donglas, Samuel R., 2 it. 7 inf 272 Donglas, Samuel R., 2 it. 7 inf 276 Donglas, William O., 1 It. refired 250 Donglas, William D., 1 It. refired 250 Dowg Mass, Henry, It. col. 14 inf 54, 161 Dowd, Henan, 2 It. 3 art 36, 154 Dowd, Robert W., 2 It. 17 inf 57, 212 Dowdy, Robert W., 2 It. 17 inf 56, 133 Dravo, Edward E., 2 It. 6 cav 23, 124 Drum, Klehard C., brig gen. adj. gen 76, 926 Drum, Richard C., brig gen. adj. gen 76, 926 Drum, William F., capt. 2 inf 42, 165 Drum, William F., capt. 2 inf 42, 184 Duane, James C., It. col. eng 16, 97 Du Barry, Beekman, maj. sub. dept. 10, 80, 261 Du Barry, Beekman, maj. sub. dept. 10, 80, 261 Du Barry, Beekman, Maj. Sub. dept 10, 80, 261 Du Bois, Richard C., 11t. refired 250 Dudey, Nathan A., M., R. col. 9 cav. 23, 136 Dudey, Nathan A., M., tol. 9 cav. 29, 111	Ekin, James A., It. col. qu. dept
Donbleday, Abmer, col. refired 224 Dongherty, John J., Ht. Ji Inf 51, 205 Donglas, Fort, Dept. Platte 52, 205 Donglas, Samuel R., 2 it. 7 inf 41, 181 Donglas, Samuel R., 2 it. 7 inf 272 Donglas, Samuel R., 2 it. 7 inf 276 Donglas, William O., 1 It. refired 250 Donglas, William D., 1 It. refired 250 Dowg Mass, Henry, It. col. 14 inf 54, 161 Dowd, Henan, 2 It. 3 art 36, 154 Dowd, Robert W., 2 It. 17 inf 57, 212 Dowdy, Robert W., 2 It. 17 inf 56, 133 Dravo, Edward E., 2 It. 6 cav 23, 124 Drum, Klehard C., brig gen. adj. gen 76, 926 Drum, Richard C., brig gen. adj. gen 76, 926 Drum, William F., capt. 2 inf 42, 165 Drum, William F., capt. 2 inf 42, 184 Duane, James C., It. col. eng 16, 97 Du Barry, Beekman, maj. sub. dept. 10, 80, 261 Du Barry, Beekman, maj. sub. dept. 10, 80, 261 Du Barry, Beekman, Maj. Sub. dept 10, 80, 261 Du Bois, Richard C., 11t. refired 250 Dudey, Nathan A., M., R. col. 9 cav. 23, 136 Dudey, Nathan A., M., tol. 9 cav. 29, 111	Ekin, James A., It. col. qu. dept
Donbleday, Abmer, col. refired 224 Dongherty, John J., Ht. Ji Inf 51, 205 Donglas, Fort, Dept. Platte 52, 205 Donglas, Samuel R., 2 it. 7 inf 41, 181 Donglas, Samuel R., 2 it. 7 inf 272 Donglas, Samuel R., 2 it. 7 inf 276 Donglas, William O., 1 It. refired 250 Donglas, William D., 1 It. refired 250 Dowg Mass, Henry, It. col. 14 inf 54, 161 Dowd, Henan, 2 It. 3 art 36, 154 Dowd, Robert W., 2 It. 17 inf 57, 212 Dowdy, Robert W., 2 It. 17 inf 56, 133 Dravo, Edward E., 2 It. 6 cav 23, 124 Drum, Klehard C., brig gen. adj. gen 76, 926 Drum, Richard C., brig gen. adj. gen 76, 926 Drum, William F., capt. 2 inf 42, 165 Drum, William F., capt. 2 inf 42, 184 Duane, James C., It. col. eng 16, 97 Du Barry, Beekman, maj. sub. dept. 10, 80, 261 Du Barry, Beekman, maj. sub. dept. 10, 80, 261 Du Barry, Beekman, Maj. Sub. dept 10, 80, 261 Du Bois, Richard C., 11t. refired 250 Dudey, Nathan A., M., R. col. 9 cav. 23, 136 Dudey, Nathan A., M., tol. 9 cav. 29, 111	Ekin, James A., It. col. qu. dept
Donbleday, Abmer, col. refired 224 Dongherty, John J., Ht. Ji Inf 51, 205 Donglas, Fort, Dept. Platte 52, 205 Donglas, Samuel R., 2 it. 7 inf 41, 181 Donglas, Samuel R., 2 it. 7 inf 272 Donglas, Samuel R., 2 it. 7 inf 276 Donglas, William O., 1 It. refired 250 Donglas, William D., 1 It. refired 250 Dowg Mass, Henry, It. col. 14 inf 54, 161 Dowd, Henan, 2 It. 3 art 36, 154 Dowd, Robert W., 2 It. 17 inf 57, 212 Dowdy, Robert W., 2 It. 17 inf 56, 133 Dravo, Edward E., 2 It. 6 cav 23, 124 Drum, Klehard C., brig gen. adj. gen 76, 926 Drum, Richard C., brig gen. adj. gen 76, 926 Drum, William F., capt. 2 inf 42, 165 Drum, William F., capt. 2 inf 42, 184 Duane, James C., It. col. eng 16, 97 Du Barry, Beekman, maj. sub. dept. 10, 80, 261 Du Barry, Beekman, maj. sub. dept. 10, 80, 261 Du Barry, Beekman, Maj. Sub. dept 10, 80, 261 Du Bois, Richard C., 11t. refired 250 Dudey, Nathan A., M., R. col. 9 cav. 23, 136 Dudey, Nathan A., M., tol. 9 cav. 29, 111	Ekin, James A., It. col. qu. dept
Donbleday, Abmer, col. refired 224 Dongherty, John J., Ht. Ji Inf 51, 205 Donglas, Fort, Dept. Platte 52, 205 Donglas, Samuel R., 2 it. 7 inf 41, 181 Donglas, Samuel R., 2 it. 7 inf 272 Donglas, Samuel R., 2 it. 7 inf 276 Donglas, William O., 1 It. refired 250 Donglas, William D., 1 It. refired 250 Dowg Mass, Henry, It. col. 14 inf 54, 161 Dowd, Henan, 2 It. 3 art 36, 154 Dowd, Robert W., 2 It. 17 inf 57, 212 Dowdy, Robert W., 2 It. 17 inf 56, 133 Dravo, Edward E., 2 It. 6 cav 23, 124 Drum, Klehard C., brig gen. adj. gen 76, 926 Drum, Richard C., brig gen. adj. gen 76, 926 Drum, William F., capt. 2 inf 42, 165 Drum, William F., capt. 2 inf 42, 184 Duane, James C., It. col. eng 16, 97 Du Barry, Beekman, maj. sub. dept. 10, 80, 261 Du Barry, Beekman, maj. sub. dept. 10, 80, 261 Du Barry, Beekman, Maj. Sub. dept 10, 80, 261 Du Bois, Richard C., 11t. refired 250 Dudey, Nathan A., M., R. col. 9 cav. 23, 136 Dudey, Nathan A., M., tol. 9 cav. 29, 111	$ \begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$
Donbleday, Abmer, col. refired 224 Dongherty, John J., Ht. Ji Inf 51, 205 Donglas, Fort, Dept. Platte 52, 205 Donglas, Samuel R., 2 it. 7 inf 41, 181 Donglas, Samuel R., 2 it. 7 inf 272 Donglas, Samuel R., 2 it. 7 inf 276 Donglas, William O., 1 It. refired 250 Donglas, William D., 1 It. refired 250 Donglas, William E., capt. 12 inf 54, 161 Dowd, Henan, 2 It. 3 art 36, 154 Dowd, Robert W., 2 It. 17 inf 57, 212 Dowder, George M., capt. 21 inf 61, 169 Drake, A lexander E., capt. refired 23, 124 Drum, George A., capt. 3 cav 23, 124 Drum, Richard C., brig: gen. adj. gen. 7, 69, 266 76, 926 Drum, William F., capt. 2 inf 42, 165 Drumy, Thomas, cript. 2 inf 42, 184 Duane, James C., It. col. eng 250 Duarde, James C., 1 It. refired 250 Duarde, Stehard C., 1 It. refired 250 Duarde, James C., 1 It. cat. 23, 134 Duarde, Stehard C., 1 It. refired 250 Duarde, Stehard C., 1 It. cat. 24, 152	$\begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$
$\begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	$\begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$
$ \begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	$ \begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$

Ewers, Ezra P., capt. 5 inf	
Fining Funda S good 10 inf 56 196	
1.5wing, Evalus 6., capte to inf	
Ewers, Ezra P., capt. 5 inf	
Falal: William most 2 inf 49 170	
garek, synnam, capit 2 nn	
Farley, Joseph P., mai, ord. dept 1, 18, 105, 277	
Entry of H and I a	
Farnsworth, Henry J., capt. 8 cav 28, 122	
Faraular Francis II mai eng 16 100	
and the state of t	
Parrow, Edward S., 241, 21 mt61, 208	
Fabian Carrie I H as nor dont 11.02	
i chiger, cleange 12, ii. con pay deperter 14, 55	
Febiger, Lea, 24t, 23 inf 63, 209	
Furlist Edmond C must Sugar 98 190	
recher, famond er, capit o cav riffinge, 120	
Ferris, Samuel P., eant. 4 inf	
Fessenden, Francis, brig. gen. retired 220	
Fossendon Joshun A. 14, 5 art	
L'assentient, reasonna 21., 1 m. a art	
$\begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	
Fishman Custov J. 916 on a 17-90 Int.	
1000ger, oasiav 9., 211.01g	
Field, Edward, capt. 4 ait	
Fight Testing V must style and date 19 to	
Timey, James A., assi, surg, med. dept., 15, 50	
Finley, Leighton, 2 B, 10 cay,	
Punley, watter 12, 241, 9 cav	
Finn's band Battery at Deat Fast 979	
The stone, barrery at, be ple base	
-Fisk, Walter D., Uit.eng	
Fitab (Imborn D) dis milat 969	
A nen, oranam 17., dis. cadet	
Fitch. William G., 14t. retired	
Electric and a Million of the stand of the stand	
Puz Geraid, Michaeta., capi. reffred 246	
Fitznatrick Patrick 14t. retired 254	
Plagter, Damet W., maj. ord. dept., 18, 105, 277	
Fleming Hugh B mai retired 222	
Fletcher, Edmund 1., 14, 13 ml	
Flatabar Lashin S in mai 99 inf 62 161	
reference, absinua e., jr., maj, co mi	
Fletcher, Robert H., 14t, 21 inf 61, 200	
E1 + 1 - 1 - 1111 + - + + + + + + +	
-racioner, winnam, capit 20 mi - 1111 - 100, 114	
Flint Franklin F col 4 inf 44 158	
121 11 11 11 11 11 11 11	
-rupper, Henry O., 24t, 10 cav	
TVI STATES AND A S	
± 10 y d, ± 0.000 ct 11., ± 10 , ± 18 mt	
Floyd, Daniel II., 1 R. 18 mt	
Floyd-Jones, DeLancey, col. retired 224 Floyd-Jones, DeLancey, col. retired 224	
Fletcher, Edmund L., 14, 13 ml	
Floyd, Daniel H., 14, 18 ml	
Floyd, Daniel H., Flu, B. mi,	
Floyd-Jonney, De Lancey, col. retired 224 Floyd-Jones, De Lancey, col. retired 224 Flynn, William F., dis. cadet 262 Foltz, Frederick S., 24, 1/cav 21, 35 Foote, Foote, Lopt, East 272	
Floyd-Jonnet II., 14, 18 million, 55, 204 Floyd-Jones, De Lancey, col. retired 224 Flynn, William F., dis, cadet 224 Flynn, William F., dis, cadet 224 Flynn, Floyd, Flynn, 224 Flotz, Frederick S., 24, 1 cav. 225 Foote, Fort, Dept, East 227 Foote, Foote,	
Floyd-Jonner M., 14, 18 million, 58, 204 Floyd-Jones, De Lancey, col. retired	
Foltz, Frederick S., 24, 1 cav	
Foltz, Frederick S., 24, 1 cav	
Foltz, Frederick S., 24, 1 eav. 21, 35 Forte, Fort, Dept, East. 272 Forte, George F., 14, 8 eav. 28, 126 Forte, George F., 14, 8 eav. 49, 189 Fortes, Morris C., 14, 9 inf. 49, 189 Fortes, Thumburg K. 14, 5 inf. 45, 108	
Foltz, Frederick S., 24, 1 eav. 21, 35 Forte, Fort, Dept, East. 272 Forte, George F., 14, 8 eav. 28, 126 Forte, George F., 14, 8 eav. 49, 189 Fortes, Morris C., 14, 9 inf. 49, 189 Fortes, Thumburg K. 14, 5 inf. 45, 108	
Foltz, Frederick S., 24, 1 eav. 21, 35 Forte, Fort, Dept, East. 272 Forte, George F., 14, 8 eav. 28, 126 Forte, George F., 14, 8 eav. 49, 189 Fortes, Morris C., 14, 9 inf. 49, 189 Fortes, Thumburg K. 14, 5 inf. 45, 108	
Foltz, Frederick S., 24, 1 cav	
Foltz, Frederick S., 24, 1 cav	
Foltz, Frederick S., 24, 1 cav	
Foltz, Frederick S., 24, 1 cav	
Foltz, Frederick S., 24, 1 cav	
Foltz, Frederick S., 24, 1 cav	
Foltz, Frederick S., 24, 1 cav	
Foltz, Frederick S., 24, 1 cav	
Foltz, Frederick S., 24, 1 cav	
Foltz, Frederick S., 24, 1 cav	
Foltz, Frederick S., 24, 1 cav	
Foltz, Frederick S., 24, 1 cav	
Foltz, Frederick S., 24, 1 cav	
Foltz, Frederick S., 24, 1 cav	
Foltz, Frederick S., 24, 1 cav	
Foltz, Frederick S., 24, 1 cav	
Foltz, Frederick S., 24, 1 cav	
Foltz, Frederick S., 24, 1 cav	
Foltz, Frederick S., 24, 1 cav	
Foltz, Frederick S., 24, 1 cav	
Foltz, Frederick S., 24, 1 cav	
Foltz, Frederick S., 24, 1 cav	
$ \begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	
Foltz, Frederick S., 24, 1 cav	

E 1 11 17 1	
French, F. Halverson,	2 lt. 3 cav23, 135 t. 19 inf59, 211
French, Francis II., 24	t. 19 inf 59, 211
French J Hansell	t. 19 mt
Evenue Liberti in 9	1. 1 out 99 171 900
Thench down 12, hr. 2	11. 4 111
French, John W., capt	. 25 mf 65,171
 French, Thomas II., ca 	pt. retired 244
French William E. P.	⁹ It 3 inf 43 913
Franch William H. a.	1 mitiral 1995
North Standard In. C.	
Frendenberg, Charles	G., h. col. renred 1.230
 Fry, James B., col. a. ; 	g. dept 7, 69
Fryer, Blencowe E., m	ai, med. dept 12, 85
From Fraderick 1 lt	4 aut
Part a March M. ola	199
Fuller, Anrea M., 240.	2 Cav 22, 183
 Fuller, Alvarado M., 2 	it. 2 cav
Fuller, Ezra B., 1 lt. 7	ray
Enrey John V cont	un dent 9.77
Alan has been II	19 1.4
Gageny, James IL, cap	0.0101
Games, Fort, Dept. So	010
- Galbraith, Jacob G., 2-	lt. I cav 21, 134
Gallmaith William W.	2 lt. 5 art
(20) (2000 11 (2 9)	t 1 august 91, 125
traie, treorge in the 21	(19(d)
- Gallupe, George S., caj	or, renned
- Gardener, Cornelius, 1	lt. 19 inf 59, 204
Gardiner, J. de B. W., as	st.surg.med.dent.13.91
Gandner, Asa B. mai	ia 879
Atomber Physic P.	
Gardner, Edwin H., ass	r surg, mea. dept. 14, 91
– Gardner, Hezekiah, ca	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
Gardner, Wm. H., asst.	surg. med. dept., 12, 87
Garland Fort Dept. M	0
Condand Labor S. must	national 926
Starfund, south see Cabo	1 1 7
Garington, Ernest A.,	1 It. (cav 27, 129
- Garrard, Joseph, 14t, 1	art
Garretty, Frank D., 1	lt. 17 inf
Garst Charles E 21t	15 inf
Conversion Thomas 1 H	10 mm 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10
Garvey, Thomas, 141.	strg, met. dept. 12, 87 10
- Gaskill, Edwin C., capt	. retired
-Gaston, Fort, Dept. Ca	1
Gates, J. Granville	
Gatewood Charles B	⁹ lt 6 cay 96 134
Cardo Educad 12 9 h	9 aut 94 125
Gayle, Edward 12., 2 ft.	
- Geary, William L., 140	1.1.1 at
	. 12 inf 52, 205
Geddes, Andrew	$.12 \inf \dots 52, 205$ 267
Geddes, Andrew Gebray, Joseph W., car	. 12 inf 52, 205
Geddes, Andrew Gelray, Joseph W., caj Gentry, William T., m	. 12 inf
Geddes, Andrew Gelray, Joseph W., caj Gentry, William T., m	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
Geddes, Andrew Gelray, Joseph W., caj Gentry, William T., m Gerlach, William, 14,	. 12 inf
Geddes, Andrew Gelray, Joseph W., ca Gentry, William T., m Gerlach, William, 14t. Getty, George W., col.	. 12 inf
Geddes, Andrew Gelray, Joseph W., caj Gentry, William T., m Gerlach, William, 1 lt, Getty, George W., col. Getty, Robert N., 2 lt.	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
Geddes, Andrew Gelray, Joseph W., ca Gentry, William T., m Gerlach, William, 14, Getty, George W., col. Getty, Robert N., 24 Gibbion, David J., 14,	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
Geddes, Andrew Gelray, Joseph W., ca Gentry, William T., m Gerlach, William J. h, Getty, George W., col. Getty, Robert N., 24, Gibbon, David J., 14, Gibbon, Jadan ca, 7 in	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
Geddes, Andrew Gelray, Joseph W., ca Gentry, William T., m Gerlach, William, I. It, Gerty, George W., col. Getty, Robert N., 2 It, Gibbon, David J., 1 It, Gibbon, John, col. 7 in Cibbo, John, col. 7 in	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
Geddes, Andrew Gelray, Joseph W., caj Gentry, William T. m Gerlach, William, 14, Getty, George W., col. Getty, Robert N., 24, Gibbon, David J., 14, Gibbon, John, col. 7 in Gibbs, Engene B., capt.	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
Geddes, Andrew J., Gelray, Joseph W., caj Gentry, William T., in Gerlach, William, 14, Getty, George W., col. Getty, Robert N., 24, Gibbon, John, col. 7 in Gibbon, John, col. 7 in Gibbos, Engene B., capt. Gibbon, Archie, 24, 7 c	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
Geddes, Andrew Gelray, Joseph W., ca Gentry, William T. m Gertach, William, I.h. Getty, George W., col. Getty, Robert N., 2 h. Gibbion, David J., 1h. Gibbion, John, col. 7 in Gibbs, Engene B., capt. Gibbson, Archie, 24, 7 e Gibbson, Angustus A.	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
Geidies, Andrew J., Gelray, Joseph W., caj Gentry, William T., in Gertach, William, 14, Getty, George W., col. Getty, Robert N., 24, Gibbon, John, col. 7 in Gibbon, John, col. 7 in Gibbon, Archie, 24, 7 e Gibbon, Archie, 24, 7 e Gibbon, Angustus A., Gibbon, July, 0, 14,	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
Geddes, Andrew Gelray, Joseph W., caj Gentry, William T. m Gertach, William T. m Gerty, George W., col. Getty, Robert N., 24t. Gibbon, David J., 14t. Gibbon, John, col. 7 in Gibbs, Engene B., capt. Gibbon, Angustus A., Gibbon, Augustus A., Gibbon, Edwin O., 14t. Gibbon, Edwin O., 14t.	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
Geidies, Andrew J., Gelray, Joseph W., caj Gentry, William T., m Gerlach, William, Th., Getty, George W., col. Getty, Robert N., 21t. Gibbon, John, col. 7 in Gibbon, John, col. 7 in Gibbon, Archie, 21t. 7 Gibbon, Archie, 21t. 7 Gibbon, Fatt, Dept. Ar Gibbon, Futt, Dept. Ar	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
Geddes, Andrew Gelray, Joseph W., caj Gentry, William T. m Gertach, William T. m Gerty, Robert N. 2 H. Getty, Robert N. 2 H. Gibbion, David J., 1R. Gibbon, John, col. 7 in Gibbs, Engene B., capt. Gibbon, John, col. 7, M Gibbon, Angustus A., Gibbon, Angustus A., Gibbon, Frank M., cap	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
Geiddes, Andrew J., Gelray, Joseph W., ca Gentry, William T., m Gertach, William, I.t. (Getty, George W., col. Getty, Robert N., 24, Gibbon, John, col. 7 in Gibbon, John, col. 7 in Gibbon, John, col. 7 in Gibbon, Archie, 24, 7 c Gibbon, Archie, 24, 7 Gibbon, Fort, Dept, Ar Gibbon, Fort, Dept, Ar Gibbon, Frank M., cap Gibbon, George, It. col.	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
Geddes, Andrew Gelray, Joseph W., caj Gentry, Joseph W., caj Gentry, William T. ni Gerty, George W., cal. Getty, Robert N., 241, Gibbon, David J., 14, Gibbon, John, col. 7 in Gibbon, John, col. 7 in Gibbon, John, col. 7 in Gibbon, John, col. 7 in Gibbon, Archie, 241, 7 o Gibbon, Argustus A., Gibbon, Fank M., cap Gibbon, Frank M., cap Gibbon, Horatho G., ma	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
Geiddes, Andrew J., Gelray, Joseph W., caj Gentry, William T., m Gertach, William, Th. (Getty, George W., col. Getty, Robert N., 21t, Gibbon, John, col. 7 in Gibbon, John, col. 7 in Gibbson, John, col. 7 in Gibbson, Archie, 24t, 7 c Gibbson, Archie, 24t, 7 c Gibbson, Fort, Dept, Ar Gibbson, Horatio G., ma Gibbson, Josenh Y., ma	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
Geddes, Andrew Gelray, Joseph W., caj Gentry, William T. m Gertach, William T. m Gerty, Robert N., 24t, Getty, Robert N., 24t, Gibbon, David J., 14t, Gibbon, John, col. 7 in Gibbon, Angustus A., Gibbon, Angustus A., Gibbon, Angustus A., Gibbon, Frank M., cap Gibbon, Frank M., cap Gibbon, Frank M., cap Gibbon, Horatho G., ma Gibbon, Horatho G., ma Gibbon, Lovalor I., aver	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
Geiddes, Andrew J., Gelray, Joseph W., caj Gentry, William T., m Gertach, William, I.t. (Getty, George W., col. Getty, Robert N., 24, Gibbon, John, col. 7 in Gibbon, John, col. 7 in Gibbon, John, col. 7 in Gibbon, Archie, 24, 7 e Gibbon, Fort, Dept, Ar Gibbon, George, It, col. Gibbon, George, It, col. Gibbon, Goseph R., ma Gibbon, Robert J., asst	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
Geddes, Andrew Gelray, Joseph W., caj Gentry, William T. m Gertach, William T. m Gerty, Robert N., 24t, Getty, Robert N., 24t, Gibbon, David J., 14t, Gibbon, John, ed. 7 in Gibbon, Augustus A., Gibbon, Augustus A., Gibbon, Augustus A., Gibbon, Fort, Dept, Ar Gibbon, Frank M., cap Gibbon, Frank M., cap Gibbon, Horatio G., na Gibbon, Horatho G., asst Gibbon, Kobert J., asst Gibbon, William R., pu	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
Geiddes, Andrew J., Gelray, Joseph W., caj Gentry, William T., m Gertach, William, I.t. (Getty, George W., col. Getty, Robert N., 24, Gibbon, John, col. 7 in Gibbon, John, col. 7 in Gibbon, John, col. 7 in Gibbon, Archie, 24, 7 e Gibbon, Fort, Dept. Ar Gibbon, Robert J., asst Gibbon, William R., pu Gibbon, William R., 2	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
Geiddes, Andrew Gelray, Joseph W., caj Gentry, William T. m Gertach, William T. m Gerty, Robert N., 24t, Getty, Robert N., 24t, Gibbon, David J., 14t, Gibbon, John, ed. 7 in Gibbon, Augustus A., Gibbon, Augustus A., Gibbon, Augustus A., Gibbon, Argustus A., Gibbon, Fort, Dept, Ar Gibbon, Fort, Dept, Ar Gibbon, Horatio G., na Gibbon, Horatio G., na Gibbon, Robert J., asst Gibbon, William R., p Gibbon, William W., 2	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
Geiddes, Andrew J., Gelray, Joseph W., caj Gentry, William T., m Gertach, William T., m Gertach, William T., m Gerty, Robert N., 21, Gibbon, John, eol. 7 in Gibbon, John, eol. 7 in Gibbon, John, eol. 7 in Gibbon, Archie, 24, 7 e Gibbon, Fort, Dept. Ar Gibbon, Robert J., asst Gibbon, Nulliam R., p Gibbon, William R., 2 Gifford, John H., 11, 2	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
Geiddes, Andrew J. Gelray, Joseph W., caj Gentry, William T. m Gertach, William T. m Gerty, Robert N., 24t, Getty, Robert N., 24t, Gibbon, David J., 14t, Gibbon, John, eol. 7 in Gibbon, Augustus A., Gibbon, Augustus A., Gibbon, Augustus A., Gibbon, Fort, Dept, Ar Gibbon, Fort, Dept, Ar Gibbon, Horatio G., na Gibbon, Horatio G., na Gibbon, Holert J., assf Gibbon, William R., pt Gibbon, Jonet J., assf Gibbon, Jonet J., assf Gibbon, Charles C., ht. Gillmerth, Frasnows C.	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
Geiddes, Andrew J., Gelray, Joseph W., caj Gentry, William T., m Gertach, William T., m Gertach, William T., m Gerty, Robert N., 21, Gibbon, John, eol. 7 in Gibbon, John, eol. 7 in Gibbon, John, eol. 7 in Gibbon, Archie, 24, 7 e Gibbon, Fort, Dept. Ar Gibbon, Robert J., assf Gibbon, Nulliam R., p Gibbon, William R., p Gibbon, William R., 2 Gifford, John H., 111, 2 Gilbert, Charles C., h. Gilbert, Erasums C., h. Gilbert, Kamine K., p	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
Geiddes, Andrew J. Gelray, Joseph W., caj Gentry, William T. m Gertach, William T. m Gerty, Robert N., 24t, Getty, Robert N., 24t, Gibbon, David J., 14t, Gibbon, John, eol. 7 in Gibbon, Augustus A., Gibson, Augustus A., Gibson, Augustus A., Gibson, Fort, Dept, Ar Gibson, Fort, Dept, Ar Gibson, Horatio G., na Gibson, Horatio G., na Gibson, Hohert J., assf Gibson, William R., pt Gibson, Johert J., assf Gibson, Johert J., assf Gibson, John H., 14, 2 Gilford, John H., 14, 2 Gilford, Lenams C., Gillbreth, Eenams C., Gillbreth, Benjamin I4,	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
Geiddes, Andrew J., Gelray, Joseph W., caj Gentry, William T., m Gertach, William T., m Gertach, William T., m Gerty, Robert N., 201, Gibbon, John, eol. 7 in Gibbon, John, eol. 7 in Gibbon, John, eol. 7 in Gibbon, John, eol. 7 in Gibbon, Fort, Dept. Ar Gibbon, Robert J., asst Gibbon, Nulliam R., p Gibbon, William R., p Gibbon, William R., 2 Gifford, John H., 111, 2 Gifford, John H., 111, 2 Giffbreth, Benjamin H., Gilbreth, Benjamin H., Gilb Genge, W., H. col Gibbon, William Y., p Gilbreth, Benjamin H., Gilb Genge, W., H. col	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
Geiddes, Andrew J., Gelray, Joseph W., caj Gentry, William T. n. Gertay, William T. n. Gerty, Rohert N., 24t, Getty, Rohert N., 24t, Gibbon, David J., 14t, Gibbon, John, eol. 7 in Gibbon, Augustus A., Gibbon, Augustus A., Gibbon, Augustus A., Gibbon, Fort, Dept, Ar Gibbon, Fort, Dept, Ar Gibbon, Horatio G., na Gibbon, Hoert J., assf Gibbon, Hohert J., assf Gibbon, Mohert J., assf Gibbon, Johert J., assf Gibbon, Johert J., assf Gibbon, William R., pt Gibbon, William R., pt Gibbon, Johert J., assf Gibbon, Johert J., assf Gibbon, Johert J., assf Gibbon, John H., 14, 2 Gilford, George L., an	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
Geidies, Andrew J., Gelray, Joseph W., caj Gentry, William T., m Gertach, William T., m Gertach, William T., m Gerty, Robert N., 24, Gibbon, John, eol. 7 in Gibbon, John, eol. 7 in Gibbon, John, eol. 7 in Gibbon, John, eol. 7 in Gibbon, Archie, 24, 7 e Gibbon, Fort, Dept. Ar Gibbon, Robert J., asst Gibbon, William R., p Gibbon, William R., 2 Gifbert, John H., 11, 2 Gifberth, Erasmus C., Gilbreth, Erasmus C., Gilbreth, Eenjamin H., Gille, George W., It. col Gilliss, James, cant. on	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
Geidles, Andrew J., Gelray, Joseph W., cu Gentry, William T. nu Gertay, William T. nu Gertach, William T. nu Gerty, Rohert N., 24t, Gibty, Rohert N., 24t, Gibbon, David J., 14t, Gibbon, John, eol. 7 in Gibbon, Angustus A., Gibson, Angustus A., Gibson, Angustus A., Gibson, Frank M., cap Gibson, Horatlo G., na Gibson, Horatlo G., na Gibson, Horatlo G., na Gibson, Holert J., assf Gibson, William R., pj Gibson, William R., ju Gibbon, Johert J., assf Gibson, William R., 2 Gifford, John H., 14, 2 Gifford, John	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
Geidies, Andrew J., Gelray, Joseph W., caj Gentry, William T., m Gertach, William T., m Gertach, William T., m Gerty, Robert N., 21, Gibbon, John, eol. 7 in Gibbon, John, eol. 7 in Gibbon, John, eol. 7 in Gibbon, John, eol. 7 in Gibbon, Archie, 24, 7 e Gibbon, Fort, Dept, Ar Gibbon, William R., p Gibbon, William R., p Gibbon, William R., 2 Gifbert, Joaceph R., asst Gibbon, William R., 2 Gifbert, Charles C., h. Gilbreth, Erasmus C., Gilbreth, Eenjamin H., Giller, George L., m Gilliss, James, capt, qu Gillinse, James, capt, qu Gillinse, Quincy A., M	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
Geiddes, Andrew J., Gelray, Joseph W., ca Gentry, William T. n. Gertach, William T. n. Gertach, William T. n. Gerty, George W., col. Getty, Robert N., 241, Gibbon, John, col. 7 in Gibbon, John, col. 7 in Gibbon, John, col. 7 in Gibbon, Archie, 241, 7 e Gibbon, Archie, 241, 7 e Gibbon, Archie, 241, 7 e Gibbon, Fort, Dept, Ar Gibbon, Fort, Dept, Ar Gibbon, Robert J., asst Gibbon, Robert J., asst Gibbon, Rolliam R., p Gibbon, William W., 2 Gifford, John H., 111, 2 Gilhert, Charles C., h. Gillmerth, Erasmus C., Gillmeth, Benjamin H., Gillmeth, Benjamin H., Gillmer, Guiney A., It Gillmore, Quiney A., It Gillmore, Quiney A., It	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$

Gilman, Benjamin 11., 1 lt. 13 inf53, 201 Gilman, Jeremiah II., capt. sub. dept....10, 82 Gilmore, Alexander, chap. retired..........258 Girard, Joseph B., asst. surg. med. dept., 13, 89 Gonzales, Manuel J., chap. 9 cav29, 137 Goodloe, Archibald II., capt. 22 inf. ... 62, 177 Goodwin, Millard F., 1 lt. 9 cav29, 131 Goodwin, William P., 2 lt. 14 inf.......54, 209 Gordon, William B., 2 lt. 4 art..... 38, 155 Gore, J. Morehead, 1 lt. 22 inf 62, 204 Gorgas, William C., asst. surg. med. dept. 14, 92 Grant, Fort, Dept. Ariz 272 Gray, William W., asst. surg. med. dept. . 14, 91 Greenleaf, Charles R., maj. med. dept ... 12, 86 Groesbeck, Stephen W., 1 lt. 6 inf 46, 197

Gross, Frank P., 1 lt. retired 254 Grover, Cuvier, col. 1 cav 21, 110

 namen, John J., 24, 840
 48, 210

 Hagner, Oscar
 267

 Hagner, Peter V., col. ord. dept
 18, 104

 Haines, Abmer, jr., 11t, 24nf
 42, 193

 Haines, Thomas J., maj. sub. dept
 10, 80

 Haines, Peter C., maj. eng
 16, 100

 Hale, Clavton, capt. 16 inf
 56, 177

 Hale, Goven, Dak
 272

 Hale, Joseph, 11. 3 inf
 43, 187

 Hall Clavelas B. 14, 16 inf
 43, 187

 Hall, John D., asst. surg. med. dept.....13, 89 Hall, Peter P. G., pm. pay dept......15, 94 Halloran, James, 1 lt. 12 inf 52, 193 Hambright, Henry A., maj. retired...... Hamilton, Fort, Dept. East 934 Hamilton, William R., 2 lt. 5 art ... 40, 155, 263 Hammond, John F., lt. col. med. dept 11, 83 Hammond, William A., brig. gen. retired. 218 Harbach, Abram A., capt. 20 inf 60, 174

 Hare, Lutner K., 14, 7 cay
 27, 129

 Hargons, Charles E., 14, 5 inf
 45, 201

 Harkins, Charles, 14, 2 inf
 42, 187

 Harkow, Frank S., 24, 1 art
 32, 156

 Harnon, William R., 14, 10 cay
 30, 128

 Harnow, William S., brig, gen, retired
 21, 52

 Harnow, William S., 14, 10 cay
 30, 128

1881.

The diamagnetic and the state of the state o
marney, John, capt. 22 nu
Harfsuff, Alberi, maj. med. dept 12, 86
Hartley, John, capt. 22 inf
11 + 10 + 10 + 10 + 10 + 10 + 10 + 10 +
Hartz, Wilson F., capt. to me
Harvey, Philip F., asst. surg. med. dept., 13, 89
Hum and Examplin mut one 16 100
That wood, Trankfin, may, suggest stress to 10
Harwood, Paul, 140, 20 mil
Dashronck, Henry C., capt. 4 art
He will He about A must redired 928
mascan, merocre A., capt. reored 200
Haskelf, Harry L., 14t, 12 mf 52, 200
Haskell Joseph T. cant. 23 inf 63, 173
Thulde William Lought Lord 21,112
11a8Kut, Wanaan D. Capt. Latters 21, 149
Hasson, Patrick, 14t, 14 mt
Hastings David II mail retired 232
$\mathbf{H}_{\mathbf{u}}(\mathbf{u}) = \mathbf{U}_{\mathbf{u}}(\mathbf{u}) + \mathbf{U}$
march, isuward, con a cav
Hatch, John P., It. col. 4 cav
Hatfield Charles V P. 14t 4 cav. 94 130
TT_{1} (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1)
Hathaway, Potrest II., 141, 5400 40, 202
Hanghey, James A., capt. 21 inf
Havand Valory asst sure med dent 13.90
mawkins, mammon S., capt. o nu40, 100
Hawkins, John P., maj. sub. dept 10, 81
Hawley William mai retired 225
$\begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$
Hay, Charles, 140, 25 mi
Hay, Leonard, capt. 9 inf
Hay Thomas II coust retired 248
They rubing the captor of the contract of the
Hayes, Edward M., capt. o cav 25, 121
Hayman, Sannel B., lt. col. retired
Hara Bart Dart May 979
11038, 1011, 1010, 310, 310, 310, 310, 310, 3
Haynan, Samuel B., R. col. retired
Hazen, William B., brig, gen, chf, sig, officer 19,
108, 266
TT - 3 - 41 - 13
Head, George E., capt. 5 mil
Head, John F., R. Col. med. dept
Head, John F., R. col. ned. dept
Head, John F., If, col. med. dept
Head, John F., R. col. ned. dept
Heap, Javid P., R. col. med. dept 11,83 Heap, David P., capt. eng
Head, Join F., R. col. need. dept
Head, John F., R. col. neel, dept16, 83 Heap, David P., capt. eng
Head, Join F., R. col. need. dept
Head, Join F., R. col. (neq), (dept),, 11, 83 Heap, David P., edg, edg,, 16, 101 Hearn, James A., expt, retired,, 24 Hearn, Jaw rence J., 24, 12 Hearn, Jaw rence J., 240 Hearn, 14, 12 Hearn, 14, 14
Head, Join F., R. col. need. dept
Head, Join F., R. col. (nept. eng. 11, 83 Heap, David P., capt. eng. 11, 85 Hearn, James A., capt. retired. 240 Hearn, Jawrence J., 24, 21 inf
Head, Join F., R. col. (nept. eng
Head, Join F., R. col. (nept. eng
Head, Join F., R. col. (nept. eng
Head, Join F., R. col. (nept. eng
Head, Join F., R. col. (nept. eng
Head, Join F., R. col. (nept. eng
108, 266 Head, George E., capt. 3 inf
Head, Join F., R. col. (nept. eng
Head, Join F., R. col. (nept. eng
Head, Join F., R. col. (nept. eng
Head, Join F., R. col. (nept. eng
$ \begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$
Head, Join F., R. col. (nept. eng
Head, Join F., R. col. fued. (ept
$\begin{aligned} & \text{Head, Join F., R. col. (nept 16, 80)} \\ & Heap, David P., cupt. cup$
Head, Join F., R. col. (nept. eng
Hendershoft, Henry B., capt. retired
Hendershott, Henry B., capt. retired
Hendershoft, Henry B., capt. retired

Hoyt, Charles II., capt. qm, dept 9, 78, 261 Hubbard, Van Buron, asst. surg. med. dept. 12, 87 Hughes, William B., m.tj. qm. dept 9,76 Hughes, William N., 24t, 13 inf53,213

Humphreys, Charles, 1 H. 3 art
- 11 mpnreys, Charles, 1 n. 5 art
Humpbreys Hepry II cant. 15 inf 55 178
- Hunt, Frankhu E., lt. col. repred
Time 11
1 11111, 1101113 at, cot a are
- Hunt, Levi P., 1 lt, 10 cay,
TE () (1 b) Function (1 no 1 no 1 no 1 no 1 no
- Hunt, Lewis C., R. col. 20 mil 1. 60, 160, 277
Hunt Thomas P. cant an dent 0.77
frunc, i nomas of, capit qui depressione o, tr
- Hunter, Charles H., 24t, 19 inf
II (I) () () ()
Hunter, David, col. retured
Hunton Edward and Long 91 195
munder, isoward, capit, i cay
Hunter George K. 24t. 3 cay
- Runtington, David L., maj. med. dept 12, 86
Huntington House 1) 941 9 one 99 199
manungton, neury 16, 210 2 cay
Huntt George G. mai Leav 91 114
- Hurst, Joseph II., 4 II. 12 ml
Huse (law k 9 h (asymptotic 91 195
Truse, only 19, 240, 3 (0)
Huston Daniel iv It col 6 inf 46 160
Edusion , Joseph F., 14t, 20 mi
Hutabinan Manill N 11t actional 110
find nuison, merrin N., 1 n. reureu
$\begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$
Thereford William Daniel a Ato 1
. muxiora, william P., capt. retired
Hyde John McE 1 lt S inf 10 901
Aver, Joseph K., capt. refired 946
How Cuil, and thef
Ages, virage, maj. 5 mi
Hyper, Joint MCE., 11, 8 nt. 48, 201 Hyeer, Joseph K., capt. retired 246 Hges, Gnido, maj. 5 inf 45, 163 Hsley, Charles S., capt. 7 cav 27, 120 Independence, Fort, Dept. East 273 Indianapolis Arsenal, Ind 277 Ingalls, Charles M., capt. 1 art. 31, 146 Incalls B. Rev. Charles M., capt. 1 art. 31, 146
- # 19 (19 19 19 19 19 19 19 19 19 19 19 19 19 1
Independence, Fort, Dept. East
Indianandi Commit Lid
indianapons arschal, ind 211
Ingalls. Charles II., 2 It 6 inf 46 208
The sell of the second s
ingans, James M., capt. 1 art
Incalls Parties and any deast 0.72
ingans, muns, con qui ache
Ingersoll, Edward, ord, sk
Thomas Tanan A D 14 DD 1.4
Trons , James A., 240, 20 mt 1111111 60, 212
Irvine Javan B cant 22 inf 62 170
21 June 19 Jun
Arvine , Robert J. C., 2 It. 11 inf
Invite Descend T.D. and the 1.1 of the
irwan, bernaras, D., maj. med. dept 11, 85
Trwn lavid a cent retried 916
irwm, David A., capt. retared
Irwin, David A., capt. retared
Irwin, David A., capt. refired
Irwin, David A., capt. retired
Irwin, David A., capt. tetried
Irwin, David A., capt. retried
Irwin, David A., cept. tetred
Irwin, David A., capt. (ctrred
HWIR, David A., cept. tetrred. 246 Hves, Edward B., 2 It. 19 inf 59,211,260 Ives, Rollin A., 2 It. 5 art 40,154,260 Jackson, Alfred B., dis. cadet 262 Jackson, Allan II., 1 It. 7 inf 47,193 Jackson Barracks, Dept. Ark 273
Irwin, David A., czpt. tetrred
HWIR, David A., cept. tetrred
Irwin, David A., capt. tetrred
Irwin, David A., capt. tetried
HWIR, David A., capt. tetrred
Irwin, David A., capt. tetred
Irwin, David A., capt. tetred
HWIR, David A., capt. tettred
Irwin, David A., capt. tetrred
HWIR, David A., capt. tetred
Irwin, David A., capt. tetrred
Irwin, David A., capt. tetried
HWIR, David A., capt. tettred
Irwin, David A., capt. tetrred
Irwin, David A., capt. tetred
HWIR, David A., capt. tetrred
Irwin, David A., capt. tetried
Irwin, David A., capt. tetred
Irwin, David A., capt. tetred
Irwin, David A., capt. tetried
$ \begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$
$ \begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$
Irwin, David A., capt. tetried. 246 Ives, Edward B., 24, 19 inf. $$
$ \begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$
Irwin, David A., capt. tetred
$ \begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$
$ \begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$
Irwin, David A., capt. tetred. 236 Ives, Edward B., 24, 19 inf. $$
$ \begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$
$ \begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$
$ \begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$
$ \begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$
$\begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$
$ \begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$
Irwin, David A., capt. tetred
$\label{eq:response} \begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$
$\begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$
$ \begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$
$ \begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$

Johnson, Lewis, cap1, 24 ml
Johnson, Richard W., brig, gen, retried219
Johnson, Witham S., cupt. retired
Johnston, Fort. Dept. South
- Johnston, John A., 240, 8 Cay 28, 159
Johnston, John L., capt. retired 249
Johnston, Robert F
Johnston, William II., pin. pay dept 15, 93
Jones, Francis D., 140, 3401
Jones, Frank B., 2 H. 22 mi 62, 212
Jones, Henry R., 14, retired
Jones, James M., 240, 4400
Jones, Roger, If. col. asst. ms. gen8, 41
Jones, Samuel R., UII, 4 att
Jobes, 1 Raddens W., 1 R. 10 Cav
Jones, william A., capt. cag
Jordan, Allen K., 240. 5 Cay
-30rdan, william 11., capt. 9 and $-1.49, 163$
Jonett, James S., 240, 10 Cav
Judd, Edwin D., high retured
Judd, George E., Capt. retured
- Cliffer, Henry D., maj, returen 201
Kane, John L. 146, 24 million and dont 14,04
Kane, John J., assi, sarg, med. acpt. 14, 51 Kaneya and Mart D. autor Super Section
- Kanamann, Andere D., Cope & cav
Kaulz, August V., col. 6401
$ \begin{array}{c} \mathbf{K} \mathbf{e} \mathbf{r} \mathbf{e} \mathbf{r}, \ \mathbf{r} \mathbf{o} \mathbf{n} \mathbf{n} \mathbf{t} \mathbf{b}, \ \mathbf{p} \mathbf{n}, \ \mathbf{n}, \ \mathbf{s} \mathbf{o} \mathbf{n} \mathbf{n} \mathbf{n} \mathbf{n} \mathbf{n} \mathbf{n} \mathbf{n} n$
Koolar Birnay R. cont 18 inf 58 176
Keener, there's t' It cal med dent 11.83
Kell William II 1 If $\frac{99}{10}$ inf 62 904
Keller, Charles, cant. 2 inf
Keller, Jacob W., capt. retired 248
Kelley, Joseph M., capt. 10 cay 30, 122
Kelley, Moses J., chap. retired 258
Kelliher, John, capt. retired247
Kellogg, Edgar R., capt. 18 inf
Kellogg, Josiah II., capt. retited
Kellog ₂ , Sanford C., capt. 5 cav 25, 120
Kellogg, William L., capit 10 ml
Keny, James K., capt. 5 art
Kelton, Dwight II., J R. 10 internet 50, 191 Kulton, Lubra (1990), or adopt
Kenon, John C., Col. a. g. dept
Kondoll Heaver E 201t Score - 98 125
Kendell Henry M. 1 It George -96 196
Kendig Daniel nest chan 19 108
Kendrick Frederick M H 1 lt 7 inf 47 200
Kendrick Henry L. nrof, refired 227, 260
Kennebec Arsenal, Me
Kennedy, William B., capt. 10 cav 30, 120
Kennicott, Ransom, 1 lt. retired
Kennington, James, capt. 14 inf 54, 179
Kensel, George A., capt. 5 art
Kent, Jacob F., capt. 3 inf
Keogh, Fort, Dept. Dak
Kerm, Joseph. capt. retired
Kerr, John B., 14, 6 cav
Keyes Alexander S R cont 10 cor 20 121
Keyes, Alexander S. D., Capt. 10 Cav
Kay Wast Bargacky Dont South 973
Kiddoo Joseph B 986
Kilbourne, Charles E., 1 lt. 2 art 33, 150
Kilbourne, Henry S., asst. surg.med.dept. 13, 90
Kilburn, Charles L., col. sub. dept 10,80
Kilgour, William M., capt. retired
$ \begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$
Kilnatrick Robert L. col. retired 227

Kimball, Jarves P., asst, surg, med. dept., 13, 88 Kimball, William A., 2 lt. 14 inf54, 209 King, Jame S., 1 lt. 12 inf 52, 193 King, William II., asst. sarg. med. dept. 1.13, 88 Kirby, Henry, 24t, 10 inf Kirk, Ecra B., cupt, qm. dept 9, 77 Koerper, Egon A., asst. surg. med. dept - 12, 88 La Garde, Louis A., asst. surg. med. dept. 14, 91 Laidley, Theo. T. S., col. ord dept., 18, 104, 277 Laramie, Fort, Dept. Platte..... 273 Lurned, Charles T., lt, col. pay dept 14,93 Larned, Charles W., prof. mil. acad260,251 Lauderdale, John V., asst.surg.med.dept/13, 89

Leonard, John, 1 lt. retired251 Lewis, Granville, 1 lt retired..... 252Lindesmith, Eli W. J., post chap ... 20, 109 Lippincott, H., asst. sarg-med. dept., 12, 88, 261 Liseum, Em rson II., capt. 19 inf. 59, 173 Lord, Thomas W., 1 lt. 20 inf 60, 193 Lorentz, Antoné, sword master mil. acad ...261 Lorentz, Antoné, sword master mil. acad ...261 Loring, Leonard Y., asst, surg. med. dept _13, 89 Longhborough, Robert H. R., 21t, 25 inf., 65, 208 Low, William IL, jr., 1 lt. 20 inf 60, 200 Ludington, Marshall I., maj. qm. dept. 9, 75

Ludlow House M. 94t, 2 art 36, 154, 260
Ludlow, llenry II., 2 lt. 3 art
Ludlow, Wulham, capt. eng 16, 101
Luff Edminid 14t S curv
Luff, Edmind, 14, 8 cay. 28, 127 Luggenbeel, Pinkney, col. 5 inf. 28, 127 Laugenbeel, Pinkney, col. 5 inf. 45, 160 Luhn, Gerhard L., capt. 4 inf. 44, 180 Lunder, Law A., Lib, Lawer, 27, 151 27, 151
(Lugenbeel, Pinkney, col. 5 mL 45, 109)
Lulin General L. cont 4 inf 44 180
Manni, Octimated 12, Capt. 4 uni
Lundeen, John A., 14t. 4 art
Luhn, Gechard L., capt. 4 inf
Dusk, James 1., 2 n. eng
Lydecker, Garrett J., mai, eng 16, 101
Taken 1 Starbard and and Just 18 105 977
Lytora, Stephen C., maj. ord. dept 18, 105, 277
Lyle David A 14t and dent 18467
T
Lyman, wynys, capt. 5 mr
Lynch Edward 1 If 8 inf 48 904
Lynde, Frederick M., 1 R, 1 inf41, 193
Timle Long and section 1991
Lynde, isaac, maj, retrieu
Lyon, Fort, Dept. Mo Lyon, Marcus W., 1 It. ord. dept
Lynn Manna W. 11t and death 18 107
isyon, marcus w., i n. ord. dept 16, 101
Lyster, William J. canf. 19 inf
March Land Free (2) and 9 and 9 and 10 to t
macManns, James G., capt. 2 cav 111, 22, 124
MacArthur Arthur in cant 13 inf 53 173
MacConnell, Charles U., capt. 5 art 39, 145
Machady Robert brig and com gon 10.79
$ \begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$
MacGowan, Alexander B., capt. 12 inf 1.52, 177
Maakay famos () 9 h 9 mar 99 195
auar Ray, 0 annos (0., 2 n. 0 Cay
Mackenzie, Alexander, capt. eng 16, 101
Mashanda David Studit and 91 110 920
mackenzie, Kalland S., col. 4 cav
Mackinae Fort Dept. East 273
Modulin L. 13 0 14 11 1. C 51 000
Macking James 15., 2 H. 14 Jul
MacMmray, Junius W., 14t, 1 art 1, 31, 147, 263
May N. 44 Fee 114 and 1 at
macinut, ira, i n. ord. dept 18, 104
Macomb Augustus (1. 9 It 5 cuv 95 135)
M (COMD, FOIT, Dept. Ark
Macomb John N col our 16 97
lataconing worth 11, conting
Macomb, Montgomery M., 14t, 4 art 38, 153
Magandian Labor II most alum 90 100
maconner, sonn 11., post, chap 11.1. 1.20, 105
Macon, Fort, Dept. South
Madday David and Court 96 110
interior i, ivano i, capito cavititi 10, 110
Madden, Frank, 2 lt retired
Madden, Frank, 2 lt retired
Madden, Frank, 24t retired
Madden, Frank, 24t retired
Madden, Frank, 24 trethred
Madden, Frank, 2 If retired 257 Madison Barracks, Dept. East 273 Magninis, Fort, Dept. Dak 273 Magnitzky, Gustave, 2 If, retired 257
Macomber, Montgomery M., 14, 4 art38, 153 Macomber, John H., post, chap20, 109 Macon, Fort, Dept, Sonth26, 118 Madden, Frank, 24, retired26, 118 Madden, Frank, 24, retired
and a function of the mage mean deprotection of the second
and a function of the mage mean deprotection of the second
and a function of the mage mean deprotection of the second
and a function of the mage mean deprotection of the second
and a function of the mage mean deprotection of the second
and a function of the mage mean deprotection of the second
and a function of the mage mean deprotection of the second
and a function of the mage mean deprotection of the second
and a function of the mage mean deprotection of the second
and a function of the mage mean deprotection of the second
and a function of the mage mean deprotection of the second
and a function of the mage mean deprotection of the second
and a function of the mage mean deprotection of the second
and a function of the mage mean deprotection of the second
Maguire, Edward, 1 II. eng. 17, 102 Maham, Frederfick A., 14 eng. 17, 102 Maham, Frederfick A., 14 eng. 17, 103 Mahnken, John H., expt. 8 eav. 28, 123 Mahnken, John H., expt. 8 eav. 28, 123 Mahnen, Stephen K., 14, 16 inf. 56, 187 Maize, William R., 14, 20 inf. 60, 188 Maley, Thomas E., 1t. col. r tired. 230 Mallery, Garrick, capt. edg. 17, 20, 102 Mallery, John C., expt. eng. 17, 20, 102 Mallery, John S., 21, 2 inf. 242, 212 Mange, V. John S., 214, 2 inf. 55, 210
Maguire, Edward, 1 II. eng. 17, 102 Maham, Frederfick A., 14 eng. 17, 102 Maham, Frederfick A., 14 eng. 17, 103 Mahnken, John H., expt. 8 eav. 28, 123 Mahnken, John H., expt. 8 eav. 28, 123 Mahnen, Stephen K., 14, 16 inf. 56, 187 Maize, William R., 14, 20 inf. 60, 188 Maley, Thomas E., 1t. col. r tired. 230 Mallery, Garrick, capt. edg. 17, 20, 102 Mallery, John C., expt. eng. 17, 20, 102 Mallery, John S., 21, 2 inf. 242, 212 Mange, V. John S., 214, 2 inf. 55, 210
Maguire, Edward, 1 II. eng. 17, 102 Maham, Frederfick A., 14 eng. 17, 102 Maham, Frederfick A., 14 eng. 17, 103 Mahnken, John H., expt. 8 eav. 28, 123 Mahnken, John H., expt. 8 eav. 28, 123 Mahnen, Stephen K., 14, 16 inf. 56, 187 Maize, William R., 14, 20 inf. 60, 188 Maley, Thomas E., 1t. col. r tired. 230 Mallery, Garrick, capt. edg. 17, 20, 102 Mallery, John C., expt. eng. 17, 20, 102 Mallery, John S., 21, 2 inf. 242, 212 Mange, V. John S., 214, 2 inf. 55, 210
Maguire, Edward, 1 II. eng. 17, 102 Maham, Frederfick A., 14 eng. 17, 102 Maham, Frederfick A., 14 eng. 17, 103 Mahnken, John H., expt. 8 eav. 28, 123 Mahnken, John H., expt. 8 eav. 28, 123 Mahnen, Stephen K., 14, 16 inf. 56, 187 Maize, William R., 14, 20 inf. 60, 188 Maley, Thomas E., 1t. col. r tired. 230 Mallery, Garrick, capt. edg. 17, 20, 102 Mallery, John C., expt. eng. 17, 20, 102 Mallery, John S., 21, 2 inf. 242, 212 Mange, V. John S., 214, 2 inf. 55, 210
Maguire, Edward, 1 II. eng. 17, 102 Maham, Frederfick A., 14 eng. 17, 102 Maham, Frederfick A., 14 eng. 17, 103 Mahnken, John H., expt. 8 eav. 28, 123 Mahnken, John H., expt. 8 eav. 28, 123 Mahnen, Stephen K., 14, 16 inf. 56, 187 Maize, William R., 14, 20 inf. 60, 188 Maley, Thomas E., 1t. col. r tired. 230 Mallery, Garrick, capt. edg. 17, 20, 102 Mallery, John C., expt. eng. 17, 20, 102 Mallery, John S., 21, 2 inf. 242, 212 Mange, V. John S., 214, 2 inf. 55, 210
Maguire, Edward, 1 II. eng. 17, 102 Maham, Frederfick A., 14 eng. 17, 102 Maham, Frederfick A., 14 eng. 17, 103 Mahnken, John H., expt. 8 eav. 28, 123 Mahnken, John H., expt. 8 eav. 28, 123 Mahnen, Stephen K., 14, 16 inf. 56, 187 Maize, William R., 14, 20 inf. 60, 188 Maley, Thomas E., 1t. col. r tired. 230 Mallery, Garrick, capt. edg. 17, 20, 102 Mallery, John C., expt. eng. 17, 20, 102 Mallery, John S., 21, 2 inf. 242, 212 Mange, V. John S., 214, 2 inf. 55, 210
Maguire, Edward, 1 II. eng. 17, 102 Maham, Frederfick A., 14 eng. 17, 102 Maham, Frederfick A., 14 eng. 17, 103 Mahnken, John H., expt. 8 eav. 28, 123 Mahnken, John H., expt. 8 eav. 28, 123 Mahnon, Stephen K., 14, 16 inf. 56, 187 Maize, William R., 14, 20 inf. 60, 188 Maley, Thomas E., 1t. col. r tired. 230 Mallery, Garrick, capt. edg. 17, 20, 102 Mallery, John C., expt. eng. 17, 20, 102 Mallery, John S., 24, 241 55 and Mange, V. John S., 241, 25 and 55 and
Maguire, Edward, 1 II. eng. 17, 102 Maham, Frederfick A., 14 eng. 17, 102 Maham, Frederfick A., 14 eng. 17, 103 Mahnken, John H., expt. 8 eav. 28, 123 Mahnken, John H., expt. 8 eav. 28, 123 Mahnon, Stephen K., 14, 16 inf. 56, 187 Maize, William R., 14, 20 inf. 60, 188 Maley, Thomas E., 1t. col. r tired. 230 Mallery, Garrick, capt. edg. 17, 20, 102 Mallery, John C., expt. eng. 17, 20, 102 Mallery, John S., 24, 241 55 and Mange, V. John S., 241, 25 and 55 and
Maguire, Edward, 1 II. eng. 17, 102 Maham, Frederfick A., 14 eng. 17, 102 Maham, Frederfick A., 14 eng. 17, 103 Mahnken, John H., expt. 8 eav. 28, 123 Mahnken, John H., expt. 8 eav. 28, 123 Mahnon, Stephen K., 14, 16 inf. 56, 187 Maize, William R., 14, 20 inf. 60, 188 Maley, Thomas E., 1t. col. r tired. 230 Mallery, Garrick, capt. edg. 17, 20, 102 Mallery, John C., expt. eng. 17, 20, 102 Mallery, John S., 24, 241 55 and Mange, V. John S., 241, 25 and 55 and
Maguire, Edward, 1 II. eng. 17, 102 Maham, Frederfick A., 14 eng. 17, 102 Maham, Frederfick A., 14 eng. 17, 103 Mahnken, John H., expt. 8 eav. 28, 123 Mahnken, John H., expt. 8 eav. 28, 123 Mahnon, Stephen K., 14, 16 inf. 56, 187 Maize, William R., 14, 20 inf. 60, 188 Maley, Thomas E., 1t. col. r tired. 230 Mallery, Garrick, capt. edg. 17, 20, 102 Mallery, John C., expt. eng. 17, 20, 102 Mallery, John S., 24, 241 55 and Mange, V. John S., 241, 25 and 55 and
Maguire, Edward, 1 II. eng. 17, 102 Maham, Frederfick A., 14 eng. 17, 102 Maham, Frederfick A., 14 eng. 17, 103 Mahnken, John H., expt. 8 eav. 28, 123 Mahnken, John H., expt. 8 eav. 28, 123 Mahnon, Stephen K., 14, 16 inf. 56, 187 Maize, William R., 14, 20 inf. 60, 188 Maley, Thomas E., 1t. col. r tired. 230 Mallery, Garrick, capt. edg. 17, 20, 102 Mallery, John C., expt. eng. 17, 20, 102 Mallery, John S., 24, 241 55 and Mange, V. John S., 241, 25 and 55 and
Maguire, Edward, 1 II. eng. 17, 102 Maham, Frederfick A., 14 eng. 17, 102 Maham, Frederfick A., 14 eng. 17, 103 Mahnken, John H., expt. 8 eav. 28, 123 Mahnken, John H., expt. 8 eav. 28, 123 Mahnon, Stephen K., 14, 16 inf. 56, 187 Maize, William R., 14, 20 inf. 60, 188 Maley, Thomas E., 1t. col. r tired. 230 Mallery, Garrick, capt. edg. 17, 20, 102 Mallery, John C., expt. eng. 17, 20, 102 Mallery, John S., 24, 241 55 and Mange, V. John S., 241, 25 and 55 and
Maguire, Edward, 1 II. eng. 17, 102 Maham, Frederfick A., 14 eng. 17, 102 Maham, Frederfick A., 14 eng. 17, 103 Mahnken, John H., expt. 8 eav. 28, 123 Mahnken, John H., expt. 8 eav. 28, 123 Mahnon, Stephen K., 14, 16 inf. 56, 187 Maize, William R., 14, 20 inf. 60, 188 Maley, Thomas E., 1t. col. r tired. 230 Mallery, Garrick, capt. edg. 17, 20, 102 Mallery, John C., expt. eng. 17, 20, 102 Mallery, John S., 24, 241 55 and Mange, V. John S., 241, 25 and 55 and
Maguire, Edward, 1 II. eng. 17, 102 Maham, Frederfick A., 14 eng. 17, 102 Maham, Frederfick A., 14 eng. 17, 103 Mahnken, John H., expt. 8 eav. 28, 123 Mahnken, John H., expt. 8 eav. 28, 123 Mahnon, Stephen K., 14, 16 inf. 56, 187 Maize, William R., 14, 20 inf. 60, 188 Maley, Thomas E., 1t. col. r tired. 230 Mallery, Garrick, capt. edg. 17, 20, 102 Mallery, John C., expt. eng. 17, 20, 102 Mallery, John S., 24, 241 55 and Mange, V. John S., 241, 25 and 55 and
Maguire, Edward, 1 II. eng. 17, 102 Maham, Frederfick A., 14 eng. 17, 102 Maham, Frederfick A., 14 eng. 17, 103 Mahnken, John H., expt. 8 eav. 28, 123 Mahnken, John H., expt. 8 eav. 28, 123 Mahnon, Stephen K., 14, 16 inf. 56, 187 Maize, William R., 14, 20 inf. 60, 188 Maley, Thomas E., 1t. col. r tired. 230 Mallery, Garrick, capt. edg. 17, 20, 102 Mallery, John C., expt. eng. 17, 20, 102 Mallery, John S., 24, 241 55 and Mange, V. John S., 241, 25 and 55 and
Maguire, Edward, 1 II. eng. 17, 102 Maham, Frederfick A., 14 eng. 17, 102 Maham, Frederfick A., 14 eng. 17, 103 Mahnken, John H., expt. 8 eav. 28, 123 Mahnken, John H., expt. 8 eav. 28, 123 Mahnon, Stephen K., 14, 16 inf. 56, 187 Maize, William R., 14, 20 inf. 60, 188 Maley, Thomas E., 1t. col. r tired. 230 Mallery, Garrick, capt. edg. 17, 20, 102 Mallery, John C., expt. eng. 17, 20, 102 Mallery, John S., 24, 241 55 and Mange, V. John S., 241, 25 and 55 and
Maguire, Edward, 1 II. eng. 17, 102 Maham, Frederfick A., 14 eng. 17, 102 Maham, Frederfick A., 14 eng. 17, 103 Mahnken, John H., expt. 8 eav. 28, 123 Mahnken, John H., expt. 8 eav. 28, 123 Mahnon, Stephen K., 14, 16 inf. 56, 187 Maize, William R., 14, 20 inf. 60, 188 Maley, Thomas E., 1t. col. r tired. 230 Mallery, Garrick, capt. edg. 17, 20, 102 Mallery, John C., expt. eng. 17, 20, 102 Mallery, John S., 24, 241 55 and Mange, V. John S., 241, 25 and 55 and
Maguire, Edward, 1 II. eng. 17, 102 Maham, Frederfick A., 14 eng. 17, 102 Maham, Frederfick A., 14 eng. 17, 103 Mahnken, John H., expt. 8 eav. 28, 123 Mahnken, John H., expt. 8 eav. 28, 123 Mahnon, Stephen K., 14, 16 inf. 56, 187 Maize, William R., 14, 20 inf. 60, 188 Maley, Thomas E., 1t. col. r tired. 230 Mallery, Garrick, capt. edg. 17, 20, 102 Mallery, John C., expt. eng. 17, 20, 102 Mallery, John S., 24, 241 55 and Mange, V. John S., 241, 25 and 55 and
Maguire, Edward, 1 II. eng. 17, 102 Maham, Frederfick A., 14 eng. 17, 102 Maham, Frederfick A., 14 eng. 17, 103 Mahnken, John H., expt. 8 eav. 28, 123 Mahnken, John H., expt. 8 eav. 28, 123 Mahnon, Stephen K., 14, 16 inf. 56, 187 Maize, William R., 14, 20 inf. 60, 188 Maley, Thomas E., 1t. col. r tired. 230 Mallery, Garrick, capt. edg. 17, 20, 102 Mallery, John C., expt. eng. 17, 20, 102 Mallery, John S., 24, 241 55 and Mange, V. John S., 241, 25 and 55 and
Maguire, Edward, 1 II. eng. 17, 102 Maham, Frederfick A., 14 eng. 17, 102 Maham, Frederfick A., 14 eng. 17, 103 Mahnken, John H., expt. 8 eav. 28, 123 Mahnken, John H., expt. 8 eav. 28, 123 Mahnon, Stephen K., 14, 16 inf. 56, 187 Maize, William R., 14, 20 inf. 60, 188 Maley, Thomas E., 1t. col. r tired. 230 Mallery, Garrick, capt. edg. 17, 20, 102 Mallery, John C., expt. eng. 17, 20, 102 Mallery, John S., 24, 241 55 and Mange, V. John S., 241, 25 and 55 and
Maguire, Edward, 1 II. eng. 17, 102 Maham, Frederfick A., 14 eng. 17, 102 Maham, Frederfick A., 14 eng. 17, 103 Mahnken, John H., expt. 8 eav. 28, 123 Mahnken, John H., expt. 8 eav. 28, 123 Mahnon, Stephen K., 14, 16 inf. 56, 187 Maize, William R., 14, 20 inf. 60, 188 Maley, Thomas E., 1t. col. r tired. 230 Mallery, Garrick, capt. edg. 17, 20, 102 Mallery, John C., expt. eng. 17, 20, 102 Mallery, John S., 24, 241 55 and Mange, V. John S., 241, 25 and 55 and
Maguire, Edward, 1 II. eng. 17, 102 Maham, Frederfick A., 14 eng. 17, 102 Maham, Frederfick A., 14 eng. 17, 103 Mahnken, John H., expt. 8 eav. 28, 123 Mahnken, John H., expt. 8 eav. 28, 123 Mahnon, Stephen K., 14, 16 inf. 56, 187 Maize, William R., 14, 20 inf. 60, 188 Maley, Thomas E., 1t. col. r tired. 230 Mallery, Garrick, capt. edg. 17, 20, 102 Mallery, John C., expt. eng. 17, 20, 102 Mallery, John S., 24, 241 55 and Mange, V. John S., 241, 25 and 55 and
Maguire, Edward, 1 II. eng. 17, 102 Maham, Frederfick A., 14 eng. 17, 102 Maham, Frederfick A., 14 eng. 17, 103 Mahnken, John H., expt. 8 eav. 28, 123 Mahnken, John H., expt. 8 eav. 28, 123 Mahnon, Stephen K., 14, 16 inf. 56, 187 Maize, William R., 14, 20 inf. 60, 188 Maley, Thomas E., 1t. col. r tired. 230 Mallery, Garrick, capt. edg. 17, 20, 102 Mallery, John C., expt. eng. 17, 20, 102 Mallery, John S., 24, 241 55 and Mange, V. John S., 241, 25 and 55 and
Maguire, Edward, 1 II. eng. 17, 102 Maham, Frederfick A., 14 eng. 17, 102 Maham, Frederfick A., 14 eng. 17, 103 Mahnken, John H., expt. 8 eav. 28, 123 Mahnken, John H., expt. 8 eav. 28, 123 Mahnon, Stephen K., 14, 16 inf. 56, 187 Maize, William R., 14, 20 inf. 60, 188 Maley, Thomas E., 1t. col. r tired. 230 Mallery, Garrick, capt. edg. 17, 20, 102 Mallery, John C., expt. eng. 17, 20, 102 Mallery, John S., 24, 241 55 and Mange, V. John S., 241, 25 and 55 and
Maguire, Edward, 1 II. eng. 17, 102 Maham, Frederfick A., 14 eng. 17, 102 Maham, Frederfick A., 14 eng. 17, 103 Mahnken, John H., expt. 8 eav. 28, 123 Mahnken, John H., expt. 8 eav. 28, 123 Mahnon, Stephen K., 14, 16 inf. 56, 187 Maize, William R., 14, 20 inf. 60, 188 Maley, Thomas E., 1t. col. r tired. 230 Mallery, Garrick, capt. edg. 17, 20, 102 Mallery, John C., expt. eng. 17, 20, 102 Mallery, John S., 24, 241 55 and Mange, V. John S., 241, 25 and 55 and
Maguire, Edward, 1 II. eng. 17, 102 Maham, Frederfick A., 14 eng. 17, 102 Maham, Frederfick A., 14 eng. 17, 103 Mahnken, John H., expt. 8 eav. 28, 123 Mahnken, John H., expt. 8 eav. 28, 123 Mahnon, Stephen K., 14, 16 inf. 56, 187 Maize, William R., 14, 20 inf. 60, 188 Maley, Thomas E., 1t. col. r tired. 230 Mallery, Garrick, capt. edg. 17, 20, 102 Mallery, John C., expt. eng. 17, 20, 102 Mallery, John S., 24, 241 55 and Mange, V. John S., 241, 25 and 55 and
Maguire, Edward, 1 II. eng. 17, 102 Maham, Frederfick A., 14 eng. 17, 102 Maham, Frederfick A., 14 eng. 17, 103 Mahnken, John H., expt. 8 eav. 28, 123 Mahnken, John H., expt. 8 eav. 28, 123 Mahnon, Stephen K., 14, 16 inf. 56, 187 Maize, William R., 14, 20 inf. 60, 188 Maley, Thomas E., 1t. col. r tired. 230 Mallery, Garrick, capt. edg. 17, 20, 102 Mallery, John C., expt. eng. 17, 20, 102 Mallery, John S., 24, 241 55 and Mange, V. John S., 241, 25 and 55 and
Maguire, Edward, 1 II. eng. 17, 102 Maham, Frederfick A., 14 eng. 17, 102 Maham, Frederfick A., 14 eng. 17, 103 Mahnken, John H., expt. 8 eav. 28, 123 Mahnken, John H., expt. 8 eav. 28, 123 Mahnen, Stephen K., 14, 16 inf. 56, 187 Maize, William R., 14, 20 inf. 60, 188 Maley, Thomas E., 1t. col. r tired. 230 Mallery, Garrick, capt. edg. 17, 20, 102 Mallery, John C., expt. eng. 17, 20, 102 Mallery, John S., 24, 241 55 and Mange, V. John S., 241, 25 and 55 and
Maguire, Edward, 1 II. eng. 17, 102 Maham, Frederfick A., 14 eng. 17, 102 Maham, Frederfick A., 14 eng. 17, 103 Mahnken, John H., expt. 8 eav. 28, 123 Mahnken, John H., expt. 8 eav. 28, 123 Mahnen, Stephen K., 14, 16 inf. 56, 187 Maize, William R., 14, 20 inf. 60, 188 Maley, Thomas E., 1t. col. r tired. 230 Mallery, Garrick, capt. edg. 17, 20, 102 Mallery, John C., expt. eng. 17, 20, 102 Mallery, John S., 24, 241 55 and Mange, V. John S., 241, 25 and 55 and
Maguire, Edward, 1 II. eng. 17, 102 Maham, Frederfick A., 14 eng. 17, 102 Maham, Frederfick A., 14 eng. 17, 103 Mahnken, John H., expt. 8 eav. 28, 123 Mahnken, John H., expt. 8 eav. 28, 123 Mahnen, Stephen K., 14, 16 inf. 56, 187 Maize, William R., 14, 20 inf. 60, 188 Maley, Thomas E., 1t. col. r tired. 230 Mallery, Garrick, capt. edg. 17, 20, 102 Mallery, John C., expt. eng. 17, 20, 102 Mallery, John S., 24, 241 55 and Mange, V. John S., 241, 25 and 55 and
and a function of the mage mean deprotection of the second

Martin John W. 14t Juny 91 121
maton, oom wig the gravititities, for
Martin Medad C 2 lt 22 inf 62, 210
Martin, William P., m. sk. am. dept 10, 79
Marye, William A., may, ord. dept. 18, 199, 277
Manual (Manual a Million Million Red Charles 1997)
Mason, Charles M : 2 H : 4 m : 94, 201
Maxim Edwin C and 91 inf 61 169
mason, norwin et, maj, ar metricitet of, toa
Mason John S. Dr. ed J inf 41 [6]
micon, nonin in, neone a mite constant of the
Muson John S in 9ht Linf 41.919
introom, o onit int just a first interester int, and
Mason Julius W mai 3 cay
Mason, Stanton A., 14t. 4 cay
Massey, Solon F., 2 R. 5 art
101 Tel 101 Te
Mathey, Edward Gr., Capt. / Cay
Maril 1. 199 A 114 11 597 51 106
Manne, Leon A., 140, 11 million
Matthiana Wash asst survey and don't 12 80.
Martnews, wash., asst. surg. med. dept. 16, 69
Manok Chronen mui 0 my 99 115
matter, charcher, map stars
Manufee Thomas D 1 lt 2 art 33 148
Mans Louis M. asst. surg. med. dept 13, 90
Maus, Marion P., 144, 1401
32
Maxon, Mason M., J R. 10 Cav 50, 120
31 W7:11/02 - 9.14 15 (F
$May, Wm 1, 2m 10 10 m \dots m$
Margadian William W. Mu nav dont 15.95
maynamer, w mann ma put pay we pe 1.10,00
Ma Man William T nost clean 20 109
mortuant, tranant 1, post thap the 100
McAllister Julian If. col. ord. dent 18, 104, 277
McArthur, Joseph H., mai, retired 232
31 4 (1) 31 1 1 (1) (1) 1 10 (2) 77 177
MCATTINE, Matcolm, capt. 17 mt
M. S. 102, Law, D. S. & Suit 10, 154
MCAULIE, James K., 546 Datt 1111149, 194
$M_{\rm e}Dholog = Lohog E = 2.1t + 0.0002 =$
MCDRUB, JOHN F., 240, J CRV
McBluig John II in 11t rational 249
al blan, some m, jn, i n. neurousses als
Methold, Thomas S. 244, 9 inf 49 207
in catch, Thomas is, 2 it b in the treet is, 2 it
McCallum William B. 1 lt. 5 art 39, 150
ArcCammon, William W., 1 U. 14 mi 54, 196
M (Destand Line land section 1 1950)
MCUarty, John, chap. retired
M. O. M. M. Million & most 90 inf
MCCaskey, winnam 6., capt. 20 mi 00, 114
MaConlar Charles V II THE Source 92 121
Michalley, chaines as institution of the
Mulliang East Dast Fast 273
arec nu ji a ni ji an pri anni i
McCleave William capt. retired
McCleave, William, capt. retired
McCleave, William, capt. retired
McCleave, William, capt. retired
McCleave, William, capt. retired
McCleave, William, capt. retired
McCleave, William, capt. retired
McChenve, William, capt. retired
McCleave, William, capt. retired
McCherve, William, capt. retired
McChenve, William, capt. retired
McCleave, William, capt. retired
McCherve, William, capt. retired
McCherve, William, capt. retired
McCleave, William, capt. retired
McCherve, William, capt. retired
McCherve, William, capt. retired
McCleave, William, capt. retired
McCherve, William, capt. retired
McCherve, William, capt. retired
McCleave, William, capt. retired
McCherve, William, capt. retired
McCherve, William, capt. retired
McCleave, William, capt. retired
McCherve, William, capt. retired
McCherve, William, capt. retired
McCleave, William, capt. retired
McCleave, William, capt. retired
McCherve, William, capt. retired
McCleave, William, capt. retired
McCleave, William, capt. retired
McCherve, William, capt. retired
McClerve, William, capt. retired
McCleave, William, capt. retired
McClerye, William, capt. retired
McClerve, William, capt. retired
McCleave, William, capt. retired
McCleryce, William, capt. retired
McClerve, William, capt. retired
McCleave, William, capt. retired
McClerze, William, capt. retired
$ \begin{array}{c} McClerve, William, capt. retired$
$\label{eq:constraint} \begin{array}{ccccc} McCleitan, eapt. retired$
McClerye, William, capt. retired
$\label{eq:constraint} \begin{array}{c} McClerve, William, eapt. retired$
McCleave, William, capt. retired
$\label{eq:constraint} \begin{array}{c} \text{McClearce, William, capt. retired.} 245\\ \text{McClellan, Ely, maj. med. dept.} 12, 86\\ \text{McClellan, John, 11, 5 art.} 28, 150\\ \text{McClernand, Edward J., 14, 2 cav.} 22, 131, 259\\ \text{McClure, Charles, pun, pay dept.} 15, 96, 266\\ \text{McClure, Dariel, col. pay dept.} 14, 92\\ \text{McClure, Dariel, col. pay dept.} 14, 92\\ \text{McClure, Samuel, capt. 14 inf} 14, 141, 141, 141, 142\\ \text{McCowk, Alexander McD., col. 6 inf} 14, 144\\ \text{McCowk, Alexander McD., col. 6 inf} 14, 144\\ \text{McCowk, Alexander McD., col. 6 inf} 14, 144\\ \text{McCowk, Lay day 1, 14, 7 cav} 14, 142\\ \text{McCowk, Lay day 1, 141} 144\\ \text{McCowk, Lay day 1, 144} 144\\ \text{McCreery, George, asst. surg. med dept.} 14, 143\\ \text{McDoradd, Dohn, capt. retired} 24, 135\\ \text{McDomald, Robert, capt. 5 inf} 144\\ \text{McDomald, Robert, capt. 5 inf} 144\\ \text{McDowald, Robert, capt. 5 inf} 144\\ \text{McDowald, Robert, retired} 144\\ \text{McDowald, Robert, retired} 146\\ \text{McDowell, Fort, Dept. Ariz 173\\ \text{McDowell, Thom, asst. surg. med. dept.} 12, 88\\ \text{McFarland, William A, capt. end day 1, 12, 88\\ \text{McFarland, William C, 2 14, 16 inf} 164, 208\\ \text{McFarland, William C, 2 14, 16 inf} 164, 208\\ \text{McGinness, John R, capt. retired} 23, 146\\ \text{McGinness, John, C, 2 tr. 16 inf} 26, 206\\ \text{McGlinness, James T, capt. retired} 25, 154\\ \text{McGinness, James T, capt. retired} 25, 208\\ McGinness, James T, cap$
$ \begin{array}{c} McClerve, William, capt. retired$
$ \begin{array}{c} McCleave, William, capt. retired$
$\label{eq:constraint} \begin{array}{c} \text{McCleave, William, capt. retired.}$
$ \begin{array}{c} McClerve, William, capt. retired$
$\label{eq:constraint} \begin{array}{c} {\rm McCleave, William, eapt. retired$
$ \begin{array}{c} McCleave, William, capt. retired$
$\label{eq:constraint} \begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$
$ \begin{array}{c} McCleave, William, capt. retired$
$\label{eq:constraint} \begin{array}{c} \text{McClearce, William, capt. retired.}$
$\label{eq:constraint} \begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$
$ \begin{array}{c} McCleave, William, capt. retired$
$ \begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$

1881.

McIntesh, John B., brig. gen. retired ... 219 McKee, George W., capt. ord. dept 18, 106 McKee, James C., maj. med. dept 11, 85 McKibbin, David B., maj. retired 234 McLean, Nathaniel II., lt. col. retired . . . 229 McNaught, John S., capt. 20 inf.........60, 175 McNeill, Edwin MeNett, Andrew J., col. retired 227 MeNutt, John, ht. col. retired 229 229 McParhn, Thomas A., maj. med. dept 1.11, 84 McOuiston, Henry, 24t, retired 256 Meachani, Frank, asst. surg. med. dept., 12, 88 Mendell, George 11., lt. col. eng 16, 98 Mendenhall, John, maj. 1 art 31, 140 Mercur, James, cape, eng Mercell, William IL, capt, retired 9.1.1 Merriam, Heary C., It. col. 2 inf 42, 161 Merrill, James C., asst. surg. med. dept., 13, 90 Middleton, Passmore, asst. surg.med.dept 12, 88 Miller, Alexander M., capt. eng17, 20, 102

Moale, Edward, capt. 3 inf Mojave, Fort, Dept. Ariz..... 97.1
 Mott, wanaee, 14t, 8 mi
 48, 209

 Moultrie, Fort, Dept, South
 274

 Mount, John F., 14t, 3 art
 35, 148

 Mount Vernon Barracks, Dept, South
 274

 Moylan, MAbs, capt, 7 cav
 27, 120

 Muhhan, MAbs, capt, 7 cav
 27, 120

 Muhhan, Stephen J., 24, 14, 167
 54, 208

 Muhhan, Stephen J., 24, 14, 167
 54, 308

 Muhhan, James R., 14, retired
 250

 Mullins, Generge G., chan, 25, 167
 65, 215
 Mullins, George G., chap. 25 inf 65, 215 Mumford, Thomas S., 1 lt. 13 inf53, 195

Manual Anthrop 1 14 Lant 21 152
Murray, Artinir, 1 it. I art
Murray, Comliffe H., 1 It, 4 cay,24, 132
Murray, Arthur, 14, 1 art
Mutray, Robert, con mea. dept
Murry, Alexander, capt. retired
Muor Albert 1 966
Myer, Albert L., 14t. 11 mt
Muon Fort Va 974
Myers, John E., 1 R. 3 art
Mrore William mai am dont 9.74
aryers, o man, map que depe
Myrick, John R., capt. 3 art
Nach William II cent sub dent 10.82
Trash, winnam Hi, cape and or fe training of
Nave, Andrew H., 1 R. <i>i</i> cav
Naida Haraga cant J inf 41.185
Neide, 1101ace, capt. 4 me
Neifl, Thomas H., col. 8 cay
Nation And again 1) 1t and national (200
Neison, Anderson D., R. con retried 225
Nelson, James II., pm, pay dept 111115,94
N.J. William mast noticed 912
Neison, o man, capt. terneu
Nelson, William II., 1 lt. retired
Numbel, Lunia A 907
Nesimun, Louis A
Newport Barracks, Dept. South
Nanton Lihn and and 10 07
Newton, John, con eng
Newton, John, 2 lt. 16 inf
 Nelson, William H., 1 It. retired
Acoron, Archard O., assi, surg. men. dept. 14,92
New York Arsenal, N. Y
Mission Part David Part 974
Sugara, ron, populase
Nichols Frederic C. 4 lt. 1 art
$\mathbf{X}_{i}^{*} = \mathbf{I}_{i}^{*} \mathbf{I}_{i}^{*} \mathbf{I}_{i}^{*} = \mathbf{I}_{i}^{*} \mathbf{I}_{i}^{*}$
Nichols, william A., 246, 25 million 100, 219
Nicholson, William J., 2 lt. 7 eav
Nielannen Agen II. mai e.g. dent 8.70
Nickerson, Azor H., maj. a. g. uept
Nickerson James D. 2 lt. 17 inf 57, 208
Vilue Alexandr 2 constructional 217
Miles, Mailson 15, capt. retired
Niles Lotus 24, 2 art
Nichages Burt Durt Blatte 171
Niobrara, gort, nept. clatte,
Nixon, John B., capi, 24 inf
Noble (thushin H 116 16 inf 56 190
Noble, Charles II., 140, 10401,
Noble. Henry B., capt. retired
Noble, Henry B., capt. retired 239 Nolan, Nicholas, capt. 10 cay 30,116 Nordstrom, Charles E., 1 ht 10 cay 30,128 Norris, Basil, maj. med. dept 11, 84
Noble, Henry B., capt. retired 239 Nolan, Nicholas, capt. 10 cav 39, 116 Nordstrom, Charles E., 1 h. 10 cav 39, 128 Norris, Basil, maj. med. dept 11, 84 Norris, William F. 1 h. 9 inf 49, 204
Noble, Henry B., capt. retired 239 Nolan, Nicholas, capt. 10 cav 30, 116 Nordstrom, Charles E., 14, 10 cav 30, 128 Norris, Basil, maj. med. dept 11, 84 Norris, William F., 14, 9 inf 49, 204 Nub F. G. Corrector, Distribution 49, 204
Noble, Henry B., capt. retired 239 Nolan, Nicholas, capt. 10 cav 30, 116 Nordstrom, Charles E., 1 h. 10 cav 30, 128 Norris, Basil, maj. med. dept 11, 84 Norris, William F., 1 h. 9 nf 49, 204 North Fork Canadian River, Campon, Dept. 10, 204
Noble, Henry B., capt. retired 239 Nolan, Nicholas, capt. 10 cav 230, 116 Nordstrom, Charles E., 14, 10 cav 30, 128 Norris, Busil, maj. med. dept 11, 89, 204 Norris, Villiam F., 14, 9 inf 9, 204 North Fork Canadian River, Camp on, Dept. 274
Noble, Henry B., capt. retired 239 Nolan, Nicholas, capt. 10 cav 30, 116 Nordstrom, Charles E., 1 h. 10 cav 30, 128 Norris, Bail, maj. med. dept 11, 84 Norris, William F., 1 h. 9 inf 49, 204 North Fork Canadian River, Camp on, Dept. 274 Ark 274
Noble, Henry B., capt. retired 239 Nolan, Nicholas, capt. 10 cay 230,116 Nordstrom, Charles E., 1 lt. 10 cay 30,116 Norris, Basil, maj. med. dept 11,84 Norris, Villiam F., 1 lt. 9 inf 9,204 North Fork Canadian River, Camp on, Dept. 274 Norton, Thomas II., capt. retired 237
Noble, Henry B., capt. retired 239 Nolan, Nicholas, capt. 10 cay 230,116 Norris, Basil, maj, med, dept 11, 10 cay Norris, William F., 11, 9 inf 11, 84 Norris, William F., 11, 9 inf 49, 204 North Fork Canadian River, Camp on, Dept. -274 Norton, Thomas II., capt. retired -274 Norton, John M., capt. retired -271
Noble, Henry B., capt. retired 239 Nolan, Nicholas, capt. 10 cay 30,116 Nordstrom, Charles E., 1 lt. 10 cay 39,128 Norris, Basil, maj. med. dept 11,84 Norris, Villiant F., 1 lt. 9 inf 9,204 North Fork Canadian River, Camp on, Dept. 27 Ark 27 Norton, Thomas IL, capt. retired 237 Norrell, John M., capt. 12 inf 52,179 Norrell, John M., capt. 12 inf 52,179
Noble, Henry B., capt. retired 239 Nolan, Nicholas, capt. 10 cav 230,116 Nordstrom, Charles E., 14, 10 cav 30,128 Norris, Rusil, maj. med. dept 11,84 Norris, William F., 14, 9 inf 9, 204 North Fork Canadian River, Camp on, Dept. 274 Norton, Thomas IL, capt. retired 277 Nortell, John M., capt. 12 inf 52, 179 Morrell, Styvens T., capt. 10 cav 30, 119
Noble, Henry B., capt. retired 239 Nolan, Nicholas, capt. 10 cay 30,116 Nordstrom, Charles E., 1 h. 10 cay 30,128 Norris, Basil, maj. med. dept 11,84 Norris, William F., 1 h. 9 inf 49,204 North Fork Canadian River, Camp on, Dept. 47k Ark 277 Norvell, John M., capt. retired 227 Norvell, John M., capt. 12 inf 52,179 Norvell, Stevens T., capt. 10 cay 30,116 Norvell, Randolph, caut. 2 cay 29 123
Noble, Henry B., capt. retired 239 Nolan, Nicholas, capt. 10 cay 30, 116 Nordstrom, Charles E., 1 lt. 10 cay 30, 116 Nordstrom, Charles E., 1 lt. 10 cay 19, 204 Norris, Basil, maj. med. dept 11, 8 Norris, Busil, maj. med. dept 19, 204 Norris, Busil, maj. med. dept 19, 204 Norris, Busil, maj. med. dept 274 Norton, Thomas II., capt. retired 277 Norvell, John M., capt. 12 inf 52, 179 Norvell, Kevens T., capt. 10 cay 30, 119 Norvell, Randolph, capt. 2 cay 22, 123 Netwood, Randolph, capt. 2 cay 22, 123
Noble, Henry B., capt. retired 239 Nolan, Nicholas, capt. 10 cay 230,116 Norris, Basil, maj, med. dept 11, 10 cay Norris, William F., 11, 9 inf 11, 84 Norris, William F., 11, 9 inf 49, 204 North Fork Canadian River, Camp on, Dept. -274 Norton, Thomas H., capt. retired 237 Norvell, John M., capt. 12 inf -25, 179 Norvell, Stevens T., capt. 10 cay -30, 119 Norvell, Stevens T., capt. 10 cay -22, 123 Notson, William M., maj, med. dept 12, 86
Noble, Henry B., capt. retired 239 Nolan, Nicholas, capt. 10 cay 30, 116 Nordstrom, Charles E., 1 lt. 10 cay 30, 116 Nordstrom, Charles E., 1 lt. 10 cay 30, 128 Norris, Basil, maj. med. dept 11, 8 Norris, Busil, maj. med. dept 19, 204 North, Fork Canadian River, Camp on, Dept. 274 Norton, Thomas II., capt. retired 237 Norvell, John M., capt. 12 inf 52, 179 Norvell, Stevens T., capt. 10 cay 30, 119 Norwood, Randolph, capt. 2 cay 22, 123 Notson, William M., maj. med. dept 12, 86 Nowlan, Henry J., capt. 70 cay 27, 122
Noble, Henry B., capt. retired 239 Nolan, Nicholas, capt. 10 cav 30, 116 Norris, Rusil, maj. med. dept 11, 10 cav 30, 128 Norris, Rusil, maj. med. dept 11, 84 Norris, William F., 11, 9 inf 9, 204 North Fork Canadian River, Camp on, Dept. 14, 9 14 North Fork Canadian River, Camp on, Dept. 274 Norton, Thomas H., capt. retired 277 Norvell, John M., capt. 12 inf 274 Norvell, Stevens T., capt. 10 cav 30, 119 Norwood, Randolph, capt. 2 cav 22, 123 Notson, William M., maj, med. dept 12, 86 Nowad, Randolph, 20, 20, 20, 21, 22 22, 123 Notson, William M., api, pred. dept 12, 86 Nowad, Randolph, 20, 20, 21, 20, 21, 22 24, 123
Noble, Henry B., capt. retired 239 Nolan, Nicholas, capt. 10 cay 30, 116 Nordstrom, Charles E., 1 lt. 10 cay 30, 128 Norris, Basil, maj. med. dept 11, 84 Norris, William F., 1 lt. 9 inf 9, 204 North Fork Canadian River, Camp on, Dept. 274 Avk 274 Norton, Thomas IL, capt. retired 237 Norvell, John M., capt. 12 inf 52, 179 Norvell, Stevens T., capt. 10 cay 30, 119 Norwood, Randolph, capt. 2 cay 22, 123 Notson, William M., maj, med. dept 12, 86 Nowlan, Henry J., capt. 7 cay 27, 122 Noyes, Charles R., 2 lt. 9 inf 49, 211
Noble, Henry B., capt. retired 239 Nolan, Nicholas, capt. 10 cav 30, 116 Nordstrom, Charles E., 14, 10 cav 30, 116 Nordstrom, Charles E., 14, 10 cav 30, 128 Norris, Busil, maj. med. dept 11, 84 Norris, William F., 14, 9 inf 9, 204 North Fork Canadian River, Camp on, Dept. 274 Ark 274 Norton, Thomas H., capt. retired 274 Nortvell, John M., capt. 12 inf 52, 179 Norvell, Stevens T., capt. 10 cav 29, 123 Notson, William M., maj. med. dept 12, 86 Nowkan, Henry J., capt. 7 cav 27, 122 Noyes, Charles R., 214, 9 inf 49, 211 Noyes, Charles R., 214, 9 inf 49, 211
Noble, Henry B., capt. retired 239 Nolan, Nicholas, capt. 10 cay 30, 116 Norris, Basil, maj. med. dept 11, 10 cay Norris, William F., 11, 9 inf 49, 204 Norris, William F., 11, 9 inf 49, 204 North Fork Canadian River, Camp on, Dept.
Noble, Henry B., capt. retired 239 Nolan, Nicholas, capt. 10 cay 30, 116 Nordstrom, Charles E., 1 lt. 10 cay 30, 128 Norris, Basil, maj. med. dept 11, 8 Norris, William F., 1 lt. 9 inf 9, 204 North, Fork Canadian River, Camp on, Dept. 274 Norton, Thomas H., capt. retired 237 Norvell, John M., capt. 12 inf 52, 179 Norvell, Stevens T., capt. 10 cay 29, 123 Notson, William M., maj. med. dept 12, 86 Nowlao, Randolph, capt. 2 cay 22, 123 Noson, William M., apt. 7 cavt. 27, 122 Noyes, Charles R., 21, 9 inf 49, 211 Noyes, Henry E., maj. 4 cav 24, 115 Noyes, Horry, R., maj. retired 237
Noble, Henry B., capt. retired 239 Nolan, Nicholas, capt. 10 cav 30, 116 Norris, Rusil, maj. med. dept 11, 10 cav 30, 128 Norris, William F., 11, 9 inf 49, 204 Norris, William F., 11, 9 inf 49, 204 North Fork Canadian River, Camp on, Dept. 274 Ark 274 Norton, Thomas H., capt. retired 277 Norvell, Stevens T., capt. 10 cav 30, 119 Norvell, Stevens T., capt. 10 cav 29, 129 Notson, William M., maj, med. dept 12, 86 Notvell, Stevens T., capt. 10 cav 29, 129 Notson, William M., maj, med. dept 12, 86 Nowal, Randolph, capt. 2 cav 29, 122 Noyes, Charles R., 21, 9 inf 49, 211 Noyes, Henry E., maj. 4 cav 24, 115 Nagent, Robert, maj. retired 224
Noble, Henry B., capt. retired 239 Nolan, Nicholas, capt. 10 cay 30, 116 Nordstrom, Charles E., 1 lt. 10 cay 30, 116 Nordstrom, Charles E., 1 lt. 10 cay 30, 128 Norris, Basil, maj. med. dept 11, 8 juf Norris, Busil, maj. ned. dept 19, 204 North Fork Canadian River, Camp on, Dept. 274 Norton, Thomas IL, capt. retired 237 Norvell, John M., capt. 12 inf 52, 179 Norwood, Randolph, capt. 2 cay 22, 123 Notson, William M., maj. med. dept 12, 86 Nowkan, Henry J., capt. 7 cay 27, 122 Noyes, Charles R., 21, 9 inf 49, 211 Noyes, Henry E., maj. 4 cay 24, 115 Nogen, Robert, maj. retired 255 Oakes, James, col. retired 224 Or Bidrow, Eicherd F. pei 24, inf 64 164
Noble, Henry B., capt. retired 239 Nolan, Nicholas, capt. 10 cav 30, 116 Nordstrom, Charles E., 14, 10 cav 30, 128 Norris, Busil, maj. med. dept 11, 8 Norris, William F., 14, 9 94 North Fork Canadian River, Camp on, Dept. 274 Ark 274 Norton, Thomas H., capt. retired 274 Nortell, John M., capt. 12 inf 52, 179 Norvell, Stevens T., capt. 10 cav 29, 123 Notson, William K., capt. 12 inf 52, 179 Norvell, John M., capt. 12 inf 52, 179 Norvell, Stevens T., capt. 10 cav 29, 123 Notson, William K., maj. med. dept 12, 86 Nowlan, Henry J., capt. 7 cav 27, 122 Noyes, Charles R., 21t. 9 inf 49, 211 Noyes, Henry E., maj. 4 cav 24, 115 Nagent, Robert, maj. retired 224 OBeirne, Richard F., maj. 24 inf 64, 164
Noble, Henry B., capt. retired 239 Nolan, Nicholas, capt. 10 cav 30, 116 Norris, Basil, maj. med. dept 11, 10 cav 30, 128 Norris, Busil, maj. med. dept 11, 10 cav 49, 204 Norris, William F., 11, 9 inf 49, 204 North, Fork Canadian River, Camp on, Dept. 474 Ark 274 Norton, Thomas H., capt. retired 274 Nortvell, John M., capt. retired 277 Norvell, John M., capt. 12 inf 52, 179 Norvell, Stevens T., capt. 10 cav 30, 119 Norwool, Kandolph, capt. 2 cav 22, 123 Notson, William M., maj, med. dept 12, 86 Nowkan, Henry J., capt. 7 cav 27, 122 Noyes, Charles R., 21, 9 inf 49, 211 Noyes, Henry E., maj. 4 cav 24, 105 Nagent, Robert, maj. retired 235 Oakes, Jaues, col. retired 224 O'Brien, Alonzo L., 21, 12, 22 22, 136
Noble, Henry B., capt. retired 239 Nolan, Nicholas, capt. 10 cay 30, 116 Nordstrom, Charles E., 1 lt. 10 cay 30, 116 Nordstrom, Charles E., 1 lt. 10 cay 30, 128 Norris, Basil, maj. med. dept 11, 8 jnf Norris, William F., 1 lt. 9 inf 9, 204 North Fork Canadian River, Camp on, Dept. 274 Norton, Thomas H., capt. retired 237 Norvell, John M., capt. 12 inf
Noble, Henry B., capt. retired 239 Nolan, Nicholas, capt. 10 cav 30, 116 Norris, Risil, maj. med. dept 11, 10 cav 30, 128 Norris, Risil, maj. med. dept 11, 84 Norris, William F., 11, 9 inf 49, 204 North Fork Canadian River, Camp on, Dept. 274 Norton, Thomas H., capt. retired 277 Norvell, John M., capt. retired 274 Norvell, Stevens T., capt. 10 cav 30, 119 Norwood, Randolph, capt. 2 cav 22, 123 Notson, William K., apt. 7 cav 27, 179 Norwood, Randolph, capt. 2 cav 22, 123 Notson, William K., apt. 9 inf 40, 211 Noyes, Charles R., 21, 9 inf 49, 211 Noyes, Henry E., maj. 4 cav 24, 115 Nagent, Robert, maj. retired 224 O'Brien, Nenzo L., 214, 2 cav 22, 136 O'Brien, John J., 11, 4 inf 44, 105
Noble, Henry B., capt. retired 239 Nolan, Nicholas, capt. 10 cav 30, 116 Nordstrom, Charles E., 1 lt. 10 cav 30, 128 Norris, Basil, maj. med. dept 11, 8 Norris, William F., 1 lt. 9 inf 9, 204 North, Fork Canadian River, Camp on, Dept. 274 Norton, Thomas H., capt. retired 237 Norvell, John M., capt. 12 inf 52, 179 Norvell, Stevens R., capt. 10 cav 230, 119 Norwood, Randolph, capt. 2 cav 22, 123 Notson, William M., maj. med. dept 12, 86 Nowkon, Henry J., capt. 7 cav. 27, 122 Noyes, Charles R., 21, 9 inf 49, 211 Noyes, Henry E., maj. retired 235 Oakes, James, col. retired 24 Nogent, Robert, maj. retired 24 Nogent, Robert, L., 21, 2 cav 22, 136 O'Berine, Richard F., maj. 24 inf 64, 164 O'Berine, John J., 11, 4 inf 44, 20 O'Brien, John J., 11, 4 inf 44, 20 O'Brien, John J., 11, 4 inf 7, 184
Noble, Henry B., capt. retired 239 Nolan, Nicholas, capt. 10 cav 39, 116 Nordstrom, Charles E., 14, 10 cav 39, 128 Norris, Busil, maj. med. dept 11, 8 Norris, William F., 14, 9 94 North Fork Canadian River, Camp on, Dept. 274 Avet 274 Norton, Thomas H., capt. retired 274 Nortol, Stevens T., capt. 10 cav 39, 119 Norwood, Randolph, capt. 2 cav 22, 123 Notson, William K., capt. 7 cav 27, 122 Noyes, Charles R., 21t. 9 inf 49, 211 Noyes, Charles R., 21t. 9 inf 49, 211 Noyes, Henry E., maj. 4 cav 24, 115 Nogent, Robert, maj. retired 224 O'Beirne, Richard F., maj. 24 inf 64, 164 O'Brien, John J., 11t. 4 inf 44, 203 O'Brien, John J., 11t. 4 inf 44, 203 O'Brien, Notrey L., 224, 29, 29, 29 29, 29, 29, 29, 29, 29, 29, 29, 20, 20, 20, 21, 20, 20, 20, 20, 20, 20, 20, 20, 20, 20
Noble, Henry B., capt. retired 239 Nolan, Nicholas, capt. 10 cav 30, 116 Norris, Basil, maj. med. dept 11, 10 cav 30, 128 Norris, Busil, maj. med. dept 11, 14, 84 Norris, 90, 116 Norris, William F., 11, 9 inf 49, 204 North, Fork Canadian River, Camp on, Dept. 474 Ark 274 Norton, Thomas H., capt. retired 274 Nortvell, John M., capt. 12 inf 52, 179 Norvell, Stevens T., capt. 10 cav 30, 119 Norwool, Kandolph, capt. 2 cav 22, 123 Notson, William M., maj. med. dept 12, 86 Noves, Henry J., capt. 7 cav 27, 122 Noyes, Charles R., 21, 9 inf 49, 211 Noyes, Henry E., maj. 4 cav 24, 105 Nagent, Robert, maj. retired 224 O'Brien, John J., 11, 4 inf 44, 203 O'Brien, John J., 11, 4 inf 42, 2136 O'Brien, John J., 11, 4 inf 47, 203 O'Brien, John J., 11, 4 inf 47, 203 O'Brien, Martin E., capt, 2 cav 22, 136 O'Brien, Martin E., capt, 2 cav 22, 136
Noble, Henry B., capt. retired 239 Nolan, Nicholas, capt. 10 cav 30, 116 Nordstrom, Charles E., 1 lt. 10 cav 30, 128 Norris, Busil, maj. med. dept 11, 8 Norris, William F., 1 lt. 9 inf 9, 204 North Fork Canadian River, Camp on, Dept. 274 Avet 274 Nortol, Thomas H., capt. retired 274 Nortol, Stevens T., capt. 10 cav 30, 119 Norvell, John M., capt. 12 inf 52, 179 Norvell, Stevens T., capt. 10 cav 30, 119 Norwood, Randolph, capt. 2 cav 22, 123 Notson, William J., maj, med. dept 12, 86 Nowlan, Henry J., capt. 7 cav 27, 122 Noyes, Charles R., 21t. 9 inf 49, 211 Noyes, Lenry E., maj. 4 cav 24, 115 Nagent, Robert, maj. retired 224 O'Brien, Alonzo L., 21t. 2 cav 22, 136 O'Brien, John J., 11t. 4 inf 44, 203 O'Brien, Matim E., capt. 17 inf 57, 184 O'Brien, Matim E., capt. 2 cav 22, 125 O'Brien, Michael, 11t. 4 ant 37, 148
Noble, Henry B., capt. retired 239 Nolan, Nicholas, capt. 10 cav 30, 116 Norris, Rasil, maj. med. dept 11, 10 cav 30, 118 Norris, Wulliam F., 11, 9 inf 9, 204 Norris, William F., 11, 9 inf 9, 204 North Fork Canadian River, Camp on, Dept. 274 Ark 274 Norton, Thomas H., capt. retired 274 Norton, Thomas H., capt. retired 274 Norton, Thomas H., capt. retired 274 Norton, Thomas H., capt. 10 cav 30, 119 Norwool, Randolph, capt. 2 cav 22, 123 Notson, William K., capt. 10 cav 24, 115 Noges, Charles R., 21, 9 inf 49, 211 Noyes, Charles R., 21, 9 inf 49, 211 Noyes, Buency E., maj. 4 cav 22, 136 O'Brien, John J., 1 It. 4 inf 22, 136 O'Brien, John J., 1 It. 4 inf 44, 203 O'Brien, John J., 1 It. 4 inf 42, 22, 22, 125 O'Brien, Martin E., capt. 2 cav 22, 22, 22 O'Brien, John J., 1 It. 4 inf 44, 203 O'Brien, Martin E., capt. 2 cav 22, 22, 125 O
Noble, Henry B., capt. retired 239 Nolan, Nicholas, capt. 10 cav 30, 116 Nordstrom, Charles E., 1 lt. 10 cav 30, 128 Norris, Basil, maj. med. dept 11, 8 Norris, William F., 1 lt. 9 inf 9, 204 North Fork Canadian River, Camp on, Dept. 274 Ark 274 Nortos, Basel, and River, Camp on, Dept. 274 Norton, Thomas II., capt. retired 237 Norvell, John M., capt. 12 inf 52, 179 Norvell, Stevens T., capt. 10 cav 29, 123 Notson, William M., maj. med. dept 12, 86 Nowkon, Randolph, capt. 2 cav 22, 123 Notson, William M., maj. med. dept 12, 86 Nowkon, Henry J., capt. 7 cav 27, 122 Noyes, Charles R., 21t. 9 inf 49, 211 Noyes, Henry E., maj. 4 cav 24, 115 Nugent, Robert, maj. retired 225 Oakes, Jaunes, col. retired 22, 136 O'Brien, John J., 1 It. 4 inf 44, 203 O'Brien, Lyster M., capt. 17 inf 57, 184 O'Brien, Martin E., capt. 2 cav 22, 126 O'Brien, John J., 1 It. 4
Noble, Henry B., capt. retired 239 Nolan, Nicholas, capt. 10 cav 30, 116 Nordstrom, Charles E., 14, 10 cav 30, 128 Norris, Rusil, maj. med. dept 11, 84 Norris, William F., 11, 9 fmf 49, 204 North Fork Canadian River, Camp on, Dept. 274 Norton, Thomas H., capt. retired 277 Nortoll, Stevens T., capt. 10 cav 30, 119 Norvell, John M., capt. 12 inf 52, 179 Norwood, Randolph, capt. 2 cav 22, 123 Notson, William K., capt. 10 cav 30, 119 Norvell, Stevens T., capt. 10 cav 27, 122 Noyes, Charles R., 21t. 9 inf 49, 211 Noyes, Charles R., 21t. 9 inf 49, 211 Noyes, Henry E., maj. 4 cav 224 O'Brien, Robert, maj. retired 224 O'Brien, John J., 1 R. 4 inf 44, 203 O'Brien, John J., 1 R. 4 inf 44, 203 O'Brien, John J., 1 R. 4 inf 44, 203 O'Brien, John J., 1 R. 4 inf 44, 203 O'Brien, Martin E., capt. 2 cav 22, 125 O'Brien, Martin E., capt. 2 cav 22, 22, 22 O'Brien,
Noble, Henry B., capt. retired 239 Nolan, Nicholas, capt. 10 cav 30, 116 Norris, Basil, maj. med. dept 11, 10 cav 30, 128 Norris, Basil, maj. med. dept 11, 14, 84 Norris, 9, 116, 9, 117 49, 204 Nortis, William F., 14, 9, 16, 11, 9, 16 49, 204 North Fork Canadian River, Camp on, Dept. 474 Ark 274 Norton, Thomas IL, capt. retired 274 Norvell, John M., capt. retired 28, 179 Norvell, Stevens T., capt. 10 cav 30, 119 Norwool, Kandolph, capt. 2 cav 22, 123 Notson, William M., maj. med. dept 12, 86 Noves, Charles R., 21, 9 inf 49, 211 Noyes, Gharles R., 21, 9 inf 49, 211 Noyes, Charles R., 21, 9 inf 49, 211 Noyes, 40, 224 255 Oakes, Joures, Col. retired 224 224 026 O'Brien, John J., 11, 4 inf 44, 203 7184 O'Brien, Morzo L., 21, 12, cav 22, 136 021 O'Brien, Martin E., capt. 2 cav 22, 136 021 O'Brien, Martin E., capt. 2 cav 22, 125 037, 184 O'Connell, John, J., 14, x
Noble, Henry B., capt. retired 239 Nolan, Nicholas, capt. 10 cav 39, 116 Nordstrom, Charles E., 1 It. 10 cav 39, 128 Norris, Busil, maj. med. dept 11, 8 Norris, William F., 1 It. 9 inf 9, 204 North Fork Canadian River, Camp on, Dept. 274 Avet 274 Norton, Thomas H., capt. retired 274 Nortol, Stevens T., capt. 10 cav 30, 119 Norvell, John M., capt. 12 inf 52, 179 Norvell, Stevens T., capt. 10 cav 30, 119 Norwood, Randolph, capt. 2 cav 22, 123 Notson, William A., maj. med. dept 12, 86 Nowskan, Henry J., capt. 7 cav 27, 122 Noyes, Charles R., 21t. 9 inf 49, 211 Noyes, Henry E., maj. 4 cav 24, 115 Nagent, Robert, maj. retired 224 O'Brien, Alonzo L., 21t. 2 cav 22, 125 O'Brien, John J., 11t. 4 inf 44, 203 O'Brien, Methae, 11t. 4 art 37, 148 O'Connell, John, 1, 1t. 1 inf 44, 162 O'Connell, John, 1, 1t. 1 inf 44, 12, 202 O'Connell, John, 1, 1t. 1 inf
$\begin{tabular}{lllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$
Noble, Henry B., capt. retired 239 Nolan, Nicholas, capt. 10 cav 39, 116 Nordstrom, Charles E., 1 lt. 10 cav 39, 128 Norris, Basil, maj. med. dept 11, 8 Norris, William F., 1 lt. 9 inf 9, 204 North Fork Canadian River, Camp on, Dept. 274 Ark 274 Nortol, Thomas H., capt. retired 274 Nortol, Stevens T., capt. 10 cav 30, 119 Norwool, Randolph, capt. 2 cav 29, 123 Notson, William M., maj. med. dept 12, 86 Nowkon, Henry J., capt. 7 cav 27, 122 Noyes, Charles R., 21t. 9 inf 49, 211 Noyes, Col. retired 224 O'Beine, John J., 11t. 4 inf 44, 203 O'Brien, John J., 11t. 4 inf 44, 203 O'Brien, Lyster M., capt. 17 inf 57, 184 O'Brien, Martin E., capt. 2 cav 29, 22 O'Brien, John J., 11t. 4 inf 48, 195 O'Connell, Johu, 11t. 8 inf 48
Noble, Henry B., capt. retired 239 Nolan, Nicholas, capt. 10 cav 30, 116 Norris, Rusil, maj. med. dept 11, 10 cav 30, 128 Norris, Rusil, maj. med. dept 11, 84 Norris, William F., 11, 9 inf 49, 204 North Fork Canadian River, Camp on, Dept. 274 Norton, Thomas H., capt. retired 277 Norvell, Johm M., capt. 12 inf 52, 179 Norvell, Stevens T., capt. 10 cav 30, 119 Norvell, Stevens T., capt. 10 cav 274 Norvell, Stevens T., capt. 10 cav 21, 12 Noves, Randolph, capt. 2 cav 22, 123 Noves, Charles R., 21 P off 49, 211 Noyes, Charles R., 21 P off 49, 211 Noyes, Henry E., maj. 4 cav 224 O'Brien, John J., 1 R. 4 inf 44, 203 O'Brien, John J., 1 R. 4 inf 44, 203 O'Brien, John J., 1 R. 4 inf 44, 203 O'Brien, John J., 1 R. 4 inf 44, 203 O'Brien, John J., 1 R. 4 inf 44, 202 O'Brien, John J., 1 R. 4 inf 44, 202 O'Brien, John J., 1 R. 4 inf 44, 202
$\begin{tabular}{lllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$
Noble, Henry B., capt. retired 239 Nolan, Nicholas, capt. 10 cav 39, 116 Nordstrom, Charles E., 1 h. 10 cav 39, 128 Norris, Rusil, maj. med. dept 11, 8 Norris, Rusil, maj. med. dept 19, 84 Norris, Rusil, maj. med. dept 19, 84 Norris, Rusil, maj. med. dept 11, 84 Ava 274 Norton, Thomas H., capt. retired 277 Norvell, John M., capt. 12 inf 52, 179 Norvell, Stevens T., capt. 10 cav 30, 119 Norwood, Randolph, capt. 2 cav 22, 123 Notson, William K., maj. med. dept 12, 86 Nowlan, Henry J., capt. 7 cav. 27, 122 Noyes, Charles R., 21t. 9 inf 49, 211 Noyes, Henry E., maj. 4 cav. 244 O'Beirne, Richard F., maj. 24 inf 64, 164 O'Brien, John J., 11. 4 inf 44, 203 O'Brien, John J., 11. 4 inf 44, 203 O'Brien, Martin E., capt. 2 cav 22, 125 O'Brien, Mathael, 11. 4 inf 44, 203 O'Brien, John J., 11. 4 inf 44, 203 O'Connell, John, 1 H. 3 inf 48, 19
Nickerson, Azor II., maj. a.g. dept, 5, 70 Nickerson, James D., 2 It. 17 inf, 57, 208 Niles, Almson E., capt. retired, 247 Niles, Lotus, 2 It. 2 art Niobrara, Fort, Dept. Platte, 274 Nixon, John B., capt. retired, 247 Niko, Almson E., capt. retired, 274 Nixon, John B., capt. 24 inf, 56, 189 Noble, Charles H., 11t. 16 inf, 56, 189 Noble, Charles H., 11t. 16 inf, 56, 189 Nola, Nicholas, capt. retired, 239 Nolan, Nicholas, capt. 10 cav, 39, 116 Nordstrom, Charles E., 14, 10 cav, 39, 116 Nordstrom, Charles E., 14, 10 cav, 39, 118 Norts, William F., 11, 9 inf, 49, 204 North Fork Camadian River, Camp on, Dept. Ark
$\begin{aligned} & Noble, Henry B., capt. retired$
$\begin{aligned} & \text{Noble, Henry B., capt. retired}$
Noble, Henry B., capt. retired 239 Nolan, Nicholas, capt. 10 cav 30, 116 Norris, Basil, maj. med. dept 11, 10 cav Norris, Basil, maj. med. dept 11, 84 Norris, William F., 11, 9 inf 49, 204 North Fork Canadian River, Camp on, Dept. 274 Ark 274 Norton, Thomas H., capt. retired 277 Norvell, John M., capt. retired 278 Norvell, John M., capt. 12 inf 52, 179 Norvell, Stevens T., capt. 10 cav 30, 119 Norwool, Kandolph, capt. 2 cav 22, 123 Notson, William M., maj. med. dept 12, 86 Noves, Charles R., 21, 9 inf 49, 211 Noyes, Charles R., 21, 9 inf 49, 211 Noyes, James, col. retired 224 O'Brien, John J., 11, 4 inf 44, 163 O'Brien, Monzo L., 21, 2 cav 22, 136 O'Brien, Monzo L., 21, 2 cav 22, 125 O'Brien, Martin E., capt. 2 cav 22, 125 O'Brien, Martin E., capt. 2 cav 22, 22, 50 O'Connel, John J., 11, t. 4 inf 44, 203 O'Connor, Charles M., 21, 18 seav. 28, 139 O'Connor, Charles M., 21, 18
Noble, Henry B., capt. retired 239 Nolan, Nicholas, capt. 10 cav 30, 116 Nordstrom, Charles E., 1 It. 10 cav 30, 128 Norris, Rusil, maj. med. dept 11, 84 Norris, William F., 1 It. 9 inf 99, 204 North Fork Canadian River, Camp on, Dept. 274 Norton, Thomas IL, capt. retired 277 Norton, Thomas IL, capt. Jo cav 274 Norton, Thomas IL, capt. Jo cav 273 Norvell, John M., capt. 12 inf 52, 179 Norvell, Stevens T., capt. 10 cav 29, 123 Notson, William M., maj. med. dept 12, 86 Nowlan, Henry J., capt. 7 cav. 27, 122 Noyes, Charles R., 21t. 9 inf 49, 211 Noges, Henry E., maj. 4 cav 224 O'Beine, Robert, maj. retired 224 O'Beine, John J., 1 It. 4 inf 44, 203 O'Brien, John J., 1 It. 4 inf 44, 203 O'Brien, Martin E., capt. 2 cav 22, 125 O'Brien, Martin E., capt. 2 cav 22, 22, 22 O'Brien, Martin E., capt. 2 cav 22, 22, 22 O'Brien, Martin E., capt. 17 inf 57, 184 O'Connell, John, 1 It. 4 inf 44, 203
$\begin{aligned} & \text{Noble, Henry B., capt. retired}$
Noble, Henry B., capt. retired 239 Nolan, Nicholas, capt. 10 cav 39, 116 Nordstrom, Charles E., 14, 10 cav 39, 128 Norris, Busil, maj. med. dept 11, 84 Norris, William F., 14, 9 inf 99, 204 North Fork Canadian River, Camp on, Dept. 274 Ark 274 Nortol, Thomas H., capt. retired 277 Norvell, John M., capt. 12 inf 52, 179 Norvell, Stevens T., capt. 10 cav 39, 118 Norvell, Stevens T., capt. 10 cav 29, 123 Notson, William A., maj. med. dept 12, 86 Nowkan, Henry J., capt. 7 cav 27, 122 Noyes, Charles R., 21t. 9 inf 49, 211 Noyes, Unerry E., maj. 4 cav 24, 115 Nagent, Robert, maj. retired 224 O'Brien, John J., 11, 4 inf 44, 203 O'Brien, John J., 11, 4 inf 44, 203 O'Brien, Methael, 11, 4 art 37, 148 O'Connell, John, 1, 11, 1 inf 41, 202 O'Connell, John, 1, 11, 1 inf 41, 202 O'Connell, John, 1, 11, 1 inf 41, 42, 203 O'Connell, John, 1, 11, 1 inf 41, 42, 202 O'Connell, John, 1, 11, 1 i
$\begin{aligned} & \text{Noble, Henry B., capt. retired} & 239\\ & \text{Nolan, Nicholas, capt. 10 cav & 39, 116}\\ & \text{Norris, Rasil, maj. med. dept} & 11, 84\\ & Norris, William F., 11, 9 inf & 49, 204\\ & \text{Norris, William F., 11, 9 inf & 49, 204\\ & \text{North Fork Canadian River, Camp on, Dept.\\ & Ark & 274\\ & \text{Norton, Thomas II., capt. retired & 274\\ & \text{Norton, Thomas II., capt. retired & 274\\ & \text{Norrow, William K., capt. retired & 274\\ & \text{Norrow, Randolph, capt. 2 cav & 29, 123\\ & \text{Norvell, Stevens T., capt. 10 cav 30, 119\\ & \text{Norwool, Randolph, capt. 2 cav & 22, 123\\ & \text{Notson, William M., maj. med. dept & 12, 86\\ & \text{Nowkan, Henry L., capt. 7 cav 27, 122\\ & \text{Noyes, Charles R., 21, 9 inf 49, 211\\ & \text{Noyes, Benry E., maj. 4 cav 24, 115\\ & \text{Nugent, Robert, maj. retired 224\\ & O'Beinen, Kichard F., maj. 24 inf 64, 164\\ & O'Brien, Monzo L., 214. 2 cav 22, 123\\ & O'Brien, John J., 114. 4 inf 44, 203\\ & O'Brien, John J., 114. 4 inf 44, 203\\ & O'Brien, John J., 114. 8 inf 44, 81, 95\\ & O'Connell, John, J., 114. 8 inf 44, 203\\ & O'Connell, John, J., 114. 8 inf 44, 203\\ & O'Connell, John, J., 114. 8 inf 44, 203\\ & O'Connell, John, J., 114. 8 inf 44, 203\\ & O'Connell, John, J., 114. 8 inf 44, 203\\ & O'Connell, John, J., 114. 8 inf 44, 203\\ & O'Connell, John, J., 114. 8 inf 44, 203\\ & O'Connell, John, J., 114. 8 inf 44, 203\\ & O'Connell, John, J., 14. 8 inf 44, 203\\ & O'Connell, John, J., 14. 8 inf 44, 203\\ & O'Connell, John, J., 14. 8 inf 44, 203\\ & O'Connell, John, J., 14. 8 inf 44, 203\\ & O'Connell, John, J., 14. 8 inf 44, 203\\ & O'Connell, John, J., 14. 8 inf 44, 203\\ & O'Connell, John, J., 14. 8 inf 44, 203\\ & O'Connell, John, J., 14. 8 inf 44, 203\\ & O'Connell, John, J., 14. 8 inf 44, 203\\ & O'Connell, John, J., 14. 8 inf 44, 203\\ & O'Connell, Selphen, 21. 23 inf 50, 211\\ & O'Connell, Mellian, capt. retired 243\\ & O'Co$

Olmsted, George T., jr., capt. U. S. A 216, 263.
Olmstud Amuld A Tht Bint 53 194
Connacci, octanici 20, 191, 10 nic
Omaha, Fort, Dept. Patte
Ontario East Dant East 274
$(\lambda_1, 1, 1)$ $(\lambda_1, $
Ord, Edward O. C., prig. gen. required 11111218
Ord. Edward O. C., ir., 240, 22 inf
(1) = (1 + 1) + (1 + 1)
OPH, James G., 1 H. 25 mt
O'Reilly, Robert M., asst. surg. med.dept 13, 89.
Orland, Louis II, 314 and inch
Orieman, Louis II., FIU reoregui
Osborne, Nathan W., mai, 15 inf
Ournal Hanne P. 1 lt 2 ard 25 150
Osgood, menty b., the a a three seconds, too
Otis, Elmer, It. col. 7 cay
Otis Elwall S col 20 inf 60 159
()[N, 110(111), (0), 20 ml
- Otis, George A., maj. med. dept
Otic Hamison G. 94t Jant 28 155
Ous, marrison on, and and a set of the
Ovenshine, Samuel, capt. 5 int
Overnman Leavis (1 cont on r 17 10)
Overton, Gilbert E., 146.6 Cav
Oyster Joseph S. 1 It 1 art 22 153 260
17 11 1 (1) II 11 14 1 and 150 150
Paddock, George 11., 140.4 art
Paddock James V. S., 24t, 5 cay
Dave (thurles mai mul dont 11.91
rage, charles, may men dept 11, 64
Page, John H., capt. 3 inf
Downo Sourcel S '9 lt 15 inf 55 908
Tague, panaero, = it to mit
Palen, Vincent, chap, retired
Dolfean Corl E 1 lf eng 17 103
Tantey, Carl F., Theens
Palmer, Alfred M., 246, 24 mi
Palmer George 2 It 9 inf 49 209
1 + 1 + 1 + 1 + 1 + 1 + 1 + 1 + 1 + 1 +
Paimer, George H., 146, 10 mit 1. 56, 199
Palmer, Innis N., col. retired
$D_{2,2} = D_{2,2} = D_{2$
raruee, onnus n., ru. 20 mit
Parke, John B., capt 10 inf 50, 167
Darka John (2. It col and 16.98
- Parke, John S., jr., 240, 21 mi
Parker Charles capt 9 cav
Daulan Dalamatul ant 2 mf 19 106
Parker, Damgerneid, capt. 5 mt 45, 109
Parker, Francis II., maj. ord. dept 18, 105, 277
Parker James 1 lt 4 cuy 94 139
1 at Ker, 9 attues, 1 to 4 (a)
Parker, Leopold O., capt. i m1
Parker Montgomery D 2 It 9 cay 29 135
$\mathbf{D} = 1 + 1 + 1 + 2 + 2 + 1 + $
Parker, Percy, 246, 8401
Parker Richard C. capt. refired
$D_{1} = \{1, \dots, n\}$ (1) $D_{1} = \{1, \dots, n\}$ (1) $D_{1} = \{1, \dots, n\}$ (1) $D_{1} = \{1, \dots, n\}$
Tarkhursi, Charles D., Fitt o Cav 29, 101
Parnell, William R., capt. I cay
Doutello, Lound M. T. 94t 5 inf 15 913
Tarreno, cosepu al. 1., a n. c mit
Patch, Alexander M., 14t. 4 cav 1.24, 132
Dattan Francis I 91t 91 inf 61 210
Tarren, Francison, Sitt String Contention, Sto
Patten, George W., It. col. retired
Patten William S. 24t, 18 inf
$D_{11}(1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1$
ratterson, creorge 1, 1, 246, 14 mit
Patterson, John H., capt. 20 inf
Dotton 12. Lout II 11t 1 out 91 159
Patterson, Robert II., 1 lt. 1 art
Patterson, Robert II., 14t. 1 art
Patterson, Robert II., 14t. 1art
Patterson, Robert II., 1 lt. 1 art
Patterson, Robert II., 14, 1 art
Patterson, Robert II., 11: 1 art
Patterson, Robert II., 11t, 1 art
$ \begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$
Patterson, Robert II., 14, 1 art
Patterson, Robert II., 11: 1 art
Patterson, Robert II., 14: 1 art
Patterson, Robert II., 11: 1 art
Paulding, Holmes O., asst. surg.med.dept. 13.90 Paulding, William, 2 lt. 10 inf
Paulding, Holmes O., asst. surg.med.dept. 13.90 Paulding, William, 2 lt. 10 inf
Paulding, Holmes O., asst. surg.med.dept. 13.90 Paulding, William, 2 lt. 10 inf
Paulding, Holmes O., asst. surg.med.dept. 13.90 Paulding, William, 2 lt. 10 inf
Paulding, Holmes O., asst. surg.med.dept. 13.90 Paulding, William, 2 lt. 10 inf
Paulding, Holmes O., asst. surg.med.dept. 13.90 Paulding, William, 2 lt. 10 inf
Paulding, Holmes O., asst. surg.med.dept. 13.90 Paulding, William, 2 lt. 10 inf
Paulding, Holmes O., asst. surg.med.dept. 13.90 Paulding, William, 2 lt. 10 inf
Paulding, Holmes O., asst. surg.med.dept. 13.90 Paulding, William, 2 lt. 10 inf
Paulding, Holmes O., asst. surg.med.dept. 13.90 Paulding, William, 2 lt. 10 inf
Paulding, Holmes O., asst. surg.med.dept. 13.90 Paulding, William, 2 lt. 10 inf
Paulding, Holmes O., asst. surg.med.dept. 13.90 Paulding, William, 2 lt. 10 inf
Paulding, Holmes O., asst. surg.med.dept. 13.90 Paulding, William, 2 lt. 10 inf
$\begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$

Penrose, Charles B., capt. sub. dept 10, 82 Penrose, William IL, capt. 3 inf 43, 166 Perin, Glover, It. col. med. dept11, 81 Pitcher, William L., 2 lt. 8 inf 48, 206 Plattsburg Baracks, Dept. East..... Poplar River, Camp. Dept. Dak..... 274Porter, Fort, Dept. East 271

 Forter, Jorr, Dept. East
 274

 Porter, Joremiah, post chap
 19, 109

 Porter, Joseph V., asst, surg. med. dept
 13, 91

 Porter, Samuel A.
 267

 Post, James C., capt, eng
 17, 102

 Postey, Clarence A., 14, 3 art
 36, 55

 Potter, Charnel A.
 55, 52

 Potter, Renben M., m. sk. qm. dept 10, 79

Powell, Junius L., asst. surg. med. dept . . 14, 91
 Pratt, Edward B., 1 It. 23 inf
 63, 201

 Pratt, Henry C., maj. retired
 231

 Pratt, Henry C., capt. 13 inf
 53, 189

 Quirk, Paul, capt. retired
 44, 889

 Quirk, Paul, capt. retired
 246

 Rafferty, William A., capt. 6 cav.
 26, 119

 Rafferty, William C., 24, 1, 1 art.
 32, 156, 262

 Ramsay, George D., brig, gen. retired
 218

 Ramsay, Joseph G., capt. 2 art.
 33, 143
 Randall, Fort, Dept. Dak 274 Randall, George M., capt. 23 inf......63, 169 Randolph, Benjamin 11., 1 lt. 3 art., 36, 153, 259 Rawolle, William G., capt. 2 cav. 22, 125 Ray, P. Henry, 1 It. 8 inf. 48, 198 Raymond, Charles W., capt. eng 17, 20, 102, 260

 Reade, Philip, 14, 25 mi
 60, 20

 Reade, Philip, 14, 3 inf
 43, 203

 Recruiting Depots
 277

 Reed, Harvey D., 24, 25 inf
 65, 212

 Reed, Harvey A., 14, 2 art
 .34, 52, 260

 Reed, Hugh T., 14, 1 inf
 .44, 204, 263

..--

Reed, Thomas D., 2 R. returned	
Reced, William L, 14, 7 inf 240 Reced, Walter, asst. surg. med. dept 13, 90 Reese, Henry B., pm, pay dept. 15, 93 Reeve, Isnae V, D., col. retired 222 Reeves, Floring B., col. retired 242 Reegun, James, 11 J., 5 art 29, 90 Reilly, James, 11 J., 5 art 39, 49 Reilly, James W., capt. retired 242 Reeve, Jone, Phillp., capt. 19 inf 59, 70 Reindlebrock, Joseph, capt. retired 243 Reuo, Fort, Dept. Ark 274 Reno, Marens A 267 Revidord, Miram H, ord. sk. 29, 10 Revolds, Mired, 14, 20 inf 60, 205	
Reed, William L, 1 lt. 7 inf	
Reese Henry B. pm. nav dept 15,93	
Dame Long V D and rational 999	
Reeve, Islae V. D., contented that a solution	
Reeves, Thomas II., capt. retired (1992)	
Regan, James, 14t, 9 inf	
Reilly Henry J., 14t, 5 art	
Dally James W and and dant 18 106 277	
Renty, statues w., capt. ord. de pr	
Remington, Philip II., capt. 19 ml	
Rendlebrock, Joseph, capt. retired 243	
Peno Fort Dent Ark	
Dava Manana M	
Reno, Marcus A	
Rexford, Witham H., ord. sk	
Reynolds, Alfred, 1 lt, 20 inf	
Reynolds Bainbridge 1 lt.3 cay	
Dermalde Churcher west about 10,108	
Reynolds, Charles, post chap	
Reynolds, Charles A., maj. qm. dept 9, 60	
Reynolds, Frank, capt. retired	
Peynolds Joseph J. col. retired 993	
$\mathbf{P}_{\text{result}}$ William $\mathbf{P}_{\text{result}}$ 11 inf 51 212	
Reynolds, winnam D., 2 n. 14 nn	
Rheem, Edward B., 1 R. 21 mt 101, 190	
Rice, Edmund, 14t. 5 inf 45, 187	
Rice Frank R. 1 lf. retired 252	
$\begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	
$\mathbf{M}(\mathbf{C}, \mathbf{\Gamma}) \mathbf{M}(\mathbf{K}, \mathbf{O}, \mathbf{\Gamma}) \mathbf{M}(\mathbf{C}, \mathbf{I}) \mathbf{M}(\mathbf{I}) \mathbf{M}(\mathbf{C}, \mathbf{I}) \mathbf{M}(\mathbf{I}) \mathbf{M}(\mathbf$	
Rice, James H., 14t. retired	
Rice, William F., 1 lt. 23 inf	
Richard, Charles, asst. surg. med. dept 14, 91	
Pichards James P ir 9 It 4 cav 94 135	
T_{1}^{1} (matrix, V_{1}^{1}) T_{1	
Richarus, William V., 140, 10001	
Richmond, Ephraim T. C., 14t. 2 art 33, 151, 263	
Ricketts, James B., maj. gen. refired 217	
Riley, Fort, Dept. Mo	
Pilov Thomas F 967	
Dingell East Dart Taxas 971	
Ringgold, Fort. Dept. Texas	
Ringgold, Fort, Dept, Texas	
Ringgold, Fort. Dept. Texas	
Ringgold, Fort. Dept. Texas	
Ringgold, Fort, Dept, Texas	
Ringgold, Fort, Dept, Texas	
Ringgold, Fort, Dept, Texas	
Ringgold, Fort. Dept. Texas 274 Ripley, Henry L., 24, 24 inf 64, 212 Risley, Donglas G., capt. retired 248 Rittenhouse, Benjamin F., capt. retired 245 Rives, Wright, capt. retired 239 Rouch, George H., 11, 17 inf 57, 202	
Ringgold, Fort, Dept, Texas 274 Ripley, Henry L., 24, 24 inf 64, 212 Risley, Donglas G., capt, retired 248 Rittenhouse, Benjamin F., capt, retired 248 Rittenhouse, Benjamin F., capt, retired 248 Rittenhouse, Benjamin F., capt, retired 248 Ritzens, Henry P., 11, 25 inf. 65, 198 Rives, Wright, capt, retired 259 Robe, Charles F., capt, 25 inf. 56, 767	
Ringgold, Fort. Dept. Texas 274 Ringgold, Fort. Dept. Texas 274 Risley, Donglas G., eapt. retired 248 Rittenhouse, Benjamin F., capt. retired 248 Rittenhouse, Benjamin F., capt. retired 248 Rittenhouse, Benjamin F., capt. retired 249 Rives, Wright, capt. retired 239 Roach, George H., 14, 17 inf 57, 202 Robert, Henry M., mai, cup 65, 177 Robert, Henry M., mai, cup 16, 99	
Ringgold, Fort, Dept, Texas 274 Ringgold, Fort, Dept, Texas 274 Rijdey, Henry L., 24, 24 64, 212 Riskey, Donglas G., capt, retired 248 Rittenhouse, Benjamin F., capt, retired 248 Ritzius, Henry P., 14, 25 inf. 65, 198 Rives, Wright, capt, retired 259 Rouch, George H., 14, 17 inf 57, 202 Robe, Charles F., capt, 25 inf. 65, 177 Robert, Henry M., maj, eng 16, 99 Patherts, Banjamin K. 14, 5 art 29, 148	
Ringgold, Fort. Dept. Texas 274 Ringgold, Fort. Dept. Texas 274 Risley, Donglas G., capt. retired 248 Rittenhouse, Benjamin F., capt. retired 248 Rittenhouse, Benjamin F., capt. retired 248 Rittenhouse, Benjamin F., capt. retired 249 Rives, Wright, capt. retired 239 Roach, George H., 11t. 17 inf 57, 202 Robert, Henry M., maj. eng 16, 99 Roberts, Benjamin K., 11t. 5 art 39, 148	
Ringgold, Fort, Dept, Texas 274 Ripley, Henry L., 24, 24 16 64, 212 Risley, Donglas G., capt, retired 248 Rittenhouse, Benjamin F., capt, retired 248 Rittenhouse, Benjamin F., capt, retired 248 Rittenhouse, Benjamin F., capt, retired 248 Rites, Wright, endt, retired 259 Rober, George H., 14, 17 inf 57, 202 Rober, George H., 14, 17 inf 56, 177 Robert, Henry M., maj, eng 16, 99 Roberts, Benjamin K., 14, 5 art 39, 148 Roberts, Cyrus S, capt, 17 inf 57, 182	
Ringgold, Fort. Dept. Texas 274 Ripley, Henry L., 2 It. 24 inf 64. 212 Risley, Donglas G., eapt. retired 248 Rittenhouse, Benjamin F., capt. retired 248 Rittenhouse, Benjamin F., capt. retired 248 Rittenhouse, Benjamin F., capt. retired 245 Ritzes, Wright, capt. retired 239 Reach, George H., 1 It. 77 inf 57, 302 Roberts, Benjamin K., 1 It. 5 art 39, 148 Roberts, Benjamin K., 1 It. 5 art 39, 148 Roberts, Benjamin K., 1 It. 5 art 39, 148 Roberts, Barjanin K., 1 It. 5 art 44, 214 Roberts, Barris L., 2 It 4 inf 44, 214	
$\begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	
Ringgold, Fort, Dept, Texas 274 Ringley, Henry L., 24, 24 inf 64, 212 Risley, Donglas G., capt, retired 248 Rittenhouse, Benjamin F., capt, retired 248 Rives, Wright, capt, retired 239 Roach, George H., 11t, 17 inf 57, 302 Roberts, Benjamin K., 11t, 5 art 39, 148 Roberts, Benjamin K., 11t, 5 art 39, 148 Roberts, Ilarris L., 21t 4 inf 44, 214 Roberts, Jaseph, col. retired 225 Roberts, Jaseph, ed. Petired 925	
Ringgold, Fort, Dept, Texas 274 Ringley, Henry L., 24, 24 inf 64, 212 Risley, Donglas G., capt, retired 248 Rittenhouse, Benjamin F., capt, retired 248 Rittenhouse, Benjamin F., capt, retired 248 Rittenhouse, Benjamin F., capt, retired 248 Ritzens, Henry P., 11, 25 inf. 65, 198 Rives, Wright, capt, retired 259 Rober, George H., 11, 17 inf 57, 202 Roberts, Benjamin K., 116, 5 art 39, 148 Roberts, Cyrus S., capt, 17 inf 57, 182 Roberts, Barjanin K., 116, 5 art 49, 207 Roberts, Dseph, col. retired 225 Roberts, Oseph, col. retired 225 Roberts, Daseph, col. retired 225 Roberts, Daseph, col. retired 225 Roberts, Langar B., 21, 9 inf 49, 207	
Ringgold, Fort, Dept, Texas 274 Ringgold, Fort, Dept, Texas 274 Risley, Donglas G., capt, retired 248 Rittenhouse, Benjamin F., capt, retired 249 Roberts, Henry M., maj, cug 259 Roberts, Benjamin K., 11t, 5 art 39, 148 Roberts, Benjamin K., 11t, 5 art 39, 148 Roberts, Benjamin K., 11t, 5 art 39, 148 Roberts, Urrus S., capt, 17 inf 57, 182 Roberts, Harris L., 2 It 4 inf 44, 214 Roberts, Joseph, col. retired 225 Roberts, Harris L., 2 It 4 inf 49, 207 Roberts, Joseph, col. retired 225 Roberts, Joseph, Col. retired 225 Roberts, Marris L., 2 It 4 inf 49, 207 Roberts, Sensed C. 2010, 1 error 215	
$\begin{tabular}{lllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	
Ringgold, Fort, Dept, Texas 274 Ringly, Henry L., 24, 24 inf 64, 212 Risley, Donglas G., capt, retired 248 Rittenhouse, Benjamin F., capt, retired 248 Rives, Wright, capt, retired 259 Roach, George H., 11t, 17 inf 57, 202 Roberts, Benjamin K., 11t, 5 art 39, 148 Roberts, Benjamin K., 11t, 5 art 39, 148 Roberts, Benjamin K., 11t, 5 art 39, 148 Roberts, Harris L., 21t 4 inf 44, 214 Roberts, Jarris L., 21t 4 inf 49, 207 Robertson, Edgar B., 21t, 9 inf 90, 207 Robertson, James M., maj, retired 225 Robertson, Samuel C., 21t, 1 cay 21, 136 Robinson, Augustus G., maj, equ. dept 9, 76	
Ringgold, Fort, Dept, Texas 274 Ringley, Henry L., 24, 24 inf 64, 212 Risley, Donglas G., capt, retired 248 Rittenhouse, Benjamin F., capt, retired 248 Rives, Wright, endt, retired 259 Rober, George H., 14, 15 inf 57, 202 Roberts, Benjamin K., 14, 5 art 29, 148 Roberts, Cyrus S., capt, 17 inf 57, 182 Roberts, Cyrus S., capt, 17 inf 57, 182 Roberts, Oseph, col. retired 225 Roberts, Jaseph, col. retired 255 Robertson, Edgar B., 24, 9 inf 49, 207 Robertson, James M., maj, retired 255 Robertson, James M., maj, retired 257 Robertson, James M., maj, retired 258 Robertson, Augustus G., maj, end ept 9, 76 Robinson, Augustus G., maj, end, edpt 9, 76	
Ringgold, Fort, Dept, Texas 274 Ringgold, Fort, Dept, Texas 274 Righey, Henry L., 24, 24, 167 64, 212 Riskey, Donglas G., capt, retired 248 Rittenhouse, Benjamin F., capt, retired 248 Rittenhouse, Benjamin F., capt, retired 248 Rives, Wright, capt, retired 259 Roach, George H., 11, 17 inf 57, 202 Rober, Charles F., capt, 25 inf. 65, 177 Roberts, Benjamin K., 11, 5 art 39, 148 Roberts, Benjamin K., 11, 5 art 39, 148 Roberts, Benjamin K., 11, 5 art 39, 148 Roberts, Uryus S., capt, 17 inf 57, 182 Roberts, Benjamin K., 21, 4 inf 44, 214 Roberts, Jarris L., 21t 4 inf 49, 207 Robertson, Edgar B., 219, 9 inf 49, 207 Robertson, James M., maj, retired 235 Robertson, James M., maj, retired 237 Robinson, Augustus G., maj, equ. dept 9, 76 Robinson, Daniel, 11, 7 inf 47, 194 Robinson, Dent, Platte 274	
Ringgold, Fort, Dept, Texas 274 Ringley, Henry L., 24, 24 inf 64, 212 Risley, Donglas G., capt, retired 248 Rittenhouse, Benjamin F., capt, retired 248 Rittenhouse, Benjamin F., capt, retired 248 Ritzens, Henry P., 14, 25 inf. 65, 198 Rives, Wright, endt, retired 259 Rober, George H., 14, 17 inf 57, 202 Roberts, Benjamin K., 14, 5 art 29, 148 Roberts, Cyrus S., capt, 17 inf 57, 182 Roberts, Cyrus S., capt, 17 inf 42, 214 Roberts, Dasph, col. retired 225 Robertson, Edgar B., 24, 9 inf 49, 207 Robertson, James M., maj, retired 255 Robertson, James M., maj, retired 255 Robertson, James M., maj, retired 257 Robertson, James M., maj, retired 257 Robertson, Manustus G., maj, end ept 9, 76 Robinson, Augustus G., maj, end, ept 9, 74 Robinson, Fort, Dept, Platte 274 Robinson, Frenk U. 14, 274 270	
Ringgold, Fort, Dept, Texas 274 Ripley, Henry L., 2 II, 24 inf 64, 212 Risley, Donglas G., capt, retired 248 Rittenhouse, Benjamin F., capt, retired 248 Rittenhouse, Benjamin F., capt, retired 248 Rittenhouse, Benjamin F., capt, retired 248 Ritzens, Henry P., H. 25 inf 65, 198 Robe, Charles F., capt, 25 inf 65, 177 Robert, Henry M., maj, cug 16, 99 Roberts, Benjamin K., 1 II, 5 art 29, 148 Roberts, Idarris L., 211 4 inf 57, 182 Roberts, Idarris L., 211 4 inf 429, 144 Roberts, Idarris L., 211 4 inf 49, 207 Roberts, Idarris L., 211 4 inf 49, 207 Roberts, Joseph, col. retired 225 Roberts, Joseph, col. retired 235 Robertson, James M., maj, cetired 235 Robertson, James M., maj, cetired 237 Robertson, James M., maj, cetired 237 Robertson, James M., maj, cetired 237 Robertson, James M., maj, cetired 248 Robinson, Daniel, 11, 7 inf 47, 194 Robinson, Fo	
$\begin{tabular}{lllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	
$\begin{tabular}{lllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	
Ringgold, Fort, Dept, Texas 274 Ringley, Henry L., 24, 24, 107 64, 212 Risley, Donglas G., capt, retired 248 Rittenhouse, Benjamin F., capt, retired 248 Rittenhouse, Benjamin F., capt, retired 248 Ritzens, Henry P., 14, 25 inf. 65, 198 Rives, Wright, enpt, retired 259 Root, George H., 14, 17 inf 57, 202 Robert, Benjamin K., 146, 5 art 39, 48 Roberts, Cyrus S., capt, 17 inf 57, 182 Roberts, Bujamin K., 146, 5 art 39, 48 Roberts, Dasph, col. retired 225 Roberts, Oraus L., 214, 4 inf 49, 207 Robertson, Edgar B., 214, 9 inf 49, 207 Robertson, Samuel C., 214, 1 cav 21, 36 Robinson, Augustus G., maj, entired 25 Robinson, Parak U., 114, 2 cav 22, 30 Robinson, Frank U., 114, 2 cav 22, 30 Robinson, Frederick, 114, 5 art 30, 47 Robinson, George, post chap 20, 109 Robinson, George, post chap 20, 109 Robinson, George, post chap 20, 109	
Ringgold, Fort, Dept, Texas 274 Ripley, Henry L., 2 II, 24 inf 64, 212 Risley, Donglas G., capt, retired 248 Rittenhouse, Benjamin F., capt, retired 248 Rittenhouse, Benjamin F., capt, retired 248 Rittenhouse, Benjamin F., capt, retired 248 Ritzens, Henry P., H. 25 inf 65, 198 Roech, George H., 1 R. 17 inf 57, 202 Robe, Charles F., capt. 25 inf 65, 177 Robert, Benjamin K., 1 R. 5 art 29, 148 Roberts, Benjamin K., 1 R. 5 art 29, 148 Roberts, Larris L., 21 R 4 inf 57, 182 Roberts, Harris L., 21 R 4 inf 49, 207 Roberts, Joseph, col. retired 225 Roberts, Joseph, col. retired 225 Roberts, Joseph, col. retired 225 Robertson, James M., maj. cetired 235 Robertson, James M., maj. cetired 235 Robertson, James M., maj. cetired 235 Robertson, Sanuel C., 2 H. 1 cav 21, 136 Robinson, James M., maj. cetired 225 Robinson, Brank U., 1 H. 2 cav 22, 130 Robinson,	
Ringgold, Fort, Dept, Texas 274 Ringley, Henry L., 2 It, 24 inf 64, 212 Risley, Donglas G., capt, retired 248 Rittenhouse, Benjamin F., capt, retired 259 Rote, George H., 1 It, 77 inf 57, 302 Robe, Charles F., capt, 25 inf 66, 177 Roberts, Benjamin K., 1 It, 5 art 29, 148 Roberts, Benjamin K., 1 It, 5 art 29, 148 Roberts, Benjamin K., 1 It, 5 art 49, 207 Roberts, Oscup, Col. retired 225 Roberts, Jaseph, col. retired 225 Robertson, Edgar B., 21, 9 inf 49, 207 Robertson, James M., maj, retired 235 Robertson, Manustus G., maj, equ. dept 9, 76 Robinson, Augustus G., maj, equ. dept 9, 76 Robinson, Fordt, Dept, Platte 27, 130 Robinson, Frederick, 1 It, 5 art 39, 147 Robinson, George, post chap 20, 109 Robinson, Henry E., It 4 inf 44, 203 Robinson, Henry E., It 4 inf 44, 204 <	
Ringgold, Fort, Dept, Texas 274 Ringley, Henry L., 2 It. 24 inf 64, 212 Risley, Donglas G., capt, retired 248 Rittenhouse, Benjamin F., capt, retired 248 Rittenhouse, Benjamin F., capt, retired 248 Ritzens, Henry P., H. 25 inf 65, 198 Roech, George H., 1 R. 17 inf 57, 202 Robert, Benjamin K., 1 R., 5 art 29, 148 Roberts, Benjamin K., 1 R., 5 art 29, 148 Roberts, Benjamin K., 1 R., 5 art 29, 148 Roberts, Benjamin K., 1 R., 5 art 29, 148 Roberts, Harris L., 21 R 4 inf 44, 214 Roberts, Joseph, col. retired 225 Roberts, Joseph, col. retired 237 Roberts, Joseph, col. retired 237 Roberts, Joseph, col. retired 237 Robertson, James M., maj. cetired 237 Robertson, James M., maj. etired 248 Robinson, James M., maj. etired 249, 237 Robinson, Baniel, 11, 7 inf 47, 194 Robinson, Fort, Pept, Platte 247 Robinson, Frenklet, 11, 5 art 39, 147 Robinson, George, Post chap 20, 109 Robinson, Geo	
$\label{eq:result} \begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	
$\begin{tabular}{lllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	
$\begin{tabular}{lllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	
Ringgold, Fort, Dept, Texas 274 Rijdey, Henry L., 2 It. 24 inf 64, 212 Risley, Donglas G., capt, retired 248 Rittenhouse, Benjamin F., capt, retired 248 Rittenhouse, Benjamin F., capt, retired 248 Rittenhouse, Benjamin F., capt, retired 248 Ritzens, Henry P., H. 25 inf. 65, 198 Roach, George H., 1 R. 17 inf 57, 202 Roberts, Benjamin K., 1 R. 5 art 29, 148 Roberts, Benjamin K., 1 R. 5 art 29, 148 Roberts, Benjamin K., 1 R. 5 art 29, 148 Roberts, Harris L., 2 It 4 inf 44, 214 Roberts, Joseph, eol. retired 225 Roberts, Joseph, eol. retired 225 Robertson, James M., maj, etired 225 Robertson, Samuel C., 2 H. 1 eav 21, 136 Robinson, Nugustus G., maj, qu. dept 9, 76 Robinson, Nugustus G., maj, qu. dept 9, 76 Robinson, Ford, Dept. Platte 20, 109 Robinson, George, Lus 4 inf 44, 203 Robinson, George, Lus 4, inf 44, 203 Robinson, Johne C., maj, gen. retired 21, 100	
Ringgold, Fort, Dept, Texas 274 Ringly, Henry L., 24, 24, 107 64, 212 Risley, Donglas G., capt, retired 248 Rittenhouse, Benjamin F., capt, retired 248 Rittenhouse, Benjamin F., capt, retired 248 Ritzens, Henry P., 14, 25 inf. 65, 198 Rives, Wright, endt, retired 259 Roch, George H., 14, 15 inf 57, 202 Robert, Benjamin K., 146, 5 art 290 Roberts, Benjamin K., 146, 5 art 291, 48 Roberts, Bujamin K., 146, 5 art 291, 48 Roberts, Gyrus S., capt, 17 inf 57, 182 Roberts, Dasph, col. retired 225 Roberts, Jaseph, col. retired 225 Robertson, Edgar B., 24, 9 inf 49, 207 Robertson, James M., maj, retired 253 Robertson, Nugustus G., maj, end dept 9, 76 Robinson, Parak U., 14, 2 cav 22, 130 Robinson, FraderU., 14, 5 art 30, 147 Robinson, Frederick, 14, 5 art 30, 147 Robinson, George, post chap 20, 109 Robinson, John C., maj, gen, retired 27, 130 Robinson, Thomas B., capt, 19 inf 59, 15, 96 <	
Ringgold, Fort, Dept, Texas 274 Rijdey, Henry L., 2 It. 24 inf 64, 212 Riskey, Donglas G., capt, retired 248 Rittenhouse, Benjamin F., capt, retired 248 Rittenhouse, Benjamin F., capt, retired 248 Ritzens, Henry P., 11, 25 inf 65, 198 Roach, George H., 11, 17 inf 57, 202 Robe, Charles F., capt, 25 inf 65, 177 Robert, Henry M., maj, eng 16, 99 Roberts, Benjamin K., 14, 5 art 29, 148 Roberts, Benjamin K., 14, 5 art 29, 148 Roberts, Harris L., 214 4 inf 44, 214 Roberts, Joseph, eol, retired 225 Roberts, Joseph, eol, retired 225 Roberts, Joseph, eol, retired 225 Robertson, James M., maj, etired 225 Robertson, James M., maj, etired 225 Robertson, Samuel C., 2 H. 1 eav 21, 136 Robinson, Parak U. J. H. 2 eav 22, 30 Robinson, Frederick, 1 It, 5 art 39, 147 Robinson, George, post chap 20, 109 Robinson, George, post chap 20, 109 Robinson, Johne C., maj, gen, retired 21, 30 Robinson, J	
$\label{eq:results} \begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	·
$\label{eq:result} \begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	
Ringgold, Fort, Dept, Texas 274 Ringley, Henry L., 2 It. 24 inf 64, 212 Risley, Donglas G., capt, retired 248 Rittenhouse, Benjamin F., capt, retired 248 Rittenhouse, Renjamin F., capt, retired 248 Ritzens, Henry P., 11, 25 inf 65, 198 Rock, George H., 11, 17 inf 57, 202 Robe, Charles F., capt, 25 inf 65, 177 Robert, Henry M., maj, eng 16, 99 Roberts, Benjamin K., 14, 5 art 29, 148 Roberts, Cyrus S., capt, 17 inf 57, 182 Roberts, Joseph, eol-retired 225 Roberts, Joseph, eol-retired 225 Roberts, Joseph, eol-retired 225 Robertson, James M., maj, critred 225 Robertson, James M., maj, endept 9, 26 Robinson, Nagustus G., maj, qm, dept 9, 76 Robinson, Fradk U. J. H. 2 cav 22, 30 Robinson, Frank U. J. H. 5 art 29, 148 Robinson, George, post chap 20, 109 Robinson, Johne K., 1 It, 5 art 29, 144 Robinson, George, post chap 20, 109 Robinson, Johne K., and, gen, retired 21, 30 Robinson,	
Ringgold, Fort, Dept, Texas 274 Ringly, Henry L., 2 It, 24 inf 64, 212 Risley, Donglas G., eq.t. retired 248 Rittenhouse, Benjamin F., capt, retired 248 Rittenhouse, Benjamin F., capt, retired 248 Ritzins, Henry P., 1 It, 25 inf. 65, 198 Rives, Wright, capt, retired 259 Roch, George H., 1 It, 7 inf 57, 202 Robe, Charles F., capt, 25 inf. 66, 177 Roberts, Benjamin K., 1 It, 5 art 29, 148 Roberts, Benjamin K., 1 It, 5 art 29, 148 Roberts, Benjamin K., 1 It, 5 art 49, 207 Roberts, Oscupt, col. retired 225 Roberts, Oscupt, col. retired 225 Robertson, Edgar B., 21, 9 inf 49, 207 Robertson, Samuel C., 21, 1 cav 21, 136 Robinson, Augustus G., maj, equ. dept 9, 76 Robinson, Ford, Dept, Platte 27, 130 Robinson, Frederick, 11, 5 art 39, 147 Robinson, George, post chap 29, 109 Robinson, Johns, R., engt, 19 inf 59, 58 Robinson, Johns, E., and, ang, end, dept 15, 95 Robinson, Samuel Q., asst, surg, med, dept 15, 93	
$\begin{tabular}{lllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	

Rodov John W. cent Jurt 37 146
Notes, note in a capit of art state of the open
Rodgers, Alexander, 141, 4 cav 24, 152, 200
Rodvers John F. m. sk. om, dept 10, 79
Parliana Labor Lamat 9 and 92 149
Kongers, goun 1., capite and the cost ra-
Rodman, John B., 141, 20401
Rodney George B. cant. 4 art
$P_{\rm even}$ (1) $E_{\rm even}$ 1 b 9 mm - 99 199
Roe, Unaries P., 140–2 cav
Roe, Charles F., 14t. 11 inf
Roo Equate W 21t 3 mf 43 206
100, 10, 10, 10, 20, 10, 10, 10, 10, 10, 10, 10, 10, 10, 1
Roemer, Paul, 140, 5 art
Roessler, Solomon W., 1 It. eng = 1, 17, 103, 259
Paras Panjamin II cant 12 inf 52 179
Rogers, Denjamin (1., vapit b) inter (1., 00, 110)
Rogers, James S., 240, 20 million 100, 214
Rogers, Robert M., 1 lt. 2 art 33, 150, 263
Ponum William P. 1 lt 17 buf 57 195
Rogers, witham e. Fitch and the set of the
Rogers, william w., capt. 9401 49, 184
Rollins, James H., capt. ord. dept 18, 105
Domary, Hanne 11t 5 inf 15 188 962
Romevil, richty, 1 it. 5 int 46, 165, 266
Ropes, James M., 14t. 8 cav
Rose. Thomas E., capt. 16 inf
Pose John M. 1 lt 91 inf 61 102
$ \begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$
Ross, Samuel
Rossell, William IL, capt. retired
Possall William T 11t oper 17 109 950
Rossen, winnam 1., 111, eng
Rousseau, George L., 140, 20 mt
Rowan Hamilton 2 lt. 2 art
Downll (thus $W = 9.1t + 9.0t = 12.907$
$\mathbf{Kowen}, \mathbf{Charles} \mathbf{W}_{i} = \mathbf{h}_{i} = \mathbf{h}_{i} = \mathbf{h}_{i}$
Royall, William B., It. col. 3 cav
Rucker, Daniel H., col. om, dept
Paulton Emmis D 9 lt D inf 51.912
Rucker, Francis D., 240, 11 101
Rucker, Louis II., capt. 9 cav 29, 123
Rucker William A. nm. nav dent 15,93
Dath' (Bool or E. 1) and matimal 200
foun, charles r., ft. con retueu
Ruther, Ernest II., capt. eng
Ruger Thomas H., col. 18 inf
Problem (Courses D) = [t - ad - a - a - doubt 7, 60]
Ruggles, George 12, in con a gracht i 17, 65
Ruiden, George, 14t. 17 mt
Kumbongh, David J., 247, 3 art
Rumbough, David J., 241, 3 art
Rumbough, David J., 2 R. 3 art
Rumbough, David J., 247, 3 art
Kumbough, David J., 2 R. 3 art
Runcie, Janes E., 24, 34t 36, 156 Runcie, James E., 24, 1 art 32, 156, 260 Runkle, Benjamin P., maj. retired 233 Russell, Albert J., 24, 7 eav 27, 133 Russell, Auburt J., 14, and darf 14, 10, 10, 10, 10, 10, 10, 10, 10, 10, 10
Kumbiongh, David J., 24, 3 art
Kumbongh, David J., 24, 3 art
Kurnbough, David J., 24, 3 art 36, 156, 266, 274, 156, 260 Runele, James E., 24, 1, 1 art 32, 156, 260 Runskle, Benjamin P., maj, retired 233 Russell, Albert J., 24, 7 cav 27, 333 Russell, Andrew H., 14, 7 cav 18, 107 Russell, Edmund K., 14, 1 art 31, 148 Russell, George B., cant, 9 inf 31, 494, 194
Kurnbongh, Pavod J., 24, 3 art
Kurnbough, David J., 24, 3 art
Kurnbough, Pavod J., 24, 3 art
Kurnbough, David J., 24, 3 art
Kurnbough, David J., 24, 3 art
Ropes, James M., 14t. 8 cav
Kurnbough, David J., 24, 3 art
Kurnbongh, David J., 24, 3 art
Kurnbough, David J., 24, 3 art
Kurnbough, David J., 2 R. 3 art
Kurnbough, David J., 24, 3 art
Kurnbongh, David J., 2 R. 3 art
Kurnbough, David J., 24, 3 art
Kurnbough, David J., 24, 3 art
Kurnbough, David J., 24, 3 art
Kurnbough, David J., 24, 3 art
Kurnbough, David J., 24, 3 art
Kurnbough, David J., 24, 3 art
Kurnbough, David J. 24, 3 art
Rumeie, James E., 2 II. 1 att
$\begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$
Kurnbough, David J., 24, 3 art
Rumbiough, David J., 2 H. 3 art
Kurnbough, David J. 24, 3 art
Rumbiough, David J., 2 H. 3 art
Kurnbough, David J., 24, 3 art
Kurnbough, David J., 24, 3 art
Rumeie, James E., 24, 1 at
Kurnbough, David J., 24, 3 art
Rumeie, James E., 2 H. 1 att
Rumeie, James E., 2 II. 1 att
Rumeie, James E., 2 H. 1 att
Kurnbough, David J., 2 R. 3 art

Savage, Egbert B., capt. 8 inf 1.48, 181 Sawtelle, Charles G., maj. qm. dept9,75 Sawyer, J. Estcourt, 14t, 5 art 39, 152 Saxion, Rufus, lt. col. qui, dept 9.74 Schenck, Alexander D., 1 lt. 2 art33, 151 Schindel, Jeremiah P., capt. 6 inf46, 176 Schué, Eugene D., asst. surg. med. dept., 14, 92
 Schwalka, Frederick, 101, 3 cay
 25, 150

 Schwalk, Samuel K., capt, refired
 241

 Scott, Abbert B., 24, 13 inf
 55, 211

 Scott, Donglas M., 11, 1 inf
 41, 201

 Scott, George L., 24, 6 cay
 26, 133

 Scott, John, 14, 7 cay
 27, 130

 Scott, John, 14, 4 inf
 44, 201

 Scott, John, 14, 4 inf
 44, 201

 Snerman, William T., general
 7.66

 Ship Island, Dept. South
 275

 Shoemaker, Frank L., 111, 4 cav
 24, 128

 Shoemaker, William R., ord, sk
 19, 107, 277

 Shofner, James C., 24, 121
 1nf
 61, 210

 Shufekley, George, capt. 15
 1nf
 65, 176

 Shufeldi, Robt, W., asst, surg. med. dept. 14, 91
 Shunk, William A., 24, 8 cav
 28, 135

 Succtar:
 Wurnam, capt. 3 art
 300 (1)

 Sisseton, Fort, Dept. Dak
 275

 Sitgreaves, Lorenzo, It. col. retired.
 278

 Skinner, John O., asst. surg. med. dept.
 13.90

 Sladen, Joseph A., 1b. 14 inf
 34,190

 Slader, Adam, 24t. 1 art
 32,155

 Str.
 32,155

 State:
 Atam, 24, 130
 36, 650

 Sloar, William J
 266
 36

 Sloenum, Herbert J., 24t, 7 cay
 27, 133

 Sloenum, Stephen L'H., 24t, 18 inf
 58, 213

 Small, Michael P., maj, sub, dept
 10, 81

 Smart, Charles, asst, surg, med, dept
 12, 87

 Smarth, Charles, asst, surg, med, dept
 266

 Smarth, William P., emt, ratified
 267

 Smith, Frank G., capt. 1840
 37, 143

 Smith, Frank G., capt. 4 art
 37, 143

 Smith, Frank G., capt. 4 art
 52, 202

 Smith, Gibbert C., capt. qm. dept
 9, 77

 Smith, George R., 24t, 12 inf
 52, 202

 Smith, George R., 24t, 12 inf
 52, 202

 Smith, George R., 24t, 12 inf
 52, 207

 Smith, George W., 24t, 9, cay
 29, 133

 Smith, Jacob H., capt, 19 inf
 59, 175

 Smith, Jacob H., capt, 19 inf
 59, 175

 Smith, Jacob IL, capt. 19 inf
 50, 75

 Smith, James M., 14, retired
 251

 Smith, Jared A., maj.eng
 16, 100

 Smith, John E., ed. 14 inf
 54, 157

 Smith, John E., ed. 14 inf
 54, 157

 Smith, John H., 14, retired
 250

 Smith, Joseph R, maj.nucl.dept
 11, 84

 Smith, Leslie, maj. 2 inf
 42, 164

 Smith, Leslie, maj. 2 inf
 55, 146

 Smith, Robert E
 266

 Smith, Robert E
 266

 Smith, Robert E
 266

 Smith, Robert M., 14, 22 inf
 62, 199

 Smith, Robert M., 15, 93
 55, 96

 Smith, Robert E.
 200

 Smith, Robert E.
 5.93

 Smith, Sebree, 1 R. 2 art
 33, 152

 Smith, Sim on, maj, retired
 231

 Smith, Freedere, 1 R. 15 inf
 55, 201

 Smith, Theodere, 1 R. 15 inf
 55, 201

 Smith, Thomas V. R., expl. 23 ml
 63, 475, 95

 Smith, Thomas M. K., expl. 23 ml
 63, 475, 95
 Smith, William, pm. pay dept 15, 93

Shoncor Thomas I cand 10 cay	.30, 123
Spencer, Thomas J., capt. 10 cay	
Spencer, William C., maj. med. dept	
	112 61
Spencer, Wm. G., asst. surg. med. dept	. 15, 91
Schuler Bulling by Bill Finner	97 195
Sphinning bardwill Dr. 2 B. (CO)	-1,100
Snabana Cana Dant Cal	975
charge a number of here of the second	
Surgone Charles J., nm, nav dept.,	15.93
All and a set of the part of the part of the set of the	
Sprague, Weilington G., cubt. retured	
Springell, Howard A1, 2 Res are conse-	1.00, 200
Similariti, LI Amazina, Alama	+> 7 7
springuend Armory, mass is in its is a	
Surale Henry W. 1 H Serv	28,128
Surrgin, William F., capt. 21 int.	.61, 180
	117 1.9.4
Squiers, herbert G., 2 H. (CUV	.27, 194
Starrie Mine 11 mark 19 a.f.	50 107
praces, pray independent enterior or o	.00, 101
Statlard Stephen R 14t 15 mf	55 195
structure, the prime require to minimize the	
Standish, Fort, Dept. East	270
and the product of the stand of	11117
plannope, ramp w., maj, reurea	200
Stunlar David S and Winf	69 157
manney, may have a consume the construction of the second se	0, 1.07
Stanton Fort Dent Mo	
	27 000
Stanton, Thaddeus H., pni, pay dept	. 15, 95
Stanton WOLLAND 1 16 Character	94: 199
sycamon, symman, i n. o cav	0, 1-0
Stanton William S cont our	17 109
contents of anomalies, capter and a content of	
Spencer, Thomas J., capi. 10 cav Spencer, William C., maj. med. dept Spencer, Will and C., maj. med. dept Spokane, Camp. Dept. Col Spragne, Charles J., pm. pay dept Spragne, Charles J., pm. pay dept Springfield Armory, Mass Sprole, Henry W., 14. 8 cav Sprole, Henry W., 14. 8 cav Statesy, May H., capt. 12 inf Stationd, Stephen R., 14. 15 inf Stationd, Stephen R., 14. 15 inf Stationd, Stephen R., 14. 15 inf Stationd, Stephen R., 14. 5 inf Station, Fort, Dept. East Stanhope, Philip W., maj. retired Stanton, Fort, Dept. Mo Stanton, William S., capt. eng Starr, Charles G., 24. 11 nf Start, Sammed H., col. retired Starr, Sammed H., col, retired Starr, Sammed H., col, retired Starr, Sammed H., col, retired Starr, Sammed R., 24. 16 inf Starting, William S., capt. ord. dept Starring, William S., capt. ord. dept Steedman, Richard R., 24. 15 inf Steede, Charles L., 24. 18 inf Steede, Emarce B. Steeden, Emore B. Steever, Edgar Z., jr, 14. 3 cav23,	41,211
	1000
Starr, Samuel II., col. retired	
Structure William & mart and don't	19 106
scarring, winnam s., capt. ord. dept	16, 100
St Approxime Dept South	975
in the first of the second sec	
Stedman, Clarence A., 14t, 9 cay	.29, 129
Ch 1 DE 1 1 D 0 14 10 1. C	T
Steedman, Kichard K., 246, 10 mt	. 50, 208
Stade Charles I 9 It 18 inf	58 919
second, chantes bi, a ni lo nectri citti.	
Steele Horace B	267
Steelhammer, Charles, capt 15 mL	- bb, 174 -
Sterror Daniel	nee
steen, Enoch	
Stoover Edwar Z in 14 2 eav 92	130 960
convert, ingat 22, july 1 in o caviti 20,	100, 200
Steen, Enoch Steever, Edgar Z., jr., 14f. 3 cav	13.89
Sec. 1. 1. 1	10 001
Stempel, James Meb., 140, 2401	49, 204
Stanhanson William 1 lt rational	052
stephenson, winnam, richtenten	
Sternberg George M mai med dent	-12.85
Sternberg, George M., maj. med. dept	12, 85
Sternberg, George M., maj. med. dept Stevens, Fort, Dept. Col	12,85 . 275
Sternberg, George M., maj. med. dept Stevens, Fort, Dept. Col	12,85 275
Sternberg, George M., maj. med. dept Stevens, Fort, Dept. Col Stevens, Robert R., 2 It. 6 inf	$\begin{array}{c}12,85 \\275 \\ 46,210 \end{array}$
Sternberg, George M., maj. med. dept Stevens, Fort, Dept. Col Stevens, Robert R., 2 It. 6 inf Stevenson Fort Dept Dak	$ \begin{array}{r} 12,85 \\ . 275 \\ .46,210 \\ .275 \\ \end{array} $
Sternberg, George M., maj. med. dept	$ \begin{array}{r} 12,85 \\ 275 \\ 46,210 \\ 275 \\ 275 \\ \end{array} $
Stephenson, William, 14, retired Stephenson, William, 14, retired Sternberg, George M., maj. med. dept Stevens, Fort, Dept. Col Stevenson, Fort, Dept. Dak. Stevenson, Jonathan D., cant, 8 cav.	$\begin{array}{c}12,85 \\275 \\ .46,210 \\ .275 \\ .275 \\ .28,124 \end{array}$
Sternberg, George M., maj, med. dept Stevens, Fort, Dept. Col Stevens, Robert R., 2 h. 6 inf Stevenson, Fort, Dept. Dak Stevenson, Jonathan D., capt. 8 cav	$ \begin{array}{r} 12, 85 \\ 275 \\ 46, 210 \\ 275 \\ $
Sternberg, George M., maj, med. dept Stevens, Fort, Dept, Col. Stevens, Robert R., 2 h. 6 inf Stevenson, Fort, Dept, Dak Stevenson, Jonathan D., capt. 8 cav Stewart, Charles S., H. col. eng	$\begin{array}{c}12, 85 \\275 \\ .46, 210 \\ .275 \\ .28, 124 \\ .16, 97 \end{array}$
Stewart, Charles S., It. col. eng	16, 97
Stewart, Charles S., It. col. eng	16, 97
Stewart, Charles S., It. col. eng	16, 97
Stewart, Charles S., It. col. eng	16, 97
Stewart, Charles S., It. col. eng	16, 97
Stewart, Charles S., It. col. eng	16, 97
Stewart, Charles S., It. col. eng	16, 97
Stewart, Charles S., It. col. eng	16, 97
Stewart, Charles S., It. col. eng	16, 97
Stewart, Charles S., It. col. eng	16, 97
Stewart, Charles S., It. col. eng	16, 97
Stewart, Charles S., It. col. eng	16, 97
Stewart, Charles S., It. col. eng	16, 97
Stewart, Charles S., It. col. eng	16, 97
Stewart, Charles S. H. col. eng Stewart, James, capt. retired Stewart, Joseph, H. col. retired Stewart, William F., 14, 4 art Stickney, Amos, capt. eng Stilles, Daniel P., 14, 10 inf Stille, Louis R., capt. 23 inf St. Louis Powder Depot, Mo Stives, Charles E., capt. retired	$\begin{array}{c} 16, 97 \\241 \\230 \\237, 150 \\ 16, 101 \\ 50, 199 \\ 63, 183 \\277 \\237 \\237 \\237 \\231 \end{array}$
Stewart, Charles S. H. col. eng Stewart, James, capt. retired Stewart, Joseph, H. col. retired Stewart, William F., 14, 4 art Stickney, Amos, capt. eng Stilles, Daniel P., 14, 10 inf Stille, Louis R., capt. 23 inf St. Louis Powder Depot, Mo Stives, Charles E., capt. retired	$\begin{array}{c} 16, 97 \\241 \\230 \\237, 150 \\ 16, 101 \\ 50, 199 \\ 63, 183 \\277 \\237 \\237 \\237 \\231 \end{array}$
Stewart, Charles S. H. col. eng Stewart, James, capt. retired Stewart, Joseph, H. col. retired Stewart, William F., 14, 4 art Stickney, Amos, capt. eng Stilles, Daniel P., 14, 10 inf Stille, Louis R., capt. 23 inf St. Louis Powder Depot, Mo Stives, Charles E., capt. retired	$\begin{array}{c} 16, 97 \\241 \\230 \\237, 150 \\ 16, 101 \\ 50, 199 \\ 63, 183 \\277 \\237 \\237 \\237 \\231 \end{array}$
Stewart, Charles S. H. col. eng Stewart, James, capt. retired Stewart, Joseph, H. col. retired Stewart, William F., 14, 4 art Stickney, Amos, capt. eng Stilles, Daniel P., 14, 10 inf Stille, Louis R., capt. 23 inf St. Louis Powder Depot, Mo Stives, Charles E., capt. retired	$\begin{array}{c} 16, 97 \\241 \\230 \\237, 150 \\ 16, 101 \\ 50, 199 \\ 63, 183 \\277 \\237 \\237 \\237 \\231 \end{array}$
Stewart, Charles S. H. col. eng Stewart, James, capt. retired Stewart, Joseph, H. col. retired Stewart, William F., 14, 4 art Stickney, Amos, capt. eng Stilles, Daniel P., 14, 10 inf Stille, Louis R., capt. 23 inf St. Louis Powder Depot, Mo Stives, Charles E., capt. retired	$\begin{array}{c} 16, 97 \\241 \\230 \\237, 150 \\ 16, 101 \\ 50, 199 \\ 63, 183 \\277 \\237 \\237 \\237 \\231 \end{array}$
Stewart, Charles S. H. col. eng Stewart, James, capt. retired Stewart, Joseph, H. col. retired Stewart, William F., 14, 4 art Stickney, Amos, capt. eng Stilles, Daniel P., 14, 10 inf Stille, Louis R., capt. 23 inf St. Louis Powder Depot, Mo Stives, Charles E., capt. retired	$\begin{array}{c} 16, 97 \\241 \\230 \\237, 150 \\ 16, 101 \\ 50, 199 \\ 63, 183 \\277 \\237 \\237 \\237 \\231 \end{array}$
Stewart, Charles S. H. col. eng Stewart, James, capt. retired Stewart, Joseph, H. col. retired Stewart, William F., 14, 4 art Stickney, Amos, capt. eng Stilles, Daniel P., 14, 10 inf Stille, Louis R., capt. 23 inf St. Louis Powder Depot, Mo Stives, Charles E., capt. retired	$\begin{array}{c} 16, 97 \\241 \\230 \\237, 150 \\ 16, 101 \\ 50, 199 \\ 63, 183 \\277 \\237 \\237 \\237 \\231 \end{array}$
Stewart, Charles S. H. col. eng	$\begin{array}{c} 16, 97 \\241 \\230 \\237, 150 \\ 16, 101 \\ 50, 199 \\ 63, 183 \\277 \\237 \\237 \\237 \\231 \end{array}$
Stewart, Charles S. H. col. eng	$\begin{array}{c} 16, 97 \\241 \\230 \\237, 150 \\ 16, 101 \\ 50, 199 \\ 63, 183 \\277 \\237 \\237 \\237 \\231 \end{array}$
Stewart, Charles S. H. col. eng	$\begin{array}{c} 16, 97 \\241 \\230 \\237, 150 \\ 16, 101 \\ 50, 199 \\ 63, 183 \\277 \\237 \\237 \\237 \\231 \end{array}$
Stewart, Charles S. H. col. eng	$\begin{array}{c} 16, 97 \\241 \\230 \\237, 150 \\ 16, 101 \\ 50, 199 \\ 63, 183 \\277 \\237 \\237 \\237 \\231 \end{array}$
Stewart, Charles S. H. col. eng	$\begin{array}{c} 16, 97 \\241 \\230 \\237, 150 \\ 16, 101 \\ 50, 199 \\ 63, 183 \\277 \\237 \\237 \\237 \\231 \end{array}$
Stewart, Charles S. H. col. eng	$\begin{array}{c} 16, 97 \\241 \\230 \\237, 150 \\ 16, 101 \\ 50, 199 \\ 63, 183 \\277 \\237 \\237 \\237 \\231 \end{array}$
Stewart, Charles S. H. col. eng	$\begin{array}{c} 16, 97 \\241 \\230 \\237, 150 \\ 16, 101 \\ 50, 199 \\ 63, 183 \\277 \\237 \\237 \\237 \\231 \end{array}$
Stewart, Charles S. H. col. eng	$\begin{array}{c} 16, 97 \\241 \\230 \\237, 150 \\ 16, 101 \\ 50, 199 \\ 63, 183 \\277 \\237 \\237 \\237 \\231 \end{array}$
Stewart, Charles S. H. col. eng	$\begin{array}{c} 16, 97 \\241 \\230 \\237, 150 \\ 16, 101 \\ 50, 199 \\ 63, 183 \\277 \\237 \\237 \\237 \\231 \end{array}$
Stewart, Charles S. H. col. eng	$\begin{array}{c} 16, 97 \\241 \\230 \\237, 150 \\ 16, 101 \\ 50, 199 \\ 63, 183 \\277 \\237 \\237 \\237 \\231 \end{array}$
Stewart, Charles S. H. col. eng	$\begin{array}{c} 16, 97 \\241 \\230 \\237, 150 \\ 16, 101 \\ 50, 199 \\ 63, 183 \\277 \\237 \\237 \\237 \\231 \end{array}$
Stewart, Charles S. H. col. eng	$\begin{array}{c} 16, 97 \\241 \\230 \\237, 150 \\ 16, 101 \\ 50, 199 \\ 63, 183 \\277 \\237 \\237 \\237 \\231 \end{array}$
Stewart, Charles S. H. col. eng	$\begin{array}{c} 16, 97 \\241 \\230 \\237, 150 \\ 16, 101 \\ 50, 199 \\ 63, 183 \\277 \\237 \\237 \\237 \\231 \end{array}$
Stewart, Charles S. H. col. eng	$\begin{array}{c} 16, 97 \\241 \\230 \\237, 150 \\ 16, 101 \\ 50, 199 \\ 63, 183 \\277 \\237 \\237 \\237 \\231 \end{array}$
Stewart, Charles S. H. col. eng	$\begin{array}{c} 16, 97 \\241 \\230 \\237, 150 \\ 16, 101 \\ 50, 199 \\ 63, 183 \\277 \\237 \\237 \\237 \\231 \end{array}$
Stewart, Charles S. H. col. eng	$\begin{array}{c} 16, 97 \\241 \\230 \\237, 150 \\ 16, 101 \\ 50, 199 \\ 63, 183 \\277 \\237 \\237 \\237 \\231 \end{array}$
Stewart, Charles S. H. col. eng	$\begin{array}{c} 16, 97 \\241 \\230 \\237, 150 \\ 16, 101 \\ 50, 199 \\ 63, 183 \\277 \\237 \\237 \\237 \\231 \end{array}$
Stewart, Charles S. H. col. eng	$\begin{array}{c} 16, 97 \\241 \\230 \\237, 150 \\ 16, 101 \\ 50, 199 \\ 63, 183 \\277 \\237 \\237 \\237 \\231 \end{array}$
Stewart, Charles S. H. col. eng Stewart, James, capt. retired Stewart, Joseph, H. col. retired Stewart, William F., 14, 4 art Stickney, Amos, capt. eng Stilles, Daniel P., 14, 10 inf Stille, Louis R., capt. 23 inf St. Louis Powder Depot, Mo Stives, Charles E., capt. retired	$\begin{array}{c} 16, 97 \\241 \\230 \\237, 150 \\ 16, 101 \\ 50, 199 \\ 63, 183 \\277 \\237 \\237 \\237 \\231 \end{array}$
Stewart, Charles S. H. col. eng Stewart, James, capt. retired Stewart, Joseph, H. col. retired Stewart, William F., 14, 4 art Stickney, Amos, capt. eng Stilles, Daniel P., 14, 10 inf Stille, Louis R., capt. 23 inf St. Louis Powder Depot, Mo Stives, Charles E., capt. retired	$\begin{array}{c} 16, 97 \\241 \\230 \\237, 150 \\ 16, 101 \\ 50, 199 \\ 63, 183 \\277 \\237 \\237 \\237 \\231 \end{array}$
Stewart, Charles S. H. col. eng Stewart, James, capt. retired Stewart, Joseph, H. col. retired Stewart, William F., 14, 4 art Stickney, Amos, capt. eng Stilles, Daniel P., 14, 10 inf Stille, Louis R., capt. 23 inf St. Louis Powder Depot, Mo Stives, Charles E., capt. retired	$\begin{array}{c} 16, 97 \\241 \\230 \\237, 150 \\ 16, 101 \\ 50, 199 \\ 63, 183 \\277 \\237 \\237 \\237 \\231 \end{array}$
Stewart, Charles S. H. col. eng Stewart, James, capt. retired Stewart, Joseph, H. col. retired Stewart, William F., 14, 4 art Stickney, Amos, capt. eng Stilles, Daniel P., 14, 10 inf Stille, Louis R., capt. 23 inf St. Louis Powder Depot, Mo Stives, Charles E., capt. retired	$\begin{array}{c} 16, 97 \\241 \\230 \\237, 150 \\ 16, 101 \\ 50, 199 \\ 63, 183 \\277 \\237 \\237 \\237 \\231 \end{array}$
Stewart, Charles S. H. col. eng Stewart, James, capt. retired Stewart, Joseph, H. col. retired Stewart, William F., 14, 4 art Stickney, Amos, capt. eng Stilles, Daniel P., 14, 10 inf Stille, Louis R., capt. 23 inf St. Louis Powder Depot, Mo Stives, Charles E., capt. retired	$\begin{array}{c} 16, 97 \\241 \\230 \\237, 150 \\ 16, 101 \\ 50, 199 \\ 63, 183 \\277 \\237 \\237 \\237 \\231 \end{array}$
Stewart, Charles S. H. col. eng Stewart, James, capt. retired Stewart, Joseph, H. col. retired Stewart, William F., 14, 4 art Stickney, Amos, capt. eng Stilles, Daniel P., 14, 10 inf Stille, Louis R., capt. 23 inf St. Louis Powder Depot, Mo Stives, Charles E., capt. retired	$\begin{array}{c} 16, 97 \\241 \\230 \\237, 150 \\ 16, 101 \\ 50, 199 \\ 63, 183 \\277 \\237 \\237 \\237 \\231 \end{array}$
Stewart, Charles S. H. col. eng Stewart, James, capt. retired Stewart, Joseph, H. col. retired Stewart, William F., 14, 4 art Stickney, Amos, capt. eng Stilles, Daniel P., 14, 10 inf Stille, Louis R., capt. 23 inf St. Louis Powder Depot, Mo Stives, Charles E., capt. retired	$\begin{array}{c} 16, 97 \\241 \\230 \\237, 150 \\ 16, 101 \\ 50, 199 \\ 63, 183 \\277 \\237 \\237 \\237 \\231 \end{array}$
Stewart, Charles S. H. col. eng Stewart, James, capt. retired Stewart, Joseph, H. col. retired Stewart, William F., 14, 4 art Stickney, Amos, capt. eng Stilles, Daniel P., 14, 10 inf Stille, Louis R., capt. 23 inf St. Louis Powder Depot, Mo Stives, Charles E., capt. retired	$\begin{array}{c} 16, 97 \\241 \\230 \\237, 150 \\ 16, 101 \\ 50, 199 \\ 63, 183 \\277 \\237 \\237 \\237 \\231 \end{array}$
Stewart, Charles S. H. col. eng Stewart, James, capt. retired Stewart, Joseph, H. col. retired Stewart, William F., 14, 4 art Stickney, Amos, capt. eng Stilles, Daniel P., 14, 10 inf Stille, Louis R., capt. 23 inf St. Louis Powder Depot, Mo Stives, Charles E., capt. retired	$\begin{array}{c} 16, 97 \\241 \\230 \\237, 150 \\ 16, 101 \\ 50, 199 \\ 63, 183 \\277 \\237 \\237 \\237 \\231 \end{array}$
Stewart, Charles S., It. col. eng	$\begin{array}{c} 16, 97 \\241 \\230 \\237, 150 \\ 16, 101 \\ 50, 199 \\ 63, 183 \\277 \\237 \\237 \\237 \\231 \end{array}$

Summerhaves, John W., 1 lt. 8 inf. 48, 197
 Surfer, Charles R., maj. eng
 16,100

 Surfer, Charles R., maj. eng
 16,100

 Surfer, Charles R., maj. j.a
 11,83

 Swain, David G., maj. j.a
 8,72

 Swaine, Peter T., it col. 15 inf
 55,161

 Swanne, Ferler 1., it. col. 10 (01)
 56, 101

 Swayne, Wager, col. refired
 223

 Sweeney, Itenry, capt. 1 cav
 24, 124

 Sweeny, Thomas W., brig, gen. refired
 224, 124

 Sweeny, Wener J., 1 R. 25 inf
 65, 196

 Sweitzer, Nelson B., R. col. 8 cav
 28, 112
 Taylor, Alexander II. M., 1 lt. 19 inf....59, 205 Taylor, Marcus E., asst. surg. med. dept., 13, 91 Taylor, Morse K., asst. surg. med. dept. 12, 87 Taylor, Rodney M., capt. 20 inf.......60, 180
 Terrell, Charles M., pm. pay dept.
 15,93

 Terrett, Colville P., 2 It. 8 inf
 48,213

 Terry, Alfred H., brig, gen
 7,68,268
 Thomas, Henry G., pm. pay dept..... 15, 95 Thompson, James 267Throckmorton, Charles B., eapt. 4 art. 37, 142 Thurston, George A., 1 lt. 3 art ... 35, 149, 263 Thurston, Walter A., 2 lt. 16 inf 56, 212

Tidball, John C., maj. 2 art
Tidhall, Joseph L., capt. 3 art
Tilfard Logath (1. mai 7 cuv 97 113
Tilloun Samuel F. mof. mil. acad. 260–261–266
(1) Himan, Samuel 12, proteiner av av 200, 201, 200
$\frac{1}{2} \frac{1}{10} $
1 mon, menty is, may men uch 1 and 1
Third, Fainer, 240, 20 million of the 20, 208
Tingle, Charles A., 24, 2art 34, 154 Tisdall, William N., capt. 14 inf 31, 154 Tobey, Thomas F., capt. 14 inf 51, 179 Todd, John H., 14, 18 inf 52, 155 Todd, John H., 14, 18 inf 58, 203 Tohnan, Thomas M., capt. 1 inf 58, 203 Tohnan, Thomas M., capt. 1 inf 41, 176 Tompkins, Charles H., 1t, col. qu. dept. 9, 74 Torney, George H., asst, surg, med. dept. 13, 90 Torrey, Robert A., capt. 13 inf 53, 170
Tisdall, witham N., capt. 1 101
Tobey, Thomas F., capt. 14 mf 51, 149
Todd, Albert, 24t, 1 art
Todd, John II., 1 if. 18 mf
Tohnan, Thomas M., capt. 1 ml 41, 176
Tomkins, James S., capt. retired
Tompkins, Charles II., lt. col. qui. dept., 2,74
Torney, George II., asst. surg. mcd. dept = 13, 90 -
Torrey, Robert A., capt. 13 inf 53, 170 Torrey, Zerah W., 2 It. 6 inf 46, 214 Totten, Charles A. L., 1 It. 4 art 37, 152
Torrey, Zerah W., 2 lt. 6 inf
Totten, Charles A. L., 1 lt. 4 art
Totten, Fort, Dept. Dak
Totten, John R., 2 lt. 4 art
Toney, Timothy A., 14t, 6 cav
Touridlate John E cast 7 cay 97 116
Towar, Albert S., pm. pay dept
Tower, Zealous B., col. eng
Towar, Albert S., pm. pay dept. 15,95 Towar, Zealous B., col. eng 16,97 Towle, George F., capt. 19 inf 59,181
Towler, Reginald II 266
Townsord Alfred cent retired 246
Townsend, Arried, capt. Petrover 17 20 104
Townsend, Chirus at O., 24, chirul 20, 100 Transmind Rdnand D. Jafa and Satisal 218
Townsend, Edward D., 602, 200, reduced 245 Thomas and Edward P. It and 11 for 51, 102
Townsend, Edwin C., it Con 11 million 102 Ton worde Most Dont Col 275
 Townsend, Alfred, capt. retired
Travis, Pierce M. B., 2 lt. 11 inf
Tremaine, Wm. S., asst, surg, med. dep. 12, 87 Trimble, Joel G., capt. retired 244 Trimble, Joel G., capt. retired
Trimble, Joel G., capt. retired
Trippe, Percy E., 24t, 10 cav 30, 137
Trotter, Frederick E., capt. 14 inf 54, 172
Tront, John F., 14t. 23 inf 63, 190
Troxel, Thomas G., capt. 17 inf
True, Theodore E., 1 lt. 4 inf
Truitt, Charles M., 2 lt. 21 inf 61, 211
Trumbull, Fort, Dept. East 275
Tupper, Tullius C., capt. 6 cav
Turnbull, John G., capt. 3 art 11111 35, 144
Turner, George L., 2 lt. 18 inf 58, 207
Turner, William J., 2 lt. 2 inf
Turrill, Henry S., asst. surg. med. dept., 13, 90
Turtle, Thomas, 1 lt. eng
Tutherly, Herbert E., 1 lt. 1 cay
Tuttle, Edmund B., post chap 19, 109
Twining, William J., maj. eng
Tyler, Charles R., 2 lt. 16 inf
Tyler, George L., capt. 2 cav
Tyler, John, 1 lt. retired
Tyler, Richard W., capt. retired 247
Tyler, William W., 1 lt. 9 cay
Implet Ference R., 2 in Outy 56, 154 Trotter, Frederick E., capt. 14 inf 56, 174 Trotter, Frederick E., capt. 17 inf 57, 182 Trove, Thomas G., capt. 17 inf 57, 182 True, Theodore E., 11, 4 inf 44, 199 Truitt, Charles M., 2 It. 21 inf 61, 211 Trumbulk, Fort, Dept. East 71 Turpper, Tallius C., capt. 3 art 55, 144 Turnbulk, John G., capt. 3 art 55, 144 Turnbulk, John G., capt. 18 inf 58, 144 Turnner, George L., 2 It. 18 inf 58, 207 Turrill, Henry S., asst. surg. med. dept 15, 90 Turther, Homas, 11, eng 17, 102 Turthey, Herbert E., 1 h. 1 cav 21, 31 Tutherly, Herbert E., 1 h. 1 cav 21, 31 Tutherly, Metherl E., 1 h. 1 cav 21, 31 Tyler, Charles R., 2 h. 16 inf 56, 207 Tyler, George L., capt. 2 cav 22, 117 Tyler, Gorge L., capt. 2 cav 241 Tyler, George L., capt. 2 cav 22, 117 Tyler, Gorge L., capt. 2 cav 247 Tyler, William W., 11, 9 cav 247 Tyler, William W., 11, 9 cav 242 Tyler, J
Uncompanyie River, Cant. on, Dept. Mo 275
U HIOH, POIL DODI 210
United States Barracks, Dept. East
United States Barracks, Dept. East
The The Frank K 1 lt 1 cay 91 126
Unham John J. mai 5 cay 25 114
The Emery col 4 art 27 128
Valois (instavus 1 lt 9 cay 90 199
Upham, Frank K., 11, 1, 1, 20 20 Upham, John J., maj, 5 cav 21, 126 Upham, John J., maj, 5 cav 25, 114 Upton, Emory, col. 4 art 37, 138 Valois, Gnstavus, 11, 9 cav 29, 128 Vance, Duncan M., capt, 16 inf 56, 106

	50 125
vance, menaro, capt. 19 mi	.59, 185
Vancouver Arsenal, Wash, T	277
Vance, Richard, capt. 19 inf	
vancouver barracks, Dept. Cot	240
Van Derslice Joseph II. capt. refired .	240
Van Dana (Cana Watter Cana	31 190
van Deusen, George wi, 241, 4 cav	-24, 150
Vande Wiele, John E., capt. retired Van Horne, James J., maj. 13 inf Van Horne, Thomas B., post chap Van Horse, William M., capt. 17 inf Van Ness, William P., 14, 1 art Van Orsdale, John T., 14, 7 inf Van Orsdale, John T., 14, 7 inf Van Reed, William E., capt. 5 art Van Viele, Brederick, capt. 3 cav Van Viet, Robert C. 24, 10 inf Van Viet, Robert C. 21, 10 inf Van Viet, Robert C. 21, 10 inf Van Viet, Robert C. 21, 10 inf Van Viet, Stewart, col. qn. dept Van Viet, Stewart, ed. qn. dept Van Wyck, George P., chap. retired Van Wyck, George P., chap. retired	. 243
	10 101
van Horn, James J., maj. 13 mt 🦷	-93, 104
Van Horno Thomas P. nost chan	19 109
Tau Horne, Thomas D., post thap	- 10, 100
-Van Horne, William M., capt. 47 mf	-57, 178
Van Naar William D. 14th 1 avt	21 152
San Ness, without 1, 110 Late	-01, 10 <u>-</u>
- Van Orsdale, John T., 14t, 7 inf	-47.200
Van D. 1 William E. Sant Sant	20.147
yan keed, winnam rs, capt o art	25, 140
Van Valzab, David D., cant. 25 inf.	-65.167
$V_{1} = V_{1} + 1$, $V_{2} = 1 + 1$, $V_{2} = -1$, $V_{3} = -1$	00 110
- уан у нег, г теастиск, сарг. 5 сау	-25, 110
Von Vliet, Robert C. 241, 10 inf	50.209
- Van Vhet, Stewart, col. gm. dept	- 9, 13
Van Vanst James It en 16 inf	56,160 258
Tan Toasi, names, it, of road	
Van Wyck, George P., chap, retired	258
Marson Marson 1 marson of days	10 100
Samey, Annon 12, captiona deprison	16,100
Varnum, Charles A., 1 lt.7 caves a set	.27.129
Yang William day a that	
- y anx, sy mani, chap, retired	2.08
Vedder Nicholas nm. nav dent	.15.93
AT 11 AT 11 AT 11 A 16 5 A	743 4343.1
Sedder, Simon C., FR. 19401	-59,201
Varney, Almon L., capt. ord. dept Varney, Almon L., capt. ord. dept Varny, William, chap. retired Vedder, Nicholas, pn. pay dept Vedder, Simon U., 1 lt. 19 inf Verdne, Fort, Dept. Ariz Vernon Charles V. 1 lt. 19 inf	975
A cruon, Charles A., 146, 19 mt	-59, 191
Varidanal: Alasin C	1417
Verde, Sindo C., P. Ariz Verde, Fort, Dept. Ariz Vernon, Charles A., 14t, 19 inf Verplanck, Abram G Vickery, Rich'd S., asst, surg, med. deut	
Verplanck, Abrain G Vickery, Rich'd S., asst, surg, med. dept Vicker, Charles D., capt, 40 cav Vinal, William H., 14t, 16 inf	12, 88
Viala (Burley D. Smith Dame	20 110
- yere, v mures D., capit o cay	20, 115
Vinal, William H., 1 lt. 16 inf	-56, 188
Minimum All and All I have also 1	
Vincent, Albert O., 14t, retired	249
	. 8,70
- Viven, John L., capt. 12 mf	-52,178
Viven, Johns L., expl. 12 inf	-39,148
a source and near source of a source of the	
A ogdes, Charles B., 240, 1400	41, 214
Vandow Level and Last	21 128
Sogues, Istael, con rant	31, 138 25, 124
- Volkmar, William J., capt. 5 cay	-25, 124
	11.01
Volliun, Edward P., maj. med. dept	-11, 84
Volkmar, William J., capt. 5 cav Volliun, Edward P., maj. med. dept Ven Herrmann, Charles J., capt. 4 inf	-11, 84
Volhun, Edward P., maj. med. dept Von Herrmann, Charles J., capt. 4 inf	-11,84 -44,172
Ven Herrmann, Charles J., capt. 4 mf - Von Lucttwitz A 11 Alt retired	-11, 84 -44, 172 - 954
Ven Herrmann, Charles J., capt. 4 mf - Von Lucttwitz A 11 Alt retired	-11, 84 -44, 172 - 954
Ven Herrmann, Charles J., capt. 4 mf Von Lucttwitz, A. II., 1 lt. retired Von Schrader, Frederick, 1 lt. 12 inf	-11, 84 -44, 172 - 954
Ven Herrmann, Charles J., capt. 4 mf Von Lucttwitz, A. II., 1 lt. retired Von Schrader, Frederick, 1 lt. 12 inf	-11, 84 -44, 172 -954
Ven Herrmann, Charles J., capt. 4 mf Von Lucttwitz, A. II., 1 lt. retired Von Schrader, Frederick, 1 lt. 12 inf	11, 84 44, 172 254 52, 203 d - 247
Ven Herrmann, Charles J., capt. 4 mf Von Lucttwitz, A. II., 1 lt. retired Von Schrader, Frederick, 1 lt. 12 inf	$\begin{array}{r} 11,84\\ 44,172\\ . 254\\ 52,203\\ d 247\\ 33,146\end{array}$
Ven Herrmann, Charles J., capt. 4 mf Von Lucttwitz, A. II., 1 lt. retired Von Schrader, Frederick, 1 lt. 12 inf	$\begin{array}{r} 11,84\\ 44,172\\ . 254\\ 52,203\\ d 247\\ 33,146\end{array}$
Ven Herrmann, Charles J., capt. 4 mf Von Lucttwitz, A. II., 1 lt. retired Von Schrader, Frederick, 1 lt. 12 inf	$\begin{array}{r} 11,84\\ 44,172\\ \cdot & 254\\ 52,203\\ d & 247\\ 33,146\\ 23,122 \end{array}$
Ven Herrmann, Charles J., capt. 4 mf Von Lucttwitz, A. II., 1 lt. retired Von Schrader, Frederick, 1 lt. 12 inf	$\begin{array}{r} 11,84\\ 44,172\\ . 254\\ 52,203\\ d 247\\ 33,146\\ 23,122\\ 30,112\end{array}$
Ven Herrmann, Charles J., capt. 4 mf Von Lucttwitz, A. II., 1 lt. retired Von Schrader, Frederick, 1 lt. 12 inf	$\begin{array}{c} 11, 84\\ 44, 172\\ 2254\\ 52, 203\\ d 247\\ 33, 146\\ 23, 122\\ 30, 112\\ 275\end{array}$
Ven Herrmann, Charles J., capt. 4 mf Von Lucttwitz, A. II., 1 lt. retired Von Schrader, Frederick, 1 lt. 12 inf	$\begin{array}{c} 11, 84\\ 44, 172\\ 2254\\ 52, 203\\ d 247\\ 33, 146\\ 23, 122\\ 30, 112\\ 275\end{array}$
Ven Herrmann, Charles J., capt. 4 mf Von Lucttwitz, A. II., 1 lt. retired Von Schrader, Frederick, 1 lt. 12 inf	$\begin{array}{c} 11, 84\\ 44, 172\\ 2254\\ 52, 203\\ d 247\\ 33, 146\\ 23, 122\\ 30, 112\\ 275\end{array}$
Ven Herrmann, Charles J., capt. 4 mf Von Lucttwitz, A. II., 1 lt. retired Von Schrader, Frederick, 1 lt. 12 inf	$\begin{array}{c} 11, 84\\ 44, 172\\ 2254\\ 52, 203\\ d 247\\ 33, 146\\ 23, 122\\ 30, 112\\ 275\end{array}$
Ven Herrmann, Charles J., capt. 4 mf Von Lucttwitz, A. II., 1 lt. retired Von Schrader, Frederick, 1 lt. 12 inf	$\begin{array}{c} 11, 84\\ 44, 172\\ -254\\ 52, 203\\ d -247\\ 33, 146\\ 23, 122\\ 30, 112\\ 275\\ 33, 151\\ 46, 207\end{array}$
Ven Herrmann, Charles J., capt. 4 mf Von Lucttwitz, A. II., 1 lt. retired Von Schrader, Frederick, 1 lt. 12 inf	$\begin{array}{c} 11, 84\\ 44, 172\\ -254\\ 52, 203\\ d & 247\\ 33, 146\\ 23, 122\\ 30, 112\\ 275\\ 33, 151\\ 46, 207\\ 21, 119\end{array}$
Ven Herrmann, Charles J., capt. 4 mf Von Lucttwitz, A. II., 1 lt. retired Von Schrader, Frederick, 1 lt. 12 inf	$\begin{array}{c} 11, 84\\ 44, 172\\ -254\\ 52, 203\\ d & 247\\ 33, 146\\ 23, 122\\ 30, 112\\ 275\\ 33, 151\\ 46, 207\\ 21, 119\end{array}$
Ven Herrmann, Charles J., capt. 4 mf Von Lucttwitz, A. II., 1 lt. retired Von Schrader, Frederick, 1 lt. 12 inf	$\begin{array}{c} 11, 84\\ 44, 172\\ -254\\ 52, 203\\ d & 247\\ 33, 146\\ 23, 122\\ 30, 112\\ 275\\ 33, 151\\ 46, 207\\ 21, 119\\ 21, 132\end{array}$
Ven Herrmann, Charles J., capt. 4 mf Von Lucttwitz, A. II., 1 lt. retired Von Schrader, Frederick, 1 lt. 12 inf	$\begin{array}{c} 11,84\\ 44,172\\ 252,203\\ d=247\\ 33,146\\ 23,122\\ 30,112\\ 275\\ 33,151\\ 46,207\\ 21,119\\ 21,132\\ 25,136\end{array}$
Ven Herrmann, Charles J., eipt, 4 mf Ven Laettwitz, A. 10, 11, retrieed, Von Schrader, Frederick, 10, 12 inf Vonse, William P., 11, 2 art Vroom, Peter D., capt, 3 eav Wade, James F., 14, col. 10 eav Wade, James F., 14, col. 10 eav Wade, James F., 14, col. 10 eav Wadeworth, Fort, Dept, East Wager, Barnet, 11, 2 art Wagner, Arthur L., 216, 6 inf Wagner, Henry, capt. 1 cav Waite, Henry De H., 216, 5 cav Waite, Henry De H., 216, 5 cav	$\begin{array}{c} 11,84\\ 44,172\\ 44,172\\ 52,203\\ 0 \\ 23,146\\ 23,122\\ 30,112\\ 275\\ 33,151\\ 46,207\\ 21,119\\ 25,136\\ 25,136\\ \end{array}$
Ven Herrmann, Charles J., eipt, 4 mf Ven Laettwitz, A. 10, 11, retrieed, Von Schrader, Frederick, 10, 12 inf Vonse, William P., 11, 2 art Vroom, Peter D., capt, 3 eav Wade, James F., 14, col. 10 eav Wade, James F., 14, col. 10 eav Wade, James F., 14, col. 10 eav Wadeworth, Fort, Dept, East Wager, Barnet, 11, 2 art Wagner, Arthur L., 216, 6 inf Wagner, Henry, capt. 1 cav Waite, Henry De H., 216, 5 cav Waite, Henry De H., 216, 5 cav	$\begin{array}{c} 11,84\\ 44,172\\ 44,172\\ 52,203\\ 0 \\ 23,146\\ 23,122\\ 30,112\\ 275\\ 33,151\\ 46,207\\ 21,119\\ 25,136\\ 25,136\\ \end{array}$
Ven Herrmann, Charles J., eipt, 4 mf Ven Laettwitz, A. 10, 11, retrieed, Von Schrader, Frederick, 10, 12 inf Vonse, William P., 11, 2 art Vroom, Peter D., capt, 3 eav Wade, James F., 14, col. 10 eav Wade, James F., 14, col. 10 eav Wade, James F., 14, col. 10 eav Wadeworth, Fort, Dept, East Wager, Barnet, 11, 2 art Wagner, Arthur L., 216, 6 inf Wagner, Henry, capt. 1 cav Waite, Henry De H., 216, 5 cav Waite, Henry De H., 216, 5 cav	$\begin{array}{c} 11,84\\ 44,172\\ 44,172\\ 52,203\\ 0 \\ 23,146\\ 23,122\\ 30,112\\ 275\\ 33,151\\ 46,207\\ 21,119\\ 25,136\\ 25,136\\ \end{array}$
Ven Herrmann, Charles J., eipt, 4 mf Ven Laettwitz, A. 10, 11, retrieed, Von Schrader, Frederick, 10, 12 inf Vonse, William P., 11, 2 art Vroom, Peter D., capt, 3 eav Wade, James F., 14, col. 10 eav Wade, James F., 14, col. 10 eav Wade, James F., 14, col. 10 eav Wadeworth, Fort, Dept, East Wager, Barnet, 11, 2 art Wagner, Arthur L., 216, 6 inf Wagner, Henry, capt. 1 cav Waite, Henry De H., 216, 5 cav Waite, Henry De H., 216, 5 cav	$\begin{array}{c} 11,84\\ 44,172\\ 44,172\\ 52,203\\ 0 \\ 23,146\\ 23,122\\ 30,112\\ 275\\ 33,151\\ 46,207\\ 21,119\\ 25,136\\ 25,136\\ \end{array}$
Ven Herrmann, Charles J., eipt, 4 mf Ven Laettwitz, A. 10, 11, retrieed, Von Schrader, Frederick, 10, 12 inf Vonse, William P., 11, 2 art Vroom, Peter D., capt, 3 eav Wade, James F., 14, col. 10 eav Wade, James F., 14, col. 10 eav Wade, James F., 14, col. 10 eav Wadeworth, Fort, Dept, East Wager, Barnet, 11, 2 art Wagner, Arthur L., 216, 6 inf Wagner, Henry, capt. 1 cav Waite, Henry De H., 216, 5 cav Waite, Henry De H., 216, 5 cav	$\begin{array}{c} 11,84\\ 44,172\\ 44,172\\ 52,203\\ 0 \\ 23,146\\ 23,122\\ 30,112\\ 275\\ 33,151\\ 46,207\\ 21,119\\ 25,136\\ 25,136\\ \end{array}$
Ven Herrmann, Charles J., eipt, 4 mf Ven Laettwitz, A. 10, 11, retrieed, Von Schrader, Frederick, 10, 12 inf Vonse, William P., 11, 2 art Vroom, Peter D., capt, 3 eav Wade, James F., 14, col. 10 eav Wade, James F., 14, col. 10 eav Wade, James F., 14, col. 10 eav Wadeworth, Fort, Dept, East Wager, Barnet, 11, 2 art Wagner, Arthur L., 216, 6 inf Wagner, Henry, capt. 1 cav Waite, Henry De H., 216, 5 cav Waite, Henry De H., 216, 5 cav	$\begin{array}{c} 11,84\\ 44,172\\ 44,172\\ 52,203\\ 0 \\ 23,146\\ 23,122\\ 30,112\\ 275\\ 33,151\\ 46,207\\ 21,119\\ 25,136\\ 25,136\\ \end{array}$
Ven Herrmann, Charles J., eipt, 4 mf Ven Laettwitz, A. 10, 11, retrieed, Von Schrader, Frederick, 10, 12 inf Vonse, William P., 11, 2 art Vroom, Peter D., capt, 3 eav Wade, James F., 14, col. 10 eav Wade, James F., 14, col. 10 eav Wade, James F., 14, col. 10 eav Wadeworth, Fort, Dept, East Wager, Barnet, 11, 2 art Wagner, Arthur L., 216, 6 inf Wagner, Henry, capt. 1 cav Waite, Henry De H., 216, 5 cav Waite, Henry De H., 216, 5 cav	$\begin{array}{c} 11,84\\ 44,172\\ 44,172\\ 52,203\\ d=247\\ 33,146\\ 23,122\\ 30,112\\ 275\\ 33,151\\ 46,207\\ 21,119\\ 21,132\\ 25,136\end{array}$
Ven Herrmann, Charles J., eipt, 4 mf Ven Laettwitz, A. 10, 11, retrieed, Von Schrader, Frederick, 10, 12 inf Vonse, William P., 11, 2 art Vroom, Peter D., capt, 3 eav Wade, James F., 14, col. 10 eav Wade, James F., 14, col. 10 eav Wade, James F., 14, col. 10 eav Wadeworth, Fort, Dept, East Wager, Barnet, 11, 2 art Wagner, Arthur L., 216, 6 inf Wagner, Henry, capt. 1 cav Waite, Henry De H., 216, 5 cav Waite, Henry De H., 216, 5 cav	$\begin{array}{c} 11,84\\ 44,172\\ 44,172\\ 52,203\\ d=247\\ 33,146\\ 23,122\\ 30,112\\ 275\\ 33,151\\ 46,207\\ 21,119\\ 21,132\\ 25,136\end{array}$
Ven Herrmann, Charles J., eipt, 4 mf Ven Laettwitz, A. 10, 11, retrieed, Von Schrader, Frederick, 10, 12 inf Vonse, William P., 11, 2 art Vroom, Peter D., capt, 3 eav Wade, James F., 14, col. 10 eav Wade, James F., 14, col. 10 eav Wade, James F., 14, col. 10 eav Wadeworth, Fort, Dept, East Wager, Barnet, 11, 2 art Wagner, Arthur L., 216, 6 inf Wagner, Henry, capt. 1 cav Waite, Henry De H., 216, 5 cav Waite, Henry De H., 216, 5 cav	$\begin{array}{c} 11,84\\ 44,172\\ 44,172\\ 52,203\\ d=247\\ 33,146\\ 23,122\\ 30,112\\ 275\\ 33,151\\ 46,207\\ 21,119\\ 21,132\\ 25,136\end{array}$
Ven Herrmann, Charles J., eipt, 4 mf Ven Laettwitz, A. 10, 11, retrieed, Von Schrader, Frederick, 10, 12 inf Vonse, William P., 11, 2 art Vroom, Peter D., capt, 3 eav Wade, James F., 14, col. 10 eav Wade, James F., 14, col. 10 eav Wade, James F., 14, col. 10 eav Wadeworth, Fort, Dept, East Wager, Barnet, 11, 2 art Wagner, Arthur L., 216, 6 inf Wagner, Henry, capt. 1 cav Waite, Henry De H., 216, 5 cav Waite, Henry De H., 216, 5 cav	$\begin{array}{c} 11,84\\ 44,172\\ 44,172\\ 52,203\\ d=247\\ 33,146\\ 23,122\\ 30,112\\ 275\\ 33,151\\ 46,207\\ 21,119\\ 21,132\\ 25,136\end{array}$
Ven Herrmann, Charles J., eipt, 4 mf Ven Laettwitz, A. 10, 11, retrieed, Von Schrader, Frederick, 10, 12 inf Vonse, William P., 11, 2 art Vroom, Peter D., capt, 3 eav Wade, James F., 14, col. 10 eav Wade, James F., 14, col. 10 eav Wade, James F., 14, col. 10 eav Wadeworth, Fort, Dept, East Wager, Barnet, 11, 2 art Wagner, Arthur L., 216, 6 inf Wagner, Henry, capt. 1 cav Waite, Henry De H., 216, 5 cav Waite, Henry De H., 216, 5 cav	$\begin{array}{c} 11,84\\ 44,172\\ 44,172\\ 52,203\\ d=247\\ 33,146\\ 23,122\\ 30,112\\ 275\\ 33,151\\ 46,207\\ 21,119\\ 21,132\\ 25,136\end{array}$
Ven Herrmann, Charles J., eipt, 4 mf Ven Laettwitz, A. 10, 11, retrieed, Von Schrader, Frederick, 10, 12 inf Vonse, William P., 11, 2 art Vroom, Peter D., capt, 3 eav Wade, James F., 14, col. 10 eav Wade, James F., 14, col. 10 eav Wade, James F., 14, col. 10 eav Wadeworth, Fort, Dept, East Wager, Barnet, 11, 2 art Wagner, Arthur L., 216, 6 inf Wagner, Henry, capt. 1 cav Waite, Henry De H., 216, 5 cav Waite, Henry De H., 216, 5 cav	$\begin{array}{c} 11,84\\ 44,172\\ 44,172\\ 52,203\\ d=247\\ 33,146\\ 23,122\\ 30,112\\ 275\\ 33,151\\ 46,207\\ 21,119\\ 21,132\\ 25,136\end{array}$
Ven Herrmann, Charles J., eipt, 4 mf Ven Laettwitz, A. 10, 11, retrieed, Von Schrader, Frederick, 10, 12 inf Vonse, William P., 11, 2 art Vroom, Peter D., capt, 3 eav Wade, James F., 14, col. 10 eav Wade, James F., 14, col. 10 eav Wade, James F., 14, col. 10 eav Wadeworth, Fort, Dept, East Wager, Barnet, 11, 2 art Wagner, Arthur L., 216, 6 inf Wagner, Henry, capt. 1 cav Waite, Henry De H., 216, 5 cav Waite, Henry De H., 216, 5 cav	$\begin{array}{c} 11,84\\ 44,172\\ 44,172\\ 52,203\\ d=247\\ 33,146\\ 23,122\\ 30,112\\ 275\\ 33,151\\ 46,207\\ 21,119\\ 21,132\\ 25,136\end{array}$
Ven Herrmann, Charles J., eipt, 4 mf Ven Laettwitz, A. 10, 11, retrieed, Von Schrader, Frederick, 10, 12 inf Vonse, William P., 11, 2 art Vroom, Peter D., capt, 3 eav Wade, James F., 14, col. 10 eav Wade, James F., 14, col. 10 eav Wade, James F., 14, col. 10 eav Wadeworth, Fort, Dept, East Wager, Barnet, 11, 2 art Wagner, Arthur L., 216, 6 inf Wagner, Henry, capt. 1 cav Waite, Henry De H., 216, 5 cav Waite, Henry De H., 216, 5 cav	$\begin{array}{c} 11,84\\ 44,172\\ 44,172\\ 52,203\\ d=247\\ 33,146\\ 23,122\\ 30,112\\ 275\\ 33,151\\ 46,207\\ 21,119\\ 21,132\\ 25,136\end{array}$
Ven Herrmann, Charles J., eipt, 4 mf Ven Laettwitz, A. 10, 11, retrieed, Von Schrader, Frederick, 10, 12 inf Vonse, William P., 11, 2 art Vroom, Peter D., capt, 3 eav Wade, James F., 14, col. 10 eav Wade, James F., 14, col. 10 eav Wade, James F., 14, col. 10 eav Wadeworth, Fort, Dept, East Wager, Barnet, 11, 2 art Wagner, Arthur L., 216, 6 inf Wagner, Henry, capt. 1 cav Waite, Henry De H., 216, 5 cav Waite, Henry De H., 216, 5 cav	$\begin{array}{c} 11,84\\ 44,172\\ 44,172\\ 52,203\\ d=247\\ 33,146\\ 23,122\\ 30,112\\ 275\\ 33,151\\ 46,207\\ 21,119\\ 21,132\\ 25,136\end{array}$
Ven Herrmann, Charles J., eipt, 4 mf Ven Laettwitz, A. 10, 11, retrieed, Von Schrader, Frederick, 10, 12 inf Vonse, William P., 11, 2 art Vroom, Peter D., capt, 3 eav Wade, James F., 14, col. 10 eav Wade, James F., 14, col. 10 eav Wade, James F., 14, col. 10 eav Wadeworth, Fort, Dept, East Wager, Barnet, 11, 2 art Wagner, Arthur L., 216, 6 inf Wagner, Henry, capt. 1 cav Waite, Henry De H., 216, 5 cav Waite, Henry De H., 216, 5 cav	$\begin{array}{c} 11,84\\ 44,172\\ 44,172\\ 52,203\\ d=247\\ 33,146\\ 23,122\\ 30,112\\ 275\\ 33,151\\ 46,207\\ 21,119\\ 21,132\\ 25,136\end{array}$
Ven Herrmann, Charles J., eipt, 4 mf Ven Laettwitz, A. 10, 11, retrieed, Von Schrader, Frederick, 10, 12 inf Vonse, William P., 11, 2 art Vroom, Peter D., capt, 3 eav Wade, James F., 14, col. 10 eav Wade, James F., 14, col. 10 eav Wade, James F., 14, col. 10 eav Wadeworth, Fort, Dept, East Wager, Barnet, 11, 2 art Wagner, Arthur L., 216, 6 inf Wagner, Henry, capt. 1 cav Waite, Henry De H., 216, 5 cav Waite, Henry De H., 216, 5 cav	$\begin{array}{c} 11,84\\ 44,172\\ 44,172\\ 52,203\\ d=247\\ 33,146\\ 23,122\\ 30,112\\ 275\\ 33,151\\ 46,207\\ 21,119\\ 21,132\\ 25,136\end{array}$
Ven Herrmann, Charles J., eipt, 4 mf Ven Laettwitz, A. 10, 11, retrieed, Von Schrader, Frederick, 10, 12 inf Vonse, William P., 11, 2 art Vroom, Peter D., capt, 3 eav Wade, James F., 14, col. 10 eav Wade, James F., 14, col. 10 eav Wade, James F., 14, col. 10 eav Wadeworth, Fort, Dept, East Wager, Darnet, 11, 2 art Wagner, Arthur L., 216, 6 inf Wagner, Henry, capt. 1 cav Waite, Henry De H., 216, 5 cav Waite, Henry De H., 216, 5 cav	$\begin{array}{c} 11,84\\ 44,172\\ 44,172\\ 52,203\\ d=247\\ 33,146\\ 23,122\\ 30,112\\ 275\\ 33,151\\ 46,207\\ 21,119\\ 21,132\\ 25,136\end{array}$
Ven Herrmann, Charles J., eipt, 4 mf Ven Laettwitz, A. 10, 11, retrieed, Von Schrader, Frederick, 10, 12 inf Vonse, William P., 11, 2 art Vroom, Peter D., capt, 3 eav Wade, James F., 14, col. 10 eav Wade, James F., 14, col. 10 eav Wade, James F., 14, col. 10 eav Wadeworth, Fort, Dept, East Wager, Darnet, 11, 2 art Wagner, Arthur L., 216, 6 inf Wagner, Henry, capt. 1 cav Waite, Henry De H., 216, 5 cav Waite, Henry De H., 216, 5 cav	$\begin{array}{c} 11,84\\ 44,172\\ 44,172\\ 52,203\\ d=247\\ 33,146\\ 23,122\\ 30,112\\ 275\\ 33,151\\ 46,207\\ 21,119\\ 21,132\\ 25,136\end{array}$
Ven Herrmann, Charles J., eipt, 4 mf Ven Laettwitz, A. 10, 11, retrieed, Von Schrader, Frederick, 10, 12 inf Vonse, William P., 11, 2 art Vroom, Peter D., capt, 3 eav Wade, James F., 14, col. 10 eav Wade, James F., 14, col. 10 eav Wade, James F., 14, col. 10 eav Wadeworth, Fort, Dept, East Wager, Darnet, 11, 2 art Wagner, Arthur L., 216, 6 inf Wagner, Henry, capt. 1 cav Waite, Henry De H., 216, 5 cav Waite, Henry De H., 216, 5 cav	$\begin{array}{c} 11,84\\ 44,172\\ 44,172\\ 52,203\\ d=247\\ 33,146\\ 23,122\\ 30,112\\ 275\\ 33,151\\ 46,207\\ 21,119\\ 21,132\\ 25,136\end{array}$
Ven Herrmann, Charles J., eipt, 4 mf Ven Laettwitz, A. 10, 11, retrieed, Von Schrader, Frederick, 10, 12 inf Vonse, William P., 11, 2 art Vroom, Peter D., capt, 3 eav Wade, James F., 14, col. 10 eav Wade, James F., 14, col. 10 eav Wade, James F., 14, col. 10 eav Wadeworth, Fort, Dept, East Wager, Darnet, 11, 2 art Wagner, Arthur L., 216, 6 inf Wagner, Henry, capt. 1 cav Waite, Henry De H., 216, 5 cav Waite, Henry De H., 216, 5 cav	$\begin{array}{c} 11,84\\ 44,172\\ 44,172\\ 52,203\\ d=247\\ 33,146\\ 23,122\\ 30,112\\ 275\\ 33,151\\ 46,207\\ 21,119\\ 21,132\\ 25,136\end{array}$
Ven Herrmann, Charles J., eipt, 4 mf Ven Laettwitz, A. 10, 11, retrieed, Von Schrader, Frederick, 10, 12 inf Vonse, William P., 11, 2 art Vroom, Peter D., capt, 3 eav Wade, James F., 14, col. 10 eav Wade, James F., 14, col. 10 eav Wade, James F., 14, col. 10 eav Wadeworth, Fort, Dept, East Wager, Darnet, 11, 2 art Wagner, Arthur L., 216, 6 inf Wagner, Henry, capt. 1 cav Waite, Henry De H., 216, 5 cav Waite, Henry De H., 216, 5 cav	$\begin{array}{c} 11,84\\ 44,172\\ 44,172\\ 52,203\\ d=247\\ 33,146\\ 23,122\\ 30,112\\ 275\\ 33,151\\ 46,207\\ 21,119\\ 21,132\\ 25,136\end{array}$
Ven Herrmann, Charles J., eipt, 4 mf Ven Laettwitz, A. 10, 11, retrieed, Von Schrader, Frederick, 10, 12 inf Vonse, William P., 11, 2 art Vroom, Peter D., capt, 3 eav Wade, James F., 14, col. 10 eav Wade, James F., 14, col. 10 eav Wade, James F., 14, col. 10 eav Wadeworth, Fort, Dept, East Wager, Darnet, 11, 2 art Wagner, Arthur L., 216, 6 inf Wagner, Henry, capt. 1 cav Waite, Henry De H., 216, 5 cav Waite, Henry De H., 216, 5 cav	$\begin{array}{c} 11,84\\ 44,172\\ 44,172\\ 52,203\\ d=247\\ 33,146\\ 23,122\\ 30,112\\ 275\\ 33,151\\ 46,207\\ 21,119\\ 21,132\\ 25,136\end{array}$
Ven Herrmann, Charles J., eipt, 4 mf Ven Laettwitz, A. 10, 11, retrieed, Von Schrader, Frederick, 10, 12 inf Vonse, William P., 11, 2 art Vroom, Peter D., capt, 3 eav Wade, James F., 14, col. 10 eav Wade, James F., 14, col. 10 eav Wade, James F., 14, col. 10 eav Wadeworth, Fort, Dept, East Wager, Darnet, 11, 2 art Wagner, Arthur L., 216, 6 inf Wagner, Henry, capt. 1 cav Waite, Henry De H., 216, 5 cav Waite, Henry De H., 216, 5 cav	$\begin{array}{c} 11,84\\ 44,172\\ 44,172\\ 52,203\\ d=247\\ 33,146\\ 23,122\\ 30,112\\ 275\\ 33,151\\ 46,207\\ 21,119\\ 21,132\\ 25,136\end{array}$
Ven Herrmann, Charles J., eipt, 4 mf Ven Laettwitz, A. 10, 11, retrieed, Von Schrader, Frederick, 10, 12 inf Vonse, William P., 11, 2 art Vroom, Peter D., capt, 3 eav Wade, James F., 14, col. 10 eav Wade, James F., 14, col. 10 eav Wade, James F., 14, col. 10 eav Wadeworth, Fort, Dept, East Wager, Darnet, 11, 2 art Wagner, Arthur L., 216, 6 inf Wagner, Henry, capt. 1 cav Waite, Henry De H., 216, 5 cav Waite, Henry De H., 216, 5 cav	$\begin{array}{c} 11,84\\ 44,172\\ 44,172\\ 52,203\\ d=247\\ 33,146\\ 23,122\\ 30,112\\ 275\\ 33,151\\ 46,207\\ 21,119\\ 21,132\\ 25,136\end{array}$
Ven Herrmann, Charles J., eipt, 4 mf Ven Laettwitz, A. 10, 11, retrieed, Von Schrader, Frederick, 10, 12 inf Vonse, William P., 11, 2 art Vroom, Peter D., capt, 3 eav Wade, James F., 14, col. 10 eav Wade, James F., 14, col. 10 eav Wade, James F., 14, col. 10 eav Wadeworth, Fort, Dept, East Wager, Darnet, 11, 2 art Wagner, Arthur L., 216, 6 inf Wagner, Henry, capt. 1 cav Waite, Henry De H., 216, 5 cav Waite, Henry De H., 216, 5 cav	$\begin{array}{c} 11,84\\ 44,172\\ 44,172\\ 52,203\\ d=247\\ 33,146\\ 23,122\\ 30,112\\ 275\\ 33,151\\ 46,207\\ 21,119\\ 21,132\\ 25,136\end{array}$
Ven Herrmann, Charles J., eipt, 4 mf Ven Laettwitz, A. 10, 11, retrieed, Von Schrader, Frederick, 10, 12 inf Vonse, William P., 11, 2 art Vroom, Peter D., capt, 3 eav Wade, James F., 14, col. 10 eav Wade, James F., 14, col. 10 eav Wade, James F., 14, col. 10 eav Wadeworth, Fort, Dept, East Wager, Darnet, 11, 2 art Wagner, Arthur L., 216, 6 inf Wagner, Henry, capt. 1 cav Waite, Henry De H., 216, 5 cav Waite, Henry De H., 216, 5 cav	$\begin{array}{c} 11,84\\ 44,172\\ 44,172\\ 52,203\\ d=247\\ 33,146\\ 23,122\\ 30,112\\ 275\\ 33,151\\ 46,207\\ 21,119\\ 21,132\\ 25,136\end{array}$
Ven Herrmann, Charles J., eipt, 4 mf Ven Laettwitz, A. 10, 11, retrieed, Von Schrader, Frederick, 10, 12 inf Vonse, William P., 11, 2 art Vroom, Peter D., capt, 3 eav Wade, James F., 14, col. 10 eav Wade, James F., 14, col. 10 eav Wade, James F., 14, col. 10 eav Wadeworth, Fort, Dept, East Wager, Barnet, 11, 2 art Wagner, Arthur L., 216, 6 inf Wagner, Henry, capt. 1 cav Waite, Henry De H., 216, 5 cav Waite, Henry De H., 216, 5 cav	$\begin{array}{c} 11,84\\ 44,172\\ 44,172\\ 52,203\\ d=247\\ 33,146\\ 23,122\\ 30,112\\ 275\\ 33,151\\ 46,207\\ 21,119\\ 21,132\\ 25,136\end{array}$
Ven Herrmann, Charles J., eipt, 4 mf Ven Laettwitz, A. 10, 11, retrieed, Von Schrader, Frederick, 10, 12 inf Vonse, William P., 11, 2 art Vroom, Peter D., capt, 3 eav Wade, James F., 14, col. 10 eav Wade, James F., 14, col. 10 eav Wade, James F., 14, col. 10 eav Wadeworth, Fort, Dept, East Wager, Barnet, 11, 2 art Wagner, Arthur L., 216, 6 inf Wagner, Henry, capt. 1 cav Waite, Henry De H., 216, 5 cav Waite, Henry De H., 216, 5 cav	$\begin{array}{c} 11,84\\ 44,172\\ 44,172\\ 52,203\\ d=247\\ 33,146\\ 23,122\\ 30,112\\ 275\\ 33,151\\ 46,207\\ 21,119\\ 21,132\\ 25,136\end{array}$
Ven Herrmann, Charles J., eipt, 4 mf Ven Laettwitz, A. 10, 11, retrieed, Von Schrader, Frederick, 10, 12 inf Vonse, William P., 11, 2 art Vroom, Peter D., capt, 3 eav Wade, James F., 14, col. 10 eav Wade, James F., 14, col. 10 eav Wade, James F., 14, col. 10 eav Wadeworth, Fort, Dept, East Wager, Barnet, 11, 2 art Wagner, Arthur L., 216, 6 inf Wagner, Henry, capt. 1 cav Waite, Henry De H., 216, 5 cav Waite, Henry De H., 216, 5 cav	$\begin{array}{c} 11,84\\ 44,172\\ 44,172\\ 52,203\\ d=247\\ 33,146\\ 23,122\\ 30,112\\ 275\\ 33,151\\ 46,207\\ 21,119\\ 21,132\\ 25,136\end{array}$
Ven Herrmann, Charles J., enpt. 4 mf Ven Laettwitz, A. 10, 11, retrieed, Von Schrader, Frederick, 14, 12 mf Von Shirach, Frederick C., capt. retiree Vose, William P., 14, 2 art Wade, James F., It, col. 10 cav Wadeworth, Fort, Dept. East Wager, Barnes F. It, 2 art Wagner, Henry, capt. J cav Wagner, Henry, Deff., 2 av Waite, Henry, Deff., 2 to 5 cav Walte, Henry De H., 24, 5 cav Walte, Henry De H., 24, 5 cav	$\begin{array}{c} 11,84\\ 44,172\\ 44,172\\ 52,203\\ d=247\\ 33,146\\ 23,122\\ 30,112\\ 275\\ 33,151\\ 46,207\\ 21,119\\ 21,132\\ 25,136\end{array}$

Wherry, William M., capt. 6 inf....46, 170, 261 Ward, Frederick K., 1 ft. 1 cav 21, 129 Ward, G. S. Luftrell, 1 ft. 22 inf...... 62, 194 Whipple, Stephen G., capt. 1 cav21, 117 Whipple, William D., lt. col. a. g. dept7, 69 Ward, Henry C., capt. 16 inf 56, 185 White, Charles B., maj. med. dept. 12,85 Warren, Forf, Dept, East 275
 White, George Q., capt. refired
 243

 White, John C., capt. 1 art
 31, 146

 White, John V., 2 lt. 1 art
 32, 155
 Warren, Gouverneur K., lt. col. eng 16, 98 White River, Camp on, Dept. Mo......276 White, Robert IL, asst. surg. med. dept. 13, 89, 261 Whitehead, Fred'k F., capt. sub. dept ...10, 82 Whitehead, Nathaniel J., 2 lt. 4 inf ... 44, 212 Whitehead, Wm, E., asst, surg. med. dept. 12, 87 Whiteley, Robert II, K., col. retired222 Watson, Charles H., 14, 5 easy (2017) Weaver, Francis II., chap. 10 cav...... 30, 137 Whittlesey, Joseph II., maj. retired231 Wikoff, Charles A., capt. 11 inf51, 167 Wilcox, James H. G., 24t. 7 cav27, 137 Webster, Warren, maj. med. dept 12, 85 Williams, Charles W., capt. qn. dept ... 10, 78 Williams, Constant, capt. 7 inf47, 178 West, Frank, 1 lt. 6 cav Western, Charles B., capt. 14 inf 54, 184 Weston, John F., capt. sub. dept 10.10,82 West Point, Dept. of Wetherfil, Alexander M., 1 H. 6 inf.....46, 198 Wetver, Benjamin S., 2 H. 1 inf......41, 214 Wham, Joseph W., pm. pay dept15, 95 Williston, Edward B., capt. 2 art33, 142 Wills, David, post chap 20, 109 Wheeler, Daniel D., capt. qm. dept. . . . 10, 79, 266 Wilson, Charles L, pm. pay dept 15, 95 Wheeler, Junius B., prof. mil. acad....259, 261 Wheeler, William B., 2 lf. 18 inf......58, 206 Wheeler, William H., 2 lf. 11 inf......51, 207

Wilson, Richard H., 24t. 8 inf
Wilson, Thomas, capt. sub. dept. 10, 81
Wilson Wm. L. asst. surg. med. dept., 13, 89
Winchester Iliram F. 1 lt 6 ctv 96 197
Wincard Charles W. the part dest. 15.91
Singara, vitaries S., part pay ache 15,54
Wingare, Port, Dept. 809
 Wilson, Win, J., asst. surg. med. dept. 13,89 Winchester, Iliram F., 14, 6 cav
Winslow, Gordon, 141, 8401,, 18, 192
Winston, Donald, 2 lt. 10 inf
Winston, Donald, 2 lt, 10 inf 50, 211 Wint, Theodore J., capt. 4 cav 24, 120
Winters William II
Winters, William H Winthrop, Fort, Dept. East
Winthrop, William, maj. j. a
Wishart, Alexander, 1 lt. 20 inf 60, 190
Wisser, John P., 1 lt. 1 art
Wisser, John F., 10, 140, 1401, 111, 121, 122, 135, 200 Witcher, John S., pm. pay dept 15, 96
Witherell, Charles T., capt. 19 inf 59, 183
Wittich, Willis, 14t, 24 inf
Woart, John, post chap
Wolcott, Christopher C., 1 H. 3 art 35, 151
Wolcoff, Fort, R. L.,
Wolcott, Fort, R. I
Wolfe, Nathamel, 14t. 2 art
Wolfe, William V., 14t, 2 inf 42, 203
Wolverton, William D., maj. med. dept. 12,86
Wood, Abram E., 14t, 4 cav
Wood, Abram E., 14t, 4 cav
Wood, Edward E., 14t, 8 cay
Wood, Fort, N. V. H 276
Wood, Henry C., maj. a. g. dept 8, 70
Wood Marshall W asst surv mod dont 13/91
Wood, Oliver E., 14, 5 art
Wood Palmer G 2 lt 12 inf 52 209
Wood Thomas J. brig can retired 919
Wood, William II., col. 11 inf 51, 158
Wood, William T., 24, 18 inf 58, 210, 263
Wordladday Example 91: 7 inf (7.96)
Woodbridge, Francis, 2 lt. 7 inf
Woodbury, Thomas C., 14, 16 inf
wooduun, Alfred A., maj. med. dept 12, 86
Woodruff, Carle A., capt. 2 art

Mr. Jacob (1971) and the Lorentee of	1
 Woodruff, Charles A., capt. sub 	соерт19,82 -
– Woodruff, Dickinson, 4t. col. ret	ired 229
 Woodruff, Edward C., capt. 12 i 	nf
Woodruff, Dickinson, It. col. ret Woodruff, Edward C., capt. 12 i Woodruff, Ezra, asst. surg. med.	dent 13.89
Woodruff, Thomas M., 1 It. 5 in	E 15 964
Woods, Charles R., col. retired	
 Woods, Samuel, col. pay dept 	····· 14,92
Woods, Samuel, col. pay dept Woodson, Albert E., capt. 5 cay	·
 Woodward, Charles G., 24t, 3 ar 	1
Woodward, George A., col. reti	red 925
Woodward, Joseph J., maj. med	1.1. 12 86
Woodward, Samuel L., 1 lt. 10 cs	
- Woodwar90, Samuer 12, 140, 10 G	O
Wooley, Prederick, 24t, 19 mL	
Worden, Charles A., 14t.7 inf.	
Worth, William S., capt. 8 inf.	
Wooley, Frederick, 24, 10 inf Worden, Charles A., 14, 7 inf Worth, William S., capt. 8 inf Worthington. Jas. C., asst. surg	med.dent 13,90
Wotherspoon, William W., 1 It.	12 inf 52 203
Wright, Alpha, chap. retired	958
Waldet Edward M	50-
Wright, Edward M Wright, George IL, 11t. 7 inf	
Wright, George IG, i IG a mt	
– Wright, Henry H., 14f. 9 cav – .	
Wright, Henry IL, 1 lt. 9 cav Wright, Horatio G., brig, gen, el	if.eng16,96
Wright Josenb P mai med d	ent 12.85
Wyatt, Walter S. 14t, 9 mf	49 204
Wygant, llenry, 1 lt. 24 inf Wyse, Francis O., lt. col. retired	64, 202
Wree Francis () It cal ratiro	230
Yard, John E., lt. col. 24 inf	61 161
-1 and 0 only 15, its constant in \cdots	
Aares, Fort, Dept. Dak	
 Yates, Theodore, col. retired 	
 Yeatman, Richard T., 2 lt. 14 in 	f 54, 206 -
Vates, Fort, Dept, Dak Yates, Theodore, col. retired Yeatman, Richard T., 24t, 14 in Yeckley, Jonathan A., 14t, reti	red 254
Veomans, Angustus A.	
Voung, Daniel J., ord. sk	.19.108
Voung, George S., 2 lt. 7 inf	47 207
Young, Robert IL, 1 lt. 4 inf	11 901
Toung, nonerr 11., 1 n. 4 nn 55	
Young, Samuel B. M., capt. 8 c Young, Willard, 1 lt. eng	av 128,110
Young, Witlard, 1 It. eng	11, 103, 259
Yuma, Fort, Dept. Ariz	
Zalinski, Edmund L., 1 lt. 5 art	
Zinn, George A., dis, cadet	

1881.

ABSTRACT OF THE MILLIA FORCE OF THE UNITED STATES (ORGANIZED AND UNORGANIZED), ACCORDING TO THE LATEST RETURNS RECEIVED AT THE OFFICE OF THE ADJUTANT GENERAL.

	Organized strength.							ail-	
States.	Year.	General officers	Greneral staff offi- cers.	Regimental, field, and staff officers.	Company officers.	Total commis- sioned.	Total non-commis- stoned officers, musicians, pri- vates, &c.	Aggregate.	Number of nen avail able for military duty (unorganized).
Maine	1878	1	10	9	41	61	814	875	78,458
New Hampshire Vermont Massachusetts Rhode Island Connecticut New York New Jersey Pennsylvania Delaware Maryland Virginia West Virginia North Carolina Georgia Florida Alabama Mississippi Lonisiama Texas Arkannas Kentucky Tennessee Ohio Indiana Michigan Hlinois Minesota Iowa Nebraska Kanasas Nebraska Kanasas	1880 1880 1880 1880 1880 1880 1880 1880	1 1 2 2 2 1 20 3 6 6 3 1 1 7 7 16 7 7 10 0 3 1 1 7 7 1 1	$\begin{array}{c} 8\\ 8\\ 15\\ 15\\ 18\\ 17\\ 7\\ 7\\ 226\\ 336\\ 36\\ 4\\ 4\\ 8\\ 1\\ 162\\ 27\\ 32\\ 27\\ 32\\ 27\\ 32\\ 27\\ 32\\ 27\\ 1\\ 6\\ 6\\ 166\\ 166\\ 166\\ 166\\ 166\\ 16\\ 6\\ 5\\ 5\\ 5\\ 11\\ 1\\ 1\\ 1\\ 1\\ 31\\ 1\\ 1\\ 1\\ 1\\ 1\\ 1\\ 1\\ 1\\ 1\\ 1\\ 1\\ 1\\ 1$	$\begin{array}{c} 27\\ 89\\ 64\\ 44\\ 25\\ 81\\ 174\\ 7\\ 6\\ 22\\ \hline \\ 174\\ 7\\ 6\\ 22\\ \hline \\ 174\\ 7\\ 6\\ 22\\ 174\\ 174\\ 174\\ 174\\ 153\\ \hline \\ 153\\ 197\\ 42\\ 197\\ 42\\ 197\\ 42\\ 197\\ 42\\ 197\\ 42\\ 197\\ 42\\ 197\\ 42\\ 197\\ 42\\ 197\\ 42\\ 197\\ 42\\ 197\\ 42\\ 197\\ 42\\ 197\\ 42\\ 197\\ 42\\ 197\\ 50\\ 50\\ 50\\ 50\\ 50\\ 50\\ 50\\ 50\\ 50\\ 50$	$\begin{array}{c} 98\\ 98\\ 37\\ 204\\ 79\\ 131\\ 764\\ 1451\\ 12\\ 666\\ 161\\ \hline \\ 196\\ 748\\ 216\\ 156\\ 140\\ 710\\ 90\\ 72\\ 400\\ 93\\ 701\\ 156\\ 140\\ 710\\ 93\\ 701\\ 100\\ 93\\ 781\\ 100\\ 93\\ 60\\ 18\\ 269\\ 360\\ \hline \\ 39\end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 134\\ 64\\ 64\\ 313\\ 167\\ 183\\ 1,264\\ 266\\ 81\\ 185\\ \hline \\ 262\\ 993\\ \hline \\ 411\\ \hline \\ 600\\ 2593\\ \hline \\ 411\\ \hline \\ 600\\ 2593\\ \hline \\ 542\\ 79\\ 531\\ 101\\ 111\\ 535\\ 123\\ 101\\ 101\\ 115\\ 333\\ 338\\ \hline \\ 773\\ \hline \\ 773\\ \hline \\ 773\\ \hline \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 1, 634\\ 1, 634\\ 3, 897\\ 1, 350\\ 2, 731\\ 18, 272\\ 3, 149\\ 9, 063\\ 192\\ 1, 164\\ 2, 450\\ \hline \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\$	$\begin{array}{c} 1,768\\ 655\\ 4,210\\ 1,517\\ 2,914\\ 19,536\\ 3,410\\ 9,750\\ 218\\ 1,245\\ 2,635\\ \hline \\ 2,783\\ 11,805\\ \hline \\ 5,312\\ \hline \\ 910\\ 2,177\\ 2,092\\ 16,377\\ 8,16\\ 1,284\\ 8,816\\ 1,284\\ 1,814\\ 1,814\\ 1,814\\ 1,814\\ 1,814\\ 1,814\\ 1,814\\ 1,816\\ 5,919\\ 1,909\\ 2,388\\ 4,581\\ 656\\ \hline \\ 794\\ \hline \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 33, 859\\ 44, 366\\ 238, 762\\ 39, 540\\ 79, 209\\ 457, 455\\ 223, 914\\ 422, 371\\ 29, 311\\ 29, 311\\ 29, 311\\ 29, 311\\ 29, 311\\ 89, 344\\ *215, 200\\ 90, 000\\ *100, 000\\ *200, 000\\ 26, 230\\ 000\\ 26, 230\\ 000\\ 26, 230\\ 000\\ 235, 000\\ 245, 000\\ 245, 000\\ 255, $
Oregon	1878	3	24		32	59	582	641	14,878
California Colorado	$\frac{1880}{1879}$	7 6	100	37	$\frac{125}{36}$	$\frac{269}{46}$	3,045 520	$3,314 \\566$	122,346 *30,000
Grand aggregate.		. 135	988	1,718	6, 218	9, 059	118, 172	127, 231	6, 393, 395

* Estimated in Adjutant General's Office.

0







.









